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(^ I HIS book has been prepared under' circumstances, but i

* I at last finished. Upon examination it will be to merit the approval

of the citizens of Muskingum county. Every line of the history proper has

been read and approved by the committee appointed by the Pioneer and Historical so-

ciety for that purpose. Every biography was typewritten and submitted by mail to the

subject of the same and, in nearly every instance, was corrected and returned. These

facts should render the matter in both departments of biography and history very

accurate; still, in spite of the vigilance of the committee and the publishers, mis-

takes no doubt have crept in and will be found upon examination. The publishers,

as is their custom, stand ready to make the work absolutely accurate, and will be

thankful if all persons will inform them of any mistakes they may discover, that the

same may be corrected in an errata sheet which will be sent to every subscriber to

be pasted in the book.

For materials and suggestions which have made the work broadly better and

more interesting, we tender our thanks to the president and executive committee

of the Pioneer and Historical society, to the committee of revision—Hon. M. M.

Granger, Rev. F. Richards and R. J. J. Harkins, Esq.—and to many members of the

society. To the press of Zanesville and other towns for access to their files and for

editorial courtesies, to the clergy of all denominations throughout the county, to

Hon. D. B. Linn for helpful counsel and valuable contributions, to William Cul-

bertson for useful suggestions and historical data, to C. Frame for important con-

tributions and assistance, and to our patrons for their most valuable support, we

acknowledge ourselves deeply indebted. Satisfied that we have prepared a work of

great interest and permanent value to the county, we respectfully tender this fine

volume to the public.

THE PUBLISHERS.
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Muskingum County, Ohio.

©hapfep i.

USKINGUM COUNTY is bounded on the
north by Coshocton county, on the east

by Guernsey and Noble counties, on the
south by Morgan and Perry counties, and on
the west by Perry and Licking counties, and
has an area of more than 800 square miles.

The northern portion may be regarded as a
valley, having the Muskingum river as its low-
est line. This river rises and has its source
wholly within the limits of this state, taking its

rise m a swamp in Richland county about
thirty miles in a direct line from Lake Erie.
It drains a surface of about two hundred miles
from east to west, passing wholly through an
uneven, and in most parts hilly, country which
abounds in the minerals most useful to man.
Its current is gentle, with few rapids. A glance
at a map of the county shows the Muskingum
entering its borders somewhat eastward of the
centre of the northern boundary. It has its

course in a general direction south, making its

exit about midway of the southern boundary
line, thus dividing the county into two por-
tions, of which the eastern is the larger. The
western section is nearly equally divided by
the Licking river, which flows from Licking
county in a southwest direction into the Musk-
ingum river at Zanesville. The Muskingum
(lows through or along the boundaries of
Madison, Cass, Muskingum, Washington, Falls,
Springfield, Wayne, Brush Creek, Harrison and
Blue Rock townships

;
the Licking through

Licking, along the northeast border of Hope-
well and through Falls townships. A few di-

viding ridges are seen in the Muskingum valley,
but they are limited in extent, and the streams,

after following a more or less tortuous course,

flow into the river. The surface of the county
is much broken and affords easy drainage. The
northwestern section is drained by the Waka-
tomaka creek, which flows through Jackson and
Cass townships into the Muskingum at Dresden.
The southwestern is traverseed by Jonathan’s

creek and Moxhala creek, whose waters flow

together prior to entering the Muskingum, and
by Brush creek. To the extreme northeast on
Wills creek and White Eyes creek, the former,

with its many forks and tributaries, drains Mon-
roe and Highland townships entering into Wills

creek at the north. Wills creek, uniting with

the river a few miles north from Dresden, is fed

by numerous small streams from Monroe and
Adams townships, and frequent tributaries to

the river are seen in Madison, Washington,
Muskingum and Cass townships. Symmes creek

flows through Madison township into the

Muskingum. It has two branches, of which the

northern has its source in Adams township and
the southern in Salem township. Meigs creek

drains the townships of Blue Rock and Meigs
on the southeast, and Salt creek, heading in

Highland township, flows west of south, through

Salem, Perry and Salt creek townships, and
flows into the Muskingum at Duncan’s Palls.

This drainage system is complete, freeing the

country from malarial influences and affording

a constant supply of water for stock, while in-

numerable springs yield more than enough for

household purposes. The water-power of the

county is exceptionally good agd is referred to

many times elswhcre in this volume.
Wills creek and the Muskingum river,
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above Zanesville, are not constantly to be
depended on as commercial outlets. The fall

in these streams is slight, and slack water
navigation is perfectly feasible. Many years

ago a survey of Wills creek was made, with

a view to this improvement, and the fall was
found to be a little more than ten inches

per mile. In former times this creek was sub-

ject to very extensive freshets, giving from
fourteen to eighteen feet of water, overflowing
the country for miles, and, owing to the slug-

gishness of the stream, lasting for several weeks.
During later years such freshets have been of

rare occurrence, as, temporarily, at least, the

climate has become much dryer than previously.

At certain seasons of the year there has usually

been sufficient water to admit of floating out

rafts of timber. In the Muskingum the supply
is more regular, and though now, during the

greater part of the year, not sufficient for com-
mercial purposes, a comparatively small out-

lay would render it navigable most of the time.

The surface of the county east of the river

is generally uneven. Parts are quite hilly, al-

though none of the elevations reach the dignity

of mountains. The hills are rolling, tillable and
seldom rise above the stream over 250 feet.

Much of the county west of the Muskingum is

comparatively even, and the rest undulatory.

The scenery is striking and attractive, and
abounds in a variety of views, unsurpassed with-

in any similar area in the state. Flint Ridge,

one of the highest elevations in the county, is

in Hopewell township, west of Zanesville, and
High Hill, in the eastern part of the county, is

in great favor with tourists. From its summit
the eye ranges from twenty-five to fifty miles
and includes an unexcelled landscape of vil-

lage, farm and wood. The variety of surface

is not only picturesque, but affords a wide scope
to agriculture.

The line of the fortieth parallel of north
latitude crosses the county near the center, and
was made the base for survey. That portion
north of this line was known as the United States

military lands, and was primarily surveyed in

1803 by Levi Barker into four-thousand acre

tracts. The portion south of the parallel was
congressional lands, and was surveyed into six-

mile townships in 1798 byZaccheus Briggs, John
Mathews and Ebenezer Buckingham. Located
in the southeastern part of the state, the county
is situated near the middle of the great coal

section, which is about 180x80 miles. In form,

Muskingum is nearly square, being about
twenty-seven miles in extent, from north to

south, and twenty-five from east to west. It is

divided into twenty-five townships, some of

which are quite limited in area, and but few of
which correspond in boundary with the town-
ships of the original survey. Of the counties
of the state, Muskingum ranks fourth as respects
area, having, exclusive of lands in cities, towns
and corporations, 417,264 acres, an area in

square miles of 656. The municipalities of the
county are Zanesville, long regarded as one of
Ohio’s leading cities, and the incorporated
towns and villages of Dresden, fifteen miles
above Zanesville, on the Muskingum, and Tay-
lorsville, nine miles below, at Duncan’s Falls;

New Concord, fifteen miles east, and Frazeys-
burg, about thirteen miles northwest, and Union-
town, Adamsville and Roseville. Among the
unincorporated places of more or less size are
Norwich, Otsego, Bloomfield, Chandlersville,
Duncan’s Falls, Gratiot, Irville, Lytlesburg,
Northport, Mount Sterling and Rix Mills.

When Zane and his companions “blazed
out” the “trace” which bore his name, the
territory of the county was covered by a dense
growth of large trees. The field notes of

Briggs, Mathews and others taken during their

surveys name most varieties of timber common
to this latitude. Here grow the various oaks,

poplars and walnuts; here were the hickory,
ash, maple sugar tree, beech, sycamore, chest-

nut, buckeye, wild cherry, the common and
slippery elms, the common honey and gum
locusts and the dogwood, all among the most
predominant species. Upon the woodlands of

the county the various kinds of timber above
named are still found. Among the wild fruits

still more or less abundant are the plum, per-

simon, service-berry, grape and thorn- and crab-

apple.

The soil of the county is deep alluvial upon
the bottoms of the river and lesser streams, and
the valleys of the Muskingum and Licking are

seldom excelled in productiveness. A leading
crop is corn, of which the Muskingum valley

has at times produced more than any other
valley in the state. Gray limestone is found in

the uneven sections, even to the top of the

greatest hills. Upon exposure to atmospheric
influences, this stone crumbles, and, fertilizing

the soil, renders it equally productive with the

lower tracts. The county has no waste surface.

The clay lands, having an admixture of more
or less sand, afford the farmer high remunera-
tion for his labor, and many of the leading cul-

tivators till these alone. The slope of the

county is mainly to the southeast and south,

and the drainage is toward the Ohio river.

Farms in Muskingum county are usually small.

Small farms bearing profitable crops tend to

careful and scientific cultivation and heavy
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population. Indeed large farms here are

exceptional, and herein it may be claimed
lies the secret of the county’s agricultural pros-

perity. Near Zanesville gardening and small
farming are practiced. Farther away much
land is devoted to clover and timothy and stock
farming is followed. Muskingum is scarcely

excelled by any of the most extensive sheep-
growing counties. Her Devon and Durham
breeds of cattle have taken numerous premi-
ums at the Ohio State and county fairs. Dur-
ing recent years the best of blooded horses for

turf and road have been bred, until the horses
of Muskingum rank among the finest in the
country. The leading grains, aside from corn,

are wheat, oats, rye and buckwheat. Both
Irish and sweet potatoes grow abundantly.
Some tobacco has been grown. Flax, that

product of the pioneer days, is no longer
raised. The manufacture of butter and cheese
is a leading industry. Considerable attention

has been given to the cultivation of sorghum
and considerable quantities of marketable
syrup and sugar have been produced. Much
maple sugar and syrup are made yearly for

domestic consumption. Muskingum’s wool
clip is large. Orchards abound. Peaches,
pears and apples are generally raised, and
there are few farmers who do not have land
set out to fruit trees. The size, flavor and
appearance of the fruits command high awards
of merit. The culture of the grape is success-
fully pursued. The Concord is the most popu-
lar vine, but Delawares, Clintons and other
varieties flourish equally well. There are many
vineyards, and the agriculturist raises a supply
for the family. Gooseberries, raspberries and
strawberries of the finest size and flavor are
successfully cultivated in quantities not only
to supply home demands, but to ship to other
localities. In 1872, at one of the finest displays
of native fruits ever made in Ohio, at the State
Horticultural Fair, the first premium was
awarded to Muskingum county.

In her mineral resources Muskingum county
ranks pre-eminent. The developments which
have been made, and which are daily being
made, demonstrates that it is among the rich-

est in the world in coal, iron ore and other
valuable minerals. The proximity of these
minerals to each other, and the facility with
which they can be mined, must have the effect

in due time to concentrate in the county a large
number of furnaces, iron mills, foundries and
other iron manufactures.

The Ohio coal field is situated in the north-
western part of the Appalachian coal field, and
embraces within the state between 10,000 and

12,000 square miles (generally stated at 10,000

square miles), more than one-fourth of the area

of the state being underlaid by productive coal

measures. The western margin of the Ohio
portion of the Appalachian field was through
the counties of Trumbull. Geauga, Portage,

Summit, Medina, Wayne, Holmes, Knox, Lick-

ing, Perry, Hocking, Vinton, Jackson, Pike and
Scioto, including Muskingum, and the coal

measures are spread over all the territory lying

east of this line of outcrop to the State line at

the Ohio river. All the beds of coal at present
worked are located in the Upper and Lower
Coal Measures, the Barren -Measures, as the

name indicates, containing little coal of suffi-

cient thickness for the immediate purposes of

the miner.
Muskingum county is situated upon the

western margin of the great Alleghany coal

fields, and consequently borders the vast coal-

less district which extends over two-thirds of

Ohio and large portions of Indiana, Illinois,

Wisconsin, Michigan and Western Canada. All
of this region is largely dependent upon this

and adjoining counties for their supply of coal,

and the central position of Muskingum county
in this coal region, and the advantages it pos-
sesses in the way of railroad transportation,

must enable it to command the market of a

very wide range of country. There is not a

township in the county in which workable beds
of coal are not found. Within the county are

seven separate and distinct coal strata, each
varying from three to seven feet in thickness,

besides ten or twelve additional seams, portions
of which only are valuable for working at the
present time. It is estimated that there is an
average aggregate thickness of over forty feet

of available coal seams covering the entire

county, and in it is found a representative of

nearly every important seam in the coal meas-
ures of southeastern Ohio. Professor Mather,
a former state geologist, says: “There is

sufficient coal in Muskingum county alone to

supply the entire population of our State with
fuel for two hundred and fifty years.” While
the coal area of the county is greater than any
other county in the State, this coal, lying in

accessible seams in the hillsides, is readily

drained and easily and cheaply mined. Shaft-

ing will for long years to come be here unknown.
The coal is of the finest quality of bituminous
and cannel, being for the most part of a very
dry quality—almost entirely free from slate,

sulphur, or other impurities—and consequently
is fitted for all purposes, whether it be the
manufacture o*f iron or for the ordinary uses.

For the following account of the economic
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geology of this county, indebtedness is ac-

knowledged to John J. Stevenson and Prof.

Edward Orton, from whose reports, published
by state authority, it is freely derived:

The consolidated rocks of the county all

belong to the carboniferous age, and, for the
most part, to the coal measures. The follow-
ing is an approximate section.

FT. IN.

1. Shale 100 0
2. Coal 2 to 10
3. Clay 3 0
4. Limestone 1-3 0
5. Shale 60 0
6. Crinoidal limestone 2-4 0
7. Shale 1-35 0
8. Coal No. lb 1-2 9
9. Fire-clay 2 0

10. Sandstone 45-75 0
11. Shale 3 0
12. Coal, “ Norwich ” 0-2 0
13. Fire-clay 9 0
14. Limestone 8 0
15. Sandstone and shale 100 0
16. Coal No. 7 1-6 0
17. Fire-clay 2 0
18. Sandstone 50-70 0
19. Shale 10-25 0
20. Coal No. 6 2i^4f 0
21. Shale and clay 25 0
22. Sandstone 30 0
23. Coal No. 5 4 to 4
24. Shale and Sandstone 55 0
25. Iron ore 3 0
26. Limestone 1-3 0
27. Coal No. 4 4 to 7

28. Fire-clay 1 0
29. Sandstone and shale 20 0
30. Limestone, flint, or iron ore 2-3 0
31. Coal No. 3a 2 to 10

32. Sandstone 10 0
33. Limestone 1 0
34. Coal No. 3 1 0
35. Fire-clay 0 6

36. Sandstone 75 0
37. Coal No. 2 2\ to 4
38. Shale and sandstone 45-50 0
39. Coal No. 1 1-4 0
40. Shale 40 0
41. Iron ore 2 0
42. Shale 5-10 0

43. Conglomerate 28 0
44. Waverly rocks 102 0

The designation of different coal measures
by numbers will be understood by those prac
tically conversant with coal mining interests.

Others are referred for specific information to

the Ohio Geological reports which treat this

subject at length.

The dip is somewhat irregular. In the
northwestern portion of the county, especially

in Jackson township, it is quite sharp to the
northeast, but before reaching the Muskingum
river it changes to southeast. Along a line

running southwest from near Johnson’s mills,

in Monroe township, to near Sonora, in Perry

township, the dip is reversed, and is north-
westward until a line is reached passing east of

north and south of west through a point about
one-half mile cast of Norwich, in Union town-
ship. There it again becomes southeastward,
and so continues until another line is reached
passing just east of New Concord in a north-
east and southwest direction, where the dip is

once more reversed, and so continues almost to

Cambridge, in Guernsey county. The anticli-

nal passing east of Norwich is regarded as a
spur of the main anticlinal passing through
Guernsey county, and described in the report
on that county. The Norwich anticlinal is

somewhat interesting, in that its eastern slope
is much more abrupt than its western, the dip
per mile being almost three times as great.

Coal No. i of section was observed only in

Union township, between New Concord and
Norwich. The limestone underlying it is more
or less fossiliferous. The coal is of no value.

The Crinoidal limestone, in Muskingum, is

shaly and course-grained, wanting the com-
pactness and flintiness characteristic of it in

Guernsey, Harrison, and Carrol. It is well

exposed in Highland, Monroe, Adams, and
Salem townships, and runs out in the hills of

Madison, about three miles east of the river.

The only species found here, aside from those
common to this part of the state, is Ctcnopty-

cliius scmicircularis
,
of which a single specimen

was obtained in Salem township. Coal No. *]b

is seen at a distance of from one to thirty-five

feet below the limestone. It appears to be of

economical importance only in the vicinity of

Norwich, in Union township, where it is thirty-

four inches thick. Toward the north it be-

comes thinner, and averages only ten inches
through Salem, Adams, Monroe, and the

greater part of Highland. Where of available

thickness, it appears to be a very good coal.

The “Norwich” coal is quite circumscribed in

area. Both it and the underlying limestone
disappear northward. It is worked in High-
land and Union townships to a slight extent.

The limestone under it is blue, weathering buff,

very tough, and contains many fossils, among
them Productus costatus ( ? ), P. punctatus

,
P. longis-

pimis
,
P. Prattenanus

,
Atliyris subtilita

,
and Cho-

nctcs gramdifera. Coal No. 7 is as variable here
as in the adjoining county of Guernsey. South
of the Central Ohio railroad it attains great

importance, but thins out abruptly northward,
being seldom more than one foot thick, and
usually a cannel of poor quality. At one
or two points it suddenly expands to nearly six

feet, but yields an inferior coal. It was seen in

Monroe, Adams, Madison, Washington, and
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Muskingum townships. Coal No. 6 is the im-
portant bed of the county. It is the upper
coal at Coaldale, near Zanesville, and is mined
extensively in Monroe, Adams, Madison, Wash-
ington, and Muskingum. The thickness varies

from three to four feet. The upper part of the

bed usually consists of hard, slaty coal, four to

six inches thick, burning well, making a hot
fire, but leaving much ash. Six to ten inches

from the bottom is a very persistent clay part-

ing about two inches thick. Other partings

are sometimes seen, but they are not persistent.

Ordinarily the coal is of excellent quality, con-
taining little sulphur and yielding a very supe-
rior coke. In some localities in Washington
township a bed of iron ore is seen about fifteen

feet below this coal. Its area is not extensive.

Coal No. 5 is local in its development, appear-
ing only in Washington township, and exhibit

ing great variations in thickness. It is most im-

portant near the Central Ohio railroad, and
thins out rapidly northward, disappearing
about twelve miles north of Zanesville. Coal
No. 4 is a persistent coal, though varying
greatly in thickness. Wherever seen in Mon-
roe, Adams, Cass, Jackson, Muskingum, and
Madison townships it is a cannel, but is of

no value, except at one locality in Jackson
township. It is interesting, especially because
of its relations to No. 6. In Monroe township
it may be traced along White Eyes creek from
near Otsego to Johnson’s mill, twenty inches
thick, and about forty feet below No. 6. It is

everywhere known as the “limestone coal,’’

but the limestone is not persistent along the
outcrop. Tracing it down Wills creek, the
interval between the coals is seen to increase,

until, at Frew’s mills, it becomes ninety feet.

At the salt works, near the Coshocton line, it

is the same; near Dresden, one hundred feet;

on the north branch of Symmes Creek, eighty
feet; and near Morton’s coal work’s, on the
Muskingum, one hundred and ten feet. In
Liberty township, Guernsey county, it becomes
twenty feet. These variations afford an excel-

lent illustration of the doctrine, long since es-

tablished, of unequal subsidence. The gray
limestone overlying this coal is coarse-grained,
sometimes shaly, but usually compact, having
a fracture like sandstone. It contains great

numbers of Spirifcr lineatm. Coal No. 3 and
its associate limestone arc duplicated in this

portion of the county. The coals are thin and
of no value. The limestone is variable, in

some places pure and ringing when struck, at

others quite earthy. The fossils are ordina-
rily perfect, and arc very numerous. With the
upper limestone is a (lint, gray to black in

color, and very irregular in quantity and mode
of deposition. It occasionally replaces the

limestone and becomes three feet thick. In

Jackson township it is associated with an im-

portant bed of iron ore. It contains numerous
remains of mollusca, which, for the most part,

are badly preserved. Coal No. 2 is thin and
of no economical value. Coal No. 1 was seen
only in Licking and Jackson townships. It is

variable in thickness, but yields a coal of very
superior quality, apparently free from sulphur.

Where accessible it is too thin to be of much
economical valve, but in some almost inacces-

sible localities it expands to four feet. The
strata below this coal were observed only in

Jackson township, and will be found fully de-

scribed under that head.
In Jackson Township the section is as fol-

lows:
FT. IN.

1. Shale 35 0
2. Limestone 4 0
3. Shale 8-10 0
4. Coal No. 4 4 to 8

5. Clay 12 0

6. Limestone 2 0

7. Flint and iron ore 3 0

8. Coal No. 3 2 9

9. Sandstone 75 0

10. Coal No. 2 1-2 0

11. Sandstone and shale 50 0
12. Coal No. 1 2 4 0

13. Fire-clay 5 0

14. Shale 30 0

15. Iron ore 2 0

16. Shale 5-10 0

17. Conglomerate 28 0

18. Calcareous iron ore 4 0

19. Nodular iron ore 2 0

20. Sandstone 27 0

Coal No. 4 is here of economical thickness,

and in the neighborhood of Frazeysburg is

worked at several openings. At Mr. Samuel
McCann’s bank the section is:

FT. IN.

Coal 0 2

Shale 0 4
Coal 2 5

Fire-clay 1 0

At the end of the entry the thickness is only

eighteen inches. The coal is cannel, contain-

ing many thin seams of bitumen, and near the

top, one of bituminous coal, two and one-half

inches thick. It burns beautifully, but leaves

a very bulky ash. , A specimen forwarded for

analysis gives the following result:

Specific gravity 1.305

Moisture 2.00

Volatile combustible matter 37.00

Fixed Carbon 54.95

Ash 5.45

Total 100.00
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Sulphur 1.73

Sulphur left in coke 0.99
Sulphur forming of the coke 1.68

Gas per pound, in cubic feet 3.32

Ash White
Coke Pulverulent

This bed runs out in the hills to the north
and west of Frazcysburg. Towards the north-
east it rapidly thins out, and along Irish ridge
can be traced only as a black streak under the
limestone. Coal No. 3 is nowhere of any value,

and is seldom more than ten inches thick. Coal
No. 2 shows itself near Mr. William Morgan’s
house, on the West Carlisle road. An opening
was made here and pushed for some distance
into the hill without finding good coal. The bed
was found thirty inches thick. Atanother open-
ing by the road-side the thickness is only eight-

een inches. Coal No. 1 has been worked at

various points along Wakatomaka creek, in the
northwestern portion of the township. It is

the thickest on Mr. Joseph Willey’s property,
in Section 8, where the following section was
obtained :

FT. IN.

1. Sandstone 15 0
2. Clay 4 0
3. Coal, bituminous 0 9
4. Clay parting 0 4
5. Cannel coal 0 8
6. Clay parting 0 4
7. Bituminous coal 2 4
8. Fire-clay 5 0

The coal from Nos. 3 and 7 is said to be of

most excellent quality. Mr. L. W. Doane, who
superintended an oil-boring near by, asserts that

it is entirely free from sulphur, and is the best

blacksmiths’ coal he ever saw. The cannel is

very poor and little better than bituminous
shale. It abounds in vegetable remains, some
of which are exceedingly fine. Mr. Doane has ob-
tained slabs of Lepidodendro)i and Sigilldria two
to three feet square. The dip eastward here is

quite sharp, being five feet in one hundred
yards. At none of the other openings in this

neighborhood does the coal exceed two and
one-half feet in thickness, and sometimes is

less than two feet. The ore beds of impor-
tance here are two. The lower rests almost
directly upon the conglomerate, while the
upper is always more or less intimately con-
nected with the flint above Coal No. 3. Be-
tween these, and about twenty-five feet below
Coal No. 2, is a thick bed which may prove to

be of some value. The upper bed has been
worked to some extent near Frazeysburg. It

lies near the surface, and is obtained by strip-

ping from three to twelve feet of superficial

deposits. It varies in thickness from eighteen
inches to three feet, but is much injured by its

association with the flint, which, though usually
very thin, sometimes replaces the ore entirely.

This ore occurs in plates, and is obtained with
considerable ease, each digger averaging about
two tons a day. It frequently contains well-

preserved casts of Productus and Spirifcr. Speci-
mens of this ore yield the following on analysis :

No. 1. No. 2.

Specific gravity 3.152 3.464

Water combined 2.40 10.05

Silicic acid 26.72 3.66

Iron, sesquioxide 13.57 79.07

Iron, carbonate 43.08
Manganese 0.60 1.70

Alumina 2.00 2.60

Lime, phosphate 2.64 1.13

Lime, carbonate 4.18
Magnesia, carbonate 4.24 0.65

Magnesia, phosphate 0.70

Sulphur 0.53 0.23

99.96 91.79

Metallic iron 30.28 54.65

Phosphoric acid 1.21 0.89

This bed is not persistent to the northeast
of Frazeysburg. On the West Carlisle road the

flint is found of a beautiful bluish-black color,

and containing many fossils. Upon it rests a

thin seam of iron ore, capped by a grayish
limestone. Three miles from Frazeysburg, both
flint and ore have disappeared, and the lime-

stone has become double, with three feet of

coarse sandstone between the layers. The low-

er ore bed was worked many years ago on Mr.
Jackson Blissard’s property, but the workings
have fallen in, and so concealed all exposures.
The revival of mining called attention to this

bed, and some of it was hauled to Frazeys-
burg. It is found at many localities along
Wakatomaka creek, and is doubtless persistent

along the whole course of that stream above
the point where the conglomerate first shows
itself. It is somewhat interesting to observe
that this horizon is an ore-bearing one in West
Virginia and Pennsylvania. Just below the

conglomerate is found a bed of calcareous ore

yielding eighteen per cent, of iron. Though too

poor to be worked alone, it has proved useful

as a flux. Underlying it is a bed of nodular
ore in sandstone, the nodules containing casts

of the shells which served as nuclei. Though
the amount of available ore here is consider-

able, the inducements to mine are very slight.

There is no reason, however, why this ore should
not be a source of great profit to the commu-
nity. The furnace to work it should be erect-

ed at Frazeysburg. Situated on a railroad and
the canal, the furnace could be easily supplied

with richer ores, and good coke, at low rates,
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could be obtained by the canal from some of

the numerous openings into Coal No. 6, along

the Muskingum river. Under such circum-

stances, a furnace at Frazeysburg could not fail

to be successful. Some years ago a number of

gentlemen residing in Toledo, and represented

here by Mr. L. W. Doane, bored 764 feet in

search of oil. Their property lies in section 8,

about two and one-half miles north-west from
Frazeysburg, and is divided by Wakatomaka
creek. The boring was begun eighteen feet

below the top of the conglomerate, and on
the bank of the creek. Mr. Doane gives the

following section :

FT.

1. Gravel 63
2. Conglomerate 59
3. Blue core 8

4. Sandstone and shale (about two-thirds

sandstone) 523
5. Blue mud 12

6. Black material, exceedingly hard, but
without grit 4

7. White sandstone, yielding salt water in

large quantity 33
8. Shales, dark brown or bluish, with nod-

ular pyrites 62

764

The gravel, of course, is detritus brought
down by the stream. The interval represented
by it is partly filled by exposures up the stream,

as follows:

FT.

1. Conglomerate 28
2. Calcareous ore 4
3. Nodular ore 2
4. Fine-grained sandstone 15

5. Brown sandstone 12

Leaving twenty feet, not seen, necessary to

make the section in the oil well complete.
There is no reason to doubt that Nos. 2, 3, 4
and 5 of this section, as well as No. 2 of the oil

well section, belong to the Waverly series,

which, therefore, includes all down to No. 8,

the Huron shales. The carboniferous conglom-
erate is here quite coarse, and contains many
pebbles two-thirds of an inch in diameter. The
sandstone, No. 4 of the second section, is fine

grained, without pebbles, and works nicely

under the chisel. No. 5 is scarcely inferior to

it. At the depth of 671 feet salt water was
found in large quantity, and is said by Mr.
Doane to average nine or ten per cent, of salt.

Under such circumstances, there can be no
doubt that, were there suitable means of trans-

portation, the manufacture could be carried on
here to profit.

In Licking township Coal No. 2 has been
worked by Mr. L. Stump near Nashport.and is

said to be somewhat more than two feet thick,

and to yield a coal of fair quality. Coal No. 1

undoubtedly exists west from Nashport, but is

probably very thin, as no openings, or even
exposures, were observed. The outcrop of
Coal No. 4 was seen at several localities, but it

is very thin. Near the Muskingum line the flint

ore bed has been worked by stripping. Coal
is not mined to any extent here, as it can be
brought more cheaply by canal from Coshoc-
ton county. In the western portion of the
township the conglomerate and the Waverly
series are exposed.

In Cass township, about one mile west from
Dresden, a number of deserted openings upon
Coal No. 6 mark its western outcrop. On the
road from these banks to Dresden the follow-
ing section was obtained.

FT. IN.

1. Coal No. 6 0 0
2. Fire-clay and shale 60 0
3. Sandstone 40 0
4. Coal No. 4 0 0
5. Fire-clay 8 0
6. Chert 0 6
7. Coal No. 3a 0 0
8. Sandstone 4 0
9. Fire-clay 3 0

10. Limestone 4 0
11. Coal No. 3 0 0
12. Shale 2 0

No measurement of the coals was attempted,
owing to the character of the exposures. The in-

terval between Nos. 4 and 6 includes the gray
limestone, slabs of which were seen about ten

feet above No. 4, On Wakatomaka Creek
Coal No. 4 was formerly worked. It is there a

cannel two feet thick, as measured at the out-

crop, the opening having fallen in. The sec-

tion there is:

FT.

1. Limestone, bluish-gray 4
2. Sandstone 6
3. Shales 8
4. Coal, cannel 2
5. Concealed 65
6. Sandstone 5
7. Shales 10

The concealed portion includes the flint and
blue limestone which are seen in the road a

mile further up the creek. At its base is a thin

coal four inches thick, not satisfactorily shown
in the section, but well exposed at two points

farther down the creek. This is Coal No. 2.

Coal No. 3 was nowhere observed. Coal No.
6 is worked near Adams’ Mills, in the north-

eastern portion of the township, and is there

four feet thick.

In Muskingum township Coals Nos. 4 and 6
are exposed at many localities, but openings
are few and for the most part confined to the

eastern portion of the township. Near the
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Dresden road to Zanesville Coal No. 6 has been
worked by Messrs. E. Bland and J Beatty.
These openings are adjacent, and give the
following section:

IN.

1. Slaty coal 5
2. Parting 1

3. Coal 2
4. Parting 2
5. Coal 23^
6. Parting 2
7. Coal 2
8. Parting \'/2
9. Coal 2

41

No. i is really a bituminous shale. It will

burn, but it is not equal to the poorest cannel.
Below No. 6 the coal is very bad and contains
much pyrites in nodules, while above the same
parting there are numerous streaks of the same.
The coal here is by no means equal to that
obtained east of the Muskingum river. The
same coal has been worked by Mr. C. Mat-
tingly and by Mr. Lane, at whose banks it is

said to be four feet thick. A specimen from
Mr. Bland’s bank gives the following:

Specific gravity 1.308

Moisture 3.00
Volatile combustible matter 38.40
Fixed carbon 56.70
Ash 1.90

Total 100.00

Sulphur 1.83
Sulphur remaining in coke 0.79
Sulphur forming of the coke 1.34
Fixed gas per pound, in cubic feet 3.80
Character of coke Compact.
Color of Ash Yellow.

A cannel coal, probably No. 4, was formerly
worked on the old Blunt farm, near the line

between Cass and Muskingum. It was found
impossible to determine accurately whether it

is No. 4 or No. 3a, as there is no satisfactory
exposure of the accompanying strata. The
thickness is variable, ranging from four to

seven feet. It was mined to a considerable
extent by a Newark company for distillation.

The discovery of petroleum rendered the man-
ufacture unprofitable, and the works have fallen

into decay. The limestones here are three
in number, each with a coal bed under it. The
ore bed can be traced into this township, but
has never been worked, and there are no means
of determining its thickness or value, as the
exposures are very bad.
At Mr. J. Closen’s salt works, in the northern

portion^ of Madison township, Coal No. 6 is

worked. It is about four feet thick, and yields

a good coal throughout, though the upper por-

tion is the better. Near the works Coal No. 4 is

seen by its smut, accompanied by the gray
limestone above. The salt well is 408 feet

deep, beginning about 120 feet below Coal No.
6. No record of the boring could be found.

The brine contains from five to six per cent,

of salt, and the average weekly manufacture is

about fifty barrels. A specimen of Coal No. 6,

obtained here, gives as follows:

Specific gravity 1.287

Moisture 2.90

Volatile combustible matter 36.70

Fixed carbon 58.80

Ash 1.60

Total 100.00

Sulphur 1.59

Sulphur remaining in coke '..... 0.82

Sulphur forming of the coke 1.35

Fixed gas per pound, in cubic feet 3.72

Character of coke Compact
Color of ash Light gray

At Mr. Geo. King’s, due south of the salt

works about four miles, Coal No. 6 is worked,
and shows a thickness of three and one-half

feet. Seventy-five feet below it, and directly

under the gray limestone, Coal No. 4 has been
worked, but is not now exposed. Ten feet

lower Coal No. 3 is found in the run under its

limestone, which is here of a very light blue

color and full of flattened specimens of Spirifer

lineatus. The coal is said to be three feet thick.

A specimen is given as follows:

Specific gravity 1.343

Moisture 2.80

Volatile combustible matter 35.60

Fixed carbon 47.20

Ash 14.40

Total 100.00

Sulphur 2.74

Gas per pound, in cubic feet 3.32

Ash Gray
Coke Compact

On the south fork of Symmes creek the

following section was obtained:
FT. IN.

1. Coal No. 7 1 6

2. Shale and sandstone 70 0

3. Shale 12 0

4. Coal No. 6 3 6

5. Clay 15 0

6. Sandstone 50 0

7. Gray limestone 4 6

8. Clay 6 0

9. Coal No. 4 1 6

10. Clay 8 0

11. Flint and iron ore 4 6

12. Coal No. 3a 1 0

13. Clay 4 0

14. Sandstone 6 0

15. Limestone 3 0

16. Coal No. 3 1 0

17. Shale 9 0
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Coal No. 6 is worked on this Creek by
Messrs. J. M. Garrett and Townsend Gore, at

whose banks it is four feet thick. At Mr.
Slack’s bank it shows the following section:

IN.

1. Shale 4
2. Coal 4
3. Clay 1

4. Coal 10

5. Clay 1

6. Coal - 5

7. Clay 2
8. Coal 7

9. Clay 2 yl

10. Coal 8

The coal is of excellent quality and makes a

good coke, as it does at Mr. Closen’s bank, and
also at Mr. Alex. Copland’s, nearer the river.

The limestones of the section are strikingly

alike in color and other features. They are

grey in color, and weather into large and regu-
lar slabs about four feet square and one foot

thick. They are fossiliferous, but the number
of species is small and the specimens are badly
preserved. The clay under the flint has been
manufactured into earthen-ware by Mr. Minner,
on Symmes Creek, and appears to be a good
article, as the ware found a ready sale, not
only in the immediate neighborhood, but also

in Dresden. The ore bed is the same as that

already referred to in Jackson township, and
deserves to be carefully tested. The sandstone
over Coal No. 6 is coarse, and sometimes con-
glomerate. A heavy conglomerate appears,
near Mr. George King’s, one hundred feet above
Coal No. 6.

In Washington township, at Wharton’s coal

works, and at Coal Dale, about two and one-
half miles from Zanesville, the following sec-

tion is exposed:

FT.

1. Sandstone 0
2. Coal 1

3. Sandstone 12
4. Coal No. 6 4
5. Sandstone 18-35
6. Coal No. 5 3>£M
7. Sandstone 50

Coal No. 6 only is mined here, as No. 5

yields a coal of too poor a quality to be mar-
ketable. Near this locality a canned coal,

probably Coal No. 4, is seen in the bed of the
creek, and is eighteen inches thick. The two
beds, 6 and 5, are seen on the property of
Moses Robinson, and on that of Messrs. Fisher
and Mangold, near the Adamsvillc road. They
are each three and one-half feet thick, but the
upper one alone is now worked. No. 5 was
formerly mined by stripping, on Mr. Moses
Robinson’s property, near the school-house.

About eight miles north from Zanesville, Mr.
David Matthews mines Coal No. 6, which
shows—

FT. IN.

1. Slaty coal 0 4-6

2. Coal 3 4
3. Clay 0 2

4. Coal 0 4

4 2

The coal above the parting is very pure and
makes an excellent coke, very compact and
handsome. Two coking ovens were in use at

the time of examination, and two more were
being built. Below the parting the coal is very
poor, and often two-thirds of it is pyrites.

Streaks of pyrites occur occasionally in the coal

above, but are very thin and not extensive. A
specimen of Mr. Matthews’s coal yields the fol-

lowing:

Specific gravity 1.318

Moisture 3.10

Volatile combustible matter 37.50

Fixed carbon 56.50

Ash 2.90

Total 100.00

Sulphur 3.02

Sulphur remaining in coke*. 1.48

Sulphur forming of the coke 2.49

Fixed gas per pound, in cubic feet 3.56

Character of coke Compact
Color of ash Fawn

A short distance further up the river, on
the property of Mr. L. Menefee, the following
section was obtained:

1. Shale and sandstone, partly con-
FT. IN.

cealed 60 0
2. Coal No. 6 3 6
3. Fire-clay and shale 15 0
4. Iron ore 3 0
5. Shale 7 0
6. Sandstone 30 0
7. Coal No. 5 0 4
8. Shale 30 0
9. Sandstone 25 0

10. Iron ore 3 0
11. Gray limestone 1-4 0
12. Coal No. 4 0 7
13. Shale 25 0
14. Blue cherty limestone 1 6
15. Shale 0 2
16. Coal No. 3a 1 10

17. Sandstone 10 0
18. Blue limestone 1 0
19. Coal No. 3 ...: 0 10

Coal No. 6 shows the following section:

FT. IN.

1. Cannel coal 0 6

2. Coal 1 10

3. Clay 0 2

4. Coal 1 0

3 6
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Mr. Mencfee claims that the bed is entirely

free from pyrites, and that neither streaks nor
nodules have ever been seen. The entry has
been driven only forty feet and has hardly
reached sound coal, so that it would be inju-

dicious to speak positively in this connection.
The coal is quite pure, shows little tendency to

break up on exposure, and exhibits no incrusta-

tion of copperas on the outcrop. Fifteen feet

below the coal is a bed of iron ore three feet

thick, containing about eighteen inches of what
has been pronounced a most excellent ore.

The deposit is evidently extensive, as it was
traced from this point east and north through
the township to the opening in Coal No. 6,

belonging to Mr. White, on the road to Adams-
vi lie. The horizon is one at which ore is found
at numerous localities throughout the coal

field in the state, and the deposit here merits

careful investigation. This is the most north-

erly point at which Coal No. 5 has been seen in

the county, nor, indeed, has it been seen east or

west of this township. Though identifying this

bed with Coal No. 5 of the state section, Mr.
Stevenson doubts the propriety of so doing,

especially as there is no associated rock by
which to prove its identity. It would seem
more probable that' it is an intercalated bed, if

one may judge from its sudden origin and ex-
pansion. It is absent over the greater part of

Muskingum and Guernsey counties in localities

where both Nos. 6 and 4 can be recognized
without doubt. Coal No. 4 is of no importance,
and was observed at no other locality. Here
it consists of cannel, three inches, bituminous
coal, four inches. Coal No. 3a, though here
only twenty-two inches thick, becomes thirty

inches at another point about a mile east from
Mr. Menefee’s, where it is worked. It is

highly esteemed by some, as it makes a cheer-

ful fire. A layer of bituminous coal, three

inches thick, is found at the bottom. The
limestones are all bluish. The gray limestone
is apt to be shaly, is less tough, and more gran-
ular than those below. It has been used suc-

cessfully as a flux. The middle limestone is

cherty, with the flint irregularly distributed

through it Near Mr. Matthews’s coal works
the limestone.is absent, being replaced by the
flint. The ore, so well marked in Madison,
Jackson, Licking, and Muskingum, is absent
here, or rather is traceable only by means of a

few scattered nodules accompanying the chert.

The ore resting upon the gray limestone is of

no value, being imbedded in sandstone. The
sandstones of the section along the river, be-

tween Nos. 4 and 6, are compact, and would
doubtless be excellent for building purposes.

Coal No. 7 was seen only at one point. It is

seventy-five feet above No. 6, and is not more
than nine inches thick. South of the rail-

road it is mined extensively, and is four to

five feet thick.

The greater portion of Adams township
lies at such an elevation as to place it far above
any available coal. The higher coals, which
are worked at Norwich, Union township, thin

out northward and become worthless. On
Symmes creek and Wills creek Coal No. 6 is

exposed. A section of the township is as

follows:
FT. IN.

1. Crinoidal limestone : 2 0
2. Shale 2-15 0

3. Coal No. 7b 0 10

4. Fire-clay 2 0
5. Shale and sandstone 100 0
6. Coal No. 7 0 6

7. Shale and sandstone 80 0

8. Coal No. 6 3 6

9. Fire-clay 4 0
10. Not well exposed 30-70 0
11. Coal No. 4 2 0

Coal No. 6 has been worked on the north

fork of Symmes creek, in Section 16. The
coal is said to be three and one-half feet thick,

and of good quality. Along Wills creek this

coal has been mined in Section 2 and in Section

3, being worked only for domestic use.. Coal
No. 4 is not reached on Symmes creek, and is

nowhere satisfactorily exposed along Wills

creek, though it can be recognized here and
there, and, with some difficulty, can be traced

from Johnson’s mills to Frew’s mills. Frag-

ments of the gray limestone were occasionally

seen, but it was not observed in place. Nodules
of iron ore are common in the sandstone above
Coal No. 6, but are not in quantity to be of

economical value.

Like Adams, Salem township lies at such

an elevation as to be without available coal.

The crinoidal limestone is seen on nearly all

the roads, with Coal No. jb, eight to ten inches

thick, about twelve feet below it. In the

southern portion, on Salt Creek, there are one
or two openings upon the “Norwich” coal,

which are worked irregularly during the winter.

The coal used here is obtained chiefly from
Madison and Monroe townships, where Coal

No. 6 is mined. In Monroe township we have
the following section:

FT. IN.

1. Crinoidal limestone 2 0

2. Shale 3 0

3. Coal No. lb 0 8-10

4. Shale and sandstone 120 0

5. Coal No. 7 6 to 8

6. Sandstone 60 0

7. Shale 10-15 0

8. Coal No. 6 4 0
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FT. IN.

9. Fire-clay 3 0

10. Shale 35 0

11. Coal No. 4 2 0

Coal No. ’jb is nowhere of any value, and is

seen only occasionally with the crinoidal lime-

stone, and then on the tops of the highest hills.

The limestone is very shaly, and contains few
molluscan remains, being made up almost en-

tirely of crinoidal fragments. Coal No. 7 is

usually very thin, and can be traced only with

the utmost difficulty; but one mile south from
Otsego, on the farms of C. Buker and C. B.

Painter, it is developed, locally, to a very con-
siderable thickness. There it shows coal, four

feet; clay, one foot; coal, one foot six inches.

The upper coal is of four feet; clay, one foot;

coal, one foot six inches. The upper coal is of

only moderately good quality, as it contains
much cannel of low grade, but the bottom coal

is said to be very fair.

Coal No. 6 is the important bed, and is worked
at and near Otsego. At one Mr. Smith’s open-
ing we find:

FT. IN.

1. Fissle shale 30 0
2. Coal 3 0
3. Clay 0 1

4. Coal 1 0
5. Fire-clay 5 0

No slaty coal is here seen on top. Streaks
of pyrites are not uncommon in the upper bench,
but they are thin and not persistent. The thick-

est is one foot and one-half below the roof, and
one inch thick. The coal is regarded as ex-
ceedingly good, and some rude attempts have
produced a coke of apparently fair quality. A
specimen of the coal yields the following:

Specific gravity 1.287

Moisture 3.30

Volatile combustible matter 37.50
Fixed carbon 57.30

Ash 1.90

Total 100.00

Sulphur 1.97

Sulphur remaining in coke 0.87

Sulphur forming of the coke 1.46

Fixed gas per pound, in cubic feet. . 3.72

Character of coke Compact
Color of ash Reddish

At Johnson’s mills, in Sect on 5, the same
coal is worked. There it is badly cut up by
partings, as follows:

FT. IN.

1. Clay 0 0
2. Black Shale 0 4
3. Coal 0 S'/2
4. Coaly shale 0 %
5. Coal 0 11

FT. IN.

6. Coalv shale 0 1

7. Coal'. 1 2

8. Clay 0 1

9. Coal 1 0
10. Fire-clay 3 0

The same bed is worked in Section 8, in Sec-

tion g, and near the road from Otsego to Lib-

erty. Its thickness in these banks is nearly

four feet.

Coal No. 4 is known, locally, as the “ lime-

stone coal,” though the gray limestone is rarely

seen. It is usually a cannel, of little value, and
is not mined. Many years ago it was worked
by stripping in Section 8, on property now be-

longing to Mr. Oscar Riney. It may be seen
in a run, near' Johnson’s mill, where it seems to

be about twenty inches thick. At Johnson’s
mill, as well as at Otsego, the lower layer of

the sandstone over Coal No. 6 is, in the bottom
two feet, a conglomerate of iron ore and sand-

stone. The ore is apparently of average qual-

ity, but its association with the sandstone is

such as to render it worthless. It is referred

to here only because some might be led to ex-

pend money in exploring it. Any money so

spent will be wasted.
In Highland Township, on the Adamsville

road from Norwich, Coal No. "]b is seen at

several places, lying a few feet below the crin-

oidal limestone, but is nowhere worked, as its

thickness seldom exceeds sixteen inches. At
Mr. Tait’s, on this road, the Norwich coal is

seen at the roadside, and is mined near by, by
stripping. As nearly as could be ascertained,

the thickness is two feet. The limestone is

absent. About a mile north, the same bed is

from two and one-half to three feet thick, with

six inches of slaty coal. At both localities Coal
No. jb is seen, barely one foot thick. Along
Limestone ridge, which coincides with the

Norwich anticlinal, the crinoidal limestone and
the buff limestone, underlying the Norwich
coal, are frequently exposed, and the interval

between them varies from twenty to fifty feet.

The latter disappears before reaching Bloom-
field, where the crinoidal limestone appears in

the Otsego road. Near that village an open-
ing in the Norwich coal, gives the following

section:

FT. IN.

1. Shale 3 5

2. Coal 1 9

3. Clay 0 2

4. Coal 0 8

5. Fire-clay 6 0
6. Limestone 8 0

The coal is compact and hard, and meets with
much favor. Blacksmiths use it, and pronounce
it a very fair coal. Near the road from Bloom-
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field to New Concord, the Norwich coal is

worked on the old Murphy farm. We there
find:

FT. IN.
1. Sandstone 0 0
2. Dark Shale 2 6
3. Coal 2 9
4. Fire-clay 0 0
5. Limestone 7 (j

1 his bank seemed to be of very fair quality,
and to have no great tendency to disinte-
grate on exposure. Specimens were submitted
to analysis, with the following results: No.
i is from the Rankin bank, and No. 2 from the
Murphy bank.

Specific gravity

Moisture
Volatile combustible matter
Fixed carbon
Ash

Total
Sulphur
Sulphur remaining in coke
Sulphur forming of the coke. .

.

Fixed gas per pound, in cubic ft.

Character of coke Compact
Color of ash Light gray

No. 1.

1.305
No. 2 .

1.314

2.90 3.20
34.70 33.00
57.80 56.40
4.60 7.40

100.00 100.00
2.60 2.96

1.09 1.37

1.74 2.14

3.72 3.40

Compact
Reddish

In Union Township, at New Concord, we
reach the bottom of the boat-shaped synclinal.
The Norwich limestone and coal are exposed
here, near the village. In a boring for oil,

made here several years ago, the following
section was obtained :

1. Soil 6 0
2. Shale 16 0
3. Coal No, lb 1 6
4. Not determined 20 0
5. Sandstone 22 0
6. Coal (Norwich) 0 6
7. Shale 9 0
8. Flint rock 8 0
9. Fireclay 0 10

10. Blue sandstone 5 0
11. Shale 4 0
12. Shaly sandstone 4 0
13. Sandstone 20 0
14. Blue clay 2 0
15. Sandstone 12 0
16. Shale 4 0
17. Black shale 13 0
18. Sandstone 7 0
19. Blue clay 5 0
20. Shale 2 0
21. Sandstone 20 0
22. Black shale 11 0
23. Shale 10 0
24. Sandstone 7 0
25. Coal No. 7 3 0
26. Sandstone '28 0
27. Shale 14 0
28. Sandstone 58 0
29. Coaly shale 5 0
30. Coal No. 6 6 0
31. Shale 13 0

FT. IN.

32. Sandstone 20 0
33. Shale 11 0
34. Blue clay 8 0
35. Shale 8 0
36. Brown shale 4 0
37. Not described 34 0

No. 3 of this section was at one time mined
by Mr. Speer, under the depot at New Con-
cord, by means of an incline. It is there
thirty inches thick, and overlaid immediately
by the crinoidal limestone, five feet thick, and
exceedingly hard. The coal obtained here
was of excellent quality, but the bed is too
thin to be profitably worked. The same coal
is worked at Norwich quite extensively. It is

about two feet thick and of very fair qual-
ity. The crinoidal limestone is there seven-
teen feet above it, and the interval is occupied
by shaly sandstone. The Norwich coal has
been worked at Norwich, but the banks have
long been deserted, and no measurement could
be made there, but it is said to be two feet

thick. In a run north of Norwich, crossed by
the Adamsville road, it is seen twenty inches
thick. The limestone, nine feet below it, is

blue on the fractured surface, but weathers
buff, is fossiliferous and very tough. It is the
“ flint rock,” No. 8, of the oil boring. The ab-
sence of Coal No. 7a in the boring renders
somewhat uncertain the identification of Nos.

25 and 30 of the section
;
but the Norwich

limestone is present in the western portion of

Guernsey county at from one hundred to one
hundred and fifteen feet above the Cambridge
coal (No. 7). The interval in the boring be-
tween the limestone and No. 25, is only about
one hundred and twenty-five feet, so that Mr.
Stevenson was inclined to regard No. 25 as the
Cambridge coal. The interval between Nos.

25 and 30 is one hundred and five feet, which
is greater than is usually seen between Nos. 6
and 7 in Muskingum county, though about the
same as in Guernsey and Tuscarawas counties.

The intervals between the coals of the Barren
group, that portion of the series between Coals
No. 6. and 8, seem to diminish westward and
northward from a line running through Mus-
kingum, Tuscarawas, and southern Carroll coun-
ties. The interval between the crinoidal lime-

stone and Coal No. 6 varies in Carroll county
from two hundred and fifty to less than one
hundred and fifty

;
in Guernsey, from two hun-

dred and forty to two hundred; and in Mus-
kingum, from two hundred and twenty-five to

one hundred and eighty. The opposite state-

ment is true respecting the relations of the
lower coals, as has already been shown re-

specting Coals Nos. 4 and 6 in the report upon
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Guernsey county. The coals in Union town-
ship are not much esteemed for manufacturing
purposes, and supplies are obtained mostly
from Coal No. 8, in Belmont county.
Coal is found in sufficient abundance for

domestic use in nearly every portion of the

county north from the railroad, but of the

numerous seams mentioned in the general sec-

tion, only Coal No. 6, is of persistent import-
ance. Each of the others is workable at some
point, but is liable to such variations in thick-

ness as to render it unworthy of general note.

Coal No. 6 is fully available along Wills creek
and the Muskingum river, where it is within reach
of transportation. Analyses from three town-
ships show the percentage of ash to vary from
1.6 to 1.9 per cent.; of sulphur, from 1.59 to

1.97 per cent.; and the yield of fixed gas per
pound from 3.7 to 3.8 cubic feet, while the coke
in all cases is compact. One analysis from
Washington township shows a somewhat infe-

rior coal, containing 3.02 per cent, of sulphur,

and an increase of ash. The coal throughout
is an excellent fuel, and the low proportion of

sulphur makes its coke comparatively good for

use in smelting iron. The gas from this coal

is said to be somewhat inferior in point of bril-

liancy.

In Hopewell township, along the line of

the National road, there are several small
mines opened in Coal No. 3, which have yielded
fuel to the immediate neighborhood fora num-
ber of years. This coal has been generally
referred to the Putnam Hill limestone horizon,

but the reference originated in the error that

prevailed for some years as to the place of this

limestone, it having been confounded with the
Lower Miner limestone. This Hopewell coal
is probably No. 3. It has been mined on sev-

eral farms in the neighborhood. In the adjoin-
ing township of Hopewell, in Licking county,
is the celebrated Flint ridge. The flint

belongs to the horizon of the ferriferous lime-
stone, but at the northern base of the ridge is

the finest development of No. 3 coal in this

portion of the state. It is the well-known
P'lint Ridge cannel coal. The cannel has been
found in full thickness at but a single locality.

It is upon the southeastern side of the ridge
that the mines in Muskingurrv county are
located. The coal here is ordinary bituminous
coal, divided by a number of partings, and
consequently a dirty seam; but it has good
thickness and may fairly be counted as a supply
that will at some time be available. There
would seem reason to believe in considerable
area of this coal in these two townships and
possibly in adjoining ones. There is not likely

to be any large demand for it, aside from the
accessible portions of the cannel coal, under
the conditions that now prevail, as it cannot
compete with the better seams around it so
long as they are produced so cheaply. The
other seams of coals, Nos. 7, 6 and 5, are insig-

nificant as sources of fuel. Their chief interest

is in their occurrence as geological elements.
A small mine has lately been opened in the
coal below the Putnam Hill limestone (the

Brookville coal, Coal No. 4; Coal No. 3/;)

within the city limits of Zanesville, but the
thickness of the seam is small, and it cannot
support any continuous or extensive operations.
South of Zanesville, in the river hills, the

Lower Kittanning coal nowhere appears,
though its companion seam is everywhere
present and worked. At the horizon where
the lower coal is due, a buff limestone bearing
an ore and also a bed of fire-clay is often found.
This series is also well shown on Putnam Hill,

opposite Zanesville; the limestone is here
twenty-seven feet below the Middle Kittanning
or No. 6 coal. The limestone is fossiliferous

and contains well-preserved forms, among which
large bivalve shells are especially noticeable.
The coal of this basin, so far as it has been
worked, is a two or three-benched coal. The
main, and sometimes the only, parting is a sul-

phurous band two or three inches thick, and
eighteen or twenty inches from the top of the
seam. Nodules of pyrites are often found near
thispartingalso. At a little less than a foot from
the bottom, a “ bearing-in ” slate is often found.
The seam is mined by under-cuttingand blasting,

one pound of powder being expected to bring
down twenty tons of properly prepared coal.

Rooms are worked fifteen feet wide. There is

often found a thin band of slaty coal at the top
of the seam. The irregularities in the seam
occur mainly in the bottom. The seam is

applied to all ordinary uses. Its composition
as sampled from Harper’s bank and given by
Prof. Orton from Lord’s analysis, is as follows:

Moisture 4.98

Volatile combustible matter 39.72

Fixed carbon 49.96

Ash 5.39

Total 100.00

Sulphur 3.45

A considerable area has already been worked
out, but it is impossible to say just how much.
As to the extension of the seam to the south-
eastward, under drainage, no facts are at hand,
but the abrupt boundaries upon the open sides

of the basin led Prof. Orton to expect similar

boundaries in the portions of the basin under
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cover. There is but one other district in the

county where this seam is worked extensively.

In Newton township, in the southwestern
corner of the county, a valuable field of the

Lower Kittanning coal has long been worked.
It is here known as the Del Carbo coal. In

the southern part of the county the Middle
Kittanning seam known as the Upper Zanes-
ville coal, or No. 6, is due above the drain-

age levels in Wayne, Springfield, Newton, Clay,

Brush Creek and Harrison townships and in

Zanesville corporation. The seam falls short

of three feet in parts of the field, and it nowhere
yields fully four feet of coal, but it holds with
surprising steadiness a measure ranging from
30 to 42 inches of coal. Its structure is main-
tained with great regularity over large areas.

The lower bench expands or contracts a little,

but the upper is very uniform. To the south-

ward, however, a change occurs. In Newton
and Clay there is a considerable thickening of

the lower bench, accompanied by a reduction
of the upper bench. The false roof is also

increased, or there is added to it a distinct seam
of what is called bone coal, a bed six to twelve
inches in thickness, and a true coal, but too
high in ash to be marketable. Also in follow-

ing the seam southward, through the deep val-

ley of the Muskingum, until it finally sinks

below drainage, we find upon the extreme
boundary its measures reduced and its quality

impaired.
The general conditions of the seam from

Zanesville northward are understood. Within
the limits of Zanesville the coal has been
extensively mined, though in small banks that

produce each but a few thousand tons in a year.

A large acreage has already been worked out,

but much remains. Zanesville has cheaper
coal than any other city of its size in the state.

South of Zanesville the conditions of the seam
are gradually changed. Following first the
Muskingum valley, we find the coal at its

proper horizon and with its normal character-

istics in the river hills on both sides of the
Muskingum as far south as Taylorsville. Only
country banks are found on the east side, but
on the west side, which offers the advantage of

working against the dip, and also of nearer
approach to the river, there are a number of

shipping mines. Several of them have inclines

connecting them with boat landings. Their
product is in all cases shipped to the river and
mostly to McConnellsville and points south-
ward.
The largest of this group is the Owens mine,

in Section 7, Brush Creek township. Here the
seam measures three feet eight inches to three

feet ten inches, and occasionally rises to four
feet, but from these measures several inches of
partings must be deducted. The quality of
the coal is excellent. At Ballou’s salt works,
in Section 12, Brush Creek township, mining
has been carried on quite extensively for

many years. Since the abandonment of salt

boiling, the mines have been kept in opera-
tion for the river supply of coal. The seam is

thinner than at the Owen’s mine, averaging
not more than three feet. The direction of
the river valley through Wayne, Brush Creek
and Harrison townships is but little south of
east, and consequently the fall of the strata

in descending the valley is well marked. The
coal seam has an elevation of about 200 feet

above slackwater at Putnam Hill. At Ballou’s
landing it is only about ninety feet above
the same level. It lies at the water’s edge
opposite the lower end of the Taylorsville
lock. The seam here has>the following struct-

ure: /
IN.

False roof 0
Coal, slaty and inferior 16-18
Parting 2
Coal, lower bench 14

The seam is verging to its southern limit

apparently at this point. There is scarcely a
farm between Zanesville and Taylorsville in

which the coal has not been mined; there is

not one in which the seam is not known to be
present. The greater thickness of the coal at

the Owens mine has been referred to, but the
further statement is necessary that it is the
lower bench that makes the principal increase.

At Zanesville and northward this bench varies

from four to ten inches in thickness, but at the
Owen’s mine it is fifteen inches thick. The
change is an important one, for the seam is

soon to undergo the most marked transforma-

tion that is experienced by any coal seam in

the entire scale, and this is the beginning of it.

The lower bench maintains its increase, even
where the whole volume of the seam is dimin-
ished, as at Taylorsville, as has been made evi-

dent. In Brush Creek, Clay and the eastern

half of Newton townships, the seam is constant

in its occurrence; whenever it is due there it is

found. In Sections 27 and 34 Newton town-
ship, shipping- mines are opened on the line of

the railroad. The Del Carbo mines have yie.lded

a large amount of- coal from both the Kittan-

ning seams, but only the upper seam is at pres-

ent mined here. Numerous farmer’s banks are

opened in the coal throughout this territory.

At and about Roseville, in Clay township, min-
ing is carried on upon a somewhat larger scale,

for the supply of the numerous potteries that
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are established here. The change already re-

ferred to in the expansion of the lower bench
of the coal seam is especially to be noted here.

From the Owen’s mine, in the Muskingum val-

ley, to Roseville, the distance is about six

miles. The lower bench has increased in the

direction from fifteen to twenty-six inches,

while the upper bench has been reduced to the
extent of six inches or more. In the southern
part of Washington, in Perry, Wayne, Salt

Creek, Harrison, Brush Creek and Clay town-
ships, the Upper Freeport coal appears as a

workable seam of considerable value. It is

mined in many small banks, and in one or

two of greater importance. The most north-
erly of these centers of mining is at Sonora,
and in its immediate vicinity on the western
side of Perry township. The coal is chiefly

mined in Sections 6 and 7, but a few open-
ings are to be found in Section. 8 The
coal of Section 6 extends directly into Sec-
tion 10, Washington, where it is also mined.
On the farm of Mrs. Cullins, in Section 8 the
coal is found three feet thick and of fair quali-

ty. The seam is here one hundred and twelve
feet below the Cambridge limestone. At So-
nora the coal runs from two to four feet in

thickness. It is very irregular, owing to the
frequent intrusion of the overlying Mahon-
ing sandstone. The limestone that accom-
panies the coal is strongly developed through-
out this region. It does not seem probable
to Prof. Orton that the seam will be found
a fit basis for large mining operations in this

neighborhood, but he states that a local supply
of considerable importance will be long main-
tained. The same statements will apply to the
coal that lies directly southeast of Sonora,
where mining in a small way has long been
carried on.

The best known basin of the upper Freeport
coal in the county is in the vicinity of Jackson,
in the southeast corner of Washington town-
ship. The coal is mined here on quite a large
scale and is sold in Zanesville and to farmers
round about. This is known as the Alexander
coal, having been worked on the largest scale
and for the longest time by James H. Alexander.
This field is spoken of as a distinct one; but the
Sonora coal belongs to the same basin, as is

shown by the Shick and Sherlock and other
mines throughout the interval. Along the
National road westward from Jackson, the
coal has been worked at various points, and it

continues as far west as the land is found high
enough to hold it. The coal has been princi-

pally mined on the Clark farm, two miles cast
of Zanesville, but the adjacent land of Adam

Rock holds a small acreage on which mining is

still going forward. Throughout the whole
district the coal lies very shallow. A great
deal of it is got by stripping, and when mining
is undertaken the character of the work is

everywhere limited by the weakness and treach-
ery of the cover. The coal ranges from three to five

and one-half feet in thickness, and it is rendered
dirty by numerous partings in the seam. To
compete in the general market it would require

thorough screening. The coal has a good name
where it is used, but the limitations of area and
of cover will prevent this immediate district

from becoming any more important as a min-
ing center then it now is. Southward, throughout
the northern half of Salt Creek township the
coal is frequently found in good volume and is

worked in many local banks. It is known as a

four-foot seam. A considerable acreage is

thought to exist here. The same thing can be
said of Wayne township. Near Duncan’s Falls

a number of small mines are opened in this

coal. The general thickness of the seam is

four feet and in quality it holds to the usual
standard.
Southward from Duncan's Falls, through-

out the Muskingum valley, the coal is easily

followed as far as the south line of Section

20, Harrison township, a little below Gays-
port, where it falls to the level of the river.

Important mines have been worked near this

point for many years, the coal being known as

the Blue Rock coal, and finding its market
along the river. The immediate cover of the
seam is very heavy, reaching well up to the
Pittsburgh coal. The hill above it consists in

large portion of the clays and shales of the
Barren measures, making a treacherous series

to undermine. It was here that four miners
were imprisoned nearly forty years ago by a

rush which closed up the entries leading to

day. They were rescued alive after fourteen
days’ and thirteen hours’ imprisonment, during
which time they had no food except a lunch
or “check” that two miners had carried in on
the morning of the day on which the crush
occurred. The Blue Rock coal, as it now ap-
pears, is in marked contrast to the general
product of the seam elsewhere. It is atypical
“pitch” coal, clear and bright to a higher
degree than any other Ohio coal—nearly as

clear as anthracite. No mineral charcoal is

found in the present product of the mine. Its

composition, as shown by Prof. Lord’s analysis
of a single block, is as follows:

Moisture 3.50

Volatile combustible matter 40.44

Fixed carbon 45.87
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Ash 4.19

Total 100.00
Sulphur 3.84

These figures show a remarkable coal,

higher in volatile combustible matter than any
other bituminous coal in the series, the can-
nels not being included. The proportion of

sulphur is excessive, constituting the only
drawback upon the otherwise high quality.

The seam carries, when normal, a regular thick-

ness of four leet, but, as elsewhere, it is liable

to sudden interruptions, some of which are

strikingly shown in the main entry of the pres-

ent Blue Rock mine. The coal is here entirely

cut off for many yards. Much time and some
money have been spent at various points along
the valley, and especially on the opposite side

of the river, in a fruitless search for the Blue
Rock coal. The horizon of the coal is every-
where made clear, though not generally recog-
nized by its fire clay and limestone, but of the
coal itself not a trace may be left. This fact

Prof. Orton says should be borne in mind in all

investigations directed toward this seam. It

was never universally distributed, like the Mid-
dle Kittanning, in its field. In addition to the
irregularity of original formation, the seam,
where once duly formed, was afterwards ex-
posed to the accidents of quite a violent

erosion. So coarse a sandstone as the Mahon-
ing cannot be explained without calling into

action strong currents for its transportation.

From these two causes, viz., failure of uniform
and continuous formation and waste of the
basins that were formed by erosive currents,

results the exceeding uncertainty of the upper
Freeport coal through a large portion of the
territory in which it is due. The upper Free-
port clay is worked at its proper level at Bal-
lou’s landing, in Brush Creek township. It is

here a non-plastic clay of good quality. It

has been worked to some extent in the fire-

brick factory at Putnam. The coal does not
appear in immediate connection with the clay,

but it has been found and mined on adjoining
farms at its proper level.

The least known and least developed but
by far the most promising field of the Upper
Freeport coal in Muskingum county is included
in Clay, Newton and Brush Creek townships,
and is rendered accessible by the valleys of

Brush Creek and its tributaries. There is a

possible important extension of it into Harri-
son townships as will be presently shown. So
far as can be determined by natural exposures,
the coal occupies parts of Sections I, Clay; 25
and 36, Newton, and 7, 6, 26, 5 and 27, Brush

Creek township, but boundaries for a coal field

of this particular seam, when laid down in ad-
vance of careful exploration, are of little

worth. The probabilities arc thought by Prof.

Orton to be all in favor of a large territory for

this Brush Creek basin. Throughout the area
named it presents ample signs of steadiness
and seems uniform and regular in its character.
It does not vary much from a thickness of four
feet in any of the numerous openings that have
been made in the seam for local coal banks.
At the Dewall banks in Section 36, Newton,
there are four feet four inches of coal overlaid
by six inches of cannel. Its quality also seems
in all respects satisfactory. It is a bright,

fairly clean coal, well jointed, cutting easily

and mining to good advantage, much freer from
shale and clay than this seam usually is. The
regular black slate above the seam becomes
locally a cannel coal, but of no great value.

The coal is shown on the east side of the Brush
Creek valley in every farm for two or three

miles, through Sections 5, 7 and 27. It dips

down under the heavy ridge that separates

Brush Creek from the Muskingum river in the

townships of Brush Creek and Harrison.
Crossing this ridge to the eastward and de-

scending toward the river valley by one of the

branches of Blue Rock river, upon reaching the

level at which the coal is due, one finds the

farmers mining it by stripping from the creek
bottoms, the coal still holding a thickness of

four feet. F'rom this point on to the famous
Blue Rock mines, the coal appears almost con-

tinuously, being everywhere called a four-foot

seam. Where the change begins to occur by
which the present remarkable character of the

Blue Rock coal is acquired, there are no
present opportunities for learning, but the in-

ference is a legitimate one that the Brush
Creek coal extends under the divide until it

unites with the Blue Rock field, for these two
fields belong, says Prof. Orton, to one and the

same basin. If the proper exploration shall

confirm this view, it is clear that here is one of

the largest and most promising of the Upper
Freeport coal-fields of Ohio. While the seam
does not show as great thickness here as in the

other chief centers of production, it seems
steadier than elsewhere, and if this fact is es-

tablished it will more than compensate for the

smaller measurement. It must not, however,

be forgotten, that the seam has everywhere

else, and even in this field to some extent,

suffered from the erosion due to the transpor-

tation of its sandstone-roof and that, in conse-

quence, a hitherto undisclosed irregularity may
hereafter appear. The wide limits provision-
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ally assigned to the field may also be proved
incorrect; but in any case a very valuable and
promising body of the upper Freeport coal is

already in sight in the Brush Creek valley.

These statements complete the accounts of the
lower coals of Muskingum county. While
there is not a large mine in the county, the
aggregate production is not insignificant, but
the mining is of such a quality as to escape
public notice and record to a great degree.
The possibility of larger mining interests has
however, been indicated.

By an inspection of geological maps it will

thus be seen that there is hardly a hill in the
southern half of the county that does not con-
tain iron ore, and in many instances this ore is

found in workable seams. But the most valu-
able ore-beds, both in extent and quality, are
in the northern and northeastern portion of
the county. The ore is of great excellence and
purity, and the iron made from it has a high repu-
tation; the ore is known as the brown and red
hematites. The ores of this county are likely to
prove of importance. They are of excellent
quality, and are made the more available by
the proximity of good coking coal. It is not
improbable that Coal No. 4, in Jackson town-
ship, may be employed raw, as it does not
cake, and contains less than two per cent, of
sulphur. In Washington township good ore is

found fifteen feet below Coal No. 6. In Jack-
son, Licking, and Muskingum townships an
ore bed is seen in conjunction with the chert
above Coal No. 3, and the same was observed
in Madison township. This is the horizon to
which belongs analysis No. 2, in Jackson town-
ship. Another bed rests almost upon the
conglomerate in Jackson and Licking town-
ships. Analysis No. 1, in Jackson township,
is of ore from this deposit. These ores should
be smelted at Frazeysburg and Irville or Nash-
port, as those places are upon the Ohio canal,
by which coke and the richer ores could be
transported without difficulty.

Omitting coal, omitting iron ore, omitting
lime and building stone, there are to be found
more than twenty varieties of clays and sands
existing in beds that are inexhaustible, all of
which are being utilized and in demand, in
their raw, unmanufactured condition, through-
out the Union. It is safe to say that the
aggregate amount of sand, clay, lime, lime-
stone, and the manufactured products of the
same, that arc shipped from the county during
the current year will not fall short of sixty car
loads per day—the shipment of pressed brick
from Zanesville alone being 40,000 car loads
annually. Limestone and sandstone abound

2

in limitless quantities, and of the very best

quality. Of the limestone alone there are

twenty -two distinct and separate seams, vary-

ing in color from a light gray to a deep blue.

It is susceptible of a high polish and is used
in all ornamental work, and for purity, beauty
and durability, they have not a superior in the

state. The sand and building stone, which are

in great demand throughout the country, are

here easily and cheaply quarried and are equal

to that of Waverly and Berea. Buhrstone is

found in the western townships. It is fine

grained and imparts a keen edge to tools. It

was formerly quarried for millstones, but is not

now used. Gypsum and kaolin both exist

here. The county has a large number of

inexhaustible salt wells, from which the best

grades of salt can be manufactured, but owing
to the cheapness of salt at the present day this

branch does not command the importance it

did years ago. Should the demand for salt

revive so that its manufacture would again

bring remunerative prices, her salt wells would
all again be put in operation. Many of them
have a capacity of 7,000 to 8,000 barrels per

year. Petroleum in considerable quantities is

obtained in the southern part of the county.

The clays of the Muskingum valley are

destined to play an important part in the future

of the great clay industries of this country.

They are of remarkable variety, there being no
other single locality in the United States where
so many different sorts of valuable clays are

obtainable. They are adapted to making stone-

ware and faience of nearly all descriptions,

and are also suitable for the manufacture of

concrete of the highest grade. That the de-

velopment of the clay interest is to be a most
potent factor in the county’s future growth
is a demonstrated fact. The use of the clays

here found has conclusively proven that they are

pre-eminently adapted to be made into bricks of

all descriptions, pottery of every variety, and
the encaustic tiling that has won, by its beauty
and durability, such worldwide fame.

Pottery may be divided into three classes;

stone ware, common white ware (technically

known as faience) and porcelain. Stoneware
may be called the lowest order of pottery, it

being the cheapest, simplest in manufacture
and least susceptible to artistic ornamentation
of the three. It is made as follows: After the

clay has been moulded on the potter’s wheel,

the interior is coated with ‘slip-clay,’ which
melts when fired and forms an opaque glass.

The exterior is generally given what is known
as a ‘salt-glaze;’ that is, when the fire is at its

greatest heat, common salt is thrown into the
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fire places; the salt volatilizes, and, being an
alkali, combines with the surface of the clay

and gives a blush of glaze. The object of

glazing is, of course, to make the body per-

fectly impervious to liquids. Common white
ware, the next higher grade of pottery, is dis-

tinguished from stoneware and porcelain in

that it has a porous clay body, upon which a

comparatively easily fused glass is melted to

make it impervious. It is further characterized

in that it is made with two fires. The first and
hotter fire is on the clay itself and is techni-

cally known as the ‘biscuit fire.’ The clay

comes out of this heat hard but porous. To
make it impervious it is then dipped into a

thin slop consisting of the materials of crown
glass suspended in water. By the suction

of the dry, porous, once-baked clay, it becomes
evenly coated in the dipping process with a

thin coating of glaze material. It is then re-

placed in the kiln and gets a second or ‘glost’

heat. This heat melts the constituents of glass

together, and covers the surface of the ware
with a thin, impervious sheet of glass. In the

case of tiling, which belongs to the fai-

ence class, the glass is stained with metallic

oxides—as cobalt, nickel, copper, etc. Thus
one of our beautiful American encaustic tiles

may be roughly but accurately described as a

little brick in a glass covered box.
Porcelain is the third and highest grade of

pottery. It is distinguished from faience in

the fact that the glass is much harder than
crown glass, it being made of feld-spar, and the

second or glost heat is therefore much higher
than the first or biscuit heat. The result is that

in this second fire the body as well as the glass

becomes vitreous; which accounts forthetrans-
lucency of the porcelain. Because of the high
temperature that the glaze of porcelain requires,

it cannot be colored in the glaze, and in order
to decorate it, it is painted in soft firing colors

on the glaze, after the ware is finished, and
burned at a very low heat. Common white
ware is decorated on the clay after the first or

biscuit fire, and then glazed over; which
accounts for the fact that the colors of such
ware are never dimmed by use; while the colors

of true porcelain wear off in time. The French
Limoges ware, that made in England by Boul-
ton, and the Rockwood pottery in the United
States, is decorated in this manner. The prob-
lem of adapting the glaze to the clay has always
been difficult, and for a long time was kept a

secret; so that in the middle ages, the work of

the pottar was regarded a black art. Within
the last twenty-five years, however, experiment-
ing has ceased to be done empirically, through

the efforts of the chemists in the royal porce-
lain factory at Berlin, and the national French
factory at Sevres, and work is done on a scien-
tific basis. It has been found what combina-
tions of chemicals are necessary to make glass
suitable for the purpose, and howto vary them
so as to adapt them to different clays. It was
discovered that the ‘ crazing’ or crackling of
glass on some, and peeling off on other clays,

was due to the fact that the body of ware as well
as the glaze melted intimately upon it, expanded
and contracted with the variations of the tem-
perature of the atmosphere; and, while this ex-
pansion and contraction was so minute as to
escape detection except by the most delicate

physical instruments, it was found that the in-

equality of expansion and contraction was the
cause of the incompatibility of the clay and
the glaze for each other in making ware. Re-
cognition of the true facts of the problem
cleared the way to its solution, and has taken
the art from the ignorant experimenter and
placed it in the hands of scientific men. In-

deed, until very recently the knowledge of the
composition and properties of clay current
among clay workers in Ohio was almost wholly
practical, and there may seem to be ground for

surprise that such excellent results should have
been attained with so little aid from science.

The scientific research directed to it is much
more scanty in proportion to the interests in-

volved than in almost any similar field.

The literature of a technological subject al-

ways represents the progress of science in re-

spect to that subject. In this field it was long
represented by only one book that is largely

useful in American practice, viz.: Prof. G. H.
Cook s Report on the Clays of New Jersey. In

many respects, the Ohio field is different from
that of New Jersey, as for instance, in the geolo-

gical horizon of its clays, which are all coal

measure formations, and until the publication

of Prof. Orton’s report, in 1884, there was
little scientific literature directly devoted to

them. The clay deposits of Ohio may be sep-

arated into two well-defined divisions, viz.: the

clays of the drift, and the far older group that

is found interstratified in various horizons

among the bedded rocks of the state. In geo-
graphical distribution, these two divisions are

quite distinct, the former having its chief de-

velopments throughout the northern and west-

ern portions of the state, and the latter through-
out south-eastern Ohio, but. they overlap to

some extent upon the boundary. The drift

region of Ohio is bounded on the south by a

sinuous line, entering the state on the south-

east, in Columbiana county. There are then in
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the south and east of the state twenty-one
counties in which no upland drift is found. The
clays which constitute bedded formations may
be divided into two groups,—coal measure clays,

and the lower clays. The geographical extent
of the coal measures is bounded by a line some-
what similar to that which bounds the drift.

Included in and cut by this boundary are

thirty-three counties, but not more than twenty-
two hold any large measure of mineral wealth.
The valuable coal seams of Ohio are mainly in

the lower measures, and the clay deposits
worked are wholly confined to that group.
Following the nomenclature of the coal meas-
ures with which they are associated, the clays
of Muskingum county are known as the Kittan-
ning and Freeport clays. In this county the
Kittanning clay appears at Zanesville and
Roseville. The coal is usually absent, leaving
the clay, hence some question can be raised
as to whether the clay lies over or under the
coal. The deposit extends from north of Zanes-
ville to below McLuney, in Perry county, and
towards Deanstown, Morgan county. The
Middle Kittanning clay is also worked in a few
cases, though its developments have none of the
characteristics that attach to the lower coal.

The horizon of the lower Freeport coal is pro-
ductive of good clay in two districts. One is

at Zanesville, where it is opened at Downerd’s
bank, the Tile works bank, and at several
other places. The clay is of second grade,
plastic and quite ferruginous. The other dis-

trict is at Moxahala, where the Pyle clay is re-

ferred to this horizon. It is mined and shipped
by rail largely to Columbus. It is a clay of
second rate in part of its territory, and in other
portions, plastic, ranking as a high grade No. 2

clay. It carries red oxide of iron enough to dis-

color it, and to affect its character for refractori-

ness, doubtless, but portions of it are excellent.
TheUpper Freeport horizon,inoneortwo places,

yields valuable clays. The best is found near
Taylorsville, Muskingum county, where it is

called the Ballou clay. It is here a hard clay
of some value, and is carried to Zanesville for

the fire-brick works. The higher veins of coal
are not used at all, and are met only in limited
places. No clay from above the Upper Free-
port is used in this state, unless it be in one
mine in Jefferson county, where a small amount
of clay is taken from beneath a coal, probably
the Brush creek vein.

There arc three stoneware districts in Ohio;
the largest at Akron, the most widely spread at

Roseville, in Muskingum and Perry counties,
and the least important near Rock House,
Hocking county. The Roseville district is

composed of a large number of small potteries.

There are not less than eighty-five or ninety in

the district, and most of them employ only a

small number of hands. Fire brick is made
in this county. Pressed brick is one of the

newer departments of building material manu-
factures, and is making rapid progress. The
largest center of manufacture in the state is at

Zanesville, where the natural facilities have
been utilized by two large firms, Messrs. Harris

Bros, and T. B. Townsend & Co., and by others.

The only artistic application to which clay is

put in Ohio is the manufacture of encaustic
tiling, ornamental pottery and terra cotta.

Encaustic tiling is manufactured in only three

places in the United States, at present, among
which the works at Zanesville were the first to

be established and are the most extensive.

The name of this firm is the American Encaus-
tic Tiling Company. Nearly all its products
are sold in New York in the face of foreign

competition. Our best tiles are as good as the

best of the English and French, but the aver-

age foreign tiles exceeds the average of the

home manufacture. The clays used are of

many kinds, those varieties used in largest pro-

portion which constitute the “ body ” clays and
are found in the immediate vicinity of the

works, but the clays which are employed for

the more delicate processes come from widely-

scattered and distant localities.

The following analysis of the Ballou fire-

clay is given by Prof. Orton:

Combined silica 31.07
Alumina 26.47
Combined water 9.96
Per cent of the kaolinite base 67.50
Quartz 27.71
Titanic acid .94

Total sandy material 28.65
Sesquioxide of iron 1.22
Lime .59

Magnesia .82
Potash .99

Total deleterious impurity 3.12
Moisture 1.04

Sum total 200.08

Brumage’s stoneware clay, Roseville:

Combined silica 25.60
Alumina 19.08
Combined water 5.57
Per cent of the kaolinite base 50.25
Quartz 43.73
Titanic acid .29

Total sandy material 44.02
Sesquioxide of iron 1.26
Lime .60

Magnesia .63

Potash 2.14
Soda, lithia .02
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Total deleterious impurity 4.65
Moisture .94

Sum total. 198.78

Allen’s stoneware clay, Roseville:

Combined silica 28.61
Alumina 23.01
Combined water 8.03
Per cent of the kaolinite base 59.65
Quartz 34.79
Titanic acid .35
Total sandy material 35.14
Sesquioxide of iron 1.50
Lime .41

Magnesia .62

Potash 1.26
Total deleterious impurity 3.81
Moisture 1.97

Sum total 199.15

Walker’s stoneware clay, Roseville:

Combined silica 69.79
Alumina 19.31
Combined water 5.08
Quartz with clay 94.18
Total deleterious impurity, by diff 4.80
Moisture .94

Total 194.10

For the establishment and maintenance of

a trade and manufacturing center, the question
of transportation is paramount to all other
considerations. The county is well favored in

this respect. In the early days the Muskingum
river afforded the benefits of a navigable stream
which was of extraordinary service to the set-

tlement. Later, with the National road passing
through the village, with all of its travel, Zanes-
villeand the county at large, felt that they had
reached the height of transportation facilities,

and, at that time the seat of justice, ranked as

second only to Cincinnati in the Common-
wealth. Railroads, however, in the present
day, have superseded the old methods of con-
veyance, and Zanesville to-day is a common
and terminal point for seven railroads, viz.:

Baltimore & Ohio; Pittsburgh, Chicago & St.

Louis; Bellaire, Zanesville & Cincinnati; Zanes-
ville & Ohio, Columbus & Eastern; Cleveland,
Akron & Columbus and Cleveland, Canton &
Southern. Besides these the Belt Line road
encircles the city of Zanesville and connects
all of the roads, beside furnishing shipping
facilities at the door of every local manufact-
uring concern. Combined, they offer trans-

portation facilities equal to those of the more
favored localities, and their branches and
connections reach to every point of this

country and by the most direct route. The
Baltimore & Ohio railroad—Trans-Ohio divi-

sion—extending from New York and Baltimore

on the east, to Columbus, Cincinnati and Chi-
cago on the west, affords unsurpassed shipping
facilities.

The Pittsburgh, Chicago & St. Louis rail-

road over its branch, the Cincinnati & Musk-
ingum Valley road, gives the city and county
direct communication with Pittsburg and all

points east, over the famous Pan Handle
system, as well as reaching all important points
in the West: Cincinnati, Indianapolis, St. Louis
and Chicago. The Cincinnati & Muskingum
Valley railroad, extending from Morrow, Ohio,
through a rich belt of country, enters Zanes-
ville from the south, and running north con-
nects with the main line of the Pan Handle
system at Dresden Junction. The Columbus
& Eastern railroad gives direct connections for

Columbus. The Zanesville & Ohio railroad

connects Zanesville with Marietta and all points
along the Ohio river. The Bellaire, Zanesville
& Cincinnati railroad, running through the
coal belts, terminates at Bellaire. The Cleve-
land, Akron & Columbus railroad, extends from
Columbus to Cleveland, via Akron. The
Cleveland, Canton & Southern railroad

gives still another outlet. The Junction rail-

road, for which right of way has been secured
upon the west side of the river, will cross the
Licking and join the Chicago & Eastern rail-

road at the south side of Zanesville. In addi-

tion to the above-mentioned roads, the county
has two projected roads for which rights of

way have been secured and construction

already begun. The Zanesville, Newcomers-
town & Cleveland railroad—from Zanesville to

Cleveland,—and the Zanesville, Mt. Vernon &
Marion railroad, from Zanesville to Marion,
Ohio, where it will connect with the Cleveland,

Columbus, Cincinnati & Indianapolis railroad

system.
The Muskingum—the largest navigable

stream in Ohio, is navigable from its mouth
to Dresden, a distance of ninety-four miles.

From Marietta to Zanesville, a distance of

forty-eight miles, it has a capacity to carry

boats of two hundred to three hundred tons

burthen, and from Zanesville to Dresden,
and the Ohio canal, boats from one to two
hundreds tons burthen. The river is now
receiving extensive improvements at the hands
of the government, and at no distant day the

river traffic will be resumed with all points

upon the Ohio and Mississippi rivers. The
Ohio canal, which crosses the northwestern
portion of the county, connects with the Musk-
ingum river at Dresden, and by some it is pre-

dicted that in time a ship canal connecting
Lake Eirie with the Ohio river will be a neces-
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sity and the chief avenue of trade between
the lakes on the north and the gulf on the
south. The route via the Ohio canal and
Muskingum river is the most practical as well

as the cheapest one yet suggested, and would
undoubtedly be selected. With seven lines of

railroads cutting the county in all directions

—

two of them trunk lines—the shipping facilities

of the county are unsurpassed.
From the foregoing brief review of Musk-

ingum county and her resources, it must be
acknowledged that few sections of territory of

like extent command, in a higher degree than
is here found, all those elements of wealth
which constitute a prosperous and rich com-
munity. The agricultural capacity of the land,

the mixed husbandry that exists, the easy
drainage and consequent health that prevails,

the inexhaustible mineral resources that

abound, the facilities for transportation to all

sections of the country, both by water and rail,

the extent of the natural water-power which
exists all along the river, all combine to render
this, at no distant day, one of the most popu-
lous and wealthy sections of our entire coun-
try, either east or west. The business citizens

of the county are realizing this more and more,
daily, and the consequence is increased activity

in all departments of trade and in all the indus-

trial occupations pursued. A denser rural

population will here be gathered, in a very few
years, than will be found in any other county
of Ohio. The county is, as it were, just opened
to the hand of industry, and the demand of the

times for coal, iron and her other minerals,

must necessarily gather hither the energy and
enterprise that will aid in developing these

resources to the fullest extent.

©foapjep II.

THE MOUND BUILDERS AND THE INDIANS.

OBSCURE and mysterious, the pre-historic

race known as Mound-Builders undoubt-
edly antedated the various Indian tribes

who anciently occupied and claimed title to the
soil that now constitutes the state of Ohio, and
it seems probable that many centuries inter-

vened between the time of the advent of the
Mound Builders and that of the Indian tribes

or nations. By some it has been thought not
improbable that an effeminate, indolent and de-
moralized remnant of the former race deteri-

orated into the latterand formed the nucleus of
some of the degenerate tribes of savages that
during subsequent centuries roamed here at

will, ultimately passing into hopeless savagery.
The extent, variety and labyrinthian intri-

cacies of the Mound-Builders’ works still found
in many sections of Ohio indicate the plausibil-

ity of the view that the state includes what was
for many successive centuries a favorite locality

with this race, who dwelt here for ages, erected
their works and made long chapters of a history
that may never be written. The works that still

exist in a tolerably perfect condition within the
boundaries of the state arc approximately es-

timated at 10,000, but they doubtless far ex-

ceeded that number at the date of the first per-

manent white settlement a little more than one
hundred years ago.

Only such monuments or remains can be at-

tributed to the Mound-Builders as were regarded
by the Indian tribes as antiquities or as the re-

mains and relics of an extinct race. These
consisted of mounds, effigies and inclosures.

Mounds are subdivided into sepulchral, sac-

rificial, temple (or truncated) mounds and
mounds of observation and memorial or monu-
mental mounds. Effigies are sometimes called

animal mounds and emblematic mounds, fre-

quently symbolical mounds. Inclosures arc of

several kinds, one class being known as military

or defensive works, another as parallel embank-
ments or covered ways, another as sacred in-

closures. Under the general title of inclosures

arc also walls of circumvallation, or ramparts
constructed for military purposes, while others

were doubtless wallssurrounding thcresidcnces

of those high in authority. Perhaps others

were erected for the performance within them
of national games and amusements. Somemay
have served a purpose in the performance of

religious rites and ceremonies and facilitated
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indulgence in superstitious practices. Many of

these works were constructed of earth, a few of

stone, and fewer still of earth and stone com
bined.

Sepulchral mounds are more numerous than
any other kinds, and are generally conical in

form. They are of all sizes, ranging in altitude

from only a few feet to seventy, and always
contain skeletons or parts of skeletons or pre-

sent other plausible indications of having been
built or used for purposesof sepulture, and were
unmistakably memorial mounds reared over the

dead. Ithasbeen claimed by some archaeologists

that the size of these mounds bears a certain

relation to the importance, when living, of the

persons over whom they were erected. The
mound near Miamisburg, on the bank of the

Great Miami river, is symmetrical in form and
sixty eight feet high, and if this theory is correct

must mark the burial place of a great chief or

ruler of the people. Professor Marsh of the

Sheffield scientific school, connected with Yale
college, some years ago opened a mound in

Licking county which contained seventeen
skeletons in whole or in part. But the most re-

markable of all mounds within the state was
one in Hardin county, in which were found
about 300 human skeletons; but it is maintained
by some that the leading features of the burials

in this mound were indicative of an Indian
rather than a Mound-Builderorigin. Sacrificial

mounds are usually stratified, the strata being
convex layers of clay and loam alternating

above a layer of fine sand. They generally

contain ashes, charcoal, igneous stones, calcined

animal bones, beads, stone implements, pottery
andspecimens of rudesculpture. Thesemounds
are frequently found within inclosures which
are supposed to have been in some way con-
nected with the performance of religious rites

and ceremonies, and in such mounds an altar

of burnt clay or of stone is usually found. These
altars, which sometimes rest on the surface of

the original earth, at the center of the mound,
are symmetrically shaped and are among the

chief distinguishing characteristics of sacri-

ficial mounds. Upon them, sacrifices of animals,

perhaps of human beings, were offered up in the
flames employed in that cruel, superstitious

performance. The presence of skeletons in

some of these mounds would seem to indicate

their sepulchral as well as sacrificial character.

In common with sepulchral mounds, these con-
tain implements of warfare, mica from the
Alleghanies, shells from the Gulf of Mexico,
obsidian, and in some instances porphyry,
from Mexico, as well as useful and ornajnental
silver and copper articles,

Temple mounds are less numerous and gen-
erally larger than the preceding classes, and in

form are oftenest circular or oval; but what-
ever their form, circular, oval, round, square,

oblong, or octangular, they are invariably trun-

cated, presenting the appearance of never hav-
ing been finished. They are frequently sur-

rounded by embankments, and many of them
have spiral pathways, steps or inclined planes
leading to their summits. They are usually of

large base and small height. The supposition
of scientists is that the summits of these
mounds were crowned with wooden structures

that served the purposes of temples, all traces

of which have, of course, disappeared. They
were used also, to a limited extent, as burial

places, as well as for purposes of religious

ceremony. Mounds of observation are gener-
ally situated upon eminences and have been
variously designated “observatories,” “alarm
posts,” “watch-towers,” “signal stations,” or

“look-outs,” being believed to have served the

purposes indicated by these titles. Some
writers have asserted that they occur in chains
or regular systems, and that “many of them
still bear traces of the beacon fires that were
once burning upon them.” One of this descrip-

tion is situated two miles west of Newark, in

Licking county, and though somewhat muti-

lated, has a present height of about twenty-five

feet. Mounds of observation are compara-
tively numerous in some parts of the State, and
lines of them have been traced through the

Great and Little Miami valleys and along the

Sciota valley from Delaware county to Ports-

mouth. Memorial or monumental mounds
belong to the class of tumuli that were erected

to perpetuate some important event or in honor
of some distinguished character. They are

mostly built of earth, but some of the stone

mounds found in various sections of Ohio
probably belong to this not numerous class.

It has often caused surprise that mounds which
have been thoroughly explored have yielded

no human skeletons. The reason may, in some
cases, be that they belong to this class, which
were erected to perpetuate events, and not for

purposes of sepulture. Effigies or animal
mounds are simply raised figuresof gigantic pro-

portions, representing men, beasts, birds, or rep-

tiles, and in some instances inanimate objects.

Their altitude is usually from one to six feet

above the natural surface of the ground.

Schoolcraft calls this class of ancient works
emblematic mounds, and expresses the belief

that they were “ totems ” or “ heraldic symbols.”

Prof. Wilson and other writers of distinc-

tion call them symbolical mounds, and hold
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the opinion that they were erected as objects

of worship, or for altars upon which sacrifices

were offered, or that they served some other

purposes connected with the religious worship
of their idolatrous and superstitious construc-

tors. Of the three most notable examples of

effigies in Ohio, two are situated in Licking
county. One of these, near the center of an

ancient earthwork commonly called the Old
Fort, an enclosure of high banks about a mile
from Newark, containing an area of about
thirty acres, is called Eagle mound, from its

supposed resemblance to an eagle on the wing.

Its length is approximately 200 feet and it

measures about the same distance from tip to

tip of wings. Excavations into the middle of

this effigy brought to light an altar which gave
indications of the action of fire upon the stones

and earth composing it, while the presence
of charcoal and ashes strongly suggested
sacrificial offerings. The other, called Alli-

gator mound, is situated upon the summit
of a hill about six miles west of Newark.
The shape and form of this reptilian mon-
ster are distinctly presented. Its greatest

length is 200 feet; the greatest breadth of

the body is 20 feet, and the distance from
the fore legs to the hind legs is 50 feet,

while the legs are each 25 feet long.

The head, foreshoulders and back have an
elevation varying from three to six feet,

but that of the remainder of the body av-

erages considerably less. The head, limbs
and tail gradually taper off to their termina-
tion. Prof. Wilson expresses the belief that

it symbolizes some object of special awe
and veneration, and it appears quite probable
that this effigy was an object of worship. Per-

haps the most extensive and remarkable effigy

mound in Ohio is situated near Brush creek,
in Adams county. It is serpentine in form
and more than 1,000 feet long, the body form-
ing graceful curves and the tail terminating in

triple coils. The embankment, which consti-

tutes the main body of the serpent, is about
five feet in height and thirty feet in width, and
diminishes in size toward both the head and
tail. “The neck of the figure,” says the Amer-
ican Cyclopaedia, “ is stretched out, and slightly
curved, and the mouth is opened wide, as if in

the act of swallowing or ejecting an oval figure

which rests partly within the distended jaws.”
This oval figure is formed by an embankment
four feet high, and is perfectly regular in out-
line, its transverse and conjugate diameters bc-
ing 103 and 39 feet, respectively. The com-
bined figure has been regarded by some as

a representation of the oriental cosmological

idea of the serpent and the egg. Defensive
inclosures are of irregular form, are always on
high ground and in naturally strong positions,

frequently on the summit of hills and steep
bluffs, and are often strengthened by exterior
ditches. To this class of inclosures belongs
one of stone walls situated on the top of a high
hill, five miles north of Somerset, in Perry
county, which embraces about twenty acres, its

general form approaching a triangle with two
long sides. Its natural position is one of great
strength and is quite defensible. Another oc-
cupies a very high hill near Bourneville, Ross
county. Still another is situated on the sum-
mit of a hill, a mile east of the Alligator mound,
in Licking county. The most notable of this

class of works, however, is “ Fort Ancient,” in

Warren county, which is situated on a plain

230 feet above the level of the Little Miami
river. The embankments measure nearly four
miles in length, varying in height, according to

the natural strength of the point to be pro-
tected, from ten to twenty feet, and inclose

several hundred acres. These inclosures, and
all similar ones having the same general fea-

tures and characteristics, are indisputably of a

military character. Low parallel walls of

earth, called “covered ways,” are frequently
found contiguous to inclosures, sometimes con-
necting. them by extending from one to an-

other. One of their purposes, at least, seemed
to be the protection of those passing to and
fro within them. Sacred inclosures are mainly
distinguished from military inclosures by the
regularity of their form and their more frequent
occurrence. They are of all shapes and forms,
and when they are provided with moats or

ditches such were invariably within, not out-

side, the embankment. Sometimes they are

situated within military inclosures. Frequently
there is in their central portions a mound or

elevation supposed to have served the purpose
of an altar. Within these sacred inclosures

were doubtless celebrated religious festivals,

and upon their high central places or altars

were undoubtedly performed by priestly hands
the rites and ceremonies demanded by the

sacrificial and idolatrous religion of the mound-
Builders.

“The very extensive and labyrinthian works
near Newark,” says Sijiucker, “which covers an
area of little less than two miles square, and
probably comprise ten miles or more of em-
bankments, ranging from two feet to thirty

feet in height, are generally believed to be
sacred inclosures, particularly that interesting

portion of them known as the ‘Old Fort,’ now
called the Fair Grounds, Some archaeologists,
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however, maintain that many works called

sacred inclosures were erected for and used as

places of amusements, where our predecessors
of pre-historic times practiced their national
games, and celebrated their great national

events; where they held their national festivals

and indulged in their national jubilees, as well

as performed the ceremonials of their religion.

And it may be that those (and there are many
such) within which no central elevation or altar

occurs, were erected for the purposes last

named, and not exclusively (if at all) for pur-
poses connected with their religion, and are

therefore erroneously called sacred inclosures.

Other ancient peoples, if indeed not all the na-

tions of antiquity, have had their national
games, amusements, festivals, and jubilees, and
why not the Mound-Builders, too? Notably in

this regard, the ancient Greeks may be named,
with whom, during the period known as the
“lyrical age of Greece,” the Olympic, the Pyth-
ian, the Nemean, and the Isthmian games
became national festivals. And without doubt
the Mound-Builders, too, had their national
games, amusements, festivals, and jubilees, and
congregated within their inclosures to practice,

celebrate, and enjoy them.”
The growth of large trees upon these works,

the material of their composition, in some in-

stances different from the soil in the vicinity,

and the ignorance of the Indians concerning
them, all prove their construction in a far-away
time. It is asserted that a solicitude was shown
by the Indians that the mounds should not be
effaced or marred, but whether this was the re-

sult of veneration or superstition, or both, is

unknown. Reference has been made to won-
derful mounds and earth-cemeteries in the ad-
joining counties of Perry and Licking, and it

cannot be doubted that the mysterious people
who constructed them inhabited the territory

now included in Muskingum county as well,

yet here they left no such conspicuous examples
of their skill and their civilization. On the
Neff farm, in Wayne township, a mound circle

was formerly visible, and between the Muskin-
gum river and Moxahala creek, at the mouth of

the latter, was a covered \vay that was probably
once employed by some one as a secret passage
between the two streams. It is a curious fact

that the Moxahala flows “up stream” into the
Muskingum instead of flowing down into the
latter stream. Archaeological discoveries al-

leged to have been made in Brush Creek
township about twelve years ago, and which
caused much comment at the time, do not ap-
pear to bear the stamp of genuineness, and it is

believed that they may be passed by in these

pages without loss to the interest or value of

this portion of the history of Muskingum
county.

Naturally, we indulge in speculation as to

the antiquity of such ancient works as have
been described or referred to. Probably none
of them have been constructed since the dis-

covery of America by Columbus.
Smucker states that a friend of his, about

seventy-five years ago, cut down a tree upon
the bank of one of the great inclosures men-
tioned, at a point where said bank was twenty
feet high, whose concentric circles numbered
550, thus proving conclusively that said inclos-

ure was constructed at some time prior to the

year 1245. It is thought not improbable that

at least 1000 years have elapsed since the

Mound-Builders ceased to occupy the country
between the Ohio river and Lake Erie. Authori-

ties differ as to many things relating to our
mysterious predecessors; but a few facts seem
to be fully established by their works which
still remain. They were without iron or other

suitable metal instruments with which to per-

pare their feats of engineering skill, so elabo-

rate and at the same time so gigantic, and
hence it must appear that they were a numer-
ous people. “The number and magnitude of

their works and their extensive range and uni-

formity,” says the American Cyclopedia, “prove
that the Mound-Builders were essentially

homogeneous in customs habits, religion and
government. The general features common
to all their remains identify them as appertain-

ing to a single grand system owing its origin

to men moving in the same direction, acting

under common impulses and influenced by sim-

ilar causes.” It could scarcely be otherwise

than that they were the subjects of a single,

strong government, because under any other

the performance of such an immense amount
of probably enforced labor could not have
been secured. Very likely some sort of vassal-

age or servitude prevailed. The building of

their defensive works in naturally strong posi-

tions evidences the military skill of the Mound-
Builders, and the construction of their many
other works in the forms of various geometrical

figures show that they were not devoid of a

practical knowledge of mathematics. They
were somewhat skilled, too, in working metals

and in making horn and bone ornaments, as is

suggested by the small articles of use and or-

nament found in their works; but they proba-

bly made few, if any, large metal implements
of utility serving the purpose of the ax, hoe or

mattock. They were evidently so numerous
and so much civilized that they could not have
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subsisted by hunting, and would not have wished
to, hence it is plain that they must have culti-

vated the soil. They were not barbarians.

They were evidently a superstitious people,
cherishing faith in some religious system. The
sacrificial character of their religion is fully

established. The late Doctor Foster main-
tained that they were worshipers of the ele-

ments—that they worshiped the sun, moon and
stars—and that they offered up human victims

as an acceptable sacrifice to their Gods. Pris-

oners of war have been thus disposed of by
nations who have attained to as high a grade
of civilization as that reached by the Mound

-

Builders, and in the case of this people charred
and calcined bones cover the altars they erected.

Many high authorities unhesitatingly assert

that there is convincing proof that they were
fire-worshipers. “And now,” to quote from
Smucker, “a word as to what is not known. We
do not know where they came from, when and
how they came, when and how they disappeared
—whether they were extinguished by war, pes-
tilence, or famine, or ultimately degenerated
into barbarians, or whether they slowly moved
to the Southwest, and finally came within the
domain of history as Aztecs, or some more an-
cient people, once of pre-historic times, in

Mexico or Central America! The question of
origin has exercised the public mind more,
probably, than any other one pertaining to the
race of Mound-Builders, and still it remains
unsettled. The preponderance of testimony
probably makes them Mongolians, although
Morton, an authority in matters pertaining to
craniology, holds differently, as doothers. They
probably held an intermediate position, con-
sidered physically, intellectually and morally,
between the Caucassians and the most civilized

portion of Mongolians above them, and the
uncivilized inhabitants of the interior of the
Malay peninsula below them. The fact, how
ever, remains that archaeologists differ widely
on this point, some maintaining that they were of
Hindoo origin; some that they were of Hebrew,
Jew-Tartar, or Persian origin; still others be-
lieve that our original Mound-Builders were
either Celtics, Egyptians, or Tartars; while
still others (Morton included), maintain that
the Toltecs, an original race, were probably
their progenitors, thus in fact making the
Mound-Builders the descendants of an abori-
ginal race, or the continuation of one, and were
therefore ‘natives and to the manner born,’
and differing from all others. But this opinion
derives no strength from a belief that there
existed any insurmountable difficulties in reach-
ing this continent from the other quarters of

the globe, thousands of years ago. We know
that the Northmen reached it from Greenland
in 999, A. D., and so might Africans, Pheni-

cians and Europeans have done, long before
that period; and Asiatics might have coasted
along the Pacific until they reached Behring’s
Straits, or arrived at that point by an overland
journey, and there crossed over to our north-

west coast, a distance of only thirty-six miles,

and so interspersed with islands that the navi-

gator would never be out of sight of land, if

the atmosphere was clear, while crossing the

straits. And moreover all difficulties in effect-

ing the passage of Behring strait vanish at

once in the. light of the fact that it is frozen

over every winter. And Europeans, P'gyptians

and Asiatics might have voyaged across the
Atlantic by way of the Western Islands, Ice-

land and Greenland, or as the Welsh expedi-
tion of Madoc did, in 1

1 70, A. D., or as Col-

umbus did in 1492, A. D.; or as might have
been done by an earlier, bolder navigator, by
way of the mid-ocean island, Atlantis, of

which we read, though always doubtingly, in

Plato, and which the weight of authority, pro-

nounces fabulous.” Of necessity, further re-

marks in reference to other questions of eth-

nology, history and archaeology connected with
the mysteriously interesting Mound-Builders
are omitted in this connection.

Nothing reliable or authentic is known of the

various Indian tribes that occupied the territory

that now constitutes the State of Ohio from
the time of the disappearance of the Mound-
Builders until the closing years of the first half

of the eighteenth century. It is true, however,
that there are traditions running back to the

year 1656 relating to the destruction by the
Iroquois of the once powerful Eries, who in-

habited the southern shore of Lake Erie, ex-
cept a small remnant, which ultimately was ab-

sorbed by the Senecas. But comparatively
little is known, with the certainty of authentic
history, of the Indians of Ohio until after Col.

Bouquet’s expedition to their towns on the Tus-
carawas and Muskingum rivers, in 1764. The
principal tribes were the Wyandots (called

Hurons by the French), the Delawares and the
Shawnees (botli of the Algonquin group), the
Miamis (also called Twigtwees), the Mingoes
(anoffshoot from the Iroquois or a fragment of

the Six Nations), and the Ottawasand Chippe-
was. The Wyandots occupied the valleys and
plains bordering the Sandusky river, and some
other points; the Delawares occupied the val-

leys of the Tuscarawas and Muskingum rivers,

and a few other places between the Ohio river
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and Lake Erie; the Shawnees were found
chiefly in the valleys of the Scioto and Mad
rivers, and at a few points on the Ohio river

and elsewhere in small numbers; the Miamis
were the chief occupants of the valleys of the
Little and Great Miami rivers; the Mingoes
were in greatest force on the Ohio river about
Mingo Bottom, below Steubenville, and at

other points on said river; also on the Scioto
river, and at a few places between the Ohio
river and Lake Erie, the Ottawas occupied
the valleys of the Maumee and Sandusky
rivers; and the Chippewas, small in numbers,
were chiefly confined to the southern shores of

Lake Erie. By the treaty of Fort McIntosh,
formed in 1785, the Ottawas, with the Wyan-
dots and Delawares, were assigned to the
northern section of what is now the state of

Ohio, and west of the Cuyahoga river, having
relinquished by the terms of said treaty what-
ever of claims they had to other portions of the
territory that now constitutes our state.

The first treaty establishing boundaries in

Ohio between our government and the Ohio In-

dians was entered into at Fort McIntosh, in Janu-
ary, 1785. Thiswas followed on May 20, 1785, by
an ordinance of Congress which provided for

the first survey and sale of the public lands
within the present limits of Ohio. Under that

ordinance the tract known as “the Seven
Ranges,” was surveyed and sales effected at

New York in 1787 to the amount of $72,974.
The tract of the Ohio Land Company was sur-

veyed and sold pursuant to the provisions of

an ordinance of July 23, 1785; and Fort Ha-
mar, situated at the mouth of the Muskingum
river, was built during the next year, for the
protection of the immigrants that might settle

upon it. The title to the Ohio Land Company’s
purchase was not perfected until October 23,

1787, and until then settling upon the public
lands was discouraged and indeed forbidden
by the government; but, notwithstanding, a

number of settlements were made between the
time of the treaty of Fort McIntosh, in Janu-
ary, 1785, and the perfecting of the title of the
Ohio Land Company, in October, 1787. These
were principally along the Hockhocking and
Ohio rivers, and were broken up by military

force and the settlers dispersed or driven east

of the Ohio river. Settlements that were at-

tempted at the mouth of the Scioto and other
places were prevented. Proclamations by Con-
gress were issued against settling upon the pub-
lic domain as early as 1785, and enforced by
military power when disregarded. It is prob-
able that hundreds of families had attempted
to settle permanently west of the Ohio river

previous to the arrival of the colony of New
Plnglanders, at the mouth of the Muskingum,
in April, 1788, but were not permitted to do so.

The fact therefore remains that the settlement
at Marietta was the first permanent one within
the present limits of Ohio, all others having
been but temporary, by reason of the compul-
sory dispersion of the settlers elsewhere and
the destruction of their huts. After these

events, settlements were rapidly established in

many portions of what is now the State of Ohio.
In 1750, Christopher Gist, an agent of the

“Ohio Land Company,” which had been or-

ganized in 1748 by the Washingtons, one or

two of the Lees, and other Virginians and
some Englishmen, came over the mountains
from Virginia, and crossing the Ohio at or be-

low the “Forks” (now Pittsburg), passed over
to the Tuscarawas river, which he descended
to its junction with the Walhonding. From
thence he traveled down the Muskingum, fol-

lowing an Indian trail to the mouth of the

Wakatomaka (now Dresden, Muskingum
county), where there was an Indian town. He
then followed the Indian trail across the Lick-

ing river to King Beaver’s town, situated on
the head waters of the Hockhocking river,

about equi-distant from the present cities of Lan-
caster and Columbus. The trail he followed must
have led him near the “Big Lake,” as the Indi-

ans called it, now the “Reservoir,” a famous
fishing resort, situated in the counties of Lick-

ing, Fairfield and Perry. In this exploring ex-

pedition Gist was joined at the Walhonding by
George Croghan, and probably by Andrew
Montour, a half-breed, son of a Seneca chief,

who often acted as an interpreter between the

whites and Indians. They crossed the Scioto

and traveled on to the Great Miami, which
Gist descended to the Ohio, and voyaged down
said stream to a point fifteen miles above the

“Falls,” from whence he traveled through
Kentucky to his home in Virginia, where he

arrived in May, 1751. This was probably the

first visit of white men to this section.

Upon representations made to Governor
Dunmore of outrages that clearly indicated a

hostile disposition of the Indians toward the

whites and a determination to make war upon
them, that functionary, in 1774, commissioned
Colonel Angus McDonald and authorized him
to organize the settlers of the Youghiogheny
and Monongahela rivers for the defense of the

frontiers. Lord Dunmore, knowing Michael

Cresap to be a man of courage, energy and
force of character, personally tendered him a

captain’s commission with a view to the

immediate enlistment of a force for co-opera-
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tion with the troops rapidly organizing by
McDonald west of the Alleghenies. Captain
Cresap accepted the commission and entered

upon his duties promptly. Such was his pop-
ularity, that more than the required comple-
ment of men were recruited in a very short

time, and at once marched to join the com-
mand of McDonald, the ranking officer of the

expedition. The combined forces, numbering
four hundred men, after a dreary march through
the wilderness, rendezvoused at Wheeling,
sometime in June. The invasion of the coun-
try of the Ohio Indians was their purpose. In

pursuance of their object, they went down the

Ohio in boats and canoes to the mouth of the

Captina creek, and from thence they pursued
their march to the Indian towns at and near the

mouth of the Wakatomaka creek (now Dres-
den), a point about equally distant from the

present city of Zanesville and the town of

Coshocton, both on the Muskingum river, Jon-
athan Zane being the chief pilot of the expedi-
tion. About six miles from Wakatomaka, a

force of forty or fifty Indians lying in ambush,
gave a skirmish, in which two of McDonald’s
men were killed, and eight or nine wounded,
while the Indians lost one or more in killed and
several wounded. When McDonald arrived at

the chief Wakatomaka town, he found it evacu-
ated, and the whole Indian force were in

ambuscade a short distance from it, which
being discovered, the Indians sued for peace.
A march to the next village, a mile above the
first, was effected; a small skirmish ensued in

which some blood was shed on both sides.

The result was the burning of the towns and
the destruction of their cornfields. There was
the usual perfidy on the part of the Indians,

and really nothing substantial was accom-
plished, when the expedition returned to

Wheeling, taking with them three chiefs as cap-
tives, or hostages, who were sent to Williams-
burg, the seat of the colonial government of
Virginia. This expedition was designed only
to give temporary protection to the frontier

settlers, and was preliminary to the Dunmore
expedition to the Pickaway Plains, or “ Old
Chillicothe,” towns, near the Scioto, later in

year.

In 1761, Rev. Christian Frederick Post
visited the Delaware Indians, living on the
Upper Muskingum River, and took the pre-
liminary steps to establish a Moravian mission-
ary station among them. After building
a cabin he went to Pennsylvania to find a
suitable associate, one qualified to teach the
Indian children to read and write, and thus
assist him in his missionary labors, This com-

panion he found in John Heckewelder, of

Bethlehem, who was then engaged at some
mechanical employment. In March, 1762, they
started for their western mission, Heckewelder
being then a youth of only nineteen years.

After thirty-three days of weary horse-back
travel, they arrived at the Muskingum (now
called the Tuscarawas), and with expressions
of gratitude for their protection during their

long and perilous journey, they at once took
possession of the cabin built by the self-

sacrificing missionary the preceding year.

Other appropriate devotional exercises signal-

ized their safe arrival in the wilderness of the
Muskingum,, which, however, was then to be
the scene of their missionary operations for a

very brief period. They cleared some ground
around their cabin and cultivated corn and
vegetables for their subsistence, but before the
autumn months had gone by, the jealousy and
hostility of the Indians rendered their condi-
tion not only unpleasant but unsafe, and the
mission had to be abandoned, the missionaries
returning to Pennsylvania.

Ten years later, (1772,) Rev. David Zeis-

berger renewed the attempt to establish mis-
sions on the Upper Muskingum. The first

settlement, station, or village that he founded
was called Schonbrun, meaning a “beautiful
clear spring,” and was situated on the west side

of the Muskingum, two or three miles from the
present town of New Philadelphia, the county
seat of Tuscarawas county. The second mission
station was established later in the year 1772,
and was called Gnadenhutten, that is “tents of

grace,” and was situated on the east bank of

the Muskingum, seven miles below Schonbrun.
In this year Rev. John George Jungman located
as a missionary at Schonbrun, and in 1773, Rev.
John Roth, also a missionary, commenced his

labors at Gnadenhutten.
In 1776, the Moravians, under the lead of

Rev. David Zeisbcrger, established the town
and mission station of Lichtenau, within two
miles of the “Forks of the Muskingum” (now
Coshocton); and in 1780, Salem, situated on
the west bank of the Muskingum, about five

miles below Gnadenhutten, was established
under the leadership of the same indefatigable

missionary. Rev. John Heckewelder was its

early minister, and it was here in July,

1780, he entered into the married relation with
Sarah Ohneberg, a teacher at the Muskingum
mission stations. Revs. Adam Grube, Edwards,
Senseman, and others were missionaries at the
above named villages at various times.

The forcible removal of the missionaries

and of the Moravian Indians from the Musk-
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ingum to Sandusky, by Elliott an emissary of

the British, in September, 1781, and the murder
of ninety-four of them who, in February, 1782,

had returned to gather the corn they had raised

the previous season, terminated Moravian mis-
sions for many years on the Upper Muskingum.
Until 1786 there were none within the present
limits of Ohio. During said year Rev. John
Heckewelder, and others, established a mission
on the Cuyahoga River, twelve miles from its

mouth, which was composed mainly of those
who had formerly lived on the Muskingum,
and who had spent the past few years at New
Gnadenhutten, on Huron River, thirty miles
north of Detroit. This mission station on the
Cuyahoga, known in Moravian history as “ Pil-

grims’ Rest,” was abandoned in 1790, the mem-
bers returning to the vicinity of Detroit, and
ultimately locating near the river Thames,
where they built the town of Fairfield.

The subsequent history of Moravian mis-
sionary effort in Ohio belongs to territorial and
later times, but it may be here stated that
Revs. Heckewelder and Edwards, in 1798,
again established a mission at the Muskingum,
upon the site of Gnadenhutten; and in the
autumn of said year their fellow-laborers, Revs.
Zeisberger and Mortimer, established another
upon the Schonbrun tract, and named it Goshen.
It was situated seven miles from Gnadenhutten,
where the venerated Zeisberger labored until

his death, in 1808, and where he and Edwards
are buried. The Muskingum Moravian mis-
sion stations were finally brought to a close in

the year 1823, the general government having
purchased at that time all the interests pre-

viously acquired by the Moravians.
Rev. John Heckewelder was conspicuously

identified with our pre-territorial, our terri-

torial, and state history, and has been called
one of the founders of Ohio. He was a man
of talents, of character and integrity, and was
one of the associate judges of Tuscarawas
county in 1808, 1809, and 1810, when he finally

left Ohio, and returned to Bethlehem, Penn-
sylvania, where he died January 31, 1823,
having passed into the closing months of his

eightieth year. His influence as a philanthro-
pist, philosopher, pioneer, teacher, author, dip-

lomatist, statesman, ambassador, jurist, and as

a Christian missionary, was invaluable.

An interesting appendix to Hutchins’ his-

tory of Bouquet’s Pixpedition describes five

different routes from Fort Pitt through the
Ohio wilderness. One of these was 128 miles
to the forks of the Muskingum, at Coshocton;
six to Bullett’s Town on the Muskingum (Vir-

ginia township); ten to YVakatomaka, now

Dresden, Muskingum county; twenty-seven to

King Beaver’s Town, near the source of the

Hockhocking; forty to the lower Shawnees
Town, or the Sciota; twenty to Salt Town, near
the source of the Scioto; 190 northeast to

Fort Miamis, now Fort Wayne, Indiana; a

total distance of 426 miles.

Years before the settlement of this country
by the white man, there was an Indian trail

from Grave creek on the Ohio river to the

Scioto towns. It was the route for Indians to

travel on their marauding expeditions in Vir-

ginia. No doubt many white captives passed
over the route, never again returning to their

Virginia homes. From Renrock, Noble county,

it crossed the line of the county into Meigs
township, passing up Negro ridge, crossing

Meigs creek near Joseph Trainer’s store, thence
past the present residence of Mr. Perley Se-

vall, the M’Cune farm, Rural Dale and cross-

ing the Muskingum river at Gaysport, thence
by Union Hill across the Morgan county line.

The earliest route of travel in the southern
part of Muskingum county was the old Federal
or Indian trail. The name Federal trail was
given it by a portion of St. Clair’s army who
were unable to obtain water transportation to

Fort Washington, passing over it in 1791. John
F. Talley, an old settler in Muskingum county
and an ex-surveyor of Morgan county, says: In

1820 the seventy-fourth mile tree was standing
near the location of James M’Cune’s barn in

Blue Rock township. This tree was marked
“Seventy-four miles from Grave Creek, 1791.”

In 1820, some vandal destroyed the mark with

his ax. From Gaysport to Rural Dale this

trail was used by the settlers. P'allen timber
had only to be removed, then it was a road for

wagons. About the year 1836, it was found
necessary to have the road established by law.

The county engineer and viewers, examined
the route and the road was laid out on the old

Indian or Federal trail.

“The latter part of June” ( 1788), says Hil-

dreth, a party of thirty men under the com-
mand of Fieut, McDowel, of Fort Harmer, was
sent up by water with provisions and presents

of goods to the falls of Muskingum, in prepara-

tion for the approaching treaty, which was ex-

pected to be held with the Indians on the arri-

val of Gov. St. Clair. The place chosen for

this transaction is about sixty miles from the

mouth, on the right bank of the river, where
the town of Taylorsville now stands. They
were ordered up by Col, Harmer, to erect a

council house and build huts for the comfort

of the men and the security of the goods against

the weather, This remote spot was selected



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 4i

by the Indians, in preference to Fort Harmer,
as being nearer their own homes, a well-known
and favorite locality and not under the influence

of a military post. They had commenced as-

sembling from the different tribes, especially

in large numbers from the Delawares. Among
them was a band of Chippewas, and other In-

dians, outcasts from different tribes, amounting
to about twenty. On the night of the 12th

of July, these desperadoes crept slily around
the tent containing the goods and fired on the
sentries, ten in number, with the intention of

plundering them. By this discharge two men
were killed and one or two wounded. The
sentries returned their fire, and the rest of the
guards running to their assistance, the Indians
retired without accomplishing their object.

One of the assailants was killed and one
wounded. The same night they killed and
scalped a mulatto man, servant to Maj. Duncan,
a trader who was waiting for the assembly of

the tribes, with goods to barter for their skins
and peltries. The falls were soon after named
Duncan’s Falls; which it retained until the slack-

water improvement of the Muskingum oblitera-

ted the rapids at this place. The next day, on
examining the dead Indian, the Delawares pro-
nounced him to be a Chippewa, and that they
had no knowledge of, or concern, in the attack.

As a test of their ignorance, the Delawares
came fearlessly into the camp, bringing with
them their women and children. In addition
they seized upon six of the offending band,
tied them with thongs and handed them over
to the commandant of the troops, to be dealt
with as they might deserve. They were brought
down to Fort Harmer by the reinforcement
which went up the next day, and kept in irons
for some time, but were finally allowed to es-

cape, either by design or the carelessness of
their guards. The large boat belonging to the
Ohio Company was sent up, and the goods,
stores and troops transported to Fort Harmer
This untoward event postponed the treaty for

several months.
Chalklly Frame, under date of August 4, 1887,

gave to the Ohio State Journal
,
this interesting

history: “Years before this fine valley was
known to the whit man, a branch of the once
great Shawnee nation built Old Town, an In-
dian village on the site of Duncan’s falls. For
years White Eyes, the chief, was on friendly
terms witli the white people, and rendered them
assistance in his Indian way. The legendary
and historical interest of Duncan’s falls has
more than interest imparted to it by the tragic
fate of the adventurous trapper who gave his

name to this place. The different accounts of

this intrepid trapper are the same excepting in

dates of his death. One places it in 1774, and
another in 1794, the evidence being in favor of

the first date. He came from Virginia to this

place, and being on friendly terms with the

Indians at the Old Town village, he was per-

mitted to remain by their chief, White Eyes,
to hunt and trap and carry on a little trade

with them. This continued for perhaps four

years, when he discovered his traps had been
meddled with and some of his game stolen.

This so enraged him that he resolved to watch
and see, if possible, who the guilty party was,

when he discovered an Indian taking game
from his trap, whereupon he shot the thief.

He continued to watch for some months, and
made it a point to shoot all Indians who
meddled with his rights. He found it necessary
to keep himself concealed from them. They
were not the friendly Indians of Old Town, but
a hostile band who roamed on the west side of

the river. They were enraged, and sought an
opportunity to capture him. Duncan’s place

of abode was unknown to them, and when
sometimes they saw him on one side of the river

and again on the other side, they watched to

see how he crossed and could find neither skiff

nor boat. This was a great mystery and he
baffled them for a long time. Finally they dis-

covered he crossed the river on rocks with a

stout long pole, and his manner of crossing

was to skip from rock to rock with the aid of

the pole, or lay it down from one rock to an-

other where the water was deep and walk over;

then move the pole and so get across. This he
generally did in the night. On the fatal night,

two parties of the bravest Indian warriors, ly-

ing in ambush watching, saw him equipped
with his gun and pole, leap lightly from rock
to rock, till he approached the main channel.
Here he placed his pole one end on each side

of the channel, and had passed half way over,

when a volley from the Indians struck him and
he fell dead in the middle of the river. Next
day his body was found one-half mile below,
on a gravelly ripple. This point was given the
name of ‘ Dead Man’s ripple,’ from the fact

that the dead body of Duncan was found on it

and the falls at that place were called Dun-
can’s falls because it was there that Duncan
fell.

After the death of Duncan his habitation
was found up a small stream on the cast side,

a short distance below the ‘ Dead Man's
ripple.’ The rock cave has ever since been
known as Duncan’s cave. On the island be-
tween the river and the canal, years ago, a gun
was found. The gun was purchased by Mr.
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Brelsford*, of Zanesville, a gunsmith, who
shortened the barrel and put on a new stock,

as the old one was worthless, and took from it

a load of powder that had probably been put
in it by Duncan. The gun is at present owned
by Col. Z. M. Chandler, of the 78th regiment
Ohio volunteer infantry, of the Ninth ward,
Zanesville, who highly prizes it for its great an-

tiquity and being the gun, as is supposed, that

was carried by the daring Duncan. Much of

this account of Duncan is gathered from the
‘Indian Wars,’ a small book published in Vir-

ginia the beginning of this century.”

*John Brelsford, since deceased.

In nearly all parts of the county Indian relics

have been found, but it is thought that there
was no permanent Indian town within the
present borders of Muskingum, except that at

Dresden previously referred to, and Old Town
southeast of Duncan’s falls. Duringthe pioneer
days many Indians camped temporarily within
or passed through the county, but they were
for the most part friendly to the whites. Red
men became fewer and fewer as the years went
by, and finally they disappeared entirely before
the march of civilization. Some incidents in

which Indians figured will be referred to in

the histories of some of the townships of the
county.

©foapjep III.

SETTLEMENT, REMINISCENCES, ETC.

F
ROM an official source, the compiler de-
rives the following account of titles in Ohio,
which will be found to cover the whole

ground fully and explicitly: The territory that

now constitutes Ohio was first of all, so far as

we can judge, in the full possession of the race

of Mound-Builders; afterwards (but still in pre-

historic times), its sole occupants and owners
for some centuries were unquestionably those
Indian tribes or nations already named, and
probably the Eries and others that had been
subjected to expulsion or extermination. They,
as well as the Mound-Builders, held titles ac-

quired probably by priority of discovery, by
conquest, by occupancy, or possession. Posses-
sory titles they might be appropriately styled.

It is stated by Parkman, and probably by
other accredited historians, that the adven-
turous La Salle, in 1670, accompanied by a few
heroic followers, passed from Lake Erie south,

over the portage into the Allegheny river,

perhaps by way of one of its numerous tribu-

taries, and from thence down into the Ohio,
which they descended as far as the “falls” of

said river (at Louisville;) and that they were
therefore the first white men—the first of

European birth—to enter upon the soil of Ohio;
the first civilized men to discover and explore
the territory that constitutes the now populous
State. It must be admitted that some shades

of doubt rest upon the foregoing problematical
expedition of Cavalier LaSalle; but whether he
voyaged down the Ohio or not at the time
named, his name must ever be identified with
the State as one of its earliest explorers, if not
its discoverer, so far as the white race is con-
cerned, as will be made apparent in the follow-

ing paragraphs. In 1679, this intrepid explorer
accompanied by thirty-four Frenchmen, sailed

along the entire length of the southern shore
of lake Erie, in the “Griffin,” a vessel of about
sixty tons burthen, which he had built in the
Niagara river, above the “falls,” and which
was the first vessel that ever unfurled a sail on
said lake, or upon any waters within the present

limits of Ohio.
Again, in 1682, La Salle descended the

Illinois and Mississippi rivers to the mouth of

the latter; and in 1684 he sailed past the mouth
of the Mississippi (which he intended to enter,

but failed), and along the Gulf of Mexico to

some point on the coast of Texas, and landing
there, became its discoverer. And it is upon
these three last named voyages, and upon the

provisions of some European treaties, more
than upon the somewhat doubtful and uncertain

voyage of discovery by LaSalle down the Ohio
river to the “falls,” in 1670, that F'rance rested

her title, claiming that the Upper Valley of the

Ohio (at least the portion northwest of the
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Ohio river), was a part of Louisiana, thus
acquired by La Salle for France, and held by
said power by right of discovery and possession.

There was, of course, little controversy between
Great Britain and France as to title northwest
of the Ohio river, before the formation of the

treaty of Utrecht, in 1713, when and by which
certain matters in dispute between those govern-
ments were adjusted. And France not only
asserted ownership and held possession of the

territory that now constitutes Ohio, from the

time of the treaty of Utrecht, in 1713, until the
treaty of Paris, in 1763, by which peace was
established between France and England, but
also exercised authority therein, and maintained
control over it by military force. And this, too,

in defiance of titles set up by Great Britain,

one of which being based upon treaties with
the Iroquois or Six Nations of Indians, who
claimed to have conquered the whole country
from the Atlantic to the Mississippi, and from
the lakes to Carolina, and hence were its

owners, and authorized to dispose of it.

By conquest and treaty stipulations, Great
Britian came into possession in 1763, and sub-

stantially retained it until the close of the
Revolutionary war, when, by the treaty of

peace concluded at Paris in 1783, and ratified

by the American congress in January 1784,
ownership was vested in the government of the
United States, which in October, 1784, by the
terms of the treaty of Fort Stanwix, extin-

guished the title of the Six Nations to the Ohio
valley, and which, from time to time, by treaties

concluded at various times and places, extin-

guished all other Indian titles, and thus ac-

quired full right to the soil, and complete and
undisputed territorial jurisdiction. By the
treaties of Forts McIntosh and Finney alone,

held respectively in January, 1785, and 1786, all

Indian titles to Ohio territory were extin-

guished, except that portion situated chiefly

between the Cuyahoga and Maumee Rivers.

New York, Massachusetts and Connecticut,
after the ratification of the treaty of peace, in

1784, between Great Britain and the United
States, and for some time before, had asserted
claims to portions of the territory now compos-
ing the state of Ohio, and Virginia claimed
title to the whole of it and much more, even to

the “entire extent of the territory northwest of
the river Ohio,” organized four years there-

after. Virginia had asserted ownership, and ex-
ercised a nominal jurisdiction over the territory

of the state, by establishing the county of
Botetourt, in 1769, whose western boundry was
the Mississippi river. The State’s claim was
founded, as heretofore stated, upon certain

charters granted to the colony of Virginia by
James I, bearing dates, respectively, April 10,

1606; May 23, 1609; and March 12, 1611; also

upon the conquest of the country, between the
the Ohio and Mississippi rivers, and the
northern lakes, by General George Rogers
Clark, in 1878-79. But whatever the claim was
founded upon, the state legislature waived all

title and ownership to it (except to the Virginia
Military district), and all authority over it, by
directing the representatives of said state

(Thomas Jefferson, Samuel Hardy, Arthur Lee,
and James Moore) to cede to the United
States all right, title, and claim, as well of soil

as of jurisdiction, with the exception named,
“to the territory of said state lying and being
to the northwest of the river Ohio;” which was
accordingly done, March 1, 1784.

The charter of Massachusetts, upon which
that state’s title was based, was granted within
less than twenty-five years after the arrival of

the Mayflower; and that of Connecticut, bear-

ing date March 19, 1631, both embracing terri-

tory extending from the Atlantic to the Pacific;

and that of New York, obtained from Charles
II, on March 2, 1664, included territory

that had been previously granted to Massachu-
setts and Connecticut, hence, the conflict of

claims between those states, their several char-

ters covering, to some extent, the same terri-

tory; and hence, also, their contest with
Virginia as to a portion of the soil of Ohio.
Probably the titles of some or all of the afore-

said contesting states were in some way affected

by the provisions of treaties with the Iroquois,

or by the fact of their recognition by them,
as appendants of the government of New
York.

New York’s deed of cession was favorably
reported upon by a committee of congress
May 1, 1782; and by like acts of patriotism,

magnanimity, and generosity to those of New
York and Virginia, Massachusetts and Connecti-
cut soon followed by similar acts of relinquish-

ment of title or by corresponding deeds of

cession to the United States. The legisla-

ture of the state of Massachusetts, on the

13th day of November, 1784, authorized her
delegates in congress to cede the title of

that state to all the territory west of the
western boundary of the state of New York to

the United States, and the measure was consum-
mated in 1785. Connecticut, in September,
1786, ceded all her claim to soil and jurisdiction

west of what is now known as the Western
Reserve, to the United States. Five hundred
thousand acres of the western portion of the

Western Reserve was set apart for the relief of
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the Connecticut sufferers by fire during the
Revolution, since known as the “Firelands”;
the Indian title to which was extinguished by
the treaty at Fort Industry (now Toledo), in

1805, Charles Jouett being the United States
commissioner, and the chiefs of the Shawnees,
Wyandottes, Chippewas, Ottawas and some
minor tribes representing the interests of the
Indians. The remainder of the Western Re-
serve tract, amounting to about three millions
of acres, was sold, and the proceeds dedicated
to educational purposes, and has served as the
basis of Connecticut’s common school fund.
Jurisdictional claim to the Western Reserve
was ceded by Connecticut to the United States
May 30, 1801.

The Indian treaties by which the lands in

Ohio were purchased are thus set forth by
Atwater: “By the treaties with the Indians of

1785-6, congress acquired the lands watered by
the Muskingum, Sciota, Little and Great Miami
rivers. In 1788, another treaty was made, by
which the country was purchased, from the
mouth of the Cuyahoga river to the Wabash,
lying south and east of a certain line mentioned
in the treaty. The Indians were dissatisfied

with this treaty, and it was not relied on by our
government. In 1795, twelve tribes attended
on General Wayne, and treated with him for

the sale of a considerable portion of the now
territory included within our limits. In 1805,
seven tribes sold to the United States all that
part of New Connecticut lying west of the
Cuyahoga river. In this treaty the Connecticut
people joined, and paid $4,000 to the Indians,
and agreed to pay them $12,000 more. In

1807, that part of Ohio which lies north of the
Maumee, and east of the meridian line, passing
through the mouth of the Auglaize river, was
purchased of the Indians. In 1808, a strip of
territory, two miles wide, was acquired by
treaty, running from the western boundary of
the Western Reserve to the Maumee river at

the rapids. And in the same treaty, another
strip, 120 feet in width, was acquired, also run-
ning along the bank of the Maumee. These
cessions were intended for roads. By all these
several treaties, theUnited States acquired four-
fifths of this State. That portion of the ceded
tracts above latitude 41

0
north, extending

from Pennsylvania, on the east, to the western
limits of Sandusky and Seneca counties, was
given by Congress to Connecticut, and is called
the Western Reserve, or New Connecticut. It

extends 120 miles from east to west, and on an
average is 50 miles in width, from north to south.
Its area contains about 3,800,000 acres. Five
hundred thousand acres of this tract, off the

west end, the State of Connecticut gave to

certain sufferers by fire in the Revolutionary
war. A part of the ceded lands lying along
the Ohio river, including the mouths of the
Muskingum and the Hockhocking rivers, was
sold by the old congress to the Ohio Company.
This was the first sale of lands before the
present constitution of the United States was
adopted. It was sold for one dollar an acre, pay-
able in congress notes, at twenty shillings in

a pound, whereas the interest on these notes
made them worth twenty-eight shillings and
sixpence on the pound at that time. These
securities were funded under the constitution

of the United States, and became a part of the
national debtfrom that time forward, until paid
off. So the Ohio Company made a very bad
bargain for themselves with Congress. John
Cleves Symmes, of New Jersey, was the next
purchaser of land in Ohio. He bought of the old
congress the land lying between the mouths
of the two Miamis, and extending northerly so
as to contain 600,000 acres. Symmes gave
sixty-six cents an acre for his land. On the 13th

day of July, 1787, congress assumed the juris-

diction of this territory, and passed an ordinance
for its government, by the provision of which
ordinance the territory was to be governed by
a governor, secretary and three judges. The
president appointed these officers. These
persons were to make the laws and execute
them. This form of defective government was
to continue until the Northwestern territory

contained 5,000 free white male inhabitants

over 21 years of age, when the people were
authorized to elect a legislative house of

assembly. The house of representatives of

the United States congress were to nominate a

legislative council,, and the assembly were
authorized to appoint a delegate to congress.

This second grade of colonial government was
to continue until the population of each part

of the Northwestern territory, into which it

was eventually to be divided (not less than
three nor more than five states), amounted to

60,000. Then this colonial government was to

cease, and such territory was to become a state,

and be admitted into the Union on the same
footing with the original thirteen states. This
act of the old congress of 1787 contained other
provisions of the greatest value. By that

ordinance there was never to be either slavery

or involuntary servitude in the territory north-

west of the Ohio river. All the larger streams
were declared forever to be highways, and
remain free from all obstructions to all who
wished to navigate them. They were declared

to be highways, and so to remain forever.
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These are the most material provisions of this

ordinance of the old congress. Virginia had
reserved the lands lying between the Scioto

and Little Miami rivers, which she gave to her
soldiers of the revolution belonging to the
continental army as a reward for their services.

This we call the Virginia Military tract. And
the United States had promised her soldiers

who had served during the war of the revolu-

tion lands for their services, so congress laid

off a tract for that purpose, lying south of New
Connecticut, extending from the Ohio river on
the east to the Scioto on the west. This is the
United States Military tract. There were some
refugees during the revolutionary war,from Nova
Scotia, to whom congress gave a strip of land, ex-
tending from the Muskingum, opposite Zanes-
ville,tothe Scioto atColumbus; it isseveral miles
in width. The remaining parts of the state were
surveyed by congress, and are now ( 1838) mostly
sold. That portion of our state, not until then
purchased of the Indians, was ceded to us

during Mr. Monroe’s administration, except
some small reservations. In the United States’

lands, the Virginia Military, and in p rt of
Symmes’ purchase, the original owner obtains
his patent from the United States’ land office.

Lands ceded to Ohio by congress, on condition
of making certain canals, are deeded to pur-
chasers by our governor and secretary of state.”

On the first of December, 1787, the advance
detachment of the Ohio Company’s first band
of pioneers departed for the West from Dan-
vers, Mass., under the command of Maj. Haf-
field White, being sent ahead to build boats
upon the Youghiogheny, a small affluent of
the Monongahela, in Western Pennsylvania.
Another party, including the surveyors and a
member of the Ohio Company, under Col. Ebe-
nezer Sproat, left Hartford, Conn., January 1,

1778. Cen. Rufus Putman, who was to have
commanded the march, was detained in New
York, and overtook the company in Eastern
Pennsylvania on the 24th of the month. On
the 14th of February they arrived at Sumrill’s
ferry, on the Youghiogheny, where they met
the men who had preceded them. The re-

mainder of February and the whole of March
were consumed in the building of boats, and on
the 1st of April the united company, embark-
ing upon a little flotilla, consisting of three log
canoes, a fiat boat and a galley of fifty tons
burden, called originally the “Adventure Gal-
ley,” but afterward the“ Mayflower,” left Sum-
rill’s ferry, and floating down the Youhiogheny
to the Monongahela, was borne onward to the
Ohio. Peacefully and uneventfully the great
river swept them southward. They arrived,

and disembarked at the site of Marietta on
April 7, 1788, and thus by forty-eight men was
begun the settlement of the State of Ohio and
of the Northwest territory. Following this and
other events previously referred to, settlements

were rapidly established at other points.

A Virginian, named Duncan, clad in buck-
skin, appeared on the banks of the Muskingum,
near the Indian village known as Old Town.
His life, exploits and death and the naming of

the falls near the present site of Taylorsville in

his honor, are elsewhere referred to. The need
of a known route, along which the settler might
proceed to find for himself a home in the for-

ests, induced congress to pass a law, in May,
1796, authorizing Ebenezer Zane to lay out a

road from Wheeling, Va., to what is now Mays-
ville, Ky. In 1797, Zane, in company with his

brother, Jonathan Zane, and his son-in-law,

John Mclntire, experienced woodsmen, sur-

veyed the desired road, and the latter two pro-

ceeded to cut out obstructions, so as to make
the route passable on horseback. To remune-
rate Mr. Zane for locating this road, congress

gave him the privilege of selecting three sec-

tions of military land, each one mile square.

The first of these was located where the “Zane
trace,” as the road was called, crossed the Mus-
kingum river, the second at the Hockhocking
river, and the third at the Scioto river. A dis-

tinction is made between an actual grant and a

permit to locate on unappropriated lands. The
law clearly indicated the latter. Duncan’s falls

was the first point chosen for a crossing of the

Muskingum, but the immense and valuable

hydraulic power furnished by the falls at the

present site of Zanesville, induced Zane to

cross at that place, and thus gain the privilege

of locating the section of land including the

falls. For their assistance in making the trace,

Jonathan Zane and John Mclntire received the

Muskingum section, on which they laid out

nineteen squares of the present city of Zanes-

ville. The place was first given the name of

Westbourne, and was so known until a post-

office was established, under the name of Zane-
ville.

In 1797 two old frontier scouts from Vir-

ginia squatted at the mouth of the Licking, and
erected the pioneer .cabins Their names were
Elias Hughes and John Ratliff. A number of

families joined them in 1798, and the “Mouth of

Licking” settlement grew in importance. These
two remained but a year, and then removed
twenty miles up the Licking. Among their

early successors was John Channel, a noted
hunter, who, likewise, in 1804, moved up the

Licking. In 1798 three pioneers came on from
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Virginia, accompanied by wives and children.

The Blands started with four children from
Pendleton county, Va., to find a northwestern
home. Hundreds of miles they rode on pack-
horses, along blind bridle-paths, over the Alle-

ghany mountains to Marietta, thence up to the

“Mouth of Licking.” No cabin stood ready to

receive the travelers, and rest was taken in a

sugar-camp. Before Bland had a cabin ready
to occupy, a son was born to him, and Silas

Bland, the child of the sugar-camp, was rocked
to sleep in a sugar-trough, and began his long
and honorable career in the hardships of a sav-

age life. Henry Smith was a justice of the

peace, appointed by Gov. St. Clair in 1799; his

wife, born at Hagerstown in 1770, lived fifty

years on the frontier, and died at the age of

ninety-seven. The third of the Virginians, the

Priests, lived several years at the “Mouth of

Licking,” and thence removed to a settlement

established at the mouth of the Wakatomaka,
now Dresden. As an evidence of hardship,

associated with energy, it may be said that Mrs.
Priest walked from Culpeper to Muskingum,
400 miles, carrying an infant. The entire fur-

niture and the five elder children were con-
veyed on pack-horses. The journey was of

thirty-two days’ duration, and Winchester and
Wheeling were the only villages worth noting
on the route. Mrs. Priest lived to the age of

one hundred and two years. In 1801, two
pioneers occasionally visited the little village

of Zanesville; one was Maj. Cass, from Waka-
tomaka; the other, Squire Reeves, from Salt

creek. The former secured a tract of 4,000

acres of rich bottom lands between the Waka-
tomaka creek and the Muskingum, and there

closed an eventful life. He was the father of

Gen. Lewis Cass. The latter crossed the mount-
ains, an adventurous pioneer, and located on
Salt creek in 1801. He was of that enterprising

and manly class to whom, in a great degree, is

to be ascribed the later successful development
of the county.

Further details of the settlement of the
county will be found in the several township
histories. The dates of settlement in each
township may be thus given approximately, at

least, in all cases, exactly in most: Falls, 1790;
Muskingum, 1797; Newton, 1797; Harrison,

1798; Jefferson and Cass, 1799; Madison, 1800;

Salt Creek, 1800; Washington, 1801; Adams,
1801; Perry, 1802; Springfield, 1802; Wayne,
1802; Licking, 1802; Hopewell, 1803; Union,

1803 to 1806; Blue Rock, 1805; Rich Hill, 1805;
Meigs, 1807; Highland, 1808; Monroe, 1810;

Salem, 1810; Brush Creek, 1810; Clay, 1812;

Jackson, 1815.

The following incidents of pioneer life and
mention of pioneers and early conveniences
and improvements are from the storehouse of
the memory of many an old resident of the
county and were penned by one long familiar
with Muskingum and its history. Pioneer
adventures and settlers’ journeys, early cus-
toms and rude structures are priceless legacies
to the later generations, and the simple remin-
iscences of Muskingum’s first residents are
pleasant reading and valuable reference.

Reuben Atchinson was engaged as principal
chainman to Mr. Buckingham in 1802, and
from then till 1812 aided in the survey of
Muskingum and other counties. About half

a mile down the Muskingum river, and sepa-
rated from South Zanesville by a bluff, is

Putnam. The land on which it stands was
purchased at Marietta in 1801, at the first

public sale of United States lands held in this

county, by Rufus Putnam, Increase Mathews
and Levi Whipple. During the same year they
laid out the town, and in 1802, the first houses
were erected. The name of Springfield was
given to the place, and retained till 1 8 1 ? . The
early settlers of this part of Zanesville were
from New England, and among them lived Mr.
Atchinson, of the surveying party. He used to

tell of traveling down the old Marietta and
Zanesville trail, blazed through the woods when
not a single clearing existed on the way. When
starting upon the trip, he would place a blanket
and pack-saddle upon a horse, mount and ride

on till night or weariness overtook him, then
camping by the way, he would build a fire as a
defense against the wolves while he slept. When
nights were bright and moon-lit he could see

wolves trooping and capering along the hill-

sides, while their howling made hideous discord
on the air. In 1815 he located on the west
branch of Wills creek, and was a school-
teacher as early as 1817.

The log cabin is an American habitation.

Its history is associated with all the dear old

memories which cluster around the life of a

pioneer. Its roof sheltered the noblest citizens

of the broad State. Its school or church is

dear as the scenes of our childhood. To raise

the cabin was a duty and pleasure. The new
settler notified the pioneers within a circuit of

eight or ten miles. These promptly assembled
at the site. Ox-teams hauled the logs, while

choppers cut them in right lengths. Some
split clapboards of oak for the roof, each six

to eight inches wide, four feet long, and half

to three-fourths of an inch thick. When all

was ready, a good axeman stood at each corner

to notch the logs, while others shoved them
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into position. A story completed, straight

saplings were placed across to rest a clap-board
loft. From the second story the logs were cut

shorter and the ends tapered to form a roof by
placing straight logs three or four feet apart as

rests for the clap-boards, the last log of the

main round jutting over for the eaves, upon
which was placed a log for the first course of

clap-boards. Each course was secured by a

roof-pole, supported by blocks extending from
pole to pole. The chimneys were very large.

On the outside they were built of split timber,

and lined with stone and clay. A section of

the logs was cut out for a door, chimney and a

window or two. The floor was made of split

timber, called puncheons. Many of the cabins

had only earth floors for several years. Gen-
erally the settler was influenced in his location

by the vicinity of a fine spring. The cabin
being finished, congratulations followed, and
all hands dispersed. Their homes, built by
generosity, were ever the abode of hospitality,

and the pioneers of Muskingum passed in them
the happiest of their many years.

Names and dates will make the following
apply to many a scene in the early days of old
Muskingum. The dense forest yielded to the
united strength of the settlers. Custom assem-
bled the pioneers for miles to cut and heap the
logs. To secure advantageous work the hands
were divided into squads, and, aided by ox-
teams, the piles were made ready for firing.

These loggings required strength, and the strong
backwoodsmen competed for the champion-
ship. With rugged frame, the pioneers were
full of fun and frolic. Often when the rolling

was done a foot-race, a wres.tle or a boxing-
match was in order. If blows followed, hands
had to be shaken, a mutual drink taken and the
parties agree to be good friends. It was held
cowardly to hold resentment.

The finest enjoyment of the youth was at

corn-huskings, flax-scutchings and quiltings.

The corn was broken from the stalk, hauled
and piled in a long row, and an invite sent out.

When gathered captains were chosen, who
selected their hands; the pile was measured
and a rail marked the centre. The captains
took positions next the rail to see fair play.

“Husk!” is the signal for a lively, exciting
rivalry. A song, a drink of whisky, shouting
and hurrahing were all in keeping. Some hid
away unhusked corn, and, if undiscovered, were
esteemed shrewd. Work done, supper was
called, and then the women folks were found
to have had a good time quilting and prepar-
ing a bountiful meal. Then came the “French
Four” and the “Old Virginia Reel”; and the

pioneers never felt better than when keeping
time to the merry old chime of the violin upon
the puncheon floor

Cottons, calicoes and other goods were
costly. Home manufacture supplied the want.
Flax was heavily raised by the early settlers,

who of the linen made general wearing apparel.

Mixed with wool, it was known as “linsey-wool-

sey,” and worn by both sexes. The men wore
hunting-shirts, which had a cape, a belt and
fringe upon the edges, and were a favorite

garment of that day. The women were no lag-

gards, and every rude home contained a wheel,
and most housewives could use the loom.
Young men a-nd women gathered to scutch the
flax. The straw was broken, the shives sep-

arated and prepared for spinning and weaving.
The work done, a pleasant dance concluded
all.

Roads were prime necessities, and we have
seen the bounty paid to Zane for brushing out
a trace. The first road was the Zanesville and
Marietta highway. It kept along the ridges

eastwardly at the head of the three valleys.

Roads were opened up the valley to intersect

this road as early as 1816. In 1804 Andrew
Crooks opened a wagon-road to Jonathan’s
creek, Newton township, and, locating at the
point where it crossed Zane’s Trace, opened a
public house, which was known for many years
as Cook’s tavern. The acts of commissioners
are chiefly relative to the survey and location,

on petition, of roads to convenient points.

The early road was but ten or twelve feet wide.
Brush was cut and piled beside the road.

There were too few to keep the roads in order
for them to be good. The road-master was a

public benefactor and a person of importance.
Logs were cut, ruts were filled and bridges
made, and much hard labor done. Slowly and
with difficulty loaded teams proceeded, and
the journeys over the routes to Marietta or to

Pittsburg are still a memorable portion of the
early history of other than the Muskingum
pioneers.

The first settlers found the woods filled with
game. They obtained meat, grease for cook-
ing, skins for bedding and much exciting
pastime by hunting. In the winter of 1792
two hunters from Marietta, named Hamilton
Kerr and Peter Nighswonger, killed six buff-

aloes. In one day these men killed forty-five

deer in Washington county, and afterwards
secured the venison. The bear and the wolf
disappeared from Muskingum about 1820.

Among the last bears killed was one which
made its appearance near the home of Joshua
Brown. It was seen by a party of men at work
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on the roads and killed with their tools. Deer
and turkeys remained as late as 1840, but few
of either are seen now east of the Black Swamp,
in the northwest part of the State. The disap-

pearance of certain animals was the signal for

the arrival of others. The gray fox appeared
and became numerous. In time this animal
gave way to the small, active red fox.

In 1819, the people grew accustomed to see-

ing vast flocks of wild pigeons flying over the
county. Flock after flock—their line reaching
as far as the eye could penetrate—followed
in swift succession, flying westward and re-

turning. Their number was incalculable; and
when descent was made upon the new-sown
wheat in fall, the clash of countless wings, as

they rose in a blue cloud, gave forth a sound
like muffled thunder. During the same year
an immense migration of squirrels south took
place. In their instinctive route they reached
the banks of the Muskingum. The stream
proved no bar to their progress: they swam
across by thousands; and the men and boys of

the time, armed with sticks, killed many as

they reached the farther bank exhausted.
In these prosperous days of fractional cur-

rency and sound banking, the expedients of the
old-time citizens to secure change are truly in-

teresting. The demand for small money author-
ized a resort to cutting coin in quarters. The
quarter cut in four pieces gave as many pica-

yune bits; in two pieces, a pistareen for each.

It was no unusual matter for five quarters to be
made from one piece, and a financial gain
resulted to the operator. This cut money con-
tinued till the issue of paper, which drove all

silver out of the country. As a memento of the
early days at Zanesville, we have before us a

dingy piece of paper, three by five inches in

dimensions, printed by Putnam & Clark, and
bearing date of January 23, 1816. It is embel-
lished by a wood-cut of Zanesville market house,

is numbered fifty-one, and reads as follows:

“We promise to pay the bearer fifty cents in

current bank paper, when a sum is presented to

either of us to the amount of one dollar.

John Nouch, William Craig.” Originally the

amount was “five,” but erased and written

“one.”

John Mathews was the founder of the Mox-
ahala mills. Useful and liberal, he was inval-

uable to Muskingum county. While the tide of

immigration was sweeping westward, and the

country was filling up, the traveler and new set-

tler consumed the surplus produce of the

pioneers at liberal prices: but when the lands

were entered, and the farmers had raised more
than they needed, grain became a perfect drug.

The channels of commerce were then un
opened, no rattling freight train bore eastward
the products of Muskingum, no steamboat’s
puff was heard upon the river, and the National
road had no existance, even as an idea. The
only outlet for trade was by flat-boats down
the Muskingum, Ohio, and Mississippi to

New Orleans, a journey then equal to one now
around the world. A shipper to New Orleans
had to return the journey of weeks through the
wilderness or take ship for New York, and
journey over the mountains home. Oats sold

at ten to twelve cents per bushel; wheat brought
twenty-five to thirty-five cents, payable in store

goods. People could not raise money to buy
salt, a cash article, nor to pay taxes. In this

dilemma Mathews bought wheat at fair prices,

payment to be made on getting return from
New Orleans. His extensive mill machinery
employed many hands. He ran his two saws
night and day. His grist and merchant mills

required constantly the services of a number of

men. Many an old farmer would willingly

bear witness to the benefit derived to the

county by the business habits of Mr. Mathews.
Moses Dillon, a Quaker by birth and a

mason by trade, came to Muskingum in 1806,

from Baltimore, and purchased a large tract of

land, including the falls of Licking, four miles

west of Zanesville, and erected a furnace and
forge at the upper fall for the manufacture of

iron. Wood assumed a value, and the ores be-

came subjects of interest. Iron was scarce, and
Dillon sent out wagons to purchase in neigh-

boring counties. The furnace was a valuable

and enduring enterprise, of immense influence

to the county. The water-power at the mouth
of the Licking was owned by Isaac Zane. The
land on the Licking above him was the property
of General Van Horne, who, in the fall of 1806,

began to erect a dam over the stream on his

premises. Zane also erected a dam on his falls,

and the lower one rendered the upper worth-
less. A lawsuit was prospective, when Dillon

made a purchase of both dams independent of

the lands, and so ended the threatened contest.

John Dillon, the oldest son of Moses, was his

principal manager. Isaac Dillon, the young-
est son, when the old furnace was abandoned
for lack of material, erected mills at the mouth
of the Licking. He was the first to introduce

fine stock into the county. The first agricul-

tural fair in Muskingum was mainly his work.
He was the soul and spirit of the Horticultural

society, devoted to improving fruit.

The Zane trace was the longest road in the

territory now known as the State of Ohio, and
extended over 200 miles. It soon became a
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leading central route from the East to the

Southwest. In the pioneer days all the country
round about Zanesville was a wilderness and
the road a mere trail. The Indians were kind
to their white neighbors, sharing with them
their food and aiding them in their work.
Several squaws gave help to and received assist-

ance and instruction from the settlers’ wives.

Only one white man was killed by Indians in

this vicinity. His name was Johnson, and his

death was a retaliation upon a company to

which he belonged for having killed one or two
of the Indians as the settlers were passing west-

ward. Remains of Indian labor were abundant
in flint fragments lying scattered over the

ground in and about Zanesville and other
points within the borders of the county. At
Dresden was an extensive Indian burying
ground, and the habitations of the Caucassian
race began to dot the landscape before the
aborigines had yielded their reluctant hold.

The Indians left the Muskingum country and
went to the Northwest in 1803.

Smucker inclines to the belief that the first

white person who was born in Ohio first saw
the light in this county. His statement con-
cerning this and other claims to the same dis-

tinction is extracted from the annual report of

the secretary of state for the year 1877:
“Considerable effort has been made by

various persons, to ascertain, if possible, who
was the first white child born within the present
limits of Ohio, also when and where born, and
the name as well. The following claims to that

distinction have been presented, and I give
them in chronological order, with the remark
that some Indian traders who resided among
the Ohio Indians, before the Bouquet expe-
dition, in 1764, were married to white women,
who probably had children born unto them, but
the evidence to establish it is lacking. In April,

1764, a white woman whose husband was a

white man, was captured in Virginia, by some
Delaware Indians, and taken to one of their

towns at or near Wakatomaka, now Dresden,
Muskingum county. In July of said year, she,

while yet in captivity, at the above named
place, gave birth to a male child. She and her
child were among the captives restored to their

friends November 9, 1764, under an arrange-

ment made by Bouquet, her husband being
present and receiving them. It was, as far as

I am informed, the first known white child

born upon the soil of Ohio, but the exact time
and place of its birth, and its name, are alike

unknown. In 1770, an Indian trader named
Conner, married a white woman who was a

captive among the Shawnees, at or near the
Scioto. During the next year she gave birth

to a male child, probably at the above named
point. Mrs. Conner, in 1774, with her husband,
removed to Schonbrun, one of the Moravian
villages on the Tuscarawas, and there they had
other children born to them. In April, 1773,
Rev. John Roth and wife arrived at Gnaden-
hutten, on the Tuscarawas, and there, on the
4th day of July, 1773, she gave birth to a child,

and which, the next day at his baptism, by
Rev. David Zeisberger, was named John Lewis
Roth. He died at Bath, Penn., September 25,

1841. It is clear to my mind that John Lewis
Roth is the first white child born within the
limits of our State, whose name, sex, time,

place of birth and death, and biography, are

known with certainty. Howe in his “ Ohio
Historical Collections,” states upon the author-
ity of a Mr. Dinsmore, of Kentucky, that a Mr.
Millehomme, in 1835 (who then lived in the
parish of Terre-Bonne, Louisiana), informed
him that he was born of Lrench Canadian par-

ents, on or near the Loramie portage, about the
year 1774, while his parents were moving from
Canada to Louisiana; but there is nothing defi-

nite or authentic in this case either as to time
or place. Joanna Maria Heckewelder, daugh-
ter of Rev. John Heckewelder, was born at

Salem, one of the Moravian villages on the
Tuscarawas, April 16, 1781, and she was the
first white female child born upon Ohio terri-

tory, as to whose time and place of birth, and
death, and subsequent history, there is positive

certainty. Her death took place at Bethlehem,
Penn., September 19, 1868, in the eighty-eighth
year of her age. I believe it is generally con-
ceded that the first white child born within our
State, after the permanent settlement at the
mouth of the Muskingum, was Leicester G.
Converse, whose birth took place at Marrietta,
February 7, 1789, and who died near said river,

in Morgan county, Lebruary 14, 1859.”
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FORMATION OF THE COUNTY.

AS an interesting item of history, there is

here given a copy of “An Act to Establish
the County of Muskingum,” passed Jan-

uary 7, 1804:

“Section 1. Be it enacted, etc., that so much of the
counties of Washington and Fairfield as comes within
the following boundaries, be and the same is, hereby
erected into a separate and distinct county, which shall

be known by the name of Muskingum, to wit: Begin-
ning at the northwest corner of the Ninth township, in

the Ninth range of the United States Military lands,
thence with the western boundary line of said range,
south to the southern boundary line of said military
lands, thence with the same west to the western bound-
ary line of the Fifteenth range of public lands, thence
with the said line south to the southwest corner of the
Sixteenth township of the Fifteenth range, thence east-

wardly to the south boundary of the Sixteenth township
till it intersects the west boundary of the Twelfth range,
thence with the sectional lines east to the western bound-
ary line of the Seventh range, thence with the same north
to the northeast corner of the military tract, thence with
the north boundary line of the Tenth township in the first

and second ranges of said military lands, west until in-

tersected by the Indian boundary line, thence with same
westwardly to the place of beginning.

“Section 2. That from and after the first day of
March next, said county shall be vested with all the
powers, privileges and immunities of a separate and dis-

tinct county; Provided, always, that all actions and suits

which may be pending on the first day of March next,
shall be prosecuted and carried into final judgment and
execution, and all taxes, fees, fines and forfeitures which
shall then be due, shall be collected in the same manner
as if this act had never been passed.

“Section 3. That the temporary seat of justice of
said county shall be at the town of Zanesville, until the
permanent seat shall be fixed according to law.

“Section 4. This act shall commence and be in

force from and after the first day of March next.
“Elias Langham,

“Speaker of the House of Representatives,
Nathaniel Massie,

Jan. 7, 1804. “Speaker of the Senate."

The first sheriff of Muskingum county was
George Beymer; the first county surveyor, Levi
Whipple; William Montgomery appears to

have been the first county treasurer; Levi
Whipple was the first coroner. It seems that

conveyances of land lying in Muskingum were
recorded in the office of the Washington county
recorder until April 17, 1806. Lrom this date
till 1831 the recorder was appointed by the

court of common pleas, and the clerk of that

court was usually the recorder. The first so

appointed was Abel Lewis. Elijah Beall, who
served until 1808, appears to have been the first

clerk to the county commissioners. On the

evidence of Stephen Reeve, Esq., who leased

school land of them in 1804, it is stated that

the first county commissioners were William
Montgomery, Joseph F. Munro and Christian

Spangler.
It should be noted here that there is no

record of the action of the county commis-
sioners prior to March 2, 1807. Following is

the not very complete record, in full, of all

meetings from March 2, 1807, to January 27,

1808, inclusive. It is valuable chiefly as stat-

ing who were present:

“March 2, 1807. Commissioners met agree-

able to adjournment. Present, William Newell,
William Whitten, commissioners. Adjourned
until to-morrow at 8 o’clock.” “March 3, 1807.

Commissioners met agreeable to adjournment.
Present, William Newell, William Whitten, com-
missioners. Adjourned until to-morrow at 8

o’clock.” “March 4, 1807. Commissioners met
agreeable to adjournment. Present, William
Whitten, William Newell, commissioners. Ad-
journed until to-morrow at 8 o’clock.” “March
5, 1807. Commissioners met agreeable to ad-

journment. Present, William Whitten, William
Newell, commissioners. Adjourned until the

first Monday in May next.” “May 4, 1807.

William Newell only met according to adjourn-

ment and adjourned until June term next.”

“June 1, 1807. Commissioners met agreeable to

adjournment. Present, William Newell, Will-

iam Whitten, Robert Spur. Adjourned until

to-morrow morning at 8 o’clock.” “June 2,

1807. Commissioners met agreeable to ad-

journment. Present, William Newell, Robert
Spur. Adjourned until Monday next, the 8th

of June.” “Commissioners met agreeable to

adjournment. Present, William Newell, Robert
Spur, William Whitten. Adjourned until to-

morrow morning at 8 o’clock.” “Commission-
ers met agreeable to adjournment, Present,
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William Whitten, William Newell, Robert Spur.

Adjourned until to-morrow morning at 8

o’clock.” “Commissioners met agreeable to

adjournment. Present, William Newell, Robert
Spur, William Whitten. An adjournment took

place until to-morrow at 8 o’clock.” “Commis-
sioners met agreeableto adjournment. Present,

William Whitten, Robert Spur, William Newell.

Adjourned until to-morrow 8 o’clock.” “Com-
missioners met agreeable to adjournment. Pres-

ent, William Newell, William Whitten. Ad-
journed until Thursday, July l6th next.” “July
1 6, 1807. Robert Spur only met agreeable to

adjournment and adjourned until to-morrow at

8 o’clock.” “July 17, 1807. Commissioners
met agreeable to adjournment. Present, Will-

Newell, William Whitten, Robert Spur, and ad-

journed until to-morrow at 8 o’clock.” “July

18, 1807. Commissioners met agreeable to ad-

journment. Present, William Whitten, Robert
Spur, William Newell. Adjourned until the

4th Monday in August next.” “August 24,

1807. Commissioners met agreeable to adjourn-

ment. Present, William Whitten, William New-
ell, Robert Spur. And adjourned until to-

morrow at 8 o’clock.” “August 25, 1807. Com-
missioners met agreeable to adjournment. Pres-

ent, William Newell, William Whitten, Robert
Spur Adjourned until to-morrow morning at

8 o’clock.” “August 26, 1807. Commissioners
met agreeable to adjournment. Present, Rob-
ert Spur, William Whitten, William Newell.
And adjourned until the second Monday in

September next.” “Commissioners met agree-

able to adjournment. Present, William Newell,
Robert Spur. And adjourned until the session

in course, when none met, until the 2d Monday
in December, 1807.” “December 14, 1807.

Commissioners met agreeable to adjournment.
Present, William Newell. And adjourned until

to-morrow morning 8 o’clock.” “December
15th, 1807. Commissioners met agreeable to

adjournment. Present, William Newell, Jacob
Gomber. And adjourned until to-morrow morn-
ing 8 o’clock.” “Commissioners met agreeable
to adjournment. Present, William Newell, Jacob
Gomber. And adjourned until to-morrow 8

o’clock.” “December 17, 1807. Commission-
ers met agreeable to adjournment. Present,

William Newell, Jacob Gomber. Adjourned
until to-morrow morning 8 o’clock.” “Decem-
ber 18, 1807. Commissioners met agreeable to

adjournment. Present, William Newell, Jacob
Gomber. And adjourned until the fourth Mon-
day in January next.” “January 25. Com-
missioners met agreeable to adjournment. Pres-

ent, William Newell, Jacob Gomber. And
adjourned until to-morrow 8 o’clock,” “Jan-

uary 26, Commissioners met. Present, William
Newell, Jacob Gomber. And adjourned until to-

morrow 8 o’clock.” “January 27, Commission-
ers met. Present, William Newell, Jacob Gom-
ber, and adjourned until the session in course,
first Monday in March next.” Most of these
entries were attested by Elijah Beall, clerk.

January 26, 1808, was resolved that all officers

entitled to traveling fees to and from the
county seat and under their jurisdiction, should
be allowed for every twenty-five miles’ travel

a sum equal to what the law allowed them per
day on the same occasion, by rendering a just

account of the same to be judged of by the
board.

Quite a little space is here devoted to the
early doings of the county commissioners.
The period 1807-1815 has been covered pretty
fully. The details of the laying out of roads
will serve to show the rapidity and the direc-

tion of the advancement of settlement. Ex-
cept in cases of known and glaring inaccuracy,
the names of persons concerned are spelled as

in the records.

March 7, 1808, a petition from sundry in-

habitants of Newton township, praying for an
alteration of the county road leading from
Springfield up the south fork of Jonathan’s
creek was read and tabled for a second read-
ing next day, where it was again read and filed

to be read at the following June term. A peti-

tion praying for a road to be laid out from
the town of Zanesville to the northeast corner
of half-section Number 4, Township 1, Range 7,

was read and disallowed, March 8. March 9,

1808, sundry petitions were presented to the
Board asking the incorporation of several town-
ships within the county limits and were grant-
ed. The boundaries of the townships were
established and ordered recorded. The town-
ships so created were named Cambridge, Salt

Creek and Falls. At the same time an altera-

tion was made in one line of Madison township.
June 6,1808, the petition which was read and
filed at the last session of the board of com-
misioners praying for an alteration of the
county road from Springfield up the south fork

of Jonathan’s creek was read and ordered to

lie on the table for a second reading the fol-

lowing day. A petition signed by sundry
inhabitants of the county was presented to the
board, together with the proper vouchers,
praying for the opening of a road from or near
the mouth of Cantwell’s run, on the west side

of Muskingum river, up said river to the month
of Whitewoman. A duplicate order for the
viewers and surveyor of the proposed road was
issued and “delivered to William Whitten, for
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(as is doubtless meant) one of the petitioners

to meet at Thomas Cantwell’s on Saturday, the
eleventh of June, instant, at ten o’clock A. M.”
Thomas Cantwell, Isaac Workman and Henry
Miller were the viewers named, and John Cain
was the surveyor. Another petition was pre-

sented, praying for the opening of a road from
the mouth of Licking creek up said creek on
the north side by way of Col. George Jackson’s
mills to intersect the State road near Jonathan
Wood’s. William Wells, John Matthews and
Ebenezer Ryan were the viewers and Elijah

Beall was the surveyor of this road, and to

them, as such, a duplicate order was issued and
delivered to Col. George Jackson, as one of the
petitioners, to meet at the house of Henry
Crooks, at Mclntire’s upper ferry, on the fourth
Monday in June, at eight o'clock A. M. June
7, 1808, sundry persons petitioned that a road
be opened from Springfield westwardly on
the south side of Licking creek, via Asher
Thorp's, to the west boundary line of the
county. A duplicate ordered was issued to

the viewers and surveyor of this road and to

the petitioners, through Doctor Matthews as

their representative, to meet at the house of

Peter Speck, in Springfield, on the third

Monday in June, at eight o’clock A. M. John-
ston Thompson, William Reynolds and John
Matthew's, of Moxahala, were the viewers; the
surveyor was Elijah Beall. Another petition

was presented, praying that a road be opened
from the lower end of White Eyes plains to

the bridge over Will’s creek at the town of

Cambridge. The viewers were James McCune,
James Miskimmins and Abel Cain; John Cain
u'as the surveyor. William Whitten was the
representative petitioner. The meeting of the
viewers, surveyor and petitioners was ordered
to be held at the house of George Miller
at ten o’clock A. M. on the first Monday
in August. The petition for an alteration

of the county road from Springfield up the
south fork of Jonathan’s creek, which had
been read the day before and ordered for

a second reading on this day, was taken up and
the board decreed that said road should be
still kept clear until a petition 'be presented
for opening a road “from the new' State road
on the west side of Shawney run.” June 13,

1808, a petition from inhabitants of the north-
western part of the county was presented to

the board of commissioners praying to be set

off in a separate township, and was granted.
The township so erected was called Newcastle,
and the first election for township officers

thereof was ordered to be held at the house of
Thomas Butler on the second Monday in Sep-

tember, at ten o’clock A. M. June 14, 1808,

“Jacob Crooks was chosen and appointed to be
a county collector for the present year.” June
15, 1808, it was resolved by the board that the
sum of two dollars be offered as a bounty for

each and every w'olf scalp certificate which
should be presented to the board agreeable to

law, certifying the same to be over the age of

six months, and the further sum of one dollar

w'as offered for each and every scalp of a wolf
under the age of six months. View'ers on the
road from the mouth of Cantwell’s run to the
mouth of Whitewoman reported thereon to the
board, June 15, 1808, and after the first reading
their report was tabled until the following Sat-

urday. June 15, 1808, a petition from the in-

inhabitants of Newton township wras presented
to the board, praying for a division of said

township, which was objected to by reason of a

counter-petition from said township. On the

following day a petition from sundry inhabit-

ants of the county was handed in, praying to

be set off frorfi Salt Creek township and in-

cluded ‘in the Township of Zanesville, which
was granted. June 17, 1808, the board ap-

pointed Joseph F. Munro a county treasurer,

and he gave bond with the following sureties:

John Mclntire, Daniel Converse.

June 17, 1808, the board regulated tavern

and ferry licenses throughout the county as

follows—The Taverns: "The taverns on the

state road from Chillicothe to Wheeling, eight

dollars each, except those within the towns of

Zanesville and Springfield, which shall be
respectively rated at ten dollars each. All the

other taverns opened within the county, and to

be opened hereafter, in any direction whatever,
within the county, except in the towns and on the

road aforesaid, to pay five dollars each. The
ferries: Crossing the Muskingum immediately
to or from Zanesville to Springfield to pay a

license of twelve dollars each. Crossing the

Muskingum on the State road immediately
from Zanesville to Franklinton to be licensed

at eight dollars each. Throughout the county,

except as above, to be licensed at five dollars

each. Rates of ferriage throughout the county
were established as follows: For a foot pas-

senger, three cents; for a man and horse,

twelve and one-half cents; for a loaded wagon
and one dollar; for an empty wagon and
team, seventy-five cents; for a four-wheeled
carriage and team, seventy-five cents; for a

loaded cart and team, fifty cents; for an empty
cart, sled or sleigh and team, thirty-seven and
one-half cents; for horses, mares, mules and
neat cattle, each ten cents; for hogs and sheep,

each three cents. It was provided that in all
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cases where the ferry-keeper should be com-
pelled by law to ply in the night, he might
demand and receive for a foot passenger six

and one-fourth cents and for a man and horse
twenty-five cents.

June 1 8, 1808, the viewer’s report on a road
from the mouth of Cantwell’s run to the mouth
of Whitewoman was again read, and, no objec-

tion being made, the survey thereof was ordered
for record. It was ordered by the board that
this road “be opened and cut out forty feet

wide and be hereafter held, deemed and kept
open as a county road, agreeable to an act of
assembly, entitled, “ An Act for Opening and
Regulating highways.” September 5, 1808, the
viewers’ report on a road from Cambridge to

White Eyes’ plains was presented, read and
ordered to lay over for a second reading the
following day. The viewers on a road from
Springfield up the south side of Licking creek
to the west boundary of the county reported
the same not to be of public utility. On the
next day, the report of the viewers on the road
from Cambridge to White Eyes’ plains was
read a second time and adopted, and, no objec-
tions being made, it was ordered that the said

road be opened fifty feet wide. The viewers
appointed on the proposed road from the
mouth of Licking creek, on the north side
thereof, by the great falls, to intersect another
road near Jonathan Wood’s, did not report.

December 5, 1808, a petition was presented
signed by a number of inhabitants requesting
that a road be laid out to leave the road lead-
ing from Zanesville to the forks of the Musk-
ingum, at or near the house of John Winner, to
intersect the road leading from Zanesville to
the mouth of Wakatomaka creek, at or near the
forks of Symmes creek. Duplicate orders for

viewers and surveyors thereof were given—John
Adams, Leverett S. Stillman and John Painter,

viewers, and John Cain, surveyor—to meet at

Mr. Shire’s on the first Monday in January,
1809. December 6, 1808, a petition was pre-
sented signed by a number of inhabitants pray-
ing for the laying out of a road “ from Zanes-
ville to the north end of half-section Number
4, in township Number 1, of Range Number
7, and from thence to intersect the road lead-
ing from Zanesville to the mouth of Waka-
tomaka creek, at or near the school lot now
occupied by Josiah Cooksey.” Daniel Converse,
Samuel Thompson and Robert Taylor were
appointed viewers and William Reynolds sur-

veyor, to meet at the house of the latter on the
first Monday in January, 1809.

March 6, 1809, a petition was presented for

the laying out of a road from Springfield west-

erly on the south side of Licking creek via

Asher Thorp’s to the west boundary line of the

county to intersect a road leading from Newark.
James Jeffries and William Reynolds were
appointed viewers and Levi Whipple surveyor,

and directed to meet at the house of William
Burnham, in Springfield, on the last Monday in

March.
March 6, 1809, a petition for the division of

Wells township was presented and a remon-
strance against said division, which were tabled
until the next meeting of the commissioners.
March 6, 1809, the viewers appointed to lay

out a road from John Winner’s to intersect a

road leading- from Zanesville to Wakatomaka
creek, at or near the forks of Symmes creek,

made returns of the survey of said road, which
was read and reported on favorably. The
viewers appointee! to lay out a road from
Zanesville to the north end of half section

Number 4, in township Number — Range
Number 7, to intersect a road leading from
Zanesville to the mouth of Wakatomaka creek,

at or near the school lot occupied by Josiah
Cooksey, also made return with like results.

March 7, 1809, a petition for the division of

Newton township was allowed, the south part

of said township, as divided and recorded, to

retain the name of Newton township and the
north part to be known as Springfield town-
ship. March 7, 1809, the road returns above
mentioned were again read, and the roads were
ordered to be opened forty feet wide. March
8, 1809, it was ordered that the first election for

township officers in the township of Newton
be held at the house of Isaac Kent on the first

Monday in April. At the same time the first

township election in the township of Springfield

was ordered to be held on the first Monday in

April at the house of William Burnham.
March 31, 1809, James Jefferies, William

Organ, and Samuel Henslee were appointed
overseers, and Levi Whipple surveyor of a road
from Springfield by way of Asher Thorp’s to

the west boundary line of the county, to meet
at William Burnham’s April 26. June 5, 1809,

a petition was presented, signed by a number
of freeholders of Springfield and Falls town-
ships, asking the appointment of viewers to lay

out a road from the town of Springfield, thence
westwardly on the south side of Licking creek,

passing the house of Jonah Smith, near the big
falls of said creek, thence passing a school-
house near John Kerr’s, thence to the west
boundary line of Muskingum county, "in the
best direction that when it shall be continued
through a part of the county of Licking
it may intersect the State road leading from
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Zanesville to Newark, near the Rocky fork of
Licking creek.” John Matthews, Johnson
Thompson and Lewis Nye were appointed
viewers, and Levi Whipple surveyor, and they
were directed to meet at the house of William
Burnham, in Springfield, on the second Monday
in July. On the same day, Charles Williams,
George McCullock, and William Morrison
were appointed viewers, and John Cain was
appointed surveyor, to lay out a road from the
forks of the Muskingum- in a northwesterly
direction, to intersect a road “leading to a town
called Worcester, on the north boundary line

of the county,” to meet “at the house of Charles
Williams, in Tuskaraway,” on the second Mon-
day in July. June 6, 1809, the viewers appointed
to lay out a road from Springfield, on the south
side of Licking creek, by Asher Thorp’s, to the
west boundary line of the county, reported that
a road might be opened for a reasonable ex-
pense, and the surveyor exhibited a plan and
field-notes of the same. The following day the
board ordered said road opened, fifty feet wide.

June 7, 1809, it was ordered by the board
that in future all justices of the peace attending
at the opening of a poll-book of an election
should receive the sum of fifty cents per day;
and that judges of election should be entitled
to receive twenty-five cents per day, when
engaged in official duties; the judge returning
the poll book to receive three cents a mile,

going and returning by the most usual way.
June 5, 1809, Moses Dillon presented a re-

monstrance, signed by a number of landholders
of the townships of Springfield and Falls, stat-

ing that the road, as surveyed from Spring-
field, by Asher Thorp’s, was not on the best
ground, and praying that a review might be
had on the same. This paper, it was deemed,
was not signed by such persons as the law
contemplated, and embraced only a part of the
road under consideration, and, bonds not being
given as required by law, it was rejected by
the board. June 15, 1809, it was ordered by
the commissioners that all tavern licenses
within the county be rated the ensuing year as

follows: On the State road from Wheeling to

Chillicothe, $8 each, except those within the
towns of Zanesville and Springfield, and in

Zanesville the license fee was put at $12, and
in Springfield at $8. All other taverns within
the county, opened, or to be opened there-
after, except in the towns and on the roads
aforesaid, were rated at $5.

June 15, 1809, the board regulated the ferry
license as follows: Ferries crossing the Mus-
kingum river immediately to or from Zanes-
ville to Springfield, $12; crossing the Mus-

kingum on the State road immediately from
Zanesville to Franklinton, $8; throughout the
county, except as above, $5. Rates of ferriage

throughout the county were re-established,

thus: Foot passengers, three cents; for a man
and horse, one shilling; a loaded wagon and
team, one dollar; an empty wagon and team,
seventy-five cents; a four-wheeled carriage and
team, seventy-five cents

;
a loaded cart and

team, fifty cents; an empty cart, sled or sleigh

and team, three shillings; horses, mares, mules
and neat' cattle, each, ten cents; hogs and
sheep, each, three cents. The following resolu-

tion relative to wolf scalps was passed by the
board June 15, 1809: “Resolved that the sum
of $2 be offered as a bounty for each and every
wolf scalp certificate which shall be presented
to the board, agreeable to law, certifying the
same to be over the age of six months, and the
sum of $1 for each and every scalp under the
age of six months.”

No view having been had on a road petitioned

for from the Forks of Muskingum river to the
northern boundary line of the county, in conse-
quence of the viewers not having received
timely notice of their appointment, at the re-

quest of the petitioners that the road be viewed,
the board, on the nth of September, 1809,

ordered that Charles Williams, George McCul-
lock and William Morrison be reappointed
viewers, and John Cain surveyor, to meet at

the house of Charles Williams, on the third

Monday in October.
October 5, 1809, being a day advertised for

holding appeals, the commissioners proceeded
to hear and act on the several cases which
were laid before them. Lewis Nye petitioned

to have the tax taken off his house, situated on
his farm, as the building was not tenable. It

was ordered that the said tax of $1.50 be remit-

ted. Andrew Crooks petitioned to have the

tax remitted on his house, as said house was
not finished or occupied. The tax of seventy-

five cents was remitted. On the following day,

Daniel Harvey stated that his house was taxed
too high, also all his other property, and that

he was taxed for two out lots which were not

recorded on the town plat. It was ordered
that $2 be taken off his tax for the out lots,

and $1.72 from his house. Christian Spangler
stated that his tax was uniformly oppressive,

and requested that a part of the same be remit-

ted. Histax wasreduced $2 . SamuelThompson
said he was taxed with an out lot which was
not recorded as such on the town plat, and

$1.25 was deducted from his assessment. Mon-
day, December 4, 1809, the viewers appointed

to lay out the road from th§ forks of the Mus-
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kingum in a northwesterly direction, to inter-

sect a road leading to the town of Worcester,
on the northern border of the county, reported
favorably, and their report was laid over for a

second reading the next day, when it was
ordered to be recorded, and said road to be
opened sixty feet wide. Under date of De-
cember 6, 1809, the following entry appears:
“The viewers appointed to lay out a road from
Springfield, by Jonah Smith’s, to the west
boundary of the county, having neglected to

make their return in due season, and whereas
it has been made to appear that the said con-
templated road would be of the utmost im-
portance to the inhabitants generally, and an
application having been made to have other
viewers appointed, William Hambleton, David
Vandebarrack and John Beard were appointed
viewers, and Levi Whipple surveyor, to meet
at the house of William Burnham, in Spring-
field, on Monday, the 18th instant.” On the
same day a petition was presented, signed by a

number of freeholders of the county, praying
to have viewers appointed to lay out a road, to

begin at a point on the State road leading from
Marietta to Zanesville, near the salt works,
and running then easterly to the house of Aaron
Hughes, or Wills creek, and to a point on the
Seventh range line, so that an intersection might
be formed with the Pultney road in the nearest

andbestdirectiontoSt. Clairsville. William Ray-
nolds, David Beckwith and Samuel Thompson
were appointed overseers, and Elijah Beall, sur-

veyor, to meet at the house of John Chandler, on
the first Tuesday in January, 1810. Monday,
March 5, this committee reported unfavorably,
but a favorable report was rendered by the view-
ers appointed to lay out a road from Springfield,

on the south side of Licking creek, by Jonah
Smith’s, etc., and the latter report was tabled
for a second reading the following day, when
Isaac Zane presented a petition requesting the
appointment of five disinterested landowners
of the county to ascertain the damage which he
might sustain in consequence of such road being
opened through his land. The following named
persons were appointed: William Wells, David
Beckwith, Lewis Nye, Seth Adams and John
Springer. They were directed to meet at Zane’s
house on the first Monday in April, but only
two of the number so met, and June 4th Mr.
Zane requested that others might be appointed,
whereupon Robert McConnell, Moses Boggs,
Lewis Nye, John Springer and Wyllys Tilli-

man were appointed to meet at Zanc’s house,
on Monday, the 1 8th instant.

June 5, 1810, a number of citizens petitioned

for an alteration in the road leading from

Springfield to Cooper’s Mill, to begin at the line

of the township of Springfield and extending
thence in the best direction to intersect theold
road at or near the bark lick. William Turner,

James Hammitt and Benjamin Tupper were
appointed viewers, and Benjamin Tupper sur-

veyor, to meet at James Hammitt’s on the
third Monday in August. It was ordered that

so much of the road from Springfield by Jonah
Smith’s to the west boundary of the county as

lay between Fallen Timber run and the county
line be opened sixty feet wide. June 4, 1810, a

petition was presented praying that aview might
be had on a road leading from Springfield to-

ward Athens -as far as the county line of Mus-
kingum. Chauncey Ford, Daniel Converse and
Levi Whipple were appointed viewers, and Levi
Whipple surveyor, to meet at the house of

William Burnham in Springfield, on Monday,
the 1 ith inst.

A petition was presented June 4, 1810, signed
by a number of the inhabitants of Salt Creek
township, praying for a division of the same.
The division was made, resulting in the creation

of Blue Rock township.
In 1810 tavern and ferry licenses were un-

changed. Ferry rates throughout the county
were defined as follows: For a wagon and
five or six horses, seventy-five cents; for a

wagon with three or four horses, fifty cents; for

a wagon with two horses, three shillings; for a

cart, sled, or sleigh with two horses or oxen,
three shillings; for a two-wheeled carriage or

horse cart, with horse, twenty-five cents; for a

man and horse, one shilling; for a horse, mare,
mule or ass, six pence; neat cattle, each, six

pence; for a hog or sheep, three cents; for

a foot passenger, three cents. June 13, 1810, the

commissioners ordered that the clerk of their

board receive the sum of $25 as an annual salary,

payable quarterly, and that all necessary sta-

tionery for the office be furnished by the
county. Benjamin Tupper was continued as

clerk.

September 3, 1S10, the viewers appointed to

make an alteration in the Cooper mill road re-

ported favorably, and two days later it was
ordered that the alteration be opened sixty

feet wide. On the 3d, also, a petition was pre-

sented praying for the laying out of a road
beginning at a tree marked F. W. B. on the

State road leading from Zanesville to Newark,
thence in the best direction to intersect the road
leading from the forks of the Muskingum to

Mount Vernon, at a town laid out by Robert
Griffin. Levi Chapman, Isaac Zane and Levi
Whipple were appointed viewers, and Levi

Whipple surveyor, to meet at George Welch’s
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on the first Monday in November. A petition

was presented praying that a view might be
had on a road beginning at the forks of the
Muskingum to intersect a road laid out from
that point to Newark, in the nearest and best

direction and as near as might be to the county
line. James Tanner, Lewis Nye and John
Adams were appointed viewers, and Henry
Northup surveyor, to meet at the house of

Charles Williams on the first Monday in No-
vember. September 5 the viewers’ return of a
road from Springfield toward Athens as far as

the county line was adopted, and the road was
ordered to be opened sixty feet wide.

December 3 a petition was presented
signed by a number of inhabitants of Oxford
township, stating that they were a part of Co-
shocton county, not yet organized; and it was
ordered that so much of Oxford as was sit-

uated within the county of Coshocton be
attached to and become a part of the town of

Tuscarawas.
December 3, 1810, a number of persons

petitioned for an alteration in the road lead-

ing from Zanesville to the forks of the Muskin-
gum, and that a part of said road be vacated;
the alteration to begin on said road at or near
John Winner’s and to intetsect said road at or
near John Warburton’s. Valentine Johnson,
George W. Cass and John Painter were ap-

pointed viewers, and Henry Northup surveyor,
to meet at the house of Jonathan Parker, on
Wednesday, the 12th inst. December 4, 18 10,

the report of the viewers on a road from the
forks of the Muskingum river toward Newark
was ordered to be recorded and the road to be
opened sixty feet wide. December 5, 1810, the
commissioners appointed to lay out a road
beginning at a tree marked F. W. B. on the
State road leading from Zanesville to Newark,
to intersect the road from the forks of the Mus-
kingum to Mount Vernon, etc., not having met
according to order, and one of the petitioners

coming forward and requesting that other
viewers be appointed, Mordecai Chaffant, John
Calvin and William Newell were designated
viewers and Henry Northup surveyor, to meet
at the house of George Welch on the first

Monday in January.
A petition was presented December 5,

1810, praying for the division of Jefferson town-
ship, which was granted, forming Washington
township, the survey being as follows: “Be-
ginning at the southwest corner of the 4th
township of the 9th range; thence north to

the northwest corner of said township; thence
east to a line dividing the 4th township of

the 7th range; thence south to a line divid-

ing the 3d and 4th townships of said range;
thence west to the place of beginning.”
These boundaries encompassed the new town-
ship. The first town meeting was appointed to

be held on the fourth Saturday in February, at

the house of Mordecai Chaffant.

January 8, l8ii,on the petition of sundry
citizens of Jefferson township, praying to be set

off into a new township, it was ordered that “a
new township to be called Franklin be set off

and bounded as follows; viz.: Beginning at the
southwest corner of the 4th quarter of Town-
ship No. 4 in the 4th range; thence north
to the northwest corner of the 1st quar-
ter of said township; thence east to the north-

east corner of the 2d quarter of Township
No. 4 in the 4th range; thence south to

the southeast corner of the 3d quarter of

said township; thence west to the place of

beginning.” It was further ordered that an
election for township officers be held at the
house of John Robinson on Monday, January
28, the polls to be opened between the hours of

ten and twelve and closed at four. On the ap-
plication of Abraham Thompson and Stephen
Stillwell for the board to fix the dimensions of

a lock or slope in a mill-dam to be erected near
the mouth of Wills creek, it was ordered, Jan-
uary 8, 181 1 ,

that whenever the dam should be
erected, a slope should be built in such part of

it as would best accommodate the navigation
of the stream, twenty-five feet in width and ex-
tending down the stream in proportion to the
height of the dam, so that there should not be
more than one inch fall for each foot in length
of the slope; the mouth of the slope to be sunk
two feet below the average height of the top of

the dam. It was provided that the slope should
at all times be supplied with pulleys, catches,

and other necessary apparatus for the purpose
of facilitating the passage of boats, rafts and
other water craft up and down the stream, and
should be in other respects so constructed as in

no way to materially injure or obstruct its navi-

gation, and with its appointments should at all

times be kept in good repair.

March 4, 1811, it was ordered that the clerk,

when called on to do so, should issue an order
to Armstead Adams and Levi Chapman, super-

visors of highways, to open a road through
Isaac Zane’s field, agreeable to the survey of

the same. A petition was presented asking
for a view for a road beginning on the State

road between John Porter’s and Jacob Bowers’;
running thence to Robert Henderson’s saw-
mill; thence to the intersection of the State

road at or near the house lately occupied by
John Ford. Benjamin Finkee, James Wimp
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and James Beard were appointed viewers,

and Benjamin Tupper surveyor, to meet at the

house of Lawrence Alwine on the 20th of the

same month. A petition was presented also

praying that a view might be had on a road to

begin at a point near the Muskingum salt-

works; running thence in an easterly direction

along the ridge as it was at that time cut out,

or as near to said cutting as a good road could
be obtained, until it should intersect the road
already laid out in Guernsey county at a point
where it struck the line of Muskingum county.
William H. Moore, John Beard and John
Calvin were appointed viewers and William
Craig surveyor, to meet at the house of John
Chandler on the last Tuesday in March.

March 5, 1811, James Ritchey petitioned
that an alteration be made in the road leading
from Zanesville to the Blue Rock so as to turn
the same through another part of his land.

Samuel Thompson and David Herron were
appointed viewers, and William Craig surveyor,
to meet at the house of Samuel Thompson
March 8th. William Thorp, David Devon and
William Ewing were appointed overseers, and
Henry Northup surveyor of the proposed
road “from a tree marked F. W. B.” etc. The
viewers formerly appointed not having met,
the new viewers were to meet at the house of

George Welsh on Tuesday, March 19. A view
was asked for on a road “beginning at the six

mile tree, from Zanesville, on the Marietta
road, thence running an easterly course passing
near Daniel Horton’s, crossing Big Salt creek
to David Carlisle’s, on White" Eyes creek,
thence on the same course to Philemon John-
ston’s, thence on the north side of the creek
called Williams’ fork, then nearly as the road
is cut out, then southwesterly of Samuel Poak’s
to the intersection of the Guernsey road at

the line of said county. “William H. Moore,
John Beard and John Calvin were appointed
viewers, and William Craig surveyor,” to meet
where said contemplated road intersects the
county line on the last Wednesday in March.

March 6, 1811, the viewers’ report on an
alteration of the State road leading from
Zanesville to the forks of the Muskingum was
ordered to be recorded and the new part of the
road opened sixty feet wide, a corresponding
portion of the old road to be vacated.

A petition, presented March 6, 1811, pray-
ing that so much of Salt Creek township as
had been set off and called Blue Rock town-
ship, be again attached to and become a part
of Salt Creek township, was granted.

June 3, 1 8 1 1 ,
the trustees of Newton town-

ship requested of the commissioners that so

much of the original Township No. 15, in Range
No. 14, as had therefore belonged to Spring-
field township be set off and become a part

of Newton township, which petition was
granted and ordered to be recorded in the
township books.

June 4, 1 8 1 1 ,
Robert Mitchell was appointed

clerk to the commissioners for the current year
at a salary of $75 per year. John Willey
entered his protest against this appointment
on the ground that a clerk might be obtained
who would do the work for less money.

June 4, 181 1, the board took up the report
of the reviewers in favor of a road beginning
at a tree marked B. T. on the State road, near
Jacob Brown’s, and running thence to Robert
Henderson’s saw mill, thence to the intersec-

tion of the State road near John Ford's place,

for a second reading; whereupon a remon-
strance was offered, signed by Benjamin
Turner and others, praying for the appoint-
ment of five men to review the road. V. J. Z.

Robert Fulton, Samuel Thompson,
James Richey, James Jeffries and Robert
Mitchell were appointed, to meet at a place
designated, on the 15th instant. On the same
day a favorable report of the viewers on a

proposed road beginning at a tree marked
F. W. B. and running thence in as direct a line

as practicable toward Robert Griffin’s as far as

the county line, was met by a remonstrance
signed by Moses Van Winkle and John Bland
and others, praying that five men be appointed
to review the same. Jacob Crooks, James
Herron, James Bell, John Houck and James
Richey were accordingly appointed, to meet
on January 18, at the house of Richard Zane.
June 4, 1 8 1

1 ,
it was ordered by the commis-

sioners that a fractional part west of the mouth
of Salt Creek and north of the Muskingum
river, in the township of Salt Creek, be at-

tached to the township of Zanesville.

June 5, 1 8 1 1 ,
the viewers’ return of a road

beginning at or near the salt works, at the ten
mile tree, running thence in an easterly direc-

tion to the Guernsey county line was read
finally, and the road was ordered to be opened
a necessary width, not exceeding sixty feet.

The next day the viewers on the road begin-
ning at Johnston’s, -and running thence to the
Marietta road, at the six mile tree, recom-
mended that said road be opened from the six

mile tree to Johnston’s at the expense of the
county, and from Johnston’s to the county line,

at the expense of the petitioners. A petition

was presented by Jcffcrey Price and Lewis
Dent, asking the appointment of viewers to
lay out a road upon the lands of the said peti-
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tioners, James Ritchey, Allen McLain and
William Craig were appointed viewers, and
William Craig surveyor, to report for or against

the proposed road on the first Monday in

September.
June 6, 1 8 1 1 ,

Benjamin Sloan was chosen
county treasurer, and John Willey entered a

protest because, in his opinion, a cheaper man
could be had. On the same day Samuel Thomp-
son was appointed “to keep the standard meas-
ure of the county,” which, it was ordered
should be branded with the letters “ M. C. S.”

June ii, 1 8 1 1 ,
a number of the inhabitants

of Madison township petitioned that a new
township be “struck off,” said township begin-
ning at the southwest corner of Section 1 8,

Range 15, Township 17, and on the line between
the 15th and 1 6th ranges, thence easterly to the

boundary line of Madison,” which was read
and ordered to lay over to the next meeting.
No action seems to have been taken upon it.

On December 2, another petition signed by in-

habitants of Madison was presented, praying
for certain reasons therein stated, that a part of

said township might be erected into a new
township by the name of Beard. This petition

was read, and a remonstrance was handed in

and read, whereupon the matter was ordered to

be laid over until the next meeting, at which
the records do not show that it was acted upon.

June 11, i8u,the tavern licenses throughout
the county were re-established at the same rates

adopted in 1809; and it was ordered that the

license for ferries over the river immediately
to and from Zanesville to Springfield, should
be $18 per annum; for ferries crossing the

river on the State road immediately from
Zanesville to Franklinton, $6; for ferries

throughout the county, except as above, $1.

Ferry rates were re-established on the basis of

the previous year.

June 25, 181 1, the commissioners received
a notice of an appeal to the Court of Common
Pleas in the matter of the road leading from at

or near the salt works easterly to the Guern-
sey county line. September 3, 1811, the pre-

vious report on a road beginning at or near
Jacob Bower’s, and running thence past Robert
Henderson’s sawmill, was taken up and read;

whereupon there was notice of appeal given.

September 4, 1811, Matthew Chambers
petitioned for a review of a road passing
through his land in Licking township. Mar-
tin Radebaugh, Thomas Thompson, and Chris-

tian Spangler were appointed viewers, and Mr
Kinselaw surveyor, to meet at Chambers’ house,
on a date specified, and make report on said

road on or before the first Monday in December.

December 3, 181 1, the reviewers reported on
the proposed road beginning at a tree marked
F. W. B., and running thence in a direction to-

ward Robert Griffin’s, and three of the review-
ers were- agreed as to the utility of said road,
viz.: James Ritchey, James Herron and James
Bell. “Said report should have been given in

to the board on the first Monday of September
last, but owing to James Bell, one of the view-
ers, being necessarily called away” (the view-
ers), “did not report on the day aforesaid; and
it appearing to the board that said road should
be granted from the viewers’ report,” it was
ordered “that said road should be opened a
necessary width, not exceeding sixty feet.”

December 4, i8li,the board directed Sam-
uel Thompson to procure a copper standard
measure for the county. December 4, 1811,

the viewers appointed to view a road on the
land of Matthew Chambers made their report,

and it was ordered that the said road be estab-

lished and the old road be vacated. Decem-
ber 17, 1 8 1 1 ,

an order was issued for the open-
ing of the road from a tree marked F. W. B.,

toward Robert Griffin’s, and delivered to George
Welch, the commissioner.

Early in 1812, a petition was presented pray-
ing to have a view on a road from Zanesville
to Stephen Reeve’s mill; whereupon Samuel
Thompson, Daniel Converse and Christian
Spangler were appointed viewers, and William
Craig surveyor, to view said road. It was
ordered that a road beginning at or near Jacob
Bower’s, and running past Robert Henderson’s
sawmill to its Intersection with the State road,

be opened a necessary width, not exceeding
sixty feet. The commissioners proceeded to

try the lines of the State road across Jonathan’s
creek, and viewed the best situation for a bridge
across said stream in accordance with a law
passed by the general assembly of the state

of Ohio, passed February 1, 1812. On the fol-

lowing day they established the site of the

bridge and designated it by a mark on a rock
about sixteen feet above a certain whiteoak
tree.

June 1, 1812, a petition was presented for a

road beginning at Jacob Livingood’s mill, and
running in a westerly direction to intersect

with the eastern Wakatomaka road at a point

between the lands of John Slack and William
McConnell. Robert McConnell, Lewis Cams
and Lemuel Joseph, were appointed viewers,

and William Craig surveyor of said road, to

meet on the first Monday in August at the

house of John Robinson. This petition was
presented by inhabitants of Zanesvilletownship.

June 1, 1812, a number of inhabitants of
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Madison township petitioned that a part of

said township be set off to form a new town-
ship to be named Clayton. Action was deferred
until Monday, August 8.

June r, 1812, John Houck was appointed
collector for Zanesville, Licking, Jefferson,

Salt Creek and Union townships, and James
Vickers for Springfield, Madison, Falls, New-
ton and Hopewell townships. June 3, 1812,

the commissioners ordered the road beginning
at David Harvey’s, and running thence to

Reeves’ sawmill, opened a proper width, not
exceeding sixty feet. On the same day Mr.
Dillon petitioned to have an alteration in a road
from Springfield by Jonas Smith’s to the west-
ern border of the county, said alteration to be-

gin and end on Dillon’s own land, and to be
made at Dillon’s expense, he offering to have
the road made on as good ground as before.

Joseph and William Sharp and William Ewing
were appointed viewers, and William Craig
surveyor, of said proposed alteration, to meet
at the house of John Dillon, June 8.

June 8, 1812, the board ordered that tavern
licenses throughout the county be as follows:

On the State road from Wheeling to Chilli-

cothe $8, except for taverns in Zanesville and
Springfield, in which towns the fee was fixed at

$12 and $10 respectively. Other taverns in the
county except in the towns and on the road
aforesaid, $5. It was ordered that the license

for ferries between Zanesville and Springfield

be at the rate of $18; John Mclntire, $12; the
upper ferry from Zanesville to Franklinton,

$6; from Licking to Zanesville, including both
sides of the creek, $4. The rates of ferriage

throughout the county were fixed as follows:

For a wagon and five or six horses, seventy-five
cents; for a wagon and three or four horses,

fifty cents; for a wagon and two horses, thirty-

seven and one-half cents; for a four-wheeled
carriage and team, thirty-seven and a half

cents; for a two-wheeled carriage and one
horse, twenty-five cents; for a man and horse,

twelve and one-half cents; for a mule or ass,

six and one-fourth cents; for neat cattle, six

and one-half cents each; for sheep and hogs,
each three cents; for foot passengers, each
three cents.

“Tuesday June 9, 1812, the commissioners
met pursuant to adjournment and proceeded to

assess the tax. Then Jacob Crooks presented
his bill from June the 1st, 1 8 1 1, to this day. Then
the treasurer, Benjamin Sloan, and the commis-
sioners proceeded to settle for the last year. John
Houck, collector, settled up with the treasurer,

leaving a balance unpaid of 5813. Benjamin Sloan,
treasurer, charged to receipts by John Houck,

$1400.96; likewise by Granger’s receipt $280.31,
to a list of license from the clerk, Stockton, from
November 21, 18 1 i,to June 9, 1812; to Abel Lewis’
clerk’s list from June 6, 1 8 1 1 ,

until Stockton
was chosen, $144.87 5; and Mr. Sloan credited
with county orders to the amount of $2231.46 5.

Commissioners and treasurer settled; then
adjourned to meet at court house on Wednes-
day, the 10th instant.” “The commissioners
met pursuant to adjournment and proceeded to

assess the tax. Mr. Perry produced the county
clerk’s bill against the sheriff, Crooks, and he
presented his account against the county for

the last year, and when both accounts were
adjusted there was balance allowed to Crook of

$104.20^. Then adjourned to meet on the
eleventh instant at the court house.” On the
day last mentioned, the commissioners pro-
ceeded to assess the tax. The county was, for

purposes of taxation, divided into two districts,

in one of which John Houck was assessor,

while James Vickers was assessor of the other.

The tax in Houck’s district amounted to

$777.70 5, and in Vicker’s district it amounted
to $353.76 5. June 1 1, 1812, the petition asking
for the incorporation of “ the Sixteenth town-
ship in the Fifteenth range” (in Madison town-
ship) as a separate township by the name of

Clayton was granted, and the first election in

the new township was ordered to be held Sep-
tember 3, at the house of James Rusk.

December 6, 1809, a petition was presented
signed by a number of inhabitants, praying
for the appointment of an election in Town-
ship 18 of Range 15 to elect three trustees

and one treasurer for the purpose of leasing,

agreeable to law, Section 16 in said town-
ship; whereupon the clerk was ordered to

notify the inhabitants to meet at the house ot

William Hambleton on the first Monday in

the following February, for the purpose men-
tioned. September 3, 181 1 ,

a petition of inhabi-

tants of the fractional Township 16 in Range
14 was presented and read, praying that notice
of an election be given in said township to

the electors to meet on Saturday, the 22nd
instant, at the house of William Burnham,
to elect three trustees and one treasurer for

said township. Granted. A similar petition

from inhabitants of Township 14, Range 14,

was also granted, the election to be held on
the date above mentioned, at the house of

John Willick. Early in 1812, an election was
appointed for the same purpose to be held
in Township 16, Range 15. June 11, 1812, it

was represented to the commissioners that the
inhabitants of the township last mentioned had
failed to hold an election, as notified to do,
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of three trustees and a treasurer to take into

their care the school land of said township, and
it was ordered that an election be held for said

purpose, at the house of James Rusk, Septem-
ber 3. August 3, 1812, Robert Mitchell gave
his bond to Benjamin Sloan, treasurer in the
amount of 82,679.38 4 as collector, of the resi-

dent tax.

Early in 1812, a petition was presented to

the board signed by a number of inhabitants of

the townships of Madison and Falls, praying
to have a new township to be known as Hope-
well township erected out of the territory of

the two townships mentioned. Although a

remonstrance was interposed, the commission-
ers granted the petition and ordained that the
first election for officers of Hopewell town-
ship should be held at the house of John Colvin.

September 8, 1812, the board took up the
viewers' report on a road beginning at Jacob
Livingood’s mill and running in a westerly
direction to intersect with the Wakatomaka
road between the lands of William McConnell
and John Slack, and ordered the road to be
opened. On the same day the petition of

Moses Dillon for the alteration of a road, as

above stated, was considered. A remonstrance
was presented by George Jackson, signed by a

number of the inhabitants of F’alls township,
against any such alteration, and the board re-

fused to grant Dillon’s petition, on the ground
that such action would be injurious to the in-

terests of several residents of Smith’s town.
Following is a copy of the sheriff's bond,

given in 1812: “Know all men by these pres-

ents, that we, John Raynolds, principal, and
John Hamm and Robert Mitchell, his secur-
ities, all of Muskingum county and state of

Ohio, are held and firmly bound unto John
Willey, Benjamin Spry and William H. Moore,
commissioners of said county, or their succes-
sors in office, in the sum of five thousand dol-

lars, to which payment, well and truly to be
made and performed, we bind ourselves and
each of our heirs, jointly and severally, by these
presents. Sealed, with our seals and dated this

thirty-first day of October, 1812. The condi-
tion of this obligation is such that if the above
bound John Raynolds shall well and faithfully

discharge the duties of the office of sheriff of
said county in all things appertaining there-
unto, according to the laws of this state, until

he from said office be lawfully discharged, then
this obligation to be void; otherwise to remain
in full force and virtue in law.’’ This document
was signed, sealed and delivered in the presence
of William Craig and J. Van Horne, by the
principals and securities above mentioned.

On the 7th of December, 1812, John C.
Stockton, clerk of the court of Common Pleas,

produced an account for his services and was
allowed 858.38. December 8, 1812, a petition
was presented, from inhabitants of Clayton
township, asking for a view on a road begin-
ning at or near the south boundary line of that
township, and running thence in a northeast
direction to an intersection with the “great
road” leading from Lancaster to Springfield, at

or near the house of Thomas Dolson. Thomas
Nesbit, William Hamilton and John Colvin
were appointed viewers, and William Craig sur-

veyor, of said proposed road.

December 15, 1812, the commissioners set-

tled with Robert Mitchell, resident collector,

and there was a balance in favor of the county
of 81,175.43 4, which Mr. Mitchell was to pay
over to the new resident collector and the
commissioners signed duplicate certificates,

one of which was transmitted to the non-resi-

dent collector and the other to the auditor of
public accounts. Then Jacob Crooks produced
his accounts to be adjusted and was allowed 845
for his services as sheriff; and the commission-
ers took into consideration what ought to be
allowed for returning poll books for the differ-

ent townships, and decided to allow eight cents
per mile and no more for returning all poll

books.
March 2, 1813, the commissioners ordered

the opening of a new road, to begin at the
Federal road in Section 29, Township 16, Range
15, and running thence through the lands of

Moses Godwin, George Shiner and others to an
intersection with the road from Zanesville to

Lancaster at a blackoak, about forty perches
west of Thomas Nelson’s, upon which viewers
had reported favorably. The order was to be
presented to the supervisor of Clayton town-
ship, March 17. March 3, 1813, Lemuel Joseph,
Peter Speck and another were appointed view-
ers, and William Craig surveyor, of a proposed
alteration, petitioned for by inhabitants of

Zanesville township, in a road beginning at

the end of John Robinson’s lane and running
in a westerly direction to an intersection with
the Wakatomaka road on or near the land of

John Slack, and were directed to meet at the

house of John Robinson on the first Monday in

June. June 8th this alteration was ordered
to be opened a necessary width, not exceed-
ing thirty feet. June 7, 1813, a petition was
presented from a number of inhabitants of

Clayton, Madison and Newton townships, ask-

ing for a laying out of a road to begin at

William Schofield’s mill, and running thence
in a southwesterly direction, the nearest and
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best way, to an intersection with the Federal
road at a small beach tree marked with an ax
in three places, said road traversing Section

13, Township 16. Thomas Nesbit, John E.

Dent and William Heath were appointed view-

ers and William Craig surveyor, of said pro-

posed road, to meet at the house of George
Clems, at Jonathan’s creek bridge, August 23.

On the same day James Sprague, Jacob Painter

and Philip Dreyer were appointed viewers, and
William Craig surveyor, of a proposed road,

petitioned for by residents of Jefferson town-
ship, to begin at Alexander Struthers’ mill and
run then in a northeast direction to intersect

the Coshocton county line, near the 6th
range, and authorized to meet at the house of

Alexander Struthers, Monday, August 9. Also
on this day, application was presented from
citizens of Jefferson township, for a view on a

road to begin at Struthers’ mill and run thence
in a northerly direction near the house of
Henry Freeman, at the county line, to inter-

sect a road laid out in Coshocton county.
Robert McConnell, James Adams and James
Sprague were appointed viewers, and William
Sprague surveyor, to meet at the house Alex-
ander Struthers, on Wednesday, August 11.

On this day also, a petition of inhabitants of
Springfield and Falls townships, praying for

the laying out of a road beginning at the west
end of Main street in Zanesville, and running
thence in a westerly direction to low-water
mark at the Muskingum river, thence across
the river to the island below the mouth of
Licking creek; thence southwest and north-
west across the two mouths of the Licking
creek, the one branch “to intersect on Main
street in West Zanesville,” the other to inter-

sect the public road on the south side of Lick-
ing creek. Samuel Sullivan, Arthur Reed and
Jacob Means were appointed viewers, and
Charles Roberts surveyor, to meet at Isaac
VanHorne’s office, June 14. June 8, 1813, the
road beginning at the end of John Robinson’s
lane and running thence eastwardly to an
intersection with the Wakatomaka road near
the land of John Slack, was established.

June 14, 1813, a petition was presented “by
the inhabitants of the fourteenth township,”
praying to be incorporated into a separate
township, to be called Harrison. The said
township, with the fractions on the river, were
so incorporated. June 15, 1813, the road from
the west end of Main street, Zanesville, above
mentioned, was ordered to be opened a neces-
sary width, not exceeding sixty feet. June 15,

1813, the commissioners regulated tavern and
ferry licenses as follows: hirst—The town of

4

Zanesville, in the matter of license for public

houses, to be at the rate of $12 per year. Sec-

ond—The town of Springfield to be at the rate

of $\o a year. Third—West Zanesville to be
at the rate of $10 a year. Fourth—All those
on the State road from Wheeling to Chilli-

cothe to be at the rate of $8 a year. Fifth—

-

All others throughout the county to be at the

rate of $5 a year. Sixth—Ferries and rates of

ferries the same as last year.

June 15, 1813, the board ordered that the

sheriff have necessary repairs put on the jail.

September 6, 1813, inhabitants of Newton
township petitioned for the opening of a road
from John Matthews’ mill to an intersection

with the road leading from Springfield to

Athens, at or near the land of Jesse Simeral,

and a view was granted, and John Springer,

Samuel Stoner and James Vickers were ap-
pointed viewers, and William Craig surveyor,

to meet at John Matthews’ mill September 15.

On the same day inhabitants of Licking town-
ship petitioned for a view on a road “beginning
at a run near Leonard Stump’s, on the Newark
road, and running thence northeasterly past

Samuel Gest’s, thence to intersect the State

road leading from Zanesville to Coshocton, at

or near John Taylor’s, Sr.” Viewers were ap-

pointed, one of whom was John Fleming, to

meet with William Craig, surveyor, at the house
of Leonard Stump, October 5. On the same
day petitions were presented by inhabitants of

Madison and Springfield townships for views
of roads described as follows, respectively:

“Beginning at the east side of Section No. 33,

where Clayton’s road crosses said line, thence
on direct route to intersect the State road, and
thence a direct route to Hendrick’s mills.”

“An alteration on a road beginning at Moxa-
hala mill, thence to intersect the State road at

a’point between Andrew McBride’s and Abra-
ham Deever’s.” Of the first road, Andrew
Cooks, James Claypool and Moses Plummer
were appointed viewers, and Lewis Nye was ap-

pointed surveyor, to meet at the house of

Nathan Hall October 15; and of the alteration

John Goshen, Daniel Stickney and Jesse Smith
were appointed viewers, and William Craig was
appointed surveyor, to . meet at the house of

John Mathews, October 15.

September 7, 1813, it was ordered that the

road from Scofield’s mill to the Federal road
be legally opened; also the road from Struther’s

mill to the Coshocton county line. December
6, 1813, inhabitants of Hopewell township asked
for a view on a road to begin “where a road
crosses Clayton township line, and running
thence toward Nathan Wilson’s. Thomas Nes-
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bit, John Springer and Mr. Moore were ap-

pointed viewers, and William Craig, surveyor,

to meet at the house of Conrad Emery, Feb-
ruary I, 1814. Inhabitants of Zanesville and
Jefferson townships petitioned for a view on a

road to begin at a point between John Slack’s

and William McConnell’s, from thence running
past Henry Wilson’s, William Denison’s, Jacob
Snizar’s and William Srayer’s, thence in a north-

east direction, over the most advantageous
ground to the county line. William Denison,

Jacob. Painter and another were appointed
viewers, and WilliamCraig, surveyor, to meet at

the house of John Slack on the first Monday in

February. It appearing that the road previously

mentioned, beginning at a run near Leonard
Stump’s, had not been legally advertised in

Jefferson township, proceedings concerning it

were stopped. The road proposed to begin at

John Matthews’ mill, and run to an intersection

with the State road near Abraham Dever’s was
set aside by order of the commissioners. De-
cember 7, 1813, inhabitants of Zanesville and
Salt Creek townships asked for a view on a

road to begin at old Mr. Alwine’s, running
thence down the river to the Washington
county line; and Thomas Dew, Thomas Moore-
head and Nathaniel Ayers were appointed
viewers, and William Craig surveyor, to meet
at Mr. Alwine’s house, December 27. The
matter of tbe road from Matthews’ mill, up
Brush creek to the State road, was re-opened,

and Ebenezer Buckingham, Luke Walpole,
Samuel Thompson, Daniel Converse and James
Taylor were appointed viewers, to meet at the

house of John Matthews, December 17.

December 8, 1813, the commissioners sold

the old court-house stove for $16.25. Samuel
Goff was the purchaser.

December 8, 1813, Blue Rock township was
erected from the territory of Salt creek.

March 7, 1814, inhabitantsof Zanesvilletown-
ship petitioned for a view on a road to begin at

Flat run, on the Muskingum river, running
thence to William Fletcher’s lane, thence north-

east to an intersection with the Reeves Mill

road. Richard Brookover, William Courtney
and Christopher Myers were appointed viewers,

and William Craig surveyor, to meet at the

house of Richard Brookover, March 28, 1814.

Inhabitants of Salt creek asked for the laying

out of a road, as follows: “Beginning at a

smith shop, a few rods east of John Chandler’s,

thence an east direction past John and Thomas
Sarchet’s salt furnace, thence taking the point

of a ridge and keeping said ridge where the

road is new. cut out past Thomas Elliott’s, and
keeping said ridge past the Methodist meeting-

house, and past Thomas Curry’s, until it inter-

sects the road leading to the Salt works from
Cambridge.” Stephen Reeves, Johnston Brew-
ster and Levi Reeves were appointed viewers,
and William Craig surveyor, to meet at the
house of John Chandler, April 12. Inhabitants
of Hopewell township asked for a view on a
road to begin at Nathan Wilson’s, on the State
road, thence crossing Licking creek, at Sidler’s
ford, thence past Devore’s mill, thence to a

bridge between Bland’s and Woodward’s, thence
to the Stone Coal lick, to an intersection with
the State road from Zanesville to Coshocton,
between John Taylor’s and John Taylor’s, Jr.

John Bland, R. Welch and Edward Tanner were
appointed viewers, and William Craig sur-

veyor,to meet at the house of John Sidle, April
4. Inhabitants of Licking and Jefferson town-
ships petitioned for the appointment of viewers
on a proposed road to begin at Leonard
Stump’s, and run thence to Samuel Guest’s,
thence to John Taylor’s. Elias Ellis, Solomon
Wood and Edmund Hoffman were appointed
viewers, and William Craig surveyor, to meet
at the house of Leonard Stump, April 1.

March 7, 1814,“ a number of inhabitants
of the northeastern division of Muskingum
county,” petitioned that “ the 5th and 6th
range, thence south to the line that divides the
1st and 2nd townships, east to the county
line, thence north to the place of beginning,”
be incorporated with a new township to be
called Highland. This petition was granted
the following day, and the first township elec-

tion in Highland was appointed to be held at

the house of William Denison, on the first

Monday in April.

March 8, 1814, a petition was presented by
inhabitants of Zanesville and Springfield town-
ships praying for a view on a road to begin “at

the west end of Main Street, Zanesville, run-

ning thence to the island in the mouth of Lick-
ing, thence across both mouths until it inter-

sects the out roads on each side of Licking.”

Joseph Thorp, John Springer and Henry Gray
were appointed viewers, and Charles Roberts
surveyor, to meet at the house of Thomas
Wickham, April 10. On the same day occurred
the second reading of the reports on three of

the roads previously mentioned, and they were
ordered to be opened a necessary distance, not
exceeding sixty feet. William and Robert
McConnell brought in a bill for damages on
account of a road recently cut through their

land. This road began at a bridge between
lands of John Slack and William McConnell,
and ran thence northeast to the county line to

intersect the Coshocton county road near the
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mouth of White Eyes creek. Thomas Dew,
George W. Gibbons, Lewis Burns, Lemuel
Joseph and John Gardner, were instructed to

meet at the house of John Slack to appraise

the damage and to “ run another route,” begin-

ning at the end of John Robinson’s land, and
running thence to the two mile tree, near Henry
Wilson’s, and establish the same if they should
think proper.

As the assembly at its last session had left

it optional with the commissioners of the dif-

ferent counties to levy a tax on houses, it was
ordered by the commissioners of Muskingum
county, that all houses in the different town-
ships throughout the county be made subject

to taxation for the year 1814.

June 6, 1814, a number of the inhabitants of

Newton, Madison, Harrison and Clayton town-
ships petitioned that a road be laid out begin-

ning at Isaac Norris’s, running thence west to

a point somewhere near William Norris’, thence
to Andrew Crooks’, at the bridge across Jona-
than’s creek. John Gardner, John Spear and
John Porter were appointed viewers, to meet at

the house of Isaac Norris on the last Monday
in August.

June 7, 1814 the commissioners went down
to the Muskingum river to fix the most proper
place in the dam to be built by John Mclntire
and associates for the slope to facilitate navi-

gation.

June 7, 1814, the following roads were estab-

lished: a road beginning at John Chambers’
blacksmith shop, running thence in an easterly

direction along the ridge past the Methodist
meeting-house to intersect the Cambridge road;
a road beginning at Nathan Wilsons’, and run-

ning thence northerly to intersect the “Tom-
aka ” road at John Taylor’s, Jr.; a road begin-
ning at Leonard Stump’s and running in a north-
east direction to an intersection with the
Tomaka road at John Taylor’s; a road begin-
ning at John Robinson’s lane, and running
thence to the two-mile tree. The road to

begin at the west end of Main Street, Zanes-
ville, previously mentioned, was set aside for

the reason that the said road was previously
established under authority of an act of the
legislature of Ohio, which gave Moses Dillon
and his associates a grant to build a bridge
across the Muskingum river; in pursuance of
which said parties applied to the court of
common Pleas “ for appraisers to view and
value said damage done to the land at the
bridging place, which had been done and
entered upon the record of said court, by order
of the same. And in consequence of the di-

vision of the commissioners, Dillon and asso-

ciates gave notice of an appeal from the
decision of the court of Common Pleas at its

next session.

June 8, 1814, tavern licenses were fixed as

follows: In the town of Zanesville, $12; in the

town of Springfield, $10; in the town of West
Zanesville, $10; on the road from Wheeling to

Chillicothe, $8; on all other roads throughout
the county, $6 . The ferry licenses were rated

thus: From Zanesville to Springfield, $12; the

upper ferry from Zanesville to Franklinton, $6;

all others, $2 per annum.
The ferry charges were regulated thus: For

a wagon and five or six horses, seventy-five

cents; a wagon and three or four horses, fifty

cents; a wagon and two horses, thirty-seven

and a half cents; a wagon and one horse,

twenty-five cents; a man and horse, twelve and
a half cents; a horse, mule or ass, six and a

quarter cents; neat cattle, each six and a quar-
ter cents; sheep and hogs, each three cents;

foot passengers, each three cents.

June 8, 1814, a petition presented by Porter

Sawyer and John Mclntire for an alteration in

a road was set aside.

June 8, 1814, the commissioners fixed the

slope of the new dam across the Muskingum
river. It was “ordered that the side of the
slope shall begin one-third of the length of the
dam from the abutment on the east side of the
river.’’ June 10, 1814, a petition was presented
to the county board by a number of the inhabit-

ants of Zanesville, askingthe privilege of build-

ing a market house on the public square. At
the same time a remonstrance against the
granting of this prayer was presented, and not
being taken into consideration, the petition was
rejected, as there was a large majority against it.

September 5, 1814, upon petition of John
Van Vorhis for an alteration of the Newark
road on his own land, beginning about eight

perches west of John Hood’s bridge, thence
west 120 perches until it should intersect said

road, David Vandebark, Leonard Stump and
Joseph Thorp, were appointed viewers, and
Jonathan Wood surveyor, of said proposed
alteration, to meet at the house of John Van
Vorhis on the first Saturday in October. A
petition from inhabitants of Zanesville town-
ship asked for a road beginning at the east

end of Market street, Zanesville, and running
thence south and about eighty degrees east

until it should intersect the Wheeling road, on
the rising ground nearly opposite Willis Si 1

1

i-

man’s barn. John Spear and Levi Chapman
were appointed viewers, and Charles Roberts
surveyor, to meet on the ground the last Sat-

urday in September. Other inhabitants of
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Zanesville petitioned for a view on a road to

begin at the Muskingum river, at Jeffrey Price’s

farm, running thence to said Price’s gate, thence
to Spencer Lehne’s mill, thence northeasterly
to an intersection with the “Tomaka” road,

where Mr. Fulkerson’s and Mr. Houck’s line

began on the same. Robert McConnell, John
Gardner and John Slack were appointed viewers,

and William Craig surveyor, to meet at John
Lehne’s on the first Friday in October. On
the next day, a petition was presented by
inhabitants of Zanesville township, for an
alteration of a road “ beginning at the south
end and passing through Porter Sawyer’s lane,”

so as to intersect the Marietta road at the east

corner of James McGuire’s field. John Kipler,

Lemuel Joseph and Lewis Cams were appointed
viewers, and William Craig surveyor, to meet
the last Saturday in October. The commis-
sioners authorized the opening of the road
beginning at the farm of Isaac Norris and
extending to the bridge on Jonathan’s creek.

December 5, 1814, inhabitants of Jefferson
and Highland townships petitioned for a view
on a road to begin on the county line adjoin-

ing Patrick Miller’s land, running thence north
of and near the salt works, through the 1st

section of the 3d township in the 7th range, so
as to cross the Muskingum river at the afore-

said salt works, and running by Philip Sroyer’s

land further until it should strike the county
line in Section No. 21, Township No. 2, Range
No. 5. Daniel Stillwell, James Sprague and
Peter Reasoner were appointed viewers, and
Charles Roberts surveyor, to meet at the salt

works on the last Monday in December. The
next day the board took up the viewer’s report

on the road previously mentioned to begin at

the east end of Market street, Zanesville; and
a petition was presented by John Mclntire, set-

ting forth that, if the above reportshould be con-
firmed, he would suffer heavy damage. Thomas
Nesbit, William McConnell, John Moore, Wil-
liam Plwings and Simeon Sims were appointed
reviewers on said road, to appraise the damages
that might be sustained by Mr. Mclntire, pro-

vided the road should be established, and they
were further authorized to view other ground,
with a view to changing the course of the road
if they should think expedient. June 6, 1814,

the committee appointed to assess the damage
to the McConnells on the road beginning at a

bridge near John Slack’s on the “Tomaka”
road, and running thence as previously
described, reported the damage to be $400;
but stated that, as the law permitted, they had
found another route, beginning at the end of

John Robinson’s lane and running thence to

the two-mile tree, the adoption of which would
involve no damage to the petitioners.

December 6, 1814, the aforementioned road
beginning at Jeffrey Price’s farm and passing
Spencer Lehne’smill and running as described,
was established and ordered to be opened, sixty
feet wide. The viewer’s report was presented
for an alteration of a road beginning and end-
ing on the land of John Van Vorhis, about eight
perches south of Jonathan Wood’s bridge, on
the Newark road, thence west 120 perches to

intersect the said road, and the next day it was
ordered that the road be established and
opened. The viewer’s report was presented on
a road to begin at the end of Porter Sawyer’s
lane, running thence north sixteen perches,
west twenty-two perches and the establishment
of said road was ordered.

December 7, 1814, John Mclntire, Robert
Fulton and Joseph Converse appeared before
theboard,andsolicited remuneration formoneys
advanced by them and their associates for

building the court-house, etc., and after con-
suming considerable time in examining the
nature of the claims, the board ordered that

the clerk issue, in the name of John McIntyre,
an order on the treasurer of the county for

the sum of $800, December 31, John Mclntire
produced an account against the county for

coal grates for the court-house. After some
investigation of papers in the office, the com-
missioners could find no evidence that the
debt had been paid, but deferred action until

investigation could be made.
March 6, 1815, a petition was presented to

the board asking that a road (which was sub-
sequently opened) be laid out, to begin at the
New Milford lane, in Harrison township, to

intersect the county road at the upper end of

Jacob Baher’s lane, near the new bridge at

Jonathan’s creek. James Jeffries, John Thomp-
son and George Matthews were appointed
viewers, and Benjamin Beckwith surveyor, to

meet at Milford, April 14. A review was asked
for on part of the road leading from Newark
to Springfield (or Putnam), beginning at the
Muskingum and Licking county line. Conrad
Emery, Adam Miller and Thomas Nesbit were
appointed viewers, and Mr. Richards surveyor,

to meet at the house of Adam Smith on the
first Tuesday in March, and the change was
duly made. A county road was asked for (and
subsequently opened) from Irville, in Licking
township, northwest, to the county line near

James Thrap’s, in Licking county. John Sidle,

Edward Rogers and Joseph Thrap were ap-

pointed viewers, and Jonathan Wood surveyor,

to meet at Irville, March 18. A petition was
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presented for a view on a road (later laid out)

to begin at a beech tree, near John Roberts’, on
the Newark road, in Falls township, running
thence to intersect the Zanesville and Newark
road, near Henry Turner’s, thence on a north
line, between Beal Owings and James Welch,
to intersect Sidle’s new road. Jonathan Wood,
David Vanderburg and Edward Rogers were
appointed viewers, and John Roberts surveyor,

to meet at John Roberts’, March 25. A public

road (afterward opened) was asked for, “to

begin at the upper end of the county road,

between Moses Plummer’s stables and Squire
Noak’s fence, running thence to intersect the
Federal road at a path leading to Cusac’s,

thence along the Federal road as far as practi-

cable, and by the nearest course to the county
line at the southwest corner of Section 34,

Township 16, Range 15, Samuel Thrall’s south-
west corner. James Rusk, Thomas Wilson and
John Rodman were appointed viewers, and
Charles Roberts surveyor, to meet at the house
of Andrew Cusac, April 1. A public road
(which was afterward opened) was petitioned
for, beginningon the Guernsey and Muskingum
county line, below the breast of J udge Findlay’s
mill dam on Crooked creek, running thence
along the present township road, past Thomas
Spear’s house to near the west boundary of
the southwest quarter of Section 1, Township 1,

Range 5, thence to a point on the dividing ridge
between the waters of White Eyes creek on the
north, and Salt and Crooked creeks on the
south, thence along the ridge to Mr. Shrayer’s,
thence to the Muskingum, to cross at the
Wills Creek salt works, and continue to the
county line. This petition was presented by
inhabitants of Jefferson township. James
McMichael, Charles Roberts and Peter D. Rea-
soner were appointed viewers, and Charles
Roberts surveyor, to meet March 13, at Find-
lay’s mill. A road was petitioned for to begin
at the road leading from the salt works to

Cambridge, near the head of Fox creek, and
running thence southwesterly to the road lead-
ing from the Wakatomaka road to Jacob
Levingood’s mill, at or near where John
Levingood’s mill path intersected the same,
thence across the said road to the Wakatomaka
road near its intersection with the Wheeling
road. James Cummins, William McDonnell
and John Gardner were appointed viewers,
and Charles Roberts surveyor, to meet at the
house of Daniel Geer, March 17. The report
was unfavorable.

March 7, 1815, a petition was presented for
an alteration on the Wheeling road to begin
just west of the Three-mile spring and run

through the land of John Spear, south of the
present road, to intersect the Wheeling road
near the intersection of the Wheeling and
Wakatomaka road. Joseph Smith, Jonah Ful-

kerson and Frederick Houck were appointed
viewers, and Charles Roberts surveyor, to meet
at the house of John Spear March 11, and the

alteration was subsequently made. A petition

was presented for a road (afterward opened)
to begin at the east end of Ralph Hardesty’s
lane, to run thence to Thomas Cobeau’s lane,

thence to intersect the Marietta road at Cap-
tain Chandler’s old blacksmith shop. Abraham
Warner, James Brown and George Fay were
appointed viewers, and John Moore surveyor,
to meet at the house of Ralph Hardesty March
14. A road (later laid out) was asked for, to

begin at a whiteoak tree on the State road in

Union township, between Ralph Hardesty’s
and Frederick Henderson’s, and running thence
by Thomas Calhoun’s, Barnet Vandwork’s, and
Samuel McCutcheon’s to Johnstone’s road,

thence southwesterly on said road to the first

run west of Johnstone’s, thence to Chandler’s
salt well, thence on Chandler’s section line to

intersect the Marietta road in Salt Creek town-
ship. Abraham Warner, James Brown and
George Fay were appointed viewers, and John
Moore surveyor, to meet at Ralph Hardesty’s
March 14, at which place and time they were
to view another road, mentioned previously.

A petitiom was presented praying for the
establishment of a road to begin at the town
of Putnam, and thence passing James Mc-
Adoo’s, thepce along the ridge between Lick-
ing and Jonathan creeks, to intersect a road
leading from Licking furnace to Newark at

or near Nathan Wilson’s. John Matthews.
Adam Frantz and Jacob Rees were appointed
viewers, and Levi Whipple surveyor, to meet
at the house of Winthrop Robertson, in Put-

nam, March 31. William Ewing, John Moore
and William McConnell reported that they
met at the market house in Zanesville, De-
cember 26, 1814, agreeable to the order of the
commissioners, and viewed the road beginning
at the east end of Market street, in Zanesville,

and running thence through John Mclntire’s
meadow easterly to a white oak tree, near the
Wheeling road, opposite Willis Silliman’s

barn, and that they agreed that the damage
done John Mclntire in consequence of this

road going through his meadow was $100.
A petition was presented asking for an altera-

tion in a road through David Lewis’ land, from
Spencer Lehne’s mill to the “Tomaka” road.

John Spear, Spencer Lehne and Frederick
Howe were appointed viewers and William
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Craig surveyor, to meet at Lehne’s mill,

March 27.

March 8, 1815, a petition from a number
of the inhabitants of Salt Creek township was
presented, praying that the original surveyed
Township 13, Range 12, be erected into a town-
ship to be called Salt Creek; and that part

of the surveyed Township 11 and 1 2, Range
12, lying east of the Muskingum river, be
added to Blue Rock township. Other inhabi-

tants of Salt Creek petitioned for the incor-

poration of the 13th surveyed township, nth
range and the 12th surveyed township, and
that part of the nth surveyed township in

said Range included in Muskingum county,
into a township to be called Rich Hill. The
board ordered the establishment of these two
townships.

March 14, 1815, John Mclntire entered into

bonds to prosecute the trial of a road leading
from the east end of Market street, Zanesville,

to a whiteoak tree opposite to Silliman’s barn.

June 15, 1815, the commissioners were peti-

tioned to lay out a road (afterward opened)
from the State road, from the bridge across

Jonathan’s creek, thence to pass near Jacob
Martin’s mill, to the Muskingum and Licking
county line, in Adam Smith’s land, at or near
the road from Newark to Putnam. John Dent,
George Dealt and George Morgan were ap-
pointed viewers, and Charles Roberts surveyor,
to meet at Andrew Crooks’ tavern June 21.

June 5, 1815, a second petition for the road
from Putnam to the Newark and at or near
Nathan Wilson’s was presented,

^
and John

Springer, Thomas Nesbit and William Bonne-
field were appointed viewers, and Charles
Roberts surveyor, to meet in 1 utnam, June 5.

A petition was presented June 5, 1815, fora
view on a proposed county road (later opened)
to begin at Sidles’ new road, at the bridge be-

tween Bland’s and Porter’s, and run thence to

Bland’s, thence to the falls of the Licking. Llenry
Dick, George Welch and Thomas Williams
were appointed viewers and Charles Roberts
surveyor, to meet at John Bland’s June 16.

The laying out of a road (afterward opened)
was petitioned for to begin at the county road
at Nathan Wilson’s, and run thence north-
westerly on or near the dividing ridge, between
the waters of Licking and Jonathan’s creeks
to the county line to intersect a road in

Licking county opposite the premises of Sam-
uel Henslee. Thomas Nesbit, John Springer
andWilliam Bonnefield were appointed viewers,
and Charles Roberts surveyor, to meet at Na-
than Wilson’s June 20. On the same day a peti-

tion was presented preliminary to the laying

out of a road beginning at the place where
the Jefferson and Zanesville township line

crosses the State road from Zanesville to

Coshocton, and running to an intersection

with the county road from the Newark road
to Griffin’s, at Wakatomaka creek. Aman
Butler, Phijah Stradler and Isaac Kelly were
appointed viewers, and John Whaller surveyor,
to meet at the place above mentioned at the
beginning of the road on the third Saturday in

August.
June 6, 1815, Charles Marquand asked the

commissioners to fix the dimensions of a lock,

or slope, on a mill dam to be erected on the
northwest quarter of the 5th section, 3rd town-
ship, 5th range, on Wills creek; and the com-
missioners ordained that said slope should be
built in such part of the dam as should best ac-

commodate the navigation of the stream, that

it should be twenty-five feet in width and ex-
tend down the stream a distance proportionate
to the height of the dam, so that there should
not be more than one inch fall in every foot in

length of the slope, the mouth of which should
be sunk two feet below the average height of

the dam, and that the slope should at all times
be provided with pulleys, catches and other
necessary appliances for the purpose of facili-

tating the passage of boats, rafts and other
water crafts up and down the stream.

June 6, 1815, a petition was presented for

the opening of a road to begin at the “mouth”
of a lane near the east bank of the Muskingum
river, a little more than two miles south from
the town of Zanesville, where two sugartrees

are standing on the land of Michael Peters,

thence east between the lands of Thomas Dew
and Samuel F'razieiqthenceeastto Frazier’s grist-

mill thence to the line between the lands of

Thomas Dew and Daniel McLean, thence east

to intersect the land of Samuel Herrick, a little

south ofthe northwest corner ofthe same, thence
east through Herrick’s land, past a cabin occu-

pied by one Wilson, thence easterly to the cabin

of Walter Lindsey, thence easterly to intersect

the county road leading from the Marietta road
to Reeves’ grist mill, between the four-and-

five-mile trees on said road to a whiteoak tree

marked T. D. Joseph Smith, William McCon-
nel and John Robinson were appointed viewers,

and Charles Roberts surveyor, to meet “at the

river where the road begins,” on the third Sat-

urday in August. On the same day a petition

was presented, by Henry Wilson, praying that

an alteration be made in the public road run-

ning through his land, beginning at the five-

mile tree and running northwestwardly to

intersect the aforesaid road at or near a large
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redoak. Robert McConnell, Jacob Bowers
and John Slack viewers, and William Craig
surveyor, to meet at the house of the petitioner

on the fourth Tuesday in June.

June 6, 1815, a petition was presented to

the commissioners by a number of the inhab-

itants of Licking township, praying that said

township be divided according to the following

boundaries: “Beginning at the county line at

the southwest corner of the 3rd section, thence
east to the section line line that divides the 8th

range, thence with the said line north five miles

to the county line, thence west with the county
line to the northwest corner of the county,

thence with the county line south to the place

of beginning.” It was ordered that these bound-
aries be set off in a new township and be called

Jackson township, and that the first election

in and for the said township be held on the

last Saturday in July, at the house of Thomas
Blizzard.

June 6, 1815, at the instance of John Chand-
ler, road commissioner, appointed by the

general assembly to superintend the building

of a bridge on the Marietta road over Salt

creek, Commissioners William Moore and Wil-
liam Hunter viewed the plan of said bridge
and inspected its proposed sites and rendered
an opinion that the most suitable place for the

bridge was from a point on the east side of the
creek, a short distance below where the road
then crossed, marked by cuttings on some
trees—said to be the ground on which the road
was originally laid out.

June 7, 1815, an alteration of a road begin-
ing at Lehu’s mill was ordered. On this day
the viewers’ report on the road from Irville to

the county line near James Thrap’s was taken
up by the board. A remonstrance was handed
in signed by a number of inhabitants praying
that a review might be granted on this road.
Capt. James Taylor, Samuel Hanslee, Mar-
tin Rodebaugh; Edward Tanner and William
Bonnefield were appointed reviewers, to meet
at Johnston’s tavern, in Irville, June 27.

June 7, 1815, the commissioners established
tavern licenses throughout the county as fol-

lows : In the town of Zanesville, #13; in the
town of Putnam, $11; in the town of West
Zanesville, $11; on the road from Chillicothe to

Wheeling, $9.50; on the Post road from Zane-
ville to Newark, $8; at' Dillon’s furnace, $10;
on all other roads throughout the county, $6.

At the same time ferry licenses were rated as

follows : From Zanesville to Putnam, $10; from
the upper ferry at Zanesville to West Zanesville,

$8; all other ferries now established or hereafter
to be established, $2 . Ferriage was regulated
thus : For a wagon with five or six horses,

seventy-five cents; for a wagon with three or
four horses, fifty cents; for a wagon with
two horses, thirty-seven and one-half cents;

for a wagon and one horse, twenty-five cents;

for a man and a horse, twelve and one-half
cents; for horse, mule or ass, six and one-
fourth cents; for neat cattle, each six and one-
half cents; for sheep and hogs, each three
cents; for a foot passenger three cents.

©hapfep V.

FURTHER PROCEEDINGS OF THE BOARD—OFFICIAL LISTS. ETC.

I

T is not intended in this chapter to give a
history of the courts and public buildings
of Muskingum county. They are of such

importance as to demand independent treat-

ment. The design is to continue in these
pages the record of important proceedings of
the county board through the earlier years of
the county’s history, and in doing so any men-
tion hereof courts and public buildings may be
deemed as merely incidental.

The first court in Muskingum county was

held in the tavern of David Harvey, on the
southwest corner of Third and Main streets, in

Zanesville. Subsequently court was held in a

two-story log house on the west side of Sixth
street, about 100 feet south of Main street.

James Herron was the owner of this building.
In 1808 the first court house, sheriff’s house and
jail were built. The court house was a frame
structure, two stories high, 20 by 55 feet; the
jail was two stories high, built of hewed logs,

squared and lined on thq inside with three-
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inch planks. The lower story was for the im-
prisonment of criminals, the upper for debtors,
The two buildings, court house and jail, were
under one roof. The following entries relative

to these buildings are found on the records of

the commissioners:
“January 25, 1808, the commissioners met

agreeable to adjournment. Present, William
Newell and Jacob Gomber. The board pro-
ceeded according to resolution (the same be-

ing advertised according to law) to sell

the necessary materials and the workmanship
thereof (William Reynolds auctioneer) for the
completion of the temporary court house and
gaol of this county, the same being purchased
by Henry Ford for the sum of $480. The
board then adjourned until to-morrowmorning.”
“January 26th the board met agreeable to ad-
journment and William Newell and Jacob Gom-
ber were present. Henry Ford gave his bond,
with Increase Matthews, Peter Speck and John
Seavens as sureties “for the faithful perfor-

mance and execution of the completion of the
temporary court house and gaol (a schedule of

the particulars being thereunto attached) and
the same, being received by the board, was filed

accordingly.” The board immmediatly gave
their bond in behalf of the county in favor of

said Ford “for the full payment for his services

after the same being by them received, by an
order on the county treasurer for the amount
thereof.” December 7, 1808, Henry Ford pre-

sented his account for finishing the court house
and jail. It was ordered that when, in the opinion
of William Newell, the said work should be
finished, agreeable to contract, the clerk give
orders on the treasurer for the balance due
Ford, the work, so far as it had been done,
having met with the approbation of the commis-
sioners. An idea of the close economy ob-
served in those days may be gleaned from the
fact that only two of the commissioners, Henry
Newell and Jacob Gomber, assented to the let-

ting of the contract to Ford at $480, the other
refusing to sign because he thought the price
extravagant, yet court house, sheriff’s house,
jail and debtor’s prison cost only a trifle over
$100 each. March 6, 1809, a committee from
the town of Zanesville appeared before the
county board and offered to loan the county
money sufficient to build a brick court house on
the public ground in said town. March 8, the
commissioners having taken into consideration
“the proposals made by a number of the inhab-
itants of the town of Zanesville” for erecting a
court house in said town, agreed and consented
to the erection of said building on the follow-

ing conditions: “The money which may be

loaned the county by individuals for the afore-

said use shall not draw interest until the build-

ing is finished entirely. Also that no money
shall be drawn from the county treasury to go
toward the payment of either principal or in-

terest so loaned, until all other demands which
are against the county are discharged, and also

all ordinary expenses of said county which may
accrue from time to time are paid. The surplus

revenue of said county may be applied to the
discharge of said loan, but the county is never
to be sued for the payment thereof; and fur-

ther, within three months after the contract is

signed for the erection of said building, there

shall be paid to the undertaker $1,000, and af-

terwards $1,000 shall be paid quarter-yearly

until $6,000 shall have been paid, and the res-

idue, if any, for the completion of said build-

ing shall be paid within six months thereafter,

provided the building shall progress so fast as

to justify such payments, which shall be judged
of by the commissioners. The house is to be
built of brick,

5
to be fifty feet square, or to

contain 2,500 square feet, and thirty feet high
from the ground floor, said house to be finished

by the first day of November, one thousand
eight hundred and ten. No money is to be ap-

propriated, and no subsequent contracts are to

be entered into by the commissioners, until the

money so loaned,together with the interest there-

on, is paid, except for the payment for the dig-

ging of a well on the public ground and procur-

ing stonesforthe gaol.” William Newell entered

his protest against the foregoing proceedings,

as, in his opinion, the commissioners had no
right, by law, to loan money or to pledge the

faith of the county for the payment of such
loan. The following is a copy of a bond for

the payment of money loaned under the above
provisions for the erection of the building

mentioned:
“Know all men by these presents that we,

John Mclntire, Jeffery Price, Robert Taylor,

William Raynolds, Joseph F. Munro, Wyllys
Silliman, Daniel Converse, Robert Fulton, are

held and firmly bound unto Jacob Gomber,
Daniel Stillwell and William Newell, commis-
sioners of Muskingum county in the sum of

$16,000, for the payment of which we bind our,

and each of our, heirs, executors and adminis-

trators. The condition of this bond is this,

that, whereas the commissioners of Muskingum
county have agreed to build a court house on
condition that the sum of money necessary

to build the same should be advanced by
the inhabitants of said county, now, if the

said sum necessary for building shall be paid

the said commissioners agreeably to the con-'
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tract to be entered into by the commissioners
for building said house, then this obligation to

be void, else to remain in full force.” This
document was signed and sealed in the pres-

ence of Hugh Hazlett and John Van Horn by
John Mclntire, Jeffery Price, Robert Taylor,

William Raynolds, Joseph F. Munro, Wyllys
Silliman, Daniel Converse and Robert Fulton.

It was ordered by the board that the build-

ing of the court house be sold to the lowest
bidder on the first Monday in April following,

and the digging of the well was likewise pro-

vided for.

The plan of the court house was adopted
March 31, 1809, and ordered to be copied and
prepared for the examination of any person
calling for the same. April 10, 1809, the day
advertised for the letting of the building of the
court-house, the plan and necessary require-

ments were made public. William Raynolds
was appointed crier, and the contract was let

to Joseph F. Munro, Daniel Converse, John
Williamson and James Hampson for $7,550.
William Newell was appointed to approve of

the sufficiency of the security to be given by
these persons for the erection of said building.
It was ordered that the court-house be located
fifty feet back from the main street, and in the
center between the alley and east end of the
lot. Jacob Crooks bid off the digging and
stoning of the well at $100. “Requisitions
and restrictions for building the court-house in

Zanesville: 1st. The foundation of said build-
ing to be laid with good and sufficient stone,
to be sunk eighteen inches underground, and
raised one foot above the level of the surface
of the earth, which walls are to be laid thirty-

six inches thick. Thence (except in the back
or north end of said building) the walls to be
raised three tiers high with cut stone of the
following dimensions, viz.: The first or lower
tier to raise one foot, the second tier to raise

eleven inches, and the third tier to raise ten
inches. The wall from the bottom of the cut
stone to the top of the same to be laid thirty-

three inches thick; the back or north end of
said wall to be laid the same height and thick-
ness as last described, with suitable stone, but
not cut, All of which stone is to be laid in

good lime mortar, and in the best, substantial,
workmanlike manner. From the top of the
cut stone the walls of said building arc to be
raised with good and sufficient brick, thirty-one
feet high. In the lower or ground story the
brick walls are to be laid twenty-two inches
thick, and raised eighteen feet high; the walls
of the upper story to be eighteen inches thick,

and raised twelve feet above the top of the

1

chamber joists. There is to be a tier of cut

stone dividing the stories as exhibited on the

plan. 2nd. The window frames are to be beveled
frames, made of the solid of black walnut or

yellow poplar timber, to be wrought out in a

proper manner to receive weights for hanging
the windows, and rabbited to receive shutters

on the outside; the window sills to be of cut

stone of a size corresponding with the caps.

3rd. The cornice to have a cove under the

plancher, and eyed lintels exactly proportioned
to the height of the building. 4th. The
outside doors and the windows back of the

judge’s seat to be done agreeably to the plans.

5th. The roof, to be of the best of timber, and
a sufficient quantity and size, and framed in the

best possible manner for the support of the cu-

pola, which roof and cupola are to be sufficiently

bound with iron wherever necessary. The said

roof to be sheeted with boards of a suitable

thickness, and of oak. The shingles to be
made of chestnut timber, eighteen inches in

length, and five-eighths of an inch thick at the

butt end, to lay five inches to the weather, and
to be put on in the best possible workmanlike
manner, the hips and valleys to be turned
in a proper and workmanlike manner. The
cupola is to be eight-square (octagonal).
6th. The stairs to be made with rampt
hand-railing and turned banisters, which
stairs are to be neatly enclosed below with
wainscoting; the residue of said stairs to be
finished in the best, workmanlike manner, and
in uniformity with the parts thereof before

described. 7th. The hand-railing and banis-

ters in front of the judges, and all the other
hand-railings and banisters in said building to

be finished in the same order as is mentioned
in the sixth requisition. 8th. The platform on
which the judge’s seat is to stand to be raised

four feet from the floor, the stairs leading up
to said seat to rise eight inches each step, and
to be hand-railed as above; the judge’s seat to

be a movable settee. 9th. The back jury boxes
to be raised one foot from the floor, and the

front boxes one foot and four inches, to be
finished with hand-railing, and banisters in

front. 10th. The sheriff’s and coroner’s boxes
to be raised one foot from the floor, and the

deputy sheriff’s and constable’s boxes to be
raised eight inches, and the whole of the ex-

terior circle, whereon said boxes are placed,

to be finished with a hand-railing and banisters

of the description mentioned in the sixth re-

quisition. nth. All the circular seats, together
with the clerk’s seat and desk, and the counsel
table to be finished in the best workmanlike
manner, corresponding and in uniformity with
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the other parts of said building; the clerk’s

seat to be raised one foot and four inches from
the floor. 12th. The second story to be divided
agreeably to the plan, all of which partitions

are to be studded, lathed and plastered, all of

which work is to be done in a substantial,

workmanlike manner. 13th. The two first floors

are to be laid out with good oak boards of one
and one-fourth inch thickness, and to show six

inches when laid, to be tongued and grooved,
and to be broken joints; the chamber floor to

be planed, all to be done in the best workman-
like manner; the garret floor to be laid with
oak boards, tongued and grooved, and done in

a suitable manner. 14th. To each window in

said house there shall be Venetian blinds,

to be painted green, and hung in a proper
manner, ‘with inside bolts, and harps to fasten

them back on the outside. 15th. The garret

stairs to be inclosed with a stud partition,

lathed and plastered. 1 6th. The walls of said

house to be painted and penciled, the window
frames, sash and cornice to be painted white;
the roof sufficiently painted with Spanish brown;
the doors and inside work all to be painted such
color or colors as the commissioners may
direct. 17th. The windows are to be capped
with cut stone agreeably to the plan. 18th. All
the inside of the house to be lathed (when
necessary), and plastered in the best workman-
like manner. 19th. All the doors and chimney
breasts to be finished in the composite order, and
in good, workmanlike manner. 20th. The door-
steps to be of cut stone agreeable to the plan,

and the door sills to be of cut stone; the plat-

form for the doorsteps to be four feet wide. 21st.

There shall be a water table of cut stone, four
inches deep. 22d. The sash to be one and three-

fourths inches thick, and made and glazed in the
best manner. 23d. The windows to be jamb-
cased with panel-work, and a double overatrive
wrought on the inside casing, the outside
doors to be jamb-cased and overatrived in the
same manner. 24th. There shall be a good
and sufficient washboard and chairboard in

every part of said house where they may be
thought necessary, to be executed in a manner
conforming with the other work on said build-

ing. 25th. All the doors for said building are

to be panel-work, and the locks on the outside
doors to be ten inches long, with brass knobs
and handles, the inside doors to have brass

knob locks of a suitable size. 26th. Two ten-

plate stoves are to be placed in the chamber,
agreeable to the plan, with sheet iron pipes
of suitable dimensions leading from said stoves
in a proper manner into the chimney. 27th. An
oval or round window is to be made, glazed and

placed on the pediment. 28th. The chamber
joists to be placed eighteen inches asunder
from center to center, to be fourteen inches in

depth, and three inches thick. 29th. The com-
missioners shall have a right to alter their

ground plan, and chamber floor plan, so far as

to add other summers or girders, and also two
other pillars and posts for the support of the

same. 30th. The principal timbers in the

lower floor to be fourteen inches by twelve
inches, of the best whiteoak timber, and the

main timbers in the chamber floor to be twelve
inches by fourteen inches, and the main timbers
in the garret to be ten inches by twelve inches,

and the joists of said garret to be twelve inches

by three inches. 31st. The mantelpieces are

to be of cut stone, and the jambs are also to

be of cut stone, and done in the best manner.
All and singular, the work necessary for com-
pleting said building, and which may not be
mentioned in these requisitions, is to be done
in the best, substantial, workmanlike manner.
33d. The foundation is to be, and the timber
for the lower floor is to be placed ready to com-
mence the brick work on or before the tenth day
of July next; the brick walls to be raised to the

top of the first story, and the chamber timbers
placed on or before the tenth day of October
next; the second story to be raised and the

roof on and shingled by the tenth day of De-
cember next; and the whole of the work for

the completion of said building shall be done
on or before the first day of November, one
thousand eight hundred and ten. 34th. On
condition thatthe work on the aforesaid build-

ing shall progress as before required, there

shall be paid to the contractors on the tenth of

July next one thousand dollars, and one
thousand dollars thereafter to be paid quarter-

yearly until six thousand dollars shall have
been paid, and the residue, if any, to be paid

in six months thereafter, which payments are

to be made by a draft on John Mclntire,

Jeffery Price, Robert Taylor, William Raynolds,

Joseph F. Munro, Wyllys Silliman, Daniel
Converse and Robert Fulton, or their treasurer,

as per their bond given the commissioners for

the payments as aforesaid. 35th. The com
missioners reserve a right to employ other

hands to carry on said building in case the

contractors shall neglect or fail to carry it on
agreeable to their requisitions, which workmen
shall be paid by the contractor, or the money
stopped in the hands of the commissioners for

their payment. The commissioners shall, once
in three months from the signing of the

contract, examine the works on said building,

and either approve or disapprove of the same
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so far as it shall then have progressed; and if

they disapprove of it, the commissioners shall

choose one mechanic, and the contractor
another, of good character, who shall examine
the work, and if those so chosen cannot agree,

they are to choose a third person to examine
and determine with them. No person is to be
chosen for the aforesaid purpose but those
perfectly disinterested, and who have not
wrought on said building, and in case the said

referees are of the opinion that the work, or

any part thereof, is not done agreeably to

contract they shall estimate the deficiency,

which shall be deducted from the next pay-
ment. 36th. Bonds for the performance of

said work are to be given,with approved security.

37th. The pillars to be made in the Tuscan
order, and neatly executed.”

June 7, 1809, the board ordered that Benja-
min Tupper make out and furnish the contract
for building the court-house, with the necessary
plats of said building. The commissioners met
in accordance with adjournment, Monday, June
10, 1809. William Newell, Jacob Gomber and
Daniel Stillwell were present, and proceeded
to examine the work on the brick court house,
so far as it had progressed, and gave Messrs.
Williamson and Hampson an order on John Mc-
Intire, treasurer of the Zanesville Court House
Company, for $750, that being the balance due
on the first installment.

October 6, 1809, it was ordered by the board
that the clerk give an order on John Mclntire,
treasurer of the Zanesville Court House Com-
pany, for gi,000, to be given in favor of Messrs.
Hampson and Williamson. The work on the
court house, so far as it had progressed, met
with the approbation of the commissioners.

On the 8th of March, 1810, the inhabitants
of the town of Zanesville made a proposition to
the commissioners, for the erection of a brick
building on the public square, one part of which
should be appropriated as an office for the reg-
ister of the county, and the other part as an
office for the county clerk. After considera-
tion, the board agreed to the erection of said
building, on the following conditions: “First—
The money necessary for erecting said build-
ing is to be loaned the county by individuals,
which is to draw interest after the buildings are
finished. Second—No part of either principal
or interest of the money so loaned is to be paid
until after the money which has already been
loaned for the building of the court house, to-
gether with the interest thereon, shall have
been paid, and all other contingent expenses
which have accrued, or may accrue, shall have
been discharged, and there shall be a surplus

of money in the county treasury. Third

—

Bonds are to be given for the payment of the

money necessay for erecting and finishing said

buildings. Fourth—The money to be paid
agreeable to the contract the commissioners
may make with the undertaker, and by draft,

as in case of the court house. Fifth—The
building to be sold to the lowest bidder the

10th day of April next.” Following is a copy
of a bond for the payment of the money loaned
as above mentioned, for the purpose specified:

“Know all men by these presents, that we,
Isaac Van Horne, John Mclntire and Wyllys
Silliman, are held and firmly bound unto Dan-
iel Stillwell and Thomas Nisbet, commissioners
of Muskingum county, in the sum of one thou-
sand dollars, for the payment of which we bind
ourselves, one and each, our heirs, executors
and administrators firmly by these presents.

Sealed with our seals, dated this eighth day of

March, one thousand eight hundred and ten.

The condition of the above obligation is this,

that, whereas the commissioners of Muskingum
county have agreed to build offices for the
register and clerk of the county, on condition
that the sum of money necessary for the erec-

tion and completion of said building shall be
paid the said commissioners agreeable to the
contract to be entered into by them for erect-

ing said building, then the obligation to be
void, otherwise to remain in full force and vir-

tue.” This document was signed by Messrs.
Van Horne, Mclntire and Silliman, in the pres-

ence of Benjamin Tupper and W. Raynolds.
April 9, 1810, the commissioners met, and
formulated the following requisition and re-

strictions for building the county offices:

First—A brick house, 24x28 feet; the story to

be ten feet in the clear, the brick to be of a

good quality. Second - The foundation to be
of stone, sunk eighteen inches below the sur-

surface of the ground, and raised eighteen
inches above the ground, with good ranged
work; one range ten inches, the other eight,

the stone under ground to be of a good quality

likewise, all to be twenty-two inches thick, ex-

cept the cross walls, which are to be fifteen.

Third—All the out walls to be fourteen inches
thick, except the vaulted ends, which are to be
twenty-two and a half inches, the partition

walls and gable ends to be nine inches thick,

except the part connected with the vaults,

which is to be fourteen inches. The arches arc

to be sprung lengthwise of the vaults, and to

be nine inches thick. Fourth The floor to be
laid with brick or tile, and to be leveled with
the brick work. Fifth—Two chimneys agree-

able to the plan, Sixth—A square roof framed
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in a good manner, sheeted with oak boards, to

be covered with joint shingles, made of chestnut
timber, eighteen inches long, to lay five inches
to the weather. Seventh—A plain cornice with
bead molding. Eighth—Six fifteen-light win-
dows, glass to be 10x12 inches, revealed frames,
single architraves inside; ovolo sash, panel
shutters, with sufficient hangings and fasten-

ings; the windows to be glazed in a good man-
ner. Ninth—Two doors in front, with revealed
frames, transom lights; the doors to be pan-
neled and lined, and to be hung in a sufficient

manner, with ten-inch knob locks; an arch to

be sprung over each door and window’. Tenth

—

There are to be two doors leading to the fire-

proof rooms, to be made of sheet iron, with
brass running round the edges, two bars run-
ning lengthwise of the doors, and four across,

wdiich bars are to be of a sufficient size of

wrought iron; and two bars over each door, to

support the arches; also best kind of hinges,
built in the wall, and double-bolted padlocks.
Eleventh—The inside of the house, wherever
necessary, to be plastered with two sufficient

coats. Twelfth—Plain work and chairboards
round the two outside rooms. Thirteenth

—

The sash to be painted white. Fourteenth

—

The brick to be penciled. Fifteenth—All
the materials for the before-mentioned build-

ing to be of the best quality, and all the work
to be done in the most workmanlike manner.
Sixteenth—The money to be paid to the con-
tractor in four different installments—the first

instalment on the first Tuesday of June next,

at which time the foundation must be laid; the
remaining installments to be paid quarter yearly.

Seventeenth—The building to be completed by
the middle of September next. Twentieth

—

The contractor shall give bond to the commis-
sioners, with approved security, for the faithful

performance of the conditions of sale in double
the amount at which the building is bid off.”

June 13, 1810, the commissioners ordered
that “ the public offices be placed as follows:

The south wall of the offices to range with the
north wall of the court house and on the west
end of the same.”

December 6, 1810, James Hampson stated

to the commissioners that the public offices

were completed according to contract, and it

was ordered that the clerk give Hampson an
order on John Mclntire for $920 as payment
in full for building said offices.

December 6, 1810, on motion “ it was or-

dered and agreed that the Methodist Society
shall have a right to occupy the old court house
for a meeting house, and the new court house
on their quarterly days, when it shall not inter-

fere with other appointments, and that the
Presbyterian society occupy the new court
house. Both societies are to keep the house
clean and to make good any damage which
may be done in consequence of their meeting
therein. Any other Christian society shall have
aright to meet on the same grounds; that is, of

keeping clean, and in either of said houses
when not occupied as above.”

On the 10th of January, 181 1, on application
of the subscribers to the court house stock, the
board ordered that subscribers who had paid
their subscriptions in full should receive certfi-

cates for the same in accordance with the
original order, made March 8, 1809, which
should bear interest from January 10, l8ii,and
that all payments made in full subsequent to

that date should bear interest from the time it

should be made, and dividend payments should
be made to such stockholders out of the sur-

plus revenue in the county treasury, in accord-
ance with the requisitions for building the court
house in proportion to their individual sub-

scriptions and payments.
March 6, 1811, it appears, the commission-

ers acknowledged the indebtedness of the
county to John Mclntire, Jeffery Price, Robert
Taylor, William Raynolds, Joseph F. Munro,
Wyllys Silliman, Daniel Converse and Robert
Fulton, of $7,550 with interest at 6 per cent,

from December 1, 1810. This was a part of the
indebtedness incurred in erecting the brick
court house. March 5, 1 8 1 1 ,

it was ordered
that the old court house be rented to the Rev.
William Jones for the term of one year from
and after the nth day of March instant, to be
occupied as a school room, for which Mr. Jones
was to pay two dollars per month, and to re-

pair all damages which might be done said

room by himself or scholars, and to leave the
same in as good repair as at the beginning of

his term of lease.

It was ordered that, on the presentation of

a certificate signed by these parties or any five

of them, stating that the person in whose name
it was to be issued had paid for his stock in

full, the clerk should issue an order on the

county treasurer for the amount of the same,
agreeable to the requisitions of the commis-
sioners for building said court house, and
agreed to by Mr. Mclntire and the others, the

sum specified on said certificate, to be con-

sidered as a part of the aggregate sum named
and charged accordingly on the books of the

commissioners. The following was adopted as

the form of the order: “Commissioner’s Office,

Muskingum County, Ohio, April —
,
181-. Or-

dered by the commissioners that the treasurer
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of said county pay A. B.,or his assigns the sum
of dollars, with interest from the first day
of December, 1810, to be paid out of any sur-

plus money in the treasury of said county,
agreeable to the contract entered into by the
commissioners and John Mclntire and others
for building a court house in the town of

Zanesville, and in conformity to the resolutions

of the commissioners of the 8th of March,
1809.”

April 18, 1 8 1 1 ,
the board ordered that Wil-

liam Craig be directed to get the necessary re-

pairs made on the pump in the public well at

the expense of the county; and that Jacob
Crooks be directed to make the necessary re-

pairs on the jail and erect a whipping post.

September 21, 181 1, the commissioners, at

the request of James Hampson, proceeded to

view the court house and satisfy themselves
that it was finished according to contract;

“and having made some progress, they
adjourned to meet on October 1.” On the lat-

ter day, the record states, “ they proceeded to

examine the court house work and compare it

with the requisitions of the contract; and hav-
ing made some progress, they adjourned to

meet to-morrow morning at eight o’clock.”

The following entry appears under date of

October 2: “Commissioners met agreeable to

adjournment, when they proceeded as above,
and also to settle with the contractors of said

building, and do find that the county stands
indebted to Messrs. Hampson • & Williamson,
as contractors, for extra work in the sum of

$194.76.”

December 4, 1811, James Hampson, in the
name of Williamson & Hampson, received an
order on John Mclntire, treasurer of the Court
House Company, for the sum of $1,550, the
last payment in full for the erection of the
court house, in accordance with the contract
entered into by John McIntyre and others.

June 19, 1814, the commissioners of Musk-
ingum county met at the request of the com-
missioners of the Muskingum bank, to make
arrangements to rent the county offices, and
after due consideration an order was made that

the offices be let to the president and directors
of the bank for the term of five years, or until

the expiration of the charter of the bank, at

the yearly rental of $60, beginning on the first

day of July; said offices to be delivered up to

the commissioners in as good order as they
were at that date allowing for the inevitable
wear and tear of such building. March 7, 1815,
the middle room in the court house chamber
was rented to Peter Mills and others for the
use of the Freemasons’ lodge, at $3 per month.

The following lists of county officers from
1804 to 1877 were compiled from the “ Proceed-
ings at the Dedication of the Muskingum
County Court House,” and published for the
Bar Association in 1877:

MEMBERS OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY.
Senators,— 1805, Jos. Buell, Hallem Hemp-

sted, Athens, Gallia, Washington and Muskin-
gum; 1806, Hallem Hempsted, Leonard Jewett,
district the same; 1807, Leonard Jewett, John
Sharp, district the same; 1808-9, Robert Mc-
Connell, Muskingum and Tuscarawas; 1810-1 1,

Robert McConnell, Guernsey, Muskingum and
Tuscarawas; 1812-14, Robert McConnell, Musk-
ingum; 1815—16, Ebenezer Buckingham, Musk-
ingum; 1817-18, George Jackson, Muskingum;
1819, Samuel Sullivan (resigned), Muskingum;
1820, John Matthews, Muskingum; 1821-22,

Thomas Ijams, Washington; 1823-24, Ebenezer
Buckingham, Muskingum; 1825-26, Wylly’s
Silliman, Muskingum; 1827-29, John Hamm
(resigned), Muskingum; 1830, James Ragnet,
Muskingum; 1831-32, Ezekiel T. Cox, Muskin-
gum; 1833-34, Thomas Anderson, Muskingum;
1835-38, Samuel J. Cox, Muskingum; 1839-42,
James Henderson, Muskingum; 1843-44, David
Chambers, Muskingum (speaker, 1844); 1 845—
48, Charles B. Goddard, Muskingum (speaker,

1847); 1849-50, Charles C. Convers, Muskingum
(speaker, 1850); 1852-53, William E. Finck,
Muskingum and Perry; 1854-55, Hugh J.

Jewett, Muskingum and Perry; 1856-57, Eli A.
Spencer, Muskingum and Perry; 1858-59, Eze-
kiel Vanatta, Muskingum and Perry; 1860-61,

Charles W. Potwin, Muskingum and Perry;

1862-63, William E. Finck, Muskingum and
Perry; 1864-65, Thomas J. Maginnis, Muskin-
gum and Perry; 1866-69, Daniel B. Linn,
Muskingum and Perry; 1870-73, William H.
Holden, Muskingum and Perry; 1874-77, Elias

Ellis, Muskingum and Perry.

Representatives. 1805, Elijah Hatch, James
Clark, James E. Phelps, Athens, Gallia, Musk-
ingum and Washington; 1806, Levi Barker,
Lewis Cass, William H. Puthuff, Athens, Gallia,

Muskingum and Washington; 1807, John R. P.

Burean, Joseph Palmer, John Mathews, Athens,
Gallia, Muskingum and Washington; 1808,

David J. Marple, James Clark, Muskingum and
Tuscarawas; 1809, .David J. Marple, George
Jackson, Muskingum and Tuscarawas; 1810,

George Jackson, David J. Marple, Guernsey,
Muskingum and Tuscarawas; 1811, George
Jackson, William Frame, Coshocton, Guernsey,
Muskingum and Tuscarawas; 1812, John Hamm,
Stephen C. Smith, Muskingum; 1813, Stephen
C. Smith, Joseph K. McCune, Muskingum;
1814, David Chambers, Stephen C. Smith, Mus-
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kingum; 1815, Robert Mitchell, Joseph K.
McCune, Muskingum; 1816, Robert Mitchell,

Robert McConnell, Muskingum; 1817, Christian

Spangler, Thomas Nisbet, Muskingum; 1818,

James Hampson, John Reynolds, Muskingum;
1819, John Reynolds, Robert McConnell, Musk-
ingum; 1820, Alexander Harper, Robert K.

McCune, Muskingum; 1821, Alexander Harper,
William H. Moore, Muskingum; 1822, William
H. Moore, Nathan C. Findlay, Muskingum;
1823, John C. Stockton, Joseph K. McCune,
Muskingum; 1824, Thomas L. Pierce, Thomas
Flood, Muskingum; 1825, Thomas L. Pierce,

James Hampson, Muskingum; 1826, Thomas
Flood, James Hampson, Muskingum; 1827,

James Hampson, John C. Stockton, Musk-
ingum; 1828, Wyllys Silliman, David Chambers,
Muskingum; 1829, Littleton Adams, James Ra-
guet, Muskingum; 1830, Thomas Maxfield,

Littleton Adams, Muskingum; 1831, Appleton
Downer, David Peairs, Muskingum; 1832, Will-

iam Cooper, John H. Keith, Muskingum; 1833,

John H. Keith, William Cooper, Muskingum;
1834, Aaron Robinson, William H. Moore,
Muskingum; 1835, Aaron Robinson, William
H. Moore, Muskingum; 1836, David Chambers,
Muskingum; 1837, David Chambers, David K.
McCune, Muskingum; 1838, David Chambers,
Charles B. Goddard, Muskingum; 1839, Abra-
ham Pollock, George W. Adams, Muskingum;
1840, Abraham Pollock, John Watkins, Musk-
ingum; 1841, David Chambers, Charles Bowen,
Muskingum; 1842, David Chambers, Charles
Bowen, Muskingum; 1843, Joseph Fisher, Davis
Johns, Muskingum; 1844, Davis Johns, Musk-
ingum; 1845, Edward Ball, John Trimble,
Muskingum; 1846, John Trimble, Muskingum;
1847, A. S. B. Culbertson, Abel Randall, Musk-
ingum; 1848, Abel Randall, Muskingum; 1849,

Edward Ball, Muskingum; 1850, William Mor-
gan, Muskingum; 1852, William Morgan, Will-

iam C. Filler, Muskingum; 1854, John Metcalf,

Samuel McCann, Muskingum; 1856, John A.
Blair, John Crooks, Muskingum; 1858, John A.
Blair, Lewis P'razee, Muskingum; i860, Daniel
Van Vorhes, Elisha I. Trimble, Townsend Gore,
Muskingum; 1862, Thaddeus A. Reamy, Jacob
Glessner, Muskingum; 1864, James Gallogly,

Elija Little, Muskingum; 1866, A. W. Shipley,

Perry Wiles, Muskingum; 1868, Edward Ball,

H. J. Jewett, Muskegon, 1870, Edward Ball,

Elias Ellis, Muskingum; 1872, William IL
Ball, Pllias Ellis, Muskingum; 1874, James A.
Moorehead, John B. Sheppard, Muskingum;
1876, Harvey L. Cogsil, L. Rambo, Musk-
ingum.

President Judges—Common Pleas.—Levin
Betts, 1804-05; Calvin Pease, 1805-08; William

Wilson, 1808-22; Alexander Harper, 1822-

1836; Corrington W. Searle, 1836-47; Richard
Stilwell, 1847-51; Corrington W. Searle, 1851—

52 -

Judges of Common Pleas.— Richard Stil-

well, February 19, 1852, September 16, 1854;
John E. Hanna, September 16, 1854, October
20, 1854; Charles C. Convers, October 20, 1854,
October 19, 1855; Corrington W. Searle, Octo-
ber 19, 1855; October 25, 1856; Lucius P.

Marsh, October 25, 1856, P'ebruary 9, 1862;

Ezra PL Evans, February 9, 1862, December 10,

1866: Moses M. Granger, December 10, 1866,

October 9, 1871; Frederick W. Wood, August
3, 1869, August 3, 1874; William H. Frazier,

October 9, 1871, to February 9, 1882; Lucius P.

Marsh, August 3, 1874, to August 3, 1879.

P'or continuation see chapter on bench and
bar.

Associate Judges of Common Pleas.—In
February, 1804, David Harvey, William Wells
and John Campbell were commissioned as the
first three associate judges for Muskingum
county. William Wells resigned before taking
his seat, and on March 15, 1804, Jesse Fulton
was appointed to fill the vacancy. David Har-
vey resigned June 19, 1804, and on June 29,

1804, Richard McBride was appointed in his

place. John Campbell resigned December 4,

1804, and on December 13, 1804, Giles Hemp-
stead was appointed. On P'ebruary 7, 1805,

the legislature elected Jesse Fulton, Richard
McBride and Seth Carhart. David Plarvey,

February 17, June 19, 1804; William Wells,
P'ebruary 1 8, February 25, 1804; John Camp-
bell, February 20, December 4, 1804; Jesse
P'ulton, March 15, 1804, 1815; Richard Mc-
Bride, June 29, 1804, 1813; Giles Hempstead,
December 13, 1804, February 7, 1805; Seth
Carhart, February 7, 1805, did not accept; Will-

iam Mitchell, February 27, 1805, 1815; David
P'indlay, 1813, 1820; Stephen C. Smith, 1815,

1818; Daniel Stilwell, 1815, 1822; Robert Mit-
chell, 1818, 1833; John Reynolds, 1820, to June
27, 1822; Robert McConnell, January, 1822,

August 6, 1827; David Young, June 27, 1822,

January, 1823; Thomas Ijams, January, 1823,

1830; Edwin Putnam, August 6, 1827, 1842;

Mathew McPdhinney, 1830, 1837; William
Blocksom, 1833, 1840; James Jeffries, 1837,

1844; William Cooper, 1840, 1847; Jacob P.

Springer, 1842, 1852; Horatio J. Cox, 1844,

1852; Wilkin Reed, 1847, 1852.

Probate Judges.—Mahlon Sims, February

9, 1852-58; William T. Mason, February 9,

1858-64; Robert W. P. Muse, February 9,

1864-70; Henry L. Korte, February 9, 1870-73;
Reuben H. Morgan, February 9, 1873-75;
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Henry L. Korte was appointed on the 24th day
of March, 1875, to fill the vacancy occasioned
by the resignation of Judge Morgan. In Octo-
ber, 1876, he was elected for the full term to

expire February 9, 1879. For contipuation see

chapter on Bench and Bar.

Supreme Court.—The first regular term of

began September 9, 1805. Present Samuel
the supreme court held in Muskingum county,

Huntington and William Sprigg, judges. The
following list shows the clerks of the supreme
court for Muskingum county:—Abel Lewis,

1805-12; John C. Stockton, 1812-17; Daniel
Chambers, 1817-21; John Peters {pro tem.'),

1821; E ekiel T. Cox, 1821-28; John Wilson,

Jr., 1828-34; Ezekiel T. Cox, 1834-52.
Clerks of Common Pleas. Abel Lewis,

1804-12; John C. Stockton, 1812-17; David
Chambers, 1817-21; John Peters, {pro tern,)

1821; Ezekiel T. Cox, 1821-28; John Wilson,

Jr., 1828-34; Ezekiel T. Cox, 1834-41; George
W. Manypenny, 1841-46; Anthony Wilkins,

1846-52; Charles C. Russell, 1852-64; John
Hoopes, 1864-67; Gemmill Arthur, 1867-70;
George W. Blocksom, 1870 {pro tem.)\ Edgar
Allen, 1870-73; Frederick W. Geiger, 1873.

Clerk Russell, in October, 1863, was elected for

a fifth term, to expire February 9, 1867, but re-

signed in April, 1864. Clerk Geiger was elect-

ed a second time, in October, 1876; his term to

expire in the fall of 1879. For continuation
see chapter on Bench and Bar.

Sheriffs.— George Beymer, 1804-08; Jacob
Crooks, 1808-12; John Reynolds, 1812-16;

Charles Roberts, 1816-19; James Hampson,
1819-23; John Burwell, 1823-27; John Stanton,

1827-29; Daniel Brush, 1829-33; Asa R. Cassidy,

1833-37; Zachariah Adams, 1837-39; Edward
Ball, 1839-43; John Dillon, 1843-47; Carson
Porter, 1847-50 (died in office); Benjamin F.

Leslie, 1850-54; Joseph Richey, 1854-56; James
C. Wolf, 1856-58; Penrod Bateman, 1858-60;

James C. Wolf, 1860-64 (died in office); John
Quigley, (coroner and acting sheriff), 1864-65;
Benjamin F. Leslie, 1865-69; Benson Loyd,
1869-73; William Ruth, 1873-77; Orrin Ballou,

1877. Sheriff Ballou’s term expired in Jan-
uary, 1881.

"Prosecuting Attorneys.—Lewis Cass, 1804,

1812; Samuel Herrick, 1812, 1818; John C.

Stockton, 1818, 1820; Richard Stilwell, 1820,

1837; Wyllys Buell, 1837 to April, 1839; Cau-
tious C. Covey, April, 1839, to November, 1839;
Napoleon A. Guille, 1839 to 1851; William II.

Ball, 1851 to April, 1853; John O’Neill, April,

1853, to January, 1856; John C. Iiazlctt, Jan-
uary, 1856, to October, 1861; John Haynes,
October, 1861, to October, 1864; Lyman J.

Jackson, October, 1864, to January, 1866; Moses
M. Granger, January, 1866, to December, 1866;

Albert W. Train, December, 1866, to January,
1868; Milton I. Southard, January, 1868, to

November, 1872; Daniel B. Gary, November,
1872, to January, 1874; Albion J. Andrews,
January, 1874, to January, 1878. For continua-
tion see chapter on Bench and Bar.

County Commissioners.—On the evidence
of our oldest inhabitant, Stephen Reeve, Esq.,

who leased school land of them in 1804,

our first county commissioners were William
Montgomery, Joseph F. Munro and Christian
Spanger. The records show: Isaac Evans,

to December, 1807; Robert Speer, to

December, 1807; William Whitten, to

December, 1808; William Newell, to

December, 1809; Jacob Gomber, from Decem-
ber, 1807, to December, 1809; Daniel Stilwell,

from December, 1808, to December, 1811;

Thomas Nisbet, from December, 1809, to

December, 1812; George Reeve, from April,

1810, to December, 1810; John Wiley, from
December, 1810, to April, 1814 (died); Benja-
min Spry, from December, 1811, to September,
1814; William H. Moore, from December, 1812,

to December, 1818; Luke Walpole, from April,

1814, to September, 1814; James L. Fleming,
from December, 1814, to October, 1819; Wil-
liam Hunter, from December, 1814, to Novem-
ber, 1817; Simeon Sims, from November, 1817,

to November, 1820; Thomas Flood, from
December, 1818, to November, 1820; John
Robertson, from October, 1819, to December,
1825; Jared Brush, from November, 1820, to

December, 1824; James Jeffries, from March
1821, to December, 1821; Israel Robinson, from
December, 1821, to December, 1826; John
Handle, from December, 1824, to December,
1830; Joseph Springer, from December, 1825,

to December, 1827; Absalom Roberts, from
December, 1826, to December, 1829; William
Hamilton, from December, 1827, to November,
1831; Isaac Helmick, from December, 1829, to

November, 1831 ;
Israel Robinson, from Decem-

ber, 1830, to November, 1839; Samuel McCann,
from November, 1831, to November 1834; Lyle
Fulton, from November, 1831, to October, 1838;

John Adams, from November, 1834, to his

death, in 1837; Samuel McCann, from Decem-
ber, 1837, to October, 1838; John Thompson,
from October, 1838, to December, 1841 ;

Beverly
Lemert, from December, 1838, to October, 1840;

John Goshen, from December, 1839, to Decem-
ber, 1845; Robert Boggs, from October, 1840,

to December, 1843; Littleton Moore, from
December, 1841, to November, 1844; Joshua
Bennett, from December, 1843, 1° December,
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1846; Henry Wheeler, from November, 1844,

to December, 1847; Mahlon Sims, from Decem-
ber, 1845, to October, 1851; Stephen Reeve,
from December, 1846, to December, 1852;
William Johnson, from December, 1847, to

November, 1850; James Carnes, from Novem-
ber, 1850, to November, 1853; Joseph R.
Thomas, from October, 1851, to December,
1857; Lewis M. Pierson, from December, 1852,

to December, 1855; Samuel Clark, from Novem-
ber, 1853, to December, 1856; Abel Randall,
from December, 1855, to December, 1858; Jon-
athan Swank, from December, 1856, to Novem-
ber, 1859; Hugh Madden, from December,
1857, to November, i860; John Baughman, from
December, 1858, to December, 1861; E. E. Fill-

more, from November, 1859, to November,
1862; William T. Tanner, from November,
i860, to February, 1864; George W. Slater,

from December, 1861, to December, 1867;
William Pringle, from November, 1862, to

December, 1865; E. E. Fillmore, from Feb-
ruary, 1864, to December, 1869; J. B. Milhous,
from December, 1865, to December, 1868; E. L.

Lemert, from December, 1867, to December,
1870; Robert Silvey, from December, 1868, to

December, 1871; Austin Berry, from Decem-
ber, 1868, resigned February, 1870; William
Hall, from February, 1870, resigned December,
1874; Daniel Hatton, from January, 1871, to

December, 1872; Leonard N. Stump, from
December, 1871, to December, 1874; John
Sims, from December, 1872, to December,
1875; Thomas Griffith, from December, 1874,
to December, 1877; Leonard N. Stump, from
December, 1874, to December, 1875; William
T. Tanner, from December, 1875, to Decem-
ber, 1878.

Clerks to County Commissioners.—Elijah
Beall,—— to December, 1808; Benjamin Tup-
per, from December, 1808, to December, 1811;
Robert Mitchell, from December, 1811, to June,
1812; William Craig, from June, 1812, to Sep-
tember, 1814; George Reynolds, from Septem-
ber, 1814, to January, 1815; James Perry, from
February, 1815, to February, 1821 (when the
office was abolished).

County Auditors.—The office of county
auditor wras created by an act of the general
assembly, passed February 8, 1820. It grew
out of the office of clerk to the board of county
commissioners. Its duties have since been
continuously multiplied and enlarged, under
successive acts of the Legislature, until they
are now peculiarly numerous, difficult and
complicated. The names of the several county
auditors are as follows: John Burwell, from
March, 1821, to October, 1823, when he resigned

to take the office of sheriff; John W. Spry,
from October, 1823, to March, 1845 nearly

twenty-twoyears

;

Richard I. Peach, from March,
1845, to March, 1855; Imri Richards, from
March, 1855, to March, 1857; Bernard Van
Horne, from March, 1857, to March, 1859;
Jesse Atwell, from March, 1859, to March,
1861; Gemmill Arthur, from March, 1861, to

March, 1865; Caleb D. Caldwell, from March,
1865—died September 6, 1871; Imri Richards,
from September, 1871, to November, 1871;
Andrew P. Stults, from November, 1871, to

November, 1875; James T. Irvine, from Novem-
ber, 1875.

County Collectors.—Jacob Crooks, from
June, 1807, to June, 1811; W. Scott, from June
1 8 1 1 ,

to June, 1812; Robert Mitchell, from
June, 1812, to June, 1813; James Vickers, from
June, 1813, to June, 1817; William Craig, from
June, 1817, to June 1818; John Russell, from
June, 1818, to June, 1820; William Hunter
from June, 1820, to June, 1822; Daniel Brush,
from June, 1822, to June, 1825; John Houck,
from June, 1825, to June, 1826; Silas Robinson,
from June, 1826, to June, 1827 (when the office

was abolished).

County Appraisers of Land.—John Burwell,
in 1834; Mathew McElhiney, in 1840. (In

1846, and since, district assessors.)

County Assessors (Annual).—Daniel Brush,
from 1825 to 1827; Lewis Ijams, from 1827 to

1830; William Ellis, from 1830 to 1832; Jos.

Springer, from 1832 to 1834; Matthias Spangler,
from 1834 to 1835; Jesse L. Manley, from

1835 to 1839; Joseph P. Huston, 1839 (when
the office was abolished).

County Treasurers. William Montgomery,
from

, 1805 to June, 1807; Joseph F. Munro,
fromjune, 1807, to June, 1810; Benjamin Sloan,

from June, 1810, to October 1813; Christian

Spangler, from October, 1813, to June, 1818;

Samuel Sullivan, from June, 1818, to October,

1819; Thomas Moorehead, from October, 1819.

to June, 1827; John Roberts, from June, 1827,

to June, 1830; John Burwell, from June, 1830,

to June, 1832; John Roberts, from June, 1832,

to June, 1834; Daniel Brush, from June, 1834,

to June, 1836; John Roberts, from June, 1836,

to June, 1838; John Russell, from June, 1838,

to June, 1844; Benjamin F. Leslie, from June,

1844, to June, 1846; Adam Peters, from June,

1846, to June, 1850; John Dillon, from June,

1850, to June, 1854; Isaac Stiers, from June,

1854, to June, 1856; Benjamin Adams, from
June, 1856—died September, 1857; John Dillon,

from September, 1857, to June, 1858; William
Lynn, fromjune 1858; died September, 1862; J. B.

H. Bratshaw, from September, 1862,—resigned
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March, 1864; John Dillon, from March, 1864,

to September, 1866; Joseph T. Gorsuch, from
September, 1866, to September, 1868; John M.
Lane, from September, 1868, to September,
1872; Robert Silvey, from September, 1872, to

September, 1876; George W. Allen, from Sep-
tember, 1876.

County Recorders.— It seems that convey-
ances of land lying in Muskingum county con-
tinued to be recorded in the office of the Wash-
ington county recorder until April 17, 1806.

From 1806 to 1831, the recorder was appointed
by the court of common pleas, and, as the list

shows, the clerk of that court was usually the
recorder. Abel Lewis, April 17, 1805, to

February 13, 1810; George Reeve, February
23, 1810, to April, 1817; David Chambers, April,

1817, to November, 1820; John Peters, Novem-
ber, 1820, to November, 22, 1821; Ezekiel T.
Cox, November 22, 1821, to October, 1831.
In 1829, a law for the election of a recorder
by the people was passed, but it did not affect

the terms of those then in office. Mr. Cox’s
term expired early in 1831, but the commis-
sioners of the county, under said law, appointed
him to serve until after the election of that
year. At that election Anthony Wilkins was
chosen. Anthony Wilkins, October, 1831, to
October, 1840; Wm, T. McKibbin, October,
1840, to September, 1841 (died); Imri Rich-
ards, September, 1841 to November, 1841;
John Hilliard, November, 1841, to January,
1851; Joseph P. Huston, January, 1851, to Jan-
uary, 1854; Horatio W. Chandler, January,
1854, to January, 1857; George W. Ritze, Janu-
ary, 1857, to October, i860 (died); Ephraim P.

Abbot, October, i860, to October, 1861; John
J. Ingalls, October, 1861, to January, 1868;
Jesse H. Mitchell, January, 1868, to January,
1871; William H. Cunningham, January, 1871,
to January, 1877; David Zimmer, January,
1887.

County Surveyors.—Levi Whipple, from
1804 to

;
Chas. Roberts, from to 1817;

John Roberts, from 1817 to
;
Wm. F.

Beavers, from 1833 to 1839; James Boyle, from
1839 to 1845; Joseph Fisher, from 1845 to

1854; Jos. J. Hennon, from 1854 to 1857; John
Smyth, from 1857 to i860; Mark Lowdan, from
i860—resigned 1861; Jno. W. Roberts, from
1861 resigned 164; Joseph Fisher, from 1865
to 1868; James P. Egan, from 1868 to 1871;
Joseph Fisher, from 1871 to 1874; James P.

Egan, from 1874 to 1877; William Dunn, from
1877 -

Poor house or Infirmary Directors.—[The
county poor-house was completed in the year
1840. J Isaac Dillon, from June, 1840, to June,

5

1841; John Slaughter, from June, 1840, to June,

1841; Daniel Brush, from June, 1840, to June,

1841; John Peters, from June, 1841, resigned

June, 1846; John Roberts, from June, 1841, to

December, 1842; William Camp, from June,

1841, resigned June, 1846; Edwin Burlingame,
from December, 1842, resigned June, 1846;

Austin Berry, from June, 1846, to November,
1857; Lawson Wiles, from June, 1846, to No-
vember, 1847; John Vandenbark, from June,

1846, to November, 1849; James Helmick, from
November, 1847, to November, 1853; Robert J.

Smith, from November, 1849, resigned March,
1851; John Goyer, from March, 1851, to No-
vember, 1852; Robert Lee, from November,
1852, resigned March, 1858; Joseph Larzalere,

from November, 1853, to November, 1856; Jo-
seph Mattingly, from November, 1856, to No-
vember, 1859; William T. Tanner, from Novem-
ber, 1857, to November, i860; Joseph R. Thom-
as, from. March, 1858, to November, 1858; Will-

iam Shaffer, from November, 1858, to Novem-
ber, 1864; David Sidle, from November, 1859,

to November, 1862; Isaac Van Horne, from
November, i860, to November, 1863; John L.

Taylor, from November, 1862, to November,
1865; William Lee, from November, 1863, to

November, 1866; James Warner, from Novem-
ber, 1864, to November, 1867; Waldo B. Guth-
rie, from November, 1865, died September 18,

1866; William Lee, from November, 1866, to

November, 1868; Isaac C. Story, from Novem-
ber, 1866, to November, 1869; Patrick Brennan,
from November, 1867, to November, 1873; John
L. Taylor, from November, 1868, to November,
1871; M. V. B. Mitchell, from November, 1869,

to November, 1872; William T. Tanner, from
November, 1871, to November, 1874; John W.
Marshall, from November, 1872, to November,
1875; Peter L. Burgoon, from November, 1873,

to November, 1876; Patrick C. Ryan, from No-
vember, 1874, to November, 1877: Robert
Slack, from November, 1875, to November,
1878; John W. Marshall, from November, 1876,

to November, 1879.

Members of State Constitutional Conven-
tions.-—Ohio has had three constitutional con-
ventions. Muskingum county was in 1802 a

part of Washington county, but a resident with-

in its limits, John Mclntire, sat in the conven-
tion of that year as one of the delegates from
Washington county. The following list shows
who represented Muskingum in the other two
conventions: 1850-51, David Chambers, Rich-

ard Stillwell; 1873 74, Charles C. Russell, Dan-
iel Van Vorhes.

Members of Congress.—The following list

shows by whom Muskingum county has been
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represented in the national house of repre-

sentatives; the districts were changed once in

each ten years: 1803-1813, Jeremiah Morrow;
1813-1817, James Caldwell; 1817-21, Samuel
Herrick; 1821-1823, David Chambers; 1823-

1829, Philemon Beecher; 1829-1833, William
W. Irvin; 1833-1835, Robert Mitchell; 1 835—

1837, Elias Howell; 1837-1839, Alex. Harper;

1839-1841, Jonathan Taylor; 1841-1843, Joshua
Mathiot; 1843-1847, Alex. Harper; 1847-1851,
Nathan Evans; 185 1-1853, Alex. Harper; 1 853—

1857, Edward Ball; 1857-1861, C. B. Tompkins;
1861-1863, William P. Cutler; 1863-1865, John
O’Neill; 1865-1869, Columbus Delano; 1869-

1873, George W. Morgan; 1873-1877, Milton 1 .

Southard. Mr. Southard was again elected, in

1876, for the term to end in 1879.

Coroners:—Levi Whipple, from 1804 to

1 8 1 1 ;
Luke Walpole, from 1811 to ;

Charles Roberts, from 1815 to 1817; Samuel
Thompson, from 1817 to 1821; Wm. H. Moore,
from 1821 to 1822; Jacob Crooks, from 1822 to

1823; Samuel Thompson, from 1824 to 1828;

Samuel Parker, from 1828 to 1832; William
Twaddle, from 1832 to 1834; Samuel Parker,

from 1834 to 1838; Richard Collum, from 1838

to 1840; Samuel Gates, from 1840 to 1843; Will

iam Flanagan, from 1843 to 1846; John W.
White, from 1846 to 1848: James Caldwell,

from 1848 to 1850; Elijah Brown, from 1850 to

1852; John Quigley, from 1852 to 1854; John
Bratton, from 1854 to 1856; John Quigley,

from 1856 to 1868; John D. Bonnet, from 1868

to 1874; Anderson Evans, from 1874 to 1876;

Daniel Smith, from 1876. The others have
been chosen and have served since 1877:

Senators:- Lyman E. Jackson, 1 876—’78

;

Pdias K 1

1

i s ,
1878-82; J. D. Jones, 1882-84;

John O’Neill, i 884-’86; John O’Neill and Dr.

E. Sinnett, 1886-88; J. G. Huffman, i886-'88;

D. H.Gaumer, 1890-92; George Iden, 1892-94.
Representatives in the Legislature:- Her-

man E. Achaner, 1878-80; Robert Price, 1880
-82’; Charles PL Addison, 1882-86; Elijah

Little and David Stewart, 1 886—’88
;
John Mc-

Gregor and D. H. Gaumer, i888-’90; T. J. Mc-
Dermott, 1890-92; T. D. Adams, 1892-94.

Members of Congress.—Gibson Atherton,

1878-82; Beriah Wilkins, 1882-88; James W.
Owens, 1888-92.

Coroners.- Daniel Smith was coroner in

1876. Since then the office has been filled by

the following successively: Daniel Smith,
Daniel Morgan, William Ruth and II. C.
Waterman.

Sheriff.—William Hunter was elected in

October, 1880, to serve until the first Monday
in January, 1882. R. J. Haines served 1882-86;
Russell Bethel, 1886-88; and William H. Bolin,

who succeeded Bethel, is now in office.

County Commissioners.—Jefferson Van
Horne, from December, i877,toMarch 17, 1880,

(resigned,) Harvey Darlinton appointed; James
S. Copeland, from December, 1878, to Decem-
ber, 1885; John Croaks, from December, 1879,
to December, 1882; Robert Lee, from Decem-
ber, 1880, to December, 1883; Edward Bethel,
from December, 1882, to December, 1887, W. T.
Maher, from December, 1883, to December,
1886; James Calvin, from December, 1885, to

December, 1888; Robert Lee, from December,
1886, to December. 1889; C. W. McCutcheon,
from December, 1887, to December 1890; F. M.
Rider, from December, 1888, to December,
1894; J. F. Burgers, from January, 1890, to Jan-
uary, 1893; S. M. Rutlege, from January, 1891,

to January, 1894,

County Auditors.—Samuel Oldham, 1880-83;
A. A. Patterson, 1883-87; Julius A. Knight,
1 887-93.

County Treasurers.—Frederick C. Dietz,

1880-82; D. G. Willey, 1882-86; Jesse Atwell,
1886-88; D. G. Willey, 1888-92; Jesse P'razier,

1992-94 -

County Recorders.- David Zimmer, 1877-89;
Ernest Scott, 1889-95.

County Surveyors. Fred Howell, 1880-83;
L. W. Doane, 1883-86; Fred Howell, 1886-89;
T. C. Connar, 1889-92; William Dunn, 1892-95.

Poor House and Infirmary Directors.-—

George A. Gardner, from November, 1879, to

November, 1882; Addison Palmer, from Novem-
ber, 1880, to November, 1883; Howard Larz-

elere,from November, 1881, to November, 1884;

John Mangold, from November, 1882, to Novem-
ber, 1885; Nathan Kelly, from November,
1883, to November, 1886; Fred Turley, from
November, 1884, to November, 1887; John
Hartmeyer, from November, 1885, to January,

1891; John Marshall, from November, 1886, to

November, 1889; Charles T. Willey, from
November, 1887, tojanuary, 1894; David Evans,
from November, 1888, to January, 1892; Conrad
Sunkel, from January, 1890, to January, 1893.
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©hapfep VI.

BOUNDARIES, COUNTY SEAT, LAND TITLES, PUBLIC

BUILDINGS, ETC.

WHEN admitted to the Union, the state of

Ohio contained only nine organized
counties. Of these, five, Trumbull, Jeffer-

son, Belmont Fairfield and Washington em-
braced nearly all of the state east of the Scioto
river, while the other four, Adams, Ross, Cler-

mont and Hamilton, included all of the state

south of the Indian line and west of the Scioto, as

wellasastrip alongthe eastern bank of that river.

The Indian line ran from theTuscarawas river, at

the point where the south line of Stark county
crosses that stream, southwesterly along the

north line of Knox county, making one straight

course from the Tuscarawas to a point near the
northeast corner of Darke county. The land
north of the Indian line and west of the Cuya-
hoga, and nearly all of what is now Michigan,
was “ Wayne ” county, but the inhabited part

being north of the Ohio state line, the original

Wayne became a county of Michigan, and after

1810 Ohio created a new county of that name.
The general assembly of Ohio, by an act passed
January 7, 1804, created Muskirigum county
out of Washington and Fairfield. This act

took effect, and the existence of this county
dates from the 1st day of March, 1804. Elias
Langham was then speaker of the house of

representatives, and Nathaniel Massie speaker
of the senate. Langham represented Ross
county. Massie was a pioneer, Indian-fighter,

a land surveyor. Born in Virginia, he drifted

into the Ohio valley. By his energy and efforts

Manchester, in Adams county, on the Ohio,
and Chillicothe, in Ross county, were settled.

He was a noted man in the Scioto valley.

Muskingum county then possessed extended
limits. Beginning on the Indian line at what
is now the northeast corner of Knox county;
its west line ran along the east lines of what
are now Knox and Licking, to the western edge
of the elbow in our township of Hopewell;
thence south through Perry county to the
southwest corner of Clayton township. This

point is north of the Cincinnati & Muskingum
Valley railway, not far east of Wolf’s station, or

Junction City. There its south line began and
ran due east across Morgan county, keeping
about three miles south of the present line, and
on through Noble county to the northeast cor-

ner of Jefferson township, in that county. This
point is about ten miles south of east from Cald-
well. There the east line began and ran due
north to the northeast corner of what is now
Tuscarawas county. What is now the north line

of Tuscarawas, and so much of the Indian line as

crossed Holmes county, composed the northern
boundary. Thus Muskingum county was about
sixty miles long from north to south and about
forty-five miles wide, and contained nearly

2,700 square miles.

By a law taking effect March 15, 1808, Tus-
carawas county was created; by another on
March 1, 1810, Guernsey county was constitu-

ted, and the width of Muskingum was reduced
to twenty-five miles—the same as now. By
another law taking effect March 1, 1810, Co-
shocton county was marked off, but remained
“attached” to Muskingum until April 1, 1S11.

Only one other change in Muskingum’s
boundaries was made, by laws taking effect

March 1, 1818, creating Perry and Morgan
counties. For almost sixty years the bound-
aries of this county have remained exactly
as they now are; and so long as the con-
stitution of the state of Ohio shall remain as it

is touching “ new counties” no further change
will probably be made. Old Muskingum will,

so far as concerns her extent, be one hundred
years hence as she is this day.

The following clear statement of the history

of land ownership, embracing a wide territory,

including this county, is from the pen of Hon.
Moses M. Granger:

“At the time of the declaration of American
independence, the minds of England and
America were intent upon Lake Champlain
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and the sources of the Hudson, and few white
men knew of the existence of our river Muskin-
gum. The outer edge of the English settle-

ments touched no foot of Ohio soil. A rude
fort stood at Wheeling; a more military work
at Pittsburgh commanded the junction of the
Allegheny and Monongahela rivers, but these
outposts were separated by many miles of for-

est and mountain, from what could be called

the settled districts. Neither our city, our
county nor our state existed ioo years ago.

So far as this portion of the earth then pos-

sessed any political limits or organization, it

formed a part of the province of Canada, which
according to the ‘The Quebec Act,’ passed by
the English parliament in October, 1774, in-

cluded all the territory north of the Ohio and
east of the Mississippi, as well as what is now
the provinces of Ontario and Quebec.

It is popularly supposed that what is now
Ohio belonged to Virginia, and was ceded by
her to the United States. I believe, however,
that an examination of title will result in a con-
viction that Virginia had no valid title to any
land north of the Ohio river, except such title

as resulted from the assent of the United States

to Virginia’s ‘reservation’ of the tract lying

between the rivers Scioto and Eittle Miami,
known as ‘The Virginia Military district.’ A
brief history of the title of this land north of

the Ohio may be interesting. In 1578 Queen
Elizabeth gave the first English patent for

land in America to Sir Humphrey Gilbert, who,
upon establishing a plantation within six years
from the date of the patent, was to own sole

jurisdiction over the territory embraced within
600 miles of said plantation. Gilbert failed to

establish any settlement, although he tried to do
so in what is now Nova Scotia. In 1584 the
same queen gave a similar patent to Gilbert’s

brother-in-law, Sir Walter Raleigh, who effected

a settlement at Roanoke, N. C. But some of

his colony returned to England, and the re-

mainder were never afterward seen by white
men.

“In 1606, King James I set apart a belt ex-
tending from Cape Eear, in North Carolina, to

Halifax, in Novia Scotia, to be settled by two
rival English corporations or companies. The
Eondon company had an exclusive right to

occupy from 34° to 38° north latitude, and a

contingent right between 38° and 400, and
by the terms of the charter their lands ex-
tended west and northwest to the South Sea.

But by its terms the King retained “the right

of future regulation,” and the actual territorial

rights were to be controlled by the location of

the settlements made. For instance, their

*

northern limit was to be fifty miles north of

their first settlement. Had this charter re-

mained unaltered, Virginia would have had its

north line near the Rappahannock. After-

wards, by a second charter her extent was in-

creased, but the crown continued to claim,

and to exercise without dispute, the right to

grant to others lands not vested in the com-
pany by actual settlement. Thus the colonies

of Maryland, New Jersey and Pennsylvania on
the north, and Carolina on the south, were
successively established under royal grants
upon territory that had at first been included
within the Virginia charter.

“But before King James of England granted
to the Virginia Company these rights of settle-

ment between latitudes 34
0 and 4 1 °, the King

of France, in 1603, had by patent granted
to one DeMonts the sovereignty of “Acadia
and its confines,” from 40° to 46° of north
latitude; that is, from Philadelphia to beyond
Montreal. Under this patent the P'rench, in

1605, settled permanently at Port Royal. Then
the colonial enterprises of the two nations,

begun about the same time, progressed with a

rivalry that resulted in successive wars. The
English confined themselves to the tract east

of the Alleghenies and south and west of the
Penobscot. The French founded Quebec and
Montreal, ascended the St. Lawrence, the Sorel

and Lake Champlain, and established a forti-

fied boundary, which included in P'rench terri-

tory parts of New York and Pennsylvania, and
every foot of land north and north-west of the

Ohio. And all of it was firmly held by them
until Wolfe’s victory on the plains of Abraham
produced the peace of Paris in 1763, by which,

for the first time, the title passed to England.
“And the first English state paper applica-

ble to our Ohio and Muskingum history was a

proclamation issued soon after this treaty, by
which ‘all the country beyond the Alleghenies”
was shut against emigrants, “from fear that re-

mote colonies would claim the independence
which their position would favor.’ As wrote
Lord Barrington: ‘The country to the westward
of our frontiers quite to the Mississippi was in-

tended to be a desert for the Indians to hunt in

and inhabit.’ The ‘Quebec Act’ before referred

to, passed in October, 1774, eleven years after

England first owned ‘north-west of the Ohio,’

as I have said, made the Ohio the southern
boundary of Canada. By the treaty of 1783,

Pingland ceded to the United States all the

land south of the lakes and east of the Missis-

sippi, and thus, prior to Virginia’s deed of ces-

sion, our nation was the lawful owner of every
foot of land on our side of the Ohio river.
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Like a prudent farmer, however, the United
States finding that Massachusetts, Connecticut
and Virginia claimed title to parts, or the
whole of it (and the claims of the two New
England states were every whit as valid as

that of Virginia), while other states also made
claims, took deeds of cession from all, and
thus ‘quieted her title.’ Ohio and the North-
west were won for the nation by national

armies commanded by Washington and his

generals, and by the diplomacy of Franklin
and Adams, supported by the patriot people
of the United States. On July 13, 1787, the
Continental congress passed an ordinance for

the government of the territory northwest of

the Ohio. This contained the celebrated pro-

hibition of slavery which formed the founda-
tion of the policy of freedom. No settlements
were made in Ohio until April 7, 1788.

“On August 7, 1789, the first congress, un-
der the constitution, substantially re-enacted
the ordinance of 1787, and organized ‘The
Northwest territory,’ which was governed for

thirteen years by Arthur St. Clair, an emigrant
from Scotland, who had served as a general
officer through our revolutionary war. By act

of April 30, 1802, a state organization embrac-
ing what is now Ohio, was authorized, and
Ohio became a state on November 29, 1802. I

repeat these dates as necessary to a complete
statement of facts.

“ The act creating the county, passed as

already stated, in 1804, provided that the
county seat should be at Zanesville, until per-

manently located. Under that law, the first

court of common pleas began its first term in

David Harvey’s tavern, at the southwest corner
of Third and Main streets. Coshocton and
the Cass bottom, near Dresden, competed for

the permanent county seat, but the locating
commission decided in favor of Zanesville.

Subsequently court was held in a log cabin be-
longing to one James Herron, on south Six
street, about 100 feet south of Main street. In
the year 1808, the first courthouse, sheriff’s

house and jail were built. The present court
room is immediately above the spot upon which
they stood, but the floor is higher than even
the chimney tops of those humble structures;

notwithstanding the fact that the room in which
court was held, was then also, in the second
story. T he sheriff and his family lived in the
first story. The courthouse was a frame struc-

ture, two stories high, 20x55 feet. The jail was
two stories high, built of hewed logs, squared,
and lined on the inside with three-inch planks.
The lower story was for criminals, the upper
for debtors. The two buildings, courthouse

and jail were under one roof. The contract

was let January 25, 1808, to Henry Ford, for

$480, and was signed by only two of the com-
missioners, Henry Newel and Jacob Gomber;
the other refused to sign because it was ‘ too
much.’ An extravagant price! Courthouse,
sheriff’s house, debtors’ prison, jail—a little

over $100 each!
“Section 4, Article VII of the constitution

of 1802, read: ‘ Chillicothe shall be the seat

of government until the year one thousand
eight hundred and eight; no money shall be
raised till the year one thousand eight hun-
dred and nine, by the legislature of this

state, for the purpose of erecting public build-

ings for the accommodation of the legisla-

ture.’
”

As early as 1807-08 the subject of the re-

moval of the capital was agitated, and at the
session of 1808-09 the Muskingum delegation
in the general assembly was reinforced at Chil-

icothe by a committee appointed by the citi-

zens, headed by John Mclntire; and assurances
were received that if the county would, at its

own expense, furnish suitable buildings for the
legislature and state offices, a law would be
passed making Zanesville the “temporary cap-
ital." The people believed that the capital

once here, would remain. Public-spirited citi-

zens loaned the money, and the county built

what has been so well known locally as “ Old
1809.” During the summer of 1809 the main
building, intended for the legislature, was put
up but not finished. The contract was awarded
April 10, 1809, to Joseph Munro, Daniel Con-
verse, John Williamson and James Hampson, for

587,500, to be completed by December 1, 18 10.

In excavating for the foundation a small mound
was opened, in which they found a skeleton,

some flint arrow heads and a stone hatchet.

The bones crumbled on being exposed to the
air.

Notwithstanding these efforts of the county
and town, although the legislature assembled
early in December, 1809, it was not until the
19th day of February, 1810, that the following
act was passed: “Section 1. Be it enacted,
&c., That the seat of government be, and the
same is hereby fixed, and shall remain at Zanes-
ville, until otherwise provided by law. This
act shall take effect -and be in iorce from and
after the first day of October next.” But the

hopes of Zanesville and Muskingum that “once
here it would remain,” were not allowed more
than a day’s existence, for an act was passed
next day, February 20, 1810, providing for the

election by the legislature by ballot of five

commissioners, whose duty it should be to lo-
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cate the permanent capital, in a place “ not
more than forty miles from what may be
deemed the common center of the state, to be
ascertained by Mansfield’s map.” And these
commissioners were ordered to meet at Frank-
linton on September I, 1810. Thus it was
known that one month before Zanesville could
become the temporary capital, the duty of

selecting the spot for the permanent capital

would probably be completed; and that Zanes-
ville could not be that spot; for the central

point of an east and west line across Ohio,
passing through Zanesville, is the west line of

Licking county: a point forty-two miles dis-

tant—at the very least from our city—while the
fact that the geographical center of the state

lay north of that line, increased the distance
and left no room for hope, unless by manage-
ment the second act could be repealed.
Although their efforts had been only partially

successful, the honor of county and town was
involved, so the state house—court house—was
completed in the summer of 1810, and also, a

smaller building for use by the secretary of

state, and state treasurer; this was of brick, one
story high, and stood just north of the west
door of this court house. By direction of the
legislature all its books, papers, etc., were com-
mitted to George Jackson, John Mclntire, Wyl-
lys Silliman, Robert McConnell and David J.

Marple for transportation to Zanesville. It is

therefore probable that these gentlemen com-
posed the committee appointed by citizens

hereinbefore referred to.

On the 3d day of December, 1810, the gen-
eral assembly met in “Old 1809,” and chose
Edward Tiffin, speaker of the house, and
Thomas Kirker, speaker of the senate. The
house occupied the room so long used by the
court of common pleas; the senate sat in the
larger of the rooms in the second story: the
room always afterward known as “the old sen-

ate chamber.” This session ended on the 30th
day of January, 1811.

The next session began December 2, 1811,

and ended February 21, 1812. During the first

ten years of the state’s life, it had but one rep-

resentative in congress; the first congressional
apportionment law was enacted in Zanesville.

Ohio being then entitled to six representatives

in congress—this law assigned one of them to

a district composed of the counties of Bel-

mont, Coshocton, Guernsey, Jefferson and
Muskingum being the fourth district. On the
21st of January, 1812, two laws were passed,

under which, afterward, the bridges over the
river at Third and Main streets were built; un-

der another act passed February 21, 1812, John

Mclntire and others (afterwards incorporated
as “The Zanesville Canal and Manufacturing
Company”) built] a dam across the river and
a lock. At this session also, on February 14th,

1812, was passed the law locating the capital

permanently “on parts of Half Sections 9, 10,

11, 25 and 26, opposite Franklinton, Franklin
county, on lands of Alexander McLaughlin and
others;” but returning the temporary seat of

government to Chillicothe, there to remain un-
til the 1st Monday in December, 1817. At that

day Columbus had no existence—not even a
name— it was a spot opposite Franklinton.”
But Zanesville’s last legislature did what it

could to supply a designation, and on the last

day of its existence, resolved “that the town
to be laid out at the Highbank on the east side

of the Scioto river, opposite the town of Frank-
linton, for the permanent seat of government
of this state, shall be known and designated by
the name of 1 Columbus.’”

From October 1, 1810, to May 1, 1812—one
year and seven months, Zanesville flourished

as a state capital, and then returned to the

more modest but respectable position of shire-

town or county seat, and held until the census
of 1850, equal place with Dayton, Cleveland
and Columbus, as “ chief towns,” second only
to Cincinnati. Columbus had been the “ capi-

tal city” for well nigh thirty years before she
had a population greater in number than Zanes-
ville.

While the legislature met here, the courts

continued to sit in the frame building of 1808;

but after the capital went back to Chillicothe,

the “ state house ” became the county court

house, and served as such from the spring of

1812 until September, 1874, over sixty-two

years. The first court house, which had mean-
while served as schoolhouse, meeting house,

etc., and jail, was burned down April 3, 1814.

On the evening of April 2d, two men arrived

in Zanesville from the East, having in custody
a negro claimed to be a fugitive slave, escaped
from Kentucky. They placed their prisoner

in the jail for safe keeping during the night.

Some excitement arose amongst the citizens,

some of them urging that such use of the jail

was unlawful. The negro attempted to burn
the lock off the door, and succeeded so well

that by morning nothing was left but the lock

and himself, he owing his escape from death

to the active benevolence of a part of the

people; others insisting that he ought to be
thrown back into the fire. Assisted by some
“ free soilers” of that early day, he subsequently
escaped from his custodians. Thus Muskin-
gum’s first court house and jail became a burnt
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offering for the sin of slavery. “Old 1809”

and other adjacent buildings escaped because
their roofs had been soaked by a rain that night.

Before leaving these early means for admin-
istering justice, attention is requested to one
now wholly obsolete, save in the state of Dela-

ware, the whipping post. This stood on the small

Indian mound heretofore named. It was erected
in 1808, and existed only one year, and some
eight or ten convicts for “ minor offenses,” re-

ceived in public about twenty-five lashes each.

After this post disappeared “whippings” were
inflicted at the southeast corner of the old

log jail.

In 1822, a sheriff’s house and jail were built

of brick, the same that was used as the resi-

dence of the jailor until 1876. In 1846, one
Davis, convicted of poisoning his wife escaped
from this jail, and soon after a stone jail was
built adjoining the southeast corner of said

brick. Contrary to expectations, the stone jail

was by no means a secure custodian. An Irish-

man, who had been working on the railroad,

having been arrested for assault and battery,

by means of shovel and poker, speedily excav-
ated a passage-way below the foundations of

the dungeon and the next morning the aston-

ished sheriff found an empty jail and a hole 'in

the court house yard.

In 1830-31, the Zanesville Athenaeum built

the east wing, between “ 1809” and the alley,

externally like the west wing. Its upper story

was used until 1874 for library and reading
rooms; its lower story and basement for offices,

etc. About 1833, a west wing consisting of a

basement and two stories, was built between
“1809” and Fourth street; its rooms being
used by the clerks of the courts and other
county officers. From 1851 to 1874, the pro-
bate court occupied rooms in its second story.

On September 4, 1874, the contract for the
present court house was awarded to Mr. T. B.

Townsend, at $221,657, and on the I ith day of

the same month, the district court—Judges
Marsh, Frazier, Miller and Chambers, met for

the last time in “Old 1809,” and disturbed early
in its morning session by the contractor’s eager
workmen, adjourned to Black’s Music Hall,
the work of demolition began. The architect’s

estimate was for $240,205.67. Mr. Townsend
gave bond for $ioo,oco, with J. Burgess and
G. W. Townsend as sureties for the perform-
ance of the contract within twenty. four months
from November 1, 1874. An increased expendi-
ture of $1,403.02 was necessary to complete the
structure. T he dedication of the new court
house took place May 1, 1877, with appropriate
ceremonies and addresses by distinguished
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citizens. E. E. Fillmore, Esq., as chairman,
called the meeting to order and delivered a
brief address. Frank H. Southard made pre-
sentation of the building to the people of the
county in the following address of historical

value:

“Mr. Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen: I am
delegated by the board of commissioners -of

Muskingum county to make the formal pres-
entation of our new court house to the bar
and public.

“The building has been years in the process
of construction, and has caused much anxiety
and solicitude on the part of your commission-
ers. But while they have felt a deep responsi-
bility resting upon them as the representatives
of the public interests in this great enter-
prise, they have been sustained and encouraged
at every step by the generous support they
have received from the people, and have felt

gratified that the increased taxation incident
to the undertaking has been so cheerfully
responded to. As early as the year 1871, and
annually from that time to the present, has
this taxation been going steadily on.

“Your commissioners having thus early
anticipated the taxation, and having procured
the necessary plans, specifications and detailed

drawings from the very competent architect,

Henry E. Myer, of Cleveland, awarded the
contract of construction in the spring of 1874
to the enterprising contractor and builder,

Thomas B. Townsend, of your own city.

“This public enterprise was begun under
favorable auspices by the board of commis-
sioners, composed of Messrs. John Sims, Will-
iam Hall and Leonard N. Stump; and it has
been carried forward to its completion by their

successors in office, Messrs. John Sims, Thomas
Griffith, and William T. Tanner, who compose
our present board.

“The boards thus composed, assisted by
your efficient auditors, A. P. Stults and James
T. Irvine, carried forward this enterprise as

expeditiously as the public interests would
allow. They have studied diligently the public
convenience; they have guarded well the
public treasury; they have avoided all compli-
cations of the law and with a consciousness
that they have discharged the full measure of

their duty, they ask as their only reward the
public approbation.

“At an aggregate cost not exceeding $260,-

000, this temple, reared in the interests of

justice and the public convenience, is unexcep-
tionable in its architectural beauty, ample in

its accommodations, complete in all its ap-
pointments, the ornament of our city and the
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pride of our county. And as we tread to-day
its spacious halls and corridors, let us reflect

that the temples reared to religion and law
are true indices marking the morality, intelli-

gence and justice of our people; and let us
reflect, too, with an honest pride, that in Ohio,
one of the grandest of the states of our
Union, with her millions of people, justly
celebrated for their religion, their learning,
their arms and their law. and with a century of
prosperity marking their grand progress, this

temple stands in the foreground without a rival

of its kind in all her borders.
“For myself and on behalf of the com-

missioners I indulge the hope that all litigants

who shall bring their causes to this forum,
shall be represented always by just and honor-
able counsel; that the chair of justice shall in

the future, as in the past and present, be sup-
plied with worthy men; and that the fair

divinity, the blind goddess of Justice, who so
mysteriously presides at courts shall ever hold
her scales equal; that the court, desiring to be
just, shall preside with cool and impartial
judgment; that counsel in their zeal for the
interest of their clients shall never pass the
domain of professional propriety, and that law
shall be so administered as to i crease the
public faith and confidence in the administra-
tion of justice.

“In the name, then, and on behalf of our
commissioners, Mr. O’Neill, I now tender to

the bar and public, through you, as their repre-

sentative, this structure and pray its accept-
ance.”

This was responded to by Hon. John
O’Neill, accepting the building on behalf of
the bar and public. He was followed by Hon.
Moses M. Granger, who read a long and ex-
haustive address entitled “Muskingum County:
Its Courts and Bar.” To that address indebt-
edness is acknowledged for much of the mater-
ial entering into this chapter. At the close of

Judge Granger’s address a recess was taken until

7.30 in the evening. At the evening meeting
Hon. Lucius P. Marsh delivered an address
on the “Efficiency of Courts and How Promot-
ed.” The address of J udge Marsh was followed
by singing by a quartette composed of Mrs.
Geo. Harris, Miss Kate Cassel, Messrs. James
A. Cox and William H. Wilmont, assisted by
Miss Clara Ayers, organist. After this, the
closing address was made by Hon. H. W. Ball.

His subject was “The Relation of the Bar to

the Court and Community.” After General
Ball’s address, the doxology “Praise God from
Whom All Blessings Flow” was sung by the
quartette, and a benediction pronounced by

Rev. Dr. Kingsbury, when the people dispersed.

The circumstances of the building of the
old stone jail, above mentioned, were as fol-

lows: In 1845 John Goshen, Robert Boggs
and Littleton Moore, county commissioners,
found the old brick jail too insecure to hold
prisoners. They advertised for bids for the
construction of a new jail, to be built of stone
laid in regular courses, with sixteen cells for

prisoners, connected in two tiers. The con-
tract was let April 15, 1845, ar*d finished in

October, 1846. It was awarded to Hugh Mad-
den for $7,975. This jail gave way to the
present building, which stands further east,

and was erected under contract of Messrs. T.

B. Townsend and M. Clements—the former to

construct all but the inside iron work and re-

ceive $16,527, the total cost of the structure

being $25,027.
Lots 5, 6, 7 and 8, in Square 12, plat of

Zanesville, recorded on page 28, Book A, are

“appropriated to other public uses,” by which
is meant county purposes, the county having
occupied them since the appropriation, except
a traction of sixty feet square, being the north-

west corner of said tract, which the city was
permitted to erect buildings upon, and which
the county rented of the city for some years;

and when the county commissioners decided
to take possession of the lots bounded on the
north by F'ountain alley, south by Main street,

west by Fourth street and east by Court alley,

fora public square, the sum of $8,000 was given
to the city to “quit claim its right, title and in-

terest to all and singular the appurtences and
buildings situated on said northwest corner of

said tract.” The record referred to does not

exhibit John Mclntire’s act of appropriation,

but it is so construed, since the plat containing

the lots above specified was recorded in Wash-
ington county, April 29, 1802, and the right of

the county to their possession has not been
questioned. The county commissioners leased

to the Zanesville Athenaeum the land adjoining

the“C)ld 1809,” on the east, for library purposes,

for the term of 1,000 years, and therefore, when
their successors determined the site of the pres-

ent court-house, it was found necessary to

appropriate the rights of said lessee by pro-

ceedings in the probate court. A jury awarded

$6,575, which was duly paid to the Athenaeum
by the county. On the jury sat Joseph Qualls,

the first colored man ever drawn as a juror in

Muskingum county.

This brief sketch of the structures that have
occupied this ground—beginning with the rude

mound enclosing the remains and weapons of

an unknown race, who, once, as a people, pos-
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sessed the valley of the Mississippi and its

tributaries, and ending with these evidences of

our present wealth, taste and architectural skill,

indicates the changes wrought in three quarters

of a century. The thoughts and imaginations
of the younger readers these pages, aided by
the memories of many who yet live as links

between the past and the present, can easily

fill up the picture of the successive generations
that have in the interval lived and died, suf-

fered and enjoyed, failed or succeeded, within
the immediate vicinity of this spot as these
years have passed away.

June 30, 1838, the county commissioners
bought of Andrew R. Jackson* 100 acres of

land in Falls township, the east end of Jackson's
division, in Quarter Township No. 4, Township
1, Range 8, for the purpose of a county poor
farm, for $3,000. October 8, 1863, the second
100 acres of the poor farm was purchased of
Augustus C. Springer, for $7,000. The contract
for building the first poor-house was let to
David McGinnis, May 15, 1839, for $7,409.57.
The building was partially burned in 1859, and
was rebuilt and enlarged the following year, at

an expense of $9,500. The contract for the
new building was let May 15, 1880. W. C. Haz-
lett was the architect. The contractors: Ex-
cavation, foundation and brick work, T. B.

Townsend; cut stone, Eisle & Berkheimer;
iron beams, Illinois Vernon Bridge Company;
carpenter work, galvanized iron work, slate and
tile roofing, William Hall; painting, Henry
Mechlin; plumbing, Rockel & Sons; total con-
tract price, $44,000. The buildings have since
been improved as occasion has demanded.

Just previous to his death, John Mclntire
was deeply interested in the promotion of a
scheme for the improving of the water power
advantages at Zanesville, as well as making the
Muskingum river a navigable stream from its

mouth to this point, and he was engaged in

this great enterprise when the fell destroyer,
death, removed him from the scene of his

labors. He died July 29, 1815, but with his

death the grand scheme for the betterment of
his adopted city did not cease, as it was found
that he had allied his entire property and estate
with its destinies, and, by his last will and testa-

ment, made it through all coming time an im-
portant factor in our city and the depository
of a fund dedicated to the noblest of purposes.
We herewith give the text of his last will and
testament in full.

“ I, John Mclntire, who am a citizen of the
United States, and a resident of the town of
Zanesville, wishing to make a just disposition

of all my estate, both real and personal, to take
effect after my death, do make this instrument
of writing as and for my last will and testa-

ment, hereby revoking and disannuling all for-

mer wills by me heretofore made.
“ In the first place in lieu of my wife’s full

dower at law, I give, devise and bequeath to

her absolutely the one-half of all the personal
property I may die possessed of, exceptmy clock,

which is not to be sold, but remain in my dwell-

ing house as long as it will go. All my person-
al property is first to be valued by three men
chosen by my executors; then my wife, Sally, is

to make her choice of the one-half, or should
she not take the one-half, the residue is to be
sold, and she is to get the money arising from
the sale. I also give, devise and bequeath to

her during her life my mansion house, barn
stable, and all my outhouses and improvements,
within the present enclosure where I now live.

Secondly, so soon after my death as my execu-
tors, or a majority of them, may think proper,

I order, direct and empower them to sell and
convey in fee simple in such parcels and in

such a manner and on such terms as they think
proper, all and every part of my real estate in

the county of Muskingum or elsewhere, except
the real property which I own and which lies

in the grant made by the United States to

Ebenezer Zane, on the Muskingum river, which
shall not be sold during the lifetime of my wife,

and out of the sales and proceeds of the above
lands, my executors are to pay off all my just

debts as soon as possible, after which debts are

paid, my executors are to pay to my wife Sally,

annually, and during her life, the one half of

the rents, interest, issues and profits of all my
estate, both real and personal. The money
arising from the sales of my real estate and per-

sonal estate after the payment of my debts as

aforesaid, is to be by my executors vested in

stock in the Zanesville Canal and Manufactur-
ing Company, all excepting one hundred dollars,

which I allow them to purchase a horse, saddle,

and bridle with for John Chapman, who now
lives with me; also one other hundred dollars

which I allow them to purchase a horse, sad-

dle and bridle with for Lucinda Green, who
now lives with me. At the death of my wife,

Sally, I allow my executors to sell and convey
in fee simple in such a manner and on such
terms as they think proper, all the rest, residue

and remainder of my real estate then remaining
unsold, the house and lot as above bequeathed
to my wife, with the clock as aforesaid ex-
cepted, and the money arising from such sale

or sales to be vested in the Zanesville Canal
and Manufacturing Company stock, as my* A relative of T. J. (“Stonewall”) Jackson.
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other money is ordered to be vested. Thirdly,
I allow my executors, if they think it prudent
and proper, to pay out of the aforesaid funds
annually to Negro Mess, who lived with me
and now lives with me, fifty dollars, during his

lifetime.
“ Fourthly, I give, devise and bequeath to

my daughter, Amelia Mclntire, otherwise
called Amelia Messer, at the death of my wife,

my mansion house with the premises before
described in fee simple, provided she leaves
heirs of her body, or an heir, with the clock-

aforesaid; also, I give, devise and bequeath to

her and the heir or heirs of her body, and their

heirs forever, all the rents, issues, interest and
profits of all my Zanesville Canal and Manu-
facturing Company stock, which are to be paid
to her annually during her life, by the president
and directors of said company, on her own per-

sonal application and not otherwise. She is

not at liberty to sell, under the pain of forfeit-

ure, any part of said stock, nor is the same ever
to be liable for the payment of her debts which
she may contract, or which her husband, should
she marry, may contract. Should she leave an
heir, or heirs of her body, then at her death the
house aforesaid to be vested in them in fee

simple and all the stock aforesaid, to do with as

they may think proper. But should my daugh-
ter, Amelia Mclntire, otherwise called Amelia
Messer, die without an heir or heirs of her
body, then my house and lot with the premises
as before described are to be held in fee simple
by the company before described for the use
and occupancy of the president of said com-
pany, with the clock aforesaid, he paying into

the fund aforesaid, for the use hereafter de-

scribed, a reasonable rent, to be fixed by the
directors for the same; and the president and
directors of the said company are annually for-

ever to appropriate all the profits, rents and
issues of my stock as aforesaid, and all my es-

tate of whatever kind the same may be, for the
use and support of a poor school, which they
are to establish in the town of Zanesville for

the use of the poor children in said town; the
children who are to be the objects of this insti-

tution are to be fixed upon by the president
and directors of said company. This request
to be absolutely void in case my daughter,
Amelia, before described, should leave an lien-

or heirs of her body.
“ Lastly, I nominate, constitute and appoint

my friends, Daniel Converse, Alexander Adair
and Nathan C. Findlay, all of Zanesville, the
executors of this, my last will and testament,
with full and absolute power by me in them
or a majority of them vested, to carry this

will and every part thereof inti full effect,

and I fully empower them, or a majority of

them, to sell and convey my real estate as

aforesaid described in fee simple, and as

fully as I myself could was I living, and in

case any of my executors as aforesaid men-
tioned should refuse to act agreeable to my
request, as an executor of my estate, then, in

that case, I authorize and fully empower the
other two executors to fix upon and appoint
some other person who will act as an executor,
and after he is sworn according to law, as an
executor is sworn, I do absolutely and fully

vest him with all the powers which any of my
exectors are vested with, and all his acts as an
executor are to be as binding as those of his

co-executors.
“ In testimony that this instrument of writ-

ing is my last will and testament, I, John Mc-
lntire, who am now of sound mind and memory,
have hereto set my hand and seal, this eigh-

teenth day of March, eighteen hundred and
fifteen, at Zanesville, 1815.”

John McIntire [seal.]
December 15, 1820, Miss Amelia Mclntire

died, thus making one half of this fund a per-

petual fund for the education of the poor of

our city, to be selected by the Zanesville Canal
and Manufacturing Company, the trustee under
the will.

Erecting a suitable school building, the

Zanesville Canal and Manufacturing Company
opened and maintained a free “ poor school

”

in the city until the year 1856, when owing to

the flourishing condition of the public schools,

and the repugnance of parents and children

alike toward a distinctively “ poor school,”

the trustees placed the building under the

control of the board of education, by whom
schools were conducted therein, the same
as in other wards chools, they (the trustees)

paying all the expense of maintaining it.

The widow of John Mclntire, who had mar
ried the Rev. David Young, died in 1854,

and the other half of the estate was thereby
added to the fund. In 1865, the trustees as-

sumed the expense of maintaining another of

the ward schools of the city. It was at this

time, June, 1865, that a small band of noble-

hearted ladies decided to organize an associa-

tion “ for the purpose of caring for the desolate

children in our city.” The meeting was held

in one of the small rooms of the Second Street

Methodist Episcopal Church, and was attended
by Mrs. Van Buren, Mrs. James, Mrs. Captain
Hazlett, Mrs. Dr. Brown, Mrs. Louisa Brooks,

Mrs. General Leggett and Mrs. Jos. Black.

Committees were appointed for soliciting funds
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to promote the scheme. On July 24, 1865,

another meeting was held at the same place

and a permanent organization effected; the

association adopting the title of the Muskin-
gum County Children’s Home Association.

The first home was opened on Market
street, east of Blocksom alley, but in the spring

of 1866 these rooms were found to be insuf-

ficient for the accommodation of the children,

and the board of control contracted with

Stephen Harper for five acres of land situated

on the old Wheeling road, one mile east of the

court house, for which they agreed to pay the

sum of $2,150.00. The importance of such an
institution as the Children’s Home having been
demonstrated in fulfilling desires akin to

those expressed in the will of John Mclntire,
the trustee.of his estate on October 1, 1866,

agreed to contribute $400 a year for the school
in the home. On May 30, 1868, the trustee

under the will, agreed to contribute each year

$2,000, the name to be changed to “The Mcln-
tire Children’s Home,” and a majority of the
managers of the home were to be always
chosen from the directors of the Zanesville
Canal and Manufacturing Company. Said
trustee also purchased the mortgage on the
real estate of the home.

In this manner, the Children’s Home was
conducted for eleven years, when the trustees

became satisfied that a building should be con-
structed, especially adapted for such purpose,
and, after due deliberation, the present site was
selected. It embraces eight acres of land and
lies one and a fourth miles northwest of the
court house, and just within the city limits.

The trustees next made a contract with the
county commissioners, through a joint com-
mission, whereby the country contributed
$6,000.00 toward the erection of a new home,
and further agreed to pay a pro rata share of

expenses of the home in consideration of the
executors admitting to the benefits of the in-

stitution such children as might be sent to the
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county infirmary from time to time, and who
were of suitable age for admission.

The new home building was begun in June,

1879, and finished in August of the following

year, and was at once dedicated to its intend-

ed use with appropriate religious ceremonies.
In August, 1885, by mutual consent, the

contract with the county was rescinded
and the $6,000.00 repaid into the county
treasury. The structure is one of the most
beautiful in this vicinity, and will compare
favorably with any similiar institution in the

state. The main building is a fine brick with
stone trimmings, 90x125 feet in dimensions.
The basement is built of limestone with range
work about the windows; the east and west
wings are two stories high, while the central

portion is three stories, with Mansard roof. It

fronts the south and contains thirty-five rooms
and is well arranged in case of fire, having
many exits. It is heated throughout by steam
and lighted by gas from the city mains. The
laundry, which is located in the rear, is a sub-

stantial building thirty-two feet square, and is

supplied with all necessary appliances. The
school house is located seventy-five yards to

the east of the main building, and is a hand-
some two-roomed structure. The home has
capacity for 100 children, and is thoroughly
equipped in every respect.

The home farm comprises 104 acres of land,

and produces all that is needed for the home.
There are several buildings upon it for the res-

idence of the employes of the institution.

Situated as it is, upon a commanding emi-
nence, beautifully shaded by trees, and sur-

rounded by handsome lawns and well-kept
grounds, it is a model institution, and the

inmates of the John Mclntire Children’s Home
may well be happy and contented, living to

bless the memory of the man who has thus left

an everlasting testimonial of his sympathy for

the poor and unfortunate of this county.
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©foapfep VII.

RIVER IMPROVEMENT AND NAVIGATION *

B
EFORE the inauguration of slack water
navigation on the Muskingum river, steam-
boating, which could only be carried on

when the water was considerably a bove its aver-
age level, was in its infancy. Traffic between
Zanesville and points down the river was carried
on by means of tlat boats, which were broken up
and sold for lumber upon reaching their destina-
tion, and keel boats and pirogues, which were
slowly and laboriously poled up stream after

leisurely drifting down. The principal landings
were at the Dillon wharf, at the foot of
Fourth street, the Buckingham warehouse near
the Putnam end of the Sixth street bridge and
at the foot of Fifth street, Zanesville. How-
ever about 1844, when the state locks and dams
were completed, the steamboat business came
immediately to the front, and rapidly grew to

large proportions. Daily packets ran to Dres-
den and Marietta, and large boats made week-
ly trips to Pittsburg. Besides these there were
a number of boats running frequently to New
Orleans, Cincinnati and at long intervals to

upper Mississippi points—Davenport, Rock
Island and St. Paul.

The Dresden boats, among the first of

which were the “Relief,” the “ Tuscarawas,”
“Walhonding” and the “ Mclntire,” carried

numerous excursions up the river.

The Marietta boats carried rather more
freight and less frivolity; but, running in any
trade, steamboating during its flush times, from

1845 to 1855, offered a most attractive life as

well as a most lucrative field to young men
living near the river; and there are few of the
older families that have not had more than
one representative “ on the river.” The excite-

ment of racing was a prominent feature of

steamboating in those days. Every captain
believed that if his craft had anything like a

fair chance she could show a clean pair of

heels to any boat of her class that ever turned
a wheel; and, with a view of demonstrating
this superior speed, would race with anything
afloat at every possible opportunity—going
scudding by passengers and shippers frantical-

ly waving from the bank, unless it happened
that the rival steamboat seemed to be getting
the uest of it when stopping for freight or
travellers served as an admirable excuse for

not winning the race. Considering the fact

that desperate racing was the rule, it is remark-
able that no accidents occurred, indeed there
have never been any disasters of great magni-
tude, under any conditions, in the history of

Muskingum steamboating, the worst being the
explosion of the “ Buckeye Belle” in the Bev-
erly locks. The only other explosion on the
river was that of the “ McCormick,” some
fifteen years ago. In those days there were no
lines of steamers on western rivers; every boat
was an independent venture that made or lost

money according to the ability of her officers

to please the public. Few, however, were the

boats that did not prove profitable investments
to their owners. The cargoes carried were
enormous and the freight rates high. As an
example may be cited the “Helen Mar,” the
toll upon whose cargo through the locks of

the Muskingum was $500 for one trip alone.

The “ Cheviot,” another boat of the same class,

a few years later, twice carried cargoes of

2,500 barrels of flour from Worstall’s mill at

Beverly. Tradition says the “ Cheviot ” was the
fastest boat on the river between 1850 and
i860. She was built by William McIntosh and
captained by him for a short time, and after

that by Capt. D. T. Brown, of Beverly. One
of her trips was from Zanesville to St. Paul,

St. Paul and thence back to Pittsburg, the en-

tire distance and a number of changes of

freight accomplished in an even thirty days.

The ill-fated Belle Zane was also considered a

speedy craft for a stern-wheeler. Despite the

narrowness of the locks there have been half

a dozen side-wheel boats, with recessed wheels,

built for this river. One of them, the “ Enter-
prise,” a Cincinnati and New Orleans packet
built at Zanesville by Bishop and others, had

Indebtedness is acknowledged to a seiies ot papers published
in the 'Zanesville Daily Signal, written by Mr. C. Frame, and used
here by permission.
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the largest hull ever on the river, and was
just able to go through the locks.

Canoes, pirogues, flat boats and keelboats
were used from the time of the first settlements
on the Muskingum river until the opening of

the improved navigation on the river by the
locks and dams in 1842. The canoe was made
by digging a trough-like space in a large pop-
lar tree. They were propelled by a man, or
men standing in the canoe, using a pole to push
the craft. They were easily overturned, and it

required an experienced hand to navigate
safely and rapidly. Many of the pirogues were
made of a very large tree, with a keel and a

running board on the sides for men who used
the propelling poles. The flat boats were like

the boats used until lately in carrying coal on
the river, the whole boat uncovered, except a

covered space near the stern for the pilot of
the boat. They floated with the current down
the stream, but they had to be pushed by
strong men when ascending the river. The
keel boat was the most aristocratic of all the
boats on the river. It was a regular ribbed
boat, planked on the bottom, its sides well cov-
ered with plank, to turn rain and keep the
freight dry. These boats carried produce to

the different trading towns, Pittsburgh, Cincin-
nati, Wheeling and other places. Some of them
went as far as Nashville, Tenn., with their car-

goes, returning with different kinds of mer-
chandise for the Zanesville trade. The large

flat boats for carrying flour and other kinds of

produce for the down river trade, were only
used for the trip down the river. When their

cargo was unloaded, they were sold for differ-

ent uses. Only the value of lumber could be
obtained, and sometimes they were disposed
of for a very small consideration.
The canoe and pirogue were used by farmers

along the Muskingum river at Big Bottom and
Round Bottom, for carrying their fruit (apples,
pears and peaches) and watermelons to the
Zanesville market. A number of them could
could be seen in the fruit season at the landing
almost every day.

The flat boat was used for the salt trade,

and sometimes to carry farmers’ produce to the
market. Before the era of steamboating, nearly
all the salt from the many saltworks along the
Muskingum river was carried to market on flat

boats. Nearly every salt works had a flat boat
that would carry from ten to fifty tons of salt.

Without flat boats there would have been much
trouble and expense of teaming the salt to the
Zanesville trade.

The keelboats made trips to Wheeling and
Pittsburg, carrying articles to be teamed from

Wheeling to Baltimore, and from Pittsburg to

Philadelphia. They were there loaded with
different kinds of merchandise for the Ohio
trade, floating down the Ohio riverto Marietta;
then the socket poles were used, the steersman
calling “head to,’’ “up behind” and “all to-

gether” to his crew on either side of the boat,

the men bending, with their iron socket hickory
poles, with button-shaped ends, to their should-
ers, forcing the heavily-loaded craft up stream.
In many places horses or oxen were used to

help over the riffle, or a long rope was fas-

tened to a tree on shore, the other end wound
around the capstan, and the boat would “be
warped over the riffle.”

The following persons were all prominent
keel-boatmen:

John Carpenter had the keelboal, “Retuna,”
afterward named the “Little Toin.” His trade
was from Zanesville to Pittsburg, also he was
the owner of other boats in the Cincinnati and
Kanawha trade. He was in the trade in 1820
and 1825. Victor Stull and his brother Harry,
the father and uncle of Captain Stull, of
Beverly; Lemuel Swift, afterward a prominent
steamboat pilot; Captain Birch, of Marietta,
who was on the river piloting steamboats until

he was nearly eighty years old, and old Billy

Scales, who was one of the best rifle-shots in

the Western states. Mike Fink, one of Car-
penter’s men, was another good shot with a

rifle. An amusement for him and Carpenter,
was to place a tin cup of whisky on each other’s

head, and then shoot at it. Mike shot Car-
penter in the head. Yankee, one of the trio as

soon as he saw Carpenter was dead, immedi-
ately shot Fink, then he jumped into a canoe
and escaped down the river. The boat cap-
sized and Yankee was drowned. Dudley Davis
of Cat’s creek, Tiff and Ross Nott, Ab and
Hark Boyd, Paul, Alexander and George Hahn
were among the most prominent keel-boatmen.

The large covered flat-boat was the great
boat for carrying flour, apples, potatoes, stone-
ware and other produce and manufactures for

the Ohio and Mississippi river trade. As soon
as there was water enough in the river in

autumn, these boats were leaving the towns on
the Muskingum river for the lower trade, as it

was then called. Generally old keel-boatmen
were captains and pilots of these boats. There
was a space for cooking and a living room. All

other space was packed with the load. They
frequently carried from six hundred to one
thousand barrels of flour. They had large

oars—sweeps they were called to assist in

propelling and steering the boat. The crew
enjoyed the trip. On every trip there was a
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“tender-foot,” as a young man’s education was
not considered complete until he had made a

trip to New Orleans. Billy Scales made many
trips to the Crescent city and he returned three

times on foot, crossing through the Cherokee
tribe of Indians, who then had their home in

Mississippi and Tennessee. He carried the

money for his load of produce in a sack, and
he was never molested. Often a small fleet of

Muskingum river boats were in company. A
Mr. Jones, of McConnelsville, was an experi-

enced flatboat pilot.

In 1 8 1 1 ,
the first steamboat the “Orleans,”

passed down the Ohio, causing as much as-

tonishment along the shore as did the first

steamer on the Muskingum river fourteen
years later. The “Rufus Putnam,” commanded
by Captain Green was the first steamboat to

make the attempt to navigate the Muskingum
river as far as Zanesville. It had been sup-
posed to be impossible for a steamboat to

ascend the river, owing to the rapidity of the

stream and its crookedness when there was
sufficient water, and the uncertainty of its

remaining long enough at a high stage to make
a trip from Marietta to Zanesville and return.

Captain Burch, an old keel boatman, was the

first man who demonstrated it could be done
with safety.

The surprise of people along the shore was
long remembered by them.

The surprise was great at Zanesville, for it

was demonstrated a boat, a steamboat, had
arrived from Marietta. The whole town was
in an excitement. Citizens ran to and fro in

confusion, and the excitement was great, wav-
ing their hands and shouting. The officers of

the boat and the passengers were sumptuously
entertained. On her return trip the people
flocked to the banks of the river from the
country. The following account of this memor-
able happening is from the pen of Alonzo
Green, of Oakland, California, who was a pas-

senger on the “Putnam.”—“Aboutthe trip of the

‘Putnam’ to Zanesville; my father had been
running the keel boats, carrying merchandise
from Pittsburg, Pa., to Zanesville. I had hold
of his hand, looking at a steamboat coming
down the Ohio. She* turned into the Musk-
ingum and ran up to the mill on the Point
Harmer side to take in flour. Father snapped
his fingers, and said aloud, ‘I will sell my keel
boats,’ and it must have been two years before
he started the ‘Putnam.’ Some of his old con-
signees in Zanesville wrote him they wanted
him to make a trip to their city. The boat
came from Louisville, and the Muskingum was
high and rising. The citizens were notified

the ‘Putnam’ would go up to Zanesville on the
third day after that time, as the boat had
passengers for Pittsburg, as well as freight.

The boat returned and was full and more,
too. The charge for the round trip was $5
The floors on both cabins were full of beds at

night, and some had no place to sleep and
kept up and went on shore after the boat
arrived at Zanesville. We started early in the
morning and fired the first gun (a cannon
about two feet long and four-inch bore).

Every hour the cannon boomed, all the way
up to Zanesville. The people along the banks
followed for miles, cheering and showing their

appreciation of seeing a steamboat that could
stem the rapid current of the river, but our
boat made only three or a little more than that

many miles per hour. Most of our passengers
were young ladies and gentlemen, and a few
old folks to look after the young ones. The
boat was very cranky and it required constant
vigilance on the part of the captain and mate
to keep the boat on an even keel. Mrs. Holden
was a stout, fleshy lady, and at the word, ‘trim

boat,’ the question was, ‘Where is Mrs.
Holden?’ and it was a jollification all the way
up; and there were many matrimonial engage-
ments made on that trip. When we came in

sight of Zanesville the cannon in the city fired

constantly, I think, all night. We anchored
the boat in the stream, as the captain was
afraid the crowd would turn her over. The
next day, a public dinner was given in honor
of the occasion, and a committee waited on
father, soliciting him to give an excursion
down a few miles to allow them to ride on a

steamboat. Father offered to give them a free

ride, but the committee would not have it so,

as they contended the boat would be full and
no ladies could go. It was settled the charge
was to be Si for each passenger. They made
the trip down ten miles, and a crowd was on
board and hundreds were left when the boat
was full.

“He started for Marietta the next day and
made the run down in six hours. The banks
were lined with people who had come from the

back country to see the boat go by, but none
were able to follow. I think there were four

children on board— Miss Maria and Miss
Julia Holden, Richard Green (son of Daniel),

and myself. Any one living at this time is

certainly eighty years of age, or near that.”

The “Speedwell” of Pittsburg, fired off

her howitzer early one morning in the spring

of 1827. The shrill whistle or the hoarse
sounding ho;m was then unknown. The “ Red
Rover,” in the spring of 1828, made several
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trips from Pittsburg to Zanesville during the

spring and summer freshets. Other boats made
trips on the Muskingum, but steamboating on
the Muskingum was not a regular business un-

til the completion of the dams and locks, in

1842. Gen. C. C. Goddard made a quick trip

from Zanesville to Marietta on the Putnum,
only being six hours on the trip. Only one
stop was made and that for a few minutes at

McConnelsville.
From the time of the first settlement west

of the Ohio river, until the opening of the
canals, all goods for the West had to be carried

on pack-horses or hauled on wagons from the

Eastern cities, crossing the mountains, first on
rough roads, afterward on the turnpikes to

Pittsburg or Wheeling, for the Ohio trade.

When the Ohio and Muskingum rivers were
frozen, or the water too low for boating, many
teams were required to haul the freight on
large wagons, called Pennsylvania schooners,
usually six horses hitched to each wagon.
These teams were used until the completion of

the Muskingum river improvement, in 1842.

The old four-horse stage coach used to come
down Main street, Zanesville, at rapid rate of

speed causing all wagons to take the sides of

the street and pedestrians to look out for them-
selves. The arrival of the coaches from
Wheeling, Columbus and Maysville and their

departure, was an every-day occurence, but
the event would always gather a crowd of idle

spectators.

Col. Orndoff and Capt. William Terry, the
officials of the stage line, were both quite
popular with the traveling public. The colonel
was the inventor of the famous “ Hagerstown
sausage.”

The wayside inn did a flourishing business.

The wagon taverns in the night presented the
appearance often of a part of a military en-

campment. The horses were fed in a long
trough, fastened to the wagon tongue. The
teamsters furnished their own beds, which were
spread on the floor of the inn during the night.

These were the prosperous days for the villages

on the pikes running east and West. As the
country improved, wise men began to estimate
the advantages of building canals from Phila-

delphia and New York City, to secure the trade
of the rapidly-improving “great West.” De
Witt Clinton is said to be the father of the
Lake Erie and Hudson canal. New York at

that time viewed with alarm the trade that was
going to Philadelphia and Baltimore, hence the
building of the canal to turn the trade to New
York. Clinton visited Ohio in 1823 or 1824, for

the purpose of arousing public opinion in favor

of the canal from Cleveland to Portsmouth,
which was commenced in 1825.

The completion of the Ohio canal aroused
the citizens in the Muskingum valley to the im-
portance of slack navigation on the Muskin-
gum river. In 1827 a commission of three was
appointed, one from each of the counties, to

assist an engineer in making a survey of the
river and estimate the cost of improving the
channel. Thomas Wickham, of Muskingum,
Samuel A. Barker, of Morgan, and W. R. Put-

nam, of Washington county, were the commis-
sioners. Their salary was fixed at $1.50 per
day, which was to be paid by the three counties.

If the survey was ever made, no record is now
to be found of it.

In the winter of 1835 and 1836 there was an
epidemic in Ohio, as well as in other States, of

internal improvement, which was evolved at

that session for improving the Muskingum
river by dams, locks and short canals from
Marietta to Dresden, a distance of ninety miles.

An appropriation of $400,000 was made. This
sum was deemed sufficient for a commence-
ment of the work. The primary plan was for

locks of the same size as that at the terminus
of the Ohio canal at Dresden, viz., 120x22 feet,

only admitting of the size of boats used on the
Ohio canal, but the commissioners discovered
that the law required them to build locks large

enough to admit steamboats used in navigating
the upper Ohio river. A change was made in

the plan, to 100x34 feet, which was considered
large enough for the trade Complaint was
made about the size of the locks, and a careful

measurement was made of thirty boats on the
upper Ohio, when it was found that only three
of them could pass locks of the size, while all

of them, excepting four, could pass a lock
175x36 feet. The change in the plan was not
made for some time, the southern end of the
river being opposed to increasing the size of

the locks, while Morgan and Muskingum
counties favored the larger locks, which were
finally adopted by the commissioners of public

works.
The canal commissioners contracted for the

work in October, 183G. William Wall, acting
commissioner, and David Bates, chief engineer,

advertised for the work. When the magnitude
of the work that was to be done is considered,
the responsibility of the commission in letting

such jobs was very great for that age of im-
provements.

George W. Manypenny secured the contract
for building the dam at Zanesville and Josiah
Spaulding the lock there; Hosmer, Chapin &
Sharp, the dam at Taylorsville and Lon, Bucky
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& Wolf the lock at the same place; Arthur
Taggart the lock and dam at Rokeby or Eagle-
port; Hosmer, Chapin & Sharp the lock and
dam at McConnelsville

;
Arthur Taggart the

lock and dam at Windsor; Lyon, Buck &
Wolf the dam at Luke Chute; John McCune,
the canal and dam at Beverly, and Arthur
Taggart the lock at Beverly; Lyon, Buck &
Wolf the lock at Lowell; Arthur Taggart,
the lock and dam at Devols; Hosmer, Chapin
& Sharp the lock and dam at Marietta. Col.

Samuel R. Curtis acted as supervisor and chief

engineer of the work the first two years. The
assistant .engineers were: Charles Hill, Senior;
assistant; W. L. Coffenberry, J. T. Arthur, John
Burwell, Joseph Stibbs, J. R. Straughn, James
Welsh and M. Love, junior assistants. Many
other engineers were employed at the same
works as assistants. Among them, Fred Hay-
ward, now of McConnelsville, was employed
at Lowell. Hon. John Sherman, now United
States Senator, was one of Hayward’s rodmen.

The locks are located as follows: Dresden,
Simms’ Creek, Zanesville, Taylorsville, Eagles-
port, McConnelsville, Windsor, Luke Chute,
Beverly, Lowell, Devols and Harmers. There
are two locks at Zanesville, and a dam near
each of the locks named, except at Dresden,
where necessity for one is obviated by the
canal flowing into the Muskingum.

During the five years that the work on
the contracts was being prosecuted, there were
flush times along the Muskingum. So many
large jobs on hand at the same time, only a few
miles apart, for a distance of seventy-five miles,

made a great demand for labor of all kinds,

and sale for timber and farmers’ produce.
During the five years from 1837 to 1842 there
was more money paid out along the Muskin-
gum than any other time, although there has
been more than one million dollars paid out
for repairs and new work since 1842. When
the dams were building it was claimed the
water-power would be used for manufacturing
purposes and the Muskingum valley would be
the greatest hive of industries in Ohio. Before
the dams were built James Taylor had a dam
and a mill at Taylorsville. There was also a

sawmill and woolen factory. Robert Mc-
Connell had a dam and mill at McConnels-
ville. There were passages for boats about
sixty feet wide at the end of these dams which
were used by boats during high water. Boats
ascending the river had to pass through locks.

A village was laid out at Taylorsville. The
lots were sold for more money than they would
bring since the completion of the public work.
Eaglesport was platted and lots sold; so at

Windsor; Luke Chute made no attempt to build
a city or anything except a small building for

the lock-tender. Beverly caught the “boom,”
and Lowell was to be the great city, hence its

name. These places all claimed great “natural
advantages,” but they have seen other localities

improve in advance of them and their great
expectations are not yet realized. When the
bill for the Muskingum improvement from
Dresden to Marietta, was finally settled, the
ninety miles cost the state $1,627,018.20, an
average of $17,879.32 per mile.

The first steamboats in the regular trade on
the Muskingum river were built at Zanesville
before the completion of the improvement, and
some of them were engaged in the trade to

Dresden. The canal boats from Cleveland
with their cargoes were brought to Zanesville,

towed by the small steamers in that trade.

Large quantities of flour and salt were shipped
on canal boats for the trade along the canal,

and much of the flour was sent to New York.
“The Hope,” built by Capt. Reeves, is rep-

resented as the first steamboat built at Zanes-
ville. It was a small craft not equal to some
of the small pleasure boats that were on the
river a few years ago. The “Tuscarawas,”
Capt. Billy Scales commander, made a trip to

Coshocton, during high water. Joseph How-
land was engineer. The “ Muskingum Valley,”

another of Capt. Scales’ boats, was in the Dres-
den trade. There were also other boats en-

gaged in this trade, the names of the best known
being “The Ohio,” “Mclntire,” “Zanesville

packet,” “Muskingum,” “Moxahala” and “Re-
lief.” The last named boat was built for the
Dresden trade, commanded by Capt. Thompson.
It also made a few trips to Pittsburg. The
“ Philip Doddridge,” of Wellsburg, Va., was
also early in the Muskingum trade. Capt.

Robert Hazlett was one of the owners of the
“ Muskingum,” “Moxahala” and the “Relief,”

and he was a commander on the “Muskingum”
and “Moxahala.”

The “Putnam” was built by Capt. Blue on
the canal bank near Second street. It went to

New Orleans, and there was engaged in the

Lake Pontchartrain trade. The “Del Norte”
left the Muskingum for the Rio Grande river,

crossing the Gulf of Mexico. It was com-
manded by Capt. William Bowen, who had
commanded the steamer “Muskingum” in the

Pittsburg trade. Capt. Bowen was a partner

of Mr. L. H. Dugan in building the large flour-

ing-mill at Duncan’s P'alls, now owned by Mr.

John Miller. He was a brother of Mr. Charles
Bowen, who was lost when the “Belle Zane”
sunk, on the Mississippi river. Capt. Bowen
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engaged in trade in Mexico, and was killed by
the Mexicans before the war with the United
States.

There appear to have been a great many
boats carrying the first steam whistle on the

Ohio. Mr. W. W. Little, of Little, Ky., writes

that it was on the Mingo Chief in 1844. A
veteran river man of Cincinnati is certain that

it was on a boat called the “Revenue,” owned
by Capt. A. Bartlett, of Wheeling; she received
the whistle the year following the great Pitts-

burg fire, in 1844 or 1845. The “Mingo Chief”
was in the Pittsburg and Zanesville trade.

The steamer “Julia Dean” was the pioneer
in having the first steam horn. It excited the
people more than the first whistle. The “Belle
Zane” was built at the California boat yard on
the Monongahela river. The boat was owned
at Zanesville and it was a regular packet in the
Zanesville and Pittsburg trade, capacity 300
tons. It made a few trips to Cincinnati and to

St. Louis. The “Belle Zane” was a fine model
and one of the fastest boats at that time. In
December, 1845, the boat was loaded at Zanes-
ville with a miscellaneous cargo, consisting of

flour, empty molasses barrels to be filled on the
Louisiana coast with molasses for the Zanes-
ville wholesale trade. At Marietta there were
taken aboard 700 turkeys and a large number
of chickens for the New Orleans market.
About thirty cattle and 600 bushels of corn
were added to the load at Madrid, Mo. The
cabin was well filled with passengers and the
boat had all the load it could carry. The rivers

were very low and there was slow traveling on
account of the low stage of water. John Bra-
zure, of Cincinnati, was commander, and the
other officers were Zanesville men, viz.: Clerk,
Edward Matthews; mate, Monroe Ayers

; en-
gineers, David Hahn and Joseph Howland.
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Bowen and son, and Mr.
and Mrs. Wyncoop and son, were passengers
from Zanesville. Mr. Bowen was a prominent
citizen then engaged in the grocery trade.
He had represented the county in the Ohio
legislature. Mr. Wyncoop was also a well-
known citizen. Many friends were at the land-
ing when the boat lines were handed in and a
large crowd were at the lock and remained
waiting until the boat passed around the bend
below Moxahala.

On the 1 7th, four sunken boats were seen that
had been snagged. The night of the 1 8th and
morning of the 19th of December the weather
was very cold, the thermometer was near zero,
and ice was rapidly forming. At two o’clock in
the morning, soon after the first watch had left

their places, there came a crash, a heavy shock,

and the boat turned on its side; the boflers

rolled into the river. A snag was struck, and
the boat was sinking. The roof floated off,

with Victor Fell, of Zanesville, on it. He was
saved. David Hahn, Monroe Ayers and
another man made a raft of the gang-plank
and went ashore, and ran down the shore a dis-

tance and found a yawl, which they took and
made for the boat, and commenced rescuing

the passengers. When the snag was struck and
the boat careened, there were a number
drowned, and among the number were Mr. and
Mrs. Bowen and their son. The crew of the

boat worked like heroes. The cabin broke
loose from the hull, and floated down the river

several miles, with human beings clinging on
the wreck. Mrs. Wyncoop and her son were
rescued about two miles from the place of the

disaster. Others were taken off as rapidly as

the men in the yawl could relieve them. Rob-
ert Burns, of Cincinnati, a steamboat engineer,

froze to death.

Miss Jane Conner was without shoes when
taken off the wreck. One of the engineers
pulled off his and gave them to her.

There were no other Zanesville people lost

except the Bowen family. Their bodies were
never found. The passengers and crew that

escaped found shelter in the negro huts on the

shore.

The cabin floated as far as Island 74, where
it struck the ground; the people yet clinging

to it were saved. Mr. Wyncoop was rescued at

this place. From all obtainable information,

eighteen or twenty passengers were lost, but all

the crew escaped. The citizens of Napoleon,
which town has itself been washed away by the

“Father of Waters,” had a social, and raised

many things for the unfortunate victims of the

wreck. Some of them went to New Orleans,

others took passage for home. Mr. and Mrs.
Wyncoop and son went to Vicksburg.

As soon as the Muskingum river improve-
ment was ready for steamboats, warehouses were
established at Zanesville engaged in the for-

warding and commission business, transferring

freight from the canal boats, which were towed
by the steamboats engaged in the Dresden
trade, for the steamboats in the Pittsburg and
Cincinnati trade, and also the freight brought
from the above cities for the towns on the Ohio
canal. The most prominent firm had their

warehouse at the south end of Fifth street, the

building yet occupied for many years. There
were other large warehouses near the present

location of the Cincinnati & Muskingum Val-

ley freight office. Their trade was principally

by the canal, and salt was a large item in their
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busiuess, for at that time there were many salt

works engaged in manufacturing along the

Muskingum river. Only one of the thirty is at

present in active operation.

N. YV. Graham & Co., were owners of many
canal boats, and their steamboats carried tons

of freight from Pittsburg and Cincinnati for the

towns along the canal. They engaged to

deliver goods from Cincinnati, Philadelphia

and Pittsburg for any destination either by
boats or wagons, from Zanesville to surround-
ing towns. This firm was one of the most
enterprising in Zanesville at that time.

The first steam whistle on a Muskingum
river boat was on the “ May Queen.” A num-
ber of men were loading a boat at the Buck-
ingham & Sturges warehouse, now at the

Putnam end of the Sixth street bridge; they
heard a noise different from any other noise at

that time. They stopped their work, listened

and only one person attempted to explain it.

He said: “ My mother was East and she says

they have a thing on the locomotives that

makes a noise by steam, and I think it is one
of ‘them things’ they have on locomotives.”
These men claim the “ May Queen ” was the

first boat that had a whistle on it in this river

trade. She was destroyed by fire at Marietta.

The steamer “Newark” was built at Zanes-
ville, by James and Stephen Bishop. It was
engaged in the trade from Zanesville to Pitts-

burg, and also made trips to Cincinnati. The
Newark was an unfortunate steamboat. On a

Pittsburgh trip, when nearly opposite Liver-

pool, a flue bursted, killing Cris Kassell and
Lafayette Hubbell, and badly scalding George
Ross, the engineer. The boat was repaired,

and it continued running, having a profitable

business in the Pittsburg trade, when the own-
ers built the steamer Enterprise, the largest

boat, at that time, that had engaged in this

trade. In the spring of 1849, the “Newark” was
the Zanesville and Marietta packet, captain,

Robert Leslie; pilot, John Boyd; engineer,

Joseph Howland; clerk, C. Lrame. About
April 1 ,

the “Enterprise” returned from a trip to

New Orleans, bringing a large cargo of sugar
and molasses. The boat paid the largest toll

ever paid on the river, nearly $500. The Enter-
prise then loaded for Pittsburg, taking 3,000
barrels of flour from the Fifth street warehouse,
and other freight, making 600 tons. This was
the first trip for the Enterprise to Pittsburg.

The officers on this trip were: Captain Stephen
Bishop; mates, Monroe Ayers and John Hen-
derson; pilots, James Hahn and Jesse Smith;
engineers, David Hahn and another; clerks,

George Brooks and C. Frame. There were no

guards in front or on the sides of the boat,
only heaving raising, as the boat hull completely
filled the locks. It was a side-wheel boat, the
wheels being in recesses near the stern, leaving
all available space possible for freight. The
cabin was nearly the width of the boat. There
was a “texas” on the main cabin, with a hall
and rooms for the officers. At that time the
freight was raised from the hold of boats by a
windlass, using hand power.

On the return of the “Enterprise” from
Pittsburg preparation for a trip to Ft. Inde-
pendence or Leavenworth was already made.
Young men from the country arrived, getting
their outfit ready for a trip across the plains

—

their wagons occupying much space on the
boat. The hurricane deck was covered with
the freight, as well as every available space of
the boat. Many families were passengers
going to Iowa and other Western states. It

was a grand sight when the boat’s lines were
hauled in preparatory to passing down the
canal. There was much hand-shaking and
“ wishing you a safe journey.” The boat at

last passed out of the lock, turned and headed
down the river amid loud hurrahs. Friends re-

mained on the lock walls until it passed around
the bend in the river. Some of the passengers
again returned after years of hardship, poorer
than when they left Zanesville, others died on
the plains, and a few made fortunes in Califor-

nia, and remained there. The family of Samuel
Brown, consisting of sons, daughters and sons-
in-law, were among the passengers. Mr.
Brown’s daughter, Mary, whose husband was a

Mr. Dutro, died on the trip across the plains.

John Henderson, who died at Columbus in the
winter of 1891-92, was second mate on the boat.

He had a money-interest in the craft, and he
continued on it until it was in the Licking river

near Cincinnati in 1851. The “Newark” carried

a number of wagons for the “Enterprise” to

Harmer.
Business was very good in the river trade in

the spring of 1849. The crew of the “Newark,”
from the captain to the smallest cabin boy,
worked for the owners of the boat until the

return of the “Enterprise.” The firm called on
the clerk for all the money and bills, the time
of men ordered made out, and while the capt-

ain and clerk were engaged at the work the
sheriff called and levied on the boat for indebt-

edness to a firm in Marietta, who held a chattel

mortgage on the boat and the furniture for

8300. None of them had been paid their wages
for a month. They clubbed together and em-
ployed an attorney to secure their wages. They
were advised to put in their claims and buy the
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boat. All of them together did not have $300
cash, enough to pay the mortgage, so they let

the sale take place, being informed the boat, if

sold, was bound for their wages. It was sold

and purchased by N. W. Graham & Co. for

$300. After a number of efforts at law, the
men lost their case and the amount due them
from the “Newark” went to the wrong side of

their profit and loss accounts. A number of

the men worked for N. W. Graham & Co. for

many years after the sale of the “Newark.”
The boat was repaired and continued in the

Zanesville and Marietta trade until sunk, loaded
with groceries for Zanesville merchants, at

Luke Chute. The “Newark” was unfortunate.

From the year 1848 to the completion of

the Central Ohio railroad, the business for

steamboats in the Zanesville trade to Pittsburg

and Cincinnati, was very heavy. All freight

to and from the East and South had either to

be carried on the steamboats or wagoned from
Wheeling.

The spring trade in 1850, was good. “Jenny
Lind,” “Julia Deane,” “Malta,” and “Plmpress”
were regular boats in the Pittsburg and Cincin-
nati trade and the “Viroqua,” a regular tri-week-

ly packet in the Marietta trade. The steamer
“Viroqua” came to the Muskingum river trade
from Monongahela river. The boat was a

model packet for the Marietta trade. Robert
Galloway was captain; Joseph McVey and Dr.

Wm. Milhouse, clerks; John Boyd, pilot.

Captain McVey took command of the "Julia
Dean” and C. Frame became second clerk of
the “Viroqua.” Dr. Milhouse taking charge of

the office. After a time, Capt. Smith, chief

owner of the Monogahela City relieved Gallo-
way of command. Meantime, Dr. Milhouse
having gone to the “Malta,” C. Frame received
promotion to the first clerkship.

Capt. Smith was not a river man, and he
was a reformer. He claimed that the wages of
the pilots, engineers and mates on the “Viro-
qua” were too high. He reduced the pilot and
the engineer $10 per month each, and the mate
$5. They all left the boat. He got new men
who could not get situations on any boat, then
he began his experience in steamboating on the
Muskingum river. Many persons would not
travel on the boat, and shippers of freight com-
plained their goods were not safe with the pilot

and engineer. One week the boat had to pay
$300 for repairs. The business fell off, and the
captain began to see that cheap pilots, cheap
engineers and an inexperienced commander
were no advantage to the receipts. He directed
the clerk to visit the dismissed men and offer

them their old situations. The men were seen

and said they would return for an increase over
their old wages of $10 for the pilot and engin-

eer and $5 for the mate per month. They all

returned, and the captain registered their

wages on the crew register. He also increased
the clerk’s wages $5 per month.

Three weeks’ experience with a green com-
mander taught the owners of the boat that they
would have more cash if the boat was in charge
of experienced men. John Henderson, of

Beverly, was employed to take charge of the
boat.

The boat had an increase of business, own-
ers were paid big dividends until April, 1851.

Capt. Galloway and his friends purchased a

controlling interest in the boat. He came to

Zanesville, showed his papers and again took
command. He dismissed all the men on the
boat. Capt. Henderson remained on the
“Viroqua” until the boat left the Muskingum
trade. The clerk of the “ Viroqua ” was em-
ployed by N. W. Graham & Co., and his work
was on the “Jenny Lind” and “Julia Deane”
during the trade of 1851. About this time the
steamer “ Yankee,” Capt. Adam McKee, was
for a short time in the Pittsburg and Zanes-
ville trade. Nothing unusual occurred with
this boat, except one time when detained by
high water in the Zanesville canal, the captain

gave a swell dinner to his Zanesville friends.

It was a dinner— -the best that the steward
could provide, Brandy, whisky and wine
were plenty, the guests drank freely and it was
one of the most hilarious times for all that

were present. When the boat returned to Pitts-

burg, Capt. William Koontz, the principal

owner, made inquiry about the Zanesville feast,

then the crew were paid and the boat was laid

up.

Trade was very brisk in the spring of 1851.

P'our boats nearly new were plying between
Zanesville and Pittsburg, and plenty of business
for all of them, yet the competition between
the “Jenny Lind” and “Malta” was encouraged
until it was opposition. Captain Henry Dex-
ter, of the “Malta,” was always happy when
fighting, figurately speaking, some person en-

gaged in the same business. The first difficulty

in that season, when blows were struck, was on
a Monday morning, at the Zanesville lock.

The boats left the landing at the same time,

and when they were in the bend of the canal,

near the lock, they were side by side, with an
excited crew on each boat. The mate of the
“Malta” and carpenter of the “Jenny Lind” were
soon on the lock wall, engaged in a contest for

the lock. The mate of the “Malta” won by
knocking the carpenter of the “Jenny Lind”
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down with a club. The “Malta” passed the

lock, and the captain of the “Malta” said, “I

will get the McConnelsville tobacco.” AtGays-
port, the clerk of the "Jenny Lind,” who had
stopped on the up trip, got aboard the “Malta.”
He went to the office to pay his passage, when
the clerk informed him, “We do not charge
you.” After dinner, the captain said to the

“Jenny Lind” clerk, “As you are now working
for Graham & Co., I directed the clerk to

charge you full fare.” The clerk paid it. The
captain was in a good humor, and he said, “We
had trouble at the Zanesville lock with the

‘Jenny Lind.’ We got the lock when our
mate knocked your carpenter down with a

club. Now I will be first at McConnelsville,
and get Hyatt’s tobacco, for he will ship on
the first boat.” The “Malta” landed at the
village of Malta, and while the boat was load-

ing some freight, the clerk of the "Jenny Lind”
got into a skiff, and he was soon on the
McConnelsville side of the river. He ran to

Hyatt’s office, and inquired if the tobacco was
ready to ship. It was; the bills were made
except the name of the boat and the rate;

they were inserted for the “Jenny Lind.” The
warehouse doors were opened, and twenty-five

hogsheads of tobacco were in a row rolling

down to the steamboat landing. Captain Dex-
ter came to Hyatt’s office; he was excited. He
said, “I’m glad you have the tobacco ready.

Where are the bills?” “The clerk of the ‘Jenny
Lind’ there has them.” He looked at the
shipping book, and when he saw the name,
“Jenny Lind,” he swore and left the office.

The “Malta’s” bell rang, and the boat started

without the Hyatt tobacco, which had caused
the fight at Zanesville lock. The “Jenny Lind”
landed at the wharf before the "Malta” was in

the channel of the river. There were twenty-
five hogsheads of tobacco ready to load. The
clerk handed the captain the bill of lading for

the tobacco. The captain was surprised at the
success of the clerk, saying “We beat them at

last.” The “Jenny Lind” blew a taunting “toot”
as the “Malta” passed the landing. The fight

at Zanesville made the carpenter of the “Jenny
Lind” very angry on account of the “Malta’s”
mate using a blub. He said, “I’ll get even
with the Muskingum bully when we get to

Pittsburg.”

The mate of the “ Malta ” was an old bruiser
from Meigs township. He was the terror of
the people of his vicinity. One year after this

event he had a fight, when drunk, with one of
his friends who whipped him. This angered
him and he shot his friend with a rifle, the ball

lodging in his friend’s hip. To escape being

arrested he went to Virginia, lived a few years,

then died. The carpenter of the “Jenny Lind”
was a noted Pittsburg man, who had a large

acquaintance among the rough element. This
first night after the arrival of the boats at

Pittsburg, the mate of the “Malta” was
watched by the Pittsburg roughs, and as he
was returning down the wharf to his boat, a
shower of stones struck him and he was more
bruised than he bruised the carpenter of the

“Jenny Lind ” at Zanesville.

Capt. Charles Gallagher, commander of the

“Jenny Lind,” was an honorable, straightfor-

ward business man. He soon found out the
opposition boat was paying a “bonus” to a

warehouse for freight; then the amount was
put on the bills of lading as charges. He
opened a correspondence with the principal

tobacco shippers in Noble and Washington
counties, and before the warehouse men in

Washington were aware their acts were discov-
ered he had all the information of their guilt.

The boat landed at a large warehouse with an
order for a number of hogsheads of tobacco.
The warehouse was locked. He went to the
owner of the building who informed him
that there was no freight for the “Jenny Lind”
at his warehouse. A few unpleasant words
were passed when the captain pulled out a

package of letters from the owners of the to-

tacco and he read them to the warehouse man
and he also informed hirxi there would be work
for the grand jury, if his plan of shipping was
not suspended.

The warehouse was unlocked and all the
freight in it was shipped on the “Jenny Lind”
and ever after no more freight was held for

“boodle,” but a sum had to be returned to the
owners equal to the amount of the extra charges.

The collectors were men above the average of

politicians at that time, but the one at Marietta
had some opinions of his own that did not suit

the river men. He was averse to being dis-

turbed at four o’clock in the morning to make
out clearance papers for the boats coming from
Pittsburg to Zanesville. One morning, when
called on by a boat clerk, he said: “My office

hours are from eight A. M., to seven P. M.” He
refused to give the clearance. The clerk made
his report to the captain who ordered the deck
hands to open the lock and the boat got her
clearance at McConnelsville. The next trip

the lock tender was ordered not to let a boat
pass unless he was shown the clearance. The
next trip a paper was folded in the shape of a

clearance, the boat was permitted to go on its

way and another clearance was obtained at

McConnelsville. On the next trip out the cap-
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tain accompained the clerk to the collector’s

office. The collector was indignant, and instead

of making out the papers, he engaged in a

quarrel with the captain, who requested the
clerk to call George W. Manypenny, who was
a member of the state board of public works.
The collector was surprised at the appearance
of Mr. Manypenny. The clearance was soon
ready and there was no more trouble with the
collector at Marietta.

To the cabin passengers, meals, lodging, etc.,

were included in the charges for the trip. The
table was always loaded with the best and
and earliest articles of the season. The dinners
on the packets were equal, if not superior, to

those of the best hotels. Business men, when
traveling, frequently boarded on the boats in

port.

.
The “Julia Dean” was one of the most popu-

lar packets during the season of 1851. There
was a number of excursion parties of the
young people of Zanesville to Pittsburg and
Cincinnati. More pleasure can be had on an
excursion on a fine steamboat than any other
public conveyance.

Jennie Lind, the famous Swedish singer, in

charge of P. T. Barnum was making a tour of
the principal cities of the United States, in the
summer of 1851, and a grand concert was ad-
vertised to be held at Cincinnati. A party was
made up at Zanesville for a trip to the Queen
City on the “Julia Dean” to hear the famous
singer and also enjoy the pleasure of a trip on
the “Julia Dean.” Atwood’s band accompanied
the party on the boat, playing at steamboat
landings and at the towns on the route. There
was a number of passengers, who went for the fun
and to enjoy a week’s vacation. The previous
winter, a menagerie had wintered at Zanesville,
One of the zebras had died during that time,
and it was skinned and the hide was prepared
and stuffed by Mr. Elijah Ross. A Zanesville
man was engaged to take the animal to Cin-
cinnati and sell it to a prominent naturalist.

The animal was placed on the boat, aft of the
boiler, with its head toward the stern of the
boat. But few of the passengers had seen it

during the day, and only a chosen few knew
there was a zebra on the boat, In the evening
as twilight was passing away, a boy accom-
panied by the leader of the band came out of
the cabin with a tin pan. Mr. Blank’s curi-
osity was raised, and he inquired, “Where are
you going with the pan?” The leader said, “To
milk the zebra.” Blank exclaimed, “To milk
the zeberry! I did not know there was a zc-
berry on the boat.” “Yes, there is, and we arc
going to milk it,” said the leader. “I’ll go too,”

said Blank. The party proceeded down the
stairway to the deck and they passed along
the guard until they came to the open space
aft of the boilers, where it was quite dark. “Be
careful,” said the keeper “or some of you will

get kicked. This animal is not to be trifled

with.” Blank was close to the animal, the

keeper was patting the animal and saying,

“Whoa! whoa! be careful,” and when not ob-

served he gave Blank a hard kick with his

foot. Poor Blank thought surely the animal
had kicked him, and he left for the cabin,

claiming he would not risk his life to see a

“zeberry” milked. The poor fellow soon found
he was sold, and he had to treat his friends.

After a pleasant passage the boat landed at

the Cincinnati wharf. Many of the passengers
remained on the boat, others went to the prin-

cipal hotels. The sale of tickets took place in

the evening for the concert. The unusual high
price was more than some of the pocket books
would permit and a few young men, accom-
panied by their best girls, did not want to hear

Jenny Lind. A few compromised with their

pocket books, and paid ten cents to hear P.

T. Barnum lecture on Temperance in the af-

ternoon the next day. The boat remained
two days, giving the passengers an oppor-
tunity to visit many places of note, also a

trip to Newport and Covington. When the

time for departure came the load of happy
pleasure seekers were on board the boat

ready for the home trip. All had heard Jenny
Lind sing. They had made the trip to hear the

great singer; of course they heard her—such

expressions were heard; yet the facts were only

a few had paid the high price.

This trip was one of the gayest made on a

steamboat from Zanesville in 1851.

The steamer “Blmpress,” commanded by
Capt. G. W. Cox, one of the owners of the

boat, engaged in the fall trade between Zanes-
ville and Pittsburg, and was the first boat out

in the fall trade of 1851. The river was very

low, hardly enough of water for a light draught
boat in the shoal water on the sand bars

between Wheeling and Pittsburg. After many
difficulties the boat arrived at Pittsburg and
there was plenty of freight for the down river

and Zanesville trade. Shipping-houses were
full of goods, the owners at distant places were
writing “ship on the first boat,” and there were
only a few boats loading for any destination

and none for Zanesville. The captain informed
the shippers that lie was not anxious for freight,

as the river was very low, and it was nearly

impossible for a boat without freight to pass

over the shoals at many of the sandbars in the
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river. After remaining a few days, he agreed,

if he could purchase a lighter, he would under-
take a trip. He found a flatboat, and also a

keel-boat for sale at a reasonable price, which
he purchased. The keel-boat was covered so

the freight would be protected; the flat boat
was open, but on it goods were placed that rain

and sun would not injure. Both boats were
loaded down as low as the stage of water would
permit. The steamboat had about forty tons
of Muskingum river freight and a number of

passengers. No freight was taken for any
place above Wheeling. The price fixed upon
was Si per hundred to any destination on the
trip. Cabin passengers were charged $12 to

Marietta. These prices were the regular low
water rates before the days of railroads.

After working hard for seven days, the steam-
er and its two boats arrived at Marietta. The bot-
tom of the river was too near the top of the water
for rapid traveling. The chutes were passed
by sending the keelboat in charge of the clerk

and the flatboat in charge of another officer.

Then the steamboat would try to pass, drawing
more water than there was in the channel. The
steamer would often grind on the bottom of

the river, and then it would stop. Spars would
be placed on both sides and after hours of hard
work the boat would be on its way to the next
shoals. Sometimes not more than three miles
were made in twenty-four hours. When the
boat arrived at the mouth of the Muskingum
river, the water was too low to float the empty
steamer over the mitre sills of the lock. The
keelboat was run into the lock and there load-
ed with the freight for up the Muskingum. One
pilot, the clerk and twelve Irish deck hands
undertook a trip to Zanesville on the keel-boat.
After twelve hours’ hard work the boat arrived
at Lowell. In early days Cat’s creek furnished
many of the most robust keel-boatmen on the
Muskingum. The pilot soon found a new
crew of experienced men, then the first crew
were paid and they returned to Marietta. In
three days from Lowell, the boat arrived in

Zanesville. This was the only boat of the kind
that has come from Marietta, propelled by
Cat’s creek machinery since the completion of
the locks in 1842. As soon as the goods were
unloaded and the bills collected, the pilot and
clerk started on the stage coach for Wheeling,
where they met the “Empress.” This was a
profitable trip for the owners of the boat. After
all expenses including the purchase price of
the keel and flat-boats, there was a net cash
balance of $1,700. The fall rains caused a good
stage of water, boats were plenty for the trade
and in ten days competition lowered freight

and passenger rates from $1.00 to twenty-five
cents on freight and from $12.00 to $3.00 on
passengers. The “Empress” had very light

machinery for the size of the boat, hence very
slow time was made. Though the boat was
very slow it made as many trips as the other
boats—one trip to Pittsburg and Cincinnati
from Zanesville every week. The men used to

say the crew always had more money than the
crew of the other boats, for they never had any
time to spend any. Nothing unusual occurred
until one night in November. A heavy storm
was approaching from the west when the boat
was passing down the Taylorsville canal. The
pilot requested the captain to remain in the
lock until the storm passed over, but the “old
man” said, “Go ahead, we have no time to lose.”

On the west bank of the river at that time, there

were a number of large trees with limbs hanging
out far over the water. The boat left the lock in

the midst of the storm, and before the pilot

could manage the rudders a steamboat was
crashing in the timber, the chimneys falling,

the pilot house with a hot stove was overturned
and the boat stopped by a large tree. “Fire!

fire!” was heard. The passengers in the cabin
were alarmed. Some men who were excited
were trying to pass a small water barrel half

full of water through the scuttle hole to the

deck. They were so much excited that they
would first strike the cask on one side of the

passage, then on the other, and in their con-
fusion they were only adding fuel to the ex-
citement. A young lady of Marietta, who was
a student at the Putnam seminary, pushed the

men aside, grasped the barrel and passed it

with a number of gallons of water in it, up the

passage, apparently without any effort. By
this time the fire from the stove had caught the

wood, and if it had not been for the success of

the young lady in getting the water on deck,

there would have been one steamboat less on
the Muskingum river. The boat remained at

the place in the timber until morning. The
chimneys were flattened and broken in the

fall, the pilot house was scattered on the

deck, the pilot’s wheel was turned on its side

and it was as the old man said: “Here is a

beautiful muss.” About ten feet of the chim-
neys were enough straightened to stand, the

pilot’s wheel was put in place and the men
called the boat “stumpy.” It went to McCon-
nellsville, the pilot standing at the wheel in full

view often being covered with smoke. At Mc-
Connelsville temporary repairs were made so

the wounded boat could go to Pittsburg where
it was repaired.

In December the weather suddenly turned
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very cold. The boat unloaded its cargo of

produce at Pittsburg and hurriedly took on a

load for the Muskingum. There was a large

lot of goods for the Christmas trade, and the

merchants were very anxious to receive their

articles for the holidays. By four o’clock in

the afternoon the thermometer registered six-

teen degrees below zero. Some of the officers

tried to advise the captain not to start on the

trip, but as he did at the Taylorsville lock, he
ordered the lines loosened, the planks pulled

in and the boat backed out from the landing,

and soon it was going down the Ohio river,

working its way amid floating ice. After
worrying along about six miles the captain was
convinced that it was no use trying to go any
farther. The boat was again headed for Pitts-

burg, but it did not get there until the river

was again clear of ice. At the foot of Bruno
island the boat stopped, surrounded by ice.

The temperature was now twenty degrees be-

low zero. Here was a dilemma with only one
horn, and that was to get the boat to the
shore. A council was held and they decided
nothing more could be done until the next
morning. . In the morning work was begun
cutting the ice to make a channel to the Man-
chester side of the river. After hard work all

day the boat was tied up at the Manchester
shore.

The river was again open in ten days, and
boats were again in the trade, and only one
trip was made until another blizzard made a

visit and the boats were again frozen in the ice.

This time the “ Empress” had arrived at Pitts-

burg. All hands were paid and the boat was
in winter quarters. The captain took boarding
at the Monongahela house and “ other small
fry ” found comfortable quarters on Fourth
street at a boarding house kept by the mother
of Mrs. Capt. James Boyd. The ice broke in

P'ebruary and there was hurrying to get ready
for the trade. In a few days the Pittsburg
wharf was thronged with busy men; boats were
loading for nearly every town having direct

trade with the city. Boxes, barrels and bales
of merchandise, iron, nails and glass and the
other articles, shipped from that port, were
hauled to the “ Empress.’’ Two hundred and
fifty tons of freight were soon loaded, then the
old slow boat was ready for a rapid trip with
the current to Marrietta. The “Empress”
always made good time when floating with the
strong current. The captain purchased corn,
fresh beef, clover seed, in fact any kind of pro-
duce along the river that had a good margin at

Pittsburg. Business during the spring trade
was very brisk and the profits satisfactory.

The destruction, November 12, 1852, of the
“Buckeye Belle,” a Zanesville packet, which
commenced running in the trade many years
ago, was the greatest disaster that ever occurred
on the Muskingum river. Pius Padgitt, clerk
of the water works board, is at present the
only one in Zanesville who was blown up on
the boat, and Capt. Calvin Stull, of Beverly,
was the pilot on duty at that time. Mr. John
T. Brown visited the high hill near the canal a
few days after the disaster, and he was shown
brick used in lining the boilers that were
thrown to the top of the hill.

The boat entered the lock at Beverly about
half-past three o’clock in the afternoon, and on
her way to Zanesville (being one of the regular
packet mail boats from Zanesville to Marietta),
she proceeded to Seeley’s warehouse, just above
the locks, where she was delayed nearly an
hour in taking in wheat and freight. Then she
proceeded up the canal, and when within about
twenty feet of the guardgates, exploded with a
terrible crash. It is said by eye-witnesses that
the first shock and sight of the explosion were
appalling and terrible beyond description, al-

though at the moment its horrors were not half

anticipated. All the flues and boilers collapsed
and exploded, tearing everything into frag-

ments as far back as the wheel-house, so much
so that it left the noble boat a heap of ruins,

the hull sinking to the bottom of the canal.

Then followed a scene of horror and confusion,
which beggars description. The canal and
banks for some distance around were covered
with the confused mass of the dead, dying and
mutilated beings, fragments of the boat, cargo,
mail, etc.

From the village of Beverly, some 200 yards
below, and, in fact, from all sections of the
country, came running fathers, mothers, sisters,

relatives, friends and strangers, to render all

the aid within their power, and by whose aid

many barely escaped an untimely grave. Every
possible assistance was instantly rendered to

the unfortunate sufferers. Out of the number
on board, some forty-five, including passengers
and crew, only about eight or ten escaped un-

injured. The names of several of the killed and
missing were not known. Killed—Franklin
Hamrick, of Duncan Falls, tavern keeper;
Henry Mitchell, deck hand, McConnelsville;
John Barbour, Pittsburg, Pa.; William Stull,

second clerk; Butler, first steward, col-

ored; Johnson, Roxberry; Wheeler, Ports-

mouth, Ohio; John West, Coal Run, Ohio; first

clerk, Milton Whissere, McConnelsville, Ohio.
Among the injured were: Hon. C. C. Coney,
leg broken (he was a State senator; he died);
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Capt. James Hahn; A. M. Dillon, Zanesville;

Mate Sullivan, severely, arm since amputated

;

Pilot Calvin Stull, leg broken; Daniels,

engineer, severely wounded; David Munrey,
engineer, slightly injured; Thomas F. Nevett,
Zanesville, severely scalded and head injured;

Pool, New Orleans, badly scalded; Pius

Padgitt, badly scalded; Selon Murrey, Beverly,

severely injured.

In all about twenty dead bodies were found
and six or eight missing. A number of the

injured were crippled for life. Twenty persons
were killed instantly and six others died from
injuries in the course of a few days, making a

total of twenty-six killed. About forty recov-
ered from their wounds. Two of the most
seriously injured of the survivors were the late

Thomas I. Nevitt and Pius Padgitt. The es-

cape from instant death of Mr. Padgitt was
almost miraculous. The bodies of thirteen

unknown persons were picked up and buried
side by side in the cemetery at Beverly. In

addition a large wooden box was filled with
various sized fragments of human flesh and
interred at the same time.

In February, 1847, the steamer May Queen
was purchased by Captain Kelley and others.

The boat was loaded with flour for New
Orleans. When she arrived at Marietta, a

stop was made by the boat for the night, at the
lower end of Hall’s wharf boat. Early the
next morning passengers in their rooms in the
cabin heard the cry, “Fire! fire! the boat is on
fire!” Mr. John T. Brown and his wife were
occupying a berth in the ladies’ cabin. Mrs.
Brown heard the cry and she informed her
husband, who said, “Don’t be alarmed.” She
quickly arose and dressed; their door was
broken in and she was grabbed by a strong
man and carried onto the wharf boat across
two tiers of salt barrels. The boat by this time
was ablaze, every one trying to save his bag-
gage. Mr. Brown came off the boat and
then he thought of his purse containing near
$200 in gold. The thought of his money caused
him to return to his room, facing the danger of

the fire. He got it barely in time to save him-
self. The boat was loaded down with flour, and
to save that part of the cargo she was scuttled
and sunk. By this time the stanchions which
supported the cabin were burned, so the cabin
fell over the side of the boat into the river, and
when it was falling the large bell sounded one
stroke. Captain Kelley, the owner of the boat,

was on board. The fire was accidental and he
at last recovered the full amount of the insur-

ance on the boat. David Hahn and “Doc”
Brown were the engineers on the boat at the

time of the loss. John Brown had been the
head engineer, but at this time he and his wife

were passengers on the boat.

In 1838 the locks at Dresden and Simm’s
creek were completed and navigation for small
steamboats was opened to the entrance of the
Ohio canal at Dresden. The shipment of flour

to New York began by that route, as the im-
provement on the lower Muskingum kept nav-
igation closed from 1837 to 1842. Warehouses
were built on the river bank near Market street.

Canal boats could be seen unloading merchan-
dise brought from Cleveland, and then carried

on their return trip flour for New York. It

was the major part of their cargoes with salt

and other articles for distant markets. The
canal boats were towed by small steamers from
Zanesville to Dresden.

The “Hope” was the first steamboat to

ascend the Muskingum river above Zanesville.

It was built by Richard Reeves, an enterprising

man who was well known in this part of Ohio.
At the April, 1892, meeting of the Muskingum
County Pioneer and Historical Society there

was quite an argument about the location

where the “Hope” was built. Three different

localities were claimed by different men. The
preponderance of evidence was in favor of the

locality now given by an old-time engineer, who
was on the river for more than sixty years. He
says: “The ‘Hope’ was built by Dickey Reeves
about the year 1825 on the high bank below the

present canning factory. There was not a tim-

ber put in it as are now put in boats. The hull

was made entirely of inch planks. There were
four thicknesses of the plank crossing diag-

onally and at right angles. They made solid

sides and a bottom for the boat. Four inches

of good plank battened together gave great

strength. When the hull was completed it was
taken on rollers to near Blue’s tan-yard where
the bank was low and there it was launched.

The ‘tiller’ was a long, crooked piece of a tree

with a board on the end, resting like the tillers

or steering oars on the flat boats. It had its

rest at the stern of the boat, on deck, the water
end passing over the wheel. The boat was a

novelty, and if she were to be seen at this time
she would be a curiosity. She made a trip to

Dresden, then was taken to Pittsburg where a

purchaser was found who took the ‘Hope’ to

some small river in the south. William Parker,

afterward called ‘Old Bill’ Parker, went out

carpenter on the Pittsburg trip.”

The Mary Ann, a remodeled canal boat, was
one of the curiosities on the river. It was
owned by Jacob Sperry, a prominent Main
street merchant. A horse was taken along
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with some of the early steamboats to assist at

the riffles, especially Capt. Dickey Reeves’
old gray horse became part of the machinery
for propelling the craft. The owner of one
of the first boats found fault with the captain

because the horse was only given eight ears of

corn when the captain took twelve roasting

ears for his meal.
The following are the names of the steam-

boats between Zanesville and Dresden, as given
by three gentlemen who were engaged in that

trade. They are given alphabetically : “Adri-
atic”—Captain David Pitman; “Brown Dick”

—

Captain James Darling; “Hope”—Capt. Dickey
Reeves. Before the improvement of naviga-

tion. “Humming Bird,”
;
“Mclntire”

—

Capt. Billy Scales; “Muskingum”—Capt. Billy

Scales; “Newman G. L.”—Wm. Davis; “Relief”

—Frank Cogswell; “Siren”—J. R. “Martin;”
“Smith Perry”—Capt. J. R. Martin; “Shepherd
C. F.”—Capt. Tom Martin; “Tuscarawas”

—

Capt. W. Scales; “Walhonding”—Capt. W.
Scales; “Ohio”—Capt. Billy Scales. She was
capsized at Simm’s Creek lock. “Ohio”—Capt.
Wm. Davis; “Zanesville”—this boat was form-
erly the “Relief,” Captains Davis and Neff
Thompson were commanders at different times;

“The Zanesville Packet.” There were a number
of commanders on the boat.

The “Dart,” Captain Bryant, undertook to

run opposition to the railroad, but after a short
trial, he was satisfied. The railroad carried

the passengers, and there was no more oppo-
sition by the “Dart.” The majority of the
boats in the Dresden trade were only used for

towing boats to and from the Ohio canal.

The commanders were very accommodating
and they did many favors for their patrons.

These were halcyon days for the enter-

prising young along the Ohio canal and the
Muskingum river. The canal boats loaded
flour at the mills as far down the river as Stock-
port. Elven tarmers owned canal boats, which
did business during the summer on the canal.

There was a large salt trade at the towns from
Cleveland to Portsmouth. Many young men
and boys who earned money by work on the
canal boats, to pass through college, occupied
high positions in the different professions,
while the sons of the owners of some of the
boats, too good to associate with a boy who
worked, have changed positions; the working
boy is now the employer and the aristocratic

boy is now the menial.
It is now in order to give a short account of

steamboating from McConnelsville to Zanes-
ville and Dresden. There was more freight

carried on that part of the river when connec-

tion was made at Dresden with the Ohio canal

than on the river in later years and at present.

The trade on this part of the river required the

services ofa number of small steamboats. The
most prominent were the “Tuscarawas,” “Zanes-
ville,’’“Mink,” “Mink No. 2,”andthe“01ivette.”
The “Tuscarawas” was the first regular packet
from Dresden to McConnelsville, commanded
by Capt. Cogswell, with Engineer William
Davis. In 1852 Capt. William Davis built

the “Zanesville,” which for some time was a reg-

ular packet from Zanesville to McConnelsville.
The “Mink,” Capt. Morgan, was the successor
of the “Zanesville” in 1871, Capt. C. C. Mor-
gan, and in 1877, the “Mink No. 2” took its

place in the trade. The “Olivette,” Capt. E.
Martin’s favorite boat, was also in the McCon-
nelsville trade, Capt. William Davis was
born in Bedford county, Pa., December 14, 1817,

and came to Zanesville, Ohio, in 1835. At the

age of twenty years his career commenced on a

steamboat and he filled during the time he was
a steamboatman every position from deck hand
on a Zanesville and Dresden packet to a com-
mander. In 1838, he was registered second
cook on the famous “Tuscarawas.” He filledat

different times the positions of cook, pilot, lore-

man and engineer on that boat. When the “Tus-
carawas” became incapacitated with old age, he
became the engineer of the “John McIntyre.”
By industry and frugality he saved money, and
by the assistance of a friend he built the little

“Ohio.” This boat was Capt. Davis’ first suc-

cess in steamboating, and he made money.
When the “Ohio” was no longer fit for service,

he took an interest in the steamer “Zanesville,”

acting as captain, clerk, pilot or engineer
when such service was needed.
The “Freighter” was built by Capt. Davis,

and she was a Zanesville, Pittsburg and Cincin-

nati packet. This boat was taken up the Mis-
sissippi river, where it was sold. Returning
home, his next venture was an interest in the

“Zanesville No 2.” He was the commander,
and he could fill any position on the boat. The
“Zanesville No. 2” was a tri-weekly between
Dresden and McConnelsville. This boat had a

good trade.

The “Mink No. 1” was built by three of the
successful steamboat owners on the Muskin-
gum, Captains Edward Martin, C. C. Morgan
and William Davis. This boat was the regular
packet between Zanesville and McConnells-
ville, making trips daily. For six years Capt.
Davis commanded this boat, when his partner,

Capt. C. C. Morgan, took charge. Capt.
Davis was interested in the steamer, “J. H.
Best” and the “Lizzie Cassell.” In December,
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1884, he retired. He was then commander of

the “Cassell,” and he sold his interest in the

“Muskingum Packet Company” to Capts.

Morgan and Martin. The captain was one of

the two men who held government license for

the office of captain, pilot and engineer.

Capt. C. C. Morgan, one of the most pop-
ular steamboatmen and business men in the
Muskingum valley, was born at Preston, Che-
nango county, N. Y., July 17, 1810. His par-

ents were of Welsh descent, and they settled at

Johnstown, Licking county, in 1825. At the

age of fifteen years he was at work on the Ohio
canal, excavating at Newark at $8 per month.
In a letter to a friend he wrote, “I am cold,

wet and sleepy. My head aches so that I am
almost insensible to everything around me.
My clothes are worn, and I have no money to

obtain more.” The Ohio canal was the train-

ing school for many of our best young men,
who in after years, had national reputation in

scholarship, business and statesmanship. He
worked on his father’s farm, assisting his par-

ents in keeping “the wolf from the door” for

several years, training himself for the success-
ful business career, which made the name of

C. C. Morgan known as success wherever he
was acquainted.

In 1836 he was employed in driving stage
from Sunberry to Delaware, and the latter part

of the year he was engaged on a canal boat.

This was his first experience on the water,

in which he afterward was so successful.

Two years later he commanded a canal boat.
His perseverance brought success for a time,
but through the rascality of an associate in

business, the result of patient industry and
frugality was lost. After his loss he came
to Zanesville and was emoloyed by Allen,
Cadwallader & Co. His desire for information
occupied his leisure hours perfecting his busi-

ness education. Industry and strict attention

to all the details of business soon made him a

reputation which gave him prominence and
promotion, and in a short time he was inter-

ested in two or three small boats in the Zanes-
ville and Dresden trade.

Capt. Morgan resided many years in Dres-
den. When the upper trade was abandoned,
he became a resident of McConnelsville.
Capts. Davis, Morgan and Martin had the
reputation of being honest men, whose words
were equal to any person’s bond. Many of

their old hands are yet living and the rever-

ence they have for the dead captains and the
living one is evidence of the worth of the own-
ers and managers of the boats engaged in the
trade between Zanesville and McConnelsville.
Capt. Cal. Smith, the pilot; Bart Roney, the
clerk; Ben Ramsey, the mate; George Cobb,
the engineer; John Humphrey, the fireman;,

and Aunt Eliza, the famous stewardess of the
boat were known for years as fixtures on Capt.
Morgan’s boats.

©hap{ep l/I II.

MEDICAL AND HISTORICAL SOCIETIES. ETC.

GENERATION after generation of pioneers
have gradually carried the star of empire
westward, until it would seem as if the

work of the pioneer was nearly done. As
these hardy and adventurous men and women
have gradually opened up the new world to
civilization, they have been closely followed or
accompanied by members of the medical pro-
fession. These physicians have shared the
hardships and privations of the early settlers,

joined in their joys and sorrows, helped them
to build their rude homes and to defend them
against the natives of the forest.

As a class, no order of men have done more
to promote the good of mankind and develop
the resources and natural history of our coun-
try than physicians, and wherever the well-edu-

cated in that profession are found they arc uni-

formly seen on the side of order, morality, sci-

ence and religion.

It is impossible for us to fully appreciate
the primitive manner in which these men prac-

ticed medicine. They had to be, in a degree,

pharmacists and practical botanists. Roots
and herbs were an important part of their ar-

mamentarium. Infusions and decoctions wer e
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the order of the day. The sugar-coated pill

was then unknown. In fact the life of the mod-
ern physician is sugar-coated when compared
with that of the pioneers. These men were
obliged to be fertile in resources, apt in expe-
dients, and ingenious in improvising. Com-
are, if you can, the log-cabin office of one
undred years ago with the physician’s office

of to-day. Think of the progress made in med-
ical science since the days of these men.
Chloroform, cocaine, the hypodermic syringe,

the fever thermometer, and hundreds of other
things were unknown to them. Notwithstand-
ing all the new ideas and inventions the rate

of mortality, from the ordinary aches and ills

of life, was about the same then as now.
In looking over the lives of these men we

find general characteristics that are worthy of

thought. They were interested and active in

educational and religious matters. They were
energetic and progressive beyond their times.

They took an active part in politics and ques-
tions of state. If they were alive now they
would probably let politics alone. They were
brave men, for on their lonely travels in the
earlier years, they had to face the treachery of
the Indian and the hunger of wolves. The
more the lives of these men are held up to view
the more sterling qualities we find in them to

admire.
Dr. Increase Mathews was born in New

Braintree, Mass., December 22, 1772. He was
the son of Gen. Rufus Putnam’s older sister,

Hulda, and Daniel Mathews. John Mathews,
who came out to Ohio with the original forty-

eight, was a brother. In 1798 Dr. Mathews came
to Marietta on a prospecting tour and to visit

relatives. His diary of this journey is in the
possession of his descendants, and is a very in-

teresting document. Under date of August 13,

1798, I P. M,, is found the following note:
“Went with Mr. Edward Tupper to call on Mr.
Blennerhasset and his lady, by whom we were
politely received. Met Miss Sallie Loudon,
there on a visit. She is on the whole an amiable
girl and possessed of many of those qualities

which make a good companion, kind, obliging,
ever in good spirits and free from affectation.”

The young Doctor seems to have been im-
pressed, and human nature seems to have been
the same then as now. Under date of August
31, 1798, is the following: “Attended a belli at

Col. Putnam’s in Belprc. We had a large col-

lection of ladies, some from Marietta and the
Island, who made a brilliant appearance. Spent
the evening very agreeably.” The ladies from
the Island were no doubt Mrs. Blennerhasset
and her guest, Miss Loudon. After a pleasant

visit, Dr. Mathews went back East, and married
(April 25, 1799) Abigail Willis, of Oakham,
Mass. In the fall of 1800, with his wife and
baby, he again came to Marietta, arriving there
October 4. The winter was spent in Marietta,
and the other half of the house in which they
lived was occupied by the father of the late

Gov. Brough. In the spring of 1801 the
Mathews family moved to Zanesville, Ohio.
This same year Gen. Rufus Putnam, his nephew,
Dr. Mathews, and Levi Whipple purchased the
land now composing the Seventh and Ninth
wards in that city, and laid it out into a town,
which they called Springfield, afterward Put-
nam. Dr. Mathews, after about one years’ stay
in Zanesville

, h moved across the river to the
newly laid out town, and. lived there the re-

mainder of his life. He was the first physician
to permanently settle on the Muskingum river

above Marietta. In 1802 (June 14) the Doc-
tor’s wife died, and in 1803 (March 23) he mar-
ried for his second wife, Betsey, daughter of

Capt. John Leavems. They were married in

Marietta, at Maj. Lincoln’s, who had married
Betsy’s sister, Fanny. Possessing large landed
interests, and having a taste for agriculture, Dr.
Mathews retired from practice, as other physi-
cians settled around him. He was a man of
many accomplishments, with more than the
usual amount of energy and push, so character-
istic of the pioneers. He established the first

drug store, and was one of the five original

members of the first church organized in Musk-
ingum county. Dr. Mathews sent to Spain for

the first full-blooded Merino sheep brought to

Ohio. These sheep were delivered in Wash-
ington, D. C., and hauled in a wagon through
to Putnam by a man sent to Washington for

that purpose. In 1801, when Dr. Mathews went
to Marietta to buy the land above mentioned,
he had part of the way as his companion, John
Mclntire. These young men rode together,
camped together the night out on the road, but
neither mentioned his business. When they
they arrived at Marietta, Dr. Mathews turned
up Washington street to goto his uncle’s (Gen.
Putnam’s) office, whilst John Mclntire went on
to the tavern. The next day the two men found
themselves bidding against each other for the
same tract of land. John Mclntire already
owned a large tract where Zanesville proper
now stands, but Dr. Mathews bid on the tract

in question at $4.05 an acre. Many years after

it became blended with Mclntire’s tract, in the
City of Natural Advantages. The Doctor en-
joyed telling his grandchildren that the earliest

distinct recollection of his childhood was the
ringing of the bells to celebrate the Declaration
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of Independence. He was a cultivated gentle-

man of the old school, and a man whose energy
and character were felt in his day, and are still

exemplified in his descendants. He was an
accomplished performer on the violoncello, and
an entertaining and instructive conversational-

ist. His life was characterized by its simplicity

and purity. He died June 6, 1856, full of years
and with the high esteem of all his fellow

townsmen, in the eighty-fourth year of his age,

and is buried in Woodlawn cemetery, which
was part of his original purchase from the gov-
ernment in 1801.

In 1796, Dr. Jenner’s great discovery of

vaccination was announced to the medical
world. When small-pox broke out in the Put-

nam in the fall of 1809, Dr. Matthews procured
vaccine virus and vaccinated himself and
family. People in general had no confidence
in vacillation, and would not consent to it. In

order to prove its efficacy Dr. Matthews took
his two little daughters, Abigail and Sarah
aged six and seven years, who had been vac-
cinated, into a house and up to the bedside of
a patient very ill with virulent small pox. The
children did not take the disease, and the
doctor triumphantly proclaimed the protect-

ing powers of vaccination. The rest of the
villagers were inoculated but Dr. Matthews’
family was the only one that depended upon
vaccination. So far as can be learned the
doctor’s family was among the first, if not the
first in Ohio, to be vaccinated.

Dr. Richard Hillier came to Zanesville
(then Zanestown), in the spring of 1805, and
entered upon his professional career here.

Four years later he removed to “ Beech Bot-
tom,” fifteen m les from Mount Vernon, Ohio,
and there died in 1815. Before coming to

Zanesville he had been a surgeon in the English
army.

Dr. Daniel Bliss, son of Deacon Isaac Bliss,

was born in Warren, Mass., April 10, 1761. He
was educated in medicine in Springfield, Mass.,
and June 6, 1789, married Prudence, a sister of

Dr. Jesse Chandler. They came out to Ohio in

1804, with (or about the same time) as Dr.
Chandler. Dr. Bliss settled in Waterford (on
the side of the river where Beverly now stands),
but continued sickness led him to seek another
location, and he removed to Chandler’s Salt
Works (now Chandlersville), a place twelve
miles east of Zanesville. Settling on a farm,
the doctor intended retiring from practice, but
there being no other physician in that section,
the inhabitants kept him busy. For over
twenty years he was the first and only physi-
cian in the settlement and his practice ex-

tended into what are now Guernsey, Noble and
Morgan counties. The doctor kept his farm
well stocked with good horses. He always
rode horseback and traveled fast. It was a

good horse and rider that could keep up with
him on his rounds. As a physician, Dr. Bliss

was successful and popular. He was a man of

strong opinions, and fearless in expressing
them. He dared to do right, and take the con-
sequences. In religious belief he was a Con-
gregationalist. Dr. Bliss died March 17, 1842,

aged eighty-one years. At a ripe age lie sur-

rendered to the great reaper, and with a heavy
credit on the Lamb’s book of life he went to

his reward.
Dr. Robert Mitchell was born in Westmore-

land county, Penn., in 1778. He studied medi-
cine there, and in 1808 married Catharine
McCulloch. For a wedding trip the young
couple came to Zanesville, Ohio, on horseback.
When they settled in that place there were but
twelve shingle roofed houses in it. The In-

dians were still there, but friendly, and used to

come to the doctor’s house to see the white
papooses. Dr. Mitchell served in the war of

1812, and was afterward a general in the Ohio
militia. In 1833 he was elected to congress,

but in 1835 was defeated for re-election by his

Whig opponent. It is said that the rejoicing

of the Whigs over their success, caused more
drunkenness in Zanesville, than ever was known
there in one night. Dr. Mitchell died Novem-
ber 13, 1848.

Dr. Jessie Chandler was the second
physician to settle in Putnam. He was born
in Vermont in 1764, and studied medicine in

his native state. After practicing a few years,

he came with his family to Ohio and located
in the village of Putnam, across the river from
Zanesville and now, as stated, a part of that

city. At that time there was but little differ-

ence in the population of the two rival villages,

both being quite small, But in the year 1804
Zanesville was made the permanent county
seat, with a fair prospecf of being made the
State capital, and took the lead. In order to

look after his land, Dr. Mathews gladly re-

linquished his practice, upon the arrival of

Dr. Chandler. No other physician settled

in Putnam while Dr. Chandler lived. His
practice, like Dr. Mathews’, extended over
all the western part of the county, and into

the adjoining counties. Traveling, was of

course, done on horseback, and in the earlier

years without roads. Trails, or bridle paths,

led from house to house, or from neighborhood
to neighborhood. Dr. Chandler spent a

large part of his time in the saddle, but pos-
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sessing an unusually robust constitution, he
was always ready to respond to ealls. The fees

in those days were very much out of propor-
tion to the time and labor expended. There
being no pharmacists, every physician furnished
his own medicines. The Doctor’s books were a

curiosity. He would often ride a dozen miles,

furnish the medicine needed, and charge one
dollar. Visits in the village were fifty cents.

When many of his people came to settle, the
credit side would read, by so much corn, or

oats, or potatoes, or cash, as the case might be,

and by discount for the balance. Frequently
the “by discount” was the larger part of the
credit. Doctor Chandler did not become
wealthy. In the fall of 1809 a bad case of

small-pox developed in the town. As might
be expected, there was a scare. Vaccination
was not yet relied upon, and the Doctor had
not seen it sufficiently tried to be entirely sat-

isfied with its protecting qualities. Some of
the older people had been inoculated with
small-pox, but the children, and many of the
adults, had no protection. So all were made
ready by the prescribed dieting, and a general
inoculation took place. The inoculated cases
all got along nicely, no deaths and no disfig-

urements. There were in the town a dozen or
more transient persons, mostly young men,
without friends. The doctor turned his house
into a hospital, took these young men in, “with-
out money or price,” and carried them safely
through. In the winter of 1813-14 a hereto-
fore unknown epidemic broke out in Putnam,
which, for the want of a better name, was called

“the cold plague.” The attack came on with a

congestive chill, unconsciousness soon followed,
and death resulted in two or three days. Some
recovered, but among the victims was Dr.

Jessie Chandler. A true, self-sacrificing physi-
cian and man, he was ready for the summons
and faced death as he had disease, without a

tremor. His age was fifty years.

Dr. John Hamm was born and educated
in Delaware, read medicine with Dr. Rush,
of Philadelphia, and graduated there. In 1808,
he located at Chillicothe and there, on the 4th
of July, 1809, was “orator of the day.” Not
long afterward he came to Zanesville. He
married Eliza VanHorn, General Vanllorn’s
fourth daughter. In 1812 he was presidential
elector and a member of the legislature. The
next year he became surgeon of the 27th United
States infantry and succeeded General Cass
in the responsible and dangerous office of mar-
shal of Ohio. He was state senator in 1827
and again in 1829. In 1830 President Jackson
appointed him charge d'affairs to the Chilian
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republic and he concluded the first treaty be-
tween the United States and Chile He died
in Zanesville, May 22, 1861, aged 84 years.

His widow died seven years later. Of their

eight children, one became the wife of W. A.
Graham’ one married Peter Block, and another
Alexander Van Hamm. Another daughter
died in girlhood. The eldest son, Washington
Van Hamm, died in Chicago, in 1872.

Dr. Dudley W. Rhodes came to Zanes-
ville in the summer of 18— . He was born in

Stonington Conn., and studied his profession
in Hadford. He was for a time an army sur-

geon, but preferring private practice relin-

quished that office. He died in Zanesville in

October, 1840. Dr. J. Fowler was practic-

ing his profession in Putman in 1814, Dr.
Moore 1816. Doctors John J. Brice, Ebenezer
Atwater, Calvin Conant, G. B. Maxfield and
Samuel Moulton were practicing in the county
in 1817. Dr. Isaac Spangler, who had had
Dr. Hamm as a preceptor, was associated
with Dr. Mitchell in 1822, and during that

year the following were admitted to practice
medicine under the state law: William Clark,

E. S. Phelps, Adam Gage, Benjamin Wait, Nath-
aniel Wait, Noah Harris, Robert Moore,
David Pardy, Sylvanus Seely, Timothy Burr,

and Elmas Wheaton.
The following, physicians were well known

in this and near by counties in 1824. John
Hamm, John B. Brice, Thomas Flanner, Rob-
ert Mitchell, Dudley W. Rhodes, Calvin Conant,
Robert Safford, William S. Richards, Elisha
G. Lee, Alfred C. Thompson, Elmas Wheaton,
Benjamin Webb, William Clarke, Francis Fow-
ler, Samuel Baldridge, Harry Fassett, Sylves-
ter Spellman, Samuel Martin, Samuel A.
Baker, John Baldridge, David McGary, James
Kell, Issac Spangler, Jesse Morris, David A.
Bines, John B. Cooley and Nathan Webb. Per-
cival H. Parden and Joel S. Thrall, were li-

censed to practice medicine here in the years
from 1824 to 1825.

Dr. Charles Cook Hildreth was born at

Marietta, Ohio, April 28, 1811, and died at

Zanesville, August 11, 1889. His father was
Doctor Samuel Prescott Hildreth, a native of
Massachusetts, and his mother was Rhoda
Cook Hildreth. PMucated in part at Marietta,
his collegiate course was completed at Ohio
University, Athens. Graduating in 1828 or

1829, he was made an A. B. and A. M. by that

college and in March, 1833, he graduated at

the Medical College of Ohio as M. D., and
soon settled at Zanesville, and then continued
actively engaged in his profession until he was
disabled by paralysis fifty-six years later. He
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was married to Miss Sarah A. Swearengen,
March, 23, 1836.

During all his professional career, Dr.

Hildreth enjoyed a large practice, for he was
an able surgeon and obstetrician as well as a

skillful physician. He was a member of the

old Medical Society of Zanesville in 1835 or

1836, a member of the late Muskingum County
Medical Society, a member of the late Zanes-
ville Academy of Medicine, a member of the

Zanesville Medical Society, and of the Musk-
ingum Valley Medical Society, and he had a

membership also in the Ohio State Medical
Society and the American Medical Associa-
tion. He contributed frequent and valuable

papers to the medical journals of Ohio and
other states. He was a believer in the future of

Muskingum county, and invested his means
mainly here in real estate and corporate com-
panies.

The following named physicians were here
in 1843: R. Stafford, J. B. Erwin, Charles
Dickinson, David Pierce, John M. Green, E.

Dillon, James Little, Lyman Little, David
Ferbrache, Robert Mitchell, Thomas J. Red-
grove, Thomas J. Hazlett, J. H. McCall, I. N.
McMillen, John Watkins, Edward S. Bell,

James Shaw, John G. L. Halston, James Hel-
mick, Washington Moorehead, A. Z. Knight,
W. E. Ide. J. S. Reasoner, Charles C. Hildreth,

James Crawford, D. G. Campbell, J. R. Wet-
more, W. H. Vickers, John F. Cunningham,
Charles Grant and Z. F. Young. About ten

years ago these physicians were practicing in

Zanesville: Charles C. Hildreth, Z. C. Mc-
Elroy, A. Ball, W. H. Holden, J. S. Haldeman,
A. E. Bell, L. M. Reamy, C. H. Evans, J. R.
Larzelere, H. S. Nye, J. Jordan, J. G. F. Holston,
W. C. Lenhart, J. T. Davis, A. C. Oatley, Seth
Allen, T. J. Barton, J. F\ Kennedy, D. C.

Peters, Mrs. A. M. Johnson, S. F. Edgar, W.
E. Atwell, George W. Mitchell, E. A. Farqu-
har & Sons and 0 . C. Farquhar. Dr.

James Gillogly, who had been practicing here,

had died before that date.

The following are residents in Zanesville
at this time: W. E. Atwell, T. J. Barton,
A. E. Bell, C. C. Bolon, E. C. Brush, J. C.

Crossland, L. R. Culbertson, J. T. Davis, S.

F. Edgar, E. A. Farquhar & Sons, J. M. Fas-
sig, Jay E. Fox, John S. Haldeman, Pleasant
P. Henderson, J. L. Holden, Holden & Schoo-
ley, John G. F. Holston, A. L. Jackson, Jo-
sephus Jordan, J. F. Kennedy, C. M. Lenhart,
Wm. C. Lenhart, E. C. Logsdon, William D
McCreary, Z. C. McElroy, W. A. Melick, A.

J. Parker, N. E. Patrick, C. M. Rambo, L. M.
Reamy, Henry Schoene, C. R. Schooley, J. R.

Loak, H. T. Sutton, Granville Warburton, H.
C. Waterman, O. M. Wiseman, John T. Wright,
Roseville; G. W. W. Walker, O. M. Norman,
Dresden; Pldvyard Carsand, Dr. Lemert,
Sago; Bruce Lane, White Cottage; A. W.
Squires, P'ultonham; C. Z. Axline, Otsego;
John Bradford, Frazeysburg; D. Shepard;
Norwich; J. L. Geyer, Chandlersville; R. PC

Chambers, Adamsville; W. R. Hosie, Irville;

W. S. Drake, New Concord; S. T. Storer, R. W.
Chisholm and Dr. Wallace.

Under an act passed February 26, 1824, en-

titled “An Act to Incorporate Medical Socie-
ties for the Purpose of Regulating the Practice

of Physic and Surgery in the State of Ohio,” a
considerable number of physicians from the
Fifteenth Medical District, then composed of

the counties of Muskingum, Morgan, Coshoc-
ton, Guernsey, Licking and Knox, assembled
at the court house in Zanesville, May 25, 1824,

and organized themselves into a medical society.

This society existed until December 12, 1842,

when the Muskingum County Medical So-
ciety was formed by the physicians of the
county of Muskingum at a meeting held at the
Eagle hotel in Zanesville. In 1874 the society

was merged into the Zanesville Academy of

Medicine, incorporated in 1875 and re-incor-

porated in 1878 and succeeded in 1883 by the
Zanesville medical society. The last named
institution is officered as follows: J. S. Halde-
man, president; J. T. Davis, treasurer; J. C.

Crossland, secretary.

Probably the first castor oil mill, established

west of the Allegheny mountains, was built at

Dresden by Drs. Nathan Webb, senior and
junior. They came to the shores of the Wa-
katomaka in 1821 and cultivated the castor oil

bean. Their mill was located on the “Little

Prairie.” Two lodges of Shawanees Indians
were still there and interested spectators of

this symptom of civilization. The doctors were
not learned in their profession, but were the
pioneer physicians of Dresden, and evidently
had confidence in castor oil.

Following is a copy of the articles of incor-

poration of the Pioneer and Historical Society
of Muskingum County:

“These articles of incorporation of the

Pioneer and Historical Society of Muskingum
County Witnesseth: That we, the undersigned,
all of whom are citizens of the State of Ohio, de7

siring to form a corporation not for profit,

under the general incorporation laws of said

state, do hereby certify: First. The name of

said corporation shall be the Pioneer and His-

torical Society of Muskingum County, Ohio.
Second. Said corporation shall be located and
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its principal business transacted at Zanesville,

in Muskingum county, Ohio. Third. The
purpose for which said corporation is formed is

for the purpose of perpetuating the history of

Muskingum County, Ohio, and the memory of

the early pioneers who settled this county;
for the purpose of collecting a museum of arti-

cles of historic interest and preserving these
intact for future generations, for the purpose of

gathering all rare and historical works, manu-
scripts and papers published in this county and
forming a library of reference, and for all pur-

poses and appliances for carrying on the work
of the Pioneer and Historical Society of Musk-
ingum County, Ohio. In witness whereof we
have hereunto set our seals this fourth day
of March, 1890.” The incorporators were
Charles C. Goddard, H. D. Munson, Sr., Henry
Taylor, Dr. H. S. Nye, B. F. Leslie, F. Rich-
ards and Addison Palmer.

The constitution adopted by the society is

here reproduced:

PREAMBLE.

For the purpose of perpetuating the His-
tory of Muskingum County, Ohio, and the
Memory of the Pioneers who settled this sec-

tion of Country: in order to Collect a Museum
of Articles of Historic Interest, and to pre-
serve these intact for future generations: and
for the Gathering together of all Rare and
Historical Works, Manuscripts and Papers
published in this County: and for the Form-
ing and Founding a Library of Science and
Reference, we ordain and adopt this Constitu-
tion for the Government of this Society:

CONSTITUTION.

ARTICLE I.

NAME-

This Society shall be known as the Pioneer
and Historical Society of Muskingum Coun-
ty, Ohio.

ARTICLE II.

MEMBERS.

Section I. The members of this Society
shall be divided into the following classes:

i. Active Members .—Any person who con-
tributes annually fifty cents, subscribes to this

Constitution, shall be entitled to vote, hold
office and participate in all the meetings and
benefits of this society.

ii. Donors .—Those who give any sum, not
binding for any future amounts, shall be called
donors, and shall be entitled to have their
names enrolled as such.

iii. Subscribers .—Those who agree to pay
any stated amount annually or at any other
specified times, greater than the initiation fee.

iv. Patrons .—Those who subscribe and pay
into the treasury at any one time any sum from
$100 to $500. Such member shall have the
privilege of placing in the Museum or Library
a mural tablet.

v. Memorial Benefactors .—Those who con-
tribute at any one time and sum from $500 to

$1,000, for perpetuating the memory of a

deceased relative or friend, or the name of a

family or their own name, shall be called

Memorial Benefactors and shall be entitled to

such a Memorial as may be agreed upon by
them and the Trustees.

Sec. 2. All these different classes shall be
upon an equality in the privileges of this Soci-
ety, entitled to vote and hold office, except
those who are enrolled as donors.

ARTICLE III.

OFFICERS.

The officers of this Society shall consist of

a President, Vice-President, Recording and
Corresponding Secretaries, Treasurer, Curator
and nine Trustees.

ARTICLE IV.

DUTY OF OFFICERS.

Section i. The President shall preside at

all meetings of the Society. He shall appoint
all committees, not otherwise provided for in

the By-Laws. He shall perform all those duties

usually belonging to that office.

Sec. 2. The Vice President shall perform
all the duties of the President in his absence,
or removal from the county, or by death, until

his successor shall be chosen.
Sec. 3. The Recording Secretary shall keep

a correct minute of all the proceedings of the
Society in a book provided for that purpose.
He shall preserve all the records of the Society
and deliver the same to his successor.

Sec. 4. The Corresponding Secretary shall

attend to all correspondence, and if necessary
assist the Recording Secretary in the discharge
of his duties. He shall preserve all letters and
also copies of all those written and transfer

them to his successor.

Sec. 5. The Treasurer shall collect and
receive all dues and contributions made. He
shall give bond in any sum which may be deter-

mined by the Trustees. He shall have charge
of all deeds and securities and preserve them.
He shall only pay out money upon the order
of the Society or the Board of Trustees, and
the written order of the President counter-
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signed by the Secretary shall be his voucher
for all payments made. He shall report an-

nually or as much oftener as the Society or

Trustees shall demand.
Sec. 6. The Curator shall have charge of

the museum, historical relics and library. He
shall have all articles suitably classified and
arranged for exhibition. The books and papers
for reference, the relics and manuscripts shall

not pass out of his possession except the Soci-

ety shall so order at a regular or special meet-
ing.

Sec. 7. It shall be the duty of the nine

Trustees who shall be elected, to have this

Society incorporated according to the laws of

the State of Ohio. The term of office of the
Trustees shall be for three years. At the first

election there shall be three Trustees elected
for one year, three Trustees elected for two
years, and three Trustees elected for three
years. They shall be the legal custodians of

the Society, shall report at the annual meeting
all of their proceedings during the year. They
shall provide suitable buildings and rooms for

the meetings of the Society, for the museum
and library. They shall see that all debts of

the Society are paid and that the means for

carrying on its work are provided.

ARTICLE V.

STANDING COMMITTEES.

The President, together with the Trustees,
shall annually appoint a committee of three
members from each township in the county,
and three from the city of Zanesville. The
duty of this committee shall be to collect his-

torical relics of the different townships and
obtain members for the different classes speci-
fied; obtain articles by gift or bequest for the
museum and library. They shall endeavor as
far as possible to create an interest in the
meetings of this Society and accomplish the
purposes of its organization.

ARTICLE VI.

MEETINGS.
t

Sec. 1. Regular meetings shall be held on
the first Thursday of January, April, July and
October. The meeting in October shall be
called the Annual Meeting, at which all reports
shall be called for.

Sec. 2. Special meeting shall be held at
any time at the call of five members.

Sec. 3. Ten members shall be necessary to
constitute a quorum for the transaction of busi-
ness.

ARTICLE VII.

ELECTIONS.

The election of officers shall be upon the
first Thursday of October in each year, by bal-

lot. A majority of all votes cast shall be
necessary to an election.

ARTICLE VIII.

SALARIES.

The Secretary, Treasurer and Curator, if

their duties make special demand upon their

time shall receive such salaries as may be fixed

by the Trustees.

ARTICLE IX.

BY-LAWS.

Such By-Laws shall be adopted as shall not
conflict with the fundamental articles of this

Constitution. They shall be for the purpose
of facilitating the business of the Society, and
may be changed by giving one week’s notice

of such proposed change.

ARTICLE X.

AMENDMENTS.

Amendments, alterations or additions can
be made to this constitution by giving due
notice, which shall be laid over for one regular

meeting, which is equivalent to a three months’
notice. Every amendment, alteration or addi-

tion must be presented in writing. Two-thirds
of those voting shall be necessary for the adop-
tion of such amendment, alteration or addition.

An amendment to the Constitution created
the office of Assistant Recording Secretary.

The first board of trustees was constituted

thus: Charles W. Goddard, Rev. Frank Rich-
ards, Dr. H. S. Nye, Addison Palmer, Henry
Taylor, B. F. Leslie, H. D. Munson, Dr. Ed-
ward Cass, Thomas McLees. The officers are:

H. D. Munson, president; Dr. Edward Cass,

vice-president; William Gray, recording secre-

tary; Mrs. Fred. C. Dietz, assistant recording
secretary; Addison Palmer, corresponding sec-

retary; Rev. Jefferson Chambers, treasurer; R.

J. J. Harkins, curator.

The following list of members was compiled
from the incomplete roll of the society, with
suggested additions: Rev. F. Richards, James
Anderson, Rebecca A. Cooper, Zanesville; A.
P. Moorehead, Rix’s Mills; Margaret McFee-
ters, David Tanner, Dr. H. S. Nye, John L.

Moorehead, Hugh C. MacBride, George C.

Townsend, Zanesville; Lucinda Norman, Hope-
well; Isaac V. Stockdale, Zanesville; J. C.

Parkinson, Auburn; John B. Roberts, Chal-
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kley Frame, Zanesville; Elizabeth Moorehead,
Rix’s Mills; Rebecca A. Moorehead, Zanes-
ville; George Baughman, Roseville; Ann Eliza

Willis, R. J. J. Harkins, Zanesville; William
Roberts, White Cottage; Charles H. Rees,
Zanesville; Washington Tanner, Pleasant Val-
ley; William Bay, D. B. Linn, Zanesville; H.
W. Carlow, Blue Rock; Matthew McNeal,
Duncan’s Falls; John Waxier, Taylorsville; Ja-
cob Rutledge, John Buchanan, Duncan’s Falls;

John FI. Gray, Morgan Darnell, Basil Beall,

Zanesville; Benson Lloyd, Dresden; Solomon
Minnick, Gratiot, Ohio; Thomas Osborn, W.
L. Umstead and wite, Samuel Elliott, Norman
Cullins, W. K. Burch, James Little, Dresden;
Peter Bainter, Monroe Township; C. E. Platon,

John Cullins, John F. Poorman, Lewis F. Es-
tinghausen, Owen Dorsey, Dresden; B. F. Les-
lie, Isaiah Williams, Zanesville; Perry Red-
man, Falls; John Hoopes, Hiram J. Mercer,
Addison Palmer, Bernard Wortman, Zanes-
ville; C. H. Trimble, Rural Dale; W. H. Ball,

Samuel McGinnis, A. J. Schaum, Zanesville;
George King, Dresden; Moses M. Granger, G.
H. C. Taylor, Charles C. Goddard, Abram
Lumb, Samuel Vernon, Zanesville; David Du-
tro, Philo, Ohio; Jedediah Berder, Duncan’s
Falls; Sarah Taylor, Rural Dale; Joseph S.

Parke, Zanesville; W. W. Adams, Adamsville;
L. Wiles, Zanesville; Levi Stotts, Adamsville;
Elijah Stevens, Abraham Cooper, Thomas Mc-
Lces, Zanesville; Theodore W. Moore, Cynthia
Moore, Rix’s Mills; Joshua Downerd, J. C. Mer-
cer, William Gray, Martha Gray, Maria J.

Warne, Zanesville; Robert Mclntire, Chandlers-
ville; Solomon Rees, Zanesville; Fred Herron,
Chandlcrsville; H. L. Gray, Zanesville; Mrs. S.

A. Matthews, Cedar Run; Sarah Little, Capt
W. C. Tanner, Epamenondas Griggsby, William
Culbertson, Stephen Burwell, Zanesville; W.
A. Crawford, Rix’s Mills; David Buchanan,
Zanesville; Albert Morrison, Newton; T. Mit-
chell, Norwich; J. Boyd Sr., Phebe J. Beetes,
E. Z. Clarke, James N. Griggsby, John P. Ford,
Zanesville; Margaret Staner, Cedar Run; Mar-
tha H. Swingle, Stovertown P. O.; John R.
Gray, Eura B. Bisant, Sophia McGinnis, Rob-
ert Silvey, Jonas Burton, William S. Williams,
D. G. Campbell, Wyatt Cochran. L. C. Barrick-
man, W. R. Hazlett, Zanesville; John Robison,
Dresden; Jane Taylor, Zanesville; David
Woodruff, Upton L. Lybarger, Rev. S. II.

Swingle, Stovertown, Ohio; B. G. Siegfried, S.
F. Siegfried, W. S. Imlay, Zanesville; J. C.
Swingle, Philo, Ohio; C. W. Grimm, Zanesville;
William Fletcher, Stovertown; Samuel Baugh-
man, William Smith, Jane Elson, Roseville;
Solomon L. Baughman, Mrs. Upton Lybarger,

Mrs. Rusha McConnell, Mrs. E. H. Swingle,

Mrs. Sarah Fletcher, Susannah Baughman,
Brush Creek; A. P. Stults, Zanesville; Nathan-
iel Chapman, Chandlerville; Z. M. Chandler,

Jefferson Chambers, Zanesville; H. Broome,
Springfield, Ohio; C. M. Rambo, W. IT Small
wood, A. J. Parker, Harry L. Nye, John IT
Dodd, Anna M. Hobbs, Zanesville; John Slack,

J. H. McCann, James Henderson, D. D. Mc-
Ginnis, D. A. Austin, William McDonald, Will-

iam McFTrland, Fdizabeth King, PI. J. Fletcher,

George Lunn, B. F. Lemert, Sylvanus Cass,

Dresden; George W. Fauley, PTiltonham; James
W. Buckingham, F. J. Terry, Julia Munson,
Josephine Atwell, Mrs. J. H. Jones, Augusta
FTi-quhar, Lizzie A. Palmer, Phcebe A. Thomp-
son, Addie A. Kennison, Fannie N. Potts, Perry
Wiles, Ebenezer Lane, G. N. Guthrie, Zanes-
ville, Ohio; Edward Cass, Dresden, Ohio; J.

P. Ford, David Smith, Jesse Atwell, John
O’Neill, J. A. Knight, T. J. Newman, Robert
Lee, Zanesville; James E. Thorpe, Ticking Val-

ley, Ohio; Jonathan Colcher, Alexander Arm-
strong, Thomas Williams, C. W. Potwin, Zanes-
ville; Ebenezer Pyle, F. W. Reid, Philo, Ohio;
D. McCarty, H. D. Munson, William H. Grif-

fith, Henry Taylor, Jesse W. Manly, Zanesville;

John Crooks, Fultonham, Ohio; Daniel Border,

Duncan’s Falls; Abraham Cooper, Zanesville;

David Stokely, Lydia B. Stokely, Roseville;

M. B. Robertson, Sonora; Joseph Peairs, Carl-

wick, Ohio; James Orchvay, Fultonham, Ohio;
Henry Elliott, Zanesville; Solomon Dozer,

Blue Rock, Ohio; Solomon T. Swingle, John S.

McConnell, Brush Creek; John J. YVallpool,

Roseville; Milton Morgan, Zanesville; J. S.

Jones, Alexander Armstrong, Senora; George
Peairs, Carlwick, Ohio; Mary M. Dozer, Blue
Rock; Solomon S. Baughman, Brush Creek;
Plllen J. Crooks, Fultonham, Ohio; Mary H.
P'ord, Roseville.

The meetings of the society have, most of

them, been well attended, and that they have
been occasions of both profit and enjoyment is

attested by all. A feature is the reading of

pioneer reminiscences and papers possessing

local historical interest, and some of them
which have been preserved have been of much
aid in the compilation of which this forms a

part.

Probably the most important work of the

society thus far has been its co-operation with the

publishers of this book in its preparation and
introduction to the citizens of the county. At
a meeting held January 19, 1891, a committee
was appointed to confer with a representative

of "the Goodspeed Publishing Company of

Chicago, relative to the compilation by that
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company of a history of Muskingum county.

Following is a copy of the action of the board
of trustees, adopted at their monthly meeting,

February 3, 1891, after said conference, as certi-

fied by Secretary Palmer: “Whereas, The
Goodspced Publishing Company of Chicago,

Illinois, having signified to this board its

intention, should proper encouragement be ex-

tended, to prepare and publish an accurate,

complete and reliable history of Muskingum
county, from the earliest settlement therein to

the present time, and to best accomplish this

purpose, proposes to submit, before being
printed, the several chapters which may make
up such history to a committee of one or more
citizens of this county, to be selected by this

board, for the purpose of revision, correction,

elimination, approval or rejection; therefore,
“Resolved

,
That the proposition of said publish-

ing company, as above, meets the favor of this

board, and that this board recommends the

subject matter of the preparation and publica-
tion of said history, compiled in the manner
proposed, to the favorable consideration of the
citizens of Muskingum county.” This was
adopted on motion, and it was ordered that
a certified copy be forwarded to the Goodspeed
Publishing Company, March 18, 1891. Judge M.
M. Granger, U. B. Linn and Rev. F. Richards
were appointed a committee “to revise and
supervise the several chapters of the proposed
history of Muskingum county.” April 7, 1892,
Mr. Linn resigned from the committee, and
R. J. J. Harkins was appointed in his stead.
These pages attest the fidelity with which the
Goodspeed Publishing Company has kept faith

with the society, and the ability with which
the several members of the committee have
performed their duties as guardians of the
mutual interests of the Goodspeed Publishing
Company and the public of Muskingum county.

©hapfep IX-

MILITARY HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY.

ONE of the great problems yet unsolved is

that, in the Divine economy, it was found
necessary for human progress and devel-

opment in this world, that war should prevail

and become popular. From the earliest period
known to history, down to our own time, war
seems to have been the means, not only of set-

tling difficulties between communities, tribes

and nations, but the means by which states and
nations have been established, and by which
they have grown in intelligence and refinement.

And if we may credit the Scriptures, God not
only sanctioned war, but took a direct part in

it. The verdict of history is that through the
bloody carnage of war, through its untold suf-

ferings and miseries, the cause of liberty has
been promoted and civilization has been ad-
vanced. By war this great Nation came into

existence, founded upon the principles of free-

dom and human liberty, and by war it threw off

that deadly incubus—slavery—which marred its

bright escutcheon, and made freedom exultant
throughout the world. Whether war will con-
tinue to be the potent factor of human progress,

the power to which nations will continue to

appeal for the settlement of controversies, the
future can only determine. The grandest cap-
tain of the age—U. S. Grant - by the establish-

ment of the Geneva Convention, inaugurated
a new power, which meets the approbation of

all good people throughout the world, and it is

to be hoped that in the settlements of disputes

in the future, it will be adopted by all nations

and governments.
Neither this county nor the state was settled

early enough to send out men to participate in

the war of the Revolution, but three of the

most prominent pioneers of Muskingum coun-
ty, settled there soon after the close of that

war. They were Generals Rufus Putnam, Ben-
jamin Tupper and Colonel Ichabod Nye. The
two former were not only confidential friends

of the great Washington, but his able lieuten-

ants in the great struggle for liberty.

The Indian war in the Northwestern Ter-
ritory, or the territory north of the Ohio,

which followed the war of the Revolu-
tion, was too early to affect the territory
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now embraced within the limits of Musk-
ingum county. There were a few Indians
inhabiting that territory at the time that were
in the Indian war, but there were no battles

fought on its soil; nor is it known that there
were any white men living in the territory that

were in the war.
When the Indians discovered that they could

no longer depend upon their former ally, the
British, for aid, they became satisfied that they
could not cope with the power of the United
States, and were willing and ready to accept
the terms of the treaty of peace, that had
been proposed by our government. The prin-

cipal features of this treaty were: The cessation
of hostilities; the restoration of all prisoners of

war; the establishment of boundary lines, with
further cession of lands by the Indians, and
compensation on the part of the govern-
ment for all additional lands ceded. The
Indians were to acknowledge themselves un-
der the protection of the United States, and
no other power, and to sell off their reserved
lands to no other power; the Indians or the
United States, to remove or punish intruders on
the Indian lands. Trade was to be opened as

provided in the Fort Harmer treaty; all injur-

ies to be settled by law, and any hostile plans
known to one party to be revealed to the other.

All previous treaties annulled.
This treaty was concluded and signed by

Gen. Wayne and the representatives of the
Indian tribes and nations of the Northwest, at

Greenville, August 3, 1795, and was ratified by
the United States Senate, December 22, 1795.
The amicable adjustment of the Indian troubles
was the initiatory step to the rapid settlement
of this section of the country.

War of 1812 .—The impressment of Ameri-
can naturalized citizens on the high seas by
the British government, the attempt to incite

the New England states to a dismemberment
of the Union, the intrigues by her emissa-
ries with the Indians of the Northwest to

induce them to again make war against
the United States, were the principal causes
that brought on the war of 1812. The British
government thought that if they could again in-

cite the Indians to war against the settlers of the
Northwest, they would be forever compelled
to abandon that territory north of the Ohio,
thereby making the Ohio river the boundary
line, and ultimately it would be able to add
that magnificent domain to its own possessions.

I n June, 1812, war was declared by the United
States against Great Britain. In this war the
soil of Ohio was the scene of most momentous
engagements of the army of the Northwest;

and in the regular service and in volunteer
militia, the soldiers acquitted themselves with
honor. When the first murmurings of the im-
pending conflict were heard, the attention of

the government was directed to Ohio as the

most suitable ground for organization and the

base of operations in the Northwestern fron-

tier. It was held as certain that the Eng-
lish would depend upon and would secure
the aid of the dreaded allies, the Indians.

Ohio was the frontier territory and the pop-
ulation was much scattered, being at that

period the youngest of the States. In view
of the exposed condition of the frontier

and the almost certain coalition of the In-

dians under their noted chief, Tecumseh,
the government determined to send a body
of regular troops from Southern Ohio to the
northwestern frontier, the Detroit river, to se-

cure the command of Lake Erie. A force of

1,500 men, which had been drawn together at

Cincinnati, and known as the Northwestern
army, was given to Brig.-Gen. William Hull.

Gen. Hull left Cincinnati with these troops
May 14, 1812. At Urbana he was joined by one
regiment of Ohio volunteers, under command of

Col. James Findley; one company of Cincin-

nati light infantry, commanded by Capt. John
F. Mansfield; one regiment from the Scioto
country, commanded by Col. Duncan McAr-
thur, and another regiment from the Muskin-
gum country, commanded by Col. Lewis Cass.

In the latter regiment there were about 250
men from Muskingum county. Of this num-
ber about twenty were killed in the war.

Northern Ohio, Lake Erie, Michigan and
Canada comprised the principal theatre of the
war in the West; and among the events of note
were Col. Croghan’s defense of Fort Stephen-
son, on the present site of Fremont, Ohio;
Commodore Perry’s victory on Lake Erie; Hull’s

surrender at Detroit; the defeat of the British

under Gen. Proctor; the defeat of the Indians
under Tecumseh, by Gen. Harrison, at the bat-

tle of the Thames, in which the great Indian
chief was killed, and the gallant and cvcr-

memorable defense of New Orleans by Gen.
Jackson.

The war closed, victory resting with the
arms of the republic; the volunteers returned
to their homes, and the treaty (Ghent) was
signed by the representatives of the United
States and Great Britain December 24, 1814.

The Mexican War.—The battle of San Jacinto,

which was fought April 21, 1836, terminated
the fierce struggle between Mexico and Texas,
and secured to the latter her independence,
which she maintained up to the year 1845.
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Mexico, however, submitted to her defeat, and
the loss of her magnificent territory with ill

grace, and nursed the hope that she would
ultimately regain it. When the question of the

annexation of the Texas Republic to the United
States came up, Mexico used all her influ-

ence with bur government to prevent it, claim-

ing that as she had not recognized the inde-

pendence of Texas, that territory was still

a part of her domain. The efforts of the Mex-
ican government, aided by the anti-slavery ele-

ment in the United States, were not strong
enough to resist the powerful pressure for

annexation, and February 24, 1843, a joint

resolution for the admission of Texas passed
both houses of Congress; the following day it

was signed by President Tyler, and thus that

grand empire became a part of this great na-

tion.

This act was regarded by the Mexican gov-
ernment as unjust and as an encroachment on
its rights, and soon after the inauguration of

President Polk, the Mexican minister called

for his passports. Texas was admitted into

the Union July 4, 1845; diplomatic relations

between the two countries ceased, and both
nations began preparations for war. General
Zachary Taylor was sent into Texas with 1,500
men, which was subsequently increased. He
took a position with his forces, which was
called the “army of occupation,” near the
border of the Rio Grande. The army
was engaged in defending the territory of the
new state from Mexican invasion until the
spring of 1846. Final declaration of war was
made on the part of the United States, May 13,

1846, and on the part of Mexico May 23d fol-

lowing, and active measures for war were at

once taken. A call was made by the President
for 43,500 men and a requisition on the State
of Ohio was made for three regiments or 2,400
men.

May 20, 1846, Governor Bartley issued his

proclamation in response to the call of the
President on Ohio for three regiments. The
call was for volunteers in the terms of the law,
“ Infantry or riflemen to serve twelve months
or to the end of the war, unless sooner dis-

charged.” The governor, in his proclamation,
appealed to the patriotism of the people of the
state, and called upon the major-generals to
muster their several divisions, and to determine
the number of volunteers that could be had in

each brigade. May 22, 1846, Maj.-Gen.
Chas. B. Goddard, in response to the govern-
or’s proclamation, called on Gen. John T.
Arthur of the Second brigade, to proceed to
ascertain the number of volunteers under his

command who would enroll themselves for the
war. The next day General Arthur issued the
following order:

Headquarters Second Brigade,
Fifteenth Division of the Militia of Ohio,

Zanesville, May 23, 1845.

Sir: I have this clay received an order from the
major-general of this Division to take measures to as-

certain the number of volunteers in this brigade, who
will enrole themselves as such to serve as infantry or
riflemen in the war now existing between the United
States and Mexico. The ununiformed militia are ex-
empt from active military service only in time of peace.
It is intended by this order that all the militia of this

brigade shall parade on the day designated. You will

therefore proceed to notify the forces under your com-
mand for parade in Zanesville on Tuesday, May 28, at

9 o’clock A. M. Particulars as to the period of service,

the place of rendezvous, and the time at which the vol-

unteers will be required to appear at the place of ren-

dezvous, will be fully communicated on the day of

parade.
By order of Brig.-Gen. John T. Arthur,

D. W. Rhodes, Brigadier Inspector.

From eighteen to forty-five years was the
age within which the militia were subject to

duty. Another call was made from Robert
Hazlett.

First Light Infantry Battalion,
Second Brigade, Fifteenth Division Ohio Militia,

You are ordered to parade in front of court house
on Tuesday. May 28, 1846, at 9 o’clock A. M., prop-
erly armed and equipped. (Summer uniform.)

By command of Brigadier-General.
Robert Hazlett,

Senior Captain in Command.
These orders for the parade brought together

a large and enthusiastic crowd. The brigade
was marched to the large field and orchard
above West Zanesville, where speeches were
made—Gen. Goddard being one of the principal

speakers. Party politics was suppressed, and
patriotism reigned supreme. After the ad-

dresses were made, the brigade formed in line,

and volunteering began. Forty-six volunteers

were enrolled that day.

The governor divided the state into two
districts, in each of which was one place of

rendezvous. Gen. Goddard was placed in

command of the eastern district, and Zanes-
ville was named as the general place of ren-

dezvous for the levies of that part of the state,

where they were to embark on transports

for Cincinnati. The volunteers from Mus-
kingum and Perry counties rendezvoused at

Camp Putnam. There were ninety-three all

told. On the morning of June 11, the volun-

teers held an election for officers, with the

following result: Captain, Asbury Noles, of

Perry county
;
First Lieutenant, George Fos-

ter, of Muskingum county; Second Lieutenant,

Isaac Delong, of Perry county. June 12th,

the company, amid the enthusiastic cheers of
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the people, left Zanesville on the May Queen,
for Cincinnati, where it was assigned to the

Third regiment, commanded by Col. R. S.

Curtis. The troops arrived at New Orleans
July 9, and went into camp on the old battle-

ground. In a few days they left for the seat

of war.

This company did gallant service in the war,

and participated in some of the fiercest and
most deadly battles. At the close of the war
those that escaped death returned to their

homes.*
February 3, 1848, treaty of peace was con-

cluded at Guadaioupe, was ratified by both
governments, and was proclaimed by President
Polk, July 4, 1848.

War of 1861-5 .—At the close of the war,
Ohio had in the Union army 200 regiments of
all arms. In the course of the war she furnished

230 regiments, besides 26 independent batteries

of artillery,
5 independent companies of sharp-

shooters, a large part of 5 regiments accredited
to West Virginia contingent; two regiments
transferred to United States colored troops, and
a large portion of the rank and file of the 54th and
55th Massachusetts. Muskingum county fur-

nished, all told, 3,850 men. It is not the purpose
of this work to give the history of all the regi-

ments that were enlisted from Ohio for the
war of the rebellion, but those in which
soldiers from Muskingum county were mus-
tered.

First Ohio Volunteer Infantry .—This regiment
was formed and on its way to Washington,
under the command of A. M. McCook, within
three days after President Lincoln’s first call

for troops, which was made and telegraphed
throughout the country April 15, 1861. It was
largely made up from Southwestern Ohio, its

nucleus being formed from the old militia

companies, and its complement chiefly from
the young men of that section of the state.

Transportation companies at this early stage
of the war were not familiar with the moving
of troops, and many annoying delays were ex-
perienced en route to the Potomac, and ere the
regiment arrived at Washington, the first dan-
ger to the Capitol of the nation from rebel
arms had passed over. It was attached to
General Schenck’s brigade, and its first engage-

* It is a sad commentary on those upon whom the
responsibility rested of preserving the names of the
volunteers that enlisted for this war, that none can be
found. The historian has searched the files of the news-
papers of Zanesville in vain for any record of them.
Only a part of the muster roll of one company even can
be found in the adjutant general’s office of the state,

and this is so mutilated that many of the names are un-
intelligible.

ment was at Vienna, where the rebels attacked
their trains. The First,with the rest of the brigade,
debarked, formed in line by the track, and acquit-

ted itself handsomely, with the other troops,

driving the rebels back. It was on the field at

the battle of Bull Run, but was not actively

engaged, but rendered valuable service in cover-
ing the retreat of those that were in that dis-

astrous battle. Soon after this battle, its term of

service having expired, it was sent home and
mustered out, with very slight loss. During the
month of August, reorganization for the three

years’ service begun, its place of rendezvous be-

ing at Camp Corwin. October 31, with Col. F. B.

Smith in command, it left camp, and proceed-
ed to Cincinnati, where it received its arms,
and on the 5th of November embarked on the
steamboat Telegraph, for Louisville, and upon
its arrival there went into camp at Camp York.
Leaving Camp York, November 15th, it report-

ed to Gen. A. McCook at Camp Nevin, and
was assigned to the Fourth brigade, Second
division, Army of the Cumberland. About
the middle of December it broke camp and
marched to Green river, wrhere it remained
until the 15th of P'ebruary, 1862, in preparation
for active field work, when orders were received
to join Gen. Grant, then marching on Fort
Henry. On their way, news was received of

the fall of Fort Henry, and the regiment
returned to Green river, and from there
moved on to Nashville, and went into camp in

an open field, without either tents or blankets.

March 16, the regiment received marching
orders and started out for the field of Shiloh,

by way of Duck river and Savannah. During
the latter part of the march cannonading was
heard in the direction of Shiloh, and double-
quick time was made to Savannah, then to

Pittsburg Landing, where they arrived on the
morning of the 7th of April. The regiment
immediately formed in line of battle to the
left of its brigade, and to the right of Gen.
Crittenden’s division. It was hotly engaged
with the enemy until about mid-day, driving it

back, and recapturing General Sherman’s camp,
when it retired to replenish its ammunition.
Having prepared for action, the First again
took the field, and participated in the general
charge on the rebel lines. During this battle

the First was saved from greater loss by the
generalship of its able commander, B. F. Smith.
It next participated in the movements on Cor-
inth, but did not join in the pursuit of the

enemy. It remained for a while guarding
Corinth, and then was ordered to Nashville.

It was engaged in several expeditions and
skirmishes on its way, and finally arrived there
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September 7th. On the the 10th it crossed the

Cumberland river, and joined Buell’s army,
then in pursuit of Bragg, who was marching on
Louisville. The enemy was beaten in this race,

and the Union forces arrived at Louisville

September 26th. The First participated in all

the movements of its brigade, and was on the

field December 31, for the battle of Stone river.

After this battle the First marched through
Murfreesboro, and went into camp on the

Shelbyville pike. While lying there, the army
was reorganized, and the First was placed in the

Second division of the Twentieth army corps.

In June, 1863, the movement against Tulla-

homa begun, which brought on the engagement
at Liberty Gap, in which the First participated,

principally held in reserve and subjected to a

heavy artillery fire. After this engagement
the march was resumed, which severely tested

the endurance of the men, and about the mid-
dle of the night of July 1st Tullahoma was
reached. The Chickamauga campaign was in-

itiated on the 30th of August, and after much
marching and counter-marching the First was
placed in line for that great battle, in which it

was engaged, with severe losses, to its close.

On November 22 the Union forces withdrew
and marched into Chattanooga, and the First

was placed on the left of the Chattanooga
road, with its right on the bridge crossing
Chattanooga creek. Here it lay for nearly two
hours under fire of the enemy, unable to make
any return. This position was occupied until

the night of the 25th, when it fell back
to the second line of works, and was allowed,
for the first time in eight days, to lay aside
its accoutrements and take a rest.

In October, the Twentieth and Fourth army
corps were consolidated, and the First was
placed in Gen. Hazen’s brigade, in the Third
division of that corps. On the 23d of Novem-
ber it was engaged in the fight at Orchard
Knob, which initiated the battle of Mission
Ridge, in which the First took a prominent
part. In November the First was among the
regiments that were sent to the relief of Gen.
Burnside, at Knoxville. On this march, and in

the East Tennessee campaign, the troops suf
fered terribly from cold, lack of clothing and
food. They met and had a fight with the rebels
at Strawberry Plains.

On the 4th of May, 1864, the First joined
Sherman for the Atlanta campaign. It partici-

pated in the battles of Buzzards’ Roost, Resaca,
Adairsville, Burnt Hickory, Kenesaw Mount
and Chattahoochee River. This ended its

active fighting.

The original members (except veterans)

were mustered out September 24, 1864, upon
the expiration of their term of service, and the
veterans and recruits were transferred to the
Eighteenth Veteran Ohio Infantry, October 31,

1864. It was in twenty-four battles and skir-

mishes, and had 527 officers and men killed

and wounded. It marched about 2,500 miles
and was transported about 1,000 miles. It was
initiated at Pittsburg landing and closed its

war record in front of Atlanta.

Second Ohio Volunteer Infantry .—The second
was organized at Camp Dennison, during the
months of August and September, 1861. Asa
regiment it had been in the three months’ ser-

vice and had participated in the first cam-
paign around Washington. With a full com-
plement of officers, and over nine hundred
strong, under command of Col. Leonard A.
Harris, it left camp in September, by order
of Gen. O. M. Mitch'ell, then in command
of Cincinnati, crossed the Ohio river, and
marched by way of Paris to Olympia Springs,

in Eastern Kentucky. They were the first

Union troops to enter that part of the state; it

was engaged principally in scout duty, and in

intercepting rebel troops on their way South.
The first engagement of the Second was
at West Liberty, October 22, where they had a

sharp and successful fight with rebel troops
under Jack May. It subsequently joined the
command of Gen. Nelson and was in the
movement toward Prestonburg. It also assisted

in the repulse of the rebels at Ivy Mountain,
pursuing them to Piketown, where an engage-
ment was had. From there they marched
down the Big Sandy to Louisa, where they em-
barked for Louisville. Arriving there, the Sec-
ond was brigaded with other troops under the
command of Colonel Joshua W. Sill, and
assigned to the division of Gen. Mitchell. It

went into winter quarters at Bacon Creek, and
was chiefly engaged in drilling and perfecting

its dicipline. In February, 1862, the division

moved in advance of the Army of the Ohio,
under command of Gen. Buell, on Bowling
Green, Gallatin and Nashville, occupying the
latter place. In March, when the main body
of Gen. Buell’s army moved out to join

Gen. Grant at Pittsburg Landing, the Sec-
ond, with Gen. Mitchell’s division, moved on
Murfreesboro, Shelbyville, Fayetteville and
Huntsville, having several slight engagements
on the way, the principal one being at Bridge-
port, where the Second destroyed the rail-road

bridge across the Tennessee. When Gen.
Bragg invaded Kentucky, the Union forces

fell back to Louisville, and the Second Ohio,
which was then at Battle Creek, Tenn., was
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ordered out and moved across the mountains,

through Murfreesboro, Nashville, Bowling

Green, Green River, to Louisville, under the

command of Lieut.-Col. Kell, Col. Harris hav-

ing command of the brigade. When the army
was reorganized at Louisville, the Second was

assigned to Rosseau’s division in Gen. McCook’s
left wing, and participated in the battle of

Perryville, October 8, 1862, in which action its

loss was nearly 40 per cent.

The Second joined the army in the pur-

suit of the enemy as far as Crab Orchard.

At this point, Gen. Buell turned his column
again toward Nashville, which was reached

October 26th. During this march, however,

Gen. Buell was superseded by Gen. Rosecrans,

which gave a brighter aspect to the military

situation.

Gen. Rosecrans entered with energy upon
his duties, the army was reorganized, the name
of the department changed and the army
rebaptized as the “Army of the Cumberland.”
Gen. Rosecrans established his temporary
headquarters at Bowling Green. The rebel

army was making its way over the mountains
to Murfreesboro, where another force under
Gen. Breckinridge was stationed. Nashville

was invested with a strong force of cavalry.

That city was held by a splendid division of

troops, commanded by Gen. Negley, and was re-

garded as safe.

The rebels could not concentrate for its

assault before Gen. Rosecrans could move
his troops for its relief. He therefore content-

ed himself with keeping his communications
open and perfecting his command and arrang-
ing his line of supplies. When everything was
ready the Army of the Cumberland moved on
to Nashville thoroughly organized and ready to

meet the rebel hosts.

The division to which the Second was
attached, had been assigned to the Fourteenth
army corps, under Gen. George H. Thomas.
It remained in this corps and participated
in all of its marches and battles up to Atlanta.

The Second was hotly engaged in the battle

of Stone River, suffering heavily in killed and
wounded. Among the killed was Colonel Kell,

who fell at the head of his regiment. From
Murfreesboro, in the spring of 1863, a forward
movement was made by the Army of the Cum-
berland. The month of June found “Old
Rosy,” as he was affectionately called by
the soldiers, on the war-path toward Tulla-
,,homa and Shelbyville, after Gen. Bragg,
who had strongly fortified his lines. The
Union forces met with but little resistance in

their advance. The next engagement was at

Chickamauga, September 19th and 20th. In

this battle the Second lost heavily in men and
officers—Lieut-Col. Maxwell, then in com-
mand being among the list. Its aggregate loss

was 183 officers and men, killed, wounded,
and missing. After the battle, the forces

fell back to Chattanooga. On November 24,

the brigade to which the Second was
attached, was ordered to the assistance of

Gen. Hooker at Lookout Mountain, and par-

ticipated in that battle above the clouds,

November 24th. In the battle of Mission
Ridge, which occurred on the following day,

the Second distinguished itself in the capture
of the colors - of the Thirty-eighth Alabama.
The Second was in the pursuit, with its brigade,

of the enemy to Ringgold, Ga., where a halt was
made. In February, 1864, in the reconnoissance
to Buzzards’ Roost, the Second took the ad-
vance. and developed the strength of the enemy
at Dalton. In May it was attached to Sher-
man’s army for the Atlanta campaign. On May
14, the Second led in the assault to carry the

enemy’s entrenched position at Resaca. It

lost in this action thirteen officers and men
killed, and twenty-seven wounded. From this

action it marched with its division to Chatta-
hoochee river, and participated in the battle of

Peach Tree Creek, July 21, 1864. Inthis battle

Adj. John VV. Thomas was killed, which was
the last sacrifice the regiment made for the

cause of the Union. It remained in front of

Atlanta until August 1, when orders were re-

ceived to march to Chattanooga, preparatory
to final discharge. On their way they had several

lively movements after the rebel Gen. Wheeler.
From Chattanooga it was sent to Columbus,
O., where it was honorably mustered out of the

United States service, October 10, 1864. The
veterans and recruits were transferred to the

Eighteenth veteran infantry, October 31, 1864.

The Second had in men and officers killed,

111; wounded, 425.

Third Ohio Vohinteer Infantry .—This regi-

ment, like the First and Second, served under
two separate terms of enlistment—the first for

three months and second for three years. Its

organization was completed at Camp Jackson,
April 21, 1861, and on the 27th it was mustered
into the United States service. Company E
was mainly made up from Muskingum county.

An election was held for field officers, which
resulted in the choice of Isaac Morrow for

colonel; John Beatty for lieutenant-colonel,

and Warren Kieffcr for major. A part of the

regiment was sent to Camp Dennison to break

ground and prepare a camping place. 'They

were followed soon after by the balance ol the
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regiment, with tools, lumber, etc., with which
to construct suitable quarters. While at that

camp they were thoroughly drilled and disci-

plined. The latter part of May the regiment
was supplied with an assortment of odd arms,

a lot of blouses and gray pants. The three

months’ enlistment was more than half out be-

fore orders were received for the regiment to

take the field, and volunteers for three years’ ser-

vice were called for. The Third re-enlisted with
great enthusiasm, and on June 12 the regiment
reorganized by re-electing their officers. In

January, 1862, the regiment having been sus-

plied with arms and uniforms, was ordered to

Grafton, Va., then the seat of war. The mov-
ing of soldiers over railway lines was some-
thing new then to the people, and crowds were
assembled at every station to give them greet-

ing and bid them God speed. It was the first

three-year regiment to leave the state. After
crossing the Ohio it stopped at Benwood and
was supplied with ammunition. It arrived at

Grafton June 23, and reported to Gen. McClel-
lan. Remaining there two days, it moved on
by rail to Clarksburg, where camp equipment
was supplied and preparations made for the
campaign. It was brigaded with the Fourth
and Ninth Ohio and Loomis’ Michigan Battery,
with Brig.-Gen. Schleich in command. The
first service of the Third was July 5th, when it

was sent out on a reconnoitering expedition
from Buchanan, W. Va. In this expedition
they came upon a body of rebel troops at

Middle Fork creek, and an unsuccessful fight

was made to dislodge them. In this action the
Third had five wounded and had its first man
killed.

Its next movement was in pursuit of the
flying enemy from the field at Rich Mountain,
July 11, 1861. After pursuing the enemy as

far as Cheat Mountain summit, the chase was
abandoned and they returned. The Third re-

turned to the fort at Cheat Mountain, and was
engaged for a time in erecting telegraph lines

from Huttonsville to the fort on Cheap
Mountain summit. Subsequently it moved to
Elkwater creek, and, in connection with
Loomis’ Battery and the Fifteenth Indiana, be-
gan the erection of fortifications extending
across the valley. On the nth of September
Gen. Robert E. Lee made an attack on the
Union forces at Elkwater, driving in their pick-
ets as they advanced. The Third, with the
Fifteenth and Seventh Indiana and a part of
Loomis’ Battery, were in position at Elkwater
Junction to resist this attack, which they did
in a successful manner. The Third took part
in all of the movements in this section until

the retirement of the rebel army to Mingo
Flats. Subsequently it was ordered to Cincin-
nati, where it arrived November 28, 1861, and
after having received the hospitalities of the
city, re-embarked for Louisville, Ky. Arriving
there, it at once went into camp at Camp Jenk-
ins. The Army of the Ohio was then orga-
nized and the Third assigned to the Third di-

vision, with Gen. O. M. Mitchell commanding.
From there it moved to Camp Jefferson and
went into winter quarters. February 22, 1862,

it moved out for Bowling Green, and arrived
there just as the rebels were making their exit.

It moved on to the banks of the Tennessee,
opposite Nashville. From Nashville it moved
southward with the Third division, and took a

prominent part in that brilliant campaign
which included the capture of Murfreesboro,
the occupation of Shelbyville and Fayettville.

It performed gallant service at Bridgeport, Ala.,

where, led by the brave and dashing soldier,

Gen. Mitchell, it charged and drove the rebels

across the bridge. This action took place
April 29, 1862. From this on to fall but little

of importance occurred to the regiment. Its

base of operations continued at Huntsville
until August 23, when it moved out to Dechered
station, and after a month’s maneuvering and
marching, it entered Louisville, September 25.

It took an active part at the battle of Perryville,

October 8, and distinguished itself for its fight-

ing qualities, suffering heavily. At the close

of the action Gen. Rousseau thanked the regi-

ment, in behalf of the Union army, for its gal-

lant conduct. Its loss, killed and wounded,
was 215 men and officers. The Third joined
in the pursuit of Bragg for a time and then
turned, and finally made a halt at New Market.
On the 30th of November it went into camp at

Nashville, much elated over the possession of

a new commander in the person of Gen. Rose-
crans. Rosecrans reorganized his army, plac-

ing the Third in the reserve division, with
Rousseau commanding. The battle of Stone
River was fought December 31st, the Third
taking an active part, commanded by its lieu-

tenant-colonel, Lawson, while the brigade was
commanded by its colonel.

In this battle the Third maintained its repu-

tation as a fighting regiment. For three
months after this engagement the Third lay in

camp at Murfreesboro. In April, 1863, it was
detached from the army proper, and with the

Eighteenth Illinois, the Fifty-first and Seventy-
third Indiana, and two companies of the Ala-

4

bama Cavalry, was sent on a raid into Georgia
for the purpose of destroying the iron works
and the arsenals at Rome. They had several



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 123

sharp encounters with the enemy, the principal

one of which was at Sand Mountain, Ala.,

where they were attacked by a heavy cavalry

force under Gen. Roddy, sustained by a

battery. A desperate fight followed, in which
the enemy were defeated, the Third alone
capturing a battery of twelve pounders.

Subsequently 250 of the best mounted troops
were picked out and sent forward with orders

to enter Rome - if possible and destroy the

Confederate works. This was accomplished.
The remainder of the command marched on
for the same place, but had much to disconcert

them on their way. They reached Cedar Bluff,

some twenty miles from Rome, May 3, men
and horses worn out, ammunition destroyed,

and the enemy—General Forrest with his cav-

alry—closely upon their heels.

General Forrest demanded a surrender,

which was finally made, and the Third Ohio
were led captives to Rome. From Rome they
were taken to Atlanta, thence to Knoxville,
and Richmond, where they were quartered on
Belle Island. There on May 15, the men were
paroled and the regimental officers taken to

Libby. The men were sent to City Point, then
to Annapolis, and from there to Camp Chase,
where they waited an exchange. August 1,

1864, they received orders to report to Gen.
Granger at Nashville, where they were armed
and equipped once more for the field, and
placed in their old brigade, commanded by
Gen. Beatty, who was on duty at Stephen-
son, Ala. They arrived at Stephenson
too late to meet their command, which had
crossed the Tennessee, and they were for the
time attached to the Reserve corps. Later
they were ordered to Battle Creek, where they
had an encounter with Wheeler’s cavalry near
Anderson’s gap. The Third’s next station was at

Looney creek, where it was engaged in repair-

ing roads and assisting in the passage of trains

to Chattanooga. November 18, 1863, it was
ordered to Kelly’s Ford. It was still without
its officers. It remained at the Ford until after

the battle of Mission Ridge, when it was or-

dered to Chattanooga. It performed garrison
duty there until June 9, 1864, when it was or-

dered to report to Camp Dennison for muster
out. As the officers were still in prison no
effort was made to veteranize the regiment.
June 23, their three years’ term having expired,
they were mustered out of the United States
service; many of the men subsequently enlisted

in other regiments for the term of the war.

Fifteenth Ohio Volunteer Infantry .—This regi-

ment was among the first to respond to Presi-

dent Lincoln’s call for 75,000 men. It organ-

ized for the three months’ service at Camp
Jackson, May 4, 1861. The men from Musk-
ingum county enlisted chiefly in Companies
A and B. About the 10th of May it moved
to Camp Goddard, where it was engaged in

preparing for the field. Late in May it received
marching orders, and crossed over into West
Virginia, where it was engagad in guarding the

Baltimore & Ohio railroad as far as Grafton.

It took part in the action with the enemy at

Philippi, June 13, and subsequently at Laurel
Hill and Carrick’s Ford. It performed a good
deal of marching and guard duty, and Aug-
ust 1, its term of enlistment having expired, it

was discharged at Columbus, having lost but

two men.
The second call of the President for troops

having been made, the Fifteenth, almost to a

man, reinlisted. It was reorganized at Camp
Bartley, Ohio, with Moses R. Dickey as colonel.

From there on the 26th of September, it moved
to Camp Dennison, where it received arms,
clothing and garrison equipage. Companies
A and B received the Enfield rifle and the bal-

ance of the regiment received the old Spring-
field, remodeled. On October 4, the regiment
broke camp for Lexington, thence to Louis-
ville and Camp Nevins, where it was assigned
to the Sixth brigade, commanded by Gen.
R. W. Johnson, Second division, under Gen.
A. McD. McCook, and in the Army of Ohio,
commanded by Gen. Sherman. December 9,

1861, they were ordered to Bacon Creek, and
the day after, the command occupied Mum-
fordsville. After some marching, and a stop
at Bowling Green, the division moved into

Nashville and made camp near the city,

On March 16, 1862, the command started

on its march for Savannah, arriving there
April 6, and the day following the Fif-

teenth embarked for the field of Shiloh,

went into action at noon and fought until 4
P. M., when the enemy were repulsed. The
regiment lost six men and had sixty-two
wounded. In the operations against Corinth
the Second division was held in the reserve,

and was not called to the front until the latter

part of May. On June 10, the Second division

started on its march for Battle Creek, arriving
there July 18. The Fifteenth was engaged
there in erecting a fort and in camp duty until

August 20, when the command moved to Alta-
monte, on the Cumberland mountains, to meet
Gen. Bragg, who was marching in that direc-

tion with his forces. From there they moved
via Murfreesboro to Nashville, where a halt was
made, and then they continued on to Bowling
Green, thence to Louisville, where they arrived
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September 26, 1862. On the 1st of October,
the Ffteenth, with the Second division, started

for the enemy on the Shelbyville pike. Reach-
ing that place the second day, the command
halted a few days and then started for Law-
renceburg, where they had a slight action with
the enemy. Moving on to Pcrryville, they were
joined by the main army, and started in pur-

suit of Bragg, following him as far as Crab
Orchard, and then going into camp. Breaking
camp after a few days’ halt, they proceeded to

Nashville, where they arrived November 7,

1862. While there the army was reorganized,

and on December 26, moved on the enemy at

Murfreesboro. The Fifteenth participated in

the battle of Stone River, December 31, 1862, and
January 1 and 2, 1863, having eighteen killed

and eighty-nine wounded. After the occupa-
tion of Murfreesboro by Rosecrans’ army, the
Fifteenth was engaged in foraging, fortifying

and in picket duty until June 24, when it

moved with the command on Tullahoma and
Shelbyville, which were occupied by our forces

after the defeat of the enemy at Liberty Gap,
June 25, in which fight the Fifteenth took a

prominent part. The Second division was
then stationed at Tullahoma until August 16,

when it was ordered to Bellefonte, thence to

Stephenson, Ala. On September 2, the
march was continued toward Rome, Ga.,

crossing Lookout mountain and going into

camp at the eastern foot near Alpine, Septem-
ber 10. It recrossed Lookout mountain and
moved on, joining the main army in Lookout
valley on the nth. On the 19th the com-
mand moved to the field of Chickamauga,
some thirteen miles distant, and it, with the
Fifteenth, took an active part in that memora-
ble battle. The regiment had killed one officer

and nine men, two officers and sixty-nine men
wounded and forty men missing. The Fif-

teenth participated in the seige of Chattanooga
and in the brilliant assault at Mission Ridge,
November 25. After this engagement the
Fifteenth was placed in the First brigade, Third
division, Fourth army corps, which moved to

the relief of Knoxville, Tenn., arriving there
December 8. On the 20th it moved to Straw-
berry Plains.

January 14, 1864, the major portion of the
Fifteenth reinlisted and received a furlough.
It arrived in Columbus February 10, with 350
veterans. It assembledat Camp Chase March 14,

and with the new recruits numbered 900 strong.
It reported at Nashville, and was ordered to

Chattanooga, where it arrived on the 5th of

April. From there it was moved to McDonald
station, where it awaited orders for the spring

campaign. May 3, the regiment broke camp
and proceeded to Tunnel Hill, and joined Sher-
man’s army. It was engaged about there in

skirmishing with the enemy until May 13,

when Rocky F'ace Ridge was evacuated, and,

with the command, it moved into Dalton.
The Fifteenth was an active factor in all

battles of the Atlanta campaign—Resaca, Cass-
ville, Kenesaw Mountain, Kenesaw Mountain
(general assault), Peach Tree Creek and At-
lanta. In all these engagements it won new
laurels. When Gen. Hood began his raid on
our communications, the Fifteenth marched
in pursuit. It moved to Rome by way of

Marietta to the relief of the troops at Resaca,
and from there through Snake Creek gap to

Chattanooga, Pulaski, and Columbia, where it

had a slight action with the rebels. From
there it moved toward Franklin, passing in

sight of the camp fires of the enemy. At
Franklin it was assigned the position of cover-

ering the withdrawal of the forces and the re-

treat to Nashville. At Nashville it was
assigned to the extreme left of the army and did

noble service in that battle. It made a charge
on the rebels and captured a battery and some
thirty prisoners. December 16, the regiment
participated in the assault upon the enemy’s
entrenchments on the Nashville pike, and
assisted in the capture of over a hundred
prisoners. The loss of the regiment in the

two days’ fight was remarkably light. The
rebels were hotly pursued as far as Lexington,
Ala., when the command moved toward
Huntsville and went in camp at Bird Springs
about the first of January, 1865. March 15,

orders were received to move into blast Ten-
nessee. It went by rail to New Market, and
then took up their line of march to Greensville

for the purpose of preventing the escape of

Lee and Johnston, who were being closely

pressed by Grant and Sherman. From Green-
ville, April 22, the regiment was ordered back
to Nashville. It remained there until June 16,

when it was ordered to Texas by way of New
Orleans and the Gulf of Mexico, making camp
for a time on the old Jackson battle ground
below the city. The regiment disembarked at

Indianola, July 9, 1865, and proceeded to Green
Lake, where they made camp. August 10, it

started on its march for San Antonio. It

reached the banks of the beautiful Salado in

August and remained there till October, when
it moved into the city for post duty. Novem-
ber 21 it was mustered out, and ordered to

report at Columbus, Ohio, for final discharge.

It arrived at Columbus December 25, and was
discharged from the United States service
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December 27, 1865. It was in the war four

years and eight months, and retired from the

service of its country as being one of the best

regiments sent into the field.

Sixteenth Ohio Volunteers .—The Sixteenth was
organized at Camp Tiffin, Ohio, October 2,

1861, under Colonel John F. De Courcey, and
was mustered the same day into the United
States service. It proceeded to Camp Denni-
son, where it remained until December 16,

when it received its arms, and was ordered

to Lexington, Ky. January 12, 1862, it received

orders to report to General S. P. Carter,

at Somerset, Ky., where it was engaged in

repairing and building military roads. January

31, 1862, it was ordered to London, where
it halted for a rest and then moved on to Cum-
berland Ford, arriving there February 12th. A
reconnoisance was made March 12, resulting

only in a light skirmish. This was repeated on
the 22d.

The regiment was placed in the Twenty-sixth
brigade, with the Forty-second Ohio and
Twenty-second Kentucky, and assigned to

the Seventh Division, Army of the Ohio, under
command of Gen. George W. Morgan. Ap-
ril 28, a move was made to the top of Cum-
berland mountain near Cumberland gap. The
troops arrived at the top early in the morning,
with a heavy fog surrounding them. They en-

countered the rebels and a sharp fight followed,

continuing until the afternoon. The month of

May was consumed in preparing for an assault

on Cumberland gap. About the middle of

June it was discovered, on moving toward the

gap, that the enemy had abandoned it and had
retreated toward Knoxville, Tenn.

The Sixteenth entered the late stronghold of

the enemy and hoisted the Union flag. It re-

mained there until August 3, fortifying, drilling

and foraging, with an occasional skirmish. On
August 6, it was ordered out to relieve the
Fourteenth Kentucky, at Tazewell, and a sharp
fight followed. In this action, Companies B and
K were cut off from the main force and most of

them were taken prisoners. The enemy proved
too strong for the Union troops, and they were
forced to retreat to the main army. Toward
night, the Union army retreated within their

entrenchment at the gap, the enemy following
a short distance.

h .Member 8, the Sixteenth, with its brigade,

was ordered to Manchester, Ky., for sup-
plies. On the 19th they were joined by the

remainder of the Union troops at the gap,
and moved toward the Ohio river. In this

retreat they were constantly harassed by
the Rebels as far as Grayson. They suf-

fered greatly, having nothing to eat but corn,

and but little water to drink. Their clothes
were ragged and their shoes were worn out.

Resting at Portland, Ohio, until October 21,

when they moved to Charleston, Va. Novem-
ber 10, they marched to Point Pleasant, Va.,

and from there embarked for Memphis, where
they arrived on the 27th. December 20, they
joined Sherman’s command and moved on
transports to the rear of Vicksburg, and were
engaged in the disastrous assault on Chicka-
saw Bayou, in which it suffered severely, losing

31 1 officers and men, killed, wounded and
taken prisoners. The Sixteenth was next en-
gaged in an expedition against Arkansas Post,

which was captured. It moved then to Young’s
Point, La., where it remained until March 8,

1863, when it marched to Milliken’s Bend.
On April 6, the Sixteenth was attached

to Gen. Grant’s expedition to the rear of Vicks-
burg. It was in action at Thompson’s Hill; at

Champion’s Hill, Baker’s Creek and Black Riv-
er bridge. May 19, it took part in the disas-

trous assault on the enemy’s works in the rear

of Vicksburg, and again, May 22d. In all of

these actions it lost severely.
It remained with the siege until the sur-

render, July 4, 1863. It also took part in the
siege and capture of Jackson, Miss., when it re-

turned to Vicksburg, and embarking on board
of transports, it was sent to New Orleans, and
subsequently attached to Gen. Banks’ expe-
dition to the Teche country. It returned to

New Orleans and was attached to Gen. Wash-
burne’s expedition to Texas. It disembarked
on Matagorda peninsula, thence by steamboat
went to Indianola, and then to Fort Esper-
anza, where it remained until April, 1864, when
it embarked for New Orleans, arriving there
April 2 1 st. From New Orleans it was ordered
up to the support of Gen. Banks, at Alexan-
dria. It was sent to the front, and had several
slight actions with the rebels. Returning to

Alexandria it was detailed to assist in building
a dam across Red River, in order to let the
gun-boats out. About the middle of May, the
command made a retreat to Morganzia, where
the regiment went into camp and performed
garrison duty until October 6, when it re-

ceived orders to report to Columbus for final

discharge. It reached Columbus October 14,

and was discharged from the United States ser-

vice October 31, 1864. The Sixteenth, during
its service, traveled by rail 1,285 miles; by steam-
ship 1,200 miles, and on foot 1,620 miles.

Total number of deaths from all causes was
251; killed in battle or died of wounds, 62.

There were 165 deaths from disease; there were
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1 88 recovered from wounds; discharged on
surgeons certificate of disability, 186. The
total of the original organization and recruits,

was 1,191, of which there was mustered out 477.
Nineteenth Ohio Volunteers .—There were not

many enlistments in this regiment from Mus-
kingum county, and those were divided up
among several companies. The Nineteenth
was among the first regiments that were formed
after the firing on Fort Sumter—for the three

months’ service. It was organized at Camp
Jackson by the election of its officers—Samuel
Bentley, E. W. Hollingsworth, and Lewis P.

Buckley, respectively colonel, lieutenant-col-

onel and major. June 23 it joined the brigade at

Parkersburg, under Brig.-Gen. W. S. Rosecrans,
and on June 25 joined the “ Provisional Army
of West Virginia,” under Gen. McClellan. Its

time of service expired July 23, and it returned

to Columbus, Ohio. Most of the men re-enlisted,

and by November 7 the regiment was reorgan-

ized and in Camp Dennison, fully armed and
equipped for three years’ service. On the 16th

it left camp for Louisville, Ivy., and was as-

signed to the Eleventh brigade, under com-
mand of Gen. J. T. Boyle. It served in Ken-
tucky, Tennessee and Mississippi in 1862 and
1863, participating in the battles of Cumberland
Gap, Tazewell, Chickasaw Bayou, Fort Hind-
man, Fort Gibson, Champion’s Hill, Big Black
River, the siege of Vicksburg, Jackson and
Orchard Knob. While at Strawberry Plains,

January 1, 1864, four hundred of the regiment
veteranized and returned to Ohio on a furlough.

At the expiration of their furlough they re-

turned to the field, reaching Knoxville March
24. It was subsequently attached to the Third
brigade, Third division, Fourth army corps,

and participated in the Atlanta campaign. It

returned to Tennessee, joining the forces that

were sent after Gen. Hood, and took part in

the battle of Nashville. It then was ordered
into Alabama, and then into East Tennessee.
On June 16, 1865, it joined the troops that were
sent into Texas. It was mustered out at San
Antonio, October 21, and was sent to Colum-
bus, O., where it was finally discharged and
paid off, November 22, 1865, at Camp Chase.

Twenty-Fourth Ohio Volunteer Infantry .—The
Twenty-Fourth was organized at Camp Chase
the latter part of June, 1861. Company B re-

ported from Zanesville. Jacob Amem was
colonel; Samuel A. Gilbert, lieutenant-colonel;

and Shelton Sturgess, major. It left camp for

the field July 26, 1861, and arrived at Cheat
Mountain summit, W. Va., August 14, join-

ing the Fourteenth Indiana. The position

was reinforced by the Twenty- Fifth Ohio. The

enemy was concentrating there strong. At the
break of a rainy day, on the 12th of September,
the enemy made an attack, and after a fight of

several hours were repulsed, leaving behind
blankets, arms and men who were taken pris-

oners. The Twenty-fourth gave evidence in

this action of that coolness and bravery which
afterwards distinguished it. Its next engage-
ment was at Greenbrier, W. Va., October 3d.

In this action it stood firm in the midst of

heavy shot, shell and canister.

November 18 the regiment was ordered to

report at Louisville, Ky. Upon its arrival it

was assigned to the Tenth brigade, Fourth
division, Army of the Ohio. From there it

marched to Nashville, where it arrived Febru-
ary 25, 1862, and remained till March 17, when
the command moved out for Pittsburg Land-
ing. There was some delay at Duck river on
account of the destruction of the bridge and
high water. Before a new bridge was built the
Fourth division was hurried on. It forded the
river and marched to Savannah, arriving April

5. The next morning, Sunday, the booming of

artillery was heard at Pittsburg Landing. The
troops were at once put in readiness for the

field of battle. No transports came to take
them, and at 1 P. M. the Tenth brigade moved
out through the swamp for the conflict. After
a hard march it reached the opposite bank of

the river; was ferried across and took position

in line on the extreme left. On the 7th the
Twenty-fourth was engaged all day, and sus-

tained its reputation for bravery and hard
fighting. It took an active part in the skir-

mish between Pittsburg Landing and Corinth,

and was one of the first regiments to enter that

town. It joined in the pursuit of the enemy
into North Mississippi and Alabama, and went
into camp at McMinnville, Tenn. About the

1st of September it returned to Louisville to

meet the invasion of Gen. Bragg. In October
it was placed in the Fourth Division of the

Twenty-first army corps.

The Twenty-fourth was at the battle of

Perryville, but, being on the extreme left, it

took no active part, but joined in the pursuit

of the retreating foe. Its next engagement
was at Stone River, December 31, 1862, and
January 1 and 2, 1863, where its loss was very
heavy, including its colonel and major. Its

next engagement was at Woodberiy, Tenn.,

January 24th.

After a long rest in camp it was called out

for the Tullahoma campaign, and was on duty
at Manchester, Tenn., until it was called out

for the advance on Chattanooga. It partici-

pated in the engagement at Chickamauga,
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September 19th and 20th, and at Lookout
Mountain, November 24th. Following these
were the battles of Mission Ridge and Ring-
gold in which the Twenty-fourth took part.

After the latter action, it was assigned to the
Second division, Fourth army corps, and
joined in the action near Dalton. In April,

1864, it was ordered to Chattanooga prepara-
tory to being mustered out. June 15th it was
ordered to Columbus, Ohio, and on the 27th it

was mustered out and discharged from the
United States service. Company D re-enlisted

as veterans. The colors of the regiment
pierced with many bullets, tattered and torn,

was presented to the state in a few remarks
by Colonel Cockerill, and in response the gov-
ernor made a speech accepting them and
thanking them for the service it had rendered
to the nation.

Thirty-Second Ohio Volunteers .—The Thirty-
second was among the first regiments organ-
ized in the state for the three years’ service.

It rendezvoused at Camp Bently, and was
transferred to Camp Dennison before its

organization was completed. Company G was
from Muskingum county. On the 15th of

September, 1861, and in command of Col.

Thomas H. Ford, it was ordered to report to

Beverly, West Va., where it arrived September
22d. It was assigned to the post at Cheat
Mountain summit, then in charge of Col.

Nathan Kimball, of the Fourteenth Indiana. It

had been hurried to the field with an imperfect
organization and with the old smooth-bore
muskets. October 3d it wasordered to advance
through the pine woods of the mountains on
the enemy at Greenbrier. It remained at that
post through the fall, watching the movements
of the rebel army, then commanded by Robt.
E. Lee. Its next action was December 13,

when it joined Gen. Milroy in his advance on
Camp Alleghany, W. Va. In this action the
Thirty-second distinguished itself for its gal-

lant conduct. After this action it was ordered
to Beverly, where it went into winter quarters.
In April, it joined Cen. Milroy’s expedition
against Huntersville, Monterey and McDonald,
and later on Buffalo gap. The enemy was
met there in force, and the Union troops fell

back to McDonald, where they were joined
by Gen. Schenck’s command, all numbering
about seven thousand. On May 8 Gen. Stone-
wall Jackson moved against our forces and
was met on the side of the Bull Pasture
mountain, where a hot battle followed, lasting
several hours. The Thirty-second suffered
severely in killed and wounded. May 12

Cen. Fremont, with 12,000 men, formed a junc-

tion with Gens. Schenck and Milroy. Gen. Jack-
son retired from the Union front, and the forces

lay there until.the latter part of May, when the
Thirty-second, having been transferred to Gen.
Schenck’s brigade,was ordered with that brigade
to report to Gen. Banks, who was operating in

Shenandoah valley against Jackson. The Thirty-

second bore an active part in Gen. Fremont’s
pursuit of Gen. Jackson up the Shenandoah val-

ley and was inaction in the battles of Cross Keys
and Port Republic, 8th and 9th of June. The
regiment retired to Strasburg, and the latter

part of June was transferred to Pratt’s brigade
and moved to Winchester, Va., July 5, 1862.

On September 1 the regiment was ordered to

Harper’s Ferry, and took part in the defense
of that post, September 12th and 15th. After
a severe struggle, in which the regiment lost

over 150 men, the Union forces were sur-

rendered by the commanding officer to the
enemy as prisoners of war.

The Thirty-second was paroled and sent to

Annapolis, and from there to Chicago. Col.
Ford, for his conduct in that unfortunate affair,

was arrested and sent to Washington for trial,

and was dismissed from the service by order of

the war department. While in camp at Chi-
cago the regiment became greatly demoralized,
and many of them left camp and went home.
Capt. B. F. Potts was sent to Gov. Tod of

Ohio to get an order from the war depart-
ment transferring the regiment to Camp Tay-
lor, Ohio. This was done, and the thirty-five

men left of the Thirty-second were transferred

to that camp. The regiment was reconstructed,

with B. F. Potts, colonel, and by the middle of

December, 1862, 800 men had reported for

duty. The officers, who had caused much of

the disaffection were dismissed, the men re-

ceived their pay in full, and January 12, 1863,
were declared exchanged. On the 1 8th the
regiment was ordered to report to Gen. U. S.

Grant, at Memphis. Reaching there January
25th, it was assigned to Gen. Logan's division,

Seventh army corps, commanded by Gen. Mc-
Pherson. February 20th, the Thirty-second
moved with the army to Lake Providence, La.,

and during the campaign against Vicksburg,
took an active part. It was in the battles of
Port Gibson, Raymond, Champion’s Hill and
Jackson. At Champion’s Hill it made a bay-
onet charge, capturing the First Mississippi
battery entire. Upon the surrender of Vicks-
burg it was assigned to post duty under Gen.
Logan. In August the Thirty-second joined
Stephenson’s expedition to Monroe, La., and
later was with McPherson at Brownsville, Miss.
In February, 1864, it was with Sherman at Meri-
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dian, and was in the fight at Baker’s creek,

February 5th, where it lost twenty-two men.
During the tnonths of December and January
over three-fourths of the regiment re-enlisted,

and March 4th it was furloughed, and the men
went home. April 21st it rejoined the army at

Cario, its ranks increased by recruits. April

27th it embarked on transports for Clifton.

June 10th it joined Gen. Sherman at Ackworth,
for the Atlanta campaign, and was closely

identified with all the movements against At-
lanta, and participated in nearly all of the

battles leading up to the fall of that place.

After the fall of Atlanta it moved with the

army sent after Hood. It rejoined Sherman’s
army, and was with him in his “great march to

the sea.” Approaching Savannah, it was in

advance, and took part December 10th in driv-

ing the enemy behind its works. December
2 1st the regiment entered Savannah with the

army, and went into camp near Fort Thunder-
bolt. From there the regiment, with the Sev-
enteenth army corps, took transports for Beau-
fort, S. C., thence to Pocotaligo station, on the

Savannah & Charleston Railroad. February
1, 1865, it moved north through the Carolinas,

and, with the Thirteenth Iowa, was the first to

enter Columbia. A part of the regiment was
engaged at Fayetteville, March 10th, with Wade
Hampton’s cavalry. Its next action was at

Bentonville, March 19th and 21st. It moved
on to Goldsboro, and with the army, then
marched to Raleigh,where it witnessed the sur-

render of Gen. Johnston’s army, May 1, 1865.

It marched with the army to Richmond, and
then on to Washington, and joined in the grand
review. It left Washington June 8th, for Louis-
ville, where, July 20th, it was mustered out, and
sent on to Columbus, Ohio, and received its

final discharge July 26, 1865.

The Thirty-second left for the field with

950 men, and during the war secured some 1,600

recruits. When it was mustered out it num-
bered 565.

Sixty-Second Ohio Volunteer Infantry .—This
regiment was organized at Camp Goddard, near
Zanesville, in November, 1861, Companies A
and F being made up from Muskingum county.

There was some delay in its taking the field,

and it remained in camp during a part of the
winter. January 17, 1862, orders were given
for it to report to Gen. Rosecrans, then com-
manding in Western Virginia. The regiment
was moved by rail to Bellaire, and then to Cum-
berland, Md., when it joined the forces under
Brig.-Gen. Lander. About the 1st of February
it was sent to Great Cacapon Creek, Va., where
it went into camp. March 10 it was ordered

to Martinsburg, and from thence to Winches-
ter and Strasburg, returning again to Winches-
ter. March 22d the regiment was placed on
picket duty. Jackson was threatening our
forces and the battle of Winchester was im-
pending. The death of Gen. Lander placed
the regiment under Gen. James Shields. Action
had begun when the Sixty-Second arrived on
the field and it was placed in support of a bat-

tery; near nightfall the regiment was ordered
forward on double-quick, and witnessed the
enemy defeated and flying from the field.

After some manceuvering it returned to Edin-
burg, Va., where it went into camp. From
there it moved to Newmarket. May 12 it

moved out for a series of long marches. It

crossed the mountains east of the Shenan-
doah abreast Swift’s gap, and fording the east-

ern branch of the Shenandoah, stopped at

Luray. The next day it made Cheat gap and
Great cross roads, where it had a slight en-

counter with the rebels. It marched then
through Warrenton to Catlett’s station. Its

next march was to Falmouth, where it was re-

viewed by President Lincoln. May 24 it was
ordered to return to Western Virginia, passing
through Catlett’s station, Manassas Junction,
Haymarket, Rectortown, F'ront Royal, Luray,
and Columbia Bridge. By a forced march it

met the enemy under Gen. Jackson, near Port
Republic, and after a fierce fight of several

hours, the Union forces were compelled to re-

treat to Luray, with heavy loss, arriving there

June 10, 1862. It left Luray June 15, and after

a great deal of marching arrived at Alexandria
June 28th. June 30th it embarked on trans-

ports for Fortress Monroe; thence to Harri-

son’s Landing, when it was placed on picket

duty, continuing until August 15th. The Sixty-

second was in position on the extreme left of

the army under Gen. McClellan. August 1 6th

,

it was with the army in the retreat to York-
town and Fortress Monroe. From the latter

place it was ordered to Suffolk, from which it

made a reconnaissance to Blackwater. The
fourth reconnaissance to that place, December
12, they met the enemy, and had a heavy skir-

mish. December 31 the regiment marched to

Norfolk, and January 4, 1863, embarked on
transports for Beaufort, N. C., and from there

by railto Newbern. January 25 it took steamer
for Port Royal, S. C., and disembarked Febru-
ary 8 on St. Helena Island, where it remained
in camp some weeks, and then sailed for Coal
island. April 3 it crossed to Folly island, and
on the 7th to Morris island, where, after a hard
fight, they drove the enemy within their en-

trenchments, with great loss. The Union forces



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 129

captured fourteen siege guns, camp and garri-

son equipage and a few prisoners.

July 18, the troops made an assault on Fort
Wagner. In this terrible assault the Sixty-

second lost 150 killed, wounded and missing.
The regiment was next engaged in the siege

of Charleston, from July 10 to October 31. It

then returned to Folly Island and from there
to Hilton Head. About the first of January,
1864, the regiment veteranized and was granted
thirty days’ furlough. It rendezvoused at

Washington, and March 3, 1864, it again took
the field, going to Petersburg. From this time
on the Sixty-second was almost constantly in

the contest that centered around the Rebel
capitol.

May 21, the regiment was selected as one
of the regiments to retake a position that had
been lost by our army. This involved a des-

perate charge and great loss of life, but the de-
tail was equal to the great task imposed; the
enemy was driven back and their rifle pits

taken. April 3, 1865, it was one of the fore-

most regiments in the assault on Fort Gregg.
It closed its brilliant military career around
Appomattox.

In September, 1865, the Sixty-second was
consolidated with the Sixty-seventh, thereby
losing its identity, as the name of the latter

was sustained.

Seventy-eighth Ohio Volunteer Infantry .—The
Seventy-Eighth was recruited under special

order from Governor Dennison, issued toM. D.
Leggett, of Zanesville. It rendezvoused at

Camp Gilbert, Zanesville. October 30, 1861,

Companies, A, B, C, D, and F, were made up
from Muskingum county. Its organization
was completed January 1 1, 1861, by the election

of the following officers: Mortimer D. Leggett,
colonel; Zachariah M. Chandler, lieutenant
colonel; David F. Carnahan, major; James F.

Reeves, surgeon; John E. Jewett, adjutant;

John C. Douglas, quarter master; Oliphant M.
Todd, chaplain; Andrew McDaniel, sergeant-
major. The regiment was ordered to the field

February 11, 1862, moving by cars to Cincin-
nati, and from there by boat to Fort Donelson,
where it arrived February 16, 1862. It was as-

signed a position on the battlefield, but too late

to take any part in the fighting. After the bat-
tle the regiment was detailed to take charge of
the prisoners and stores. About the first of
March it was ordered across the country to the
Tennessee, at Metal landing, where it went in-

to camp awaiting transportation. March 10, it

was ordered to join the Union army on the way
to Crump’s landing, thence to Adamsonville
to protect the exposed flank of the army at

Pittsburg landing. The troops at Adamson-
ville had hardly finished their breakfast when
the sounds of battle were heard in the direction

of Shiloh. The command was at once drawn
up in line of battle to await orders, which were
received at midday. The Seventy-eighth, with
its brigade, started for the scene of conflict, a

distance of fourteen miles. It arrived at Pitts-

burg landing at eight o’clock P. M., April 6,

and after the days’s fight was over. It made
camp on the extreme right of the Union army.
At daylight the following morning the regi-

ment went into action on the right and was en-

gaged all day, with a loss of one man killed and
nine wounded. It next participated in the
movements on Corinth and was frequently en-

gaged in skirmishes with the enemy while
guarding the right flank of the army. After
Corinth was evacuated the regiment, with Gen.
Wallace’s division marched to Bethel,

where it was detached, and, with theThirteenth
Illinois, under Col. Leggett, sent to Jackson,
Tenn. They drove the Rebel troops out and
took possession of the town. It was here that

the regiment had the satisfaction of hoisting

the national colors on the pole where the first

flag of treason was raised in Tennessee. While
here the regiment was transferred to Gen.
Logan’s division. From Jackson, the regiment,
with the Thirteenth Illinois, under command of

Col. Leggett, moved to Grand Junction,
Mississippi. It remained there about four

weeks, and was then ordered to Bolivar, where
it was engaged in reconnoitering and in skirm-
ishing with the enemy. August 30, after its

return to Bolivar, the regiment, with the
Twentieth Ohio, one company of the Eleventh
Illinois cavalry, and a section of the Ninth
Indiana artillery, had a sharp action with the
enemy at Spring Creek. During the fight four

companies of the famous Second Illinois cav-

alry, under Col. Hogg, came up and took part.

Col. Hogg was killed in this engagement.
Before this fight took place a force of mounted
infantry was raised from the Seventy-eighth
and Twentieth Ohio, which was placed under
the command of Lieuts. Gilbert D. Munson,
of the Seventy-eighth, and Lyman N. Ayers,
of the Twentieth, to make the reconnoissance.
After this successful action the force fell

back to the main body. The Seventy-eighth
then moved to Iuka to meet Van Dorn and
Price, but did not participate in that fight. Re-
turning to Bolivar, it was ordered to report to

Grant, then moving toward Grenada, Miss. It

was marching in advance of the army and near
Grenada, when information was received of the

destruction of the army supplies at Holly
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Springs. This changed the movements of the
Union forces. The army fell back and the

Seventy-eighth, with Gen. Grant’s forces,

moved to Memphis. From there it embarked
for Lake Providence, La., where it was engaged
in cutting the bank of the Mississippi and
opening Bayou Jackson with a view of flood-

ing the country below. While at this point
the brigade made an expedition up Mud Bayou
to extricate some gunboats which were threat-

ened by the Rebels.

The next move of the regiment was to

Milliken’s Bend, where it joined Grant, who was
then laying his plans for moving against Vicks-
burg. Crossing the Mississippi at Bruinsburg,
the regiment moved with the army to the
rear of Vicksburg, and during this movement
it was engaged in the battle at Raymond, May
12th, in which it suffered severely, losing

eighty men, killed and wounded. May 16, it

took a prominent part in the battle at Cham-
pion’s Hill, where it lost 116 men killed and
wounded. The brigade during these two last

engagements was commanded by Leggett, he
having received his commission as brigadier-

general some time previous. The investment
of Vicksburg having been completed, the
Seventy-eighth, May 22, took part in the gen-
eral charge on the enemy’s works. April 25,

the regiment was ordered up the Yazoo with a

force under command of Gen. Frank P. Blair,

to watch the manceuvers of the Rebels under
Gen. Johnston. Returning, the regiment
resumed its position in line before Vicksburg.
About this time Gen. Leggett was trans-

ferred to the First brigade in Logan’s division.

June 22, the Seventy-eighth was sent out with
a force on the Black river, to prevent the
Rebel commander, Johnston, from crossing
with his force at Bovina. It remained there
until after the surrender at Vicksburg, July 4,

1863, when it joined Gen. Sherman in his

movement on Jackson. It was left at Clinton,
where, July 7, it gallantly repulsed an attack
made by Rebel cavalry. The regiment accom-
panied the Union troops back to Vicksburg,
where it remained until the latter part of
August. It was then sent out with Gen.
McPherson’s expedition toward Canton. Re-
turning it joined Gen. Logan in his move-
ment to Monroeville, La., to meet the enemy
in that locality. January 5, 1864, the Seventy-
eighth re-enlisted, and was attached to Gen.
Sherman’s army for his Meridian expedition.
Upon its return it was sent home on veteran
furlough.

On the regiment’s return, May 1, to Cairo,
the division was re-organized, and embarked

on steamers up the Tennessee to Clifton.

Passing over Blue Mountain ridge, it joined
Gen. Sherman’s army at Ackworth, Ga., and
was placed on the left to perform its part
in the great Atlanta campaign. June 17, it

took part in the capture of Bushy mountain.
June 27, the Seventy-eighth was again in action
at Kenesaw mountain. After that engagement,
the regiment with the army of the Tennessee,
made a flank movement by swinging around the
mountain to the extreme right of Sherman’s
line extending along to the Chattahoochee, at

the mouth of Nickajack creek. This forced
the enemy to evacuate the mountain. Up to

July 16, the regiment was almost in continuous
action, either in skirmishing or artillery duel.

During this period the soldiers of the two
armies were often found trading and com-
municating with each other. July 16, the
regiment, with its command, moved to Roswell
factories and crossed the Chattahoochee.
From there the command moved forward on
Atlanta, and July 21, was actively engaged at

Bald Knob. After this position was carried

the shelling of Atlanta was begun. This was
a very important position in the defense of

Atlanta, and the Rebel commander tried to

regain it; and July 22, he threw his entire

army on the left flank of the Union forces.

A terrible fight followed, in which the brave
and gallant McPherson was killed. The
Seventy eighth, with the Sixty-eighth, held a

line near Bald Knob, an important point,

on which the enemy made a deadly attack

—

a hand-to-hand fight—and great valor was
displayed on both sides. Thirteen flag and
color-bearers of the Seventy-eighth were
either killed or wounded. These regiments
were victors. The Seventy-eighth in this

battle lost 203 officers and men killed and
wounded. It took a prominent part in all the
subsequent movements of the command until

the fall of Atlanta. It then went into camp there,

where it remained until about the middle of

October, when it was ordered toward Chatta-
nooga to guard supply trains against the
rebel general Hood. When Hood withdrew
toward Decatur, the Seventy-eighth returned
to Atlanta by way of Lost mountain, where it

arrived November 13th. On the 15th, it joined

Gen. Sherman’s army for the great march
to the sea. From Savannah the regiment
marched through the Carolinas, and was at

the surrender of Gen. Johnston’s army. P'rom
there, with the victorious Union army, it

moved northward through Richmond and on
to Washington, where it took part in the

grand review, May 30, 1865. A few days
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subsequent it was ordered to Louisville. From
there, July 9, it started for Columbus, Ohio,
where, on the nth, it was paid off and mus-
tered out of the service of the United States.

No regiment leaving the state to battle for

the cause of the Union was more distinguished
for its gallantry, noble daring and hard fight-

ing than the brave Seventy-eighth.
Ninety-seventh Ohio Volunteer Infantry .—The

Ninety-seventh was recruited from the counties
of Coshocton, Guernsey, Morgan and Musking-
gum, Companies C, E, F, G and K being largely

made up from the latter county. It was mus-
tered into service by Charles C. Goddard, Capt.
Seventeenth U. S. I., at Camp Zanesville, Sep-
tember 1 and 2, 1862. Its field and staff officers

were John Q. Lane, colonel; Milton Barnes,
lieutenant colonel; James W. Moore, major;
Thos. W. Gordon, surgeon; Chas. H. Moore,
adjutant; Wm. H. McFarland, chaplin; Wm.
F. Baker, quartermaster and Charles H. James,
sergeant-major. It left Zanesville, September
7, for Covington Heights, and the following
morning formed near Fort Mitchell pending
the raid of Kirby Smith. September 20, it em-
barked for Louisville. Arriving there on the
22d, it was brigaded with Gen. Buell’s army,
which was then marching after Gen. Bragg.
On the 4th of October, the rear guard of
Bragg’s army was met at Bardstown, where a
lively skirmish was had, the enemy re-

treating toward Perryville. When the battle of
Perryville opened, on the morning of October
8, the Ninety-seventh was some ten miles dis-

tant with the main part of Buell’s army. The
regiment with its command was hurried for-

ward rapidly to the battleground where it

did good service in holding the enemy in

check and preventing it from flanking our
right. On the 9th, the enemy having evacuated
Perryville, the Ninety-seventh joined in the
pursuit as far as Wild Cat, Ky., when it was
abandoned and the command moved to Nash-
ville, where it arrived November 21, and went
into camp on the Murfreesboro railroad. Upon
the reorganization of this department of out-

army under Gen. Wm. S. Rosecrans, the Ninety-
seventh was placed in Gen. Crittenden’s corps,
which formed the left wing of the army of the
Cumberland. December 20, the army began its

movement on Murfreesboro, and on the 27th,
met the enemy’s outpast at Lavergne, movingon
with the army. The regiment was not engaged
until the 31st, which brought on the battle at
Stone river. Gen. McCook’s right wing had
been driven back, but the pursuing enemy were
repulsed by Gen. Crittenden, and at night the
original lines were held. January 1, 1863, the

Ninety-seventh was placed to the left of Gen.
Wood’s division, the left wing of the regiment
resting on Stone river. January 2, Gen. Breck-
inridge made an attack on Gen. Van Cline’s

division—which had crossed the river—driving

it back. This brought into action the Ninety-
seventh, which greatly aided in repulsing the

enemy’s strong attack. The regiment crossed

the river and drove the enemy to his original

line. It went into camp on the La Casas turn-

pike, where it remained until the movement
against Tullahoma began. August 20, the regi-

ment took up its position on Waldron’s ridge,

in view of Chattanooga. In the reorganization

of the army of the Cumberland, under Gen.
George H. Thomas, the Ninety-seventh was
placed in the Second division— under Gen.
Sheridan—of the Fourth army corps. The next
engagement participated in by the Ninety-
seventh was Mission Ridge. In this battle the

regiment made a gallant fight, and suffered

severely. Its loss was 156 officers and men
killed and wounded.

Pursuing the retreating enemy, the regiment,

with the Fortieth Indiana, overtook the rear

guard, which had formed, and drove him across

the Chickamauga creek. November 26, the

regiment moved back to Chattanooga. Two
days later it joined Gen. Granger’s command,
which went to the relief of Gen. Burnside at

Knoxville, who was besieged by Gen. Long-
street. On this march the men suffered fear-

fully. They were without tents, thinly clothed,

and many of them, when they reached Knox-
ville, were without shoes. December 15, the

report came that the enemy was again moving
on Knoxville, and the Ninety-seventh, with the

Fourth army corps, was ordered to Strawberry
Plains and Blain’s cross roads, to meet and
drive back the rebels under Longstreet. The
Ninety-seventh remained at Blain’s cross

roads from the middle of December to the

middle of January, 1864, without tents, poorly

clothed, and depending for subsistence by for-

aging in an impoverished country. January 16,

the command moved across the Holston river

to Dandrige, where it had a lively skirmish.

The fight was renewed the dayfollowing, when
Gen. Sheridan, who was in command of the

Union forces there, ordered a retreat to Straw-

berry Plains. January 19, the Ninety-seventh,

under Sheridan, moved to Loudon, Tenn.,

where it remained until March 4, when it was
ordered to Charleston, to guard the railroad

bridge across the Hiawassee river; April 25,

it returned to the command at Cleveland, re-

maining there until May 3, when it moved out

for the Atlanta campaign. The next import-
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ant move of the Ninety-seventh was its partici-

pation in the battle of Rocky Face Ridge, May
5-9. At Resaca the regiment was under heavy
fire of the enemy for two days, and at Adairs-

ville, on the 17th, it had a sharp action. It par-

ticipated in the movement against Dallas, and
from May 25 to June 5, it was constantly under
fire. The enemy fell back to Kenesaw mount-
ain, pursued by the Union forces. June 17, the

Ninety-seventh made a charge on the enemy,
and, with the assistance of the Twenty-eighth
Kentucky, drove him behind his second line of

works. June 23, the Ninety-seventh, being on
picket line, received orders to drive in the

enemy’s outposts. This order was obeyed, at

a terrible sacrifice. Of the 153 men who went
forward to this duty, 112 were either killed or

wounded in thirty minutes’ time. June 27, the

Ninety-seventh, with the Second division, made
another charge on Kenesaw mountain, and
were driven back with great loss. July 4, the

enemy evacuated Kenesaw mountain, and fell

back to the Chattahoochee. July 6, the regi-

ment arrived at Chattahoochee river, and went
into camp.

July 13, it crossed the Chattahoochee, and
was the first of the Union troops on the south
side of that river. On the morning of the 20th,

it crossed Peach Tree creek, and drove in the

picket line of the rebels. A line of battle was
formed, with the Ninety-seventh on the ex-

treme left. It was at this point that Gen. Hood
made his first charge against the Union forces,

and the Ninety-seventh received the first as-

sault of the enemy. It was a terrible charge,

but the little band of heroes, numbering less

than 300 held their ground. For their noble
stand they received the thanks of Gen. How-
ard. They were also relieved from any further

duty during that campaign.
The Ninety-seventh was in the action at

Jonesboro, and joined in the pursuit of the

enemy back to Lovejoy station. September 2,

the Union forces went into Atlanta, and made
their camp about the town. September 25, the

Ninety-seventh, with the Second division of the

Fourth army corps, was ordered to Chatta-
nooga, to relieve the Pioneer brigade on Look-
out mountain, that it might go to the assistance

of the Union troops at Tullahoma, which were
threatened by Hood. This Rebel general’s

activity kept the Ninety-seventh almost con-

stantly on the move. October 19, it again
joined Sherman’s army at Alpine, Ga., and sub-

sequently moved by rail to Athens, Ala. It

returned northward, and arrived at Pulaski,

Tenn., November 5, remaining there until the

17th. At this time Hood was advancing on

Columbia, with the hope of beating the Union
forces into Nashville.

The Ninety-seventh moved out in advance
of the enemy to Columbia, and on the 29th, the
Union army evacuated that place and moved
toward Franklin. On the march, the Second
division of the Fourth army corps met the
enemy at Spring Hill, November 29, and fought
him until .night set in. During the night, the
balance of the army came up, and the march
was resumed to Franklin, the rear almost con-
stantly skirmishing with the enemy.

The Ninety-seventh took part in the battle

of Nashville, being with the Second division of

the Fourth army corps, on the left center. It

was in the first assault on the Rebel lines, driv-

ing the enemy back in great confusion. De-
cember 16, it took part in the action at Brent-
ford Hills, defeating the enemy and pursuing
him across the Tennessee. The regiment, with
the Fourth army corps, reached Huntsville,

Ala., January 3, 1865. March 28, the command
moved to Bull’s gap, in East Tennessee, and
began rebuilding the railroad leading into Vir-

ginia, with the view of advancing on Rich-
mond by way of Lynchburg. Learning of the
fall of Richmond, Gen. Thomas marched his

forces to Nashville, arriving there May 2. June
10, 1865, the Ninety-seventh was mustered out
and sent to Columbus, where it was paid off and
discharged from the United States service June
15, 1865. It lost during its long and brilliant

campaign, 113 officers and men killed, and 560
wounded. It returned to its home with the
reputation of being one of the best and bravest

regiments in the service of the rebellion.

One Hundred-and-seventy-second Ohio Volun-

teer Infantry .—This regiment was organized at

Camp Zanesville, from September 30, to Oct-
ober 8, 1862, to serve three years. It was
recruited from the counties of Coshocton,
Guernsey, Morgan and Muskingum. Volun-
teers from Muskingum were principally in

Companies A, B, F, G, H, I and K. It was
mustered into the United States service by
Chas. C. Goddard, Captain Seventeenth United
States infantry. Its organization was perfected

by the election of Wm. H. Ball, colonel; John
M. Bushfield, lieutenant colonel; Joseph Peach,

major; T. A, Reamy, surgeon; James T. Cush-
ing, adjutant; Daniel H. Mosley, quartermas-
ter; Chas. C. McCabe, chaplain and Geo. C.

McCormick, sergeant major.
October 23, the regiment started for the

field. It embarked at Zanesville on the steam-
boats ‘‘Powell” and “Patton,” and descendingthe
Muskingum, disembarked at Parkersburg, VV.

Va. Proceeding by rail to Clarksburg, it was
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assigned to the Second brigade, Milroy’s divi-

sion—commanded by Col. Washburne. No-
vember 15.it moved to New creek, and De-
cember 5, was temporarily placed in the First

brigade. Its first service was on an expedition
to the south branch of the Potomac, by way of

Petersburg and Wardensville. The first action

of the regiment was in meeting an attack by
a band of guerrillas under McNeil, which it re-

pulsed. A second attack was made by McNeil
on the train, just north of the ford at the branch,
capturing trains, teamsters, wagons and four

men of Company A. January 1, 1863, the regi-

ment moved to Winchester, and with the One-
hundred-and-tenth Ohio, garrisoned that town.
March 14, some changes were made. Milroy’s
division became the Second division, Eighth
army corps, and the four regiments that con-
stituted the Second brigade of the old division,

were organized into the First brigade of the
division, with the addition of Carlin’s battery
and some cavalry, under the command of Gen.
Elliott. For some time the regiment was en-

gaged on scouting expeditions. The One-hun-
dred-and-twenty-second was ordered up ( during
Gen. Hooker’s movement on Chancellorsville)
the Shenandoah valley to capture, Staunton.
The expedition advanced as far as New Mar-
ket, when it was ordered back to Winchester.
June 13, a part of the regiment met Gen. Stew-
art’s raid on the Strasburg road and were re-

pulsed. The following day, the entire regi-

ment was engaged, and succeeded in forcing
through the enemy’s lines and moved to Har-
per’s Ferry. It had several men and officers

captured, some of whom were not exchanged
until April, 1865. Upon the evacuation of
Maryland heights, the regiment moved through
Washington to Georgetown, and thence on to

Frederick, and was assigned to Second brigade,
Third division, Third army corps. The brigade
at once took part in the operations against the
army of Lee. After considerable marching and
counter-marching, it went into camp August 1,

on the Rappahannock. Subsequently it was
ordered to New York city to assist in suppress-
ing the riots. In September it rejoined the
brigade on the Rappahannock and marched to

Culpeper Courthouse. During the fight at

Winchester, about 100 of the regiment became
separated from the regiment, and joined the One-
hundred-and-sixteenth Ohio, in. their march
to Cumberland gap and Bloody run. Subse-
quently this command formed a part of the
garrison at Martinsburg. They returned to
their regiment at Culpeper during the latter

part of September. I’hc next action of the
regiment was at Brandy station, November 8.
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On the 26th it crossed the Rapidan and was in

action at Orange grove, or Mine run.

Returning to Brandy station, December 3,

it went into winter quarters on the farm of

J. Minor Botts. March, 1864, the Third division

was assigned to the Sixth army corps. The
One-hundred-and-twenty-second broke camp
May 4, and on the following day, with the
brigade, it marched out to take part in the
battle of the Wilderness. In this battle the
regiment conducted itself nobly, and lost the
first day, 120 men. It took an active part in

all the subsequent movements in this mem-
orable campaign. It was in action at Spott-
sylvania, then the North Anna, and across the
Pamunky, it performed heroic service, and was
under fire almost constantly. At Totopotamy
creek the regiment was placed on the skirmish
line, and aided in the capture of the rifle-pits

of the enemy. Its next engagement was at

Cold Harbor, where it took a prominent part,

and lost heavily. From there it marched to

Jones’ bridge, on the Chickahominy, thence to

Charles’ City and Wilcox’s landing, on the

James. From there it ascended the river, and
reported to General Butler, at Bermuda Hun-
dred. From there it crossed the Appomattox,
and moved up to the lines in front of Peters-

burg, and later it was put in position on the
extreme left. It was in the action on the
Weldon railroad, June 22d and 23d, which was
again taken by the enemy. On the 29th, it

was on the expedition to Ream’s station, de-

stroying the railroad. July 6, it moved in

steamers with its command, via P'ortress Mon-
roe and the Chesapeake, to Baltimore. On
this trip the regiment was divided, and owing
to an accident a part of it did not arrive until

July 9, when it, with the Sixth Maryland, and
Sixty-seventh Pennsylvania, started by rail to

Frederick. During this day the other half,

with the remainder of the division, fought the
battle of Monocacy junction. The other force

arrived in time to cover the retreat, and the
Third division moved on to Ellicott’s mills,

and from there by rail to Baltimore. From
there it went to Washington, thence through
Tenallytown across the Potomac, joining its

corps near Leesburg: The regiment joined in

an action at Snicker’s Gap, against General
Early, following him to Berryville; then re-

turned to Tenallytown. Its next move was to

Harper’s Ferry, via Rockville and Monocacy
junction. July 30, the army crossed the Poto-
mac, and concentrated near the junction. The
regiment had then a little rest for the first time
sincethecampaignopened. August 7, the army
moved to Halltown, thence via Clifton, Berry-
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ville andNewton to the front of Early’s com-
mand, at Fisher’s Hill. After much marching,
manceuvering and many skirmishes, the Sixth
corps formed for battle about two miles east of

Winchester. The One-hundred-and-twenty-sec-
ond in this engagement bore a distinguished part.

By daylight the next morning the Union forces

were after Early, and by mid-day came up with
him, and a lively battle followed. The regiment
pursued the enemy as far as Mount Crawford,
then returned to Strasburg, where it rested;

then moved on toward Alexandria. As the
head of the column was approaching the
Shenandoah, opposite Ashley’s gap, it received

an order to return to Cedar creek, that “Early
was coming down again.” October 14, the
Sixth corps was along the hills bordering
Cedar creek. October 19 came on the battle

of Cedar creek, in which the One-hundred-and-
twenty-second was an important factor, and
took part in following Early across'the stream.

General Sheridan’s army went into canton-
ments near Kernstow, November 10, and De-
cember 3 the Sixth corps moved by rail to

Washington, where it embarked for City Point.

Later it was in position in front of Petersburg,

a little way west of the Weldon railroad.

January 5, 1865, it moved with its corps to

the left, when Grant extended his lines out
beyond Hatcher’s Run, and was assigned to

position near Fort Fisher, March 25, with the
brigade, the regiment captured and held the
enemy’s picket-trenches. At 4 o’clock A. M.
April 2, the Sixth corps advanced against the
enemy and drove them from their fortifications.

Following in pursuit the Sixth corps met
Gen. Lee’s fleeing army with the One-hun-
dred-and-twenty-second on the skirmish line,

and broke the Rebel columns. It continued in

the march against the retreating hosts of the
fast tumbling Confederacy and was present
at its final fall at Appomattox. It returned
to Washington in June and was reviewed by
the President and his cabinet. It was mustered
out July 26, and was sent to Columbus, Ohio,
where it was paid off and discharged. It went
into the war with 927 men, received many re-

cruits and came out with 585, and with the
honored name of a gallant, brave and fighting

regiment.
One-Hundred-aiid-Fifty-Ninth Ohio Volunteer

Infantry- -This regiment was organized at

Zanesville, Ohio, May 9 and 10, 1864, and was
mustered into the United States service for 100

days. It was composed of the Eleventh regi-

,
ment, Ohio National Guard, from Muskingum,
county, and the Seventy-third battalion, Ohio
National Guard, from P'airfield county. The

regimental officers were: Lyman J. Jackson,
colonel; Horace D. Munson, lieutenant col-

onel; Wm. S. Harlan, major; Robert Chambers,
surgeon; Albert W. Train, adjutant; Henry
Lillibridge, quartermaster; Joseph H. Moore,
chaplain, and Albert A. Guthrie, sergeant
major.

Immediately after muster-in the regiment
was ordered to Harper’s Ferry, Va., and
went into camp on Maryland heights until

May 1 7, when it was ordered to report to

Gen. Lew Wallace, and was assigned to

Brig-Gen. Kenly’s command. Four companies
were detailed on guard duty at Camp Bradford,
Baltimore, where they remained during their

term of service. One company performed
provost guard duty in Baltimore, another was
detailed at Patterson Park Hospital, and the
remaining companies were on detailed duty,

guarding bridges on the Philadelphia, Wilming-
ton & Baltimore railroad. At the time of

the Rebel invasion, 100 men from the reg-

iment were mounted and participated in the
battle of Monocacy junction, July 9, and the
skirmishes incident thereto. July 12, comp-
anies B, E, G and I, with other troops,

moved on an expedition to Pikesville, against

the Rebels. July 28, four companies of the

regiment were stationed at Havre de Grace,
where they had charge of the railroad. Aug-
ust 13, its term of service having expired it

was discharged and sent home. It arrived at

Zanesville, August 17, and was mustered out
on August 24, 1864.

One-Himdred-and Sixteenth Ohio Volunteer In-

fantry.—This regiment was organized at Zanes-
ville, Ohio, May 12, 13 and 14, 1864, to serve
for one hundred days. It was made up of the
Fifty-third battalion, Ohio National Guard,
from Perry county; Ninety-first battalion, Ohio
National Guard, from Muskingum county, and
a part of the Seventy-third Ohio National
Guard, from P'airfield county. It was mustered
into the United States service at Zanesville,

May 12, 1864, and was immediately placed en

route to Harper’s Ferry. Its first duty was to

guard supply trains to Martinsburg, W. Va. On
its return it was placed in the First brigade,

First division, of General Hunter’s army, and
on the morning of the 25th of May it moved
out to Woodstock, W. Va., with the command.
It then moved toward the front, but on the way
was again detached and sent back to guard and
take charge of a supply train at Martinsburg.
At Middletown the regiment met Mosby’s
guerillas and had a skirmish with them.
From this time until the close of its service, it

was occupied almost continually in marching
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and counter-marching through the Shenandoah
Valley, during which time it was engaged in a

number of skirmishes. August 25, the regi-

ment started for home and arrived at Zanes-
ville on the 29th. At the expiration of its

term of service, August 29, 1864, it was mus-
tered out.

One-Hiindred-and-Seventy-eighth Ohio Volun-

teer Infantry.—This regiment was organized at

Camp Chase, September 26, 1864, to serve one
year. Companies A and F were partly made
up from Muskingum county. Under command
of Col. Joab A. Stafford, it started by rail and
water for Nashville, under orders to report to

Gen. George H. Thomas for duty. It remained
in Nashville about two weeks, performing
guard duty, when it was ordered to Tullahoma,
Tenn., when it formed a part of the post com-
mand. The post was evacuated during the
winter of 1864-5, anc^ the One-hundred-and-
seventy -eighth was sent to Murfreeboro,
where it it remained during the siege. After
the defeat of General Hood’s army, at Nash-
ville, the regiment was ordered to North
Carolina. It landed at Morehead City with
the Twenty-third army corps, and later took
part in the action at Wise’s fork against Gen.
Johnston’s forces. After the surrender of

Johnston, the regiment was ordered to Char-
lotte, N. C., for garrison duty. It remained
there until it was mustered out June 29, 1865.
It was paid off and discharged at Camp Chase,
Ohio, July 10, 1865.

One-Hundred-and-Ninetyfifth Ohio Volunteer

Infantry.—This regiment was one of the series

recruited for one year’s service, and was organ-
ized at Camp Chase, Ohio, March 20, 1865,
with Col. Henry B. Banning, commanding,
it arrived at Harper’s Ferry, March 25, and
after preforming garrison duty there for a few
days, it joined Gen. Hancock’s command at

Winchester. While in this camp news of Lee’s
surrender was received, and the regiment was
ordered to Alexandria, Va., when it per-
formed provost guard duty until December
18, 1865. It was then ordered to Washington
and mustered outof service. It returned to

Camp Chase, was paid off and discharged.
This regiment, like all that class of one-year’s

service, organized in 1864-5,was composed of
men who had previously been in the service,
and were thoroughly experienced soldiers;
and when they were recruited there were no in-

dications that the Confederacy was so near its

final collapse.

Individual Record
,

First Regiment.—Atwell,
Wm. E., e. in Apr. 1861, Co. II. for 3 months,’
service, rc-c. May 2, i864;apptd. 2nd. lieut. Co.

E., 100 days., m. o. Aug 22, 1864, re-e. Sept. 21,

1864, 1 year, Co. A; apptd 1st lieut. Feb. 10,

1865; m. o. June 29, 1865. Cary, Thos. M., e.

in Apr., 1861, 3-months’ service, Co. H; re-e.

Aug. 12, 1861, 3 years, Co. E; apptd. 2d lieut.;

cap.; parolled; res. July 27, 1862. Everich, Jas.

5., e. Apr., 1861, 3-months’ service, Co. H; re-e.

Sept., 1862, 7th O. V. C.; trans. to U. S. N.;dis.

June, 1865. Greiner, Frederick, e. Apr., 1861,

3-months’ service, Co. H; re-e. in 1 8th U. S. 1 .;

wd. at Chickamauga, Sept. 20, 1863; in hos.;

cap. in front of Atlanta; in Andersonville and
other prisons; parolled; in hos. at Annapolis;
m. o. Sept. 1 5, 1865.

Second Regiment.—Anderson, IT L., e. Aug.

9, 1861, 3 years, Co. E; pro. 1st lieut.; pro. capt.

Aug. 10, 1863; dis. at Camp Chase Oct. 10,

1864; com. maj. 194th, Mar. 14, 1865; pro. lieut.

-

col. Oct. 22, 1865; m. o. Oct. 24, 1865. Arm-
strong, James, e. Oct. 8, 1862, 9 months, Co. E;
dis. July 9, 1863; re-e. Feb. 23, 1864, 3 yrs., Co.
B; wd. at the Wilderness; trans. to 4th O. bat.

June 5, 1864. Bell, J. W., e. Sept., 1861, 9
months, Co. E; dis. July 14, 1863. Brown,
John T., e. Sept. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. E; dis.

July 30, 1862, on acct. of wds. Cary, James
Edward, e. Aug. 14, 1861, 3 years, Co. E; killed

at Perryville, Ivy., Oct. 8, 1862; Ellis, James, e.

Aug. 14, 1861, 3 years, Co. E, corp.; apptd.
sergt. Feb. 1, 1864; wd. at Perryville and at

Resaca; m. o. Oct. 10, 1864; Elsea, John, e.

Oct. 8, i862,9months,Co. E; in several hospitals;

dis. Aug. 20, 1863. Hunter, Daniel, e. Oct. 8,

1862, 9 months, Co. E; dis. July 14, 1863. John-
son Hugh N., e. Aug. 14, 1861, 3 years, Co. E;
wd. at Perryville, Ky.

;
no further record. Ivin-

kade, Noah, e. Aug. 19, 1861, 3 years, Co. E;
wd. at Chattanooga; died at hospital; 2d brig.,

1st div., 14th Army Corps, Mar. 27, 1864.

Lawson, David D., e. Aug. 19, 1861, 3 years, Co.

E; m. o. Oct. 10, 1864; Martin, Robert P., e.

Aug. 24, 1862, 3 years, Co. G; wd. and capt. at

Chickamauga; exchanged; trans. to 1 8th O. V.

1., Oct. 10, 1864. Mercer, David, e. Apr., 1861,

3 years, Co. H; kid. at Vienna, Va., June 17,

1861; Nichols, Andrew J., e. Aug. 14, 1861, 3.

years, Co. E; trans. to V. R. C. July 1, 1863; m.
o. Oct. 10, 1864. Richardson, John, c. Oct. 8,

1862, 9 months; wd. at Dcchard Station; dis.

July 14, 1863. Ross, James M., e. Oct. 10, 1862,

3 years, Co. E; dis. July 26, 1863. Ross, Na-
than T., e. Oct. 8, 1862, 9 months, Co. E.; dis.

July 14, 1863. Sullivan, Martin, e. Aug. 14,

1861, 3 years, Co. If; wd. at Perryville; dis.

Feb. 10, 1863; disab. Sutton, Bryant, e. Aug.
14, 1861, 3 years, Co. E; wd. at Stone River; in

hospital; m. o. Oct. 10, 1864. Van Horne,
Francis, c. Aug. 14, 1861, 3 years, Co. E; m. o.
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Oct. io, 1864. Wallace, Leander, e. Aug. n,
1861, 3 years, Co. E; in hospital at Cincinnati;

m. o. Oct. 10, 1864. Wilcox, Chas. T., e. Lick-

ing County, Oct. 8, 1862, 9 months, Co. E; wd.
at Murfreesboro; in hospital; dis. July 14, 1863.

Zimmer, David, e. Aug. 14, 1861, 3 years, Co.
E; apptd. corp. Dec. 15, 1862: wd. at Chicka-
mauga Sept. 20, 1863; dis. Apr. 13, 1864, disab.

Third Regiment.— Kille, A. C., e. Oct. 8, 1862,

3 years, Co. E; left at department headquarters;
no further record. Kille, Louis A., e. June 13,

1861, 3 years, Co. E., corp.; apptd. sergt. May
I, 1864; m. o. June 21, 1864. Langley, Lewis
F., e. June 13, 1861, 3 years, Co. E, corp.; apptd.
sergt. May 1, 1864; wd. at Chaplin Hills, Ky.,

Oct. 8, 1862; m. o. June 21, 1864. Munson,
William A., enlisted June 13, 1861, 3 years, Co.
E; apptd. corp. Nov. 1, 1862; wd. at Stone
River Jan. 3, 1863; capt. near Rome, Ga.; held
one month; m. o. June 21, 1864. Murdock,
George W., e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. E;
wd. at Chaplin Hills, Ky., Oct. 8, 1862; trans.

to Miss, marine brig. Jan. 31, 1863; dis. at

Vicksburg Jan., 1865. Oakley, Elijah, e. Allen
county June 13, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; sergt.

color bearer; wd. at Huntsville, Ala.; capt. near
Rome, Ga.

;

paroled; m. o. Camp Dennison June
21, 1864. Percella, John, e. June 18, 1861, 3
years, Company A; wd. at Stone River; no fur-

ther record. Priest, Benj., e. June 13, 1861,3
years, Co. E; capt. near Rome, Ga.; prisoner at

Belle Island 3 weeks; exch.; m, o. June 21,

1864. Reiner, John J., e. Aug. 28, 1862, 3 years,

Co. E; trans. to Co. C, 33d, June, 1864; capt.
and held for a few days in Libby. Tignor,
John W., e. June 13, 1861, 3 years, Co. E; wd.
at Stone River Dec. 31, 1862; m. o. June 21, 1864.
Vogt, Frederick W., e. June 13, 1861, 3 years,
Co. F; wd. at Perryville; capt. near Rome, Ga.;
paroled and sent to Camp Chase; trans. to 33d
O. V. V. I., Co. C.; wd. in front of Atlanta; in

hospital; m. o. at Washington June 5, 1865.
Fourth Regiment.— Prior, Samuel J., e. June

3, 1861, 3 years, Co. C; m. o. June 24, 1864.

Fiftti Regiment.— Bell, Alfred, surg., e. June
II, 1861, 3 years; m. o. June 20, 1864. Tomp-
kins, John, e. in F'ranklin county June 13, 1861,

3 years, Co. K; m. o. July 20, 1865; vet.

Twelfth Regiment.—Bucey, William T., e.

May, 1861, 3 months’ service, Co. K; re-e. Aug.,
1861, Co. F, 2d W. Va. V. C.; wd. and capt. at

Wytheville, Va.; dis. 1865. Ballenger, Jas. K.,

e. June, 1861, Co. E, for 3 months; re-e. for 3
years; m. o. with regt. June 21, 1864. Best,
William J., e. June 13, 1861, 3 years, Co. E;
apptd. corp; dis. at Huntsville, Ala., Feb. 12,

1862; disab. Cary, John P., e. June 13, 1861. 3
years, Co. E; capt. near Rome, Ga.; exchanged;

m. o. June 24, 1864. Cooper, George H., e. June

13, 1861, 3 years, Co. E; m. o. June 21, 1864.

Crooks, John H., e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co.

E; in hospital; wd. at Perryville; in hospital;

dis. P'eb. 1, 1863; disab.; re-e. May 2, 1864, Co.

K, 159th, as sergt.; det. for duty on staff of

Gen. Lew Wallace; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864; re-e.

Feb. 17, 1865, for 1 year in Co. G, 196th; corp;

m. o. at Cumberland, Md., May 15, 1865.

Crumbaker, Jas. A., e. June 13, 1861, 3 years,

Co. E; apptd. sergt.; kid. at Chaplin Hills,

Ky., Oct. 8, 1862. Fix, Joseph, e. June 13,

1861, 3 years, Co. E; apptd. corp, April 20,

1862; sergt. Jan. 1, 1863; 1st sergt. Dec., 1863

;

wd. at Chaplin Hills, Ky., Oct. 8, 1862; m. o.

June 21, 1864. Foye, W. IT, e. June 13, 1861,

3 years, Co. E; corp; apptd. 1st sergt. Nov. 14,

1861; dis. Aug. 24, 1863. Frazier, Joseph D.,

e. Aug. 23, 1862, 3 years, Co. E; dis. Aug. 21,

1863; disab. Geiger, Frederick, sergt,, e. June

13, 1861, 3 years, Co. E; dis. at Huntsville, Ala.,

June 9, 1862; com. 2d lieut. July 25, 1862, Co.

E, 97th; dis. Dec. 12, 1862; disab.

Fifteenth Regiment.—Alexander, Neeley, e.

May, 1861, Co. A, 3-months’ service re-e. 3

years; wd. at Shiloh; died at St. Louis, Apr.

17,1862; Alexander, Wm., e. Aug. 9,1861,3
years, Co. A; wd, at Kenesaw mt., June 14,

1864; m. o. Nov. 21, 1865; vet. Bailey, Wesley,
e. May, 1861, Co. A; died in hospital at Louis-

ville, July, 1861. Brown, Jos. S., e. Aug. 9,

1861, 3 years, Co. A; wd. at Stone river, Dec.

31, 1862; before Atlanta, Aug. 19, 1864; m. o.

Nov. 21, 1865; vet. Brown, Robt. B., e. Aug.

9, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; wd. before Atlanta,

July 24, 1864; m. o. Nov. 21 ,1865; vet. Camp-
bell, Jacob, e. Aug. 9, 1861, 3 years, Co. A;
cap. near Lawrenceburg, Ky. 1862; apptd.

corp; m. o. Nov. 21, 1865; vet. Case, James
T., e. Aug. 9, 1861, 3 years; m. o. Nov. 19, 1864;

Connin, James, e. Sept. 30, 1862, 3 years, Co. A;
died at New Concord, O., Jan. 10, 1864.

Decker, John G., e. Aug. 9, 1861, 3 years, Co.

A; apptd. corp. Feb. 9, 1865; wd. at Liberty

Gap, June 25, 1863; m. o. Nov. 21, 1865; vet.

Ferguson, A. J., e. Oct. 6, 1864, 1 year, Co. A;
m. o. Oct. 29, 1865. Ferguson, Wm., e. Aug.

9, 1861,3 years, Co. A; apptd. corp. Apr. 19,

1863; sergt., Apr. 11, 1864; m. o. Nov. 21,

1865; vet. Green, John A., e. Sept. 6, 1861, 3

years, Co. B; corp; apptd. sergt. Jan. 1, 1864;

1st sergt. Feb. 9, 1865; cap. at Stone River,

Tenn., Dec. 31, 1862; wd. at Picket’s Mills, Ga.,

May 27, 1864; at Liberty Gap, Tenn., June 25,

1864; in front of Atlanta, July — , 1864; m. o.

Nov. 21, 1865; vet. Gregory, John, e. Aug. 9,

1861, 3 years, Co. A; apptd. sergt. Mar. 8, 1864;

1st sergt. Feb. 9, 1865; m. o. Nov. 2

1

1 1865; vet.
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Guthrie, Samuel R., e. Aug. 9, 1861, 3 years,

Co. A; wd. at Nashville, Dec. 16, 1864; dis.

July 13, 1865; disab. Hammond, Charles, e.

Feb. 28, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; m. o. Nov. 21,

1865. Hammond, Solomon, e. Dec. 17, 1863,

3 years, Co. A; wd. at New Hope Church,
May 29, 1864; m. o. Nov. 21, 1865. Hammond,
Wm. H., e. February 10, 1864, 3 years, Co. A;
m. o. Nov. 21, 1865. Hirdmen, Jacob H., e.

Sept. 8, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; dis. Feb. 21,

1865; disab. Leadman, Benoni, e. Co. A; kid.

at Kenesaw Mt.; no further record known.
McKinney, James, sergt. e. Aug. 9, 1861, 3

years, Co. A; cap. at Stone River, Dec. 31,

1862; wd. at Liberty Gap, June 25, 1863; dis.

March 8, 1864; disab. loss of leg. McKinney,
W. W., e. Aug. 9, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; m. o.

Sept. 19, 1864. Malone, Wm., e. Sept. 8, 1862,

3 years, Co. A; cap. at Stone River, Tenn.,

Dec. 31, 1862; m. o. June 10, 1865. Mercer,

John, e. Aug. 9, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; m. o

Sept. 19, 1864. Merriman, Edward T., Sept. 6,

1861, 3 years, Co. B; corp; wd. at Chicka-
mauga, Dec. 31, 1862; m. o. Sept. 19, 1864.

Moore, Ai, e. Apr. 11, 1865, 1 year, Co. A; m.o.

Nov. 20, 1865. Moorehead, Robt. H., e. Sept.

8, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; m. o. June 10, 1865.

Munson, Gilbert, D., sergt. e. Sept. 6, 1861, 3

years, Co. B; trans. to 78th, Co. B, Dec. 28,

1861; pro. to 2d. lieut. same date; pro. 1st

lieut. Apr. 16, 1862; cap. Sept. 7, 1862; det. as

A. A. I. G. and A. C., 3d. Div. 17th, A. C.; pro.

to lieut. -col. Jan. 12, 1865; m. o. at Columbus,

0.

,
July 15, 1865. Patterson, Samuel L., e.

Sept. 1861, 3 years, Co. A; m. o. Nov. 21, 1865;

vet. Richardson, Edward, e. Feb 10, 1864, 3
years, Co. A; wd. at New Hope Church, May
27, 1864; trans. to V. R. C. Apr. 21, 1865.

Schreiber, Frank L. e. Aug. 9, 1861, 3 years,

Co. A; wd. at Liberty Gap, Tenn., June 25.

1863: m. o. Nov. 21, 1865; vet. Spencer, Wise-
man, e. Sept. 6, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; dis. Dec.

1, 1863, acct. wounds received at Chickamauga,
Sept. 20, 1863. Stevenson, T. R., service in

Co. A, from 1864 to 1865. Staver, Samuel T.,

2d lieut., e. Sept. 9, 1861, 3 years; Co. A., res.

May 2, 1862; com. asst, surg. 99th dis. Apr.
12, 1864. Wallace, S. T., e. June 30, 1864, 3
years, Co. F; m. o. Nov. 21, 1865. White,
Harvey, e. Aug. 9, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; cap. at

Chickamauga, Sept. 20, 1863; died in Ander-
sonville, July 14, 1864. White, Jas. W., c.

Sept. 8, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; wd. at Stone
River, Tenn. Dec. 31, 1862; in hos.; dis. Apr.
10, 1863; disab.; re.-e; m. o. Nov. 21, 1865; vet,

Wilhcm, Edward A., c. Aug. 9, 1861, 3 years.
Co. A; corp.; dis. August 9, 1864; disab.; rc.-c.

May 2, 1864, Co. C, 159th, 1st sergt., m. o. Aug.

22, 1864. Wilson, James, e. Aug. 9, 1861, 3
years, Co. A; dis. June 21, 1862; disab. Wolf,
Wm. Lee, e. Aug. 9, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; m. o.

Nov. 21, 1865; vet.

Sixteenth Regime?it.— Bagent,Jas. M., e. Sept.

13, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; dis. at Columbus,
Oct., 1864. Buchaloo, Israel, e. Sept. 13, 1861, 3
years, Co. D; dis. March 8, 1863; disab. Butler,
Wm. F, e. Sept. 13, 1861

, 3 years, Co. D; died in

service, interred at home. Cass, Sylvanus, e. 3
mo. service, Co. F; drafted June 9, 1864, Co. B,

126th, wd. at Opequan, Va., Sept. 19, 1864; m,
o. June 25, 1865. Comer, Frank, e. 1861, 3 mo.
service Co. K. Dorsey, J. C, e. Apr. 1861, Co.
K; served until Aug.; pro. to corp. then serj.

Dunmead, David, e. Sept. 13, 1861, 3 years, Co.
D; died at New Orleans, Oct. 31, 1863. Dun-
mead, Wm., e. Sept. 13, 1861, 3 years, Co. D;
apptd. corp.; dis. Sept. 23, 1863. Estinghausen,
L. F., e. April 1861, 3 mo. service. Fleming,
Alonzo F., corp., e. Sept. 10, 1861,3 years, Co.
A; m. o. Oct. 31, 1864. Fletcher, John A., e.

Sept. 13, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; trans. to V. R.

C. May 1, 1864; dis. 1865. Fletcher, Joshua G.,

e. Sept. 13, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; died at Cum-
berland gap, Ky., Aug. 9, 1862. Fletcher,

Spencer, corp., e. Sept. 13, 1861, 3 years, Co. D;
wd; died at Milliken’s Bend, La., April 4, 1863.

Layton, James, e. Sept. 13, 1861, 3 years, Co.
D; m o. Oct. 31, 1864. Lazell, Tlios., e. Sept.

13, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; m. o. Oct. 31, 1864.

Murray, Sam’l A.,e. Aug. 18, 1861, 3 years, Co.
A; sick; m. o. Oct. 31, 1864. Ninekirk, Chas.,

Sept. 27, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; corp.; wd. at

Young’s Point, Miss.; trans. to V. R. C.; m. o.

Oct. 31, 1864. Oubrich, Thos., e. Sept. 13, 1861,

3 years, Co. D; cap.; held 10 weeks; m. o. Oct.

31, 1864. Pansier, John B., e. Sept. 13, 1861, 3
years, Co. D; dis. Sept. 3, 1863, disab. Play-

ford, John H., e. Aug. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. A;
apptd. serg.; m. o. Oct 31, 1864. Rieley, Enoch,
e. Sept. 15, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; corp.; m. o.

Oct. 31, 1864. Ross, Henry H., e. Sept. 1, 1861,

3 years, Co. A; dis. on act. wds. reed, at Vicks-
burg, Aug. 27, 1863. Ross, Solomon B., e.

Sept. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; m. o. Oct. 31,

1864; sub-served in Co. D, 88th. Rushey,
Daniel, e. Sept. 15, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; m. o.

Oct. 31, 1864; re-e. Feb. 15, 1865; mus. 195th

Co. I; m. o. Dec. i 8, 1865. Rushley, Frederick,
e. Sept. 10, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; in hos. Bayou
Tcche, La. and N. O., La.; m. o. Oct 31, 1864;

re-e. Feb. 15, 1865, corp.; Co. I, 195th; m. o.

Dec. 18, 1865. Scott, Judson C., c. Sept.

15, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; m. o. Oct. 31

1864. Scott, Samuel S., c. Sept. 15, 1861, 3,

years, Co. A; died at Camp Dennison, Dec. 29,

1861. Shadrick, John, e. Sept. 13, 1861, 3 years,
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Co. D; died at Memphis, Jan. 8, 1862. St.

Claire, Daniel, e. Sept. 13, 1861, 3 years, Co. D;
died at Cumberland Gap, Ky., July 27, 1862.

St. Claire, YVm., e. Sept. 13, 1861, 3 years, Co.

D.
;
cap. at Chickasaw Bayou, Dec. 29, 1862;

held in Rebel prison and hos.; paroled; ex.

Oct. 1863; m. o. Oct. 31, 1864. Tatham, Chas.,

e. Sept. 13, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; died at Galli-

polis, O., of fever, Nov. 6, 1862. Frost, An-
thony, e. Sept. 15, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; wd. at

Chickasaw Bayou; m. o. Oct. 31, 1864. Vanos-
tran, Joseph, e. Sept. 13, 1861, 3 years, Co. D;
m. o. Oct. 31, 1864.

Seventeenth Regiment.— Betz, Fred, served Co.
E, from Apr. to Aug., 1861; re-e. Jan., 1864, Co.
D, O. V. C.; wd. near Atlanta, Aug. 10, 1864; dis.

July 14, 1865. Devilling, C. T., e. Mar. 25, 1862,

3 years, Co. B; m. o. July 16, 1865, vet. Hielt,

Win. L., e. Sept. 23, 1861, 3 years, Co. H; trans.

to V. R. C., Feb. 16, 1863. Jarvis, John, e.

Sept. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. F; apptd. sergt. July
12, 1864; m. o. July 16, 1865, vet. Litchner,
Henry, e. in Fairfield Co. Aug. 15, 1861, 3 years,

Co. A,corp; m.o.July 16, 1865, vet. Williams,
W. C., e. Aug. 21, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; m. o.

July 16, 1865.

Eighteenth Regiment.— Dickison, J. N., e. Apr.
23, 1861, Co. K; dis. Aug. 1861. Dixon, Nicho-
las, e. Sept. 16, 1861, 3 years, Co. F, corp.; m.
o. Nov. 9, 1864. Garley, Lafayette, e. Sept. 25,

1864, 1 year; m. o. Aug. 5, 1865. Thompson,
Chas. W., e. Mar. 1, 1865, I year, Co. E; m. o.

Oct. 9, 1865. Welch, John, e. Sept. 24, 1861, 3
years, Co. E; wd. at Stone river; m. o. Nov. 9,

1864.

Nineteenth Regiment.—Beardslee, Geo. W., e.

May, 1861, 3-months’ service, Co. D; re-e. Dec.
14, 1861,3 years, Co. B,78th; twice apptd. sergt.;

wd. at Shiloh Jan. 12, 1865; m. o. July n, 1865,

vet. Day, Stephen, e. Feb. 20, 1864; m. o. with
regt., Oct. 24, 1865. Dixon, John C., e. Aug.
12, 1861, 3 years, Co. K, corp; dis. Sept. 14,

1862; disab. (served in the 3d 3-months’ ser-

vice). Fluke, Geo. E., e. Aug. 28, 1861, 3 years,

Co. K; dis. at Columbus, O.; disab. Goshen,
Morris, corp., e. Feb. 23, 1864, 3 years, Co. E;
m. o. Oct. 24, 1865. Goshen, Monroe, corp.,

e. Feb. 23, 1864, 3 years, Co. E; m. o. Oct. 24,

1865. Israel, Howard, e. Sept. 12, 1861, 3
years, Co. E; wd. at New Hope Church; dis.

Feb. 24, 1863; disab. Israel, Wm. L., e. Oct. 8,

1862, 3 years, Co. E; m. o. at San Antonio,
Tex., Oct. 17, 1865. Martin, Joseph, e. Aug.
21, 1861, 3 years, Co. K, corp.; sergt. Sept, 25,

1864; wd. at Stone river; m. o. Oct. 24, 1865,
vet. Nesbaum, Frank, e. Feb, 25, 1864, 3 years,
Co. E; m. o. Oct. 24, 1865; previously served
in 88th, Co. A. Nesbaum, Wm. E., e. Sept. 12,

1861, 3 years, Co. E, pro. corp.; wd. twice
slightly, at Stone river and Kenesaw Mt; m.o.
Oct. 24, 1865, vet. Romine, Henry, e. Feb. 25,

1864, 3 years, Co. K; m. o. Oct. 24, 1865.

Toole, Wm., e. Aug. 28, 1861, 3 years, Co. K;
m. o. Oct. 24, 1865, vet. Willey, Fred M., e. Sept.

18, 1862, 3 years, Co. E; apptd. corp.; m. o.

Oct. 17, 1865, vet. Wisehart, John J., e. Aug.
28, 1861, 3 years, Co. K; pro. corp.; m. o. Oct.

24, 1865.

Twentieth Regiment.—Launder, Alfred D., e.

in Shelby Co., Aug. 18, 1861
, 3 years, Co. B;

injured in leg by accident; apptd. corp.; m. o.

July 15. 1865; vet. Ogle, Martin, v. e. Sept. 26,

1864, 1 yr., Co. D; dis. May 31, 1865; three

months’ service in 1 6th, Co. K. Walters, Hiram,
e. Oct. I, 1864, 1 yr., Co. G; m. o. May 30,

1865.

Twenty-third Regiment.—McFarland, Wm. J.,

e. July 20, 1864, 3 yrs., Co. G; m. o. July 26,

1865. Norman, Wm. C„ e. in Washington Co.,

June 23, 1864, 3 yrs., Co. G; wd. at Fishers’

Hill, Va.; m. o. July 26, 1865.

Twenty-fourth Regiment.—Dempster, Francis,

M. e. May 31, 1 86 1 ,
Co. B; 3 yrs., died of

wounds, Nov. 5, 1861. Duval, Washington L.,

e. May 30, 1861, 3 yrs., Co. B; apptd. corp;

wd. at Stone river Dec. 31, 1862: trans. to V.
R. C. Jan. 14, 1864. Erwin, Thos. J., e. May 30,

1861, 3 yrs. Co. B; det. on scout duty, sketch-

ing rebel camps, etc., cap. on one of his scout-

ing expe.; condemned to be shot as a spy; re-

ceived permanent injuries while making his es-

cape; wd. in head by bushwhackers in Ky.; wd.
at Shiloh; in hos. at Cincinnati; dis. for disab.

Sept. 2, 1863. Fluke, John W., e. July 24, 1861,

3 yrs., Co. B; wd. at Cheat Mt. W. Va., in hos.

Louisville; m. o. June 21, 1864. Howard, Geo.
B., e. May 30, 1861, 3 yrs., Co. B, corp.; apptd.

sergt. Jan. 31, 1862; trans. to V. R. C. Aug. I,

1863. Johnson, Geo. B., e. June 13, 1861, 3 yrs.,

Co. K; apptd. sergt. Aug. 16, 1863; m. o. June
23, 1864. Langley, Jacob, e. May 30, 1861, 3

yrs., Co. B; m. o. June 21, 1864. Langley,
Robt. e. May 30, 1861, 3 yrs., Co. B, corp.;

apptd. sergt, Feb. 28, 1863; m. o. June 21, 1864.

Rener, Christ, e. May 30, 1861, 3 years., Co. B;

died at Nashville, May 25, 1862. Slack, W. H.,

e. May 30, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; m. o. June 21,

1864. Stokes, Samuel, e. May 30, 1861, 3 years,

Co. B; wd. at Stone River; m. o. June 21, 1864.

Sullivan, James, e. May 30, 1861, 3 years, Co.

B; wd. at Lookout Mt.; in hos.; m. o. June 21,

1864. Thomas, Geo. M. e. May 30, 1861 3

years, Co. B; died at Nashville, May 30, 1862.

Twenty-fifth Regiment.—Caw, Wm.,e. Oct. 15,

1864, 1 year; m. o. July 15, 1865. Davis, Jesse

M. e. June 26, 1861, Co. H; wd. at Honey Hill,
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S. C.; vet. Hartley, David, e. June 26, 1861, 3

years, Co. H; wd. at Bull Run, Aug. 29, 1862;

dis. at Camp Chase, Feb. 1863; disab. Huff-
mann, John C., e. Oct. 12, 1864, 1 year, Co. F;

m. o. Oct. 12, 1865. Huffmann, Michael, e. Oct.

5, 1864, 1 year, Co. F; died in De Camp hos.

David’s isl, N.Y., May 7, 1865. Kincaid, McAr-
thur, e. in Morgan Co., Feb. 1 1, 1864, 3 years, Co.

H, corp.
;
apptd. sergt. in hos; dis. Columbus,

O., June 18, 1866. Russell, John D., e. in Licking
Co., Oct. 7, 1864, I year. Co. F; in hos. from
hip disease; m. o. Oct 7. 1865. Wagner, James,
e. Oct. 13, 1864, 1 year, Co. G; wd. at Honey
Hill, S. C.; m. o. Oct. 13, 1865.

Tzventy-Sixth Regiment.—Barnett, Sami. C.,

e. June 17, 1861, 3 years, Co. F; corp.; cap. at

Chickamauga Sept. 20, 1863; died in Anderson-
ville prison, Aug. 7, 1864. Camp, Albert A., e.

June 19, 1861, 3 years, Co. F; in hos.; m. o.

July 25, 1864. Jones, James H., e. June 27,

1861, 3 years, Co. B, cap. at Stone river; held

9 mo.; in. o. July 25, 1864. McGinnis, Jonathan,
e. Feb. 28, 1865, 1 year, Co. H; trans. to Co.
F, 97th; m. o. Oct. 21, 1865.

Tzventy-Seventh Regiment.—Churchill, Men-
dall, e. in Jackson county, Aug. 6, 1861, 3 years,

Co. E, capt.
;
pro. to maj. Nov. 2, 1862; pro. to

lieut.-col., March 19, 1864; wd. at Atlanta;
received the brevet brig.-gen.; dis. Sept 15,

1864. Evans, John A., e. July 20, 1861, 3 years,

Co. E, corp.; apptd. sergt.; trans. to q. m.
dept. May 1, 1864; pro. to 1st lieut. and sergt.

q. m. lune 28, 1865; pro. capt. Co. C, May 31,

1865; m. o. July 11, 1865.

Tzvcnty-Nvith Regiment.—Boal, Cyrus B., d.

Sept. 27, 1864, I year, Co. E; in hos.; m. o.

Jan. 5, 1865. Ramsey, W. C., e. Oct. 12, 1864.

1 year, Co. E; m. o. July 13, 1865. Reiley,

Chas., d. in Licking Co., Oct. 18, 1864, 1 year,

Co. F; in hos. at Troy, N.Y.; m. o. June 13,

1865. Way, Addison E, d. Sept. 26, 1864, 1

year, Co. E; died in hos. at New York, April

19, 1865.

Thirtieth Regiment.—Buchanan, Thos. J., e.

Aug. 16, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; in hos.; wd. at

Antietam; m. o. Aug. 13, 1864. Coverdale,
Thaddeus, e. Aug. 16, 1861, 3 years, Co. B,

det. in pioneer corps, 2d div. 15th A.C., dis. at

Atlanta, Sept. 12, 1864. Montgomery, John
W., e. Aug. 16, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; killed at

Mission Ridge, Nov. 25, 1863.

Thirty-First Regiment.—Brown, David J., c.

Jan. 1, 1864, 3 years, Co. G, m. o. July 20, 1865.

Dilts, Jas. A., e. Feb. 24, 1864, 3 years, Co. G;
m. o. July 20, 1865; re-e. June 13, 1866, Co. K,
1st U. S. I.; dis. June 13, 1869. Ditton, Benj.

S., c. Sept. 20, 1861, 3 years, Co. II., corp; pro.

to sergt.; died Sept. 29, 1863, of wds. received

at Chickamauga Sept. 20, 1862. Jeffries, Henry,
e. in Perry Co., Aug. 26, 1861, 3 years, Co. G,

m. o. July 20, 1865; vet. Kildow, Wm., e. Jan.

9, 1864, 3 years, Co. G.; m. o. at Camp Chase,
O., May 29, 1865. King, Chas. W., e. Feb. 9,

1864, 3 years, Co. G; m. o. July 20, 1865; pre-

vious serv. in Co. G, 88th. Masgrave, Joel D.,

e. in Treble Co., Sept. 5, 1861, 3 years, corp;
cap. at Chickamauga Sept. 20, 1863; in Ander-
sonville and other prisons; escaped; m. o. at

Columbus, O.; re-e. March 27, 1865, Co F;

trans. to Co. B., 48th Battn. July 24, 1865: m. o.

at Columbus, O., March 30, 1866. Poe, Benj. H.,

e. Feb. 9, 1864, 3 years, Co. G; m. o. July 20, 1865,

Sims, Chas. H., e. Feb. 27, 1864, 3 years, Co. D;
m. o. July 20, 1865. Sowers, Horatio, e. Sept. 12,

1861, 3 years, Co. G; pro. to corp.; in hos. at

Chattanooga; det. as asst, corny, sergt.; trans.

to Co. I, April 27, 1864; dis. at Atlanta, Sept.

27, 1864.

Thirty-second Regiment.— Archer, Martin, e.

Aug. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. G; capt. at Harper’s
Ferry; paroled; wd. before Atlanta Aug. 21,

1864; dis. at Camp Denison May 16, 1865; vet.

Auxline, Plenry J., e. Aug. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co.
G; m. o. at Chattanooga Aug, 28, 1864. Bals-

ley, John W., e. Aug. 1, 1862, 3 years, Co. G;
dis. May 15, 1865. Biller, Elijah, e. Aug. 1,

1862, 3 years, Co. G; capt. at Harper’s Ferry;
ex.; wd. before Atlanta; in hospital; dis. May
15, 1865. Burton, Thomas PL, e. Aug. 1, 1861,

3 years, Co. G; wd. before Atlanta; m. o. July
20, 1865; vet. Clugston, James, e. July, 1861;

3 years, Co. G; m. o. July 20, 1865; vet. Con-
ley, John W., e. Aug. 15, 1861, 3 years, Co. K,
det. in q. m. dept, as teamster; m. o. July 20,

1865. Conn, Isaac, e. Dec. 13, 1864, 1 year, Co.
G; m. o. July 20, 1865. Dick, Thomas C., e.

Aug. 1, 1862, 3 years, Co. G; m. o. July 20, 1865.

Francis, Simeon, e. Aug. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co.
G; apptd. corp. Mar. 17, 1864; dis. May 31,

1865; vet. Griffith, John W., e. Aug. 1, 1861, 3
years, Co. G; apptd. corp. Jan. 1, 1864; sergt.

June 1, 1865; m. o. July 20, 1865; vet. Hibbs,
William S., e. Mar. 28, 1864, 3 years, Co. G; in

hospital; m. o. July 20, 1865. Lewis, Francis,

e. Aug. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. G; died at Mari-
etta, Ga., Dec. 7, 1864, of wds. received before
Atlanta July, 1864; vet. McCammon, William
H., e. Aug. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. G; m. o. July
20, 1865. Melick, Henry II., e. Aug. 1, 1861, 3
years, Co. G; m. o. July 20,1865. Mills, Warner,
e. Aug. 3, 1861, 3 years, Co. G; apptd. 1st

sergt. from corp.; pro. 2d lieut. June 14, 1863;
1st lieut. Apr. 20, 1864; capt. May 18, 1865; m.
o. July 20, 1865. Ortlipp, William, e. Aug. 1,

1861, 3 years, Co. G; died at Vicksburg Aug.
22, 1863. Peterson, James, e. 1861, for 3 years,
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Co. G; cap. at Harper’s Ferry; ex.; wd. at

Vicksburg; m. o. July 20, 1865; vet. Rider,

Francis M., e. Aug. I, 1861, 3 years, Co. G;
corp. pro. com. sergt. May 22, 1865, vet. Rob-
erts, G. W., c. Aug. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. G,

corp.; apptd. sergt.; dis. Oct. 21, 1862; disab.

Shiplett, Alfred, e. Aug. I, 1861, 3 years, Co. G;
cap.; paroled; in hospital; trans. to V. R. C.

Oct. 23, 1863; m. o. at Washington July 20, 1865.

Smart, John W., e. Jan. 1, 1864, 3 years, Co. G;
dis. May 22, 1865. Smart, Robert F., e. Aug.
l, 1861, 3 years, Co. G; pro. to q. m. sergt.

from sergt. Jan. 1, 1863; to 2d lieut. May 25,

1864; 1st lieut. Co. K, June 5, 1865; vet. Smart,
Thomas M., e. Aug. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. G;
trans. to V. R. C. Oct. 28, 1863. Sowers, Alvah

J., e. Jan. 1, 1862, 3 years, Co. G; cap. at Har-
per’s Ferry; paroled; m. o. July 20, 1865; vet.

Spaulding, Albert J., 1st lieut., e. Sept. 4, 1861,

3 years, Co. G; dis. Aug. 20, 1862; disab.

Tanner, Alex., e Aug. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. G;
pro. sergt. December 17, 1863; cap. at Atlanta;
died in Andersonville Aug. 21, 1862; vet.

Thirty-third Regiment.—Walker, Robt. J., e.

Aug. 10, 1861, 3 years, Co. C; cap. at Chicka-
mauga, Sept. 20, 1863; apptd. corp. Sept. 22,

1863; m. o. at Columbus, O., Mar. 25, 1865.

Thirty-sixth Regiment.—Bishop, H A., e.

July 29, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; wd. at Perryville;

m. o. July 27, 1865, vet. Fenn, Benj. F., e.

Mar. 31, 1864, 3 years, Co. G; m. o. July 27,

1865.

Thirty-ninth Regiment.— Beisser, Jacob, d.

Morgan Co., Mar. 23, 1865, 1 year, Co. E; m. o.

July 9, 1865. Winchell, Converse, e. Mar. 28,

1865, 1 year, Co. E; m. o. July 9, 1865.

Forty-second Regiment.—Curry, James W., e.

Sept. 17, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; m. o. Sept. 30,

1864.

Forty-third Regiment.— Farabee, Jacob, d. Oct.

12, 1864, 1 year, Co. B; no report for duty.

Maxwell, Wm. S., d. Oct. 8, 1862, 9 months, Co.
H; m. o. Aug. 18, 1863.

Forty-fourth Regiment.—Eager, Silas F., e.

Oct. 10, 1861, 3 years, Co. K; pro. to hos.

steward; m. o. 1865.

Forty-sixth Regiment. — Alexander, Joseph,
d. Oct. 15, 1861, 3 years, Co. H; wd. at Shiloh,

Apr. 6, 1862; pro. sergt. from corp.; died at

Black river, Sept. 6, 1863; served the first 3
months in the 1 5th.

Forty-seventh Regiment.—Holcomb, Isaac N.,

e. Sept. 27, 1864, 1 year, Co. H; m. o. near
Washington, May 31, 1865. Honnold, Harri-
son, d. Sept. 27, 1864, 1 year, Co. H; m. o. at

Camp Dennison, May 29, 1865. Layton, Dan-
iel, e. Sept. 27, 1864, 1 year, Co. K; m. o. at

Washington, May 31, 1865. McFree, John F.

d. Sept. 27, 1864, 1 year, Co. H; died near Ft.

McCallister, Dec. 13, 1864. M i 1

1

felt, John, e.

Oct. 24, 1864, 1 year, Co. A; m. o. July 11,

1865. Welch, Francis L., d. Oct. 4, 1864, 1

year, Co. I; m. o. Aug. 11, 1865.

Fifty-first Regiment.— Bell, Clark M., e. Sept.

6, 1861, in Coshocton county; 3 years, Co. D;
corp.; apptd. sergt. May 5, 1865; m. o. Oct. 3,

1865; vet. Newell, Gilbert, e. Feb. 29, 1864, 3

years, Co. F; m. o. Oct. 3, 1865. Pomeroy,
Madison, e. Sept. 6, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; dis. at

Nashville, Apr. 22, 1863; disab. Roberts, John
II., e. Feb. 20, 1865, 1 year, Co. H; m. o. Oct.

3, 1865.

Fifty-second Regiment.—Stewart, Nixon B.,e.

Aug. 13, 1862, 3 years, Co. E; corp.; apptd.
sergt.; wd.; m. o. June 3, 1865.

Fifty-fifth Regiment.— Hamilton, Jos. G., Sept.

24, 1864, 1 year, Co. C; in hos.; m. o. May 19,

1865. Mercer, Thos., d. Sept. 24, 1864, 1 year,

Co. E; ®n. o. May 30, 1865.

Sixty-first Regiment.—Mader, Jacob F., Jr.,

sergt., e. in Pickaway county, P'eb. 25, 1 86—, 3,

years, Co. C; pro. 2d lieut., Oct. 2, 1862; 1st

lieut. Co. H, Oct. 9, 1862; cap. near Chatta-
nooga; wd. at 2d battle of Bull Run, wd. at

Peach Tree Creek; dis. Ap. 9, 1865.

Sixty-second Regiment.—Aker, Wm., e. Dec.

18, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; in hos.; wd. at Ft.

Wagner, July 18, 1863; in hos.; apptd. corp.

Oct. 29, 1864; m. o. at City Point Aug. 23, 1865.

Atkins, Elijah F., e. Sept. 29, 1861, 3 years,

Co. A; died at Washington, May 30, 1862.

Baker, James, e. Oct. 7, 1861, 3 years, Co. F;

dis. at Suffolk, Va., Oct. 21, 1862; disab. Baugh-
man, John W., e. Sept. 20, 1861, 3 years, Co. A;
dis. for wds. rec. at Harrison’s landing, Va.;

re-e. May 2, 1864, 100 days, Co. B, 159th; m. o.

Aug. 24, 1864. Christy, Francis M., e. Sept. 7,

1862, 3 yrs. Co. B; wd. at P'ort Wagner; trans.

to Co. F, 1 1 6th, June 12, 1865; m. o. June 20,

1865. Clapper, Josephus, e. Dec. 11, 1861, 3

years, Co. A; cap. May, 1862; ex.; wd. at Ft.

Wagner; trans. to Co. D, 67th, Sept. 1, 1865;

m. o. Dec. 7, 1865; vet. Conrad, B. I
7

., e Oct.

5, 1861, 3 years, Co. F; in hos. of wds.; trans. to

Co. C, Aug, 3, 1865; to Co. F, 67th, Sept. 1,

1865; m. o. Sept 14, 1865. Coy, Elisha, e. Oct.

4, 1861, 3 years, Co. F; dis. June 4, 1862. Dicks,

Hiram, e. Sept. 26, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; apptd.

corp. Nov. 1, 1863, sergt. Jan. 3, 1865; m. o. at

City Point, Va., Aug. 24, 1865; vet. Dunning-
ton, James N., e. Nov. 7, 1861, 3 years, Co. B;

wd. at Fort Wagner; in hos.; wd. at Appomat-
tox, Apr. 9, 1 865 ;

trans. to Co. A, Aug. 3, 1865;

trans. to Co. D, 67th, Sept. 1, 1865; m. o. at

Cincinnati, Nov. 17, 1865; disab.; vet. Emery
Abram, e. Nov. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; apptd.
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corp., Nov. 14, 1863; sergt. Jan. 3, 1865; wd. at

Ft. Wagner: trans. to Co. K, Aug. 23, 1865;

vet. Emery Wm. J., e. Nov. 1, 1861, 3 years,

Co. D; killed at Ft. Wagner, July 18, 1863.

Fell, Robt., e. Oct. 6, 1861, 3 years, Co. F;

apptd. corp., Sept 7, 1863, m. o. Oct. 21, 1864,

at Chapin’s farm, Va. Flowers, Adam IT, e.

Oct. 7, 1861, 3 years, Co. I cap. July 18, 1863,

at Ft. Wagner; ex.; m. o. at Chapin’s farm,

Va., Oct. 26, 1864. Forrest, Wm., e. Oct. 14,

1 86 1 , 3 years, Co. F; apptd. corp.; trans. to

Co. C, Aug. 3, 1865; m. o. at Columbus, O.,

Dec. 12, 1865; vet. Frame, Amos, e. Jan. 1,

1862, 3 years, Co. K.; cap. May, 1862; pris-

oner at Lynchburg; ex.; 3 times wd. at

Deep Bottom run, Va.; m. o. at Camp Deni-
son, O., Sept 14, 1865. Frazier, Ulysses, corp.,

e. Oct. 13, 1861, 3 years, Co. H; m. o. at Chapin’s
Farm, Va., Oct 26, 1864. Garrett, Daniel F., e.

Oct. 7, 1861, 3 years, Co. F.; apptd. corp., Oct.

28, 1864; cap. at Appomattox, Apr. 9, 1865; in

hos.; trans. to Co. C; Aug, 3, 1865; m. o. at

Camp Chase, June 16, 1865. Gould, Thos., e.

Oct. 23, 1861, 3 years, Co. F.
;
m. o. at Chapin’s

Farm, Oct. 26, 1865. Grandstaff, Andrew, e.

Oct. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. H. trans. Co. I.; vet.

Griffith, Geo. W., e. Oct. 25, 1864, 1 year, Co.
D; trans. Co. K, Aug. 26, 1865. Hackney, Geo.
W., e Feb. 26, 1864, 3 years, Co. F; wd.; in U. S.

hos.; trans. to Co. C. Aug. 3, 1865. Hall, Chas.
P., e. Dec. 2, 1861, 3 years, Co. I; in hos. at

Newbern, N. C.; dis. Dec. 15, 1864. Harrop,
Jacob, e. Oct. 14, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; died in

hospital at New York Aug. I, 1863, of wds.
received in assault on Ft. Wagner July 18, 1863;
interred in grave 795 Cypress Hill cemetery.
Harrup, Grafton, e. Nov 21, 1861, 3 years, Co.
A; kid. in assault on Ft. Wagner July 18, 1863.

Henderson, James, e. Oct. 19, 1861, 3 years, Co.
F; wd, at Folly Island, S. C., June 24, 1863; dis.

at Cleveland, O., June 20, 1864; disab. Hosier,

Charles W., corp., e. Dec. 11, 1861, 3 years, Co.
A.; trans. to 67th, Co. D., Sept., 1865, nr. o.

Dec. 1, 1865; vet. Jones, George B., e. Oct. 12,

1864, 1 year, Co. F. Jones, I. IT, e. Sept. 21,

1861, 3 years, Co. A; pro. to 1st lieut. Co. K,
97th, Sept. 10, 1862; pro. to capt. Oct. 12, 1864;

dis. Oct. 24, 1864, for wds. reed, near Kenesaw
Mt. June 22, 1864. Kain, Silas D., e. Oct. 7,

1861, 3 years, Co. F; corp.; sergt. July 1, 1862;

1st sergt. July 25, 1863; 1st lieut. Nov. 18, 1864;
wd. at Ft. Wagner; vet. Lowry, William B., c.

Sept 20, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; apptd. sergt.

Nov. 1, 1863; 1st lieut. May 9, 1864; trans. to

Co. B May 15, 1865; wd. and cap. at Deep
Bottom, Va., in Libby and Danville prisons;

m. o. July 31, 1865. McBcc, Nieman S., d. in

Morgan county Aug. 20, 18C2, 3 years, Co. B;

wd. at Ft. Wagner July, 1863; cap.; held as
prisoner; in hospital; m. o. at Richmond July
20, 1865.- McCain, Daniel, e. Oct. 24, 1861, 3
years, Co. F; m. o. at Fredericksburg June 4,

1862; disab. McKnight, George, e. Dec. 9,

1861, 3 years, Co. F; m. o. at Chapin’s farm,
Va., Oct. 19, 1864. Mathews, Fleming D., e.

Oct. 8, 1861, 3 years, Co. F; det. in artillery

service Aug. 6, 1862; pro. corp.; trans. to artil-

lery service Oct. 8, 1864; m. o. July 20, 1865.
Miller, William G., e. Feb. 29, 1864, 3 years, Co.
F; trans. to Co. C Aug. 3, 1865; m. o. Dec.,

1865. Murray, Isaac I
3
., e. Oct. 8, 1861, 3 years,

Co. E; dis. Aug. 1, 1865, at Fortress Monroe;
disab.; vet. Ogle, James FI., e. Oct. 23, 1861, 3
years, Co. F; apptd. corp.; sergt. Sept. 7, 1863;
died in hospital, New York harbor Aug. 31,

1864; vet. Pinkerton, John W., Morgan coun-
ty, e. Oct. 3, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; 2d lieut.; pro.

1st lieut. Co. A May 26, 1862; wd. at Ft. Wag-
ner; in hospital; m. o. Oct. 21, 1864. Poorman,
Isaiah, e. Oct. 7, 1861, 3 years, Co. F; det. as
butcher; in hospital; dis. at Folly Island, S. C.,

July 5, 1863; disab. Ramsey, William, e. in

Morgan county Feb. 29, 1864, 1 year, Co. F;
trans. to Co. C Aug. 3, 1865; in hospital; m. o.

Dec. 7, 1865. Read, James L., e. Oct. 22, 1861,

3 years, Co. F; m. o. at Morris Island, S. C.,

Oct. 27, 1863. Roberts, John W., e. Oct. 4,

1861, 3 years, Co. B; trans. to Co. A Aug. 3,

1865; vet. Ross, George W., e. Sept. 27, 1861,

3 years, Co. A; corp.; m. o. at City Point, Va.,

Aug. 24, 1865. Roy, Alex, e. Nov. 15, 1861, 3
years, Co. I; in hospital at Fortress Monroe;
m. o. Nov. 15, 1864. Shaw, Joseph, e. Oct. 16,

1861, 3 years, Co. F; pro. to q. m. sergt. July 1,

1863; 1st lieut. and q. m. sergt. Nov., 1864;
det. a. a. a. q. m. 1st brig., 1st div., 24th Army
Corps, after the surrender; det. a. a. a. q. m.
dept. Virginia and North Carolina; in hos-
pital; m. o. Aug. 23, 1865; vet. Showers,
Thomas D., e. Sept. 20, 1861, 3 years, Co. A;
pro, from 1st sergt. to 2d lieut. July 15, 1862; to

1st lieut. Co. E May 26, 1863; dis. Jan., 1865;
disab. Sowers, Thomas N., e. Oct. 14, 1861, 3
years, Co. A; m. o. at Richmond Oct. 26, 1864.
Stiner, Joseph, e. Oct. 10, 1861, 3 years, Co. F;
corp.; sergt. Aug. 23, 1863; trans. to Co. C
Aug. 3, 1865; vct - Stoenburner, William IF,

e. Sept. 14, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; corp.; apptd.
sergt. July 5, 1863;' wd. at Ft. Wagner July 18,

1863; m. o. Oct. 26, 1864; re-e. Feb. 27, 1865, 1

year, Co. G, 1st sergt.; m. o. Sept. 11, 1865.
Turley, Frederick B., d. Oct. 4, 1864, 1 year,
Co. A; cap. at Appomattox Apr. 9, 1865; m. o.

June 16, 1865. Walters, James W., c. Oct, 5.

1861, 3 years, Co. F; det. as teamster; dis. at

Folly Island, S. C., May 24, 1S62; disab. White,
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James B., e. Oct. 4, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; dis.

Oct. 20, 1862; disab. Wiles, Perry, e. Oct. 11,

1861, 3 years, Co. A; wd. at Ft. Wagner j’trans. to

Co. —,67th Sept. 1, 1865; vet. Wyatt, Francis
M., e. Oct. 7, 1861, 3 years, Co. F; m. o. Oct.

26, 1864. Wyatt, George W., e. Oct. 5, 1861, 3

years, Co. F; wd. at Hatchers’ Farm, Va.;

trans. to Co. G, Aug. 3, 1865; m. o. Aug. 8.

1865; vet. Wyatt, Isaac H., mus. e. Oct. 8, 1861,

3

years, Co. F; trans. to Co. C Aug. 3, 1865; m.
o. Sept. 1, 1865; vet.

Sixty-Third Regiment.—Corbet, Wrn., e. Dec.

19, 1861, 3 years; Co. I; dis. Nov. 16, 1862;

disab. Jackson, John T., e. in Washington Co.,

Oct. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. D.; in hos. from sun-
stroke; trans. to U. S. S. C., May 20, 1863; m. o.

at Chattanooga, Oct. 28, 1864. Petty, Sherlock,
e. Oct. 1, 1861,3 years, Co. D.; m. o. July 8,

1865; vet. Townsend, Wm. C., e. Oct. 1, 1861,

3 years, Co. D.; corp; m. o. July 8, 1865; vet.

Trusdell, Jos. F., e. Oct. 20, 1861, 3 years, Co.
D.; m. o. July 8, 1865; vet.

Sixty-fourth Regiment.—Layton, Henry, e. in

Licking Co., Oct. 6, 1864, 1 year, Co. G.; m. o.

at New Orleans, Oct. 5, 1865.

Sixty-fifth Regiment.— Ross, Benj. F., e. Nov.
19, 1861, 3 years, Co. I.; m. o. at Nashville, Dec.

19, 1864. Siler, August, e. Nov. 1861, 3 years,

Co. C; wd. at Kenesaw, Mt.; m. o. Nov. 30,

1865. Thompson, Wm. Id., e. Nov. 19, 1861, 3
years, Co. H.; wd. at Stone River, Dec. 31,

1862; apptd. corp. Jan. 1, 1864; wd. at Rocky
P'ace Ridge, May 15, 1864; May 28, at Dallas,

Ga.; June 15, 1864, at Lost Mt., Ga., and at

Peach Tree Creek, July 20; apptd. serg. Jan. 1,

1865; m. o. Nov. 30, 1865; vet,

Sixty-sixth Regiment.—Dowell, W. II., e.

July 26, 1862, 3 years, Co. I.; wd. at Antietam;
wd. at Culpeper; trans. V. R. C., Nov. 1863; dis.

in 1865. Jordan, A. S., d. Sept. 23, 1864, 1 year,

Co. C.; m. o. near Bladensburg, Md., June 1,

1865. King, Jacob S., d. Sept. 7, 1864, 1 year,

Co. K.; m. o. near Bladensburg, Md., June 3,

1865. Kinney, A. J., d. Sept. 27, 1864, Co. K.;

m. o. at Camp Dennison, O., May 17, 1865.

Martin, Jno. W., e. Oct. 16, 1864, 1 year, Co. A.;

m. o. at Columbus, O., July 14, 1865. Mitchell,

David, E., e. Oct. 4, 1864, 1 year, Co. C., m. o.

May 27, 1865. Stanley, Jacob A., d. Sept. I,

1864, 1 year, Co. K.; m. o. June 3, 1865.

Sixty-seventh Regiment.—Barnes, John, e.

Feb. 29, 1864, 3 yrs; Co. F; trans. to Co. C,

62nd O, V. I., Sept. 1, 1865; m. o. Dec. 7,

1865. Dickens, Wm. R., e, Dec. 2, 1861, 3
yrs; Co. F; trans. to Co. C, 62nd O. V. I.

Sept. 1, 1865; m. o. Dec. 7, 1865; vet.

Eddington, Vincent, e. Oct. 8, 1861, 3 yrs.,

Co. F; trans. to Co. C, O. V. I., Sept. 1,

1865; m.o. Dec. 7, 1865, vet. Hatcher, Edmond
N.

,
e. Feb. 24, 1864; 3 yrs., Co. F; trans. to Co.

C, 62d O. V. I., Sept. 1, 1865, m. o. Dec. 7,

1865. McClellan, Samuel, e. Feb. 24, 1864,

3 yrs., Co. F; trans. to Co. C, O. V. I., Sept.

1, 1865; m - °- L)ec. 7, 1865. McCullough, Wm.,
e. Dec. 2, 1861

, 3 yrs; Co. F; trans. to Co. C, 62nd
O. V. I., Sept. 1, 1865; m. o. Dec. 7, 1865; vet.

Pace, George, e. Feb. 29, 1864, 3 yrs., Co.
F; trans. to Co. C 62nd O. V. I. Sept. 7,

1865, no further record. Ramsey, Wm., e.

Feb. 29, 1864, 3 yrs., Co. F; trans. to Co.

C, 62nd O. V. I. Sept. 1, 1865; m. o. Dec.

7, 1865. Shaffer, John, e. Feb. 24, 1864,

3 yrs., Co. F; trans. to Co. C, 62nd O.
V. I., Sept. 1, 1865; m. o. Dec. 7, 1865.

Stotts, Valentine, d. Sept. 30, 1864, 1 yr., Co.

K; m. o. June 20, 1865. Skinner, Richard,

e. Mar. 29, 1864, 3 yrs., Co. F; trans. to Co.
C, 62nd O. V. I., Sept. 1, 1865; m. o. Dec
7, 1865.

Sixty-ninth Regiment.—Elson, Tunis, c.

April 1, 1862, 3 yrs., Co. I; died in hos.

at Nashville, Nov. 1, 1862. Elson, Wm. M.,

e. March 5, 1862, 3 yrs., Co. I; died Nov.

27, 1863, at Chattanooga, of wds. rec. at

Mission Ridge, Nov. 25, 1863. Robbins,

John, e. Feb. 28, 1862, 3 yrs., Co. I; disch.

at camp Dennison O. Aug. 8, 1863; disab.

Vinsel, Henry, e. March 18, 1862, 3 yrs.,

Co. —
;
m. o. Apr. 9, 1865.

Seventieth Regiment.—McIntosh, James, e.

Sept. 23, 1861, 3 yrs., Co. I; pro. sergt.

maj. Oct. 1, 1864; m. o. Aug. 14, 1865.

Seventy-first Regiment,—Armstrong, J. F., e.

Sept 28, 1 year, Co. A; m. o. at Camp Dennf-
son, O., May 25, 1865. Gable, Jacob, corp., e.

Oct. 16, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; wd. at Nashville,

Dec. 15, 1864; dis. an acct. of wds. at Camp
Dennison, O., June 23, 1865, vet. Hitchens,
Ezekiel K., e. Mercer Co., Oct. 9, 3 years, Co.
A; apptd. 2d. lieut. Nov. 27, 1861; in hos. at

Louisville; dis. for disab. Apr. 1, 1862; com.
1st. lieut. Co. D, 193d, Mar. 11, 1865; m. o. Aug.

4, 1865.

Seventy-sixth Regiment.—Flowers, Perry, e.

Nov. 2, 1861, 3 years, Co. G; dis. Aug. 2, 1862;

disab. McFarland, Philip E., e. Feb. 22, 1864,

3 years, Co. C; m.o. July 15, 1865; McFarland,
Wm., e. Feb. 28, 1864, 3 years, Co. C; m. o.

July 15, 1865. Maher, M. R., e. Nov. u, 1861,

3 years, Co. E; apptd. 2nd sergt.; pro. 1st.

lieut. Dec. 16, 1861; in hos.; res. Oct. 7, 1862.

Miller, John J., e. Feb. 19, 1864, 3 years, Co. C;
dis. at Camp Dennison hos. May 20, 1865;

disab. Moore, Sam’l, H., e. Oct. 5, 1861, 3

years, Co. A; m. o. July 15, 1865. Norris,

Albert, e. Morgan Co., Feb. 18, 1864, 3 years,
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Co. A; in hos. at Marietta, Ga.; cap. at Gads-
den, Ala.; paroled; m. o. June 30, 1865. Para-

more, Chas. H. H., e. Jan. 10, 1862, 3 years, Co.

G; m. o. July 15, 1865; vet. Ridenour, Thos.
A.,e. in Licking Co., Jan. 22, 1864; cap.; in hos.;

m. o. July 15, 1865. Ship, Newton S., e. Nov.
2, 1861, 3 years, Co. D, corp.; dis. Feb. 26,

1865, disab. Shoemaker, Conrad, e. Oct. 28,

1861, 3 years, Co. E; det. as blacksmith; m. o.

July 15, 1865; vet. Spencer, Sylvester M., e.

Oct. 19, 1861; 3 yrs. Co. A; corp.; sergt. Dec.

1 7, 1863; 1st sergt. Feb. 11, 1865; m. o.

July 15, 1865; vet. Standiford, Elisha, e. Oct. 7,

1862, 9 months, Co. B; m. o. Aug. 4, 1863; re-e.

May 2, 1864; cap. at North Mt., W. Va., July 3,

1864; ex.; m. o. May 31, 1865.

Seventy-seventh Regiment.— Dilley, Clinton S.,

e. Nov. 29, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; died at Camp
Dennison, Dec. 31, 1862, of wds. received at

Shiloh. Epler, Louis, e. Oct. 9, 1862,9 months,
Co. B; died in hos. at Alton, 111 ., Mar. 7, 1863.

Masters, Geo., e. Dec. 7, 1861, 3 years, Co. K;
apptd. corp.; m. o. at Little Rock, Ark., June

3, 1865.

Seventy-eighth Regiment.—Abbott, Moses B
,

e. Jan. 5, 1864, 3 years, Co. D; m. o. at Camp
Dennison, Ohio, June 3, 1865. Anderson, Wes-
ley, e. Nov. 23, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; pro. to

hospital steward Jan. 11, 1862; returned to co.

Feb. 8, 1862; dis. at Crump’s landing Mar. 23,

1862; disab. Auxline, Henry S., corp., e. Nov.
23, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; in action at Ft. Donel-
son; in hospital; lost his speech and was dis.

for disab. Aug. 12, 1862; re-e. P'eb. 13, 1865, Co.
G, 196th O. V. I.; dis. at Columbus Sept., 1865.

Bagley, Fenton, corp., e. Dec. 2, 1861, 3 years,

Co. B; in hospital at Pittsburgh Landing in

1862, and at Camp Dennison; dis. for disab.

July, 1862; May 2, 1864, com. 1st lieut. and as-

signed to Co. H, 159th O. V. I., and det. on
court martial duty at Baltimore; dis. Sept.,

1864. Baird, David, e. Aug. 14, 1862, 3 years,

Co. B; in hospital with small-pox at Newbern,
N. C.; dis. at Washington May 30, 1865. Baird,
Felix W., e. Jan. 1, 1864, 3 years, Co. B; kid.

before Atlanta July 25, 1864; interred on field.

Baird, John F., e. Dec. 5, 1861, 3 years, Co. B;
apptd. corp. Sept. 7, 1862; died at Memphis
Jan. 25, 1863. Baker, William F., e. Nov. 18,

1861, 3 years, Co. C; m. o. at Beaufort, S. C.,

May 12, 1865. Berry, Michael, e. Nov. 2, 1861,

3 years, Co. I); det. in 8th Mich. bat. July 10,

1863, from July, 1863, to Dec., 1863; cap.; in

Andcrsonvillc and Millen; ex.; sent to hospital
at Annapolis; m. o. at Columbus July 1 1, 1865.
Bethel, Russell, e. Dec. 30, 1861, 3 years, Co. C;
apptd. sergt. May 1, 1862; then 1st sergt.; pro.
2d lieut. Nov. 18, 1864;. 1st lieut. Co. A Jan. 1,

1865; det. on staff of Gen. Robert K. Scott, 2d
brig., 3d div., 17th A. C., Mar. 28, 1865; m. o.

July 11, 1865; received a gold medal for gal-

lant conduct before Atlanta July 22, 1864.

Blandy, Benj. A., e. Oct. 25, 1861, 3 years, Co.
D; apptd. 1st lieut. Dec. 14, 1861; in hospital;

res. June 1, 1862; disab. Bowers, Chas. P., e.

Aug. 10, 1862, 3 years, Co. B; m. o. at Wash-
ington May 30, 1865. Boyer, John, e. Nov. 18,

1861, 3 years, Co. A; wd.; m. o. July 11, 1865;
vet. Bradford, George L., d. Oct. 6, 1862, 9
months; wd.; m. o. at Bovina, Miss., July 15,

1863; re-e. Feb. 12, 1865, Co. E, 195th; det. on
staff of Gen. Banning; m. o. Dec. 18, 1865.

Bradford, Isaac H., e. Aug. 23, 1862, 3 years,

Co. A; wd. at Atlanta; m. o. at Washington
May 30, 1865. Brown, James A., sergt., e. Nov.
8, 1861, 3 years, Co. C; dis. at Columbus July 1,

1862; disab; served later in 160th and 196th.

Buker, Caleb, e. Sept. 29, 1861, 3 years, Co. P';

dis. July 11, 1862; disab. Bush, L. J., e. Aug.
22, 1862, 3 years, Co. E; in hospital; wd. at

Champion’s Hill; det. as nurse; m. o. at Wash-
ington June 1, 1865. Campbell, Samuel P., e.

Jan. 16, 1864, 3 years, Co. C; died in hospital

near Atlanta July 28, 1864, of wds. reed, at At-
lanta July 22, 1,864. Cassiday, Edward, e. Nov.
18, 1861, 3 years, Co. C; wd.; dis. June 6, 1862;

disab.; re-e. Aug. 18, 1862, 3 years, Co E.

Carter, Philander S., e. Dec. 10, 1861, 3 years,

Co. A; wd. at Champion’s Hill; cap.; paroled;

det. as nurse in hospital, 3d div., 17th A. C.,

June 12, 1864; m. o. at Columbus Dec. 10, 1864.

Chambers, Henry S., e. Jan. 16, 1864, 3 years,

Co. D; m. o. July 11, 1865. Chandler, Robert
F., corp.; e. Nov. 20, 1861, 3 years, Co. E; died
at Triadelphia, Ohio, May 6, 1862. Chandler,
Z. M., e. Dec. 2, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; apptd.
capt. Dec. 13, 1861; pro. to maj. Sept. 7, 1862;

lieut. -col. Oct. 1, 1862; col. Nov. 29, 1862; dis.

July 23, 1863; disab. Cherry, John, e. Dec. 4,

1861, 3 years, Co. B; apptd. Nov. 16, 1864; m.
o. July 11, 1865; vet. Collins, Lewis, e. Aug.
22, 1862, 3 years, Co. D; m. o. May 30, 1865.

Cochins, Robert A., e. Jan. 28, 1864, 3 years, Co.
A; wd. at Atlanta; apptd. corp. June 1, 1865;
m. o. July 11, 1865. Cooper, Asuph, e. Jan.

14, 1862, 3 years, Co. B; died of wds. reed, at

Champion’s Hill May 16, 1863. Corbin, Charles
M., e. Oct. 28, 1-86 1, 3 years, Co. A; m. o. July
11, 1865; vet. Cordway, Thomas M., d. Sept.

23, 1864, 3 years, Co. A; dis. at Washington
May 30, 1865. Cox, Alex., d. Oct. 6, 1862, 9
months, Co. A; died at Memphis Feb. 25, 1863.

Crumbaker, Manley II., e. Oct. 7, 1863, 3 years,

Co. D; died of wds. reed, before Alanta July
22, 1864. Crumbaker, Oliver B., e. Jan. 16,

1864, Co. D, 3 years; m. o. Aug. 24, 1865. Cur-
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tis, Enoch, e. Dec. 10, 1861, Co. B; dis. July 3,

1862; disab. Curtis, James P., e. Nov. 4, 1861,

3 years, Co. A; dis. July 16, 1862; disab. Davis,

James, e. Aug. 29, 1862, 3 years, Co. D; dis. at

Mound Hill Aug. 29, 1863; disab. Decker,
Noah IT, e. Nov. 13, 1861, 3 years; m. o. at

Beaufort Jan. 12, 1865. Dempster, Albert, e.

Nov. 4, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; dis. at Columbus,
Ohio, July 8, 1862; disab. Dick, Theo, e. Jan.

18, 1864, 3 years, Co. B; corp.; m. o. July 11,

1865. Dilts, Robert S., e. Dec. 7, 1861, 3 years,

Co. B; apptd. wagoner 3d div., 17th A. C., Nov.
10, 1861; ret. to regt. July 10, 1865; m. o. July

11, 1865; vet. Downered, Joshua, e. Nov. 20,

1861, 3 years, Co. C; pro. to 2d lieut. 9th La.

Col. Vol., Apr. 22, 1863; later known as the 5th

U. S. Col. H. A.; res. as 1st lieut. Sept. 18, 1865.

Durant, Martin, e. Dec. 31, 1861, 3 years, Co,

E; apptd. corp. May 1, 1862; sergt. 22.

1864; 2d. lieut. Co. F; May 1, 1865; vet.

Echelbury, Davis, e. Apr. 16, 1864, 3 years, Co.
D; died Oct. 1, 1864, Rome, Ga. Echelberry,
Harrison, e. Aug. 29, 1862, 3 years, Co. D; m. o.

at Washington, May 30, 1865. Echelbury,
Lewellyn, e. Oct. 6, 1862, 9 months, Co. D; m.
o. at expi. of service; serv. Co. F, 47th, Sept.

28, 1864; apptd. corp. m. o. at Washington,
May 31, 1865. England, I. S., e. Morgan county,
Oct. 17, 1862, 3 years; Co. E; pro. corp.; in

hos. at Memphis, Vicksburg and Mound City,

111 .; dis. there for disab. Sept 10, 1863. Eickel,

Silas W., e. Jan 21, 1864, 3 years; wd. near At-
lanta, Aug. 26, 1864; m, o. at Madison, Ind.,

May 29, 1865. Fox, Wm. Thos. e. Dec. 21,

1861, 3 years, Co. D; m. o. at Beaufort, S. C.

Jan. 12, 1865; 3-months’ service, 15th, Co. A.
Frazier, Allen M., e. Aug. 13, 1862, 3 years, Co.
D; m. o. at Washington, May 30, 1865. Gal-
lagher, Jas. W., e. P'eb. 5, 1862, 3 years, Co. F;

m. o. July 11, 1865; vet. Gander, John T., e.

Oct. 31, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; m. o. at Colum-
bus, O., Oct. 31, 1864. Gander, Jas. PI., e. Oct.

29, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; apptd. corp.; sergt.;

wd. at Atlanta; apptd. 1st sergt. Aug. 1, 1864;

pro. 2d lieut. Nov. 18, 1864; 1st lieut. Jan. 6,

1865; m. o. July 11, 1865. Garges, Wm. C. e.

Dec. 12, 1861, 3 years, Co. F; m. o. July 11,

1865: vet. Garrett, John W., Oct. 6, 1862, 9
months, Co. E; m. o. July 13, 1863. Geyer,

Jos. L. e. November 11, 1861, 3 years, Co. A;
captured at Atlanta, promoted to hospital

stew. Jan. 11, 1865; nr. o. at Columbus, O.,

July 11, 1865; vet. Gibcaut, Peter, e. Dec. 31,

1861, 3 years, Co. D; dis. at Camp Chase, O.,

June 28, 1862; disab. Gibbons, Philip, e. Nov.
13, 1861, 3 years, Co. F; pro. corp, Apr. 30,

1862; sergt. Oct. 21, 1863; kd. at Atlanta, July
22, 1864; vet. Hagar, Alex. V. P., sergt, e.

Oct. 30, 1861, 3 years, Co. F; pro. 2d lieut. Co.
E, Jan. 1, 1865; vet. Harlan, Thos. J., e. Nov.
4, 1861

; 3 years, Co. D; wd. at Champion’s Hill:

in hos.; apptd. corp. Feb. 1, 1865; m. o. July
11, 1865; vet. Harlan, Wm., e. Aug. 21, 1862,

3 years, Co. D; on det. duty as clerk; m. o. at

Washington, May 30, 1865. Harlan, Wm. S.,

e. Oct. 21, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; apptd. 2d
lieut. Dec. 14, 1861; 1st lieut. Apr. 20, 1862 and
capt. to date from Apr. 4, 1862; res. on acct. of

disab. Feb. 13, 1863; com. maj. 159th, May 2,

1864; subsequently det. for recruit, serv. in Md.
m. o. at Zanesyille, Aug. 24, 1864. Harris, Jas.

C., e. Oct. 25, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; pro. sergt;

2d lieut. June 1, 1862; 1st lieut. Mar. 24, 1863;
in hos. at Vicksburg; m. o. Dec. 26, 1864.

Hayes, John, e. Dec. 17, 1861, 3 yea'\s, Co. E;
m. o. July 11, 1865; vet. Hayes, John W., e,

Nov. 22, 1861; 3 years, Co. G; apptd. corp.; in

hos.; dis. Sept. 12, 1862, disab.; re-e. May 2,

1864, 135th, Co. C; m. o. Sept. 1, 1864; re-e.

Feb. 21, 1865, 197th Co. G.; apptd. sergt. Apr.

25, 1865; m. o. at Columbus, Ohio, Mar. 12,

1866. Henderson, Albert, e. Nov. 2, 1861, 3
years, Co. A; dis. at Columbus, Ohio, July 2,

1862, disab.; served later in 160th. Henry,
Frederick, e. Nov. 20, 1861, 3 years, Co. C;
corp.; apptd. sergt. Apr. 1, 1865; m. o. July 11,

1865; vet. Henry, Michael, e. Nov. 4, 1861, 3

years, Co. C; apptd. corp; sergt., July 22,

1864; 1st sergt. Dec. 1864; m. o. July 11, 1865.

1

1

ufford, John, e. Jan. 2, 1862, 3 years, Co. D;
dis. at Columbus, Ohio, Oct. 1, 1862; disab.;

re-e. May 2, 1864, 159th, Co. E; m. o. Aug, 22,

1864. Holcomb, Chas. e. Aug. 29, 1862, 3
years, Co. F; m. o. at Washington, May 30,

1865. Holcomb, James, d. Sept. 21, 1864, 1

year, Co. F; m. o. at Washington, July 11,

1865. Horn, Daniel, e. Dec. 14, 1861, 3 years,

Co. B; died Aug. 7, 1864, of wds. received at

Atlanta, July 22, 1864; vet. Howell, Moses, e.

Dec. 12, 1861, 3 years; Co. D; died in hos. at

Vicksburg, Feb. 9, 1864. Hall, Thos. J., e.

Nov. 2, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; capt. at Atlanta,

July 22, 1864; m. o. at Camp Chase, Aug. 1,

1865. Hunt, Albert, e. Nov. 13, 1861, 3 years,

Co. D; died at Pittsburgh Landing, May 14,

1862. Jenkins, Joseph, e. Jan. 28, 1864, 3 years,

Co. B; died near Galesville, Ala., Oct. 26, 1864.

Jenkins, Vincent, C., e. Dec. 27, 1861, 3 years;

m o. July 7, 1865; vet. Jewett, Nathan, e.

Nov. 9, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; det. at hd. qrs. 3d
Div. 17th A. C., Aug, 30, 1864; m. o. July 11,

1865; vet. Johns, Samuel H., e. Feb. 10, 1862,

3 years, Co. F; dis. at Bolivar, Tenn. Oct. 23,

1862; disab. subsequently serv. in Co. PI, 159th.

Johnson, Abram, e. Nov. 8, 1861, 3 years, Co.

A; wd; m. o. at Beaufort, S. C., Jan. 12, 1865.
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Kennedy, John F., e. Dec. 21, 1861, 3 years,

Co. E; corp. apptd. sergt. July, 22, 1864; sergt.

-

maj., Dec. 17, 1864; vet. Kinkade, Anthony,
e. Nov. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; died at Shiloh,

May 11, 1862. Kinney, John, e. Nov. 18, 1861,

3 years, Co. D; dis. at Camp. Gilbert, Ohio,

Jan. 17, 1862; disab. Knight, Chas., e. Dec. 11,

1861, 3 years, Co. B; died in hos. at Vicksburg,

July 30, 1863. Knight, Monroe, e. Dec. 11,

1861, 3 years, Co. B; det. as guard hd. qrs.

17th A. C., June 18, 1864; returned to co. July
July 8, 1865; m. o. July 11, 1865. Lane, Peter
B. e. Aug. 23, 1862, 3 years, Co. F; in hos.;

dis. at Memphis, March 12, 1863; disability-

Ledman, John N., e. Nov. 18, 1861, 3 years,

Co. A.; det. in pioneer corps, 3rd div., 17th

A. C., Sept. 10, 1863; m. o. July II, 1865; vet.

McBurney, Chas., e. Dec. 18, 1861, 3 years, Co.
H.; cap. at Sand Mountain, Ala., June 3, 1864;

paroled; wd. before Atlanta; in hos.; m. o. at

Camp Chase, June 26, 1865; vet. McCall, John
H., e. Nov. 15, 1861, 3 years, Co. F.; corp.;

m. o.July 11, 1865; disab. McCaughny, Alex.,

e. Sept. 26, 1862, 3 years, Co. A.; m. o. May 30,

1865. McCaughny, Wm, e. Jan. 16, 1864, 3
years, Co. D.; m. o. July 11, 1865. McCreary,
Henry, e. Nov. 20, 1861, 3 years; det. as nurse
in hos., m. o. at Columbus, O., Nov. 21, 1864.

McCurdy, Geo. W., e. Oct. 7, 1863, 3 years, Co.
D.; m. o. July 1 1 , 1865. McLaughlin, James,
e. Dec. 19, 1861, 3 years, Co. D.; appt. corp.,

wd. at Shiloh; appt. sergt. Leb. 1, 1865; m. o.

July 11, 1865. McLean, Warren, corp., e. Jan.

5, 1864, 3 years, Co. B.; in hos.; wd. near
Savannah; m. o. July 11, 1865. McNaught,
Wm., d. Sept. 23, 1864, Co. F.; in. o. May 30,

1865. Marshall, Wm. P., e. Nov. 1, 1861, 3
years, Co. C.; dis. at Cincinnati, Aug. 14, 1862;
disab., subse. in the U. S. M. C. Mason, Chas.
B.

,
e. Jan 6, 1862, 3 years, Co. D.; wd. at the

siege of Vicksburg; trans. to 17th V. R. C., Oct.

27, 1863. Matchett, John L., e. Nov 19, 1861, 3
years, Co. A.; corp.; appt. sergt. April 1, 1865;
m. o. July 11, 1865; vet. Matchett, Joseph T.,

e. Sept. 26, 1862, 3 years, Co. A.; det. as
wagoner 17th A.C., May 20, 1864; m. o. at

Washington, May, 30, 1865. Matson, Benj. F.,

c. Nov. 12, 1861, 3 years, Co. A.; died June 29
of wds. reed, at Kenesaw Mt., June 27, 1864;
vet. Matson, Benj. F., e. 1861, Co. F.;

killed before Atlanta, July 22, 1864; vet. Men-
denhall, Dr. Sami. C., c. Nov. 26, 1861; com.
asst. surg.

;
res. on act. of disab., April 21,

18G2; rc-e. Feb. 16, 1863, 3 years; m. o. at Col-
umbus, (),, July 15, 1 865. Mercer, Hiram I

1'.,

e. Nov. 20, 1861, 3 years, Co. A.; died at Boli-

var, Tenn.; Dec. 10, 1862. Mercer, Sylvester,
e. Jan. 16, 1864, 3 years, Co. C.,m. o. July 11,

1865. Miller, B. S., e. Dec. 7, 1861, 3 years,

Co. B.; det. as orderly to Gen. Leggett, Feb.

1863; m. o. at Beaufort, Jan 12, 1865. Mitchell,

David, e. Nov. 2, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; apptd.
corp.; m. o. July 11, 1865; vet. Monahan,
Philip, e. Jan., 1862, Co. K; died in Tenn. Apr.

3, 1862. Moore, Isaiah, e. Nov. 1 1, 1861, 3 years,

Co. A; corp.; apptd. sergt. May 1, 1864; 1st.

sergt. July 8, 1865; m. o. July 14, 1865; vet.

Moore, J. T., e. Dec. 11, 1861, 3 years, Co. B;
kd. in action near Columbia, S. C., P'eb. 19,

1865; vet. Munson, Horace, D., capt. e. Oct.

24, 1861, 3 years, Co. A; acting maj.; res. on
acct. of sickness, Feb. 22, 1863.; com. lieut.

col. of 159th,- May 2, 1864; m. o. Aug. 24,

1864. Myers, Louis, e. Nov. 20, 1861, 3 years,

Co. C; dis. Feb. 1, 1866; disab. Newell, John
A., e. Nov. 30, 1861, 3 years, Co. F; dis. at

Bolivar, Tenn., July 26, 1862; disab. Norman,
Amos, e. Dec. 13, 1861, 3 years, Co. B; corp.;

apptd. sergt. Jan. 13, 1865; pro. 2d lieut. P'eb.

10, 1865; m. o. July 11, 1865; vet. Norman,
David, d. Morgan County, Oct. 4, 1864, 1 year,

Co. F; m. o. July 11, 1865. Osborn, P'rederick,

e. Nov. 4, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; died at Jackson,
Miss., July 17, 1863. Patton, James H., e. Jan.

21, 1864, 3 years, Co. A; m. o. July II, 1865.

Perry, Geo. W., e. Mar. 19, 1864, 3 years, Co. B;
m. o. July 11, 1865. Perry, Oliver, e. Aug. 30,

1862, 3 years, Co. D; m. o. at Washington,
May, 30, 1865. Peyton, Joseph E., e. Aug. 30,

1862, 3 years, Co. D; det. as wagoner hd. qrs.

17th A. C.; m. o. at Washington, May 30, 1865.

Ramsey, Jos. W., e. Aug. 23, 1862, 3 years, Co.

A; m. o. at Washington, May 30, 1865. Rich-
ardson, Geo. W., e. Dec. 16, 1864, 3 years, Co.

A; det. as wagoner 17th A. C. May 20, 1864;

m. o. July 11, 1865; vet. Richardson, Geo., e.

Mar. 10, 1864, 3 years, Co. B; kd. before At-
lanta, July 22, 1864. Richardson, Joseph, e.

Nov. 13, 1861, 3 years, Co. F; dis. at Columbus,
Nov. 10, 1862; disab; re-e. Feb. 11, 1864, Co.
F, O. V. C.; det. at Kilpatrick’s hd. qrs.; m. o,

Aug. 8, 1865. Richey, Geo. IT, e. Nov. 5, 1861,

3 years, Co. A; died at Metallcdge, Tenn.,

Mar. 15, 1862. Reiley, Aaron, c. Dec. 24, 1864,

1 year, Co. C; m. o. at Columbus, Ohio, Dec.

29, 1864. Roberts, Leroy A., e. Dec. 2, 1861,

3 years, Co. B.; died at Shiloh, May 10, 1862.

Robinson, Israel C., e. Nov. 1, 1861, 3 years,

Co. A; sergt.; pro. to 2d lieut. Co. I), Apr. 2,

1862; 1st lieut. June 1, 1862; capt. P'eb. 3, 1863;

maj. Jan. 11, 1865; apptd. ins. gen. on staff of

Gen. Leggett; wd. at Champion’s Hill and at

Kenesaw Mt.; m. o. at Louisville, July 15, 1865.

Roller, Geo. II. d. Sept. 30, 1864, 1 year, Co. I;

m. o. at Washington, May 30, 1865. Ross, W in.

c. Nov. 11, 1861, 3 years, Co. C. corp.; apptd.
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sergt. Apr. 30, 1863; m. o. Nov. 22, 1864.

Roush, Henry C., e. Dec. 14, 1861, 3 years, Co.

K; m. o. July 11, 1865. vet.; 3 months’ service

in 1st O. V. I. Co. H. Runyon, A. J., e. Nov.

23, 1861, 3 years Co. F.
;
m. o.; July 11, 1865; vet.

Sirbaugh, John W., e. Nov. 25, 1861, 3 years,

Co. A.; dis. Dec. 4, 1864; disab. Scott, Geo.
YV., e. Jan. 27, 1862, 3 years, Co. D.; dis. at

Columbus, July 24, 1862; disab.; re-e. Feb. 25,

1865, 1 year, Co. E. 195th; m. o. at Columbus,
O., Dec. 1865. Scott, Joseph, e. Aug. 30, 1862,

3 years, Co. F.
;

dis. at Memphis, Feb. 5, 1863;
disab.; re-e. May 2, 1864, Co. D., 160th.; com.
1st lieut.; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Search, Adolphus
W., e. Nov. 27, 1861, 3 years, Co. B.; pro. sergt.

maj. July 1, 1862; pro. adjt. May 16, 1863; pro.

capt. from 1st lieut. and adjt. Jan, 12, 1865; det.

as A. A. A. G. 2d brig. 3d div. 17th A. C. at

Savannah, Ga
,
and judge ad. 3d div. 17th A. C.

at Louisville; m. o., July n, 1865. Search,.

Simeon C., e. Dec. 31, 1863, 3 years, Co. B.;

pro. sergt. April 2, 1865; m. o. July 11, 1865.

Sears, James A., e. Nov. 2, 1861, 3 years, Co. D.;

corp.; apptd. sergt. Sept. 1, 1862; apptd. 1st

sergt. April 5, 1865; m. o. July 11, 1865; vet.

Sensabaugh, G. YV., d. Sept. 29, 1864, 1 year,

Co. C.; m. o. at YVashington, May 30, 1865.

Starrard, David J., Dec. 5, 1861, 3 years, Co.
B.; corp.; apptd. sergt. May 1, 1862; died at

Vicksburg, Aug. 13, 1863; interred at Mt.
Sterling, O. Shiplett, YVm. F., e. Dec. 3, 1861,

3 years, Co. B.; dis. at Columbus, O., Oct. 2,

1862; disab.; rc-e. May 2, 1864, 100 days, 135th

Co. B.; m. o. Sept. 1, 1864; re-e. Feb. 15, 1865,

1 year, igzd. Co. H.; m. o. at Baltimore, Aug.
28, 1865. Shutt, Sami. IT, e. Nov. 26, 1861, 3
years, Co. E.; wd. at Shiloh; dis. at St. Louis,
April 24, 1862; disab. Simpson, Joseph V., e.

Dec. 18, 1861, 3 years, Co. C.; died at Camp
Dennison, June 6, 1862. Simpson, Arthur D.,

e. Sept. 1, 1862, 3 years, Co. F.
;
wd. before At-

lanta; m. o. at YVashington, Nov. 30, 1865.
Smith, Albert, e. Dec. 21, 1861, 3 years, Co. F.,

died in hos. Str. Empress, May 13, 1862. Smith,
David, e. Nov. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. F.

;
dis. at

Columbus, O., Sept. 4, 1862; disab. Smith,
Geo. F., e. Nov. 12, 1861, 3 years, Co. A.; apptd.
corp. April 1, 1865; m. o. Tuly 11, 1865; vet.

Smith, Henry IT, corp. e. Dec. 18, 1861, 3 years,

Co. F.; apptd. serg.; dis. at Vicksburg, Nov. 23,

1863; disab. Smitley, Jesse, e. Jan. 5, 1864, 3
years, Co. B.; m. o. July 11, 1865. Sprague,
David, YV., e. Feb. 29, 1864, 3 years, Co. F.; m. o.

July 1 1, 1865. Spring, John YV., e. Nov. 16, 1861,

3 years, Co. A; died at Evansville, Ind., May 17,
1862. Spring, John YVm., e. Jan. 26, 1862, 3 years,
Co. B.; apptd. corp. Jan. 1, 1864; killed before
Atlanta, July 22, 1864. Spinger, J. P. Jr., e.

Jan. 11, 1862, 3 years, Co. B.; pro. to 1st lieut.

Co. C.. Oct. 14, 1863; det, as acting, assist, q.

m. 3d div. 17th A. C., Dec. 1, 1863; pro. capt.

Co. FI. Jan. 12, 1865; m. o. July 11, 1865.

Story, Francis, M., e. Nov. 2, 1862, 3 years, Co.
F.

;
corp.; apptd. sergt. April 1, 1863; died at

St. Louis, Sept. 3, 1863. Story, James T., e.

Oct. 20, 1861, 3 years, Co. I7 .; apptd 2d lieut.

Dec. 26, 1861; 1st lieut. Feb. 6, 1864; act. assist,

ins. gen. 2d brig., 3d div., 17th A. C., Nov. 10,

1864; pro. to capt. Jan. 12, 1865; res. April 1,

1865; in the 3 mo. service Co. H. 1st O, V. I.

Story, Oliver C., e. Aug. 11, 1862, 3 years, Co.
F; kid. at Raymond May 12, 1863. Stotts,

Nathan, e. Nov. 15, 1861, 3 years, Co. D; cap.

near Atlanta; in Andersonville; ex.; m. o. July
11, 1865; vet. Sturtz, D. G., e. Aug. 23, 1862, 3
years, Co. F; died at Memphis Jan. 29, 1864;

interred in the Miss, river cemetery. Sturtz,

Peter YV., e. Dec. 14, 1861, 3 years, Co. F, corp.;

apptd. sergt.; istsergt. Mar. 24, 1865 ;
in hospital;

wd. at Champion’s Hill; m. o. July 1 1, 1865; vet.

Suttles, Benj., e. Nov. 3, 1861, 3 years, Co. B.;

dis. Feb. 12, 1863; disab. Sutton, YVilliam, e

Nov. 1, 1861, 3 years, Co. A.; died at Monterey,
Tenn., May 16, 1862. Sylvester, George YV., e.

Nov. 4, 1861, 3 years, Co. C.; corp.; apptd.

sergt. Nov. 5, 1862; m. o. July 1 1, 1865. Thomas,
Mathias, e. Nov. 21, 1861, 3 years, Co. C.; m. o.

July 11, 1865; vet. Thompson, Joseph G., e.

Aug. 26, 1862; 3 years, Co. A.; died at Mem-
phis Mar. 1, 1863. Tilton, O. M., d. Sept. 23,

1864, 1 year, Co. IT; m. o. May 30, 1865. Tol-

bert, Joseph, e. Jan. 25, 1864, 3 years, Co. D.; wd.
at Atlanta July 22, 1864; m. o. July 11, 1865.

Tompkins, James, e. Jan. 13, 1862, 3 years, Co.
K.; cap. in Miss.; in Libby; escaped; m. o.

July 14, 1865; vet. Turner, Leaven, e. Nov. 6,

1861
, 3 years, Co. D; wd. at Shiloh; det. as wagoner

3d Div. 17th A. C. May 10, 1864. Van Denbark,
G. B., e. Nov. 8, 1861, 3 years, Co. D.; cap. at

Atlanta; apptd. corp. June 1, 1865; m. o. July

11, 1865; vet. Van Kirk, Joseph, e. Nov. 13,

1861, 3 years, Co. F.; dis. at Columbus, Ohio,

Oct. 27, 1863; disab. Varner, Harrison, e. Dec.

6, 1861, 3 years, Co. B.; pro. sergt.; died June

4, 1863, of wds. received at Champion’s Hill.

Varner, Francis M., e. Dec, 6, 1861, 3 years, Co.

B.; dis. July 16, 1862; disab. Varner, John M.,

e. Dec. 7, 1861, 3 years, Co. B.; m. o. July 11,

1865; vet. Vincel, Samuel T., d. Sept. 27, 1864,

1 year, Co. H.; m. o. at YVashington May 30,

1865. Vogt, Lewis, e. Nov. 6, 1861, 3 years, Co.

A.; died at Champion’s Hill, Miss., May 21,

1863. YVallace, A. H., e. Nov. 15, 1861, 3 years,

Co. D.; pro. corp.; then color sergt.; killed at

Atlanta, July 22, 1864; vet. YVallace, J. C, e.

Oct. 13, 1863, 3 years, Co. A.; m. o. July 11,
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1865. Wallace, W. P., e. Oct. 14, 1864, 1 year,

Co. E.
;
m. o. July 11, 1865. Wall, Lewis, H., e.

Jan. 13, 1862, 3 years, Co. F.
;
in hospital June

27, 1862; re-e. May 2, 1864, 159th, Co. A.; dt. as

carpenter; dis. Aug. 24, 1864. Warne, Ama-
ziah, e. Dec. 18, 1861, 3 years, Co. D.; corp.;

apptd. sergt. Mar. 1, 1865; m. o. July II, 1865;

vet. Warne, Merritt, e. Dec. 18, 1861, 3 years,

Co. D.; dis. in 1863; disab. Waters, William C.,

e. Nov. 18, 1861, 3 years, Co. F.; dt.in q. m. dept.;

m. o. July 11, 1865; vet. West, Jacob G., d.

Sept. 28, 1864, 1 year, Co. C.; m. o. July 11,

1865. Whitecraft, John R., e. Mar. 6, 1864, 3
years, Co. E.; m. o. July 11, 1865. White, Alex.
H.

,
e. Aug. 30, 1862, 3 years, Co. F.; dt. hdqrs.

Dept, of Tenn. Dec. 18, 1884; m. o. May 30,

1865. White, Nathaniel C., e. Sept. 13, 1862, 3

years, Co. D.; dis. at Cairo Mar. 5, 1863; disab.

Wiles, Charles C., e. Jan. 12, 1864, 3 years, Co.
C.; pro. q. m. sergt.; pro. 1st lieut. Jan. 12,1865;
m. o. July 11, 1865. Wilson, James R., e. Nov.
I, 1861, 3 years, Co. A.; apptd. corp. July 1,

1864; cap. at Champion’s farm; paroled; ex.;

apptd. sergt. June 12, 1865; wd. in front of At-
lanta Aug. 18, 1864; m. o. July 11, 1865; vet.

Wilson, Jesse W., e. Dec. 16, 1863, 3 years, Co.
A.; wd. before Atlanta; in hospital at Chatta-
nooga; m. o. July 11, 1865. Wilson, Solomon,
e. Dec. 5, 1861, 3 years, Co. B.; apptd. corp.

Jan. 5, 1865; m. o. July 11, 1865; vet. Wiley,
Charles S., e. Nov. 4, 1863, 3 years, Co. A.; wd.;
in hospital; m. o. at McDougal, U. S. Gen. IIos.

New York Harbor, May 31, 1865. Wiley, John
C., e. Dec. 12, 1861, 3 years, Co F.; dis. Mar. 12,

1862; disab. Wiley, William M., d. Oct. 1, 1864,

1 year, Co. I.; dis. June 5, 1865. Wymer, Al-
fred, e. Dec. 12, 1861, 3 years, Co. F.; apptd.
sergt. May 1, 1862; 1st sergt. Aug. 22, 1864;
pro. to 2d lieut. Jan. 12, 1865; 1st lieut. Co. G.
Apr. 22, 1865; m. o. July 11, 1865; vet. Yaw,
Oliver P., e. Jan. 1, 1862, 3 years, Co. G.; m. o.

at Beaufort, S. C., Jan. 12, 1865; vet. Younger,
William C., e. Dec. 5, 1861, 3 years, Co. B.;

apptd. sergt.; wd. at Raymond, Miss.; m. o. at

Beaufort, S. C., Jan. 12, 1865.

Eightieth Regiment.—Myers, Geo., e. Apr. 15,

1864, 3 years, Co. F; m. o. at Columbus, O.,

Aug. 15, 1865.

Eighty-fourth Regiment.—Galighcr, Richard,
c. June 3, 1862, 3 months, Co. I; m. o. Sept. 20,

1862.

Eighty-fifth Regiment. Cosgrove, Henry E.,

e. Guernsey Co., May 26, 1862, 3 months, Co. I;

m. o. Sept. 23, 1862; re-e. Oct. 8, 1862, 3 years,
Co. H I22d; trails, to Co. K Nov. 1, 1862; cap.
at Winchester, June 15, 1863; in Libby and
Salisbury prisons; ex.; m. o. at Columbus, O.,

May 22, 1865. Kinncr, John, c. May 28, 1862,

3 months, Co. G; m. o. Sept. 23, 1862; re-e.

Sept. 27, 1864, 1 year, Co. E, 29th; m. o. June 5,

1865.

Eighty-seventh Regiment. - Lemert, Geo. W.
e. May 28, 1862, 3 months, Co. A; m. o. Oct. 1,

1862.

Eighty-eighth Regiment.—Beem, John H., e.

June 4, 1862, 3 months, Co. G; apptd. sergt.

June 14th; m. o. Sept. 26, 1862. Besh, Solon
M., e. June 4, 1862, 3 months, Co. A; apptd.
from 1st sergt. to 2d lieut. June 16, 1862; m. o.

Sept. 26, 1862; subse. served in Co. B, 79th, and
as Q. M. U. S. N. Miss, squad. Burton, Hiram,
L., e. June 4, 1862, 3 months, Co. G; m. o. Sept.

26, 1862. Burton, Joseph, e. June 4, 1862, 3
months, Co. G; m. o. Sept. 26, 1862; subse. in

Co. G, 31st O. V. C. Crane, Robt. T., e, Jan. 5,

1864, 3 years, Co. B; m. o. July 3, 1865. Cusic,

Alva, e. June 6,1862, 3 months, Co. G; m. o. Sept.

26, 1862. Jamison, W. S., e. July 7, 1863, 3
years, Co. E; died in hos. at Camp Chase, Jan.

14, 1865. Jenkins, James H., e. June 6, 1862, 3
months; m. o. Sept. 26, 1862. McBurney, John,
e. July 13., 1863, 3 years, Co. E; dis. March 14,

1865; disab. Michling, Henry C., musician, e.

June 6, 1862, 3 months, Co. A; m. o. Sept. 26,

1862. Rice, Richard, e. July 7, 1863, 3 years,

Co. E; m. o. July 3, 1863. Speer, James A., e.

July 2, 1862, 3 years, Co. E; m. o. July 3, 1865.

Ninetieth Regiment.—Ansel, Jacob, e. Aug. 6,

1862, 3 yrs., Co. H; m. o. July 13, 1865; e. reg.

Army, Co. I., 17 th U. S. I. Dozer, Henry, e.

Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yrs., Co. B; corp; cap. at Chick-
amauga, Sept. 19, 1863; m. o, July 13, 1865.

Ewan, Jos. W., e. Aug. 6, 1862, 3 yrs., aptd.

sergt.; trans. to V. R. C. Mar. 16, 1864. Tracy,
John W., e. Aug. 6, 1862. 3 yrs., Co. H; died at

Nashville, Dec. 16, 1862.

Ninety-first Regiment.—Rose, Chas. II., e. in

Lawrence Co., July 31, 1862, 3 yrs., Co. D; aptd.

corp. Sept. 1, 1862; wd. at Lynchburg, June 17,

1864; aptd. sergt. Oct. 1, 1864; m. o. June 24,

1865.

Ninety-second Regiment.—McMahon, John
L. service in Co. I; wd. and cap.; no further

record.

Ninety-thirdRegiment

.

—Pickins, Asher,e Aug.
6, 1862; 3 yrs., Co. F; m. o. June 8, 1865. Pick-

ins, Samuel J., corp., e. Aug. 1 1 , 1862; 3 yrs.,

Co. F. m. o. June 8, 1865.

Ninety-fifth Regiment.— Davidson, Win. II. c.

Aug. 1, 1862, 3 vrs., Co. F; m. o. Aug. 14, 1865.

Moore, Sami. R., e. Aug. 8, 1862, 3 yrs., Co. G;
caj), at Richmond; paroled; m. o. Aug. 14,

1865. Simpson, Alva, c. Sept. 24, 1864, 1 yr.,

Co. F; 111. o. May 18, 1865.

Ninety-seventh Regiment.—Admanson ,
Frede-

rick N., c. Aug. 15, 1862, 3 years, Co. K; dis.
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at Gallatin, Tcnn., Jan., 20, 1863; disab. re-e. May
2, 1864, 100 days Co. B, 159th; m. o. Aug. 24,

1864. Ashmore, Matthew, e. in Licking Co.

Feb. 24, 1865, 1 year Co. F; cap. en route to

regt. by guerrillas in Tenn.; released; trans. to

Co. E, 26th, O. V. I. June 7, 1865; m. o. Oct. 21,

1865. Ashton, Howard, e. July 26, 1862, 3 years

Co. E, trans. to 87th Co., 2d bat. V. R. C., Jan. 15,

1864; m. o. at Camp Dennison, June 25th, 1865.

Armstrong, John A., e. Aug! 13, 1862, 3 years

Co. G; died at Danville, Ky
,
Oct. 15th, 1862.

Ault, Andrew, e. Aug. 15, 1862, 3 years Co. E;

wd. at Danville, Ky.; trans. to 87th Co., 2d

bat. V. R. C., Jan. 15th, 1864; m. o. at Camp
Dennison, June 28, 1865. Bagent, John F., e.

Feb. 28th, 1865, 1 year Co. F; cap. by guerril-

las en route to regt.; released; trans. to Co. E,

26th, June 7, 1865; m. o. Oct. 21, 1865. Bar-

nett, Wm. YV., e Aug. 11, 1862, 3 years Co. G;
dis. at Gallatin, Tenn., Feb. 17, i863;disab.; re-e.

May 2, 1864, 100 days, Co C, 159th; m. o. Aug.
22, 1864. Bell, John M., corp. e. Aug. 12, 1862,

3 years Co. F,
;

aptd., sergt. March 29, 1863,

killed at Mission Ridge, Nov. 25, 1863. Bell,

Henry M, e. Aug. 4, 1872, 3 years Co. G; wd. at

Perryville; dis. at Louisville, July 20, 1863; dis-

ab.; re-e. March 6, 1865, 1 year Co. K, 195th;

m. o. Dec. 18, 1865. Bell, Andrew YV., e. Aug.
1 1, 1862, 3 years Co. E; aptd. corp. Dec. 1, 1863;

m. o. June 10, 1865. Bishop, Daniel C. C., e.

Aug. 12, 1862, 3 years Co' E; trans. to Co. C.

8th V. R. C., Nov. 15, 1863; m. o. at Chicago,

July 12, 1865. Bowers, Jacob H., e. Aug. 4,

1862, 3 years Co. G; wd. at Kenesaw Mt.; m. o.

June 10, 1865. Brennan, Patrick, e. Aug. 8, 1862,

year Co. F; wd. Mission Ridge; aptd. corp.

April 1, 1865; m. o. June 10, 1865. Brelsford,

Jos. YV., e. Aug. 11, 1862, 3 years, Co. K; in

hos; m. o. at Madison, Ind., June 6, 1865. Brown,
James A.,e. Aug., 7, 1862 3 years Co. C; wd. at

Kenesaw Mt. June 27, 1864; m. o. June 10,

1865. Burtch, David, e. Aug. 11, 1862, 3 years,

Co. E; dis. at Gallatin, Tenn., May 10, 1863;
disab. Bussemer, YVilliam, e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3
years, Co. K; wd. at Franklin, Tenn.; m. o.

June 10, 1865. Carlow, John, e. Aug., 1862, 3
years, Co. K; died at Beverly, YV. Va., 1864.

Cass, John H., e. Aug. 5, 1862, 3 years, Co. F;
det. in hospital; m. o. at Chattanooga May 23,

1865. Clements, YVilliam S., e. Aug. 7, 1862, 3
years, Co. F; wd. at Perryville; in hospital;

det. at Ft. Rosecrans hospital; joined regt. for

Atlanta campaign; wd. at Franklin; m. o. at

Nashville June 10, 1865. Cooper, Henry, e.

July 30, 1862, 3 years, Co. G; apptd. corp.; died
July 12, 1863, at Chattanooga, of wds. reed, at

Kenesaw Mt. June 22, 1864. Cox, Ed. R., e.

Aug. 15, 1862, 3 years, Co. G; wd. at Kenesaw

Mt. June 22, 1864; m. o. June 10, 1865. Davis,
Robert, e. July 31, 1861, 3 years, Co. E; dis.

June 10, 1863; disab. Deitrick, Nicholas, e.

Aug. 14, 1862, 3 years, Co. K; dis. at Nashville
Aug. 10, 1863; disab. Ditton, Thomas D., e.

Aug. 8, 1862, 3 years, Co. G; apptd. corp.; wd.
at Franklin; apptd. sergt. May 25, 1865; m. o.

June 10, 1865. Druke, John H., e. Aug. 1 1, 1862,

3 years, Co. K; apptd. corp. and com. sergt.

Mar. 19, 1863. Druke, YVilliam B., e. Aug. 15,

1862, 3 years, Co. K; m. o. June 10, 1865.

Drumm, Manuel, e. Aug. 14, 1862, 3 years, Co.
G; wd. at Kenesaw Mt. June 22, 1864; died of

wds. July 21, 1864. Eagan, George, capt., e.

July 25, 1862, 3 years, Co. E; res. Mar. 13, 1863;
was in the 3d O. V. I., 3 months’ service. Ew-
ing, Albert, e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. K;
pro. corp.; wd. at Franklin; m. o. June 10, 1865.

Fell, George, e. Aug. 1, 1862, 3 years; dis. at

Quincy, 111 ., Mar. 25, 1863; disab. Forsyth,

John, e. Aug. 9, 1862, 3 years, Co. G; trans. to

1st U. S. V. V. E. July 18, 1864. Forsyth, YVill-

iam T., e. Aug. 15, 1862, 3 years, Co. K;
apptd. corp. Mar. 4, 1863; sergt. Jan. 1, 1865;
m. o. June 10, 1865. Foster, John, e. Aug.
6, 1862, 3 years, Co. E.; apptd. sergt. Jan. 1,

1865; m. o. June 10, 1865. Francis, Jacob C.,

e. Aug. 13, 1862, 3 years, Co. G.; wd.; m. o.

June 10, 1865. Francis, Jas., e. Aug. 11, 1862,

3 years, Co. G.; injured at battle of Jones-
boro; in hospital; m. o. June 10, 1865. Gib-
bons, David A., e. Aug. 6, 1862, 3 years,

Co. F.; dis. at Bowling Green, Ky., Dec. 10,

1862; disab.; died April 1863. Gorsuch, Jos. T.,

e. Aug. 21, 1862, 3 years, Co. G.; pro. 2d lieut.

Co. K., from sergt. Nov. 20, 1862; 1st lieut.

Dec. 13, 1862; capt. Feb. 10, 1865; m. o. June
10, 1865. Gohen, Edward L., corp e. Aug. 11,

1862, 3 years Co. K; m. o. June 10, 1865.

Harvey, John, e. Aug. 7, 1862, 3 years, Co. G;
apptd. corp

;
wd. at Nashville Dec. 16, 1864;

m. o. at Louisville, June 11, 1865. Hazen,
Sami., e. Aug. 15, 1862, 3 years Co. F; wd. at

Franklin, Nov. 30, 1864; m. o. June 10, 1865.

Hedges, Chas., corp, e. Aug. 9, 1862, 3 years,

Co. G.; trans. to V. R. C., Aug. 1, 1863. Hoops,
John, e. Aug. 8, 1862, 3 years, Co. B.; died at

Nashville, Dec. 16, 1864 of wds. reed, at the
battle of Nashville, Dec. 15, 1864. Hopkins,
Geo., e. Aug. 11, 1862, 3 years, Co. K.; m. o.

June 10, 1865. Hughes, Adoniram J . ,
e. Aug. 5,

1862, 3 years, Co. I.; wd. at Adairsville; in

hos; m. o. June 10, 1865. Hunter, John, e,

Aug. 8, 1862, 3 years, Co. F.; wd. at Franklin,

Nov. 30, 1864; m. o. at Nashville, May 11, 1865.

Johnson, John, Sr., e. Aug. 8, 1862, 3 years, Co.
F.

;
wd. at Atlanta, July 22, 1864; left arm

amputated; trans. to 124th Co., 2d batln. V. R.C.,
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Dec. g, 1864. Johnson, Geo. R., e. Aug. 15,

1862, 3 years, Co. E.; wd. at Franklin, Nov. 30,

1864; m. o. at Louisville, May 31, 1865. Jones,

Charles H., e. Sept. 2, 1862, Co. G; pro. from
sergt.-maj. Nov. 25, 1862, to 2d lieut.; 1st lieut.

Co. H Oct. 12, 1864; m. o. June 10, 1865.

Jones, Elias F., e. Mar. 6, 186-, I year; trans. to

Co. H, 26th, June 7, 186-; m. o. Oct. 21, 1865.

Jones, John, e. Aug. 7, 1862, 3 years, Co. F; wd.;

m. o. June 10, 1865. Knight, James A., e. Aug.
15, 1862, 3 years, Co. F; cap. at Stone River;

paroled; no further record. Layton, Joseph, e.

Aug. 5, 1862, 3 years, Co. H; wd. at Mission
Ridge Nov. 25, 1863; trans. to Co. B, 22d V. R.

R., Oct. 22, 1864; m. o. July 13, 1865. Lazier,

William H., e. July 28, 1862, 3 years, Co. G;
mortally wd. at Culpeper; no further record.

Lecky, Hugh, e. Feb. 28, 1865, 1 year, Co. F;
trans. to Co. H, 26th O. V. I., June 7, 1865; m.
o. Oct. 21, 1865. Leslie, Henry A., e. Aug. 12,

1862, 3 years, Co. K; pro. to sergt.; wd. at Ken-
esaw Mt. June 27, 1864; wd. at Nashville; in

hospital; m. o. June 10, 1865. Lydig, Josiah
A., corp., e. Aug. 8, 1862, 3 years, Co. E; kid.

at Franklin, Tenn., Nov. 30, 1864. McCain,
John, e. Aug. 5, 1862, 3 years, Co. F; died in

hospital at Chattanooga July 5, 1864, of wds.
reed, at Adairsville, Ga., May 17, 1864. Mc-
Whirter, Robert, e. Aug. 9, 1862, 3 years, Co. C;
dis. at Columbus, Ohio, May 26, 1864, for wds.
reed, at Mission Ridge Nov. 26, 1863. Mar-
shall, John W., e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. K;
pro. to sergt.; to 1st lieut. Co. G Feb. 20, 1865;
dis. June 10, 1865. Martin, John, e. Aug. 11,

1862, 3 years, Co. G; kid. at Kenesaw Mt. June
22, 1864. Martin, J. B., e. Aug. 5, 1862, 3 years,

Co. K; apptd. corp.; sergt. Sept. 1, 1864; m. o.

June 1, 1865. Mickle, Peter, e. Aug. 15, 1862,

3 years, Co. G; in hospital; trans. to Co. B, 22d
V. R. C\; m. o. at Clinton, Iowa, July 13, 1865.

Miller, Samuel, e. Aug. 14, 1862, 3 years, Co. F;
dis. at Gallatin, Tenn., Feb. 17, 1863; disab.

Mitchell, Thomas, e. Aug. 12, 1862, 3 years, Co.
G; wd. at Perryville; in hospital; trans. to 43d,
Co. —

,
2d bat., V. R. C., Aug. 31, 1863. Moore,

Uriah J., e. Aug. 7, 1862, 3 years, Co. G; m. o.

at Columbus, Ohio, June 15, 1865. Munch,
Louis, e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. K; dis.

Apr. 27, 1863; disab. Murphy, Abram, e. Aug.
5, 1862, 3 years, Co. F; dis. Apr. 10, 1863; disab.

Pansier, William IT, c. Aug. 4, 1862, 3 years,

Co. G; m. o. June 10, 1865. Plympton, Charles
H., e. Aug. 12, 1862, 3 years, Co. K; m. o. June
10, 1865. Ramsbottom, Alfred, e. Aug. 11,

186?, 3 years, Co. K; corp.; apptd. sergt. Mar.
5, 1863; 1st sergt. May 10, 1863; m. o. June 10,

1865; awarded medal of honor by secretary of
war Feb. 22, 1865, for capturing a rebel flag at

the battle of Franklin Nov. 30, 1864. Roach,
James E., e. Aug., 1862, 3 years, Co. B; wd. at

Stone River; det. hospital nurse; m. o. June 10,

1865. Robinson, George S., e. Aug. 4, 1862, 3
years, Co. G; wd. at Mission Ridge Nov. 25,

1863; trans. to Co. F, 15th V. R. C.; m. o. at

Cairo July 15, 1865. Ross, David A., e. Aug.
11, 1862, 3 years, Co. E; dis. at Gallatin, Tenn.,

May 10, 1863; disab. Ross, Ezra, e. Aug. 8,

1862, 3 years, Co. E; died at Franklin Dec. 17,

1864, of wds. reed, there Nov. 30, 1864. Ross,

Oliver H., e. Oct. 5, 1862, 3 years, Co. E; dis.

at Gallatin Feb. 26, 1863; disab.; re-e. May 2,

1864, Co. E; corp.; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Ruse,
William H., e. July 31, 1862, 3 years, Co. E;
trans. to Co. I, 11th V. R. C., Apr. 10, 1864; in

hospital; m. o. at Albany, N. Y., June 29, 1865.

Russell, Richard J., mus. e. Sept. 7, 1862, 3
years, Co. A; m. o. June 10, 1865. Sedgwick,
Howard M., e. Aug. 4, 1862, 3 years, Co. G;
corp.; apptd. sergt. Mar. 17, 1863; 1st sergt.

May 25, 1865; m. o. June 10, 1865. Shiser, C.

M., e. July 30, 1862, 3 years, Co. E; corp.; died
at Zanesville Mar. 20, 1863. Showers, Lyman
L., e. Aug. 14, 1862, 3 years, Co. K; dis. June
21, 1864, at Columbus, Ohio, for wds. reed, at

Mission Ridge Nov. 25, 1863. Sidle, John
W., sergt., e. Aug. 4, 1862, 3 years, Co. G; apptd.
1st Mar. 17, 1863; pro. 1st lieut. Co. I

May 18, 1865; m. o. June 10, 1865; wd. at Mis-
sionary Ridge and at P'ranklin. Sidle, William
B., e. Aug. 13, 1862, 3 years, Co. G; m. o. June
IO, 1865. Simpson, Thomas H., e. Aug. 11,

1862, 3 years, Co. G; dis. at Nashville Dec. 14,

1862; disab. Smith, G. E., e. Aug. 11, 1862, 3
years, Co. F; dis. June 15, 1865. Somers,
Charles, e. Aug. 11, 1862, 3 years, Co. K; pro.

corp.; wd. at Mission Ridge Nov. 25, 1863;
in hospital; trans. to 5th V. R. C., Co. H, Feb.

5, 1865; m. o. July 5, 1865. Spiny, George, e.

Aug. 14, 1862, 3 years, Co. K; m. o. July 10,

1865. St. Claire, John, e. Aug. 7, 1862, 3 years,

Co. F; died at Danville, Ky., Oct. 23, 1862.

Sterrett, Omer T., e. Feb. 24, 1865, 1 year, Co.
F; trans. to Co. I, 26th, June 7, 1865; m. o.

Oct. 21, 1865. Stewart, Nixon, e. Aug. 8, 1862,

3 years, Co. E; dis. at Louisville Apr. 29, 1863;
disab. Stockdale, D. L., e. Aug. 15, 1862, 3
years, Co. K; corp.; apptd. sergt. Feb. 20,

1865; in hospital at Nashville; dot. duty; m. o.

June 10, 1865. Stockdale, Robert, e. Aug. 11,

1862, 3 years, Co. K; kid. at Franklin Nov. 20,

1864. Sturtz, John J., e. Aug. 14, 1862, 3 years,

Co. E; kid. at Mission Ridge Nov. 25, 1863.

Swingle, Jacob A., c. Aug. 15, 1862, 3 years, Co.
K; m. o. June 10, 1865. Tanner, James K., e.

Aug. 8, 1862, 3 years, Co. G; dis. at Gallatin,

Tenn., Feb. 27, 1863; disab.; re-e. in May, 1864,
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in 13th O. V. C., Co. F; dis. Aug iS, 1865.

Tanner, William C., capt., c. July 28, 1862, 3

years, Co. G; res. Dec. 13, 1862. Taylor, Will-

iam, e. Aug. 16, 1862, 3 years, Co. K; m. o.

June 15, 1865. Tole, Samuel G., e. Aug. 7,

1862, 3 years, Co. G; m. o. June 10, 1865. Trus-

ler, William, e. Aug. 15, 1862, 3 years, Co. E;

apptd. corp. Mar. 1, 1863; kid. at Mission
Ridge Nov. 25, 1863. Vickers, George (No. 2),

e. Aug. 8, 1862, 3 years, Co. F; m. o. July 10,

1865. Vickers, Stephen, e. Aug. 8, 1862, 3

years, Co. F; trans. to Co. E, 2d bat. V. R. C.;

m. o. July 5, 1865. Walker, Julius W., e. Aug.
12, 1862, 3 years, Co. G; dis. Mar. 31, 1864, of

vvds. reed, at Mission Ridge Nov. 25, 1863.

Watts, George W., e. Aug. 5, 1862, 3 years, Co.

E; cap. at Franklin, Tenn., Nov. 30, 1864; ex.;

m. o. May 20, 1865. Waxier, Calvin, e. Aug.
13, 1862, 3 years, Co. E; corp.; m. o. June 10,

1865. Wheeler, Newton, e. Aug. 5, 1862, 3
years, Co. E; corp.; apptd. sergt. Apr. 7, 1863;

wd. at Mission Ridge; in hospital; det. q.

m. of ambulance corps, 2d div., 4th A. C.; m. o.

June 10, 1865. Williams, Acquilla, e. Feb. 20,

1864, 3 years, Co. F; trans. to Co. I, 26th O. V.

l.
,
June 7, 1865; in hospital at Nashville; m. o.

Oct. 21, 1865. Williams, Bradbury, e. Aug. n,
1862, 3 years, Co. G; trans. to Co. H, 19th V.
R. C., Mar. 23, 1864; dis. Apr., 1865; vet.

Wires, William, e. Aug. 12, 1862, 3 years, Co.
G.; pro. corp. Mar. 1, 1865; m. o. June 10, 1865.

Wisecarver, Henry F., e. Aug. 15, 1862, 3 years,

Co. E; wd. at Stone River; m. o. June 10, 1865.

Wisecarver, Jacob, e. Aug. 15, 1862, 3 years, Co.
E; wd. at Mission Ridge; m. o. June 10,

1 865 . Walford, Michael, e. Feb. 18, 1864, 3
years, Co. E; trans. to Co. I, 26th O. V. I., June
7, 1865; m. o. Oct. 21, 1865. Walford, Nathan-
iel, e. Aug. ii, 1862, 3 years, Co. F; trans. to

Co. K, 26th O. V. I., June 7, 1 86 s ;
m. o. Oct.

21, 1865.

Ninety-eighth Regiment.—Cogsel, Harvey L.,

e. Aug. 12, 1862, 3 years, Co. IT; q. m. sergt.;

pro. to 2d lieut. Mar. 28, 1863; 1st lieut. May
25, 1864; capt. May 25, 1865; not mustered;
m. o. June 1, 1865. Knapp, Ebenezer F., e.

July 31, 1862, 3 years, Co. B; wd. at Benton-
ville, N. C, Mar., 19, 1865; m. o. at Camp Den-
nison, May 31, 1865.

One Hundrcth Regiment.—Moose, Chas. L.
e. Aug. Aug. 14, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; dis. at

Camp Dennison, July 1, 1863; disab.

One Hundred and Second Regiment.— Pitten-
ger, Isaac M., e. Aug. 7, 1862, 3 years, Co. D;
m. o. June 30, 1865. Sandel, John, e. Aug. 12,

1862, 3 years, Co. A, wd. at Athens, Ala.; m. o.

at Louisville, May 28, 1865.

One Hundred and Eighth Regiment.— Russi,

Louis, c. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. E, corp.;

cap. Dec. 7, 1863; paroled; wd. at Resaca; m.
o. June 9, 1865. Urban, Henry C., e. Aug. 18,

1862, 3 years, Co. E; 2d lieut.; pro. to 1st.

lieut. Co. B, Sept. 26, 1864; cap. at Hartsville,

Tenn.; ex.; wd. at Resaca, at Big Shanty and
at Bentonville; m. o. June 9, 1865.

One Hundred and Tenth Regiment.—Trout,
Anthony, d. May 16, 1864, 3 years, Co. H; wd.
at Fisher’s Hill, Va., Sept. 22, 1864; m. o. June
25, 1865, Wages, Leonard, d. June 9, 1862, 3
years, Co. K; cap. at Monocacy, Md., July 9,

1864; trans. to Co. K; m. o. at Camp Denni-
son, July 20, 1865.

One Hundred and Thirteenth Regiment.—Con-
ant, Josephus, e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. B;

m. o. July 6, 1865. Miles, Geo., e. Aug. 11,

1862, 3 years, Co. A; m. o. July 6, 1865.

One Hundred and Fourteenth Regiment. —
Brown, Jos., e. in Perry county, Aug. 22, 1862,

3 years, Co. I; cap. near Napoleon, Miss., Jan.

1863; escaped and recap; paroled; reported to

Columbus, Ohio; hos. duty; reported at Chi-

cago and trans. to Co. C, 8th V. R. C.; det. as

hos. nurse; dis. at Chicago, July 1, 1865. Gross,

Henry, mus., e. Nov. 16, 1862, 3 years, Co. E;
trans. to Co. F, Nov. 27, 1864; trans. to Co. B,

48th, July 24, 1865; m. o. at Galveston, Nov.

17, 1865. Longstreth, Philip W., e. Aug. 19,

1862, 3 years, Co. G; m. o. June 9, 1865.

One Hundred and Sixteenth Regiment.—King,
Edward, e. Aug. 13, 1862, 3 years, Co. F; corp.;

apptd. sergt. May 10, 1865; trans. to Co. A,
62d, June 14, 1865. Sherman, Hapson L., e.

Aug. 21, 1862, 3 years, Co. 1
;
cap. at Bunker

Hill, Va., June 13, 1863; ex. July 7, 1863; cap.

at High Ridge, Va., Apr. 6, 1865; ex.; m. o.

June 26, 1865. Wheaton, William W., e. Aug.
8, 1862, 3 years, Co. C; m. o. June 14, 1865.

One Hundred and Tiucnty-sccond Regiment.

—

Archile, William, e. Aug. 20, 1862, 3 years, Co.
A; m. o. July 26, 1865. Aler, Frederick C.,

corp., e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. I; cap. at

Winchester June 15, 1863; died June 7, 1864, of

wds. reed, at Cold Harbor June 1, 1864. Ander-
son, Samuel, e. Aug. 19, 1862, 3 years, Co. K;
cap. June 15, 1863, at Winchester; ex.; wd. May
5, 1864, at the Wilderness; trans. to 134th 2d
batln., V. R. C., Mar. 9, 1865; m. o. at Camp
Chase June 29, 1865. Arndt, John PL, e. Oct.

13, 1862, 3 years, Co. F
;
dis. Jan. 22, 1864; disab.;

subs, served in U. S. N. Atchinson, John W.,
e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. E; wd. at Cedar
Creek, Va., Oct. 19, 1864; m. o. June 26, 1865.

Bailes, Jesse M., e. Aug. 13, 1862, 3 years, Co.

I; cap. at Winchester June 15, 1863; ex.; trans.

to V. R. C. Apr. 15, 1864. Ball, William H.,

col. com., Oct. 10, 1862; res. P'eb. 3, 1865. Bell,
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William J., e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. E;
apptd. sergt. Jan. 1, 1863; wd. and cap. at Win-
chester; m. o. June 26, 1865. Bowers, Henry,
e. Sept. 30, 1862, 3 years, Co. F; trans. to Co.
B, 8th V. R. C., Nov. 21, 1864; m. o. at Camp
Douglas, 111 ., July 21, 1865. Bronkar, Jerome,
e. Aug. 20, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; apptd. sergt;

cap. near Moorefield, Va.
;

ex.; wd. at Mine
Run Nov. 27, 1863; m. o. June 26, 1865. De
Long, William L., e. Sept. 10, 1862, 3 years;

m. o. June 26, 1865. Dempster, George W., e.

Aug. 21, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; cap. at Win-
chester June 15, 1863; wd. at Spottsylvania
May 12, 1864; dis. May 12, 1865; disab. Dirten-
beck, Jacob, e. Aug. 19, 1862, 3 years, Co. A;
killed at Winchester June 15, 1863. Downing,
John, e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. C; m. o.

June 26, 1865. Dugan, Daniel, e. Aug. 22, 1862,

3 years, Co. F; sergt.; pro. 2d lieut. 178th O.
V. I. Sept. 24, 1864. Dunn, J. L., e. Aug. 22,

1862, 3 years, Co. F; died at Brandy Station,

Va., Dec., 1863. Evans, Wesley, e. Aug. 22,

1862, 3 years, Co. A, corp.; m. o. June 26, 1865.

Fell, George M., corp., e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years,

Co. I; cap. at Winchester June 15, 1863; ex.;

in hospital; trans. to 1st V. R. C. Feb. 15, 1864;
m. o. July 1 7, 1865, at Albany, N. Y. Figley,

Jacob, e. Aug. 20, 1862, 3 years, Co. E; wd. and
cap. at Winchester; re-cap. July 29, 1863; wd.
at the Wilderness May 6, 1864; dis. for disab.

at Washington Jan. 13, 1865. Figley, William,
e. Aug. 20, 1862, 3 years, Co. E; wd. at the
Wilderness May 6, 1864; trans. to 112th V. R.

C.
,
2d batln.; dis. at Alexandria Aug. 22, 1865;

disab. Fisher, Henry, e. Aug., 1862, 3 years,

Co. E; cap. at Winchester June 15, 1863; ex.

Nov. 16, 1863; apptd. corp. Apr. 15, 1864; m. o.

June 20, 1865. Flowers, Lyman L., e. Feb. 22,

1864, 3 years, Co. A; wd. at Cedar Creek, Va.,

Oct. 19, 1864; in hospital; m. o. at Columbus,
Ohio, June 27, 1865. Garner, Jeremiah IT, e.

Aug. 21, 1862, 3 years, Co. I; apptd. corp.; m. o.

June 26, 1865. Gary, Daniel B., capt., e. Aug.
16, 1862, 3 years, Co. I; dis. Dec. 7, 1863; disab.

Gordon, C. M., capt., e. Aug. 23, 1862, 3 years,

Co. H; res. on acct. of disab. Feb. 5, 1864.

Granger, John, e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. F;
died at Winchester June 4, 1863. Granger,
Moses M., col., e. Sept. 10, 1862, 3 years as maj.;
pro. lieut. -col. May I, 1863; brev.-col. Oct. 19,

1864; res. Dec. 10, 1864. Cray, John, e. Oct. 3,

1862, 3 years, Co. F; cap. at Winchester June
15, 1863; cx - Nov. 16, 1863; m. o. June 26, 1865.
Griffin, Mathew, e. Jan. 26, 1864, 3 years, Co. I;

in. o. June 26, 1865. Hahn, David, c. Coshocton
county, Aug. 26, 1862, 3 years, Co. I); dis. at
Cumberland, Mil., Mar. 26, 1863; disab. Hall,
Albert, e. Aug. 20, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; wd. at

Spottsylvania; in hospital; cap. at Cedar Creek;
in Libby, m. o. June 26, 1865; Hale, Jacob
W., e. Oct. 18, 1862, 3 years, Co. E.; trans. to

Co. I Nov. 1, 1862; wd. at Mine Run Nov. 27,

1863; cap. at Cold Harbor; m. o. at Camp
Chase June 9, 1865. Hale, John H., e. Oct. 8,

1862, 3 years, Co. E; trans. to Co. I; wd at the
Wilderness May 6, 1864; m. o. June 6, 1865.

Hambey, Jas. e. Aug. 9, 1862, 3years, Co. G; cap.

at Winchester, June 1 5, 1863; m. o. June 26, 1865.

Hammond, John F., e. Aug 20, 1862, 3 years, Co.
A; dis. Feb. 2, 1864; disab. Hammond, Albert,
e. Aug. 19, 1862,3 years, Co. I; wd. at Winches-
ter, June 15, 1863; apptd. sergt.; m. o. June 25,

1865. Hartman, Henry, e. Aug. 22, i862,3 years,

Co. A; cap. at Winchester, June 15,1863; ex.;m.o.

June 26, 1865. Hoppstatter, David, e. Feb. 20,

1864, 3 years, Co. A; m. o. June 26, 1865. Houck,
John, e. Aug. 21, 1862, 3 years, Co. F; trans. to

19th V. R. C., Co. F; Jan. 15, 1864; m. o. at

Elmira, N. Y., July 13, 1865. Johnson, J. W., e.

Aug. 20, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; m. o. June 26,

1865. Kenker, Henry, corp. e Oct. 6, 1862, 3
years, Co. I; cap. at Winchester; 111. o. June 26,

1865; in prison at Libby. Kime, Geo. T., e.

Aug. 8, 1862, 3 years, Co. K; corp.; cap. in the
Shenandoah; ex.; in hos.; transferred to 24th
V. R. C. Co. C, Mar. 15, 1864; m. o. July 18,

1865. King, Geo. B., e. Sept. 12, 1862, 3 years,

Co. I; m. o. June 26, 1865. Kinkade, Alfred
L., e. Oct. 13, 1862, 3 years, Co. F; corp.; apptd.
sergt. Apr. 1, 1865; m. o. June 26, 1865; Kin-
kade, Chas., e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. A;
trans. to V. R. C. Apr. 13, 1864. Kinkade, Jas.,

e. Oct. 11, 1862, 3 years; m. o. June 26, 1865.

Kupmual, John, e. Aug. 1862, 3 years, Co. A;
apptd. sergt.; wd. at Spottsylvania; m. o. June
26, 1865; Lawson, Robt. e. Aug. 10, 1861, 3 yrs.

Co. K; wd. at Mine Run, Nov. 27, 1863; cap.

at the Wilderness; ex.; apptd. corp.; m. o. June
26, 1865. Leansure, Isaac, e. July 30, 1862, 3
years Co. K; corp.; wd. at Brandy Sta., Nov.
8, 1863; cap. at the Wilderness, died Aug. 20,

1864, in Andersonville. Lennon, Mathew, c.

Sept. 5, 1863, 3 years, Co. H; cap. at Winches-
ter, June 15, 1863, ex. wd. at Cold Harbor; 111.

o. June 26, 1865. Linn, Mathew, e. Aug. 20,

1862, 3 years, Co. A; dis. May 4, 1865, for wds.
received at the Wilderness, May 6, 1864. Mc-
Cracken, Edward, -e Aug. 23, 1862, 3 years,

Co. E; died at Baltimore, July 18, 1864. Mc-
Gruder, John W., e. Aug. 21, 1862, 3 years, Co.
D, corp.; wd. at the Wilderness; m. o. June 26,

1865. Mangold, John II., e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3
years, Co. F; cap. at Winchester, June 15, 1863
cx. Nov. 16, 1863; appt. sergt. Feb. 1, 1865; 111.

o. June 26, 1865. Mason, Rufus, G., e. Apr. 12,

1863, 3 years, Co. A; 111.0. June 26, 1865. Mat-
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son, Jas. M., e. Aug. 21, 1862, 3 years; Co. F;

cap. at Winchester, June 15, 1863, m. o. June 26,

1865. Minner, Chas. C., e. Sept. 12, 1862, 3

years, Co. I; sergt.; \vd. at the Wilderness;

cap.; held 4 months; ex.; dis. at Danville, Va.,

May 13, 1865; disab. Mitchell, Simon, e. Aug.
22, 1862, 3 years, Co. F; wd. at Cold Harbor;
m. o. June 26, 1865. Mitchell, Wm. e. Aug. 20,

1862, 3 years, Co. A; wd. at Opequan, Va.,

Sept. 19, 1864; dis. at Baltimore, Dec. 4,

1865; disab. O’Hara, James, e. Aug. 22, 1862,

3 years, Co. I; corp.; cap. at Winchester, June
15, 1863; trans. to 96th co., 2d Bat., V. R. C.,

Feb. 11, 1864; m. o. Oct. 7, 1865; Painter,

Samuel, e. Aug. 13, 1862, 3 years, Co. K; wd.
at Spottsylvania, May 16, 1864; dis. Feb. 4,

1865; Peach, Joseph, capt., e. Aug. 16, 1862,3
years, Co. A; pro. maj. May 1, 1863. Perry,

Samuel J., e., Aug. 4, 1862, 3 years, Co. K; cap.

at Winchester, June 15, 1863; ex. July 24, 1863,

apptd. corp. Jan. 18, 1864; sergt. 10th; 1st

sergt. May 13, 1865; m. o. June 26, 1865. Pitts,

Samuel, e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; corp;

wd. at Winchester; in hos.; cap. at Cedar
Creek; prisoner in Libby, paroled; m. o. June
26, 1865. Pliley, Samuel, e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3
years, Co. F; cap. at Wilderness, May 6, 1864;

at last record was in Andersonville. Peach,
Richard J., e. Apr. 1, 1863, 3 years, Co. A; cap.

at Winchester, June 15, 1863; m. o. June 26,

1865. Pollock, Andrew }., e. corp. Aug. 22,

1862, 3 years, Co. F; dis. Feb. 6, 1865, for wds.
received at Cold Harbor, June 1, 1864. Power,
Benj. F., e. Aug. 16, 1862, 3 years, Co. C; apptd.
1st. sergt., pro. 1st lieut. June 6, 1864; cap. Dec.

7, 1864; m. o. June 26, 1865. Plympton, Jas.

W., c. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. I; cap. at

Wilderness, May 6, 1864; joined co. Dec. 14,

1864, after being held at Andersonville and
other prisons; in hos.; m. o., June 26, 1865.
Pyle, Wm, e. Aug. 14, 186-, 3 years, Co. G;
cap. at Winchester, June 15, 1863; trans. to V.
R. C., Apr. 25, 1864. Roll, Geo. e. Aug. 20,

1862,3 years, Co. A; apptd. corp., then sergt;

wd. at Petersburg; m. o. at Columbus, Ohio,
June 28, 1865. Romine, Jerome, e. Feb. 29,

1864, 3 years, Co. F; cap. at the Wilderness
May 6, 1864; in Andersonville; escaped; re-

taken, with loss of arm in Rebel hos.; dis. at

Columbus, Ohio,June 26, 1865; disab. Schramm,
John L., e. Sept. 30, 1862; 3 years, Co. F; m. o.

June 26, 1865. Sheppard, Wm. H.; e. Aug. 16,

1862, 3 years Co. K; corp.; apptd. sergt. May
13, 1865; m. o. June 26, 1865. Sims, Israel,

e.August 21, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; discharged;
at Washington, February 11, 1864; disability.

Sims, Israel W., e. Sept. 30, 1862, 3 years, Co.
P'; wd. at Mine Run Nov. 27, 1863; apptd. corp.

Oct. 4, 1864; m. o. June 26, 1865. Sims, Will-

iam H., e. Aug. 21, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; m. o.

at Washington June 20, 1865. Smith, Amos B.,

e. Aug. 19, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; dis. May 6,

1865, for wds. reed, at Cold Harbor June 3,

1864. Smith, John, e. Aug. 19, 1862, 3 years,

Co. A; m. o. June 26, 1865. Stults, Andrew P.,

e. Aug. 19, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; pro. q. m.
sergt. Oct., 1862; 2d lieut., then 1st lieut. and
regt. q. m. Dec. 24, 1864; pro. capt. 1865; m. o.

at Columbus June 26, 1865. Stutton, John C.,

e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. F; trans. to V. R.

C. Mar. 15, 1864; dis. Sept., 1864. Swope,
Franklin G., e. Aug. 21, 1862, 3 years, Co. A;
corp.; wd. at Cold Harbor June 3, 1864; trans.

to Co. I, 24th V. R. C., Mar. 8, 1865; m. o. at

Washington June 29, 1865. Taylor, Joseph M.
T., e. Aug. 21, 1862, 3 years, Co. F; wd. at Pe-

tersburg Mar. 25, 1865; m. o. at Washington
Aug. 10, 1865. Tracy, Benj. N., e. Aug. 19,

1862, 3 years, Co. F; trans. to V. R. C. Nov. 17,

1863; dis. Jan. 5, 1865. Trost, Joseph, e. Aug.
21, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; kid. at the Wilderness
May 6, 1864. Trost, Peter, e. Aug. 20, 1862, 3
years, Co. A; dis. at Winchester Mar. 24, 1863;

disab. Walters, George E., e. mus. Aug. 22,

1862, 3 years, Co. F; wd. at Winchester June
15, 1863; in hospital; det. on prov. guard duty;

m. o. June 26, 1865. Warner, Robert H., e.

Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. I; pro. sergt.; dis.

at Columbus, Ohio, Apr. 18, 1863; disab. Wat-
son, J. W., e. Coshocton county Aug. 22, 1862,

3 years, Co. D; corp.; dis. Apr. 18, 1863; disab.

Wheeler, Lysander, e. Aug. 21, 1862, 3 years,

Co. C; m. o. June 26, 1865. Wilber, Thomas
C., drummer, e. Sept. 15, 1862, 3 years, Co. K;
m. o. June 26, 1865. Wilds, William, e. Sept.

15, 1862, 3 years, Co. I; in hospital; m. o. June
26, 1865. Willey, Charles T., e. Oct. 7, 1862, 3

years, Co. A; trans. to Co. I Nov. 1, 1862; wd.
at Winchester June 15, 1863; apptd. corp.; wd.
at Wilderness; dis. June 12, 1865, for wds. reed,

at Petersburg Mar. 25, 1865. Williams, Jere-

miah, e. Aug. 22, 1862, 3 years, Co. A; m. o.

June 26, 1865. Wilson, John H., e. Aug. 22, 1862,

3 years, Co. F; m. o. June 26, 1865. Worthing,
Price, mus. e. Aug. 16, 1862, 3 years, Co. B;

died June 17, 1863, of wds. reed, at Winchester
Heights June 14, 1863. Worthing, Thomas, e.

Aug. 16, 1862, 3 years, Co. B; pro. corp.; died

in Andersonville Nov. 3, 1864. Wright, Charles
W., e. Aug. 30, 1862, 3 years, Co. K; wd. at the

Wilderness May 6, 1864; apptd. corp. Mar. 10,

1865; m. o. June 26, 1865. Young, Frederick,

e. P’eb. 29, 1864, 3 years, Co. A; m. o. June 26,

1865.

One Htindrcd and Twenty-sixth Regiment..

—

Burns, Thomas D., d. June 9, 1864, 3 years, Co.
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B.; m. o. June 25, 1865. Knapp, O. T., e. Aug.

15, 1862, 3 years, Co. B; m. o. at Washington
May 29, 1865. Lewis, Alex. M., e. May 16,

1864, 3 years, Co. I; cap. at Monocacy July 9,

1864; m. o. June 25, 1865. McVey, William, e.

Aug. 19, 1862, 3 years, Co. H; m. o. June 25,

1865. Miller, John W., e. Aug. 28, 1862, 3

years, Co. I; cap. at the Wilderness May 6,

1864; in Andersonville and other prisons 8

months; m. o. June 25, 1865. Pollock, Abra-
ham M., e. Aug. 14, 1862, 3 years, Co. II; killed

at Spottsylvania May 12, 1864.

One Hundred and Twenty-ninth Regiment.

—

McArthur, Allen D. S., e. July 14, 1863, 6

months; apptd. capt. Aug. 10, 1863; m. o. Aug.
10, 1864.

One Hundred and Thirty-third Regime)it.

—

Pickins, Amos J., e. May 2, 1864, 100 days, Co.

H; m. o. Aug. 20, 1864.

One Hundred and Thirty-fifth Regiment.

—

Dare, John H., e. May 8, 1864, Co. B; cap. July 3,

1864, at North Mountain, W. Va.; died in prison.

German, Jesse, e. May 2, 1864, Co. B; cap. at

North Mountain, W. Va., July 3, 1863; m. o. Mar.

25, 1864. Martin, Micajah, corp., e. May 2, 1864,

100 days, Co. B; cap. at North Mountain, July

3, 1864; died in Andersonville Mar. 17, 1865.

Roberts, Leroy F., e. May 2, 1864, 1 year, Co.

B; cap. at North Mountain, W. Va., July 3,

1864; died in prison at Florence, S. C. Tucker
William M., e. May 2, 1864, 100 days, Co. B.;

sergt.; cap. at North Mountain, W. Va., July 3,

1864; m. o. at Columbus Mar. 15, 1865.

One Hundred and Fortieth Regiment.—Lew-
ellyn, David, e. May 2, 1864, 100 days; m. o.

Sept. 3, 1864.

One Hundred and Forty-second Regiment.

—

Smith, Ransom, e. Coshocton county, May 2,

1864, 100 days; m. o. Sept. 2, 1864.

One Hundred and Forty-third Regiment.

—

Keys, Samuel, e. in Coshocton county, May 2,

1864, 100 days, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864.

Squires, Samuel, e. May 2, 1864, 100 days, Co.
G; m. o. Sept. 3, 1864.

One Hundred and Fiftieth Regiment.—Drake,
William S., e. May 2, 1864, 100 days, Co. D;
m. o. Aug. 23, 1864.

One Hundred and Fifty-first Regiment.—Os-
borne, Samuel, c. May 2, 1864, 100 days, Co.
A; m. o. Aug. 27, 1864.

One Hundred and Fifty-seventh Regiment.

—

Moore, Graham, e. May 2, 1864, 100 clays, Co.
G; m. o. Sept. 2, 1864. Scott, Thomas H., e.

May 2, 1864, 100 days, Co. F; m. o. Sept. 2,

1864.

One Hundred and Fifty-ninth Regiment.

—

Abell, Marcus, c. May 2, 1864, Co. B; m. o.

Aug. 24, 1864. Acheson, David, c. May 2,

1864, Co. E; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Acheson,
James, e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Acord, Michael, e. May 2, 1864, Co. E;
m. o. Aug. 22, 18^4. Albritton, Solomon, e.

May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. An-
derson, Eli, corp., e. May 2, 1864, Co. G; m. o.

Aug. 24, 1864. Anderson, Charles G., e. May
2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Ardrey,
James, e. May 2, 1814, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Arnold, Andrew, e. May 2, 1864, Co. D;
m. o. Aug. 22, 1864; in Oct. joined 62c! regt.,

Co. B, at Richmond; wd. at Ft. Gregg; sent to

hospital; wd. at Point of Rocks; dis. June 30,

1865. Arter, Charles, e. May 2, 1864, Co. E;
m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Ashcraft, Joseph, e. May
2, 1864, Co. Id; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Ashcraft,
Lewis, e. May 2, 1864, Co. Id; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Atchinson, A. W., e. May 2, 1864, Co. C;
m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Auxline, H. A., e. May 2,

1864, Co. K; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Baird, Jacob

J., e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864;
re-e. Feb. 23, 1865, Licking county, Co. A, 194th;

dis. at Columbus Oct. 24, 1865. Baldwin, Aus-
tin, e. May 2, 1864, Co. F; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864;
re-e. in navy service gunboat Brilliant; in hos-
pital; trans. to hospital service; dis. at Cairo
Aug. 31, 1865. Barnett, John N., e, May 2,

1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Bash, Jacob,
2d lieut., e. May 2, 1864, Co. K; m. o. Aug.
22, 1864. Baughman, James F., e. May 2, 1864,

Co. B; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Baughman, Sylves-
ter, e. May 2, 1864, Co. K; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Baughman, G. W., e. May 2, 1864, Co. B; m. o.

Aug. 24, 1864. Baughman, S. R., e. May 2,

1864, Co. K; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Beem, John
W., e. May 2, 1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864;
re-e: Co. G, 196th; served until war closed.

Beem, William H.,e. May 2, 1864, Co. G; m. o.

Aug. 24, 1864; Bell, Jonathan H., e.May 2, 1864,

Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Bell, Samuel M.,

e. May 2, 1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864.

Bennett, J. B., e. May 2, 1864, Co. Id; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Blackstone, William, e. May 2,

1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Booz, John,
e. May 2, 1864, Co. B; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864.

Border, Charles, e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Bowers, John, e. May 2, 1864,

Co. D; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864; re-e. navy gun-
boat service; dis. at Cairo Aug., 1865; this

soldier was in the Mexican war. Brook-
over, Charles M., e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Brookover, D. J., e. May 2,

1864, Co. E; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Brookover,
Newton H., e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Aug.
22, 1864. Brookover, M. C., c. May 2, 1864,

Co. E; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Brookover, W. M.,

e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Brown, George W., e. May 2, 1864, Co. K; m.
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0. Aug. 22, 1864. Burton, Willard, e. May 2,

1864, Co. F; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Campbell,
David, c. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Cary, Richard I’., e. May 2, 1864, Co. G;
m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Cashbaugh, Peter, e. May
2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Chambers,
Robert E., c. May 2, 1864; com. surg. Chap-
man, J. \V., e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; then in Co.

1, 195th. Clapper, William, e. May 2, 1864, Co.

K; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Clisher, George, e.

May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Cock-
rell, Samuel, e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Aug.
22, 1864. Combs, Henry, e. May 2, 1864, Co.
K; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Conn, John, e. May 2,

1864, Co. D; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864; trans. to

195th. Corbin, Harry W., e. May, 1864, Co. E;
m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Cox, Abraham, e. May,
1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Cox, J. W.,
c. May, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Cox,
Samuel, e. May, 1864, Co. H; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Crabtree, Julius, e. May, 1864, Co. D; m.
o. Aug. 22, 1864. Crabtree, William J., e. May,
1864, Co. D; m, o. Aug. 22, 1864. Craig, Na-
than, e. May, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Crawford, William G., e. May, 1864, Co. C; m.
o. Aug. 22, 1864. Curtis, John H., e. May, 1864,

Co. B; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Curtis, William Jr.,

e. May, 1864, Co. B; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Cu-
sac, A. C., e. May, 1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24,

1864. Dailey, Samuel IT, e. May, 1864, Co. B;
m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Davis, Spencer, e. May,
1864, Co. C; at home sick Aug. 17, 1864. Dun-
stine, John A., e. May, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Aug.
22, 1864. Dowell, E. J., e. May, 1864, Co. D;
m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Dowell, T. J., e. May,
1864, Co. E; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Dunlap, W.
IT, e. May, 1864, Co. H; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.
Dutro, C. W., e. May, 1864, Co. F; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Eckert, Michael, e. May,
1864, Co. H; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Elliot,

U. S., e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug.
22, 1864. Ervin, John, e. May 2, 1864, Co. B;
m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Evans, Jas. W., e. May 2,

1864, Co. H; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Fairhall,

Harvey D., e. May 2, 1864, Co. H; m. o. Aug.
22, 1864. Fairhall, Horace, e. May 2, 1864, Co,
FI; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Fairhall, W. W., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. H; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864; Fisher.

John G., corp. e. May 2, 1864, Co. B; m. o.

Aug. 24, 1864. Flowers, Geo. W., e., May 2,

1864, Co. F; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Ford, Wm.
D., e. May 2, 1864, Co. F; m. o. Aug, 22, 1864,
Forsyth, D. P., e. May 2, 1864; Co. C. m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864; Forsyth, John W., e. May 2,

1864, Co. C. m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. P'orsyth,
Noah, lieut., e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug.
22, 1864. Fox, Clias. H., capt., e. May 2, 1864.
Co. E; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864; 3 months’ serv.

15th, Co. A; sergt. Frame, Chalkley, corp., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. A; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Franks, J. C., e. May 2, 1864, Co. H; m. o. Aug.
22, 1864. Frazier, J. W., e. May 2, 1864, Co. H;
m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Frazier, Wm. IT, e. May
2, 1864, Co. H; m.o. Aug. 22, 1864. Galligher,

Clias. IT, e. May 2, 1864, Co. FI; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Galligher, Jacob, e. May 2, 1864, Co. B;

m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Galligher, Richard FI., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. E; 111. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Gei-

ger, E. W., corp. e. May 2, 1864, Co. F; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. George, John, sergt., e. May 2,

1864, Co. G; m.o. Aug. 24, 1864. George, Jos.

e. May 2, 1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864; died
Oct. 4, 1864. George, John, e. May 2, 1864, Co.
H; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. George, Wm., e. May
2, 1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Gitter,

Henry, e. May 2, 1864, Co. A; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Given, D. S., e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m.
o. Aug. 22, 1864: Given, Jas. D., e. May 2, 1864,

Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Goff, Thos., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. H; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Grubb, Decatur, e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m.o.
Aug. 22, 1864. Guthrie, Robt., e. May 2, 1864,

Co. H; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Hohn, Wm., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. A; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Haines, Henry, e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Harkins, Robt. J. J., corp., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. A; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Harmon, J. T., e. May 2, 1864, Co. G; m. o.

Aug. 24, 1864. Harper, Samuel L., e. May 2,

1864; Co. K; m. o.Aug. 22, 1864; in 1862 3 months
in 15th. Harper, Wm. S., e. May 2, 1864, Co.
K; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Hatfield, Jos. M., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Holden, W. IT, apptd. surg., e. May 2, 1864, Co.
—

;
m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Ilolderith, Chris., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864; Hor-
ner, John, e. May 2, 1864, Co. H; m. o. Aug.
22, 1864. Humphrey, Abner, e. May 2, 1864,

Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Hunter, Jas., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. John-
son, Henry C., e. May 2, 1864, Co. G; m. o.

Aug. 24, 1864. Johnson, Watson A., e. May 2,

1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Johnson,
Geo. W., e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 24,

1864. Jones, Robt. G., e. May 2, 1864, Co. G;
m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Jones, Samuel T., e. May
2, 1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Keener,
Peter, e. May 2, 1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24,

1864. Kerker, Adam A., e. May 2, 1864, Co. F;

m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Kildow, James, e. May 2,

1864, Co. K; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Kimberly,
S. F., e. May 2, 1864, Co. F; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864; Korte, IT L., e. May 2, 1864, Co. F; m.
o. Aug. 22, 1864. Launder, Jas., e. May 2,

1864, Co. B; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Ledman, W.
H., e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.
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Lee, Geo. C., e. May 2, 1864, Co. A; m. o. Aug.
22, 1864. Lee, Jesse N., e. May 2, 1864, Co. D;
m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Lee, Levi, e. May 2, 1864,

Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Lenhart, Jas. H.,

e. May 2, 1864, Co. F; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Leslie, Robt. capt., e. May 2, 1864, Co. F; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Lewis, James, e. May 2, 1864,

Company E; mustered out August 22, 1864.

Little, Elijah, e. May 2, 1864, Co. H; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Eangshore, Perry, e. May 2,

1864, Co. B; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Ludman,
Henry, e. May 2, 1864; Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Lumb, Win. J., e. May 2, 1864, Co. B; m.
o. Aug. 24, 1864. Lyons, John, e. May 2, 1864,

Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. McCutcheon,
Chas. W., e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. McCutcheon, James, e. May 2, 1864, Co.
C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. McFarland, Jas. A.,

corp. e. May 2, 1864, Co. B; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864,

cap. at Monocacy; escaped, re-e. Feb. 13, 1865,

196th, Co. G, 1 year; m. o. Sept. 11, 1865. Mc-
Gee, John, e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug.
22, 1864. McGee, WAV., e. May2, 1864, m. o.Aug.

22, 1864. McKinney J. W., e. May 2, 1864, Co.
K; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. McNaught, Samuel,
e. May 2, 1864, Co. H; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

McQuigg, Robt., e. May 2, 1864, Co. H; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Mawhorter, Geo., e. May 2,

1864, Co. E; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Melone, John,
e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Mendenhall, R. F., e. May 2, 1864; Co. II; m.
o. Aug. 22, 1864. Menefee, Geo. P., e. May 2,

1864, Co. H; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Miles, Chas.
FI., corp., e. May 2, 1864. Co. F'

;
m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Mikel, Geo., e. May 2, 1864, Co. F; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Miller, John, e. May 2, 1864,

Co. K; m. o. Aug. 22 1864. Miller, John Jr.,

e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Millfelt, J. M., e. May 2, 1864, Co. FI; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Mitchell, David E., e. May 2,

1864, Co. A; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Mohler Geo.
W., e. May 2, 1864, Co. F; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Moore, Ai, e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Moore, E. IT, e. May 2,

1864, Co. D; mustered out August 22, 1864.

Moore, F. IT, e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o.Aug.
22, 1864. Moore, Geo., e. May 2, 1864, Co. K;
m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Moore, James, e. May 2,

1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Moorehcad,
A. P., e. May 2, 1864, Co. C.; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Moorehcad, Hugh F., corp., e. May2, 1864,

Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Myers, Joseph, e.

May 2, 1864, Co. I); in. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Neff,

A. J., e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Neff, Scphcn, A., c. May 2, 1864, Co. E;
m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Ncvitt, Wm. II., c. May 2,

1864, Co. F'; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Newman, T. J.

e. May 2, 1864, Co, D; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Newman, Win., 2d lieut., e. May 2, 1864, Co. D;
m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Norris, Wm. A., e May 2,

1864, Co. H; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Osborn,
Alvin, e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Osmond, Richard, e. May 2, 1864, Co. A;
m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Pace, David, e. May 2,

1S64, Co. K; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Pace, Luther
C., corp. e. May 2, 1864, Co. K; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Pake, Perry W., e. May 2, 1864, Co. D;
in. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Peters, Henry, e. May 2,

1864, Co. A; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Pierce, An-
drew, e. May 2, 1864, Co. A; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Pletcher, Henry, e. May 2, 1864, Co. K;
m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Pliley, Benj. W., e. May
2, 1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Potwin,
Chas. W, e. May 2, 1864, Co. A; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Poland, Wm. W., e May 2, 1864,

Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Price,

Robt., 2d lieut., e. May 2, 1864, Co. P'; m.
o. Aug. 22, 1864. Ralph, Geo. W., e. May 2,

1864, Co. B; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Rambo, Ja-
cob, e. May 2, 1864, Co. K; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Rambo, James, e. May 2, 1864, Co. G;
m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Rambo, John, e. May 2,

1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Ramsey,
Sanford W., e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Aug.
22, 1864; Ray, Elijah, corp., e May 2, 1864, Co.
D; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Richey, IC E., e. May
2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Richey,
Glenn, e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Richey, John E, e. May 2, 1864, Co. C;
in. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Richey, John II, sergt., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Rider, Chas., corp., e. May 2, 1864, Co. K; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Rider, Edward, e. May 2, 1864,

Co. K, m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Rhodes, Henry S.,

e. May 2, 1864, Co. F; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Robinson, B. I
7

., e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Robinson, Jacob M., e. May 2,

1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Romine, Ja-
cob, e. May 2, 1864, Co. G; nr. o. Aug. 24, 1864.

Ruckle, J. E.
,
corp., e May 2, 1864, Co. H; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864; d. Sept. 28, 1864, 1 year, 55th,

Co. C; in. o. June 9, 1865. Sayle, S. A., e. May
2, 1864, Co. K; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Saup, R. M.,

e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Sel-

lers, Isaac, e. May 2, 1864, Co. G; in. o. Aug. 24.

1864; Selsam, Geo., e. May 2, 1864, Co. B; m,
o. Aug. 24, 1864. Shackctt, J. D., e. May 2,

1864, Co. H; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Shackctt, L.

1 )., e. May 2, 1864, Co. H; in. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Sliick, Samuel, e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; in. o,

Aug. 24, 1864. Shirer, James, M., e. May 2.

1864, Co. A; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Shirer, W. S.,

e. May 2, 1864, Co. A; 111.0. Aug. 22,1864. Smith,
Alex C., e. May 2, 1864, Co. A; 111. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Smith, Joseph T., sergt.,

e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864.
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Sniff, H. C., corp., e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o.

Aug. 22, 1864. Somers, Christ, e. May 2, 1864,

Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Stanbery, Geo. A.,

corp., e. May 2, 1864, Co. F; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. Stewart, Thos., 2d lieut., e. May 2, 1864,

Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Stockdale, Philip,

corp., e. May 2, 1864, Co. B; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864.

Story, Gilbert L., sergt. e. May 2, 1864, Co. E;

m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Story, Ralph G., e. May
2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Swingle, I.

C., e. May 2, 1864, Co. K; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

Tanner, John, e. May2, 1864, Co. A; m.o. Aug. 22,

1864. Thompson, Wm., e. May 2, 1864, Co. G;
m.o. Aug. 24, 1864. Train, A. W., adjt., e. May 2,

1864, Co. —
;
m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Urban, Chas.,

e. May 2, 1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864.

Varner, Lloyd, corp. e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m.
o. Aug. 22, 1864. Varner, M. L., e. May 2,

1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Vernon,
Avon, e. May 2, 1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24,

1864. Waddle, Thos., e. May 2, 1864, Co. D;
m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Walker, Robt., e. May
2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Wallwork,
David M., e. May 2, 1864, Co. G; m. o. Aug. 24,

1864. Weaver, Geo. B., Capt., e. May 2, 1864,

Co. K; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Webster, Thos. H.,

e. May 2, 1864, Co. B; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864.

White, Thomas, e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug.
22,1864. Wiles, Sami. L., lieut. e. May 2, 1864, Co.
B; m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Wilkinson, David, e.

May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864. Wil-
ley, R. S., e. May 2, 1864, Co. F; m. o. Aug. 22,

1864. VVymer, Daniel, e. May 2, 1864, Co. B;
m. o. Aug. 24, 1864. Young, Adam, e. May 2,

1864, Co. C; m. o. Aug. 22, 1864.

One Hundred and sixtieth Regiment—Aler, C.
F., e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864.

Aler. Chris. T., e.May,2, 1864, Co. E; m. o.Sept.

7, 1864. Armstrong,Wm ,e. May 2, 1864, Co. E;
m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Bagent, Wm., e. May 2, 1864.

Co. E; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Bailey, Wm., e,

May, 2, 1864, Co. G; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Baker,
S. G., e. May 2, 1864, Co. H

;
m. o. Sept, 7, 1864.

Betz, Casten, e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o. Sept.

7, 1864, Burton, D. N., e. May 2, 1864, Co. C;
m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Carnes, Andrew, e. May 2,

1864, Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864, Chandler,
W. J., e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864.
Cline, Wm. H., e. May 2, 1864, Co. K; m. o.

Sept. 7, 1864. Coleman, John L., e. May 2,

1864, Co. G; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Cone, Barton,
e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864.

Coverdale, John G.,e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o.

Sept. 7, 1864. Crane, Jacob IT, e. May 2, 1864,
Co. E; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864, Davis, Benj. F. e.

May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o Sept. 7, 1864. Davis,
Geo. E., e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o. Sept. 7,

1864. Davis, John, e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m.

o. Sept. 7, 1864. Dunlap, Jas. R., e. May 2, 1864,

Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Dutro, Francis M.,

e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864.

Echilberg, Jos., e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o.

Sept. 7, 1864. Edwards, Wm., e. May 2, 1864,

Co. E; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Finley, Andrew, e.

May 2, 1864, Co. I; m.o. Sept. 7, 1864. Finley,

Henry S., capt., e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o.

Sept. 7, 1864; wd. at Maryland Heights, July

7, 1864; in hos. Sandy Hook, Frederick City

and Annapolis. Fitz, John, corp., e. May 2,

1864, Co. E;m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Forsyth, Wm.,
e. May 2, 1864, Co. C., m. o. Sept. 7, 1864.

Frame, Elijah)., e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o.

Sept. 7, 1864. Gander, Thos. C., e. May 2,

1864, Co. I; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Gaumer,
Henry, e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Sept. 7,

1864. Garritt, Andrew, e. May 2, 1864, Co. E;
died at Maryland Heights, Aug. 19, 1864. Gar-
ret, Jonas, e. May 2, 1864, Co. A; m. o. Sept. 7,

1864. Gay, John C., e. May 2, 1864, Co. A; m.
o. Sept. 7, 1864, in Co. G 88th, 1862. Geyer,
David G., e. May 2, 1864, Co. D.; m. o. Sept. 7,

1864; in hos. Geyer, Sami. J., e. May 2, 1864,

Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7,1864. Gillogy, Henry IT,

e. May 2, 1864, Co. I ; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Hall,

Caleb H., e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o. Sept. 7,

1864. Hammond, Wm., corp., e. May 2, 1864,

Co. D; m. Sept. 7, 1864. Hammond, Wm., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Ham-
mond, John, e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Sept.

7, 1864. Hanks, Jacob H., e. May 2, 1864. Co.

E; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Harlan, I. H., corp.,

e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864.

Henderson, Albert, e. May 2, 1862, Co. G; in.

o. Sept. 7, 1864: Holstein, Frederick, e. May
2, 1864, Co. —

;
m. o. Sept. 7, 1864; hos. stew-

ard. Honald, Geo. E., e. May 2, 1864, Co. E;
m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Howell, Jonathan, e. May
2, 1864, Co. —

;
m. o. Sept. 24, 1864. Jackson,

Geo. B., e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Sept. 7,

1864. Jackson, John G., e. May 2, 1864, Co. D,
m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Jamieson, Robt., e. May 2,

1864, Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Kinney,
David F., e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Sept 7.

1864. Krier, Peter, e. May 2, 1864, Co. G; m.
o. Sept. 7, 1864. Lee, Joseph, e. May 2, 1864,

Co. I; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. LePage, Thos., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. I
;
m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. McCall,

Andrew, e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7,

1864. McDonald, N. A., e. May 2, 1864, Co. D;
m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. McLain, L. H., e. May 2,

1864 Co. H; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. McLaren
Chas., e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864.

McLees, Josiah, e. May 2,1864, Co. I
;
died July

20, 1864, at Frederick, Md., of wnds. reed at

Maryland Heights. McLees, Thos., e. May 2,

1864, Co. I; m, o. Sept. 7, 1864. McMichael, A.
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L., e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7. 1864.

Martin, John W., e. May 2, 1864, Co. A; m. o.

Sept. 7, 1864. Messner, Carl, e. May 2, 1864,

Co. C; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Miller, Wm., c.

May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Mil-

ler, Wm. 'A., e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o. Sept,

7, 1864. Moore, Peter, e. May 2, 1864, Co. G;
m. o. Sept 7, 1864. Moore, Wm., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864.

Morrison, S. C., e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o.

Sept. 7, 1864. Orendorf, J. T., e. May 2, 1864,

Co. E; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Osborn, Hamilton,
e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Os-
born, Joseph, e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o. Sept.

7, 1864. Osborn, Samuel, e. May 2, 1864, Co. I;

m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Osier, James, e. May 2,

1864, Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Proudf’t, Da-
vid L,, e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7,

1864. Proudf’t, John B., e. May 2, 1864, Co. A;
m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Pyle, Ebenezer, e. May 2,

1864, Co. B; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864; wd. at Mary-
land Heights. Rankin, Oliver, e. May 2, 1864,

Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Ross, D. W., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Ross,

John B., e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Sept. 7,

1864. Sanbaugh, John ()., e. May 2, 1864, Co.
E; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864; re-e. Feb. 15, 1865, 1

year, 191st, Co. D; m. o. Aug. 27, 1865. Scott,

Robert H., e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7,

1864. Simpson, Jacob, e. May 2, 1864, Co. D;
m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Smith, A. B., e. May 2,

1864, Co. H; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Smith, Charles
W., e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; died at Frederick,
Maryland, July 16, 1864; interred in Zanes-
ville, Ohio. Smith, J. E., e. May 2, 1864, Co.
I; m. o. September 7, 1864. Smith, J. R. H,,

e. May 2, 1864, Co. C; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864;
re-e. Mar. 2, 1865, 1 year, 36th, Co. A.; dis. June
22, 1865. Smith, N. K., e. May 2, 1864, Co. I;

m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Smitley, Horace, e. May 2,

1864, Co. I; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Snoots, J. A.,

mus., e. May 2, 1864, Co. —
;
m. o. Sept. 7, 1864.

Speer, Stewart, e. May 2, 1864, Co. I
;
m. o. Sept.

7, 1864. Spicer, Washington, e. May 2, 1864,

Co. E; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Sturtz, Jacob L., e.

May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864; re-e.

P'eb. 15, 1865, 1 year, Co. D; m. o. Aug. 27,

1865. Sturtz, Solomon D., e. May 2, 1864, Co.
PI; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Stutton, Jesse, e, May
2, 1864, Co. G; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864; re-e. Sept.

28, 1864, 1 year, Co. C; m. o. May 30, 1865.

Sutton, Samuel W., corp., e. May 2, 1864, Co.
PI; m. o. Sept. 7, 1865. Taylor, Clinton, c. May
2, 1864, Co. PI; m. o. Sept. 7, 1865. Taylor, Ju-
lius, c. May 2, 1864, Co. II; m. o. Sept. 7, 1865.

Taylor, William II., e. May 2, 1864, Co. II; m.
o. Sept. 7, 1865. Thomas, George, e. May 2,

1864, Co. E; m. o. Sept. 7, 1865. Trace, Daniel

T., e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7, 1865.
Trace, M. R., capt., e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m.
o. Sept. 7, 1865. Tracy, James, e. May 2, 1864,

Co. G; m. o. Sept. 7, 1865. Trimble, John,
corp., e. May 2, 1864, Co. I; m. o. Sept. 7, 1865.

Trittipo, O. M,, e. May 2, 1864, Co. E; m. o.

Sept. 7, 1865. Wagner, Jacob, e. May 2, 1864,

Co. E; m. o. Sept. 7, 1865. Wallace, Robert, e.

May 2, 1864, Co. H; m. o. Sept. 7, 1865. Wat-
ers, Jerome, e. May 2, 1864, Co. D; m. o. Sept.

7, 1865. White, Isaiah M., e. May 2, 1864, 100
days, Co. I; died at Frederick City, Md., July,
1864. Wilson, T. H., e. May 2, 1864, 100 days,
Co. D; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864. Woodburn, J. A., e.

May 2, 1864, 100 days, Co. I; m. o. Sept. 7,

1864. Zimmer, John V., e. May 2, 1864, 100
days, Co. E; m. o. Sept. 7, 1864.

One Hundred and Sixty-first Regiment.

—

Lewis, James, 1st lieut., e. May 2, 1864, 100

days, Co. G; lost left eye at Martinsburg, Va.,

by accident, May 30, 1864; m. o. Sept. 2, 1864.

Matson, George M., e. in Morgan county May
2, 1864, 100 days, Co. G; com. 2d lieut.; m. o.

at Camp Chase Sept. 2, 1864.

One Hundred and Sixty-second Regiment.

—

Crowl, Theo., e. May 2, 1864, 100 days, Co. C;
furloughed to accept recruiting com.; pro. 2d
lieut. Co. I, 178th; m. o. June 29, 1865.

One Hundred and Seventieth Regiment.—Me-
hollin, Geo., e. May 2, 1864, 100 days, Co. E;
m. o. Sept. 10, 1864.

One Hundred and Seventy-second Regiment.

—

Barrett, James M., e. Apr. 27, 1864, 100 days,

Co. F; m. o. Sept. 3, 1864, re-e. P’eb. 10, 1865,

I year, Co. B; wd. by accident; in hos.; m. o.

Sept. 26, 1865. Bell, Thos., e. Apr. 27, 1864,

100 days, Co. F; m. o. Sept. 3, 1864, re-e. Sept.

23, 1864, 1 year, Co. A; m. o. July 11, 1865,

Bishard, Thos. T., e. Apr. 27, 1864; 100 days,

Co. A; m. o. Sept. 3, 1864. Cockins, A. L., e.

in Guernsey Co. Apr. 27, 1864, 100 days, Co. C;
in. o. Sept. 3, 1864. Conkle, Henry, e. in Guern-
sey Co. Apr. 27, 1864, 100 days, Co. C; m. o.

Sept. 3, 1864. Miller, Win. T. e. Apr. 27, 1864.

100 days, Co. H;m. o. Sept. 3, 1864. Minter,
Thos. H., corp., e. Apr. 27, 1864, 100 days, Co.
IP; in. o. Sept. 3, 1864. Wilson, Hamberry,
e. Apr. 27, 1864, 100 days, Co. H; in. o. Sept.

3, 1864.

One Hundred send Seventy-fifth Regiment.
Huffman, M. O., e. Aug. 29, 1864, 1 year, Co.
K; in. o. June 27, 1865.

One Hundred and Seventy-eighth Regiment.

—

Anders, Chas., e. Aug. 31, 1864, 1 year, Co. A;
in. o. June 29, 1865. Anders, James PI., e Aug.
31, 1864, 1 year, Co. A; m. o. June 29, 1865.

Compton, Frank, c. Aug. 29, 1864, 1 year, Co.
P'; m. o.June 29, 1865. Craig. Clias. H.,e. Sept.
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16, 1864, 1 year, Co. F; trans. to Co. E. 181st,

June 15, 1865; m. o. July 14, 1865. De Yar-

mett, Porter L., e. Sept. 12, 1864, 1 year, Co. F;

m. o. June 29, 1865. Three mos. service in the

15th. Gilliam, Lyman, c. Aug. 23, 1864, 1 year.

Co. F; m. o. June 29, 1865. Gille, Christian, e

Sept. 27, 1864, 1 year, Co. F; m. o. June 29, 1864;

in 1861 served in 21st, Co. B. Harrop, Stephen,
e. Aug. 23, 1864, 1 year, m. o. June 29, 1865.

Lawrence, Joseph P., corp.; e. Aug. 11, 1864, 1

year, Co. F; died at Murfreesboro, Jan 7, 1S65,

McBride, VVm., mus., e. Sept. 8, 1864, Co. F; m.
o. June 29, 1865. McCall, Moses A., e. Sept 13,

1864, 1 year, Co. F; m. o. June 29, 1865. Mc-
Neal, James, e. Sept. 24, 1864, 1 year, Co. A;m.
o. June 29, 1865. Mohler, John VV. e. Sept. 19,

1864, 1 year, Co. F; m. o. June 29, 1865. Price,

Wm. L., e. Sept. 15, 1864, 1 year, Co. F; m. o.

June 25, 1865; previous service in Pa. cav.

Seright, James G., e. Aug 27, 1864, 1 year, Co.

F; m. o. at Beaufort, N. C., June 19, 1865.

Smith, David, e. Sept. 14, 1864, 1 year, Co. F.

m. o. June, 29, 1865. Snyder, Gilbert, e. Aug.
23, 1864, 1 year, Co. F; m. o. June 29, 1865.

Sprague, Andrew, e. Sept. 13, 1864, 1 year, Co.
F; m. o. at Columbus, O., June 19, 1865. Up-
hold, Wm., e. Sept. 3, 1864, 1 year, Co. A; m. o.

June 29, 1865. Wilson, Edward, e. Sept. 13,

1864, 1 year, Co. F; m. o. at Columbus, O.,

May 25, 1865. Wilson, Thos. D., e. Sept. 22,

1864, 1 year, Co. L; m. o. June 29, 1865. Wires,
John, e. Aug. 11, 1864, 1 year, Co. F; m o.

June 29, 1865. Young, Henry, e. Sept. 15, 1864,

1 year, Co. F; m. o. June 29, 1865. Mohler,
Wellington, e. Sept. 26, 1864, i year, Co. E; m.
o. July 7, 1865.

One Hundred and Eighty-fifth Regiment.—Du-
Dugan, Andrew e. Jan. 23,1865, 1 year, Co H., m.
0. Sept. 26, 1865; re-e. Mar. 1, 1867, Co. C, 19th

U. S. I.; sergt.; dis. at Little Rock, Ark., Mar.
1, 1870, Ferbrache, Daniel, e. Feb. 28, 1865,

1 year, Co. B; m. o. Sept. 26, 1865. Ralph,
Geo. W., e. Feb. 13, 1865, 1 year, Co. H; m. o.

Sept. 26, 1865. Smith, Benj., e. Feb. 5, 1865, 1

year, Co. H; m. o. Sept. 26, 1865.

One HundredandNinety-first Regiment.- Bani-
field, Aurelius, e. Feb. 22, 1865, 1 year, Co. E;
in hospital; m. o. at Winchester Aug. 27, 1865.

Curtis, William, e. Licking county, Leb. 24,

1864, 1 year, Co. E; m. o. Aug. 27, 1865. Dit-

ton, James R., e. Feb. 20, 1865, 1 year; m. o.

Aug. 27, 1865. Montgomery, Alex., e. P'eb. 24,

1865, 1 year, Co. L; m. o. Aug. 27, 1865. Pan-
sier, William, e. Feb., 1865, Co. E; m. o. Aug.
27, 1865. Sturtz, Adam C., corp., e. P'eb. 15,

1865, 1 year, Co. D; m. o. Aug. 27, 1865. Wol-
lard, J. W.,e. Feb. 20, 1865, 1 year, Co. E; m. o.

Aug. 27, 1865.

One Hundred and Ninety-second Regiment.

—

Brown, Adam, e. Feb. 24, 1865, 1 year, Co. H;
m. o. Sept. 1, 1865. Carlow, Charles B., e. Feb.

15, 1865, 1 year, Co. H; m. o. Sept. 1, 1865.

Moore, F. IT, e. Feb. 15, 1865, 1 year, Co. H;
m. o. Sept. 1, 1865. Morgan, William D., e.

Feb. 24, 1865, 1 year, Co. H; m. o. Sept. 1, 1865.

Parker, Dallas B., e. Jan. 28, 1865, 1 year, Co. H;
m. o. Sept. 1, 1865. Ratliff, William IT, mus., e.

Feb. 4, 1865, 1 year, Co. H; m. o. Sept. 1, 1865.

Shiplett, George C., e. Feb. 15, 1865, 1 year, Co.
H; m. o. Sept. 1, 1865. Waxier, John, corp., e.

e. Feb. 18, 1865, 1
year, Co. H ; m. o. Sept. 1 , 1865.

One Hundred and Ninety-fourth Regiment.—
Stewart, Cornelius, e. Mar. 3, 1865, 1 year, Co.
A; m. o. Oct. 24, 1865.

One Hundred and Ninety-fifth Regiment.

—

Adams, John L., e. Feb. 15, 1865, 1 year, Co. I;

m. o. Dec. 18, 1865. Adams, Morris S., sergt.,

e. Feb. 28, 1865, 1 year, Co. E; m. o. Dec. 18,

1865. Ballinger, James IT, e. Feb. 25, 1865, 1

year, Co. E; m. o. Dec. 18, 1865. Buker, Will-

iam R., e. Feb. 2, 1865, 1 year, Co. I; m. o. Dec.
18, 1865. Dowrell, T. J.,e. Feb. 21, 1865, 1 year,

Co. E; m. o. Dec. 18, 1865. Dunmead, Thomas,
e. Mar. 6, 1865, 1 year, Co. K; m. o. Dec. 18,

1865. Dunn, Robert, e. Feb. 11, 1865, 1 year,

Co. E; m. o. July 21, 1865. Goshen, John W.,
e. Eeb. 14, 1865, 1 year, Co. I; pro. 2d lieut.

Mar. 18, 1865; served 1862-64 in Co. A, 78th

O. V. I.; m. o. Dec. 18, 1865. Hetzel, George,
e. Feb. 9, 1865, 1 year, Co. E; m. o. Dec. 18,

1865. Menefee, Charles, e. Mar. 2, 1865, 1 year,

Co. E; m. o. Dec. 18, 1865. Mikel, William,
e. Mar. 6, 1865, 1 year, Co. E; m. o. Dec. 18,

1865. Norman, Joseph, e. Mar. 6, 1865, 1 year,

Co. E; apptd. 1st sergt. Mar. 17, 1865; 2d lieut.

Nov. 4, 1865; m. o. Dec. 18, 1865. Richey, John
H., e. Feb. 25, 1865, 1 year, Co. E; m. o. Dec.
18, 1865. Spring, William IT., e. Licking county,
Mar. 8, 1865, 1 year, Co. K; m. o. Dec. 18, 1865.

Williams, Curtis, e. Feb. 13, 1865, 1 year, Co. E;
m. o. Dec. 18, 1865.

One Hundred and Ninety-sixth Regiment.

—

Crook, Lorenzo D., e. Feb. 13, 1865, 1 year, Co.
G; m. o. Sept. 11, 1865. Hays, Gilbert, e. Feb.

13, 1865, 1 year, Co. G; m. o. Sept. 11, 1865.

Huffmann, Jacob, e. Feb. 13, 1865, 1 year, Co.
G; m. o. Sept. 11, 1865. Thompson, William,
e. Feb. 13, 1865, 1 year, Co. G; m. o. Sept. 11,

1865. Vensel, George W., e, Feb. 28, 1865, 1

year, Co. F; m. o. Sept. 11, 1865. Woodward,
D. C., e. Feb. 11, 1865, 1 year, Co. G; m. o.

Sept. 1 1, 1865.

One Hundred and Ninety-seventh Regiment.
Smith, W. T., e. Feb. 10, 1865, 1 year, Co. G;
m. o. July 31, 1865.

One Hundred and Ninety-eighth Regimod.

—
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Bowers, M. V., e. Mar. 6, 1865, Co. B; m. o.

May 8, 1865. Culbertson, M., e. February 28,

1865, Co. B; m. o. May 8, 1865. Dunn, John, e.

Apr. 4, 1865, Co. D; m. o. May 8, 1865. Hit-

tie, Frederick, e. Feb. 28, 1865, 1 year, Co. B;
m. o. May 8, 1865. Lyda, Jacob, e. Feb. 14,

1865, 1 year, Co. B; m. o. May 8, 1865. Phelps,

Dallas T., e. Apr. 7, 1 86 5 , 1 year, Co. G; m. o.

May 8, 1865. Shaffer, John J., e. Apr. 5, 1865,

1 year, Co. G; m. o. May 8, 1865. Vertner,
Elias, e. Apr. 7, 1865, 1 year, Co. B; m. o. May
8, 1865.

Miscellaneous Service.—Auxline, G. F., e.

Sept. 15, 1862, 9th O. V. Cav., Co. A; died Oct.

21, 1864. Auxline, James, e. Sept. 15, 1862, 9th
O. V. Cav., Co. A; died at Camp Dennison Oct.

21, 1864. Baird, Henry C., e. 1862, Union L.

G. Cav.; dis. 1865. Barnhouse, George, e. 1864,

from Tuscarawas county, Co. E, 47th O. V. V.
I; served until 1865. Brock, Jacob, e. Oct.,

1862, 9th O. V. Cav., Co. C; served 3 years.

Best, G. B., e. Apr., 1863, Ind. I. Co., 4 months;
trans. to gun-boat “Brilliant;” had fever. Barn-
house, Moses, e. in Noble county June 14, 1863,
Bat. 1, O. V. H. A.; in hospital; det. in mule
train; injured; dis. at Camp Dennison Aug. 2,

1865. Burley, William P., service 1862-65, 9th
O. V. C.; pro. com. sergt. Burton, Lyman, e.

Newark Jan. 12, 1864, Co. A; in several hos-
pitals; dis. disab., heart disease. Butler, John,
service, 9th O. V. C., Co. C; trans. noth V. R.

C.; dis. 1865. Callagan, William H., e. Oct.,

1862, 9th O. V. C., Co. A, 3 years’ service.

Chapman, Thomas, e. Aug. 28, 1862, Co. A,
9th Ohio Volunteer Cav.; m. o. July 20, 1865.
Colvin, Jas., e. Sept., 1862,9th O. V. C.; dis. July,
1865. Crammer, Wm. e Licking Co., Feb. 27,

1864, Co. G., O., V. V. I.; in hos; wd. near
Marietta, Ga.; m. o. Louisville, July 20, 1865.
Crouse, Sami. W., e. July 15, 1862, Co. A, 9th
O. V. C.; dis. July, 1865. Culbertson, Dr. How-
ard, e. Nov. 16, 1862, U. S. V. 3 yrs. as surg.;

aptd. surg. in charge of hos. at Rollo, rank of
maj.; surg. in charge of U. S. gen. hos. (Har-
vey) at Madison, Wis.; m. o. Oct. 1865, brev.
rank of lieut. col.; passed examination as asst,

surg. U. S. A.; com. Feb. 28, 1866; made capt.

July 8, 1866; placed on retired list Jan. 8, 1869,
for disab. Daw, J. P., service, Co. C., O. V. C.,

1 863-5 1
on det. duty. Decker, Thos. A., e Feb. 27,

1864, 1st O. V. V. C.; dis. Sept. 27, 1865. Den-
man, A. Q., e Aug. 5, 1861, Co. D., O. V. C.; m.
o. with regt. Dickeson, Lawson, e 1864-5,
Co. F\ 13th O. V. C.; wnd. at Cold Harbor. Ed-
wards, Geo., service 9th O. V. C.; cap. and
killed near Jonesboro. Fhnbcry, Geo. e. Oct.

27, 1864, bat. 1
;
m. o. at Knoxville, Tenn.; July

24, 1865. Farmer, Terrence, e. June 1862, U. S.

drag., Co. F'; wnd. at Brandy sta.
;
trans. to 1 14th

N. Y. V. I. Fickel, Geo., e Feb. 1, 1864, Co.
E.

,
22d V. R. C.; dis. July, 1865. Garrett, IFenry

H., served in Co. B, 1st O. V. V. C., the latter

part of war. Garrett, Isaac I, served in

Co. D, 12th O. V. C. from 1863 to 1865.

Garrett, J. W., served in Co. B, 1st O. V.
V. C. from 1864 to 1865, wnd. at Atlanta.

Goddard, Chas. C., com. capt., Sept. 1861, Co.
C, 17th U. S. I., Mar., 1863; assigned to Co. A.
1st batln; wnd. at Chancellorsville; res. May 26,

1864. Griffith, W. H., corp., served from 1862

to 1863, 1st O. S. S. Grim, Geo. W., sergt. e.

in Ross county, Oct. 19, 1863, Co. M, 12th O. V.

C., cap. at M-t. Sterling, Ky.
;
paroled; in hos.,

dis. June, 1865. Hall, John G., service, 7th O.
V. C., Co. B, 1862 to 1865. Harney, Marshall
M., service 13th O. V. C. C., Co. F, from 1861

to 1865; wnd. at Petersburg. Havens, Sami. J.,

e. Oct. 10, 1864, 1st U. S. V. V. E. C., Co. H;
impressed in service; dis. at Nashville, Sept. 26,

1865. Homman, John, e. Oct. 8, 1862, Co. A,
9th O. V. C.; m. o. July 20, 1864. Homman, Wm.,
e. May 6, 1864, Co. A, 9th O. V. C.; m. o. July
22, 1864. Jenkins, S. D, e., 12th U. S. I., service
from 1862 to 1865. Johnson, J. A., service

in 9th O. V. C., Co. A, from 1862 to 1865. King,
Newton B., service in Co. K, 5th U. S. C., from
1863 to 1866, 1st sergt. Krim,John P., e. Sept.

24, 1864, Co. C, 1st batln, 15th U. S. I.; det. as

pioneer; wnd. at Atlanta; dis. Sept. 24, 1864.

Lawhead, G. W., served in 9th O. V. C., Co. A;
cap. and held a prisoner 5 months. Lawyer.
Harrison, served in 9th O. V. C., Co. A, from
Oct. 1862 to July 1865. Lowry, Lyman, served
in the 8th U. S. I., Co. F; pro. sergt.; det. on
provost duty; dis. Jan. 21, 1867; vet. Lugen-
beal, D. F., served in 15th U. S. 1 ., Co. G; from
1861 to 1864, wnd. at Chickamauga. McCain,
Henry, e. Oct. 6, 1864, 1 year. 24th Indp. bate.

L. A. m. o. June 24, 1865; previously served in

the 1st W. Va. L. A. McClain, Isaiah, service
1st batln. O. Indp. S. S. Co. C; trans. to V.

R. C. McGee, David, service in 10th O. V.

C. Co. B, from 1862 to 1865; wnd. at Re-
saca. Marshall, Josephus, served in 9th O.
V. C. Co. C, from 1862 to 1865. Mil-
ler, C. C., served in the 9th O. V. C., Co. A,
Miner, Mathew M., served in the 10th O. V. C..

Co. A, from Oct.,. 1862, to Aug., 1865; sergt.

Mitchell, Clark, served in 9th O. V. C., Co. C,

from Nov., 1862, to Dec., i864;dct. 4th O. Art.;

in hospital; dis. for disab. Mitchell, John, e.

at Mansfield in 1862; service 1st O. S. S.; in

hospital; trans. to I. C.; dis. July, 1864; disab.

Pake, Henry L., service 10th O. V. C., Co. B,

from Oct., 1862, to Oct., 1865. Pansier, Zenas
F.

,
service 6th O. Ind. S. S. Pigman, John,
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service 9th O. V. C.; pro. sergt.; served from
1862 to 1865. Porter, R. L., e. Nov. 10, 1862,

Co. C., 9th O. V. C.; m. o. at Columbus, Aug.

2, 1865. Ouigby, Harrison, service in the 13th

O. V. C., Co. F. Rechel, John, service in 9th

O. V. C., Co. C, from 1862 to 1865. Reed,

David, c. Oct. 29, 1862, 9th O. V. C., Co. C; m.

o. July 20 1865. Reed, James H., service in

the 6th Co.,Ind. S. S., from 1862 to 1865. Reed,

Willis D., e. Dec. 20, 1863, in the 10th O. V. C.,

Co. D; m. o. July 30, 1865. Robinson, Robert
T., service in the 1st U. S. C., Co. F, from Nov.,

1862, to Nov. 1865; pro. corp.; wd. at Cold
Harbor June, 1864. Scott, Ernest, service from
Hamilton county, in Co. C., 13th O. V. C., from
Feb., 1861, to Aug., 1865; wd. at Petersburg;

in hospital; det. service on steamer, J. Barnes.

Shiplett, Charles, e. from Madison county, 9th

O. V. C., Co. A. serving 3 years. Shiplett,

Ephraim, e. from Madison county, 9th O. V. C.

Co. A; pro. sergt.; serving three years. Shoe-
maker, George E., e. Oct. 23, 1862, Co. C, 9th

O. V. C.; pro. to corp.; then to sergt.; m. o.

July 20, 1865. Shirer, B. F., service from 1863,

6th O. V. C., Co. G; taken prisoner; died in

Andersonville Jan., 1865. Simpson, Isaac, corp.,

service in U. S. C. T., Co. F, from 1863 to 1865.

Sims, William, service in 12th O. V. C., Co. H,
from 1864 to 1865. Skinner, Harrison, e. serv-

ice in 1st O. V. V. C., Co. B, from 1864 to 1865.

Smith, Charles C., service 13th O. V. C., Co. F;

killed at Petersburg July 30, 1864; interred on
field. Smithy, George W., service as farrier and
vet. surg., 1st O. V C., from 1861 to 1865.

Snyder, Troylus, service 10th O. V. C., Co. B,

from 1864 to 1865. Somers, William B., service

in 9th O. V. C., Co. A, from Aug., 1862, to July,

1865. Spangler, Andrew J., e. Nov. 27, 1862,

9th O. V. C., Co. C; apptd. teamster; injured

in the service; in hospital; dis. June, 1865.

Stultz, Marshall, service in 9th O. V. C., Co. C;
pro. corp.; served from 1862 to 1863. Sweet-
land, Charles B., e. in Morgan county Oct. 28,

1863, 9th O. V. C., Co. K; apptd. 2d lieut; hurt
in leg fall of horse; in hospital; dis. Oct. 17,

1864; disab. Tanner, Albert, service 13th O.
V. C., Co. F, from 1864 to 1865. Taylor, James
F.

,
service in 5th Ind. O. V. C., Co. B, and the

13th O. V. C. from 1863 to 1865. Toll, John C..

service 10th O. V. C., Co. C., from 1864 to 1865.

Tomlinson, A. C., e Feb. 29, 1864, U. S. Signal
Service; in hospital; dis. at Louisville Aug. 22,

1865. Van Fleet, R. C. M., service in 18th U.
S. I., 2d batln., Co. F; dis. 1862; disab. Van
Voorhis, John R., corp., service 5th Ind. Batin.,

O. V. C., Co. D, from 1863 to 1865. Walker,
G. W., service sergt. 1st O. S. S., Co. C; dis. in

1865. Walker, Sherman, service in the 23d U.

S. C. T., Co. I. Warner, George, service in 5th

Ind. Bath Cav., Co. F, and in 13th O. V. C.;

wd., losing right arm. Weaver, J. F., service in

9th O. V. C., Co. A, from 1864 to 1865. Welch,
Edward, service in 4th Ind. Batin. O. V. C., Co.
E, from 1863 to 1864. West, William T., service

9th O. V. C., Co. C, from 1864 to close of war;
wd.; cap.; in Andersonville. White, Jos. P.,

service 9th O. V. C., Co. A, from 1862 to 1865.

Wilson, Benton, service in the 4th U. S. C. T.,

Co. B, from 1863 to 1865. Wilson, S. H., service

9th O. V. C., Co. C, from 1864 to 1865; corp.

Wince, William IT, sergt., service in 9th O. V.
C., Co. A. Wright, Azariah, service in the 12th

O. V. C., Co. D, from 1863 to 1865.

First Artillery.—Gladstone, William, e. Aug.
21, 1862, 3 years, Co. C.; corp.; prom. Jan. 1,

1864; m. o. at Knoxville, Tenn., June 20, 1865.

Power, Payton Q., e. in Morgan county June 1,

1 863, 3 years, Co. I; m. o. July 25, 1865; 3
months’ service in Co. F, 86th O. V. I.

Second Artillery.—Mears, Joseph, e. in Cos-
hocton county Aug. 1, 1863, 3 years, Co. F; in

hospital acting hospital steward; m. o. Aug. 23,

1865.

Sixteenth Light Artillery.—Mitchell, Isaac

N., e. Aug. 20, 1861, 3 years; apptd. corp.; then
sergt.; m. o. Sept. 5, 1865.

Twenty-first Light Artillety.—Collister, Chas.,

artificer, e. Sept. 19, 1863, 3 years; m. o. July 11,

1865.

Twenty-fourth Light Artillery. — Wolford,
George W., e. Oct. 19, 1864, 1 year; m. o. June
24, 1865.

Naval Service.—Abel, Silas, e. Feb., 1864;
seaman gunboat Brilliant; dis. Feb., 1865. At-
well, E. D., served in navy from 1862 to 1863;

e. Sept., 1864, 178th, Co. A. Best, John H., e.

Nov., 1863, gunboat Gazelle, Miss, squad; dis.

at the mouth of Red River Nov., 1864. Byrne,
Henry, service 1864-65, gunboat Brilliant.

Hambleck, Duncan, e. Aug. 29, 1864, sailor gun-
boat Brilliant; dis. June 1, 1865. Josselyn, A.
R., e. Aug. 30, 1864, as seaman gunboat Brill-

iant, Miss, squad; dis. Aug. 1, 1865. Lewis,
Alex. M., entered the navy service Aug. 14,

1864, on the Clara Dolson gunboat; trans. to

the gunboat Brilliant; dis. at Cairo Aug. 14,

1863; served 126th, O. V. I., Co. I. McBride,
William H., e. for service on gunboat Brilliant,

Miss, squad, Feb. 16, 1864; trans. to Silver

Lake as paymaster clerk; dis. Feb. 16, 1865.

McElroy, Jas. A., service as sailor from 1862 to

1865, Meriam, Chas. A., e. Apr. 2, 1864; gun-
boat Brilliant, Miss, squad; pro. signal q. m.;

dis. at Paducah, Apr. 3, 1865. Miller, John N.,

e. May, 1861, gunboat Pittsburg; dis. at

Mound City, July 12, 1865; vet. Moore, Wm.
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J., service, seaman, gunboat Brilliant, from
1862 to 1863. Palmer, Jas. Wm, service Feb.

1865, gunboat Brilliant; died May 18, 1865.

Parshall, Reuben J., service seaman, gunboat
Milwaukee, latter part of the war. Pickens,

Louis S., service seaman U. S. gunboat; kd. at

Pittsburg Landing, Apr. 6, 1862. Prescott,

Robt., service seaman, gunboat Brilliant; from
1864 to 1865. Seright, Geo. D., service sea-

man, gunboat Brilliant, Miss, squad, from 1864
to 1865. Seright, John H., service seaman,
gunboat Brilliant, Miss, squad; from 1864 to

1865. Shaw, Geo. W., e. Feb. I, 1864, as sea-

man, gunboat Brilliant, Miss, squad.; apptd.
steward; dis P'eb. 7, 1865. Smith, Nathan K.;

service carpenter, gunboat Brilliant; from 1864
to 1865. Thomas, Joseph R. Jr., service as sea-

man, U. S. gunboat Brilliant from 1862 to 1863;
pro. to paymaster’s clerk; in Aug. 1863, apptd.
recruit, officer for U. S. N.; dis. at close of war.

Miscellaneous Service Other States.—Adams,
Geo. C., e. Sept. 12, 1863, W. Va. L. A., bat. H;
cap. New Creek, Va., Nov. 28, 1864; in prison

3 mo., dis. June 12, 1865. Adams, Wm. E,, e.

1861, 47th Inch V. I. Co. A; trans, to V. R.

C.; dis. Oct. 1865. Arter, Wm. D., e. 1861,

12th 111 ., Co. D; taken, prisoner at Tunstalls
Sta. May 4, 1863, sent to Libby; ex. same day;
vet. Feb. 1864; dis. at New Orleans, Mar. I,

1866. Auxline, Jos., e. Sept. 15, 1862, Co. A,
9th O. V. Cav.; died at Camp Dennison, Oct. 21,

1864. Bayl, Henry C., e. and served in the U.
L. G. Cav. from 1862 to 1865. Barker, J. H.,

e. Dec. 1863, Co.B, 38th. Ind. V. I., drummer;
dis. at Indianapolis, July, 1865. Barnett, Geo.
W., e. 3 mo. serv., 3d Iowa V. I., Co. G; re-e.

for 3 years; dis. for disab; appted. 2d Lieut.

129th O. V. I. Co. E; served until 1864. Bar-
ton Sami. A., e. at Bloomington, 111 ., Dec. 16,

1862, Co. Pi, 39th 111 . V. I.; in hos. at P'olly I si
.

,

1863; dis. for disab. same year. Barton, Wm.
H.

,
e. at Bloomington, 111 . Aug. 12, 1861, Co.

B, 39th 111 . V. I.; in hos, at Phila.; dis. for

disab. at Hilton Head, Dec. 12, 1863. Boni-
field, S. R. e. and ser. 3 years in Co. E, 1st W.
Va. V. C.; vet.; pro. to sergt. Brooks, John
R., e. 1861, W. Va. I; served until 1865. Brown,
Thos. J.. May, 1863, 55th Mass, (col.) V. I.

wnd. at James Island, July 2, 1864. Burk-
hart, Henry J., served in Co. A, 195th N. Y. V.
I

.

, 1863-5. Chisholm, Isaac, e. at Hickory, Pa.,

Aug. 19, 1862, Co. K, 140th Pa. V. I.; wnd. at

Gettysburg (Devil’s Den); in hos. 9 mo. Phila-
delphia; dct. ward master of hos; reported to
Washington; clerk at regt. h. q.; dis. June 17,

1865. Chorfel, Geo., in serv. 3 mo Co. C, 111 .

V. 1 ., then 3 years in 48th 111 . V. I. Co. F;
wnd. twice before Atlanta. Collier, Theo, e.

Sept. 1861, Co. I, 3d N. Y. V. C; dis. Sept. 23,

1864. Condon, Patrick, e. Co. E; nth Pa. V.
I.

;
wnd. at Petersburg. Cunningham, S. C., e.

Co. A, 7th Iowa; wnd. at Corinth. Dickson,
Geo. E, e. at Louisville. Aug. 1861, Co. A; 1st.

Ky. V. I.; wnd. in Miss.; killed at Stone
River. Deitz, F. C. e. May, 1863, Co. A; 4th
batln. O. V. C.; sergt. served till Mar. 1864, pro.

2d. lieut. Co. A, 13th O. V. C, then capt.

Dingey, Isaac, e. 1862, 13th W. Va. V. I; in

hos.; dis. Mar. 1864. Dozer, Lyman, e. Aug.
30, 1861, Co. F, 2d. W. Va. V. C; dis. Jan.

1863, disab. Douglas, John J., served in

1st. Tenn. L. A; pro. sergt.; 2d. and 1st.

lieut., captain^ breveted major U. S: V., insp-

ector general, aid de camp and staff duty.
Echelberry, Martin, e. Sept. 8, 1861, Co. P'; 2d
W. Va. V. C.; apptd sergt. Co. C; vet. at

Charleston, S. C.; m. o. at Wheeling, July 4,

1865. Faris, Jas. M. e. July, 1863, and served in

the 117th Ind V. I; dis. Mar. 1864. Felton,

Jas. W., service in the 14th W. Va., V. C., Co.
B; from 1862 to 1865. Felton, Benj. O., ser-

vice in the 4th W. Va. V. I., Co. M.; 1863-4.
P'isher, Elias, serv. in 77th 111 ., Co. B; dis. P'eb.

1863, for disab. Gadd, Owen serv. from 1861

to 1864, in 30th 111; in all the battles of that

regt. to time of dis. Gregg, Milton S. service

in Co. A, 3d W. Va. V. C. from 1862 to 1865.

Hagar, Benj. J., e. 8th Pa. V. I. Co. I; wd. at

Antietam; in hos.; dis. Feb. 1864; re-e. Co. D,
191st Pa;cap. at Spottsylvania,in Andersonville;
dis. June, 1865. Hankeson, Geo. W., service in

Co. D, 4th W. Va., V. I. from 1861 to 1864.

Hannon, Henry, service, in 1st N. Y. L. A; bat.

H, from 1861 to 1865, then in U. S. N. Huff-
man, Geo., served in 6th Ind. V. I., Co. G, and
loth Ind. V. C. from 1862 to 1865. Hunter, T,

J. ,
served in the 22d Ky. V. I., Co. F. James,

Calvin entered in Pa. 1863, first as “Pa. Emer-
gency Man,” then as enrolling officer. Jami-
son, Robt., entered service in 2d Pa. I, Co. P';

also 4th Pa. V. C. Kern, G. V., entered service

Nov. 1863, W. Va. Indp. C.; in hos.; cap. by
Mosby’s guerrillas; paroled; dis. June 5, 1865.

Larimer, Jas. H.; service in 10th Iowa V. I., Co.
C; from 1861 to 1865', wnd. at Champion’s Hill;

in hos.; dis. Aug. 30, 1865; vet. Laughman,
Jas., service in 25th Ills. V. 1 ., Co. F; wnd. and
cap. at Chickamauga, in Andersonville 11 mo.
escaped, recaptured. Leasurc, Jas. A., service

in the 10th Ind. Co. F; from Apr., 1861, to Aug.
1861. Lockard, Thos., served in the 4th. Pa.

V. I., 3 mo. men; and 114th Pa. Co. I; wnd. at

Gettysburg; dis. May, 1865. McCam, Henry,
e. in bat. IP., 1st. W. Va. L. A., Oct. 3, 1863.

McClain, Isaac N., service, Co. K; 34th 111 . V.

1
; wnd. at Shiloh; died in hos. at St. Louis,
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Apr. ig, 1862. McCreary, Wm,, service in

152c! Pa. H. A., Co. K; from 1864 to 1865.

McDonald, James, service, 3 yrs., 15th Pa. V.

C., Co. C. McEwen, John P., service in 4th

Iowa, V. I., Co. C; from 1861 to 1864; pro.

through the grades to capt.; wnd. at Pea
Ridge and Chickasaw Bayou. McGill, Wm.
II., service in 4th Ky. V. I. one year; in 9th O.

V. C., Co. A, from 1862 to 1865; pro. sergt.;

wnd. and cap. McGrath, Geo., service from
Sept. 1861, 2d W. Va., V. C., Co. E; m. o. with

rcgt. McGraw, Isaac, e. Aug. 4, 1862, Co. A;
134th N. Y. V. I; pro. sergt.; cap. at Gettys-

burg; escaped; cap. before Atlanta; in Anderson-
ville and Millen prisons; ex. in 1865; m. o. June
1865. Mapes, Marcellus, service in 125th Ills.,

Co. C, from 1862 to 1865. Marple, Geo., sergt.,

service in 12th W. V., Co. B; from 1862 to 1865.

Marzetti, Henry, service in 54th 111 ., Co. K,

from 1864 to 1865; cap. and paroled. Miller,

Jacob H., service in 4th W. Va. C., Co B; from

1863 to 1864. Miller, Nelson T., service in

39th Ind., Co. E, from 1861 to 1863, pro. to

sergt., then 1st. lieut. Moyer, Jacob, service in

14th Pa. V. A. from 1864 to 1865. Nor-
man, John, e. in 28th 111 ., Co. D; Aug. 3, 1861,

wnd. at Shiloh; in hos.; m. o. Apr. 6, 1866; vet.

Paff, Edward, sergt., service, 12th Kan., Co. A,
from 1862, to 1865. Porter, Joseph, service in

the 22d Pa. V. C., Co. C, from 1862 to 1865.

Ramsey, W. K., service in 55th Pa., Co. C.

Ratliff, Sami. PC, service in 15th Ky., Co. K,
from 1861 to 1864. Ray, Alpheus, service in

the 77th Pa., Co. E; cap. at Chickamauga; died
in the Danville prison, June 17, 1864. Renni-
son, Francis, service in 59th Pa., Co. C. Rich-
ter, Sami. F., corp., service in 6th W. Va. V. I.,

from Nov. 1861, to Dec. 1864. Ripple, Geo.,

service, 125th Pa., Co. 1
,
and in the 22d Pa.

V. C.; dis. Oct. 1865. Robb, John C. e. ser-

vice, 78th, Co. C., 4 months. Rogers, H. H.,

service in the 7th Minn. Co. B. and the 2d
Ark., Co. B one year. Ryan, A. Z. service in

the nth Mo. V. I. Co. E, from 1 86 1 to 1865.

Saer S. B., service in 1st W. Va. V. C. Co. A,
from 1 86 1 to 1864. School, Joseph service,

526 N. Y. V. I. Co. G, from 1863 to 1865; cap.

and in prison. Scott, Chas., service 3d Mo.,
Co. E, from 1861 to 1864. Sheen, Patrick, ser-

vice in 31st 111 . V. 1 . Co. I, from 1861 to 1864;
wnd. at Kenesaw Mt. Shockly, John, service
in 1st W. Va. L. A. Bat. C, 4 years. Slack, John
A., service 134th 111 V. I. Co. F

;
died in Ky., July,

1864. Smith, John A., served as sergt. in 2d Minn.
V. I., Co. G. Swift, Wm. Id. Id., service 1 12th 111 .

V. I. Co. C; from Aug., 1862, to June, 1865.

Squires, Sami. D., service, 6th W. Va. V. C.

Co. C; cap., died in Andersonville. Stevens,
H. Id., service in 24th la. V. I., Co. Id; killed

at Champion’s Hill. Thomas, David, service
in 34th N. J. V. I., Co. G, from 1863 to 1866.

Tudor, Chas. IT, service 10th Md. V. I., Co. D,
from 1863 to 1865. Van Buren, John, service
in 30th N. V . V. I., Co. A, from 1861 to 1862.

Vandenbark, John W., service in 20th Ind. V.
I. Co. I, pro. to rank of capt. Voorhis, Eli,

service in 89th Ind. V. I., Co. A, from 1862 to

1865. Voorhis, Levi, service in 89th Ind. V. I.,

Co. A, from 1862 to 1865. Walters, Isaac S.,

service 1st W. Va. V. C. Co. F, one year, 1861-2;

wnd. at Bull Run; in hos.; dis. Oct. 14, 1864,
Warren, Wm., service 46th 111 . V. I. from 1863
to 1865; corp. Watterman, Wm. C., asst. surg.

4th W. Va. V. I. and 2d W. Va. V. I, from 1862
to 1865. Watkins, W. K., service in 150th N.
Y. V. I., Co. C, from 1862 to 1865; wnd., in hos.

pro. corp. Watts, Arthur 1

1

., service 130th N.
Y. V. I., Co. D, from 1862 to 1865; pro. 1st

lieut. West, Martin, service 1st 111 . V. C. Co.
A, from 1861 to 1862; cap. at Lexington, Mo.;
ex.; 3 years in the 14th 111 . V. C. Williams,
Lemson, service in 147th Ind. V. I., Co. Id,

from Feb., 1865 to Aug., 1865. Wilson, John,
service in 36th 111 . V. I., Co. C, wnd. at Kene
saw Mt.
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SCHOOLS OF THE COUNTY.

NO doubt the first schools in the county
were what is termed “pay” schools, and
the schoolhouses were built by public sub-

scription. It was not until after the passage of

the common school law that any thing like the
public schools of a later day were known.
There were in the state several districts, all of

them entitled to a thirty-sixth part of their

superficial contents for the support of common
schools. In 1836-37, the subject of school
lands and common schools was taken up in the
general assembly, and the members agreed
that something should be done, but took no
definite action in the matter during that ses-

sion. Complaints had come from all parts of
the state, some based on one alleged grievance,
some on another, and there was so much diver-

sity in the remedies proposed that there seemed
no sufficient definite data to act upon.
A superintendent was appointed for one

year, to collect information on all subjects con-
nected with the question and make report to
the legislature, with a suggestion of such reme-
dies as might appear necessary to establish a
practical free school system. One thing that
seemed to require the immediate attention of
the department was the school lands. The
state was divided into many different grants,

each having distinct school lands, and the leg-

islation had been plentiful and complicated,
adopted frequently to promote the interests of
individuals, who, pretending advantage to the
schools, sought an appropriation for personal
advantage. It was made the duty of no indi-

vidual or department to superintend this in-

terest, and great iniquity was practiced while
the legislature sought honestly to do right.

When the law passed, allowing the sale of
the school lands, it was intended tor immediate
effect, and the frauds afterward practiced were
not foreseen. No limit as to value was fixed for

the sale of the lands, and the result was that,

in the new counties, where there was but little

demand for lands, and only a few residents
sometimes not five freeholders in a township

10

and not a quarter of the land entered, the
school land was sold for ten cents an acre and
upward. Extensive speculations were made in

this way. The land was sometimes worth, in a

few years, several times what it was bought for.

A price should have been fixed, below which
the land should not have been sold, nor should
it have been sold until all the government land
in the township had been taken up.

A still greater fraud was committed in sur-

rendering the leases. Some of the most valua-

ble school lands were first leased on “improve-
ment leases,” under which the tenant took a

quarter section of land for ten or fifteen years.

He was bound to build a cabin and clear some
fifteen or twenty acres of land, and might clear

more at his own option. After these leases

expired, the land was leased for ninety-nine

years, renewable forever. Thus the tenant paid
for rent the interest on the estimated value of

the land, and it was to be revalued every fifteen

or twenty years, as the lease might stipulate,

the value of improvements to be excluded. In

the rapid settlement of the country, land thus
leased for from five to fifty cents an acre, esti-

mating the land to be worth from $1 to $8, sub-

ject to such revaluation every fifteen years, was
often, before the first fifteen years had passed,

worth ten times the first estimate. The law
directing the sale of school land allowed these

tenants to surrender their leases, and, on pay-
ing the amount of the last valuation, to receive

deeds in fee simple, so they thus obtained at

$3 or $4 an acre, or less, land worth often $50
or $100 per acre. In that way, at least, $1,000,000

was lost to the school fund of Ohio, and by the
sacrifice of premature sales, another large sum
was lost. Both these practices were prohibited
in 1838, and the land that remained was more
carefully managed.

The different school funds provided for

under the law were the following: The Con-
necticut Western Reserve fund, the proceeds
of 56,000 acres of land, or the sum of 8158,656.
It belonged to the several counties of the
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Western Reserve. The United States Military

District fund, or the proceeds of school lands

in that part of the state. The Virginia Military

school fund, composed of the proceeds of 1 05 ,-

155 acres of land given for the use of schools

in the tract of country reserved by Virginia to

satisfy her military claimants. The three tracts

of country named composed about one-third

of the area of the state, and had no school

sections reserved, and the lands thus given

were in lieu of such sections. The residue of

the state, with some small exceptions, had every

Section 16, or one thirty-sixth of its area, re-

served for school purposes. There is also a

direct tax for educational maintenance. The
sources from which the school moneys ex-

pended in Muskingum county is derived are

the following: A—The state common school

fund; B—Local school levies; C—United
States Military School fund; D Interest on
sales of Section 16.

Under the laws of Ohio, the state is divided

into school districts, to be styled, respectively,

city district of the first grade of the first class,

city districts of the second grade of the first

class, city districts of the first class, city dis-

tricts of the second class, village districts,

special districts, and township districts. Each
city having a population of 250,000 or more by
the last preceding census of the United States,

including the territory annexed to it for school
purposes, and excluding the territory detached
from it for school purposes, constitutes a city

district of the first grade of the first class;

each city having a population of 150,00001'

more, and less than 250,000, by the last pre-

ceding census of the United States, including
the territory annexed to it for school purposes,

constitutes a city district of the second grade
of the first class; and each city having a

population of 10,000 and less than 150,000
by the last preceding official census of the
United States, including the territory annexed
to it for school purposes, and excluding terri-

tory detached from it for school purposes, con-
stitutes a city district of the first class. Each
city having a population of 10,000 or more,
including the territory attached to it for

school purposes, and excluding the territory

within its corporate limits detached for school
purposes, constitutes a school district, to be
styled a city district of the first class.

Each city of the second class, having a
population of less than 10,000 by the census
of 1870, including the territory attached
to it for school purposes, and excluding the
territory within its corporate limits detached
for school purposes, constitutes a school dis-

trict, ‘to be styled a city district of the second
class. Each village, including the territory

attached to it for school purposes, and exclud-
ing the territory within its corporate limits

detached for school purposes, shall constitute
a school district, to be styled a village district.

Municipal corporations hereafter created, or ad-
vanced to higher grade, except villages created
by advancement or otherwise, shall, from and
after their creation or advancement, be school
districts corresponding to their grade as herein
provided.. Each organized township, exclusive
of any of its territory included in a city, village,

or special district, shall constitute a school dis-

trict to be styled a township district. Any
school district now existing, other than those
mentioned, which has been established by a

vote of the people in accordance with any act

of the general assembly, or which has been
established by a general or local act of the
general assembly constitutes a school district,

to be styled a special district; and such districts

may be established as provided for.

In city districts of the first grade of the
first class, the board of education consists of

one member from each ward, each member of

the board to be an elector of the ward, or of

the township, or part of the township, which,
for school purposes, has been or may be
attached to such ward, for which he is elected
or appointed. In city districts of the second
class, and in village districts, the board of edu-
cation consists of six members, except in dis-

tricts organized under a law providing for only
three members, who shall have the qualifica-

tions of an elector therein, and in such districts

the membership may be increased to six; but
the board of a city district of the second class,

may provide, by a vote of the majority of its

members, that the board shall consist of as

many members as the city has wards. In city

districts of the second class, members of the
board of education are elected annually, to

serve for the term of three years from the third

Monday of April succeeding their election,

and until the election and qualification of their

successors; if the board consists of six mem-
bers, two judicious and competent persons are

elected each year; and if the board consists of

three members, one such person is elected

each year.

The board of education of each township
district divided into sub-districts consists of

the township clerk, and the directors who have
been appointed clerks of the sub-districts; the
board of a township district which is not

divided into sub-districts consists of the town-
ship clerk, and the directors of the district; the
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board of a township district which is composed
of not more than two sub-districts consists of

the township clerk, and the directors of the two
sub-districts; and the clerk of the township is

clerk of the board, but is not entitled to a

vote.

There is elected by ballot, on the second
Monday of April, annually, in each sub-district

and in each township not divided into sub-

districts, by the qualified electors thereof, one
competent person, having the qualifications of

an elector therein, to be styled director, who
holds his ofifice for three years from the day
of his election, and until his successor is elected

and qualified.

The board of education of each special dis-

trict consists of three members, who must be
residents of the district, and have the qualifi-

cations of an elector therein; and when the
electors of any special district, the board of

education of which consists of three members,
desire that the board shall consist of six mem-
bers, they may make such change in the same
manner as provided for city districts of the
second class and village districts.

There is elected annually, by ballot, on the
second Monday of April, in each special dis-

trict, by the qualified electors thereof, at the
usual time and place of holding school elections

in such district, one judicious and competent
person to serve as member of the board for

three years from the first Monday succeeding
his election, and until the election and qualifi-

cation of his successor.

When the better accommodation of scholars
makes it desirable to form a sub-district, com-
posed of parts of two or more townships, the
boards of education of the townships interested
may, by mutual agreement, at a joint meeting
held for the purpose, establish the same, and
fix the boundaries thereof; if there is no suit-

able school-house within such boundaries, or if

there is one, but it is not suitably located, the
board may designate a site whereon to erect
such building; but if there is a suitable school-
house within such boundaries, properly located,
the school must be held therein. A chairman
and secretary are chosen at such meeting, and
the secretary makes a memorandum of the pro-
ceedings had thereat; a copy of such memor-
andum, signed by the chairman and secretary,
to be transmitted to the clerk of each of the
boards, who records the same in his record of
proceedings of the board; and the secretary to

transmit a like copy of the proceedings to the
auditor of each county having territory em-
braced in the sub-district. The school in a

joint sub-district is under the control of the

board of education in the township in which
the school-house is situate, of which board the
director who is clerk of the joint sub-district is

a member; but such school is supported from
the school funds of the townships having ter-

ritory in the joint sub-district, in proportion to

the enumeration of youth.
For the purpose of affording advantages of

a free education to all the youth of the state,

there is levied, annually, a tax upon the grand
list of taxable property of the state, which is

collected in the same manner as other state

taxes are collected, and the proceeds of which
constitute the “state common school fund;”
the rate of such levy is designated by the gen-
eral assembly at least once in two years; and
if the general assembly fail to designate the
rate for any year, the same shall be one mill

upon each dollar of valuation of such taxable
property. The state pays interest annually, at

the rate of six per cent, per annum, upon all

money which has been paid into the state

treasury on account of sales of lands commonly
called “salt lands,” and upon all money hereto-

fore paid, or which may hereafter be paid into

the state treasury on account of sales of swamp
lands granted to the state of Ohio by act of

congress; the money received from such sales

constitutes an irreducible debt of the state;

and the interest shall be apportioned annually
on the same basis as the state common school
fund is apportioned, and distributed to the
several counties.

The money which has been and may here-

after be paid into the state treasury on account
of sales of lands granted by congress for the
support of public schools in any original sur-

veyed township, or other district of county,
constitutes the “common school fund,” of

which the auditor of state is superintendent,
and the income of which is applied exclus-

ively to the support of common schools.

“Teaching school is a very different perform
ance from what it was when I went to school,”

says an old resident. “The first school house
was built by popular effort, and was a log cabin
with a stick chimney wide enough for a big
backlog. Puncheon floors, and seats without
backs, rough boys and girls, hardy, rugged and
frolicsome, were the order of the day. A
quarter’s schooling was about all we had in

those days, and the smaller children, unless they
lived close by, did not attend. It generally
began when the fall work was all done, so the
big boys could attend, and they were big boys,
too. In these days we think schools should
be profoundly still. Not so then. Our schools
were all loud schools. The teachers governed
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by main strength, and the boys with the

strongest lungs seemed to learn the fastest.

These noisy schools were not so very notable

until the time for studying the spelling lesson

came. Then every pupil had to commence
at once and study out loud—high-and low-

keyed voices, the coarse, the gentle and the

broad mouthed going pell mell into the work.

The plodder sat by the blazing fire and delib-

erately spelled at the top of his voice while the

sweat rolled down his cheeks. The glib-

tongued, sharp-voiced chap put his utmost
vigor into his lungs and made the welkin ring.

It was a veritable bedlam—as Bill Nye puts it,

‘a sort of information of the bowels.’ Occa-
sionally one would stop, for want of breath,

perhaps, or to play some prank, when down
came the ferrule upon his unlucky shoulders. It

was unmanly to cry, but occasionally there was
a sniffle or two, and then the book was brought
into play and another rivulet of noise was joined

to the cataract until the class was called.

The teachers we had for a long time were of

the loud school kind, but at last an innovation

was made. The ice was broken. A quiet and
unpretentious man was engaged to teach the

winter term, and nothing was said about the

kind of school he was to teach. When school
commenced the community received a severe

shock. The fellow insisted on a quiet school.

The noisy spelling study was muzzled and a

quietus put on other boisterousness. The strain

was too great. The big boys rebelled, but to no
purpose. The loud-mouthed chap, who form-
erly made the roof-boards rattle with his gentle

voice when the time for studying the spelling

lesson came, had to content himself with
out yelling; all the others playing ‘town ball’

and ‘bull pen’ at the noon hour. The big boys
found sympathy at home, and the quiet school
‘crank’ was bounced. The loud school was re-

instated, but it was doomed. Slowly but surely
the quiet school gained friends and the ‘ loud
school’ became an institution of the past.” In
those days the first exercise was reading verses
from the testament by the older pupils who had
back seats, while the small children were nearest
the fire. After the reading, if the teacher was
a man of prayer, he prayed. This was done,
too, while the little ones were getting warm.
Then began the exercises in Webster’s Spelling
Book, the teacher pointing to the letters with
penknife or scissors. Thumps on the head
from the teacher’s thimbled finger were not
uncommon when the teacher was a woman.
The thumps were sometimes harder if the
teacher was a man. Then reading was begun
with the maxim: “ Let no man put off the law

of God.” Then as the reading progressed
came the story in Webster’s Spelling Book of

the silly and unfortunate dairy maid, who, with
her milk pail on herhead, calculated how many
eggs she could sell it for and what a fine dress

she would buy, until, tossing her head with
these proud anticipations, she brought down
the pail and the milk was dashed to the ground
and she saw all her dear plans washed away in it.

Then there was the moral story about the boys
stealing apples. The farmer first tried to stop
them by throwing tufts of grass, but, finding

they carried no terrors with them, he threw
stones, which were more effectual. The “Amer-
ican Preceptor ” succeeded that book. The
children were given a recess, though the re-

creative period was not known by that name.
The boys went first, by themselves, and after-

wards the girls. If there were any scholars

inside who found the “rule of three” difficult,

the teacher explained it during this time.

Shortly came a rap on the window to call in all

the children. After geography followed a lesson

in grammar, forty minutes long, which none of

the children understood and most of them
hated. Ruled paper was not known. The
parents furnished a few sheets of paper which
were sewn together at home. It was of all

qualities but good. The teacher was kept
busy during odd spells ruling the paper and
pointing the quill pens. The ink was home-
made. Later on, came the “Columbian Ora-
tor” and “English Reader,” filled with matter
too old for children and possessing no interest

for them whatever. Children of sixteen or

thereabouts got to read very well, the book
passing from class to class. The girls were
generally the best readers. Duvall’s and
Pike’s arithmetic were used, but for a time
there were no regular classes in mathematics.
No lessons were "given out,” and the pupil was
left to get on as well as he could. The teacher,

if he could, would work out a “sum.” He had
a book containing all the answers. Sometimes
enterprising pupils would steal the use of the

teacher’s “key,” as this was called. P'riday

afternoon was given over to “speaking pieces,”

reciting the commandments and catechism and
repeating verses from the Bible.

After teaching school for a time on “ the

Ledge,” a neighborhood in his native town of

Orange, Cuyahoga county, Ohio, James A. Gar-
field went with his mother to visit a brother of

hers in the south part of the state. Save on
the canal, this was his longest journey and
made on the railroad, his first ride on the cars.

They stopped at Columbus, where Mr. Kent,
the representative of Geauga, showed them



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 169

much attention, and young Garfield saw the

wonders of that capital. At Blue Rock, an un-

fortunate schoolmaster had just been dis-

ciplined by the scholars of one of the districts

and dismissed; and he was induced to take
them in hand for two months, and did. During
the time he rode on horseback seventy miles to

Athens to see a real college, the first he had
ever seen. This must have been in the summer
of 1850. The following statistics show the

number, location and status of the public

schools of the county:

SCHOOL MONEYS RECEIVED DURING THE YEAR
ENDING AUGUST 3 1, 189O.

Balance on hand September 1, 1889, $74 ,-

385.05; state tax, 1825,450.47; irreducible school
fund, $3,977.42; rents on Section 16, $29.59; lo-

cal tax for school and schoolhouse purposes,

$108,799.08; amount received on sale of bonds,

$2,200; fines, licenses, tuition of non-resident
pupils and other sources, $2,448.61; totals,

$217,290.22.

EXPENDITURES.

Amount paid teachers—Elementary, $85,-

611.81; high, $9,062.75 ;
total, $94,674.56. Man-

aging and superintending, $3,600; sites and
buildings, $14,560.35; interest and redemption
of bonds, $15,123.73; contingent expenses,

$21,753.61; total, $152,712.25. Balance on hand
September I, 1890, $64,577.97; amount of or-

ders issued and not paid, $1,034.99.

YOUTH OF SCHOOL AGE, JULY, 189O.

Boys, 8,214; girls, 7,746; youth between six

and eight years of age, 2,499; youth between
eight and fourteen years of age, 6,474; youth
between fourteen and sixteen years of age,

2,260; youth between sixteen and twenty-one
years of age, 4,727; total, 15,960. Number in

United States Military District, 8,210; number
in Virginia Military District, ; number in

Connecticut Western Reserve,
;
number of

youth entitled to interest or rent on section 16,

7 .750 .

SCHOOL DISTRICTS AND NEW SCHOOLHOUSES
AND THEIR COST.

Township districts, 24; sub-districts, 164;
separate districts, 10; sub-divisions of separate
districts, 10. Townships Elementary, 3; high,
—

;
total, 3. Separate districts—Elementary,

1; high, -; total, 1. Grand total, 4. Cost:-
Townships—Elementary, $1,785; high, ;

total, $1,785. Cost:—Separate districts—Ele-
mentary, $12,020; high,

; total, $12,020.
Grand total, $13,805.

SCHOOL HOUSES AND VALUE OF SCHOOL PROPERTY.

Number, townships, elementary, 164; num-
ber, separate districts, elementary, 24; high, 1;

total, 25; grand total, 189. Value Townships,
elementary, $103,150; value separate districts,

elementary, $257,300; high, $50,000; total, $307,-

300; grand total, $410,450.

SCHOOL ROOMS AND TEACHERS.

School rooms, townships, elementary, 169;

high, 2, total, 1 7 1 ;
school rooms, separate dis-

tricts, elementary, 96, high, 16; total 112, grand
total, 283. Number of teachers necessary to

supply the schools, township districts, 171;

separate districts, 106; total, 277.

DIFFERENT TEACHERS EMPLOYED.

Townships, elementary, gentlemen 143,

ladies 195; high, gentlemen 2, total 250.

Separate districts, elementary, gentlemen 5,

ladies 87; high, gentlemen 10, ladies 7; total

109; grand total 359.

TEACHERS EMPLOYED THE WHOLE SCHOOL YEAR.

Townships, elementary, gentlemen 62;

ladies 27; high, gentlemen 1; total 90. Sepa-
rate districts, elementary, gentlemen 4, ladies

83; high, gentlemen 7; ladies 7; total 101;

grand total, 191.

WAGES OF TEACHERS, NUMBER OF SCHOOLS
TAUGHT LESS THAN TWENTY-FOUR WEEKS,

AVERAGE NUMBER OF WEEKS TAUGHT,
AND RATE OF SCHOOL TAX.

Average wages of teachers in dollars:—
Townships, elementary, gentlemen 36, ladies

28; high, gentlemen 45. Separate districts,

elementary, gentlemen 57, ladies 45; high,

gentlemen 69. Sub-districts in which schools
were taught less than twenty-four weeks
within the year, 1. Average number of weeks
taught:—Townships, elementary 31; high 20.

Separate districts, elementary 35, high, 36.

Average rate of local tax by counties for the
years 1889 and 1890, in mills:—Townships
1889-1890, 2.6; 1890-1891, 2.7. Separate dis-

tricts, 1889-1890, 6.5; 1890-1891,6.4.

ENROLLMENT.

Townships:—-Elementary, boys 3,373, girls

3,023; high, boys 40, girls 38; total 6,474. Sep-
arate districts:—Elementary, boys 2,144, girls

2,015; high, boys 290, girls 353; total, 4,802;

grand total, 1 1,276.

ENROLLMENT BETWEEN l8 AND 21 AND RE-EN-
ROLLMENTS.

Different pupils between sixteen and
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twenty-one:-—Townships, elementary, boys 751,

girls 509; high, boys 28, girls 15; total 1,303.

Separate districts, elementary, boys 106, girls

55; high, boys 128, girls 125; total 414; grand
total 1,717. Re-enrollments:—Townships, ele-

mentary, boys 97, girls 80; total 177. Separate

districts, elementary, boys 68, girls 54; high,

boys 20, girls 14; total, 156; grand total, 333.

AVERAGE MONTHLY ENROLLMENT.

Townships:—Elementary, boys 2,308, girls

2,174; high, boys 23, girls 29; total 4,534. Sep-
arate districts:- Elementary, boys 1,924, girls

>.737! high, boys 235, girls 301; total, 4,197;
grand total, 8,731.

VILLAGE AND SPECIAL DISTRICTS.

Receipts for the year:—Adamsville, $1,332.33;
Chandlersville, 81,107.40; Dresden, 86,141.40;

Erazeysburg, 83,173.71 ;
New Concord, 83,432.39;

Roseville, 85,123.77. Expenditures for the year;

Adamsville, S830.58; Chandlersville, 8762.50;
Dresden, 84,535.95 ;

Frazeysburg, 82,084.27; New
Concord, 82,170.64; Roseville, 84,155.01. Num-
ber of school houses in the district:—Adams-
ville, 1; Chandlersville, 1; Dresden, 1; Frazeys-
burg, 1; New Concord, 1; Roseville, 1. Num-
ber of school rooms exclusive of rooms used
only for recitation:—Adamsville, 2; Chan-
dlersville, 2; Dresden, 8; Frazeysburg, 4; New
Concord, 4; Roseville, 6. Value of school
property, including grounds, school houses,
furniture, apparatus, etc.:—Adamsville, 82,000;

Chandlersville, 81,500; Dresden, 824,000;
Frazeysburg, 84,500; New Concord, 89,000;
Roseville, 810,000. Number of teachers neces-
sary to supply the schools:—Adamsville, 2;

Chandlersville, 2; Dresden, 7; Frazeysburg, 4;

New Concord, 4; Roseville, 5. Number of
teachers employed, not including those that

gave half or more than half their school time
to supervision:—Gentlemen—Adamsville, 1;

Chandlersville, 1; Frazeysburg, 2; New Con-
cord, 1; Roseville, 2. Ladies—Adamsville, 1;

Chandlersville, 3; Dresden, 7; Frazeysburg, 2;

New Concord, 3; Roseville, 3. Average wages
of teachers per month, in dollars, to the nearest
integer:—Gentlemen —Adamsville, 860; Chan-
dlersville, 850; Frazeysburg, 863; New Concord,
S56; Roseville, 850. Ladies—Adamsville, 830;
Chandlersville, 825; Dresden, 829; Frazeysburg,
S30; New Concord, S33; Roseville, 827. Number
of teachers that taught the entire time in the
year the schools were in session:—Gentlemen

—

Adamsville, 1; Chandlersville, 1, Frazeysburg,
1; New Concord, 1; Roseville 1. Ladies,
Adamsville, 1; Dresden, 7; Frazeysburg 2; New
Concord, 3; Roseville, 2. Average number of

weeks taught: Adamsville, 32; Chandlersville

—

36; Dresden, 36; Frazeysburg, 32; New Con-
cord, 36; Roseville, 38. Names of superintend-
ents:—Adamsville, J. A. Brown, salary 8480;
Chandlersville, L. E. Baughman, salary 8450,
Dresden, C. F. Palmer, salary 8900; Frazeys-
burg, E. PL Smock, salary 8600; New Concord,
A. H. McCulloch, salary 8500; Roseville, J. A,
Williams, salary 8440. Enumeration:—Adams-
ville, 1889, 150; 1890, 142; Chandlersville, 1889;

93; 1890, 92; Dresden, 1889, 404; 1890, 399,
Frazeysburg, 1889, 221; 1890, 226. New Con-
cord, 1889, 234; 1890, 233; Roseville, 1889, 260;

1890, 285. Pupils enrolled:—Elementary

—

Adamsville, 65; Chandlersville, 37; Dresden,

292; Frazeysburg, 155; New Concord, 160;

Roseville, 196. Pupils enrolled:—High

—

Adamsville, boys 41, girls 35, total 76, grand
total 1 4 1 ;

Chandlersville, boys 24, girls 21,

total 45, grand total 82; Dresden, boys 44,
girls 41, total 85, grand total 377; P'razeysburg,

boys 22, girls 24 total 46, grand total 201; New
Concord, boys 16, girls 26; total 42, grand total

202. Roseville, boys 15, girls 20, total 35,
grand total 231. Average daily attend-

ance:—Elementary—Adamsville, 43; Chan-
dlersville, 24; Dresden, 231; Frazeysburg,
1 2 1 ;

New Concord, 124; Roseville, 136.

Average daily attendance:—High—Adams-
ville, boys 26, girls 23: total 49; grand
total 92; Chandlersville, boys 12, girls 12, total

24, grand total 48; Dresden, boys 29, girls 25,

total 54, grand total 285; Frazeysburg, boys 16,

girls 18, total 34, grand total 155; New Concord,
boys 12, girls 21, total 33, grand total 157;
Roseville, boys 10, girls 14, total 24, grand
total 160. Per cent, of the enrollment on the
enumeration:—Adamsville, 94; Chandlersville,

88; Dresden, 94; Frazeysburg, 90; New Con-
cord, 86; Roseville, 89. Per cent, of daily

attendance on the number enrolled in elemen-
tary schools:—Adamsville, 66; Chandlersville,

65; Dresden, 79; Frazeysburg, 78; New Con-
cord, 78; Roseville, 70. Per cent, of daily

attendance, on the number enrolled in high
school:—Adamsville, 64; Chandlersville, 54;
Dresden, 64; Frazeysburg, 74; New Concord,

90; Roseville, 70. Per cent, of total average
daily attendance on total enrollment:—Adams-
ville, 65; Chandlersville, 59; Dresden, 76;

P'razeysburg, 77; New Concord, 79; Roseville,

70. Branches of study:—Adamsville, U. S. his-

tory, 76; physiology, 123; algebra, 3. Chan-
dlersville, U. S. history, 23; physics, 11; physi-

ology, 35; algebra, 23. Dresden, U. S. history,

45; physics, 11
;
physiology, 37; algebra, 29;

geometry, 3; Latin, 40. Frazeysburg, U. S. his-

tory, 60; yocal music, 40; physics, 3; physiology,
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190; geometry, 3; Latin 4. New Concord, U. S.

history, 54; physics, 17; physiology, 61 ;
algebra,

30; geometry, 17; Latin, 16. Roseville, U. S.

history, 115; vocal music, 123; physiology, 203;

algebra, 29; geometry, 2. Districts:—Different

pupils enrolled whose ages were between 16

and 21 years, July 1, 1889:—Adamsville, high 20;

Chandlersville, high 33; Dresden, high 63, ele-

mentary 12; Frazeysburg, high, 22: New Con-
cord, elementary 4, high 27; Roseville, ele-

mentary 2; high 11. Re-enrollments caused

by previous attendance at some other school in

the state outside the district:—Adamsville, 18;

Chandlersville, 15; Dresden, 9; Frazeysville, 8;

New Concord, 5; Roseville, 4. Salary of high

school principal:—Adamsville, $480; Chandlers-

ville, $450; Dresden, $405; Frazeysburg, $600;

New Concord, $500; Roseville, $440. Portion

of time given to teachingby principal:—Adams-
ville, Chandlersville, Dresden, all; Frazeys-

burg, 19-20; New Concord, 19-20; Roseville,

3-4. Amount paid for supervision:—Dresden,

$450; Frazeysburg, $30; New Concord $25;

Roseville, $132. Amount paid for high school

instruction:—Adamsville, $480; Chandlersville,

$450; Dresden, $855; Frazeysburg, $570; New
Concord, $475; Roseville, $308. Amount paid

for elementary instruction:—Adamsville, $240;

Chandlersville, $225; Dresden, Si, 395; Frazeys-

burg, $880; New Concord, $925; Roseville,

$1,125. Average cost of tuition per pupil on
average daily attendance:—Elementary

—

Adamsville, S3. 70; Chandlersville, $6.00; Dres-
den, $4. 78; Frazeysburg, $6.77; New Concord,

$5.63; Roseville, $5. 71. High—Adamsville, $6. 30.

Chandlersville, $10.00; Dresden, $10.06; Fra-

zeysburg, $12.35; New Concord, $12.00; Rose-
ville, $12.60. Average cost of tuition per pupil

on total enrollment:—Elementary—Adams-
ville, $5.60; Chandlersville, $9.37; Dresden,
$6.04: Frazeysburg, $8.63; New Concord, $7.00;

Roseville, $8.27. High—Adamsville, $9.60;

Chandlersville, $18.75; Dresden, $15.83; Fra-

zeysburg, $16.77; New Concord, $1 5.00; Rose-
ville, $18.33. Withdrawn from high school:

—

Dresden, boys 21, girls 16; Frazeysburg, boys

4, girls 5; New Concord, boy I, girl 1. Num-
ber remaining in high school:—Adamsville, boys

45, girls 31; Dresden, boys 23, girls 25; Frazeys-
burg, boys 18, girls 19; New Concord, boys 12,

girls 24; Roseville, boys 15, girls 20. Number
graduated at last commencement:—Dresden,
boys 2, girls 5; Frazeysburg, girl 1; New Con-
cord, boys 7, girls 7. Average age of high
school pupils first year:—Dresden, boys 16, girls

16; Frazeysburg, boys 15, girls 15; New Con-
cord, boys 14, girls 14; Roseville, boys 12, girls

13. Average age of graduating class:— Dresden,
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boys 19, girls 18; Frazeysburg, girls 19; New
Concord, boys 17, girls 17. Entire number of
graduates in history of school:—Dresden, boys

24, girls 50; total 74; Frazeysburg, boys 7, girls

4; total 1 1 ;
New Concord, boys 17, girls 25;

total 42; Roseville, girls 8; total 8. Number of

years in high school course: Dresden, 4; Fra-

zeysburg, 3; New Concord, 3; Roseville, 4.

APPORTIONMENT OF SCHOOL FUNDS TO THE DIS-

TRICTS Ot' THE COUNTY FOR THE LAST
DAY OF THE YEAR 1891.

Adams district, state common school fund
(source A), $201.75; local school levies col-

lected (source B), $643.89; U. S. military school
fund (source C), $21.61; interest on sales of

section 16 (source D), nothing. Total, $867.25.
Blue Rock district—A, $279.00; B, $1,163.52;

D, $99.82; total, $1,542.34.
Brush Creek "district—A, $292.50; B,

$1,520.36; D, $158.71; total, $1,971.57.

Cass district—A, $211.50; B, $1,269.38; C,

$22.66; total, $1,503.54.

Clay district—A, $62.25; B, $201.26; D
(Perry Co.), $32.00; total, $295.51.

Falls district—A, $340.50; B, $2,036.13; C,

$36.47; total, $2,413.10.

Harrison district—A, $138.00; B, $560.17;
D, $40.95; total, $739.12.

Highland district—A, $177-75; B, $1,010.79;

C, $19.04; total, $1,207.58.

Hopewell district—A, $353.25; B, $1,366.04;

C, $24.66; D, $517.18; total, $2,261.13.

Jackson district—A, $159.00; B, $591. 49; C,

$17.03.; total, $767.52.
Licking district—A, $187,50; B, $1,003.27;

C, $20.09; total, $1,210.86.

Madison district—A, $238.50; B, $758.69;
C, $25.55; total, $1,022.74.

Meigs district—A, $318.75; B, $808.41; D,

$455.62; total, $1,582.78.

Monroe district—A, $207.00; B, $1,142.11;

C, $22.17; total, $1,371.28.

Muskingum district—A, $189.75; R>

$1,191.16; C, $20.33; total, $1,401.24.

Newton district—A, $414.00; B, $727.09;
D, $212.14; D, from Perry County, $17.96;
total, $1,371.19.

Perry district—A, $179.25; B, $842.00; C,

19.20; total, $1,040.45.

Rich Hill district—A, $319.50; B, $1,021.40;

D, $197.36; total, $1538.26.
Salem district—A, $78.00; B, $354.77; C,

$8.35; total, $441.12.

Salt Creek district—A, $198.75; B, $653.99;
C, $0.32; D, $343.05; total, $1,196. 1 1.

Springfield district—A, $267.00; B,

$1,368.39; D, $55.11; total, $1,690.50.
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Union district—A, S180.00; B, $846.65; C,

$19.28; total, $1,045.93.

Washington district—A, $255.75; B,

$723.20; C, $27.40; total, $1,006.35.

Wayne district—A, $369.75; B, $1,322.86;

D, $223,86; total, $1,916.47.

Roseville district—A, $168; B (Muskingum
Co., $849.1 1, Perry Co., $162.97), $1,012.08; D,

(Perry Co.), $86.38; total, $1,266.46.

Taylorsville district—A, $180.75; B, $842. 32;

D, $300.95; total, $963.99.
Frazeysburg—A, $171.00; B, $676.91; C,

$18.32; total, $866.23.

Dresden district—A, $321.75; B, $1,446.77;

C, $34.47; total, $1,802.93.

Uniontown district—A, $87.75; $538 - 74 !

D, $21.67; total, $648.16.

Adamsville district—A, $109.50; B, $633.09;
C, $1 1.73; total, $754-32.

Chandlersville district—A, $58.50; B,

$298.11; D, $102.52; total, $459.13.
Norwich district—A, $54.75; B, $323.36; C,

$5.87; total, $383.98.
New Concord district—A, $177; B, $746.08:

C, $18.96; total, $942.04.
Zanesville district - A, $4,878; B, $25,908.81

;

C, $264.80; D, $257.39; total, $31,309.
Names and addresses of county examiners:

E. E. Smock, Frazeysburg; Charles PC Swingle,

Zanesville; L. E. Baughman, Dresden; Charles
E. Swingle, clerk.

Names and addresses of instructors and
lecturers at institutes: Prof. L. D. Bonebrake,
Mount Vernon; E. E. Baughman, Dresden; R.

H. Morison, Carey; C. F. Palmer, Dresden;
W. PI. Weaver, Newark; Dr. John Hancock,
Columbus.

©hap(ep /I.

SCHOOLS OF ZANESVILLE.

THE following historical sketch of the pio-

neer and public schools of Zanesville is

condensed from a paper prepared by Su-
perintendent of Instruction W. D. Lash:

The first school in what is now the city of
Zanesville was kept by a Mr. Harris in 1800
and 1801, in a cabin on River street, in what is

now the Eighth ward, between Lee’s corner
and the mouth of Licking creek. In 1802 a
Mr. Jennings kept a school in a cabin which
stood on North Second street, on property now
belonging to the Cargill estate. In 1805 Sam-
uel Herrick, then a young lawyer, came to
Zanesville and taught school in a cabin which
stood on the school lot on which the old Mar-
ket Street Academy now stands. This school-
house was without “ daubing,” and had no
other floor than the ground. A large stump
which stood in the middle of the room served
the purpose of a “dunce-block.” Mr. Herrick
seems to have been a severe schoolmaster, and
one of the exploits of his refractory pupils was
to escape his rod of fearful length by crawling
under the lower log of the wall into the safer
regions of out of-doors. Among the pupils of
this school were William and Margaret Thomp-

son, David and Isaac Spangler, Richard Still-

well, Harriet Convers, James Cordery, Eliza

Price, Elizabeth Montgomery and Amelia Mc-
Intire. In 1809 or 1810 Richard Kearns kept a

school on the corner of North and Sixth streets.

Rev. William Jones, a Presbyterian minister,

taught in the old frame court house in 1810 and
18 1 1. He taught some of the higher branches,
including Latin and Greek. “Mother Goff,” as

she was familiarly known, taught in a house
which stood on the corner of Spruce alley and
Main street in 1811. In 1812-14 Arthur Reed
taught in a house on the corner of Fountain
alley and Seventh street. In 1816 and 1817 a

Mr. Black taught in a house north of the mar-
ket house. John W. Spry taught a school in

Frazey’s brick house, on the corner of Locust
alley and Sixth street, in 1819, and afterward, in

1823 and 1824, in the old Harvey tavern, on the

corner of Third and Main streets. In 1824

James Perry taught in a two-story log house on
Market street, where Duvall’s machine works
now stand. In 1822-24 Rev. George Sedgwick
taught a “Seminary for Young Ladies” in a

house which stood on the river bank below the

lower bridge. Some of the higher branches
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were taught in this school. Other teachers of

this early period were Mrs. Henderson, Mrs.

Colerick, Paul McPherson, Mr. Metcalf, Mr. and
Mrs. Mole, James M. Fulton, Robert McCor-
mick, Jotham Hobbie, Miss Russell, Miss Jane
Flood and Mr. Richardson.

The Zanesville academy and the Mclntire
school were not strictly public schools, yet the

name of John Mclntire, by reason of his royal

bequest, is so intimately associated with the

educational interests of Zanesville that some
mention of these schools is almost a necessity

in a sketch of this kind.

The town of Zanesville was laid out in 1799
by Jonathan Zane and John Mclntire, the pro-

prietors of the site, at which time they set

apart and appropriated the west halves of lots

15 and 16 in the tenth square, for the use of

schools in the coming town. In 1818, after the

death of John Mclntire, Jonathan Zane, the

surviving proprietor, executed a deed for these

grounds to Daniel Convers and others, author-

izing them to enter upon and take possession

of the same for school purposes. Soon after

this, Daniel Convers, associating with himself
about thirty others, organized a sort of joint

stock company for the purpose of erecting a

schoolhouse on the ground thus secured to

them. The number of shares, which was lim-

ited to fifty-three, at $25 each, were all taken,

and, with the funds so raised, the first and sec-

ond stories of the Old Market Street academy
were built. The third story was added by
Amity lodge, of the Masonic fraternity, and
used by them as a place of meeting. The
building was completed and the first school
opened in it in February, 1822. By the articles

of association each stockholder was entitled to

send one pupil for each share of stock owned
by him. The school was maintained under this

organization for a number of years. During a

portion of its history two departments were
sustained, in the higher of which many of the
higher branches of learning were taught. The
first teacher employed in this school was Ezek-
iel Hildreth. William Pope, Jotham Hobbie,
Allen Cadwalader, and others were his success-

ors. After the public schools of the town be-

gan to assume organized form, this building
was rented for a number of years, for school
purposes, by the board of education, and in

1858 it was finally released to the city by the
survivors and representatives of the stockhold-
ers and by Amity lodge. It is now occupied
by the German-English schools, which form a

part of the present school system.

John Mclntire died in 1815, and by his last

will and testament, given in a preceding chap-

ter made certain provisions which have had
much to do with the educational history of

Zanesville. The “ Mclntire academy,” as it

was known, was built by the executors under
this will, and was first occupied for school pur-

poses about the year 1836. The first principal

of this school was John M. Howe, who had,
for some time previously, conducted a private

seminary in a building on the corner of North
and Seventh streets, known as “ Howe’s semi-
nary.” He was assisted by A. E. Howe and
George Miller, and subsequently by Thomas
H. Patrick. Mr. Howe remained as principal

of this school some ten or twelve years. The
school was one of high order, Latin and Greek
and other branches of higher education being
taught in it. The highest, or classical depart-
ment, was taught by Mr. Howe in person, the
lower departments by his assistants. Mr. Howe
was succeeded by Mr. Theodore D. Martin-
dale, who was assisted by Mr. T. H. Patrick

and two or three female assistants. Mr. Mar-
tindale was succeeded by Mr. Joseph David-
son, who was assisted by about the same corps
of teachers. Mr. Davidson was succeeded. by
Mr. T. H. Patrick, who remained as principal

of the school until 1856, when, the graded
school system having been fully organized, it

was thought by the Mclntire executors, as well

as by others interested, that the purposes of

the testator would best be carried out by plac-

ing the school under the control of the board
of education and causing it to be merged in

the general graded school system of the city.

Accordingly, an arrangement was made be-

tween the Mclntire trustees and the board cf

education, which will be found stated in its

proper place in the succeeding portion of this

sketch. Although the Mclntire school has
ceased to exist, as a school distinctively for

poor children, it served a noble purpose for a

period of twenty years, and will ever be re-

membered as one of the historic belongings of

the city of Zanesville.

Prior to April, 1839, the public schools of

Zanesville were conducted under the general
school laws of the state, and were of the same
ungraded character as the schools of the rural

districts. The general state school law (that

passed March 7, 1838,) was not considered
adapted to the wants of the town in the expen-
diture of funds for school purposes, especially

so in consequence of the existence of the Mc-
lntire school fund, which rendered the situa-

tion of Zanesville, in that regard, peculiar. On
29th of December, 1838, a meeting was held in

what was known as the senate chamber, pur-

suant to a notice from the school directors of
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Zanesville district (Ezekiel T. Cox, Uriah
Parke, and Henry Eastman), and a committee
appointed to draft a bill adapted to the educa-
tional wants and interests of the town of Zanes-
ville; while another committee was appointed
to circulate petitions to the legislature for its

enactment as a law.

The result of this movement was that on
the 13th day of February, 1839, a special law
was enacted by the legislature for the support
and better regulation of the schools of the town
of Zanesville.

April 1, 1839, an election was held at the

court house, and the following-named gentle-

men were elected as members of the first board
of education: Hugh Reed, George W. Many-
penny, Allen Cadwalader, Charles G. Wilson,
Richard Stillwell, John A. Turner. This board
organized April 6th, by electing Richard Still-

well, president, John A. Turner, secretary, and
Charles G. Wilson, treasurer.

The first board of examiners appointed by
the council consisted of Rev. James Culbertson,
Rev. William A. Smallwood and Wyllys Buell.

During the same year (1839) the board of edu-
cation selected sites for the school building,

and put the schools in operation in rented
buildings, as follows: James Barton’s room,
corner of Market and Fifth streets; Mrs. Bar-
ton’s room, Fifth street, between Market and
South; Mr. Spaulding’s school-house, Sixth
street, near Marietta; Old Methodist church,
between P'irst and Second streets; first floor of

old academy, on Market street; room in base-
ment of Market Street Baptist church; second
floor of old academy, on Market street; Mr. N.
Harris’ school-room, on Third street. In Sep-
tember of this year, Messrs. Reed and Many-
penny were re-elected members of the board of

education. February 15, 1840, the board of

education recommended to the council the
erection of a school-house on the northwest
part of the old graveyard, and submitted plans
and specifications for the same. The council
adopted the recommendation of the board, and
immediately advertised for bids for the erec-

tion of the building. On the 12th of March,
1840, the contract was awarded to James Ram-
age, at S3, 750. On the 28th of March, 1S40, the
council rented again all the rooms previously
occupied by the schools, except Mr. J. Barton’s,

and rented three additional rooms, namely:
One of Col. John Hall, one of Mr. Stratton, and
another in the basement of the Market street

Baptist church. In July, 1840, Allen Cad-
walader resigned, and Uriah Parke was ap-
pointed a member of the board of education in

his stead. In September of the same year,

Uriah Parke and C. G. Wilson were re-elected,

and H. J. Cox appointed in place of Dr. Turner,
deceased. October, 1840, Rev. Amos Barthol-
omew was appointed examiner, vice Buell. On
the 6th of November, 1840, the new school-
house on the hill being ready for occupation,
the following rented rooms were vacated, and
the schools transferred to the new building:

John Hall’s, old Methodist church, two rooms
in the basement of the Market Street Baptist

church, and Mr. Stratton’s. Mrs. Barton’s room
had been previously vacated, and the school
transferred to Nathaniel Wilson’s room, corner
of Fifth and South streets. On the 27th of

November, 1841, Richard Stillwell resigned,

and Jesse Keene was appointed a member of

the board of education in his stead. December
9, 1841, the council purchased of John M. Howe
the building on the corner of Seventh and
North streets, known as “Howe’s seminary,”
together with the lease of the grounds upon
which it was located, for the sum of $1,500.

This building was repaired and improved, and
was ready for occupation on the 1st of April,

1842.

With the occupation of this building begins
the history of the graded school system of Zanes-
ville. “While the schools were scattered in diff-

erent parts of the town, no efficient system of

organization could be adopted, and the plan of

separate and independent schools was found
very exceptionable, as well from expensiveness
as inefficiency.” In September, 1842, a system of

organization was adopted, and went into imme-
diate operation. The board of education to

whom this organization of the schools is due
consisted of Messrs. Charles G. Wilson, Uriah
Parke, Horatio J. Cox, Hugh Reed, George W.
Manypenny and Jesse Keene. The board of

examiners at this time (September, 1842,) con-
sisted of Rev. James Culbertson, Rev. W. A.
Smallwood and Dr. Thomas M. Drake—Dr.

Drake having been appointed in July of this

year, in place of Rev. Amos Bartholomew. On
the 20th of September, 1842, Mark Lowdan and
Adam Peters were elected members of the
board of education in place of Messrs. Reed
and Manypenny, and on the 26th Col. John W.
Foster was appointed in place of Jesse Keene.
In April, 1843, E. E. Fillmore was appointed a

member of the board of education, in place

of John W. Foster, resigned, and in September
of the same year, was elected to the same
office. On the 7th of April, 1845, the residence
of Uriah Parke, then secretary of the board of

education, was destroyed by fire, and with it all

the records and papers belonging to the board.

The foregoing facts are gathered from the min-
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utes of the town council and from a brief ab-

stract of the history of the schools, prepared

from memory by Mr. Park, and recorded in

June, 1845, i n the records of the board.

In June, 1845, the following corps of teach-

ers was in the employ of the Board, at the sal-

aries named: George W. Batchelder, principal

of male seminary, salary $600 per annum;
Samuel C. Mendenhall, assistant, senior de-

partment, $240 per annum; N. A. Gray, princi-

pal, junior department, $350; James H. Thomp-
son, assistant, junior department, $240; William
D. Chase, second assistant, junior department,

$150; Jessie P. Hatch, principal of female sem-
inary and teacher of writing and music in both
schools, S400; Miss Adaline Parker, principal

senior department, $300; Miss Isabel Cary, as-

sistant, senior department, $175; Miss J. Wil-
liams, principal, junior department, $260; Miss
Amanda Charlott, assistant, junior department,

$96; Miss Martha Hatch, second assistant, jun-

ior department, $96; N. A. Gray resided in the

male seminary building, and J. P. Hatch in the

female seminary building, rent and fuel free.

The number of pupils enrolled and in attend-

ance in June, 1845, was as follows:

Male seminary, senior department, enrolled,

67; male seminary, senior department, attend-

ance, 60; male seminary, junior department,
enrolled, 154; male seminary, junior depart-

ment, attendance, 139; female seminary, senior

department, enrolled, 89; female seminary,
senior department, attendance, 65; female sem-
inary, junior department, enrolled, 157; fe-

male seminary, junior department, attendance,

120; total in both schools, enrolled, 467; total

in both schools, attendance, 384. The follow-

ing was the course of study, with the text

books authorized by the board: Spelling,

Sander’s Spelling Book; reading, Pierpont’s

Introduction and National Reader, Sander’s
Readers and the Scriptures; Geography,
Smith’s; Grammar, Smith’s; Arithmetic, Emer-
son’s Mental and Parke’s Practical; Algebra,
Bailey’s; History, Goodrich’s First, Second and
Third Books, and Weem’s Washington; music,
Mason’s Sacred Harp; Philosophy, Comstock’s;
surveying, Gummere’s; geometry, Playfair’s

Kuclid; Latin, Andrews and Stoddard’s Gram-
mar, Andrew’s Reader, and Virgil; Greek, An-
thon’s Grammar, First Lessons and Reader.
On the 1 6th of September, 1845, Gottlieb Nat-
tinger and Leonard 1 ’. Bailey were elected
members of the board of education in place of

Adam Peters and Mark Lowdan. Subsequent
changes in the board of education are given
in the roll of the board appended to this

sketch.

In July, 1847, M r - Batchelder resigned his

position as principal of the male seminary, and
Mr. Mendenhall that of first assistant in the
same. Orlando L. Castle was elected to suc-

ceed Mr. Batchelder, and William U. Urquhart
to succeed Mr. Mendenhall. In October, 1847,
Mr. Urquhart was succeeded by William A.
Castle. In April, 1848, Mr. Hatch resigned his

position as principal of the female seminary
and teacher of writing and singing. As a tem-
porary arrangement, Miss Adaline Parker was
made principal of the female seminary, and O.
L. Castle took charge of the writing and sing-

ing in the male seminary. In July, 1848, N. A.
Gray resigned his position in the male semin-
ary and S. C. Mendenhall was elected to fill his

place. L. P. Marsh was elected teacher of

writing and singing, and took charge January

3, 1849. His salary was at the rate of $400 per
annum. In February, 1849, J- H. Thompson,
then assistant teacher in the male seminary,
was made principal of the female seminary, at

a salary of $500 per annum, with dwelling and
fuel free. In April, 1849, the length of the
school year was fixed at four quarters, of eleven
weeks each. March 26, 1850, O. L. Castle,

principal of the male seminary, resigned, and
Mr. Marsh was made acting principal till June,

1850, when George W. Batchelder was elected
to that position, at a salary of $800 per annum.
In September, 1850, the corps of teachers con-
sisted of Mr. Batchelder as principal of the
male seminary, with four assistant teachers.

Mr. Thompson was principal of the female
seminary, with four assistant teachers, and Mr.
Marsh as teacher of writing and singing in both
schools. The average enrollment of pupils, at

this time, was about 500. In October, 1850,
Mr. Marsh resigned, and Capt. Hatch was aga ; n

employed as teacher of writing and singing.

No important change was made in the or-

ganization of the schools till February, 1852,

when Mr. Batchelder was made superintendent
of all the schools. His salary was fixed at

5^ 1
,
000

,
and he was assisted by twelve subor-

dinate teachers. In May, 1852, the female
seminary was burned, and its schools were
transferred to the basement of the Seventh
Street Methodist Episcopal church and the
Market Street academy. In June, of this year,
the board of education took action looking to

the provision of additional and more suitable

accommodations for the schools. A commit-
tee was appointed to select sites for four ward
schools and a high school. In April, 1853, the
lots on which were built the Third and Fourth
ward buildings were selected. In June the
board adopted plans and applied to the council
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for funds to purchase the lots selected, to erect

two ward schools, and to make alterations and
repairs on the Hill-school building, so as to fit

it for the use of a high school. The council

promptly responded to this call, authorized the

issue of 825,000 of school bonds for the use of

the board, and advertised for bids for the erec-

tion of two ward buildings. In July, 1853, the

contract for the erection of the Third and
Fourth ward buildings was awarded to Jona-
than Swank, at 87,645 for each building, exclu-

sive of the stone work. In the spring of 1853
the first school for colored children was estab-

lished. Under the laws in force at that time
this school was controlled by a separate board
of directors, elected by the colored people, and
sustained by taxes levied upon property of col-

ored citizens. In October, 1854, Mr. Batchel-

der resigned his office of superintendent.
In April, 1855, the new school buildings

were completed and the organization of the

graded system began to assume tangible shape.

Almon Samson had been elected superintend-
ent, and Charles \V. Chandler, principal of the

high school. The following departments were
organized and courses of study adopted: The
primary department, embracing the first three
years of the course. The secondary depart-

ment, embracing the second three years. The
senior department, embracing the third three

years. The high school department, embrac-
ing three courses of study of two years, four

years, and five years, respectively. As yet no
suitable school facilities had been provided for

the First and Second wards. In September,
1856, the following agreement was entered into

between the board of education and the trus-

tees of the Mclntire estate: “The schoolhouse
was to be put in thorough repair, and furnished
with furniture similar to that in the other
school buildings of the city. The school to be
organized and conducted under the rules and
regulations adopted by the board of education,
and to be under the control of the superintend-
ent of the city schools. The expenses of re-

pairs, furniture, salaries of teachers, together
with all incidentals necessary to the conduct of
the school, to be paid by the Mclntire trustees;

the Mclntire trustees reserving to themselves
the right of visitorial supervision.”

During the school year ending July 3, 1857,
there were sustained by the board one high
school, two senior schools, five secondary
schools, ten primary schools, one unclassified

school, and one colored school. The whole
number of teachers was thirty-one. The enu-
meration of white youth of school age, in this

year, was 2,857, of whom 289 were under six

years of age, leaving 2,568 entitled to attend
the public schools. The whole number of pu-
pils enrolled in the white schools was 1,500,

leaving 1,068 entitled to admission who did not

enter school at all. The average enrollment
and attendance in the several departments were
as follows: In high school, enrollment, 78;
attendance, 75. Senior school, enrollment, 85;

attendance, 83. Secondary school, enrollment,

265; attendance, 252. Primary school, enroll-

ment, 612, attendance, 585.

At the close of this school year (July, 1857),
Mr. Samson resigned his position as superin-

tendent, having filled that office a little over
two years, and having, with the co-operation of

the board of education, fully established the

graded system of schools, and witnessed its

entrance upon a career of popularity and use-

fulness. M. D. Leggett was elected to succeed
Mr. Samson, at a salary of 8 1,200 per annum.
Mr. Leggett remained in charge of the schools
till January, 1862, when he resigned his office

to accept the appointment of colonel of the

78th regiment, O. V. I. The condition of the
schools at the close of the school year 1859-60,

is indicated by the following statistics, taken
from Superintendent Leggett’s annual report

for that year: Number of schools sustained
during the year: High school, 1 ;

senior schools,

2; secondary schools, 6; primary schools, 12;

rural school, 1; German school, 1; colored
school, 1 ;

total, 24; in which were enployed:
Male teachers, 8; female teachers, 30; total, 38.

In addition to the above, two night schools
were sustained from the first of November to

the first of March, in which were employed
four teachers, two male and two female. The
following is the enrollment and attendance
in the several departments: Total enrollment,

2,126; attendance, 1,505. The following was
the schedule of salaries: Superintendent of

instruction, 81,600; principal of high school,

81,000; principals of districts, 8600; senior, sec-

ondary and primary teachers, 8300; senior, sec-

ondary and primary assistants, 8240; assistants

in high school, 8450 to 8600. Superintendent
Leggett’s resignation was accepted January 7,

1862, and C. W. Chandler, principal of the
high school, was elected to succeed him at a

salary of 81,000, and A. Fletcher, president of

the board, was employed as financial agent;
salary 8300. This arrangement was continued
through the next school year, but the exigen-
cies of the times having made it the dutyof the
board of education to exercise the strictest

economy, a reduction of the salaries of superin-
tendent,principal and teachers was made, of from
ten to twenty per cent. As a further measure
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of economy, at the close of this school year,

the office of superintendent was suspended.
From the report of the president of the board,

made August, 1865, the following facts, relating

to the condition of the schools for that year, are

derived: Number of pupils enrolled in all the
schools, 2,1 10; average daily attendance, 1,289.

There were seven male and twenty-eight
female teachers. The arrangement with the
Mclntire trustees, by which they paid all ex-

penses of the Mclntire school, had now contin-

ued for nine years, and a new arrangement was
entered into with them, under a contract au-

thorized by a special act of the legislature.

This act enabled the Mclntire trustees to con-
tract with the board of education for the tui-

tion of the “poor children” who would be en-

titled to the benefit of the Mclntire fund under
the will of Mr. Mclntire, and to pay to the
board of education such sum from the income
of that estate as in their judgment might be
right and proper as an equivalent for such
tuition. Under this contract the board has an-

nually received from the Mclntire trusteees

the sum of $8,000, and, in addition to that,

from $500 to $800 per year to furnish books
and clothing to destitute children.

At the close of the school year in June,

1865, C. W. Chandler, who had been principal

of the high school since its establishment, in

1855, with the exception of the one year that

he filled the office of superintendent, resigned
his position, and A. T. Wiles, who had been, for

the three years preceding, principal of the
schools of the second district, was elected
to that position at a salary of $1,000 per
annum. The principalship of the Third
district, made vacant in June, 1865, by the
promotion of Mr. Wiles was filled by the
election of Miss Maria Parsons, who had
been for several years teacher of the sen-
ior school in that district. This was the
first instance in the history of the Zanesville
schools in which a lady was placed in the re-

sponsible position of principal, and the innova-
tion was regarded by many earnest friends of
the public schools with serious distrust. At
the close of this school year, however, the
board of education were so well satisfied with
the result of their experiment that they applied
the same policy to the other two districts. No
further change was made in the organization or
management of the schools until the close of
the school years 1869-70, when the office of
superintendent of instruction was restored,
and A. T. Wiles, who had served for five years
as principal of the high school, was elected to
that office, at a salary of $1,500 per annum, and

Miss Margaret Stultz, who had served for five

years as assistant in the high school, was
made principal of the same at a salary of

$1,000 per annum.
The following figures will exhibit the status

of the schools for the school year 1868-70:

Enumeration of youth of school age in the
city, 3,477; high school, enrollment, 101;

attendance, 77; district schools, enrollment,

2,000; attendance, 1,263; total enrollment, 2,101

;

attendance, 1,340; number of teachers em-
ployed: high school, principal, 1; assistants,

3; district schools, principals, 3; district

schools, senior teachers, 3; district schools,

primary and' secondary teachers, 35; total,

45. The following was the schedule of salaries:

Principal of high school, $1,200; first assistant

in high school, $900; second and third assist-

ants in high school, $550; principals of dis-

tricts, $950; senior school teachers, $500; sec-

ondary school teachers, $400; primary school
teachers, $400; German school teacher, $8co;
colored school teachers, 300and$400; financial

agent, $1,100.

At the beginning of this school year

(1869-70) the “Stemler” building, was com-
pleted and ready for occupation by the
schools. Later in the year the city council
purchased the Presbyterian mission Sunday
school building on Monroe street, and the
board opened in it a secondary school. The
schools were all now accommodated in build-

ings owned by the city, except the three
schools in the rooms rented of the Masonic
Hall association. In the summer of 1870
School District No. 9, of Springfield township,
including the unincorporated village known
as South Zanesville, was annexed to the city.

The board of education assumed control of the
two schools of that district, and attached
them, for the time being, to the Third district

of the city schools. In November of this year
the village of West Zanesville was annexed to

the city, adding four more schools to the num-
ber already under control of the Board. The
teachers formerly in charge of these schools
were all re-employed by the city board of

education, and their salaries adjusted to the
schedule in force in the other city schools.

The schools of the- Seventh and Eighth wards
were constituted the Fourth district, and
placed under the principalship of David
Harris, who had been for many years teacher
and principal of the West Zanesville schools.
In May, 1872, the incorporated village of Put-

nam was annexed to the city, constituting the
Ninth ward. The Board of Education assumed
only a nominal control of the schools of this
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ward until the close of the school year, deem-
ing it best for their interest to make no
attempt at that time to adjust them to the sys-

tem of the other schools. By this annexation,

seven schools were added to the city school

system—the numberof teachers prior to these

annexations being forty-five, and immediately
subsequent thereto, sixty.

During the year 1873, the city council— at

the request of the board of education—erected

a brick school house, containing six rooms, in

the Sixth ward, one in the Seventh ward, con-

taining four school rooms, and an addition to

the Eighth ward school building containing two
school rooms. The cost of these three im-

provements, with the grounds upon which they
were placed, was about §30,000. It has been
attempted in this sketch to indicate the con-

dition and growth of our public school system
by giving such statistics as were attainable, at

the close of each period of five years. The
following is a summary for the school year

1874-75: Enumeration of youth of school age
in the city, 5,370. Enrollment: High school,

159; attendance, 126; senior schools, 194;

attendance 138; secondary schools, 789; at-

tendance 594; primary schools, 1,510; atten-

dance 1,025; German-English, 209; attendance

153; colored schools, 202; attendance 124.

total, enrollment, 3,063; attendance, 2,160.

The number of teachers employed was: High
school, principal I

;
assistants, 4. District

schools: principals 5, senior teachers 5; sec-

onday teachers, 18; primary teachers, 24;

German-English teachers, 4; colored teachers,

4; music teachers, 2; writing teacher, 1.

Total 68. The following was the schedule of

salaries: Superintendent of instruction §2,000

;

high school, principal, §1,350; commercial
teacher, §1,080; first assistant, §900; second
and third assistants, §700. District schools:

principals, §850; senior teachers, §550; sec-

ondary teachers, §450; primary teachers, §450;
German-English, §450 and §800; colored
teachers, §450 and §720; music teachers §450
and §600; writing teachers, §950.

In September, 1875, two new schools were
opened in the Jackson street building, Eighth
ward- a new building erected by the board of

education, during the previous summer, at a
cost of about §6,000, including the lot. At the
opening of the school year 1875-76, the princi-

palship of the high school, made vacant by
the resignation of Rev. R. S. James, who had
been principal three years, was filled by the
election of W. D. Lash, who had been an
assistant in the same school three years. At
the opening of the school year 1876-77, draw-

ing was added to the course of study for all

grades, and Miss Gertrude Stone was appointed
special teacher of this branch, at a salary of

§800 per annum. The Diamond building on
Underwood street, having been abandoned for

school purposes, was sold September, 1877, by
the board, for $1,800. To render the grounds
about the Moore building more ample, the
Board purchased an adjoining lot for the sum
of §700, improved it, and made it a part of the
school grounds. This purchase was made
September, 1877. After eight years of service

as superintendent, A. T. Wiles resigned his

position in June, 1878, and W. D. Lash, who
had been principal of the high school for

three years, was made superintendent, and has
filled the office ever since. Id. A. Axline,
superintendent of the Dresden, Ohio, public
schools was appointed principal of the high
school.

For several years the study of music had
been discontinued. In June, 1878, by order of

the board, music again became a regular study
in all grades. J. D. Fuse was elected special

teacher of this branch, at a salary of §800 per
annum. During the summer of 1878, an addi-

tion of two rooms was made to the Rural
building, at a cost of §1,182, and a school of

senior grade opened in the building. At
about the same time a two-story brick build-

ing was erected on Moxahala avenue, at a cost

of §1,553, for the accomodation of the colored
schools of the Ninth ward. The old building
on Moxahala avenue and the one on the
Cooper Mill road were abandoned when the
new building was occupied, and both were sub-

sequently sold. At the opening of the school
year, 1878, the board of education directed

that a colored high school be organized in

the Ninth Street building. The directions of

the board were carried out, and Chas. S. Har-
rison appointed principal at a salary of §600.

Miss Gertrude Stone resigned her position as

teacher of drawing at the close of the schools
in June, 1879. Drawing was subsequently
dropped from the course of study. December
29th, 1879, the principalship of the high
school was made vacant by the resignation of

H. A. Axline. Mr. C. R. Long was elected to

the position. The following is the summary
of the schools for the year ending August,
1880 :

Enumeration of youth of school age, 5,571.

Enrollment: High school, 173; attendance

132; senior schools, 225; attendance, 190;

secondary schools, 799; attendance, 617;
primary schools, 1,500; attendance, 1,046;

German-English schools, 197; attendance, 156;
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colored schools, 220; attendance, 142. Totals;

enrollment, 3,144; attendance, 2,283. Num-
ber of teachers: special teachers, 2; high
school, principal, 1; high school, assistants,

4; principals of districts, 5; senior teachers,

5, secondary teachers, 18; primary teachers,

26; German-English teachers, 4; colored
teachers, 5; total, 70. Schedule of salaries:

Superintendent of instruction, $1,200; princi-

pal of high school, $1,000; teacher commer-
cial department, $800; two assistants, high
school, $600; one assistant, high school,

$500; principal of districts, $650 to $700;
senior teachers, $500: secondary teachers,

$425; primary teachers, $425; colored high
school, principal, $600; colored school,

senior teacher, $600; special teachers, $900.
Additional school accommodations being

needed in the Seventh ward, the board pur-

chased lots on Grant street, May, 1880, for the
sum of $800, and had erected thereon a brick

building of two rooms, at a cost of about
$2,800, in which schools were immediately
opened after the completion of the building.

During the year 1880-81, the board remodeled
and enlarged the Madison Street building, at

a cost of about $4,000. The crowded condi-
tion of the schools in this ward rendered the
addition necessary June 28th, 1881, the
office of supervising district principal was
abolished, and the entire supervision of

the schools placed in the hands of the
Superintendent. The board also directed
that a Normal School be opened for the train-

ing of teachers to be employed in the public
schools of the city. This school was opened in

September, 1881, the number of students being
limited to twenty. The course of study
adopted was substantially as follows : I.

Training in Methods of Imparting Instruction
in Primary Grades. II. Mental Philosophy
and the Science of Education. III. General
Review of all the Common Branches, with
Special Attention to Methods. IV. Special
Instruction in Music and Penmanship. V.
Practice in Teaching. Two schools of primary
grade were placed in charge of the principal
to be taught by the students of the normal
school, under her personal supervision. Each
student was required to be in the practice
room not less than four weeks. Miss S. R.
Chandler, for many years supervising principal
of the first district schools, was appointed
principal of the normal school at a salary of
$800. December 26th, 1881, J. D. Fuse re-

signed his position as special teacher of music,
and B. C. Davis, was elected to fill the vacancy.

For many years, the school accommoda-

tion in what is known as the Mclntire district

was inadequate. The old building on Market
street was unfit for use. Rooms not suited to

school purposes were being rented in the Ma-
sonic Hall building. The old High School
building, at the head of Main street, was very
much out of repair, and almost unfit for school
use. The three colored schools on the east

side of the river were poorly provided with
rooms. The demand for a new building was
pressing. Efforts made to have the Mclntire
Academy building enlarged had failed. Sev-
eral attempts to purchase suitable lots for a

sehool building had also proven fruitless.

January 13th-, 1881, a special committee was
authorized to purchase the lot on corner of

Sixth and North streets, at a cost of $10,000.

Plans and specifications for a building of

twelve rooms on this lot were approved and
adopted by the board, January 14th, 1882.

This building, known as the High School
building, was completed before the opening of

the school year 1883-84. The cost of the
building and improvements was $38,801.83.

At the close of the schools, July, 1883, the
board directed that the high school be trans-

ferred to the new building, and that transfers

of certain other schools be made, whereby the
rooms in the Masonic building were vacated,

and the old Academy building, on Market
street, abandoned. This building was after-

ward sold. The board repaired the old High
School building, at the head of Main street, for

the use of the colored schools on the east side

of the river. These improvements were com-
pleted at a cost of over $1,000, and the colored
schools transferred to the building, September,
1883. The building on Ninth street, made va-

cant by the transfer of the colored schools,

was subsequently sold, being unfit for school
purposes. At the close of the schools, June,

1884, C. R. Long resigned the Principalship of

the high school, and j. M. Seright was elected

principal.

The status of the schools at the close of the
school year 1884-85 is given below: Enumera-
tion of youth of school age, 6,129; Enrollment:
High school 225, attendance 1 7 1 ;senior schools

309, attendance 245; secondary schools 903, at-

tendance 747; primary schools 1,460, attendance
1080; German-English 146, attendance 119;

colored schools 216, attendance 164; total en-

rolled 3,259, total attendance 2,526. Number of

teachers: Special teachers 2, high school prin-

cipal 1, high school assistants 5, senior teach-
ers 7, secondary teachers 20, primary teachers

26, Gcr-Eng. 3, colored 6, total 70. Schedule
of salaries: Superintendent of instruction Si ,800,
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principal of high school $1,000, assistants in

high school S6oo, senior teachers $525, second-

ary teachers $450, primary teachers $425, prin-

cipal colored high school $750, German-Eng-
lish teachers $450 to $600, special teachers

$900.
During the early part of the school year

1886-87, the board built an addition of two
rooms to the Seventh ward building, at a cost

of about $3,000. This addition was made neces-

sary by the increase in the enrollment of pu-

pils in the Seventh ward. At the close of the

school year of 1885-86, J. M. Seright resigned

the principalship of the high school, and L.

L. H. Austin was elected to fill the position.

At this time the new building had been fur-

nished with single desks and the larger build-

ings had been fitted with steam-heating appar-

atus.

According to the superintendent’s annual
report for the school year of 1887-88, 1888-89,

1889-90, 1890-91, the school statistics for that

period were as follows: Teachers: In the high
school, 5; in the senior schools, 9; in the pri-

mary and secondary schools, 47; special teach-

ers—(writing 1, music 1, German 1)—3; total, 70.

Whole number of different pupils enrolled:

In the high school, 184; in the senior schools,

357; in the primary and secondary schools,

2,272; in the colored schools, 165; in the nor-

mal school, 6; total enrollment, 2,984; per cent,

of enrollment on enumeration, 49; total enu-
meration of youth, September 1, 1888, 6,159;
total enumeration of youth, September 1, 1889,

6,281.

Teachers: In the high school, 6; in the

senior schools, 8; in the secondary schools, 23;

in the primary schools, 30; special teachers

—

writing 1, music 1, total, 2; grand total, 69.

Whole number of pupils enrolled: In the

high school, 230; in the senior schools, 360; in

the secondary schools, 1,032; in the primary
schools, 1,418; total, 3,040; total enumeration
of youth, September 1, 1889, 6,281; total enu-
meration of youth, September 1, 1890, 6,419.

Teachers: In the high school, 7; in the
senior schools, 9; in the secondary schools, 24;

in the primary schools, 32; special teachers

—

(writing 1, music 1, German 1
)
—3; total, 75.

Whole number of pupils enrolled: In the
high school, 238; in the senior schools, 369;
in the secondary schools, 1,040; in the primary
schools, 1,557; total, 3,204; total enumeration
of youth, September 1, 1890, 6,419; total enu-
meration of youth, September 1, 1891, 6,504.

Teachers: In the high school, .7; in the
senior schools, 1 o

;
in the secondary schools,

23; in the primary schools, 36; special teach-

ers— (writing 1; music 1; German 1 )—3;

total, 79.

Whole number of pupils enrolled: In the
high school, 269; in the senior schools, 410; in

the secondary schools, 1,102; in the primary
schools, 1,743; in the night school, 63; total,

3 . 587 -

W. M. Shinnick, Jr., clerk, submitted to the
board of education of the city of Zanesville,
the following report of the receipts and ex-
penditures of the board of the fiscal year end-
ing August 31, 1891.

Sept. 1, 1890, Balance in Treasurer’s hands $23,011 96

RECEIPTS.
1890
Dec. 16, Advanced December Taxes $15,000 00
1891.

Jan. 16. A. Kimble, rent 80 00
Feb. 1. Sale of paper, blinds, etc 15 00
Feb. 26. Balance December Taxes 16,206 55
Mar. 10. Z. O. & M. Co. (Poor Fund).. 1,000 00
Apr. 20. Outside Tuition 120 00
June 18. Advance June Taxes 15,000 00
Aug. 18. Teachers’ Examination ($1 00), Tu-

ition ( 146 00) .... . 150 00
Aug. 27. Balance June Taxes 14,106 15 $61,674 70

$84,686 66

DISBURSEMENTS.
Repairs (ordinary) 4,612 59
Extraordinary repairs to high school 1,553 50
Incidentals... 1,437 69
Z. C. & M. Co. (Poor fund) 1,198 93
Coal 1,313 82
Furniture 1,391 08
Advertising, Printing, etc 307 95
Interest on Bonds 1,575 00
Insurance 40 00
High School Apparatus. 214 60
Tenth Ward Building 2,516 46
Clerk’s Salary 300 00
Truant Officer’s Salary 500 00
Tuition acct., Supt, and Teachers’ Salaries. 42,802 74
Janitors’ Salaries.. 4,795 50 $64,559 86

Balance in Treasurer’s hands August 31, 1891 $20,126 80
Outstanding orders $541 45

When the compulsory school law was en-

forced by the board of education, it was
found that many children affected by the law
were unable to attend school on account of

indigent circumstances. A night school was
opened in October to accommodate this class.

The school was continued in session five

months, the limit of enforced attendance.
The number of pupils enrolled was 63, the

number belonging 43, and the average number
attending 33.

The number enrolled was in effect limited

to those between the ages of 14 and 16 years,

who were compelled to attend school, but un-

able to attend the day schools for reasons
given above. Many applied for admission
who were not compelled to be in school but
desired to avail themselves of the opportunity
furnished by the night school for continuing
their education. For want of sufficient teach-

ing force, this class of applicants was denied
admission. The work accomplished by the en-





.

.
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forcement of the compulsory law is best

shown in the report of the truant officer, Mr.
Claudy, for the period September 8, 1890, to

June 12, 1891 : Total number of cases investi-

gated, 830; children found idle and placed in

school, 192; children found to be working,
contrary to law, and placed in school, 103;

children kept home by sickness, 4; children

kept home by poverty, 3; children taught at

home, 4; children found to be truant and re-

turned to school, 69; children found to be
truant and committed to the Boys’ Industrial

school, at Lancaster, 9; children transferred

to the orphans’ home, 2; children between
the ages of 14 and 16 excused from attending
school on the certificate of the superintendent
and now' in regular employment, 233; children
under 14 withdrawn after 20 weeks’ attendance
and now in regular employment, 94; children
withdrawn from school who have removed
from city, 85; children mentally or physically
disqualified from attending school, 32.

Following is the Roll of the Board of Edu-
cation, 1838-92:

1838-

39.—Uriah Parke, Ezekiel T. Cox,
Henry Eastman.

1839-

40.— Richard Stillwell, president;

John A. Turner, secretary; Charles C. Wilson,
treasurer; Hugh Reed, George W. Manypenny,
Allen Cadwalader.

1840-

41. — Richard Stillwell, president;
Uriah Parke, secretary; Charles G. Wilson,
treasurer; Hugh Reed, George W. Manypenny,
Horatio J. Cox.

1841-

42.—Geo. W. Manypenny, president;
Uriah Parke, secretary; Charles G. Wilson,
treasurer; Hugh Reed, Horatio J. Cox, Jesse
Keene.

1842-

43;— Horatio J. Cox, president; Uriah
Parke, secretary; Charles G. Wilson, treasurer;

Mark Lowdan, Adam Peters, John W. Foster.

1843-

44.—Horatio J. Cox, president; Uriah
Parke, secretary; Charles G. YVilson, treasurer;

Mark Lowdan, Adam Peters, PL E. Fillmore.

1844-

45.— Horatio J. Cox, president; Uriah
Parke, secretary: Charles G. YVilson, treasurer;
Mark Lowdan, Adam Peters, E. PL Fillmore.

1

845-

46.—Horatio J. Cox, president; Uriah
Parke, secretary; Charles G. YVilson, treasurer;
PL PL Fillmore, Leonard P. Bailey, Gottlieb
Nattinger.

1846-

47.—Horatio J. Cox, president; Uriah
Parke, secretary; Nelson YV. Graham, treasurer;
IL PL Fillmore, L. P. Bailey, Gottlieb Nattinger.

1847-

48.— PL PL Fillmore, president; Uriah
Parke, secretary; N. YV. Graham, treasurer; L.

P. Bailey, Gottlieb Nattinger, George Fracker,

1848-

49.—PL PL P'illmore, president; N. YV.
11

Graham, secretary; H. J. Cox, treasurer; L. P.

Bailey, Alexander Sullivan, YVilliam Schultz,

Henry Rlandy.
1849-

’50.—E. PL Fillmore, president; Alex.
Sullivan, secretary; L. P. Bailey, George A.
Jones, George B. Reeve, YVilliam Schultz; H. J.

Cox, treasurer.

1850—

’5 1.— E. PL P'illmore, president; Alex.
Sullivan, secretary; George A. Jones, E. P.

Bailey, James L. Cox, George L. Shinnick,
H. J. Cox treasurer.

185 1 -’ 52.—E. E. Eillmore, president; Alex.
Sullivan, secretary

;
L. P. Bailey,George A. Jones,

Jacob Glessner, George L. Shinnick, H. J.

Cox, treasurer.

1

852-

5
3.—E- F. Fiilmore, president; Alex.

Sullivan, secretary; L. P. Bailey, James L. Cox.
Jacob Glessner, George L. Shinnick; IP. J. Cox,
treasurer; G. YV. Batchelder, superintendent.

1

853—

54. —James L. Cox, president: Alex.
Sullivan, secretary; George L. Shinnick, Jacob
Glessner, Michael Dulty, John M. James, H .J.

Cox, treasurer. G. YV. Batchelder, superintend-
ent.

i 8 S 4
j
55 -—Jacob Glessner, president; L. H.

Bigelow, secretary; Michael Dulty, John T.

Fracker, James F. Adams, Bernard Van Horne,
H. J. Cox, treasurer, G. YV. Batchelder, super-
intendent.

1 8 5

5-

’ 56.—L. H. Bigelow, president; L. P.

Marsh, secretary
;
John T. Fracker, James F.

Adams, William Schultz, William M. Shinnick,
H. J. Cox, treasurer; Almon Sampson, super-
intendent.

1

856-

’ 57.—L. H. Bigelow, president; James
F. Adams, secretary; William Schultz, William
M. Shinnick, J. T. Fracker, A. C. Ross, H. J.

Cox, treasurer; Almon Samson, superintend-
ent.

1

857-

’58.—L. H. Bigelow, president; James PL

Adams, secretary; A. C. Ross, William M.
Shinnick, D. D’Yarmett, Adams Fletcher,
Moses Dillon, treasurer; M. D. Leggett, super-
intendent,

1 8

58-

’ 59.—A.C. Ross, president; A. P. Block-
som, secretary, D. D’Yarmett, William M.
Shinnick, Adams PPetchcr, YV. A. Graham,
Moses Dillon, treasurer; M. D. Leggett, super-
intendent.

1859-

60.—Adams Fletcher, president; A. P.

Blocksom, secretary; YVm. M. Shinnick; D.
D’Yarmett; YV. A. Graham; Alfred Ball; Moses
Dillon, treasurer; M. D. Leggett, superintend-
ent.

1860-

’6i.—

A

dams Fletcher, president; A. P.

Blockson, secretary; YV. A. Graham; YVm. M.
Shinnick; A Ball; PL A. Thompson; Moses Dil-

lon, treasurer; M. D. Leggett, superintendent.
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1861-

’62.—Adams Fletcher, president; A. P.

Blocksom, secretary; Wm. M. Shinnick; A.

Ball, F. A. Thompson; Thomas Lindsay
;
Moses

Dillon, treasurer; M. D. Leggett, superin-

tendent.
1862-

63.—Adams Fletcher, president; F. A.

Thompson, secretary; A. P. Blocksom, Wm. M.
Shinnick; Thomas Lindsay; M. C. Mitchell;

Moses Dillon, treasurer; C. W. Chandler, sup-

erintendent.

1863-

64.—Adams Fletcher, president; F. A.

Thompson, secretary; A. P. Blocksom; Wm.
M. Shinnick, Thomas Lindsay; M. C. Mitchell;

A. H. Brown, treasurer; A. Fletcher, financial

agent.

1

864-

’65 .—Adams Fletcher, president, F. A.

Thompson, secretary. Wm. M. Shinnick,

Thomas Lindsay, M. C. Mitchell, John R. Price,

A. H. Brown, treasurer; A. Fletcher, financial

agent.

1

865-

’66.—Adams Fletcher, president; F. A.
Thompson, secretary; Thomas Lindsay; J. R.

Price; C. C. Russell; W. M. Herriott; A. H.
Brown, treasurer; A. Fletcher, financial agent.

1866-

’67.—Adams Fletcher, president; F. A.

Thompson, secretary; Thomas Lindsay; J. R.

Price; C. C. Russell; W. M. Herriott; YV. A.
Graham, treasurer; A. Fletcher, financial agent.

1867-

68.—Adams Fletcher, president; F.

A. Thompson, secretary; J. R. Price; C. C.

Russell, YV. M. Herriott, M. C. Mitchell; YV. A.
Graham, treasurer; A. Fletcher, financial agent.

1868-

69.—Adams Fletcher, president; F. A.
Thompson, secretary; J. R. Price, C. C. Russell,

M. C. Mitchell, George YV. Gheen, George YV.

Griffee, Theobald Stemler; W. A. Graham,
treasurer; A. P'letcher, financial agent.

1869-

70.—Adams Fletcher, president; C. C.

Russell, secretary; J. R. Price, M. C. Mitchell,

George YV. Griffee, Theo. Stemler, F. A. Vic-

tor, J. YV. Conrade; YV. A. Graham, treasurer;

A. Fletcher, financial agent.

1870-

71.—Adams P'letcher, president; C. C.

Russell, secretary; George W. Griffee, Theo.
Stemler, F. A. Victor, J. YV. Conrade, YVilliam

H. Hurd, Isaac Piersol; J. R. Slack, treasurer;

A. Fletcher, financial agent; A. T. YViles, super-

intendent.

1871-

72.— George W. Griffee, president; C.

C. Russell, secretary; J. W. Conrade, YV. H.
Hurd, Isaac Piersol, Richard Hocking, William
Lilienthal, Jesse Atwell, S. Jacobs Moore, YVill-

iam Geiger; YV. M. Shinnick, treasurer; A. T.

YY'iles, superintendent.

1872-

73.—George W. Griffee, president;
YVilliam H. Hurd, secretary; Isaac Piersol,

Richard Hocking, William Lilienthal, C. YV.

Chandler, Jesse Atwell, S. Jacobs Moore, C. C.

Russell, Matthew Calhoon, J. V. Smeltzer; YV.

M. Shin nick, treasurer; A. T. YViles, superin-
tendent.

1

873-

74.—George YV. Griffee, president; YV.

H. Hurd, secretary; C. C. Russell, Richard
Hocking, William Lilienthal, Jesse Atwell,
Matthew Calhoon, J. V. Smeltzer, Henry
Shrimpton, Daniel Dugan, J. C. Gillespie; YV.

M. Shinnick, treasurer; A. T. Wiles, superin-
tendent.

1874-

75.—George YV. Griffee, president;
William H. Hurd, treasurer; Richard Hocking,
Matthew Calhoon, J. V. Smeltzer, Henry
Shrimpton, Daniel Dugan, Andrew L. Pierce,

J. C. Gillespie; A. T. YViles, superintendent and
clerk.

1

875-

76.—James C. Gillespie, president; Wil
liam H. Hurd, treasurer; Richard Hocking
George YV. Griffee, YVilliam Lilienthal, James
A. Cox, Henry Shrimpton, Daniel Dugan, A.
L. Pierce; A. T. YViles, superintendent and
clerk.

1876-

77. James C. Gillespie, president;
Chas. C. Goddard, treasurer; James A. Cox,
Wm. Lilienthal, Alfred Ball, Martin V. Mitch-
ell, Andrew L. Pierce, John L. Turner, Pmgene
Printz; A. T. YViles, superintendent and clerk.

1

877-

78.-—Eugene Printz, president; James
A. Cox, clerk; James C. Gillespie, treasurer;

Jacob Crotzer, Martin V. Mitchell, YVm. Lilien-

thal, Alfred Ball, Homer C. White, John L.

Turner; A. T. YViles, superintendent.

1878-

79. Martin V. Mitchell, president;

Jas. A. Cox, clerk; Jacob Crotzer, treasurer;

YVm. M. Shinnick, Jr., Chas. J. Brenholts, Al-
fred Ball, Homer C. White, John L. Turner,
James C. Gillespie; A. T. Wiles, superintend-
ent.

1879-

80.—Chas. J. Brenholts, president;

Jas. A. Cox, clerk: Jacob Crotzer, treasurer;

Wm. M. Shinnick, Jr., George R. Humphreys,
Martin V. Mitchell, H. D. Munson, Sr., JohnL.
Turner, James C. Gillespie; W. D. Lash, super-
intendent.

1880-

81.—YYhn. M. Shinnick, Jr., president;

G. Jacob Crotzer, treasurer; Jas. A. Cox, Wm.
Lilienthal, Geo. R. Humphreys, Martin V. Mit-
chell, H. D. Munson, Sr., John L. Turner,

Jas. C. Gillespie; W. D. Lash, superintendent
and clerk.

1881-

82.—H. D. Munson, Sr., president;

Wm. M. Shinnick, Jr., clerk; G. Jacob Crotzer,

treasurer; Dr. S. F. PMgar, YVm. Lilienthal, Dr.

J. S. Haldeman, Martin V. Mitchell, John L.

Turner, James C. Gillespie; YV. D. Lash, super-
intendent.

1882-

83.—James C. Gillespie, president;

YVm. M. Shinnick, Jr., clerk; G. Jacob Crotzer,
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treasurer; Dr. S. F. Edgar, Chas. J. Brenholts,
Dr. J. S. Haldeman, Id. J. Baker, H. D. Mun-
son, Sr., Jacob Zinsmeister; W. D. Lash, super-

intendent.

1883—

84.—Dr. J. S. Haldeman, president;

Wm. M. Schinnick, Jr., clerk; G. Jacob Crot-

zer, treasurer; Dr. S. F. Edgar; Chas. J. Bren-
holts; H. J. Baker; H. D. Munson, Sr.; Jacob
Zinsmeister; James C. Gillespie; W. D. Lash,
superintendent.

1

884—

’85.—H. D. Munson, Sr., president;

Wm. M. Shinnick, Jr., clerk; G. Jacob Crotzer,

treasurer; Dr. S. F. Edgar; Chas. J. Brenholts;
Dr. J. S. Haldeman; George Rishtine; Jacob
Zinsmeister; James C. Gillespie; W. D. Lash,
superintendent.
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5—

’86.—Dr. S. F. Edgar, president; Wm.
M. Shinnick, Jr., Clerk, G. Jacob Crotzer,

treasurer; Chas. J. Brenholtz, Dr. J. S. Halde-
man; George Rishtine; Henry B. Parsons;

Jacob Zinsmeister; Thos. E. Richards; W. D.
Lash, superintendent.

1886—

87. --Thos. E. Richards, president;
Wm. M. Shinnick, Jr., clerk; G. Jacob Crotzer,

treasurer; Dr. S. F. Edgar; Chas. J. Bren-
holts; Dr. J. S. Haldeman; George Rishtine;
Henry B. Parsons; Jacob Zinsmeister; W. D.
Lash, superintendent.

1

887—

’88.—Henry B. Parsons, president;
Wm. M. Shinnick, Jr., clerk; Jacob Zinsmeis-
ter, treasurer; Jas. T. Irvine; Chas. J. Bren-
holts; Dr. J. S. Haldeman. George Rishtine;
Dr. S. F. Edgar; Thos. E. Richards; Dr. W.
P. Wells; W. D. Lash, superintendent.

1

888—

’89.—Dr. J. S. Haldeman, president;
Wm. M. Shinnick, Jr., clerk; Jacob Zinsmeis-
ter, treasurer; Dr. S. F. Edgar; James T.

Irvine; Chas. J. Brenholts; George Rishtine;
H. B. Parsons; Thos. E. Richards; A. J.

Andrews; W. D. Lash, superintendent.
i88g-’go.—Dr. J. S. Haldeman, president;

Wm. M. Shinnick, Jr., clerk; Jacob Zinsmeis-
ter, treasurer; Dr. J. T. Barton; James T.
Irvine, Chas. J. Brenholts, George Rishtine,
Theo. McCaddon, Samuel L. Wiles, A. J.

Andrews; W. D. Lash, superintendent.
i8go-gi.— Dr. J. S. Haldeman, president;

Geo. Rishtine,vice-president; Wm. M. Shinnick,

Jr., clerk; Jacob Zinsmeister, treasurer; Dr.
T. J. Barton; Jas. T. Irvine; Herman Achauer;
Lewis Smith; Samuel L. Wiles; J. Hope Sutor;
W. D. Lash, superintendent of instruction.

i8gi-g2. George Rishtine, president; J.

Hope Sutor, vice-president; Wm. M. Shinnick,
Jr., clerk; Jacob Zinsmeister, treasurer; Dr. T.

J. Barton; James T. Irvine; Herman Achauer;
J. N. Carr; Frank O. Munson, Samuel L. Wiles;
W. D. Lash, superintendent of instruction.

Prior to i83g, the public schools of Zanes-
ville were operated under the general school
laws of the state. The first general school law
was enacted by the general assembly of 1824-

25. It provided for the election of three direc-

tors for each school district, and for a levy for

school purposes of one-half a mill on the dollar

of taxable property. This law was amended
in i82g so as to authorize county commis-
sioners to levy a school tax of three-fourths of

a mill. In 1837, the county commissioners
were authorized to levy one and a half mills,

and in 1838 two mills. In 1 §3g, the county
commissioners were authorized to reduce the
school levy to one mill. The special law for
“ the support and better regulation of the
schools of the town of Zanesville,” passed in

1 S3g, made no provision for a levy by the board
of education of a tax for school purposes, but
provided that the town council should, upon
requisition of the board of education, appro-
priate annually a sufficient amount of funds to

defray the contingent expenses of the schools,

for rent, fuel, repairs, &c. The tuition fund
was still raised under the provisions of the
general law. The funds so obtained were not
sufficient to meet the requirements of the
schools, and the deficiency was made up by
tuition fees, varying in amount in different

years.

There were at this time two school districts

in Zanesville township, outside the corporate
limits of the town, that shared equally with the
borough in the funds arising from taxation. In

1848, the board of education of the town
secured an amendment to the law whereby the
taxable property of the borough was made re-

turnable separate and apart from that in the
township outside the borough. In i84g, a law
was enacted by the general assembly for the
“support and better regulation of public schools
in cities and towns,” the twelfth section of

which authorized boards of education to de-

termine the amount of tax to be levied for all

school purposes, except the purchase of sites

and the erection of buildings, provided that

such tax should not exceed four mills upon the
dollar of taxable property. In 1851 this sec-

tion was, by special act, made applicable to

the city of Zanesville. The last enactment re-

lieved the city council of the duty of pro-
viding for the contingent expenses of the
schools, leaving with that body only the duty
of purchasing sites and erecting buildings.

Under the special law of l83g, modified by the
several amendments named above, the schools
of Zanesville were conducted until the enac-
ment of the present general school law.
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Besides these amendments directly affect-

ing the law under which the schools of Zanes-
ville were conducted, it was further modified

by provisions contained in the city charter,

and subsequently by those of the municipal
code, as well as by amendments to the general

school law of the state. These acts and
amendments were so conflicting and contra-

dictory, and so inconsistent with the original

Zanesville school law of 1839, that it became a

very difficult matter to determine what were
the legal rights and duties of the board of

education, and to what extent the powers of

the city council extended to the educational
department of the city, and led to much em-
barrassment in the relations of these two
bodies. These embarrassments have been
removed by the provisions of the general
school law of 1873, which vests the title of all

property formerly held by the city council for

school purposes, in the board of education,
and authorizes the board of education to

provide for tuitional and contingent expenses
by the levy of a tax not exceeding seven mills

on the dollar of taxable property, and, if

necessary, to borrow money upon bonds for

the purchase of sites and the erection of

buildings.

In addition to the funds arising from taxa-

tion, the board of education received from the
trustees of the Mclntire estate, from 1856 to

1865, a sum sufficient to defray the expenses
of the schools taught in the Mclntire building,

since which time they received annually,

from the same source, the sum of 88,000
until the opening of the school year
1878-79, when the trustees of this estate

reduced the amount for tuitionary purposes to

87,000, and directed that the sum of 81,800 be
expended in books and clothing for poor
children. In June, 1880, the contract with the
board under which this amount of money was
annually received from the Mclntire estate was
rescinded. The trustees, however have annu-
ally given to the board of education the sum
of 8i,000 to be expended in books and clothing
for poor children who attended the public
schools. The action of the trustees of this

estate in withdrawing this amount of money
from the support of the public schools was
made necessary by the expenditure of money
by them in establishing a children’s home.
A tract of land now within the corporate limits

of Zanesville, was purchased and improved,
and elegant buildings, including a school house,
with all necessary conveniences for caring for

small children, were erected. This institution

is known as the John Mclntire children’s

home. Prior to the withdrawal of this money
by the Mclntire trustees, the local levy for

school purposes, made by the board of educa-
tion, was three and one-half mills. The loss

of this amount from the school funds, the
building of new school houses, and the furnish-

ing of other buildings with steam-heating
apparatus, and new furniture, made it necessary
for the board to increase the levy, which, for

the year 1886-87, was five ar>d one-half mills.

The limit fixed by the state law is seven mills.

In addition to the public schools there are

a number of private institutions most promi-
nent of which are the following: Putnam
P'emale Seminary, inaugurated in 1835 an<-l in-

corporated in 1836: Zanesville Business College,

established in April, 1866; St. Thomas Catholic

School, organized in 1856; Trinity Lutheran
School, opened about i860; St. Nicholas
Catholic School; Radef Schulem Hebrew
School, and Putnam Academy, a military school
for boys, Rev. E. E. Rogers principal and pro-

prietor, now in its second year.

Closely allied with the educational history of

Zanesville is that of its old and valuable library.

The Zanesville Athenaeum is the crowning re-

sult of numerous zealous efforts and had its in-

ception in a movement for the formation of a

reading society in 1827. December 19, that

year, a meeting was held for that purpose.
Alexander Harper presided; Alfred Martin was
secretary. Richard Stillwell, Allen Cadwal-
lader and C. B. Goddard were appointed a com-
mittee to draft articles of association. These
articles show that it was a library association

pure and simple, governed as most library as-

sociations are governed, charging an annual
membership fee of 85 with the proviso that one
already a member might secure to a member of

his family, a minor fourteen years old or over,

the privileges of a member on payment of an
annual fee of 82. These regulations were
amended February 16, 1829, to the code now
in force. The association was incorporated

December 22, 1828. The following were signers

and stockholders with voting privileges:

Charles B. Goddard, H. L. Pierce, George B.

Reeve, David Reed, S. H. Culbertson, Isaac

Dillon, Amos G. Baldwin, A. C. Howard, John
Milson, Jr., Henry Granger, William Blocksom,
Stephen Burwell, Daniel Convers, Josiah

Spalding, Samuel Russell, Jacob Stout,

Adam Peters, W. R. Putnam, W. C. Pelham,
C. C. Convers, J.

V. Cushing, A. Cadwalladcr,

J. Belknap, John Sherrard, Robert Fulton, W.
A. Adams, James Reeve, W. L. Jackson,
Samuel Hall, T. Flaunerer, Joseph Robertson,

J. Molleston, Charles Hill, Richard Stillwell,
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.Nap. Morehead,E. Cadwallader, Jonas Stanberg,
Alexander Harper, C. C. Gilbert, D. Brush, James
Raguet, David Spangler, George W. Jackson,
R. Doster, Charles S. Wilson, James Granger,
Irwin Reed, George Reeves, J. H. Moorehead,
B. Van Horne, John A. Adams, Joseph Cald-
well, Alfred Martin, Robert Richmond, M. D.
Wheeler, Washington Moorehead, George
Golden, L. P. Bailey, George H. Flood, M.
Dulty, R. W. Rhodes and one hundred others.

The first officers of the association were
Alexander Harper, president; Alfred Martin,

secretary; J. V. Cushing, treasurer; Seth
Adams, librarian; R. Stillwell, A. Cadwallader,

C. B. Goddard, B. VanHorne, W. A. Adams,
directors. Work was begun by the purchase

of several of the leading magazines and news-
papers of the day. In 1830 the county leased

the grounds where the present court house
stands, and they erected thereon a building at

a cost of $3,500, where they remained until

1874, when they removed to their present com-
modious quarters at 30 and 32 South Fifth

street. At present the Library has a revenue
of about $2,000 annually, and contains about
six thousand volumes. The income of the
Athenaeum is $1,000 annually from the Mclntire
estate, to which are added rents and $4 annually
from each stockholder. The present officers

are Dr. E. C. Brush, president; J. R. Stone-
sipher, secretary and treasurer; Miss M. A.
Stillwell, librarian.

©hetpjep /II.

BENCH AND BAR.

P
RINCIPALLY, the following interesting

sketch of Muskingum county’s judicial

history from 1804 to 1877 is taken from the
address of Hon. Moses M. Granger, of Zanes-
ville, delivered at the dedication of the Musk-
ingum county court-house, on the 1st of May,
1877: The county’s birthday was March 1,

1804. On April 25, 1804, the first session of

the court of common pleas was held in David
Harvey’s tavern. Ohio had borrowed a judi-

cial system from Pennsylvania, and, grouping
several counties in a “circuit,” assigned it to

one president judge. He was required to be a

lawyer, and was elected by the state legislature.

That body also chose from among the electors

of each county three citizens—not lawyers

—

and called them associate judges. The presi-

dent and two associates made up a quorum; in

the absence of the president, the three asso-
ciates could sit as a court. Special sessions
could be held as often as needed by the asso-

ciates, and they disposed of the great body of

the ordinary work now done in the probate
court. The state, in 1804, embraced three cir-

cuits. The second contained Adams, Fairfield,

Franklin, Gallia, Muskingum, Ross and Scioto
counties, and the 25th of April was by law
named for the beginning of the first term of

common pleas in Muskingum, being the third

Monday in the month. The supreme court
consisted of three judges, and was required to

hold one term each year in each county, and
the said third Monday, April 25, 1804, was fixed

for the beginning of the first term of the su-

preme court in this county. There is no record
extant of any session of the supreme court, but
the president judge of the common pleas cir-

cuit that year was Levin Betts. The county
offices contain no docket or record of any kind
touching that session, and it is very probable
that it was merely a formal one. Abel Lewis
was by the court appointed clerk pro tern, of

the court of common pleas, and over his signa-

ture the earliest writ issued from the common
pleas of which any record exists went out on
June 6, 1804, being a capias ad respondendum at

the suit of Samuel Courier, husbandman-carter,
versus James Sprague. Wyllis Silliman was
attorney for plaintiff, and Philemon Beecher,
of Lancaster, appeared for the defense. The
action was in slander; damages claimed, S500;
the slander charged being the use of the words,
“You arc a thief, and I can prove it.” The
declaration was in the old verbose form. Ver-
dict for the plaintiff; damages, $3. This ver-

dict was rendered in November, 1804, and so
far as the records show was the first one in the
county. Lawyer Silliman evidently was dis-
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pleased with his client, for on November 20,

same month, he sued out another capias as at-

torney for the very James Sprague from whom
he had just recovered the 83, and arrested his

former client, Samuel Courier, husbandman-car-
ter, in a suit for $100 debt. Lewis Cass de-

fended this suit, and at August term, 1805, ob-

tained a verdict, and James Sprague had to pay
the costs. Following is the composition of the

first petit jury in Muskingum common pleas: 1,

William Montgomery; 2, Isaac Prior; 3, John
Reasoner; 4, Joseph Neff; 5, Thomas Cordray;

6, David Herron; 7, William Dusenberry; 8,

William Reasoner; 9, Daniel Campbell; 10,

Joseph Stotts; 11, David Enslow; the twelfth

man did not appear.
The record is not signed, and it cannot be

stated with certainty what judge presided, but
it was probably Levin Betts. Nothing can be
learned as to his history. Muskingum remained
in his circuit less than a year. It is probable
that he resided nearor west of the Scioto, as the
most populous part of his circuit was Ross
county, which had a large influence in the
legislature by which he must have been
elected.

The act of February 22, 1805, transferred
Muskingum to the Third circuit, composed of

the counties of Belmont, Columbiana, Jeffer-

son, Muskingum, Trumbull and Washington,
and thereby Calvin Pease became the president
judge. He was even then, although he had
been for some years on the bench, only twenty-
seven years old. A New-Englander, sharp,

energetic and witty. He resided in Trumbull
county, and “administered the law to all the
inhabitants of the state east of the Muskingum
river,” and performed his duties as judge
“ with much ability and integrity.” He ceased
to be judge of this court at the close of 1807,
but became one of the judges of the supreme
court of the state in 1816, and at the same time
John McLean, who for so many years adorned
the bench of the highest national court, was
chosen a member of the same court. Judge
Pease afterwards practiced law in Trumbull
and adjoining counties. It may be well to here
add a list of the common pleas judges who
have presided in the county: 1804, Levin Betts;

1805-1808, Calvin Pease; 1808-1822, William
Wilson; 1822-1836, Alexander Harper; 1836-
1846, Corrington W. Searle; 1847-October 17,

1851, Richard Stillwell; October 17, 1851-Feb-
ruary 9, 1852, Corrington W. Searle; 1 852—
September 16, 1854, Richard Stillwell; Septem-
ber 16, 1854-October 20, 1854, John PI Hanna
October 20, 1854— 19th October, 1855, Charles
C. Convers; October, 19, 1855-25111 October,

1856, Corrington W. Searle; October, 25, 1856-
9th February, 1862, Lucius P. Marsh; February

9, 1862-ioth December, 1866, Ezra E. Evans;
December 10, i866~9th October, 1871, Moses
M. Granger; August 3, i86g-3d August, 1874,
Frederick W. Wood; October 9, 1871, William
H. Frazier; August 3, 1874, Lucius P. Marsh;
Judge Frazier was re-elected in 1876 without op-
position.

William Wilson, third president judge of

the Muskingum common pleas, was born in the

year 1770, at or near Goffstown, a village about
fifteen miles south of Concord, the capital of

New Hampshire. The son of a farmer, he was
educated at Dartmouth college. The follow-

ing sketch was written by James R. Stanbery,
Esq., of Newark:

“ Having studied law in his native state, he
removed to Johnstown, New York, where he
practiced a short time, and then came to Chil-

licothe, Ohio, where he married. He was ap-

pointed president judge of the court of com-
mon pleas in the year 1808, when Licking
county was organized, and presided in the

courts of the district of which Licking was
then a part, until the year 1822. In October,

1822, he was elected to congress. He served
as member of congress for one term, and was
re-elected, served a second term, and died in

1827, and is buried at Newark, Ohio. The
counties composing his judicial district includ-

ed P'airfield, Licking, Knox, Muskingum and
others. His characteristics as a man were
peculiar, and he was while he lived, noted for

his liberality, and had the confidence and re-

gard of all his neighbors. He was foremost in

all public enterprises of his day, and consulted
in all matters of public interest. He was
very easy of approach by all, and had a popu-
larity which always secured him public position

when he aspired to it. His knowledge of his

profession is said not to have been profound,
but his administration of justice was satisfac-

tory, and up to the requirements of the time
in which he lived. He believed in keeping
the peace and ridding the community of ob-

noxious offenders in a small way by what now
might be considered a more summary process

than attends “ the law’s delay.” There was
once on a time in the history of the village in

which he lived, then containing a sparse popu-
lation, such men as were known as wife beaters,

and the citizens upon one occasion (as recol-

lected by the writer who was then a boy), had
convened to punish such an offender; after

diligent search for him, they found him con-
cealed in his cabin, and had prepared a rail

upon which it was proposed to mount him.
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By common consent of the crowd before ad-

ministering the punishment, concluded that

Judge Wilson should first be consulted as to

its propriety. The residence of the judge was
sought, who being aroused from his bed, and
advised of the object of the visit, which was
in the night, promptly approved of the deci-

sion of his neighbors, and after furnishing the

necessary luxuries, headed the procession and
carried the offender to be dealt with as had
been decided. When the ride was extended
far enough, the victim being rested and re-

freshed from time to time, the judge delivered

him a lecture, and directed him to leave the

neighborhood and never again revisit it. That
man never came back.”

“Judge Alexander Harper,” says Judge
Granger, “was born February 5, 1786, I think

in the North of Ireland. I cannot give you
the date at which he became a member of the

bar of our county; but the oldest existing

docket shows him engaged in cases at August
term, 1813. From 1817 to 1822, he had with
him in a firm styled Harper & Doland, John
Doland, who about 1824-5, moved to Perry
county. In October, 1820, Mr. Harper was
elected to represent Muskingum in the state

house of representatives, and re-elected in

1821. In 1822, he was chosen judge.
“ On retiring from the bench in 1836, Judge

Harper followed the precedent set by Judge
Wilson, and was elected as our representative
in congress, and as such served for four terms,
1 837-39 ; 1843-47; 1851-53. He died December
1, i860. His long life in our midst made him
so known that many who hear me can describe
him far better than I. When I came to the bar he
was just leaving it. I can recall only one in-

stance in which I heard him argue a cause.

He was defending a man nearly as old as him-
self, who under great provocation had shot and
killed a man in, I think, Jefferson township.
Judge Harper, as known to me, was always
even-tempered and kind in manner. His old
client, to whom I refer, as he sat behind his

counsel, showed a face so gentle, so unmarked
by passion, that I yielded ready credit to his

many neighbors who testified that when not
influenced or overcome by liquor, his temper
and conduct had always been peaceful. Judge
Harper, old as he was, spoke with much of the
fire of his early days, and so carried court and
jury with him that the verdict was manslaughter,
and the sentence the mildest permitted by the
law. Another of my few remembrances con-
nected with Judge Harper, is the fact thatwhen
in 1851, the Whig congressional convention
was about to meet to name a candidate whose

lection was sure, the general sentiment of the
district awarded the place to the judge. This
fact always seemed to me very creditable to
him. After fourteen years’ service as judge,
and six years in congress, to be so called upon
as a candidate in a district where undoubted
party success would naturally invite competi-
tion before the convention, seems good proof
that in his long public service, Alexander
Harper had shown himself capable and honest.
No one in our present bar was in practice
while Judge Harper was upon the bench;
hence neither you nor I can learn further de-
tails of his judicial career. Such men as

Thomas Ewing, the elder, Philemon Beecher,
Henry Stanbery, Charles B. Goddard, and oth-
ers appeared before him year after year, and
his circuit comprised a number of important
and influential counties. Under these circum-
stances, after seven years of services, the gen-
eral assembly, in 1829, re-elected him; while
therefore, details are absent, the outlines prove
him a worthy judge.

“ His successor, Corrington W. Searle, was
a resident of Newark, when in 1836, he was
chosen to office. He soon removed to Zanes-
ville, and remained in or near our city until his

death. Born in Wyoming valley, Pennsylva-
nia, of Connecticut parentage, he came in early

manhood to Ohio, studied law in the office of

Wyllis Siliman, and was admitted about 1820.

Called to the bar in a newly settled state,

while libraries were scarce and scant, and books
costly and difficult to procure, the circum-
stances under which Ohio law practice needs
must be carried on, reinforced his vigorous in-

tellect and keen perception and so familiarized
him with the great foundation principles of
law that for him their application to any given
state of facts was an easy task; and he rarely

failed to rightly and speedily solve the most
complex legal problems. A correct thinker,

he never wasted words in giving expression to

his thoughts; every word used occupied a fit-

ting place and carried some portion of the
sense intended to be conveyed. His observa-
tion was keen; he well understood the men
who, as litigants, lawyers, jurors, or witnesses
came before him. As a judge, his decisions,

were clear, concise and accurate; as a lawyer,
his examination or cross examination of a wit-

ness resulted in presenting to court or jury
every fact spoken of in as favorable light for his

side of the case as well judged questions could
produce. As an advocate, his manner was
quiet but impressive, and united with his cor-

rect reasoning and clear style, gave him great
influence with court and jury. Becoming tired
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of judicial work, he resigned at the close of

the year 1846, and began practice in the law
office vacated by Judge Stillwell. As shown by
the list heretofore given, he was subsequently
twice recalled to the judgeship during vacan-
cies by resignations. Judge Searle presided
for the last time October 25, 1856. After that

date he undertook no new cases, and seldom
appeared in court. He lived on his farm, about
a mile south of Putnam, until, shortly before

his death, he removed to Zanesville, and died
there December 1, 1865.

To fill the vacancy caused by the resigna-

tion of Judge Searle, the legislature selected

Richard Stillwell, at the session of 1846-47. Be-
fore the ensuing term of court, he became seri-

ously ill, and so continued for an entire year.

He wished to resign, but the bar were urgent
that he should remain in office. He first sat

as judge, in this county, on the 4th day of

April, 1848. In October, 1850, he was chosen
to represent the county in the convention
which formed our present constitution, and in

October, 1851, was elected judge of common
pleas, for the sub-division composed of Musk-
ingum, Morgan and Noble counties; the first

judge chosen for us by popular election. In

September, 1854, he resigned and resumed
practice. He was born in Bucks county,
Pennsylvania, September 2, 1797, and was
brought in childhood to our county by his

father, Daniel Stilwell, who sat as associate
judge of common pleas, in 1817. “Young
Stillwell,” says Mr. Granger, “studied law in

Zanesville, with Gen. Derrick, and was
admitted to the bar about 1819. His name
first appears as engaged in a cause at July
term, 1819. He was soon afterward made
prosecuting attorney, which office he ably
filled for many years. He soon acquired a
large practice, and thenceforward held a lead-

ing position in our bar. His mind was active
and his temperament nervous. Himself an
able lawyer and a zealous worker, he had small
patience with the ill-prepared, the careless, or
the idle, and ever sought to prevent unneces-
sary delays in the trial of causes. But he was
quick to detect real merit and to encourage
the young lawyer who evinced industry, study
and professional ambition. Like his prede-
cessor, Judge Searle, he was well grounded in

legal principles and ready and apt in cor-

rectly applying them to the facts in the case;
and also, clear and concise in his charges and
decisions. He was judge in my student days,
and I well remember how wonderful it seemed
to me, that so soon as the arguments closed,

he could, as he did, turn to the jury and with

scarce a pause, referring to no book, and rarely

ever to the papers in the case, tell them point-

edly how, if the facts were so and so, their

verdict-must be for the plaintiff; or if so and
so, for the defendant. He never troubled them
with legal theorems, or quotations, or disquisi-

tions, and sent them into their room ‘all at

sea’ to puzzle out the application of extracts

from law books to what facts seemed to them
proven; he, as it were, translated general state-

ments of legal propositions into the language
of the facts in the case; and when the jury

agreed as to the facts their difficulties were at

an end.” Both Searle and Stillwell, loved the

old common law and its system of pleading,

and were reluctant to part with even its objec-

tionable technicalities. This was very natural.

It had been the study of their youth; the work
of their lives had been controlled and measured
by it, and the change came when they had
reached that age which sees most readily the

possible perils of that which is new, and is

almost blind to the imperfections of that

which had long been familiar. Resuming
practice in the fall of 1854, with his son-in-law,

Capt. John C. Hazlett as his partner, he
engaged far more actively than did Judge
Searle, and continued until his last sickness.

He died February 2d, 1862.

On September 16, 1854, John E. Hanna, of

Morgan county, was commissioned by Gover-
nor Medill, to fill the vacancy until a successor

could be elected. He sat as common pleas

judge for three days, and attended as one of

the district court judges, at September term,

1854. In October, Charles C. Convers, was
elected by the people, and on October 20th

was commissioned, and Judge Hanna’s brief

term came to an end. John E. Hanna was
born December 19, 1805, in Westmoreand
county, Pennsylvania. In 18

1 5, his father came
to Harrison county, Ohio., and there the son
began to read law with Chauncey Dewey, in

the spring of 1823, and was admitted to the

bar on September 27, 1825, at New Philadel-

phia. He located at McConnelsville, in April,

1826. In 1840, February 1 8th, he was by the

legislature chosen president judge of com-
mon pleas for the then Eighth circuit, com-
posed of the counties of Athens, Gallia, Law-
rence, Meigs, Morgan, Washington and Scioto,

and served seven years. On his retirement

from the bench, he resumed practice at the

bar. As he is still amongst us, known and
liked by all, I shall leave to some future chron-

icler the summing up of his career. Long may
he live, as cheerful and kindly as he is now. I

know no man who has passed the measure of
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three score and ten who walks with so firm and
springy a step as does he to-day. Few who
are a score of years his junior can equal it.”

Charles C. Convers was born in Zanesville

on the 26th day of July, 1810; son of the same
Daniel Convers who in his youth had brought
the first mail from Marietta, and grandson of

Benjamin Convers and Josiah Munro, both
members of “ The Ohio Company.” He studied
law in the office of his brother-in-law, Charles
B. Goddard; came to the bar in 1831 or 1832;

practiced for many years in the firm of Goddard
& Convers; represented the county in the state

senate in 1849 and 1850; was speaker of the
state senate during the interesting session of

1850-5 1 ;
was a candidate on the Whig ticket for

supreme judge in 1851, but the Democrats car-

ried the state; was elected common pleas

judge in October, 1854, and judge of the
supreme court in 1855. He was sworn into

office as judge of the supreme court in Febru-
ary, 1856, but the disease that was to cause his

death had already seized upon him, and there

being no hope of his recovery he soon resigned.

He died September 10, i860.

Judge Convers differed in many ways from
his predecessors. Already in his school-boy
days schools and colleges had been established

in the state; the university at Athens had
already graduated Thomas Ewing and others.

His father gave to his son freely all accessi-

ble educational advantages— supplementing
school, college and office instruction by send-
ing him to the Harvard law school, then in its

earlier and palmy days. There he heard the
lectures of Story and Greenleaf, and had for

fellow-students such men as Benjamin Robbins
Curtis and Charles Sumner—since famous, the
one upon the bench and at the bar of the
supreme court of the United States, the other
in the national senate. An eager and diligent

student, he became, it may be safely said, more
“learned in the law” than any other Ohio
lawyer of his day. This devotion to study;
this vast reading not unnaturally prevented him
from grasping the controlling principles of the
law as firmly as his predecessors had done.
Accustomed to books—possessed of one of the
most complete law libraries then in the state

he, as it were, by an insensible process of
growth, came to rely upon books and preced-
ents rather than on reasoning from legal princi-

ples. Ilis mind readily perceived distinctions,

and his retentive memory kept ever present the
variations and exceptions to which every rule

is subject. Ilis great conscientiousness made
it seem a duty to accompany every annuncia-
tion of a legal proposition from the bench, in

an opinion or a charge, with a statement of the
modifications, variations and exceptions to

which it might be subject. This habit, while so
creditable in motive, while it gave signal proof
of his legal erudition, and conveyed much
information profitable to the attentive student
or lawyer, occasionally embarrassed juries, who
naturally could not remember enough of such
detailed instructions to properly apply them.
This character of mind caused him to prefer
the hearing and determination of equity cases
to sitting as a nisi prius judge with a jury.

“
I had the profit and pleasure of studying

law in his office,” says Judge Granger, “and ever
have and ever- will remember him with honor
and affection. A cultured gentleman, refined

and courteous, he sought to foster in his

students a love for the law as a science and an
ambition to elevate the esprit du corps of the
bar.” Of slight frame physically, his constitu-

tion, temperament and habit gave him as an
advocate the manner of the scholar rather than
that of the orator, but his earnestness

,
his argu-

mentative power, backed by his thorough
acquaintance with the law and facts of his case,

made him very influential with court and jury.

His reputation as a lawyer of great learning and
ability gave him a practice more extensive, con-
sidering the territory covered, than that enjoyed
by any other resident member of the Muskin-
gum bar. His retainers in cases for argument
in the supreme court came from counties in all

parts of Southeastern Ohio, and his name
appears in the Ohio reports during the last half

of his practice oftener, perhaps, than that of

any other Muskingum county lawyer.
The vacancy caused by his resignation as

common pleas judge was filled, as already
stated, by Judge Searle, who held under ap-
pointment of the Governor until the election

and qualification of Judge Marsh, in October,
1856. “As for the remaining Judges, Marsh,
Evans, Granger, Wood and Frazier, they yet
live and may be seen and known of you all.

Some future historian of your county and its

courts may tell another generation of their

work.”
Thus much as to the lawyer-judges of the

Muskingum common pleas. For half a century
— 1802-1852—beside the lawyer or president
judge sat three associate judges, who were
chosen by the state legislature from the
electors resident of the county and served
terms of seven years each unless sooner re-

moved by death, resignation or “for cause.”
“As no minutes or journal of 1804 > s in

existence, 1 cannot tell you” says Judge
Granger, “who sat with Judge Levin Betts. Mr.
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E. H. Church, an old resident, well known to

you, tells me that David Harvey sat at April

Term, 1804, but he cannot recall the names of

the other two.” In 1805, the journal shows
that Jesse Fulton, Richard McBride and Wil-

liam Mitchell sat with Judge Pease. After the

first appointments, such provision was made by
law that the terms of the associates expired in

different years, so that but one would go off

the bench at a time. Thus Richard McBride
was succeeded by David Findley, and then
they came thus: Ebenezer Buckingham,
Stephen C. Smith, Daniel Stillwell, Robert
Mitchell, Robert McConnell, David Young,
Thos. Ijams, Edwin Putnam, Mathew McEl-
hinney, William Blocksom, James Jeffries,

William Cooper, Jacob P. Springer, Horatio J.

Cox, Wilkin Reed.
As already stated, these associate judges

formed a necessary part of the court at all

times, and alone, as a general thing, transacted

all business pertaining to an orphans’ or pro-

bate court. Yet each of them had a right to

vote upon every decision; and for a whole year,

in 1847, while Judge Stillwell was sick, the as-

sociates—Springer, Cox and Reed—held the
court, Judge Springer presiding. And between
1847 and 1852 there was much litigation

between Jacob Baker and Michael D. Gittings,

and as Judges Searle and Stillwell had been of

counsel neither could sit as judge; so the same
associates alone heard and determined such
of said causes as were passed upon prior to

February, 1852.

At the last term held under the old Consti-

tution-in January, 1852—a month before their

court was to expire, a question arose that for

the first time, so far as is known, resulted in

the overruling of the opinion of the president
judge by his associates. Numerous indict-

ments under the liquor law of 1851 had been
presented by the grand jury. The prosecu-
ting attorney, now and for many years past a

distinguished lawyer, had omitted a certain

averment. Judge Searle, in deciding a motion
to quash one of these indictments, following
what had become a custom when such ques-
tion came up, announced an opinion sustaining
the motion, as the judgment of the court with-
out first consulting the associates. This
occurred in the forenoon. The question in-

volved had been much discussed, not only in

court but among the people, and temperance
men were anxious that the prosecutions should
be sustained. Judge Cox, on the opening of

court in the afternoon, announced an opinion
against the motion to quash; Judge Reed de
dared that he concurred with Judge Cox,

whereupon Judge Searle said: “The court
being divided the motion is over-ruled.”
Hearing this, Judge Springer added: “I agree
with the associate Judges.” Judge Searle
quietly entered the decision on the docket, and
soon after declared the court adjourned sine

die
,
and the old court with the old constitution

was dead. The question involved survived,
and Judge Stillwell at the next term decided it

in the same way as the associates had done;
but the supreme court agreed with Judge
Searle, by a vote of three judges to one.

The list of associate judges contains the
names of many men well known for their expe-
rience, good sense, good judgment, and integ-

rity. No one of them was ever “removed for

cause.” No charge of misconduct was ever
even preferred against any of them. For half

a century they administered the laws regulat-

ing the administration of estates, partition of

lands, etc., sensibly and justly. These duties

and others, some of a kindred nature, and oth-

ers touching upon common pleas jurisdiction,

have since February, 1852, been discharged by
the probate court.

In this court the following named judges
have held office in this county: Mahlon Sims,

1852-58; William T. Mason, 1858-64; R. W. P.

Muse, 1864-70; Henry L. Korte, 1870-73; Reu-
ben H. Morgan, 1873-75; Henry L. Korte,

1875. Of these judges, Sims alone is dead.
When elected he was a farmer in Hopewell
township. He was re-elected, served out his

term; was chosen a justice of the peace in

Springfield township, and died about Septem-
ber, 1862. Judge Mason, a farmer of Meigs
township, served also two terms. Judges Muse,
Korte and Morgan were lawyers. Under the
old constitution, every year a term of the

supreme court was held in Zanesville, and in

turn all the judges of that court sat in “Old
1809.”

So also, since 1852, the sessions of the dis-

trict court have brought here in turn every su-

preme judge, save Judge Day, and the common
pleas judges of the Second and Third subdivis-

ions of the Eighth judicial district. None, of

these can properly be said to have belonged to

the county courts; their number forbids any
attempt to even name.

Attention is now directed to “the bar.” “I

think,” says Judge Granger, “Wyllis Silliman

was the first lawyer who ‘settled’ in Muskin-
gum county. Mr. Church says that he was
present at the April term, 1804.” With or very
soon after him came Lewis Cass, his brother-

in-law, and in 1805 Silliman, Cass and Herrick
were the only resident lawyers. Philemon
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Beecher, William W. Irwin and Elijah B. Mer-
vin, of Lancaster, and Mathew Backus, of Mari-

etta, attended that term. It was held in the

“hewed log dwelling house, built by James
Herron, enclosed but not finished”—the same
house heretofore referred to, located south of

Main and on the west side of Sixth street. In

1809 Samuel W. Culbertson became a resident

lawyer in Zanesville.

At August term, 1813, two new names ap-

pear, Alexander Harper and Ebenezer Granger.
As Granger had seven cases at that term he
must have resided here a year or two prior to

it. In 1S17, John C. Stockton and Appleton
Downer, have causes for the February term,

and at February term, 1818, appear. the names
of Charles B. Goddard and Thomas Ewing

—

Ewing being of the then Lancaster firm of

Beecher & Ewing. April term, 1819, shows
the names of Arius Nye, John Doland, and
Charles R. Sherman; and July term, 1819,

Richard Stillwell. Nye removed to Marietta,

was afterward president judge in Washington
circuit, and was noted for his eccentricities.

Doland, about 1825, moved to Somerset.
Sherman from 1823 to 1827, was one of the

supreme judges. He resided at Lancaster.
Gen. Sherman and Senator Sherman are two
of his sons. October term, 1819, shows the
names of Smith, Vinton, and Emerson. Vin-
ton lived in Gallipolis, served many years in

congress, and was Whig candidate for gover-
nor in 1851; 1820 presents the names of

Adams and Stanbery. William A. Adams is

still living in Covington, Kentucky. He lived

in Zanesville until after 1843. The Stanbery, I

suppose, was William—long a resident of

Newark, an elder brother of the half-blood of

Henry Stanbery. In 1821, appeared the
names of C. C. Gilbert, Peter Odlin, and J. B
Orton. Gilbert married a daughter of Wyllis
Silliman. He died November 18, 1844. His
sons, Gens. C. C. Gilbert and Samuel A. Gil-

bert, are well known to you. Odlin went to

Dayton, and became a politician of note in

Montgomery county, afterward prominent in

the legislature.

In 1822, and thence for half a dozen years,

David Spangler practiced in Muskingum. He
settled in Coshocton, and for many years led

the bar there.

“I began this list,” says Judge Granger,
“hoping to extend it to the present time, show-
ing the successive accessions to our bar, but I

found that time would neither permit me to

collect, nor impart the information required
for such a purpose. 1 therefore, substitute

brief mention of some of our more noted law-

yers. Our bar began well. Wyllis Silliman,

Lewis Cass and Samuel Herrick were the first

three. Of Gen. Cass I have already spoken.
Wyllis Silliman was born in Stratford, Connec-
ticut, October, 8, 1777. In early manhood he
emigrated to Western Virginia, and during the
heated struggle for the presidency between
Adams and Jefferson, in 1800, he there edited
a strong Federal newspaper. Judge Burnet
(one of Ohio’s early supreme judges) wrote
of him as follows: ‘By a very great exertion
of energy and talent he had been able for some
time to sustain himself in the midst of a highly
Democratic population, but, as the catastrophe
of that struggle approached, party violence be-

came too strong for resistance, or endurance,
and he found it prudent to make a hasty re-

treat to Marietta. I shall never forget the
pleasure with which I took him by the hand as

a persecuted patriot, at our first meeting in

Marietta. Mr. Silliman’s talents secured to

him at once a full share of the practice of that

county,where, after a short residence, he formed
a matrimonial alliance with Miss Deborah
Webster Cass, daughter of the veteran Maj.
Cass, who was literally a hero of two wars.’

This marriage was at Wakatomaka, near Dres-
den, on January 14, 1802.” In 1803, the first

Ohio legislature chose Wyllis Silliman, Fran-
cis Dunlevy and Calvin Pease president judges
of the three common pleas circuits, but Mr.
Silliman either did not accept or very soon
resigned the appointment, as our records show
Judge Levin Betts on our bench in the spring
of 1804.

In 1805 Judge Silliman was appointed regis-

ter of the Zanesville land office, and held that

office as late as 1811. He moved, in 1807, to

the premises fronting the northern bend of the
National road as it leaves Main street at Ninth
street, so well known in recent years as the
home of Dr. A. H. Brown. The old house, not
the remodeled one of to-day, was for many
years the noted dwelling of Zanesville, as the
Silliman homestead. There, in 1817, President
Monroe, accompanied by Gen. Jacob Brown
(then commander-in-chief of the armies of the
United States), Gen. McComb, the victor of

Plattsburg on Lake Champlain, and Gen. Lewis
Cass, breakfasted while on a tour through the
then West. In October, 1825, Judge Silliman

was chosen to represent our county in the state

senate, and sat for two years. During his term
as state senator he came near being elected to

the United States senate, Senator Rugglcs suc-

ceeding in securing a re-election by a close

vote after a heated contest. During President
Jackson’s second term he appointed Judge Sil-
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liman solicitor of the treasury. In 1836 he re-

moved to Cleveland, thence to Wooster, and
then to Cincinnati. But he returned to Zanes-
ville, and died there at the residence of his

son-in-law, Charles C. Gilbert, on the 13th day
of November, 1842. Judge John IT Keith,

long resident at Chillicothe, but a practicing

lawyer at Zanesville for some eight or ten

years, sketched Mr. Silliman as a lawyer and
advocate as follows: “In my judgment, he
was the greatest natural orator that I have ever
had the good fortune to hear. * * * Mr.
Silliman’s early education was defective. He
was a desultory reader of everything that came
in his way. His legal attainments were not of

a very high order. Indeed, he was of no use in

a cause until it came to be argued. I never
heard him examine a witness, or knew him to

draw a pleading; all these were left to the jun-

ior counsel in the cause. He reserved himself
to the highest—the advocacy branch of the
profession. He was careless and illogical; en-

tirely indifferent to his appearance. He
looked as if his clothes had been pitched on
him. He had not a particle of self-esteem or

vanity, and was as sportive and playful as a

boy. In all criminal cases, in breach of prom-
ise and seduction cases, he was uniformly re-

tained, and no case seemed perfect without
him. I heard him speak in every variety of

case, and after I was called to the bar I was
sometimes associated with him in causes as

junior counsel. His voice, his manner and
style of speaking, are just as familiar to me as

if I now heard and saw him. But it was in

great criminal cases, where life and liberty

were involved, that he especially put forth his

giant powers. Mr. Silliman was stout and well-

formed, above middle height. Two of his sons
came to the bar-George Wyllis, who died at

sea while returning from Europe, and Charles
Oscar, who after some years’ practice in Mis-
souri, emigrated to California, where he now
resides at Watsonville, Santa Cruz county. His
grandsons, Gens. C. C. and S. A. Gilbert, I have
hereinbefore named.

“The other of our original legal triumvirate
was Samuel Herrick. He was born in Amenia,
Dutchess county New York, April 14, 1779;
read law under Judge Thomas Duncan, at Car-
lisle, Pa., and came to the bar June 4, 1805.

He appeared at August term, 1805, of

Muskingum common pleas, was appointed
prosecuting attorney of Guernsey county in

1810; also, in the same year, United States dis-

trict attorney for Ohio, in 1812, succeeding
Cass as prosecuting attorney of this county,
and retaining all these offices, in 1814 becoming

prosecuting attorney of Licking county. In

May 1814—during the war—lie was made
brigadier general of the Fourth brigade, Third
division, Ohio militia; represented our dis-

trict in congress from March, 1817, to March,
1821. In 1829, President Jackson again ap-
pointed him United States district attorney for

Ohio, but on June 29, 1830, he resigned that

office and retired from practice. He lived at

‘Hill-Top,’ his farm about two miles south-east
of Zanesville until his death, about the first

day of March, 1852. General Herrick was a

successful lawyer, and this list of the offices

held by him shows that he must have been a

man of energy and ability, or he could not
have commanded the approval of the judges
who appointed him to be prosecuting attorney;

of the presidents who nominated him to the
district attorneyship; and of the people who
elected him to represent them in congress.

For twenty years he was active and prominent
in our community. I believe no son of his sur-

vived him. Two of his grandsons, Edward H.
and Charles Allen, served as officers of volun-
teers in the war of'the rebellion, and Eldward
entered our profession and now lives at Kansas
City, Missouri.

“ As already stated, Samuel W. Culbertson,
in 1809, increased the bar of Muskingum to

four. He was born in Pennsylvania, came to

Zanesville shortly after his admission to the
bar, and continued in active practice from
1809 to the time of his death, in June, 1840.

For years he owned and resided on North
Fifth street, on the premises now occupied by
Mr. Daniel Applegate, and used as his office

the small brick building that yet stands at the
corner of the alley next north of the post
office. His death was sudden—the result of

apoplexy, and left him sitting in his office

chair. So far as I can learn, Mr. Culbertson
never held any public office. His practice was
large and extended over the greater part of

Southeastern Ohio. In person he was tall,

neither thin nor fat, and in mind quick, alert

and keen. He well understood human nature,

and was remarkably successful in the examina-
tion of witnesses, and in influencing juries. His
speech was affected by a lisp, but such was his

manner that the apparent defect was often a

help to him. In all the county towns from
New Philadelphia south and southeastwardly to

the Ohio the older lawyers still delight to talk

with Zanesville men about “ Sam. Culbertson,”
and to repeat anecdotes touching his cases.

Perhaps I can take time to tell one that will

illustrate his readiness. A client of Culbertson
had sued a client of Gen. Goddard for ren-
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dering impure the water of a well by changing
a drain. Witnesses differed as to the effect of

the drain upon the water of the well, and Gen.
Goddard exhibited to the jury some of the

water in a glass and descanted upon its clear-

ness and purity, and seemed about to carry the

jury with him. Culbertson, in reply, boldly
picked up the glass, reminded the jury of the

General’s argument, and then placing the glass

upon the table, took a dollar from his pocket
and clapping it down by the side of the glass,

cried out, “Gentleman of the jury, I’ll give
General Goddard that dollar if lie’ll drink that

glass of water.” He knew that his opponent
was too dignified to accept such a banter, and
won a verdict. Mr. Culbertson’s second son,

Alexander S. B. Culbertson, came to the bar
and practiced in this county at first with his

father and afterwards alone, and died here.

One of his daughters married Joshua Mathiot,
who was a member of the Muskingum bar for

eight or ten years subsequent to 1824, and then
removed to Newark, and until his death, in 1849,
was a leader of the Licking bar, and for a

time a congressman.
“ In 1810, Ebenezer Granger, an elder brother

of my father came to Zanesville. He was
born in Suffield, Connecticut, on July 6, 1781;
studied law at Washington City, under Gideon
Granger, the then postmaster general. On
July 31, 1815, he married Eliza Seaman, sister

of the half-blood to Henry Stanbery. After
an active practice of about ten years, he died
September 17, 1822. As his death occurred
years before I was born, I can only speak of
him from hearsay. Old lawyers whom I have
met in the course of my own practice in South-
eastern Ohio, led to speak of him to me be-
cause my surname was the same as his, have
often told me that he was a studious, well-read
able lawyer, sure, if his life had been prolonged,
to take a high place in the profession, and that

he was a man of honor and integrity. Towards
the close of John Mclntire’s life, Mr. Granger
was his attorney, and to him was assigned the
duty of composing the epitaph of that founder
and benefactor of our city. It may interest

you to hear it read. It was inscribed upon the
plain stone that first marked the grave, and is

repeated upon the monument that a few years
ago was substituted for the old and worn-out
slab. It is as follows:

“‘Sacred to the memory of John Mclntire,
who departed this life July 29, 1815, aged fifty-

six years. lie was born at Alexandria, Vir-
ginia; laid out the town of Zanesville, in 180D,

of which he was the Patron and Father. He
was a member of the convention which formed

the Constitution of Ohio. A kind husband; an
obliging neighbor; punctual in his engage-
ments, of liberal mind and benevolent dispo-

sition, his death was sincerely lamented.

“‘As o’er this stone you throw a careless eye,

(When drawn perchance to this sad, solemn place,)

Reader, remember—’tis your lot to die;

You, too, the oloomy realms of death must trace.

When yonder winding stream shall cease to flow,

Old ocean’s waves no longer lash the shore,
When warring tempests snail forget to blow,
And these surrounding hills exist no more,

This sleeping dust, reanimate shall rise,

Bursting to life at the last trumpet’s sound,
Shall bear a part in nature’s grand assize,

When sun, and stars, and time no more are found.

“ Thomas Ewing, the elder, and Lewis Cass,

while the one was senator, and the other sec-

retary of war, in President Jackson’s time, be-

cause of their regard for the friend and asso-

ciate of their first years at the bar, of their own
motion named Robert S. Granger, Ebenezer
Granger’s only child, to a cadetship at West
Point. He there graduated in 1838, in the same
class with Irvin McDowell and William J.

Hardee, and as I have already stated rose to

the rank of major-general by brevet at the
close of the war with the rebellion.

“From 1817 to 1864,— forty-seven years,

—

Charles Backus Goddard was a member of our
bar. He was born at Plainfield, Connecticut.
His father, Calvin Goddard, lived the greater
part of his life at Norwich, Connecticut, and
was a judge of the supreme court of that state.

Charles B. Goddard came to Ohio in 1817. He
traveled from Pittsburg to Marietta in a small
open row-boat; stayed a few weeks in Marietta,

and then, by the advice of Mr. David Putnam,
selected Zanesville as his home. He went to

Gallipolis in company with Thomas Ewing, and
was there admitted to the Ohio bar. Settling

in Zanesville, he married Harriet Munro Con-
vers, daughter of the Daniel Convers hereto-

fore mentioned, on June 6, 1820. He soon
cquired a large practice in the Muskingum

valley, and continued in active professional

labor to near the day of his death, which was
the first day of February, 1864. In 1838-39, he
represented Muskingum in the house of rep-

resentatives of Ohio, and from December, 1843,

until the spring of 1849, ' n the Ohio senate, of

which last named body he was speaker, during
the session of 1847-48. He was major-general of

Ohio militia for a number of years. I believe he
held no other public office. He was well read
in both general literature and in law; indefati-

gable in work; earnest, dignified and forcible

as an advocate; he relied more on reasoning
from principle than precedents. A competitor
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of Ewing, Hunter, Stanbery, and others of

like repute, he was ‘a foeman worthy of their

steel.’ He possessed a high sense of honor, and
ever sought to elevate the ethical standard and
esprit du corps of the profession. He was gen-

erous and hospitable. He outlived all his early

associates and rivals in the Muskingum bar;

was in continuous practice much longer than

any other; for many years he stood at our head,

a leader worthy of the regard and respect of

our whole community. An accurate portrait

of him hangs in the library of the Zanesville

Athenaeum.
“ I will outline the life of but one more of

our honored dead. John Caldwell Hazlett, son
of Robert and Lucy Hazlett, was born in New-
ark, Ohio, September 24, 1831. His parents
moved to this place in his childhood. He and
I were schoolmates in Zanesville, and for a

year, in 1847-48, collegemates at Kenyon, Gam-
bier, Ohio. He afterward went, to the Ken-
tucky Military Institute, at Blue Lick Springs,

and there graduated with honor, in 1851. He
at once began the study of law under Judge
Stillwell, and came to the bar in December,
1853. He, for short periods, practiced first as

my partner and then with Judge Searle, but

having married Ellen, second daughter of

Judge Stillwell, on December 19th, 1854, the

judge retired from the bench and resumed
practice with his son-in-law. In October,

1855, Mr. Hazlett was elected prosecuting at-

torney for this county, and was re-elected in

1857 and 1859. During the night of Sunday,
April 14-15, 1861, President Lincoln’s call for

75,000 three months’ volunteers was telegraphed
over the country, and ere Monday’s sun went
down, Capt. John C. Hazlett’s company was
almost, if not quite, full. He reported with it

at Columbus, and by the Thrusday following,

as already stated, was passing by rail through
Pennsylvania, en route for Washington, with
his company and regiment. He was present
at Gen. Schenck’s ‘ reconnoissance by rail’ at

Vienna, and afterward fought in McDowell’sbat-
tle of Bull Run. Returning home in August, at

the muster-out of his three-months’ men he at

once recruited a company for ‘ three years or

the war,’ and with it entered the second Ohio
volunteer infantry. With this regiment he
served in Kentucky, Tennessee and Northern
Alabama, taking part in the battles of Perry-
ville and Stone River. At the last named fight

he received the wound that caused his death;
he died June 7, 1863. Capt. Hazlett was of

slight frame, about five feet nine inches in

height; of a quick, nervous temperament;
possessed of an active and strong mind; well

read, both in general literature and in law; he
was ambitious of distinction, and evinced a

capacity and an aptitude for the law, that,

backed by energy, perseverance and attention
to business, could not have failed, if his life

had been prolonged, to win for him a brilliant

reputation and an assured position in the front
ranks of the profession. As a prosecutor his

success was marked—although he conducted,
either alone, or assisted only by some newly
admitted tyro, even during his first term, a

number of complicated and difficult causes
against counsel of distinction, great ability, and
much experience. It is sad to miss this com-
rade as we open this temple of justice. Would
that he were here with all the* powers of his

youth strengthened by time and use! a com-
petitor to excite us onward in all the nobler
contests at this bar; a comrade whose wit and
intelligence would add zest to our assemblies;
a friend on whose help we could rely at need.

“Others of our dead are worthy of remem-
brance here— but space forbids the attempt to

speak of all. I must content myself with such
mention as I have already made and invoke
among my brethren of the bar and the people
here, who know them, kind recollections of the
many others of Muskingum’s deserving law-
yers who no longer live. Let me speak briefly

of some who have gone out from us, and, by
their achievements in the forum, on the bench,
or in public life, have made us glad to count
them as once members of the bar. Henry
Stanbery, attorney general of Ohio from 1846
to 1852; attorney general of the United States

1866-68, named by President Johnson for a seat

upon the bench of the national supreme court:

a lawyer of national reputation, standing in the
first rank; was born here, studied law here;

was admitted in 1825, and tried some of his

first causes in ‘Old 1809.’ Noah H. Swayne, a

national Supreme Judge, since 1862, resided at

Coshocton and practiced regularly in this

county for several years, beginning in 1825.

Hugh J. Jewett, our county’s senator in 1853-55:
defeated as a Democratic candidate for con-
gress, in a Republican district, by only sixty-

four votes in i860; nominated for governor of

Ohio by the Democrats in 1861, he substituted

for a platform disapproved by the ‘ War Democ-
racy,’ a letter of acceptance full of outspoken,
patriotic devotion to the Union. A congress-

man from the Columbus district in 1873-74; long
a prominent railroad president, and now and for

some years past, the trusted president of the

New York and Erie railway; lived here for

many years, and was in active practice from
about 1848 to 1857.
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“Samuel Sullivan Cox, whose long service

in congress (from 1857 to 1865, as representa-

tive from the capital district, Ohio, and since

1871, from New York city,) and his prominent
position as a leader in the Democratic party,

have given him a national reputation, was born
in Zanesville, in October, 1824. His father,

Ezekiel T. Cox, was for many years clerk of

our county courts, and the son assisted his

father in the discharge of the office duties. He
graduated at Brown University, Providence,
Rhode Island, in 1846; was admitted to the
bar about 1848, and practiced at Zanesville until

1853. Washington Van Hamm, who began
practice here in 1833, and was a common pleas

judge, at Cincinnati, from 1857 to 1862, was
born and grew to manhood here. William
Wartenbee Johnson, who was common pleas
judge in the Lawrence district, from 1858 to

1867, and is now a judge in the supreme court
commission of Ohio, was born in Muskingum
county, educated at Muskingum college, and
studied law in the office of Judge Convers, at

the same time with myself. He was admitted
to the bar while still a resident of our county.

“Our bar has grown old enough to permit
fathers to see their sons practicing by their

sides. Let me read you a list of the names of

sons of Muskingum lawyers, who have also

been members of this bar: George Wyllis Sil-

liman, A. S. B. Culbertson, Charles A. Harper,
James R. Harper, Daniel Convers Goddard,
Charles C. Goddard, George Abbott James, W.
C. Blocksom, Charles Id. Blair, Orlando C.

Marsh. In addition to those named as worthy
of special note, I add here the following:
Elijah Hayward, who practiced in this county
in 1836, and subsequent years, was one of the
judges of the supreme court of Ohio, in 1830.
Royal T. Sprague, a member of our bar about
1838, became chief justice of the supreme
court of California. His wife was a daughter
of Judge William Blocksom, one of our asso-
ciate judges. Cooper K. Watson, of 1842, was
afterward a congressman from the Tiffin dis-

trict, a judge of common pleas in the Huron
district, and member of the constitutional con-
vention in 1873-74. Cydnor B. Tompkins
(1836) and Edward Ball (i860,) were con-
gressmen from Muskingum district, each serv-
ing four years. James M. Love, who practiced
here about 1843, has been for many years
United States district judge for Iowa. Such
an examination as I have made amongst these
records of the work of your predecessors, both
saddens and encourages. One after another

—

sometimes several together they came upon
the stage of professional life, each full of hope

and expectation as to the future. The silent

records picture to us the parts they played.
Some few succeeded, realizing perhaps as

nearly as mortals may, the hopes of their

youth. More attained positions mediocre, yet
respectable; some merely failed; some few were
worse than failures, showing themselves not
mere incapable or unsuccessful lawyers but bad
men. I will name no one of these. If any yet
live their offending is known and remembered
by themselves and by some others. It is enough
for this ocasion to say that the bar of Muskin-
gum during the first seventy-two years of its

life has not escaped the lot of all associations

of men: that it has had unworthy members.
“But is this allotment—to one success, to

others failure, the result of chance ? Not so !

Cause and effect are plainly traceable. It

seems to me that if the young beginner but
ask himself at the outset, ‘What should a

client desire in his lawyer ? ’ the easily dis-

covered answer to the question must indicate

not only the means, but also the probability of

success, if the questioner knows himself.

Ability (not necessarily first class—average
ability will do well); legal knowledge (knowl-
edge of principles, of the frame work of the

law)
;

judgment (that most reliable of all

called ‘common sense’), caution, alias pru-

dence
;
application (this includes preservance,

diligence, persistence)
;
and last of all, best of

all, under all, around all, above all, permeating
all, integrity. These qualities, characteristics,

habits, combined, will ensure success. Their
entire absence will ensure failure. Between
these extremes more or less of success or fail-

ure will be the lot of one and another as he
approaches or recedes from this so seldom un-

derstood, yet so easy to-be-understood, stand-
ard.

“ And now but a word or two more. Enter-
ing this new and beautiful temple of justice,

we have thus recalled the lives of our predeces-
sors

;
let us profit by these recollections

;
let

us in our future ever try to so demean our-

selves as lawyers and as men, as to improve
upon our own past, and to equal, if possible to

excel, our predecessors in all that is right.”

The following list contains the names of

those lawyers who have resided in Muskingum
county as members of its bar. For that por-

tion of it embracing the years 1804-77 the com-
piler acknowledges indebtedness to Judge
Granger: 1804, Lewis Cass, Wyllis Silliman;

1805, Samuel Herrick; 1809, Samuel W. Cul-
bertson; 1810, Ebenczer Granger; 1812, Alex-
ander Harper; 1814, E. B. Mervin; 1817, Ap-
pleton Downer, Charles B. Goddard, John C.
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Stockton; 1819, John Doland, Richard Stillwell;

1820, William A. Adams, Charles C. Gilbert;

1822, David Spangler; 1823, Benj. Reeve; 1825,

Leonidas L. Hamline, George James, Joshua
Mathiot, Noah H. Swayne, Henry Stanbery;

1827, Alexander S. B. Culbertson; 1828, John
H. Keith; 1829, George W. Silliman; 1830,

John T. Arthur, George W. Jackson, William
P. Moorehead, William R. Putnam; 1831,

George H. Flood, Charles Stetson; 1832,

Charles C. Convers; 1833, G. Nelson Cuming,
Virtulon Rich, Washington Van Hamm; 1834,

Joseph Moorehead, John R. Mulvaney, Isaac

Parish; 1835, Wyllis Buell, Edmund C. Cusack,
John Evans, C. R. Hendee, Josiah Lovell;

1836, James Boyle, Napoleon A. Guille, Elijah

Hayward, Cornelius Moore, Cydnor B. Tomp-
kins; 1837, John Dillon, Mathew Gaston, Welles
Hawes, William T. McKibbin, W. D. Wilson;
1838, W. W. Backus, Samuel Chapman, Cau-
tious C. Covey, John W. Foster, I. B. B. Hale,

Andrew R. Jackson, Royal T. Sprague; 1839,
- Camp, Charles Mathews, Chauncey A.

Pardey; 1841, Franklin Gale, P. S. Slevin,

Alexander Van Hamm
; 1842, Thomas M. Drake,

James Henderson, J. B. Longley, Cooper Iv.

Watson; 1843, Henry Beard, Howard Cope-
land, James M. Love, David H. Lyman, John
Percy, Charles R. Rhodes; 1844, W. B. Abbott,
Augustus P. Blocksom, Ivzra B. Eastman, John
O’Neill, Frederick A. Seborn; 1845, Edmund
Brush, Theodore Convers, Daniel Convers
Goddard, James R. Harper, Rowland D. Noble;
1846, T. Cleveland, Samuel Cochran; 1847, Wil-
liam H. Ball, Hugh J. Jewett, George VV.Many-
penny, Corrington W. Searle; 1848; J. M. Buell,

Alfred Brown, James H. Munroe; 1849, E. A.
Bratton, Samuel S. Cox, Lucius P. Marsh; 1851,

Thomas J. Taylor, Buchanan; 1852, Wil-
liam W. Johnson; 1853, Moses M. Granger,

John C. ITazlett, Robert W. P. Muse, Hiram
Skinner, Abner Starkey; 1854, Chas. K. W right;

1855, R. D. Chalfant, John Haynes, John Q.
Lane, Homer Thrall, A. O. Wagstaff; 1856,

John H. Ash, Alexander S. Cox, Robert H.
Gilmore, James A. Parker, Seth Weldy; 1857,
Mordecai Bartley, Henry C. Brown, J. Del-
afield Du Bois, W. C. Gaston, Charles C.

Goddard, Thomas Potts; 1858, John A. Blair,

Daniel B. Gary, William D. Hamilton, W. R.

Henderson, George Abbot James, Washington
Miller; 1859, Peleg Bunker, Ezra E. Evans;
i860, Edward Ball, Daniel B. Linn, Albert W.
Train; 1861, John YV. Beall, John G. Chandler,
William Ewing, Stephen A, Guthrie, George
Randall; 1862, Joshua G. Madden, Thomas J.

Maginnis; 1863, Solon Fisk; 1864, Alfred E.
Fillmore, Lyman J. Jackson, William Okey;

1865, Fenton Bagley, John W. King, James E.
Palmer; 1866, Edgar W. Allen, Barclay,
Charles W. Chandler, G. L. Phillips, Frank H.
Southard, Milton I. Southard; 1867, Albion J.

Andrews, Charles A. Beard, William H. Hall,
Gilbert D. Munson; 1868, W. L. Bane, Allen
Miller, W. A. E, Rhodes; 1869, B. M. Dilley,

John Mason, Charles E. Randall; 1870, Charles
1L Durban, Reuben H. Morgan, Andrew L.

Peairs; 1871, William C. Blocksom, John R,

Stonesipher; 1872, Orlando C. Marsh, George
Porter, Benjamin F. Power, Tileston F. Spangler,
A. FI. Stilwell, Charles M. Vandenbark; 1873,
Henry A. Axline, Eugene J. Brown, Henry L.

Korte, William A. Taylor; 1874, Charles H.
Blair, J. W. Garside, Henry #C. Van Voorhis;

1875, Herman F. Anchauer, IL S. Crozier, Frank
B. Williamson, Robert N. C. Wilson; 1876, J.

T. Crew, Frederick S. Gates; 1877, William V.
Cox, John W. Martin, Robert H. McFarland,
Henry R. Stanbery.

P'ollowing is the present list of members of
the bar as kept in the office of the clerk of

common pleas: Herman F. Anchauer, John J.

Adams, Edgar W. Allen, Albion J. Andrews,
F'enton Bagley, William H. Ball, Charles A.
Beard, George Brown, William E. Blocksom,
Norwood S. Chandler, Joshua T. Crew, William
H. Cunningham Jr., Frank A. Durban, Ezra E.
Evans, William J. Finley, Alfred A. Frazier,

David B. Gary, Fred S. Gates, Charles C. God-
dard, Moses M. Granger, John S. Hollings-
worth, Isaac Humphrey, William LI. Johnson,
John W. King, Daniel B. Linn, John W. Mar-
tin, W. J. Massey, Henry S. Woody, Gilbert D.
Munson, Thomas J. McDermott, Robert H.
McP'arland, George IL Miller, J. M. McHenry,
John O’Neill, Benjamin F. Power, F'rederick A.
Seborn, Arthur J. Sheppard, Frank IT. South-
ard, Tileston T. Spangler, Henry R. Stanbery,

John R. Stonesipher, C. E. Swingle, Thomas J.

Taylor, Charles M. Vandenbark, Henry C. Van-
Voorhis, Simeon M. Winn, C. E. Workman,
Harry C. Shepherd, John B. Worley, Clement
A. Maxwell, William S. O’Neill, George K.
Browning. George Porter, admitted in 1872,

died a few years ago. P'red B. Hofman, of

Columbus, practiced at this bar for a time until

recently. H. L. Korte, a resident practitioner,

who was probate judge, is now living in Colum-
bus. PL Parker Pyle is now practicing his pro-

fession in the West. Albert W. Train, who be-

gan practice here in i860, died in 1891.

President Judges—Common Pleas.—Levin
Betts, 1804-05; Calvin Pease, 1805-08; William
Wilson, 1808-22; Alexander Harper, 1822-36;

Corrington W. Searle, 1836-47; Richard Still-

well, 1 847—5 1 J
Corrington W. Searle, 1851-52.
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Judges of Common Pleas.—Richard Still-

well, February 19, 1852, September 16, 1854;

John E. Hanna, September 16, 1854, October
20, 1854; Charles C. Convers, October 20, 1854,
October 19, 1855; Corrington VV. Searle, Octo-
ber 19, 1855, October 25, 1856; Lucius P. Marsh,
October 25, 1856, February 9, 1862; Ezra E.
Evans, Feb. 9, 1862, December 10, 1866; Moses
M. Granger, December 10, 1866, October 9, 1871

;

Frederick VV. Wood, August 3, 1869, August 3,

1874; William H. Frazier, October 9, 1871 (re-

elected October 1876); Lucius P. Marsh,
August 3, 1874; W. H. Ball, August 3, 1879;
George L. Phillips, August 3, 1884 (re-elected
in 1889); James W. Campbell, 1884; W. B.

Crew, 1891; William Chambers, 1892.

Associate Judges of Common Pleas.—In
February, 1804, David Harvey, William Wells
and John Campbell, were commissioned as the
first three associate judges for Muskingum
county. William Wells resigned before taking
his seat, and on March 15, 1804, Jesse Fulton
was appointed to fill the vacancy. David Har-
vey resigned June 19, 1804, and on June 29,

1804, Richard McBride was appointed in his

place. John Campbell resigned December 4,

1804, and on December 13, 1804, Giles Hemp-
stead was appointed. On February 7, 1805,
the legislature elected Jesse Fulton, Richard
McBride, and Seth Carhart.

David Harvey, February 17, June 19, 1804;
William Wells, February 18, February 25, 1804;

John Campbell, February 20, December 4, 1804;
Jesse Fulton, March 15, 1804-15; Richard
McBride, June 29, 1804-13; Giles Hempstead,
December 13, 1804, February 7, 1805; Seth
Carhart, February 7, 1805, did not accept;
William Mitchell, February 27, 1805-15; David
Findlay, 1813-20; Stephen C. Smith, 1815-18;
Daniel Stillwell, 1815-22; Robert Mitchell,

1818-33; John Reynolds, June 27, 1822, to 1830;
Robert McConnell, January, 1822, August 6,

[827; David Young, January, 1823, to June 27,

1832; Thomas Ijams, January 1823, 1830; Pld-

win Putnam, August 6, 1827-42; Mathew Mc-
Eihinncy, 1830-37; William Blocksom, 1 833—
40; James Jeffries, 1837-44; William Cooper,
1840-47; Jacob P. Springer, 1842-52; Horatio

J. Cox, 1844-52; Wilkin Reed, 1847-52.
Prosecuting Attorneys—Lewis Cass, 1804-

12; Samuel Herrick, 1812-18; John C. Stock-
ton, 1818-20; Richard Stillwell, 1820-37;

Wyllis Buell, 1837, to April, 1839; Cautious C.

Covey, April, 1839, to November, 1839; Napo-
leon A. Guide, 1839 to 1851; William H. Ball,

185 1, to April, 1853; John O’Neill, April, 1853,
to January, 1856; John C. Hazlett, January,

1856, to October, 1861; John Haynes, October,
1861 to October, 1864; Lyman J. Jackson,
October, 1864, to January, 1866; Moses M.
Granger, January, 1866, to December, 1866;

Albert W. Train, December, 1866, to January,
1868; Milton I. Southard, January, 1868, to

November, 1872; Daniel B. Gary, November,
1872, to January, 1874; Albion J. Andrews,
January, 1874; John R. Stonesipher, 1878;

P'enton Bagley, 1880; Benj. F. Powers, 1882;

Simeon M. Winn, 1888.

Probate Judges—Mahlon Sims, February 9,

1 852—58 ;
William T. Mason, February 9, 1 858—

64; Robert W. P. Muse, February 9, 1864-70;
Henry L. Korte, February 9, 1870-73; Reuben
H. Morgan, February 9, 1873-75; Henry L.

Korte, 1875.

Judge Korte was appointed on the 24th

day of March, 1875, to fill the vacancy occa-
sioned by the resignation of Judge Morgan.
In October, 1876, he was elected for the full

term which expired February 9, 1879. George
L. Foley, 1879, (now filling third term).

Supreme Court—The first regular term of

supreme court held in Muskingum county, be-

gan September 9, 1805. Present Samuel Hunt-
ington and William Sprigg, judges. The fol-

lowing list shows the clerks of the supreme
court for Muskingum county: Abel Lewis,

1805-12; John C. Stockton, 1812-17; Daniel
Chambers, 1817-21; John Peters

(
pro tan .), 1821

;

Ezekiel T. Cox, 1821-28; John Willson Jr.,

1828-34; Ezekiel T. Cox, 1834-52.

Clerks of Common Pleas—Abel Lewis,

1804-12; John C. Stockton, 1812-17; David
Chambers, 1817-21; John Peters (pro tan.),

1821; Ezekiel T Cox, 1821-28; John Willson,

Jr., 1828-34; Ezekiel T. Cox, 1834-41; George
W. Manypenny, 1841-46; Anthony Wilkins,

1846-52; Charles C. Russell, 1852-64. Russell,

in October, 1863, was elected for a fifth term
to expire February 9, 1867, but resigned in

April, 1864. John Hoopes, 1864-67; Gemmill
Arthur, 1867-70; George W. Blocksom

(
pro

tan.), 1870; Edgar Allen, 1870-73; Frederick
W. Geiger, 1873-79; Howard Aston, 1879;

Vincent Cockins, 1885; John A. Green, 1891.
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©hapjep XIII.

AGRICULTURAL AND KINDRED SOCIETIES, STATISTICS, ETC.

WHAT is denominated mixed husbandry,
describes the farming operations of

Muskingum county. The farms are

generally small, there being few extensive land-

owners in the county. Tenantry exists only
to a very limited extent. The consequence is

the largest pi'oduct of the field in stock, cere-

als, vegetables and fruits is secured. The
valleys of the Muskingum and Licking rivers

are equal to any in fertility in the state. In

the production of corn in 1873, according to

the report of the commissioner of statistics of

Ohio the general average of the Muskingum
valley is greater than that of any other valley

in Ohio, except one. All the vegetables, grains

and fruits of the climate are here produced.
In the vicinity of Zanesville, the lands are

chiefly devoted to gardening and farming on a

small scale. More remotely from the center,

stock-raising and farming in the usual accept-

ation of the term are followed, and considerable

portions of the land are given up to timothy
and red clover. Muskingum is one of the
largest sheep-growing counties in the state— in

fact among the most extensive in the Union.
Cattle of the Devon and Durham breeds here
raised have taken numerous first premiums at

the Ohio state fairs and at various county
fairs of this and adjoining counties. During
the last few years increased attention has been
given to the breeding of the best strains of

horses, and at the present time, both for the
turf and the road, Muskingum county boasts a

class of horses among the best blooded in the
United States. In this particular, no expense
has been spared, and wherever, throughout the
Union, a horse possessing superior qualities has
become known, his stock is here found. In
horse-raising, Muskingum county, at this time,
in the quality of stock raised, does not rank in-

ferior to any county in the state, and the inter-

est taken in it is constantly increasing. There
cannot be a doubt that all the conditions of
soil, water and climate are here abundantly
supplied for stock-raising, and every farmer

thus engaged realizes a good profit on his labor

and investment. Orchards are abundant.
Grape culture is most successful. Numerous
vineyards have been planted. At the State
horticultural fair of 1872, was seen the finest

collection of fruits ever exhibited in Ohio, and
of those fruits those of Muskingum county re-

ceived the first premium. The Ohio state fair

was held at Zanesville, in the fall of 1859.

Fifty-seven years ago 300 acres of bottom
land on the north side of the Muskingum,
opposite Zanesville, extending a long distance
up the river was one vast wheat field. This
large area was seeded in wheat by a then
prominent man named Taylor. All this then
immense crop was harvested with the old fash-

ioned cradle and sickle. Twenty-five stalwart

cradlers, one behind the other, each followed
by a raker and binder, were seen in that field in

July, 1835. 1 ° the West it is no unusual thing
to sow a thousand acre field in wheat, but it is

a “picnic” to cut, bind, thrash, clean and sack
the entire crop ready for market by horse or

steam power applied to modern agricultural

machinery. To harvest such a crop by the best

methods known at the time of which mention
has been made would have required a small
army of laborers.

An interesting paper written by Mr. Z. M.
Chandler of the Ninth ward, Zanesville, gives

figures of value here. He says: “ In 1829 I

saw good merchantable side pork sold on the

levee at New Orleans at $12 per thousand
pounds, to be used as fuel on a steamboat.
Corn to justify shipment next to wheat was the

most important article of trade. As there was
no other means of disposing of the surplus corn,

whisky was manufactured, up to about 1840, in

large quantities, and shipped South. Prices of

farm products up to about the year 1839, when
important changes took place in this market,
owing to the completion of the Ohio canal,

ranged about as follows: Wheat from twenty-
five to sixty cents per bushel. Flour sold at

the mills at $2 per barrel, and corn sold as low
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as twelve and one-half cents per bushel.

Heavy pork for packing sold at $1.50 to $2.50
per hundred. Beef sold at from one to three

cents per pound. Good milch cows were sold

at $6 to Si 2. The latter price was seldom ob-
tained before 1840. Good butter was from five

to 10 cents a pound. Horses at that time were
in price about equal in proportion to other
articles of trade. Whisky was sold at from
twelve and one-half to sixteen and two-thirds
cents per gallon. Chickens sold at seventy-five

cents to Si a dozen, eggs at from three to five

cents a dozen.”
Early in 1840 prices were as follows: Wheat

fifty cents, flour S3 a barrel, corn twenty cents,

oats twelve cents, rye thirty cents, eggs four

cents per dozen and chickens fifty cents to

seventy-five cents per dozen. Produce was
plentiful, but wheat was the only article that

brought ready cash and the farmers were care-

ful to save it to pay taxes and interest on their

mortgages. In November, 1843, wheat sold
for fifty cents a bushel; produce was low, but
the crops were good. Flour was S3. 25, corn
eighteen and three-fourths to twenty-five cents,

pork one and one-half to two cents.

These prices ruled in 1846 : Wheat, fifty

cents; flour, S3. 25; pork, S2.50; beef, one and
a half to two cents; corn, twenty cents; eggs
five to eight cents per dozen; chickens, seven-
ty-five cents a dozen; turkeys, thirty-one to

thirty-seven and a half cents each; wood, $1

per cord
;
coal, three and a half cents per bushel.

At prices paid for labor in the workshop, the
workmen earned two bushel of wheat per day
and other produce in proportion — say five

bushels of corn or fifty pounds of beef or pork
per day. In the harvest field, one bushel of
wheat was paid for a day’s work, which was a
universal custom.

The pioneers brought with them fruit and
garden seed. So soon as a clearing was made
the seeds were planted, that food might be
raised for the families. The apple, quince,
peach, plum and cherry seeds were soon grown
in nursery and thence taken to every new clear-

ing. From these nurseries came the finest

fruit, such as the Putnam russet, Rhode Island
greening, Newtown pipin, Seek-no-further,
Summer sweet, Early Chandler, Burlingame
pears, with a few other varieties, black and red
Murello, Maydukc and other cherries. Seed-
ling peaches and grapes soon followed.

Valuable information concerning the first

fruit orchards in the Muskingum valley is to

be found in the following interesting sketch of
the eccentric “ Johnny Appleseed,” by Dr. II.

S. Nye: “The first peach seeds planted in

Ohio were in the garden of Maj. John
Doughty, in the stockade at Fort Harmer, at

the mouth of the Muskingum river, in 1786, and
they bore fruit about 1790. One variety was
cultivated in the county many years after.

Israel Putnam and Captain Jonathan Devol
planted nurseries on the Muskingum, above
Marietta, from 1790 to 1800, from which trees

were planted in all the new settlements and
from which came the fine fruit, Rhode Island
greenings, Newtown pippins, Putnam russets

and Seek-no-furthers. The Burlingame pear
originated from a seed found in a trunk brought
from Massachusetts by Christopher Burlingame,
one of the pioneers, and is still cultivated. It

is a constant, hardy bearer, and much valued
by the cultivators. The Rome Beauty origin-

ated in Belpre. A man from Rome township,
Lawrence county, in buying trees from a nur-

sery in Belpre, found a shoot from the stalk

below the bud or graft and separated it with
root, planted, nursed and trimmed it till it bore
such fine fruit that he named it Rome Beauty.
Mr. Corpse, of Beverly, originated a fine tree

and called the fruit Corpse Seedling. It is

quite a good apple, dark crimson color, white
flesh, medium sized early winter and a good
keeper. ‘Johnny Appleseed,’ properly John
Chapman, was born in Massachusetts. As
early as 1780 he was seen along the banks of

the Potomac in Eastern Virginia. He was a

very eccentric man. Esteem, benevolence and
kindness of heart were his characteristics, hie

lived on bread and milk when he could get
them, traveled about a great portion of his

time, would not kill any animal or insect, never
used a gun; was Swedenborgian in religion;

thought himself a messenger sent into the wil-

derness to prepare the way of the people, and
really did do that in many ways. He gathered
apple seeds little by little from the cider presses

of Western Pennsylvania, putting them care-

fully in leathern bags, and transporting them,
sometimes on horseback or muleback, to the
Ohio, and by boat to the mouth of the Musk-
ingum, and up the river, planting seed in wild,

secluded spots along its numerous branches.
Later in life he continued his operations further
west, even to Indiana. When his trees were
ready for sale he left them in charge of some
pioneers tosellforhim at a ‘fippenny bit’ apiece
or to give to applicants who were too poor to

buy them. Some of his nurseries were in the
Walhonding valley. Many of his orchards
were scattered over Knox, Richland, Ashland,
and other counties further cast. One nursery
was located in Indianfield, or Owl Creek, Knox
county. Some of his trees are still growing
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( 1 88 1
) . His residence was near Coshocton

prior to and during the war of 1812. His ope-
rations in the Muskingum valley were quite

extensive. It was his highway of travel to and
from the Pennsylvania cider presses. While
he continually extended his nurseries further

west, he kept up those he had established in

the valley, and frequently visited them on his

journeys back and forth. One nursery was in

Newcastle township, Coshocton county. The
spot is now pointed out, and an immense apple
tree of his planting is referred to in a published
history of that township. He was a regular
minister of the church of New Jerusalem and
carried books and tracts relating to his religion

and read them and gave them away to people
where he stopped. He owned and donated
lots to persons in Mount Vernon, in 1828.

Besides apple trees, he extensively scattered
vegetable seed, dogfennel, pennyroyal, may-
apple, horehound, catnip and wintergreen to be
used as medicines. In 1836, he began opera-
tions in Indiana, having a sister living there.

In the spring of 1847, being fifteen miles from
one of his nurseries on the St. Joseph river,

word came to him that cattle had broken in

and destroyed his treees. He started imme-
ately for the place. When he arrived he was
much exhausted in strength, for by this time
he was old and feeble. He lay down that

night never to rise. A fever set in and in a few
days he died and was buried in David Archer’s
graveyard, two miles north of Fort Wayne.
Thus ended a most wonderful life, devoted to

raisingand disseminatingapple trees from Penn-
sylvania through Ohio to Indiana, as well as

other plants, and preaching and practicing

his benevolent Christianity throughout a large

portion of our western country.”
Among those who gave attention to fruit-

growing, in Muskingum county in earlier days,

were John Mclntire, John Matthews, Isaac Van
Horne, John Townsend, William Culbertson,

Isaac Dillon, Charles Gilbert, Seth Adams, Rev.
C. Springer and others. Later leading horticul-

turists have been Thomas McLees, C. Hall,

Levi Scott, N. F. Claypool, James Heenan,
Martin Hoosan, John Granger and Henry Gray.

Following are Muskingum county’s latest

available agricultural statistics: There were
22,723 acres sown to wheat in 1889, and 275,434
bushels were produced. In 1890, 27,139 acres

were sown to this crop. In iSSg-’go 1,234,465
bushels of oats were produced. In 1890, 2,008

bushels of barley were produced. About
28,440 acres were planted to corn that year and
about 1,000 acres less in 1890. The total pro-
duct in corn was 984,999 bushels shelled. In

1890, 22,600 pounds of broom corn were raised
The hay output was 49,099, the hay average
having been 42,496; 5,434 acres were devoted
to clover and 5,897 tons were grown; the
bushels of seed aggregated 3,173; 202,066 gal-

lons of milk were sold for family use; of butter,

832,817 pounds were made in home dairies

and 200 pounds in factories and cream-
eries. In 1889, 1,710 acres were planted
to potatoes ami 143,403 bushels were produced.
In 1890, 1,520 acres were planted. In 1890 the
number of eggs produced was 656,270 dozen.
About 2,000 gallons of wine were produced in

1890. Of sweet potatoes, 3,61 7 acres were pro-

duced. Fruit statistics: Acres occupied,

7,022; bushels of apples produced, 200,440
bushels; peaches, 32,173 bushels; pears, 2,720
bushels; cherries, 2,396 bushels; plums, 181

bushels. In 1889 the county produced 664,906
pounds of wool. Then were owned within its

limits 8,651 milch cows and 63 stallions. In the
following figures are exhibited the number of

horses, cattle, mules, etc., returned to the audi-

tor of state’s office by the Muskingum county
auditor, for the years 1889 and 1890: Horses,

1889, 11,503; 1890, 11,880. Cattle, 1889, 25,862;

1890,25,792. Mules, 1889, 350; 1890,338. Sheep,
1889, 129,469; 1890, 120,823. Hogs, 1889,

15,155; 1890, 18,378.

The Muskingum County Agricultural so-

ciety was organized January 21, 1848, under an
act of the Ohio legislature for the encourage-
ment of agriculture passed about two years
earlier. The following named were the first

officers: Cornelius Springer, of Springfield

township, president; George W. Gibbons, of

Wayne township, vice-president; James L. Cox,
of Zanesville, treasurer; Uriah Park, of Zanes-
ville, secretary. There was a board of mana-
gers thus constituted, all the members of which
are long dead: Caleb Hall, of Blue Rock
township, Mathew Gillespie, of Springfield,

township; Philo Buckingham, of Wayne town-
ship; Benjamin Wheeler, of Zanesville, and
Isaac Dillon, of Falls township.

The first formal exhibition or fair under the

auspices of this society was held in the fall of

1848, but informal exhibitions of the agricul

tural interests of the county were held in two
or three previous years. The first exhibition

was held in the old market house. The
premium list amounted to $400. The first fair

grounds were situated in Springfield town-
ship and comprised about twenty acres of land

since the property of Howard Stanbery. These
grounds proving too small, a more commodious
tract situated about half a mile south of the

former site, on the old Cooper Mill road, was
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purchased, and necessary buildings were erected
thereon. During the war the fairs were not
held for several years, and the fair grounds
were turned into a military camp known as

Camp Goddard, in honor of Gen. Charles B.

Goddard. The officers in 1865 were James
Buckingham, president; Valentine Best,

treasurer, and F. A. Seborn, secretary. De-
cember 23, that year, the board of directors or-

ganized and elected the following officers:

Valentine Best, president; W. P. Imlay, vice-

president; James Buckingham, treasurer; F. A.
Seborn, secretary. The present officers are M.
R. McClelland, president; J. H. Crooks, vice-

president; J. D. Mercer, secretary; C. A.
Meriam, treasurer. Members of the board: B;
N. Jones, Sonora; J. H. Swart, Zanesville;

James Brant, Zanesville; James E. Tanner,
Zanesville; T. D. Adams, Dresden; J. H. Crooks,
Zanesville; J. D. Mercer, Carlwick; J. T.

Roberts, White Cottage; Fuller VanVoorhis,
Chandlersville; W. A. Baldwin, Zanesville.

The Muskingum County Horticultural soci-

ety was organized January 15, 1869, and adopt-
ed the following

CONSTITUTION.
Section i. This society shall be known as

the Muskingum County Horticultural Society.

Sec. 2. The object for which this society is

organized shall be the advancement of horti-

cultural knowledge.
Sec. 3. The officers of this society shall

consist of a president, vice-president, secretary,

treasurer, and an executive committee of three
members; all of whom shall be elected at each
annual meeting upon the second Thursday of
December of each year, and serve until their

successors are elected.

Sec. 4. The president, or in his absence
the vice-president, shall preside at all meetings
of the society and the executive committee.
In the absence of both, a presiding officer shall

be appointed by the meeting.
Sec. 5. The secretary shall keep a record

of the proceedings of the society and attend to

all necessary correspondence; he shall also re-

ceive all moneys due the society and pay over
the same to the treasurer.

Sec. 6. The treasurer shall receive from
the secretary all moneys of the society, pay out
the same upon the order of the secretary, coun-
tersigned by the president; shall keep account
of all receipts and disbursements, and report
the condition of the finances annually.

Sec. 7. The executive committee shall

have a general supervision of all matters per-

taining to the welfare of the society; it shall

have power to call special meetings, when, in

its judgment, it shall be necessary.

Sec. 8. Any person may become a mem-
ber of the society by the payment of 50 cents.

Membership shall be annual and cease with the
expiration of the current year for which the
fee has been paid.

Sec. 9. All elections of the society shall be
by ballot, conducted by two tellers appointed
by the presiding officer.

Sec. 10. This constitution or any by-law
may be altered or amended at any regular

meeting upon a vote of two-thirds of the mem-
bers present- notice of such amendments hav-
ing been submitted in writing at the previous
regular meeting.

BY-LAWS.
Article i. The regular meetings shall

be held at members’ residences by invitation;

in summer, on the second Thursday of each
month, at 1 o’clock P. M. The winter meet-
ings shall be held at the convention room in the
court house unless otherwise provided for.

Art. 2. It shall be the duty of all officers

to attend every regular meeting of the society,

and at the close of their official terms to hand
over all books and papers in their possession
to their successors.

Art. 3. The committee on fruit shall have
charge of all fruits on exhibition, and at the
close of each meeting shall return the same to

the exhibitors.

The constituent members and officers were
as follows: William Imlay, president; S. Jacobs
Moore, vice-president; William J. Townsend,
secretary; W. A. Graham, treasurer. Board:
A. McFarland, James Turner, Silvers Porter
and William A. Burroughs; and S. R. Moore,
G. C. Townsend, M. Dulty, H. G. Andrews,
James K. Peabody, A. M. Huston, C. C. Hol-
lingsworth, Jeff. Van Horne, H. G. O. Cary,

Jacob Mercer, A. K. Culbertson, Charles 1 .

Werner, Dr. H. S. Nye, J. W. Andrews, George
H. Vroom and Alex. Grant. Officers for 1892:

George C. Townsend, president; P. Cashbaugh,
vice-president; S. R. Moore, recording and cor-

responding secretary; Theo. Dietz, treasurer;

Johnson Beattie, J. S. Marccllus, G. K. McFar-
land, executive committee. Special committees:
Fruits—J. Beattie, George Kime, C. B. Sweet-
land, Jesse Atwell. Vegetables—Theo. Dietz,

Mrs. Carter, A. F. Vest, Charles Galligher.

Flowers- A. R. Edwards, Mrs. J. Beattie, Mrs.
Marcell us, Miss Lida E. Moore, Miss Julia

Brown. Nomenclature S. R. Moore, George
Kime, W. J. Townsend, C. B. Sweetland, J. S.

Marccllus. Orchards J. Beattie, George Kime,
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G. K. McFarland, William M. Wyley, Jos-
eph Love. Entomology—B. F. Leslie. Orni-
thology— Dr. H. S. Nye. Small fruits—
Peter Cashbaugh, G. McFarland. Ornamen-
tal planting—S. R. Moore. Vineyards—C.

B. Sweetland. Table—Mrs. S. J. Moore,
Mrs. J. S. Marcellus, Mrs. B. F. Leslie, Mrs. J.

Beattie, Mrs. Peter Cashbaugh, Mrs. Theo.

Dietz. Regular meetings are held on the sec-

ond Tuesday of each month. All are invited

to attend. This is a county institution, and you
are certainly interested, if you have the inter-

ests of your county at heart, whether you be
raiser or consumer. Please give your name,
influence and encouragement.

©hctpjep /II/.

POLITICAL HISTORY.

L
ISTS of county and court officials, and repre-

sentatives in the legislature and in con-
gress contain the names of many Muskin-

gan county men, who have risen to political

distinction. Special mention of a few will be
of interest here. The lamented James A. Gar-
field was once a teacher in Blue Rock town-
ship, this county. Lewis Cass was prosecuting
attorney 1804-12, member of the legislature in

1806, governor of the territory of Michigan,
minister to France, United States senator
from Michigan, secretary of state and secre-
tary of war. Wyllis Silliman was chosen
president judge of common pleas court in

1803, was register of the general land office in

1805, helped move the state papers from Chil-
licothe to Zanesville in 1810, was a representa-
tive in the Ohio legislature in 1828, was ap-
pointed solicitor for the United States treas-

ury by Andrew Jackson, and performed other
important public duties. Samuel Herrick was
prosecuting attorney of Guernsey county in

1810, was United States district attorney in

1810 and in 1819, succeeded Lewis Cass as
prosecuting attorney of Muskingum county in

1812, was prosecuting attorney for Licking
county in 1814, and was member of congress
from this district 1817-21. Alexander Harper
was representative in the Ohio legislature, 1820-

1821, president judge of the court of common
pleas 1822-36, and member of congress 1837-39,
1843-47 and 1851-53. Appleton Downer was
member of the legislature in 1831. Charles B.
Goddard was representative in the legislature
1 838-39, state senator, 1845-48 and speaker in

1847-48. John C. Stockton was clerk of the sup-
reme and common pleas courts of Muskingum

county 1812-17, prosecuting attorney 1818-20

and representative in the legislature in 1827.

Thomas Ewing (“Old Tom”), state senator
in the 29th general assembly, was a member of

the Muskingum county bar, and was a favor-

ite political speaker here in his time. Richard
Stillwell was prosecutingattorney 1820-27, presi-

dent judge of the common pleas court, 1847-51,

judge, 1852-54 and member of the constitu-

tional convention in 1850-51. Corrington W.
Searle was president judge of the court of

common pleas 1836-47 and in 1851-52, and
judge in 1855-56. Joshua Mathiot was mem-
ber of congress 1841-43. Henry Stanbery, who
was attorney general of Ohio 1846-52, and at-

torney general of the United States 1866-68,

was a member of the Muskingum bar. The
same may be said of his elder brother, Wil-
liam Stanbery, who was attorney general of

the United States, and in 1824-25 a member of

the Ohio senate from Licking county. So,

also, was Judge Noah H. Swayne, who was
representative in the 28th general assembly
from Guernsey county in 1829 and was ap-

pointed associate judge of the United States

supreme court in 1862. Alexander B. S. Cul-

bertson was Ohio representative in 1827. John
H. Keith was representative in the state legis-

lature 1832-33 and speaker of the house at the

32d session. Charles C. Convers was state

senator in 1849-50, and speaker in 1850 and
judge of the court of common pleas in 1854
and 1855. Napoleon A. Guille was prosecut-

ing attorney 1839-51. Royal T. Sprague be-

came chief justice of the supreme court of

California. Philadelphus Van Trump was
member of congress from Fairfield county 1867
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-73. James M. Love became United States

district judge in Iowa. Arius Nye removed to

Marietta and was president judge of the com-
mon pleas court of Washington county, and rep-

resented that county in the legislature and state

senate. Nathan Evans was member of con-

gress, Hugh J. Jewett was state senator in 1854

-55, member of the house of representatives

in 1868-69 arRl in 1 873-7 5 • George W. Many-
penny was clerk of the common pleas

court 1841-46, member of the board of

public works 1850 and commissioner of In-

dian affairs in 1880. John O’Neill was prose-

cuting attorney 1853-56 and member of con-

gress 1863-65. Daniel Convers Goddard was
appointed master commissioner for three

years in 1845. William H. Ball was a member
of the legislature in 1872 and became judge of

the court of common pleas in 1879. Lucius P.

Marsh was judge of common pleas 1856-62 and
from 1874-79. Samuel Sullivan (“Sunset”)
Cox, born in Zanesville, October 1, 1824, was
appointed deputy clerk of common pleas at

the age of fourteen, and was a member of con-
gress from the Columbus district 1857-65 and
later from New York. Moses M. Granger was
city solicitor of Zanesville in 1865 but re-

signed in 1866; became prosecuting attorney of

Muskingum county in 1866 and resigned that

year; was appointed judge of common pleas to

fill a vacancy in 1866 and in 1867 was elected

for a full term, but resigned in 1871, and in

1872 was made reporter of the supreme court,

but resigned in 1874. Robert W. P. Muse was
probate judge 1864-70. John Haynes was pros-

ecuting attorney 1861-64. Charles C. Goddard,
who has the most extensive law library in

Zanesville, has been called to several impor-
tant positions. Ezra E. Evans was judge of

the court of common pleas 1862-66. John A.
Blair was member of the legislature in 1856-

58. Daniel B. Gary was prosecuting attorney
1872-74. Daniel B. Linn was state senator
1866-70 and a member of the state board of

equalization in 1871. Edward Ball was sheriff

1839-43, member of the legislature 1845-9 and
1868-70, and member of congress 1853-57. Al-
bert W. Train was prosecuting attorney 1866-

68. Simeon M. Winn is the present prosecut-
ing attorney. Milton I. Southard was prose-
cuting attorney 1868-72 and member of con-
gress 1873-79, and has filled other official po-
sitions. Frank H. Southard is also prominent
politically. Fenton Boglcy was prosecuting
attorney in 1880-81. Edgar W. Allen was
clerk of the common pleas court 1870-73.
James B. Sheppard was a member of the legis-

lature of the state in 1874-75, William G,

Blocksom was city solicitor of Zanesville in

1875-79 and mayor in 1879-80. Reuben Mor-
gan was probate judge 1873-75 John R.
Stonesipher was prosecuting attorney 1878-80.

Herman F. Achauer was member of the legis-

lature in 1877-78. Henry L. Korte was pro-
bate judge 1870-73 and 1875-78. Henry R.

Stanbery was city solicitor 1879-80. William
H. Cunningham, Jr., was city solicitor in 1881.

For further valuable information supplement-
ing this the reader is referred to the chapters
detailing the history of the bench and bar of
Muskingum county, and containing full and
accurate lists of all officials of Muskingum
county and o-f the city of Zanesville.

Following are accounts of several incidents
of a political and semi-political character which
cannot but interest every citizen of Muskingum
county, regardless of age or political affiliation.

July 4, 1840, occurred the “great Whig bar-

becue ” in Zanesville, the following description
of which is extracted from a letter from F. W.
Howard (an eye-witness), of Roseville, to his

brother in Boston, dated July 5, 1840: “ Yes-
terday was the proudest day that old Muskin-
gum county ever witnessed. A free barbecue
had been prepared by the people of this county,
and yesterday was selected for the meeting.

* * * Twelve thousand people assembled
here. Never before have I seen so much en-
thusiasm manifested on any occasion. * * *

I arrived in Zanesville on my favorite pony
just as the sun was peering over the horizon.
The wholetown was wide awake. At Mainstreet
a scene burst upon my sight such as I never
before witnessed. Banners in great numbers,
with mottoes, were stretched across Main
street; flags, banners, log cabins, etc., were
gaily suspended from nearly every Whig house
on the street. The people had begun to arrive in

small squads. At nine o’clock they began to

arrive by the hundreds, bearing banners, flags,

eagles, brooms (to sweep the Augean stables

clean), Buckeye log cabins one foot or more
in size, canoes, etc., etc., etc. Brush Creek
(my township) came in with a large delega-
tion, and Newton township behind it, the pro-

cession making a splendid appearance. They
and other township delegations carried several

banners of my own painting. A description of

some of them will doubtless be interesting to

the reader:

BRUSH CREEK, O. K.

Give me a sub-treasury and a standing army
of 200,000 men. l he people expect too much
from government. M. Van Buren,

Boys, do You Hear That?
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MEIGS.
Often outnumbered; never conquered.

OHIO PRICE CURRENT.
OLD BANK PRICES. BANK REFORM PRICES.

Wheat, Si. 25 Wheat, •44

Oats, .50 Oats, .12

Butter, .25 Butter, .06

Labor, 1.00 Labor, .50

Our Sufferings are Intolerable.

PERRY.
W. H. Harrison and O. H. Perry; one cap-

tured an army, the other a tleet.

P. S., December, 1840: ‘We have met the
enemy, and they are ours.’

SALT CREEK.
The Whigs of Salt Creek have no fears of Salt

River.

“The Roseville delegation carried a banner,

a picturesque landscape, to illustrate an inci-

dent in the battle of Tippecanoe. The log
school-house stands in the foreground of a new
clearing, among the stumps and logs. A small
stream of water, spanned by a primitive bridge,

gives beauty to the scene. The express rider

from the army, with galloping steed, carrying
news to the settlements, has just passed, ex-
claiming: ‘ Harrison has whipped the British

and Indians! ’ The old Irish school-master,
with hat in hand, and the larger boys, with the
smaller ones following, all rush pell mell out of

the door. The master is looking behind, ex-
claiming: ‘ Boys, do you hear that? Hurrah
for Harrison! No more school to-day! ’ * * *

With these came a large log cabin drawn by
four gray horses, with a blue flag on every one
of them. The men inside were merry fellows,

singing songs and drinking hard cider. The
door was wide open and the latch-string out
and of a size that could not be pulled in. * * *

Then came several township delegations with
banners and flags and with all kinds of devices
and mottoes. One delegation had a live fox
carried on a pall in a canoe. The canoe was
painted black, with oars on each side and a
rudder at the stern. The mottoe was ‘ For
Salt River; ’ the name, ‘ Little Magician.’ * * *

We saw the Guernsey county delegation
and another log cabin, then another township
delegation, and then another one, and yet one
or two more. Then came Tom Corwin’s buggy,
drawn by thirty-one yoke of oxen—a grand
sight. It was built on large timber wheels and
would carry over one hundred persons.
The seats were extended over the wheels and
were arranged like those of a circus. Then

came a large, ball, thirteen feet in diameter,
drawn by four beautiful gray horses and rep-

resenting the twenty-six states of the Union,
with a motto for ‘each. It was brilliant in

colors and reached to the eaves of the two-
story houses. As it turned the corner of the
street, all the time revolving on its axis, and
its brilliant colors flashing in the sunlight, it

resembled some huge meteor. * * * The pro-

cession was now formed to march out to Mount
Tyler to partake of refreshments and hear
the addresses of Murphy and Tom Corwin, the

latter our candidate for governor, the ‘ wagoner
boy,’ so called. We were one hour in forming,

and our line of march was through Market
street down to Second, and into Main street

again. As our part came into Main street, I

had a good view of the whole. Every window
as far as the eye could see, and the house tops
in general were filled with the fair sex and
others waving their handkerchiefs to the thous-

ands below. Nine thousand ladies waving
their white flags inspire enthusiasm. They are

all Whigs. God bless them! In our march we
stop in front of a three-story building filled

with them. Each division stops to give them
a cheer, and they give us national songs. From
the time we entered Main street until we left at

the other end, there was one continual cheer
and waving of flags. The old.soldiers werethere;
some of whom fought in the revolution, and
some under Harrison. As some of them were
getting into carriages, a Locofoco said: ‘ There
go two more d—d tories!’ and it caused quite

a row. A small log cabin was carried by our
delegation, and a little girl at a window cried

out, ‘ O give me that little log cabin; do give

it to me!’ The reply was, ‘You must get a

little man first.’ It was afterwards given to a

lady who sent it to friends in New Jersey.”

In the latter part of August, 1844, during
the Henry Clay-Polk campaign, a few enthusi-

astic young Whigs of Zanesville conceived the

idea of erecting on the courthouse square a

handsome liberty pole that should excel any-
thing of the kind ever erected in Zanesville or

elsewhere. The committee adopted the plan

of a ship’s mast submitted by the late Capt.

Kearney, a seafaring man. A poplar tree,

contributed by the late W. B. Culbertson, who
lived a few miles down the river, was cut down
and hauled to a place at the rear of the court-

house, where a number of Zanesville carpen-

ters and painters put it in shape. Perry J.

Moore superintended this labor, as well as the

raising. Meantime political excitement ran

high. The Locofocoes threatened that the

pole should never be erected, and it was
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guarded by T. F. Baker, who had been a soldier

under Gen. Harrison, who staid by it, rifle in

hand, not only while it was being made ready,
but for many nights after it was raised. Sep-
tember g, 1844, there was a big Whig mass
meeting at Zanesville, and the pole was raised
the previous afternoon in the presence of

several thousand persons, many of whom had
come from distant parts of the county, some
of them from adjoining counties. The word
was given by the late Gen. Charles B. God-
dard, and up went the pole, amid the wildest
cheers. Then a United States flag, made by
the ladies of Zanesville, and by them presented
to the young Whigs, was produced and received
with great demonstrations of enthusiasm. It

is said this flag was of silk, and the material of

which it was composed cost $125. When it

had been run up about 100 feet the cord be-

came foul and the flag could be neither raised

nor lowered. Some malevolent Locofoco
had caused the trouble. Edmund Brush,
father of Dr. Edmund C. Brush, of Zanesville,

had had some facility in climbing masts, having
had some seafaring experience, and he soon
made his way up to the flag and placed the
cord right, amid the huzzas of the crowd.
While the flag was being run up, the Whigs
sang the following song, contributed for the
occasion by the late D. J. Culbertson and W.
T. McKibben, members of the Zanesville Clay
Club:

Come raise the flag! Come raise the flag!

As brothers let us join the band;
We’ll raise it high, its folds shall fly,

Muskingum’s sign to all the land.

Come raise the flag! Come raise the flag!

Of history the emblem bright;
Its cheering gleams like sunny beams,
Shall chase the murky clouds of night.

Come raise the flag! Come raise the flag!

And nail it high upon the mast.
It ne'er shall fall till every thrall

From freedom’s heritage is past.

Come raise the flag! Come raise the flag!

Free to the winds its stars be given,
And freedom’s friend shall see them blend

In beauty with the stars of heaven!

Come raise the flag! Come raise the flag!

By every breeze it shall be blown,
Thro’ summer’s heat, thro’ winters’ sleet

Till Clay as president we own!

Come raise the flag! Come raise the flag!

Let cheers salute its glorious form;
In mingled glow its colors show
A rainbow on the scattered storm.

Speeches were made by Messrs. Briggs, o
Cleveland, and White, of Newark, and tl

evening’s exercises were brought to a close L

singing. The pole was 175 feet high, in three
sections, joined like a ship’s mast by cross

trees. It was said to be the finest and best

finished liberty pole in Ohio, and its cost was
several hundred dollars. About ten feet from
the base was a handsome grand stand accessi-

ble by an easy stairway to speakers and singers.

The pole stood for several months an object of

popular admiration and a monument to the en-
thusiasm of Zanesvillians in a cause that failed.

The next day a great mass meeting was held at

the old elm tree, North Sixth street. Around
that old elm cluster many interesting memories.
It was under that tree that Gen. William Henry
Harrison delivered, in 1840, his famous speech,
the last political address of his life. There
too Tom Ewing and Tom Corwin delivered
their greatest political speeches in the cam-
paign of 1844.

There was a meeting of five men at the resi-

dence of H. C. Howells, in Putnam, June 24,

1833, which is of considerable interest in this

connection. Mr. Howells was one of the five.

The four others were Levi Whipple, A. G. Allen,
Thomas Gurney, and M. B. Cushing. They
met to “discuss the subject of slavery and op-
pression, with a view to attempt the organiza-
tion of a society on the broad principle of total

emancipation as soon as possible.” On the fol-

lowing Saturday evening the following named
persons met at Mr. Whipple’s office, on (now)
Muskingum avenue and organized a" Society for

the Promotion of Freedom and Universal
Rights,” Levi Whipple, chairman; John Goshen,
Thomas Gurney, Horace Nye, H. C. Howells, M.
B. Cushing, John Quigley, Charles Matthews,
William Joiner and A. G. Allen. A constitu-

tion presented by a previously appointed com-
mittee consisting of Messrs. Whipple, Howells
and Allen, was signed by every one present ex-
cept Messrs. Matthews and Goshen. July 4th,

following, a public meeting was held in the
Zanesville Presbyterian Church, at which the
constitution was amended and the name of the
association was changed to “The Muskingum
County Fhnancipation Society to Promote the
Abolition of Slavery and Oppressive Laws.”
Though it was not numerously signed in the
city, this constitution was soon endorsed by
the signatures of 2go persons in different parts
of the county. A monthly concert for prayer
for the abolition of slavery was established
October 26 following, It was first held in the
Stone academy and later for many years in the
basement of the Presbyterian church in Put-

f nam on the evening of the last Monday in each
e month. A colored adults’ bible-class was
y formed, and later a Sunday-school for colored
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people, the classes of which later were merged
with those of the regular Sunday-school from
which they did not separate until the colored
people organized churches and Sunday schools

of their own. In the winter of 1834 petitions

were signed in the county and forwarded to the

state legislature, praying for the consideration

of the condition of Ohio’s colored population
particularly that they might be permitted to

testify in the courts and have the benefit of the

school fund; and to congress, asking for the
immediate abolition of slavery in the District of

Columbia and of the slave trade between the
states. Prior to this time a colonization society

had been formed and now, to considerable ex-
tent, the two organizations differed and some
active opposition had developed between them;
but late in 1835 the members of the two
societies united in a petition both to the Ohio
legislature and to the national congress re-

newing the requests made by friends of eman-
cipation a year before. It was about this time
that Jacob Stout, a member of the society, was
fined 850 for employing a colored man, Mark
Turner, and, taking exceptions to this decision,

the society employed Messrs. Goddard & Con-
vers in his defense. A state convention was
appointed to be held in Putnam, April 22, 1835.
During the preceding March, Theodore D.
Weld, afterwards distinguished as an aboli-

tionist orator, accepted an invitation to deliver

some addresses here. His efforts created great
excitement and roused much opposition to the
society. Opponents of abolition disturbed the
meetings, and April 11, a committee was ap-
pointed to confer with the prosecuting attorney
relative to having Mr. Weld protected in his

right of free speech. Richard Stillwell, after-

wards Judge Stillwell, then filled that office.

The convention was broken up by riotous per-

sons from “over the river, who threatened to

burn the dwellings of Mayor Nye, Mr. A. A.
Guthrie and Mr. Howells. There being no
municipal government in Putnam, these dwell-

ings were guarded by their owners and their

owners’ friends. When the Ohio Anti-Slavery
society again assembled here, in May, 1839, the
feeling of hostility against the movement had
to a degree decreased, but the announcement of
the appointed meeting seemed to fan the flames
of opposition to fury again. Several inflam-

matory documents were circulated, among
them a dozen headed “Resurrection of Abo-
litionists in Putnam.” This was characterized
by the most scathing vituperation and of a

quality to arouse the evil passions of lawless
persons. Abram France allowed the horses of

delegates to stand in his stable, and for that

offense his barn was set on fire on the night the
convention adjourned. The next night the
barn of Mr. Whipple was fired for the same
reason. One of the rioters, named Michael
Casey, was arrested but was rescued cn route to

the jail, at the lower bridge, by an armed body
of his sympathizers and taken to Zanesville.

This event led to the determination of a mob to

burn Putnam, and with that avowed determi-
nation it rushed shouting down Third street

and through the bridge. They were driven
back by a force of armed police under command
of Mayor L. M. Chandler, of Putnam, but re-

treated reluctantly with deep curses upon the
“abolition town,” or, as some called it, “nigger”
town.

An incident of the “underground road” days
that concerns Roseville will be found of inter-

est. This related in T. L. Gray’s “Reminis-
censes of the Early Days of Slavery.” Mr. Gray
says, in regard to some fugitives that had ar-

rived, he was fearful of keeping them about, so
he took them a mile into the country to Mrs.
Affadilla Deaver’s and there left them. Mrs.
Deaver was going to Zanesville to market the
following day and volunteered to take them
along. She put straw in the bottom of the
wagon for the fugitives to lie on and covered
them over with a quilt, loaded her marketing
and started, taking no one with her in sight ex-
cept her son Hiram, a lad of twelve. At the
foot of Nigton’s hill, near Roseville, the wagon
mired and she found herself in the predica-

ment of being stuck fast in the mud and not
daring to unload. In a short time Messrs.
Wigton, Dills, Walker and Erwing came to

her assistance and pried the wagon out of the

mud for her, without even so much as asking
what it contained. They were all pro-slavery
men, and Mrs. Deaver often expressed wonder-
ment as to what they would have thought “had
they known they had been wading round in

the mud and prying out two big niggers,” thus

aiding them in gaining what they regarded as

unlawful freedom.
The Cincinnati Times-Star gives the follow-

ing sketch of ante-war time happenings here:

“Edward W. Cox of the Denison house, was a

liberal contributor to the underground railway

that scooted slaves to Canada. J. Wesley
Gazaway, father of the present minister of

Allen temple of this city, was in charge of the

Zanesville station. One day Mr. Cox, who re-

sided near Zanesville, was informed that three

slaves, the property of Cincinnatus Neal, of

Parkersburg, Va., were in the vicinity, and that

two English detectives were on their track.

Mr. Cox got all the information he could from
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his unsuspecting informant and gave the tip to

Mr. Gazaway in the night time. The latter

started from home to look for the slaves, for

he knew full well where they would stop. Two
days after that, Mr. Gazaway placed in Mr.
Cox’s hand a telegram announcing the safe

arrival of the slaves in Canada. Soon after the

breaking out of the war, Mr. Cox, who had
been appointed a clerk by A. V. Barringer,

commissary of subsistence, for the post at

Parkersburg, moved his family to that place.

There was a bitter feeling existing against

northern people, but finally a kinship was
identified between Mrs. Cox and the old set-

tlers, and the erstwhile Yanks were received
into the best society. Mr. Cox, who had found
great difficulty in procuring a place of residence,

moved into one belonging to Col. W. L. (‘Mud-
wall’

) Jackson, a brother of the famous Gen. T. J.

(‘Stonewall’) Jackson. Directly opposite lived

Cincinnatus Neal, whose slaves had been spir-

ited away, as related above. One evening
while Mr. Cox and his wife were enjoying their

hospitality, the host told them a story of how
three of his slaves had run away before the

war, and although they were tracked to Zanes-
ville by the best English talent, still all trace

of them was lost at that point. Mrs. Cox
looked at her husband with a horrified expres-
sion and Mr. Cox laughed outright. Mr. Neal
looked puzzled, but Mr. Cox managed to ex-
plain himself, and Mr. Neal never knew that

the very man he was entertaining was a big
factor in making it possible for those identical

slaves to escape.” Edward W. Cox is a son of

the late Judge H. J. Cox, who, previous to 1856,

was one of the leading business men of Zanes-
ville. J. Wesley Gazaway, in his day, was
known to all the people of Zanesville.

A lady who was formerly Miss Sarah E.

Fawcett, of Zanesville, has in a letter, given
the following interesting incident: “When a

Mr. Thurston came there from the South to

raise recruits for the Texan army, it created
much excitement, and the community being
largely southern the public sympathy was with
the Texans. Capt. Burroughs enlisted in the
cause and soon raised a large company to join

Gen. Houston, to fight the Mexicans and for

Texan liberty. We girls thought so much of
Capt. Burroughs and his bravery in leaving
a nice home and business and pleasant associa-

tions to risk his life in the defense of liberty,

that we resolved to present him and his com-
pany with a flag. We passed round a subscrip-

tion paper and soon raised about $50. I think
this was about 1 835—36. We bought the

material and made a very handsome flag. It

was of heavy deep-blue silk, about three yards
in length and proportionately wide, trimmed
with heavy yellow or golden silk fringe, and
bore a spread eagle painted in gilt with a rib-

bon in gilt suspended from its beak, bearing
the motto: ‘To the hero of San Jacinto.’ The
flag staff was of black walnut with brass mount-
ings topped out with a brass tomahawk, with
the inscription: ‘To Capt. Burroughs and his

braves.’ I had the honor of holding up one
corner of it when it was presented. * * The
flag was made at my aged grandmother’s house
on Third street. * * There were a dozen of us

girls that every afternoon for a week met in our
front room and worked on the flag until it was
finished; the gentlemen, too, often joined us to

give advice and help us, particularly with the
painting and staff, which they managed entirely.

The presentation was made from the door steps

of the residence of Col. James Ragnet, on
Fifth street, and Miss Mary Love made a beau-
tiful and appropriate speech. Capt. Bur-
roughs replied with an excellent speech, say-
ing that the beautiful flag presented to him
should never be dishonored and that if he were
spared to return he would bring it back covered
with glory. He did bring it back, and it looked,
too, as if it had been through many a hard bat-

tle. As I remember, some of the girls who
stood on the steps with Miss Love were Belinda
Thompson, Elizabeth Love, Sarah E. Fawcett,
Eliza Galligher and I think Mrs. Ragnet, as she
was always ready to help in any emergency.
The street was crowded with people from Main
to Market when Capt. Burroughs marched up
with his brave company.

Vote of Muskingum county 1890: Secre-
tary of state— Ryan (R), 5,542; Cromley (D),

5,590; Lockwood (P), 334. Congressional
vote—Slade (R), 5,511; Owens (D), 5,638;
Caton (P), 323. Probate judge—George L.

FAley (R), 5,736; Benjamin F. Powers (D),

5,421; II. Jordan (P), 253. Commissioner—
Thomas McLees (R), 5,252; S. M. Rutledge
(D), 5,830; Joseph Roberts (P), 284. Sheriff

John H. Drake (R), 5,361; William H. Bolin
(D), 5,868; B. I. Felton (P-),264. Prosecuting
attorney—William J. Massey ( R), 5,486; Simeon
M. Winn (D), 5,659; G. W. Walker (P), 234.
Infirmary director—Charles T. Willey (R),

5,712; John Wise (D), 5,427; Isaac Mclntire
(P), 30!.
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MISCELLANEOUS STATISTICS.

F
EBRUARY 4, 1825, an act was passed by
the legislature of Ohio to provide for the

internal improvements of the state by navi-

gable canals. The original intention of the

legislature was to make the Ohio and Erie
canal, extending from Lake Erie to the Ohio
river, and the southern end of the Ohio and
Maumee canal, from Cincinnati to Dayton; and,

provided Congress made provisions to assist in

the work, to extend the last named canal to

Lake Erie. The Ohio and Erie canal can
scarcely be said to have been completed until

1831-32, nor the Miami and Maumee canal un-
til the locks at Cincinnati were finished in 1834.

Muskingum county’s navigable streams early

gave her commercial prominence and the Ohio
canal, then the great route for trade for the
State, was connected with the Muskingum river

at Dresden. A side cut or branch canal about
two and a half miles in length, from the main
canal to the river was necessary to perfect the
plan. In 1871 the work was so far advanced
as to allow' the passage of boats, but it was not
until a year later that the Muskingum *im-
provement was completed.

Railroads have revolutionized much in Ohio,
but perhaps in no place has the change been
greater than in this city. Prior to 1850 her
natural advantages placed her without a peer
in the state, but since railroads were intro-

duced much of the commerce that once fell to

her has been diverted to other channels, and
to-day she stands as only the key to South-
eastern Ohio where once she ranked as the
first city in the state. Her first line of railroad

—the Central Ohio road—was begun in 1850
and extended to Newark, a distance of 26
miles; in 1853 the line was opened to Columbus,
and in the latter part of 1854 the line was in

operation to Bellaire. This road in 1866 came
into the hands of the Baltimore & Ohio rail-

road company and became a part of that
grand trunk line connecting New York and
Chicago. The Cincinnati & Muskingum Valley

road, which was first built as the Cincinnati,

Wilmington & Zanesville road, was put into

operation at about the same time as was the
Steubenville & Indiana road, which is now
known as the Pan Handle.

The vast area of lands known as Northwest
Territory having been ceded March 1, 1784, to

the general government, congress passed an
ordinance on May 20, 1785, to have these lands
surveyed into townships, and placed the work
of direction in charge of Thomas Hutchins.
Seven ranges, bounded on the east by Pennsyl
vania and south by the Ohio, were surveyed
and a part of the land located. No further sales

were then made till July 1, 1801. The settle-

ment of Marietta had been made in April, 1788,

and it needed all the sterling qualities of intel-

lect, wealth and courage to enable the colonists

to bear their privations. For months they were
destitute of salt, and lived upon fresh meat,
milk, and vegetables, and bread made of corn
pounded fine in a mortar. It was rumored that

up the Muskingum, at some point, were salt

springs, but the Indians kept their secret till in

August, 1795, a released prisoner stopping at

Olive Green gave their location. A party went
out at once, and during an absence of a week-

secured a gallon of salt, made in a camp-kettle.
In the summer of 1796 a company was

formed, consisting of fifty shareholders, who
paid one dollar and a half each, thus securing
a capital of seventy-five dollars, to buy cast-

ings and erect a furnace to make salt at Dun-
can’s Falls. Twenty-four kettles were bought
at Pittsburg, transported by water to the foot

of the falls, and thence packed on horses seven
miles to the salt-licks. A well was dug near
the edge of the creek, fifteen feet deep, down
to the rock which formed the bed of the
stream. Through crevices in this rock salt

water exuded to the surface. The trunk of a

hollow sycamore, three feet in diameter, was
settled in the well and so bedded in the rock
as to exclude fresh water. A double-range fur-

nace, twelve kettles in each, was built, a small*8ee chapter IX.
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shed was placed over the works, and a cabin

erected to lodge the workmen. A sweep and
pole were employed to raise water from the

well. The company was divided into ten

classes of five men each, who served two weeks
at a time, with regular watches night and day.

Wood was chopped and hauled by aid of a yoke
of cattle. The manufacture was equal to 100

pounds of prepared salt in twenty-four hours.

Counting the value of labor and the cost of

outlay, the price of the salt was about $3 per
bushel. It was of poor quality, of a dark color,

and impregnated with muriate of lime. The
gain to the people was the substitution of labor

in place of money, which latter was very
scarce. The company continued its organiza-

tion for four years and then dissolved. The
property finally passed to the state, and was
leased at a stipulated rent to various parties

Borings for salt water along the Muskingum
river, and the Licking, Moxahala, and Salt

creeks, have uniformly been successful, though,
in instances, not profitable to evaporate. About
sixty salt-wells have been sunk, but few of

them are operated, The water is evaporated by
using coal, and while some wells have yielded

7,000 barrels annually, others have not pro-

duced half the amount.
Men employed in laying the foundation to

Power House No. 2, discovered on December 4,

1891, the old salt well which will be remem-
bered by many of the older inhabitants of

Zanesville. The ground on which the power
house stands has all been filled in, the supposi-
tion being that at one time the bed of the river

extended over to the hill. When the surface
was several feet lower than it is now, a well was
sunk and salt water discovered. No use was
ever made of the briny water, but the well was
kept open for a number of years and that sec-

tion was designated as “by the old salt well.”

In after years, with the construction of the Cen-
tral Ohio railroad, a large fill was made here
and the old well was covered up, and had been
entirely forgotten until its discovery on the date
mentioned. The well had been true to its mis-
sion, though covered from sight, and continued
to yield the same salty water.

When the large basin was constructed at

the power house into which the take-in pipe
empties its flow it was discovered that salty
water in some way found its way into it. A
thick wall was constructed, but the difficulty

was not remedied until a brick wall was laid

next to it and the whole cemented. In early
days the manufacture of salt was one of the
principal industries along the Muskingum
river. Most of the mills have been allowed to

decay, and the industry has almost been for-

gotten. At Big Bloom, however, a few miles
above Malta, one of the mills is still in opera-
tion, and the loutput is second in quality to

none in the world. Even this is about to be
abandoned, and with its retirement the last evi-

dence of the once important industry will dis-

appear. It is peculiar that this salt water is

found so near the banks of the river. The well

at the power house is only a few feet from the
present bank of the river which is now much
further from the hill than it was prior to the
construction of the railroad. Below the city,

wells situated almost on the river bank give
forth salt water, while near by are springs of

fresh water.

In Madison township, on the old King farm,

is a salt spring where hunters used to lie in wait

for deer, and within a very few feet is another
spring of pure fresh water. At the power
house is a salt well, at the market house is a

fresh well, and on the bank between the river

and canal at the foot of Third street is another
salt well. The relative positions in which salt

and fresh water are found in the Muskingum
valley is certainly peculiar. Another fact is

that the wells in the northern portion of the
county are much weaker than the ones in the
southern portion, and are not so rich in the
mineral. Just a short distance below the mouth
of Wills creek, in Madison township, is a well

which was sunk by a syndicate and in turn

came near sinking the syndicate, as the water
was not rich enough to justify the manufacture
of salt from it. The well at the power house is

much richer, but the maximum is reached in

the wells in the southern portion of the county.
At Big Bloom, where the only mill in the
Muskingum valley is now in operation, the

water is very plentiful and yields a large quan-
tity of salt. In the improvements now in prog-
ress on the Muskingum river by the govern-
ment, it was deemed necessary to raise the dam
four feet just below this factory. Salt has be-

come so cheap that it is probable it will not be
deemed profitable to go to the expense of con-
structing another factory. If this should prove
the case, it will not be many years until the

people will learn with astonishment that salt

was at one time produced in this county.
No class of men deserve a record upon the

page of history more than do the pioneers of

religious teaching. The following is a partial

record of a few of that noble, self-sacrificing

band: John Goshen came to Springfield in

1805, a°d in 1806 he obtained an associate in

the person of John Meeks. The former was a

local minister of the Methodist Episcopal
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church, and united with divine worship on the

Sabbath skillful workmanship in building mills

and bridges on other days. Rev. Meeks
traveled an extended circuit named the Hock-
hocking; it embraced Newark, Lancaster, and
a large portion of the Muskingum valley. In

1806, Rev. Robert Manly, heretofore mentioned,
was a preacher in the county. Rev. Jesse

Stoneman, a Methodist itinerant, traveled the

valley as early as 1802, and was more or less

known to the early settlers of Muskingum.
Wills Creek circuit was organized in 1808,

and Rev. James Watts was preacher in charge.

Rev. Joseph Thrap settled in the valley of the

Licking, ten miles from Zanesville, some time
in 1810, and was known as an indefatigable

worker. James Quinn labored in and about
Zanesville more than half a century ago, and
knew the hardships of the road and the trou-

bles of the appointments. Rev. David Young
entered the Methodist ministry in 1804, and
was an extensive traveler for years; Zanesville

was his home, and here he died in a ripe old

age. Rev. Cornelius Springer became a minis-

ter in 1816, and may well be classed as a pio-

neer minister, since Muskingum has known
him as her citizen for sixty-eight years.

Rev. Samuel Kaemmerer, of the Lutheran
church, has been in charge of a church from
very early down to comparatively modern
times. William and George C. Sedgwick set-

tled in Muskingum from Virginia about 1824.

The former was settled over a country congre-
gation of the Baptist denomination, the latter

was a Baptist minister of Zanesville and the

publisher of a small newspaper conducted in

Baptist interests. Rev. Dr. Joseph Doddridge
preached on occasions to the Episcopalians of

the city Zanesville in or before the year 1818.

He was the first Protestant Episcopal minister
not only of Muskingum, but of Central Ohio.
He was known as the author of a history of

Virginia and Western Pennsylvania in connec-
tion with Indian wars. Bishops Chase and
Mcllvaine preached at times in Zanesville from
1827 to 1833 respectively, and about the former
date N. G. Baldwin was settled as a regular
pastor. Two local Methodist preachers of

1825 were Revs. Cox and Leslie. Rev. Nich-
olas Snethen preached in Zanesville in 1835.
He became chaplain of congress, and was
known as a reputable writer. Revs. J. W.
Ragan and Joseph Trimble occupied pulpits in

Zanesville in 1832 and 1833. They were re-

garded as captivating orators and talented
thinkers. Rev. John A. Waterman was a pio-

neer preacher of 1817; preached ten years in

Zanesville, and died in August, 1837. Rev.

James Culbertson preached in the Presbyterian
Church of Zanesville in 1825, and had for his

audience the most respectable and influential

of her citizens.

The Catholic church was early established
in Muskingum. Among its prominent sup-
porters were the Dugans, Taylors, Taggarts,
and Hugheses. The first foothold in Ohio was
in a few towns, of which Zanesville was one.

Since that time Catholicism has steadily ad-
vanced, till it has a larger money investment
in church edifices than any other denomination,
and the number of its adherents is also equal
to any. Of the earlier Catholic priests, the
names of Fathers Young, Wilson, and Mont-
gomery are familiar to old residents. Leonidas
S. Hamlin, of New England parentage, came
to Zanesville in 1825, and studied law, but
never practiced. He entered the ranks of

Methodism, preached powerful sermons at

campmcetings, and occupied the pulpits of

large cities. Was elected a Bishop in 1844,

beating Rev. Henry Bascom on the slavery

issue, and united editorial duties with those of

the pulpit.

In the fall of 1803 the Hockhocking circuit

was established by the Methodists, and Asa
Shinn appointed the preacher. The circuit

embraced all or a part of Fairfield, Licking,
Delaware, Knox, Coshocton, and Muskingum.
Shinn was expected to accomplish his circuit

in four weeks, and to preach more sermons
than it took him days to make the trip. Regu-
lar services were held at the house of Mr.
Walmsley, near the mouth of Wakatomaka.
Rev. Shinn wrote “The Plan of Salvation” and
“The Rectitude and Benevolence of the

Supreme Being.” His death occurred January
11, 1853.

In the year 1810, Rev. James B. Findley
was appointed on the Knox circuit, and held
his first appointment at Dick’s tavern, where
many were swearing and drinking. A class

was formed from the employes of Dillon’s fur-

nace, consisting of John and Jacob Hooper, J.

Dentenhiffer, a convert, Mr. Cooper and wife,

and Samuel Gassaway, a colored man.
The following account of the celebration of

the Fourth of July, 1814, at Zanesville, will be
found interesting: At the time appointed a

procession was formed and marched to the

court-house. Ceremonies opened by a prayer
from Rev. Mr. Fuller. The Declaration was
read by William Reynolds, Esq., and pro-

ceedings closed with an oration by Maj.

David Chambers. Dinner was enjoyed at

William Marshall’s. Gen. Isaac Van Horne
acted as president, and Gen. Samuel Her-
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rick and Samuel Sullivan, Esq., as vice-presi-

dents. Toasts were then drank with cheers and
discharges from a six-pounder. No less than
thirty toasts were offered, of which the follow-

ing is a synopsis of the leading points illus-

trative of the times: 1st, The Fourth of July,

1776: the day on which the Whigs of America
burst asunder the chains of British despotism;
2d, James Madison, President: the inflexible

advocate of his country’s rights, capable in

peace and war to maintain themed, Elbridge
Gerry, Vice-President: the veteran patriot, un-
sullied amidst the storms of faction and the
turpitude of treason; 5th, The War: Britain pro-

voked and America declared it,—real Ameri-
cans should support it to an issue; 6th, The
Memory of General George Washington, the
founder of the American republic, 7th, Thomas
Jefferson, the Author of the Declaration of In-

dependence: a patriot, enlightened statesman,
anda philosopher; 9th, The Officers andSoldiers
of the Army and Navy: freemen fighting for

civil and religious liberty; 12th, British Federal-
ists in America: more dangerous than all

foreign enemies; 15th, Our Impressed Seafaring
Citizens: for twenty years enslaved on British

warships, chained in poisonous holds, flayed at

the gangway, protections torn to shreds, their

crime the claim of rights as Americans; 1 6th,

Hon. James Caldwell, our Representative in

Congress. Volunteer toasts were offered by
Dr. H. Moore, Gen. Van Horne, Samuel
Sullivan, Esq., Maj. D. Chambers, William
Craig, Esq., Joseph M. Wood, and the last

by Gen. Samuel Herrick, which was, “The
Union of the States: banishment or solitary

confinement to all those Americans who dare
to raise their traitorous hands against it.”

Harmony and conviviality prevailed through-
out, and the company dispersed well satisfied.

In the fall of 1816, Jacob Lewis shot and
killed Samuel Jones, at the mouth of Symmes’
creek, north of Zanesville. A jury met De-
cember 5th, that year, and indicted him for

murder in the first degree. Samuel Herrick
was prosecuting attorney; Calvin Pease and
Joseph N. Couch were supreme judges; John C.
Stockton and Herrick were for the state and
Wyllis Silliman, Alexander Harper and S. W.
Culbertson were counsel for the accused. After
being out two days and nights, the jury re-

turned a verdict of murder in the first degree.
The jurors were Samuel Sullivan (foreman), D.
Wilson, James Culbertson, William Craig, Gil-
bert Blue, Nathan G. Finley, Lewis Verdan,
George Reeves, Michael Peters, John McClcary,
Thomas Moorhead anti William Blocksom. A
solemn and lengthy charge to the prisoner

concluded with the sentence that on December
31, “between the hours of ten in the forenoon
and two in the afternoon, you be hanged by
the neck until you are dead.” One respite

after another came from Gov. Worthington,
who was opposed to capital punishment, and
the sentence was finally commuted to im-
prisonment for life at Columbus. Zanesville
was the scene of great excitement on the morn-
ing set for the execution, and people came from
a distance of 50 to 60 miles to witness it. All
day long hundreds thronged round the scaffold,

which had been erected in the yard at the rear

of the courthouse, but their morbid curiosity

was ungratified. This is said to have been
Muskingum’s’first murder trial.

The following, from the hand of Dr. R. E.
Chambers, of Chandlersville, is reminiscent of

an early excitement in this county: “In the year
1819 a physician of Putnam, now Zanesville,

Ohio, on his return from Marietta, stopped at

the village of Chandlersville for the night with
Samuel Chandler, the tavern keeper. During
the evening, the doctor, who was much inter-

ested in geology, asked the landlord, an intel-

ligent man, and the owner of the salt well

which had been operating for some two years,

what appeared to be the character of the forma-
tion through which they had passed in boring
for salt. The answer was that his knowledge
was limited, but he well remembered that at the
depth of about 125 feet they encountered a very
hard rock, and were only ableto cut from a half

to an inch per day; that he remembered their

finding particles in their sand pumping, that

whilst they could not melt they found them
malleable.

“The doctor was desirous of finding some
of the sand pumpings, and proposed that the
next morning they go to the well, and see if

they could find even at that late period any of

the exhumed formation of the depth below.
Their search was rewarded. The doctor whose
name was Conant, took with him to his home
in Putnam, the sand pumpings found at the
salt well, and with a crucible aided by a blow-
pipe, succeeded in melting the particles of the
siftings, and from the molten particles he suc-

ceeded in making a button. He called to his

aid another physician, and the siftings of the
well passed through the crucible a second time.

“ Fully satisfied of a silver find, these gen-
tlemen, with others, were not slow in visiting

Columbus, the legislature being then in session,

and asking for an act of incorporation for a

silver mining company, which was speedily
granted. The value of shares was fixed at fifty

dollars and such was the confidence in the ex-
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istence of silver that the stock was soon taken
and a company formed.

“Our present experience enables us to ex-

tract the precious metal from the bowels of the

earth by the most improved machinery, but the

pioneer had handed down to him the methods
of the ancient Egyptians and did know how to

apply the horse and the ox, with the aid of the

tread wheel, and they were utilized.

“ The important question that met the sil-

ver miner was to locate the silver bearing rock,

(if in a rock), and to remove all doubts, it was
proposed to use a scraper in the salt well.

Though it was desired by the silver mining
company to sink the shaft around the well hole,

Mr. Chandler refused, as it would destroy his

well. They agreed to sink the shaft forty feet

from the well. The scraper was arranged so

that the pressure down would close the springs

and withdrawing would suffer the springs to

scrape the side walls
;

in this way they would
find at some point along the well the silver

deposit, and it was thought that the rock that

Mr. Chandler had described as so hard to drill

through was the point at which the silver

would be found. The shaft sinking was com-
menced. The work went on from day to day,

and as the point of the expected find was near-

ing, the energy and watchfulness increased.

For it was expected at the depth of 125 feet

they would find the precious metal that was to

prove a godsend to the hardy pioneer. But

125 feet did not reward his labors by a silver

find, but he labored on in hope. Reaching the

depth of 140 feet, and not finding silver, it was
proposed to run a horizontal shaft in the
direction of the salt well. This was objected
to by Mr. Chandler, the owner of the well, and
he warned them that if they destroyed his

well he would bring suit for damages. Forty
feet of a horizontal shaft broke into the salt

well when the water came in in great profusion
from the opening from above. This was over-

come by the use of a canvas sack filled with
flaxseed and forced into the opening above. It

was then proposed to sink a well around the

salt hole, which was done, and in so doing they
passed through a seven-foot vein of coal, said

by Mr. Hildreth of Marietta to be of good
qualities. But it was not coal they were after,

and fearing that the object of their search
would not be found in that direction, they then
tried the experiment of driving a well up the
salt hole, when they by blasting dislodged the
seed bag and the accumulated water rushed
in at such a rate that the miners were re-

minded of the days of Noah, but were without
his ark.

“The men were all safely drawn out, but in

a few hours the shaft was filled with water to

the depth of forty feet, and all tools, with a
pump costing some $400, remain in the well to
the present time. Suit was brought against the
silver mining company by Mr. Chandler, and
he recovered damages to the amount of $1,-

000, and hence he was charged with having
silvered the mine.

“ While the imperfect exploration did not
establish the non-existence of silver, it did
find the seven-foot vein of coal. The shaft
was abandoned and the work given up, and
from that time to the present the drill auger
has not been used at this place, but soon, it is

expected, that the diamond drill will be used
to re-establish the fact of the seven-foot vein
cf coal, as a party of gentlemen have been en-

tering into agreement with the citizens of this

place and vicinity for that purpose, and pro-
pose to buy the coal if its existence is re-af-

firmed by the drill. So if we do not find silver

in its purity, we hope to do so indirectly by the
exhuming of coal.”

Following is an exhibit of Muskingum
county’s population, according to each succes-
sive census from 1810 to 1890, inclusive: 1810,

10,036; 1820,17,824; 1830,29,334; 1840,38,749;
1850, 45,049; i860, 44,416; 1870, 44,886, 1880,

49,774;" 1890, 51,210.

The population of the county in 1890 was
distributed as follows: Adams township, 714;
Blue Rock township, 1,070; Brush Creek town-
ship, including Cannelsville village, 1,413; Can-
nelsville village, 177; Cass township, 963; Clay
township, including Roseville village, 1,021;

Roseville village, 714; Falls township, 1,591;

Harrison township, includingTaylorvillc village.

1,250; Highland township, 795; Hopewell town-
ship, 1, 579; Jackson township, including Frazeys-
burg village, 1,479; Frazeysburg village, 610; Jef-

ferson township, including Dresden village, 1,288

Dresden village, 1,247; Licking township, 872;
Madison township, 979; Meigs township, 1,446;

Monroe township, 878; Muskingum township,

817; Newton township, including Uniontown
village, 2,131; Perry township, 923; Rich Hill

township, 1,301; Salem township, including
Adamsville village, 872; Adamsville village,

335; Salt Creek township, 1,148; Springfield

township, 1,231; Union township, including
New Concord and Norwich villages, 1,820;

Newr Concord village, 719; Norwich village,

234; Washington township, 1,038; Wayne town-
ship 1,582; Zanesville township (coextensive
with Zanesville city) 21,009; Zanesville city,

ward 1, 1,254; ward 2, 1,591; ward 3, 2,392;
ward 4, 1,750; ward 5, 2,672; ward 6, 2,333;
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ward 7, 2,442; ward 8, 2,41 1 ;
ward 9, 2,681 ; ward

10, 1,433-

Interesting figures from the assessors’ re-

ports to the probate judge show the number of

births and deaths during the past year. As
usual the sixth ward, of Zanesville, is ahead in

the matter of furnishing new born residents,

the births numbering 79. The ninth ward
comes next with 76, while the eighth ward is a

poor third with 48. In both the first and
second wards there were more deaths than
births. In the townships, Brush Creek reports

the highest number of births, 50. In Jackson
there were 34 births and 28 deaths. Cass re-

ports 23 births and only 6 deaths, while in Jef-

ferson there were 27 births and 27 deaths. The
total number of births was 801 and the whole
number of deaths 463. The following are the
figures: Adams, births 13, deaths 8; Blue
Rock, births 18, deaths 7; Brush Creek, births

50, deaths 23; Cass, births 23, deaths 6; Clay,

births 23, deaths n; Hopewell, births 13, deaths

12; Jackson, births 34, deaths 28; Jefferson,

births 27, deaths 27; Licking, births 28, deaths

19; Meigs, births 19, deaths 8; Madison, births

16, deaths 13; Monroe, births 27, deaths 8;

Muskingum, births 20, deaths 15; Salem, births

18, deaths 17; Springfield, births 26, deaths 14;

Norwich, births 20, deaths 9; Newton, births

21, deaths 7; Rich Hill, births 18, deaths 8;

New Concord, births 18, deaths 9; Salt Creek,
births 13, deaths 8; Uniontown, births 9, deaths

4; Duncan’s Falls, births 11, deaths 6; Wayne,
births 22, deaths 18; Newtonville, births 14,

deaths 6; first ward, births 5, deaths 7; second
ward, births 7, deaths 1 1 ;

fourth ward, births

23, deaths 13; sixth ward, births 79, deaths 34;
seventh ward, births 35, deaths 28; eighth ward,
births 48; deaths 28; ninth ward, births 76,

deaths 41; tenth ward, births 27, deaths 10.

Total, births 801, deaths 463.

«
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ZANESVILLE’S SETTLEMENT, EARLY BUSINESS, ETC.

E
BENFZF1R ZANE and Elizabeth his wife,

at the date mentioned therein, executed a
deed, of which the following is a copy, of

land described to Jonathan Zane and John Mc-
Intire.

“This indenture, made this nineteenth day
December, in the year of our Lord one thous-
and eight hundred, between Ebcnezer Zane and
Elizabeth his wife, of the county of Ohio, and
commonwealth of Virginia, of the one part; and
and Jonathan Zane, of the county and common-
wealth; and John McIntyre, of the county of
Washington, in the Northwest territory, of the
other part; witnesseth:

That the said Ebenezer Zane and Eliza-
beth, his wife, for and in consideration of the
sum of one hundred dollars, lawful money of
the United States, to them in hand paid, the
receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, and
for divers other good causes and considera-
tions them thereunto moving, have granted,
bargained and sold, and by these presents do
grant, bargain and sell, unto the said Jonathan
Zane and John Mclntire and their heirs and

13

assigns forever, a certain tract or parcel of land
containing six hundred and forty acres, lying

and being in the said county of Washington, in

the Northwest territory, on the Muskingum
river, and bounded as followeth: Beginning at

the northwest corner, at a post where a white
oak, thirty inches in diameter, bears south
twenty-one degrees, east twenty-three links dis-

tant, and an elm, six inches diameter, bears
north eighty degrees, east twenty-two links dis-

tant, thence ran east ninety chains to a post
where a butternut tree, sixteen inches diameter,
bears north ten degrees east seven links dis-

tant, and one other butternut, fourteen inches

diameter, bears south fifty degrees, cast twenty-
five links, thence south eighty chains to a dog-
wood sappling where an hickory, twenty-four
inches diameter, bears north ten degrees east

fourteen links distant, and one other hickory,

eight inches diameter, bears south sixteen de-

grees west twenty-six links distant, thence west
ninety chains to a post where a white oak, eight

inches diameter, bears north sixty-four degrees
east twenty-four links distant and an elm, four-
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teen inches, diameter bears south ten degrees

west six links, thence north eighty chains to the

place of beginning. To have and to hold the

said six hundred and forty acres of land with

the appurtenances unto the said Jonathan Zane
and John Mclntire and their heirs and assigns

forever as tenants in common and not as joint

tenants. In witness whereof the said Ebenezer

Zane and Elizabeth his wife hereunto set their

hand and affixed their seals the day and year

first above written.

Ebenezer Zane. [seal |.

Elizabeth Zane. [seal].

“Signed, sealed and delivered in the pres-

ence of Isaac Zane and John Bryson.
“ Washington county ss., Newton, December

twenty-fourth, one thousand eight hundred,

personally appeared Isaac Zane and John Bry-

son before Henry Smith, one of the justices of

the peace for the county of Washington, and
made solemn oath that the within named Ebene-
zer Zane and Elizabeth Zane acknowledged the

within deed to Jonathan Zane and John Mclntire

to be their act and deed for the use therein

mentioned.
Henry Smith,

Justice of the Peace.

Washington county ss., January 3, 1801. The
foregoing deed is a true copy.

Dudley YVoodbridge,
Recorder.

Jonathan Zane and John Mclntire pro-

ceeded to lay out a town. The plat of Zanes-

ville was filed for record April 28, 1802. The
town was laid out in the southeast corner of

the Zane grant, and extended nearly to the

Muskingum river on the west. The east line

was the west line of Seventh street, the south

line was the north line of South street, and the

north line was the south line of North street.

Lots 8 and 16 in the 13th square were by the

plat appropriated for a market house, and lots

5, 6, 7 and 8 in the 12th square (the court house
lot) “for other public uses.” The first lot sold

was to Noah Zane, who paid 830 for lot I in

square 2—the first lot on the north side of Main
street east of the canal. The deed bears date

May 31, 1802. Shortly after the town of

Zanesville was laid out Messrs. Zane and Mc-
lntire aparted the residue of Zane’s grant. That
portion immediately adjoining the town on
the north and extending from Seventh street

to the river became the property of John
Mclntire, and the part north of it, lying be-

tween a line drawn from Elm street west and
the river was conveyed to Zane. I n the partition

of their property between Mclntire and Zane
all that part of West Zanesville lying east of

Blue avenue was deeded to Mclntire, and that
west to Zane. The United States granted to
Robert Underwood the third quarter of the
first township in the eighth range of the United
States military lands, containing 3,817 acres.
In the southwest corner of this tract Under-
wood laid out a tier of eight lots of five acres
each, extending from Seventh to Underwood
streets and from a short distance north of Mar-
ket street to the river, and another tier of five

lots of ten acres each east of Underwood street

and west of Downer street. A street was laid

out east of these lots running north from Mar-
ket street, a little west of where Blocksom
street intersects Market, to the river, at a point
later occupied by the Ohio Iron Company.
Section 1, Township 16, Range 14, was granted
by the Uuited States to Mathews, Whipple and
Putnam. A corner of this section lies north-
east of the river, but the bulk of it lies in that
part of the city known as Putnam. The town
of Springfield was laid out at the time and in

the manner described below:
“ Plat of a town described, situate, &c., at

Spring Hill, on Muskingum river, in the county
of Washington and Territory Northwest of the
Ohio, laid out by Rufus Putnam, Increase
Mathews and Levi Whipple, into house

.
lots,

out lots, &c., with certain appropriations and
reservations, as hereinafter mentioned, viz.: In
this plat the house lots are numbered from 1 to

147 and the out lots are numdered from I to

45. The house lots, except Nos. 8 and 9, and
the fractional lots below Spring Hill, contain
half an acre each, and the out lots contain the
quantity noted in them respectively. The
house lots numbered from 1 to 7 are three
chains thirty-four links long by one chain fifty

links wide. The lots numbered from 10 to 17
are three chains thirteen links long by one
chain sixty links wide Lots 18 and 19 are three
chains and three hundredths links long by one
chain sixty-five links wide, and the remaining
house lots below Spring Hill, numbered from
18 to 147, except the fractions, are two chains
fifty links long by two chains wide. All the
streets below Spring Hill are sixty feet wide
and f'ront street is in many places more. The
alleys passing through each block or square
are sixteen and one-half feet wide. North
street and the road leading toward Lancaster,
are each sixty-six feet wide. The alley between
out lot No. 1 and the house lots north and that

between house lots eight, nine and ten, and
between thirteen and fourteen are each thirty

feet wide. All the other roads and alleys

marked in the plat above described are forty-

nine and a half feet wide. The road or street
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leading from Spring Hill down to the street

north of out lot No. 21 shall be made in the

most convenient place, where the ascents will

be easy and gradual. The alley' dividing the
blocks or squares of house lots below Spring
Hill are for the particular accommodation of

the proprietors of the lots in each square re-

spectively, and may by the unanimous consent
of the proprietors be shut up. All the other
alleys, roads and streets delineated in the plat,

are appropriated to the use of the citizens and
the public in general under the restrictions and
reservations hereinafter expressed. And the
before named Rufus Putnam, Increase Mathews
and Levi Whipple, proprietors of the lands de-

lineated in the plat above mentioned, besides

the streets, roads and alleys appropriated as

aforesaid, do assign, appropriate and make
over for the purpose of erecting such public
buildings thereon as may be wanted for the use
of the town or any religious societies estab-

lished in it, or for the county or state, the follow-

ing described tracts of land, containing about
eleven acres and a half, bounded as follows:

Beginning at a post or station in the plat

marked A on Spring Hill, forty-nine feet and
a half North of the northeast corner of house
lot No. 17; thence running northwardly by the
dotted line, as follows: North three chains,

north forty-three degrees, west two chains sev-

enty-three links, north seventy-seven degrees,

west four chains twenty-six links north, north
forty-seven degrees, west two chains fifty links,

north twenty-two degrees, west one chain eighty-
six links, north twenty degrees, east eighty-four
links to a point or station at B, on the south
side of North street; then west by North street

to C, a point or station forty-nine feet and a
half east of house lot No. 7; thence south to

D, a point or station forty-nine feet and a half
north of house lot No. 8; thence to the place of
beginning; of which tract so much as shall not
be occupied by public buildings of the de-
scription aforesaid shall remain a perpetual com-
monage. Furthermore all the land between
the aforesaid dotted line A, B, and the river,

and also all the open space between the out
lot No. 17 and the river is designed to be left

open or uninclosed for the present, but the be-
fore named proprietors reserve for themselves
and assigns the exclusive right to occupy every
part of this tract whenever they think proper
for the purpose of erecting mills anti other
waterworks, for establishing manufactories, dig-
ging stone, iron ore, stone coal, or for any other
purpose whatever, provided they shall never in-

terrupt the communication from Spring Hill to
that part of the town below by the road before

described. Furthermore, the aforesaid proprie-

tors reserve for themselves and assigns the ex-
clusive rightof establishing a ferry or ferries for

crossing the Muskingum river from any other
part of the town as delineated in this plat, and
also for erecting wharfs and stores on the bank
of the Muskingum, whenever it may be done,
leaving Front street full sixty feet wide. Fur-
thermore, all the streets and roads south of the
street which intersects Front street, between
house lots Nos. 31 and 35 and the road leading
toward Lancaster, the aforesaid proprietors re-

serve the right of having inclosed, while the
house lots and out lots in that quarter remain
unsold, and shall not be obliged to open them
until they are wanted for the accommodation
of the respective purchasers in that quarter.

Rufus Putnam. [seal.]
Increase Mathews, [seal.]
Levi Whipple. [seal.]

In presence of Wm. Rufus Putnam, Benja-
min Tupper.

“Washington county ss. Personally appeared
this twenty-seventh day of July, 1801, Rufus
Putnam, Increase Mathews and Levi Whipple,
signers and sealers of the within instrument,
and acknowledged it to be their voluntary act

and deed. Before me.
William Rufus Putnam,

Justice of the Peace.
Washington ss., July 27, 1801. A true copy

of the original plat. Attest :

Dudley Woodbridge,
Recorder.”

Thus has been shown the original owner-
ship of a good portion of what is now the city

of Zanesville—at least of those portions which
with their additions have gradually expanded
into the Zanesville of to-day. The subdivision
of these tracts and the additions which have
been made to them are matters of record.

Another town laid out within the present
limits of Zanesville, but which never had any
corporate existence, was Natchez, so tradition

has it, brought into existence in 1806 by Gen.
Isaac Van Horne, and bounded about as fol-

lows:—“ On the east by a line west of the
Muskingum river, beginning not far from the
Main street bridge, including part of the Pine
street hill and extending near the intersection

of the National road and the Licking river, and
having that stream for its northern boundary
and the Muskingum for its eastern boundary.”
This boundary included “ the house built by
Henry Crook, in 1797, on the north side of the
bluff, near the north end of Pine street.”

Gen. Van Horne built the second habitation
there and Isaac Zane reared a domicile “ be-
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tween Young and Spring streets, on the
Thomas Drake location.” Proprietorship seem-
ed contagious in those days.

Born at Alexandria, Va., in October, 1759,
we know but little of Mr. Mclntire’s early life,

other than that he had learned the trade of
shoemaking, until in 1789, when we find him at

Wheeling, Va., where in December of that

year he married Sarah M. Zane. In 1797-8 he,

in conjunction with Ebenezer Zane, his father-

in-law, and Jonathan Zane, Ebenezer’s brother,

cut out a road from Wheeling, Va., to Lime-
stone (now Maysville), Ky., by the way of

what is now Zanesville, Lancaster and Chill i-

cothe. P’or his share in this work he received
with Jonathan Zane the military warrant for a

tract of land one mile square at this point, and
located his grant so that the southeast corner
of the tract was at about the corner of what is

now Seventh and South streets, and extending
north and west a mile each way. In 1799 he,

with his wife and household effects, moved
here and laid out the town of Westbourn, now
Zanesville.

He is described as a man who was a little be-
low medium height, rather fleshy, full-faced,

rather high forehead, blue eyes, brown hair,

wore no beard, weighed between 150 and 160
pounds, and was of pleasant disposition, though
quick of temper and strong willed. During
the fifteen years of his life which he spent here,

he laid out the plans for the future of Zanes-
ville, and at all times was foremost in every
undertaking. He laid out the town ;

he estab-
lished the ferry at the foot of Market street ; he
opened the first hotel

;
he was chiefly instru-

mental in drawing the state capital here for

the sessions of 1810-11 and 1811-12, and was
one of the framers of the constitution of our
state. Soon after this he embarked upon his

gigantic scheme of canal building, which he
was engaged in at the time of his death. The
results of his labor were seen in after years by
Muskingum’s citizens, and to-day, after three-
fourths of a century have rolled by and the
third generation occupies the city he founded,
the impress of his master hand is still seen,
and verily his works live after him.

He died in his stone house, corner of Foun-
tain alley and Second street, July 29, 1815,
sincerely mourned and regretted by all who
knew him. His remains were laid away in the
old grave-yard at the head of Main street, back
of where the old high school now stands. The
spot was marked by a small marble tablet,

bearing an appropriate inscription.*
Years later a heavy granite slab was placed

over the grave, and this tablet with its inscrip-

tion placed beneath it to protect it from the
weather. On December 24, 1889, this tomb was
opened and all that remained of Zanesville’s

patron was tenderly placed in a metal casket
and removed to the vault which had been
built for that purpose, at the home which bears
his name. A week later the remains of his

daughter, Amelia, were placed beside those cf
her father in the vault. Patron of the city,

builder of its prosperity, frontiersman, land-

lord, ferryman, philanthropist, representative

and leader among men, his memory shall be
kept green while the printed page endures.

The first white settlement within the terri-

tory now occupied by the city of Zanesville,

occurred in 1794, when Joseph F. Moore, Her-
man Blannerhasset and Dudley Woods came
here and established a trading post. Their
cabin was erected about where the office of the
Pataskala mills now stands, in the Seventh ward.
Here for several years they carried on a suc-

cessful business with the Indians in furs, which
were of a superior quality, and which they
carried by canoes to Marietta and Pittsburg.

In May, 1796, congress passed an act author-
izing Ebenezer Zane to make a road through
Ohio from Wheeling to Limestone, (now May-
ville, Ky.) For said service congress granted
Zane the right to locate military warrants upon
lands not to exceed one mile square each at

the crossings of each of the three principal

streams crossed, providing, however, that he
should establish and maintain during the
pleasure of congress a ferry at each of these said

crossings. In 1797, Zane, with his brother
Jonathan, and his brother-in-law, John Mc-
Intire, started out and blazed the road as speci-

fied. It was but a rude affair and consisted of

blazing the trees along the way and clearing

out an occasional dense undergrowth, to make
the new road passable for horsemen.

Completing their labors, Ebenezer Zane gave
to his brother Jonathan and John Mclntire the
tract located at the crossing of the Muskingum,
—it being hilly and poorer than either of the
other two tracts, and therefore thought to be
the least valuable. As a ferry had to be estab-

lished at once, Zane and Mclntire gave it to

William McCulloch and Henry Crooks for a

period of five years upon the condition that

they would at once move here and maintain it,

which they did;—their ferry outfit consisting

of two canoes with sticks lashed across them.
Jonathan Zane and John Mclntire laid out a

village upon the present site of Zanesville,

which was named Westbourn. In May, 1800,

Mclntire moved here with his family, having*See elsewhere for epitaph.
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come on a flat boat from Wheeling. The flat

boat used by him to make the trip was subse-

quently used as a ferry boat. In 1802, a regular

postoffice was established here, and the post-

master-general named it Zanesville, Westbourn
soon after being dropped as a name for the

village, and the name of the postoffice being
adopted in its stead. Zanesville soon became
the most important point in Ohio, and emigra-
tion to this point was rapid. The prosperous
settlement at this time boasted of a general
store, but had no tavern, and travelers were
compelled to spend their nights in a grog-shop
of the town, being there allowed to spread
their blankets upon the floor and sleep.

Mclntire, for sake of public accommodation
opened his cabin to the public and Zanesville

at last had a hotel. The cabin was located at

what is now the corner of Market and Second
streets, a few rods from the river bank, in an
open maple grove. It was a pleasantly shaded
spot, and in full view of the falls, and Mclntire
was able to furnish his guests with good com-
fortable beds. He also had window glass

brought from Wheeling, and it is but just to

say that these accommodations, through in a log

cabin, were such as to render the hostelry a

most welcome resting place to the traveler,

and at one time it sheltered a no less distin-

guished personage than Louis Philippe, king of

France, and his party. This noted cabin re-

mained until 1857, when it was taken down by
William Culbertson at the order of the Zanes-
ville Canal and Manufacturing Co., and portions
of it were preserved by that organization.

In 1802, David Harvey opened a tavern on
the corner of Third and Main streets, which was
the first shingled house in Zanesville. In 1804,

the legislature established the county, and the
commissioners appointed selected Zanesville
for the county seat. At this time the town was
a comparative forest, and, previous to the com-
ing of the commissioners, the citizens turned
out and cut the brush from the streets, and es-

pecially from the public square, to make it ap-
pear at its best advantage to the commis-
sioners, as Coshocton and Dresden were no
mean rivals at this time, and both were candi-
dates.

In 1803, the unappropriated military tracts

were brought into the market, and a land office

was established here, and although the town
was making rapid improvements, it was not un-
til 1813 that all the lands were taken up. The
nearest county seat at this time was Marietta,
on the Ohio river. The first court held in the
county met at Harvey’s tavern in 1804, but a
jail was erected soon after this, and also a

wooden building—the lower portion of which
was used as the sheriff’s residence and the
upper as a court room and a place of public

meeting, both political and religious. This
jail was set on fire by a prisoner and totally

destroyed.
As early as 1807-8, the subject of the re-

moval of the state capital to this point was be-

ing agitated. The seat of government was at

this time located at Chillicothe, but for several

reasons members of the legislature were dis-

satisfied, and it was known that a change of

location was desired by them.
Muskingum’s natural advantages for agri-

culture and manufacture, and Zanesville’s pros-

pects for becoming a large town, combined with
her central position in the state, rendered it a

desirable site for the state metropolis.

Believing that if the temporary capital

could be secured here it would be made perma-
nent, a delegation petitioned the legislature to

remove the capital to Zanesville, setting forth

that the county of Muskingum would, at its

own expense, furnish suitable buildings for the

legislature and state officers. Receiving assur-

ances that their wishes should be gratified, the

county at once began the erection of a new
brick building before the old jail and court

house. The building was designed for a

double object: if the state house was a failure,

it would still serve as a fine new court house.

The county, however, was without sufficient

funds to complete the structure, and it was not

until the summer of 1810 that the citizens

came forward and loaned the money to com-
plete the buildings. A smaller building was
also erected for the secretary of state and
treasurer. The sessions of 1810-1 1 and 181 1-12

were held in the new buildings, and for nearly

two years Zanesville flourished as the state

capitol. The permanent location having been
decided upon, however, and the Chillicothe in-

terest once more prevailing, the temporary
capitol was returned to that point while suit-

able buildings were being erected at Colum-
bus, and Zanesville resumed the modest dig-

nities of a county scat; the state house becom-
ing the county court house, and the secretary

of state’s office became the county jail, for

which it was used until 1824, when the new jail

was built and the office turned over to the

county clerk and auditor for offices. In this

capacity the buildings erected for the state

house were used until in 1874, when they gave
way to the present elegant temple of justice

which was dedicated in May, 1877.

Although checked in her growth by the

loss of the state capital, Zanesville still held as



222 HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY.

among the first towns of Ohio, and as late as in

1835 s^e was ranked as second only to Cincin-

nati.

Elias Hughes and family came in the spring
of 1798. On the 7th of April the wife of Wil-
liam McCulloch gave birth to a son—Noah
Zane McCulloch. The McCulloch cabin stood
about where the canal and the south side of

Main street intersect. The trading post was
rapidly assuming the dignity of a white settle-

ment. October 7, 1798, the postmaster-general
recognized the claim of the citizens to mail
facilities, and by contract authorized the trans-

portation of mail to and from this point and at

the same time, in compliment to Mr. Zane,
changed the name from Westbourn to Zanes-
town. Henry Crook came not long afterwards
and lived with McCulloch until he completed
his cabin, somewhere in what is now the
seventh ward, during the winter of 1798-99.
Mr. Crooks’ brother Andrew and his wife and
family joined him soon after. Until then Mrs.
Henry Crooks had been the only white woman
this side of Lancaster. Soon after came John
Bland, Henry Smith and a man named Priest

and their families from “the Kenawha country.”
It was in 1799 that John Mclntire built his

cabin, already referred to, in a beautiful maple
grove at the southwest corner of Second and
Market streets. Of the structure, Mrs. Charles
G. Goddard has said: “John Mclntire cut

down the trees and hewed nearly all the logs,

shaped saplings into rafters, split scantling for

door and window frames, etc. The window
glass, the first used here, was brought from
Wheeling, Virginia. The house was not
finished until the spring of 1800, and was quite

a mansion for those days. It is due to Mr.
Mclntire and lady to say that these accommo-
dations, though in a log cabin, were such as to

render their house to travelers’ a home.” Hav-
ing established themselves in their forest home,
they dispensed hospitality with a liberal hand,
all within sound of the dinner horn being wel-
come to their table. Mrs. Mclntire was a

notable housewife and splendid cook. They
were forced to entertain strangers passing
through the new settlement until a hotel was
opened. They had the honor of entertaining
Louis Philippe when he was an exile traveling
through the wilds of the United States. So
impressed was he with Mrs. Mclntire’s per-

sonality and surroundings that, after he became
king of Lrance, he inquired of an American
traveler about the lady who had entertained
him so royally in the forests of America. Mrs.
Mclntire, having held herself in readiness,

joined her husband in the fall of 1800. She,

with her escorts, goods and chattels, came by
the Ohio and Muskingum rivers, their means
of transportation being boats dug out of solid

logs. At night, the emigrants landed and
camped on the banks of the river. The forest

was full of wild animals, and perhaps an Indian
might be seen lurking among the trees. But
Mrs. Mclntire was equal to the emergency,
rather enjoying the adventure. She brought
with her the side-board and “chest of drawers,”
now in the John Mclntire children’s home.
The furniture was made by her brother-in-law,

John Burkhart, a resident of Wheeling, for-

merly of Baltimore, Maryland, an artist in his

line of business.

John Green, later known as “General”
Green, came in the fall of 1799 and lived with
McCulloch during the winter. In April, 1800,

he brought his family from Wheeling. They
were accompanied by Abraham McCulloch.
Green and McCulloch each had a four horse
team. The latter brought a pair of hand
mill-stones for grinding corn, and when the con-
trivance was in order he permitted his neighbors
to use it, greatly to their convenience. Green’s
double cabin, a story and a half building, with

a porch in front and a spacious hall through’the
middle, stood at the head of Main street oppo-
site the present Silliman street. It was the

scene of the celebration of July 4th, 1800, and
ever after that Green’s “tavern” was a noted
place. John and George Matthews came from
Wheeling in October, 1799, and built a mill for

grinding corn. It was constructed on board a

boat, was anchored at the foot of the fall on the

east side of the river, near where the lower
bridge now stands, and depended on the current

for power. It was carried to Duncan’s Falls by
a freshet, but was brought back and was in ser-

vice three years, when it gave place to a “ tub
mill” with one run of stones, located at Moxa-
hala. Another soon followed at the mouth of

Joe’s run and a part of it may yet be seen at low
water. William Well and Martin Luther Loud
Slagor came in 1800. The latter erected a tav-

ern cabin at the northwest corner of Sixth and
Main streets, which he leased to Thomas Cor-
derey, who kept open house there for several

years. Slagor bought and established a garden,

farm and dairy on a small tract of land, the

locality of which has since become known as

“Slagor Run.” Mr. Ingalls built his cabin near

John Mclntire’s. About 1800-01, John Houck
established himself as a tailor in Zanestown. He
was elected constable in 1804 and appointed
deputy sheriff in 1806. Early in 1801 Dr. In-

crease Matthews and his brother John opened a

store in a cabin at the northwest corner of Main
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and Third streets. In 1803 the establishment
was moved into what has since been called Put-

nam, at what is now 108 Muskingum avenue.

The land now including the Ninth ward was
sold at auction by government authority, at

Marietta, and Dr. Matthews, raising John Mcln-
tire’s bid of $4 per acre by 50 cents, secured it.

He was encouraged and backed by his un-

cle, Gen. Rufus Putnam, and his cousin, Levi
Whipple was associated with him in the deal.

Later Gen. Putnam became a partner. How
they laid out the town of Springfield has been
related. The place was named from the spring
known as “Lover’s Fountain’’ and was subse-
quently re-christened Putnam in honor of Gen.
Rufus Putnam. Levi Whipple built his

cabin at the mouth of the Licking in 1801 and
moved in with his family in the latter part of

October, that year. Until 1804 he followed sur-

veying and then engaged in the milling business.

Robert Whipple built his cabin in Putnam dur-

ing 1801 also, and in December Joseph F. Mon-
roe completed a two-story log house at the
southeast corner of Second and Main streets,

which was the first two-story log house erected
in Zanestown. About Christmas, that year,

Isaac Zane completed his log cabin at 98 West
Main street. Ebenezer Buckingham came
probably in 1800 or 1801, some say later. He
was a bricklayer and stone mason by trade. He
became a state senator and was one of the first

fund commissioners of Ohio after the adoption
of the canal policy, and was of great public ser-

vice. He conducted large business interests in

Putnam and was drowned in the Muskingum.
Jeffrey Price came, with a young daughter

in 1802 and for a time boarded with John Mc-
Intire. He kept a store at the southeast corner
of Fountain alley and Fifth street, and selling

out to John Matthews, in 1806, became post-
master of the town. About this time James
Herron began to make brick here. His brother
David, a hatter, came soon after, and the two
were associated in the latter business. So too,

came the blacksmith, Jacob Funk, whose shop
was at the northeast corner of Main street and
Court alley. Christian Spangler came in the
spring of 1803 and put up a blacksmith shop
at the northwest corner of Main street and
Sewer alley. Spencer Lehew, Peter Mills, Paul
Hahn and one Creighton came in 1804. Lehew
located in the site of Col. Goddard’s office.

Mills opened a store a little west of the mar-
ket house, and Hahn built a large cabin at the
northwest corner of Fourth and Canal streets,

which was used as a place for amusements.
In 1804 Samuel Thompson kept a grocery

on the southeast corner of Main and Fifth

streets. General Lewis Cass came to the town
that year, as did also Elijah Ross. Samuel
Goff, a stonemason, came in 1805. In the spring
of this year James Culbertson arrived, and on
the southeast corner of Fifth and Market
streets opened the second hatter’s shop in town.
N. Stone, a carpenter, and Daniel Stillwell and
his family came that year, also, and Isaac Van
Horne, Sr., came in company with his uncle,
Gen. Isaac Van Horne, from Bucks county,
Pa. He was a carpenter and five years later

built a frame house at the northeast corner of
Potter alley and Main street. That year also
came William Craig, another carpenter, who
bought a lot at “ the crossing” of Fourth and
Main streets and erected thereon a hewed log
house. This man had a memorable career here.

Justice of the peace in 1806, mayor of Zanes-
ville in 1814, an unsuccessful candidate for gov-
ernor of Ohio in 1814, in 1817 he was appointed
collector of taxes and gave bond in the sum of

$8,354.08, with James McGuire, James Hamp-
son, James Herron and Jacob Linder as sure-

ties, and, having collected the taxes, he ran
away with them, leaving his bondsmen to settle

with the commissioners as best they could.

His wife followed him, and they located in St.

Louis, Mo. Another who is said to have come
in 1805, was Elijah Hart, who rented a cabin
from Robert Spear near the foot of Main street,

and died here in 1807. In 1806, Gen. Isaac Van
Horne purchased a lot where the Zane house
stands, and built and opened upon it a two-
story frame hotel. In 1807 he erected another
frame house at the northwest corner of Main
and Fourth streets, which became known as

the Wickham hotel. David J. Marple, from
Bucks county, Pa., was a prominent, and for

some years a useful citizen, during the early

days. He became involved in financial dis-

honor and in 1822 went to Texas.
Col. George Jackson, who became mem-

ber of the legislature and state senator, bought
a frame house where the Masonic temple now
is. He died in 1829. Judge Samuel Herrick,

in 1809, built a substantial frame dwelling on
the southwest corner of Third street and Foun-
tain alley, and there lived until he removed to

his farm in Wayne township. Later he re-

turned to town and lived on the corner of Or-
chard and Underwood streets, where lie died

March 1, 1852, aged seventy-three. William
Langley, cooper, and Richard Brookover lived

with their families in a cabin in the rear of the

Zane house. Later, Langley built a story-and-

a-half log cabin in the northeast corner of

Fountain alley and Second street, and formally
years followed his trade there. Subsequently
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he built on the northeast corner of Fountain al-

ley and Fifth street. In Fountain alley was
Richard Brookover’s cabin. There he lived for

a time, then moved elsewhere in the town.
William Stinson, an early comer, engaged in

freighting and died in 1838. Joseph Beard, a

calico-printer born in England, came from Ma-
rietta. His son, William H., became private

secretary to Governor Meigs, who, when ap-

pointed postmaster-general, took young Beard
with him to Washington and gave him an im-
portant pooition. At the close of the war of

1812-14, he was chosen to convey the tidings

of peace to General Harrison, then in command
of the Army of the West, with headquarters at

Chillicothe, then the capital of the state. In

1821, he had the contract for carrying the mail
between Zanesville and Lancaster. In 1833 he
retired to a farm, but died in Zanesville in 1870
aged 86. Hugh and Isaac Hazlett came early

to Zanesville. They were merchants, both sep-

arately and in partnership. At one time they
had a store on the southwest corner of Foun-
tain alley and Fifth street, where they remained
until 1808, doing a large business. William
Montgomery came in 1806, and Daniel and Al-
len McClain built for him what some state was
the first frame house in Zanesville, though the
location is not given. In the summer of the
same year came Samuel Chapman, from Mari-
etta, and built for Benjamin Tupper a frame
dwelling and store on Front street, now owned
by Dr. Nye, which was the second frame
house completed in the town.

John Alter, Sr., arrived in 1806, and moved
into a log house about where Main and First

streets intersect on the north. He was a chair

maker, wheelwright and painter, and in time en-

gaged quite extensively in the manufacture of

spinning wheels. In the latter line William
Calhoun soon opened a competitive establish-

ment. During the same year Thomas Wick-
ham, a carpenter, came from Wheeling, and
built in West Zanesville, of stone from the bed
of the river just below the present railroad

bridge. Later he had a public house at the
northwest corner of Main and Second streets.

In 1817 he rebuilt a portion of the upper bridge
that had fallen into the river. In 1806 there
also came Jacob and Frederick Houck and
John L. Cochran. Jacob Houck, a stone and
brick mason, superintended the building of

the “Old 1809” court house. Frederick, also a
stone mason, made gloves in the winter
months, and also buckskin breeches and vests.

Cochran, a carpenter, became market master,
collector of taxes and a councilman.

Dr. Robert Mitchell came in 1807 and built

his cabin at 48 South Fifth street. William
Launder, William Burnham and James Taylor
came in 1808. Launder built a two-story log
house on the site afterwards of E. S. Keene’s
brick residence. Burnham settled in Spring-
field and kept Burnham’s tavern until 1811,

when he removed to a frame building on the
southeast corner of Main and Second streets,

owned by Gen. Isaac Van Horne, and opened
the “Golden Ram’’ tavern. In 1813 he moved
into the old Harvey tavern at the southeast
corner of Main and Fourth streets. He died
in 1820. In 1808 John Alter, Sr., built a two-
story log house on a lot which he purchased
from Dr. Mitchell for twelve cane-seated
chairs, valued at $75, and in that house John
Alter, Jr., was born before the windows were
put in. During this year James Linn built his

cabin at 41 South Sixth street. In 1809 Alex-
ander McLaughlin, from Pittsburg, Pa., built

a brick house on the northeast corner of Sixth

and Market streets, which at the time was the

finest residence in this part of the country. In

1812 he sold it to Gen. Isaac Van Horne. Re-
moving to Chillicothe in 1819, he came back in a

few years and was influential in getting the state

capital removed from Zanesville to Columbus.
He once owned the land on which it is situa-

ted. James Hampson came in April, 1809,

and erected the “Old 1809” court house under
a contract that had been awarded him. He
was a native of Berkeley county, Va., and be-

came prominent here. John S. Parkinson came
in 1810 and moved his family into a log house
on the northeast corner of Lountain alley and
Third street. The facts that have been pre-

sented concerning the early settlers of Zanes-
ville have been condensed from the somewhat
voluminous writings of Mr. Elijah H. Church,
who took a peculiar interest in the develop-

ments of his native town and spared no pains

in his attempt to preserve the personal reminis-

cences of its pioneers. To his thoughtful

record the complier acknowledges indebted-

ness also for much that follows.

Pioneers in various branches of commerce
and manufacture, some of whom have been
mentioned on preceding pages and some of

whom, have not, were the following. P'or con-

venience the various avocations have been
arranged in alphabetical order: Mrs. Samuel
Parker, Mrs. Hillierand Mrs. Christian Spang-
ler baked bread and cake in Dutch ovens in

1807. A bakery was opened by L. Hatman in

1808. Louis Verdan bought him out and
added candy manufacture. His successors

were Smith & Nefley and Henry Willey. J.

Skinner & Co. opened the first book bindery in
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1816. They sold it to A. S. Pennington & Co.,

in 1817 and bought in back in 1819. The first

brewery in Zanesville was opened by a Phila-

delphian, whose name is not recalled, and who
sold it in 1807 to George Painter. It was lo-

cated at the northwest corner of South and
Fifth streets. In 1811 Painter sold it to Jacob
Young, who abandoned the business in 1815.

In November 1813, William Marshall opened a

brewery on the site of Power House No. 3,

James Boyd was his brewer and he made about
30 barrels per week. In 1815, Barton and Mc-
Gowan purchased the concern and converted
it into a distillery, In 1816 Joseph Lattimore
built a brewery on the site familiar as the lo-

cation of the pork-packing establishment of

Miller & Co.
As late as 1802 burial cases were made of

bark lined with leaves and dry grass and
fastened together with withes. In that year,

the first coffin was made here of boards, in

which to bury the first wife of Increase Mathews.
The second was made a little later for Gracie,

daughter of Andrew Crooks. Both were made
by Richard McBride. Early carpenters were
Messrs. Lewis and Smith, who came in 1801.

John Van Horne, William Craig, Thomas More-
head, David J. Marple, N. Stone, Daniel and
Allen McLain, John A. Cochran, Samuel Chap-
man, Richard Brookover, Gilbert Blue, Joseph
Hocking, James Hampson, William Blocksom,
a Mr. Fracker and James Millis. Carpet
weaving was first done here in 1812. In 1818

James Covington was doing carpet weaving a

mile and a half west of Putnam. In the same
year Moses Dillon erected woolen mills at the
mouth of the Licking, and put in a patent loom
for making all-wool ingrain carpets of a style

known as the “rose and thistle” pattern. As
early as 1809 Richard and George Reeve, Sr.,

were engaged in clockmaking on Third street.

They made the old time tall case clocks,—one
for Dr. Increase Mathews one for John McGuire,
and one for L. P. Bailey. About 1815 the firm

removed to 92 Main street, and they were sub-
sequently succeeded by Harry Safford and
Charles Dickinson. During that year Francis
Cleveland and John Bliss were in the business on
Main street opposite the court house. Charles
Hall was in their employ and subsequently
formed a partnership with A. C. Ross in the
jewelry and watchmaking business. They
were also expert copperplate engravers and
made many of the old “shin-plaster” plates.

The first distillery was built on Mill run, by
Spencer Lahew, in 1808. In 1813 Barton &
McGowan had a distillery on the site of Power
House No. 3. In 1815 Valentine Best paid a

tax of $566.79 for manufacturing whisky.
Spencer Lahew paid a tax of $1 59.20; Joseph
Sheets one of $550.40; and John Sidell one of

$332.77. The location of the latter two is not
remembered.

In 1819 Thomas L. Pierce started a foundry.
Wood & Ebert started a blast furnace, a year
earlier, at the mouth of Symmes’ creek, where
they made pig iron for a few years. Much of

this was used in Pierce’s foundry and by the
Messrs. Reeves in their nail and bar iron works.
The business was closed in 1822. The first

glass works in Zanesville was duly chartered May
13, 1815, with a capital fixed at $50,000. The
concern was known as the White Glass Works
and was located at the southwest corner of

Third and Market streets. Among the original

shareholders were Isaac Van Horne, Samuel
Sullivan, Samuel Herrick, Rees Cadwallader,
David J. Marple, John Hamm and Ebenezer
Buckingham. Samuel Sullivan was president
of the company and John Hamm, secretary.

Edmond Jones was acting superintendent.
Elijah Ross made the blow pipes. In 1816

James Taylor and Alexander Culbertson built

a window-glass house opposite the site of the
first canal locks, a little south of Slager run.

Mr. Culbertson operated there until 1823, when
he died, after which Arnold Lippet, Thomas
Murdock and Joseph Cassel operated the es-

tablishment one after the other.

Among early hatters were David Herron,
James Culbertson, James Jennings and a Mr.
Malesburg. In Culbertson’s shop was made
the first silk hat ever manufactured in Zanes-
ville. Among the first to engage extensively
in the manufacture of felt hats was Richard
Gallagher, who had a shop at the southwest
corner of Fifth street and Locust alley. He
carried on the business here until 1832. He
died that year in Louisville, Ky., while return-

ing from a trading trip down the river. Walter
McKinney opened a hat store at 171 Main
street in 1817. At 202 Main street James
Dutro opened a hat and fur store in 1820.

Mathew Ferguson and J. B. Allen began busi-

ness here in 1820 and 1827 respectively. Rev.
Joseph Shepherd was making tombstones in

1812 on North Fifth street near Market. Early
stone masons were David Bean, 1799; Ebenezer
Buckingham, Sr., 1800; Samuel Goff, a few

years later; and Jacob Houck, Thomas Goff.

“Billy” Goff, Daniel Hatton, Elijah H. Church
and John P. Coulton.

Brick v^as first made in 1802 by James Her-
ron. Later Brazilla Rice vras in the business.

Joseph Whitney burned brick in 1803. John
Lee had a brickyard near North Underwood
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street and there burned the brick used in the

“Old 1809” courthouse. From about iSiOand
later on, Capt. James Parkinson was an ex-

tensive brickmaker, on his farm on the Mari-
etta, road, two miles and a half southeast of

Zanesville. The pioneer floating mill of John
Mathews has been referred to. According to E.

H. Church, “In the fall of 1801 the Springfield

company built a wing dam on the second falls,

leaving the Zanesville shore open for boats to

pass, and then built a grist and saw-mill. The
contract was let December 9th, that year to

John Sharp, for $200 cash and three gills of

whiskey daily until the job was completed.”
The first large grist mill in this part of the

country was the Moxahala mill, completed in

1803 or 1804 by John Mathews. It was located

at the falls of Jonathan’s creek, * * and peo-
ple came from twenty-five and thirty miles

around to this mill. In 1806 John Mclntire
built a mill race (north of Hatcher & Co.’s cof-

fin factory) and a saw-mill. Daniel McLain
and David Urie dug the race, which filled with
sand every time the river was up, so that the
mill was not a success. * * * During 1816,

a company was formed, composed of Col.

Andrew Jackson, Nathan Finley, Jeremiah
Dare, Daniel Convers, Jeffrey Price, James
Taylor, Thomas L. Pierce, Samuel Thompson,
Christian Spangler, Isaac Hazlett and Alexan-
der Adair, under the firm name of Jackson &
Co., to build a mill. This company, in 1817,

completed a mill on the west side of the Mus-
kingum, just north of the mouth of Licking.
It contained two runs of stones for grinding
wheat and one for making corn meal. A saw-
mill and a linseed oil mill were subsequently
attached. The oil mill was operated by Rich-
ard Fairlamb. Jackson operated the principal

mill until near the time of his death, 1836. It

was a three story frame building, and the build-

ers were Robert Fulton, Isaac Hazlettand Daniel
Convers. It was torn down in 1840-41. In

1818-19 the Granger mill was built by James
Granger, father of Hon. M. M. Granger, on a

site near the head of the canal and the old dam,
just north of the Cassel mill. The building
was 80x50, three stories, and had four runs of

stones and a capacity of 100 barrels per day.
An addition of 99x30 and two stories was added
in 1822 and two more runs of stones. Many
farmers came 60 and 70 miles to mill, and sold
their wheat for 25 cents per bushel to get
money to pay for their land. This was the
only market in southeastern Ohio. The
Granger mill burned down August 9, 1829, and
was not rebuilt. * * * The Ballantine &
Clark mill was built in 1817 for a brewery, and

in 1835 was converted into a flour mill and run
as such for two years, when it stood idle until

1842. At that time William Beaumont rented
it for one year. About 1845, it was converted
into a white lead works, which was short lived.

The building was burned in the spring of 1853.”

Mr. Church says: “The first man in Zanes-
ville to make a business of manufacturing nails

was John Hough, who opened his shop at the
foot of Main street in 1814.” The Zanesville
Express and Republican of December 8, 1819,

contained the following: “R. & G. Reeve
inform the public that their rolling mill and
nail factory are in operation (located at the
east end of the upper bridge), and that they
have an assortment of rolled iron and nails,

which they will sell as low and on as good
terms as they can be purchased in the Western
country.” Of this enterprise, Mr. Church
wrote thus: “Richard Reeve and George
Reeve, Sr., constructed a rude machine for the
manufacture of cut nails, which was operated
by horsepower. This establishment was
located on the south side of Main, near Sixth
street, until 1819, when the machinery was re-

moved to the corner of Main and River streets,

where water power was used. The machine
was similar to those now in use, but was not
adapted to heading, which was done by hand.
The iron used proved too brittle to work to

advantage, and the business was abandoned
in 1825-26.

Samuel Sullivan, of Philadelphia, early came
here and, building a moderate-sized kiln, made
red-ware, including cups and saucers and other
household articles. October 9, 1811, James
Keller engaged in the manufacture of cordage,
rope and twine. In the Zanesville Express of

January 13, 1819, appeared the following
notice: “Rope Factory.—The subscriber has
commenced the manufacture of cordage of all

kinds, and will keep constantly on hand cables,

well-ropes, bedcords, ploughlines, clothes-

lines, sacking lacings, twines, carpet chain,

fishing, chalk and trout lines. N. B.—Highest
price paid for hemp delivered at my place, next
door to J. S. Dungan’s hotel, Main street.” A.
P. Westbroad was the advertiser. Mr. Church
says: “ In 1817 Capt. James Hampson had
a salt well and furnace at the mouth of Mill

run. The well was bored during that year;

Samuel Clark, an energetic boy, helped to bore
the well. Captain Hampson operated the fur-

nace in 1820, and for five or six years later.”

December 5, 1817, Thomas L. Pierce advertised

as follows: “Salt.—The subscriber will sell

monopoly salt, of the very best quality, at a less

price than E. Buckingham & Co., the apple and
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goosequill merchants of Putnam.” Here was
competition carried into the realm of personal
detraction. In 1818, Pierce and G. A. Hall
sunk a salt well on the edge of the Mclntire
saw-mill race, near the south end of Second
street, but the water was too weak to yield

profitably. A salt well was put down in 1819
by Alexander Culbertson, at the site of the
lower canal locks. This well was 300 feet deep,
and a hollow tree three feet in diameter and ten
feet long was used for a reservoir. The kettles

used in boiling were made at the foundry of

Thomas L. Pierce, who obtained the iron from
Dillon’s falls. Mr. Culbertson did not make a
very large quantity of salt any one year, but kept
the works in operation until his death. The price
of salt at the works ranged from $1.32 to $1.35
perbushel. The Express of January 13, 1819,

contains the following advertisement: “Salt
at $1.50 per bushel at Ayres’ salt works, eight
miles below Zanesville, on the Muskingum
river. We are now making thirty bushels a day
and when our kettles are in operation (which
we are now putting in) we shall make eighty
bushels per day. All persons that have to cross
the river for salt at our works shall be ferried

free of expense.” Signed, “Jacob Ayres & Co.”
The following were early shoemakers here:

One Smith came in 1800. John Cain came in

1802. In those days shoemakers worked from
house to house. Joseph Church came from
Bucks county, Pa., in 1807, and in the spring
of 1808 opened the first boot and shoe shop in

town. Solomon Deffenbaugh opened the second
in 1808, and that year Timothy Gaylord came.
In 1816 William and Aaron Kirk came,
and about the same time William Luck and
John Burwell. James Martin came in 1817, and
later came Henry Ford, Peter Greaves, William
Love, William Twaddle, James Milton, Jacob
Walters, Henry Vincell, John Thompson,
Thomas Hill ier, Zacharias and Elijah Taylor,
Jacob Stout, Fdias Pike, William Forgraves,
George Maneely and S. S. Mann. Daniel
Prouty began the manufacture of soap and
candles in 1 8 1 1, on the river bank, between
Fifth and Sixth streets. In 1815 the works
were sold to N. & C. Wilson. Fber Mcrriam
was engaged in making soap in 1815. Three
years later the Muskingum Manufacturing
Company, a stock company, was organized with
Mr. Merriam, Ephraim Abbott and Nathaniel
Wilson as stockholders. The concern made
soap and pearlash, first at the foot of Market
street, and later atthe footof Fifth street. In 1802
Reuben Jennings started the first tanyard, and
two years later sold it to Levi Chapman. Moses
Morehead and Joseph Robertson opened a

tannery nearthe town in 1806. In 1814 Mr. C. Rob-
ertson sold his interest to his partner. James
Culbertson (hatter), in 1809, started a tannery
and did and extensive business until his death,
about 1822, when the concern, located at the
northeast corner of Fifth and Market streets,

passed into the hands of his sons Alexander
and Samuel.

Green’s tavern was built during the winter of

1799, Cordery’s tavern was early kept in the old
Slager house at the northwest corner of Sixth
and Main streets. Harvey’s tavern, at the
southeast corner of Third and Main streets,

was opened in the fall of 1800, and was a

famous hostelry in its time. Robert Taylor
opened a tavern at the southwest corner of

Ninth and Main streets in 1805. Two years
later he removed to a frame house on a portion
of the ground now occupied by the Clarendon
hotel, where he made the “ Orange Tree” sign

famous. Paul Hahn opened a tavern in a new
log cabin at the corner of I7ourth and Canal
streets, in 1805. In 1806 Nathaniel Roberts
opened a public house in a frame building that

had been built by William Montgomery the
previous year, on the northeast corner of Sixth
and Main streets. His sign was the “ Rising
Sun.” It passed into the hands of C. Pratt, in 1808,

and he named it the “Red Lion.”
In 1816 it was known as the “ General Wash-

ington house,” and was kept by Thomas Flood.
The first court ever held in the county convened
in Harvey’s tavern, as is elsewhere related.

The legislature made the “Orange Tree” its

headquarters in 1810-12. The “ General Wash-
ington “was a favorite resort of Virginians and
“ democratic-republicans.” The house erected
on the northeast corner of Main and Fifth

streets by Gen. Isaac Van Horne became known
as the “ Wickham hotel,” and it continued to

be so known even after it had been removed to

the southwest corner of Main and Fourth
streets. John S. Dugan, in 1818, built a three-

story brick house near the southwest corner of

Fifth and Main streets, and there established a

hotel which, underhis administration, was called

the “Green Tree,” and under the name of the
“National hotel,” was later kept by Harry
Orndorff, of whom John Greiner has rhyme-
fully written:

“ His face was fair to look upon;
It never wore a scowl.

He loved to slice the juicy roast,

And carve the tender fowl.

His sausages from Hagerstown,
With cream and apple-stew,

Proved he knew how to keep the best
Hotel in O-hi-o."

Robert I. Gilman and John Levins built a
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three-story brick hotel in 1806, on the site of

the C. E. Munson residence, Putnam. It had a

dancing hall and concert room. The first land-

lord was William Burnham, who, in 1 8 1 1 ,
re-

moved to the southwest corner of Second and
Main streets, where, in a building owned by
Gen. Van Horne, he kept the tavern designated

by the sign of the “Merino Ram.” Benoni
Pierce, in 1806, kept the hotel built by Gen.
Van Horne on the Zane house site, and in that

year was succeeded by James Reeve, who kept
it as the “ Western Star,” until 1814. At the

“Green Tree,” kept by John S. Dugan, on the

southeast corner of Fourth and Main streets,

numerous distinguished guests were entertained,

among them President Monroe, accompanied
by Hon. Lewis Cass, and Gen. Brown, com-
mander-in-chief of the United States army; and
Gen. McComb, with two men in livery, were
once quartered there. In that house in 1820,

was given an entertainment for the benefit of

the Greeks, who were in rebellion against the

Turks, and there, too, Julia Dean, the after-

ward popular actress, made her debut. In 1807
Peter Speck, Benoni Pearce, Jacob Good, An-
drew Moon, John Gardner, Charles Williams,
Paul Hahn, Michael Hoffman, Thomas Knowles,
George Heap and Thomas Ward were rec-

ommended as “fit and proper persons to keep
public houses of entertainment at their re-

spective places in Zanesville and Muskingum
county.”

George Dulty began business as a tin-and

copper-smith in 1809, and his first, or about his

first, job was making the ball that ornamented
the top of the cupola of the “Old 1809” court

house. In 1811 he was succeeded by his brother

John, and went to Wheeling. Soon John fol-

lowed him, and did not return until after the
close of the war of 1812-14, when he came back
to Zanesville and resumed business. J. L.

Cochran engaged in business as a tobacconist on
Main street, between Sixth and Sewer alley, in

the spring of 1817. During that year, Thomas
Adams, James Crosby and Thomas L. Pierce

began to make scythes, sickles, axes, etc., in

West Zanesville. Their wares were as good as

the best, but there was a local prejudice against

them, which the wily manufacturers ignored by
shipping their products to Pittsburg and
having them branded “Pittsburg Manufac-
turing Company” and thence shipped back to

Zanesville and other Western towns, where they
found a remunerative market. This business
was abandoned, however, after a time. In 1818

John Mackey announced in the Muskingum
Messenger that he had established himself as an
auger manufacturer, “opposite the pottery of

Judge Sullivan, in Zanesville.” In 1819 William
McCurdy was making augers, edge-tools, hoes,
etc., at the corner of Fountain alley and Fifth
street. Later he sold out to William Langley.

In June, 1810, the Putnam Manufacturing
Company put in operation three wool-carding
machines at their factory in Putnam. Two of

these were for carding common and one for

carding Merino wool. Jeremiah Dare was in

charge. Mr. Dare and his family were later

connected with this interest and will be referred
to in a subsequent chapter. In October, 1817,
George Brooke called the attention of the pub-
lic, through the Zanesville Express

,
to the fact

that he had “taken the clothing works at the
mouth of Licking creek, West Zanesville, the
property of Isaac Dillon to full, dye and dress
woolen goods.” William Johnson leased the
wool-carding machine of Mr. Dillon in 1819, as

also appears from the Express.

Isaac Zane built the first dam at Zanesville
about 1810, across the Licking, under advice of

Jonathan Zane, his father, who, when it was com-
pleted, sold it to Moses Dillon & Sons, depriv-
ing the young man of his interest in the enter-

prise, it is said, and leaving him $2,000 in debt.

The next dam was provided for in a charter
granted February 21, 1812, to John Mclntire
and his associates. The site designated was
“above the Licking, at a point nearly opposite
Market street.”

About 1803, Peter Miser opened a black-
smith shop in Springfield. Philip Munch and
John Balthis came during the next two years.

In 1805, I. Newell established the first tannery
in that part of the city. Horace Nye had his

tannery on the side hill, about the southwest end
of Adams street, and obtained water from a

spring near by. Levi Chapman’s tannery was
about where the bridge abutments were built,

in “Chap’s run,” and near by was his bark-
house about 1820. Muskingum bank was char-

tered in 1813 and was located on the southwest
corner of Muskingum and Putnam avenues.
Its first president was Gen. Isaac Van Horne,
its first cashier D. J. Marple. It did business
until about 1846, and at that time Alvah Buck-
ingham was president and B. H. Buckingham
cashier. The Putnam Manufacturing Company
was organized in 1815 for the manufacture of

cotton, under a charter that fixed its capital

stock at $5,000, with authority to increase it to

$100,000. The factory was between the Whip-
ple mill and the west end of the lower
bridge. After it had been in operation a few
years it was gold to Joseph R. Thomas. Another
concern which passed into the possession of

Thomas was the woolen mill started in 1815 by
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Whipple & Putnam and also known as the

“clothing works.” For two years it was under
the superintendency of Samuel H. Raymonton,
and in October, 1817, was leased to George E.

"Clapp, who referred to it as a “cloth dressing

and dyeing works.”
By his generous activity in all things relat-

ing to the welfare of the community, Gen.
Rufus Putnam had greatly endeared himself to

the people, so that in 1814, when it became ad-

visable to change the name of Springfield, his

name was given to the settlement as a well-

deserved compliment, and the prominent citi-

zens met at Gen. Putnam’s residence to pub-
licly confer upon him this mark of appreciation.

This chapter brings the history of Zanesville in

a general way down to about 1820. In succeed-
ing chapters, special matters will be taken up,

and in others the general history of the city as

a whole will be brought down to the present

year.

©fyetpjep XV/II.

MUNICIPAL AFFAIRS OF ZANESVILLE.

A N act to incorporate the town of Zanesville
was passed January 21, 1814, and its first sec-

tion reads as follows: “ Be it enacted by the
general assembly of the state of Ohio, that all

that part of the town of Zanesville, in the
county of Muskingum, included in the original

plat thereof, now on record in the county of

Washington, together with all the additional
lots since added thereto on the east side of the
river Muskingum, and now on record in the
county of Muskingum, be, and the same is

hereby, erected into a town corporate, and shall

henceforth be known and distinguished by the
name of the Borough of Zanesville, subject,

however, to such alterations and regulations
as the legislature may from time to time think
proper to make.” The remaining twelve sec-

tions of this act provide for the election of

officers
;
the judges of election were to be

elected viva voce
;
the oath and manner of con-

ducting the election were defined
;
the corpor-

ation might sue and be sued
;
might have a

common seal
;
the trustees might fill vacancies

and make by-laws
;
provided no laws should

ever be made by them “ subjecting cattle or
hogs not belonging to the inhabitants of said
borough to be taken up and sold for coming
within the bounds of said corporation ”

; the
trustees were authorized to lay a tax, provided
the tax so laid in any one year should “not
exceed one-half per cent, of the value thereof”;
it was provided that the town marshal should
be the collector ; the manner of collecting tax
was prescribed

;
the amount of the treasurer’s

bond was designated
;
appeals were allowed to

court
;
imprisonments were regulated. This

act was signed by John Pollock, speaker of the

house of representatives, and Othniel Looker,
speaker of the senate. “ An act defining the

limits of the corporation of Zanesville” was
passed January 26, 1818

;
an act to amend the

act last mentioned was passed February 5,

1825; an act to enlarge the corporate limits of

the town of Zanesville was passed March 18,

1839. All of these acts were repealed by the

act creating the city of Zanesville, which now
demands space here.

By an act passed by the forty-eighth gen-

eral assembly of the state of Ohio, March 19,

1850, so much of the county of Muskingum as

was comprised within the limits of and desig-

nated on the records of said county as Zanes-
ville township, according to the recognized
boundaries thereof, was declared to be a city,

and the inhabitants thereof were created a body
corporate and politic with perpetual succession,

by the name and style of the city of Zanesville.

The act divided the city into four wards, as fol-

lows: “Commencing in the center of the Na-
tional road at the intersection of said road with

the eastern boundary of said township, and ex-

tending westwardly with the center of the same
road to its intersection with Fountain alley;

thence westwardly with the center of said alley

to the middle of the Muskingum river; all that

part of the said township of Zanesville lying

south of the above described line and west of

the center of Cypress alley and of the line of
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the center of said alley, extending south to the

middle of the Muskingum river, shall comprise
the First ward. All that part of the said town-
ship lying north of the first described line and
west of the center of Cypress alley and of the

line of the center of said alley, extending north

to the middle of the Muskingum river, shall

comprise the Second ward. All that part of

the said township lying south of the first de-

scribed line and east of the center of Cypress
alley and of the line thereof, extending south

to the middle of the Muskingum river, shall

comprise the Third ward. All that part of the

said township lying north of the first described
line and east of the center of Cypress alley and
of the line thereof, extending north to the mid-
dle of the Muskingum river, shall comprise the

Fourth ward.” The act provided that the

mayor of the city of Zanesville should be
elected on the third Monday of the following

April and on the first Monday in April annually
thereafter, and should hold office for the term
of one year. It was further provided that "the
qualified electors of each ward in the city shall,

on the third Monday in April next, and annu-
ally thereafter on the first Monday in April,

elect by ballot three members of the city coun-
cil who shall be residents of the ward »n which
they shall be elected; and the members so

elected from all the wards shall, when assem-
bled and duly organized, constitute the city

council, a majority of whom shall be necessary
to form a quorum for the transaction of busi-

ness; they shall be judges of elections in their

respective wards, and the qualifications of their

own members; they shall prescribe the place

and fix the time of holding their meetings not
herein otherwise provided for, and shall deter-

mine the rules of their proceedings and keep a

journal thereof which shall be open to the in-

spection of every citizen, and may compel the
attendance of absent members. The mayor
and councilmen so elected shall meet in the
council chamber, as designated for that pur-

pose in the city, on the fourth Monday of

April next, and annually thereafter on the sec-

ond Monday in April, and after having taken
the oath of office before some judicial officer,

the councilmen shall have power to appoint a

city clerk, treasurer, marshal, clerk of the mar-
ket, assessors, bell weigher, city surveyors,
street commissioners, health officers, weighers
of hay, measurers of wood and coal, wharf mas-
ters, gaugers, sextons, and such other officers,

whose appointment or election is not herein
otherwise provided for, as shall be necessary
for the good government of the city and the
due exercise of its corporate powers and which

shall be provided for by ordinance, and all city

officers whose term of service is not prescribed
and whose powers and duties are not defined in

and by this act, shall perform such duties, exer-
cise such powers and continue in office for such'
term of time, not exceeding one year, as shall

be prescribed by ordinance.” Other necessary
provisions of no historical interest were made.
It was signed by Benjamin F. Leiter, speaker
of the house of representatives, and Charles C.

Convers, speaker of the senate.

The village of Putnam was incorporated in

1835, an d the first meeting of the council was
held July 4, that year. The first mayor was
William H. Moore. Joseph R. Thomas was
first recorder. In 1871, the last year preceding
the annexation to the city of Zanesville, Dr. J.

Erwin was elected mayor and W. E. Guthrie,
recorder. The village of West Zanesville was
incorporated in 1869, and Henry Peters was
elected mayor, and Imri Richards, recorder.

October 11, 1870, a special election was held in

Zanesville, which resulted as follows: For an-

nexation of Putnam to Zanesville—“Yes,”
1,818 votes; "No,” 49 votes, and for annexa-
tion of West Zanesville to Zanesville—“Yes,”

1,939 votes; “ No,” 34 votes. February 28,

1870, an ordinance was passed by the city coun-
cil of Zanesville, applying to the county com-
missioners for the privilege of annexing cer-

tain contiguous territory. This ordinance de-

scribed, by metes and bounds, South Zanesville,

with all its additions. The county commis-
sioners met, May 18, 1870, for the purpose of

considering this application, and granted it.

June 1, 1870, a transcript of the proceedings of

the county commissioners was filed with the
city council. August 1, 1870, the council cre-

ated the seventh ward of the city of Zanesville
out of the territory above described. An ordi-

nance to annex the incorporated village of

West Zanesville to the city of Zanesville,

passed October 24, 1870, is recorded as follows:
“ Be it ordained by the city council of the city

of Zanesville, that the terms and conditions of

the annexation of the incorporated village of

West Zanesville to the city of Zanesville, sub-

mitted to the city council by the commissioners
appointed by the city council of the city of

Zanesville to arrange the terms and conditions

of said annexation, be, and the same are here-

by, approved by the city council of the city of

Zanesville. That the incorporated village of

West Zanesville be, and it is hereby, annexed
to the city of Zanesville, on the terms and
conditions arranged by commissioners and
submitted to the city council for approval.

This ordinance shall be in force and take effect



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 231

from and after the 10th day of November,
1870.” An ordinance to annex the incorpor-
ated village of Putnam to the city of Zanes-
ville, passed April 22, 1872, is worded thus:
“ Be it ordained by the city council of the city

of Zanesville, that the terms and conditions of
the annexation of the incorporated village of

Putnam to the city of Zanesville, submitted to

the city council by the commissioners ap-
pointed by said city to arrange the terms and
conditions of said annexation be, and the
same are hereby, approved by the city council
of said city. The incorporated village of Put-
nam is hereby annexed to the city of Zanes-
ville, on the terms and conditions arranged by
the city council for approval. This ordinance
shall take effect from and after the publication
thereof.” Cliffwood and that portion of Put-
nam south of it, were included in this annexa-
tion, as was also that portion to the west line

and north of Muskingum avenue, being the
north line of said corporation. May 6, an
ordinance was passed constituting this annexed
territory the Ninth ward of the city of Zanes-
ville.

The wards of the city, ten in number, are
thus bounded: First ward is bounded on the
east by Sixth street, south and west by the
Muskingum river, and north by Fountain alley.

Second ward is bordered west and north by the
Muskingum river, east by Seventh from the
river to Howard and by Sixth from Howard to

Fountain alley, south by Fountain alley.

Third ward comprises all of the city east of
Sixth street and the Muskingum river and
south of the line of South street. Fourth ward
includes all east of Sixth street and between
Market street and the line of South street.

Fifth ward includes all east of Sixth street and
between Market street on the south and Kel-
ley street and the line of Spring and Plast

Spring on the north. Sixth ward, all of the
city east of Seventh street and the Muskingum
river, and north of Kelley street and the line

of Spring and East Spring streets. Seventh
ward is west of the Muskingum river and south
of the Licking, and is west of Limestone ave.
and Mathews street.. Eighth ward is west of
the Muskingum river and north of the Licking,
it lies south of Washington avenue, Blue avenue,
Moorehcad avenueand Parkstrcet. Ninth ward
is west of the Muskingum river and east of
Limestone avenue and Mathews street. Tenth
ward includes all the territory west of the Mus-
kingum river and north of Washington avenue,
Blue avenue, Moorehead avenue and Park
street.

The first election after the adoption of the

present city charter was held April 15, 1850.

The following officers were elected: Mayor,
William Shultz; councilmen, William Galigher,

Mark Loudan, F. J. Fracker Jr., Joseph Gali-

gher, Daniel Applegate, Thomas Davidson, S.

R. Hosmer, B. T. Whitaker, F. B. Abbott, J.

M. James, G. Wynkoop, Henry Blandy; super-
visors, Peter Stockman, John Waters. Those
since elected to the mayoralty are here named:
William Shultz, re-elected in 1851 and 1852; D.

J. Culbertson; 1853, re-elected in 1855; PL L.

Grigsby, 1857; J. B. Thompson, 1859; Mark
Loudan, 1861; re-elected in 1863; John W.
James, 1865; Asa R. Cassidy, 1867; William
Ruth, 1869; re-elected in 1871; Robert P\

Brown, 1873; Calvin C. Gibson, 1875; William
H. McOwen, 1877; W. C. Blocksom, 1879; Wil-
liam N. McCoy, 1881; re-elected in 1883; J- C.

Gillespie, 1885; Dr. W. H. Holden, 1887; died
January, 1888; Thomas PL Richards was mayor
until the election of John W. Conrade. Mr.
Conrade was re-elected for a full term in 1889;

1891 W. S. Bell. Since 1853 the mayor has
been elected every two years instead of every
year. Following is a list of the present city

officials: W. S. Bell mayor; I. P. Humphrey,
city solicitor; W. M. Shinnick, Jr., city clerk;

D. G. Willey, city treasurer; Albert Howell,
civil engineer; C. Stewart, city commissioner.

City council 1892-93*: PL P. Bloomer, pres-

ident; W. M. Bateman, vice-president; W. M.
Shinnick, Jr., city clerk; First ward, W. M.
Bateman, B. V. H. Schultz; Second ward, PL
P. Bloomer, John L. Mercer

;
Third ward,

John Knauer, Henry G. Vogt; Fourth ward,
Thomas Scott, John N. Steiner; Fifth ward,
Geo. R. Clements, Geo. R. Humphrey; Sixth
ward, Jno. L. Taylor, Geo. F. Kappes; Seventh
ward, J. M. Moore, Frank Myers; Eighth
ward, J. M. McWilliams, J. Zinsmeister; Ninth
ward, I. P. PLirquhar, W. II. Tanner; Tenth
ward, David Evans, J. H. Dodd.

Standing Committees of the City Council,

1892-93: Finance, Bateman, Dodd, Bloomer;
Streets and Alley, Steiner, Bateman, Meyers,
Taylor, Mercer; Street Paving Special Assess-
ment, McWilliams, Humphrey, Dodd; Scales,

Kappes, Humphrey, Meyers; Sewers, Steiner,
Vogt, P'arquhar; Light, Zinsmeister, Schultz,
Clements; Claims, Tanner, Taylor, Kappes;
Buildings, PIvans, Knauer, Zinsmeister; City
Buildings, Mercer, McWilliams, Schultz; Mar-
kets, Knauer, Mercer, Tanner, Work House,
Taylor, Scott, Moore; Miscellaneous, Knauer,
Moore, Scott; Police, Scott, Myers, Clements;
Printing, Dodd, Kappes, Stott; Street R. R.,

Note.—

T

he first named in each ward were elected
in 1891, and the others in 1892.
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Clements, Evans, Myers; Water Works, Vogt,
Steiner, Tanner; Retrenchment, Moore, Farqu-
har, Evans; Eire, McWilliams, Bateman, Mercer;
Law, Humphrey, Clements, Steiner; Railroads,

Farquhar, McWilliams, Bateman; Sidewalks,
Schultz, Taylor, Vogt; Parks, Myers, Zinsmeis-
ter, Schultz; Grievance, Moore, Tanner, Knauer.
Advisory Members Street and Alley Commit-
tee, Humphrey, Evans, Zinsmeister, Farquhar,
Vogt.

“Secretary of State Boorman, ’’ says the Col-

umbus State Journal, “has made the follow-

ing classification of Ohio cities according to law
under the last Federal census: First grade, first

class, Cincinnati; second grade, Cleveland;
third grade, Toledo. The second grade, first

class, Columbus; second grade, Dayton; third

grade,Springfield, Akron, Chilicothe, Hamilton,
Portsmouth, Sandusky, Steubenville, Youngs-
town and Zanesville; fourth grade, Alliance,

Bellaire, Bucyrus, Canton, Circleville, Defiance,

Delaware, East Liverpool, Fremont, P'indlay,

Fostoria, Gabon, Gallipolis, Greenville, Iron-

ton, Lancaster, Lima, Marietta, Mansfield, Ma-
rion, Martin’s P'erry, Massillon, Mt. Vernon,
Newark, Norwalk, Piqua, Pomeroy, Salem,
Tiffin, Troy, Urbana, Warren, Washington,
Wellston, Wellsville, Wooster and Xenia.

Until 1841 the water used by the inhabitants

of Zanesville was obtained from wells and
springs, of which latter a goodly number existed

throughout the territory of the present city,

notably the old Carlow spring, at the head of

Fountain alley, from which vast quantities

were hauled and sold to the people. Promi-
nent among the first to conceive of water
works on an extensive and improved scale were
Joseph and William Galligher, Thomas David-
son, John Adams and James Crosby, all of

whom are deceased. From an old yellow-
leaved journal in the office of the water works,
is extracted the following interesting entry,

which was made by Town Clerk James Crosby,
and bears date July 10, 1841 ;

“ Sundries Dr. To loan from Zanesville Canal
and Manufacturing Company. For the sum bor-

rowed from them by the town of Zanesville for

24 years from first of January, 1842, at an in-

terest of 6 per cent, per annum, commencing
this day and payable semi-annually

—

viz.
,
on the

first days of January and July each and every
year per bond given them, a correct copy of

which is to be found in minute book ‘ D ’ of

the council, pages 333 to 341 inclusive, for

erecting water works and other purposes in the
town of Zanesville, Muskingum bank; this

sum being D. C. Conver’s check deposited on
the 17th inst. to the credit of the president,

recorder and trustees of the town of Zanesville,
for which said institution is to allow 4 per
cent, interest for all balances which may re-

main in its possession, $30,497.05. Ohio State

Script. The amount of O. S. Script bearing an
interest of 6 per cent, per annum, deposited in

said bank for safe keeping, $8,946.13 (savings
bank of Zanesville), total, $39,442.18.”

From this loan sprang the present system
of water works and it was the first city bond
issued for water works purposes, for which
reasons it is here given in its entirety. August
28, 1841, appears the next entry:

“ Sundries Dr. To William Gallagher for the

following sums paid by him per order drawn by
secretary

,
Contingent Flxpenses. Paid Arnold

Tippet’s bill, stationery, $25.00
;

per shovels
bought of Fillmore, paper and postage, $4.56 ;

compensation to Mr. Powell for his visit from
Wheeling, by invitation from the council, and
general information received from him respect-
ing water works, $25.00 ;

for one stopcock and
one fire plug received from J. Powell, Wheel-
ing, by order received Sept. 1, $70,00 ;

cart
and carriage therefrom, paid P. Printz & Co.,

$2.35 ;
total, $127.91.”

During the winter of 1841-42 the work, un-
der the able management of Thomas Davidson,
(to whom more than to any other individual
was due the success of the enterprise) was
pushed forward in an energetic manner.
Witchcraft & Prosser were the contractors
for the power house, which is now the “ Pearl
mills ”

;
they also built the reservoir on the

hill at the head of South street, with Monahan
& Co., as contractors for the excavating. This
reservoir had a division made of heavy timbers
running through the center of it, thus making
two distinct reservoirs and was built at a cost
of $5,672.01.

During the summer and fall of 1842 the
work progressed rapidly and was finished in

the early spring of 1843. It may, in this con-
nection, be of interest to state that the first

hydrant was located 142 feet south from the
corner of the alley on Main street, between
Sixth and Seventh, south side. May 18, 1843,
the first water rents were collected by John
Anthony, who at that time was acting in the
capacity of superintendent and collector of
w'ater rents. His collections the first day were
$36.00; the second day, $11.25; the third day,
$8.00. Meantime new consumers were report-
ing at the office, as there is a list of twenty-one
names of citizens as new water-takers who
called at the office during May, 1843, and paid
bills. Their payments aggregated $38.52,
which amount plus the cash turned in by Col-
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lector Anthony made a grand total of $93.77.
From this time forward each day added new
hydrants and new water takers. Extensions
went on; new improvements were added as

they became necessary; numerous additional

fire plugs were put in, and by April, 1844, the

whole amount expended for the “ Belieview
waterworks” (for such they were christened)

was $39,066.40. John Anthony was still super-

intendent and collector of water rents, and
James Crosby, secretary, two faithful and effi-

cient public servants. The revenue from all

sources for the year ending January 1, 1846,

was $1,601.24. January 1, 1847, the revenue
reported for the year ending with that date was
$1,821.39.

To meet the growing demand of a con-
stantly increasing population an extension of

pipe lines and other improvements was neces-
sary, and to meet the expense water works
bonds in the sum of $100 and upward were is-

sued bearing interest, some at six, others at

seven, and others at eight per cent. In 1851,

after Zanesville was incorporated a city, a

board of water works trustees was elected. In

1852 a new reservoir was built on Harvey’s hill

at a cost of $9,952.10, and the old one was
abandoned. The receipts for the year ending
March 1, 1852, was $4,222.15. From April 1,

1844, to April 1, 1852, the amount paid out on
the works was $34,092.54.

March 20, 1856, John Crosby retired from
the secretaryship, and was succeeded by George
W. Thompson, and Daniel Zeis was employed
as assistant superintendent. During the year
1856 the receipts from all sources amounted to

$5,032.04. All of this time the city was paying
to the state $250 annually to have the water
pumped into the reservoir by the state board
of public works.

The facilities at this time were inadequate
to the needs of the city, and at a meeting of
the trustees held January 3, 1865, Mr. Thomas
Griffin offered a resolution stating that in-

creased facilities were a necessity, and recom-
mending that the trustees and secretary visit

other cities where water works were in vogue
for the purpose of obtaining information re-

garding the construction and capacity of other
works, their rentals, etc. This resulted in the
erection of a new power house on South street,

which increased the bonded indebtedness of
the city $139,000. Contracts for this power
house were let in the spring of 1867. The cost
largely exceeded the estimates; one or more of
the contractors failed to perform his allotted
part; the excavating was difficult, and much
trouble was had to secure a solid foundation;

14

and it also became necessary to construct a

new ascending main to the reservoir, necessita-

ting a heavy additional outlay.

The old power house on the canal was run
in connection with the new till 1873. In 1875

it was stripped of its machinery and abandoned.
Here it may be interesting to the reader to

state that from July 9, 1842, to November 1,

1875, the city paid to the state board of public

works $7,586.70 for power furnished. From
March 23, 1868, to February 10, 1872, the cor-

porate limits of the city were extended, taking

in a considerable territory with a large popula-
tion. The people living in the newly created

wards were entitled to and demanded like

water facilities with the older wards. In fact a

contract had been entered into, to encourage
annexation, that after a reasonable time water
pipes should be laid in their streets.

The water works trustees were true to their

agreement, as, in the spring of 1871, the water
main was carried across the river to the Eighth
ward. Conveying the pipe across the river was
a difficult undertaking and it was only made
successful by using the flexible joint pipes.

After the job was completed and accepted it

was found that it had not been done as thor-

oughly as was desired; for being laid on the

mud it interfered with navigation at low water,

and in 1873 the moving ice parted the pipe.

Subsequently a channel was dredged and the

pipe was re-laid, and since there has been no
trouble of the kind. The extension to and
through the Eighth ward cost $66,008.66.

Shortly after this the water was taken across

the Licking, above the dam to the Seventh
ward. In the spring of 1872 a twelve-inch

water main was carried across the river to the

Ninth ward. This extension was a long one
and cost $59,976.56. In 1873, a line was laid

from the Ninth to the Seventh ward by way of

Dug road at a cost of $5,053.22. This exten-

sion was made necessary for the reason that

the pipe crossing the river to the Eighth ward
had been broken. This job was promptly fin-

ished and the Seventh and Eighth wards were
supplied by this new extension.

April 29, 1872, Elias Ebert was appointed
superintendent. He was a first-class machinist

and engineer.

The year 1872 i-s noted for the agitation of

questions looking to vast improvements in the

water works, particularly to new water works
above the city. This move was made for the

purpose of obtaining pure water, as the new
works were to be situated above the drainage

of the city. The coal supply could be more
easily and cheaply obtained, and better fire pro-
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tection and water facilities given to the popula-

tion in that part of the city. June, 17, 1872,

Superintendent Ebert was commissioned to

visit the East and in the large cities learn all he

could of their water works systems.

June 18, a joint committee consisting of the

Finance committee of the city council and the

board of water works trustees were selected to

locate the new power house and reservoirs.

The site agreed upon for the former was on the

railroad near Mill Run bridge; for the latterwas

chosen a high point known as Blandy’s hill, a

tract of land donated by the owner ( Blandy) to

the city for water works purposes. To T. B.

Townsend was awarded the contracts for exca-

vating the new reservoirs, for building same as

well as for nearly all the new work.

July 23, 1872, Supt. Ebert having returned

from his Eastern trip, reported to the trustees

that he had visited New York City, Jersey City,

Newark, N. J., and Philadelphia, Penn., and had
made a careful examination of their respective

systems. On his recommendation the secretary

was directed to order one Worthington duplex
pump of a capacity of 2,000,000 gallons every
twenty-four hours, to be delivered by Novem-
ber 1st. The following year another pump was
purchased which, when put in operation, raised

the pumping capacity of the works to 5,000,000

gallons daily.

There being still a large territory east of

the city that was too high to be benefited by
the existing water service, it became necessary
in order to satisfy the demand for “water” to

project a plan whereby water could be served
to people living on the heights.

Finally, after much agitation, August 23,

1873, the site for the new' power house and
stand pipe was located, and to T. B. Town-
send was awarded the contracts for building,

which were completed in due season,

The machinery at Power House No. 3 (now
No. 2.) commenced running November 7, 1873.

The citizens now pointed with pride to their

magnificent and effective water works. Up to,

and including the cost of constructing, these
last improvements, the Bellevue water works
had created a bonded indebtedness for water
works purposes of $398,043.18. During 1872
and 1873 there was expended for water works
purposes $203,371.13 and from March 15, 1872
to April 1st, 1882 the amount of money paid
out for extensions foot up $137,597.51.

The county infirmary extension adds nearly
two miles to the length <3 f the pipe lines, and
cost the water works $500.00. The county bear-

ing the balance of the expense. This exten-
sion is a source of revenue to the water works,

both from the rents received from the county,
and from water takers along the line. Up to

the fall of 1876, beyond paying the regular an-
nual interest, $2,366.60, to the Zanesville Canal
and Manufacturing Co., the water works had
yielded no revenue over the actual running ex-
penses. But from this time, owing to the in-

creased water rents and the able management
of the board of trustees, they were enabled to

begin discharging the indebtedness of the
works. P'rom Sept. 2, 1876 to January 25, 1882
the debt was reduced $37,000. At the begin-
ning of 1883 the city had 34 miles and 748 feet

of water pipe, 158 fire plugs, and 2,485 hydrants.
From May, 1843, to April 1, 1882, a period

of 39 years were collected the following water
rents: From 1843 to 1 8 5 7 the total receipts

were $45,792.48; from 1857 to 1871 the receipts

were $110,034.42; while from 1871 to April 1st.,

1882, the receipts were $231,757.58. Making a

grand total of $387,584.48.
The following casualties have occurred: In

May, 1870, a boiler in Power House No. 1 ex-
ploded, killing Gottleib Sterley, fireman, and
doing about $2,000 damage to the building.

To the widow of Sterley was paid about $2,000.

In February, 1871, Sylvester I^bert, an engineer,

was caught in the machinery, receiving injuries

which proved fatal a few days later. July 4,

1880 Power House No. 3 (now No. 2) was
damaged by fire to the amount of $2,158.33.

During the year ending April 1, 1883, there

had been laid 15,651 feet of water mains from

4 to 10 inches in diameter, making a total

length of mains in the city from 2 to 30 inches
in diameter, 37 miles and 559 feet. There was
paid for extensions and improvements during
the year ending April 1, 1883, $9,789.52.

' The
amount of receipts for this year from water
rents were $27,677.02, an increase of $2,170.70
over the previous year. During the fiscal year
ending April 1, 1884, there were 2,769 feet of

water mains laid which, with other improve-
ments, cost $7,683.92. The water rents for the

last fiscal year were $27,667.02, an increase of

$838.20 over the previous year.

For year ending May 1, 1885, there was laid

894 feet of mains, which with the improve-
ments of the year foots up $1,826.79 expense.
Water rents for the preceding year were $28,-

515.22. A net increase of $473.40 over the

year before. In 1886 the trustees of the water
works in their annual report stated that $106,-

497 in interest had been paid on the loan of

$39,443.18 made July 10, 1841, from the Zanes-
ville, Canal and Manufacturing Company, being
nearly three times the amount of the original

loan. In 1886 there was spent on extensions
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and improvements $5,724.19, and 9.419 feet of

new pipe was laid, making a total of pipe in

the city 39 miles 3,181 feet. The revenues
from water rents for this year were $1,300.04

less than for the previous year, caused by the

Board’s reduction of the family schedule of

water rents which took effect November I,

1885. During the year 1887, 2,047 feet of

pipe was laid, which, with, other improvements,
cost the city $1,566.20. The water rents for

this year were $509.67 less than last year, and
the total revenue from all sources was $498.11
less than the prior year, indicating a healthy
growth in revenues, this being the first full

years’ exhibit since the approximate 25 per
cent, reduction in family water rents was made.
Besides paying the current expenses of opera-
ting and maintaining the works, there had
been applied during the year from surplus the
sum of $13,277.54. Within the five years end-
ing March 31, 1887, the water rents exceeded
those for the five years prior to March 31, 1882,

in the sum of $19,832.25 cash; besides leaving
during the last year and a half the approxi-
mate sum of $6,000 with the family water con-
sumers under said reduction of rents, which
shows for said period referred to an average
annual increase in round numbers of $5,000.

At this date the entire water works system had
cost in the aggregate $525,248.75, and the city

had outstanding bonds to the amount of $330,-

000, and the remaining $195,248.75 had been
paid out of the surplus earnings of the works.
During the five years just passed $46,086.73,
nearly one-fourth of said sum $195,248.75, had
been paid by the works, besides the payment
of $20,659.70 on interest account. This is sure-

ly a good showing, and reflects credit on the
board of management, and doubly so when it is

considered that the city for its uses had re-

ceived in addition to the above the annual sum
of about $15,000 in water privileges, from
which the works received no revenue. During
the year 1888 there were laid 11,835 feet °f new
extension, which with other improvements in-

cured an expense of $8,151.52.

According to the secretary’s report the
revenue from water rents for this year were
$29,162.43, a net gain for the year of $1,983.52.
Notwithstanding the board reduced the
schedule of family water rents 25 per cent.

The water rents for the year, under considera-
tion, were in excess of those of any former
years during the existence of the works. The
board had also paid over to the city council
during that year $5,000 on water works pur-
poses, making in all during the past two years,
by the works, a reduction of the city’s bonded

debt to the amount of $14,443.18, and $2,193.30
paid to the city council on interest account—

a

sum total of $16,636.48.

From the secretary’s report of 1888 is gleaned
the following exhibit: Annual cash receipts

for water, $29,162.43. Current expenses to

maintain and operate works, $18,107.23. Esti-

mated value of water furnished the city free,

$15,000.00. Bonded indebtedness of city for

water works purposes, $310,000.00. Average
rate per cent, on said debt, 4 23-30. An-
nual interest of debt of city for water works,
$14,700.00. 1,123,157,032 gallons of water pro-

duced- cost per 1,000 gallons to produce to

consumer to pay current expenses of works,
$.016. Cost per 1,000 gallons to produce to con-
sumer to pay current expenses and annual in-

terest on water works debt, $.029. Received
per 1,000 gallons per water rents receipts, $.026.

Received per 1,000 gallons per water rent re-

ceipts on estimated at cash value ($15,000) on
city’s free use of water, $.04. During 1889,9,259
feet of new extension was laid which with im-
provements cost the city $6,718.00. The receipts

for this year reached $31,053.73, a net gain for

the year of $1,891.30. The above shows $2,065.1

1

more revenue from rents than was received for

the year prior to the reduction of family rents,

which took effect November 1, 1885. The
total annual increase in revenues from water
rents since said reduction took place is esti-

mated in round numbers to be not less than

$5,000. It may be of interest to the water con-
sumers and tax payers to give a short synopsis
of the application of the surplus revenues
for the seven years ending with 1889.

Expended on extensions and fire hydrants,

$30,327.89. Paid on city debt, $14,443. 18. Paid
interest on city debt,$20,659. 70. Total, $3 5, 102. 88.

Paid on four new boilers, machinery, etc.,

Power House No. 2, $9,229.60. Paid on new
boiler house addition Power House No. 2, $4,-

328.05. Map of water works plant, $1,415.50.
Rebuilt part of stack at Power House No. I,

$249.50. Reservoirs, buildings and premises,

$722.55. Total applied surplus, $81,373.97.
The total mileage of extensions during the

seven years referred to was 9 miles 4,354
feet, or about one-fourth of the entire plant.

During the year 1890, there were laid 15,300
feet of new extension which, with the cost of

other improvements, netted an expense to

the city of $10,488.25. There are now 46
miles and 4,865 feet of city mains in use. The
water re ts collected for fiscal year ending
March 31, 1890, were $31,824.70, a net increase
of $770.97. There are now no temporary loans
outstanding. The trustees of water works are
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Wm. R. Baker, president; Gil. Snyder, Robt.
Thompson, Pius Padgitt, secretary; R. M. Saup,
superintendent. The total valuation of the

plant as it stands to-day is 56oo,ooo. The
water supply is of the best, being taken from
the river above the city, which is here best

known as the “ Beautiful Blue Muskingum.”
The cities takes a justifiable pride in her water
works plant, which is counted as one of the

finest in the state.

In 1812 Levi Whipple and others obtained a

charter to construct a toll bridge over the Mus-
kingum, and he and Benjamin Tupper, Dr.

Increase Mathews and Ebenezer Buckingham
completed a bridge where the Third Street

bridge now is, in 1813. It was an uncovered
bridge, resting on piers which, raised about
eight feet, now support the Third Street bridge.

After a few years this first bridge fell down,
and it was rebuilt about 1818 or 1819. It was
again doomed to calamity, and burned on the

night of May 27, 1845. The work of rebuilding

was begun immediately. The piers were raised

to their present height, and a bridge something
like the upper bridge was erected upon them.
The Main Street bridge was built soon after the
Third Street bridge. The stone pier under the
central part of the “ Y” was finished by Jacob
Houck in 1813. The wood-work was com-
pleted the next year. A portion of the east

end fell into the river in 1818. This damage
was repaired, and fourteen years later a part of

this bridge fell again, with more deplorable re-

sults. “August 21, 1832,” wrote Mr. Church,
“ a great freshet had drawn a large number of

people to the bridge, apprehending danger of

its being carried away; and, strange to relate,

with this danger staring them in the face, many
were on the bridge when about 300 feet of the

east end of the bridge fell into the swollen
torrent. Among those who went down into

the angry tide were Ebenezer Buckingham and
Jacob Boyd. Mr. Buckingham’s body was re-

covered a few days after, about four miles be-

low the city by Edmund Bliss, who received
the reward of 8500 offered by the family.” The
wooden Fifth Street bridge, after a score of

years’ service, more or less, is getting untrust-

worthy, and is being replaced by a large and
expensive iron structure, a little further down
stream. The Sixth Street bridge, an iron struc-

ture of muchsolidity, is of comparatively recent
construction. In looking over the records re-

garding the date on which the Main Street

bridge was opened free to the public and the
collection of tolls discontinued, some very in-

teresting facts were obtained. Contrary to

what is generally supposed, this bridge was not

considered a part of the National road, and the
state did not assume control of the bridge at

the time the National road was given over to

the control of the state. The bridge was built

and owned by a company which also owned
the Third Street, or what at that time was called
the Putnam bridge. The attention of the state

seemed first to be attracted to the Main Street
bridge by the construction of the draw-bridge
over the canal. It was in 1812 that the legis-

lature passed a bill granting John Mclntire the
right to construct a dam across the Muskingum
river at the head of the rapids. In 1816 the
same right was granted to the Zanesville Canal
and ManufacturingCompany, which was incor-

porated in that year. In 1835 that Ohio river

boats might enter the “upper” Muskingum
river trade, the legislature passed a bill author-
izing the state to purchase certain lands owned
by the Zanesville Canal and ManufacturingCom-
pany for the construction of a dam and a canal.

The purchase was made in 1837, and the report
of the commissioner of public works for the
year 1842 says that the Muskingum improve-
ment was completed and that boats could enter
the “ pool ” above the dam at this point. In

1845 the state made an appropriation for an
other draw-bridge, and still another was built

in 1866, which was called a double draw, and
for which the county commissioners appropri-
ated 83,500. Main Street bridge was owned by
a private company, and was a paying institu-

tion until 1852. In the previous year the
Baltimore and Ohio Railroad bridge was
completed, and a foot-path constructed
along the south side of it for the use of
the employes, to save them from paying
toll. The general public was swift to use
the walk and save the toll charged on the Y
bridge. This was the one thing which led the
company to listen to a proposal on the part of

the state to purchase the bridge. Negotiations
were pending for some time, and in April, 1866,

the minutes of the county commissioners’ meet-
ing contain a copy of a petition from citizens,

numerously signed, setting forth the fact that

the state authorities were negotiating for the
purchase of the south side of the Main Street

bridge, but that the company which also owned
the Putnam bridge refused to sell that portion
of the Main Street bridge unless the county
would purchase the Licking branch of the
Main Street bridge and also the Putnam bridge.

The petition asked that the commissioners pur-

chase the two pieces of property in question.

This petition had its immediate incentive

in the fact that it was in 1866 that the Bal-

timore and Ohio Railroad bridge broke
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down, precipitating two locomotives into

the river, and cutting off the free inter-

course between West Zanesville and the city

proper. No action was taken by the county
commissioners at this date, but on May 4, 1868,

the records show that the Putnam bridge was
purchased for $16,000; and the Licking branch
of the Main Street bridge for $8,798. The re-

port of the auditor of state for the same year
shows that the state purchased the main drive-

way of this bridge at a cost of $19,201. It was
therefore in the latter part of 1868 that the col-

lection of toll on both the Third Street and the
Y bridge was discontinued.

Zanesville’s first burial place, on north Sixth
street, where the gas-works now are, was laid

out in 1800. The second, which was donated in

1802, by Dr. Increase Mathews, and in which the
donor’s wife was the first person buried (June,

1802), is now included in Woodlawn cemetery.
The Zanesville City cemetery, now known as

Greenwood cemetery, was laid out in 1835, ancl

bodies were removed from other grounds to it.

The first burial there was that of Sarah Ann,
wife of Jacob Stout, Sunday, October 24, 1835.
The original tract was purchased from Richard
Stillwell, March 5, 1835. Numerous additions
have been made to it and it is now large and
well improved. In 1869 the control of this

cemetery passed from the city council to a

board of trustees now known as the trustees

Greenwood cemetery. The present board is

thus constituted: C. Stolzenbach, president;
David Hahn, treasurer; Edward Gigax, VV. M.
Shinnick, Jr., secretary; Scott Roberts is the
superintendent. Woodlawn Cemetery was
opened by a corporation named “The Proprie-
tors of Woodlawn Cemetery,” which was char-
tered in 1850, the first officers of which were
A. A. Guthrie, president; D. Applegate, treas-

urer; and Charles C. Russell, secretary. The
improvements of the grounds began in 1851,

under the personal supervision of the presi-

dent. The cemetery was publicly dedicated in

[853. Among the original stockholders were
Charles C. Convers, Charles B. Goddard, Rich-
ard Stillwell, Hugh J. Jewett, A. A. Guthrie,
the Buckinghams and others. The first grave-
yard of the Roman Catholics of this town was
on the rear of the lot occupied by St. Thomas’
church. The first person buried there was
John S. Dugan, who was killed, as the result of
his horse running away in 1825. When St.

Thomas’ church was erected, the dead were re-

moved to the present Catholic cemetery, which
was purchased for the church in 1835, by Bishop
Purcell of Cincinnati, who dedicated it, and en-
trusted it to the control of the parish priest of

St. Thomas. Mount Calvary cemetery is under
control of the Mount Calvary cemetery associ-

ation, Rev. William Quinn, president; M. A.
Kernan, secretary; Michael Maher, treasurer;

Peter Curran, Andrew Quinn, Maurice Foran
and Owen Tracy, trustees. Greenwood ceme-
tery is situated at the northeast corner of the
National pike and Cemetery avenue; Wood-
lawn cemetery at Woodlawn avenue and the
Cooper Mill road; the Catholic cemetery at

the northwest corner of the National pike and
Cemetery avenue, Mount Calvary cemetery, on
the National pike west of the city limits; the
German Catholic cemetery, on the Wheeling-
road east of the city limits; and the Hebrew
cemetery on the National pike west of the city

limits. There is another “city of the dead"
that deserves more than a passing notice from
a historian of Zanesville. That is the old
graveyard at the head of Main street, which
was probably opened as early as 1807. A Mr.
Elijah Hart was buried there in March, that

year. There the bones of John Mclntire were
entombed until their removal to the grounds
of the Mclntire “Home.” As early as 1816,

the town of Zanesville took charge of this cem-
etery.

The parks are among Zanesville’s most in-

teresting leatures. Mclntire Park is located

at the corner of Mclntire avenue and Amelia
street; Pastime Park on West Main; Putnam
Park on the bluffs overlooking the city; Grant
Park, located in the western part of the city, is

a splendid resort covering six acres of ground
beautifully shaded, and fitted up with all the

accessories of a first-class resort.

The old records show that at a meeting of

the town council June 5, 1814, an ordinance was
passed, applying to the county commissioners
tor permission to erect a public market house.
The site chosen was known as "the public

square,” the same now occupied by the court

house and jail. The petition was not granted,

and the council decided to erect the building-

on Market street east of Court alley, and built

a frame structure, fronting thirty-five feet on
Market street and having a depth of forty-three

feet. The contract price was only $150, and
after its completion John L. Cochran was ap-

pointed market master at $50 per annum. As
will be apparent to even the least thoughtful,
this building was frail indeed, but it stood until

January 24th, 1863, when it fell under the weight
of the snow upon its roof, coming down with a

crash and killing, wounding and maimingquite
a number of persons, some of whom w ere prom-
inent in the town. The present large brick two-
story market house was erected in 1863-65.
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The first payment toward its construction was
made August I, 1863, and the last January 14,

1865. This structure contains, on the second
floor various city offices. N. D. Savage is mar-
ket master and meat inspector.

The police department is organized as fol-

lows: Chief—W. H. Sheppard; lieutenant—J.
P. Evans; patrolmen—Wm. Williams, W. H.
Riley, John Sherman, J. J. Ansel, Charles Free-
man, George Clark, George Murdock, Thomas
G. Parkinson, Wm. A. Clements, H. S. Hankin-
son, Ed. Pickerell, W. McLaren, David L. Toll,

W. M. Hunnicutt, John B. Yueger, G. H. Kem-
per; watchman at Fifth Street bridge, Wm.
Dennis. The department has headquarters at

the workhouse building, where the mayor also

has his office, and is equipped with a good
patrol wagon and an adequate numberof horses.

The administration of its affairs is able and
generally satisfactory.

December 22, 1819, the Zanesville Express
gave notice of a meeting of the subscribers to

the fire engine company, at the court house, at

2 p. m. the following day for the purpose of
organizing, electing officers and transacting
such other business as might be necessary.
The company was organized with forty mem-
bers, fifteen of whom worked the engine while
the others formed the bucket line. The com-
pany was made up of leading citizens and
among the first to join were William Twaddle,
Joseph Church, S. Deffenbaugh, James Culbert-
son, Michael Dulty, John L)ulty, Adam and
John Peters, Nathaniel and Charles Wilson,
Nathaniel Sprague and Richard and George
Reeve. This company, called the Union Fire
Pmgine Company, had ladders which were
kept at the “fire company house,” at the south-
east corner of Fourth street and Fountain alley,

and a dog named Minus that ran to all the
fires and was something of a mascot; and they
had everything their own way until 1836. On
the 19th of November, that year, the “Merch-
ants’ Fire Company” was organized, with Elias
Ebert as first engineer; Col. J T. Fracker was
president; Bernard Van Horne secretary and
treasurer; Isaac Campbell, second engineer;
and Danjel Brush, James Raguet and Anthony
Wilkins directors. The company was organ-
ized with 100 members, and each wore a con-
spicuous red badge with the letters “M. F. C.”
displayed upon it in gold. From 1836 to 1840
they used the old headquarters already referred
to. The mayor’s office and council chamber
were overhead in the same building. The
“Relief Fire Company” was organized January
10, 1839. There was a large membership, and
the company started out with the following

named officers: N. G. Abbott, president; G.
L. Shinnick, vice-president; James Sheward,
secretary; James Hazlett, treasurer; Robert
Lashley, first engineer; John Printz, second
engineer; standing committee: A. Printz, R.

S. Adams, R. I. Morrow, Jesse Fox and Horace
Granger. The first engine of this company
was called the “Little Old Hydraulic,” and
stood side by side with the “Union” in the
engine house. At the time it was the most
efficient in town. The “Union Fire Company”
was incorporated February 14, 1840, and ex-
isted until 1874. It had a large list of active

members, and its first officers were the follow-

ing: Joseph Johnson, president; Andrew Daw-
son, vice-president; James R. Kees, first direc-

tor; Alexander Johnson, second director; John
Gerwich, treasurer; Thomas Launder, secre-

tary; John H. Printz, J. A. Tucker, Isaac D’Gar-
mitt, Harrison D’Garmitt, Richard Drone and
Henry Worstall, pipemen. Among the active

and honorary members of this organization were
many of the most prominent citizens of Zanes-
ville in all walks of life. The company had a

good library and made a feature of a mock
court, in which one man is said to have been on
trial every evening for a week, charged with a

misdemeanor, while numerous witnesses were
subpoenaed and attended, believing the court
to be properly constituted and in every way
regular. The “Hope Hose Company” was
organized with a large membership, May 5,

1851. Its first officers were David Orndorff,
president; John T. Redmond, vice president;

Charles S. Parish, secretary; John Van Horne,
treasurer; James and John Morrow, directors;

William H. Shaffer and John W. Campbell,
plugmen. The motto of this company was
“Prompt Action when Danger Calls.” A dog
was attached to the organization also. His
name is said to have been “Dash,” and he is

accredited with having had an analytical

knowledge of the fire alarm and its workings.
“The Star Hose Company” was organized with
sixty members, May 1, 1852 and disbanded
when the paid department was introduced.

Its first officers were William Fox, presi-

dent; John Stone, vice-president; James Coch-
ran, secretary; E. L. Grigsby, treasurer; Henry
A. Heritage, messenger; William Fox; T. G.

McCormick and Isaac Cummins, directors. Its

motto was “Our Impulse to Action.” May 10,

1852, the “Eagle Fire Company,” of the Third
ward, was organized with a fine list of members,
and officered as follows: Thomas Dixon,
president; George W. Harris, vice-president;

Samuel Chapman, secretary; Charles H.
Werner, treasurer; T. Dixon and G. W. Harris,
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directors. The West Zanesvillians organized
the “Muskingum Fire Company,” June 1, 1853,

with the following officers: Charles Peters,

president; Louis H. Worrell, vice-president;

William W. Wimmer; treasurer; James S.

Ward, secretary. There were fifty members.
This company was reorganized in 1871, as the

“Reliance Hose Company,” with Thomas
Smith as president, Henry Kendall as secre-

tary, Frank McKinney as treasurer, John Mills

as messenger, Charles L. Grimm and William
Maker as pipemen, and John Whitehart and
Daniel Dugan as standing committeemen.
The membership was forty. The name was
again changed to the “Relief Hose Company.”
The city built a two story house for its use at

a cost of $1,600. This organization finally dis-

banded in 1878, and was in a way attached to

the paid department. “Rescue Hook and
Ladder Company, No. 5,” was an independent
organization in 1854, and paid $1,200 for its

truck besides building quarters for itself next
to the court house. There were forty mem-
bers, and they were called by some “kid glove”
firemen, but they showed that they had good
fighting hands in their gloves when 34 of them
volunteered to help put down the rebellion.

The officers were John Dymond, president;
George James, first vice-president; Edward
Wheeler, second vice-president; W. F. Raker,
secretary; H. C. Lillibridge, foreman; Charles
H. Ross, assistant foreman. “Relief, No. 7,”

was organized in the Seventh ward, June 30,

1870, with nearly forty members and the fol-

lowing named officers: William Godfrey,
president; David Hook, vice-president; William
E. Atwell, secretary; William Deacon, treas-

urer; Isaac Morgan and D. P. Mercer, direct-

ors; Charles Huff and Arthur Palmer, plug-
men; Denton Graves, messenger; Samuel
Murray and Albert Worstall, pipemen; R.

Perry Bean, Newton Hall and Enoch S. Huff,
standing committee. “Seventy-six Hose Com-
pany” was organized April 15, 1872, and occu-
pied a building on Monroe street, in the Sixth
ward, which the city erected that year. Two
years later it disbanded and divided the pro-
ceeds of its property among the then active

members. Its first permanent officers were
Harrison Marshall, president; Jacob Fischer,
vice-president; John J. James, secretary;
George S. Fitz, treasurer; Daniel E. Giles, di-

rector; John Keeswell, assistant director; John
A. Brennan and Frederick Fischer, plugmen;
Richard Hocking, James Wallwork and Joseph
Wise, standing committee; Nicholas Strauss,
messenger; Robert McNabb and Jesse D. Fell,

pipemen. “Neptune Hose Company” was

organized May 17th and was accepted by the
city May 25, 1872. It was an independent
company, of thirty members, who declared their

intention to act as a reserve and turn out only
at large fires except in their own ward, where
they would work at all fires whether summoned
or not. It was thus officered: President,
Frederick Hirshy; vice-president, Peter Keck;
secretary, Wallace Quigley; treasurer, Joseph
Haffer; captain Frank Myers; assistant cap-
tain, Peter Shubock; messenger, Philip Huff-
man; standing committee, John Kreuter, John
N. Steiner and F. Ryan. July 5, 1872, wit-

nessed the organization of “Niagara Hose
Company,” who occupied a building in the
Ninth ward erected by the city, until they dis-

banded March, 1876, and divided their property
among the remaining twenty-two of their fifty-

eight active members. The first officers were
John Curtis, president; Andrew Farnum, vice-

president; John D. Jones, secretary; O. C.

Farquhar, treasurer; H. D. Flanagan, and
F. Olmstead, directors; S. Atkinson, William
H. Ratliff, S. Greemiger and William Osmond,
standing committee. “Rescue, No. 7,” was
organized December 29, 1874, gaining its mem-
bership from the "Relief,” and was accepted
by the city council January 1 1, following. This
was an independent volunteer company and
adopted the by-laws of the “Neptune.” The
first officers were Henry Minter, president; W.
H. Gillingham, vice-president; P. Dugan, treas-

ures; W. E. Atwell, secretary; L. Twaddle and
Arthur Palmer, directors; S. PL Huff and P.

Cullman, plugmen; Isaac Murray, messenger;

J. Murray and J. Stowe, pipemen; James
Douglass, Marion Varner and H. Dugan, stand-
ing committee. Until the spring of 1879 the
companies still in existence received from the
city $150 each per annum, which they ex-
pended in furnishing their halls on the second
floors of the hose buildings. Plach secretary
was paid $25 and each messenger $40 per year
for his services. The volunteer companies
were composed, tor the most part of the best

men in town. As organizations they never
received more than $215 per company per

annum, to defray expenses. After years of

service, when the demands upon their time be-

came onerous and the city found itself able to

afford a paid department, they gave way, and.
by act of the city council, were disbanded May
26, 1879. The present department was orga-
nized under an ordinance passed by the city

council July 24, 1824. It is efficiently officered,

manned and equipped and has made an envi-

able record among the departments of Ohio.
Its successive chiefs have been John McCor-
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mick, H.Shrimpton, L. F. Langley and John Fer-

rel, who has served since October 3, 1891. The
department has besides the new central house,

on Sixth street between Main and Market, five

hose houses, four hose carriages, one combina-
tion hose and hook and ladder truck, one
chemical engine, 3200 feet of hose, eleven fine

horses and other necessary equipments. The
five hose houses are located as follows: Hope,
No. I, 121 Market street; Star, No. 2, North
Seventh between Elm and Center street; Re-
lief, No. 3, Keen, west of Fulton street; Eiagle,

No. 4, southwest corner Marietta and Roe
streets; Niagara, No. 5, southeast corner Put-

nam avenue and Madison street. Its buildings

are valued at §30,000, and one of them, the cen-

tral hose house, recently erected, cost with its

site §16,000. The fire alarm telegraph system
went into operation P'ebruary 20, 1879. At
present it consists of one fire alarm repeater,

forty alarm boxes and 24 miles of wire. The
force is composed and distributed at the dif-

ferent hose houses as follows: No. 1- John
Flynn, H. Carl, C. B. Church; No. 2— Charles
Hardesty, Lewis Rait, J, Baker; No. 3—W. H.
Mahler, J. W. Norman, W. H. Davidson; No.

4—J. W. Bowers, A. Gibbons, J. Henderson;
No. 5- Isaiah Morrison, E. L. Maxon, E. Baugh-
man. There were sixty calls from October 3,

1891 to May 20, 1892; the loss on these did not
exceed §3,200.

The Zanesville work-house was erected, by
authority of an ordinance providing for the
erection and maintenance of a work-house,
and providing for the appointment of a board
of directors thereof:

“Whereas, The honorable, the board of

county commissioners of Muskingum county,
has agreed to unite with the city in the erection
and maintenance of a joint work-house, ac-

cording to the statute in such case made and
provided, and have agreed to appropriate as a
beginning the sum of §5,000, and provide for

the payment of the same by levy duly made;
therefore

“Section 1. Be it ordained by the city council
of the city of Zanesville, That there be and
hereby is established a work-house jointly be-
tween said city and county, agreeably with the
provisions of the statute in such case made and
provided.

“Sec. 2. There shall be appointed by the
mayor, with the approval and confirmation of

the city council, at the first regular meeting of
the council after the passage of this ordinance,
or as soon thereafter as may be, a board of five

directors, who shall be called “The Board of

Work-House Directors,” and who shall serve

without compensation—one of whom shall be
appointed for one year, one for two years, one
for three years, one for four years and one for

five years, respectively, and annually there after

one for five years.

“Sec. 3. Said directors shall be subject to

the direction and control of the city council,

perform all and singular the duties prescribed
by the laws of this state and the ordinances of

the city council.

“Sec. 4. The site of said work-house shall

be in the first ward of this city, on the lot and
parcel of land situated on the southwest corner
of South and Fourth streets, now owned by
the city, and occupied by it as a place for the
working of prisoners, and on which is located
Power House No. 1; and the building thereon
shall, so far as practicable, be utilized for the
purpose of workshops, and such additional build-

ings ( including mayor’s office, watch-house or

city prison, and police station) shall be erected
thereon for the purpose aforesaid as may be
necessary and proper for the carrying out of

the provisions of this ordinance, subject always
to the approval of the city council. And said

board of directors shall as soon as practicable,

furnish and submit to this council plans and
estimates of costs as to buildings proposed to

be erected, and alterations and additions to

those already constructed on said lot.

"Sec. 5. This ordinance shall be in force

and take effect on and after its passage and
publication.

Passed in council the 24th day of March, A.
D. 1884.

James T. Irvine, Pres’t of Council.

Attest: W. M. Shinnick, Jr., City Clerk.”

The building was begun soon after this date
and was finished and occupied in January,

1885. It is a fine brick structure which cost

about §22,000. The board of work house di-

rectors, 1891-92, is constituted as follows:

George A. Stanbery, term expires April 9,

1892; H. C. Lillibridge, term expires April 9,

1893; Robert Silvey, term expires April 9, 1894;
W. M. Shinnick, Sr., term expires April 9, 1895;
Frank Myers, term expires Apri 1 9. 1896;

R. S. Mershon’s term expired April 9, 1891,

and Frank Myers was appointed to succeed
him for the term ending April 9, 1896. The
officers are: President, George A. Stanbery;
secretary, Isaac Humphrey; treasurer, A. V.

Smith; superintendent, Hugh Fineral; physi-

cian, Eh C. Logsdon; guards: William Gilger,

John Reynolds, George W. Durant. Regular
meetings held on the first Thursday in each
month, at 1:30 o’clock P. M. The standing
committees are made up as follows: 1. Fi-
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nance—R. Silvey, W. M. Shinnick, F. Myers.
2. Buildings and repairs—W. M. Shinnick, G.
A. Stanbery, R. Silvey. 3. Subsistence and
clothing—H. C. Lillibridge, W. M. Shinnick,
F. Myers. 4. Supplies, employment and con-
tracts—R. Silvey, G. A. Stanbery, W. M. Shin-
nick. 5. Rules and regulations— F. Myers,
H. C. Lillibridge, G. A. Stanbery. 6. Disci-

pline, paroles and pardons—W. M. Shinnick,
R. Silvey, G. A. Stanbery. 7. Religious serv-

ices and reading matter—G. A. Stanbery, F.

Myers, H. C. Lillibridge.

Following is a portion of the directors’ re-

port :
“ To the council of the city of Zanes-

ville, Ohio, and to the board of commissioners
of Muskingum county, Ohio: Dear Sirs:

We herewith present to your separate bodies
the annual report of the board of work house
directors for the year 1891, as required by law.

The board has been as successful as usual in

carrying on the work of the institution. The
inmates, receipts and expenditures have in-

creased over that of any former year. The
average number of prisoners has increased, and
the prison during the year was generally filled

to its utmost capacity.

All things considered, the institution may
be said to be practically self-sustaining. The
total amount necessary for the expenses of the
work-house during the year was $21,226.85, °f
which Muskingum county paid $3,985.50, and
the city of Zanesville paid $4,330.64. The bal-

ance was raised from the sale of brooms, and
from other counties and corporations that have
contracts with the institution. In return for

the amount paid by the city and county as

abov,e stated, the city received 1,671 tons of
broken stone, which at a fair estimate is worth
$1.75 per ton, or $2,924.25 ; $516.70 in fines and
costs collected and paid into the city treasury,

and the prisoners of the city prison were
boarded by the work-house, which supplied
I, 277 meals during the year, reasonably worth
$228.00. Muskingum county received 2,078
tons of broken stone, worth at the above esti-

mate $3,636.50, and $508.61 in collected fines

and costs. No deaths occured at the institu-

tion this year.

“The part of the institution devoted to the
manufacture of brooms made and sold $9,631.83
worth of brooms, which was nearly one-half
the income of the institution. The broom
factor)' is under the management of Mr.
Beymer, a practical broom maker, who has
handled that branch of the work as well as
could be expected, considering the peculiar
circumstances attached to convict labor. The
long term prisoners only are placed in the

broom shop, the short term men are employed
at breaking stone. The demand for the
brooms exceeds the capacity of the shop, and
the works are generally taxed to their utmost
to supply the trade. In all cases where pris-

oners are worked over time, they are credited

with the same on their commitments.
“During the year contracts for the care of

prisoners have been made with Nashville, Ohio:
Newcomerstown, Ohio, Woodsfield, Ohio; and
Logan, Ohio. There are now twenty-seven
counties and corporations that are sending
prisoners here and taking advantage of the
rates.”

The city’s efficient board of education is

made up thus: James T. Irvine, president; J.

Hope Sutor, vice-president; VV. M. Shinnick,

Jr., clerk; George Rishtine, treasurer; First

ward, Dr. T. J. Barton; Second ward, W. M.
Shinnick, Jr.; Third ward, J. T. Irvine; Fourth
ward, H. F. Achauer; Fifth ward, J. N. Carr;
Sixth ward, George Rishtine; Seventh ward, A.
F. Munson; Eighth ward, D. G. Willey; Ninth
ward, S. L. Wiles; Tenth ward, J. Hope Sutor.

The board of elections is thus organized: M.
D. Frazier, president; H. L. Anderson, secre-

tary; John Morrow, H. L. Shryock, W. H.
Johnson. Composition of the board of health:

W. S. Bell, president ex-officio\ H. T. Sutton, M.
D., health officer; Joseph B. Grannon, sanitary
policeman. Members of board: T. J. McDer-
mott, A. E. Starr, Albert T. Baker, James L.

Holden, M. D., John S. Price, Rolla PC Silvey.

It seems fitting that this chapter upon Zanes-
ville’s municipal history and institutions should
close with the latest annual exhibit, of the bal-

ances between the receipts and disbursements
of the several funds of the city and of its bonded
debt for the fiscal year ending March 14th, 1892;
Summary of balances in the several funds

—

Sinking fund, $1,476.30; interest Nassau bank,

$9,677.90; poor fund, $65.16; Cemetery fund,

$800; work house, $1,238. 72; light, $3,910. 43; fire,

$174.83; police, $5,852.18; street and alley,

$4,988.09; general, 3,707.23; Hall avenue sewer,

$36.25 ; eastern sewer district, $1,783.86; Market
street sewer, $22.73; Fifth street sewer, $1 59.38;
natural gas improvement fund, $85; Main street

paving, $866.68; Third street paving, $590.82;
Fifth street paving,-$92.85 ;

Sixth street paving,

$949.15; Seventh street paving, $756.69; Market
street paving, $1,504.19; Marietta street paving,

$29.81; Adams street sewer, $4,193.86; special

kind, $4,361 .56; permanent street improvement
fund, $127.64; Putnam avenue paving fund,

$394.39; Park fund, $505. 1 8-; total, $48,350.88.
Bonded debt Bonds outstanding March 15,

1891, $490,347.35; temporary loans, $22,425.00;
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total, $5 12,770.35; bonds issued for water works
extension, 550,000; for Fifth street paving,

$1,814; for Sixth street paving, $8,120; for Mar-
ket street paving, $9,500; for Hall avenue sewer,

$1,730; for Seventh street paving, $7,353.48; for

Third street paving, $4,907.84; for Putnam ave-

nue paving, $15,000; for Marietta street paving,

$5,000; for Adams street sewer, $10,000;

total, $113,425.32; temporary loans issued,

$ 1 30,761 .75 ; total, $756,957.42 ;
bonds paid Market

street sewer, $2,500; for Main street paving, $500;
for Fourth street paving, $500; for Fifth street

paving, $214; for Sixth street paving, $1,020;

for Market street paving, $400; for Third street

paving, $407.84; for Seventh street paving,

$853.48; for Fifth street sewer, $152.29; total,

$6,522.67; for temporary loans paid, $151,984.75;
total, $158,507.42; grand total, $598,450.00;
bonds outstanding March 15, 1892, $597,250;
temporary loans, $1,200; total, $598,450.
A little computation will convince the most

skeptical that the manufacturing and jobbing
interests of Zanesville combined will amount to

about $10,000,000, these figures representing
less instead of more than the actual business of

the city. The classification of the different

enterprises is as follows:—Manufacturing es-

tablishments, 134; wholesale houses, 42; retail

houses, 640; miscellaneous, 149; grand total,

965. To give an idea of the diversity of her
interests we annex a table giving an analysis

of the trade and business of Zanesville at the
present time:—Agricultural implements, 5; art

stores, 2; auction and commission houses, 5;

awning manufacturers, 2; bakers, 6; baking
powder manufacturers, 1 ;

balcony and railing

manufacturers, 2; banks, 7; basket makers, 1;

belting, rubber and leather, 2; bent wood
works, 2; blacksmith, 12; blank book manufac-
turers and binders, 6; blast furnaces, 1; boat
builders, 3; boiler works, 1; book stores, 3;

boots and shoes, 4; bottling works, 1 ; box man-
ufacturers, 2; brass and bell founders, 1; brew-
ers, 4; brick manufacturers, 4; broom and brush
manufacturers, 2; builders’ hardware, 4; candy
manufacturers, 6; canning establishments, 1;

carriage manufactures and supplies, 14; china,

crockery, etc., 4; cigar manufacturers, 26;

clothing and furnishing, 6; coal dealers and
miners, 13; coffee and spice mills, 2; cotton
factory, 1 ;

coffin manufacturers, 1 ;
contractors

and builders, 26; cracker manufacturers, 2; car-

pet houses, 4; doors, sash and blind manufactur-
ers, 4; drugs, 15; dry goods, 17; dyers, 2; elec-

tric light companies, 1; engine manufacturers,

3; flour and feed, 13; file manufacturers, 1; fire

brick manufacturers, 3; flouring mills, 5; flor-

ists, 3; flour sack manufacturers, 1; foundries,

6; foundry supplies, 2; fruit jar manufacturers,

9; furniture, 2; glue manufacturers, 2; grocers,

1 12; handle and spoke manufacturers, 1; hard-
ware, 8; harness, 7; hats and caps, 4; hosiery
manufacturers, 2; hotels and restaurants, 30;
ice manufacturers, 1 ; iron fence manufacturers,

1
;

jewelers, 7; laundries, 3; liquors, wholesale,

7; livery, 12; lumber, 6; machine manufactur-
ers, 3; mattress factories, 1; meat markets, 25;
merchant tailors, 15; millinery, 17; musical mer-
chandise, 2; newspapers, 9; notions, 11; oils, 3;

paints, 5; paper box manufacturers, 5; paper
mills, 1; patent medicine manufacturers, 3; pav-
ing brick manufacturers, 3; photographers, 6;

pictures and frames, 3; pig iron manufacturers,

1; planing mills, 4; plumbers, 4; pork packers,

1; potteries, 3; plow works, 2; printers and pub-
lishers, 14; rolling mills, I ;

saloons and liquors,

88; sealing wax manufacturers, 1; sheet iron

workers, 8; shirt manufacturers, 3; soap manu-
facturers, 3; stamp mills, 1; starch manufac-
turers, 1; stationers, 5; stove manufacturers, 3;

stoves and tinware, 1 1 ;
street railroad compan-

ies, 4; tanneries, 2; terra cotta works, 1; tile

works, 1; tobacco, 1; trunk manufacturers, 3;

twine and cordage manufacturers, 1 ;
wagon

manufacturers, 4; woolen mills, 1; miscellan-

eous, 163; total, 965,
For the establishment and maintenance of a

trade and manufacturing center, the question of

transportation is paramount to all other con-

siderations. Zanesville is well favored in this

respect. In the early days the Muskingum
river gave her the benefit of a navigable stream
which was of extraordinary service to the set-

tlement. Later with the National road pass-

ing through the village with all of its travel,

Zanesville felt that she had reached the height

of transportation facilities, and at that time
ranked herself as second only to Cincinnati in

the Commonwealth. Railroads, however, in

the present day, have superseded the old

methods of conveyance and Zanesville to-day
is a common and terminal point for seven rail-

roads, viz,: Baltimore & Ohio, Pittsburg, Cin-

cinnati & St. Louis, Bellaire, Zanesville & Cin-

cinnati, Zanesville & Ohio River, Columbus,
Shawnee & Hocking Valley, Cleveland, Akron,
& Columbus, and Cleveland, Canton & South
ern. Besides these a belt line road encircles

the city and connects all the roads beside fur-

nishing shipping facilities at the door of every
manufacturing concern in the city. Combined
they offer unequaled transportation facilities,

as their branches and connections reach to

every point of this country by the most direct

route.
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(Uhapfep XV/III.

BUSINESS OF

Z
ANESVILLE is located near the geograph-
ical center, as also the centre of popula-
lation and business, of Muskingum county.

It is situated on both banks of the Muskingum
river, and that portion west of the river is again
divided by Licking river, the different sections

of the city being connected by large and per-

manent bridges. It is on the meridian of forty

degrees of north latitude. Its mean annual
temperature is about fifty-seven degrees, show-
ing that its climate corresponds with that of St.

Louis, Cincinnati and Baltimore. The distance
of the place from the more important points in

Ohio are, by rail, as follows: Zanesville to Cin-
cinnati, 170 miles; to Dayton, 123 miles; to

Columbus, 59 miles; to Toledo, 183 miles; to

Sandusky, 145 miles; to Cleveland, 137 miles;

to Bellaire, 78 miles; to Marietta, 82 miles; to

Marietta by river, 78 miles.

One of the chief items and indeed of lead-

ing influence in determining the value and at-

tractiveness of a place for residence, as also its

importance in a business point of view, is its

accessibility. It is a consideration which at

this day is neither overlooked nor forgotten,

and as trade and commerce increase and popu-
lation advances, it constantly gains in impor-
tance. In this particular few places possess
advantages superior to Zanesville. Consider,
for a moment, the position here commanded.

By means of the Ohio canal, Zanesville is

connected with Portsmouth on the Ohio river,

and Lake Erie at Cleveland, and all the princi-

pal towns and cities in the interior of the state

situated on the canal and its branches. By the
Muskingum river, affording a water capacity
sufficient to transport steamers of from 275 to

300 tons’ burden, it is connected with the Ohio
river at Marietta, and from thence with all

points on the Ohio, Mississippi and Missouri
rivers and their tributaries. Steamers loaded
at the Zanesville wharf have discharged their

cargoes at Pittsburg and Brownsville in Penn-
sylvania, at St. Paul and New Orleans on the
Mississippi, and at St. Joseph and Omaha on

ZANESVILLE.

the Missouri. A glance at the map will dem-
onstrate that the railroad facilities are equal to

those of any other place.

Zanesville and its immediate vicinity pos-
sess facilities for manufacturing in nearly, if

not quite, all the industries requiring skilled

labor, it is believed, all things considered,
equal, if not superior to those of any place
East or West. In every item to be taken into

account in the make-up of a manufacturing
city comparison is challenged. It was the re-

mark of the late John Quincy Adams made in

reference to the water power here existing,

that “Zanesville was the Lowell of the West.”
Henry Clay, in one of his letters, after personal
inspection of the water power at this point,

said: “The water power furnished by the James
river at Richmond makes it the best manufact-
uring site in the United States save that at

Zanesville, Ohio.” These opinions were ex-
pressed before the era of coal and railway
transportation.

The manufacturing interest of Zanesville
are at this time its leading attraction. It is a

growing interest and is imparting to the city a

permanent and solid character, and placing it

among the most prosperous cities of the West.
The progress made in this direction has been
rapid during recent years. Old industries have
been enlarged and extended, and new ones
added which bid fair to become large and
prosperous enterprises. This stimulus to man-
ufacturing industry is attributed to the fact

that fuel and living are so cheap, market sup-
plies of all kinds so abundant, the facilities for

shipment so superior, and the location so cen-
tral and generally so advantageous. Besides a

more enlightened and liberalized sentiment
than heretofore existed now prevails, and there
is exhibited more of a disposition to encourage
productive enterprises by furnishing money at

liberal rates to aid in their prosecution.
The industries which render Zanesville con-

spicuous are the manufacture of iron, its fur-

naces and rolling mills, its machine shops, its
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foundries, its glass manufactures, its door and
sash factories, its cotton and woolen mills, its

flouring mills, its paper mills, the manufacture
of burial cases, its stone and pottery ware and
other great and useful enterprises.

Practically the history of manufactures in

Zanesville has, in a former chapter been
brought down to about 1820. It is here re-

sumed, and as before, the different branches
will, for convenience, be considered in alpha-

betical order. Previous to 1822 the proprietors

of the Muskingum Messenger started a book
bindery, which on the second of May, that

year they sold to Ezekiel T. Cox & Co. In

1829 Ballentine & Son bought the Joseph Lat-

tirnore brewery, which was on the site quite

lately familiar as that of Miller & Co., pork
packers, and continued the business until 1835,

when the plant was converted into a flour mill.

In 1835 C. F- Hass built the American House
brewery, and operated it until 1841. Mr. Hass
died about 1880, and John Classman bought
the property. After continuing the business

three years, he sold it to William Fox. In

1843 a brewery was built, near the head of

Main street, by Christian I
7

. Achauer, which
had a capacity of 3,000 barrels a year. Rev.
George F. Goebel and Conrad Fischer built a

small brewery on the northeast corner of

Spring and High streets. Its subsequent pro-

prietors were Rev. George F. Goebel, 1856;

Keisner & Horn, 1856-65; then John A. Bre-

mer & Co. Edward Didas began to brew in a

small way in 1855. Conrad Fischer went into

business again the next year. The firm of

Fischer Bros, made 2,373 barrels of beer in 1874.

In 1865, Adolph Horn, Frank Keisner and
Adolph and Fldward Merkle formed the com-
pany known as Horn & Co. In 1869 the busi-

ness passed to the ownership of the Merkle
Bros.

The first hearse seen in Zanesville was .a

primitive affair without trimming or lining,

owned by Stevens & Mussellman. Louis Bren-
holtz, the first regular undertaker, began busi-

ness in 1837. He had a hearse built by William
Schultz. James Cherry, in Putnam, kept the

first ready made coffins. E. N. Hatcher, who
began here as an undertaker in 1867, not long
afterward formed a partnership with John PI.

Crooks, in the manufacture of coffins, which
continued until 1878, when they separated,

each continuing business on his own account.
In 1878, Hatcher wrote and published a Funeral
Guide, which as the title page said gave “ the

minutest detail oT the whole funeral obsequies.”
In 1869 Messrs. Jonathan Hatcher & Sons built

an addition to a building that had been erected

about 1854 by Mann & Smith, and opened the
first coffin manufactory in town. In 1872 the
name of the firm was changed to J. Hatcher &
Co., and in 1879 the business passed into the
control of an incorporated concern, since
known as the Zanesville Coffin Company.
Henry Sneerer began undertaking on North
Fifth street in 1871, and in 1873 sold out to

John H. Crooks, who in 1879 removed to North
Fifth street.

Jeremiah Dare built a machine shop in the
upper story of his woolen factory, and having
procured skilled workmen from Baltimore, con-
structed machinery for a cotton factory which
was established in a building at the northeast
corner of Third and Market streets. Until 1832
this mill was operated by Mr. Dare and his son,

John D., and then the lower story was con-
verted into a machine shop for the manufact-
ure of cotton and wool manufacturing ma-
chinery. They made cotton yarn and batting.

Their store was in a one-story frame building
on the northeast corner of Third and Main
streets. In December, 1846, a subscription
was raised to establish a larger cotton mill, and
a company known as the “ Zanesville Cotton
Mill” was brought into existence with John A.
Adams, George A. Jones, William Galigher, N.
Gattrell, Stephen R. Hosmer, Adam Peters,

James L. Cox, Samuel Cox, F. F. Filmore,
David H. Lyman, J. V. Cushing and Daniel C.

Convers as stockholders. These subscribed
814,000 which Richard Huff supplemented with
a subscription of 87,000; making a total of 821,-

000. Work was begun in January, 1847. Mr.
Galigher built quite an extensive cotton mill

on the southwest corner of Underwood and
Zane streets, in 1854, and manufactured sheet-

ing, batting and yarns, until his death, early in

1860. E. Mathews bought the mill, Richard
Huff the machinery. In June, 1855, the stock
of the Zanesville Cotton Mill v'as owned by
Basil Burton, Jesse Duvall, S. R. Hosmer,
William Galigher,

J.
A. Adams, Samuel Clark,

George James, J. Galigher and Adam Peters.

The Star Cotton Mills Company gave a deed of

trust to C. W. Potwin and W. A. Graham. In

February, 1879, the property was sold under
foreclosure to Hoover & Allison, who carried

on business with R. A. Kelly as general man-
ager and Gen. A. Schofield as superintendent.
Henry Rockel began manufacturing files in

Zanesville in 1854.

Thomas L. Pierce started a foundry on the

Jacob Smith & Co. site in 1819. In 1827 he
sold it to Richmond & Bostwick, who were suc-

ceeded in 1832 by Adams & Wheeler. In 1839,

Adams & Wheeler built on the Jones & Abbott
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site, and in 1848 they were succeeded by Gil-

bert & Wheeler. In 1863 Sullivan & Herdman
became proprietors. Charles H. Jones was ad-

mitted to the firm in 1866, and Charles H.
Abbott in 1871, when the style was changed to

Jones & Abbott. In Fountain alley between
Sixth and Seventh streets, Blocksom and
Fracker built a foundry in 1826. In 1833
George Wand, A. P. Blocksom and Henry
Blandy succeeded Mr. Fracker and did busi-

ness under the firm name of Blocksom, Blandy
& Co. Not long afterwards they leased the
Dillon’s Falls furnace and forge for two years
and there operated as Dillon, Blandy & Co. In

1835 this firm dissolved. In 1838 Henry
Blandy, and William Blocksom and his sons
G. W. and A. P., began operating under the

style of Blocksom, Blandy & Co. In 1840 Mr.
Blandy withdrew and organized the firm of H.
& F. Blandy, who in 1866 were employing 320
men and doing a business amounting to

$780,000. Dare & Ebert began business in

1830, and built the first steam engine ever made
in Zanesville. In 1832 the firm became Dare,
Whitaker & Co. In 1837 Ebert and Whitaker
withdrew and began operating in a new shop,
which they builton the corner of Sixth and Main
streets. In 1840 they built and removed to the
Griffith & Wedge shops, on South Fifth street.

Griffith & Wedge became proprietors about
sixteen years later. In 1839 John T. Fracker
and his son, John F. Fracker, Jr., built a small
foundry on the southwest corner of Locust
alley and Sixth street. In 1850 the firm

changed to Fracker & Brother, and in 1852 the
business was controlled by John T. Fracker, Jr.,

who continued it until 1870. Douglas, Smith
& Co., had a foundry from 1851 to the begin-
ning of the war, and then Douglas Brothers
controlled it a short time and failed. January 1,

1866, William M. Shinnick, George D. Gibbons,
Daniel Hatton and William J. Woodside, under
the firm name of Shinnick, Hatton & Co., be-
gan a foundry business in the old Blocksom
building, in Fountain alley, which they enlarged.
Shinnick, Woodside & Gibbons succeeded them
in 1870, and the establishment became known
as the Union Foundry.

From the small beginning of Jeremiah Dare
in 1830, in the manufacture of castings, machin-
ery, etc., arose the great works of Duvall & Co.,

at the northeast corner of Third and Market
streets. The firm of Newell, Davis, James &
Co. was organized in 1848, with a capital of

$20,000. In 1857 the concern was incorporated
as the Ohio Iron Company, with a capital of

$75,000. The directors at that time were Henry
Blandy, C. W. Potwin, Samuel Baird, E. B.

Greene and E. E. Filmore. The Zanesville

F'urnace Company was organized in 1859, and
manufactured pig iron. In 1862 it was ab-

sorbed by the Ohio Iron Company.
In 1820 the “White Glass Works” were

leased and operated by Thomas Mark. Two
years later they passed to the possession of

Shepherd, Bostwick & Crosby. Mr. Bost-

wick withdrew in 1835, and Mr. Shepherd in

1838, and the next year Mr. Crosby closed the

business. About 1842 George W. Kearns, Jo-
seph Burns, W. F. Spence, Thomas Reynolds,
Samuel Turner and George Wendt began oper-

ating the works. They were practical glass

blowers from Pittsburgh, and at one time they
employed about forty men. Reynolds and
Wendt sold out in 1844 and Turner and Spence
in 1846. Later Arnold Lippet gained an inter-

est in the enterprise. Mr. Burns withdrew in

1848. Mr. Lippet abandoned the works, and
for a short time operated the Cassel Window
Glass Works as a bottle factory. Later, busi-

ness was resumed at the old works by the Mur-
dock Brothers. In 1849 Messrs. Kearns, Burns
and John W. Carter built the first bottle works
in Putnam, in which others had an interest at

different times, and which were closed in 1877.

In i860 G. W. and Noah Kearns rented, and
soon after they purchased, the flint glass house
built in 1852 by Cassel & Galigher, at the foot

of Main street. In 1863 they built a new estab-

lishment, which was operated later by Kearns,
Herdman & Gorsuch. Mr. Burns died in 1864,

and G. W. and Noah Kearns built their glass

house on the southwest corner of Main and
First streets, and manufactured window glass

exclusively. In 1868 they were joined by Jo-
seph T. Gorsuch and James Herdman. Will-

iam T. Gray entered the firm in 1874. G. W.
Kearns withdrew in 1877 and started the Sev-
enth ward bottle house.

About 1820 Isaac Dillon built a saw-mill at

the mouth of the Licking, on the north side,

and later a grist-mill, just above the bridge,

near the old dam, which was leased to different

operators until it was swept away by high water
in 1830. In 1839 the saw-mill was rebuilt, and
in 1840 partially burned. It was operated by
John Deavers from 1842 to 1845, and later by
Francis Cassidy and Robert Lee. Mr. Cassidy
bought it, and in 1847 sold it to James Miller.

It was washed away in i860. Soon afterward
Mr. Miller erected a steam mill on the west
side of the Muskingum at the foot of Mclntire
avenue George and Richard Reeve converted
their old blast furnace and nail factory into a

flouring mill at the west end of the Main street

bridge in 1825. George Reeve Jr. succeeded
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Richard in 1830. The mill was sold under fore-

closure in 1848, and was idle until 1851, when
McConnell & Blandy bought it for 818,000. It

was remodeled and increased in capacity to

400 barrels a day. In 1855 it was bought by
William Galigher for 821,000. At his death, in

i860, Charles Galigher became manager. In

1864 the property was again involved finan-

cially, and for a time was operated by C. T.

Aston in the interest of the mortgagees. Later
the state board of public works seized the mill

for arrears in water rent, and leased the prem-
ises for thirty years to Ball & Cassidy, who,
sometime about twenty years ago, transferred

their lease to Paul H. Kemerer. In 1828-29
Isaac Dillon built the Pataskala mill on the

bank of the Licking. In 1835 h e s°ld it to

M oses Dillon. The latter sold it to Solomon
and William Sturgis. Mr. Dillon also erected
a saw mill, woolen mill and flaxseed oil mill.

This woolen mill made the first figured woolen
carpet made in this part of the state. In 1855
it was sold to William Beaumont. In i860

these mills were damaged by the giving way of

the dam. The oil mill was moved down the
Muskingum and located next to Pratt’s mill.

Mr. Beaumont repaired the dam and plant, and
in 1868 a portion of the dam was again washed
away, when the whole dam was replaced by a

new one. In 1872 the mill was thoroughly re-

paired and improved. Mr. Beaumont died in

1873, and the business was continued for a time
by his widow. Cushing, Martin & Pierce built

the Cassel mill in 1828. William C. Cassel ob-
tained a half-interest in it in 1843. About ten

years later he became sole owner and built a

brick addition to the mill. In 1873 he left it by
will to his wife, who, in 1875, leased it to Pick-

ering, Grant & Co. In 1881 Messrs. Cassel
again came in control and resumed business
under the style of C. Cassel & Co. In 1830
Nash & Co. had a steam saw mill near the
north end of Third street bridge. Later this

mill was owned and operated by Hughes &
Spurck until it was torn down. Jesse Dare and
Alfred Printz built a two-story steam saw mill,

a little north of Nash & Co.’s mill in 1832,

which had its engine in its upper story and was
running as late as 1838. Richard P'airlamb
built a grist mill in 1840, using part of the tim-
bers from the old Jackson mill and the large

P'rench buhr stones that were brought from
Philadelphia for the Jackson mill in 1816. The
next year he added a saw mill and a linseed oil

mill. Michael Dulty bought the property in

1843, and in 1850 sold it to Mr. Drone. Daniel
Applegate built the city mill, a brick structure,

running west from Potter alley to Third street.

In 1878 the city Power House No. 1 was remod-
eled by Josiah Allen and converted into the
Pearl mill.

Cox & Wright began making paper in 1828,

and for many years this was the leading indus-
try of Zanesville. Simeon Wright sold out
his interest and the firm became If. T. & J. L.

Cox. In May, 1836, the mill was destroyed by
fire. It was replaced by a brick structure, and
the business was continued for twenty-one
years by H. J. Cox & Co., who made an as-

signment to David Hull, and the property
passed into the hands of George Rishtine &
Co. After the invention of the telegraph, this

firm for many years had the exclusive contract
to manufacture the rolls of narrow white paper
at first used on the Morse instruments. About
i860 the property was conveyed to Mrs. PL M.
Cox, and under the firm name of Pdizabeth M.
Cox & Co., the business was managed by her
husband. The firm became Cox & Gilbert a

little later. In 1868, Messrs. Glessner, Gilbert

& Terry became the owners of the mill, and
not long afterward the firm became Glessner &
Gilbert, and under their management the busi-

ness flourished and increased. About 1865
Pfdward Mathews and George Rishtine formed
the firm of Mathews & Co., and began paper
making in a building on the southwest corner
of Zane and Underwood streets, which had
been erected for a cotton factory that had
failed, and which they remodeled and improved
from time to time. The firm of Mathews &
Co. dissolved in 1876 and was succeeded by E.

Mathews, with Mr. Rishtine as manager.
Coarse wrapping paper and tea paper were the
first products. The manufacture of printing

and manilla papers was introduced later.

In 1840 Bernard Howson, John Hallam,
George Wheaton and two other experienced
potters, originally from Staffordshire, England,
came to Zanesville and engaged in the manu-
facture of Rockingham ware. In 1846, John
Howson, brother of Bernard, joined them. In

1852, John Howson and his son Bernard be-

came sole owners. In 1863, John Howson died,

and the junior member of the firm continued
the business, the principal feature of which
was the manufacture of ink bottles. In 1874,

the establishment was leased by Fischer &
Lansing, of New York, for the manufacture of

floor tiling.- This was the beginning of the

American Emcaustic Tile works. In 1849
George Pyatt, from Staffordshire, England,
came here and began making Rockingham
and yellow stoneware. In 1851 the fiim of Py-

att & Goetz was formed. Two years later,

Mr. Pyatt left the town and the business ceased.
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He returned in 1863, however, and was in Mr.
Howson’s employ until 1866, when he resumed
business for himself, with much suceess. He
died in 1879, and the pottery, known as the
Tremont pottery, was continued by his son, J.

G. Pyatt. N. K. Smith began the manufacture
of pottery in 1868; Dunfcan Hamelbock in 1874.

In 1873, Alfred Wilber started a pottery, which
he sold to Calvin Bumbaugh in 1878. This
was known as the Star pottery. *

Abbot & Crain had a small rope-walk, about
where the canal now runs between First and
Second streets, in 1832. In 1833, Abraham
Arter began rcpe-making at 61 Main street

and continued business until 1876. In 1835,
Shinnick & Howard began the manufacture of

rope on the northwest corner of Main and
Second streets. In 1838, Mr. Shinnick became
sole proprietor, and removed the concern to

Hov ard street, between Fifth and Sixth.

In 1847, Hiram Rogers and Dr. A. H. Brown
bought the old Wilson soap factory on the river

bank between Fifth and Sixth streets. In

1848, the firm became Brown & Convers. From
1849 to 1853, Theodore Convers was sole

owner. William Schultz bought the establish-

ment in the year last mentioned, and the his-

tory of his operations and of the enterprise of

his successors will be given later on. It was
in 1863 that David Hahn began the manufacture
of soap here.

Doster & Darlinton opened a tanyard, in

the. spring of 1830, on the south side of the
National road near its junction with the old
Wheeling road and there operated till 1884 a

tannery of 100 vats, the largest in Eastern
Ohio. The business was closed out and the
land was cut up into lots and sold. Gilbert
Blue began tanning on the Marietta road in

1830. His son Curran Blue continued this

business and about 1847 opened a new yard on
the river road below the city and there con-
ducted a successful business until 1876. N. G.
& Charles Abbott in 1844 erected a tannery
with 24 vats, near the Muskingum river, just

south of the old rope-walk. In 1849 the busi-
ness was closed out.

The old Taylor tavern at the southeast cor-
ner of Main and Fourth streets was torn down
in 1842-43 and Dr. Hamm, its owner, con-
tracted with E. H. Church (mason), James
Ramage (carpenter), to replace it with a brick
hotel building, which was finished in the year
last mentioned. “Joe” Stacy kept the new
hotel and for a time it was known as the Stacy
House. Later it was known as the Mclntire
House, and the Mills House, and was finally re-

placed by the Clarendon hotel, which was

built in 1877, the stone and brick work super-
intended by E. H. Church above mentioned.
The St. Lawrence hotel formerly stood on the

southwest corner of Main and Fourth streets,

but has given place to other business. Other
well known hotels of the past were the Sher-
man House and the Commercial House. Next
to the Clarendon the Kirk House, on Fourth
street, near Market, takes rank. It has an ex-
istence covering the period 1863-92 and is

widely and favorably known and specially

popular with traveling men. Other hotels are

the Windsor and the Grand ( lately re-christened

the Mt. Clare) both on Market street and the
Ohio house, on Fifth street. There are other
lesser ones.

William Schultz had a wagon shop from
1832 to 1849. The Brown Manufacturing
Company was incorporated in 1873. Its first

board of directors consisted of Peter Black, W.
A. Graham, F. J. L. Blandy, Col. M. Churchill,

James Herdman, Thomas Griffith and William
P. Brown. The works were burned in June,
1880, and at once rebuilt.

Jeremiah Dare had an early woolen mill, on
the site occupied by the woolen mill on Main
street, near the bridge, which was described as

“just below the Granger mill.” J. R. Thomas
leased it to him, and in 1822 Mr. Dare took his

son Jesse in partnership with him. In 1838
another son, Thomas J. Dare, acquired a half

and later a whole interest. This mill was
burned in 1840, but Jeremiah Dare, rebuilt it

and had it ready for operation early in 1841.

Thomas J. Dare died in 1865, and the business

was conducted by Jeremiah Z., Thomas J., Jr.,

and Lewis Dare until the mill was closed, in

December, 1878.

The manufacturing history of Zanesville has
now been brought down to the period 1870-80.

The next important interest of the city entitled

to consideration, is its trade and commerce,
and the position of the place as a commercial
center. The advantages the city has in this

particular are not inferior in importance to the

advantages it possesses as a manufacturing city.

Its trade is at this time rapidly increasing. A
large extent of territory, densely populated and
rich in agricultural resources,through convenient
lines of railway, is made tributary to the place.

Other new sections, hitherto unknown to Zanes-
ville merchants, will become their most profita-

ble customers. The effect of this is becoming
manifest. In the grand rivalry among the cities

of the state for commercial power and wealth
and securing an industrial population, the

chances for Zanesville are daily brightening.
The jobbing business of Zanesville will com-
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pare favorably with that of any other city of

like population in the entire country. The
proprietors of the principal wholesale houses
are, for the most part, old citizens of the place,

identified with its prosperity, conservative as

business men, and on account of their prudence,

good judgment and honorable dealing, have
secured the confidence of merchants and tra-

ders generally throughout Southeastern Ohio.

The capital employed in merchandising in

Zanesville is large. The industry is varied. It

is a growing one. Every day adds something
to what was before established. What yester-

day was combined with other branches of busi-

ness becomes to-day a specialty. Fiach depart-

ment of trade is conducted as a separate and
distinct pursuit. That Zanesville possesses

great advantages for becoming a commercial
city must be manifest upon a little reflection.

Consider, for a moment the position it com-
mands in its geographical location, its trans-

portation facilities, its large and wealthy terri-

tory to be supplied, its extensive population
and its other manifest advantages. Having the
manufacturing and agricultural facilities here
to such an extent as has hitherto been shown,
it follows that the trade and commerce of the

place should exist in a like corresponding ex-

tent. The wants of a people are mutual, they
are complementary, and a manufacturing city

is necessarily a commercial city.

The following were the leading manufactur-
ing and commercial interests in 1880: Artists,

Photographers, Lauck, Rich, Sturgeon, Sedg-
wick, Starke. Awning-Maker, Gust. Mylius.

Bakeries, Martha Barton, J. Blankenbuhler,
Bloomer & Bell, Fred. Ehrman, Chas. Gizax,

Anthony R. Hiller, R. R. Johnston, Petit &
Strait, Wm. Snell, C. Stolzenbach. Bell and
Brass Foundry, Chas. Dockray. Book-Binders,
Elliot & Co., L. D. Sandel, Sullivan & Parsons,

“Courier” office. Bracket Manufacturers, Herd-
man, Harris & Co. Brewers, C. F. Achauer,
Sebastian Bohn, J. A. Benner & Co., P'isher

Bros., Merkle Bros. Brick Manufacturers,

W. B. Harris & Bros,, Wm. Hunter, T. B. Town-
send. Broom Handles and Brooms, Wm. M.
Shinnick, Jr. Brush Manufacturer, John D.

Seaman. Candle Manufacturers, David Hahn,
Shultz & Co. Carriage Manufacturers, J. L,

Christ, J. Doudna, F. W. Fortune, Sebastian

Gebele, Hoffman Bros., John Holbrook, Mader
Bros., Wilson C. Moore, Davis Palmer, Schu-
bach & Co., J. Smith & Co. Coffin Manufac-
turers, J. Hatcher & Co. Coppersmiths, Wm.
D. Ford, G. W. McCormick. Cotton Manufac-
turers, Hooven & Allison. Cultivator Manu-
facturers, Brown Manufacturing Co. File

Manufacturers. H. & F. Blandy, Henry Roe-,
kel. Fire-Brick, Stultz & Guthrie. Flouring
Mills, Josiah B. Allen, D. Applegate, “Cassel
Mills” ( Pickering, Grant & Co.), “West Side
Mill” ( Drone & Co.), “Pataskala Mills.” Furni-
ture Manufacturers, Fred Abel, Burrough &
Co., Gary Brothers & Silvey, Thomas Miller,

Geo. P. Mull, John T. Rarick, Ferdinand C.

Vogel. Glass Manufacturers, Kearns, Herd-
man & Gorsuch. Glue Manufacturer, Herman
Arndt. Iron Foundries, Duvall & Co., Griffith

& Wedge, Ratliff & Cunningham, Wm. Roady.
Last Manufacturers, J. Smith & Co. Marble
Works, S. G. McBride, M. V. Mitchell, Mitch-
ell & Stultz, W. C. Townsend. Mattress Man-
ufacturer, Gust. Mylius. Mill Machinery,
H. & F. Blandy, Duvall & Co. Mining Ma-
chinery, Griffith & Wedge. Paper Bag Manu-
facturers, Elliot & Co. Paper Box Manufac-
turers, Chas. J. Brenholts. Paper Mills, Gless-
ner & Gilbert, Fidward Mathews. Pattern Mak-
ers, W. H. Bailey, D. A. Harris. Planing Mills,

Thomas Drake, Guthrie & Coulter, William
Hall & Son, Herdman, Harris & Co. Plow
Manufacturers, Brown Manufacturing Co., E.
S. Huff & Son, Jones & Abbott, Shinnick, Wood-
side & Gibbons. Potteries, Calvin Bumbaugh,
Duncan Hamelback, Hopkins & Pickerel,

Nathan K. Smith, Henry M. Wilbur. Saddle-
Tree Manufacturer, F. W. Fortune. Saddle
and Harness Manufacturers, George G. Aker-
ly, Edward B. Haver, Samuel C. Haver, Jr.,

H. R. Hawxhurst, Thomas Lenon, Henry My-
lius, P. O. Power, Thomas B. Sarchet, Sampson
Waters. Sash, Doors, and Blinds Manufac-
turers, Samuel W. Clark, James P. Curtis &
Co., Thomas Drake, Guthrie & Boulter, Mil-
liam Hall & Son, Herdman, Harris & Co. Saw
Manufacturers, H. & F. Blandy. Sawmill
Builders, H. & F. Blandy, Duvall & Co., Grif-

fith & Wedge. Scale Manufacturer, Alexander
Widney. Soap Manufacturers, David Hahn,
Schultz & Co. Steamboat Engines, Griffith &
Wedge. Steam Engine Builders, H.& F. Blandy,
Duvall& Co., Griffith & Wedge. Stove Manufac-
turers, Jones & Abbott, Shinnick, Woodside &
Gibbons. Tanners, Greul, Bischoff & Bro.,

Taxidermist, Herman C. Krause. Tile Manu-
facturers, American Fmcaustic Tiling Co. Un-
dertakers, etc. J. Hatcher & Co. Wagon Man-
ufacturers, Brown Manufacturing Co., J. L.

Christ, George W. Coon, J. Doudna, Sebastian
Gebele, Peter Goelz, Hoffman Bros., Felix
Lang, Joseph Long, John Maier, Wilson C.

Moore, Joseph Schiele, Schubach & Co., Isaac

C. Smith, J. Smith & Co., S. B. Smith & Co.
Watches and Jewelry, John M. Bonnet, Edward
Hube, Fidward S. Leeper. Ralph S. Mershon,
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Charles L. Moore, A. H. Watts. Woolen Mill,

Zanesville Woolen Manufacturing Company.
The list here presented is an exhibit of the

prominent business institutions of all classes in

1886-87. Agricultural Implements, Thomas C.

Berkshire, Brown Mfg. Co., I. N. Clossman,
Fillmore, Cassel & Co., E. E. Fillmore & Co.,

Kelley & Lumb, Thomas W. Lewis, James T.

Orr. Bakers, Charles Albert, J. T. Balinger,

J. & L. Blankenbuhler, John N. Earhart, Christ-

opher Ehrman, F. E. Goodhart, Walter E.
Lowry, Petit & Strait, Mrs. Wm. Snell, C. Stol-

zenbach & Son. Banks, The Citizens’ National
Bank, The First National Bank, The Home
Building & Savings Co., The Union Bank, The
Zanesville Bank. Blanket Manufacturers,
Zanesville Woolen Mnfg. Co. Blast Furnace,
Zanesville Blast Furnace, Ohio Iron Co. Blast

Furnace Machinery Manufacturers— F. J. L.

Blandy. Boots and Shoes (Wholesale),
Henry C. Werner. Boots and Shoes ( Retail),

Charles H. Brendel, John W. Conrade, D.
Dugan, John Fye & Sons, George M. Gerling,
Hunter & Welty, G. F. Kappes, Knoedler &
Zinsmeister, Christian Koenig, John Kreuter,

John Lusby, C. Merkert, Joseph Musselman,
John Rait, George P. Roll, J. J. Roll, Wm. N.
Werner. Brass Foundries, Charles Dockray,
The Black Diamond Mnfg. Co. Brick Manu-
facturers, W. B. Harris & Bros., The Oakland
Press Brick Co., T. B. Townsend & Co. Broom
Manufacturers, Zanesville Broom Works ( U. S.

& S. C. Rogers, proprietors ). Buckwheat P'lour,

Edwardjohnson. Builders’ Hardware, Samuel
B. Clark, Curtis & Co., Thomas Drake. Building
Companies, The Home Building and Savings
Co., The Homestead Building and Savings Co.,

The Mechanics’ Building Co. Brewers, Sebas-
tian Bohn, Red Star Brewery, J. A. Brenner &
Co., The Merkle Brewery, Washington Brewery
(Zinsmeister & Linser, proprietors). Building
Paper, C. J. Brenholtz. Building Sand, The
Oakland Press Brick Co. Building Stone,
E. M. Ayers, John N. Steiner, T. B. Town-
end & Co. Carriage Manufacturers, J. L.
Christ, George W. Coon, Duerr & Schuman,
Hoffman Bros. & Co., Huff & Moore, A. J.

Hughes, Peter Keck, Mader Bros., Davis
Palmer, Charles H. Powell, P. C. Schubach.
Clothing, Boston One Price Clothing House,
C. T. Clossman, Volney Day, B. S. Dry fus &
Co., W. Dryfus & Son, Golden Eagle Clothing
Co., Moses Meyer, Louis Stcinfield, Samuel
Wolfson. Coal, Jacob Bibler, George G. But-
ler, J. Downcrd & Son, England Bros., Michael
L. Fisher, John German, H. L. Greiner, E.
Harper, James G. Manley, James Owens, W.
T. Perry, W. J. Ruddock, Benjamin Wheeler.

ir>

Coffins and Caskets, The Muskingum Coffin

Co. Coopers, John H. Basehart, Jacob Woer-
bach. Cordage Manufacturers, Hooven &
Allison. Cracker Manufacturers, Petit &
Strait, C. Stolzenbach & Son. Crockery and
Glassware, Blake Bros. & Co., Henry Lentz
& Co., Thomas E. Richards. Cultivator Manu-
facturers, Brown Mfg. Co. Pdectric Light
Co, Zanesville Electric Light Co. Pdevators
and Hoisting Machines, William H. Allen,

Griffith & Wedge Co. Feed Mill, Star Mill (Mc-
Carty & Adams, proprietors.) FireClay, E. M.
Ayers, J. Downerd & Son, The Oakland Press

Brick Co. Fire Fronts, D. Hatton & Sons,

Jones & Abbott, A. Laird, The Shinnick, Wood-
side & Gibbons Mfg. Co. Flouring Mills,

Edwardjohnson, Pataskala Mills (Hook Bros
& Aston, proprietors.,) Pearl Flour Mills, Beau-
mont, & Blankenbuhler, West Side P'louring

Mills, Drone& Co. Foundries, Fred J. L. Blandy,
Griffith &Wedge Co., D. Hatton & Sons, Jones
& Abbott, The Duvall Engine Co., The Shin-
nick, Woodside & Gibbons Mfg. Co., Zane
Foundry ( A. Laird, proprietor.) Galvanized Iron
Cornice Manufacturers, Schmid & Snyder.
Gas Company, Zanesville Gas-Light and Coke
Co. Gas and Steam Fitters, Charles H. Haas,
LeRoy & Stemm, August Roekel, Sunkel &
Heckmann. Glass Manufacturers, G. W.
Kearns & Co., The Kearns, Gorsuch Glass Co.

Gloves, Wholesale, John Galigher, J. O. Wil-
helm & Co. Glue Manufacturers, Arndt, Her-
man & Son. Grist Mill Manufacturers, P'red J.

L. Blandy. Grocers Wholesale, Harper&Cos-
grove, N. S. McBee, John W. Pinkerton & Co..

Wheeler Stevens, P. Wiles & Sons. Hardware,
Wholesale, Fillmore, Cassel & Co. Retail,

Thomas C. Berkshire, I. N. Clossman, Fillmore,

Casel & Co., PL E. Fillmore & Co., YV. B. Har-
ris & Bros., Kelly & Lumb, Thomas YV. Lewis,

Willis F\ Lumb, James F. Orr. Hard YVood
Finishers, H. T. Barnell, Thomas W. Halpin.

HatsandCaps, Wholesale, John Galigher, J. O.

Wilhelm & Co. Hotels, Arlington Hotel, (YV.

Hardesty, proprietor), Cain Hotel, Clarendon
Hotel (Swart Bros., proprietors), Clifton

House (Gibson & Palmer, proprietors), Franklin
House (Andrew Gille, proprietor), Grand Hotel,

Kirk House (William Kirk, proprietor), St.

Charles Hotel (Albert Rogge, proprietor), Iron

Manufacturers, Ohio Iron Co. Lumber Dealers,

Samuel YV. Clark, Curtis &Co., Thomas Drake,
Herdman, Harris & Co.,\Y

T

. IL Israel. Mantels
and Grates, Curtis & Co., A. Laird, Thomas
YV. Lewis, Schmid & Snyder. Marble Works,
Samuel G. McBride, Mitchell & Baldwin, L.

A. Moore, Edward O’Donnell, William C.

Townsend. Mining Machinery Manufacturers.
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Griffith & Wedge Co. Notions (wholesale),

Black & Co., George R. Fox, James R. Van
Sant. Nurserymen, T. A. Petty, Andrew L.

Pierce. Mill Machinery Manufacturers, Fred

J.
L. Blandy, The Duvall Engine Co. Oils,

Central Oil Co. (
office and works corner Market

and Second.) Pianos and Organs, D. S. John-
ston & Co., John L. Malthaner, H. D. Munson
& Sons. Planing Mills, Curtis & Co., Phx-

celsior Planing Mill (Thomas Drake, propri-

tor), Herdman, Harris & Co., Star Planing Mill

(H. M. Gooden, proprietor). Plow Manufactur-
ers, Brown Mfg. Co., Jones & Abbot. Potteries,

Eagle Pottery ( Parlee P. Wilbur proprietor),

Duncan Hamelback,Levi Harris, Pickrel & Bum-
baugh, James Pyatt, (s. s. Marietta road), the

Zanesville Stoneware Co., Samuel A. Meller.

Manufacturers of Saddles and Harness, George
G. Akerly,John Frederick, Hiram K. Hawxhurst,
H. Mylius, H. C. Warner. Molding and Fire,

Edward M. Ayers, Downerd Glass Sand Co.,

). Downerd & Son. Sash, Door and Blind

Manufacturers, Samuel W. Clark, Curtis & Co.,

Thomas Drake, H. M. Gooden, Herdman,
Harris & Co. Stoneware Dealers, James
Benjamin, Samuel E. Chapman, McLain &
Nesbaum, H. C. Ward. Stoneware Manu-
facturers, Pldgar G. Bowen, Levi Harris, S. A.
Weller, Zanesville Stoneware Co. Stove Man-
ufacturers, Jones & Abbot, A. Laird. The Hat-
ton Stove Co., Shinnick, Woodside & Gibbons
Mfg. Co. Tanners, Christian Findeiss, tannery,

S. Hahn, Greul & Bischoff. Tile Manufacturers,

American Encaustic Tiling Co. “T” Rail

Manufacturers, Ohio Iron Co. Wrapping
Twine Manufacturers, Hooven & Allison.

Wrought Iron Fencing Manufacturers, Wil-
liam H. Allen, The Black Diamond Mfg. Co.

Yarns, Zanesville Woolen Mfg. Co.

The principal manufacturing and commer-
cial enterprises at this time may be thus desig-

nated: Agricultural Implements, T. C. Berk-
shire, Gray & Richards, Zanesville Hardware
Co. Awning Makers, Henry C. Mylius & Co.
Baking Powder Manufacturers, Burchinal &
Co. Bent Wood Works, Henry J. Kimble.
Bookbinders, The Courier Co., George Lilien-

thal, C. H. Rea & Co., E. R. Sullivan. Books
and Stationery, E. P. Church, G. R. Fox, S. A.
Jenkins, M. V. B. Kennedy. Wholesale Boots
and Shoes, H. C. Werner, W. N. Werner. Re-
tail Boots and Shoes, 12 houses. Box Manu-
facturers, Frederick Abel, C. J. Brenholtz, J.

Smith & Son. Brass Founders, C. Dockray &
Son. Brewers, Bohn’s Brewery, J. A. Brenner
& Co., Washington Brewery (Simon Linser),

The Riverside Brewery. Brick Manufacturies,
the Fish Pressed Brick Co., H. M. Gooden, W.

B. Hams & Brothers, The Mornington Brick
Yard, The Oakland Pressed Brick Co., the T.
B. Townsend Brick and Contracting Co.
Broom Manufacturer, S. C. Rogers. Builders’
Hardware, W. M. Adams & Bro., Samuel Clark,
Curtis & Co., Zanesville Hardware Co. Build-
ing Companies, Buckeye Building and Loan
Co., Citizens Building and Savings Co., City
Building Co.. Economy Building and Loan Co.,

The Equitable Building Co., Farmers’ Building
and Loan Co., Home Building and Savings Co.,

Homestead Building and Savings Co., Zane
Building and Loan Co. Carriage and Wagon
Makers, Baumgardner & Clapper, Brown Manu-
facturing Co., Jacob L. Christ, G. W. Coon, J.

Doudna, John C. Duerr, John Ferrill & Co.,

Hoffman Bros.. Peter Keck, Mader Bros., W.
H. Mathews, Eldrige G. Miller. Casket Manu-
facturers, Muskingum Coffin Co. Clothing,
Boston Clothing House, C. T. Clossman, Peter
Curran, B. S. Dryfus & Co., W. Dryfus & Son,
Moses Meyer, Model Clothing Co., Louis Stein-

feld. Coal, The J. Downerd & Son Co., Eng-
land Bros., Henry L. Greiner, John B. Maher,
N. T. Miller & Son, L. R. Morgan, Benjamin
Wheeler, Zanesville Coal Co. Confectioners,
W. S. Bell, E. P. Bloomer M. L. Snyder.
Druggists (Wholesale) The Bailey Drug Co.,

(Retail) 17 houses. Dry Goods, (Wholesale)
Block, Grant & Co.,

(
Retail

) 8 houses. Engine
Manufacturers, Blandy Machine Co., Griffith

& Wedge. Fire Brick and Clay, PL M. Ayers,
The J. Downerd & Son Co., Victor Klinhoffer,

Luther McCamic, W. T. Robinson. Flour and
Feed, 5 houses. P'lour Mills, Drone & Co.,

Pataskala Mills, Pearl Mills, Westside P'louring

Mills. Furniture Manufacturers, Dan B. Gary
& Co., G. P. Mull, Silvey & Bisantz, F. C. Fogel,
William Wells. Galvanized Iron Cornice,
David Schmidt. Gents’ Furnishings, 5 houses.
Glass Works, Gorsuch Glass Co., G. W. Kearns
& Co., United Glass’ Co. Wholesale Grocers,
Baker Bros., Harper & Cosgrave, Pinkerton
Bros., the Stevens-Wheeler Grocery Co. Han-
dle Manufacturers, J. Smith & Son. Harness
Manufacturers, G. G. Akerly, William Betz &
Co., John Frederick, Henry Mylius, H. C.

Werner. Hotels, Clarendon, Kirk’s, Mt. Clare,

Windsor, Arlington and several others. Ice

Manufacturers, Zanesville Artificial Ice Co.
Iron Manufacturers, Ohio Iron Co. Iron
Fencing, Wm. Allen. Jewelers, 6 houses.
Lime, Plaster and Cements, Stitt, Price & Co.
Locks and Safes, J. D. Winder & Co. Lumber,
Samuel W. Clark, Curtis & Company, Thomas
Drake & Co., Herdman Sash, Door and Lumber
Co., Lorimer, Lane & Co., D. Zimmer & Co.
Machinery Manufacturers, Blandy Machine Co.,
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Griffith & Wedge. Mantles and Grates, W.
M. Adams & Bro., L. H. Parker, G. M. Shaw.
Marble and Granite Works, Mitchell & Bald-
win, L. A. Moore, E. O’Donnell, R. H. Sloan,

W. C. Townsend. Molding Sand, E. M. Ayers,
The J. Downerd & Son Co. Musical Merchan-
dise, H. D. Munson & Sons, C. E. Townsend.
Newspapers, 14 publications, (see elsewhere.)
WholesaleNotions, Block & Grant Co., Frelich

& Greenfield. Oatmeal Mills, Edward John-
son. Ornamental Brick Manufacturers, Oak-
land Press Brick Co., T. B. Townsend Brick &
Contracting Co. Paints, the Goheen Manu-
facturing Co., H. M. Widney. Paper, Elliott

Paper Co. Potteries, J. B. Owens Pottery Co.,

S. O. Wilier, Muskingum Stoneware Co., Zanes-
ville Stoneware Co., Roberts & Co., American
Encaustic Tiling Co. (limited.) Real Estate,

8 offices. Roofers, D. L. Hopkins, Lumb &
Ludy, C. J. Marcellus, David Schmid, Gilbert

Snyder. Soap Manufacturers, Schultz & Co.,

The Butler & Hannum Manufacturing Co.,

George Hahn, Stained Glass Works, Adolph
Brown. Stoneyard, J. N. Steiner. Stoneware,
Manufacturers, Muskingum Stoneware Co.,

South Zanesville Stoneware, Brick and Paving
Co., Zanesville Stoneware Co. Stove and
Range Manufacturers, Jones & Abbott, Shinnick
Woodside & Gibbons. Tanneries, Jacob F.

Greul, Findries & Heckel. Tiles, American
Encaustic Tiling Co., L. H. Parker, W. M.
Adams & Bro. Woolen Mills, Zanesville
Woolen Manufacturing Co.

P'ollowing is the historical list of the incor-

porated companies with offices here: American
Encaustic Tiling Co (limited ), office and works
Marietta road; incorporated under laws of New
York in 1878; capital $150,000; B. Nisher, pres-

ident; George R. Lansing, treasurer; Wm. G.
Flammer, secretary; Geo. A. Stanbery, general
superintendent. Brown Manufacturing Co.,

office and works cor. Underwood and Railroad;
incorporated 1873; capital $1 50,000; Jas. Herd-
man, president; N. IT Moore, secretary

;
W. A.

Graham, treasurer; U. IT Brown, general man-
ager; D. S. Brown, superintendent of works.
Griffith & Wedge Co., office and works 85 to 12

1

S. Fifth; established 1858, incorporated August
4, 1885; capital $150,000; Francis Wedge, pres-

ident; John Hoge, vice-president; F. N. Wedge,
secretary; E. Gigax, treasurer; founders and
machinists. The Citizens’ National Bank, 130
Main; organized July 1, 1881; capital, $200,000;
IT. C. Van Voorhis, president; W. M. Shinnick,
vice-president; A. V. Smith, cashier. The
Courier Co., office 32 S. Fourth

;
incorporated

March 14, 1889; capital, $70,000; John Hoge,
president; II. C. Tindsay, vice-president; R. B.

Brown, secretary, treasurer and business mana-
ger. The Elliot Paper Co., office and ware-
house 19 N. Sixth; incorporated Nov. 7, 1885;

capital $10,000; Joseph PTliot, president; Thos.
H. Elliot, secretary; John Elliot, treasurer;

Henry Elliot, general manager. The First Na-
tional Bank, 134 Main; organized Feb. 24, 1863;

capital $200,000; surplus, $100,000; W. A. Gra-
ham, president; Geo. IT. Stewart, cashier. The
Home Building & Savings Mo. Savings Bank,

155 Main; organized May, 1886; capital $1,000,

-

000; Harvey Darlington, president; Jas. T. Ir-

vine, treasurer and secretary. The J. Downerd
& Son Co., office 208 Main, 2d floor; incorpor-

ated Nov. 18, 1887; capital $50,000; E. C.

Downerd, president; M. E. Dunn, secretary and
treasurer. The Kearns-Gorsuch Glass Co., of-

fice s. e. cor. First and Main; incorporated Feb.

3, 1886; capital $200,000; J. T. Gorsuch, presi-

dent; Wm.T. Gray, vice president; Noah Kearns,
superintendent. Officers Board of Trade

—

president, George R. Fox; second vice-presi-

dent, A. E. Starr; secretary, W. S. Bell; treas-

urer, Alexander Grant. Steamboat lines

—

Steamer Bessie Siler, Newton Price, captain;

runs daily between Zanesville and McConnels-
ville; dock foot of Sixth street. The Muskin-
gum Coffin Co., office and factory cor. Main
and Canal; incorporated 1881; capital $80,000;

J. T. Newman, president; N. C. Highfield, vice-

president; Joseph Shaw, secretary and treas-

urer. The Oakland Press Brick Co., office cor.

Market and Third, works at junction of the Bel-

laire, Zaneville and Cincinnati and Belt
Tine railroads; incorporated December 23,

1886; capital $25,000; W. A. Graham, president;

C. V. Graham, secretary and treasurer. The
Odd Fellows’ Beneficial Association, office 160

Main; organized April 26, 1869; incorporated
March 12, 1873; Geo. Rishtine, president; J. A.
Parshall, vice-president; T. D. McCaddon,
treasurer; W. R. Hazlett, secretary. The Ohio
Fuel Gas & Incadescent Tight Co., office cor.

Sixth and Market; organized Dec. 4, 1888,

under the laws of West Virginia; capital $1,000,-

000, stock full paid and noil-assessable; G. E.

Meigs, president; P. G. Marshall, IT N. Wedge,
C. W. Kauke, vice-presidents; A. E. Boone,
secretary, treasurer and general manager; G.
F. Axline, assistant treasurer; F. D. Moses, en-

gineer; Cyril Hawkins, general agent. The
People’s Savings Bank, Monumental Building;
incorporated September, 1889; capital $50,000;
T. F. Spangler, president; Willis Bailey, 1st vice-

president; C. Stolzenbach, 2d vice-president;
Alex. Grant, treasurer; Wm. J. Atwell, cashier.

The Shinnick, Woodside & Gibbons Mfg. Co.,

proprietors Union Foundry, office and foundry
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Fountain avenue, east of Seventh; incorporated

July i, 1885; capital 8150,000; Wm. M. Shin-

nick, president; Wm. J. Woodside, treasurer;

Geo. D. Gibbons, secretary. The T. B. Town-
send Brick Co., office 195 Market, works 3d
ward; incorporated January 1, 1890; capital

$200,000; T. B. Townsend, president; R. C.

Burton, secretary; O. N. Townsend, treasurer.

The Times Recorder Co., office 14 S. Fifth.

The Union National Bank; organized May 3d,

1890; capital $ 1 50,000; James Herdman, presi-

dent; M. Churchill, vice-president; E. Martin,

cashier; W. H. Pierpont, assistant cashier; 128

Main. The Zanesville Water Works, office 2d
floor Market House; Geo. R. Humphrey, presi-

dent; H. S. Crozier, secretary. The Zanesville

Athenaeum, library and rooms 30 and 32 south
Fifth; organized December 19, 1827; incorpora-

ted December 22, 1828; E. C. Brush, president;

J. R. Stonesipher, secretary and treasurer; Miss
M. A. Stillwell, librarian; directors, M. M.
Granger, J. R. Stonesipher, C. IT. Abbott, C.

C. Goddard, J. W. King, T. B. Townsend. The
Zanesville Canal & Mfg. Co., office 1 14 Main
corner Third; incorporated 1814; M. M. Gran-
ger, president; R. S. Mershon, secretary; trus-

tee Mclntire estate. The Zanesville Hardware
Co., 169 Main; incorporated Oct., 1888; capital

$100,000; W. A. Fillmore, president; A. T.

Cassel, vice-president; Wilbur F. McCoy, sec-

retary; W. A. Herdman, treasurer; wholesale
and retail hardware. The Zanesville Stone-
ware Co., office and works northwest corner
Woodlawn avenue and Cooper Mill road; in-

corporated 1889; capital $50,000; PC G. Bowen,
president and treasurer; A. T. Clark, secretary.

The Zanesville Street Railroad; incorporated
August, 1890; capital $200,000; A. L. Conger,
president; F. M. Atterholt, vice-president; F.

A. Wilcox, secretary; F. A. Seiberling, treasurer;

all of Akron, O.; A. H. Johnson, superinten-

dent; office barn, Marysville Pike. Young
Men’s Christian Association, 51 north Fifth;

incorporated August, 1888; A. P. Pinkerton
president; C. S. Hoskinson, vice-president; O.
L. Martin, recording secretary; J. S. Dewacter,
treasurer; E. A. Pierce, general secretary; C.

P. Evans, assistant secretary. Zanesville Elec-

tric Light and Power Co., office and works 227
north Sixth; organized March 1, 1887; capital

$75,000; John IToge, president; R. D. Schultz,

vice-president; Frank Durbin, secretary; F. G.

Grace, treasurer; Wm. O. Perry, superinten-
dent. Zanesville Gas Light Co., office corner
Fourth and Main, 2d floor, works 187 to 219
north Sixth; organized 1849; capital $50,000;
Moses M. Granger, president; G. A. Allen, sec-

retary; Citizens’ National Bank, treasurer;

Eugene Printz, superintendent; telephone 205.

Zanesville Mining Co., office 14 north Fifth,

Opera block; incorporated February, 1882;
capital $50,000; F. J. Terry, president, J. Hope
Sutor, secretary; Geo. Brown, treasurer; Noah
Shrigley, superintendent of mines, Salina,

Boulder county, Colorado. Zanesville Woolen
Manufacturing Co., office and mill north side
Muskingum avenue, south end Third street

bridge; incorporated 1870; capital $50,000;
John C. Harris, president; Robert Fulton, sec-

retary and treasur;r; John L. Turner, superin-
tendent.

Reference has been made to the parent, if

such it may be termed, of the present gigantic
enterprises of the American Encaustic Tiling
Company, whose office and salesroom is in

New York, its great manufacturing plant in

Zanesville. It was the old Howson pottery,

on South Seventh street, opposite Shultz &
Co’s, soap factory, and a small brick building
yet remains to mark the site, although the
kilns have long since disappeared. The plant

was devoted to the manufacture of crocks and
kitchenware, and was conducted on a very
small scale.

In 1874, Mr .B. Fischer, of New York, had
his attention directed to the clays at Zanes-
ville. He was induced to investigate them and
was convinced that tile could be made here.

He purchased the plant above mentioned, as-

sociating with himself, Mr. George R. Lansing,
of the same city. For the first two years, the
work was an experimental one. No tile that

was merchantable, was made during that whole
period, and a man with less tenacity of pur-

pose than Mr. Fischer, would have abandoned
the plant altogether. He had faith in Mus-
kingum county’s clays, however, and his ex-
periments were continued. Many of the older
citizens still remember when kiln after kiln of

fresh burned tile were pronounced failures,

and were hauled away to fill low lots or to

macadamize the roads. Such experiments
could not continue forever without some result,

and finally merchantable tile was produced.
In 1877 the courthouse here was floored with
tile manufactured by the, company, and a part

of that tile was made at the old factory on the
river bank. That floor cost $1 per square foot,

and it was considered a triumph of art. The
same floor can now be laid for 40 cents per
square foot, and it has become quite common
as compared with the higher and more beauti-

ful designs that have been developed. The
fact had been established that merchantable
tile could be made in this country, and that

Zanesville was especially adapted to the pur-
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pose, and the firm decided to build larger.

Ground was purchased at the present site in

the Third ward. In 1877 a building about one-
fourth the size of the present one was erected.

It consisted of a building 125x68 feet, and six

kilns. It was looked upon then as a great

manufacturing institution, and its projectors

thought that it would be amply sufficient to

supply all the demands for tile for the next
generation. They little dreamed of the mag-
nificent proportions of the business whose
foundations they were laying. In the same
year Mr. Stanbery became the superintendent
of the works, and he has occupied the position

ever since.

In 1878 the plant was placed under the
management of a stock company. Strange as

it may seem the production of American tile

by American artisans did not open the Ameri-
can market. The dealers in tile were prejudiced
against them. Finding that they could not
sell the tile to the dealers, who would handle
none but the European article, the company
became contractors as well as manufacturers.
They laid tile floors themselves, and soon
brought the dealers to recognize the worth of
the article they were manufacturing. Since
that time their market has been, as is well
known to our citizens, constantly expanding
until now it embraces every State in the Union.
The American Encaustic Tiling Company was
the first company in this country to produce
merchantable tile. The first products as com-
pared with the present were crude and simple,
consisting only of flooring tiles of the most
simple designs and the plainest colors. Not
satisfied with this end, although it was a de-
cided triumph, the company has continued to

experiment until now the finest and most
beautiful art tile are produced.

From the time of the building of the first

structure on the present site in the Third ward
until the present day the growth of the plant
has been rapid. New buildings were added
until all the ground was occupied, and then it

was found necessary to arch over the run which
flows through the premises and build over it.

The time came when more ground must be had,
and it could not be bought at the present loca-
tion in the Third ward for anything like a rea-

sonable sum. This brings the history down to
recent events, which are still very fresh in the
minds of the people. The New York stock-
holders, who own by far the largest interest in

the establishment, determined to move it bodily
to New Jersey. They communicated their in-

tention to Mr. John llogc, who was interested
in the enterprise. By persevering effort he in-

duced them to hold the matter open a few days.

He returned home to Zanesville and the situa-

tion was made known to the board of trade.

The exciting meeting of that body which fol-

lowed will be remembered by all. Citizens

pledged themselves to pay large sums of

money provided the city could not be bonded
for the amount of money required to meet the

demands of the company for a sufficient sum to

purchase a site and sink a test well for oil and
gas. The bill submitting the matter to a vote
of the people passed the legislature, and at the
spring election the people voted almost unani-

mously in favor of issuing the bonds. They
were issued to the amount of $40,000. Then
followed the choice of a site. Various places

were viewed, but the utmost secrecy was ob-
served as to which would be the favored one.

The list was finally narrowed down in the
minds of the company to two—one in Fair

Oaks and the other the present one. At this

juncture Col. H. A. Blood, of Boston, president

of the C. C. & S. Railway Company, learned of

the situation of affairs. He was soon in Zanes-
ville, and made such substantial offers in the

way of tracks, switching facilities, etc., that the

works were located as at present.

The mammoth plant which was dedicated
Tuesday, April 19, 1892, is ample guarantee of

the wisdom of President Blood in making so

liberal an offer. The present factory is the

most complete on the continent, but is a mere
plaything when compared with the new one.

It consists of a double row of buildings about
1500 feet long. The size of each building is

given in the list which was furnished by Evans
6 Dunsweiler, the contractors:

Raw stock house, 50x200 feet, 24 rooms, two
stories; slip house, 60x100 feet, 6 rooms, three

stories; slip press and clay and dry house, 95X
162 feet, 4 rooms, 2 stories; grinding house 68

X94 feet, 26 rooms, two stories; ground clay

house, 64x200 feet, 66 rooms, two stories; press

house, 72x200 feet, one story; dry house, 72X
200 feet, one story; placing houses, 42x200 feet,

7 rooms, one story; bisque kiln house, 132x216
feet, one story; placing house, 32x42 feet, 2

rooms, one story; smear kiln house, 44x1 14 feet,

one story; sorting house, 74x120 feet, one story;

glazing house, 48x220 feet, 3 rooms, one story;

placing houses, 16x20 feet, 4 rooms, one story;

glazing kiln house, 96x200 feet, one story; ware
house, 216x216 feet, 9 rooms three stories;

freight and cooper house, 52x218 feet, 4 rooms,
one story; engine and boiler house, 48x172 feet,

2 rooms, one story; machine shop and carpen-
ter shop house, 44x76 feet, 4 rooms, two stories;

blacksmith house, 20x44 feet, 1 room, one story;



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY.256

scggar house, 52x106 feet, 4 rooms, two
stories; stock houses, 20x76 feet, 5 rooms, one
story; locomotive house, 23x44 feet, 1 room,
one story; fifteen bisque kilns, 22 feet diameter
at base; three smear kilns, 16.8 feet diameter at

base; eight glaze kilns, 22 feet diameter at base;

one seggar kiln, 26 feet diameter at base; one
improved eight tunnel drier; brick smoke stack,

121 feet high, 18x18 feet at the base. Home
institutions were patronized to as large an ex-

tent as possible in the erection and equipment
of this plant, and everything that Zanesville

could furnish was purchased here. Evans &
Dunsweiler had the contract for laying the
12,000,000 brick. The boilers, air compressors
and tile presses were manufactured by Griffith

& Wedge. The lumber was furnished by
Thomas Drake. The Blandy Machine com-
pany furnished iron work. Rcekel & Son laid

the fifty miles and more of pipe used in the
building. Snyder, the slater, placed the slate

roofs used. D. Schmidt constructed the gal-

vanized iron work and spouting. Still other
Zanesville firms, employing Zanesville work-
men, performed other contracts.

The plant is chiefly valuable to Zanesville
because of the labor it furnishes and the result-

ing increase in prosperity and population. It

will give work to from 800 to 1000 persons when
running to its full capacity.

The demonstration at the formal opening of
these works marked a “red letter” day to the
people of this part of Ohio. The program for

the dedication was under the direction of an
executive committee composed of Hon. Wm.
S. Bell, A. E. Starr, H. A. Sharpe, Charles Geis,
H. C. Werner, J. A. Morrow, G. R. Clements,

J. H. Swart, Edward McGovern, J. A. Dennis,
C. C. Harrison, Thomas Trainer, G. A. Allen
and Dr. H. T. Sutton. The reception committee
consisted of Messrs. T. F. Spangler, John Hoge,
R. D. Schultz, F. A. Durban, Geo. H. Stewart,
C. Stolzenbach, D. H. Gaumer, H. C. Van Voor-
his, F. H. Southard, H. C. Werner, Dr. T. J.

Barton, Geo. A. Stanbery, H. H. Sturtevant,
Wm. Kirk, S. A. Baldwin, Gen. R. B. Brown,
Rev. F. Richards, D. M. Evans, D. S. Brown,
W. R. Mathews, E. P. Bloomer, John C. Sulli-

van, Julius Frank, B. Wheeler, Wm. Bateman,
Dr. E. C. Logsdon, David Lee, M. Churchill,

Jas. R. Peabody, Charles Brendel, J. Hope
Sutor, Capt. Mader, Hiram Waller, W. J. Wood-
side, G. D. Gibbons, Lieut. C. E. Gillette, R. S.

Mershen, A. O. Jones, P'dward Gigax, William
Swart, James Herdman, Thomas Murphy, Alex-
ander Grant, Charles Abbott, William Wells,
Edward Abbott, James Wheeler, S. A. Weller,
Theodore Wiles, J. W. Pinkerton, G. D. Mun-

son, Albert Baker, Dan Buell, J. J. Adams, C.

U. Shryock, W. W. Harper, Rev. George P. Tor-
rence, J. W. Conrade, John Crooks, C. D.
Wedge, T. J. McDermott, I7 . N. Grigsby, T. M.
Williams and PC L. Winchell. The program in-

cluded an address of welcome by Hon. W. S.

Bell, mayor of the city, addresses by Hon.
Wm. McKinley, Jr., governor of Ohio, Hon.
John O’Neill, Col. H. A. Blood, of the Cleve-
land & Canton R. R. Co., President Fischer, of

the Tiling Co., and others. Amusement was
the order of the day and evening, and the Bar-
racks band from Columbus, the Seventeenth
regiment band of Zanesville, and the Dresden
K. of P. bands were in attendance.

Schultz & Co., “The” soap-boilers; factory

and office, Canal Bank, between Sixth and Sev-
enth streets, Zanesville, O.; New York office

and depot, 164 Franklin street, New York, are

well worthy to adorn the pages of a book
dealing with the history of Zanesville. Both
members of the firm are natives of Zanesville,

and have lived in the city of their birth all

their lives, and have been active citizens, both
as young and middle-aged men, engaging in

public-spirited movements calculated to ad-

vance the interests of this community. Be-
sides their own large manufactory, they arc

heavy holders of real estate, and stockholders
in a large number of other manufacturing con-

cerns. Messrs. Robert Schultz and John Hoge
are the individual members comprising the

firm, so widely known throughout this country
as Schultz & Co., manufacturers of several

brands of soap which have a world-wide repu-

tation for being the bestfor family use. Messrs.

Schultz & Co.’s factory is a four- story brick

structure, the dimensions of which are 70x200
feet, every inch of which is utilized in the man-
ufacture of the firm’s products. The building

throughout is supplied with all the latest and
most improved machinery necessary in an estab-

lishmentof the kind, and seventy-five hands find .

steady and remunerative employment, besides a

number of traveling salesmen, covering terri-

tories which know no bounds. They also own
a large warehouse at the depots, with switches

in from the different roads, used for storing

their surplus stocks. Messrs. Schultz & Co.

began business in 1866, being successors to Mr.
Wm. Schultz, under whom they served from
boyhood. Prior to their accession to the busi-

ness, the trade had been purely local; but

shortly after, they introduced into the Western
markets their celebrated “ Star ” brand, which
was entirely different from anything else in

the soap line. Subsequently the firm placed

upon the market their famous brand, “ Irish
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Soap,” which proved to be their first great suc-

cess, and gave them a national reputation.

This brand immediately became an immense
favorite as a laundry soap, and at once bounded
to the front ranks of all the leading markets of

the country. The firm added to their list other
famous brands. Messrs. Schultz & Co. now
make “ Star Soap,” one of the best and most
desirable for general family use, and the “Duck
Soap,” a good laundry article. The volume of

trade extends to all parts of the United States.

The firm’s products have no superior, and there

are few homes in the land where the name of

Schultz & Co. is not familiar. Messrs Schultz
& Co. are also sole owners and managers of

the Zanesville Opera House, which has the
reputation of being one of the finest and best

managed theaters in America.
About the year 1875 Schultz & Co. pur-

chased the Zane House property, and the Opera
house and Opera House block were erected in

1879, which then, as now, were the pride of this

city. Mr. Hoge’s enthusiasm was impressed
upon his partner, and unaided these two daunt-
less young men erected a row of metropolitan
business rooms and a theater, at that time une-
qualed in the state. That this was a most ex-

pensive undertaking goes without saying.
Such was their credit that not the semblance
of a mortgage encumbered their property, yet
it was freely predicted by the croakers that

Schultz & Co. would be ruined. The business
sagacity of Mr. Hoge soon manifested itself in

the management of the Opera house. The
rules laid down by him were unique, and a

marked innovation on the established methods
of the “profession.” The result was a wide-
spread notoriety and a national reputation for

the Schultz Opera house. Theatrical people
stormed and swore like the army in Flanders,
but they eventually yielded gracefully to the
iron-clad regulations. Their ravings have
turned to exultant praise. The “rules” have
been widely copied throughout the country—
the best tribute to their fairness. “The Appeal
to the Profession,” written by Mr. Hoge, and
placarded in all the dressing rooms of the the-

ater, won the warmest commendation from the
“show people.”

Another important and beautiful structure
is the Memorial building. On June 9th, 1878,
some half dozen old soldiers met at the resi-

dence of Fred. Geiger, for the purpose of
organizing a Soldiers’ Monumental Association.
At this meeting Geiger presided, W. O. Mun-
son acted as secretary, and Andros Guille was
designated as treasurer. The plan was to raise

$5,000 by popular subscription. The second

meeting of the association was held June 13, in

the office of Mr. Geiger, Clerk of the Court.
At this meeting a permanent organization was
effected and Mr. Geiger was elected president,

John H. Drake vice-president, Andros Guille
treasurer, and W. O. Munson, secretary. A
constitution and by-laws were adopted, and C.
W. Potwin, Peter Black and Robert Silvey
were appointed, trustees. Thursday, Septem-
ber 19, 1878, wras held a grand county re-union,

under the auspices of the association, which in

addition to being the largest ex-soldier de-
monstration held in the county up to that time,

was a financial success, netting the association

$1,000. At the first annual meeting held June
1 3, 1879, the old officers were re-elected, and
an executive committee composed of five ladies

and five gentlemen was appointed. This com-
mittee was Mrs. F. Cogswell, Mrs. F. J. L.

Blandy, Mrs. James Buckingham, Mrs. L. B.

Taylor and Messrs P'red. Dietz, R. B. Brown,
VV. H. Cockins, W. S. Harlan and Howard
Aston. It was now determined to increase the
amount for the monument to $10,000, and a

plan of guarantee notes was formulated and an
active canvass begun. At the annual meeting
June 13, 1883, five years after the organization
of the association, the secretary in his report
alluded to the fact that a trifle over $5,000 was
now on hand, that the members of the associa-

tion had voted to have the monument erected
in front of the court house, that the Com-
missioners had refused to move the fountain to

give place to the monument, that many of the
heaviest subscribers were in favor of diverting
the fund already raised and adding to it fifteen

or twenty thousand dollars more, and in lieu of

a monument, erecting a “ Muskingum County
Soldiers’ and Sailor’s Memorial Building.”
“This, in the opinion of your secretary, would be
a good investment, permanent, progressive and
lasting.” At this meeting a paper was read,

which led to the sending out by the secretary

a circular letter requesting each subscriber to

designate his choice in the matter, by which it

was decided to erect a memorial building in-

stead of a shaft or monument.
To the officers, trustees, executive commit-

tee, who labored so faithfully for five years on
behalf of the monument, much of the credit

of this building is due. For the money which
they, through their trustees, turned over to the

Memorial building trustees, $5,152.07, served
as the first payment on the site of this building,

and it may be well to say, that every man,
woman or child who paid his dollar or more
toward the monument, to-day has a propor-
tionate share and interest in this building, and
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further, that all of the time and labor bestowed
upon the enterprise for five years by those
having in charge the Monumental association,

was given freely, and not a dollar of the money
collected was spent except for stationery,

printing and postage. With the appointment
of the seven trustees, ably represented by T.

F. Spangler, the labor of the Monumental as-

sociation closed. September 27, 1883, upon
the application of C. W. Potwin, W. A. Gra-
ham and Robert Silvey, trustees of the Mus-
kingum County Soldier’s and Sailors’ Monu-
mental Association, Judge Phillips appointed
Gilbert D. Munson, Frederick C. Dietz, Joseph
T. Gorsuch, Thomas W. Gattrell, James Buck-
ingham, Conrade Stolzenbach and Frank J.

Korte, as trustees of the Muskingum County
Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Monumental Association.
March 14, 1887, by reason of a vacancy by the
resignation of F. C. Dietz, Judge Phillips ap-
pointed T. F. Spangler to fill vacancy. These
trustees took charge of the funds and business
of the Monumental association. About the
first business transacted by them was to pur-
chase the property upon which the building
now stands, using the money turned over to

them to make the first payment. Matters
went along without anything of importance
happening, the trustees endeavoring all the
time to devise some means to have the build-

ing erected, until in 1887, the county commis-
sioners, having to provide an armory for the
use of Company B and Battery C, of Ohio
National Guard in this county, were induced
by the trustees to issue bonds of the county
for the purpose of erecting a soldiers’ and
sailors’ memorial building, and an armory, on
the site purchased by the trustees, the arrange-
ment being for the trustees to pay the interest

on the bonds, and the principal as it came due.
By this arrangement the Grand Army of the
Republic of this county have secured a beauti-
ful post room, the Ohio National Guard, a

splendid armory, and the whole people a mag-
nificent structure, well worthy of the name,
and a grand tribute to the memory of the 700
brave men of Muskingum county who perished
during the war.

Other public buildings and halls in the city

are the following: Athenmum building, Athlet-
ic hall, Beard block, Bijou opera house, Black’s
Music Hall block, Blocksom block, Castle hall,

Central block, City prison, Choral hall, Christ-
man block, Court house, First National Bank
hall, Gold hall, Haver’s hall, Heilman’s hall,

Horn’s hall, Lee’s hall, Maginnis block, Market
house, Martin hall, Masonic hall, Merrick block
Nevitt’s hall, Odd Fellow’s hall (Woodlawn

lodge), Odd Fellows’ temple, Pinkerton build-

ing, Police station, Power House No. 1, Power
House No. 2, Power House No. 3, Richard
block, Shinnick block and hall, Star block, St.

Nicholas hall, St. Thomas hall, Turner’s hall,

Weller building, Wheeler Stevens’ block, Wiles
block, Work house, Worrell hall, Young Mens’
Christian Association rooms.

Pllijah C. Ross, of Zanesville, produced the
first daguerreotype ever made west of the city

of New York. It is claimed that the first fric-

tion or lucifer matches ever made in the world
were produced in Zanesville by William G.

Thompson, in 1834. Zanesville was first lighted

with gas in November, 1849. Her first street

railway was opened for travel December 4,

1875. Zanesville was early and enterprising in

the introduction of the electric light.

Since the time of the arrival of the first

mails in Zanesville in 1798, when Daniel Con-
vers entered into contract with the national

government to carry the mails from Marietta
to this point and return weekly, the changes
have been numerous and great. Wm. McCul-
loch, the first postmaster, found but little to do
in his official capacity, but with the growth of

the village and the establishment of improved
mail facilities, the work became greater. In

August, 1817, from one weekly mail, Zanes-
ville had risen so that she had the benefit of

six mails per week—three from the East and
three from the West. At this time the mails

were carried upon the regular stage routes

which had been established. In this same year,

(January 30) Putnam had an office established,

with Henry Safford as postmaster. In June,

1838, an office was established for West Zanes-
ville under the name of Muskingum, with John
W. P. Lane as postmaster, but was discontinued

in 1843, and that village did without a post-

office until in January, 1852, when the West
Zanesville postoffice was established with Jos-

eph H. Parke in charge. In 1849, the postoffice

at Zanesville became a president appointive

office, and soon thereafter the mails began to

be delivered by railroads instead of by the old

stage coach. In 1864, a money order depart-

ment was established here and the system was
fully inaugurated November 1, 1864. In August,

1880, this office was made the depository for

this section of the state, and now receives the

deposits from the postoffices in the following

counties: Belmont, Coshocton, Guernsey, Mon-
roe, Morgan, Muskingum, Noble, Perry and
Washington. The number of postoffices thus

depositing is about 400; the average amount
deposited here by these offices is $21,000 per

annum. At about the same time that theoffice



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 259

was made a general depository, the free deliv-

ery system wasintroduced,andthe postoffices in

Putnam and West Zanesville were discontinued.
October 1st, 1880, the free delivery system was
inaugurated. The inspiration and salvation of

every progressive mercantile, commercial and
manufacturing community is dependent upon
ample banking facilities—upon banks that are

sound, rich and reputable, conservatively man-
aged and yet liberal in their treatment of those
who, investing their capital, brains and labor in

local enterprises of a legitimate and beneficial

nature, may at times require reasonable assist-

ance in the way of pecuniary accommodation.
It is safe to say that no community of equal
numbers in the country is better supplied with
fiduciary institutions of this kind than is Zanes-
ville, nor has any set of banks and business
men a better or more cordial mutual under-
standing than exists here. The banks are seven
in number—three national, one private, and
three savings banks. All of these institutions

are in a flourishing condition, as will be seen
from the appended official statements: First

National, organized 1863; capital, $200,000; Citi-

zen’s national, organized 1881; capital, $200,000;
Union National, organized 1890; capital, $150,-

000; Zanesville bank, organized 1885; capital,

$60,000; People’s Saving bank, organized 1889;
capital, $50,000; Ohio Safe Deposit & Trust Co.,

organized 1890; capital nominal.
In addition to her regular banks Zanesville

also boasts of seven loan and building associa-
tions which are in a flourishing condition, and
are doing a grand and noble work for the labor-
ing class of the community. By their aid the
possibility of their securing a home by the
laboring man without capital is made easy and
safe, and the number of homes now owned by
the laboring classes of Zanesville is the best
possible indication of their success. We here-
with give a list of the associations which
are at present doing business in the city:

Buckeye Building & Loan, organized in 1 888

;

capital, $1,000,000; resources, $30,000; gross
earnings, $1,500. Citizens Building & Saving,
organized in 1887; capital, $1,000,000; re-

sources, $64,489.12; gross earnings, $4,339.31.
Economy Building & Loan, organized in 1887;
capital, $1,000,000; resources, $56,792; gross
earnings, $4,908.23. Equitable Building, or-

ganized in 1887; capital, $1,000,000; resources,

$94,399.75; gross earnings, June 1, 1889, $3>~

269.69. Farmers Building & Loan, organized
in 1889; capital, $1,000,000; resources, $25,000.
Home Building & Saving, organized in 1886;
capital, $1,000,000; resources, 1888, $131,355;
gross earnings, 1888, $9,204. Homestead Build-

ing & Saving, organized in 1884; capital,

$1,000,000; resources, 1888, $213,168.50; gross
earnings, 1888, $20,791.61. Mechanics' Building
(Limited), organized in 1884; capital, $150,000;
resources, 1888, $110,000; gross earnings, 1888,

$20,960.31.

The claims of Zanesville are thus summed
up by the board of trade: “Zanesville, Ohio is

beautifully located on the Muskingum river,

the only interior city of Ohio on a navigable
stream, tributary to all points on the Ohio and
Mississippi rivers. The scenery on the Musk-
ingum is beautiful, and the valley most fertile.

The United States Government has control of

the river, and' is now spending large sums of

money improving the same. Schools, semina-
ries, churches, parks, etc., a fine opera house,
admitting only the best troupes traveling. A
new memorial building, erected to the memory
of the Union soldiers and sailors of this county;
this building has the largest and best conven-
tion room or assembly hall in the state, with
but one exception ( that of music hall at Cin-
cinnati, Ohio). Seating 2,500 comfortably.
We have gas light, electric light, and fuel water
gas, one of the best systems of electric street

cars, with the latest and most approved equip-
ment. Our water works system is the pride of

the city, our fire department first class. Fine
suburban residences. Our Fair Oaks, Bucking-
ham Place, Terrace, Maplewood and Belle

View, are all new additions to the city of Zanes-
ville. and for places of residence are truly beau-
tiful, and must be seen to be fully appreciated.
Greenwood cemetery, Woodlawn cemetery, and
Mount Calvary cemetery, places that will just-

ify your visiting.

“The Muskingum valley gives us one of the
very best markets, fruit and vegetables in abun-
dance, and at very low prices. Considerable
fruit and vegetables are shipped to sister cities.

We have seven railroads and four more pro-
jected. We have the cheapest and most relia-

ble known fuel. Hotels equaled only by the
best, and excelled by none. Our encaustic tile

works is the largest in the United States, and
the only successful competitor oc the celebrated
English tile. Our brick industries have grown
to immense proportions our building brick,

ornamental brick, -glazed brick and pressed
brick are the best made and excelled by none,
our shipments of which amount to 3,750 cars a

year, or 12 cars a day. Our paving brick in-

dustry gives promise of growing to immense
proportions; at this time cannot supply the
demand. We also manufacture largely stone
ware, terra cotta and sewer pipe, fine linings,

flower pots, vases, and all kinds of fancy and
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decorated clay goods. Zanesville is no less

a first-class business and manufacturing point

than it is a place of residence.”

It will be seen from the foregoing brief re-

view of the manufacturing and commercial in-

terests of Zanesville that the place is already
well supplied with that which gives perma-
nency, stability and growth to a community.
There is here a large amount of skilled labor

employed. It is that which enlivens trade,

which gives character to business, which builds

up and establishes communities. Many of

these industries which have been enumerated
are yet in their infancy, but the encouragement
all such are receiving warrants their success,

if judiciously managed. What is a success in

one locality in another, under the same man-
agement may, and often does, prove a failure.

Rarely has a manufacturing enterprise been
here undertaken which has not been success-

fully prosecuted, and manufacturing capital

here invested has rarely sought to be trans-

ferred to other localities. This fact alone
speaks more for the advantages this city af-

fords for the employment of manufacturing
skill than whole volumes besides. One argu-

ment from fact is worth an entire treatise of

mere theory. There is also a fine local and
wholesale trade.

The history of the real estate business in

Zanesville, is different from that of most other

American cities in that it is characterized

neither by periods when prices were unreason-
ably inflated, nor by times when property
could be purchased far below its actual value.

Zanesville, conservative from the very first of

its history, has suffered only when the entire

country has been demoralized by panic. After
the laying out of Zanesville and its sister vil-

lages on the opposite bank of the river, the rise

in the prices of realty was unusually steady,

although slow, until 1836, when the figures

reached by property in the heart of the town
were almost as high as at present. The terrific

panic which swept over the United States the

following year, dragged real estate here as

everywhere else, to the bott m. Instances are

cited where valuable lots in the most thor-

oughly desirable locations, were sold in 1837,

at seventy per cent, less than the prices at

which they had been bought twelve months
before. The recovery was not rapid, and it

was nearly 1850 before property owners could
realize anything like the actual value of their

town lots. However, after 1851 there was a

steady, healthy advance, continuing without
interruption until 1866, when property was sold

at better prices than ever before in the history

of the town. A noticeable feature of this ad-
vance was that it affected suburban property
as never before. After this time there was lit-

tle or no increase of the actual selling prices of

Zanesville real estate. It held its own, but as

practically none had been bought for purely
speculative purposes, it was not pushed beyond
its real value. In 1873 of course “everything
went.’’ The recovery of real estate values was
slow, it being some time before Zanesville
property would bring what it was actually
worth. After getting back to the ante-panic
figures, there was little if any advance. A good
deal of city property was on the market, but
sales were not numerous, as owners were not
willing to make concessions and buyers were
not eager. This state of affairs continued until

1886, the autumn of which year marked the
beginning of a new area in local real estate

business. The occasion was the first specula-
tion of any magnitude in suburban property,

—

the platting of the beautiful farm of the Hon.
H. J. Jewett, “Fair Oaks,” just south of Putnam.
The first sale of lots look place in October, and
the sales for the single day aggregated $24,000,
the lots bringing an average price of $175.
Since that the increase of the sales and prices

of suburban property has been gratifying. The
revival of Putnam property, which began at

that time, has continued and still continues.

Immediately after this came the advance in

property on the Terrace; where in a great

many cases lots have doubled, and in some in-

stances trebled, in value. Natchez, also came
in for an appreciation in the prices of its lots,

with and without improvements. Lots in the
higher land in this locality which four years

ago brought $350, are now ready sellers at over
$500. Property on Marietta street and adja-

cent has also steadily advanced
;
many improve-

ments have been made; and there is less prop-
erty for sale in this section than in any other
part of the city. With the rise of suburban
real estate there has naturally come an ap-
preciation of that in the heart of the town.
Main street property has slowly and surely

advanced and at present there is little or no
property on that street in the market. There
is also a great scarcity of purchasable property
on the streets crossing Main—particularly west
of Sixth street. Among the recent advances
may be noticed that in the northern part of the

city, it having been affected by the bridge now
in course of construction at Underwood street.

When completed, this bridge is, of course, also

bound to cause an increase in values on the

Terrace—especially the upper part. It is to be
noted that, despite the advances on property
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here in the past four years, real estate still sold

at more reasonable figures than the prices of

similar property in other places of Zanesville’s

size and importance. The recent increases

have been from below the real values to the
actual worth of real estate—not from its real

value to a point above.
South Zanesville, the new manufacturing-

annex is situated in the broad and beautiful

valley immediately south of Zanesville, and is

only a few hundred feet from the corporation
line of the latter place. The new town was
founded by the South Zanesville Land Com-
pany in the early spring of 1890, and was platted
under the management of W. J. Finley. The
first lot was sold in the new town May 10, 1890.

Since that time the place has sprung up with
magic quickness. Industrial hum, energy and
force are witnessed on every hand. New build-

ings, new methods, new industries are the po-
tent exigencies of the hour. Great care has
been exercised in the laying out of streets, al-

leys and parks. Its lots are large and are

generally occupied by cozy cottages, which
give an air of comfort and plenty to the place,

and bespeak the thrift and prosperous condi-
tion of its inhabitants. South Zanesville pos-
sesses some of the richest veins of clay to be
found in the Muskingum Valley. Numerous
veins of shale and potters’ clay are found here
in abundance. Several good veins of sand,
both molding and sharp sand, in most any
quantity, coal of the best quality is founu ad-
jacent to the town. The water supply of the
place is fine and in keeping with the numerous
other advantages. Strictly speaking, South
Zanesville is a manufacturing town. Its

modern factories are a pride to the place, and
constitute the bone and sinew of the village.

The leading enterprise in the new town is a
large paving-brick works, a stoneware plant,

spoke and wheel works, foundry and machine
shops, buggy factory, clay specialty works,
and soap factory. This large variety of works
gives employment to quite a number of hands
in different classes of trade. The railroad fa-

cilities of South Zanesville are of the very
best. The Cincinnati & Muskingum Valley
Railway, the Columbus, Shawnee & Hocking
Railway and the Zanesville Terminal Railway
pass directly through the town, giving direct
connection with all the railways diverging out
of Zanesville and the large number of roads
that cross the southeastern portion of Ohio.
Although not an incorporated town, South
Zanesville is making giant strides upward and
onward. The new town has several enterpris-
ing stores, meat market, postoffice, express of-

fice, and railroad office. A new graded-school
building will be erected in the town thisseason.

Telephone connection is had with all the prin-

cipal places. Taking South Zanesville as a

whole, with all her new dwellings, stores, fac-

tories and handsome new depot just now in

construction, she is a marvel of completeness.
The population of the place numbers some-
thing over 600 inhabitants.

Tiledale is the beautiful piece of land lying

just across River street from the immense new
works of the American Encaustic Tiling Com-
pany, embracing over seventy acres of land,

and will furnish convenient sites for the homes
of the employes of these great works. The
streets and roadways are now being graded and
on and after the 19th day of April, the date of

the opening of the tile works, these lots will

be offered for sale. Following are a few of the
advantages offered to purchasers of lots in

Tiledale: They are nearer the tile works than
any other lots. They are on sandy and gravel
soil, insuring dry cellars and good sewerage.
Over thirty acres of them are level and need
no grading. The roadways are now being
nicely graded. The city water mains, with fire

plugs, run along River street, the east front of

Tiledale, offering fire protection. The water
mains will be extended into the streets of Tile-

dale. The city gas mains are there also. Tile-

dale also has beautiful lots on the bluffs, on a

level with and connected with the Dresden
road, covered with a growth of forest trees, a

natural park. The next extension of the Elec-

tric street railroad will probably be to Tiledale,

along River street. A nicely graded and ro-

mantic avenue will be opened through Tiledale,

connecting the Dresden road with River street.

Tiledale lots will be sold on easy payments.
T. F. Spangler & Co. are the sole agents for

Tiledale. The real estate dealers of the city,

other than the two above mentioned are George
Brown, who is pushing Owens’ addition to

Zanesville which has the Owens' pottery as its

nucleus; A. E. Ames, J. H. Gantt, F. S. Gates,

H. S. Moody, Homer White and J. B. Wilson.
Zanesville as she stands at this time, sur-

rounded by her limitless wealth of minerals and
farming lands; with her network of railroads,

leading out in every direction; with her general

beauties of broad, well-shaded and well-paved
streets; beautiful homes; with her general health-

iness; with nearly one thousand manufactur-
ing and mercantile concerns, transacting a vol-

ume of trade reaching fully $10,000,000 annu-
ally; completely lighted by electricity; having
a telephone exchange with five hundred patrons;

fine schools; beautiful churches; elegant court
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house; the finest opera house in the state and
the second largest public hall in Ohio, and
every line of trade represented by houses of

sterling merit and worth; with all these perma-
nent advantages and such bright prospects for

her future, can scarcely be eulogized too warm-
ly. To-day she is a handsome city of a goodly
population the entrepot and base of supplies

for the entire southeastern portion of the state,

and her manufactured products find a ready
sale throughout the length and breadth of the

land. As a rule, the manufacturers and mer-
chants are men who exercise much enterprise

in the prosecution of their various ventures.

They are men who believe that whatever is

worth doing at all is worth doing well, and so

they cultivate their trade; aim to develop
friendly feelings and to secure business to

themselves and to bind prosperity, to the city by
bands as soft as silk, yet as powerful as steel.

They are cultivated, courteous and hospitable,

and extend a welcome to industrious laborers,

enterprising tradesman and judicious capital-

ists.

The Zanesville Board of Trade is one of the

city’s most credible institutions. Several efforts

were made in a more or less remote past to es-

tablish such an institution, but is was not until

in 1886 that anything like a successful organ-
ization was secured. In March, 1886, a prelim-
inary meeting was held and a constitution and
set of by-laws were drafted, which were form-
ally adopted April 12, 1886. The first officers

elected were as follows: President, M. Church-
ill; first vice-president, Edgar M. Hatton;
second vice-president, F. G. Darlington; sec-

retary, William M. Shinnick, Jr.; treasurer, G.

H. Stewart. Much good has been accomplished
by the organization during their six years’ ex-

istence. A permanent board of trade room
has been established and fitted up, a salaried

secretary placed in charge and the organiza-

tion has moved along swimmingly, gaining
with each year a firmer hold upon public re-

spect and confidence. The wisdom of having
such an organization in successful operation is

best demonstrated when it is remembered that

it was largely due to the efforts of this board
that the national government assumed control

of the Muskingum river and has been making
extensive improvements on it; that the board
was the chief promoter of the movement for

street paving in Zanesville; that to its efforts

the citizens are indebted for the Vitrified Sewer
pipe works in Fair Oaks; and that it was the

board that secured the American Encaustic
Tile Co.’s new plant for the city. The various

committees of the organization are carefully

constituted and discharge the tasks assigned to
them most effectively. The officers elected in

April, 1891, for the ensuing year were as fol-

lows: Geo. R. Fox, president; W. W. Harper,
first vice-president; A. E. Starr, second-vice-
president; Wm. S. Bell, secretary; Alex. Grant,
treasurer. Directors: Charles Brendel, Rufus
Burton, A. O. Jones, Wilbur McCoy, H. C. Van
Vorhis, John Hoge, Wm. Kirk, S. A. Baldwin,

J. Hope Sutor, A. P. Pinkerton. The organi-
zation is composed of Zanesville’s leading and
most enterprising business men, and is doing a
grand work for the city.

Journalism in Zanesville has kept pace with
the rapid progress of the city, and there are
here a number of live, enterprising newspapers,
conducted upon the highest plane of journal-
istic management. The local papers are vigor-

ous educators of honest public sentiment, ever
having the best interests of the people at heart
and makingall other interestssubservientthere-
to. There are at present twelve papers in all,

published daily, weekly or monthly. The daily

papers are the Signal
,

Courier, Penny Press and
Timcs-Recorder the first three being evening
editions while the latter is a morning paper.
The Sunday News, Labor Journal, Die Zanesville

Post, Weekly Times-Recorder, Weekly Courier, Semi-
Weekly Signal, Weekly Press, Saturday Night,

and the Political Horoscope, are the leading
weekly publications; while the Ohio Farmers'
Journal is published monthly. The editorial

and business staffs of the dailies are composed
of some of the brightest minds in journalism
in Southeastern Ohio, and each has a corps of
competent special correspondents in various

sections of the country. The press of Zanes-
ville and Muskingum maintains the freedom of

discussion so peculiarly American, and while
in her editorial ranks are found men with all

the divergence of political opinions, yet they
are among the most fraternal to be found in

any community. The important points in the
history of Zanesville journalism are included
in the history of three of her dailies and week-
lies, the Courier, the Signal and the Times-Re-
corder.

Although the Courier only dates its inception
to November 11, 1845, when it first made its

appearance under its present title, it shows an
unbroken lineage which carries it back and
shows it to be the ligitimate successor of the
Express, which was the first paper published in

Zanesville, and first made its appearance in

1810. The Express was the beginning of the
Whig organ of Muskingum county, and though
in those early days the field was ofttimes un-

inviting, the editors of the little sheet held
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unwaveringly to their position. In 1812 the was business manager. Mr. Newman died in

title was changed to the Express and Advertiser

and J. H. Putnam & Co., the founders of the
plant were succeeded by O’Hara & Bennett.
Under this management the paper continued
until in 1823, when “ that old, pioneer politician,

Colonel David Chambers,” took the editorial

chair and Adam Peters became the publisher,

and the first number of the Ohio Republic ap-
peared, strongly opposing the election of

Andrew Jackson to the Presidency and advo-
cating the Whig doctrines. Occupying this

position in the Whig party, the paper continued
under various managements to be the exponent
of its party until November 11, 1845, when
David H. Lyman purchased the establishment,

and on that day issued the first number of the
Zanesville Courier. Under the control of editor

Lyman the Courier became one of the leading
journals of the state.

On June 21, 1846, the Zanesville Daily
Courier was born, but evidently was born too
early as its publishers were forced to abandon
it in the fall of 1847 from lack of support, and
a tri-weekly sheet was substituted. December
16, 1850, Wo. Daily Courier again made its appear-
ance, and has been making its rounds among
the people ever since. In 1858 the Zanesville

Gazette
,
a paper started about 1830 by Uriah

Parke, was consolidated with the Courier
,
and

while the daily retained its old name the title

of the weekly was changed to the Weekly
Courier and Gazette. Up to this time it had
never been upon a paying basis, but in June,

1861, Mr. John T. Shryock became sole pro-

prietor and brought the plant on a solid foot-

ing. « After the close of the war in 1865, Col. J.

C. Douglass, of Cambridge, Ohio, located in

Zanesville and, with Gen. M. D. Leggett, his

old commander, purchased from Mr. Shryock
the Courier plant. They took charge in Novem-
ber of that year, with Col. Douglas as the man-
aging editor. A few months later Capt. T. J.

Newman purchased a one-third interest, as-

suming the business management. Soon after

Gen. Leggett sold his interest to J. H. Dodd,
and the firm became Douglas, Newman & Dodd.

In 1871 Col. Douglas was appointed post-

master of Zanesville and disposed of his inter-

est in the Courier to the remaining partners.

The firm of Newman & Dodd conducted the
business until 1876, when R. B. Brown was ad-
mitted to the partnership. These three gentle-

men remained the owners of the plant until in

the summer of 1889, when the Courier Company
was organized. Of this company, T. J. Newman
was president, L. K. Dodd vice-president, J.H.
Dodd, secretary and treasurer, and R. B. Brown

1890, and the official list as it has been recon-

structed is as follows: John Hoge, president;

H. C. Lindsay, vice-president; R. B. Brown,
secretary and treasurer; board of directors, R.

B. Brown, John Hoge, H. J. Newman, H. C.

Lindsay, Joseph Shaw; Charles A. Reynolds is

editor. The daily paper is an evening edition,

24x39 inches, four pages, and on Saturday eight

pages; weekly, 34x48 inches, eight pages.

The history of the Democratic press of Mus-
kingum county begins with the Muskingum
Messenger

,
which began its career in 1810, and

continued for some twenty-five years to be one
of the most prominent journals then published
in Ohio. In 1832, however, the journal broke
from the main wing of the Democratic party and
took sides with Calhoun and the “Nullifiers,”

and in 1837 closed its career as a Democratic
journal. In 1833 the Democratic Union was
started to take the place of the Messenger as a

Democratic organ, but the title was soon after

changed to the Aurora. Under this title the Dem-
ocratic organ passed through many hands dur-

ing the stormy years elapsing between 1834 and
1864, and in February, of that year, entirely

disappeared; it was not until 1865 that the

stock company known as the Signal Printing

Company was organized. In August, 1865, this

company began the publication of the Zanesville

Daily and Weekly Signal
,
with Mr. D. B. Linn as

editor. In 1870, under the management of Mr.

J. T. Irvine the daily was suspended and only
the weekly published. November 1, 1883, Mr.
Irvine sold out his interest to the Gaumer Bros.,

who ran the paper until May, 1887, when Mr.

J. T. Irvine again entered the office, purchasing
the interest of T. M. Gaumer, and was identi-

fied with the paper until January 16, 1889, when
Mr. D. II. Gaumer purchased the entire plant,

which he has since owned and edited.

The Signal is a six-column, eight-page,

daily edition, and the Saturday edition is a

seven-column, eight-page edition. The Semi-
Weekly Signal is an eight-column, four-page
paper, published Mondays and Thursdays.
Under Mr. Gaumer’s efficient administration the

paper has grown to be the best exponent of its

party principles in Southeastern Ohio, and is in

a most flourishing condition. Mr. Gaumer has
been a member of the state senate for this dis-

trict and is well known throughout Ohio.
On the first day of September, 1852, Messrs.

Jacob Glessner and John B. Roberts, under the

firm name of Glessner & Roberts, started the

City Times. It was a non-partisan weekly
paper, and wasissued from a frame building on
South Fifth street, just below where the old
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post-office stood. It was printed on a steam
power press, the first of that kind ever used in

Zanesville. In 1853 Mr. Glessner bought his

partner’s interest in the City Times and con-

tinued its publication at the old office until

1857, when he removed the establishment to

the building which still stands at the southeast

corner of Fifth and Main. In 1864 Mr. Gless-

ner sold out to Messrs. Logan & Dodd, who
published the paper for fifteen months, when
they disposed of their interest to Messrs.

Cooper, Ehrman & Evans. Within, perhaps a

year, this firm was succeeded in its turn by
Gov.” John Greiner, ofWhig songs’ fame, and

very shortly he sold out to one Brown, of Bel-

mont county. After a brief ownership Mr.
Brown transferred his interest to W. W. Pyle,

of McConnelsville, and subsequently Capt. E.

Z. Hayes, now of Coshocton county, became a

partner of Mr. Pyle for a short time. Mean-
while the publishers had removed to the Ma-
ginnis block, and later to the building at the

corner of Court and Fountain alleys.

In the spring of 1876 Messrs. Pyle & Hayes
issued a Sunday edition which they called the
Sunday Times

,
discontinuing the Weekly City

Times. In November of 1876, the Sunday
Times was discontinued and a daily paper
launched into existence, which its publishers

called the Daily Times. In February of 1877,

the establishment at the corner of Court and
Fountain alleys burned out and publication

ceased until the following June, when, the
structure being rebuilt, the paper was again is-

sued by a co-operative company, of which E.

R. Sullivan was manager and W. W. Pyle ed-

itor. The latter became sole proprietor of the
Daily and Weekly Times in 1881, and was suc-

ceeded in 1883 by a company composed of

Messrs. W. E. Krebs. W. H. Cunningham, Jr.,

Thomas Campbell and Thomas E. Taylor, who
published the Times until January 1, 1885, al-

though Jesse Atwell was practically the owner
by reason of a chattel mortgage which he held
against the concern. On the latter date Mr.
Atwell, Edward Spencer, of Adamsville. O.,

and Rev. M. W. Acton formed a co-partnership
which resulted in merging Mr. Atwell’s Daily
and Weekly Times

,
Mr. Spencer’s Adamsville

Register and Mr. Acton’s District Visitor
,
a

Zanesville weekly publication, into the Daily
Times-Recorder and the Weekly Times-Recorder
and Visitor. This partnership lasted about
three weeks, when both Mr. Atwell and Mr.
Acton retired, leaving Mr. Spencer sole pro-
prietor.

On January 1, 1886, a joint stock company,
called the Times RecorderCompany, purchased

the entire establishment, Mr. Spencer becoming
a stockholder and accepting the post of editor,

and D. J. Richards that of business manager.
When the Times-Recorder Company took hold
of the Daily and Weekly Times-Recorder

,
the

word “ Visitor" being dropped, the former was
a seven-column and the latter a nine-column
(folio) paper, and both faced competitors pos-
sessing ample capital and with the prestige of
age and success. Under the exceedingly able
business management of David J. Richards,
aided by the mental force displayed by the
editor, Mr. Spencer, the Daily and Weekly Times
Recorder immediately entered upon a career of

extraordinary growth and success. Month by
month and year by year, the Times-Recorder
Company has extended the circulation of its

publications and the scope of their influence
until the Daily Times-Recorder

,
an eight-column

folio, ranks among the brightest, ablest and
newsiest of the inland Ohio dailies, while the
weekly, now a superb seven-column quarto, is

regarded as having few equals outside of those
published in the great cities of the country.
Mr. Spencer severed his connection with the
Times-Recorder about January 1, 1889. Busi-

ness Manager Richards also retired from active

work, though retaining an interest in the es-

tablishment, on the 6th of March, 1890, and
was succeeded by Thos. W. Lewis, as business
manager. June 1, 1892, Mr. Lewis resigned,

and was succeeded by Mr. J. F. Halloran, who
now has business and editorial charge of the
paper.

The Times-Recorder Company occupy
their own building at No. 14 South Fifth street.

The location is an exceedingly good one, being
but a few steps from Main street, in the heart

of the city, and their large, new building af-

fords facilities for the operations of their bus-

iness rarely excelled. The office has a frontage
on Fifth street of thirty-four feet, and back of

that stands the company’s new building, reach-

ing to the alley at the rear, embracing editorial,

composing, press and job rooms, and having a

floor space of 8,160 square feet. The company
recently bought three magnificent new presses

and equipped the concern with new type, with
a part of which latter their publications were
given a new dress, and these additions have
placed the establishment in a position to take
the head of the procession as publishers and
job printers.

The Zanesville Penny Press is the pioneer
penny daily of the Muskingum Valley. The
first issue, April 1, 1891, was a five-column folio,

and it was very popular from the start. In

three months another column was added. It
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is independent in politics, fearless in its advo-
cacy of the right and in denouncing the wrong.
The first issue of the Weekly Press appeared
April 6, 1892, and is an eight-page paper also

independent in politics. W. 0 . Munson is the
editor and manager of both papers.

The News is the original and at present the
only Sunday newspaper of Zanesville, and
since its establishment in 1884 has outlived
four would-be rivals. It endeavors to occupy
the same field filled by the daily on the other
days of the week, and it is no exaggeration to

say that the News is highly successful in this

respect. Since the paper passed under the
control of its present proprietor, Chas. U. Shry-
ock, in 1888, a complete job printing depart-
ment has been added, and the facilities for the
execution of this class of work is unexcelled
by offices in much larger cities. The present
home of the news is at 21 North Fifth street,
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but the proprietor is making arrangements to

occupy his own building at no distant day.

Mr. Shryock is a native of Zanesville, where he
was born in 1863, and after learning the print-

er’s trade, spent several years in work on met-
ropolitan papers. Returning to Zanesville in

1885, he spent three years in journalistic work
on the local daily press, and since purchasing
the News in 1888 has stamped prosperity upon
that plant in unmistakable characters. His
father, John T. Shryock, has been connected
with the Zanesville press since 1859, and his

name will be found elsewhere in these pages.
The Zanesville Post, issued from 41 and 43

South Sixth street, by A. Schneider, who foun-
ded it in 1872, is the only German paper pub-
lished in Muskingum, Guernsey, Noble, Morgan,
Perry and Licking counties. It is a four-page,

eight column sheet, independent in politics.

©hapjep /IX.

SOCIETIES AND ASSOCIATIONS OF ZANESVILLE.

Masonic hall association is an
incorporated organization. Its officers

are James C. Gillespie, president; John
C. Stonesipher, secretary; R. D. Schultz, treas-

urer. Zanesville Masonic Temple, at the north-
west corner of North Fourth and Market
streets, was erected in 1857. Lodge of Amity,
No. 5, F. & A. M. (Symbolic), was chartered
June 24, 1805. Stated communications are held
Friday evening on or before full moon. Herman
Achauer, worshipful master; R. D. Schultz,
senior warden; Henry Rockel, junior war-
den; Charles H. Brendel, secretary; L. Stein-
feld, treasurer, and the present officers. La-
fayette Lodge No. 79, F. & A. M. (Sym-
bolic), was chartered January 12, 1826. Stated
communications are held the first Thursday
evening of each month, The officers are Will-
iam II. Bolin, worshipful master; John C. Mer-
cer, senior warden; Will T. Lewis, junior war-
den; S. R. Moore, secretary; John P. Ford,
treasurer. Zanesville Chapter, No. 9, R. A. M.
(capitular), was chartered January 15,1823.
Stated communications are held on the first

Monday evening of each month. L. Stcinfeld

is most excellent high priest; A. E. Allman,
king; John Hartmeyer, scribe; Allen Hunter,
secretary; James C. Gillespie, treasurer. Zanes-
ville Council, No. 12, R. & S. M. (Cryptic), or-

ganized February, 1884, has its stated assem-
blies on the second Thursday evening of each
month. John Hartmeyer is T. I. M.; A. E.
Allman, D. I. M.; Thomas Swan, P. C. of W.;
John P. Ford, treasurer; H. C. Waterman,
recorder; P'rank Meyers, C. of G.; Harry
Rockel, C. of C.; Alva B. Stock, steward;
George W. Harris, sentinel. Golden Rule
Lodge, No. 30, colored masons, was chartered

June 20, 1870. Meets first Tuesday evening of

each month in the hall at the corner of Main
and Second streets. W. H. Pinn is worshipful
master; John Bonnett, senior warden; FIdward
Meeford, junior warden; John Hunnicutt, sec-

retary; James Norris, treasurer. Quinn Chap-
ter, No. 15, meets on the second Tuesday even-
ing of each month. Joseph Barnett is high
priest; M. Simpson, king; John Hargraves,
scribe; Jas. A. Guy, treasurer; John Hunni-
cutt, secretary. Malta Commandery, No. 1 7,

meets on the third Tuesday evening of each



266 HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY.

month. J. H. Hargraves, eminent comniander;
M. Simpson, general; J. B. Reynolds, C. G.;

lames A. Guy, scribe; William Finn, treasurer,

are the officers. Esther Court, No. 9, meets on
the first and third Fridays of each month in

the hall at the corner Main and First streets.

Sister Alice Green is M. A. H.; Sister Ella Ham-
ilton, Jr. IT; Sister Elizabeth Grant, treasurer.;

Sister Lizzie Pinn, secretary; Wm. H.Pinn.F. J.

Odd Fellows.—Muskingum Lodge, No. 28,

meets every Tuesday evening in Odd Fellows’

Temple, 100 Main street. J. F. Garrett is noble
grand; J. C. Illegal, vice grand; Al. E. Gary,
permanent secretary; Robert Bowman, record-

ing secretary; Louis F. Smith, treasurer; D. B.

Gary Jr., Robert Thompson, George Kerner,
trustees. It was chartered May 11, 1844. Mox-
ahala Lodge, No. 144, instituted February 21,

1850, meets every Monday evening in Odd Fel-

lows’ Hall, 100 Main street. J. J. Forsythe is

noble grand; S. J. Wills, vice grand; Edward
Gigax, permanent secretary; John Myer, re-

cording secretary; Charles F. Hearing, treas-

urer. Woodlawn Lodge, No. 228, instituted

March 16, 1864, meets every Tuesday evening
at Odd Fellow’s’ Hall, Putnam avenue, Ninth
ward. E. J. Manley is noble grand; J. J. Drake,
vice grand; C. W. Johnson, recording secretary;

John H. Drake, permanent secretary; David
Gobel, treasurer; George E. Williams, James
Shaw, John Parshall, trustees. Mechanics’
Lodge, No. 230, chartered February 5, 1854,

meets every Thursday evening in Odd Fellows’

Temple, 100 Main street, C. S. Richardson is

noble grand; A. E. Howell, vice grand; J. Id.

Coke, permanent secretary; Ambrose Block-
som, recording secretary; W. Dryfus, treasurer;

G. R. Humphreys, Robert Atherton, Joseph
Purcell, trustees. Mozart Lodge, No. 423,
meets every Wednesday evening in Odd Fel-

lows’ Temple, 100 Main street. J. Beckhardt
is noble grand; A. Berkstein, vice grand; Au-
gust Miller, permanent secretary

;
C. Russe, re-

cording secretary; Philip Hoffman, treasurer.

Odd F'ellows’ Hall Association, meets on the
first Tuesday of each month at Odd Fellows’

Temple, at 7:30 p. m. George D. Gibbons is

president; Isaac Humphrey, secretary
;
George

A. Allen, treasurer; George D. Gibbons, Rob-
ert Thompson, Edward Gigax, George Kenner,
William L. Langton, Eugene Printz, Louis F.

Smith. Elizabeth Lodge, No. 26, Daughters of

Rebekah, instituted January 12, 1870, meets
each alternate Saturday evening in Odd Fel
lows’ Temple, 100 S. Main street. Mrs. Anna
Stinger is noble grand; Mrs. Louisa Harris,

vice grand; Mrs. Agnes Herman, permanent
secretary; Mrs. Harrington, recording secre-

tary; John IT Andrews, treasurer. Howard
Encampment, No. 79, instituted March 31,

1845, meets first and third Eriday evenings of
each month in Odd Fellows’ Temple, 100 Main
street. George A. Murdock, C. P.; John A.
Morrow, high priest; W. S. Vogel, senior ward-
en; J. B. Stockdale, junior warden; Wolf Dry-
fus, treasurer; W. R. Hazlett, scribe. Canton
Nova, No. 9, Patriarchs Militant. Regular
meeting on the second Friday evening of each
month. Drill fourth P'riday evening of each
month in Odd Fellows’ Temple, 100 Main
street. James A. Taylor, commandant; George
Williams, lieutenant; Charles Hess, ensign; J.

A. Miner, clerk; W. B. Deacon, accountant.
The Odd Fellows’ Beneficial Association of
Muskingum Valley, organized April 26, 1869,
has its regular annual meeting on the second
Tuesday in January at Odd Fellows’ Temple,
Zanesville. George Rishtine is president; J.

A. Parshall, vice president; August Miller,

treasurer; W. R. Hazlett, secretary.

Grand Army of the Republic.—Hazlett Post,

No. 81, meets every Monday evening in G. A.
R. Hall, Memorial building, N. Fifth street.

It was organized June 1, 1881, with the follow-
ing charter members: C. C. Goddard, W. S.

Harlan, T. J. Newman, A. H. Watts, Andros
Guille, R. F. Smart, J. W. Martin, Alfred Ball,

D. B. Gary, FYederick Geiger, George A. Gard-
ner, Fenton Bagley, Howard Aston, J. H.
Drake, R. B. Brown, A. H. PAans, D. Zimmer,
Finos F. Taylor, A. F. Munson, Charles Grant,

J. W. Pinkerton, Moses M. Granger, P'rederick

C. Dietz, C. W. Potwin, Samuel L. Wiles, M. V.
B. Kennedy, N. S. McBee, C. C. Wiles, John
Martin, R. H. Cunningham, Samuel H. John,
G. F. Axline, Joshua Downerd, J. H. Axline,
Harry Barker Jr., Henry L. Korte, Joseph
Shaw, W. J. Chandler, Jesse S. Arter, W. A.
Munson, J. T. Gorsuch, H. C. Lillibridge, S. F.

PAlgar, Theo Growl, H. M. Sedgwick, Thomas
McLees, Howard Israel, D. B. Parker, A. B.

Chilcote, L. B. Wilson, J. S. Beach, Thomas
Black, Thomas C. Beahan, C. L. Moore, Alex
McConnell, E. B. Hauer, Wilson C. Moore,
Frank J. Van Horn, George S. Warner, S. V.
Harris, Daniel Dugan, D. J. Brown, Fred M.
Willey, C. C. Ong, James Dickerson, John A.
Green, George James, Abram Emery, William
H. PAye, John W. Tanner. The officers at this

time are the following: S. M. Willey, post com-
mander; Ernest Scott, senior vice commander;
H. R. Lupton, junior vice commander; C. C.

Wiles, adjutant; G. F. Axline, quartermaster;

James Brennan, surgeon; W. K. Watson, chap-
lain; J. W. Purcell, officer of the day; S. C. De-
voll, officer of the guard; A. F'. Munson, ser-



SCJMIiTZ

0PE1^/I

JIOilJSE

BLOCK.





HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 267

geant major; Charles F. Willey, quartermaster
sergeant; W. S. Maxwell, L. F. Langton, R. J.

J. Harkins, trustees. Hazlett Relief Corps, No.
11 (auxiliary to Hazlett Post), meets first and
third Thursday evenings of each month in Me-
morial hall, N. Fifth street. Mrs. Lida Van-
Horn, president; Mrs. Lucy Mack, secretary;

Mrs. Lizzie Taylor, treasurer.

Knights of Pythias.—Mclntire Lodge, No.
38, instituted November 30, 1871, meets every
Friday evening in Castle hall, Main street. C.

E. Maneely, P. C.; A. E. Starr, C. C.; William
Burns, V. C.; Edwin Taylor, Prelate; R. J.

Brown, K. of R. and S.; R. J. Brown, M. of F.;

T. C. Grimes, M. of E.; Fred Stremmel, M. at

A.; N. E. Bagley, I. G.; Goodsell Parshall, O.
G.

;
C. J. Heckman, deputy. Zanesville Lodge,

No. 172, meets every Thursday evening in Cas-
tle hall, Main street. Moses Frank is C. C.;

Fred F'riesinger, V. C.; Jacob Eppley, Prelate;

Charles Spoerl, K. of R. and S.; Simon Tenser,
M. of F. Star Lodge, No. 30, meets each al-

ternate Monday evening in the Athenmum. A.
P. Cusac is Diet.; C. W. Smith, Vice Diet.; J.

Doudna, Past Diet.; L. W. Welling, Asst. Diet.;

J. H. Drake, Rep.; W. S. Ball, Fin. Rep.; B. W.
Jones, Treas.; W. W. Roach, Chap.; John Hus-
kins, Guide; George W. Grim, Sent.; J. Doud-
na, John Huskins, T. E. Richards, Trustees.
Zanesville Lodge, No. 31 54, instituted March
25, 1885, meets alternate Monday evenings at

Athenaeum hall, S. Fifth street. Samuel Ham-
ilton is Diet.; G. F. Kemp, Vice Diet.; E. H.
Hamilton, Asst. Diet.; F. C. McCaddon, Rep.;
A. P. Clark, Fin. Rep.; H. E. Printz, Treas.; L.
H. Reanry, Chap.; D. S. Carle, Guide; Clarence
P'etzer, Guardian; Harry Hamilton, Sent.; W.
E. Hamilton, Past Diet.; F. M. Varner, I. S.

Spurgeon, John L. Mercer, Trustees. Vesta
Lodge, No. 458, meets every Wednesday even-
ing in Castle hall, Main street. M. E. Dunn is

P. C.; G. B. Turner, C. C.; L. L. Stewart, V. C.;

H. W. Booth, Prelate; F. W. Logan, K. of R.
and S.; J. N. Palmer, M. of F.; H. G. Bodker,
M. of PI; J. G. Thornberry, M. at A.; H. S.

Moody, I. G.; R. L. Miller, O. G.; H. M. Sedg-
wick, Deputy. Zane Commandery, No. 23,
meets in Athenseum Hall, on S. Fifth street.

H. S. Moody is Com.; J. L. Sammons, 1st V.
C.; G. F. Kemp, 2d V. C.; F. C. McCaddon,
Sec.; J. L. Mercer, P. Com.; W. PL Hamilton
Sr., Aid; G. H. Metzger, Jr., Aid; Dan Price,

Guard; D. S. Carle, Sent.

Knights and Ladies of Honor.—Jewel Lodge,
No. 322, meets each alternate Thursday in

Athenaeum building, South P'ifth street. M rs. C.
C. Curtis, Protector; Pill is G. Ivtzler, Vice Pro-
tector; W. II. Haworth, Secretary; C. E. Brooks,

16

Financial Secretary; W. A. Weller, Treas-

urer.

Grand United Order of Odd F'ellows.—Guid-
ing Star Lodge, No. 1880, chartered July 30,

1878, meets on the 1st and 3d Monday evenings
of each month in the hall at 166 Main street.

W. P'. Jones is N. G.; Wm. Grayson, V. G.; T.

J. Brown, N. P\; T. M. Tate, Per. Secretary;

W. M. Pinn, Recording Secretary; Augus-
tus Carlisle, Treasurer. Zanesville Patriarchs,

No. 51, meets on the second Tuesday even-
ing of each month in the hall at 166 Main
street. J. H. Hargraves is Capt.; W. F. Jones,

R. V. P.; T. J. Brown, V. P.; R. Barnett, W. P.

P.
;
W. R. Bolden, W. P. R.; C. A. Hogans, W.

P. T. Household of Ruth, No. 266, meets on
the 2d and 4th Fridays of each month at 166

Main street. Mrs. A. Bolden is N. G.; Mrs. I7 .

Thomas; Mrs. M. Barnett, M. N. G.; Mrs. L.

Pinn, W. R.
;
Mrs. Young, W. T.

Royal Arcanum—Hope Council, No. 82,

instituted April 16, 1868, meets on the 1st and
• 3d Monday evenings of each month over the

Citizen’s National Bank. John L. Smith is

Regent; George E. Glossman, V. Regent; John
S. Price, Secretary; R. J. Brown, Collector;

Charles P. Worrell, Treasurer.

American Legion of Honor.—Lincoln Coun-
cil, No. 354, meets on the 2d and 4th Tuesday
evenings of each month in citizens National

Bank building, second floor. PL E. Lorimeris
Com.; Thomas Coulton, Vice Com.; W. Id.

Pierpont, Secretary; R. J. Brown, Collector; A.
V. Smith, Treasurer.

Junior Order United American Mechanics.

—

Zane Council, No. 6, meets every Wednesday
evening in P. O. S. of A. Hall, Main street. C.

T. Dowell is Councilor; R. H. Starkey, P. C.;

Ben Uphold, V. C.; B. F. Venrick, Rec. Sec-

retary; T J. Wise, Asst. Rec. Secretary; A, A.
Bomen, P'in. Secretary; PL G. Cross, Treasurer;

C. W. Baggels, Sentinel; W. G. Knowlden, War-
den; Fred Grieve, Conductor.

Ancient Order United Workmen—Zane
Lodge, No. 30, meets on the 1st and 4th Tues-
day evenings of each month in the hall over

the postoffice. T. IL Kerr is MAV.; D. B. Gary,

Financier; John McCaslin, Recorder; John
Baltsly, Foreman; Howard Aston, Receiver.

A. A. of I. and S. W.—A. A. of I. and S. W.
meets at the northwest corner of Sixth and
Main streets, in the Curran Block, every other

Saturday evening. Wm. R. Matthews is Presi-

dent; Charles Denner, Secretary.

B. P. O. Elks—Zanesville Lodge, No. 114,

meets each alternate Wednesday evening in

Elks’ Hall, Masonic Building. John A. Mor-
row is Exalted Ruler; S. A. Baldwin, F.st.
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Leading Kt.; A. J. Parker, Est. Loyal Kt. C. D.

Wedge, Est. Lecturing Kt.; James H. Smart,

Esquire; F. M. Ford, Secretary; W. C. Conrad,
I. G.; Win. Smart, Treasurer; Ernest Scott,

Tyler.

Knights of Labor—Buckeye Assembly, No.

2444, meets every Tuesday evening in Trades
and Labor Hall, at the corner of Main and
Fifth streets. J. J. Roll is M. W.; Jas. A. Pan-

ton, W. F.
;
Jos. A. Bauer, R. S.; P'red P'actor,

Treasurer. Mayflower Assembly, No. 469, meets
every Thursday evening in Knights of Labor
Hall. Samuel Campbell is M. W.; Charles

Coverdale, W. F\; E. T. Roberts, R. S.; John
McDonald, F. S.; Rufus Chidester, Treasurer.

Zane Assembly, No. 2688, meets every Mon-
day evening at Labor Hall; Henry Vogt is M.
W.; Frank Long, W. F.; Charles Aker-
son, R. S.; George Spangler, F. S.; John
Purcell, Treasurer. Cigar Makers’ Interna-

tional Union—Zanesville Union, No. 173,

meets the 1st Monday evening of each month;
A. Wharton is President; P. D. McCann, Vice-

President; P. A. Carr, Secretary; M. McCabe,
E. F\ McGovern, James McCarty, P. A. Carr,

Board of Trustees. The Muskingum County
Undertakers’ Association meets on the second
Monday of each month at Arnold & Bateman’s
undertaking rooms. J. L. Reed (White Cot-

tage), President; F. F. Mader (Zanesville),

Treasurer; W. M. Bateman (Zanesville), Secre-

tary.

Fraternal Mystic Circle.—Valley Ruling,

No. 53. Meets second and fourth Thursdays of

each month. W. M. Dodd is W. R.; John B.

Smith, W. V. R.; J. F. Stemm, W. P. R.; W. M.
Shinnick, Jr., recorder; Fred Abel, Jr., collector;

H. E. Printz, treasurer; Dr. C. E. Brush med.
examiner; F. M. Tarrier, chaplain, C. C. Con-
well, marshall; C. Wm. Howard, Warden; G.

D. Seright, guard; R. J. Brown, sentry.

Patriotic Order Sons of America.—Camp 41,

P. O. S. of A., meets every Friday evening in

P. O. S. of A. hall, Main street, L. G. Dover is

P. P.; W. Burlingame, president; O. M. Wise-
man, vice president; H. W. McOwens, M. of

F.
;

F. T. Gurley
,
recording secretary; J. A.

O’Donnel, financial secretary; C. O. Carnes,

treasurer. Wm. Johnson, chaplain; O. M. Wise-
man, Jno. Jordan, P. J. Snyder, trustees. Camp
43, P. O. S. of A., instituted June 6, 1879, meets
each alternate Monday evening in P. O. S. of

A. Hall, over P'irst National Bank, Main street.

F. D. Ford is president; Elmer Barton, vice

president, J. L. Sammons, M. of F.; Wm. Hager
F. S.; C. A. Barton, treasurer; F. W. Logan
recording secretary. Washington Camp, 47,
P. O. S. of A., instituted February 9, 1881, meets

every Thursday evening in Painters’ Union
hall, Main street. Wm. Wells is P. P.; Wm.
H. Tanner, president; J. Crooks, vice presi-

dent and M. of F. and S.; Benj. Highfield, re-

cording secretary; S. C. Scott, financial secre-
tary; C. E. Maneely, treasurer; Wm. Wells,
chaplain; D. P. Mercer, W. M. Wells, John
Henderson, trustees.

The National Union.—Putnam Council, No.
162, meets on the last Wednesday of each
month over the Citizens’ National Bank, Main
street. H. L. Anderson is president; T. W.
Lewis, vice president; Ed. Gigax, secretary;
Thomas Scott, financial secretary; H. Lim-
bacher, treasurer.

The Ancient United Order of Druids.—Con-
cordiaGrove.No. 13, instituted May 3, 1858,meets
every Tuesday evening in Athenaeum hall, 32
South Fifth street, Jacob Paulus, N. A.; Ed-
mund Ritzer, V. A.; Adam Pfeifer, secretary;
P'rank Kaechele, treasurer; Charles Brendel,
David Goodman, August Shaum, trustees.

Rechabites.—Banner Tent, No. in, insti-

tuted August 12, 1880, meets Thursday eve-
nings in the hall over post-office. FJdwinBall is

D. R
;
Geo. Vaughn, recording secretary. Ex-

celsior Tent, No. 80, instituted March 21, 1879,
meets every Friday evening in Athenaeum hall,

South Fifth. W. C. Hager is recording secre-

tary. Lily of the Valley Tent, No. 27, meets
each alternate Friday evening in the hall over
the post-office. Miss Allie Lampton, record-
ing secretary. Matthews Junior Tent, No. 12,

meets every Wednesday evening in Athenaeum
hall, South Fifth street. David Matthews,
recording secretary. Peerless Tent, meets
every alternate Saturday evening, in Athenaeum
hall, South P'ifth street. Mrs. Harris is re-

cording secretary.

Mary and Martha Society.—Meets in the
basement of the chapel of St. Thomas
Church, every fourth Sunday in each month.
Miss Maggie McCarty, president.

Knights of St. Thomas.—Meet the firstSun-

day in each month at 1 130 o’clock, P. M. in

their hall on the corner of Main and Third
streets. Jas. McCarty is president, P. D. Mc-
Cann, vice president; P. A. Carr, secretary; M.
McCabe, PL F. McGovern, Jas. McCarty, P. A.
Carr, board of trustees.

Zanesville City Guards.— Co. B. 17th Regi-
ment, Infantry, O. N. G. meets every Monday
evening at the armory, in Memorial build-

ing, North Fifth street. Joseph Beckhart is

captain; Chauncey Ogle, 1st lieutenant; Chas,
H. Booz, 2d lieutenant; Charles H. Taylor,

Sergeant. Zanesville Light Artillery.— Battery

C., 1st Regiment, Light Artillery, O. N. G. is
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officered thus: H. A. Leslie, captain; D. H.
Gaumer, 1st lieutenant; C. F. Brendel, 2d
lieutenant; C. F. Atwell, Sergeant. St. Joseph
Benevolent Society organized July 25, 1878,

meets in St. Nicholas hall. J. N. Steiner is

president; John Schiele, secretary. The Ger-
man Benevolent Society, meets at Horn’s hall.

Simon Linser is president; J. N. Steiner, secre-

tary.

Building and Loan Association.—The Buck-
eye Building and Loan Co., of Zanesville, Ohio,
has a capital stock of $1,000,000. B. Wheeler
is president; T. W. Lewis, vice-president; H.
A. Sharpe, treasurer; F. Bagley, secretary and
attorney. The Equitable Building Co., Zanes-
ville, incorporated October 27, 1887; capital

$1,000,000 is thus officered: F. C. Dietz, presi-

dent; A. W. Richards, vice-president; George
Brown, secretary; A. V. Smith, treasurer;

George Brown, attorney. The Farmers’ Build-

ing and Loan Co., of Zanesville; incorporated

June 8, 1889; organized June 18, 1889; has a

capital stock, $1,000,000. Howard Aston is

president; Wm. M. Bateman, vice-president;

G. A. Allen, secretary; F. C. Dietz, treasurer;

Henry R. Stanbery, attorney. The Home-
stead Building and Savings Co.; incorporated
February 28, 1884; has assets aggregating

$214,479.89. Robert Silvey is president; Geo.
D. Gibbons, vice-president; Alex. Grant, treas-

urer; T. F. Spangler, secretary and attorney.

The Young Men’s Christian Association rooms
are at 51 N. 5th Street. A. P. Pinkerton is

president of the local association, which was
organized November 11, 1867; C. S. Harkinson,
vice-president; O. L. Martin, recording secre-

tary; John S. Derwacter, treasurer; PL H. Pierce,

general secretary. The Young Women’s Chris-
tian Temperance Union meet in the Y. M. C.
A. rooms. Miss M. Bird is recording secretary

;

Miss May Wildman, treasurer. St. Nicholas
Association, organized in 1854, meets in St.

Nicholas School hall. J. N. Steiner is presi-

dent; Theodore Dosch, secretary. The Ohio
Bible Society met in Zanesville, Sept. 3, 1818.

It was its sixth annual meeting- The following
officers were elected for the ensuing year:
General Isaac Van Horne, president; Rev. J.

Culbertson and Rev. J. Wright, vice-presidents;
Rev. S. P. Robbins, corresponding secretary;
Edwin Putnam, recording secretary; David
Putnam, treasurer; Revs. L. Harris, S. P. Rob-
bins, J. Culbertson, J. Moore, J. Wright, W.
Gould, Levi Whipple and W. R. Putnam, trus-

tees. It would be interesting, could it be done,
to trace the further history of this society.

Temperance societies began to be formed
in this county in 1825-26.

The Old Settlers’ Association was organized
at Odd Fellows’ hall, August 30th, 1867. At a

meeting, September 13, 1867, a constitution

was adopted and signed by the following per-

sons: G. M. Crooks, Sr., born 1795, came into

the county in 1798; I. B. Brookover, born 1790,
came 1806; David Gibson Porter, born in

Zanesville in 1806; John Dulty, born 1791,
came 1811; Frederick A. Seborn, born 1813,

came 1820; Elijah H. Church, born in Zanes-
ville in 1809; A. C. Ross, born in Zanesville
in 1812; Amasa Van Horne, born 1795, came
1815; Valentine Best, born 1816, in what is

now a portion of Zanesville; Silvers Porter,

born in Newton township in 1817; Peter H.
Morgan, born in 1805, came 1817; Stephen
Burwell, born 1803, came 1816; John Wolf,
born 1789, came 1837; William I. Green, born
1804, came 1814; Benjamin F. Leslie, born
1812, came 1820; Cecelia C. Beatty, born in

Zanesville 1820; John Church, born in Zanes-
yille 1816; John Greiner, came 1835; Margaret
A. Porter; L. H. Dugan, came 1817; David
Johns, born 1807, came 1819; Christian Grim,
born 1800, came 1828; I. H. Sullivan; I. Bel-

knap, born 1792, came 1816; James Granger,
born 1788, came 1816; James Hocking, born
1788, came 1830; Elijah Sullivan. John Peters

was the first president and L. H. Dugan the
first secretary, to organize. The first duly
elected officers for the year ending May 1,

1868, were Rev. Cornelius Springer, president;

Col. Elias Ellis, first vice-president; John
Peters, second vice-president; Col. John Crooks,
third vice-president; L. H. Dugan, corres-

ponding secretary; F. A. Seborn, recording
secretary. This society met as late as No-
vember 16, 1867, but no record is extant of any
subsequent organized activity. The aged citi-

zens of Muskingum county assembled at the
court house at 10 A. M., May 21, 1886, for the
purpose of organizing a historical society to

be composed of the elderly ladies and gentle-

men of said county, and organized temporarily
by calling John Sims, of Rich Hill to the
chair, who appointed William Gray, of Falls,

secretary. The following were appointed a

committee on permanent organization: Sam-
uel Pollock, of Rich Hill, Joshua Butler of

Muskingum, C. Id. Trimble of Blue Rock,
Jacob Worts of Salem and John G. McConnell
of Brush Creek. This committee reported
Thomas Me Lees for president and B. F.

Swingle for vice-president. On motion of

Joshua Butler it was decided that all persons
of the age of fifty years and over be eligible to

membership in the society. Following is the
roll of members as it appears in the record of
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the first meeting: T. McLees, Isaac Pyle,

Abraham Cooper, William Gray, Jefferson

Honnold, James Colvin, Joseph Lyons, LaFay-
ette Baker, James Platt, Jason Spencer, Joshua
Butler, George Welch, David Stokeley, Chaun-
cey Ford, J. G. Jones, John Sims, Llewellyn
Warne and wife, William Williams, George
Peairs, Joseph Peairs, Solomon Rees, Samuel
Hadden, S. W. Moore, M. B. Robertson, Will-

iam Dunn, Joshua Downard, Balser Dietrick,

Albe Showers, Thomas Showers, William F.

Swingle, Solomon S. Baughman and wife, Mrs.

Jason Spencer, Marshall Stultz, C. N. Trimble,

JohnM. Bell, Cynthia Moore, R. Slack, J. Worts,
Samuel Conns, Precilia Sims, Jacob Bannister,

Pierce Warne, James S. Moore, Thomas Will-

iams, Captain William C. Tanner. The orig-

inal idea, as advocated by Thomas McLees and
others, was to make only those eligible to

membership who were at least fifty years old

and were owners and occupants of the homes,
in Muskingum county in which they were born.

A more accommodating rule was adopted and in

time all old residents of the county were made
eligible without regard to place of nativity.

At the second meeting, held at Zanesville,

August 21, 1886, President McLees in the
chair, William Gray was elected secretary.

This organization had a continuous existence
until it was superseded by the present Pioneer
and Historical Society of Muskingum County,
a history of which appears elsewhere in this

volume.
Zanesville Hospital Association.—These

articles of incorporation of the Zanesville City
Hospital Association, witnesseth, that we the

undersigned, all of whom are citizens of the

state of Ohio, desiring to form a corporation
not for profit under the general incorporation
laws of said state, do hereby certify: First, the

name of said corporation shall be “The Zanes-
ville City Hospital Association,” Second, said

corporation shall be located, and its principal

business transacted, at Zanesville, in Muskin-
gum county, Ohio. Third, the purpose for

which said corporation is founded is: 1st, to

provide medical and surgical aid and nursing
for sick and disabled persons, free of expense
to those unable to pay, and at a cost to those
who are able to pay the amount to be de-

termined by the trustees; 2nd, to instruct and
train suitable persons in the duties of nursing
and attending upon the sick; 3rd, to carry into

execution such other purposes and objects, in-

cidental and kindred to those above set out, as

the trustees may from time to time prescribe;

4th, this corporation is not created for profit,

but will rely for its establishment and support,

on the voluntary gifts of the charitable and
humane; and therefore is to have no capital
stock.

In witness whereof, we have hereunto set

our hands this 19th day of February, 1888,

(signed) C. W. Potwin, James Buckingham,
John C. Sullivan, Moses M. Granger, C. Stolzen-
bach, T. F. Spangler, N. T. Gant. Signed and
sealed by Alfred A. Frazier, notary public,
Muskingum county, Vincent Cockins, clerk of
court, Muskingum county, James S. Robinson,
secretary of the state of Ohio.

The foregoing charter was obtained Febru-
ary 19, 1888, by the aforesaid signers. The
organization was never perfected and, there-
fore, no work was done under the charter.

When the Zanesville City Hospital Association
was effected April, 1890, it was decided to take
up the work under the original articles of in-

corporation obtained in 1888. Article first of

the by-laws reads as follows: Section 1, the
incorporated name of this organization shall be
the Zanesville City Hospital Association;
section 2, the object and purpose of this As-
sociation is to establish and maintain in the
city of Zanesville, Ohio, a hospital for the care

and treatment of sick and disabled persons,
without regard to creed, color or condition;
section 3, the management and control of the
property, business and concerns, shall be
and are invested in the board of trustees, with
power to fill until next annual election, all va-

cancies which may occur in the board and
with power to organize a medical board for

hospital, and to appoint the matron and such
assistants, nurses and servants as may be nec-

essary to carry out the purposes of the asso-

ciation, and to take such other action consis-

tent with law, and the character of the asso-

caition as in its judgment shall tend to promote
the objects thereof and increase the efficiency

of the organization; section 4, the officers

shall be a president, two -vice-presidents, (1st

and 2nd,) treasurer and secretary; section 5,

the regular meetings of the board of trustees

shall be held on the second Tuesdays of April.

June, August, October, December and Febru-
ary of each year. Special meetings may be
called by the president and secretary at any
time and shall be so called upon the written

request of any two members.”
The hospital buildings were dedicated and

formally opened on Thursday, January 22, 1891.

The committee on arragements consisted of Mrs
Fenton Bagley, Mrs. J. C. Harris and Mrs. J. W.
Pinkerton. They appointed Rev. F. Richards
to arrange the programme and to make the

dedicatory address. The following, from the
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address of the president contains the history

of the institution to that date: “ In March,
1890, the matter was once more brought to the
front by a few ladies, and a called meeting of

all persons interested in the work resulted in a

most enthusiastic gathering in the parlors of

the Young Men Christian Association. An or-

ganization was effected which, after careful in-

vestigation, and in strict conformity to law, re-

sulted in the present organization, which is

known as the Zanesville Hospital association,

and consists of a board of twelve trustees and
twenty-four managers, all ladies, and an advi-

sory board of four gentlemen. The trustees

were elected and took the oath of office on the

first day of May, 1890. Then began the active

work to secure the needful funds to give the

idea definite form and purpose—in other words,

to get a suitable building for a hospital. The
price of membership was placed at $1.00, so

that none might be debarred from its privi-

leges. There are now something over 450
members. We want 2,000 more. Subscription

papers were circulated and many very gener-
ous donations made—not only by residents of

our own city, but by many former citizens, and
some by friends who have never lived here.

One donation of #1,000 came from an unex-
pected source, and entirely without solicita-

tion. The donator was a woman, Mrs. Curran
Blue. The mid-summer carnival, so well

planned, so successfully carried out, played no
small part in our financial aid. In August the

trustees found on their subscription books the
amount of #9,000. After much anxious
thought, and with the consent and encourage-
ment of our advisory board, we decided to

risk the debt that would be incurred, and pur-
(

chased this — the Peabody homestead, for

#10,000, paying at the time of purchase #4,400.

In September a payment was made of #1,500,

and in October #1,000. We have in bank to-

day #823 and some unpaid subscriptions. The
details of the work done since need not be
given here. When it was decided two weeks
ago to get this building ready to open to-day,

there were some heavy hearts among us, as the
thought of the expense loomed up before us.

They are lighter to-day. Look around you
all through the house and see what generous
people have done. Every article here and all

the expense of changing has been donated,
and many others have come asking what can
we do? What arc our hopes for the future? In

view of all that has been accomplished in three

months less than a year, have we not a right to

indulge in very large hopes? While much has

been done, much remains to be done. To

those who desire to help in this good work, we
would say there is room for work in furnishing

the free wards on this floor. Do not let us

stop now till all is complete.”
Board Trustees, 1890.—Mrs. James Herd-

man, *Mrs. M. M. Granger, *Mrs. Florence
Lynn, Mrs. F. J. Terry, Mrs. James Peabody,
*Miss Mattie A. Taylor, fMrs. E. G. Silvey,

Mrs. James Buckingham, Mrs. T. B. Townsend,
*Mrs. Ellen M. Gattrell, Mrs. D. I. Jones, Mrs.

Julius Frank, fMrs. C. C. Goddard, fMrs. W.
W. Harper, fMiss Jennie T. Ball.

The board of 1890 organized by electing

the following officers: President, Mrs. James
Herdman; first vice-president, Mrs. James
Buckingham; second vice-president, Mrs. F.

J. Terry; secretary, *Miss Mattie A. Taylor;

fMiss Jennie T. Ball; treasurer, *Ellen M.
Gattrell, fW. H. Pierpoint.

Advisory Board, 1890. Rev. F. Richards,

F. H. Southard, C. Stolzenbach, M. Churchill.

Board Trustees, 1891. -Elected at the An-
nual meeting, April 13th, 1891; elected for

three years: Mrs. James Herdman, Mrs. F. J.

Terry, Mrs. James Buckingham, *Mrs. W. E.

Guthrie; elected for two years: Mrs. C. C. God-
dard, Mrs. F'enton Bagley, *Mrs. Julius Frank,
Mrs. W. W. Harper; elected for one year, Mrs.

James Peabody, Mrs. D. I. Jones, Mrs. T. B.

Townsend, *Mrs. T. J. Maginnis, fMrs. Willis

Bailey.

The Board of 1891 organized by electing

the following officers: President, Mrs. James
Herdman; first vice-president, Mrs. James
Buckingham; second vice-president, Mrs. T.

F. J. Terry; secretary, Mrs. P'enton Bagley,
treasurer, W. H. Pierpoint.

Advisory Board, 1891.—For one year—Rev.
F. Richards; for two years, C. Stolzenbach; for

three years, F. H. Southard; for four years, M.
Churchill.

Hospital Medical Staff, 1891.-—January and
February—Dr. J. T. Davis and Dr. PL C. Logs-
don. March and April—Dr. T. J. Barton and
Dr. J. M. Fassig. May and June—Dr. FI. T.

Sutton and Dr. J. C. Crossland. July and Aug-
ust—Dr. Lenhart, Sr. and Dr. J. Jordan. Sep-
tember and October—Dr. C. M. Lenhart and
Dr. O. M. Wiseman. November and Decem-
ber—Dr. J. Holden and Dr. A. J. Parker. Con-
sulting physicians: Dr. A. E. Bell, Dr. Z. C.

McElroy, Dr. J. S. Haldeman. Consulting
surgeons: Dr. J. G. F. Holston, Dr. Jno. F\ Ken-
nedy, Dr. E. C. Brush. Specialist—eye and
ear: Dr. L. R. Culbertson.

"Resigned.

fEleeted to hll vacancy.
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hap(ep XXV/.

CHURCHES OF ZANESVILLE.

I

N his paper, “Pioneers of Putnam—Who The circuit was also divided and P'airfield

were They and What did They do?” read be- formed, to which Putnam was attached. In

fore the Pioneer and Historical Society of 1808, James Watts was sent to Wills Creek cir-

Muskingum County, and by authority of that cuit. He took Zanesville into his plan and
society placed at the disposal of the compiler formed a class there. This took from us our
of this work, Z. M. Chandler writes as follows: members on that side of the river, but we con-

"The Methodist Fipiscopal church was the
first church organized in Putnam or Zanesville,

and probably the first in the county. Unfor-
tunately, some twenty years ago, all of its rec-

ords up to that time were burned. Thus, much

tinued to prosper and increase in members.
In 1809, Levi Whipple, Esq., gave us a lot and
we built a little frame meeting house 24x30
feet. The first Methodist meeting house in

Zanesville was built in 1813. It was also frame.
of its early history is lost, amongst other mat- Continuing to prosper in 1829 and 1830, we
ters of interest the names of its members. Mr. built another house on the same ground. It

Goshen, however, in his reminiscences, has pre- was a brick building 40x50 feet.’ Mr. Goshen
served much that is interesting. He says: gave a list of elders and pastors who had
‘When I came here in 1805, I found no church charge of the church between 1805 and 1843
organization or regular preaching of any kind, with the date of their appointment. There are,

The Hockhocking circuit of the old Ohio dis- however, thirteen years of the time which he
trict, Western conference, took in, as far as I

can remember, Lancaster, Franklinton, Mans-
field, Mt. Vernon, and appointments on the
river below Coshocton, the name not now re-

membered, Hog-run, Bolingreen, thence back
to Lancaster. In addition to these appoint-
ments, there were several other intervening ap-

left blank, doubtless because he had no records

from which to fill them. I copy this list with-

out the dates. Presiding elders: Wm. Burk,

John Sale, James Quinn, David Young; preach-
ers: James Quinn, John Meeks, James Axley,
Peter Cartwright, William Ellington, Ralph
Lotspeach, Francis Travis, James Dickson,

pointments, the names of which I cannot now James B. Findley, John Clingan, William Dick-
recall. At that time William Burk was pre- son, Ruark, Abner Goff, J. A. Waterman,
siding elder of the Ohio district, and James J. Hooper, John Tivis, Thomas A. Morris (after-

Quinn preacher in charge of Hockhocking cir- wards bishop), Cornelius Springer, James Gur-
cuit. I found a few Methodist families here ley, Joseph Carper, Hand, James T. Don-
and formed a class. Of that class I know of ahon, James C. Taylor, John M. Trimble, James
but one person now living (1864) except my- Armstrong, Martin F. Kellogg, Young,
self. At the annual conference that year ( 1805 )

Edward D. Doe. Added from my own recollec-

John Sale was appointed presiding elder, and tions: Presiding elders: Leroy Swarmstedt,
John Meeks, James Axley and Peter Cartwright, Jacob Young, J. M. Jamison, Robert O. Spencer,
preachers on the Hockhocking circuit. Soon James B. Findley; preachers: Michael Ellis,

after conference, James Vickers and I had an Samuel Hamilton, Henry S. Fernandis, David
interview with John Meeks, the preacher in Whitcomb, James Courtney, James Gilruth,

charge, and requested him to put Putnam into JohnW. Stone, Winter R. Davis. This list, con-
h is plan when he came near. He did so, gave taining the names of forty-four ministers is, of

us a week-day appointment and appointed me course, very incomplete. Besides the blanks

leader. In 1806 Hockhocking circuit was that Mr. Goshen left, he often gave only the

divided and Knox circuit set off, Putnam re- name of the preacher in charge of the circuit,

maining in Hockhocking. In 1807, the circuit There were always two and at one time, at

was divided and Muskingum district was set off least, there were three. The list, however, is



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 273

about as nearly correct as it can be made unless

access could be had to the records of the

Western and Ohio conferences for the period

covered. Of all these nine presiding elders

and thirty-five other preachers who traveled

the district and circuit of which Putnam was a

part, I think there are but three living—J. M.
Trimble, J. M. Jamison and Winter R. Davis.
* * * I said before that the records of the

Putnam church were destroyed. Therefore
there is only memory upon which I can depend
for its history and the names of its earliest

members. Of these I can distinctly recall only

the following: John Goshen, James Vickers,

Henry Miser, Samuel Seamans, Sr., William H.
Moon, Gilbert Seamans, Samuel Chapman,
Manning Putnam, Thomas Reese, William
Perry, YVinthrop Robinson and Elias Vickers
and their wives, and John Russell, Mrs. John
Kirk, Mrs. Jessie Smith, Miss Hattie McCauly
and Samuel Seamans, Jr. I know there were
many more who united with this church within

eight or ten years after its organization, whose
names I would gladly add to this roll if I could
remember them. * * * From 1818 to 1835
there was no other church organization or reg-

ular preaching in Putnam. Before the latter

date, its members reached into the hundreds.
* * * In the year 1844, the Putnam church
was detached from the circuit and made a sep-

arate station. * * * I append a list of pas-

tors from that date until 1864, twenty years,

from Mr. Goshen’s papers, which is probably
correct: John W. Stone, William Langare, B.

N. Spahr, William I. Fee, Alfred M. Lorain,
Edward D. Roe, Lybrand, Bowman,
W. Stewart, D. D. Mather, S. M. Merrill (now
bishop), John Gregg, Ph W. Kirkham, Charles
C. McCabe, John Sowers, W. Benner, B. F.

Thomas. Recently they have changed the
name from Putnam to Moxahala avenue. The
old time-honored, name would never have dis-

graced them.” So much of the early history

of this organization has been given. The fol-

lowing is derived from the statements of Messrs.
Luther Adamson and Z. M. Chandler. The
Putnam circuit comprised the following circuits

of a later day: Philo circuit, Deaver town
circuit, Roseville circuit, White Cottage circuit,

Asbury circuit and other territory.

The present church edifice was erected in

1863 at a cost of about $8,000. Capt. William
Israel, Perry Wiles, Luther Adamson and oth-

ers aided greatly toward this building. Rev.
F. M. Stanley was pastor in charge. It is re-

lated that when he first spoke to the congrega-
tion of the possibility of erecting a new church,
he said: “We want to build a suitable church

in the city of Zanesville. If there is any one
present who believes we can do it we want him
to talk, and those who do not think we can
build a church we want to keep silent for six
weeks.” An old subscription paper of some
years previous was hunted up, and Mr. Stanley
read the names of the several subscribers and
the amount of the subscription of each, and
asked every one present if he or she would
stand by the old promise. Not one refused,
and the project was carried to a successful
issue. This church has always been prosper-
ous, and the Sunday-school, which was organ-
ized in 1830, has ever since been a great suc-
cess in every way. Under the pastorate of
Rev. William Porter there was a series of re-

vival meetings which ran through 100 consecu-
tive days and resulted in the addition of 100
members to the church roll. The present pas-
tor is Rev. Benjamin H. Stubbins.

“Before the year 1800,” wrote John W.
King,* “there was no preacher here, and we
have no means of knowing who were the mem-
bers”

[
of the Second street Methodist Episco-

pal church
J. “In that year the Western confer-

ence, which included all the territory west of
the Alleghany Mountains, sent John Stoneman
to work on the Muskingum and Hocking riv-

ers. His field of labor was some 300 miles
wide. He was followed in 1801 by J. P. Chen-
owort, who was succeeded in 1802 by N. B.

Mills, and he in 1803 by William Reed. In

1804 the Ohio district of the Western confer-
ence was formed, with William Burk as presid-

ing elder, and George Askins was appointed to

the work in this part of the state. Mr. Askins
was followed by James Quinn and John Meek.
They were succeeded in 1806 by Luther Tay-
lor, and in 1807 came that man of wonderful
life, Peter Cartwright. In 1808 there is a doubt
as to who labored in this field, but it is believed
that Isaac Quinn and William Patterson were
here. In 1809 the Muskingum district was
formed out of part of the Ohio district, and
James Quinn was appointed presiding elder,

and James Watts and Ralph Lotspeedf were
appointed to our part of the district. In 1810
William Sale was presiding elder, with no
change made in the preachers. The following
year came John Stronge and Jacob Mills. In

1812 James B. Finley [above and elsewhere
spelled Findley] was appointed, and this was
thought a promising field.

“Our present Ohio conference was formed
in 1813, including the Muskingum district, and
in it we first find the name of Zanesville as an

History of Muskingum county, A. A. Graham, publisher, 1882,

fAbove this name is given Lotspoach.
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appointment, which is as follows: 1813, presid-

ing elder, David Young; preacher, John Clin-

gan. 1814, presiding elder, David Young;
preacher, William Dixon. 1815, presiding el-

der, David Young; preacher, John Kinkead.
1816, presiding elder, Jacob Young; preacher,

William Knox. 1817, presiding elder, Jacob
Young; preachers, John Waterman, Thomas
Carse. 1818, presiding elder, Jacob Young;
preachers, John Tivis, Samuel Glaze. 1819,

presiding elder, Jacob Young; preachers,

Thomas A. Morris, Charles Elliott. 1820,

presiding elder, Jonathan Stamper; preach-
ers, Thomas A. Morris, Samuel C. Brock-
emier. 1821, presiding elder, Charles Waddle;
preachers, James Hooper, Archibald McElroy.
1822, presiding elder, Jacob Young; preachers,
Leroy Swormstead, Moses M. Hinkle.

“The next year the Zanesville station and
the Zanesville circuit were constituted distinct,

separate appointments in the Lancaster dis-

trict, with Jacob Young as its presiding elder,

and John P. Durbin sent to Zanesville as its

first Methodist Episcopal preacher, during its

first year as a station. * * * 1824, presid-

ing elder, Jacob Young; preacher, L. Sworm-
stead. 1825, presiding elder, Jacob Young;
preacher, James Ouinn. 1826, presiding elder,

Jacob Young; preacher, David Young. 1827,

presiding elder, David Young; preacher, Jo-
seph Carper. 1828, presiding elder, David
Young; preacher, W. B. Christie. 1829, presid-

ing elder, David Young; preacher, Nathan
Emery. 1830, presiding elder, David Young;
preacher, Nathan Emery. 1831, presiding
elder, L. Swormstead; preacher, Absalom D.
Fox.

“The next year Putnam was made a preach-
ing place, and James Gilruth and Abner Goff
were appointed there. In 1832 L. Swormstead
was presiding elder, and Zanesville had

J. M.
Trimble. In 1833 the Zanesville district of the
Ohio conference was formed, and the appoint-
ments were as follows: 1833, presiding elder,

L. Swormstead; preacher, J. M. Trimble. 1834,
presiding elder, L. Swormstead; preacher, Ab-
salom D. Fox. 1835, presiding elder, J. Faree;
preacher, David Whitcomb. 1836, presiding
elder, D. Young; preachers, David Whitcomb,
James Courtney. 1837, presiding elder, D.
Young; preacher, William Simmons. 1838,

presiding elder, D. Young; preacher, William
H. Lawder. 1839, presiding elder, Robert O.
Spencer; preacher, William II Lawder. 1840,

presiding elder, Robert O. Spencer; preachers,

Uriah Heath, John W. Stone. 1841, presiding
elder, Robert O. Spencer; preachers, Uriah
Heath, W. R. Davis. 1842, presiding elder,

Robert O. Spencer; preachers, W. J. Ellsworth,

J. F. Conway. 1843, presiding elder, J. B. Fin-

ley; preachers, W. J. Ellsworth, Joseph A.
Waterman. 1844, presiding elder, J. B. Finley;
preachers, William Young, J. A. Waterman.

“The next year the society of Seventh street

was formed from the Second Street church, by
geographical lines, and the church whose rec-

ord we have been tracing was henceforth
known as Second Street church. 1845, P re "

siding elder, J. B. Finley; preacher, George
E. Crum. 1846, presiding elder, J. M. Jam-
ison; preacher, George E. Crum. 1847, pre-

siding elder, J. M. Jamison; preacher, M. Dus-
tin. 1848, J. M. Jamison; preacher, M. Dus-
tin. 1849, presiding elder, Jacob Young;
preacher, Asbury Lowery. 1850, presiding
elder, Jacob Young; preacher, Asbury Lowery
1851, presiding elder, Jacob Young; preacher,

E. M. Boring. 1852, presiding elder, J. M.
Trimble; preacher, J. W. White. 1853, presid-

ing elder, J. M. Trimble; preacher, J. W. White.

1854, presiding elder, J. M. Trimble; preacher,

J. A. Bruner. 1855, presiding elder, J. M. Trim-
ble; preacher, J. A. Bruner. 1856, presiding
elder, J. W. White; preacher, Ansel Brooks.
1 857, presiding elder, J. W. White; preacher,

Ansel Brooks. 1858, presiding elder, J. W.
White; preacher, J. A. Frazier. 1859, pre-

siding elder, J. W. White; preacher, J. A.
Frazier, i860, presiding elder, J. A. Frazier;

preacher, Benj. St. J. Fry. 1861, presiding

elder, J. A. Frazier; preacher, J. A. Creighton.

1862, presiding elder, J. A. Frazier; preacher,

J. A. Creighton. 1863, presiding elder, J. A.
Frazier; preacher, H. K. Foster. 1864, presid-

ing elder, D. D. Mather; preacher, H. K. Fos-
ter. 1865, presiding elder, D. D. Mather;
preacher, D. H. Moore. 1866, presiding elder,

T. H. Phillips; preacher, D. H. Moore.
This year the South Street Mission church

was established with A. H. Windsor, preacher
in charge. 1867, presiding elder, T. H. Phil-

lips; preacher, D. H. Moore. 1868, presiding

elder, William Porter; preacher, Thomas R.

Taylor. 1869, presiding elder, William Porter;

preacher, Thomas R. Taylor. 1870, presiding

elder, William Porter; preacher, Isaac Cook.
1871, presiding elder, William Porter; preacher,

Isaac Cook. 1872, presiding elder, L. Cunning-
ham; preacher, Isaac Cook. 1873, presiding

elder, L. Cunningham; preacher, J. W. Peters.

1874, presiding elder, L. Cunningham; preacher,

J. W Peters. 1875, presiding elder, L. Cunning-
ham; preacher, J. W Peters. 1876, presiding

elder, M. T. Harvey; preacher, O. J. Nave. 1877,

presiding elder, M. T. Harvey; preacher, O. J.

Nave. 1878, presiding elder, M. T. Harvey;
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preacher, James Hill. 1879, presiding elder, M.
T. Harvey; preacher, James Hill; 1880, presid-

ing elder, James Hill; preacher, W. M. Mulle-
nix.

Giving permission to use this article in this

work, Mr. King adds the following:

1881, presiding elder, James Hill; preacher,

W. M. Mullenix. 1882, presiding elder, James
Hill; preacher, J. M. Weir. 1883, presiding
elder, James Hill; preacher, J. M. Weir. 1884,

presiding elder, Isaac F. King; preacher, S. A.
Keen. 1885, presiding elder, Isaac F. King;
preacher, S. A. Keen. 1886, presiding elder,

Isaac F. King; preacher, W. D. Cherrington.

1887, presiding elder, Isaac F. King; preacher,

S. D. Hutzenpiller. 1888, presiding elder, Isaac

F. King; preacher, T. C. Read. 1889, presiding
elder, Isaac F. King; preacher, T. C. Read. 1890,

presiding elder, John C. Miller; preacher, J. C.

Arbuckle. 1891, presiding elder, John C. Miller;

preacher, J. C. Arbuckle.
“In the beginning they worshiped and held

meetings in the court house. Several build-

ings have been built on the church lot. * * *

The first church was begun in 1813. It was a

one-story frame, 40x60 feet, with gable end
toward Second street, with two doors in that

end, each opening into an aisle. In the center,

between the aisles, was a partition; the men
sat on one side and the women on the other.

It had for a long time no floor, because the
builders, Thomas Moorehead and William
Craig, were unable to get seasoned lumber to

finish it up with. This was borne with pati-

ently, as many hours had been spent happily by
our fathers and mothers in log cabins, with
earthen floors. The lumber for the floor was
ricked up in the west end of the building to

season, and on it a four legged sewing stand
served as a pulpit; behind it was the preacher’s
unpainted but well seasoned wooden chair.

The people sat on the flat upper surface of the
sills of the building. There were four large
hewed posts in the room to support the ceiling

and roof. Gilbert Blue finished up the inside

of the house the next spring, and James Gur-
1ey

* * * presented the society with two
chandeliers, which were swung on pulleys
from the ceiling. The doors were hung by
strap hinges, and opened by wrought iron

thumb latches. This building was in use until

1830, when the second house was erected,
which was of brick, and stood in front of the
old frame. James Millis took an active part in

its erection. The church was one-story anti

had a regular old-fashioned meeting-house
look four windows on the north side, and
four on the south, and two in the west end,

with the pulpit between; and though very
plain was comfortable. * * * The present

house, which was the third, was built in i860.

During the time of its erection, the congrega-
tion occupied the old church (Radical) on
South street, the present A. M. E. church. The
plan was obtained by a committee appointed
for the purpose, in Washington city. It is

commodious and in good taste, a credit to the
committee, and a very satisfactory church,
with neat and comfortable sittings and a fine

pipe organ.
“The first record of the title papers by

which the property is held is found P'ebruary

2, 1814, Record ‘D,’ page 314, and is as follows:

‘Jonathan Zane and Hannah his wife, John
Mclntire and Sarah his wife, to Christian

Spangler, Samuel Frazey, Jesse Miller, James
Vickers, Joseph Hawkins, John Spry, Barney
Monroe, trustees, and their successors. Con-
sideration $100.00 specie. Lot 8 rods east and
west and 8 rods north and south, and being Lot
8, in Square No. 3, in the present plat of the
city of Zanesville.’ * * * following is a pro-
vision by Rev. David Young for erecting a

church on this ground. The will bears date
October 3, 1857, and was admitted to probate
in Muskingum county, November 13, 1858.

He gave his books to the trustees of this

church to hold in trust for the benefit of the
ministers in charge; he gave $12,000 to the
trustees to be immediately expended in the
erection (on the ground described in the deed
by Zane and wife and Mclntire and wife) of a

good, substantial, neat house of worship, hav-
ing a basement story entered above ground,
for the use and occupancy of the M. E. church,
by the ministers and members according to the
discipline, usages and regulations thereof.

‘The seats in said house of worship to be for-

ever free; and any departure from this requisi-

tion as to free seats shall work a forfeiture of
the whple of said sum of $12,000. And the
trustees in office at the time of the occurrence
of any such forfeiture shall be individually

liable to refund to his heirs at law the whole of

said $12,000.’ It was furtheremore provided
that if any additional sum over said $12,000 be
needed to build said church, it should be
raised on bonds, so that no debt should be on
the house at its dedication. And further pro-

vided that if Daniel Brush should be alive at

the time this church was to be built, that he
should design the form and proportions of the
house. He appointed as executors Daniel
Brush, John Dillon, Jr., N. Gauttrcll, John Tay-
lor, Jr., and Austin Berry.

Mr, King states that during the ministry of
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Rev. D. II. Moore, a three month’s revival meet-
ing was held which resulted in the conversion
of nearly 200 souls. “The first class meeting
was held in a cabin built on the ground where
Jones & Abbotts’ foundry (on Third street)

now stands. This was in 1805 and was led by
Father John Goshen. * * * *

Following is a list of the members on the 4th

day of May, 1823, as recorded by Rev. John P.

Durbin, the pastor: “Samuel Parker, Betsy
Bird, Mary Jones, Polly Miller, Hannah Axley.
Lucinda Malsburg, Mary Davis, Nancy McCann,
Maria Stone, Mary Lane, Louisa Miller, Alice
Mast, Charlotte Spangler, Martha Day, Ann
Parker, Catharine Wilson, Margaret Barber,
Lydia Harper, Rebecca Riley, Gilbert McP'ad-
den, Thomas Lehue, Joseph Wilson, William
Luck, John Elbertson, Joseph Storer, William
Mackey, Isaac Wilson, John Houck, Joseph
Chapman, Michael Dutro, Samuel Storer,

Joseph Wilson, Jacob Johnson, George Girty,

William Langly, James Millis, Levi Wilson,
Alexander Martin, William Cook, George
Storer, Nancy Dutro, Rhoda Bailey, Nancy
Parker, Margaret Harvey, Catherine Lehue,
Sarah A. Nash, Elizabeth N. Norris, Mary Ann
Hazlett, Eliza Brooke, Mary Smeltzer, Eliza

Smith, Minerva Westlake, Thomas Moorehead,
Maria Sum, Elizabeth Sum, Sarah Morris,

Drusilla Thrap, Sophia Houk, Ann Goff, Hettie
P'razey, Martha Goff, Sarah Leslie, Catharine
Miller, Mary Ferguson, Ann Spangler, Jane
McFadden, Dorcas Anson, Mary Reed, Eliza-

beth Allen, Sue Brush, Ann Randall, Louisa
Patrick, Daniel Brush, Mary Young, James S.

Fletcher, Peggy Fletcher, Rachel Fletcher, Wil-
liam Fletcher, Mary Carter, Catharine Fletcher,

Jane Philly, Isabella Cunningham, Mary Harris,

Eleanor Killen, Mary Pardy, John A. Willey,

Nancy Willey, Mary Willey, John Snow, Eliza-

beth Snow, Hannah Cox, Hannah Brooke, Triffy

Younger, Cornelius Woodruff, Peggy Wood-
ruff, Hettie Dwyer, Jonathan Brelsford, Eliza

Brelsford, Mary Wilson, John W. Spry, Jane
Spry, Minerva Zane, Rachel Luck, Hester
Alexander, Elizabeth Sackman, Henry Wilson,
Amanda Wilson, Huldah Wilson, Zadoc Hall.

Charles Bailey, Phebe Bailey, George Golden,
Rebecca Richardson, Catharine McFadden,
A. Fleming, Lydia P'lemming, Ellen Wood,
Jacob Mittinger, Rachel Young, Edward W.
Christie, William Armstrong, Ann Armstrong,
Eleanor W. Quinn, Joseph Winters, Alexander
Smith, Elizabeth Smith, Cornelia Howard,
Wesley Turner, Sarah Fleming, Richard Hock-
ing, Lucinda Hocking, Jephtha Noah, Elizabeth
Willey, Mary Fletcher, Mary Bateman, Nancy
Winecoop, William Fleming, Elizabeth Bee-

man, Elizabeth Vanzant, Mary Beard, Nancy
Wilson, Maria Lawrence, Mary Harvey, Re-
becca Beck, Olcutt White, Ivtta White, James
Henderson, John Carter, Ann Smith, Elizabeth
Lander, Barbara Philly, Patience Skinner, Ann
Gibo, Mary Dreble, Rebecca Westbrook, Har-
riet Burgess, Harriet Johnson, Mary Harvey,
Fannie Parker, Christian Olive, Elizabeth
Gibo, William Kirk, Hannah Kirk, Jane Cooper,
Ann Parker, Sophia McMillen, Betsy Leslie,

Sarah Hahn, Ann Chambers, Eliza Mast,
Elizabeth Spangler, Lucy Chapman, Elizabeth
Twaddle, Martha Blanford, Margaret Langley.
Mazry Sackman, Joanna Smith, Elizabeth El-

bertson, Judith Brooke, Susan Langly, Eliza-

beth Millis, Henry Nash, Jeremiah L. Leslie,

Nicholas Blandford, Henry McMilland, Luke
G. Crossland, John Cannon, Septimus Parker,

James Leslie, Rezin Hopper, David Browning,
Matthews Ferguson, Moses D. Brooke, William
Leslie, Clement Brooke, Elijah Taylor, George
Hahn, John A. Willey, W. L. Chapman,
Thomas Leslie, Christian Spangler, Nancy
Jackson, Elizabeth Stewart, Hannah Barrett,

Lois Chapman, Ann Mackay, Mary Cockrell,

Elizabeth Langley, Elizabeth Hilton, Nancy
Conly, Eliza Dare, Rebecca Taylor, Nancy
Willey, Mary McFarland, Eliza Chapman,
Catharine Girty, Edith Dillon, Martha Marple,
Isaac W. Thrapp, Aaron Kirk, Thomas Miller,

Jane Linn, Levi Chapman, Henry Olive, Abra-
ham W. Westbrook, Charles Lander, Joel

Chapman, Peter M. Purdy, James Wheeler,
Samuel Frazey, James Taylor, Rees Willis, John
Phipps, William Allen, Gilbert Blue, Eliza-

beth Blue, Sarah M. Young, Rachael Moore-
head, Nancy Blocksom, Martha Reed, Mary
Martin, John Butler, Ann Butler, Jane Dutro,
Sarah Spangler.

* * * “
j n 1875,” continues Mr. King,

“ this church was incorporated under the state

laws of Ohio, and its board of trustees author-

ized. * * * The church property, includ-

ing the parsonage, is valued, according to the

minutes, at $23,000.”

Again taking up Mr. Chambers’ narrative

of Putnam, it appears that “ in the year 1807 a

Congregational church was founded in Put-

nam, consisting of five persons, namely Col.

Benjamin Tupper, Mrs. Martha Tupper, Dr.

Increase Mathews, Mrs. Betsy Mathews and
Mr. Levi Whipple. Soon after Captain Daniel
Warner united with them. The little church
was organized by Rev. Mr. Potter, of Steuben-
ville.* They had no settled pastor, but the

Rev. Mr. Robins, of Marietta, and others

preached occasionally for them. In the year

*Dr. Kingsburg’s memorial sermon, i860.
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1809 there were a few Presbyterian families in

Zanesville, but like the Congregationalists in

Putnam, they were unable to support a pastor.

An agreement was made, therefore, to organize
a church under the name of the “ United Pres-

byterian Church of Zanesville and Springfield.”

The Rev. William Jones was called to the pas-

torate, accepted, and was installed on the 26th
of December of that year. The services were
held in the stone academy in Putnam. The
Rev. Samuel P. Robbins, of Marietta, and the
Rev. Jacob Lindsley, of Athens, officiating.

The first elders were Benjamin Sloan, Moses
Boggs and John Thompson. From that time
till 1817 or 1818 the services were held alter-

nately in the court-house in Zanesville and the
academy in Putnam. In August, 1812, Mr.
Jones resigned to accept a call to Circleville.

Ohio. The Rev. James Culbertson was called

to succeed Mr. Jones, and was ordained and
installed pastor of the United church, Decem-
ber 23, 1812, the Rev. John Wright and the
Rev. James Scott officiating. Four years after

the installation of Mr. Culbertson, the church,
having in the meantime increased in members
and influence, took measures for the erection
of a suitable church edifice. In selecting a
site, reference was had to the convenience of

the members of the congregation on both sides

of the river. The northeast corner of South
and Fourth streets was agreed upon as the
most suitable and central that could be ob-
tained. Here a large, and for that day impos-
ing, church was built. There have been differ-

ent dates published of the finishing and
dedication of this church. One account says
that it was dedicated on the 24th of August,
1817, and that President Monroe and his suite

attended divine service there on the next Sun-
day, the 31st of August. Now I know the
president did attend service in August, for I

was there and saw him. I have a file of papers
printed in 1818 and 1819, which settles the
date. It quotes from the National Intelligencer

of March 31, 1819, an article saying that the
president left Washington on the day before
for his Southern and Western tour. It also

gives the route of travel, the object of the tour,

etc. Then this paper, from week to week,
gives the progress of his journey, his recep-
tions, escorts, etc. The error in the statement
referred to consists in placifig the date of the
president’s tour, and the dedication of the
church one year too close together. Accord-
ing to my recollection, supported by some
other circumstances, the dedication took place
in the year 1818. * * * The church stood
on a bank facing Fourth street, some eight or

ten feet above the level of that street. This
bank has been graded down since the removal
of the church. It had two high stories; the
first containing the pews and aisles, and the
second the galleries, which were on both sides

and the east end of the building; broad, and
so raised from the front toward the walls that

the speaker in the high pulpit at the west end
could be seen from every seat. There was no
spire or bell. The old court-house bell did
service for all the churches and schools of that

day. On the west end there were two doors,
from which aisles extended to the east end of

the room. There was another aisle in the cen-
ter of the room, called the broad aisle. * * *

“ The plan adopted for raising the funds to

build the church was a rather unusual but suc-

cessful one. A plan or draft was made of the
first floor and pews. The pews were sold out
at auction and the purchasers became the own-
ers, the same as of any other property so far as

occupancy and transfer were concerned. Many
persons bought two or more pews, according
to their ability or liberality, for which trans-

ferable deeds or certificates were given. The
seats in the galleries were all free, except the
front of the east gallery, which was reserved
for the choir. * * * About 1827 the bass
viol was superseded by the organ. * * *

It has been said that this was the first organ
used in a Presbyterian church in the United
States. * * * In 1812 when Mr. Culbertson
became pastor of this United church, there were
thirty-two members. The increase in the popu-
lation of Putnam, and other circumstances led

many to the conclusion that the time had come
when a church of that (Presbyterian) denom-
ination should be established on that side of
the river. A meeting of the members and
friends of the church was, therefore, called in

March, 1833. At that meeting it was unani-
mously resolved that the erection of a house
of worship, with the blessing of God, would
greatly advance the cause of Christ in the
place. A committee was appointed at the
same time to secure the necessary funds. This
object having been speedily accomplished,
another meeting was held in the same month,
and a committee appointed to proceed with the
erection of the building at once.

“ On the first of January, 1835, the Presby-
terian Church of Putnam was organized with
thirty-eight members, of whom twenty-eight
were pioneers and children of pioneers. Others
continued to follow until finally nearly all liv-

ing on the west side of the river were gathered
into the new church. By the organization of
this church, the United Presbyterian church
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was practically dissolved, and each of the
branches became independent. The separa-

tion was not at the time in accord with the

wishes and feeling of the pastor or the mem-
bers of the old church on the other side of the

river. Mr. Culbertson was deeply pained by
jj- * * *

“ There is some doubt,” Mr. Chandler con-
tinues, “as to whether Zanesville or Putnam
was entitled to the honor of having established
the first Sunday school. Mr Church said in

his published papers that the Zanesville school
was commenced in the year 1816. The Mus-
kingum Messenger

,
however says, in a commen-

datory notice published a year and a half after

the school was commenced, that it was opened
in March, 1817. I think ours was the first,

Put- * * * can’t prove it.
* * * Mr.

Harry Safford was one of the earnest and most
zealous workers in the Sunday school cause in

this section of the country. Dr. Kingsbury, in

his memorial sermon, calls him the father of

the institution. * * * As early, I think, as

1815 or 1816, he opened his school in the aca-

demy. It was called a ‘ Union school,’ be-

cause teachers and pupils were drawn from
the different denominations. Amongst the
first teachers were Mr. Levi Whipple, Judge
Edwin Putnam, Maj. Horace Nye, Mr. George
Warner Mrs. Whipple, Mrs. Leavins and Mrs.
Chandler. * * * We had but few of the

aids of the present day, and yet our methods
were not without some advantages. * * *

Besides our bible lessons, recitations and sing-

ing from ‘Watt’s Hymns for Children,’ we had,

each Sunday a short talk about good manners,
manly deportment, or moral conduct. * * *

In 1820 the Putnam Sunday school united with
the Zanesville Union school, in the new Pres-

byterian church, corner of South and Fourth
streets. In 1828 it was brought back again to

Putnam. Here for many years, under the late

Mr. A. A. Guthrie, the best equipped superin-

tendent I ever knew, it was in every respect a

model school. The work that he did lives after

him, and it is still a good school. In the year
1828 the Methodist church organized a separate
school. In the meantime the Baptists having
established schools in Zanesville, both of these

Putnam Sunday schools became practically de-

nominational.” * * *

The Zanesville portion of the United church
now demands more particular attention. In

1807 or 1808, Rev. John Wright, for many years
pastor of the Presbyterian church of Lancaster,

Ohio, passed through Zanesville and was in-

duced to remain over Sabbath. There were
seven Presbyterians here: Mr. and Mrs. Moses

Boggs, Mr. and Mrs. James Perry, Mr. and Mrs.
James Richie and Robert Culbertson. These
he assembled in the old tavern that stood then
on the site of the Clarendon, and after preach-
ing to them administered the Lord’s supper to

them, and it is thought probable this sacrament
had never been administered here prior to that

date. These seven persons were subsequently
participants in the organization of a church.
Gen. Isaac Van Horne took an active part in the
United church, and was an active elder from
1827 until 1834, when he died. Rev. Mr. Cul-
bertson performed the duties of a pastor until,

in the summer of 1844, failing health compelled
him to recommend the church to call an assist-

ant. Rev. Simeon Brown was called soon after,

but was not installed until May 7, 1845. Mr.
Culbertson preached but once after Mr. Brown
became assistant, and that was in November,
1844, though he was always able to attend pub-
lic worship, and until within a few weeks of his

death he officiated at marriages, baptisms and
the Lord’s supper. He offered the closing
prayer of the service on the last Sabbath but
one previous to his death. He died, aged 61

years, February 23, 1847, as the result of par-

alysis. With Mr. Brown originated the board
of deacons, and the following persons were
elected deacons August 16, 1845: Samuel C.

Haver, Edwin Burlingame, Robert P. Robinson,

J. B. Allen and William Winters. Mr. Brown
was identified with the literature of the church.
Before coming here he had published at Fred-
ericktown, Ohio, the Calvinistic Monitor

,
at the

time the only “old school” paper issued in the
state, and Rev. William Dunlap, of Marion,
Ohio, was its associate editor. Subsequently it

became the Presbyterian of the West
,
published

first at Springfield, later at Cincinnati. After
his settlement here, Mr. Brown began the pub-
lication of The Colportciir. This was continued
until January 8, 1848, when the Family Quarto
appeared, which he edited until June 28, 1850.

In July of the same year he resigned his pas-

torate and accepted the agency of the board of

publication of the Northwestern states.

Mr. Brown’s successor, Rev. Moses A. Hoge,
began his pastorate June 26, 1851. Rev. James
M. Platt came as pastor July 24, 1853 and was
ordained on the gth of the following October.
His pastorate continued until April, 1867. He
was followed by Rev. George H. Webster, who
was installed October 5, 1867, and resigned his

pastorate in 1872. Rev. W. P. Shrom was called

November 9, 1872, and entered upon his work
during the succeeding month. In 1884 he was
succeeded by Rev. J. C. Holliday, the present
pastor.
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This church may be regarded as the mother

of the Putnam church, the Newton church and
the Second Presbyterian church of Zanesville
and, through those organizations, of the Pres-

byterian denomination in this county. This
church purchased the lot now occupied by the
Second Street church building and exchanged
it for the lot now occupied by its own building,

which was erected at a cost of between $14,000
and $15,000 and was dedicated on the fourth

Sunday in December, 1841. The pastor was
assisted by Rev. Mr. Wylie, of Newark, and
Rev. Dr. Hoge, of Columbus, the latter preach-
ing the dedicatory sermon.

The statement of the late E. H. Church, who
was one of the first pupils, is to the effect

that the first Sunday school in Eastern Ohio
was organized in the old court house (at that

time used by the Presbyterians as a place of

worship) in 1816, by Matthew Findley, Joseph
Church, F. Morehead and Mr. Dale. It was
a union school in which all Protestant de-

nominations had a part. During the following
year it was more thoroughly organized, some
fifteen or more ladies canvassing the town for

scholars. It was removed to the new Presby-
terian church, at the corner of Fourth and
South streets, in 1819, and was after that date a

school of that church.
According to Rev. Dr. Kingsbury, a move-

ment which had been begun as early as March,
1833 toward an independent Presbyterian
congregation, Putnam culiminated January 1,

1835, in the organization of the Putnam Pres-

byterian church. The names of the constituent
members ( from the United Church of Zanes-
ville and Putnam (were recorded thus in the
sessional record: Levi Whipple, Eliza Whip-
ple, Eliza Tucker, Lucy R. Whipple, Sarah
Sturges, A. A. Guthrie, Amelia Guthrie, Lucy
Sturges, Pamelia Guthrie, Edwin Putnam
Patience Leavens, Eliza Stannas, Anne Buck-
ingham, Mary Russell, Betsy Mathews, Eunice
Buckingham, Sarah E. Safford, Ann D. Brown,
S. A. Guthrie, George N. Guthrie, Eliza Silvey,

Margaret Silvey, Horace Nye, Lucinda Nve,
Catharine Leavens, Mary Leavens, Mary A. Stur-
ges, Peleg Mason, Olive Mason, Sarah Mathews,
Susan Mathews, Mary Mathews, Mary Stickney,
A. G. Allen, Nancy Stickney, Margaret Weaver.
The church begun in 1833 had now been com-
pleted, and it was dedicated in February, 1835,
by Rev. William H. Beecher, a member of the
Presbytery of Cincinnati, who began preaching
here soon after the organization of the church.
The first elders were A. A. Guthrie, Levi
Whipple and Edwin Putnam. Mr. Guthrie was
chosed stated clerk of session, and held the

office until the end of his life. The last entry
in his handwriting bears date September 2, 1873.

The church was duly incorporated March 7,

1835. Mr. Beecher accepted a call to the pas-

torate, and was installed November 25, 1835,

serving successfully until January 18, 1839.

Rev. Addison Kingsbury, D. D., succeeded him
January 1, 1840, and after a pastorate of nearly

forty years gave place to Rev. George F.

Moore, whose successor was Rev. David R.

Wortman. Rev. E. E. Rogers, the present
pastor, was installed in 1889.

The church was thoroughly repaired in 1866
and remodeled and in many ways modernized.
The bell was presented by Frank Sturges, of

Chicago, who spent his boyhood here. A bap-
tismal font was presented by Mrs. Elizabeth
Hardenbaugh in 1871. The foundation of the
parsonage was laid in the autumn of 1848.

The walls were put up the following summer.
The “Buckingham manse,” as it was called,

cost about $3,700, of which $1,500 was be-

queathed for the purpose by Miss Eunice Buck-
ingham, on condition that the congregation
raise in cash an equal amount, which they did.

Alvah Buckingham superintended the erection

of the building and paid the additional expense
above the estimated cost. The brickwork was
done by John Randall and Benjamin Tuttle,

the woodwork by John Metcalf and Joseph
Collins.

St. James’ parish is the oldest Episcopal
church organization in the diocese of South-
eastern Ohio, which includes the southern half

of the state, and, with perhaps a single excep-
tion, the oldest in Ohio. It was organized
at the court house, Zanesville, October 17,

1816, at a meeting called for that purpose, at

which Dr. Horace Reed presided and John
Gordon was secretary. Rev. Joseph Doddridge,
M. D., was elected rector and the following
named officers were chosen: Wardens, Horace
Reed, M. D., Seth Adams; vestrymen, Jeffery

Price, Moses Moorehead, PL B. Merwin, Calvin
Conant; treasurer, A. Harper; lay reader, Sam-
uel Burnham, M. D. The parish was incorpor-
ated January 31, 1833.

The public religious services of St. James’
parish seem to have been held at first in the
court house; but in June, 1817, and for some
time after that date they were held in the

Methodist church. Inly 17, 1831, the first

church edifice of the parish was consecrated

—

a small, plain brick structure at the southeast
corner of South and Sixth streets, the locality

of the present St. John’s English Evangelical
Lutheran church, in 1835 it was nearly doubled
in size and seating capacity, and six years later
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it was sold, as a step toward the erection of a

new house of worship. During the period

1841-1843, services were held in the “Senate
Chamber’’ of the old court house. The present

Gothic edifice of sandstone was begun in 1841,

and the corner stone w'as laid June 24, that

year. It was finished temporarily and occupied
by the congregation Easter day, 1843. The
basement and audience chambers were com-
pleted in 1853, and the church was formally
consecrated September 7, 1854, by Bishop
Mcllvaine. The church tower was not com-
pleted until 1874. The bell, weighing upwards
of a ton, a gift from Mrs. C. W. Chandler, of

Germantown, Pa., formerly a member of this

parish, was at that time swung in place. The
stained glass windows were donated a few
years earlier by the late James R. Cooper.
The organ was introduced in 1851. The rec-

tory, on north Fourth street, was purchased in

i 863 -

The succession of rectors of this church
has been as follows: Rev. Joseph Doddridge,
M. D., October 17, 1816 to 1818; Rev. Intrepid
Morse, 1818 to January, 1822; Rev. Philander
Chase, Jr., June, 1822, to January, 1823; Rev.
Joseph Doddridge, M. D., November, 1824 to

June 1826; Rev. Mr. Langstaff during a portion

of 1826; Rev. Amos G. Baldwin, December,
1826 to 1831; Rev. John P. Robinson, Septem-
ber, 1831 to April, 1832; Rev. William Stud-
dards, February, 1834 to 1835; Rev. William
A. Smallwood, July, 1835, to March, 1853; Rev.
George W. DuBois, September, 1853, to Jan-
uary, 1856; Rev. J. W. Claxton, assistant, July,

1 8 5 5 ,
to January, 1856, rector to March, 1857;

Rev. George YV. DuBois, March to May, 1857;
Rev. Thomas G. Addison, May, 1857, to Oc-
tober, 1859; Rev. William A. Newbold, No-
vember, 1859, to 1863; Rev. John Leavitt, 1863
to 1866; Rev. J. F. Ohl, D. D.; 1866 to August,
1880; Rev. I. McK. Pittinger, Christmas, 1880, to

1890. The present rector, Rev. George P. Tor-
rence, assumed charge of the parish April 20,

1890. In March, 1817, the Parochial Missionary
Society was organized; the parish Sunday
school in 1834.

Next in order is the history of the first

Baptist church of Zanesville, Ohio, by Rev.
Wm. Sedwick, A. M., which brings the record
down to 1866:

—

“The circumstances that led to the gather-
ing in and organization of this church are

thought worthy of record. In the fall of 1820
Elder George C. Sedwick left Winchester, Va.,

for the purpose of exploring the West. Taking
Zanesville in his route, he stopped a few days,
and preached as often as opportunity offered,

and passed on to Kentucky and Indiana, spend-
ing a short time in each state, and receiving
several invitations to settle with strong
churches, with the offer of agood salary. But his

mind was fixed upon Zanesville, though there
was no church there, and only one man who
was known as a Baptist. So strong, however,
were his impressions of duty that he returned
and commenced his labors there in the begin-
ning of 1821. Having no house of worship,
the court house and private dwellings were oc-

cupied for preaching and church meetings. On
the nth of February, 1821, three persons were
baptized, viz.: Isaiah Miller, Thomas Sheppard
and J. Johnson; these were the first fruits of
his ministry in this new field. Baptisms are

also mentioned as having occured in April,

May, and June, on the 16th of which month
the church was constituted. Elder George C.

Sedwick was, on the same day, chosen pastor,

and Joseph Sheppard and Jeremiah Dale, dea-
cons, Thomas Sheppard, clerk. They agreed
at this meeting to unite with the Muskingum
Association; which met on the 22nd of August
following. At this meeting they reported 37
baptized, four received by letter;— total 41.

The second report to the Association, in Au-
gust, 1822, they returned 39 baptized, 12 re-

ceived by letter, 6 dismissed-—total, 83. In

their last report to this Association, in 1825,

they state a total of 104, there having been
baptized up to that date 105. In as small a

town as Zanesville was at that time, and con-
sidering the disadvantages under which they
labored, having no meeting house for some
two or three years, and other societies having
so far the start, this was considered a good be-

ginning and an evidence of the former leadings
of Providence in planting the Gospel standard
in this place. Their house of worship, which
had been in process of erection for some time,

was ready for use in the fall of 1823, and was
dedicated November 15th. On the 15th of

December following the church meeting was
held, for the first time, in the new edifice. This
house was built of brick, 40x60 feet, one story

high. In that day this was considered a noble
structure, fully equal to any in the town. In

May, 1826, the Ohio Baptist State Convention
was organized in this house, where it held its

first three annual meetings. So far as is known,
the writer is the only minister now living in

the state who was in that organization, if not

the only individual. The day after the con-
vention closed its first session the Meigs Creek
Association was constituted, with seven
churches and 409 members, at the Brookfield

church, now in Noble county. This church
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was one of the seven which formed this body.
Previous to this there had been no association

east of the Muskingum river, except a small
body called “Still Water,’’ located in the north
part of Guernsey and Belmont counties, which,
about this time, had become extinct, having
been carried away by the influence of what was
called Campbellism. The church of which we
are speaking appears to have traveled on in

peace and harmony for eight or ten years, and
a good degree of prosperity attended their

mutual efforts for good; many were added
every year. But when the number of the Dis-

ciples had multiplied, there arose murmurings
and contentions among them, causing the
church and pastor a world of trouble. This
unhappy state of things continued for some
years, and finally terminated in the withdrawal
of some twenty one members at one time. This
restored peace and quietude to the church, and
they moved on for some years in harmony and
love. Elder George C. Sedwick, having served
the church about sixteen years, felt it his duty to

resign his pastorate, which he did in July, 1836.

The church remained without a settled pastor
for about a year, when they extended a unani-
mous call to Elder Wm. Sedwick, who ac-

cepted and entered upon the discharge of his

duties in July, 1837. His connection with the
church was of the most pleasing character. A
good degree of prosperity attended their mutual
labors during the two years of his pas-
torate. Some valuable accessions were made
to the church, and here we beg to notice one
of the mysterious providences of God. Just at

the close of Elder Sedwick’s second year, and
after arrangements had been made by the
church for his continuance, Elder William
Spencer, of the Salem township church was
very suddenly, and to the great grief of the
church, called away by death. Elder Sedwick
was called to preach his funeral sermon—and
by the earnest request of the church, after a
few weeks’ reflection, he resigned the care of
the church in Zanesville, and removed to

Adamsville, where Elder Spencer had labored
as pastor for twenty one years. Elder S. S. Parr
was now called by the church in Zanesville to

become theirspiritual guide, and commenced his

labors with them in December, 1839. He was
an eloquent man, and might in truth be called
a Boanerges. His stay with the church was
short but prosperous; many were added under
his ministry during the eighteen months of his

pastorate. After his resignation and removal,
in April, 1841, Elder John M. Courtney was
chosen as his successor. lie was a good pas-
tor, and enjoyed the entire confidence of the

church and community during the seven years

of his ministry with them. The church was
greatly strengthened and enlarged under his

faithful labor. It was but a few years after his

removal from Zanesville that he was taken by
death to a better world. We all loved Brother
Courtney, and deeply lamented his early death.

Brother David E. Thomas succeeded Brother
Courtney in the pastorate of this people. He
was publicly installed in this office in Decem-
ber, 1849. The exercises were conducted by
Elders George C. Sedwick and Abel Johnson.
Brother Thomas was a native of Wales, and
could speak as fluently his native tongue as the

English; possessed a strong mind, and was
generally warm and animated in his public ad-

dresses. But few were his equal in debate,

possessing, as he did, a peculiar talent in that

direction. He served the church for six years,

up to the close of 1855. Many were added to

the church during his ministry, and the present

church edifice was erected while he was their

pastor, though it was not entirely finished for

some years after his removal, perhaps not till

after his death. He died at his home, near
Piqua, Ohio. After the resignation of Brother
Thomas, Rev. J. B. Conyers was called to the

oversight of the church, and continued in

office about three years, during which period
the church experienced serious troubles,—which
troubles were the outgrowth of difficulties that

were engendered before Brother Conyers be-

came pastor,—which finally terminated in the

withdrawal of some sixtyfour of its members who
ganized another church on the opposite side

of the street, called the Sixth Street church.
This body subsequently united with Market
Street church of Zanesville. In December,
1859, Rev. D. F. Carnahan was inducted into

the office of pastor and continued his labors

for three years. During his ministry the church
appears to have moved on in peace. He re-

signed his office as pastor and entered as an
officer into the army. After his resignation

Elder Smith, of Virginia supplied the church
for a short time, when Brother George W.
Young, of Pennsylvania, was chosen to take
the oversight of the flock. His mission was of

short duration. Hccontinued as theirspiritual

guide a little less than a year, when he was
suddenly called away by death on the 12th of

November, 1864, in the 46th year of his age.

This unexpected event was deeply lamented by
the church and congregation as well as by his

family and more immediate connections; all

mourned their loss, even as a household would
that of a beloved brother, for a good man had
fallen at his post. After the death of Brother
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Young, the church extended a call to Brother

J. B. Sharp, who appears to have entered upon
the discharge of his duties as pastor in Febru-
ary, 1865. Quite a large addition of members
were received by baptism during his ministry.

But unfortunately, serious and sad difficulties

followed, and scenes occurred in and out of

their meetings which should never have trans-

pired among the professed children of God.
This, like other difficulties that have occured,
in years past in this church, has terminated in

a separation of some 77 members, of whom
about 65,—very largely young people,—were
brought into the church during Brother Sharp’s
pastorate. The old ship now seems to be sail-

ing once more over a smooth sea. * * *

The following ministers have gone out from
this church: Samuel Williams, George F. Adams,
John Maginnis, Thomas M. Erwin, Jeremiah
Dale, Benoni Allen, Seth Wickham Joseph Shep-
pard, Thomas Sheppard, Ely Frey, Joseph and
William S. Sedwick and William Ashmore now a

missionary in China. There have been organ-
ized from the First church four other Baptist
churches, viz.: Market Street church, Third
church (colored), Sixth Street church and
Berean church. In addition to these four or-

ganized interests there have gone out from the
First church, large numbers of members who
have removed to the West; upon one occasion
some forty— a number sufficiently large to

form another church—took their letters and
distributed themselves in Illinois and Iowa.
The church has had its years of revival and
prosperity as well as of trouble and adversity.

In 1832, seventy-six are reported as baptized.

In the following year, 1833, 63 were received
by baptism, in 1840, 71 and in 1848, 165. The
church has numbered, several times before
these unhappy divisions, from 250 to 500 mem-
bers, and notwithstanding the many drawbacks
that have occurred in its history, it must be
acknowledged that very few churches have
ever exerted a wilder and more beneficial in-

fluence upon the community in which they
were located. *****

In August, 1866, Rev. W. G. Pratt became
pastor of this church. His successor was Rev.
S. Washington, who came in April, 1868, and
closed his labors in October, 1869. During
this period the meeting house was repaired and
beautified at considerable expense. Rev. E.

W. Dannels came in January, 1870, and after

leading a successful revival, became pastor in

April following. He resigned in 1872, late in

the year. The church was supplied by Rev.
R. S. James during the winter of i 872-’73. Rev.
Thomas Powell became pastor April 1, 1873,

remaining in that relation until July 1, 1877.
From that date until October following, the
church had no regular pastor, but had numer-
ous supplies. In that month, Rev. Dr. T. R.

Palmer came. January 1, 1880, he offered his

resignation to take effect April 1, following.
Rev. J. B. Ewell assumed the pastoral relation

in May, 1880, and served until 1886. Rev. G.
M. Shott was pastor i 886-’87; Rev. J. C. Car-
man, 1 888-’g 1 . The present pastor, Rev. A.
M. Worman, has been in charge since 1891.

Remarkable years in this church were: 1832,

76 baptized; 1833, 63 baptized; 1840, 71 bap-
tized; 1848, 165 baptized; 1870, a large ingath
ering. The present membership is about 400.

The inception of the Lutheran church in

Zanesville may be traced to Nicholas Border
and his wife, who came here in 1803. In the
course of human events the infant daughter
they brought with them became the wife of

John Bowman, who came in 1817, Following
him came Jacob Reese, Sr., George Clapper,
Michael Sackman, Solomon Myers, Peter Sack-
man and their wives and Christopher Spangler,
who in time began to meet at each other’s

houses for worship. The first of these cottage
meetings was held at the house of a Mr.
Schmeltzer, at Fourth and South streets. In

those days evangelists traveled over this region,

scattering seed-thoughts of faith, and among
them were Weiser, Foster and Andrew Hin-
kle, whose visits were irregular.

The first house of worship built by this de-
nomination was a small frame structure erected
in 1818 on the southwest corner of Seventh
and South Streets. One of its attractions was
a pipe organ made by L. P. Bailey. In 1820,

John Alter and Peter Sackman were made eld-

ers, Jacob Bowman and Jacob Brock, deacons;
John Bowman and Jacob Mercer, trustees; and
John Bowman, treasurer of an organization
thus perfected. About this time, Jacob Mer-
cer and wife, Mrs. Hannah Smith, Miss Sarah
Border and Daniel and Solomon Border were
added to the membership. Among the com-
municants were the pastor’s wife and daughter
(Mrs. Elizabeth Conway,) and another daugh-
ter (Mrs. Susan Cole,) and Charlotte, Charles
and Paul Kaemmerer and Mr. and Mrs. Walter
Kelly. During eighteen years, the services of

this church were conducted in German and
English, the former at morning, the latter at

afternoon meetings. As their numbers in-

creased, the English speaking portion of the
congregation, preferring to have all services in

English, determined to reorganize and form a

new church, and as an outcome of this deter-

mination, St. John’s English Evangelical
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Lutheran church was organized in 1839, with

Jacob Reese and John Alter, Sr., as elders; J. J.

Brock and Abraham Alter as wardens; Solo-
mon Deffenbaugh and John Bowman as trus-

tees; Wm. Schultz as secretary and treasurer:

and the following and about twenty-five

others as members: Nicholas Border and wife,

Jacob Reese and wife, John Alter and wife,

Peter Sackman and wife, Isabella Ream, John
Bowman and wife, Philip Munch and wife, J. J.

Brock and wife, Solomon Deffenbaugh, Edney
Manley, Margaret Leutz, Mary Mercer, Solo-
mon Reese, Solomon Culp, Frances J. Mooney,
Jacob Livingood, Catharine Ritz, Mary Ann
Wright, J. K. Wright.

Rev. A. Bartholomew became the pastor,

and served until 1843, and was recalled in 1848,

and was again pastor. Revs. S'tephen A. Mealy
and W. C. Houar filled the interval between
1843 an<J 1848. Rev. A. Borserman succeeded
Mr. Bartholomew at the close of his second
pastorate, and served the church until dismissed
for too pronounced Universaiism. Rev. A. J.

Weddell was the next pastor. He continued
until 1856, when he resigned and the congre 1

gation was disbanded. The property purchased
from the Episcopal church was held by the
trustees, who continued to care for it.

From 1856 until 1869 there was no English
Lutheran pastor settled here, and no English
preaching. In the latter year, Rev. J. L. Stire-

walt, the traveling missionary of the recently
organized General council of the Lutheran
church in America, passing through Zanes-
ville, learned of the property still held for an
English Lutheran church, and sought out Mr.
and Mrs. John Bowman and found them still

unconnected with any other church organiza-
tion. He began services and organized a Sun-
day school. From this humble commencement
the congregation was reorganized, and in 1871
Rev. M. C. Horine, then of Dayton, O., received
and accepted a call to become the pastor. He
continued until 1873, when he resigned to ac-
cept a call to Pennsylvania. In the fall of

1873 Rev. W. P. Ruthrauff, of Akron, O., be-
came the pastor. He continued until his death,
which occurred in the spring of 1876. The
pastorate was vacant until November of that
year, when Rev. F. Richards, of Philadel-
phia, Pa., received and accepted a call as pastor,
and entered upon his duties. He has continued
to serve the congregation from that date up to
the present writing, being at this time the
longest-settled pastor of any denomination in

the city.

In 1878, the old church edifice, purchased
from the Episcopal church, was demolished

17

and the present building erected. This was
made possible by the liberal subscription of

§5,000 by Mr. and Mrs. John Bowman. The
new edifice was dedicated on the first Sunday
in Advent, 1878. The sermon was preached
by Rev. Samuel Laird, of Pittsburg, Pa. In

the year 1881 the parsonage on South Seventh
was purchased also, through the liberality of

Mr. and Mrs. Bowman. In 1891 the Martin
Luther Missionary society of the congregation
purchased a lot on Maysville avenue, near Put-

nam avenue, with the view of establishing a

Second English Lutheran congregation in the

city. The present board of officers, constitut-

ing the church council at the present time, is

as follows: Rev. F. Richards, pastor; W. H.
Deffenbaugh, treasurer; George C. Dieterly,

secretary; Wm. R. Baker, Jacob Beisser, Mar-
tin W. Miller, G. J. Crotzer and Henry Cordes.

German Evangelical Peace church dates its

origin from 1818. Rev. L. Scheid was the first

pastor, and N. Bader, P. Munch, M. Spangler
and S. Diefenbach were its first deacons. The
original house of worship was erected on the

present church site, at the corner of Seventh
and Harvey streets and was later enlarged by a

considerable addition. The large brick struc-

ture now occupied was built in 1864. The
church numbers 165 families; there are 150 in

the Sunday school, with twenty teachers. In

1824, 1842 and 1864 the constitution of the

church was changed, and the present constitu-

tion was adopted in 1882. Rev. W. A. Walter,

the present pastor, began to serve this church
in 1890.

German Evangelical Lutheran Trinity

church was organized about 1844 by Rev. Mr.
Maenner, with twelve voting members. The suc-

ceeding pastors have been Rev. C. Kuehn, Rev.
P. Eirich, Rev. H. Craemer, Rev. H. Jehn and
Rev. C. A. Frank, the present incumbent. The
first regular house of worship was a small brick

building at the corner of Seventh and South
streets, on the site of the present large brick-

structure, which was erected in 1866, at a cost

of about §30,000. The number of communi-
cant members is 340. A parochial school was
established under the auspices of this church
in 1870.

Disciples of Christ church is an old organ-
ization. For years it met with more or less regu-

larity in halls in Putnam, Zanesville and West
Zanesville. Its house of worship, on the south-

east corner of Park and Amelia streets, was
erected about eight years ago, and is a well-

finished, slate-roofed frame structure. The
membership of the church is about 150, and the

pastor is Rev. M. J. Maxwell, who took charge
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in 1892. During many years this church did

not flourish, though its organization was always
kept intact, but of late it has had more gener-

ous encouragement, is growing and promises to

grow, and is doing a good work in the field it

'fills.

The First Congregational church of Zanes-

ville was organized January 1, 1885, and was re-

organized by council February 24 following.

Rev. George D. Herron was the first pastor.

His successors have been the following, in the

years mentioned: Rev. Thomas Clayton, 1887;

Rev. D. I. Jones (present pastor), 1889. The
church building on North Sixth street, near

North, was erected in 1888 at a cost of about

86,500. The present board of deacons is thus

constituted: Dr. W. E. Atwell, J. M. Moore,
Thomas D. Davis, Thomas M. Nicholas,

R. G. Lewman, John R. Price. The trustees

are John W Dawson, Robert- Webb, Frank
K. Jackson, Peter J. Snyder Thomas Miles;

R. G. Lewman is superintendent of the Sun-
day-school; Dr. E. A. Farquhar, Jr., is

church treasurer; Miss Eva Parsons is clerk.

The number of members is 180.

Zanesville is in the Catholic diocese of Colum-
bus. Catholicism was introduced here in organ-

ized form in 1820, when St. Thomas’ church was
instituted by Rev. Nicholas D. Young, O. P. The
first members were John S. Dugan and family

and William Colerick and family. Rev. Stephen
IT. Montgomery was the first pastor, and the ser-

vices were held in a small brick warehouse that

stood on the northeast corner of Fifth street

and Locust alley. The first church was a one-

story building, thirty-five feet high, seventy
feet deep and forty feet front. It stood on the

rear part of the lot occupied by the present

church and cost about 82,000. The corner-stone

was laid in the spring of 1825 and the dedica-

tion occurred in the fall of 1827, Bishop Ten-
nick officiating. The present house of worship,

at the northeast corner of Fifth street and
Locust alley, is a fine structure of stone, 120 by
60 feet, which cost about 840,000. Bishop Miles
laid the corner-stone March 17, 1842. Rev. P.

C. Coll was pastor for a considerable time, until he
was suceeded by Rev. J. A. Bockel, who came
November 8, 1880; Rev. William Quinn is the

present pastor. The Sunday school was organ-

ized by Rev. B. A. Brady and others. Thomas
R. Phelps was made superintendent. The Altar

society was organized in 1830; the Society of

the Blessed Virgin Mary in 1848; the Rosary
in 1848; the Purgatorial society in 1877; the

Sacred Heart society in 1877; the Holy Name
of Jesus society in 1880. These societies are

strictly devotional in their exercises. St

Patrick’s Benevolent society was organized in

1859; St. Thomas Benevolent and Literary
society in 1871; Division No. 1, Ancient Order
of Hibernians, in 1876. Shortly after the begin-
ning of the war of secession St. Patrick’s Be-
nevolent society gave 8500—all it had in its

treasury—to equip men for service. This sum,
the accumulation from hard day labor, saved
for the purpose of taking care of the sick,

burying the dead and relieving the wants of

the widow and the orphan, had been husbanded
with great care by Hon. John O’Neill, then
president of the society. Highly appreciating
but scarcely needing the generous gift, the city

authorities returned it to the society, that it

might not be diverted from the charitable pur-

pose for which it had been intended.
St. Nicholas Catholic church (German) was

organized in 1841. Its house of worship was
erected the fall of 1842 and dedicated by Bishop
Purcell. In 1861 an addition was built to the
church, making a total length of ninety-six feet

by forty-five feet width. The present pastor is

Rev. Nicholas Meschenmoser.
Market Street Baptist church was organized

in the “old academy,” near the corner of

Third and Market streets, May 15, 1835, with
twenty-nine constituent members. Of this

number, Mrs. Curran Blue, Thomas C. Hillier

and Mrs. Susan Slocum only are living. Meet-
ings were held in the court house a short time
and then in a small building on South street

near Seventh. In 1835, a movement had been
started to erect a meeting house. A lot was
donated by “Father” Rector Mills. The build-

ing now in use was begun in July, 1837, and fin-

ished and dedicated January 1, 1839. It is a

large and attractive structure, on the east side

of North Sixth street between ' Market and
North streets. The first pastor was Rev. Hiram
Gear, from May, 1835, to May, 1836. The next
was Rev. William S. Hall, November, 1836, to

April, 1838. Rev. George I. Mills was pastor
from June, 1838, to July, 1841, and was suc-

ceeded by Rev. Daniel Sheppardson, July, 1841,

to May, 1845. Am interesting event following
the pastorate of this gifted man was the con-
version of him who has long been known as

Rev. Jefferson Chambers. Rev. N. N. Woods
came in November, 1845 ar*d remained until

July, 1848. In March, 1849, Rev. L. G. Leon-
ard, D. D., was called to the pastorate of the
church, and he continued until March, 1855.

Following Elder Jacob Knapp’s services as an
evangelist under Mr. Leonard’s pastorate, there

were upwards of seventy-five accessions to the
membership. The next pastor was Rev J. T.

Roberts, from April, 1855, to April, 1856. In
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April, 1857, Rev. Alfred Pinney began his pas-

torate, during which the political troubles
which preceded the war agitated all churches
in the country and affected this. He prophesied
the war and the extermination of slavery. At
length April, i860, he severed his relation with
the church. April 1, i860, what was then
known as the Sixth Street Baptist church,
formally and in a body united with the Market
Street church. The church as now constituted
called to its parochial office Rev. N. A. Reed,
who assumed charge in August, i860, and re-

mained until April, 1867. Coming as he did at

a critical period in the history of all affairs, it

was a peculiar test of Mr. Reed’s ability to pre-

side over a church so singularly identified with
the interests of the country as was this one.

Many brave men from among its communi-
cants and congregation were at the front dur-
ing the war. Notable among them was the
almost entire male portion of the family of
Prof. H. U. Munson. Mr. Reed’s successor was
Rev. Willett Vary, who served from May, 1867,

to April, 1869, and died soon after he severed
his pastoral connection. In September, 1870,

after a supply by Rev. W. H. Beach, (October,

1869, to May, 1870,) Rev. R. S. James was called

to the pastorate and continued until July, 1872.

Mr. James was succeeded September, 1872,

by Rev. R. Andrew Griffin. Mr. Griffin

was of English birth, had studied the-

ology with Dr. C. H. Spurgeon, and was
a graduate from Regent Park college, Lon-
don. One who knew him well has thus
referred to him and his never-to-be-forgotten
pastorate: “His genius, youth and peculiar
methods of sermonizing, his freshness of
thought and originality of manner, produced a

very general and decided impulse for activity

and growth. His labors were blessed with a

good degree of success and his pastorate for

many months had a tone of geniality that was
welcomed by all. But association with liberal-

izing ministers, the misguided research of a

man not properly grounded in theology, and
the morbidness of an ambitious mind defeated
in some of its cherished dreams soon wrought
a sudden change. The fresh and David-like
English boy, who came with the simple story
of Christian faith and hope upon his lips,

changed to a morbid cynic, a philosophizing
misanthrope, a demoralized doubter. In 1875,
his pastorate of nearly four years began to

wane in power and efficiency, and seems to

have grown worse, until, in February, 1876,

when it ended in his own confused despair, and
almost wrecking the old church so long a sur-

vivor of other but no greater perils. Mr. Grif-

fin’s subtle and confessed attempt, for one
whole year, to indoctrinate the church with
heresy, was at once a proof of the thorough
work which had been done before and the in-

telligence, integrity and faith of the member-
ship, for the attempt was singularly abortive.”

The next pastor, Rev. Henry A. Delano,
assumed charge in August, 1876, and ceased his

labors here in August, 1886. Rev. A. D. Willi-

fer was in charge from August, 1881, to Sep-
tember, 1885, and Rev. James L. Smith from
November, 1885, to July, 1890. The present
pastor is Rev. George B. Simons, who assumed
charge in 1890.

The Seventh Street Methodist Episcopal
church was organized in 1840 by a division

of the Second Street church, the member-
ship of which was deemed too large for the
capacity of one pastor. Revs. Uriah Heath
and John W. Stone were appointed to the
Zanesville station. The Zanesville Canal and
Manufacturing company permitted the new
church to use the upper room of the Mclntire
Academy as a place of worship. The member-
ship at the outset was about 100. In the spring
of 1841, a lot on Seventh street was purchased
for $1,000 from John Lee, and it was deter-

mined to build a church. Rev7
. Mr. Heath ob-

tained sufficient subscriptions to justify this,

and the stone basement was completed in

1843. The church was finished and dedi-

cated in September, 1845. To this time the
church had been a congregation of the Sec-
ond Street organization, but at the annual con-
ference this year, Seventh Street church was
made an independent station, but the two sta-

tions did not have separate and distinct boards
of trustees until 1850. Rev. B. F. Jackson is

the present pastor. The Sunday school was
organized soon after the church was formed.

The Second Presbyterian church was organ-
ized from the membership of the P'irst Presby-
terian church. It was formed by an act of the
Presbytery of Zanesville, September 7, 1852,

and completed its organization October 9, fol-

lowing. Those who petitioned for a separate
organization were L. P. Bailey, E Burlingame,
R. P. Robinson and T. H. Patrick (the first

mentioned an elder, the others, deacons,) and
A. McP'adden, Mrs. Jane Price, Mrs. Rebecca
Griffith, Miss Mary Price, Mrs. Ann Griffith,

Miss Anna M. Griffith, Sarah Katharine Griffith,

D. B. Cochran, Mrs. Sarah Cochran, Samuel
Robinson, Mrs. C. A. Peters, Miss Lucinda
Bailey, Mrs. Sophia II. Adams, Mrs Elizabeth
M. Bird, Miss Jane A. McFadden, Robert M.
Crow, Mrs. Jane Burlingame, Miss Susan P.

Burlingame, Richard Morris, Mrs. Margaret A.
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Robinson, Peter Black, Robert Little and Mrs.
Agnes Little. Before the first communion the fol-

lowing named persons were added by certificate:

Mrs. Susan Stillwell, Mrs. Ellen Wheeler, Mrs.
Elizabeth Wheeler, Mrs. PL M. Hoge, Mrs.
Abigail W. Bailey, Mrs. Ann M. Carey, Mrs.
U. Sullivan, Mrs. Jane Shaw, Mrs. Susan Mc-
Ginnis, Mrs. Mary Jane Porter, Mrs. Elizabeth
S. Bell, Miss Rebecca Tidball, Miss Belinda
McGinnis, Mrs. Margaret P'illmore, John Wil-
son, John S. Black, John G. Spencer, George
A. Retiberg, Mrs. Nancy Hersh, Mrs. Margaret
Plddie, Mrs. Eliza P. Crow, Mrs. Susan Granger,
Mrs. Margaret Mapes. The two congregations
worshiped together until, early in 1853, the new
church rented Odd P'ellow’s hall and held ser-

vices there till January, 1854, when the Luth-
eran church, at the southeast corner of South
and Sixth streets, was leased for one year. Odd
P'ellow’s hall was again secured January 1, 1855,
and services were continued there until the
edifice in which the congregation now worships
was completed, in August, 1855. It is a neat
brick structure on the east side of north Fifth

street, between Main and Market streets, and
cost, including the grounds, about Si 5,000.

Rev. Moses A. Hoge, who was pastor of the
church at Zanesville at the time of its division

was, by act of Presbytery, October 22, 1852, set

apart as pastor of the new church, having sev-

ered his connection with the church of Zanes-
ville by consent. The present pastor is Rev.
A. W. Clokey. The Sabbath school was organ-
ized soon after the church was formed. The
first superintendent was John A. Black.

The Zanesville church of United Brethren
in Christ was organized at the house of P'reder-

ick Greul, on Eighth street, April 8, 1865, by
Rev. Casper Streich, who the first pastor. For
about a year the congregation worshiped from
house to house. Their church, a substantial

brick building, on Seventh street between Main
and Market streets, was erected in 1866 at a

cost of 84,000. The Sabbath school was organ-
ized in 1865. In matters of religion this church
is subject to the rulings of the Ohio United
Brethren association. The present pastor is

Rev. Justice Moeller.
The South Street Methodist Episcopal

church had its origin in a mission established
in 1865, by Rev. J. H. Gardner. By the gener-
osity of Rev. David Young, the congregation
was enabled to purchase a lot on the northeast
corner of Seventh and South streets and to

build a neat one-story church, which was fin-

ished in 1879. The lot and church cost about
89,000. The present pastor is Rev. Charles C.

Elson. The Sunday school was organized in

1865, with David Brookover as superintendent.
At a meeting in Nevitt’s hall, September 20,

1868, the following persons agreed to become
active members of a Hebrew congregation to

be organized in Zanesville:—Wolf Dryfus,
Michael Steinfeld, Marx Cohen, J. L. Dryfus, R,
Schoenfeld, Meyer Schoenfeld, Jacob Schoen-
feld, Ben S. Dryfus, Herman Weber, Jacob
Wollner, Simon Goodman, J. Kraus, Abe Kohn,
Adolphus Hartman, W. P'reedman, L. P'reed-

man. The organization was effected Sunday
September 27, 1868, with Wolf Dryfus, as pres-

ident, M. Steinfeld, as vice-president, M. Cohn,
as treasurer; B. S. Dryfus as secretary, and W.
P'reedman, J. L, Dryfus and Rudolph Schoen-
feld at trustees. The congregation rented a
room in Alter’s building, In March, 1869, the
services of B. Tauber were secured as instructor

or teacher. In August following it was re-

solved to incorporate the organization. October
5, 1873, the congregation joined the Union of

American Hebrew congregations. The Con-
gregational burying ground is situated on the
National road.

The Hungarian Benevolent association,

otherwise called the Hebrew church, was or-

ganized in 1874 by the following; among other
prominent members: B. P'roch, H. Weber, J.

Haber, W. Freedman and S. Newman. D.
Feierlicht was the first rabbi.

The Welsh church was organized October
24, 1875, at the Sixth ward hose house by elect-

ing the following officers: Deacons, John J.

James, Thomas D. Williams, Thomas D. Davis;
secretary, William T. Jones. The congrega-
tion worships at the southwest corner of Mon-
roe and Price streets.

South Street African Methodist Episcopal
church was organized in 1826 at the house of

Ellen Feelin, on Seventh street between Mar-
ket and Main streets.

The first church edifice was a little brick

building, near the river, east of Plighth street.

From this church the congregation removed to

a frame house on Putnam hill. PYom there

they returned to Zanesville, where they had
built a frame church on Ninth street, near
South. Several years later they purchased a

brick church, on South street, between Third
and Fourth streets, formerly occupied by the
Protestant Methodist. In 1876 they erected a

brick church on the same site.

The Third Baptist church (colored) was or-

ganized in the old brick school-house on Mox-
ahala avenue, Putnam, August 29, 1863, by Rev.
Isaac Jones, first pastor. Another church of

Colored Baptists consolidated with this to form
the Union Baptist church, which worships on
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the east side of Eighth street, between Main and
South streets, of which Rev. A. M. Thomas is

pastor.

The African Wesleyan Methodist church,

which worships on the south side of Moore-
head avenue, east of Blue avenue, was organ-

ized with sixteen members July 24, 1875.

Below will be found a statement of the loca-

tion and times of service of the several churches
of thecity with othervaluableinformation: Bap-
tist—First Baptist church, south Sixth street,

Rev. A. M. Warman, pastor; services, 10:30

a. m., and 7:30 p. m.; Sunday-school at 9:15
a. m. Market Street Baptist church, east side

North Sixth, between Market and North, Rev.
G. B. Simons, pastor; services, 10:30 a. m., and

7:30 p. m.; Sunday-school, 9 a. m. Union Bap-
tist church, (colored), east side Eighth, be-

tween Main and South, Rev. A. M. Thomas,
pastor; services 11 a. m. and 7:30 p. in.; Sun-
day-school, 2:30 p. m. Baptist Mission church,

west side Woodland avenue, 2 s of Maysville
Pike. Catholic-^St. Thomas church, east side

Fifth, between Market and North, Rev. Wm.
Quinn, pastor; 1st mass, 7 a. m., 2d mass, 8:30
a. m., high mass, 10:30 a. m.; Sunday-school, 9
a. m., vespers, 3:30 p. m. St. Nicholas church,

northeast corner Main and National Pike, Rev.
Nicholas Meschenmoser, pastor; mass, 8 a. m

.

,

high mass, 10 a. m.; Sunday-school, 2 p. m .

,

vespers, 3 p. m. Christian—Disciples of Christ

church, northeast corner Park and Amelia,
Rev. M. J. Maxwell, pastor; services, 10:30

a. m. and 7:30 p. m.; Sunday-school, 9:30 a. m.
Congregational— P'irst Congregational church,
west side North Sixth, between Market and
North, Rev. D. I. Jones, pastor; services 10:30

a. m., and 7:30 p. m.; Sunday-school 9:30 a. m.
Episcopal—St. James church, west side North
Sixth, between Market and North, Rev. George
P. Torrence, pastor; services, 10:30 a. m., and

7 p. m.
;
Sunday-school, 9 a. m. Evangelical

association German Evangelical church,
southwest corner Seventh and South, Rev. W. A.
Walter, pastor; services, 10:30 a. m., and 7:30
p. m.; Sunday-school, 9 a. m. Hebrew—Con-
gregation Beth, Abraham, 12 South Seventh,
Rev. Solomon E. Cohn, rabbi; services, Sat-

urday, 9 a. m., P'riday, 7 p. m.; Polish Syna-
gogue, southwest corner Main and Seventh.
Lutheran—St. John's English Evangelical Lu-
theran church, Rev. F. Richards, pastor; Ser-
vices, 10:30 a. m., and 7 p. m.; Sunday-school,

9:15 a. m. German Lutheran Trinity church,

northeast corner South Seventh and Harvey,
Rev. C. A. Frank, pastor; services, 10:30 a. m.;

Sunday-school, 9 a. m. Methodist—Euclid
Avenue M. E. church, east side Euclid avenue,
near Thurman; no regular pastor; Services,

3:30 p. m., and 7:30 p. m.; Sunday-school, 2 p.

m. First Methodist Protestant church, Beau-
mont street; services, 10:30 a. m. and 7 p. m.;

Sunday-school, 9 a. m. Moxahala Avenue M.
E. church, east side Moxahala avenue, between
Jefferson and Madison, Rev. Benj. A. Stubbins,

pastor; services, 10:30 a. m., and 7:30 p. m.;

Sunday-school, 9:15 a. m. Second Street M. E.
church, southwest corner Main and Second,
Rev. T. C. Reade, pastor; services, 10:45 a - m -»

and 7:30 p. m.; Sunday-school, 9:15 a. m.
Seventh Street M. E. church, east side North
Seventh, between Orchard and Center, Rev. B.

E. Jackson, pastor; services, 10:30a. m., and 7:30

p. m.; Sunday-school, 9 a. m. South Street M.
E. church, northeast corner South and Seventh,
Rev. Clias. C. Elson, pastor; services, 10:45

a. m. and 7:30 p. 111.; Sunday-school, 2:30 p. m.
St. Paul A. M. If. church, north side South, be-

tween Third and Fourth, Rev. Philip Toliver,

pastor; services, n a m., and 7:30 p. m.; Sun-
day-school, 2:30 p. 111. Wesleyan Methodist,
(colored), south side Morehead avenue, east of

Blue avenue; 110 regular pastor; services, 11

a. m., and 7:30 p. m.; Sunday-school, 9 a. 111.

Presbyterian— First Presbyterian church, east

side North Sixth, between Main and Market,
Rev. J. C. Holliday, pastor; Services, 1 1 a. m.,

and 7:30 p. 111.; Sunday-school, 9:30 a. m.
Putnam Presbyterian church, Woodlawn
avenue, Ninth ward, Rev. E. Rogers, pastor;

services 11 a. m., and 7:30 p. m.; Sunday-
school, 9:30 a. m. Second Presbyterian church,

east side North Fifth, between Market and
Main, Rev. A. W. Clokey, pastor; services, 11

a. m., and 7:30 p. m.; Sunday-school, 9:30 a. m.
United Brethren—United Brethren church, 43
North Seventh street, Rev. Justice Moeller,

pastor; services, 10:30 a. 111., and 7 p. 111.; Sun-
day-school, 9 a. m. Universalist—First Uni-
versalist church of Zanesville, corner of Wood-
lawn and Muskingum avenues, Rev. Lotta D.
Crosby, pastor. Welsh - Welsh Congregation,
southwest corner of Monroe and Price streets;

services, 10:30 a m., and 3:30 p. m.; Sunday-
school, 2 p. m.
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©hctpfep /XI.

SALT CREEK TOWNSHIP.

I

T was to the Falls of the Muskingum, within
the boundaries of the territory that subse-
quently became Salt Creek township, and

known and described in the United States sur-

veys as “Township thirteen of range twelve
of lands of the United States within the terri-

tory northwest of the River Ohio, and subject
to entry in the land office in Marietta, Ohio,”
that, in the latter part of June, 1788, a party of
thirty men, under the command of a United
States military officer from Fort Harmar, was
sent by water, with provisions and presents of
goods, for the purpose of negotiating a treaty
of peace and friendship with several tribes of
Indians who had selected that as the place for

meeting Gen. St. Clair, the governor of the
territory and authorized representative and
agent of the government. The location se-

lected for conducting the negotiations was on
the south bank of the river, where the town
of Taylorsville now' stands. These troops were
ordered to the place by Gen. Harmar, com-
mandant of Fort Harman, for the purpose of

erecting a council house and the building of
huts for the comfort of the men and protecting
the goods against the weather. This remote
spot was selected by the Indians for the pur-
pose of the council in preference to Fort Har-
mar, for the reason it was nearer their own
homes, and was to them a well known and fa-

vorite locality and not under the influence of a

military fort. The attempt to form a treaty

was a failure. The reason is given by the his-

torian in a few words. He says: “The Indians
commenced assembling from the different

tribes in large numbers, especially from the
Delawares. Among them was a band of the
Chippewas and other Indians, outcasts from
different tribes, amounting to about twenty.
On the night of the 13th of July, those desper-
adoes crept slyly around the tents containing
the goods, and fired on the sentries, ten in

number, with the intention of plundering them.
By this discharge two men were killed and one
or two wounded. The sentries returned the

fire, and the rest of the guards running to their

assistance, the Indians retired without accom-
plishing their object. One of the assailants

was killed and one wounded. The same night
they killed and scalped a mulatto man, servant
to Maj. Duncan, a trader who was waiting for

the assembling of the tribes, with goods to

barter for their skins and peltries.” This action

of the Indians exhibited so hostile a feeling

and was so unexpected that any further at-

tempt to secure a treaty at that time was not
only regarded as impracticable, but exceed-
ingly hazardous, and, as a consequence, the
matter was for the time being indefinitely post-

poned. A subsequent conference was, however,
held in the fall following at another place and
a treaty effected.

It was in the early autumn of the year 1795,
immediately on the close of the Indian war and
two years before any white man was located

with the view of making a permanent home on
any of the territory which now constitutes

Muskingum county, that under the auspices of

a company formed in Marietta the manufacture
of salt was commenced in this township, at or

adjoining the present village of Chandlersville

on the east. It was the first experiment of the

kind in the Muskingum valley in fact the first

in all the territory northwest of the Ohio river

east of the Scioto valley. The discovery of

salines at this point at the time it was made
grew out of the fact that salt at Marietta, and
at all the settlements below Marietta along the

Ohio and up the Muskingum rivers, was a com-
modity so scarce as to be entirely beyond the

ability of most persons to procure, it being re-

tailed as high as fifty cents a quart. It was,

too, an article of universal necessity, and as the

demand for it must constantly increase as the

population increased it was imperative upon
the people to find some source of supply near

at home adequate to the demand, and which
would have the effect to reduce the price to an

amount that all might be enabled to satisfy

their necessary wants. It was understood that
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the Indians for an indefinite period of time had
been in the habit of obtaining salt water from
the salines that have existed and reducing the

same to salt. Accordingly a company was
sent out from Marietta for the purpose of locat-

ing those salines. After a considerable search
they were discovered; by the aid of a small
camp kettle the explorers were enabled to test

the waters, and greatly to their relief it was
found that these waters were much more
strongly impregnated with saline particles than
they had any reason to hope or expect might
be the case. A report of the discovery was
duly made to the people of Marietta by whom
they had been sent on this voyage of explora-
tion. As a consequence all the necessary ap-
pliances for making salt were called into requi-

sition at the earliest possible day, the business
of salt manufacturing commenced, and was
prosecuted with the utmost energy and vigor,

night and day, until the supply of the article

was sufficient to satisfy the demand. The salt

was for the most part conveyed to the river at

Duncan’s Falls on pack-horses and thence
transported in canoes to Waterford and Mar-
ietta. The supplies for the employes at the
works were procured at these places, and
brought them in the same way.

It was in the latter part of this year, during
the month of December, that the adventure of

Capt. William Davis and Juda Ford occurred.
They were employed at the works, the former
acting in the capacity of foreman or manager,
the latter an intelligent young man of nineteen
years of age, a laborer there, and also acting in

the capacity of book-keeper. The supply of

provisions at the works became wrell-nigh ex-
hausted, and it became necessary that a new
supply should be ordered. This could only be
done by going or sending to Waterford and
Marietta, and as the river was closed by ice it

was necessary to go by land. Accordingly
these men determined to make the trip and
started for Waterford by a direct route through
the woods, without any trace or marked trees

to guide them. As the works had only been in

operation for a brief period, the intercourse be-
tween them and their base ot supplies had thus
far been conducted entirely by water, the over-
land route as yet not being opened. These
men having expected to reach their destination
in a single day, the distance being only thirty
miles, the only outfit they provided was one
blanket, a single charge of gunpowder, a flint,

a jack-knife, a piece of tow string for tinder,
and a couple of pounds of venison. Not being
familiar with the woods they hired a hunter as
a guide to pilot them to the headwaters of

Meigs creek. He accompanied them a few
miles on the way, and, after giving directions as
to the route, returned. The men mistook the
directions given them, and instead of reaching
the headwaters of Meigs creek wandered over
to the waters of Mills creek, dowm which
stream they traveled until night overtook
them. The day was cloudy and exceedingly
cold, the thermometer at Marietta ranging
from twenty-two to twenty-four degrees below
zero. Instead of going south as they supposed,
they had been all the day traveling north. As
night came on they succeeded, with the mate-
rials they had at command, in striking a fire in

the bark of a dry tree, and encamped for the
night. The following day the sun appeared
and they saw the mistake of the preceding day
and commenced retracing their steps. They
wandered about until the second night over-
took them in the wilderness. This was passed
as was the first night. Now their venison and
their means to obtain a fire were all gone. On
the morning of the third day they came upon a

small stream bearing a westerly direction, down
which they determined to go. Suddenly and
unexpectedly they saw smoke ascending
through the branches and tops of the trees.

They were not long in reaching the works and
with frozen hands and feet received the greet-

ings of their companions from whom they sep-

arated more than two days before. And here
we leave them.

Before the discovery of the Salines by the
white man, the stream uniting with the Mus-
kingum river at Duncan’s Falls was called Salt

creek. By whom this name was given the
main stream is not known. ’ That matter is in-

volved in obscurity. But it was undoubtedly
given because of the Salines on the east branch,
which by the men at the works were called
11 White Eyes,” and probably on the supposition
that this east branch was the main and not a
tributary stream. The name “ White Eyes”
was given this branch of Salt creek on which
the Salines were situated in honor of George
White Eyes, a young Indian who had been
educated at Dartmouth College by the United
States Government as a token of respect to his

father, a Delaware chief of that name, who had
ever exhibited friendship for the whites. This
young Indian had spent sometime at Waterford
when the first settlement was there made. He
had befriended the white settlers on several oc-
casions, was quite a favorite with them and was
personally known to some of the employes at

the works. The stream bore the name above
given it for quite a number of years, but of late,

within the memory of man, the name has been
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transferred to another branch of Salt creek run-

ning in a westerly direction across the
northern portion of the township. The branch
of the stream first called “White Eyes” and
joining it about a half mile below Chand-
lefsville, was called by the men at the works,
"Williams’ Fork,” in honor of the adventure of

Williams and Ford as related above. The name
the stream still bears.

It was in the year 1797, that Captain John
Chandler, a native of Connecticut, but at the
time a citizen of Rutland county, Vermont, in-

spired by the enthusiasm that animated large

numbers of New England people to remove to

Ohio, and allured by the glowing descriptions

which reached New England of the richness of

the soil and the magnitude of the productions
for which the Ohio country was becoming cele-

brated, became one of a company of fifteen

families, organized in New Ipswich, New
Hampshire, under the general direction and
leadership of General Rufus Putnam as agent
of the Ohio company for the purpose of emigrat-
ing to this western wilderness. This was only
one of numerous companies organized through-
out the New England states in like manner and
for a like purpose at about the same period of

time. The company of which Captain Chand-
ler became a member on its arrival in Ohio
made their first permanent landing in the part of

Balpre, now known as Newbury township, the
most southerly township of Washington
county.
Here the company first planted a settlement

but it was not destined long to remain so. It

began very soon to disintegrate. It was com-
posed of too many inharmonious elements.
The families separated, some going in one
direction, some another. Some sought a home
in one locality, some another. Captain Chand-
ler remained two years and then det rmined to

go elsewhere. He explored the region of the
upper Muskingum and the valley of the Lick-
ing. Like many others he probably entertained
a prejudice against selecting a home along the
valleys of the larger streams. The fear was
generally indulged that the atmosphere where
the forests were so dense as along the larger

streams, must necessarily be filled with malaria
and that as a consequence sickness must there
prevail. Hence many of the pioneer settlers

located on the high grounds when the rich

bottoms along the larger streams could have
been as easily secured. After much wandering
and weighing in his own mind the relative

merits different localities possessed for a per-

manent residence, he finally selected the
“ A’hite Eyes” branch of Salt creek as the

locality where he would spend his future years.

He had now passed the mcridan of lifeandhad
reached that period in human existence when
the shadows lengthen as the years increase.

Hence the importance of a judicious selection

must have been uppermost in his thoughts.
His choice was probably determined by the

surroundings and the fact that all indications

favored it as a healthy locality. Here, too,

were established a salt-works for the manu-
facture of salt which had been operated by the

Marietta company for a series of years with a

constantly increased production. The locality

was one that seemed to be favorably situated

for becominga businesscenter,and as the popu-
lation increased and the country developed
trade relations must become a matter of no small

importance. Besides it was on the direct

and shortest route of what must become the

chief highway between Zanesville and Marietta.

It was in the spring of 1799 when Captain
Chandler with his family landed here in this

White Eyes valley. What was the situation?

He had no home to which he could come; no
home to protect his family from the elements;
not even a shed whereunder, for the time be-

ing, he could find shelter. What a contrast it

presented to that Vermont home he had left

only two years before! How must all have
seemed to the mind of this intelligent and ex-

perienced man! What were the emotions of

this heroic pioneer as he looked about him and
into the faces of that gentle and devoted wife

and of that family of bright and active-minded
children who had accompanied him into the

depths of the wilderness!

Captain Chandler’s family consisted of nine

persons—himself, his wife, two sons that had
nearly reached a man’s estate, two in their boy-
hood years, one a lad of six or eight years, an
infant son and a daughter some nine or ten

years of age. It was the first business to secure

a place of shelter and, for the time being, what
might be called a home. This was speedily

accomplished. Within three days he and his

boys, with the aid of such of the men at the

works as could be spared, had a cabin erected

and comfortably prepared for occupancy, and
of sufficient size to afford ample accommoda-
tions for all the household. It very soon be-

came the home of peace, comfort and content-

ment.
As soon as the cabin home was prepared so

as to afford comfortable protection to its in-

mates, and shelter was provided for the oxen
and the few domestic animals he possessed,

Captain Chandler and his boys, with an unfal-

tering industry and energy, commenced the
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work of preparing the land for cultivation by
clearing away the undergrowth of the forest

and “ girdling ” or deadening the trees around
and in the neighborhood of his cabin home.
The wild became a garden. At the end of the
first season enough was secured of grain and
vegetables, and provender for stock, to supply
over into the succeeding year enough and to

spare.

The Chandlers were all active and could
work with advantage at almost anything they
undertook. They were, too, for the most part,

artisans. They could as readily apply their

hands to mechanical pursuits, and with as quick
a perception as to the manner of doing, as to

the preparation of the land for cultivation.

Captain Chandler, in his boyhood days, had
practiced, more as a pastime than as an em-
ployment, the business of blacksmithing. His
boys readily caught the business of smithing,
as they did the use of the plane, the saw, the
chisel and the mallet, and as a consequence, at

odd spells, on rainy days, and at times when
out-door employments could not be pursued,
with the aid of such mechanical instruments as

they had at command, they were enabled to

make almost any article of every day use that
required mechanical skill in 'its construction.
This aptitude in the use of tools proved of
great advantage to them during the after years
when the settlement was developing.

Before two years elapsed Captain Chandler
had opened and placed under cultivation a
large and productive farm. But the farm and
farming operations were not enough. Ambi-
tious, energetic and restless spirits required
something to be feed upon more stimulating
and exciting than that afforded by agricul-

tural employment. It was at this juncture
of affairs that negotiations were entered upon
looking to the sale and transfer of the Salt
Works still owned and conducted by the Mari-
etta company to Captain Chandler and sons.
In due time such sale was effected and the
transfer of the works made. The new proprie-
tors immediately went into possession and took
charge of the business. Thus far, as the entire

population of the neighborhood consisted only
of a single family, it was a matter of indifference
who owned the works or who conducted the
business of salt manufacturing. But now it was
different. The time had come when an in-

crease of population in the neighborhood was
anticipated. As a matter of course, all new
comers would have a desire that the advan-
tages to be derived from the conduct of the
business, if any, should inure to the common
benefit of the people of the neighborhood.

This part, too, as it should become generally
known, would have the effect to attract popula-
tion. The works, therefore, when the new pro-

prietors acquired possession, thenceforward be-

came known as “Chandler’s Salt works.” The
business was. too, under the new management
prosecuted with renewed energy and vigor and
for all there was in it. It was from these works
that the people along the Muskingum river and
at Marietta, and for a distance of many miles
along the Ohio above and below Marietta, for

quite a number of years, obtained this article

of universal necessity. It cannot be ascertain-

ed that a single employe of the Marietta com-
pany during ‘the entire five years that Com-
pany owned and managed the works, remained
for any considerable time in the employ of the
new company, or became a pioneer or a settler

in the neighborhood. A new set of men were
on hand to take their places. Only the names
of a portion of these can now be recalled;

and of these memory and tradition are alike

at fault as to when and with a single exception
whence they came and how long they were thus
engaged. It is only known they were there
some portion of the time during the six or

seven years the Chandlers conducted the salt

operations. The names now recalled arethoseof
John Hopper, Daniel Bane, William Cunning-
ham, William Newell, John Dixon and David
Forebush. Though single men, nearly if not

quite all became pioneers and identified them-
selves with the people of the neighborhood in

clearing away the forests for cultivation. They
deserve remembrance as the advance guard of

the civilization that was to follow. It was now
1801, Zanesville and Putnam were each becom-
ing points of some consequence and promised
to be important towns. A post route providing
for carrying the mail once h week each way,
had been established between these points and
Marietta, although on the entire line from Zanes-
ville to Waterford there was not a Post Office

for the reason there was not a single inhabitant

resident on the line except at the Chandler’s
Salt works. This post road was little more
than a bridle path, but the travel over it was
becoming quite constant and was rapidly in-

creasing. Accordingly the “Chandler settle-

ment,” as it was now being called, began to ar-

restattention. Comers and goers were frequent.

The roads to Zanesville and Duncan’s Falls, es-

pecially the latter as it was the road on which the

traffic to and from the Salt works was con-
ducted, soon became much traveled highways.
A new order of things was now about to be
introduced.

There is no record as to who were the first
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pioneers to succeed Captain Chandler in this

new settlement, who next to him were entitled

to the honor of being the first to commence
here the demolition of the forest. The arrivals

became quite frequent. Several families came
at about the same time. Among the first to

arrive were John Briggs, of Pennsylvania, John-
son Brewster, of Vermont, a brother-in-law
of Captain Chandler. About the same time
came George Clapper from Pennsylvania and
William Dixon, from Ireland, and Abraham
Mercer, of Virginia. All these men had
families and were here before 1804. In this

year came Daniel Bliss another brother-in-law
of Captain Chandler, and a native of Massachus-
etts, with a family, including himself, of nine per-

sons. He was a physician and the only
physician in the settlement for more than
twenty years. Then came during the four
or five years that followed, Peter Sarehett,

Jacob Crumbaker, Jacob Wilhelm, Thomas
Brady, Joseph Culbertson, and others whose
names are not at command. All these men
had families,—they were pioneers and be-

came what might be called representative men
of the neighborhood. They all came to make
husbandry their pursuit. A little further along
came Robert Linn, and David Peairs, natives

of Pennsylvania, Isaac Wartenbee from Vir-

ginia, and Welcome Ballou, from Massa-
chusetts, and John Finney. All these per-

sons were accompanied with their families.

Other pioneer settlers followed and at the
end of the decade the population of the town-
ship had increased to several hundred. It was,
too, a rapidly increasing population, not con-
fined to a single neighborhood, but scattered

over the entire township.
The Chandler grist mill was built prior to

1807 and was burned in 181 1-1812. Llewellyn
Howell built the second mill, and it is said

Silas Robinson was his partner in the enter-

prise. Sometime between 1815 and 18 1.8 Sam-
uel McCune had a saw and grist mill on Big
Salt creek. Zachary Chandler’s tannery was
started about 1810, and William Scott’s dis-

tillery in 1814. Bernhard Brewster opened a

store in 1812. John Stevens and John Moore
were also early merchants. Zachary Chandler
kept a tavern in a frame building as early as

1815. He was succeeded in this enterprise by
a Mr. Cuberday, and during his occupancy the

building was burned. Robert Linn opened his

house for the accommodation of the public

about 1820. There was no professional black-

smith in the township until 1810, when Jerry

Joseph came. The next disciple of Vulcan
was William Moore, known as “Old Bung My

Eye.” from a song he often sang. Dr. Daniel
Bliss, the pioneer physician, came in 1812.

Salt Creek Baptist church was organized in

1 8 1 1 . The first church was of hewn logs and
had the dignity of two stories and a gallery.

The Methodist Episcopal church at Mansfork,
grew out of a class organized as early as 1812
by Rev. James Watts. William Knox began
his labors at Chandlersville in 1816. Chan-
dlersville and Sugar Grove appointments were
formerly in Norwich circuit, and in 1869 were
joined with Fairview and Duncan’s Falls ap-
pointments, and known as the Duncan’s Falls

circuit. Presbyterianism took root here in 1814,

when the first organization was formed. A
small frame house was the first edifice of this

denomination at Chandlersville. The present
brick church was built in 1834. The United
Brethren church dates its organization back to

1857-1858.
It was about the year 1805 that John Chan-

dler, third son of Captain Chandler, still quite
a young man, erected, or caused to be erected,

the first mill in the township. Its site was on
the creek about a mile below the salt works.
As the mill stones were procured in the neigh-
borhood and it contained no bolting chest,

its use consisted principally in grinding corn.

This was an important event in the history of

the neighborhood.
The Chandlers conducted the business of

salt manufacturing for the period of between
six and seven years after they first came into

possession of the works. They then disposed
of the same to John, Peter and Thomas Sarehett.

On the 15th day of February, 1809, the General
Assembly of Ohio passed a law creating or ap-
pointing an agent to superintend and lease these

works. Previous to this date no such officer

existed. Accordingly under that acta lease of

the works for the period of three years was
effected with the Sarehetts. Again on the 20th

day of February, 1812, the general assembly of

the state passed an act authorizing the further

leasing of the works to the same parties for

the period of seven years, granting to the

lessees the additional privilege of enclosing 80
acres of land adjoining for pasture and fuel

purposes. On the expiration of this lease no
further action was taken by the state look-

ing to its renewal. Owing to the fact that in

numerous other localities, by boring wells deep
into the rocky strata salt waters of much
greater strength and in much larger quantities

had been secured, these works as property
possessed little value. For this and other causes

they were abandoned.
The territory which became known as Salt
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Creek township was described in the United the county commissioners of the date of March
States surveys as ‘‘Township 13 of Range 12, of 6th of that year, so much of the said orginally

lands of the United States situate in the State

of Ohio,” and as such passed into the market
as other Congress lands. Section 31 was
situated on the south of the river and on it

the village of Taylorsville now stands.

As the end of the first decade approached,
the inhabitants residing on this territory began
to discuss the subject of a township organiza-
tion. Accordingly on the 9th day of March,
1808, as the journal of the commissioners of

Muskingum county discloses, sundry petitions

were presented the board of county commis-
sioners then in session, asking for the creation
of certain townships. Among those petitions
so presented was one from citizens of Salt

Creek township according to the established
survey. The journal says “the boundaries of
the townships were established and the town-
ships received.” No time was fixed for the
election of township officers as the statute re-

quired, and no election of officers ordered.
Under this order of the commissioners it can-
not be found that any further action was taken.
Again, December 12th, 1808, it appears in the
journal entry of that date, that “the petition
of sundry inhabitants of Township 13, Range
12, was presented the board, praying an elec-

tion be ordered to elect three trustees and a

treasurer of that township.” The journal says
in response to this petition, “granted and order
for election sent out by John Chandler.” This
was still an incomplete order and it does not
appear that any action was taken looking to
its execution. Again, March 8, 1815, more
than six years after the last proceedings were
had, this journal entry again appears: “A pe-
tition from a number of inhabitants of Salt
Creek township was presented praying that the
original surveyed Township number 13, Range
12 be erected into a township to be called and
known by the name of Salt Creek township,
and it is ordered the above township be
established.” Although this last order was in-

complete, looking to what were the require-
ments of the statute in relation to the organi-
zation of townships, as no further action upon
the subject seems to have been taken by the
commissioners, it may be taken that this con-
cluded all that was done towards the erection
and establishment of this township; and that
its civil and political existence may be re-

garded as commencing on this last date.

The first mutilation of the territory of Salt

Creek township as created in March, 1815, grew
out of the establishment and organization of
Wayne township in 1826. By the action of

surveyed Township number 13, Range 12, as

was contained in sections 6, 7, 18, 19, 29, 30 and
32, were detached from Salt Creek township
and became a part of Wayne township as

created of the date last aforesaid. This action
of the commissioners was a matter of deep in-

terest to all the people residing on the territory

so detached, and by the most of them the
action so taken was asked. Again, by the
action of the county comissioners of the date
of the 20th day of December, 1839, section 13

of Salt Creek township, as before stated, situ-

ated west of the Muskingum river and em-
bracing the village of Taylorsville, was de-
tached from said township and made a part of
Harrison Township. This action of the com-
missioners was also asked by the citizens of
the detached territory for the reason they
were separated from the township to which
they belonged by the river, and were further
cut off from their own township by a portion
of Wayne that formerly belonged to Salt Creek
township. These are all the territorial changes
in the township from what it contained as first

established.

Hitherto, previous to entering on the second
decade of the settlement, the daily routine in

each family, year in and year out, had been
much the same. But now visible changes be-

gan to be more and more apparent. The single
room cabin with its outer wall decorated with
the skins of the coon, fox, wolf, deer, bear, and
other wild animals, began to disappear. It was
fast beingsupplanted by the new two-story hewn
log dwelling. Residences of a still more pre-
tentious character also appeared, and before
this second decade had closed, stone, brick and
frame dwellings, of six, eight and ten rooms
each, could be seen in several parts of the
township, farm houses that would to-day be
creditable to any portion of Muskingum county.

New industries other than farming began to

spring into being. Trades, though on a some-
what small scale, yet adequate to the demand
of the community, were introduced. The first

mill erected was enlarged and improved by
the aid of new machinery, so as to convert it

into a general flouring mill, and a saw mill at-

tachment added. Two tanneries were put in

operation, one a half mile north of the present
village of Chandlcrsville by a man named
James Austin, and the other, the pioneer of the
tannery, conducted in the present stone build-
ing in the village, by Samuel Chandler. Other
smaller trades, in those days conducted in rural

communities, followed, but they no longer exist.
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It was during this, the second decade of

the settlement of this township, that the people
were first enabled to introduce somewhat the

habits and customs that attach to social life;

habits and customs that belonged to the com-
munities whence they came. That complete
isolation to which they had been subject only

now existed to a limited extent. These
pioneers were an intelligent body of men and
women. They mingled together on occasions

varied and numerous. They were friends,

sympathic and helpful. The same spirit of

sociability dominated old and young. The
outgrowth of all these new conditions became
manifest. During the decade there were no

less than eighteen marriages in the township.
The contracting parties were in every instance

the son and daughter of a pioneer and were
themselves pioneers. This, too, was a period

of great material prosperity among all the

people of the township, and this fact, coupled
with what has just been narrated as having
taken place, afforded “ confirmation strong ” of

the correctness of the Malthusian theory as to

population.
The early pioneers and settlers of Salt

Creek township were for the most part a re-

ligious people. They had been religiously

educated. They had been accustomed during

the years of their childhood and later on in

early manhood and womanhood to attend upon
church services, and many of them had been
church members. Those who came from the

New England states were all of Puritan stock,

and had been educated in the Congregational
faith and mode of worship. But as the re-

ligious faith and the politics of the church were
quite different things, they cared little for the

latter, so they could entertain their convictions

as to the former. Those who came from Penn-
sylvania and New Jersey were generally Pres-

byterians, or had been so educated, and as

their doctrinal belief was much the same as

that of the Congregationalists of that day there

was no difficulty in the two assimulating under
the Presbyterian faith and mode of worship.

Other denominational creeds and beliefs were
represented among the first pioneers. Of course

coming into a new country where such a thing

as the stated preaching of the Gospel was un-

known, all naturally became luke warm and
apparently somewhat indifferent to their

church vows. But withal, the religious impres-

sions they had received in their earlier years

could not be wholly eradicated, and these had
the effect to restrain and hold in subjection

the passions that otherwise, under the circum-

stances, might have gained the control of their

action. Hence the Sabbath was distinctively

observed as a day of rest if not of worship,
more so than in densely populated communi-
ties. The desecration of its sacred hours, no
matter how, was rarely known, and when
known the entire community would frown upon
the act. Whenever it was announced there was
to be preaching in the neighborhood, no dif-

ference by whom or of what denominational
creed, all made it a business as well as a duty
to attend the services. And until churches
were organized such continued to be the cus-

tom of the neighborhood.
Of the soldiers of the war of 1812, the

writer has only been enabled to obtain the fol-

lowing names: Samuel Chandler, John Clap-
per, William Cunningham, Joseph Linn,

Samuel Bliss and Dr. Daniel Bliss. The latter

engaged in the service as surgeon for a limited

time only and until another could be secured
to take his place. Bliss, (Samuel,) was dis-

charged at the end of two months because of

sickness. Cunnighamwas killed by the Indians
in the battle of Mississinawa on the Wabash.
Chandler in this engagement exhibited so

courageous and conspicuous a daring, that on
the close of the war he was tendered by the

department at Washington the office of Major
in the regular army of the United States. This
honor he declined. The others on the expira-

tion of their respective terms of service re-

turned to their homes.
The pioneers of Salt Creek township took

a large interest in the establishment of schools

and the education of the youth of the neigh-

borhood. To nothing can their descendants
point with a greater degree of pride than to

the high character these schools maintained.

The first brick school house in Muskingum
county was erected in this township. It was a

large and commodious structure capable of

comfortably accommodating sixty to seventy
pupils and provided with desks and other nec-

essary appendages of the school room equal to

any of the present day. The first five male
teachers, commencing with the winter of 1823-

24, who conducted schools successively in this

building were all graduates of American col-

leges. The structure was erected and finished

throughout by private subscription. The first

circulating library in Muskingum county, con-

taining about 150 volumes at first organization,

for that matter, with two exceptions, the first

in all southeastern Ohio, was established in

this township, and so this organization was
kept up until the establishment of Sunday
school libraries about 1830.

The foregoing constitutes, very briefly, an
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account of the principal events in pioneer life

in Salt Creek township. Of what has subse-
quently occurred it is not sufficiently known,
at least to the present inhabitants, to render
any narrative thereof in this connection unnec-
essary. The population of the township at the

different decennial periods since its organiza-

tion, and the names and dates of the commis-
sions of the several postmasters may be a sub-

ject of interest and are herewith given. Popu-
lation 1820, 967; 1830, 1,190; 1840, 1,252;

1850, 1,215; i860, 1,158; 1870, 1,138; 1880, 1,141;

1890, 1,148. Postmasters, Salt Creek, John

Chandler, Octoberi, 1814; John Stevens, Jan-
uary 31, 1829; Nathaniel Chapman, August 3,

1832. Name of the office was changed to Chan-
dlersville January 12, 1843. Chandlersville,

Nathaniel Chapman, January 12, 1843; Isaac

Brittain, December 3, 1845; Llewellyn Pierc e.

T une IQ. 1840: Isaac Brittain,“July 16, 1853;
Thomas W. Crumbaker, May 31, 1861; William
E. Ferguson, March 27, 1869; Israel C. Robin-
son, August 9, 1869; O. H. P. Crumbaker, Oc-
tober 19, 1870; John W. Ludman, September
27, 1889. Duncan’s Falls P. O. was establish-

ed July 24, 1837.

©hapfep XXII.

UNION TOWNSHIP.

P
RIOR to the opening of the Zane Trace,
there were Indian settlements in the town-
ship, notably one on a creek in the south-

ern part of the township, called after a Shawa-
nees chief, White Eyes creek, and another camp
was located in section five. The names of ear-

liest settlers in the township will probably ever
remain unknown, as many of them, after a short
residence, pushed on still farther into the wilds
of the great west. A portion of the township,
the southeast quarter, was reserved by the gov-
ernment for school lands, and many of these
first comers being unable to purchase, squatted
on the school lands. Among those who occu-
pied school lands between 1803 and 1806 were
Henry Hardesty, Peter Monroe, Henry Hardy,
Wm. Newland and Mr. Mullen. About the
same time several families came from Pennsyl-
vania and located in the northeast part of the
township. Thomas Warren located in section

13 on the old Zane road, opening his house for

accommodation of the public in 1804. John
Self took up land on the creek that bears his

name in 1805. Judge David Findley coming
in 1806 purchased land of Henry Reasoner, who
had located in section one in 1804. Samuel
Wilson selected the northwest quarter of
section 11 in 1806, and in 1807 John Haddon
settled on section 8. Wm. Hunter, Robert
Walker and Andrew Lorimer located on sec-

tions 13 and 18, while Ralph Hardesty took a
portion of section 14. From 1806 to 1815 the

settlement grew rapidly. Among those who
came during this period were Adam and Daniel
Bowman, James Cummins, Decker, Simon
Elliott, Joseph Geyer, Wm. Garner, Peter Gal-

ligher, Frederick Henderson, Joseph McCune,
Joseph McKinney, Col. John Reynolds, Wm.
Speer, David Sellers, Isaac Tewalt, Bennett
Vandevert, Benj. Wortman.

Among the pioneers between 1815 and 1835
were Samuel Conners, Wm. McClellan, David
and John Conners, Thomas Pearce, John and
Alexander Brown, Samuel McCormick, John
Barrett, Richard and Isaac Storey, David Stor-

mont, Allen Black, John McLeod, Abraham
Haines, Robert Buchannan, David Sinsabaugh,
James Caldwell, John McClure, Billy McClure,
George Miller, John and Moses Riley and John
Jamison.

New Concord was a requirement of the
days of its organization. The land upon which
it was located was first settled by Henry
Reasoner in 1804. Judge David Findley in

1806 purchased the tract of Mr. Reasoner and
cleared and cultivated the land. In 1827 the
establishing of the national road through his

place prompted Judge P'indley to lay out a

town, which was acomplished March 24, 1828.

The location of the town of Concord and the
description of the plat is recorded as follows:

Plat of the town of Concord, on the first section
of township number one, of the fifth range, U.
S. military district, in Muskingum county, and
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state of Ohio. The lots are all four poles in

front and twelve poles back, each containing
forty-eight square perches. The main street is

eighty feet wide, all other streets are forty-one

feet wide, and the alleys are one perch wide.

The proprietor gives one lot on Second street

for a meeting house and literary purposes. An
addition to the town of Concord was platted

in Sept., 1849 by James Findley and two, Irwin’s

and Speer’s, were platted in 1855.

The opening of the National road was the
signal for the transfer of the bulk of travel from
the old Zane Trace to the new road which, be-

ing better constructed and better kept, made
traveling easier and less expensive. A line of

stage coaches was transferred to the new road,

and to accomodate travelers and freight haul-

ers, taverns sprang up along the road. Many
of those who had formerly lived on the old

Zane Trace now changed their residence to the
new route. Among those who moved was
Joseph McKinney, who had a blacksmith shop
on the old Zane Trace. He opened the first

shop in Concord. His place was the spot
where the Reformed Presbyterian church now
stands. Concord was made a stage station or

rather a relay station, where the six stage horses
driven at full speed from Zanesville, the near-

est station west, were exchanged for fresh

horses. The stage horses were supplied by
Joseph McKinney, who also changed the mails,

he being the first postmaster at Concord, ap-
pointed 1819.

At this time the present flourishing village

had but few houses. There was a house on the
site of Gault’s drug store, one where Mr. Herd-
man’s residence is located. Mrs. Drummond’s
house was built about that time. These houses
were all frame, the pioneers having so far

progressed that even then the day of the log
house was passed. Judge David Findley’s
large brick house was erected in 1828. It was
the first brick house in Concord. It was used
as a tavern and is still standing and apparantly
almost as good as new. It is now known as

the Wilson hotel. Wrn. Galligher kept the
first, and at the time of which we write the
only store, in the building now occupied by
Wm. Given and sons as a meat market. A
achool house occupied the site where the
meeting-house of the United Presbyterian
church now stands. The second store in the
village was that of Thomas McGiffin, who kept
a general store. A Mr. Rogers kept astore be-

tween 1835 ar*b 1840.

The impetus given by the advent of the
National road was not soon checked. To be
sure the growth of the village was slow, but

was a healthy, sure growth. A religious ele-

ment pervaded the entire township and Con-
cord was in 1835 the site of three churches.
Education was demanded by the children of

the pioneers, and a more thorough and exten-
sive education than could be obtained in the
common schools of the time, was greatly de-
sired; hence we find in 1835 a number of those
most interested seeking the establishment of a
college in Concord. A meeting of the citizens

of Concord and vicinity was called on July 9,

1836. After considerable discussion relative to

the needs of such an institution and the advan-
tages to be derived from it, the meeting ad-
journed until the afternoon of August 10,

of same year. Upon this latter date a consti-

tution and by-laws for the management of an
academy were adopted and a board of direct-

ors chosen, consisting of seven members; and
at a subsequent meeting the board of managers
completed and Mr. Andrew B. Black was made
principal of the academy. In the autumn of

the same year the school was opened with very
encouraging prospects. This academy was
successor to the Pleasant Hill academy, con-
ducted in the Presbyterian church, one mile
south of this village. The board taking into

consideration the fact that New Concord was
situated in the heart of a fertile country, thickly
inhabited by a people favorable to literary pur-

suits, and quite remote from any literary insti-

tution, its ease of access- being on the Nati-

onal road—called a meeting of the citizens

with a view to petition the Legislature to grant
them a charter for a college. As a result of

this action a petition was prepared and placed
in the hands of Honorable David Chambers, a

member of the house of representatives. This
petition being presented to the legislature, was
favorably considered and in March, 1837, an
act was passed incorporating Muskingum col-

lege, to be under the management of nine trust-

ees, with power to increase the number to

fifteen. The board immediately took steps to

procure grounds and to erect a college build-

ing. At the meeting of the board, June 14,

1837, a faculty was chosen, consisting of Rev.
Benjamin Waddle, president; Andrew M.
Black, professor of languages; Pdisha McCoy,
professor of mathematics. During the first

year the educational work of the college was
conducted in a rented building, while in the

meantime a college building was in process of

erection and was so rapidly completed as to

allow class room work to be conducted in the

beginning of the second college year. The
energy, perseverance and ability with which
these men were actuated and impelled is de-
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serving of the highest admiration. The build-

ing was rapidly pushed to completion and af-

forded ample facilities for college work at that

time. Rut on the fourth of March, 1851, a de-

structive fire occurred, which partially destroyed
this building, and on the thirteenth of the same
month the board met to take measures to re-

pair the damage done. At this meeting a com-
mittee of citizens waited on the board and
tendered to them a sum of money sufficient to

repair the building.

In 1873 an additional building was erected

on the front of the old one, which greatly im-
proved its appearance, adding to its space and
convenience, and affording the needed addi-

tional room and facilities for educational work.
From the beginning of the college to 1877 it

was entirely under local management, and sup-

ported largely by local patronage; and in order
to advance its utility, a meeting was held on
July 6, 1877, at which it was deemed expedient
for the interests of the institution to extend its

patronage, and with this end in view, they
proffered the college to the control of two
presbyteries of the United Presbyterian church,
viz: Mansfield and Muskingum. After some
consideration on the part of the presbyteries,

the offer was accepted by them, and a board
elected to take the oversight of the institution.

This board met and organized August 28, 1877,
and took steps to secure a change in the char-
ter adapted to the new relations. During the
succeeding five years this denomination con-
tinued its oversight of the college, and took
steps to enlarge the field of its patronage by
tendering the institution to the United Presby-
terian synod of Ohio, which was cheerfully ac-

cepted; and since that time an established and
uniform success has attended its operations.
The college is at the present day under the
management of the Synod of Ohio, and the
board of trustees consists of twenty-one mem-
bers (elected by the synod, ) and the president
of the college, who is a member ex-officio.

The expenses of the college are met in part by
a light tuition, collected from the students, and
by a partial endowment. Special efforts are
now being made to largely increase the endow-
ment fund and greatly enlarge the facilities of
this institution. Upon its first inception the
management confined its privilages to young
gentlemen only, and so operated until March
20, 1854, at which time its management became
conscious that the spirit of thetimes demanded
a change, and young women were admitted to
the privileges of the institution on the same
conditions as young men. The board has never
had cause to regret this action, for the result

has been highly satisfactory both in attendance
and in its beneficial results to both sexes.

While the young women have for the rfiost

part taken the scientific course, yet many have
taken a full classical cousc, and in point of

ability and scholarship have shown themselves
able to compete with the young men in all ed-
ucational work. There are two courses of study,

the classical and scientific. The former requires

six years of earnest work. It has recently been
enlarged, and now compares favorably with the
curicula of other institutions. The student, upon
completing this course, receives the degree of B.

A. The scientific course requires five years of

study. Eight terms of Latin are embraced in

it; Greek and Hebrew are omitted. All the
sciences, and the greater part of mathematics
of the classical course are required in this

course. Its completion entitles the graduate
to the degree of B. S. The college has had
twelve presidents. The first was Rev. Benja-
min Waddle, D. D., who was largely instrument-
al in originating the institution. Mr. Waddle
was twice president—first one year, and then
for three years. Two of the twelve, Rev. J. P.

Lytle, D. D., and Rev. H. P. McClerkin, D. D.,

served one year each as president pro tern.

The longest presidency was held by Rev. David
Paul, D. D., from 1865 to 1879. Dr. Paul was
chiefly instrumental is raising the college to the
favorable position it occupies to-day in the
rank of educational institutions. The present
incumbent, Rev. John D. Irons, D. D., has oc-

cupied the position for three years, and his

efforts have been crowned with the highest
success in placing every department of this in-

stitution upon the most healthful basis, making
it to-day one of the most vitalizing and pros-

perous educational institutions in the state. The
alumni of this college comprise men who are
prominent to-day in the ministry, in the field

of letters, and among the professions and busi-

ness men in various sections of the Union. The
following are the members of the present board
of trustees: Term expires 1891—Rev. W. II.

McP’arland. Cambridge, Ohio; Rev. J. T. Camp-
bell, Kimbolton, Ohio; Rev. J. J. Madge, Dal-
ton, Ohio; Rev. J. W. Martin, Mt. Perry, Ohio;
Rev. W. H. Vincent, Mansfield, Ohio; Rev. 1 .

G. Kennedy, WellsviUe, Ohio; Henry McCreary,
M. D., New Concord, Ohio. Term expires in

1892— Rev. J. P. Lytle, D. D., Sago, Ohio; I).

E. Ralston, Esq., New Concord, Ohio; Rev. C.
L. White, Galligher, Ohio; Rev. W. R. 1 larshaw,
Steubenville, Ohio; Samuel Harper, Esq., New
Concord, Ohio; Samuel Smiley, Esq., Sago,
Ohio; John E. Sankey, Esq., Cambridge, Ohio.
Term expires 1893- Rev. David Paul, 1). ]).,
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New Concord, Ohio; Rev. W. G. Waddle, D.
D., New Athens, Ohio; Rev. John A. Wilson,
D. D., Wooster, Ohio; Rev. D. K. McKnight,
Rix’s Mills, Ohio; Rev. J. S. McMunn, Mechan-
icstown, Ohio; Rev. A. E. Brownlee, Martin’s

Ferry, Ohio; W. W. McKinney, Esq., New
Concord, Ohio. Officers of the board: Rev.

J. P. Lytle, D. D., Sago, Ohio, president; Henry
McCreary, M. D., New Concord, Ohio, secre-

tary and treasurer. The executive committee
are: Rev. J. D. Irons, D. D., chairman; Rev. J.

P. Lytle, D. D.
;
Rev. David Paul, D. D.; L. J.

Graham, treasurer and financial secretary, John
E. Sankey, and D. E. Ralston, Esq. The fac-

ulty comprises men of eminence in scienceand
literature, and will compare favorably in their

accomplishments and as educators with those
of any of the prominent educational institutions

of the country. The faculty of the college are:

Rev. John D. Irons, D. D., president, and pro-

fessor of mental, moral and political science,

and Hebrew; Rev. J. A. Gray. A. M., professor

of mathematics and logic; T. H. Paden, A. M.,

professor of Latin and Greek languages; John
McBurney, A. M., Ph. D., professor of natural

sciences; Eva M. Grier,- A. M., professor of

English language and literature; Jesse Johnson,
A. M., professor of Hebrew and Greek; Mary
Miller, A. M.,teacher of French and German. Mu-
sic—J. W. Brown, organ and harmony ;

Dora E.

Martin, piano and voice; Nellie Harris, B. S.

teacher in art. Officers of the faculty: John D.

Irons, president; T. H. Paden, secretary. This
institution issues an annual catalogue, which
will be forwarded upon request, and commends
itself to the consideration of young women and
young men in all sections of the country, to

which we refer, for the liberal terms of tuition,

etc. The advantages of this place are more
fully set forth in the general articles upon the

village.

The alumni of the college number 282 per-

sons, 210 of whom are males, 72 females. Of
these, 125 are ministers, icofthe alumni are for-

eign missionaries, one of whom is supported by
the students in college. Among those who have
graduated from Muskingum college who have
attained distinction and prominence, we find

W. R. Harper, Ph. D., president of Chicago
university; W. G. Morehead, D. D., Professor of

Theological seminary, Xenia, Ohio; D. A.
McClennahan, D. D., Professor in Allegheny
Theological seminary, Pa.; H. T. Sudduth, A.
M., Professor in State university, Athens, Ohio;
W. O. Thompson, A. M., president of Long-
mont college, Longmont, Colorado; T. A.
Smith, Ph. D., professor in Beloit college,

Beloit, Wis.

Two societies composed of students of the
college, exert a strong refining and moral influ-

ence on the young people of the town. These
societies are the Young Men’s Christian asso-
ciation and the Young Women’s Christian
association. Of the former, R. L. Warrick is

president; J. D. Chisholm, vice-president; J. H.
White, secretary; L. A. Taylor, treasurer; H.
F. Lyle, corresponding secretary. Of the last

named association, Miss Ida Carter is president
and Miss Lydia Finley is secretary. The col-

lege has a fine orchestra, composed of students
and teachers.

In 1878 the New Concord graded school
building was erected. It is a handsome two-
story brick structure 40x70 feet in dimensions,
containing four rooms with a seating capacity
for 200 pupils. The citizens of New Concord
point with just pride to this beautiful struct-

ure where the youth have all the comforts and
advantages of more pretentious institutions.

Prof. A. H. McCulloch is the superintendent,
and is assisted by an able corps of teachers.

The musical department in Muskingum col-

lege affords exceptional opportunities for the
cultivation of this art, and the people of Con-
cord invariably avail themselves of the advan-
tages thus afforded. Scarcely a home may be
found in the village where there are sons or
daughters old enough to study music, but there
is found a piano, organ, or stringed instrument.
Musical entertainments are of frequent occur-
rence, and the refining and elevating influence

of music is here strongly demonstrated. In
addition to the music of the homes, the town
supports an excellent musical organization in

the New Concord Silver Cornet band, which
was organized in 1888. The band is composed
of twelve members. W. I. Miller is the leader;

J. W Ramsey, president; A. A. McBride, sec-

retary; Hugh Given, treasurer.

In New Concord are now twenty-two busi-

ness houses, saw mill, flour mill, planing mill,

cigar factory, one bank, two wagon shops,
three blacksmith shops, one livery stable, two
coal yards and two hotels, United States ex-
press, Western Union telegraph.

The postoffice was established in 1829. Jo-
seph McKinney was the first postmaster; he
held the office until 1845, when William Mc-
Lain was appointed. Noble Kelly, Ichabod
Drummond and Joseph McKinney have had
the office since that time. Jacob Herdman is

the present postmaster, and is assisted by his

daughter.
In 1888 a town hall was erected. It is built

of red pressed brick with stone trimmings, the
front gable of stucco. Its dimensions are 53
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feet front by 104 feet in depth. The basement
is used for the fire department and is fully

equipped with ladders, buckets and truck.

The ground floor contains two of the finest

business rooms in the village, besides the may-
or’s office and justice of the peace court room.
The second floor contains a fine public hall

with a seating capacity of 1,800 people, besides

the council chamber and library room. The
third floor is arranged as a banqueting hall,

with kitchen, pantry, etc., attached The
building cost the village $16,000, and is a credit

to the town and county. To erect this build-

ing the village issued thirty-two bonds of $500
each, which when sold yielded $16,240.90.

The Baptist church in New Concord was
organized September 26, 1829, and the meet-
ings were first held in Norwich. Revs. Will-

iam Reese, William Spencer, William Magow-
ers and others performed much ministerial

work extending over the county and into re-

gions beyond. A small house of worship was
built in New Concord about 1836, the first in

the new town. The present meeting house
was erected in i860. Some of the families that

were connected with the church in its early
history were Josiah Miller’s, James Tulk’s, Ste-

phen Williams’, Fraser Storer’s, Levi Hughes’,
Thomas Smith’s, Reuben Case’s and others re-

siding in the country. The first pastor was
William Reese. A number of young men have
entered the ministry, and several of them were
students in Muskingum college. Of these E.
O. Town, Enoch Tilden, A. W. Hall, James
Herbert, C. N. Harford, W. H. McKinney, A.
L. Wilson and several others have been long
known for their work’s sake. The present pas-
tor is B. Y. Siegfried, who continues in active
service, and has been a successful minister for

over fifty years, more than half of that time in

Muskingum and Guernsey counties.
The Associate Reformed Congregation was

organized about 1812. The first church build-
ing was erected about one mile north of New
Concord. The congregation continued for

many years to worship and bury their dead
near the same location. Eventually the place
of worship was changed to the village of New
Concord. A large frame church building was
erected, which is still used. The first pastor of
the Associate Reformed congregation then
called Crooked creek, was Rev. David Proudfit,
who was installed pastor April 21, 1824, who
served until his death. Mr.Johnson Welsh was
ordained and installed as pastor April 22, 1835.
Later Benjamin Waddle became pastor of
Crooked creek, Salt creek, Lebanon and East
Union.

18

About 1852 a movement was set on foot to

organize an Associate congregation in New
Concord. The organization was effected by the
election of Hon. Samuel Bigger, Mr. Law, R. R.

Moore, Elijah Coulter and Robert Harper as

elders. For some time Rev. Samuel McArthur,
who was then president of Muskingum col-

lege, acted as pastor. Rev. James M. Hender-
son became pastor in 1855 and was pastor at

the time of the union of the Associate and As-
sociate Reformed churches in 1858. In 1859
he resigned this charge in order that the con-
gregation might unite with the Associate Re-
formed congregation, which had been vacated
by Dr. Waddle in 1858. The United congre-
gation is now known as the United Presby-
terian congregation of New Concord. Its first

pastor was Rev. J. C. Minich. He continued
in charge from February i860, to IAbruary
1876. Since July 1876, Rev. David Paul, D. D.,

has been pastor. The membership is about 330.

The first step toward the organization of

New Concord Presbyterian church was occa-
sional preaching by traveling ministers who, as

theyjourneyedeast arid west, filled an occasional
appointment. In the year 1804 the Rev. John
W right, going on a journey

,
lodged with M r. Joh n

Reasoner, in New Concord. An appointment
was made for him and an encouraging congre-
gation was gathered and services were held
near the present site of Mr. Reasoner’s barn and
for a time such services were usually held at

Mr. Reasoner’s house or in the vicinity. The
church is supposed to have been organized by
Rev. James Robinson, in the year 1818. Mr.
Robinson was succeeded in October 1819 by'

Rev. Samuel Baldridge. At this time preach-
ing services were held in a tent near Pleasant

Hill spring, in barns and in private houses.

During Mr. Baldridge’s ministry, a frame
church building was erected forty feet square,

with a second story to be used as an academy'.
In 1823 Mr. Baldridge left for the west.

Rev. Mr. Clark held communion serv-

ices in 1825, and Rev. Mr. McMillan in 1826.

In the year 1827, Rev. James Arbuthnot was
ordained and installed pastor of the churches
of Pleasant Hill and Salt Creek. Mr. Arbuth-
not had charge of these churches from the

spring of 1827 to the fall of 1830. On Oct. 27,

1828, he organized the church of Norwich, of

which he also became pastor. Rev. Samuel
Wilson was ordained and installed over the

united churches of Pleasant Hill, Norwich,
and Salt Creek, April 5, 1832, giving to each
one third of his time, and receiving from each,

one third of his salary of $400. This arrange-

ment continued for seven years, when Pleasant
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Hill and Norwich applied each for one third

of his time, and Mr. Wilson was released from
Salt Creek. This pastorate continued for thir-

ty six years and was interrupted only by the in-

firmities of age and failing health of the pastor.

In the years 1849-50, this congregation
rebuilt and enlarged their house of worship.
After Mr. Wilson’s resignation, Rev. N. C.

Helfrich became pastor of the united charge.

His labors in Pleasant Hill church began on
the second Sabbath of June, 1870, and on the

10th day of November he was installed. His
labors with this church terminated October 25,

1874. Rev. Faris Brown became stated supply
of the churches of New Concord and Norwich,
September 10, 1875, and November 21, 1876, he
was installed pastor of these churches, which
relation still continues. In the year 1872, a

new site having been obtained in the village of

New Concord, a new church building was erec-

ted thereon, at a cost of about $4,000. The
name of the church was changed from Pleasant

Hill to New Concord, by act of Presbytery. Dur-
ing the present pastorate of fifteen and a half

years, 324 members have been received to its

communion, 141 persons have been baptized,

38 adults, 103 infants. Its present membership
is 200.

The Reformed Presbyterian church, of New
Concord was known as Salt Creek, until 1871.

The first Covenanter known to settlers in this

vicinity was Mathew Mitchell, who came with his

family from ‘‘the forks of the Yough” in Penn-
sylvania in 1804. Later came John Jamison,
Wm. Robinson and Samuel McCutcheon. Their
families constituted a praying society and un-
furled the banner of the Covenant. They were
occasionally visited by Revs. John Black and
Matthew Williams. In the summer of 1814,

Rev. Robert Wallace, who is the father of

Covenanterism in Ohio began missionary work
principally at Utica and Chillicothe. In 1815
he providentially met Neal McNaughton, at a

hotel in Zanesville, who took him to his home,
where Mr. Wallace preached the following
Sabbath. The society continued to grow under
his occasional ministrations until the organiza-
tion of the congregation in June, 1821, by the
election of John Auld and John Jamison,
ruling elders. The communion was soon after-

ward dispersed and Mr. Wallace was assisted

by the Rev. Charles B. McKee. The services

were held in the woods near the farm of Mr.
McCutcheon, and the following forty members
communed at the first sacrement: John and
Mary Auld; John and Margaret Jamison; Mrs.
Black, Robert and Elizabeth Brown; Mathew,
Mary, Rachel and Rebecca Calhoun; Betsy

Cunningham; Eleanor Forsythe; Alexander
and Mrs. George; Mathew, Sr., Mathew, Jr.,

and Mrs. Mitchell; Samuel, Isabel, Sr., Isabel,

Jr., James and Anna McCutcheon; Neal and
Mary McNaughton; Wm. Robinson; Joseph,
Ann, James and Jane Sterrett; Thomas, Mary,
Sr., Mary, Jr., William, James and Archibald
Stevenson; David and Mary Sims; Jacob and
Anna Wortman. All these are now dead.
John Auld, John Jamison, David and Benjamin
Wallace, David Hawthorne, Richard and
Thomas McGee, Archibald and Wm. Steven-
son, Walter McCrea, David Stormont, William
and Thomas Wylie, John Gibson, William For-
sythe, William Speer, William Elliot, Thomas
Stewart, John Taylor, James McCartney,
Samuel Mitchell, James R. Willson, Hugh
Patterson, and John C. Robb.

In October, 1823, Mr. Wallace was installed

pastor, and also preached at Jonathan’s Creek,
Muskingum and Wills Creek. Mr. Wallace
died in July, 1849. In October, 1850, the Rev.
Hugh P. McClurken was installed, and re-

mained almost interruptedly for thirty-two
years, and until his release in October, 1882.

The Rev. James M. Faris, the present pastor
was installed July 3, 1884.

Hanson Post, No. 468, G. A. R., and New
Concord Lodge, No, 761, I. O. 0 . F., are both in

a flourishing condition.
In 1880 Mr. C. B. McKee established the

Weekly Enterprise which met the encouragement
it merited. In the spring 1881 the present
editor and proprietor, Mr. J. H. Aikin, pur-
chased a half interest, and in December he
bought out his partner and assumed entire con-
trol. The Enterprise is a seven column folio, is

a spicy, newsy paper devoted entirely to local

interests and local news, and enjoys a good
patronage.

The opening of the National Road brought
many new settlers to Union township. This
fact prompted William Harper to plat a town
in 1827, which was incorporated six years later.

This town, Norwich, is in section seven, the
National Road being the main street of the
village. Probably the first house erected on
the site of the village was a boarding house or

tavern erected by Samuel McCloud. After
ward a hotel was kept by Reuben Whittaker.
A store, probably the first in the place, was kept
by Thos. Maxfield.

The schools of Norwich are graded. This
system was adopted in 1884. At this date a

new building was erected at a cost of $2,300.

The building contains two rooms, but is con-
sidered inadequate to the necessities of the

fapidly increasing attendance of pupils. The
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schools are in good condition. Charles Fulk-

erson is principal, Miss Rose Scott, assistant.

The United Presbyterian church of Nor-
wich was organized about i860, by members of

churches of this denomination who were joined

by dissenting members of other churches in

Norwich. Some of the pastors were Rev. Boyd,
Rev. Hutchinson, Rev. Ur. Paul, Rev. Huston,
Rev. Dr. Spencer and the present pastor, Rev.
Wyatt. A meeting house was erected shortly

after the organization of the church. The site

selected was the north side of Main street near

the center of Norwich. The building is frame
and with the grounds on which it stands is

worth 582,500. It has a seating capacity of

300.

The Norwich Presbyterian church was or-

ganized October 27, 1828, by Rev. James Ar-
buthnot, under authority granted by Pres-

bytery of Lancaster, September 30, 1828.

Its church building is located on an eminence
at the west end of the village of Norwich.
This organization was mainly constituted of

members from the Pleasant Hill Presbyterian
church. Its first pastor was Rev. James Ar-
buthnot. This pastorate continued for about
two years. The original elders, elected at its

organization, were Robert Miller, John Jami-
son, John Wycoff and Wm. McLoughlin. Its

first trustees were Robert Miller, John Mc-
Curdy, John Wycoff, Peter Galligher, John
Crawford and Benjamin Wortman. In August
29, 1831, a call was made for the services of

Rev. Samuel Wilson, which was accepted by
him and he was ordained and installed April

5, 1832. This congregation worshiped in a

small frame house, perhaps 25x35 feet, with a

rough platform for a pulpit. In the year 1839
they built a brick meeting-house 64x45, which
in a brief spa,ce after being occupied, was free

from all debt. In the year 1852 the brick

church was superseded by the present frame
building. Mr. Wilson continued to be pastor
of this church until April 28, 1868, when on
account of failing health the pastoral relation

was dissolved, making a pastorate of thirty-six

years and twenty-three days. During this pas-

torate, about 700 persons were received to the
communion of the churches of Pleasant Hill

and Norwich. Of these nearly 500 were on
profession of faith and about 200 by letter from
other churches. About 600 persons were bap-
tized

;
of these nearly 500 were infants and nearly

125 adults. The present membership is 186.

Duncan’s P^alls Presbyterian Church was or-

ganized May 20, 1852, by a committee acting
under authority of the Presbytery of Zanes-
ville. The members of this committee were
Rev. M. A. Hays, Rev. W. M. Fergusort and
Elder Samuel Milhous. The congregation or-

ganized with nineteen members, seventeen of

whom held letters from other congregations;
the remaining two were received after exami-
nation. The first deacons were James Irwin,

John B. Peairs and Joseph Peairs. The first

pastor was Wm. M. Grimes, who served the
church for three years and was succeeded by
Rev. M. Livingston, whose pastorate continued
only one year. John Kelly was the third in

charge of the congregation and remained with
the church six years. The next, Henry Ful-
ton, remained with the congregation longest of

any pastor,—six and a half years. Then fol-

lowed Martin L. Donohue, two and a half

years; David M. Williamson, six years; James
A. Baldridge, four years; and in 1887 Pidward
W. Brown, the present pastor, who has minis-
tered to the spiritual wants of the church con-
tinuously since that date. Immediately after

its organization in 1852 a meeting-house was
erected at a cost of $2,000. The church has a
membership of ninety.

©f?aptep XXIII.

ADAMS TOWNSHIP.

AS near as can be ascertained the first settler county, and settled on Wakatomaka creek, near
within the bounds of what is now Adams Dresden, and in 1808-10 settled on Wills creek
township was James Wilcox, who was of in what is now Adams township. The town-

English descent and came from a seafaring ship being an entire wilderness, he built a hut
family who were early settlers of the state of of brush and bark in which he lived until he
Maine. James Wilcox first went to Marietta could build a log cabin in which to shelter his
and then came to what is now Muskingum family. Bear, wolves and panther abounded,
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and his hogs had to be kept in a close pen to

keep them from being devoured. One night
he heard them squealing in terror and, seizing

his ax, an implement which the old pioneer
kept handy, not only for use but for defense,

he sprang out and would have attacked bruin

single handed, when his faithful wife, who was
Rebecca Campbell, from Virginia, seized him
by his hunting shirt and held him back. The
bear sprang through the side of the pen and
escaped, and the hogs following, were scattered

through the woods in all directions. Mr. Wil-
cox cleared up his farm and reared a large

family of children, and some of his descend-
ants are citizens of this county and township.
Among the next earliest pioneers were David

Brelsford and Jacob Hashmar, and Hugh Bal-

lentine, who settled on the bend of Wills
creek. About 1814, Abraham Wisecarver set-

tled on Section 18. Caleb Bidwell, Samuel
Monroe, Robt. Osborn and Wm. Barton were
early settlers. In 1817 Valentine Shirer from
Pennsylvania settled on Section 16. In 1812

James Sprague and Sons of Monroe township,
cut out the first road, which ran through
Adams township. It was from the settlement
on Symmes creek to Otsego, in Monroe town-
ship.

Before there were any settlers in this town-
ship, there was a trail from Cambridge to the
salt works, at the mouth of Wills creek, which
was originally a deer trail, and at a long time
previous to the settlement of Wilcox, the In-

dian scout and intrepid hunter and trapper
passed over this trail. Probably about 1818 it

was open for teams. Another road through
the township was from Mechanicsville to Mar-
quand’s Mills, which was first laid out by Jona-
than and Stephen Starkey, in 1821. The for-

mer picked it out, and the latter measured the

distance by following at the supposed rate of

three miles an hour.

In 1814, Benjamin “Stuffle” Whitabury,
with his step-sons, John and Wm. Campbell,
and his step-sons-in-law, Jock Lewis and John
Rife, came from Vermont. Whitabury settled

on the Hanks farm. Wm. Campbell settled on
the Foutch tract. Jock Lewis settled near the
mouth of Symmes Creek. John Campbell
“squatted” on the south part of the old Gordon
farm, afterwards owned by Nixon Stewart and
John Rife, and only a little distance from
Whitabury, who expected to own a fine strip

of land to the east and southwest of him. It

seems that John Campbell was a squatter for

five years and then bought his land, which he
owned eight years, and sold out in 1828 and
went West.

In March, 1818, Anthony Slater, Esq., cut
his way through the woods and settled on the
homestead where he so long resided. He was
from near Leesburg, Loudon Co., Va., and emi-
grated to Ohio in 1816 and settled in Washing-
ton Township this county. He built a log cabin
and afterwards, in 1828, a hewed log house.
He assisted in building the New Hope Lutheran
church of hewed logs, in Salem township, and
also the Bainter school house in Monroe town-
ship, which was one of the earliest school houses
in this part of the county. He was one of the
early justices of the peace of Monroe township
before Adams township was formed, and him-
self and Sq. Caleb Jordan were the first justices

of the peace of Adams township. Mr. Slater
was justice of the peace for twenty-one years in

succession. The first couple he married were
Alpha Buker and his first wife. Mr. Slater

went to mill and for mail to Zanesville, eighteen
miles away. Letters from his parents in Penn-
sylvania cost 1

8

54 cents postage. The last

bear known to have been killed in this town-
ship, was on Mr. Slater’s farm, and met his

death there at the hands of the famous hunters,

H. and D. Bainter, in 1816. Anthony Slater

was the ancestor of George W. and Harrison V.
Slater, of this township, (see sketches). In

1818, Jacob Sturtz, a pioneer settler of Wash-
ington township, settled on land owned by
George W. Bell. He understood the use of all

kinds of tools. He was a fair blacksmith, gun-
smith and carpenter, and made gunpowder
which was sold. His descendants rank among
our most honorable citizens. Charles Sturtz,

son of Jacob Sturtz, came with his father to

Adams township when he was six years of age
and grew up with the pioneers. When young,
he was a great hunter, and became a substan-
tial farmer and business man. He is' now a

venerable man in his eightieth year and has
many reminiscences of pioneer days. In

1818-19, Charles Marquand Sr., and Stephen
Starkey, petitioned congress to reduce the
price of land from $4.00 to 82.25 per acre, and
to sell it in smaller lots than 160 acres, which
previous to this was the smallest amount which
could be purchased. This opened the way for

a rapid settlement of the township and men
from New England, Virginians, Pennsylvanians,
Germans and Irish came in bringing their fam-
ilies. In 1820, John Barrett came here from
Salt creek and was followed by John Bell,, of

Perry township, who was a soldier in the war
of 1812, and reared a large and respectable
family of children. He settled in Perry town-
ship in 181 1.

In 1830 Basil Ridgway came from Belmont
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county. He was secretary of the board of

trustees of Edwards, now Fairview church, in

1836-1838. In the spring of 1821 (some au-

thorities say as early as 1818-1819,) Mordecai
Edwards came from Salt creek and put up a

little log cabin on the farm where his son Wil-
liam now lives. “Father Edwards,” as he was
known to the pioneers, was the stanch friend

of the Christian religion and of education, and
his influence as one of the founders of the

Edwards school and Fairview church, has been
far-reaching, extending not only to this genera-
tion and this township, but to many generations

to come and throughout the country. He
entered the land on which he built his humble
cabin, and cleared up his farm from the heavy
timber. His wife was Phoebe Barrett. They
attended the old Methodist church at Wheel-
ens, of which Mrs. Edwards was a member,
and both were members of the original class

formed by the Rev. Jesse Roe, called Bethesda,
and also of the first Fairview society, the his-

tory of which could not be written without giv-

ing an account of his connection with it. After-

wards came the Millers, Swigers, Shanafelts,

Davises, Yearians, Fillers, Crumbakers, and
many others.

In 1826, on account of the inconvenience
in working the roads, Adams township was
formed from Monroe and Madison. It was
named Adams, at the suggestion of Caleb Jor-
dan, Esq., and in honor of John Q. Adams,
then a candidate for president. Soon after

this Solomon Wenna came with his family. In

1826 James Stewart came from Jefferson
county.

In 1827 John Wagoner moved here. David
Ross came the same year. John Ross was a

local director about twenty years and at his

death was justice of the peace. Jacob Gaumer,
Jr., came to Ohio in 1808 with his father, Jacob
Gaumer,who was a Revolutionary soldier and
settled first in Washington township and then in

Salem township, giving two acres of his land
for the Lutheran church. Jacob Gaumer, Jr.,

after marriage, in 1814, moved with his family
through the woods and settled in Adams town-
ship, on the land now occupied by Geo. W.
Bell. He was a noted hunter and selected this

land on one of his hunting excursions. He
built the first brick house in Adams township.
The brick were made and burned on his farm
in 1840 and the building was erected in 1841,

and is still in good condition. Mr. Gaumer
assisted to build the log Lutheran church and
also the barn structure which took its place.

He was a soldier in the war of 1812.

Among the first settlers was David Henry,

a squatter on the Crumbaker farm. “Pensioner
Davis,” a Revolutionary soldier, lived on the
Knisely lot, and afterwards moved into a rail

pen just below D. Sarbaugh. Joe Williams, a

blacksmith on the D. Ross farm. He moved
away in 1819. In 1823 S. J. Hanks settled on
Section 25. In 1831 Jacob Wagoner settled on
Section 24. P'rom 1825-1835 many families

came and went. Campbells, Stoners, Cruse-
mans, Sturges, Starkeys, Shanafelts, Yearians,
and others had left. But Joys, Melchers,
Powelsons, Ramseys, Sandels, Mitchells,

Shaws, Sarbaughs, Jordans, Tomlinsons, Rol-
lings, Rollers, Cooneys, Shoemakers, Millers,

Browns, Priors, came into the township.
Among others the Vinsels have figured much
to the credit of the township. The Swarts
family have been publicly known, and have
a wide influence.

The Shaws became public business men and
have wielded much power. The Taffies have
been helpers for good in the community, and
loyal to their country in war. George Wertz,
Ivsq., reared a family who are ornaments of

society and of strict integrity. Among the
original pioneers large families were the rule,

and it is worthy of note that Asa Brown, a set-

tler on the old Stewart farm, had a family of

eighteen children. In 1833 the first saw-mill
was built by David Swigert on Section 23. In

1835 E)avid Brelsford built a saw-mill on the
river bearing his name. A saw-mill was also

built by William Willis on Symmes creek; date
is unknown.

The first marriage of which there is any rec-

ord in the township was solemnized between
David Shirer and Lydia Gaumer in 1822. The
first blacksmith was David Brelsford in 1810;

settled on Section 1. Phineas Tomlinson was
also one of the first blacksmiths in the town-
ship. The first frame house was built by Will-
iam Barton. Anthony Slater introduced the
first threshing machine and the first mower into

this township.
A petition was presented by Caleb Jordan,

Fisq., signed by a number ot citizens of Madi-
son and Monroe townships, setting forth that

they labor under many difficulties and disad-

vantages in consequence of the distance they
have to travel to elections, and praying that a
township maybe set off of part of Monroe and
Madison townships, and the commissioners be-

lieving the prayer of the petitioners necessary
for the convenience of the inhabitants and
township officers, do hereby order a new town-
ship to be set off according to the following
boundaries, to-wit: Beginning at the northeast
corner of Salem township line and running
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thence west along said line to the northwest
corner of said line; thence north to Coshocton
county line; thence east to the northwest corner
of the original survey of township No. 3, range

5; thence south to the place of beginning,
comprising the original surveyed township No.

3 in the 6th range of military land, which shall

constitute a new township to be called Adams
township. Also ordered by the commission-
ers, that an election be held at the house of

Caleb Jordan, Esq., on the 1st day of January
next, being January I, 1827, to elect township
officers for the township. December 5, 1826.”

An election was held at the house of Caleb
Jordan, Esq., and a full set of officers, except
justices of the peace, were elected viva voce.

Caleb Jordan was a resident of Madison town-
ship in section 14, and justice of the peace, and
Anthony Slater was a resident of Monroe
township and a justice of the peace, and both
were included in the new township. As “ viva
voce" was not a legal method of voting, this

election was declared null, and a new election

ordered. The place was near the present town
house on section 18, at the residence of John
Campbell, and it took place April 2, 1827. Ca-
leb Jordan was appointed clerk; James Wilcox,
Anthony Slater and Jesse Roe were appointed
judges of the election, which resulted as fol-

lows: Town clerk, Caleb Jordan; trustees, An-
thony Slater, James Wilcox and Benjamin
Whitebury; overseers of the poor, Abraham
Wisecarver and David Ross; fence viewers,

Jacob Sturtz and Powell Chrisman; treasurer,

John Campbell; constables, John Shanafelt
and John Mullen; supervisors, David Swiger,
Thomas Green, Francis Titus and Robert
Brown. The first grand juror was Jesse Roe;
the first petit juror was Mathew Humphrey.
In 1829 the election w'as at the house of Adam
Miller, and afterward alternated between pri-

vate houses and schoolhouses. In 1876 a town
house was erected on land belonging to Mary
Stewart in section 18.

The Bethesda M. E. church is the oldest

religious organization within the bounds of

Adams township. Its origin can be traced to

“Wheelens” in Madison township, which was
the place of worship for the original pioneers
for many miles around. It is now forsaken
and the humble church residence is in ruins.

On the authority of Rev. Hugh W. Stewart,
who was born and reared in Adams township
and took a great interest in its history, we
make the statement that the first sermon in

Adams township was preached in the neigh-
borhood of Bethesda in 1821 by Rev. Jesse
Roe, who was a very zealous local preacher

of the Wesleyan stamp, and was the real

founder of both the Bethesda and Fairview
societies.

In 1826 a class was first organized at the
residence of John E. Honnold and consisted
of the following persons: Jesse Roe, James
Stewart, Mordccai Edwards, John E. Honnold
and their wives. This class sometimes met at

a school house, at others at the house of Rev.
Roe.

In 1827 a class was organized by Joseph
Casper and Cornelius Springer at Jesse Roe’s
school house. It was composed of Jesse Roe,
Margaret his wife, and their son Thomas,
James Stewrart, Margaret his wife, and their

son John; Mordecai Edwards and wife; Will-

iam Barton, Jane his wife, their son Alexander
and daughter Sarah; Caleb Bidwell and wife.

James Stewart was the class leader. Rev.

Jesse Roe was largely instrumental in intro-

ducing Methodism into Adams township. He
lived the life of a devout Christian and died
strong in the faith he had preached to others.

A log church w-as built in 1835, ar*d dedi-

cated by Rev. H. S. Fernandes—the text being
Genesis xxviii: 16, 17. A white frame church
was dedicated by W. F. Lauck in 1856, and
marks the old site. At this date, June, 1892, a

movement is on foot for the erection of a new
and more elegant structure. The orginal

members of Roe’s or Bethesda church, in 1831,

we give in full. The records from which this

is taken are still preserved but very much
worn, and contain nothing further of interest.

The list shows wrho constituted the class from
which Fairview church sprang. It was led by
James Stewart, Sr. James Stewart, class leader;

Margaret Stewart, John Stewart, James Stew-
art, Jr., Jane Stewart, Ann Stewart, Samuel
Steadman, Martha Steadman, Mordecai Ed-
wards, Phoebe Edwards, Margaret Roe, Mary
Noble, Nancy Barclay, Robert Shields, Susanna
Shields, James Armstrong, Rachel Armstrong,
Mary Hill, Mary Steers, Win. Hilling, Pleasant

Hilling, Mary Winner, Aaron Winner, Eliza-

beth Miller, Jeremiah Hanks, Catherine Hanks,
Helen Hanks, Martha Lucas, Mary Ridgway,
Wm. Collins, Pdizabeth Collins, Margaret
Burnside, Jane Burnside, John E. Honnold,
Mary Honnold, Catherine Jackson, Jane
Needier, Elizabeth Titus, Mary Titus, 1st;

Mary Titus, 2nd; Harriet Armstrong, Jacob
Linder, Alice Linder, Adam Miller, Mary
Stump, George Needier, Benjamin Stump, Will-

iam Davis, Rebecca Davis, Jane Yearing,

Jacob Yearing, Catherine Davis, Nixon Stewart,

Elizabeth Snoots, Elizabeth Wilcox, Elizabeth

Walls, Charlotte Larnum, Mary Seaborn, Eliza-
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beth Hanks, Mary J. Steers, Mary Winner,

Eliza Atchison, Francisaum Roe, Lavinia

Hill, Sarah Hecathorn, Robert Roe, Christian

Hecathorn, Mary A. Davis, Elizabeth Guyer,

Amelia Steers, Rhoda Atchison, Sarah

Florence, Lydia James, Anice Atchison,

George Parsmore, Margaret Humphries, Eliza-

beth Stewart, Jane Gregg, Samuel Titus. John
Titus, Alvira Linder.

Rev. Jesse Roe was a zealous Methodist
preacher of the pioneer type. He was the real

founder of both Bethesda and P'airview church.

He was largely instrumental in the spread of

Methodism in this part of the county, and the

marks of his efforts are very plain to the his-

torian. He died in 1828 in the faith he had
preached to others, and was buried in the

Wheelens graveyard. Before the church was
built, the land adjoining the church site was
bought by Robt. Shields and Robt. Halsty for

burial purposes. The first burial therein was
Jonathan Rudd’s child. In 1882, the number of

church members was go. The leaders were
Nathan Ross, John Foster and Samuel W. Sut-

ton, Jr. The Bethesda church is now in a

flourishing condition and one of the most zeal-

ous Methodist churches in the county.

No history of Adams township would be

complete with a full account of the founding
and progress of the famous P'airview church,

which from the times of the pioneers, has been
the most noted church in Adams township and
for miles around. Its converts are numbered
by the hundreds, and many of the Methodists
of this county and in far distant places became
connected with their church in this township.

It is the second oldest church organization in

what is now Adams township, although the

original pioneer settlers of Adams township
first attended the Methodist church at “Wheel-
ens,” probably as early as 1810-15, which is

situated in the King neighborhood in Madison
township. From Wheelens originated the soci-

ety called Roe’s, now Bethesda, and here our
fathers and mothers attended divine services,

until the neighborhood some four or five miles

southeast became settled with Methodists and
their friends. A branch from the old society

was soon formed in this neighborhood, called by
some Pldwards, and some Wesley, and after-

wards known as P'airview society. Many of

the early members of P'airview church, when it

was organized in 1831 and the few succeeding
years, were received from Roe’s, or Bethesda
church. In fact, Mordecai Edwards and his

wife were both members of Roe’s church, as

were also Wm. Hilling and wife and John Stew-
art, Wm. Davis and other prominent members.

These two pure fountains of Christian life, one
flowing from Wheelens and the other from
Roe’s societies, unite with the Edwards’ neigh-
borhood, to form P'airview church.

The services continued to be held at the house
of “Father Pldwards,” as he was called, until

1828, when a log school house having been
erected on his farm, it was found more con-
venient to meet there. In this building a few
would meet for prayer and class, and at times
for preaching under Rev. Roe, and other times
listening to exhortations by Bro. Granville
Moody, then a licensed exhorter and afterwards
an eminent Methodist minister. In the fall

of 1831 a class was formed by Rev. John W.
Guilbert, then pastor in charge of Cambridge
circuit, appointing Thos. Roe as leader. The
first recorded meeting of the class was May 4,

1833. There were doubtless others unrecorded.
At this date, an opportunity to unite with
the church on probation was given, when
Joseph and Eleanor Green, and Catherine
P'iller gave their names. The original class

numbered twelve persons, as follows: Mordecai
Edwards, Wm. Hilling, Basil Ridgway,
Wm. Davis, and their wives; John Stewart,

Catherine Shaw, Mary A. Davis, and Thos. Roe.
We are indebted to the manuscript of the late

Rev. Hugh W. Stewart, for many ol the inter-

esting reminiscences which follow. Of the

twelve original members of P'airview Church,
all have passed to a Christian’s reward. Wm.
and Pleasant Hilling removed to the west, and
are deceased. Mordecai Edwards and wife are

also dead, (for full history of his life and sketch
of his son Wm. Edwards) Of Bazil Ridgway,
the following anecdote of his connection with

his class, is preserved. When Rev. Guilbert

enquired of him if he desired a society here, he
responded “Yes, Sir.” What is your first name?
“Bazil.” Upon which his name was enrolled

with the others. He finally settled in Coshoc-
ton Co. He was very benevolent and gave
largely in support of the church, and died July
18, 1857, a professing Christian. Sister Mary
Ridgway was a member of Roe’s Church from
which she was transferred. She died Nov. 9,

1855. The names of William, Rebecca and
Mary A. Davis, were laid aside on account of

their removal to a distance. Catherine Shaw
emigrated from Virginia and died March 22,

1854. Thos. Roe was a temporary leader from
Rev. Jesse Roe’s society, and never attended
to his duty, living too distant. He afterwards
became a local preacher, but finally lost his

religion and died in Sept. 1861. Catherine
P'iller died in the Christian faith. Joseph
Green was accidentally killed on a canal boat.



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY.308

His wife is also dead. John Stewart, known
as “Father Stewart” was class leader for

more than thirty years. Himself and wife

are both deceased. Thus originated a

society of Christians, whose work is a lasting

monument. It is further quaintly remarked by
Rev. Hugh Stewart, that “the external appear-
ance of the school house in which they wor-
shiped was somewhat of the backwoods style.

The interior, by the labor of the sisters, was
always neat and tidy. From the exterior and
perhaps from the appearance of the people.

Bro. Guilbert could never constrain his col-

league, Bro. Lybrand, to preach in this place.”

He further naively remarks, “one thing strange
in connection with the formation of this class

is that both its founder and temporary leader
fell from grace and left a dim evidence of their

future glorification. That there should be any
premonition in this, we deny, but simply re-

mark its singularity.”

Wm. Hilling, John Stewart, and Mordecai
Edwards were all class leaders, the class re-

maining undivided until 1828. It being large,

it was then divided into two—one under the
leadership of Mr. Edwards and the other under
the leadership of John Stewart. In 1835, the
society began to feel the need of a more suit-

able place of worship, the serviceshaving been
conducted in the log school house until this

date. It was decided to build a hewed log
church, which was completed by July of this

year, on land donated in 1834 for church pur-

poses by Mordecai Edwards, and near the
grave of the old pioneer and class leader,

James Stewart, who was the first person buried
in Fairview church yard in 1826. _

It was known as the Edw'ards meeting
house. The following were the building com-
mittee: Basil Ridgway, John Joy, Mordecai
Edwards, John Stewart, Wm. Hilling, Joseph
Green and Jacob Yearing. Solomon Wenner
was employed as builder and erected a good
hewed log building. The dedicatory sermon
was preached by Rev. H. S. Fernandes. The
subject, “The Wedding Garment.” The society
prospered this year, the class numbering fifty.

During the year 1837, the class enjoyed a

gracious revival. In 1838 it numbered sixty-

five members. The class was consequently
divided, 33 being dedicated to John Stewart,
and about the same number to Mordecai Ed-
wards, the division being made by Rev. James
Armstrong. Under the labors of E. H. Taylor
and D. Cross in Feburary, 1847, one of the most
powerful revivals of religion came over the
society, thirty-four members united with the
c.lurch, and this year there were in all eighty

members, which is probably the greatest num
her the society ever contained of full members.
In 1851, the “Harmony Excitement,” as it was
called, came up, and many of the Fairview
members joined that class, and by 1853, the
members had decreased to 43, which was partly

caused by emigration. In 1847, the trustees

were John Stewart, M. Edwards, B. Ridgway,
I. Knisely, J. J. Bell and A. Ross.

In 1854, they began to feel the need of a

new church building. The old site being con-
sidered too low, a new one was chosen ten rods
north of the old one, on a high eminence which
overlooks the surrounding country for miles,

and is justly called Fairview. In the fall of

1855 the new church
,
a large and beautiful

frame structure, was completed. In June, 1859,

the church experienced another powerful re-

vival, during which over thirty joined on trial. In

January, 1864, another revival was vouchsafed
the church, resulting in twenty-five full mem-
bers. Among the many noted revivals in this

church, those of 1847, ’59 ar) d '64 were the most
remarkable. “This church has certainly been
a power for good in the Lord.” From it have
gone forth many ministers of the gospel, ex-

horters, class-leaders, and Sabbath-school
superintendents. Among them the Revs. Wm.
C. Filler, Benj. F. Heskitt, C. N. Edwards, H.
B. Edwards, J. E. Starkey, Wm. B. Stewart,

H. W. Stewart; also as members, Revs. Nixon
Stewart, John Macennally, and Thos. Roe, eight

traveling and two local ministers of the gospel.

In 1882 the church membership was eighty-

four. The class leaders were Wm. Edwards
and W. H. Reese; the steward was Wm. Ed-
wards; the local preacher was Nixon Stewart;

the circuit preachers were H. M. Rader and J.

R. Hoover.
No class of men have contributed more to

the spread of pure morality than the itinerant

Methodist preachers, and none have suffered

more from the silence of the historian. The
days of the rifle, the ax, and thesaddle-bags have
passed away, and the voices of those old time-

worn pilgrims are silent in their graves, but

“By their words ye shall know them,’’ and from
far-off Maine to distant Oregon, the prosper-

ous Methodist churches of the present day are

the result of their humble efforts. Before them
was spread the trackless forests and the sky
girted prairie. Here, guided by the blazed track

of the settler, there by the Indian war path or

hunter’s trail, they made their way from one
appointment to another, spreading the gospel,

and everywhere raising the standard of the

cross.

The first Sunday school was organized in



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 309

1835, with Wm. C. Filler as superintendent.
Some of the first teachers were Sarah Florence,
H. Edwards, Harriet Edwards, John and Nixon
Stewart, B. Ridgway and others. They used
the Testament, spelling book and church hymn
book.

Soon after our German settlers began to

come into the township, they felt the need of

attending religious services in the language of

the Fatherland, and according to the doctrines
of Martin Luther. Therefore, in 1839 the Zion
Evangelical Lutheran was organized by the
Rev. Fred Minner. The following are the
founders and original members of this church:
John Vollmer, Jacob Fiers and family, Martin
Sauer and family, Michael Strohecker and
family, Adam Shroyer, John Denny, Martin
Zimmers, David Grass, Christian Lerwig, John
Hahn, Henry Lapp, Jacob Roller, Philip Moser,
Michael Grass, Henry Smith and Michael
Thresh. The church trustees were John Voll-
mcr and Adam Shroyer. The ground for the
church was given by Valentine Sandel, and a

log church was erected in 1841. The early
pastors were Revs. Minner, Gehbel Kaemmerer,
Schnell and Schmidt. Rev. A. N. Bartholomew,
was the first pastor who preached in the En-
glish language. This occasioned a division in

the church, the older members, clinging to the
language of their fathers, held the church
property and burying ground, and became in-

corporated as the Evangelical Lutheran and
Reform Zion church.

In 1872 a new frame church was erected
north of the old church, the land for this pur-
pose being given by Jacob Sandel. The dedi-
catory services were held October 5, 1873, by
the Revs. G. YV. Mechling, W. P. Rutterauff and
J. Weller. The Rev. J. W. Bartholomew was
the first pastor of this new society. He was
succeeded by the Rev. J. P. Hentz, Rev. John
Webber, and others. This new organization
attracted the majority of the members of the
old church. Among the wardens of this

church, we find the names of Valentine Thresh,
Albert Klein, and others, and among the ciders,
Peter Houk, Geo. Reiger and David Grass.
The society is now in a flourishing condition.
The Adams Township Baptist church, was con-
stituted March 3, A. D. 1855, by elders Wm.
Sedgwick and E. W. Handle. Among the
prominent founders of the church were John
and Jacob Darner. It never had a large mem-
bership, but was very harmonious and strong in

the faith. Preaching was held here monthly
for some years, afterwards semi-monthly. July
23, 1881, Rev. L. R. Mears, pastor, preached the
last sermon of which there is any record. The

society had been gradually growing less by
means of death, letters of dismissal, removals,
etc., and the church, by this time, had not
enough members to support it. It was finally

disbanded, and in 1891, the church building
was sold. The names of the original members
were John Darner, Rebecca Darner, Abigail
Darner, Henry Darner, Elizabeth Darner, Jud-
son M. Darner, Angeline Darner,Mary Match-
ett, Abigail Sturtz, Abraham Gray, Elizabeth
Layton, Elizabeth Hawk, Rebecca McKinney,
Mary Clossin and Elizabeth Clossin. The
clerks were John Darner, afterwards Judson
M. Darner. John Matchett was deacon. Among
the pastors was Rev. Eli Erey, Rev. W. M.
Marshall, Rev. J. C. Skeimer and Rev. Lyman
Mears, who was the last pastor.

The first school house in this township stood
on land belonging to a man named Minnick,
near the site occupied by the town house of

to-day. The first teacher was Wm. Jennison
from New Pingland. He taught school here in

1820. He was succeeded by Thos. Barclay 1

In 1828, Edwards, Barrett, Wagoner, Gaumer
and others joined and put up a log school
house, at the old forks of the road below Fair-

view, on the land of M. Edwards. The roof

was the regular old time weigh-pole affair.

The building was 18x20 feet with puncheon
floor and loft, the cracks of the loft between
the slabs were daubed with mud, the floor was
very loose and could easily be taken up. The
chimney was an odd affair built in the south-
west corner and would contain a back log

about six feet long. The benches were of

loose slabs or split logs with two round pins

for legs at each end and one in the middle.

The writing desks were rough slabs resting on
pins driven into the wall. James Hayworth
taught the first few terms in this house. He
was a friendly old miser, and had considerable

property which, when he died, went to the

state. Many a nocturnal search, alter his

death, was made on his farm for his hidden
wealth. He wore wooden shoes and lived

alone in a rude hut, his habits of life being very
simple. Sometimes to keep up his fire lie

would drag in a dry sapling, brush and all, and
burn one end in the fire place while the other
end stuck out of the open door. He was a cur-

ious, clever fellow, a fine scholar and good
teacher. In 1836, a school house was erected

by the Stewarts, Bells, Saffles, Cowdens and
others. The custom was, in those days, for

any neighborhood who needed a school house,

to build one. They were subscription schools

at first. This school house stood on the land

of J. J. Bell. Edward Menaugh, familiarly
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called “Old Minney,” taught the first few
years here.

In 1841 the citizens contributed and built a

house on the farm of Solomon Wenner. This
building was an improvement, and was built of

hewed logs about 22x24 with permanent desks.

B. V. Webster taught the last term in the Ed-
wards schoolhouse and the first term at Wen-
ner’s. J. O. Sullivan followed and introduced
the “ McGuffey Readers.” Before this they
read in almost anything. In 1853, in conse-

quence of a new constitution of the state, the

township was re-districted, and instead of five

parts, as before, it was made into four dis-

tricts. This threw much of the Wenner and
the Lowe districts together, and henceforth it

was designated No. 3. Dr. J. W. Wortman
taught the last term in the Lowe house. Jas.

L. Honnold taught in the Wenner house in

1853-54. In those old school houses were
taught Cobb’s, United States, elementary, and
McGuffey’s spellers, the bible, United States

history, McGuffey’s readers, and almost any
other book, Smith’s Geography, Parke’s

arithmetic and Kirkham’s grammar. Gram-
mar was a luxury. If a boy could read, write,

and cipher, he was considered well enough
educated. It a man had a little idea of a noun,
and that the earth was not flat, “above all of

which was the knack of using a gad on a boy’s
back,” then he might " teech skule.” Some
of the teachers, however, were well educated.
The pay of the country teacher was not large.

Edward Menaugh received $12 per month and
“ boarded round.” Hiram Shaw taught a sub-

scription school in the thirties, at $1.25 per
scholar, making about $10 per month. In

1838, Clegget Ridgvvay taught and was con-
sidered a good teacher. In 1854, a farm house
was erected on the Sandel farm, 24x25, costing

$339,373^. It was a substantial building of

modern improvements. In 1844, in District

No. 3, there was a large number of scholars.

H. D. McGaw taught an average of over 60
per day. N. B. Stewart, who taught a very
long term, had a daily attendance of fifty-one.

Besides the common branches there was taught
philosophy, history, music and algebra.

Among the old time school teachers, were
James Stewart, Hiram Shaw, C. C. Ridgway,
Jonathan Gaumer, Levi Stoner, Caleb and Rev.
A. Jordan, A. G. Honnold, and others who were
efficient teachers. Rev. J. C. Spencer was
“barred out” of his school house at one time
and John Wagoner assisted him to open it. F.

M. Buker found foxes and rabbits so abundant,
that he had trouble to keep his boys in when
it was a good day for hunting. He introduced
steel pens to escape the nuisance of making
them out of quills.

Rev. George Gaumer became an effective

Lutheran preacher. S. J. Hanks had seventy
scholars; of these four died in the army. Rev.
Thos. R. Taylor, A. M., taught school in this

township at seventeen years of age and had an
average of thirty scholars. J. L. Honnold was
a teacher who was very popular. Rev. J. E.

Starkey was a faithful teacher. Ratie C.

McBride was well remembered. Hon. H. D.
McGaw is another of the old time pedagogues.
C. N. Gaumer, another old teacher, afterwards
married one of his scholars. John Wagoner,
in his school had the first public exhibition in

in district No. 3. Samuel W. Sutton has been
an efficient and excellent teacher for twenty
years in the township.

At present there are four school districts in

Adams township, and the schools may be said

to have greatly progressed since the olden
days, having a wider and more varied course of

study.

©hapfep /XI V.

IIARRISON

H ARRISON is bounded thus: North by
Wayne, east by Blue Rock, south by the
county line, and west by Brush creek. Its

surface is broken and rough. Duncan’s run,

Back run, Blue Rock run and Sycomore run all

have their sources in Brush creek township and

TOWNSHIP.

flow eastwardly through Harrison township into

the Muskingum. The highest elevations contain

most limestone. The lowlands are quite pro-

ductive, coal is abundant, but not easily mined.
Jacob and Nathaniel Ayers bored the first salt-

well in the township, in 1816, on section 10,
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township n, range 13, on the west bank of the

river, just above the mouth of Sycamore run.

It was sunk four hundred feet. Later another
well was sunk near by. These wells in time be-

came the property of John Stevens, known as

the Stevens Salt Works. Later still Jacob Neff
assumed control and rebored the old well to a

greater depth, rebuilt the furnace and put in

improved machinery. The two wells operated
at a comparatively recent date by William
Edgely were formerly known as Stephen
Guthrie’s Salt Works. One of them was sunk
by Stephen Guthrie for James Taylor, the other

by Charles Lucas for Stephen Guthrie. Other
wells in this township were bored by Michael
Waxier for Moses Ayers, by Nehemiah Dillon,

and by W. B. Culbertson. There were many
others, not above specified.

A family named Bean in 1798 lived in a

large sycamore hut that stood near the mouth
of Black run, and are thought to have been the

first settlers. They were followed early by
Nathaniel Ayers, Samuel McBride, James
Hemmett, Henry Ballou, Thomas Winn and
James Neff. George Dutro lived on section

seventeen in 1804, and about that time Jacob
Baker came. It is thought that John W. Baer
was the first blacksmith in this township. As
‘‘the Buckeye Blacksmith” he afterward be-

came prominent politically. In 1827 William
B. Rose had a “smithy” on Duncan’s run.

Later he had a shop on “the Island,” where he
made iron work for Mr. Taylor at the time of

the erection of the mills. The first frame
house in this township was erected by James
Taylor, in 1830. Six years later Amos F.

Whissen built the first brick house in the town-
ship, at Taylorsville.

The first survey for a road in Harrison
was made from Taylorsville to Brush creek.

The viewers were David Butt, John Oakes and
Gearing Scarvell. In 1829, James Taylor con-
structed a dam across the river at Duncan’s
Falls, and at the same time built a sawmill on
the west side of the river. In 1830 he put up a

grist mill. When the Muskingum navigation
was improved, the old dam was replaced by
Col. James Sharp, under a contract with the
state. After it had been in possession of sev-

eral intermediate owners, the grist mill became
the property of W. & W. H. Frazier. Among
his other enterprises, Mr. Taylor kept a ferry

and engaged in the manufacture of salt. One
Bixby was the first physician in the township.
His professional standing is uncertain. Dr.

Noah L. Mercer is said to have been the first

“regular” medical practitioner. Other early
and later physicians were Doctors Mason,

Clapp, Ballou, Wilkins, Huff, McCormick’
Terran, Atwell, Howard, Groves, Suters, Mil-
ligan, Blackburn, Lyons, Ulrich, Henry, Dorr,
Richie and Evans. The first public school
house of which any authentic record is pre-

served, was a two story frame building erected
in Taylorsville in 1834. Elsewhere will be
found reference to the fact of the late Presi-

dent Garfield having taught school in this

township. Henry Ballou, mentioned elsewhere
in these pages, was a brother of Mr. Garfield’s

mother.
This township was organized December 20,

1839, under authority of the following order of

the county commissioners: “A petition was
presented by John Hammond, signed by a ma-
jority of the householders residing within the
boundaries of the proposed new townthip, and
the commissioners, being satisfied that the
necessary notice of such intended application
had been given by advertisement, as required
by law, proceeded to take the matter into con-
sideration. The petitioners set forth that they
labor under many difficulties and disadvantages
in consequence of the distance and other diffi-

culties they encounter in going to and from
elections, and also praying that a new township
may be set off of parts of Blue Rock, Brush
Creek and Salt Creek townships; and the com-
missioners, believing it necessary for the con-
venience of the inhabitants and township of-

ficers, do hereby order a new township to be
set off, according to the following boundaries,
to-wit: Beginning at the . southwest corner of

section 14 in the original surveyed township
number 10, in range number 13, and running
thence north to the center of the Muskingum
river; thence following down the center of said

river, according to the meanderings thereof, to

the line which divides the counties of Muskin-
gum and Morgan; thence west on said line to

the place of beginning—all in the congress dis-

trict of lands—which shall constitute a new
township to be called Harrison township.
Also ordered by the commissioners that an
election be held at the house of P. Burkhalter,
in Taylorsville, on the 20th instant (being De-
cember 20, 1839), between the hours of 8 and
10 A. m., and close at 4 p. m., to elect town-
ship officers according to law.” This order is

dated December 4, 1839. The new township
thus formed comprised that portion of Blue
Rock township lying west of the Muskingum
river in range 12, one row of sections from the
eastern part of Brush Creek township in range

13, and one section of Salt Creek township
lying west of the river. It was named by John
Hammond, in honor of Gen. William Henry
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Harrison. The first justices of the peace were

J. VV. Whisson and YVilliam Price. Henry Bal-

lou and “Squire” Groves were also early just-

ices.

Taylorsville is an incorporated village pleas-

antly situated on the west bank of the Mus-
kingum, and also on the line of the Zanesville &
Ohio River railroad, in the extreme western
part of Harrison township, nine miles south of

Zanesville. It is a clear, healthy location, sur-

rounded by a rich farming country, and has the

advantage of river navigation and express and
telegraphic communication. One of the oldest

villages in this part of the state, Taylorsville’s

importance as a trade center was widely recog-

nized. Under railway influence her interests

are improving, and the development of her
natural resources, coal and potter’s clay, seem
probable in the early future. The postofifice

was established in 1850, with Ur. Fearnes as

postmaster.

James Taylor was the founder of Taylors-
ville (laid out in 1833), from whom the town
derives its name. He previously built the dam
and also a grist-mill, it having six run of buhrs,

and had a large custom. Above the mills a

saw-mill was erected also by Mr. Taylor. YVill-

iam Bagley, from Morgan county, erected a

woolen-mill, which was subsequently bought
by James and Robert Brown. The woolen-mill
now occupies a different site, and is used as a

grist-mill. Gearing Scarvell was the surveyor
who laid out the town. Mr. Taylor was a pub-
lic-spirited man, who when he came possessed
considerable means; reverses, however, swept
away his fortune, and he died a poor man. He
lived at Duncan’s Falls, opposite Taylorsville,

and there ended his days. Gearing Scarvell

was the first merchant. He carried a general

stock, and also dealt largely in coal. Philip

Sheppard was the next merchant, and also car-

ried a general stock. Robert Sheppard was
the first school-teacher. The school was held

in private houses for several years till a school-

house was built. William B. Rose was the first

blacksmith. He met a violent death at the

hand of a murderer, a man named Annon, who
was tried, convicted and sentenced to a term in

the penitentiary. Gearing Scarvell probably
built the first house in Taylorville.

The Taylorsville canal is a part of the sys-

tem of “improvements in the navigation of the

Muskingum.” It is a mile in length, and was
constructed for the state by Lyons, Buck &
YVolf, contractors, the work under the supervis-

ion of Christley Wolf, having been completed
in 1840. The locks' are 36 feet wide and 200

feet long.

The Taylorsville bridge was projected by
Gearing Scarvell in 1873 and was originally in-

tended to be a private enterprise; but the
county commissioners took it in hand and it

w'as begun July 1, 1874, and finished in about
four and one-half months. T. B. Townsend,
of Zanesville, was the stonework contractor,
and the superstructure was erected by the
Smith Bridge Company, of Toledo, Ohio.
The entire structure cost about 828,000, and
it is noted for its great length, about 800 feet.

Taylorsville was for a long time a mission
of the Catholic church of Zanesville. A
church was erected in 1836 and dedicated by
Bishop Purcell. It is a frame building 25x40
feet. The contractor was Anton Erbst, and
the cost was 81,000. From that time this con-
gregation which at different times has numbered
from 75 to 100 souls, has been supplied with a

local or regular pastor. The parish and church
are known as “St. Anna’s.”

A Methodist protestant class of fifteen or

twenty members was organized in 1842, by
Rev. Nathaniel Linder, who preached in the
woods near the Hiram Price place now.
Among the members were Robert YVelch and
his wife and two daughters, Peter Mohlerand
family, James Morrison and wife, Mrs. David
Young, Isaiah Dennis and his wife, Robert
Twyman and Joseph Fish. In 1843, a revival

under the preaching of Revs. James YVinn and

J. Huntsman brought the membership up to

112, and a church house was erected on land
furnished by Mathias Young, near the center
of section 30. It was a frame building, 24x28.
In 1869 it was replaced by another structure, 24
X38, which cost8i,i09,andwasdedicated in May,
1870, by Revs. George H. Heisey and J. C.

Ogle. St. John’s Evangelical Lutheran church
was organized April 11, 1878, with fifty mem-
bers, by Rev. Andrew Birch. In October,

1878, a lot was purchased in Taylorsville and a

church building was begun. The cornerstone
was laid the following spring, and the church
was completed and dedicated September 28,

1879, Rev. H. Cramer, of Zanesville, preaching
a sermon in German and Prof. M. Loy deliver-

ing an address in English. The building cost

81,000.

The first class of the Blue Rock Methodist
PLpiscopal church was founded by Rev. Samuel
Hamilton, with Joseph Kirk as leader. Among
the original members were Mr. and Mrs. Fred-
erick Barringer, Mr. and Mrs. John Hammond,
Mr. and Mrs. James Shauer, Mr. and Mrs. John
W. Baer, Mr. and Mrs. John YVhite, and Susan
Adams. The first house of worship was a

primitive log affair, 20x25 feet, and stood be-
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tween the forks of Blue Rock creek, on section ing 26x30. The membership of this church

11. A frame building was erected near the old has ranged between sixty and nearly a hun-

site in 1852. It was larger, its demensions be- dred.

THIS township was organized December 3, Dr. McNeal. Dr. McCall came to Gaysport,

1810, from Salt Creek township, and is 1844; Dr. Coverdale practiced at Ridgeway,
bounded north by the mother township, 1836; Dr. Wilson was at Rural Dale, 1837; Dr.

east by Meigs township, south by Morgan county James Hull was early at Keifer; Dr. Smith was
and west by Harrison township. The first elect- at Rural Dale, 1853-1865, Dr. Lewis Haworth
ion of which there is any record washeld January came later; Dr. Macomber in 1858, and later,

6, 1814, at the house of Lewis Allwine. Follow- Drs. Cooper, Kennedy, Jennings, Axline and
ing is a list of first things of their kind in this Leeper; Dr. Carlow came to Gaysport in 1850,

township: Mail through the township carried and Doctors Hatfield, Ward and Baughman
by Daniel Convers, in 1779, on the Muskingum also practiced there. The salt interest was
river by canoe. Local mail carried by Tim- more or less important in this township until

othy Gates, on horseback, from Zanesville to 1869. Timber, coal, sandstone and fire-clay

McConnelsville; mail coach, Zadoc Burdick’s, were also abundant and have contributed their

between the two towns just mentioned; frame part toward the development and prosperity

house, Caleb Hall’s, near Rural Dale; brick of the township. The first school has been
house, Caleb Butler’s, on section 28; stone mentioned. A union school, for Blue Rock,
house, Thomas McLees’s, now occupied by Meigs and Salt Creek townships was located on
James R. S. McLees; orchards, those of Levi the land since owned by Frederick Wion, and
Reeves, the Silveys, Dutros, Findleys and the school house was built in 1821. The next
Newkirks; marriage, that of Stephen Reeves was a union school for Blue Rock and Meigs
and Mary Briggs, in 1803; tavern, that kept townships, on land owned by David E.

by Laurence Allwine, above Gaysport in 1810; Mitchell. The school house was built in 1824.

graveyard, that on the property of Tobias Dil- There was a school on George Stewart’s land,

ley; blacksmith, John Bird; wagonmaker, taught by Joseph Webster, as early as 1824.

David Dutro; shoemaker, Robert Silvey; In 1828 a school house was built on James
wheelwright, Jesse Thomas; wooden plow- Starrett’s land. There was a school on Enoch
maker, J. Revenaugh, Jr.; stone-mason, John Harlan’s place in 1830. Perhaps as early as

Davis; chairmaker, James Burroughs; dis- 1830, there was a school in connection with
tiller, Absolom Roberts; tanner, Thomas the Blue Rock church. The most important
White; cabinetmaker, Joshua Crumbaker; early school, the parent of the three schools
grocery, by John P. Farrell; general store, in the northeastern part of the township, was
Rufus Putnam; store and warehouse, built by on Joseph Starrett’s place, near Kiefer, where
Moses Reeves, at Gaysport; physician, Dr. a pretentious school house for those days was
Baker, in 1805; salt well, that put down by built by John Ward, in 1833.
Nathaniel Ayers, at Gaysport, in 1822; school, For many years the inhabitants of Blue
on the river, as early as 1815; sawmill, John Rock paid attention chiefly to wheat culture,

Trimble’s, below the site of Rural Dale, in 1820; but at length stock raising began to assume
steam sawmill, Samuel W. Culbertson’s, in importance. The first thoroughbreds were in-

1827; steam grist-mill, Worstall Brothers, troduced by John Trimble in 1828. Wool grow-
Gaysport, 1872; hand mill, Levi Reeves, 1816. ing, however, is a leading interest. The im-
Other early physicians were Dr. Sears, Dr. provemcnt of sheep was begun here about
Flanders, about 1830; Dr. Clapp, about 1836; 1828. Fruit growing is quite important. In

BLUE ROCK TOWNSHIP.
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1858 an agricultural society was organized,

with E. J. Trimble as president and E. Hillis

Talley as secretary and treasurer. The first fair

was held at the farm of W. T. Talley, the sec-

ond at James Trimble’s, the third at James
Findley’s. They were useful and successful

and were broken up only by the War of the
Rebellion. Petroleum was taken from aspring
in the northeast corner of the township in 1819,

by Martin Smith, and the first oil well sunk in

the township was put down on Smith’s farm in

1861, near this spring. The second develop-
ment was made in January, 1866, on the Nath-
aniel McDonald farm. The Woodberry well

was sunk here, and others were put down in

the vicinity. The well mentioned produced
sixty barrels of oil per day for six months,
another well yielded two hundred and forty

barrels per day. Great excitement and wild
speculation followed. The oil was of slight

illuminating power and the small wells were
abandoned and in time the larger ones gave
out. In this abandoned condition the territory

remained with the exception of two wells,

which yielded steadily in paying quantities for

twelve years, when in 1878, the “Carr Oil

Company of Muskingum county” was organ-
ized to develop this field; but little practical

progress followed.

Rural Dale was laid out by J. B. Milhous in

1854, though there had been a settlement there
since 1816, when George Gibbons built the first

house. Rockville was the original name of

the place, but Milhous changed it when the
village was platted, The first store was open-
ed there by Briggs & Kearns in 1836; the first

tavern about the same time by William Kisk.

Kiefer is an attractive hamlet and was origin-

ally known as Ridgeway. When the postoffice

was established it was named thus in honor of

Gen. Kiefer. The land including Gaysport
was originally owned by Jacob Ayers. Asa
Gay, Sr., purchased it and laid out the village,

naming it in his own honor, in 1880. The tel-

egraph line from Zanesville to McConnelsville
was constructed in 1867, but it was not success-

ful and was re-established in 1880 on a better

plan. An office was established at Gaysport
in 1877. There are three postoffices in the
township—one at Gaysport named Blue Rock,
one at Kiefer, and one at Rural Dale.

Rural Dale lodge No. 157, I. O. O. F., was
organized under a charter granted in February,

1850, to J. P. Smith, W. A. Hawley. J. B. Mil-

hous, Abram Morrison and C. H. Trimble. It

was instituted June 13, 1850, with 13 charter
members. The first officers were J. P. Smith,
N. G.; W A. Hawley, V. G.; J. B. Milhous, sec-

retary; C. H. Trimble, treasurer. Rockville
Division No. 585 Sons of Temperance flourish-

ed 1849-52. Blue Rock Grange No. 359 Patrons
of Husbandry was organized at Rural Dale, in

1873, and existed for some time.
The first Baptist who resided in Blue Rock

township, was Sister Joanna John (wife of

Jesse John), who came from Chester County,
Pennsylvania, in the year 1819. The first Bap-
tist minister who preached in Blue Rock town-
ship, was Elder Henry Pringle, at the house of

Jesse John in the year 1822, and who traveled
all through this region of country, preaching
the Gospel, which resulted in bringing many
souls to Christ. Elder George Russell, was
the second minister to preach in the township.
He came to Jesse John’s and preached for the
first time, on “Easter Sunday, 1823,” and con-
tinued once a month for several years, and bap-
tised several persons at different points where
he preached. Elder Levi Culver was the next
minister to visit the neighborhood. He came
here in the year 1827, and preached sometimes
at the aforesaid place, and other places in the
township. He was one of the first missionaries
of the Ohio Baptist State convention. After
he had baptized a number of persons, a council

of ministers was called to consider the pro-

priety of constituting a church. The council

meet at the house of John Revenaugh, on the
25th day of July, 1828. The ministers present

at the council were Elder Courtland Skinner,

Elder Wm. Reece, together with Elder Culver,

who advised the importance of constituting a

church, which they did at the time. Sister

Jane Roberts was the first person baptized in

the township, and her husband, Wm. Roberts,

was the first deacon of the church. The church
was constituted with thirteen members, and
called “the Regular Baptist church,” of Blue
Rock. The names of the constituent members
are as follows: Samuel Revenaugh, Catharine
Revenaugh, Wm. Roberts, Jane Roberts, Lor-
ena Roberts, Mary Roberts, Thos. Wear, Cath-
arine Wear, Nancy Blair, John Revenaugh, Jane
Revenaugh, Elizabeth Wion, Lydia Mace. In a

short time after this, they built a house of wor-
ship, in the north-eastern part of the township,
about four miles from where the Baptists com-
menced their labors. It was built of logs, 30 by

30, and in this they held their meetings for over
twenty years. Elder Levi Culver was their first

pastor. He continued until his death, having the

care of the church eight years and four months.
Rev. Enoch Rector was called to supply the

church at the death of Bro. Culver, and con-

tinued to preach for them until they called to

the charge of the church Elder Reuben Burkley,
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about ten months later. Mr. Burkley began
his labors May 1st, 1836, and died at his post

while away from his home, on a preaching tour

in Salt Creek township. Elder Benjamin
Blake was their next pastor, who remained
with them two years. Elder Abel Johnson
commenced his labors May 1st, 1844. While
he had charge of the church seventeen mem-
bers received letters to constitute a church in

the southern part of the township, where the

first efforts were made by the denomination.
The church is now known as the Rockville
Baptist church, which is a large, flourishing

church. This church has since had a success-

ful career. Rev. James B. Sinclair was the
first pastor after the division.

The Regular Baptist church, called Rock-
ville, was organized on the 13th day of August,

1844, under the shade of a large forest oak, on
the summit of the hill directly south of the

village of Rural Dale, and near the place where
the meeting house now stands. An ecclesias-

tical council of the Regular Baptist denomina-
tion was present, being previously invited from
the churches of Blue Rock, Windsor, Rich
Hill, Bristol and Four Mile. A sermon was
preached on the occasion by Elder William
Stone, of Columbiana county, Ohio, from Daniel,

2d chapter and 44th verse, after which sixteen

brothers and sisters who had previously re-

ceived letters of dismissal from Blue Rock
church were duly organized to constitute said

church. The names of the constituted mem-
bers are as follows: James Burris, Elizabeth
Burris, John Gossage, Loreno Gossage, Geo.
Bird, Jesse John, Joanna John, Eettitia John,
Eleanor Burris, Sarah Scott, Maria Scott,

Sarah Harlan, Phebe Briggs, Rebecca Frame,
and Hannah Bird. Of this little band, James
Burris, Elizabeth Burris, George Bird, Jesse

John, Joanna John, Sarah Scott and Rebec-
ca Frame, have been called home to their

heavenly Master, and are now reaping the

joys of their reward. After the regular or-

ganization of this church, it was immediate-

ly received into the Meigs Creek associa-

tion, which was to convene on the next day
(August 14th), with the Duncan’s Falls church.
The first messengers from this church to the
association were Jesse John and George Bird.

Elder Abel Johnson was chosen first pastor of

the church immediately after its organization.

In 1845 a meeting house was erected, and dedi-

cated November 22. In 1859 the church with-

drew from the Meigs Creek association and it

united with the Zanesville association in Aug-
ust, i860. Bethlehem Methodist Episcopal
church, situated on the George Stewart place,

was built in 1830. The churchyard was opened
in 1828, and Mrs. Catharine Wear was the first

one buried there. The members about that

time were Jeremiah Argo, Samuel Nicholson,
Roderick Aston, John Coverdale, Michael E.

White and “Father” Winrod and their wives.

Jeremiah Argo was a licensed classleader and
exhorter. The first local preacher was Levi
Reeves. This society moved to Rural Dale
and there has since flourished. The third

church organized in the township was the
Radical Methodist church, its house of worship
on land owned by William Betts. Among its

prominent members were Mr. and Mrs. Betts,

Peter Clapper and wife, Hiram Sherman and
wife, Henry Crawford and wife, Margaret Bar-
ber and daughter and Pdizabeth Gibbons. Dr.
Coverdale, was exhorter, and Mr. Betts class-

leader. Revs. Linder and Whitney were the
first regular preachers. A good frame house
was after a time erected on the land of Henry
Crawford and the congregation met there from
that time on. Sugar Grove Methodist Episco-
pal church had its inception in a class which
met at John Grindslaff’s house in 1817. In
1826 this class numbered eighty members. It

was divided and in a way reunited at a later

date by the organization of the Sugar Grove
Methodist Episcopal church of Salt Creek
township. There was once an organization of

Presbyterians that met in a stone house on land
owned by Joseph Wallace, Sr.
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JACKSON TOWNSHIP.

THE northwest corner township of the
county, Jackson is bounded north by the
county line, east by Cass township, south

by Licking township, and west by the county
line. It was organized in 1815 and is said to be
named in honor of Gen. Jackson, the “Hero of

New Orleans” of that day. The fir.-,t election

for township officers was appointed to be held
at the house of Thomas Blizzard, June 6, 1815.

Of those who, prior to 1816 by virtue of com-
missions as justices of the peace, settled con-
troversy and punished offenders, may be named
Clark Hollenback, Robert Selbes, and Nathan
Baker. Among the well-known settlers of the
township were Col. William and Thomas Bliz-

zard, the Fairalls, David Evans, and Hezekiah
Bonham. Thomas Wilkins and his son Daniel,

located in the southeast, were old-time settlers

from Maryland. Clark Hollenback entered
land north of Frazeysburg. William McClintock
entered a tract adjoining the present village in

the summer of 1814, and made improvements,
and moved in with his family in the fall of 1815.

As late as 1813 much land lay wild and un-

tenanted. On the hills were no settlers, and
there were but few in the valleys. Habitations
were rude in character, and present civiliza-

tion seemed far remote and barely possible.

The first frame house is thought to have been
built for Joshua Bennett, and the first brick
house was erected about 1830, by Mr. Blizzard.

The old house is situated northwest of Frazeys-
burg, and became known as the home of Col.

William Blizzard. The Mendenhalls were also

early settlers. Joshua Bennett, Samuel Men-
denhall’s son-in-law, came in 1816. A German
named Tushman came early; also Joseph
Chaney, who located north of Frazeysburg.
Level lands soon obtained roads; these hilly

regions were impassable, and the laying of a

road was an event like the survey of a railroad.

The road from Owl creek to Zanesville via

Frazeysburg was laid out in 1822 by John Adams
and Samuel Frazey, commissioners appointed
by the State.

The first mill was put up on the “Tomaka”
creek, about two miles west of the village, in

1 8
1 g, and was a combined grist-and-saw-mill,

run by Samuel Mendenhall. The dam was
washed away in 1830. George Stannetts, who
lived in the mill with his family, was miller for

some time. Richard Griffin was miller at a
later date. The last one was John Norris.
The following year James McCintock built a

saw-mill down the creek, and along in 1837, Ira

Belknap erected a grist-mill on the same dam.
In the spring of 1833, the copper stills were
put in operation by a man named Blood, but
the enterprise failed within the year. In 1827,
Frazeysburg was laid out by C. Hollenback; it

was originally known as Knoxville. Hollen-
back built a sawmill in 1820-1822, and William
McClintock had an early sawmill on Waka-
tomaka creek. There was a rude saw-mill and
grist-mill in the extreme northwest corner of
the township in 1825 which had many owners
and disappeared entirely about twelve years
ago. Samuel Mills built the first house, and
used it as a tavern. John Walker repaired the
farmers’ tools and shod their horses.

The Methodists built the first church in

1820. Revs. Smith and Cunningham were
preachers for the Presbyterians as early as 1818.

The first bridge was built over the creek in

1823; it was of hewed timber on trestles, and
the work of the neighboring settlers. Squire
McCann recalls an old log shanty used for

school, church, and singing, which stood two
and a half miles from P'razeysburg. Philip

Shaffer was an early singing-teacher, having
taught in 1831 and 1832. The people of Jack-
son are healthy and contented; they love their

fine hill-side scenery, and the traveler winding
his way up the slopes in long stretches sees at

each summit a new and pleasant landscape.
The early settlers of this township were allured

hither by the fertility of the lands in the valley

of Wakatomaka creek, like those who settled

nearest to the valley of the Muskingum. It is

true that the area of perhaps twenty-five miles
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on either side of the latter stream is included

in the term, “Valley of the Muskingum,” and
yet the smaller valleys have afforded special

attractions to the settler. Actuated by the

motive to make a paradise wherever nature in-

vited them, the settlers, therefore, selected

sites as near to the streams of importance as

seemed good to them. Jackson is undulating

in its surface, and ocasionally broken. The soil

is rich limestone, clay being plentiful on the

uplands, and sandy loam in the lower lands

and bottoms. Iron and coal of fair quality,

are found in various localities. The latter is

consumed at home, while the former is ship-

ped to Zanesville via Frazeysburg.
Among the early physicians who practiced

in this township for a longer or shorter period

were Dr. Elmas Wheaton, of Irville, Licking
township, and Doctors Black, Pearce, Bartley

and Philander Byam Mordecai Bartley, after-

wards governor of Ohio, is thought to have
been the only lawyer here in the early days.

The first tavern at Frazeysburg was kept by
Samuel Mills, who was also an early carpenter.

Other of the pioneer knights of the chisel, saw
and plane were John Ruckle and Charles Mor-
row. Among the first surveyors were the

Robertses, John and Charles. They came in

1822. Charles Roberts surveyed many of the

farms in this township and John Roberts laid

out Frazeysburg. Among early and old justices

of the peace were Robert Selder, Clark Hollen-
back and Richard Griffee. Henry Shepherd
opened the first blacksmith shop in 1827 in a

log building of the old style. James Morgan
taught a subscription school in a log house half

a mile north of Frazeysburg, in 1822. This is

thought to have been the first regular school in

the township. John Bowen was a school
teacher in Jackson in 1831, Samuel McGinnis
in 1832. Samuel Mills’ pioneer tavern, opened
about 1817, was a log building on the site of

the Hamilton store in Frazeysburg. He was
succeeded after a number of years by Stephen
Cessna. Later “landlords” were William Eng-
lish, Thomas Foster and Jonah Campbell. This
old hostelry was long since torn down.

Frazeysburg is not only one of the leading
and most prosperous villages of the county,
but is situated in the midst of a rich agricul-

tural, wool-growing and stock-producing sec-

tion. In close proximity is found excellent
stone quarries, while the soil supplies the best
quality of potter’s clay, moulding sand, white
and gray clay for the manufacture of tile and
pottery, fire and building brick. The village is

on the line of the Pan Handle railway and
Ohio canal, and contains many handsome pri-

nt

vate residences and business houses, which
would do credit to larger towns and cities. Its

citizens, as a class, are intelligent, enterprising

and progressive, as will clearly appear in a

notice of its public institutions. There are

three churches, viz.: Disciples’, Elder J. S.

Bonham, pastor, with seating capacity of about
three hundred. Presbyterian Church, Rev. C.

C. Downs, pastor, with seating capacity of

about four hundred. M. E. Church, Rev. R.

H. Griffith, pastor, with seating capacity of

four hundred. The district has a fine two
story brick public school building, with four

rooms. The enrollment is 201, with an average
attendance of- 189. The Frazeysburg Library
association was organized April 15, 1890 with lib-

rary at the store of C. M. Bell. Its officers are J.

Corn, president; Mrs. T. J. Tremley, vice pres-

ident; Miss Marne Cochran, treasurer; C. M.
Starner, secretary, and C. M. Bell, librarian.

The Frazeysburg Building and Loan Associ-

ation was organized April, 1888. Its officers

are: C. M. Bell, president; T. C. Pearson,

secretary; John A. Evans, treasurer. Board
of directors: James Stitt, George W. Judy, H.
L. Stamets, Dr. Jasper Corn, J. W. Frazier, J.

W. Baker, Wm. Hamilton, W. A. Norris, C. M.
Bell, T. C. Pierson, John A. Evans. Frazeys-
burg lodge No. 490, F. & A. M., meets Friday
evening on or before full moon. Dr. J. D.
Fleming, W. M.; T. J. Reeder, S. W:; Wm.
Clemens, J. W. ; J. B. Bennett, treasurer; Thos.
Rose, secretary; Alexander Wishart, S. D.;

Isaac Pryor, J. D., and Joseph Van Austin,

tyler. Lodge room over city hall. Glendale
lodge, No. 649, I. O. O. F., meets Monday
evenings of each week. J. T. Reeder, N. G.;

Welcome Wright, V. G.; M. J. O’Neil, secre-

tary; J. E. Ruckle, treasurer. Junior Order of

American Mechanics, No. 79, organized in

March, 1890. C. M. Bell, junior past counsel-
lor; George W. Judy, counsellor; Wm. Pine,

vice counsellor; C. M. Gardner, recording
secretary; Joseph Wires, assistant secretary;
D. H. Lewis, financial secretary; J. R. Johnson,
treasurer: C. E. Ruckle, inside sentinel; C. E.
Paugh, outside sentinel. Griffith Post, No.

331, G. A. R., Wm. Lettlcr, commander; W.
H. Fairall, senior commander; Hugh Lackey,
junior commander;- J. W. Evans, officer of the
day; Wm. Wires, adjutant; T. J. Buchanan,
quartermaster; C. M. Bell, chaplain; M. Adams,
officer of the guard. In 1890 the town officers

were Geo. C. Adams, mayor; John Debolt, mar-
shal; R. P. Mendenhall, M. O’Neil, Joshua Ben-
nett, Chas.W. Fleming, Henry Host, H. Night,
council-men; M. D. Packard, town clerk; Jas-
perCorn, town treasurer; A. Mendenhall, street
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commissioner. V. Z. Norris, W. A. Norris, Dr. J.

Corn, H. L. Stamets, T. C. Pierson, Wm. Ham-
ilton, school board. Frazeysburg has a good
two story town hall, a good band and a well

conducted weekly paper.

Frazeysburg was platted June 6, 1827, by
Clark Hollenback and named Knoxville. As
has been stated, the actual survey was made
by John Roberts. Numerous additions have
been made. In 1828, Mr. Hollenback sold the

original town to Samuel Frazey, who changed
the name to Frazeysburg. The village was in-

corporated in 1868, and L. VV. Doane was the

first mayor. The postoffice was established in

the winter of 1828-29. Samuel Frazey was the

first postmaster. Richard Griffee is credited

with having opened the first grocery store in

the township. Another early store was Whit-
ney’s. Col. Blizzard opened a store in 1828.

Samuel Frazey had a store near the southeast

corner of the present canal bridge in 1828-29,

the largest opened in the township to that

time.

The Frazeysburg Mill company was or-

ganized here in 1885, and is controlled by some
of the leading citizens. The building, exclusive

of office and engine room, is three stories and
basement in height, and 36x48 feet, in dimen-
sions. The engine room is 20x36 feet, and the

office 12x18 feet in size. In all departments
the mill is equipped with newest improved ap-

pliances for the rapid and efficient manufacture
of the highest standard grades of bakers’ and
family flour. The mill is a complete roller mill,

with the best purifiers and is propelled by a

30-horse power engine and a boiler, and has a

capacity of fifty barrels of flour per day. The
staple brand for which this mill has secured
more than local celebrity, is known as “Pure
Gold,” which bears the highest standard of ex-

cellence in all markets into which it has been
introduced, and enjoys a high degree of popu-
larity both with the trade and consumers. The
individual members of this company are John
A. Evans, Jus. Stitt and J.

W. Frazier, gentle-

men whose enterprise and business ability give

vitality to this section of the county, and who
are recognized as prominent in public affairs.

They do merchant grinding and exchange, and
deal in grain, flour, meal and mill feed. They
are also engaged in the manufacture of brick

and tile, noticed elsewhere.
Thomas Brothers & Co.’s Frazeysburg Plan-

ing Mills and Lumber Yard, is one of the most
important industrial enterprises associated with
this section of the county, and was established

here by Messrs. Thomas Brothers & Co., in

1889. The present building was completed

about the first of June, 1889, and equipped with
the necessary machinery for planing, matching
and scroll work, and for the execution of every
description of planing mill and job work. The
individual members of this firm are A. S. and
C. W. Thomas and Wm. L. Phelps, gentlemen
who bring into requisition that mechanical
skill and executive ability which cannot fail to

meet the most liberal consideration. The ma-
chinery is propelled by a twenty-horse power
engine and boiler, and the building, which is

two stories in height and 40x50 feet and engine
room 14x40 feet in dimensions, gives ample
capacity for prompt and efficient work. This
firm are prepared to enter into contract to sup-
ply doors, sash, blinds, dressed or undressed
lumber, lath, shingles, pickets, posts, and for

the execution of the entire wood work of pub-
lic or private buildings.

The Frazeysburg Tile and Brickworks were
erected in 1884, and the concern comprehend
a ground space of 30x120 feet in dimen-
sions, which are equipped with the best ma-
chinery and appliances for the rapid and effi-

cient manufacture of the best building and pav-
ing brick and the most substantial drain tile,

from three inches to twelve inches in diamen-
sions. Contracts are taken for special sizes or
quantities, and stock will usually be found on
hand for prompt shipment. The concern also

manufactures the best hollow building blocks,
whose construction supplies strength and
solidity to buildings.

The first journalistic venture in Frazeysburg
was the Federalist

,
published by C. E. F. Miller,

in 1875-76. The editorial work was done in

Frazeysburg, where the paper was really issued,

but the mechanical work was done in Dresden.
The Midland is the title of a vigorous, spicy and
reliable family and local newspaper, which was
started here August 29th, 1889 a five-column
eight-page paper devoted to literature, news and
local matter, with Rev. C. B. Downs as manag-
ing editor, and A. B. Clark, of Newark, asso-
ciate editor; general business manager, D. H.
Lewis. Jasper Corn, M. D., physician and sur-

geon, druggist and pharmacist, is a native of
Jackson county, in this State, and was born in

1847. Dr. Corn is a graduate of the O. W. U.
of Delaware, and read medicine with Dr. A. S.

Combs, of Thurman, Ohio. He graduated from
the Cincinnati Medical College, at Cincinnati,
in the class of ’73, and located in Keystone,
Jackson county, for one year. In the spring of

1874 he came to this place, where he has since
devoted his attention to the duties of his pro-
fession, to which he still gives his attention in

connection with his business interests. In 1882
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he started his drug store. The individual

members of the firm of Dr. J. S. Trembley &
Son, druggists and pharmacists, are Dr. J. S.

Trembley and his son, T. G. Trembley. The
senior member of this firm is a native of this

county, born in 1819. Early in life he de-

voted his attention to the study of medicine
and surgery, and has been in active practice for

over thirty-six years. He located in this place
in 1868. Mr. T. G. Trembley, is a native of this

county and was born in 1850. After complet-
ing his early education he became connected
with railroad work, in which he was chiefly en-

gaged up to the time of formation of the present
partnership in 1875. This is now thepostoffice

store, Mr. T. G. Trembley having received his

appointment to this place April 27, 1889. J.

D. Fleming, M. D., resident physician and sur-

geon, is a native of this county, born in 1857.

He was reared upon the farm, and after com-
pletinghis literary education read medicinewith
Dr. ,C. F. Wilkin, of Irville, now of Colum-
bus. He graduated from the Columbus
Medical College, March 8, 1887, and first

opened his office at Adams’ Mills, but after one
year located in this place March 8, 1888. The
canal was completed in 1831-32 and the “ Rein-
deer,” a small pleasure boat, made the trip from
Newark to Coshocton. The “Union” of Dover
was the first regular freight boat to pass through.
The Pan Handle railroad was completed through
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this township in 1855. The first agent at Frazeys-
burg was E. L. Lemert.

Some time before 1820 a small cabin was
erected for church purposes, north of the site

of school-house number three. David Evans
donated the land upon which it stood, in con-
sequence of which it was known as Evans’
church. Frazeysburg Methodist Episcopal
Church was organized at the house of Zacha-
riah Bonham in 1815. Meetings were held at

Mr. Bonham’s, at R. C. Mendenhall’s, at John
Wimmer’s and at other houses, and later at a

school-house near the north side of Frazeys-
burg. In 1840, a church building was erected
at a cost of $1,000. In 1878 it was succeeded
by the present edifice, a frame building that

cost $1,800. The Frazeysburg Presbyterian
Church was organized with 34 members in 1876.

Its brick church, which cost $2,370, was dedi-

cated Septembers, 1877, by J. W. Tenney, and
the first pastor, Rev. S. D. Smith. Mount Zion
Christian Church was organized with eight
members in 1832. The first meetings were held
at the house of George McDonald. In 1845
the society built its present frame church,
which cost about $500, about two miles north
of Frazeysburg. The Disciple Church was or-

ganized in 1843. The first pastor was Rev.
Eewis Corner. A church was built soon after

1880 at Frazeysburg.

(Ufyapjep XXV/I1.

SALEM TOWNSHIP.

THIS township is bounded on the north by
Adams township, on the east by Highland
township, on the south by Perry town-

ship and west by Washington and Madison.
The surface is moderately hilly, though much
of it is low and level enough to figure as prairie

land. Drummond’s Knob, in the southern
part, is the highest point in the township. The
soil is a mixture of clay and sand, and for the
most part quite fertile. The principal streams
are Salt creek and Prairie run. Two branches
of Symmes creek flow through the northwest
corner. Grain raising was formerly the leading
occupation. Stock-raising and fruit-growing

now receive much attention and fairly divide

the honors. The first short-horned cattle were
brought in by W. S. Denison, who also intro-

duced the first mower and the first sulky-rake.

Singleton Hardy operated the first threshing

machine in the township. W. W. Adams, since

1861, became prominent as a breeder of fine

cattle. Originally a part of Highland, when
that township was ten miles square, this town-
ship, five miles square, was set off by the

county commissioners, in July, 1819. It was
named in honor of Salem, Mass., from the

vicinity of which historic town, many of the

early settlers had come. The northeast quarter
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of the township is school land. The first elec-

tion for township officers was held at the house
of Jesse Williams. The first justice of the peace
in and for Salem township, under the organiza-

tion, was Joseph Stiers, who served continu-

ously until 1837, a period of eighteen years.

Rev. William Spencer was a justice of the peace
for Highland township, living within the pres-

ent township of Salem prior to, and at the time
of organization. Some of the early elections

were held at the house of Thomas Collins.

Adamsville has been the polling place since

1846.

The settlement of this township began in

1810-1811. Among the early settlers were
Jacob Gaumer, William Denison, Jesse Will-

iams, Jacob Swigert, Philip Shroyer, Peter
Wertz, Laurence Wisecarver, George Stoner,
Peter Livingood, George, Samuel, John and
Jacob Shurtz, Joseph Stiers, William and
Stephen Starkey, Thomas Collins and Rev.
William Spencer. Jacob Gaumer located on lot

28. [See biographical department for ex-
tended sketches of his and other pioneer fami-

lies of this township.] William Denison, from
Massachussetts, located on the northeast quar-
ter of section 15, on the William S. Denison
property, and with him came Jesse Williams,
who married Lucy Denison, daughter of Will-
iam, and settled on the northwest quarter of
section 13. Swigert located on lot 40, of the
school land, Shroyer on lot 11, Wertz on lot 8.

Stiers settled on the southwest quarter of sec-

tion 8, Collins on the southwest quarter of sec-

tion 13, and Rev. William Spencer on school
land lot No. 28. The Starkeys were from Vir-

ginia. In 1868 Sutherland Stiers, a mile south
of Adamsville, cut down a large white oak tree

and within its body found a succession of
“blazes” made with an ax, as was very evident,
and not with a hatchet or tomahawk. A com-
putation of the difference between the date of
the discovery and the number of annular rings

enveloping the scars, revealed the fact that the
marks were made in 1752. That was twelve
years before Bouquet’s expedition and ante-
dates that of Braddock, and the men of Salem
have cudgeled their brains in vain in the
attempt to identify even a probable white visit-

or to this territory at that remote date. The
first frame house in the township was built in

1812 by William S. Denison. The first stone
house by Jacob Dimmer, in 1827, and the first

brick house by William S. Denison in 1841.

The first public road through the township was
that from Zanesville to Plainfield, Coshocton
county; the second ran from Mechanicsville to

Livingood’s mill on section 18. Jesse Will-

iams and Lucy Denison were the first couple
married in the township, and their son Gordon
Williams was the first white child born
here. The first death was that of Mrs. Ja-
cob Gaumer, about 1816. Dr. Jacob S. Rea-
soner was the first physician in Salem. He
practiced here from 1832 to 1853. Dr. Henry
Decker came in 1839; Dr. Jared Cone practiced
here 1845-55; Dr. James Crawford 1835-42;
Doctor Loy and Doctor Blake about 1841-42;
Dr. John Mills, who studied with Doctor
Decker 1843-50; Dr. P. A. Baker, 1857-79;
Doctor Sidle came in i860, but remained only
a short time. Dr. Thomas Gaumer came in

1879. Later physicians in this township are
Drs. W. R. Hosick, and W. C. Waters. The
primitive mill within the borders of Salem was
that erected by Peter Livingood, below the
forks of Salt Creek, on section 18, about 1814-
16. Sometime about 1830 it was sold to one
Bratton, and has long since disappeared. On
the southeast one-fourth of section 16, or Salt

Creek, Joseph Bowers put a sawmill in opera-
tion, in 1832, which he sold, in 1849, to Jacob
Keiffer. The latter moved the,concern to the
east bank of the stream and, in 1869 added a

large frame grist mill. In 1836, Charles Sturtz

built a sawmill on a branch of Symmes run, or

section 4, in which was made most of the lum-
ber used in building the earlier houses in

Adamsville. It is not now in existence. A
steam sawmill was built on school land lot 21

about 1850 by Isaac Stiers and Samuel Harris.

About a year or two later it was bought by Mr.
Shrigley, who added a grinding department.
G. W. Shoemaker became the owner in 1854,
and was succeeded by John Skinner in 1855.

Mr. Skinner's ownership was short lived, how-
ever, for the concern was destroyed by fire in

1856. A steam grist mill was built near
Adamsville in 1862 by Charles Beck. In 1873
it was sold to John D. Hanks. Levi Mc-
Laughlin later entered the milling business at

Adamsville. Jacob Gaumer was the first gun-
smith in the township. He and Peter Wertz
and Adam Wade were early blacksmiths.
Stephen Starkey was the first carpenter. The
first school house in Salem was erected in 1817
on school land lot 37. Abraham Smith opened
the first school there in December, that year.

Amy Wade taught there in 1820, Mr. Colvin in

1822. “Jacob and William Shively were two
other old settlers,” says the Adamsville Register.

“Jacob Shively was the first settler on the farm
now owned byjulius Taylorand WilliamShively
the farm now owned by Jacob Lane. At the
present time none of their descendants remain
in the township. Janies Shively is a valued
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subscriber of the Register
,
residing at Kansas,

Illinois. Benjamin Crane, the grandfather of

our fellowcitizen, Jacob Crane, was another pio-

neer. He settled on what is now the Charley
Bowden farm in the year 1814, and built a cabin

in the woods.”
New Hope Evangelical Lutheran church

was organized in 1 8 1 1, by Rev. Anthony Weyer,
with the following members: Jacob Gaumer,
Catharine Gaumer, Philip Shroyer, Maria Shroy-
er, Peter Wertz, Susan Wertz, Henry Bainter,

Adam Bainter and his wife, Samuel Shurtz, Mary
Shurtz, George Shurtz and his wife, Christian

Shroyer, Catharine Shroyer, Jacob Gaumer,
Jr., Elizabeth Gaumer, Daniel Gaumer, Hannah
Gaumer, Catharine Shurtz, Margaret Shurtz,

John Shurtz, John Ault, Mary Ault, Jacob
Shurtz, Jacob Shroyer, Abraham Shroyer,
Anthony Slater, Susan Slater, George Stiner

and wife. The first church was built on the
northwest corner of lot 28, the site now occu-
pied by the old Lutheran cemetery, already re-

ferred to, in 1817. In 1838, it gave place to a
brick building which was superseded in 1870
by a frame structure. The cornerstone was
laid May 14, 1870, by N. J. Knisely, and the
church was dedicated May 28, 1871, by Revs.
McHorine and Jacob Roff. The old church
site and graveyard was donated to the trustees

of the Evangelical Lutheran Church, by Jacob
Gaumer, in 1819, and the present church site

was donated by Jonathan Gaumer. Salem
Baptist Church was organized in October,
1818, by Revs. Amos Mix and Henry Pringle,

with the following named constituent members:
William Spencer, Catharine Spencer, Jessie Will-
iams, Lucy Williams, Wm. Cooksey, Elizabeth
Cooksey, John Laurence, Amos Stackhouse,
Philip Shoff, Sarah Shoff, Elvira Shoff, Morde-
cai Adams, Hannah Adams, Isabella Ackerson,
Rebecca Tennis, Ethelinda Denison, Rachel
Jordan, Sarah Whittenberry, Lucy Babcock,
Susannah Hickman and Lucretia Slack. The
first church, a hewed log structure, east of
Adamsville, was erected in 1822. It was, in

1838, replaced by another building at a cost of
$1,000. The present house of worship was built

in 1872 at a cost of $2,500. Adamsville Meth-
odist Episcopal church grew out of a class

formed in 1840, by Rev. Thomas Buckle. The
following were the original members: John
Stiers, Michael Ellis and wife, Sarah Stiers,

Theodore Bailey and wife, Noah Honnold,
Mrs. Armstrong, Thomas Roe. The first quar-
terly meeting was held in Noah Honnold’s
barn, May 16, 1841. A church was built at

Adamsville in 1842, at a cost of $1,500. Salem
Chapel Methodist Episcopal church was con-

stituted with Richard Johnson, Eliza Johnson,
Nancy Spragg, Joseph Stiers, Benaiah Spragg,
Margaret Stiers, G. Tousler, Martha Tousler,

Solomon Baughman, Nancy Baughman, Joseph
Johnson, John Daily and his wife, Ruth John-
son, Nancy Crane and others as its first class;

Richard Johnson, leader. In 1852, a frame
church house was built at a cost of about $900
on land donated by Benaiah Spragg. Good
Hope Lutheran church was organized in 1868

by Rev. William Gilbreath. The following
were the constituent members: Levi Statts,

Amandy Statts, Charles Sturtz, Rachel Sturtz,

Louisa Sturtz, John Sturtz, Sarah Wisecarver,
Elizabeth Wisecarver and Elizabeth Wire. A
frame building was purchased at Adamsville
in 1871, and fitted up and dedicated as a church.

Beulah Baptist church was organized, after a

series of meetings in 1872, by Rev. E. W. Dan-
nels, with the following members: Isaac Darner,
D. Winn, Ann Darner, Catharine Winn, Samuel
Bowmatn, J. A. Winn, Hannah Bowman, H. N.
Winn, R. J. Winn, Hattie A. Winn, Robert
Scott, Samantha Whitecraft, John Whitecraft,

J. W. Bratton, Nancy M. Winn, Elizabeth A.
Bratton, William P. Winn. J. R. Bratton, Lizzie

Hunter, Mary A. Bowman, Emma Hardy,
Emeline Williams, Lucy Williams, Mary Huff,

Austin Lehew and Jared Williams. Early
meetings were held in Salem Chapel. Later
they were held in Milligan’s schoolhouse. In

1872 a church lot was bought of J. A. Morrison,
and the house of worship was finished and
dedicated by Rev. T. Powell, January 11, 1874.

The oldest cemetery in the township is that

early set apart by the Lutherans. The first

person buried there was Mrs. Jacob Gaumer.
The first summer Peter Wertz discovered his lit-

tle daughter Margaret in danger from a copper-
head snake. Picking her up, he held her un-
der one arm, while with a club in the other he
dispatched the snake. His son Jacob Wertz is

authority for the statement that before he left

the spot he killed fourteen of those dangerous
reptiles.

Mordecai Adams, who owned the quarter
section of land which corners on the northeast
near the township hall, laid out the town of
Adamsville in 1832. According to the Adams-
villc Register, 1889: .“ His residence, then lo-

cated near the present site of Geyer’s store,

was the only one in the village. A few years
later, it was removed to what is known by the
town plat as Main street. It is still in exist-

ence and increasing in value. It is at present
occupied by George Swank, town marshal. In

1857, this property, with the lot, was sold for

$80, and paid for with a horse valued at $60
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and the other $20 in work. The house was re-

paired, and in 1867 it was sold for $170. A few
days since it was sold to W. A. Roberts for

$250. The first house built in the town after

the town was laid out, was built by Dr. Rea-
soner in the spring of 1833. It was located on
the lot now owned by J. W. Garrett. Dr. Rea-
soner was the first physician in the village, and
the lot for an office and residence was donated
to him. His office was a part of the present
drug store of the village. His residence, a

frame cottage with a porch on the south side,

was torn down by Mr. Garrett in 1877, who
built in its place the handsome two-story
structure which he now occupies.” It is said

that William Beaver platted Adamsville for

Mr. Adams. Wheeler’s addition, on section 4,

adjoining the original site, was platted in 1835.

Additions were later platted by Jared Cone.
Several houses were erected on the town site

in 1832. The first one occupied was that of

Dr. Jacob Reasoner, on lot ten. About 1833,
Thomas Few opened a store in Adamsville,
which was kept by Gibson Collins, the propri-

etor having been a resident of Union township.
He was succeeded by Wertz & Daggett. This
store was on the familiar Geyer store site.

Jared Cone opened a store in 1835, on 2 - of

Adams’ plat, which was the first general mer-
chandising establishment in the township. Roe
& Armstrong began business in the Collins

building, on lot 9, in 1838. In 1839 they moved
to lot 4, Wheeler’s addition, and traded there
until 1842. Roff & Leslie traded in the Col-
lins building, 1 839— ’43. Denison Ross and
Isaac Stiers began merchandising in 1844, but
were in the business but briefly. James Dar-
lington was a later, but by no means perma-
nent merchant. In 1852, Jacob Stenger began
trading here. H. S. Roff and John Mills began
business in 1853, and had quite a number of

successors. In 1863, A. Jordan and William
Sedwick took the store, but they separated in

1864, and Mr. Jordan continued the bnsiness
until 1875. He was succeeded by Zimmer &
Hurdle, Van Kirk & Baker, and Wesley Stiers.

Cyrus A. Geyer began business in 1877 anc* sti 1

1

continues. A. C. Tomlinson and A. Jordan
opened stores about a year later. A. C. Tom-
linson & Son succeeded Tomlinson. Elsea &
Winn are more recent merchants here. Snoots
& Ferrell are hardware merchants; John W Gar-
rett is a druggist and stationer. The Adams-
ville postoffice was established about a mile
east of that town in 1827, with Jonathan Starkey
as post master. It was moved to Adamsville in

1835, when Jared Cone was appointed. Nelson
H. Garner is the present postmaster. Denison

Ross erected and opened the first tavern in the
township, on lot 4 in Wheeler’s addition to
Adamsville, in 1838. Later “landlords” were
John Bratton, John Zimmerman, Jacob Stenger,
David Richardson, Samuel Van Kirk, G. W.
Shoemaker and others. The Adamsville house,

J. P. Sturtz, proprietor, is the only hotel in the
village. Mr. Sturtz took possession April 1, 1890.

Adamsville is fourteen miles from Zanes-
ville, its nearest shipping and banking point,

and has daily mail communication with that
city. In the beauty of its site and the health-
fulness of its location, this village is unsur-
passed by any in the county. It is surrounded
by a fine agricultural, stock and wool-raising
district, and the producers of this section, as a

class, are in good circumstances. The popula-
of the place will reach about 300, and no com-
munity or village of its size in the county is

actuated by higher motives or a more clear

conception of progressive ideas and public
welfare. Should this place secure railroad

connection, which certainly it invites, it would
prove an important shipping point. Isolated

as it is, about seven miles from any railroad,

thirteen miles north-east of Zanesville, and ten

miles east of Dresden, it enjoys an importance
as a trade and business center unsurpassed by
some of our more advantageously situated

towns. There are three good coal veins in the
surrounding hills and excellent clay for brick
and tile manufacturing. This village enjoys
the advantages of one of the best kept hotels

in the county; good schools and churches, and
a class of enterprising citizens and business
men. The average attendance of the public

schools is about no. There are two churches,
viz.: Evangelical Lutheran and M. E. Church.
Hubbard Lodge, No. 220, F. & A. M. H. H.
Garrett, W. M.; F. P. Winn, S. W.; G. E. Hon-
nold, Jr. W.; G. V. Kern, secretary; H. L. Cogsil,

treasurer; W. R. Hosick, S. D.; P. C. Shroyre,

Jr. D.; M. Bowers, tyler. Fred Aler Post, No.
412, G. A. R., G. V. Kern, Com.; H. H. Gar-
rett, Sen. Vice; J. Reckel, Jr. Vice.; J. W. Gar-
rett, Q. M. Eureka Grange was organized in

April, 1889. The officers are H. H. Garrett,

master; Joseph Young, overseer; P. W. Sturtz,

secretary; J. W. Slater, treasurer; J. C. Bell,

lecturer; John Fritz, chaplain.

The Adamsville Register
,
established in 1889,

by E. Spencer, editor and proprietor, is a

bright and enterprising four page, seven col-

umn local newspaper, issued every Tuesday
morning at $1 per annum. In 1892 the paper
changed hands, passing to E. C. Jordan, who
well sustains the sheet for the reputation se-

cured for it by the founder.
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<©1^6ipter XXVIII.

CLAY TOWNSHIP.

THIS is one of the smaller townships of the

county, it is bounded north by Newton, east by
Brush creek and south and west by the county line.

The following record, copied from the county com-
missioner’s journal, is that of the erection of Clay
township, December 9, 1841 :

“ Pursuant to ad-

journment the commissioners met. Present: John
Goshen, Robert Boggs and Littleton Moore. A
petition was presented by William Wann, signed

by a majority of the householders residing within

the boundaries of the proposed new township, at

the last June session of this board and laid over
to the present session, which was this day taken
up, and the commissioners being satisfied that the

necessary notice of such intended application had
been given by advertisements, as required by law,

proceeded to take the matter into consideration.

The petitioners set forth that they labor under
many difficulties and disadvantages in conse-

quence of the distance and other difficulties they
have to labor under, in going to and from elections,

etc.
,
and also praying that a new township may be

set off of part of Brush Creek township, and the
commissioners, believing the prayer of the peti-

tioners necessary for the convenience of the inhab-
itants and township officers, do hereby order a new
township to be set off, according to the following
boundaries, to wit: Sections Nos. 1, 2, 3, 10, 11,

12, 13, 14 and 15, in township 14, range 14, being
part of Brush Creek township, Muskingum county,
which said new township is called Clay township.
Also ordered by the commissioners that an election

be held at the house of Adam Rider Sr., in said
township.” It is said that at this date the entire
population of Clay did not exceed 100 souls.

Roseville is a stirring village located southwest
of Zanesville, from which it is distant ten miles, is

on the Perry county line, a part of the corporation
being in Perry county. It is on the C. & M. V.
railroad, and is chiefly noted for its pottery in-

dustries, which have gained a national repul atiou.

The clays found here are as diversified as they are
superior in quality, and not only household vessels
are manufactured, but high art and antique pat-
terns, embracing flower pots and urns, oriental

vases, umbrella stands, cuspidors, etc. This

industry has caused in the last few years in the

increased demand for these goods, which has added
much to the importance of Roseville and promises

to become a large manufacturing center. Her
school population is 265, occupying a new school-

house completed last year at a cost of $11,000. It

is a modern structure throughout, containing six

rooms. Employment is given to five competent

teachers. There are five churches here, viz.

:

Presbyterian, Methodist Episcopal, Protestant

Methodist, Christian and Lutheran. The corpor-

ate officials in 1890 were: J. B. Lowry, mayor;

C. A. Cann, clerk; J. N. Owens, treasurer; J. A.

Williams, solicitor. William Dunn, J. H. Snoots,

T. H. McAdoo, John Sagle, Henry Combs, R. B.

Williams, councilmen. The principal business and
other important local interests may be thus men-
tioned: Adams Express, J. B. Barbee, agent;

William J. Allen & Son (William J. and Howard
E.), proprietors, Roseville House, and livery and

feed stable. Baughman & Pace (John Baughman
and George Pace), stoneware manufacturers. Solo-

mon Baughman, groceries, etc. George W. Brown
Sr.

,
pottery. John Burton, stoneware manufacturer.

George E. Capewell, jewelry, musical merchandise

and pictures. Cincinnati & Muskingum Valley

Railway, J. B. Barbee, agent. Henry Combs,
flouring and saw mill. Abram Goodlive, boots

and shoes. G. A. R., Axline Post, No. 290, Will-

iam Lowry, P. C.; G. H. Stull, adjutant; Alfred

Ransbottom, quartermaster; meets first and third

Tuesdays of each month. Guy Bros. (Charles C.

and Henry), miners and shippers of coal. Rev.

W. T. Harvey, pastor M. E. church. I. O. O. F.,

David Encampment No. 217, W. H. Brown, C. P.

;

J. W. Stoneburner, Sr. W.; Oliver King, treasurer;

G. W. W. Walker, scribe; meets every second and
fourth Tuesdays of each month. I. O. O. F.

,

Jonathan Lodge No. 356, B. Stoneburner, N. G.

;

James W. Stoneburner, permanent secretary; C.

C. Guy, recording secretary; L. D. Stine, treasurer;

stated communications every Saturday evening.

Kildow, Dugan & Co. (L. S. Kildow, B. A. Dugan,
C. L. Williams and J. W. McCoy), manufacturers
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of pudding pans, frying pans, cooking crocks,

coffee pots and general hollow superior stoneware.

Austin Lowry, manufacturer of stoneware, plaster

dies. Lyman Lowry, stoneware manufacturer.

William B. Lowry, manufacturer of stew pots,

lawn vases, chimney flues and tops. T. Henry
McAdoo, general store. James W. McCoy, manu-
facturer and jobber of Ohio stone ware, also

general store. W. A. Melick, physician. Peter

Moore, pottery. Oswald M. Norman, druggist and
physician. Owens & Brown (Jacob N. Owens,
Ellsworth L. and Walter B. Brown), general store.

George W. Owens, groceries, etc. John B. Owens,
manufacturer of flower pots, cuspidors, umbrella
stands, etc. J. D. H. Parrott, manufacturer of

steam and horse clay crushers for potteries and all

clay products, also manufacturer of carriages, bug-
gies, wagons and general repair work. People’s

Building and Loan Co., J. B. Owens, president;

G. W. Walker, vice president; G. W. Brown, treas-

urer; J. W. McCoy, secretary; meets every Tuesday
night of each month. Rechabites, Lone Star Tent
No. 109, Charles Patch, S.

;
B. A. Eby, P. C. R.

;

J. N. Dunnington, R. S.
;
W. S. Mayers, treasurer;

meets every Monday evening. J. P. Richards,

Lehigh mines (coal). Alvah Rider, pottery. Edward
Rider, pottery, Roseville House. J. H. Snoots,

coal pick manufacturer and agent Grims coal drill.

J. Cyrus Sowers, pottery. William B. Sowers,

pottery. Standard Coal Company, miners, main
office, Columbus, Ohio. L. D. Stine, stoneware
manufacturer. Noah Tanner, hotel and feed stable.

“The Independent,” issued Thursday evenings;

George H. Stull, editor and proprietor. The Rose-

ville Bank, George W. Brown, president; Thomas
Brown, cashier; general banking business. U. A.

M.
,
Jr. O., Clay Council No. 50, J. W. Sagle, C.

;

B. A. Eby, recording secretary; Richard Jeffries,

treasurer; meets every Thursday evening. G. W.
W. Walker, druggist and physician. John F.

Weaver, groceries, confectionery, cigars, tobacco;

postmaster. Western Union Telegraph, J. B.

Barbee, manager. J. C. Wigtom, dealer in fertil-

izer. J. A. Williams & Co., real estate and col-

lection agency. Wilson Bros. (George N. and T.

Arthur), general store. Samuel P. Zehrung, stoves,

tinware, and roofing.

Roseville was platted by John Rose in 1812,

and was known as New Milford until 1830, when
the postoffice was established, with John Allen in

charge. For many years following this important

event, the mail was carried to and fro on horse-

back, weekly. In those days the postage was from
six and one-fourth to twenty-five cents on each

letter, payable in silver by the recipient. The first

cabin here was that of Mr. Rose, built, it is said, in

1814. An early addition to Roseville was that

platted by James Littleton in 1837. Robert Allen,

who was deputy postmaster, was the first merchant .

He was succeeded by Allen & Copeland. John
Laughlin kept the first tavern in a log cabin.

Zadoc Wilson was the first blacksmith. The first

shoemaker was a man named Forgran. Elisha
Kennedy taught the first school in a log house,
with puncheon floor. The second schoolhouse of

the same construction was built as late as 1840 and
gave place to the present modern frame building.

Roseville was incorporated in 1840 and Dr. James
Little was the first mayor. The population was
then about 300.

Chauncey Ford and David Stokeley were the
first settlers in this vicinity. They were brothers-

in-law. Among the early comers was the Rose
family, from which the place took its name. An
old woman lived in a little cabin a few rods east of

Spurgeon’s and owned a small tract of land. It

was “all in the bush” then, and little better than a

frog pond, containing about twenty acres; it in-

cluded all the space north of Noah Tanner’s tav-

ern to the spring. Dr. Little purchased it and
laid it out into town lots, and thus North Roseville

was started. The first bricks ever produced in

Roseville were made by Thomas Moody.
Sixty-five years ago Roseville was a pretty

“tough” place, and it is stated that it was a very

poor Saturday when three or four fights did not
occur. But the people of Roseville and the whole
community adjoining were generous and kind-

hearted. They comprised for the most part the

hardy elements of Virginia, Maryland, Delaware,
Pennsylvania and New York, and there was a slight

sprinkling from New England. The “roughs”
had mostly disappeared in 1845.

In the spring of 1844 Robert Alley, F. W.
Howard, Ezra Bailey and others organized them-
selves into a committee to solicit subscriptions for

a fund with which to build a horse bridge across

the creek at Roseville. Enough cash and work
were pledged to build a wagon bridge across a nar-

row part of the creek on the Brush Creek road,

which was the first bridge at or near Roseville and
proved a great convenience. After the Maysville

pike was constructed a bridge was built by the

county at James’ mill. In later years Roseville

made efforts to build a plank road to connect with

the pike at that point. The scheme was afterward

revived under the name of the Roseville and Malta
Plank Road company, but failed for want of popu-
lar support. The first house of worship in this

part of the country was a free-for-all-denomina-

tions edifice, and was probably erected about ten

years after settlement began. Lory Ford in the

reminiscences of his childhood, said the meetings
were held in private houses about 1810, and gave
an account of a Presbyterian preacher dressed in

the old continental style of long stockings, short
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clothes and shoe buckles, who held forth at his The Presbyterians began to make their influence

father’s house. In 1837 the “Old Ironsides Bap- felt in 1849, and in 1850 built a church at Rose-

tists,” so called, held services in the Hill church ville. The Lutherans worshiped in the township

monthly. The Methodists also worshiped there quite early. The present churches here have been

occasionally until they built a log church on Goshen referred to.

hill, named after their early preacher of that name.

<©l^apt<3r XXIX.
BRUSH CREEK TOWNSHIP.

WHEN we seek to name the early settlers of

this section, the names of George Swingle

(who erected the first log cabin on the creek),

„ David Butt (from Harper’s Ferry, Ya.) the next,

and then the Whittakers (Lewis and Lemuel) come
in mind, and with these are associated those of

David Stover, the Deitricks (Nicholas and Joseph),

Asa Wells, the Baughmans, Henry Stainbrook, A.

Buchanan and the McConnells (Thomas and John).

Henry Dozer was known as a hunter, the precursor

of civilization. He and a large family lived upon
the results of the chase, and disappeared as the

regular settler made his permanent improvement
and opened the woods to the production of grain.

The Dozer class of white men followed the game
as it was driven before the sweep of settlement,

and, enjoying the wealth of forest freedom, left

to the actual settler the lands whose tillage has

proved a rich heritage to their descendants of the

present. The need of a saw mill was supplied by
Samuel Stover, who, in 1813, built a dam across

the creek and erected a structure for sawing pur-

poses. He added a grist-mill in 1819. In 1827
and 1829 new mills replaced the primal ones upon
the same sites. A small store was early started by
John and Joseph Baughman; others, among whom
was Gottlieb Slider, had preceded them. The need
of a tanner was supplied, in 1815, by Archibald

Buchanan, who lived upon the banks of Turkey
run. The essential of early settlement was the

worker in iron, not the simple repairer, butone who
could construct entire the tools used in clearing at

that time. The first was Thomas Davidson, 1813—

44. Others were .John G. McConnell, Alexander
Hamilton, Thomas Harrap and Tobias Thomas. A
man named Cain made this his business, and with

him labored .Jesse Gibson, who, having in time

learned the trade of blacksmith, followed it for

many years. The first school kept in Brush Creek
was within a little log cabin on the farm of Dei-

trick, in the year 1813. The honor of teaching the

first school in this quarter, in 1814, belongs to

David Woodruff Sr. , who continued in the profes-

sion for years, and taught the first schools in the

village of Stovertown. He was succeeded by
Thomas Rogers. George Swingle, the pioneer, was
a native of Saxony, Germany, born July 4, 1750.

From the age of sixteen to twenty-four he served

in the German army. Then, coming to America,
he located in Pennsylvania, where he married and
lived until 1810, when, with his son, Nicholas, he
came to this township and located on what has

come to be known as the Solomon Swingle farm.

Leaving his son to care for the new domain, he re-

turned to Pennsylvania and brought out the re-

mainder of his family, Nicholas, with what little

hel}> was to be had, erecting a cabin, which was
ready for their occupancy when they came. Two
years later they abandoned this and moved into

their just-erected first hewed log house in this ter-

ritory, and they also put in some wheat, started an
orchard and built a barn. Among other comers
not already mentioned were Thomas Davidson,
Balser Deitrick, David Woodruff, Joseph Showers,
James Brown, Joseph and Lewis Hudson, John
Boyd, John Worstall, John and James Hopkins,
Christian Baughman, E. Longshore, David Wood-
ruff, Martin Adams, Adam Leftler, Jacob Stain-

brook, Zedekiali Butt, John Brighton, Abner Brels-

ford, John M. Carlisle, Robert Crook, William
Thompson, Michael Wiseman, William McElhany,
Abo Stainbrook Jr. and Peter Shepard. A road
from the Muskingum river to the Morgan county
line, dividing this township centrally from north to

south, was the first through this section. The first

bridge was built over Brush creek, near the .John



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY.32(5

G. McConnell place, by John Worstall. The first

carpenters in the township were the second George
Swingle and Joseph Showers, and the lirst carpen-
tering done here was for the pioneer, George Swin-
gle. The first medical practitioner was Mrs. Dr.
Addison, who, as early as 1813, went to and fro

through all this forest- covered region, carrying her
bags of roots and herbs and receiving a hearty

welcome at the scattered firesides. Gottlieb Slider’s

pioneer store, opened in 1830, was on the B. F.

Swingle place, near Stovertown. About 1820 Adam
Leffler started a distillery on the Daniel Longstreth
place. William Swingle made the first brick,

which were used in the erection of the residence

now of B. F. Swingle. Rev. Cornelius Springer
and John Goshen preached in the double cabin of

John Bingham, a deer-hunter, and at private

houses until the construction of a log meeting-
house by the Lutherans and Presbyterians. In
time the log was torn down and a frame erected,

and owned by the Lutherans exclusively. The
Methodists had preaching in the dwelling of Zed-
ekiah Butt, by local preachers. An early marriage
in the township was contracted by Michael Wing-
man and Maria Butt. Various interests are well

represented to-day. The population is largely

German and politically republican. The surface is

very hilly, but the soil rich, and cultivation is re-

warded by good crops. Oil wells have been sunk,

and salt wells are being worked along the banks of

the Muskingum. The first salt well was bored by
Thomas Moorehead in 1818, on the Joshua McCon-
nell farm. Abundance of coal is found at the hills

near the river, and boats take coal from the mine
direct.

In regard to the organization of this township
the Commissioners’ journal contains the following

entry: “A petition was presented by a number of

the inhabitants of Harrison township, praying that

a new township be incorporated, viz. : Beginning
at the southeast corner of section 31, in township
number 10, in range number 13; thence north with
the range line between the 13th and 14th ranges
to the northwest corner of section number G, in

township number 11, in the 13th range east, to the

Muskingum river; thence down said river until it

intersects the range line between the 12th and 13th

ranges; thence south to the county line; thence

west to the place of beginning; called Brush Creek
township. February 10, 1817.” The first justice

of the peace was Samuel Whitaker.

Rev. William Foster, an Evangelical Lutheran
minister, conducted religious services in Brush
Creek township, 1812-18, in the dwellings of the

pioneers. In 1818-19, meetings were held by Rev.

Andrew Henkle and his brother Charles. In 1819
Rev. Lewis Shite, assisted by Rev. Andrew Henkle,

organized a charge consisting of four or more con-

gregations. One of these, Jerusalem church, in

Morgan county, near Deavertown; one, St. John’s
Evangelical church, in Brush Creek; the others in

Roseville and Fultonham, this county. During that

year the Lutherans built a log church in Brush
Creek, two miles south of Stovertown, on a site

still marked by a graveyard where rest many of the
pioneers. The first burial in this cemetery was
that of Miss Phebe J. Swingle, daughter of John
G. Swingle, in 1812. She was a member of the
Evangelical Lutheran church, having united with
it in Chambersburg, Penn., before her family re-

moved to Ohio. Up to this time no Lutheran min-
ister had officiated in Brush Creek. Rev. Father
Goshen, of Putnam, a minister of the Methodist
Episcopal church, well known to the old settlers of

the county, was requested to officiate at the burial.

The congregation was served by Rev. Samuel Kaem-
merer, 1820—36. In 1831 a church was built by
the Lutherans and Presbyterians half a mile south
of Stovertown, and was the joint property of the

two congregations. Rev. Amos Bartholomew was
pastor, 1837-39; Rev. J. Manning, 1837-50. In
1851 the Lutherans bought a lot next to that upon »

which the union church stood, and erected upon it

a building for their sole use and ownership. It

was a neat frame structure, and was dedicated in

the fall of that year by Rev. A. J. Weddell. Rev.

John Rugan was pastor, 1856-68. Rev. J. Man-
ning again took charge of the congregation the

Jerusalem, Roseville, and Fultonham churches con-

stituting a separate charge. In 1872 dissension

and discord arose in the congregation, and the pul-

pit was declared vacant and was regularly supplied

by Rev. M. C. Horine, of the Zanesville mission.

During that year quite an interesting class of cat-

echumens was added to the church, through the

labors of Mr. Horine. In 1873 the congregation,

by vote, changed its former synodical relations by
uniting with the English District synod of Ohio,

at the same time uniting with the Zanesville mis-

sion, the two congregations forming one charge, by
advice of synod. Rev. Mr. Horine resigned his

charge here, and the field was again vacant. Rev.

William P. Ruthrauff was pastor, 1873-76, when
he died. Late in 1876 a call was extended to Rev.

F. Richards, of Philadelphia, and he entered upon
his duties here in November, that year, and was
duly installed pastor in the spring of 1877 and has

served the charge continuously to the present time.

As an evidence of the labors of the pastor and the

flourishing condition of the two congregations, it

is necessary only to refer to the new church built

near Stovertown in 1878, at an estimated cost of

$5,000. There is no indebtedness, and, taken all

in all, the congregation is in a more flourishing con-

dition than at any other time in its history. The
first Presbyterian organization in Brush Creek
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township was formed by Rev. James Culbertson in

1825. Services were held at the residence of Mrs.

Turner, on the James Leasure place, for some
years. In 1831 a church was erected, as has been
stated, by the Presbyterians and the Lutherans.

At that time Rev. Mr. Hunt was installed as pastor

of the Presbyterian congregation. Following is a

list of the members: Mrs. Turner, Lemuel Whita-
ker, Mr. and Mrs. David Woodruff, Mr. and Mrs.
Thomas B. McConnell, Mr. and Mrs. Hugh Hank-
inson, Mr. and Mrs. William Thompson, Mr. and
Mrs. John McCandless, Mr. and Mrs. James French,
Daniel Spangler, Mary Stover, and Hiram Wood-
ruff. Antioch United Brethren church grew out of

meetings held at the house of the third George
Swingle, about 1830, by Rev. Royal Hastings. A
cabin church was erected in 1844, on the farm of

Samuel Dozer, and occupied until 1869, when the

congregation took possession of a neat and ade-

quate frame church. The original members were
Henry Dozer and wife, John Barringer and wife,

Samuel Dozer and wife, George Dozer and wife,

Peter Stainbrook, and Kate Davis. Zoar Baptist

church, composed of Samuel Bagley, Joshua Breeze,

William Foster, Henry Hamrick, William Marlow,
and Sarah McCurdy, was organized in Schoolhouse

No. 3, on Irish Ridge, June 4, 1831. Joshua
Breeze was chosen pastor. In the spring of 1833
a hewed-log church-house was erected, which, in

1859, was superseded by a frame structure. Amity
Sunday-school, which has exerted a salutary influ-

ence in the township, was organized in 1831, with

Lemuel Whitaker as president; William Swingle,

vice-president; Adam Baughman, treasurer; John
Baughman, secretary.

The only trade center in the township is Sto-

vertown, a postoffice on the line of the Brush
Creek branch of the Columbus, Shawnee & Hock-
ing railroad, nine miles south of Zanesville; popu-
lation about 100. This place was laid out in 1832.

and named in honor of Samuel Stover, who was
found murdered near the upper bridge in Zanes-

ville. After his death a stock of goods came from
New York addressed to him and were brought to

this point, and the store thus established formed
the nucleus of the present little village.

<m^6ipter XXX.
HIGHLAND TOWNSHIP.

THIS township is bounded north by Monroe
township, east by Guernsey township, south

by Union township and west by Salem township.
Following is the record of its erection and original

survey; it was reduced to its present area July 2,

1819: “A petition was presented by a number of

the inhabitants of the northeastern division of

Muskingum county, praying that the 5th and 6th
ranges, thence east to the county line, thence north
to the place of beginning, may be incorporated
into a new township, by the name of Highland,
and the election ordered to be. held at the house of

William Dennison, on the first Monday in April,

1814, to elect the necessary township officers.

An idea of the original extent of the township may
be gained from the fact that Mr. Dennison lived a

mile and a half southwest of Adamsville, in what
is now Salem township. Joseph K. McCune and
-Joseph Williamson are said to have been the first

justices of the peace. The central and southern
parts of this township are comparatively level and

susceptible of easy cultivation. The northern area

is elevated and broken.

The settlement of Highland began in 1808,
when Mathias Trace, from Washington county,

Penn., located on the northeast one-fourth of sec-

tion 11. The corresponding one- fourth of section

16 was entered by Lot Wortman; the northwest
quarter of section 15 by James Honnold, from Vir-

ginia; the southwest one fourth of section 13 (on

the property since occupied by P. P. Geyer) by
Peter Bond, from Maryland, about 1811; the

southwest quarter of section 19 (the George
Fisher place) by Thomas Rambo, about two years

later; section 22, or a part of it, by J. K. McCune
and Alexander Mays, about 1813; the northwest
one-fourth of section 19 by Edward Ostler, in 1814;
the corresponding quarter of section 14 by Jacob
Honnold in 1815 or 1816. In 1813 came William
and John Davis, William, Peter, John and Casper
Bradford; the Davises locating on section 7, the

Bradfords on section 8. Among the early settlers
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also were the families of Geyer, Fell, McMichael
ami Shroyer.

The advancement was so rapid in this township
that in 1835 John Bradford, James Honnold and
Andrew Geyer and their families were living in

frame houses. A more pretentious one was erected

in 1845 by Samuel Scott. Thomas Roberts built

a brick house near the Bethel church in 1850. In
1815 Noah Decker built the first mill in Highland,
on the northwest quarter of section 14, which was
transformed from a sawmill to a distillery with a

grinding attachment as a distillery auxiliary. On
the northwest one-fourth of section 21, James Mc-
Michael put a gristmill in operation about 1830,

which gave place to a carding machine about
twelve years afterward. Another early gristmill

was one built in the southern part of the township
by John Geyer. William Reynolds put a sawmill

in operation on White Eyes creek about 1832 or

1833. Andrew Henderson’s “Parker wheel” mill

on this stream and Hugh Simms’ mill on one of its

branches, are well remembered. Mills were put
in operation by James MacDonald at the Bloom-
field site (later owned by Martin McLane) in 1843,

by John Buchanan and Samuel Moorehead, on the

southwest quarter of section 10 in 1853; and by
Theophilns Wark, in 1873—a combination grist,

saw and planingmill, the most pretentious in the

township. The Buchanan & Moorehead mill

changed hands several times and was last operated,

down to about twenty years ago, by Joseph Sol-

ders. The first public road laid out in this town-

ship was that from Cambridge to Dresden, about

1806; the second was that from the Findley mill-

dam, south of New Concord, to the mouth of Wills

creek, about nine years later. In May, 1817, Jo-

seph K. McCune surveyed a road “from James
Sprague’s, in Highland township, to John Rey-
nold’s store, on the Wheeling road.” The pioneer

blacksmiths were Robert Baxter and James Hon-
nold, on the Adamsville road. The first wagon
was brought into the township by Peter Bond,
grandfather of Peter B. Geyer. John Bell intro-

duced fine sheep here in 1857. About 1835-45
David T. Bigger operated a small tannery on the

Bloomfield and New Concord road. Dr. E. S.

Wortman is said to have been the pioneer physi-

cian, before 1840. Dr. A. B. McCandless practiced

here about 1850-55; Dr. R. T. Wark about 1850-
70. Dr. J. Mori'is Lane came to Bloomfield about

1848. Dr. W. G. Lane is a more recent physi-

cian. Joseph Graham kept the first store, on the

Samuel Moorehead place iu 1833. Another early

merchant was William Mason, east of Bloomfield,

1835-43. George Buchanan began merchandising
in Bloomfield in 1848, and was succeeded by Will-

iam Weylie, who built and did business in a new
store, 1851-66. Thomas Forsyth began trading

botween the Concord and Dresden roads in 1852.

In 1854 he built the William Mintier store. In
1857 he retired. After him came Atchison & Bell,

Atchison & Bro.
,
James Block, J. F. Warrick and

Thomas McKay. The present merchants at

Bloomfield are Marion F. Geyer and William B.

Kelley.

David Rankin was the original owner of the
town site of Bloomfield, an inland postoffice,

twenty miles northeast of Zanesville, and four

miles north of New Concord, the nearest shipping
point. It is situated in the northeastern part of

Highlaud township, and has a daily hack line to

and from New Concord, its nearest banking point.

Population is about 100. Thomas Clegg, William
Weylie and Daniel McLane bought a few acres

each, and had them surveyed into lots in 1853, by
Joseph Fisher. Additions were later platted by
John D. Hogseed and J. P. Lytle. John Crooks,

the first postmaster here, was appointed in 1857.

This place is historical as the seat of M. C. Corkle
college, an institution which, though of humble
origin, came to be popular and prosperous. In
1862 Rev. William Ballantiue, of the Associate

Presbyterian Church, induced several young men
to prepare for the ministry, and himself heard reci-

tations in his study. Numbers increasing, the

meeting-house was offered and used, and the name
of Bloomfield High School bestowed. For years

it continued an individual enterprise, until the first

students were ready to enter the senior class. In
1868 the synod passed an act appointing Messrs.

Robert Atcheson, John Bell, William Finney,
Samuel McKee, Robert Hyslop. Robert Brown, A.

McCreery, J. H. Johnson and John Baird a board
of trustees. In 1866 the Bloomfield Academy was
incorporated, and a house purchased. A college

building became a necessity and J. Bell, presi-

dent of the board, being appointed general finan-

cial agent, sufficient funds were raised; a founda-

tion was laid in the fall of 1872, and the spring

term of 1873 was held in the basement. A college

charter was obtained on February 12, 1873, and
the school became clothed with full university

powers. Rev. W. Ballantine, A. M.
,
was elected

president, James Hindman, A. B
,
vice president,

and R. C. Kerr, A. B.
,

professor of languages.

The college proper began existence April 3, 1873.

It had an endowment of $8,000, and, including

values in building, a capital of $20,000. The post-

office at this point is known as Sago. The primi-

tive log sclioolhouse of the township was standing
in 1818, and doing double duty as temple of learn-

ing and house of worship, on the northwest one-

fourth of section 1 1 . Later it was moved to a site

further down the Cambridge road, and finally gave
place to one of the three liewed-log, hexagonal

buildings used in this township for school pur-
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poses, all of which have disappeared. Lorenzo
Dow, the first teacher in this old school, was buried

nearby, in 1818, his having been the first inter-

ment in what is now Bloomfield cemetery. The
site of this cemetery was devoted to the citizens by
Walter Hogseed. A third of an acre was added in

1879, and a deed to the whole given by James
Hogseed, the area then being three and one-third

acres. In 1853 Peter Bond was buried near his

grandson, Peter B. Geyers. In 1878, upon the re-

moval of his body to Bethel cemetery, it was found
to be completely petrified.

The first Methodist class was organized by Rev.

William Knox in 1816. A hewed log meeting
house was erected in 1828, which was two years

later replaced by a brick edifice. The latter was
burned in 1854, and Bethel Methodist Episcopal

church, a large frame building, was erected soon
after. The Bloomfield Associated Presbyterian

congregation was organized at the house of David
Duff, by Rev. John Walker, March 20, 1818.
Meetings were held in tents, one pitched near
the site of the present house of worship, and a

later one about a mile north of the Russell farm,

till the first log church was built, in 1822, near the
eastern side of the present graveyard. This was
succeeded by another log structure, hewed, near
the site of the present building. It was erected
in 1831, and is remembered as having had two
wings or additions. The third church was a frame
building, erected on the present site in 1847. In
1858 the Associate Presbyterian and the Associate
Reformed Presbyterian churches consolidated
under the name of the United Presbyterian church.
Twenty out of the 170 members of the Associate

Presbyterian church declined to go into the union,
and built a church for themselves in 1863, the old
building having been taken by the majority.

‘©l^cipter XXXI.
HOPEWELL TOWNSHIP.

A PETITION was presented to the county
commissioners February 3, 1812, signed by

a number of the inhabitants of Falls and Madison
townships, asking to have a new township, to be
called Hopewell, formed from their territory. Not-
withstanding a remonstrance against the proposed
measure was also presented, the commissioners
decided to grant the petition, and ordered an elec-

tion for the officers of the new township to be held

at the house of John Colvin. It appears that the

election was held at the house of James Rollins,

instead, and without regard to this fact, the officers

so elected were permitted to serve, and among
them were Simon Simons and Thomas Higgin-
botham, justices of the peace. All that part of

Falls township within the first township of the

ninth range of military lands was annexed to

Hopewell September 1, 1817, and February 22,

1819, that portion of Hopewell east of Licking
creek was annexed to Licking township. This
township is bounded north by Licking, east by
Falls, south by Springfield and Newton and west
by the county line. The Central Ohio railroad

crosses its northeast corner, and the National

road traverses the lower central portion on its

westward course. Along this road, at a mile’s

interval, is the village of Hopewell, laid out by
John and James Rickey in 1829; and the town of

Mount Starling, laid out during the same year by
Nathan Wilson, who the following year laid out an
addition. Farther on the road is the town of
Gratiot, partly in the adjoining county of Licking.
Kent’s run heads near the middle of the township
and flows southward into Perry county. Poverty
run traverses the northern portion. The Indians
had not deserted this territory when the white man
appeared. They finally disappeared about 1810
or earlier. A man named Hinton already lived

on Poverty run when, January 1, 1806, Samuel
Bonnifield located there. The latter stated that
“John Carr and Joseph Jennings lived near;” his

uncle, James Wilson, came soon after, and his
father died there about 1808. “ On our way
here,” lie wrote, “ we stopped but a day or two in

Zanesville, and also a couple of days at William’s
placo, which is more on the National road. Four
members of a family named Faid, living up the
run, died in 1806. My brother Arnold was born
here in 1806. We came here in a four-horse
wagon, and the trip occupied weeks, all of which
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time, with the exception of two nights, we camped
out. A man named Hensle and his family were in

our party, as was also William Wilson, an uncle
and a captain in the war of 1812, who went up to

Mackinaw. Hensle settled on the Flint Ridge
road.” Rev. Cornelius Springer, speaking of

William Hamilton and his son-in-law, Rev. Robert
Manley, who came from Maryland in 1806, says,
“ they were the two first families that settled here.

They were both men of dignified and impressive
characters, yet mild and conciliating. They were
surrounded with such a religious atmosphere that

you could not come in contact with it without feel-

ing a desire to be better. The first thing these

eminent men did in their new location was to

erect the altars of religion and offer unto God in

their cabins their daily and weekly sacrifices. The
influence of their example was such that the early

settlers around them, with scarcely an exception,

embraced religion and formed the church. I think

it doubtful if ever two men settled in the west
have sent down upon posterity such an influence

for good.” In this year Major William Bonnitield,

with his wife and live children, came from Shen-
andoah, Va., and stopped in Falls township, re-

moving thence January 1, 1807, to the Samuel
Bonnitield farm, on Poverty run. Among other

families who located in this neighborhood was that

of William Coffman, Curtis Willey Sr.; John
Clabagh, E. B. Morgan, John Colvin and Charles

•Franklin came early, as did also the Richey*

Brothers, James Burley and James Boyle. Henry
Winegardner, later the tavern-keeper at Mount
Sterling, came in 1814 and built a cabin out of

seventeen trees, and about that time came James
Smith and Conrad Emeny. George Dent, who
afterward gained prominence politically and other-

wise, in Putnam county, 111., was a resident

here with his parents as early as 1808. Frederick
Beams, who came about 1812-14, owned consider-

able land round Mount Sterling, and John Dillon

entered large tracts of land in Hopewell, and cut

much wood for the furnace at Dillon’s Falls.

Joseph Richey, who became sheriff of the county
and held other offices, came in 1830.

The first blacksmith in this township is said to

have been Peter Crumrine, whose shop was near

the Peter Starkey place. About 1828 Thomas
Dean had a shop in “ Normantown. ” William
Heath, who was a son-in law of William Hamilton
and who came in 1814, is said to have been the

first carpenter. About 1827 Francis Fresize

opened the first store on the Thornsville road, just

east of the Kent’s run bridge. He was merchan-
dising later near Asbury chapel and still later

where Hopewell now is. The next storekeeper

was Samuel Dolman, at Mount Sterling, who was
in business there as early as 1832-34. In 1812

Skinn’s distillery was in operation on Kent’s run;

in 1815, Nathaniel Richley’s, on the Burley place;

and about the same time, Samuel Richley’s, on the

Porter place. Dr. Duzenberrv, who was a peda-

gogue as well as a medical practitioner, came about
1812 and dealt out physic and ‘‘taught the young
idea how to shoot.” Dr. E. D. Bain located north

of Hopewell in 1828 and afterward removed suc-

cessively to Gratiot and to Mount Sterling. Dr.

Knight practiced in the township from about 1840
to 1855 or 1856. The first regular school was
taught in 1814, in what is now District No. 1, by

Abraham Frey. The township was divided into

school districts in 1835 or earlier. The nearest

gristmills were at Zanesville and Dillon’s Falls,

until 1814, when a small gristmill was erected on
Kent’s run, which was still in operation six years

later. On Poverty run, near Bonnifields, there was
another early grinding mill. On the Licking county

line, Adam Smith had a mill in operation at an early

date and Jacob Martin had a combination grist

and sawmill or Kent’s run. A man named Reese
built the first saw mill in the town, however, on
Kent’s run above Colvin’s. John Colvin set out

an orchard in 1814, and Henry Winegardner
planted another

t
in 1817. The next year he

planted peach stones, procured in Perry county.

The first pottery of which information can be
gained was started by Mr. Burley in the neighbor-

hood of Mount Sterling. One Casteel, so it is

said, started another in 1822 and sold it to John
Burley in 1825. It burned down in 1827 or later

and was rebuilt about 1830. It gave place to a

more modern establishment in 1875. Allen &
Son, of Mount Sterling invented and for a time

manufactured earthenware coffins at Mount Ster-

ling. In 1825 Daniel Drumm made millstones in

this township, which gained popularity as the

“Flint Ridge buhr stones.” About fifty years

ago tanneries were built at Mount Sterling and
Gratiot, but never became established. The old

Henderson tannery, started about 1835, was bought
in 1854 by George Rutledge, who in 1866 sold it

and it became the Van Allen pottery.

Upon the completion of the national road

through the township a postoffice was established

at Hopewell, but without change of name, it was
later moved to Mount Sterling. There has for

about sixty-two years been a movable postoffice at

Gratiot, which has been kept part of the time in

Muskingum county, part of the time in Licking.

There are postoffices also at Pleasant Valley and
Cottage Hill. Henry Winegardner kejit tavern on

the national road at Mount Sterling about 1829.

Soon afterward Henry Blair opened a public house

on the opposite side of the street. The first road

through the township was the Cooper mill road

laid out in 1808. The National road was the next,
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Cut in one of the stones forming the wall of the

culvert over the run at Burley’s is the following

inscription :
“ Built A. D. 1830, by C. Niswanger

;

James Hainpson, superintendent
;
D. Scott, assist-

ant. The Policy of the Nation :
‘ Reciprocity at

Home and Abroad.’ ” The first thresher owned
in the township was made at West Zanesville by
John Van Horne and brought to Hopewell by
Frederick Beams in U337. It was a horse power
affair of peculiar construction. In 1845 Louis
Ijams brought in some merino sheep. Others to

bring in and breed fine sheep were Le Roy Robin-
son, the Pryors, George Pollock, George Campbell
and Samuel Campbell.

The primitive graveyard was opened on the old

Reamy place. The Bonnifield and the Beulah
graveyards contain the remains of numerous
pioneers, some of whom died at an advanced

age.

The Predestinarian Baptists built a church in

1832, on land belonging to Robert Bolin, which

came to be known as the Timber Run Baptist

church. Hericon Lodge No. 192, I. O. O. F.,

was organized February 23, 1852, at Browns-

ville and subsequently removed to Gratiot. A.

R. Jordan was its first noble grand, John G. Bain
its first vice grand and Parson Gee its first secre-

tary.

XXXI 1.

MEIGS TOWNSHIP.

THIS township is bounded on the north by Rich
Hill township, on the east by Noble county,

on the south by Morgan county, and on the west
by Blue Rock township, and consists of an entire

congressional township of thirty-six sections. It

was named from Meigs creek, and that in honor of

Gov. Meigs, of Marietta. This stream drains
the southwestern part. The southeastern part is

drained by Dyes’ fork, of the same creek. The
northeastern part is drained by Collins’ fork, of

Wills’ creek. The northwestern part is drained
by Kent’s creek. These streams have cut deep
ravines through the lime and sandstones and lower
coal measures, and divide the hill}' and uneven sur-

face into several noteworthy elevations. High
Hill rears its summit 1,375 feet above sea level,

and is the source, within a space of 200 yards, of

branches of Wills, Meigs, Kent’s and Salt creeks.

It is said that twelve counties are visible from its

summit. Under date of July 13, 1819, the follow-

ing enactment is recorded in the journal of the
county commissioners: “A petition was presented
to the commissionerspraying fora division of Rich
Hill township. The commissioners, therefore,

enacted the twelfth original surveyed township, in

the eleventh range, to be a separate township called

Meigs township. The qualified electors to meet at

the house of Zoath Hammond on the last Saturday
of the present month to choose township officers.”

Zoath Hammond lived on the northeast quarter of

section 9. Llewellyn Pierce and John Hammond
were elected justices of the peace and Jacob Wort-
man town clerk.

The nameless and roving Indian traversed the

hills and valleys pursuing the game and camping
upon the banks of the stream. His departure left

the face of nature unchanged. The settler came,

and the impress of his presence is known by grow-

ing orchards, cleared fields, and time-worn cabins.

Who were the early settlers of Meigs? Yet a few

years and none can answer. One of their vener-

able survivors answers for them as follows: Finley

Collins was a pioneer inhabitant of the northeast

corner of the township. Near what is known as

High Hill dwelt Gillogly with a large family of

sons, some of whom are known as Meigs’ leading

farmers. L. Pierce is claimed as an old settler and
early justice. Charles Gilbaut settled near a high

portion of land, to which his name is given. Gil-

baut’s Hill is in the north of the township. Gil

bant was a Frenchman, and interested himself in

sinking a salt well near the hill some time in 1825.

Joseph Johnson, from Pennsylvania, a former

soldier, settled on section 7 as early as 1810. John
Mclntire, from the same state, was known as a

worthy old settlor of Rich Hill. The Staritts,

James and Joseph, long known and highly re-

spected, have passed away. The Dunlaps, the

Sevalls, and the Doans were early settlers in the

southern part of Meigs. Goods were first sold in
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the township by Squire Gilbeaut, where is now the

store of Chapman & Gillogly, kept by the latter

since 1855. At Zeno postoffice is a store kept by

William Ewing. A commendable liberality has

been shown in educational and religious affairs.

The construction of early churches, where the labor

could be done by combined effort, was a speedy

work. Most were the result of subscription, and
the work went tardily forward. Each line church is

a standing monument to the enterprise of one or

more of the township’s liberal citizens. Times
have changed and business has become settled.

The days of speculation in the township are past.

The trappers and hunters, the tavern-keepers and
stage- drivers, the land speculators and town pro-

prietors, have moved westward or settled quietly

down to realities. The excitement of the “ Silver

Mine” is a legend hardly believed by those who
hear the story, and the long, wearisome journeys

for provisions, the shifts and the deprivations of

the settlers, are a constant surprise. On the north-

east quarter of section 0 David Stevens, in 1808,

built a cabin over a large chestnut stump, that

served as a table, upon which, it is said, no less

personages than Gen. Cass, Bishop Asbury and
Gov. Meigs dined at one time and another. The
Zanesville and Marietta road was the first road

surveyed through this township. The ‘
‘ Old Fed-

eral Trail ” was another early highway here. The
first hewed-log house was erected by Archibald

Bowles. John P. Farrell built the first frame

house; William Yanger the first frame barn. Cas-

per Hallenbeck erected the first brick house, on

the David De Long place, on the Zanesville and
Marietta road, about 1832-33. About 1815
Thomas C. Gilkison built the first tannery, on
Collins fork, and later sold it to Chauncey De
Long. The first store was opened at Lytlesburg

(now Meigsville) by John P. Farrell. Later more
pretentious stores were opened, at Lytlesburg by
George Lytle, at High Hill by William E. Walker.

A Mrs. Harkness taught the first school in the

northeastern part of the township about 1814. It

is related that Miss Hannah Bliss taught a school

at 50 cents a week, and accepted feathers and
maple sugar in payment. Benjamin B. Seamans
began to make wagons in the township soon after

1815. The pioneer blacksmith was Levi Thomas.
The first distiller was William Dye. Joseph Rea-

soner built a gristmill on Collins fork before 1825.

John McGlashen started a fulling mill about 1830.

Th is establishment was enlarged by the addition

of a cardingmill, and for a time was operated by
William Yanger. Jacob Onslatt built a sawmill

on one of the branches of Meigs creek shortly sub-

sequent to 1830. Before the war of the rebellion

there was much difficulty in Meigs, both politically

and in the schools, between the white and the

black residents there. Eventually a separate
school was provided for the colored children.

Dr. Clark, of Morgan county, was the first phy-
sician who practiced his profession among the
people of Meigs. Drs. Dalton and Wilson came,
but did not remain long. Dr. Joseph Register
came in 1842, Dr. Charles Hurd in 184(5, Dr. James
Gillogly in 1847, and others have followed or suc-

ceeded them, among the number Drs. Spring and
Marshall.

Meigsville is situated in the southwest quarter
of section 27, and was laid out by Gilbert Bishop
in 1840, and William Betz platted an addition six

years later. Zeno is an inland postoffice in the
western part of Meigs township, twenty-one miles
from Zanesville, and six and one-half miles from
Gaysport; Merriam station is its nearest shipping
point. It has a daily mail from Gaysport. Muse-
ville is a postoffice near the central part of Meigs
township, twenty-one miles southwest of Zanes-
ville, and six miles from Cumberland, from which
it has a daily mail. Coal is found in considerable

quantities. Cumberland, six miles distant, on the

B., Z & O. R. R.
,
is the nearest shipping point.

High Hill is a postoffice, so called from the name
of a hill near by, that is supposed to be the sec-

ond highest point in Ohio. It is situated in the

northwestern part of Meigs township, seventeen
miles southeast of Zanesville, and four miles from
Spratt on the B., Z. & C. R. R., its nearest ship-

ping station, and has a daily mail. Coal is found
here in abundance. In 1845 a postoffice was es-

tablished at Lytlesburg (Meigsville), with William
Betz as postmaster, and another at High Hill in

charge of C. J. Gibeaut. The postoffice at Muse-
ville was established in 1853, with Henry Onslatt

as postmaster; the one at Coal Hill in 1876, with

Jesse Frazier in charge. In July, 1863, occurred
Morgan’s historic raid, if such it can be called, in

which Meigs township was on the line of march.

About sixty-two years ago the people in the

southwest part of the township erected a “ union”
meetinghouse on the farm of Philip Yanger,
which was used by all denominations until 1846,

when Rev. John Arthur organized a Presbyterian

society which acquired the building and the inter-

est in it and its site of Mr. Yanger. At the es-

tablishment of the High Hill Presbyterian church,

in 1878, the society transferred to the Methodists
the right to occupy the old church house, still

retaining its ownership. The Salem Methodist

Episcopal church is the outgrowth of a class

formed under the leadership of John Crawford,

in 1820. The first house of worship was built in

1830, and gave place to the present one in 1853.

This is the oldest religious organization in the

township. A class was formed at Lytlesburg at

a comparatively early date, which developed into
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the Lytlesburg Methodist Episcopal church, whose
house of worship was built in 1854. In 1852
meetings were held in Schoolhouse No. 5 by Rev.

Thomas Shepherd (Baptist), and in Schoolhouse

No. 6 by Revs. J. Winters and Benjamin Thomas
of the same denomination, resulting in additions

to the old Rich Hill and Brookfield churches,

seven of whom were formed into a society called

the western branch of the Brookfield church. A
frame meetinghouse was built in 1853. Six years

later a separate organization was effected under
the name of the Ark Spring Baptist church, with

Rev. Washington Glass as pastor. A class of

white and colored Methodists was formed at

Lazarus Marshall’s, in the southeast corner of

the township, in 1824, which met in private

houses for twelve years, when a few log churches
were built on section 24, which was called Wesley
chapel. Race difficulties led to the withdrawal
of the Africans, in 1843, who built a hewed log

church on section 23, which was burned in 1854.

In 1857 a frame church was built on the same
site which came to be known as Pleasant Hill

Methodist Episcopal church (colored). After the

disruption the Wesley Chapel society declined.

XXXIII.

PERRY TOWNSHIP.

T HIS township, organized in 1812 from the
“ Military district ” and named in honor of

Commodore Perry, is bounded north by Salem,

east by Union, south by Salt creek and Wayne, and
west by Washington. The surface is undulating;

the soil is limestone clay with sand and yields good
crops. The township is drained by Salt creek and
Little Salt creek, White Eyes run and numerous
smaller streams. The National pike was completed
through the township in 1829. The Central Ohio
division of the Baltimore & Ohio railroad crosses

the township with a station at Sonora.

James Brown Sr., sometimes called Luke
Brown, is credited with having been the first settler

within the borders of Perry township. He had
come out from Massachusetts to Waterford, Wash-
ington county, but in 1801 built a cabin and opened
a tavern on Salt creek at the crossing of the old

Zane trace. He had some means and much intelli-

gence and these gave him a prestige that made him
a formidable competitor to Isaac Prior, who kept a

public house farther west on the road. Just west
of Mr. Brown, James Comstock settled in 1801. In
1807 came Abraham and Reuben Gabriel, father

and son, from Franklin county, Penn. Buying 500
acres of land in the Johnson 4,000 acre purchase,

they located where the R. H. Atkinson place was
afterward known. The Samuel Bowers place was
settled the same year by Atnasa Davis. About this

time John Echelberry, from Green county, Penn.,
entered the northeast quarter of section 0, bill

I!)

being unable to pay for it, he sold it, about four

years later, to George Border, and made a new home
for himself on the southwest quarter of the same
section. In 1807 Jacob Livingood came to this

township from Washington township, and located

in section 12. It is believed that Joseph Dicker
located on section 9 in 1808. John Wartenbee,
from West Virginia, located on section 22 in

1810. Peter Livingood located on the Howard
Dunn place, on the “trace” in 1810; Jacob Van
Pelt on the George Little place; Simon Menvin on
the Elijah Eaton place; Philip Baker on the Irvin

Winn place; Christopher Schuck on the northwest
quarter of section 9; James Brown Jr., on the

northeast quarier of section 20; Alexander Arm-
strong, from Ireland, on the “trace.” About
the same time came Samuel ConnaAvay. In 1811

Aaron Vernon, from Washington township, located

on the northeast quarter of section 5; one Harris,

from Pennsylvania, on the northwest quarter of

section 20; Mr. Engel on the northeast quarter

of section 10, on the “trace. ” The Zane trace,

called also the “ Old Wheeling road, ” entered-

this township on section 20 and passed out

near the southwest corner. As was natural,

the pioneers located along this road. The first,

cabin was that of James Brown Sr.
,

erected in

1802. Eli Walls built the first brick house in

1819. The next was Kaufman’s, built in 1820 and
afterward occupied by Michael Sauerbaugli. The
first tavern of James Brown Sr., opened in 1802,
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has been referred to. His son, Major James Brown,
also kept tavern on the Wheeling road in 1810
and later. James Brown opened the first store

on the Wheeling road in 1834; six years

later, Philip Bastian opened one on the Na-
tional road, west of Bridgeville, which has had
numerous proprietors down to the present time.

Jacob Wisecarver, who lived on Peter Livingood’s

land, southwest of where Sonora now is, was the

primitive blacksmith, about 1811. By some it is

claimed that the operations of Amasa Davis, another

disciple of Vulcan, antedated those of Wisecarver.

The earth was first opened in the township to re-

ceive the remains of one of its pioneers in 1808,

when Abraham Gabriel died and was buried on
the George Orr place. The first marriage was that

of Christopher Schuck and Mary Livingood. The
ceremony was performed by Christian Spangler.

The first log schoolhouse was erected on the Com-
stock place, and Simon Merwin, who was the first

teacher, taught in 181 1. Soon after he came (1807)

Jacob Livingood built a sawmill and gristmill on
Salt creek on section 12. In 1810 John War-
tenbee built a small sawmill on Salt creek, in the

southwest quarter of section 22. In 1812 he
he built a small gristmill. The Livingoods later

built several mills on Salt creek, but one after an-

other they all fell into disuse and eventually disap-

peared. Dr. J. S. Halderman was the first resi-

dent physician in the township.

The original proprietor of the town site of Sonora
was John Brown. It was platted by Isaac Stiers

in 1852. Evan Crane was the first postmaster.

The office was established in 1 855. Sonora has a

population of about 200, and the usual variety of

business places and small manufacturing interests,

with good telegraph, express and railway facili-

ties. The postoffice at Bridgeville was established

twenty-two years earlier. Andrew Hughes was the
primitive postmaster. The population of this ham-
let is about seventy live.

The Wesley Methodist Episcopal church grew
out of a class formed in 1808, of which John W.
Spry was class leader. Until 1816 the meetings
were held from house to house. Then they were
held in a log schoolhouse until 1823, when a

hewed-log meetinghouse was built on the Bowers
place, for many years called the ‘‘Bowers Meeting-
house.” A frame church was erected near Sonora
in 1846. The Ebenezer Methodist Episcopal church
was organized in 1827, by Rev. Joseph Carper. A
hewed-log, plastered and weather-boarded church
was built the following year. In this structure

Rev. Gilbert Blue preached the first sermon. Rev.
Samuel Kaemmerer formed a class at George Bor-
der’s about 1830. George Border and Robert
Dickinson deeded an acre of land to the organiza-

tion for church uses, on which a log house of wor-
ship was erected. In 1856 another plat of ground
just east of the old site was secured from John
Culbertson, on which a frame church was built,

which was dedicated by Rev. James Ryan and
Rev. A. Bartholomew.

‘©Raptor

SPRINGFIEI

FORMERLY a part of Newton township, the

first election in Springfield as such was held

at David Harvey’s tavern. June 21, 1803, resulting

in the election of the following officers: Dr. In-

crease Mathews, clerk
;
John Mathews, David Har-

vey and Isaac Zane, trustees; Robert McBride and
David Beam, overseers of the poor; Seth Carhart

and Thomas Cordry, fence-viewers; David Beam
and William Bevunt, appraiser's of houses; Thomas
Dowden, lister of taxable property; Henry North-

rop, Henry Crooks, John Chandler, George Bey-

mer and Hans Morrison, supervisors of roads; Jo-

XXXIV.
TOWNSHIP.

seph Jennings, constable. The township was form-
ally organized at this meeting. The next election

was held April 1, 1805, at the house of Thomas
Dowden. The original boundary of Springfield

was thus recorded: “Beginning at the mouth of

Licking river, on the south side; thence up said

river to a point where it intersects the base or mil-

itary line; thence west along said line six miles

from the. place of beginning (bounded on the north

by Falls township and a small portion of Hopewell
township); thence south three and three-quarter

miles (bounded on the west by Hopewell and a
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small portion of Newton township); thence east six

miles, south one-half mile, and east one mile, to the

Muskingum river (being bounded on the south by
Newton and a small portion of Brush Creek town-
ship); thence up the Muskingum river to the place

of beginning. ” At this time Springfield is bounded
north by Hopewell and Falls, east by Zanesville,

Wayne and the river, south by Newton and Brush
Creek and west by Hopewell and a small portion

of Newton. The surface of this township is

generally rolling, the valleys being fertile to a

degree. Thompson’s run and its tributaries, Jon-
athan’s creek, Chapman’s run, Shawnee run and
more insignificant streams supply adequate drain-

age. The Muskingum touches the eastern border.

David Stokely built his cabin near the site of

the Putnam foundry in the spring of 1799. July 3
he married Abigail Hurlbut and on the 6th brought
her to his pioneer home. When the lands were
sold he was unable to buy so large a tract, and they
passed into the possession of Dr. Increase Math-
ews, who associated with him his cousin, as else-

where stated. In 1805 Mr. Stokely moved south
of Jonathan’s creek, and there lived until his life

closed, forty-odd years afterward. The following

was written some years since, of the pioneer period
in this township:

“We have in Springfield a record of early set-

tlement and of the well-known founders of Putnam.
In 1801 the land on which that beautiful suburb
stands was purchased at Marietta. There were
three men associated in the purchase—Increase
Mathews, Rufus Putnam, and Levi Whipple. These
laid out a town and named it Springfield, and in

1802 several houses were erected. Andrew Crooks
lived from 1799 to 1804 on the land back of where
South Zanesville or Natchez now is, that was later

entered and occupied by Gen. Isaac Van Horne.
Adam Fronce was the first farmer resident upon
the land known as Springfield township. He was
succeeded by John Springer, who, in 1806, emi-
grated from Western Virginia and settled in the

woods of Springfield, four miles west of Zanesville.

He bought of John Mclntire a portion of the
original section 16, in this township, at $4 an
acre, before it was appropriated by congress to

school purposes. His son, Jacob Springer, was
married to Catharine Stover, December 12,1812.
Prior to this date Mr. Springer’s three sons had
cleared one hundred acres of land, excepting eleven

acres. Jacob Springer, a well known and promi-
nent citizen, sett led in the woods, on a quarter sec-

tion adjoining the homo tract. Abner James cleared
for himself and family a home in the woods in the
southwest part of the township. Among other co-

temporary backwoodsmen, George M. Crooks re-

calls the names of Dr. Rodman, William Hibbs,
John Fogles and Cornolius Kirk. Few now liv

ing can recall these names and link them with the

busy, laborious scenes of frontier life. Among
early justices in Springfield John Springer held a

leading place. The first school was taught in a

building on the hill near Natchez. Daniel Dim-
mick is remembered as the first instructor. Another
of the pioneer schools was taught in Putnam by one
who bore the name of Jennings. It is said that

many of the backwoods teachers were old country-

men, and very savage in their treatment of the

wild, robust youth of that day. The first tavern

was kept in Springfield by Crooks, one of Mus-
kingum’s first white occupants. Dr. Mathews was
the first merchant and the first physician in Put
nam, and Jacob Reagan was the first blacksmith.

He moved from Newton, and found useful labor in

making bells for cows and horses, which, running
free in the woods, were recognized and found by
their sound. The youth of to-day know little of

the trials of the border settlements in hunting

strayed stock, and more than once the boys met
with bears and wolves while on this duty.”

John and George Mathews put the first grist-

mill in operation here in 1799, which, as are some
other matters here touched upon, is referred to

elsewhere more in detail. Sawmills were built

by John Sharp, for the Spring Hill company, in

1801-02; by Levi Whipple in 1802. In 1804
Whipple added a gristmill. The Levi Whipple
flourmill in Putnam was built by the Spring Hill

company in 1803. In 1804 Mr. Crooks opened a

wagon road along the Zane trace, from Zanesville,

about nine miles to the crossing of Jonathan’s
creek in Newton township, and opened a tavern

that was a well-known public house for many
years. A line of stages was put on this road by
William Beard in 1821, to connect with the Wheel-
ing and Chillicothe stage line, which was estab-

lished by John S. Dugan in 1817. John Mathews
built a large flouringmill about half a mile above

the mouth of Jonathan’s creek, and about the same
time a saw mill near by. In 1810 he started a

distillery. William Simmons is said to have put
the first brick kiln in operation, near the fair

ground site, in 1807. Jacob Reese built a distil-

lery on his farm about 1820, and about the same
time Dr. Mathews engaged in growing fine-wooled

sheep. The National road was opened through this

township in 1828; the Zanesville and Maysville

pike about ten years later. The Pataskala mills,

in the northeastern part of the township, date

from 1830, and were put in operation by Isaac

Dillon. The “Western,” afterward the “Method-
ist Recorder,” established July 18, 1833, by
Rev. Cornelius Springer, was the only paper ever

published in this township. Its history is inter-

woven with that of the literature of the church it

represents. A postoffice was established in 1839
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in the “Western Recorder” office, at “Meadow
Farm,” Mr. Springer’s home, six miles west of

Zanesville, and Mr. Springer was appointed post-

master. It was discontinued in 1845. The Cin-

cinnati, Wilmington & Zanesville, afterward the

Cincinnati & Muskingum Valley railroad, was built

across the east end of this township in 1854, and
leading citizens of Putnam were prominent con-

tributors toward the enterprise. Fire clay, coal,

iron, blue limestone and sandstone are found in

Springfield.

A Methodist Protestant class was organized in

Springfield in 1827, and meetings were held in a

dwellinghouse vacated by Solomon Wylie. A

frame church was built about 1835, largely through
the influence of Mr. Wylie, in consequence of

which Mr. Wylie’s son, Abraham, facetiously

called the building “ Solomon’s Temple, ” a name
that clung to it long afterward. A Sunday-school
was organized in 1838. The present house of wor-
ship was erected about 1855. Revs. William Ivans
and Cornelius Springer were the early preachers
here.

The Springfield Association for the Recovery of

Stolen Horses was organized in 1833, with Jacob
Reese as president, and Edward Rex as treasurer.

Other members were Anthony Smith, John Fogle
and Samuel Seamans.

<©l^cipt<3r XXXV.
JEFFERSON AND CASS TOWNSHIPS.

THE area embracing Jefferson and Cass town-
ships was undivided municipally until 1853,

when Cass was formed from Jefferson, which had
been organized for many years previously. The
earliest record extant of the election of township
officers in Jefferson reads as follows: “ Agreeable to

an election held at the house of Henry North rup,

on the first Monday in April, 1805, for the pur-

pose of electing town officers for the township of

Jefferson, there were elected the following persons:

Trustees, Seth Carhart, Valentine Johnson and
Isaac Cordray; overseers of the poor, John
Walmsley, James Sprague; fence viewers, James
Wilcox and William Elben; listers and appraisers,

Peter Reasoner and Jacob Jackson; supervisors of

highways, Henry Northrop and James Tanner. ”

John Cain was at that time town clerk. Febru-

ary 15, 1806, Isaac Cordray was elected a justice

of the peace, to fill a vacancy caused by the death

of Seth Carhart; and April 1, 1809, Joseph Scott

was elected a justice of the peace without any op
position.

April 1, 1852, at a special election held in and
for Jefferson township, it was voted to issue to the

Steubenville & Indiana Railway company town-

ship bonds aggregating $100,000 to aid in the

construction of its road, now familiarly known as

the Pan Handle; to bear 7 per cent, interest pay-

able semi-annually on the first days of January and

July, and to mature January 1, 1862. This issue

was soon taken up and burned by the township
trustees, because the county auditor refused to

register and sign them officially. The trustees re-

issyed these bonds July 22, 1852, as set forth in the

extract from the official record given below: “Af-
ter due consideration, the trustees took up and de-

stroyed by fire the said $100,000 of bonds and exe-

cuted and delivered to the said railroad company,
in lieu thereof 100 bonds of $ 1,000 each, and num-
bered to 1,000 consecutively, and dated them the

same as the former issue to wit: April 1, 1852.’.’

Out of the nine of these bonds grew the trouble

which a little more than a year later resulted in the

division of the township. At the special election

held to vote for and against the issue of these

bonds, 340 votes were cast” for ’’ and 144 “against.”

The voters of Dresden were almost unanimously
in favor of the nine. The farmers throughout the

township opposed it, and they obtained an idea

that by dividing the township and setting up an

independent township, they could escape any lia-

bility on account of the bonds, leaving all respon-

sibility upon those who should live in what would
still be Jefferson township. But though the form
er party organized Cass, they did not throw off

their liability, and that issue of bonds eventually

cost the townships of Jefferson and Cass about
$200,000. Following is a copy of the record of

the division of the township, which appears under
date Tuesday, September 6, 1853: “The commis-
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sioners resumed the consideration of the matter

relating to the erection of a new township out of the

territory comprising Jefferson township, and order

that a new township shall be erected out of said ter-

ritory, to be known by the name of Cass township
and to contain territory agreeably to the petition in

relation to the same, which petition included the

whole of Jefferson township, excepting the dis-

trict included within the following boundaries,

viz. : Commencing on the Muskingum river, below
Dresden, at a point where the southeast corner of

Charles Dickenson’s land and the northeast corner

of Thompson Ferrell’s land unite, being on the east

boundary of Jefferson township, running thence

west on the line between said Dickenson and
Ferrell’s land, to the southeast corner of George
W. Lane’s land, being lot number 17; thence north
to the center of Wakatomaka creek; thence down
said creek, in the center thereof, to the eastern

boundary of Jefferson township; thence along said

eastern boundary, down the Muskingum river to

the place of beginning. The commissioners
caused notices to be written and sent by James
Morgan, with directions to put them up in three of

the most public places within the new township of

Cass; which notices appointed the 19th day of the

present month for the electors to meet at the school

house in subdistrict No. 5, in part of Jefferson

township this day formed by the commissioners of

Muskingum county in the aforesaid new township
of Cass, for the purpose of electing persons having
the qualifications of electors to fill the several of-

fices of said newly formed township.” The offi-

cers of Cass township for 1854 were: Maxwell Mc-
Cann and Alexander Struthers, trustees; D. D. Mc-
Ginnis, clerk; Richard Morgan, treasurer; Will-

iam K. Burch, constable; J. S. Tremley, justice

of the peace; William Cass, Carter Garret, Will-

iam Butler, Daniel Wolford, Thomas Morgan, D.
Pence and John Holmes. Cass is bounded north
by the county line, east by Madison and Jefferson,

south by Muskingum and west by Jackson. Jeffer-

son, the smallest township in the county, is bound-
ed north by Dresden, east by Madison and south
and west by Cass.

Near Dresden was a large Shawanese town
called Wakatomaka. The graveyard was extensive,

and when white settlement began the remains of

cabins were still visible. The following narrative
of an expedition against Wakatomaka has been re-

served to add interest to this portion of this work:
“ Under command of Col. Angus McDonald, 400
men were collected from the western part of Vir
ginia, by the order of the Earl of Dunmore, the
then governor of Virginia. The place of rendez-
vous was Wheeling, sometime in the month of June,
1 774. They went down the river in boats and
canoes to the mouth of the Captina, from thence

by the shortest route to the Wakatomaka town,

about sixteen miles below the present Coshocton.

The pilots were Jonathan Zane, Thomas Nicholson

and Tady Kelly. About six miles from the town the

army were met by a party of Indians to the number
of forty or fifty, who gave a skirmish by way of am-

buscade, in which two of our men were killed and

eight or nine wounded. One Indian was killed

and several wounded. It was supposed that seve-

ral more of them were killed, but they were carried

off. When the army came to the town it was
found evacuated, the Indians had retreated to the

opposite shore of the river, where they had formed

an ambuscade, supposing that the party would
cross the river from the town. This was imme-
diately discovered. The commanding officer then

sent sentinels up and down the river, to give notice

in case the Indians should attempt to cross above

or below the town. A private in the company of

Capt. Cresap, of the name of John Hargus, one of

the sentinels below the town, displayed the skill

of a backwoods sharpshooter. Seeing an Indian be-

hind a blind, across the river, raising up his head

at times, to look across the river, Hargus charged

his rifle with a second ball and taking deliberate aim
passed both balls through the neck of the Indian.

The Indians dragged off the body and buried it

with the honors of war. It was found the next

morning and scalped by Hargus. Soon after the

town was taken, the Indians from the opposite

shore sued for peace. The commander offered them
peace on condition of their sending over their

chiefs as hostages. Five of them came over the

river and were put under guard as hostages. In
the morning they were marched in front of the

army over the river. When the party had reached

the western bank of the Muskingum, the Indians

represented that they could not make peace with-

out the presence of the chiefs of the outer towns,

on which one of the chiefs was released to bring in

the others. He did not return in the ajipoiuted

time. Another chief was permitted to go on the

same errand, who in like manner did not return.

The party then moved up the river to the next
town, which was about a mile above the first and
on the opposite shore. Here we had a slight skir-

mish with the Indians, in which one of them was
killed and one of our men wounded. It was then
discovered that during all the time spent in nego-
tiation the Indians were employed in removing
their women and children, old people and effects,

from the upper towns. The towns were burned
and the corn cut up. The party then returned to

the place from which they set out, bringing with
them the three remaining chiefs, who were sent to

Williamsburg. They were released at the peace
the succeeding fall. The arinv were out of provis-

ions before they loft the towns, and had to subsist.
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on weeds, one ear of corn each day, with a very

scanty supply of game. The corn was obtained at

one of the Indian towns.* ”

Seth Adams and Maj. Jonathan Cass came to

this territory in 1799. Maj. Cass located 4,000
acres of land, consisting of forty warrants of 100
acres each. He brought his family in 1801 and
lived here until his death in 1830, aged seventy-

seven. Of his three sons, Lewis, George W. and
Charles L. Cass, the first became one of the eminent
men of his time. George lived quietly on the origi-

nal Cass farm and died there in 1873, aged eighty-

eight. He was often urged to accept important
trusts and public offices, but persistently declined.

His son, Dr. Edward Cass, of Dresden, is well

known in the county and beyond its limits. The
third served his country in the War of 1812, and
in recognition of his gallantry at the battle of Fort
Erie the citizens of Zanesville presented him with

a sword. He died in 1842. His daughter, Mary
E. Cass, became Mrs. Adams, of Dresden. The
remains of Maj. Jonathan Cass, the pioneer, were,

in 1875, removed by Dr. Edward Cass to the Dres-

den cemetery and buried at the spot marked by the

Cass family monument. Beneath his name is this

inscription :
“ He was a soldier at the battle of

Bunker Hill
;
an officer of the Revolution, and of

the army which, under Gen. Wayne, gave peace
to the frontier. From New England he emigrated
to this part of the wilds of the Northwest terri-

tory. On the military land he purchased he lived

a peaceful and quiet life thirty years, until death
claimed him for a victim.” Isaac Cordray and his

son George came soon after. In 1812 Mordecai
Ogle located half a mile northeast of Dresden. In
1804 George Dowell came. Joseph Bryant and
Daniel Stillwell came in 1818. About two years

later came the Wilsons—Simeon and Leonard.
Among other early settlers were Peter D. Rea
soner and Daniel, Joseph and James Norris. Will-

iam Birch settled on Tomaka creek in 1808. The
land being in large tracts and means limited, peo-

ple settled in choice spots and some of them were
known as squatters

;
among these were James

Slaughter, Frank Stafford, Richard Tilton and
others. These people built a row of log cabins at

the present site of Preston and had quite a pio-

neer village. As early as 1812 a ferry was estab-

lished across the Muskingum by Daniel Stillwell.

It has been stated by Enos Devore that a mill stood

on the site of the salt well at Dresden as early as

1802. George Wilson ran a sawmill at an early

day, and in 1801 a large flourmill was erected at

Dresden by E. and G. W. Adams. The first road

was laid out in 1803 from Zanesville to Coshocton
through Dresden. Peter D. Reasoner was the

primitive tanner in 1818. Joseph F. Munroe is cred-

ited with having opened the first store and estab-

lished the first distillery. John Parker kept the

first public house. It stood below Preston on the

river and was maintained for years. Meetings for

worship were held first by Presbyterians at Still-

well. Churches were not known till the erection

of one at Preston in 1830. School interests were
indicated in 1820 by the use of a discarded cabin,

in which the daughter of Reasoner, Miss Cathar-
ine, was the introductory school mistress. While
she formed the infant mind by patient repetitions,

her father held the reins of office, having been
chosen the first justice of the peace, and holding
the office for life. Among the first births in Cass
township, occurring in 1805, were those of Har-
mon Reasoner and John Stillwell.

Peter Bainter was a resident of Jefferson town-
ship in 1800

;
he was employed by Cass, and

brought the first wheat from below at Waterford.

The crop grew finely and the family anticipated a

treat of bread from wheat Hour, but the wheat
proved diseased or “sick” and was of no use.

Laban Lemert started a distillery in 1822 and a

store in 1826. Otlio Miller and Jacob Houser
were of the pioneer knights of the forge. Before

1820 a mill was built for grinding grists on Waka-
tomaka creek by George Gerty. The millwright

was Stiles Silliman. The next mill was by Henry
Roop; its destiny fulfilled, it long ago passed

away. Later mills were built and run by Adams
Brothers. Wyllis Silliman built at Dresden a card-

ing machine. Henry Roop started a distillery in

1832, and other necessities of this character fol-

lowed after and ran their course. The first salt

well was at Silliman’s, bored in 1817. The primal

sclioolhouse at Dresden — natural, round logs—
was occupied first by John Ingham. Wyllis Silli-

man, son-in-law of Maj. Jonathan Cass had a

saw and gristmill in operation on Wakatomaka
creek, near the present railroad bridge, some time

before 1806. John Cordray opened a tavern in a

log house on the site of the Akeroyd house before

1818. It was later kept by Abraham Smith, who
also taught school. Munroe’s distillery was in

operation before 1819. Peter D. Green was an-

other early tavern keeper. About three years

later Laban Lemert had a distillery. Henry and
Benjamin Roop, of Buffalo, N. Y., were extensive

distillers here in 1833. Dr. Benjamin Webb was
practicing medicine here before 1819 and was suc-

ceeded by his son, Dr. Nathan Webb. Dr. Fran-

cis Fowler, the second pioneer physician, came be-

fore 1825. Dr. Brown practiced about that time

at Dresden. About 1816 to 1818 Seth Adams
built a log house in Dresden, on the G. Reasoner
lot, a portion of which stood to connect the present

with the past. About the same time Laban Lemert
also erected a log house there. He opened a store*Doddridge’s Notes.
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at the same time. Other early merchants were
John Jacobson and David Wilson, the last men-
tioned of whom began business in 1827. Joseph
F. Munroe and Maj. Jonathan Cass were the first

to plant fruit orchards prior to 1815. Maj. Cass
built the first brick house. Another early brick

house was built by Mr. Munroe on the river road.

Seth Adams had a “corn cracker” mill on Waka-
tomaka creek about 1804. In 1832 Hugh F.

Hogan built a saw and gristmill on the Frazeys-
burg road, about four miles west of Dresden. Later
it was the property of John and David Lovett and
was known as Lovett’s mill. They sold it to James
Pryor and it was known as Pryor’s mill until its

demolition in 1875. Another early miller was A.

M. Eisenhouse. Morgan Morgan, from Mary-
land, was an early weaver.

Among the most skillful and influential physi-

cians and surgeons of the county is Dr. Edward
Cass, a native of this township, born in 1830.

After completing his academic education he de-

voted his attention to his chosen profession, and
studied medicine under his brother, Dr. A. L.

Cass, of this place. He subsequently took a regu-

lar course in the Jefferson Medical college, Phila-

delphia, from which institution he graduated in

1854. Chiefly, since that time, lie has been in the

enjoyment of a successful practice in this place

and has taken an active interest in progressive

science and public affairs.

Dr. D. A. Austin is a native of Clinton county,

this state, where he was born in 1823. After com-
pleting his education he studied medicine under
Dr. John W. Scroggs, of Harveysburg, Warren
county, and graduated from the Eclectic Medical
college, of Cincinnati, in 1849. He first com
menced practice in Iowa, in May, 1850, but in 1854
came to this place, where he has secured liberal

public consideration and practice.

In the early days of canal and steamboat su-

premacy in shipping facilities Dresden sprung into

existence, and for many years was one of the lead-

ing trade conters of Ibis section of the state.

Upon the opening of railroads, and for some years
afterward, its prestige was to a large degree inter-

fered with and its trade became considerably re-

stricted. The building of the Cincinnati & Mus-
kingum Valley railway through this place had a

reviving tendency, and for the past few years
especially have the advantages of this beautiful

location and picturesque surroundings attracted re-

newed attention. To day it holds a leading place
as the most flourishing town in the county outside
the county seat, and is attracting citizens to it from
the metropolis of the county.

Dresden is situated at thehead of navigation on
the Muskingum river, and, with the contemplated
improvements in that beautiful stream, for securing

navigation during all seasons of the year, and the

fact that this is the most feasible route for ship

canal from the lakes to the Ohio river, indicates a

most promising future for this place as a residence,

business and manufacturing city. In addition to

its location on the banks of the Muskingum river

and the C. & M. V. R. R., the Cleveland, Canton
& Southern railroad has recently been completed

through this place, giving two competing lines to

Zanesville, fifteen miles distant. A branch canal

about one mile in length connects this place with

the Ohio canal, while it is but one mile from the

junction of the Pan Handle system with the two
other railroads mentioned. As a place of residence

Dresden offers beautiful building sites, healthful

surroundings and a cultivated, intelligent and pro-

gressive class of citizens. Its business interests

are largely represented in special articles, while its

advantages for manufacturing enterprises are pos-

sibly unsurpassed in the state. The fine shipping

facilities it now enjoys, and proximity to cheap

fuel, and the fact that it has water power, with

coal, limestone, sandstone, iron ore and every

variety of potter’s clay and molding sand within

easy access, commends this place for the profitable

manufacture of glassware, tile, fire brick, etc.

Dresden was incorporated March 8, 1839, and
its corporate limits now embrace the whole of Jef-

ferson township. The first mayor was W. W.
Brice.

This organization of the Dresden Board of

Trade was effected on June 22, 1888, for the pur-

pose of securing the growth of manufacturing and
business interests of this place, in which it has

been largely successful. Its meetings are held in

the council chamber on the first and third Thurs-

day evenings of each month, and all communica-
tions relating to business enterprises addressed to

the secretary will receive prompt attention. The
Dresden Building and Loan association is one of

the most important and promising organizations of

this place, and is intended to provide means of sav-

ing for all, while it contributes to securing homes
to the industrious and laboring classes. It was or-

ganized April 9, 1890, and has been duly chartered,

with an approved capital stock of $100,000. The
officers are F. Tingler, president; John Hornung,
vice-president, and the following board of directors:

Frank Tingler, John Hornung, John A. Bell, J. S.

Prettyman, H. J. Shore. C. E. Cross and A. E.
Rambo. The public school building was erected a

few years ago and is one of the most perfectly con-

structed edifices of its class in the county. It is a

fine two-story brick structure, with all modern con-

veniences, situated in the center of large grounds,
while the building contains eight rooms, with broad
and well- lighted corridors, while the enrollment is

nearly 400 pupils. The ability with which the
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schools have been and are still conducted has been
noted by educators of renown.

Dresden also has a good steam hre engine, with
James Anderson as engineer, and a well organized
volunteer lire department; also two new first-class

hose reels. This corporation is about to erect a
new town hall at a cost of not less than $1(3,000,

while other important improvements are in contem-
plation.

Dresden Lodge No. 103, F. & A. M., meets each
Monday evening on or before full moon. J. C.

Dorsey, \V. M. ; L. F. Estenhausen, S. W.
;
Charles

M. Smith, J. \Y.
; J. \V. Lanning, secretary; Frank

Tingler, treasurer. Muskingum Chapter No. 145,
R. A. M.—L. F. Estenhausen, M. E. H. P.

; J. W.
Lanning, secretary; meets on Monday evenings
after full moon. Wakatomaka Lodge No. 180, I.

O. O. F. Officers: James P. Bryant, N. G. ; J. S.

Austin, Y. G.
;
W. M. Miller, R. S.

;
W. G. Smith,

secretary; Jacob Walters, treasurer. S. O. K. H.

—

This organization consists chiefly of young men,
and was organized in February, 1889. Eugene
Welsh, president; John Egbert, vice president;
John Alloway, secretary; Howard Lemort, treas-

urer.

The Dresden postoffice was established prior

to 1800, and Laban Lemert was, if not the first

postmaster, the earliest one of whom any one has
any knowledge. For several years mails were re-

ceived on horseback once each week. Next, a semi-

weekly mail line was established, and in 1832 a

tri weekly line of fine Concord coaches was put
upon the route. Since about 1843, mail has been
received and dispatched daily, and since the acqui
sition of railroads several daily mails are the rule.

The present postmaster is G. W. Lemert. A pri-

vate telegraph line was constructed from Zanesville

to Wooster, through Dresden, in 1848, and was dis-

continued some years before the Western Union
office was established here, which was in 1868.

Among the most important industrial enter-

prises of this county is the Caldwell Woolen mills,

which takes its name from the town of Caldwell,

where the mills were originally established in 1884.

January 12, 1888, the mills at Caldwell were
destroyed by fire, and in about ninety days the pro-

prietors had secured the present plant, in-

troduced entirely new machinery, and the con-

cern was in active operation, with capacity and
facilities for meeting the demand for their products.

The company selected this place for the base of

their more extensive operations. Suitable build-

ings were secured and additional ones erected to

meet the demands of their increased force and me-
chanical appliances. Newest improved machinery
was introduced, propelled by a fifty-horse-power

engine and boiler. The Caldwell Woolen mills

make a specialty of the manufacture of fine woolen

skirts and skirtings, the beauty and excellence of

which are unsurpassed by those of any establish-

ment in the Union. They give employment to a

force of forty operatives and assistants in the dif-

ferent departments of the. business, and their prod-

ucts are handled by leading jobbing houses of east-

ern and western trade centers. The individual

members of the firm are J. S. Prettyman and W.
H. Bush, gentlemen who bring into requisition the

fullest financial and executive ability, and who, in

establishment of the mills at this place, have given

an impetus to its industrial interests and a broader

fame to this protonsing trade center.

The Dresden Woolen mills have, for a period

of a quarter of a century, held a prominent place

in the productive enterprises of this section of the

county. The mills are situated about a half mile

east of the town, on the banks of the Muskingum
river, and are fitted up with the best mechanical

appliances,propelled by an overshot water wheel giv-

ing over fifty-horse power. The mills are devoted to

the manufacture of cassimeres, satinet, flannels,

skirts, blankets, yarns, etc., which bear a standard

and uniform excellence unsurpassed by any con-

temporaneous establishment in the state. The high-

est price is paid for wool, in cash or exchange. The
individual members of the firm are L.Rambo, Will-

iam Senior and J. Shore, and the many years they

have been associated with the business interests of

this place justifies the continued consideration this

company enjoys and the popular favor in which its

products are held at home and in distant mar-

kets.

Up to a comparatively recent date no impor-

tant change had been made in milling machinery,

invented and brought into use about the time of

the adoption of the Federal constitution, by Oliver

Evans, of Pennsylvania. But in this, as in other

departments of industry, American inventive

genius saw opportunities for improvement, and as

a result the roller system, or, as it is known, the

gradual reduction process, was introduced. This

has produced so great a change that at the present

day this system is adopted by all leading and in-

fluential mills in the country. Among those mill-

ing companies which have secured a popularity on

account of the uniform excellence of their products

is the Dresden Milling company, which dates its

organization to December 27, 1887. The building

was originally erected in 1884, and equipped with

newest improved machinery, operated by one

seventy-eight-horse-power turbine wheel. Busi-

ness was commenced November 1, 1884, under a

slightly different organization, and continued until

the present company assumed control at the date

before given. The building is four stories and

basement in hight, and 48x60 feet in dimensions,

exclusive of office, and has a capacity of 125 bar-
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rels of choicest bakers’ and family flour per day.

The special brands for which this mill is known,
are the “White Mountain” and “Silver Cloud,”
which hold the highest standard of value in all

markets in which they have been introduced, and
enjoy a marked popularity with the trade and with
consumers. Tbe members of the present company
are J. C. Dorsey, J. Walters and F. H. F. Eg-
bert, gentlemen who combine the fullest financial,

practical and business ability. Merchant grind-

ing, custom work and exchange are engaged in,

and as manufacturers of flour, meal and feed, and
dealers in grain, they contribute in a marked de-

gree to the importance of this place and to its

business interests.

Among the industrial institutions of this town-
ship which give conspicuity to this place as a manu-
facturing and business center is the Dresden
Hosiery company, which dates its establishment

here to February, 1890. The members of this

firm have heretofore been associated with the busi-

ness interests of Zanesville, and bring into requi-

sition the amplest financial and executive ability

for the most advantageous prosecution of this im-

portant industry. They secured an excellent plant
with ample buildings, and introduced the newest
improved machinery, propelled by one fifteen-

horse-power engine and boiler, and furnish em-
ployment to an average force of forty to fifty hands
in the various departments of the business. These
works are devoted to the manufacture of the best
grades of men’s woolen half hose, and women’s,
misses’ and children’s hose made from the best of

yarns, and which, in reliability of construction and
stability of colors, will bear favorable comparison
with those of any contemporaneous establishment
in the Union.

L. J. Lemert engaged in banking in Dresden
in 1852 and he and his sons have been identified

closely with the general financial interests ever
since. The banking house of G. Eaton was estab-

lished in 1800. The Dresden Banking company
is an organization that began business here about
three years since, conducting a general banking
business in loans, deposits and exchange, and is

entitled to the fullest public confidence. Its office

is in the opera block, thoroughly furnished for the
transaction of business, including a fine burglar-

proof, time-lock safe for the safety of deposits.

Tho firm is composed of F. W. Gasche, Esq.,

formerly of Millersburg, Ohio, as cashier, a prac-

tical banker and book-keeper of many years’ experi-

ence under State Bank Examiner J. J. Sullivan.

Other members are Messrs. John A. Bell and John
Hornung, gentlemen of well known honesty and
integrity, whose many years’ association with the
business interests of this place contribute to its

stability and success. The officers of the company

are: John Hornung, president; John A. Bell, vice-

president, and F. W. Gasche, cashier.

The Dresden “Transcript,” W. M. Miller, editor

and proprietor, is the legitimate successor to the

“ Doings,” and for half a century has been instru-

mental in promoting the enlightenment and best

interests of this section of the county. Especially

since coming into the control of its present able

editor and proprietor, in 1884, the paper has

grown in popular favor and influence. The
“ Transcript” is an eight-column folio, and enjoys

a liberal advertising patronage and circulation.

In the quarters now occupied, the editorial and
mechanical departments are on the ground floor,

conveniently arranged, and the latter supplied

with power presses and newest styles of type for

the prompt and efficient execution of every descrip-

tion of commercial and general job printing.

The only postoffice in Cass township is at Pres-

ton, on the P. C. & St. L. R. R., and is known as

Adams’ Mills. Most of the people of Cass get

their mail either at Dresden or Frazeysburg. The
line mentioned, generally known as the “ Pan
handle,” was completed through this township

about forty years ago. The branch from Dresden

to Zanesville was completed about 1870. The
railway stations of Cass are Dresden junction and
Preston. The main line of the “ Panhandle ” en-

ters the township near its northeast corner and
runs in nearly a straight line southeast, through

Preston and Dresden junction, and passes the

western border of the township about the center.

The Zanesville branch intersects the main line at

Dresden junction, also called Trinway. Dresden

junction was surveyed by Joseph Fisher in 1873

—

74, on land owned by George W. Adams.
Following is the brief historical mention of

the churches of Dresden: The Presbyterian

church, located on Chestnut street, was built in

1880, at a cost of $5,500, and a remarkable fact in

this connection is that it was dedicated on the fifth

Sunday in February. The first, house of worship

was erected in 1836-38. The organization of this

society was effected in 1819 in a log schoolhouse

about a mile south of Adams’ Mills, by Revs. Cul-

bertson, Root and Smith. Methodist Episcopal

church, located on Main street, was built in 1835
and rebuilt in 1852. It is a substantial brick

structure, and has a seating capacity of 500. The
Dresden Baptist church was organized in 1840.

Rev. Mr. Eldridge was the first pastor. The
church, built in 1845-46, has a seating capacity of

350. German Lutheran church of Dresden was or-

ganized in 1848. Its brick structure, located on

High street, was erected in 1853. The Disciple

church is a brick structure on High street, built

in 1862-63. The society was formed in 1861.

Elder William Taylor was the first pastor. Zion
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Episcopal church was organized in 1839. The
first rector was Rev. Mr. Cushman. The church

was built in 1848. St. Ann Catholic church has a

good congregation. Rev. Father A. A. Cush of-

ficiates. Cathechetical services Sunday p. m.

Seating capacity about 150. The German Meth-

odist Episcopal church was organized in 1852.

Its house of worship was erected about 1858. The
first pastors were Revs. William Florika and R.

M. Brownmiller.

Hopper’s Grove Methodist Episcopal church

has left no records. The church was so called

because Benjamin Hopper gave the society an

acre of ground for a church site and graveyard.
A house of worship was built more than fifty years
ago. The land around the church lot was sold to

Peter Marshall, who, discovering a flaw in the title

to the church property, sold t lie building to Mi-
chael Schuman and it later did duty as a stable upon
other ground to which it was removed. Liberty
Bell Christian church was also erected about 1840,
and about 1 8G3 it was sold to Thomas Fisher and
by him removed and converted into a stable. The
site of the building was donated by James Ogle.

The church was undenominational, and its first

pastor was Rev. William Bagley.

<©l^apter XXXVI.
MADISON TOWNSHIP.

^^HIS township was taken from Jefferson town-

L ship by an order of the county commissioners

dated July 2, 1819. It was originally bounded on

the north by the county line, on the east by Mon-
roe and Salem townships, on the south by Wash-
ington township and on the west by the Muskingum
river. The boundaries are thus described in the

commissioners’ journal under the above date :

“ Beginning on the county line, on the line divid-

ing the sixth range, then west with the county line

to the northeast corner of Jefferson township, then

down the Muskingum river and with meanders
thereof to the line dividing the southwest and
northwest quarter of the second township in the

seventh range, thence east to the line dividing the

sixth and seventh ranges, thence north with the

said line to the southwest corner of the third town-

ship in the sixth range, thence east to the line

dividing the sixth range, thence northwest with

the said line to the place of beginning.” Adams
township was created in December, 1826, and Mad-
ison township was thus reduced to its present

limits. The township was named in honor of

President James Madison. Its first election was
held at the house of Martin Wheelen July 31,

1819. Elections were held at the schoolhouse on
the land of William Minner, mostly, until 1848,

when the townhouse was built. The first road in

the township crossed the Muskingum at Bainter’s

ford, and ran along Symmes creek toward Adams
township. George Stoner and Elizabeth Shirer

were the first couple married in the township, in

1810. The lirst births were in the Bainter, Stoner
and Shirer families. The first death was that of

Godfrey Bainter in 1805, aged sixty years. He was
buried there in the woods on the farm of his son,

John Bainter, afterward known as the W. B. Car-

ter place. The first schoolhouse is thought to

have been that built on the land of Alexander
Struthers, near the forks of Symmes creek. The
primitive school was taught in the German lan-

guage. A Mr. Decker, in 1811, was the first to

teach in English. About 1813 Alexander Struthers

built a gristmill on the south branch and near the

forks of Symmes creek. About five years later he
added a sawmill. His successors were J. N. In-

galls, William Mapes, Frederick Minner and Peter

Varner. The latter was operating the gristmill,

which had been enlarged and improved, as late as

1866. Valentine and David Shirer built a saw-
mill near the center of section 20 on the north

fork of the stream about 1832 or 1833. A pair of

bulirs was later put in by John Bench, thus adding
a gristmill. Subsequent managers were William
Gaumer and Thomas Pharis. At the state dam,
in 1837, Thomas Pierce built a gristmill, the first

on the Muskingum thereabouts. Later owners
were Jared Cone, Charles Love, Elias Ellis and
Napoleon Reinaman. Under Reinaman’s proprie-

torship it was burned and rebuilt, and later was
owned successively by George Adams and William
Bice. From Bice it passed to A. G. Plummer, and
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then took the name of the Plummer mill. The
D. F. McKinney mill, just above the mouth of

Symmes creek, was built by James John and
James Gibbons as a sawmill. They added a grist-

mill and sold the property to Lloyd Dillon. A
distillery was started below the mouth of the

Wakatomaka, on the river, before 1812, and a

“tramp mill” for crushing grain is said to have
been attached. Wood & Eberts had a furnace in

operation on Symmes creek, half a mile above its

mouth, about 1814-16. It was soon abandoned,
however. In 1816 Daniel Milton had a black-

smith shop near the furnace. Copeland & Parma-
lee kept the first regular store about 1840, as is

claimed by some; others say the store of Thomas
Pierce, at his mill, was the first. The William
Miuner pottery was established at the forks of

Symmes creek in 1869. Ten years later the King
& Swoope pottery was put in operation a mile

above the mouth of that stream. PostofEces were
established at the mouth of Symmes creek and at

the residence of Thomas Armstrong in 1850, with

Charles Love in charge of the first; Mr. Arm-
strong in charge of the last mentioned. Mr.
Mapes began to make salt just below the mouth of

Wills creek in 1810. James Tingle came into

possession of the springs and works in 1852, and
operated them until about the close of the war.

Jacob Swigert settled on the river in this town-
ship in 1800 and sold his claim to J. S. Copeland,
who transferred it to John Bainter early enough so

that the latter may be called one of the pioneers.

In 1801 Bainter moved to the higher land on the

J. G. Stump place. The southwest quarter of

section 19 on Symmes creek was entered by
Wyllis Silliman, who sold it to James Sprague, a

Nova Scotian, who settled on it in 1802. Valen-

tine Shriver, a Swiss, located two years later on
the northeast quarter of section 23. In 1808
George Adams, from Fauquier county, Va., settled

on the southeast quarter of section 18. About
this time Charles Copeland located near the mouth
of Symmes creek. Adams built the Erst hewed-
log house in the town. Some years later he added
a frame building to it, which was the lirst frame

construction. In 1817 Charles Copeland built the

Erst brick house here.

The first church erected in the township was
the Wheelen Methodist Episcopal church in 1823.

It was a hewed-log structure 24x36 feet. There
is a statement in print that the Methodists had a

house of this description two or three years earlier.

This church organization, which was composed of

many of the pioneers and their families, ceased to

exist at least half a century ago. Prospect Meth-
odist Protestant church was organized from the

membership of this old church inl831 by Rev. Mr.
Gilbreath. Leonard Hurdle was class leader, and
meetings were held at John Walkers, until 1838,

when a log church was built on land given by Mr.

Hurdle. On an adjoining lot, donated in 1861 by
John Stoner, a frame building was erected which
was dedicated by Rev. J. C. Hazlett. Salem
Methodist Protestant church was organized in 1834

by Rev. William Marshall. The class leader was
John Mahan. A hewed-log church was built in

1838 a mile southeast of the mouth of Symmes
creek. In 1868 a frame structure was built on the

same site. As early as 1835-36 Judge Daniel

Stillwell, a Presbyterian, built a church on his land

in Madison township, Erst for the use of Christians

of his own denomination, but open to any other

when not so occupied. Rev. William Baldwin
organized a Methodist Protestant class in 1868,

which has worshiped here since. The Erst class

leader was Samuel Hammond. St. Matthew’s
Protestant Episcopal church had its inception in

meetings held in 1837 by Rev. William A.

Smallwood, of Zanesville, in the church building

Erst referr-ed to. St. Matthew’s parish was organ-

ized October 22, 1838, at the house of John C.

Stockton. A house of worship was erected on
land given by Evan James. The corner stone was
laid August 4, 1839. The cost of this building

was $900. It was not completed until May, 1846,

the congregation worshiping meanwhile in the old

church. The Symmes Creek class of United Breth-

ren was formed in 1846. Zachariah Adams deeded

an acre of land to this organization for church pur-

poses in 1861. A frame church was built in 1864.
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<^1^6ipter XXXVII.
LICKING TOWNSHIP.

LICKING township is full of interest to the resi-

dent; he feels that it is of his father, his farm
and his village that these lines are descriptive, and
statements are made of which his own experience

has knowledge. Long before the actual settlement

of the township a hardy race of hunters and squat-

ters had built their cabins and made improvements
about the site of the present villages of Irviile and
Nashport. Among these men were David Devore,

John Thrapp, Henry Barrickman, Aaron Claypool,

and Joseph and Ephraim Baker. Among the first

to enter lands as actual settlers were Jonathan and
Solomon Wood and families, from Virginia, Leon-
ard Stump, Jacob Victor, David Vandonbark and
Nathan Fleming. These settlers, prior to 1808,

are of the dead, and their children have grown
aged upon the old lands. Of those who moved
into the township before 1812 who were permanent
inhabitants, we give the names of John Irvine,

John Van Voorhis, Richard Ayers, and John R.
Roger, son in-law of Stump. It is related of Enos
Devore that he came west with his father, John
Devore, in 1801, bringing with them two cows and
an ox, on which they packed all their goods. John
Devore soon returned to Virginia, where he is

thought to have died. Enos Devore settled at

what is now called Nashport. At this time there

were two habitations in the place—one owned by
David Devore, the other by Samuel Jones. Prob-
ably the first tavern-keeper in Licking was Jona-
than Wood, whose house at Nashport, a hewed-log
building, was the favorite resort of the settlers to

hold elections, make up horse races, and attend to

business matters. Jacob Victor was a hammerman
at the forge at Dillon’s Iron works, and later was
a set'tler upon a farm which he had previously

bought and let to a tenant to clear up. John Ir-

vine employed part of his time at carpenter work,
and the remainder at farming, as was usual with
tradesmen of the day. John Sidle was the owner
of the pioneer corn-cracker mill, and in time gave
it in charge to his boys to hoist the gates and
draw the toll. John Fleming and David Vanden-
bark are reputed to have planted the earliest

orchards of the apple and the peach some time

prior to 1812. Game at that time was numerous,
as regards deer and turkeys, but bears and wolves
were becoming rare. Bounties paid for wolf scalps

made their pursuit an object, and bear’s meat for

food, and the skins for use, besides the excitement

of the chase, led bruin a hard run for life. Deer
were killed in Licking township as late as the fall

of 1835, and turkeys until recently. The honey-

bee preceded the settler, and the old pioneers

would line a bee to the tree and glean the long-

stored sweets, and sometimes takes home the swarm
to the cabins. Round log houses were succeeded

by the hewed, and, in time, the first frame build-

ing in the township was erected at Irviile, and
dedicated as a house of worship by the Presbyte-

rians, under charge of resident pastor, Rev. Smith.

The first road running east and west through the

township was the old stage route between Colum-
bus and Zanesville; along this highway the four-

horse coaches ran daily prior to the construction of

the National road. The old stage-drivers are of

past times, and even their names are lost, save that

of John Wilson, who married Polly Sheppard, of

Irviile. The only gristmill in the township was
built in 1832, and is known as Claypool’ s mills.

The township has two villages: Irviile, laid out in

1814 by Richard Ayers and John Irvine, and Nash-
port, by Capt. Thomas Nash, in 1827. Possibly

the first attempt at merchandising in the township

was made at the former place by Francis Cassady,

in a two story frame, part of which was used as a

dwelling. The first postmaster was Jared Brush,

of Irviile. The medical services of Elmus Wheaton,
this village, were long required over a field on
which there was no rival to dispute his rights.

Near Nashport of the present was erected the old

log schoolhouse of the period; on its jmncheoned
floor the boys and girls of 1815 formed in line,

and here instruction and discipline were given by
Dougherty and his successor, Edward Rogers.

One Dickinson was the first white man buried in

the old Indian burying ground, on land now owned
by Levi Claypool. Early settlers were Virginians.

The present population are to the manner born.

This township was organized before 1806 from
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the Virginia military land. The earliest local rec-

ord in existence is a portion of a treasurer’s book
bearing date June 3, 1813. That year the total tax

levy was $40. John Spencer, who collected it, was
paid $2.40 for his services. The township super-

visors for 1814 were Solomon Wood, Samuel Guest,

William Thrapp and Nathan Fleming. In 1815
Leonard Stump was overseer of the poor; William
Thrapp, Nathan Fleming, Daniel Lovitt, Aaron
Claypool and Samuel Guest, supervisors; Samuel
McCann, township clerk; William Bell, collector;

Asa Snider, Daniel G. Wilkins and William Thrapp,
trustees. The tax that year was $65; in 1816 it

was $50. The first road through the town was the

stage road between Zanesville and Columbus. The
first local surveyor was Jonathan Wood. Charles

and John Roberts also did much surveying in the

township. About 1810 John Fleming had a fine

apple orchard on his place north of Nashport.

David Vandenbark had a peach orchard about the

same time, and sold John Van Voorhis a half

bushel of peachstones in 1812. The first hewed-
log structure was an addition to the log house of

Jonathan Wood at Nashport, which he built about

1812. John Van Voorhis had brick manufactured
on his place, and with them he erected the first

brick house in the township in 1817. David Van-
denbark, above mentioned, built the first stone

house in the township. Mr. Wood kept tavern in

his round and hewed-log house mentioned above.

Later he sold to John Kerr, who was succeeded by
Capt. Thomas Nash, the founder of Nashport.
This was closed as a public house prior to 1830.

In the township records is found mention of

Thompson’s tavern, in 1815. Richard Ayers, who
with John Irvine laid out Irville, was an early

tavernkeeper, and Hugh Allison and Joseph Rob-
erts were early “landlords” there too. Early and
now long gone mills in this township were the fol-

lowing: John Sidle’s saw and gristmill, which was
in operation on Licking creek as early as 1815,

and was demolished in 1840; Nathan Fleming’s
sawmill on Stump’s run, west of Irville; Daniel
Woods’ water-power sawmill, on the Licking.

The Claypool mill was built by Jacob Rhodes in

1830.

The platting of Irville, in 1814, by John Ir-

vine and Richard Ayers, has been referred to. In
1818 Jared Brush opened a store there. The
store of Nathan Floming was opened in 1825.

Daniel Van Voorhis began merchandising there in

1832, and continued until 1843, when he returned
to agricultural pursuits. He was elected to the

state legislature in 1860, and now at an advanced
age is living in Zanesville. Elmus Wheaton was
the first postmaster at Irville. In 1827, as has
been stated, Capt. Thomas Nash laid out, Nashport.

The town sito embraces forty acres, and was plat-

ted for the proprietor by the Roberts Brothers.

The pioneer postoffice was at Irville, and was estab-

lished in 1818. Early in the thirties it was re.

moved to Nashport. The early mails came only

weekly. The earliest schoolhouse in Licking was
built about 1814-16, about twenty rods north of

Nashport, on land owned later by Thomas Devine.

In an improved form it was standing about fifteen

years later. An early teacher here was one Dough-
erty. A hewed-log schoolhouse was built at Nash-
port in 1835-36. The timber was given by Daniel
Van Voorhis; the tree from which the shingles were
made by Elias Ellis; the stone by John R. Stump.
Leven Coverdale was the contractor and was paid

about $90. The Ohio canal was completed through
Licking in 1830. The “ Reindeer, ” a pleasure

boat built at Newark, was the first boat to pass

Nashport. The first regular canal boat to pass

through the township was the “Union,” of Dover.

The only lodge of Odd Fellows in Licking is

Durban Lodge No. 478, which was instituted in

1871. A division of the Sons of Temperance was
instituted at Nashport in 1870 and disbanded in

1878. Following are the names of heads of fami-

lies in Licking in 1826:

C. Baxter, Thomas Mattocks, Daniel Farns-
worth, Adam Piper, William McDonald, William
Hall, H. Allison, I. Francis, P. Claypool, James
McDaniel, Peter Pake, George Pake, John Pake,

William Boilan, Asa Langstaff, J. Terrel, S. Cole-

man, W. Beared, A. Maloney, J. Rhodes Sr., J.

Rhodes Jr., William Arter Sr., William Arter Jr.,

B. Redmon, Mary Irvine, B. Walker Sr., I. D.

Stewart, Jesse Keen, P. Howard, John Perry, N.

Fleming, Elizabeth Wood, Thomas Liggitt, James
Dickey, James Coe, Peggy Hughes, M. Taylor, I.

Lewis, Jared Brush, H. I. Cox, Josiah Walker, A.

McClellan, E. Fern, Samuel Scott, Charles Hunt,
D. E. Wharton, Lennox Sheppard, John Yocum,
Abel Randall, George Osier, Thomas Brook,

Robert Hagerty, William George, S. Prior, E. Shep-
pard, Edward Spencer, William Reggs, Michael
Dunn, John Wells, Alexander Vass, Joseph Fell,

James Farnsworth, John Rhodes, William Nichols,

Robert Bonham, J. Sidle, D. Vandenbark Sr., G.
Vandenbark, E. Hunt, Simon Sterlin, C. Ditter,

M. Sherrard, George Tebo, James Ward, Daniel
Ward, H. E. Burkholder, Leman Mead, William
Edwards, James Walker, D. N. Murch, W. Mun-
son, Jacob Letter, Leonard Stump, John Regar, H.
Tipton, Thomas Nash, Jacob Victor, David Victor

Sr., David Victor Jr., L. Coverdale, John Fleming,
William F. Starkey, John Van Voorhis, Joshua
Evans, Solomon Wood, James D. Stump, Samuel
Jones, George Hite, Albert Randall, W. McClure,
Abijali Hainan, Matthew Fleming, O. Hillary,David
Jones, Daniel G. Wilkins, Charles King Sr., Sam-
uel Guest, James Pentecost, John Myers, James
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Tunis, Charles Dougherty, Thomas Wickham, Jr.,

Moses Snider and Hull Wickham.
The little log meetinghouse of the Macedonia

Methodist Episcopal church was erected about

1835, three miles north of Irville. It was aban-
doned tenor twelve years ago and the society built

a larger building outside of the township. Two
and a half miles north of Irville the conoreoation
known as Highland Methodist Episcopal church

built a log house of worship about fifty years ago.

It passed out of regular use about sixteen years
ago. Nasliport Methodist Episcopal church was
organized about 1845. A lot was donated to

the society by Captain Thomas Nash, and the
church building was erected in 1854-55, at a cost

of $1,000, and dedicated by Rev. Joseph M. Trem-
ble. A Sunday-school was organized in 1855, with
R. C. Dean as superintendent.

<®^pter XXXVIII.

WASHINGTON TOWNSHIP.

THE first actual settler here of whom we have
any definite knowledge, while a great hunter,

belonged more to the pioneer class. His name
was Isaac Prior, the ancestor of Alexander Prior,

now residing in Licking township, and whose biog-

raphy in this volume presents a more extended
sketch of this first settler of Washington township.

Through data obtained in the Prior family, we
learn that Isaac Prior was a native of Pennsylvania,

and that he settled with his family in 1799 on land

since owned by A. C. Howard. Tradition tells us
that he provided the meat for his family largely

by his skill as a hunter, and that he sold deer and
wild turkeys to the very first settlers of Zanesville.

This humble log cabin and small clearing was the

first in the township, and the fertile soil of the

township first yielded to his cultivation a crop of

corn.

Isaac Prior was not a reckless Indian hunter,

but was a church member, and took with him to

the wilds of Muskingum, a letter of dismissal from
his church as a member in honorable standing.

After he had somewhat established himself, he
built a hewed- log house, and his hospitable roof so

frecpiently sheltered the wayfaring hunter and
land seeker and other adventurers, that it came to

be looked upon as a tavern which was the first in

the township. It seemed to have been the custom
for many of the first pioneers to keep open house,

their latch string was always out, and no man who
sought shelter with them was ever turned from
their door. Likewise, Job Dickson, who came soon

after Isaac Prior, entertained travelers at Three-
mile spring, as soon as he had built his cabin and
cleared three acres of laud. The settlers now be-

gan to come in more rapidly and were mostly from
Pennsylvania and Virginia, with a few from Dela-

ware, from which last named state Moses Boggs
came in 1805, and made his settlement in the

eastern part of the township on land purchased of

Noah Zane. He possessed some business ability,

for he was county commissioner from 1840 to 1843.

Jacob Livingood came in 1805, from Pennsylvania,

accompanied by Elija Hart from the same state.

Joseph Evans and George Crane, Joseph Ver-

non with his wife and regular pioneer family of

twelve children, came in 1805. In 1806 Gen.
Robert McConnell, of Pennsylvania, settled on
land afterward owned by William Fox. He was
afterward the founder of McConnelsville. In
1806 Joseph Slack also came in and settled on
land afterward owned by James Galloway. He
built a log house roofed with shingles, which was
the first to boast such a luxury. About this time

came John Walters. In 1808 Jacob Gaumer a

revolutionary soldier from Reading, Penn., settled

in this township. His son-in-law, Jacob Sturtz, the

ancestor of the Sturtz family in this county, from
Somerset county, Penn. , settled the same year on
the farm now owned by Mr. Lovett. Jacob Sturtz

was a soldier in the war of 1812, and served in

Capt. Robert McConnell’s company of riflemen.

He was in several fights with the Indians. In
1810 Job Dickson sold out his tavern to John
Speers who had recently come to the township.

George Swasek came from Virginia in 1811. John
Robertson settled in the township in 1812. By
1816 Samuel Cassel, John Price, George Jay,

William Keatley, Albert Cole, Isaac Beatty, Spen-
cer Lehue and William McConnell had arrived.
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In 1820 John Wall came from Pennsylvania, and
the Suttons and Batemans came shortly before.

Then came L McLain and John McCashland. In
1822 a Virginian, Jonah Hague, came with a

pioneer family of fifteen children. A man by the
name of Bates had a tavern on Mill run in

1804. The first marriage was solemnized between
John Mercer and Elizabeth Vernon, in 1807. The
first death was Eliza Hart, who died in 1807.

There were no more deaths for ten years, when
Jane Slack died in 1817. The first birth was
Rebecca Vernon, daughter of Joseph Vernon.

In 1810 William McConnell built a sawmill,

the first in the township. Some time after this a

mill run by ox power was built by William Beatty.

In 1811 John Bates mined the first coal in Mus-
kingum county, on Mud run, this township, which
he sold in Zanesville. Jacob Slack opened the
first road, assisted by his brother George. It is

what is now known as the Adamsville road, and
was from his house to Wheeling road. In 1813
the Adamsville road was surveyed, which was the
first county road. The first man to drive a team
over this road was Jacob Slack. In 1819 George
Jury built the first distillery and Albert Cole the
first tannery. In 1814 a coal bank was opened by
John Speers for his own use.

The first school teacher in the township was
Ellen Spinner, in an old-time schoolhouse built in

181(3. Samuel Cassel was the second teacher.

John Price had the first blacksmith shop in 1820,
and this same year Henry Conrad opened a store.

In December, 1822, Samuel Barstow made the first

claim against the township for $12. 18, for burying
John McCasky. In 1830 the village of Jackson,
on the National pike, four miles east of Zanesville,

was surveyed into lots. The record was made
October 20, same year. The land was formally
owned by Spencer Lehue. This village has at-

tained no considerable growth, and is simply a
quiet residence hamlet with no business enterprises
worthy of notice.

From the County Commissioners Journal of

Wednesday June 5, 1822, we extract the following:

“The commissioners met agreeable to adjourn-
ment, present, all three, as heretofore. A petition

having been presented from a number of inhabit-

ants of Zanesville township, north of the military
line, thence running west with said military line to

the southwest corner of Buford’s farm, on the
Wheeling road, thence north with the west bound
ary line of the Buford farm, until it strikes Joseph
Shut’s land, thence west and north with the west
boundary of said Shut’s land, to land belonging to

John Lolme’s estate, thence west, and north with
the west boundary of Lehue’s land, on the line be
tween Lehue’s land and Jeffrey Price, with said

line northerly to Mill run, thence down Mill run

to the Muskingum river, thence up the river till it

strikes the east and west line, through the centre

of township 2, in range 7, thence east with said

line between Jackson and Copeland’s land, and on

with said line until it strikes the range line between

ranges six and seven, at the northeast corner of the

fourth quarter of the second township in the

seventh range, thence south with the range line,

between ranges six and seven, to the place of be-

ginning, which shall constitute a new township, to

be called Washington township; also, ordered that

the auditor advertise for an election, to be held at the

house of Mathias Colspier, on the 22 day of June
inst.,to elect a sufficient number of township officers

in and for said township of Washington. On June

27, 1822, the first election was held for township

officers. John Howell and William Evans were

clerks. The officers elected were, for treasurer,

William Culbertson; trustees, James Huff, Robert

McConnell and Moses Boggs; overseers of the

poor were Robert Boggs and Robert Culbertson;

for clerk, Samuel Orr Jr.
;

road supervisors,

Nicholas Closser, Anthony Woodruff and John
Harris; fence viewers, Mathias Colspier and
Nicholas Closser; justices of the peace, George
W. Jackson and Moses Boggs; constables, An-
thony H. Woodruff, Leonard Lull and George
Slack. The first infirmary director elected was
Robert Slack, in 1875.

As early as the year 1800 there was a Muskin-

gum and Hockhocking circuit, which, in 1802, was
changed to the Little Kanawha and Muskingum.
Jesse Stoneman rode this circuit, but it was Robert

Manly who organized the first Methodist church
in the valley. Just how far up it is impossible to

say. James Quina traveled this circuit in 1804-5.

While the records of the early Methodist itinerants

are very incomplete, we find that some stanch

seekers after truth met in private homes in our

township, and listened to the word of God. The
first class was organized about 1808, holding their

meetings, among other places, at the homes of

John Vernon, Joseph Bowers, John Bowers and
Isaac Beatty. Feeling the need of a permanent
place of worship, these zealous Methodists, in 1823,

erected a hewed-log building, which was dedicated

in the fall of that year. It was built by the pio-

neers themselves, without outside assistance. It

was situated on a farm owned by John Bowers Sr.

In 1840 a frame structure, costing over $1,000, was
erected in Perry township, on George Borders’

farm. Among the early preachers were Presiding

elder Jacob Young, William Knox, John Water
man, Thomas Carr, John Tires, Samuel Glaze, T.

A. Morris, Charles Elliott, James Gilutli, Samuel
Broclsmier, Jacob Hooper, Archibald McElroy,
Leroy Swaineatedt, M. M. Henkle, B. Westlake,

P. Durbin, David Young, William Cunningham,
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Thomas Beecher, E. H. Taylor, Ezra Brown, Z.

H. Coston, Michael Ellis, C. Springer, J. Caliban,

Joseph Carper and W. B. Crislee. During the

summer of 1833 the first Sunday-school was organ-

ized by Joseph Church. Rev. D. P. Mitchell and
J. W. Spry revived the old Sunday school in 1851,

the old one having existed but three months.

Methodism was well established in Washington
township, when a class was formed in a school-

house on John Orr’s farm in 1842. It consisted

of John Wall, Amanda Wall, James Walwork,
Margaret Walwork, Lucretia Brown, Patsy Shiflet,

Lloyd Bishop, Mrs. Bishop, James Smith, Marga-
ret Smith and Nellie Hart. The class-leader was
Stephen Schafer. After three months the class

moved to William Brown’s tobacco barn. Some
time afterward, the new meeting house being fin-

ished in 1843, the meetings were held there. The
class leaders have been Stephen Schafer, James
Smith, John Wall, James B. Smith, James Mc-
Jurkiu, Jonathan Collins, Turner Wolf and John
Gray. A Sunday-school was early organized,

which was well attended.

The Baptist church was formed from the Bap-
tist church in Salem township. Many of the Wash-
ington township members, finding it inconvenient

to attend church in Salem township in 1842, peti-

tioned the Baptist church in Salem township for

permission to organize a church in this township.

The petition granted, and a new association

formed, the next year built and dedicateda church,

under the pastorage of Rev. William Sedgwick.

They soon organized a Sunday school, which

proved a great aid to the church. As the signers

to the petition to the Salem church may be consid-

ered the founders of a new church, we give their

names as follows: William H. Barstow, A. H.

Woodruff Sr., Robert Combs, Amy Presgrave,

James Miller, A. H. Woodruff Jr., Elga Combs,
Mary Leach, Mary Cobb, Harriet Bateman, Eliza-

beth Mears, Sarah Callihan, Willis Barstow, Will-

iam Leach, Penrod Bateman, Elizabeth Bateman,

John Bateman, Semote Menifee, Jacob Slack, Ho-
sea Woodruff, Margaret Ferrell, Ami P. Hunter,
Peter Mears, Samuel Barstow Jr., Martha Wood-
ruff, George Barstow, Mary Bailant, Mary A.

Michael, Mary Barstow, Elizabeth Zett, Ann Hick-
man, Mary J. Dunmead, William Mears, Mary Mar-
tin, Brittauia Presgrave, George Presgrave.

Prior to 1848 a company of Methodists used to

meet in the Woodruff schoolhouse. In 1848 they
built a church on the farm of Thompson Hague, a

shoit distance north of Coaldale. The first two
class leaders were Isaac Franks and William Cat-
lin. Among the prominent members of t his church
at its organization, we find the names of Job Mor-
gan, Jacob Walters, William McCashland, Albert
Jones, Joel Jones, Robert Jones, Jonathan Malox
and Joseph H. Bowers. Among the early pastors

were Revs. Wyrick, D. P. Mitchell, Robert Boyd,
I. N. Macabee and Henry Snyder. Twenty years
ago this church had a very flourishing Sunday-
school, which was well conducted.

In the early sixties the Lutherans organized a

Sunday-school in a log cabin on the land owned
by David Shick, which flourished. Among its

superintendents were Samuel Shick, James McGee,
David Shick, A. Martin, Mrs. Maggie Shick, Miss
Kate Boggs and John Mitzlett. This was called

the St. John’s Union Sunday-school. In 1803,

springing from this Sunday-school, came the St.

John’s Lutheran church, worshiping in the same
log cabin. A frame church was built in 1876,

Samuel Shick subscribing $400. Among the promi-
nent members in an early day were Samuel Shick,

John Hetzel, Allan Dunn, James McGee and Eliza-

beth Hetzel. Among their pastors have been
Revs. George Sinsibaugh, William M. Gilbraith,

Logan Gilbraith, John Bocker and George
Shrieves. Land on which the original log church
stood was donated by David Shick in 1863 for thir-

teen years, the transaction being made legal by the

receipt on his part of $1.
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<^apter XXXIX.
/

RICH HILL TOWNSHIP.

RICH HILL was organized in 1815 under the

following order of the county commissioners:

“A petition was presented to the commissioners

from a number of the inhabitants of Salt Creek
township, praying that they would incorporate

the thirteenth surveyed township in the eleventh

range, to be erected into a township called and
known as Rich Hill township, to which is added
the twelfth surveyed township, and that part of the

eleventh surveyed township in said range, which
lies in Muskingum county. Ordered by the com-
missioners that the township be erected, March
18, 1815.” Abraham Warne was one of the first

trustees. Israel Robinson, a justice of the peace
under the Salt Creek organization was retained in

office in Rich Hill. It is said that John Reynolds
gave the new township its name because, as he said,

it was “so rich and hilly.”

Rich Hill is essentially an agricultural district,

and all kinds of crops grow abundantly. The
chief article of export is wool, but latterly quite a

good many horses and cattle have been raised for

market. The first mold-board plow used in the

township was introduced by Abraham Warne, who
also set out the first orchard. The plow was of

the kind known as “Wood’s patent.” A Mr.
Mayers brought in the first threshing-machine at a

date that can not now be recalled. D. Irwin

brought the first Merino sheep into Rich Hill from
Pennsylvania. About 1836 Abraham Wells brought
in a few short-horn cattle from Morgan county.

In 1856 James Herron bought some thoroughbred
short-horn Durhams of James McCune, of Blue
Rock township. Later he bought some more in

Athens county, Ohio. Daniel Tom introduced a

fine pair of Devonshires from Guernsey county in

1876.

It is thought that the first settlers in Rich Hill

were one Lawrence, a German, and his stepson,

Leonard Sticliler, who located on school section

16 in 1805. Lewis Pierce and his sons, Llewellyn,

Jonathan anil Andrew, and Abraham Warne, John
Moore, William Robinson and John and Neal Mc-
Naughton, came from Pennsylvania in 1 806

,
and

20

located in sections 19, 20 and 29. William Herron
took up his residence on the southwest quarter of

section 18 about the same time. During the next
year, on section 16, located Daniel Monroe, John
Jones, John Reynolds, Adam Shaner, William
Ivers, and one Crow, and, on section 1, Michael
Hammond and Abraham Pollock. Philemon John-
son, a Revolutionary soldier from Vermont, Israel

Robinson and Hezekiah Hyatt came in 1808 and
1809. In 1811 came Caleb Monroe and C. Brady;
in 1812, Thomas Elliott and Thomas Brady.
Among other early comers were the St. Clairs, Fos-
ters, Gregorys, Forsyths, Aulds, Sims, Givens,
Crawfords, Spillmans and Dixons. The first who
died in the township was Elizabeth McNaughton,
a little girl. The second was one of the same
name, but an old lady. A man named Martin was
the third. All were buried in 1812, on the Mc-
Naughton’s land. The first public cemetery, now
known as the “Methodist graveyard,” was opened
two years later. The marriage of James Dixon
and Ann Herron was the first in the township.
Caleb Monroe’s and Deemy Hyatt’s was the next
one. The first birth was that of John Moore, in

March, 1807. In August following Pierce Warne
was born. The Zanesville and Marietta road was
the first surveyed through any part of the town-
ship. The road from Chandlersville to Cambridge,
put through, it is said, in 1810, was the second.
Leonard Stichler built the first log cabin in 1805;
Andrew Howell the first frame house in 1819;
Neal McNaughton the first stone house in 1827;
James Calhoun the first brick house in 1828. John
Jordan taught the first school in 1814 or 1815, in

a little log house near the site of the Pierce Warne
residence. Dr. Daniel Bliss, of Salt Creek town-
ship, was the first medical practitioner here. Neal
McNaughton built the first gristmill in 1818, on
the east branch of Salt creek, on the northeast
quarter of section 29, and after owning it twenty-
one years sold it to Thomas Randolph, who in

turn transferred it to Jesse Hayden, in whose
ownership it was burned. Abraham Warne built

the first sawmill in 1824. In 1837 James Cal-
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houn built, the John Smith gristmill at Rix's Mills.

The Rich Hill postoffice, the first in the township,

was established at John Randall’s, and removed in

1846 to Rix’s Mills. Another office was established

at Thomas Sheppard’s, and removed successively

to Morgan Morgan’s, to Watt Henderson’s and to

John Pierce’s. It was vacated in 1861 and rees-

tablished as Freeland postoffice in 1874.

The only trade center in the township is Rix’s

Mills (sometimes called Rixville) which is an inland

post hamlet in the northeast corner of township,

sixteen miles east of Zanesville, and six miles from
New Concord, the nearest bank. Sprat.t, a small

station on the Bellaire, Zanesville & Cincinnati

railroad, four and one-half miles distant, is the

nearest shipping point.

“Monroe’s Meeting house” was the familiar

name of the first church built in this township in

1813, by a Methodist class formed at Daniel Mon-
roe’s in 1812. In 1836 it was replaced by a frame
structure, costing $1,200, on the southeast corner

of section 9, on land purchased of F. R. Winrod.
In 1861, at a cost of $1,250 a new frame was built

on the old foundation, and was dedicated in 1862
by Rev. Hiram Miller. Goshen Baptist church
was organized October 18, 1822, by Elders Debait
and Rees. Early meetings were held at houses.

From 1824 to 1849 the church worshiped in a

building over the line in Guernsey county, until

a building was erected in this township. Rixville

United Presbyterian church was organized in 1825,
by Rev. David Proudfit. The first church build-

ing was burned, and in 1850 a goodly frame struct-

ure was erected on the southwest quarter of sec-

tion 9, at a cost of $1,600. Rich Hill Baptist

church was organized in 1833. No traces remain
of its meetinghouse, which stood on the east side

of section 29, on the creek bottom. Rich Hill Re-
formed Presbyterian church was formerly a flour-

ishing organization. As late as 1836 its house was
standing on section 30. Mount Zion Presbyterian

church was organized August 4, 1839. Its first

church building was erected in 1841, on the

southeast quarter of section 27, and later became
a parsonage. The present house of worship was
built near the old structure in 1864, at a cost of

$1,800. Buffalo and Williams’ forks and South
creek and McKee’s, May’s forks of Wills’ creek
drain this township. There are no minerals of

consequence except coal. During the spring of

1807, a band of Shawnee Indians, numbering about
thirty warriors, encamped on the Salt creek bot-

toms, near Abraham Warne’s, and after a consulta-

tion with the whites, retired without molesting
them or theirs.

^l^sipter Xlk
MONROE TOWNSHIP.

THE original pioneer of this township was
Charles Marquand, who settled on the land

now occupied by his grandson, Charles Marquand,
in the wilds of Wills creek, in 1810. He was of

French descent, and spoke that language, was born
on the Island of Guernsey about 1763, and mar-
ried there, and here all his children were born.

He first settled at Georgetown, D. C., where he
worked at his trade of a carpenter. When he first

settled on Wills creek not a stick of timber had
been cut on his land, and no clearing had been
made in what is now Monroe township. Charles

Marquand was a man of energy and thrift, and
aided by his sons, cleared up his land, and at his

death owned 625 acres in this county. Possessing

business ability to a marked degree, he had salt

works on Wills creek at an early day, and built a

gristmill, sawmill and ran a carding and fulling-

mill, which were the first mills in this part of the

county. He also conducted a general store in

1834 for the pioneers, the first in the township, and
carried on a large business. In 1836-37 he built

a large two-story brick house, which at that time

was the only brick house in that part of the town-

ship. Charles Marquand was one of our most en-

terprising and business pioneers, and was largely

instrumental in settling up this part of the county.

He was known far and wide, and extended aid to

many of the pioneers to assist them in establishing

homes. To the French settlers, especially, he
never refused aid, and possessed their confidence

and esteem to a great degree. His son, Peter
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Marquand, followed in the footsteps of his father,

and was a business man of large influence. Mar-
quand’s mills were known far and wide by the old

settlers, and were of great advantage to them. The
property is now owned by John and Charles Mar-
quand, grandsons of the original settler.

James Sprague Sr. was the next pioneer of

Monroe township. He settled at Otsego in 1812,

and was the first settler of this place. He was one

of the early pioneers of Ohio, and first settled at

Marietta, and about 1800-1 settled at Waka-
tomaka, now Dresden, where he ran a gristmill for

another party. The Indians from Otsego would
come to him with small packages of corn to grind.

Being a lover of hunting, he often visited Monroe
township and Otsego in search of game, and was
pleased with the locality. When the Indians

crossed the Muskingum river at Cass’ ford in 1812,

on their way to the reservation, Mr. Sprague saw
them cut through the ice with their tomahawks, to

enable them to swim their horses through the river.

He soon after moved his effects to Otsego on a sled.

Nehemiah and Jonathan Sprague, his brothers,

were famous hunters and early settlers of Marietta,

and while the Indian troubles were still rife, as-

cended the Muskingum river in a canoe, and en-

tering the mouth of Wills creek, continued up
about five miles, and discovered a small lake which
is now called James Wilson’s pond. Here they

carefully hid their canoes from the Indians, signs

of whom were plentiful, and proceeded to hunt
deer and other game. They preserved their meat
by sinking it in the water until they had procured
sufficient for their needs, when they returned to

Marietta. It is claimed that this visit to Wills

creek was made before the settlement at Zanesville

or Dresden, and was probably the first visit made
by white men to this vicinity. James Sprague was
a great wolf hunter. It was difficult to get money
for anything except wolf scalps, and thus many a

wolf fell before his accurate aim. James Sprague
is described as a fine example of the Ohio hunter
and pioneer. He was a tall, strong, and large

boned man, weighing from 185 to 200 pounds. He
dressed in buckskins, wearing a fringed hunting
shirt and coonskin cap. He first erected a rude, log

hut on the spot where Charles Walker now lives,

where about three acres of land had been cleared

by the Indians. This hardy old Revolutionary sol-

dier and hunter passed his life without any severe

sickness, and died in this township at the great age
of nearly ninety-seven years.

The next generation of Spragues being yet

well remembered by some of our older settlers, as

hunters and pioneers, it will be necessary here to

give but a short account. Elijah Sprague, son of

James, was born in 1801. At the age of thirteen

years he shot, with his father’s rifle, a panther which

measured ten feet from tip to tip. His younger
brother, William, was with him, and together they

placed the beast on a pony’s back and brought him
in triumph to their father’s cabin. Samuel
Sprague, another son of James Sprague, the old

pioneer, deserves a passing notice, as the oldest

man in Monroe township at the time of his death.

He was born in Bedford county, Penn., March 4,

1796, under Washington's second administration,

and was brought to Ohio when a child. He died

near Otsego July 4, 1890, and was ninety-four years,

three months and twenty-six days old at the time

of his death. Hisdaughter, Mrs. Levenia Simmons,
was the first white child born in Monroe township.

She is yet living. Samuel Sprague set out the first

orchard at Otsego, bringing the trees from Dresden
on an ox sled.

The Bainters were among the very earliest set-

tlers of Monroe township, and were great hunters

and a well-known pioneer family. They all spring

from Godfrey Bainter, the original pioneer, who
came from Germany, bringing his wife and settling

in Maryland, where twelve children were born. In
1800-1 he came to Ohio with his family and set-

tled on wild land in Madison township, on the land

now occupied by Joshua Stump, which to this day
is called the old Bainter farm. He died in 1803 at

the age of eighty-nine years.

Jacob Bainter Sr., the son of Godfrey, and
the father of Frederick and Jacob Bainter, now
living in this township, was bom in Maryland, and
came with the family to Ohio. He was a soldier

in the war of 1812, and married in Bedford coun-
ty, Penn., where Godfrey Bainter made his home
some time after leaving Maryland. He settled first

on the Wakatomaka creek, and in 1812 moved with
his family to Monroe township and settled on land
which his son Jacob now occupies. This is the
statement of the venerable Frederick Bainter, son
of Jacob Bainter Sr. But Jacob Bainter Jr., is

quite positive that his father settled on this land
the fall of 1811, and that Charles Marquand set-

tled before him, and that James Sprague settled

at Otsego June, 1812. However, the difference is

slight, and there is no positive authority as to

which statement is correct. It is evident that the
Spragues and Bainters made their settlement in

the township at about the same time, and that
Charles Marquand Sr., preceded them nearly, if

not quite, two years.

The first year the Bainters settled Iheir food
gave out, and as the wheat was just heading, they
rubbed out the heads and used it with milk. They
would have suffered for food had not the game
been so plentiful. Jacob Bainter was a very skill-

ful hunter, and provided an abundance of wild
game for the family. He was a powerful man, of
iron constitution and a substantial pioneer farmer.
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owning nearly 600 acres of land. He died in 1865
at the patriarchal age of nearly ninety-five years.

He belonged to a long-lived family. Of the twelve

children of Godfrey Bainter, all lived to be over

eighty years of age.

Frederick Bainter, his son, was born in Madi-
son township August 15, 1804, and is among the

last of the sons of the pioneers, and is now living

at the advanced age of eighty-eight, a substantial

farmer, and still able to work on his farm. In his

prime he had the tough sinews of a backwoodsman,
and could cut the trees and make 250 fence rails in

one day.

Jacob Bainter Jr., now a substantial farmer in

this township, was born on the farm where he now
lives, June 10, 1815, making a continuous resi-

dence on one farm of seventy-seven years. Adam
Bainter, son of Godfrey Bainter, was born in

Maryland, and was sixteen years of age when his

father moved to Ohio. About 1816 he moved to

Monroe township and settled on the farm where
Andrew A. Bainter now lives. He lived to the age
of eighty-two years. John Bainter, his son, was
born in Cass township in 1809, March 9; inherited

his farm from his father; was one of our respected

citizens, and died in 1890 aged eighty-one years.

Henry Brannon, another of the pioneers of

Monroe township and the founder of an excellent

family, was born in Pennsylvania and settled in

this township in 1812 on the farm adjoining that

now occupied by James M. Brannon, his son. In
his old age he sold out and went to Henry county,

Iowa, where he died at the age of seventy-eight

years. He was also a mighty hunter, and one sea-

son, from the door of his log cabin, he shot seven

deer that had come to feed on his turnips. This

date of settlement was given on the authority of

James M. Brannon, who is very positive he is cor-

rect. In 1813 Jared Cone came from New England
and settled on section 13. In 1814 Joseph Stoner

came from Pennsylvania and settled on section 13.

In 1812-16 David Richardson came from Connect-

icut. In 1812-16 John S. Abbott, father of David
J. Abbott, came to the township. He had mar-
ried a daughter of Capt. David Richardson, and
these families came out together. The journey

was made by means of ox-wagons over the Indian
trail from Cambridge.

Tunis Elson, one of the pioneers of Monroe
township, was from Crawford county, near Mead-
ville, Penn., and came to Ohio in a pirogue, or

large log canoe, bringing his wife and four chil-

dren, and settling in Monroe township in 1817.

They made the entire journey by water, coming
down the Ohio and up the Muskingum river, and
then up Wills creek until they reached Marquand’s
mills, where they were stopped by the riffle, the

dam not having then been built. Samuel Sprague

moved his family through the woods on horseback
and settled in a log hut with neither door nor floor,

which had been built by James Sprague, and here
Mr. Elson cleared up a good farm. He built the

first gristmill in this vicinity, on White Eyes
creek, in 1819. Henry Elson, son of Tunis, was a

substantial old settler of this township. The ma-
ternal grandfather of his wife was a Mr. Kelly,

who was one of the old colonial pioneers. At one
time, while journeying in a boat with his wife, three

children and two other men, one of whom was his

brother, they met a boat containing a white man
and two Indians, who appeared friendly. After

some talk the Indians borrowed two of their best

rifles, under the pretense of killing some deer.

Mr. Kelly and his brother unsuspiciously stepped
ashore to gather some pawpaws growing on
the bank, when the Indians, who were on the

watch for them, shot and killed them both, and
they fell back into the boat dead. The remaining
man pushed the boat off and escaped to the other

side with Mrs. Kelly and the children. Leaving
the boat, the party began a fearful march for the
settlement. During this perilous journey Mrs.
Kelly and her three little children, one of whom
was a babe in arms, lived on haws and other wild

berries, and were nearly starved. She was bitten

on the ankle by a copperhead snake, and her limb
became badly swollen. Fearing they would all

starve before they could reach the settlement, the

man of the party set out alone for assistance, and,

arriving safely, stirred up the settlers to the res-

cue. In the meantime Mrs. Kelly was days in the

wilderness, and at one time, becoming entirely dis-

couraged, laid her infant at the foot of a tree to

die, when a boat came along and took them to a

French station. Mrs. Kelly and her children were
in a pitiable condition, but the kind-hearted set-

tlers relieved all their wants and sent men to bring

in the bodies of her husband and his brother.

The infant who came so near perishing in the wil-

derness became the mother of Mrs. Henry Elson,

now an aged lady residing in this township, from
whose lips the writer gathered this story, which
has never before been in print.

In 1819 Caleb Buker, who was born at Gray,
Me., in 1794, settled in this township. He was
the son of Israel H. Buker, a Revolutionary soldier,

who served under Washington and Lafayette and
who was at the battles of Princeton and Trenton
and with Washington at the famous crossing of the

Delaware and during the bitter experiences of the

winter at Valley Forge. He was one of the early

school teachers of this region, and died at Otsego.

His sons were famous early school teachers of this

county, and were widely known. Caleb Buker be-

came the wealthiest man of his day in Monroe
township. When young he was a soldier in the
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War of 1812. He was also a sailor, an old-time

school teacher, one of the early merchants and an
extensive real-estate owner. At his death his es-

tate was valued at $150,000. He built the first

stone house in the township, in 1830. In 1819
Alpha Buker, brother of the above, settled in Mon-
roe township. He was also one of the noted

pioneer school teachers. About 1851 he settled at

Otsego and bought the hotel property now owned
by Thomas H. Davis, which he kept for many
years. He was postmaster and fifteen years justice

of the peace.

In 1827 Robert Waters came to Monroe town-
ship when a boy of fourteen years of age, with his

brother Reuben. In 1828 Mrs. Elizabeth M. Mc-
Donald, widow of Nathaniel McDonald, settled on
the farm long afterward occupied by Squire John
McDonald, who was a boy but fourteen years old

when the settlement was made.
In 1812 the first road was made between Symms

Creek and Otsego, by James Sprague and sons.

In 181 5 the first road which was regularly surveyed

was laid out by Charles Roberts, from James Lind-
ley’s, in Union township, to the mouth of Wills

creek. The next road was from Col. John Rey-
nold’s store, on the Wheeling road, in Union
township, to James Sprague’s, in Monroe township
by Joseph K. McCune, surveyor in 1817. The town-
ship elections were held at the house of James
Sprague.

In 1817 the first sawmill was built by Martin
Richardson, on White Eyes creek. In 1819
Charles and Peter Marquand built the dam across

Wills creek at the place since known as Mar-
quaud’s Mills. Here they built a sawmill in 1820.

In 1829 they built a carding and gristmill. In
1839 Samuel Sprague built a sawmill. In 1826
Joseph Walker started the first tannery and re-

mained in this business for many years, which was
afterward conducted by his son R. A. Walker.
The first thoroughbred Durham cattle were intro-

duced into the township by Decatur Buker and
Barton Cone. In 1830 Dr. Cass came to Otsego,

and was the first physician to reside here.

Otsego is on the site of an old Indian town,

and is a place of considerable trade. The land
was originally entered by James Sprague in 1811,

and in 1838 it was bought by Moses Abbott and
Francis Wires, who laid out the town, assisted by
James Boyle, county surveyor. The village has

never been incorporated. The first hotel was kept

by David Richardson, who, in 1837, built the house
afterward occupied by Joseph C. Miller, and
which was destroyed by fire in 1870. Alonzo
and Ralph De Lamoter built and kept the first

store in Otsego in 1837. The next stores were
those of Thomas Wilson and Thomas McCall.
The corner store house, afterward occupied by the

postoffice, was built in 1849 by James Bell.

Squire Marshall and afterward Caleb Buker were
merchants.

In 1866 the village directory contained Joseph

C. Simmons, hotel-keeper and farmer, William

Yinsel & Co., dry goods, groceries and postoffice;

J. M. Lane, physician and surgeon; William

Snoots, blacksmith; J. L. Wortman, boots and
shoes; Kinsey Wortman, coal dealer; Elias Sprague
general store; Douglass Bell, M D. ; Barton Cone,

justice of the peace and farmer. Dr. Alonzo De-

lamater named the town after Otsego, N. Y.

Originally the eastern portion of the town was
owned by Moses Abbott and the western portion

by Francis Wires.

In 1880 the village contained twenty- seven

houses and 120 inhabitants. The two hotels were

kept by Joseph C. Miller and Joseph C. Simmons.
Mr. A. Y. P. Hager was postmaster and also kept

a general variety store. Boyce and Cowden were
in the same buisness. Thomas H. Davis was
proprietor of a shoe shop and grocery. E. H.

Bradford was a cabinet-maker. The millinery busi-

ness was represented by Catherine C. Wortman
and Phoebe Riney.

William and Alfred Smith were in the coal bus-

iness. Dr. A. L. Jackson -was proprietor of a

drug store, while James T. Case and Isaac Mc-
Graw were the blacksmiths of the town. John
Hammond had a wagon shop, Marquis Norris was
a harness-maker, and Walker & Co., were tanners.

Otsego is surrounded by a good agricultural

growing section, and contains about 150 inhab-

itants and is distant about eighteen miles from the

county seat. It has a good public school building,

two churches and a number of business houses.

Barclay & Ross, general merchandise; Cowden &
Boyce, general merchandise; John Hammond,
wagon- maker; Hamilton & Watkins, millers; Otsego

Flouring mills; J. T. Riney, contractor and under-

taker; Isaac McGraw, blacksmith and old soldier;

Jesse Ridgway, son of Basil Ridgway a pioneer of

Adams township, is a prominent business man of

Otsego, and engaged extensively in buying and
selling horses.

The Methodist Episcopal church is the first or-

ganization in Monroe township. It was founded
in 1816 by William Knox and Jacob Young, who
instituted the first class, consisting of the follow-

ing persons: Charles Marquand; Samuel Sprague;
George Bainter, his wife, Lydia, and their son,

John; Miss Jack; Ashfield Watrous and his wife,

Elizabeth. The first preaching was at the house

of George Bainter, and Charles Marquand was the

first class-leader. In 1828 this organization was
absorbed by the Methodist Protestant church.

Revs. Myers and Gibbons, in 1828, organized a

class composed of the following members: Phineas
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Palmer, class-leader, and his wife, Margaret; Da-
vid Richardson and his wife, Mary; James Hol-
comb and his wife, Electa; James Sprague and his

wife, Susannah; Samuel Sprague; Elijah Sprague
and his wife, Elizabeth. This is now the Pleasant
Valley Methodist Episcopal church.

Rev. J. P. Durbin, of the Zanesville circuit,

formed a class as follows: William Clark, his wife,

Nancy, and their family; Hugh Ballentine, his

wife, Mary, and their family; Charles Wilcox, his

wife* Naucy, and their family. This was in the
year 1822. Meetings were held at the house of

Hugh Ballentine, where the class was originally

organized, until 1848. This year a frame church
was built, but was destroyed by fire in 1854 and
rebuilt, the same size, in 1855. This church be-

came the Maysville Methodist Episcopal church.
Otsego Baptist church was organized by mem-

bers of the Salem Township Baptist church, for

the pui’pose of having religious services nearer at

home. It was constituted July 20, 1844, by Elder
William Sedwick, who officiated as pastor until

May 19, 1849, when he resigned. The member-
ship was as follows: C. G. Sedwick, H. C. Sedwick,
Asheba Lane, Ruth Nash, William Emler, Mary
Emler, Drucilla Richardson, Jared Cone Sr., Eliza

Cone, Nelson F. Richardson, Elizabeth Emler,
Sarah Bradford, Philip Darner, Rebecca Darner,
Harriet E. Frazier, Maria Wortman, Ellen Trim-
ble, Charles Foster, Margaret Foster, Elizabeth

Buker, James Trimble, Mary Trimble, Robert
Trimble, William Hague, Louis Lane, Gilbert

Ross, Casper Bradford, Barton Cone, Charles

Frazier, Rebecca Trimble, Margaret Ross, Abra-
ham Emler, Daniel Milton, Susan Milton, George
Milton, Mary J. Milton, David McVickar, Eliza-

beth McVickar, Sarah Sprague, James Reed, Ma-
tilda A. Reed.

The Otsego Presbyterian church was organized

in 1848, the original founders being Rev. William
Wilson and Rev. William Wallace—the first name
given was Mount Pleasant Presbyterian church,

which was afterward changed to Otsego Presbyte-

rian church, the new and old divisions of the church
uniting. The original members were: Arthur Ham-
ilton and his wife Catherine, Samuel Hamilton and
his wife, Malcolm McNeil and his wife Isabel, John
McNeil and his wife Margery, Malcolm McNeil 2d

and his wife Eliza, Mary McNeil, Margaret Mc-
Neil, James McNeil and his sisters Margaret,

Sarah, Margery and Mary. In 1849 a frame
church was completed, on land owned by Malcolm
McNeil, and afterward donated to this church by
his heirs. The first pastor was Rev. William Wal-
lace, who died in 1852. The first elders were
Arthur Hamilton, John McNeil and Malcolm Mc-
Neil. The present deacons are Malcolm McNeil
2d, and Samuel Hamilton.

Union Chapel Methodist Protestant church was
organized in 1860, at a private house, by the Rev.
H. T. Lawson; class-leader was Robert Donald-
son. The following were the original members ofo o
the class: G. W. Vensel and wife Sarah Ann, Samuel
Echelberry and his wife Charity, Hannah Elsen,

Alice Elsen, Nancy Donaldson, Frances Holcomb,
Susan Holcomb, Elijah Sprague, Elizabeth
Sprague.

The first carpenter was John Thompson. Par-
ker Shepardson was the first blacksmith. His
shop was on White Eyes creek. In 1835 Thomas
McCall introduced the first threshing machine;
it was a tread power. In 1835 John S. Abbott
brought the first mowing machine into the town-
ship. In October, 1820, Samuel Sprague and
Mary Snoat were married, and it was the first mar-
riage in Monroe township. On July 29, 1814,

Levina Sprague was born. She was the first

white child born in the township, and the daugh-
ter of James and Susannah Sprague. In 1813
Martin Richardson built on section 19 the first

frame house. In 1812 the first, wagon was brought
into the township. In 1819 David Richardson
built the first brick house in the township. In
1814 Mary Stoner, who came from Pennsylvania
with her husband, taught the first school in the

township in her own house, which was on section

13. In 1816 Mary Richardson, wife of David
Richardson, taught the second school in the town-

ship at her residence one-half mile south of

Otsego.

Barton Cone (deceased) was born in Monroe
township, son of Jared Cone, the pioneer, was a

substantial farmer of Monroe township, and a

soldier in the 100 days' service. He was deacon
of the Baptist church many years, and justice of

the peace, and was familiarly known as Squire

Cone. He accumulated a handsome property, and
was a man of untarnished integrity. Col. Joseph
Walker (deceased) was a commissioned officer in

the old militia. On August 12, 1825, he settled in

Monroe township from Pennsylvania. He was
many years engaged in the tanning business at

Otsego. Col. Walker was commissioned by Gov.

Joseph Vance, as adjutant of the Fifth regiment,

Second brigade, Fifteenth division of the militia of

Ohio. His sword and commission have both been

preserved. He took a great pride in the respect-

able and intelligent body of descendants who
claimed him as their ancestor. Robert Boyce,

(deceased), for years a prosperous merchant of

Adamsville, died in Otsego in 1881. He was a

native of Ireland, and came to America in 1828,

and in 1836 settled in Madison township. He was
the father of Richard Boyce, a jnominent business

man of Otsego.
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NEWTON TOWNSHIP.

EWTON township lies in the southwest-

ern corner of the county, its western and
part of its southern boundary being the county
line. It is bounded north by Hopewell and
Springfield, east by Springfield and Brush Creek
and partially on the south by Clay. Jonathan’s

creek, the principal stream, flows in an ir-

regular course through the central portion

of the township,, its two forks and their tribu-

taries—Buckeye fork, Kent’s run, Thompson’ s run,

One Mile run, Two Mile run, Three Mile run and
other streams—rendering it one of the best watered

townships in the county. The excellence of the

clay of this township for the purposes of the pot-

ter has rendered the making of pottei-y ware a

leading industry here. This part of the county
was formerly a favorite resort of the Shawnee In-

dians and game and fish were abundant. The
first land within the present borders of this town-

ship that was entered for settlement was the west

half of section 23, township 15, range 14, by
Jacob Smith in 1797. Smith came from Virginia

and settled on this land about 1802. His home-
stead was the one known as the John Smith place,

his son John having lived on it after the death of

the pioneer. It appears that Smith was not the

first actual settler, however, for Andrew Crooks
and his wife, also from Virginia, located about
1800 on a part of section 6, near where Newton-
ville now is, where his son, George Crooks, after-

ward lived. About the same time, John Axline,

from Bucks county, Penn., settled on the south-

east quarter of section 34. Dr. Kent located near

where Newtonville now is, about 1802 and seems
to have remained only long enough to give his

name to Kent's run. About 1805 Benjamin Croy,

Jacob Baker, Peter Fauley and Daniel Horn
located in this township. Chauncey Ford located

near where Roseville now is some time in 1804.

Lewis Nye located and made improvements on
section 9 about the same time. David Olive came
with him, but died from a rattlesnake bite during
the year 1804. Together these two men bargained
for a half section of land that had previously been
entered by one Jennings.

Soon after he came, Andrew Crooks donated
the use of sufficient land for a schoolhouse in

which a school was opened by a well-educated

Scotchman named William McElree. This was
doubtless the first school in the township. On
the Springer place a schoolhouse was built very

early in the present century, which has been re-

ferred to as the “Springer schoolhouse ” and “ the

schoolhouse up Buckeye.” The first teacher

there was Timothy Wheeler, whose successor was
Thomas H. Dalson, Not long afterward a school

was established on the Abbott place. In the old

log schoolhouse on the Rankin place Daniel Poe
taught about 1810, and ten years later James D.
Luke and Mary Walpole and Noah Tanner were
among the pupils there. About this time, or a

little earlier, perhaps, the Uniontown school was
opened in Fultenham. The primitive schoolhouse

on Crooks' land gave place later to a more modern
structure known as the Lamb schoolhouse which
was built not far from the old site, and that in

turn to another on the old Athens road, a few
miles from Roseville, which was known as the

Walpole schoolhouse. Another school on the

Maysville pike, a mile west of Newtonville, was
taught by George Spencer, among whose pupils

were Mrs. Elijah Rankin, Jonathan Hatcher and
Jonas Burton. The early schools were all sub-

scription schools. The first common school was
opened in Uniontown just prior to 1850 and was
under the supervision of Rev. William Ferguson,
who was president of the school board.

Newton township was organized early in 1802.

The first township trustees were John Beckwith,
Andrew Crooks and Benjamin Redman. The first

clerk was Isaac Carter. The first justices of the

peace were Alexander Nolan and Jacob Crooks.

The first constables were William McElree and
William Lawrence, though the latter is said to

have been acting constable only. Early in the

history of the township Isaac Carter was a justice

of the peace, and in 1823 William Anderson was
first elected, who held the office for about two
decades. Early elections were held at the house
of Squire Nolan, who lived southeast of the pres-



358 HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY.

ent site of Newtonville, and at William Fellows’,

west of the same point.

Andrew Crooks, the pioneer, was a man of en-

terprise. There was no road between his place

and Powell’s mill, and he cut one and that turned
the tide of travel in his direction to some extent.

His next venture was the opening of his house as

an inn, about 1804. An idea of the thinness of

the population at that time may be gained from
the fact that though a “ raising ” was an important

event, only the following named persons were
present at the raising of Crook’s house: Joseph
Carpenter, David Olive, Henry Crooks, Solomon
Hodge, Isaac Martin, John Mathias, Mary Crooks
and Peggy Carpenter. Crooks died about 1850,

aged over seventy years, and at that time had
kept the house for more than forty five years. The
first hewed-log house in this section was built by
Lewis Nye, where Newtonville now is, about 1809
or 1810. Moses Plummer built the first saw and
gristmill in the township, near the locality of

where Wills Bros.’ large mill was later built,

on Jonathan’s creek, a mile east of where Union-
town now is. James Jeffries had a mill in the

township about 1807, and another was built a year

later by Caleb and Isaac Jones. Crook’s mill was
built about 1812. On the site of the old Jeffries

mill a mill was built six years later by John Har-
rington for Jacob Smith. A few years afterward

John Smith was the lessee of this mill, which was
finally destroyed by fire. About 1838 or 1840
the Joneses—Isaac, Caleb and Moses, erected a mill

on the creek. Benjamin Bedman started the first

tannery, a little west of the bridge spanning Jon-

athan’s creek. John Hendricks, father of the

late Hon. Thomas A. Hendricks, of Indiana, early

had a tannery near the site of Uniontown, on

the same stream. In an advertisement which ap-

peared in the issue of the Zanesville “Express”
for September 23, 1818, S. H. Raymenton in-

formed the public that the clothier’s works on
Jonathan’s creek, about four miles from Zanesville,

formerly owned by John Harrington, and at that

time owned by John Slack, were in operation and
that he would receive cloth at the houses of An-
drew Crooks, David Tipton, Levi Chapman, and
at his own house, in Putnam, to which places the

cloth would be returned when dressed, he having
a varied stock of dye stuffs, and workmen who so

well understood the business as to be able to form
any color desired. He stated, also, that he would
receive wheat, rye, corn, oats, flaxseed, beans, etc.,

in payment. Jacob Ronie established the first

pottery some time prior to 1815. The next was
established by A. Ensminger some time subsequent
to 1825. Joseph Rambo established his pottery

in 1863, and Harrison Settle began in the same
line of manufacture at Newtonville about eleven

years later. Jacob Funk set up his forge where
Uniontown now is, about 1812. That he was an
artist as well as a fine mechanic appears from the

fact that he not only made very presentable swords
for use during the war of 1812-14, but dies from
which were printed some of the “ script” in circu-

lation in those days. About the same time Will-

iam Bush began blacksmithing near Funk.
Thomas Brown opened his shop a little before

1840. Another old disciple of Vulcan who was
long popular in the township was Gabnet
Keyes.

Newtonville (White Cottage postoffice and sta-

tion) is a town on the line of the Columbus, Shaw-
nee & Hocking railroad, eight miles from Zanes-

ville. It has telephone connection with Newark,
Columbus, Lancaster and Zanesville. This is the

center of a good local trade. Darlington, or New-
ton postoffice, is located at the junction of the

Columbus, Shawnee & Hocking and the Cincinnati

& Muskingum Valley railroads. It is a small

hamlet, having little trade. The most important

trade center and shipping point in the township is

Uniontown (Fultonham station and postoffice), an
incorporated village of about 400 inhabitants, in

the western part, ten miles southwest of Zanes-

ville, on the line of the Columbus, Shawnee &
Hocking railroad. A short distance below the

station is McCrea Park, a pleasure resort fitted up
by the railroad company. Uniontown has tele-

phone connection with Zanesville, Columbus, Lan-
caster, Newark and other points. It is the seat of

Fultonham Academy, and here are located Mus-
kingum Lodge No. 368, F. & A. M.

;
Ham Gardner

Post No. 545, G. A. R.; and Newton Lodge No.

278, I. O. O. F.
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FALLS TOWNSHIP.

FALLS township is bounded north by Mus-
kingum, east by Washington and Zanes-

ville, south by Zanesville and Springfield, and
west by Hopewell, and its lines are thus described:
“ Beginning on the west side of the Licking river,

at the corporation line of the city of Zanes-

ville, on what is the ‘Military’ or ‘Base’ line;

thence west along said line one and a half miles

to the southeast corner of Hopewell township;

thence north along the line of said township to

the southeasterly corner of Licking and southwest-

erly corner of Muskingum townships; thence east

along the south line of Muskingum township to

the Muskingum river; thence in a southerly di-

rection along and down said river to the corpora-

tion line of the city of Zanesville; thence west and
south around the said corporation of Zanesville to

the place of beginning.”
The surface of this township is undulating and

not unpicturesque. The slopes near the river are

called the first and second bottoms. The soil is

a sandy loam, quite productive, in the bottoms; on
the uplands a clay subsoil, exceedingly rich. The
forests which once covered this section were com-
posed of chestnut, elm, ash, hickory, walnut,

beech, maple and the different varieties of oak.

Sandstone and limestone have been found here

and iron also exists, and some parts yield a good
quality of coal. Potter’s clay is found also.

The Licking river flows through the southwest-

ern portion of Falls township, and to it Bartlett’s,

Devere’s and Timber runs are tributary. There
are in the township quite a number of constantly

flowing springs. About two-thirds of the town-
ship lies northeast of the river and the balance

southwest.

Falls township was organized March 9, 1808

September 3, 1817, a portion of West Zanesville

was attached. In October, 1870, West Zanes-

ville was set off and constituted a part of the city

of Zanesville. This township originally included

Muskingum.
The settlement of Falls township dates from

1790. It was not until four years later that the

trading post - was established at Zanestown and

regular commerce was begun between the whites

and Indians. The title of pioneer settler is

awarded by common consent to Edward Tanner,

who located near the south bank of the Licking,

about seven miles above its mouth. Tanner, who
was born in Virginia on the south branch of the

Potomac, had at the age of sixteen been captured

by the Indians who kept him a prisoner at upper

Sandusky, Ohio, for three years and a half, finally

releasing him and permitting him to return to his

former home. After his marriage he came to this

locality above referred to and there built a cabin

and lived at peace with his aboriginal neighbors,

with whom he is said to have maintained friendly

relations by recourse to a system of fair dealing

that should have commended itself to others sim-

ilarly situated who came to grief because they did

not recognize its efficacy. There his son, Samuel
Tanner, was born in 1792, and at a later date Capt.

William C. Tanner. Soon after the year 1800 Tan-

ner built the first hewed-log house in the county

and moved into it from his primitive cabin. This

pioneer died in 1831. About a year after him
came Baltzer Fletcher, also a Virginian, who lo-

cated east of Tanner’s, and John Kinkead, from

New Jersey, came in 1795. About two years later

John Ratliff and Elias Hughes located not far

from the mouth of the Licking. They came from

Virginia and are said to have been typical front-

ier scouts. They were not permanent settlers

here, but removed about twenty miles up the

river within a year of their coming. About 1798

one Priest located in this township, though the

exact place of his settlement is unknown. The
following reference-to him has been found: “ Mr.

Priest, wife and six children, the youngest in arms,

removed from Culpeper county, Va., 400 miles

away, the parents walking, the mother carrying

her babe, while the other children and their house-

hold goods and furniture were transported on pack

horses. Mrs. Priest lived to be one hundred, and

two years old.” About 1800 Abel Lewis came
from Pennsylvania, making the journey on foot,
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and it is related of him that at night he secured
his arm to a high limb in a tree with his pocket-

handkerchief and slept in the tree top secure from
danger from wild beasts. He was a surveyor and
from 1803 to 1811 was clerk of the court. In
1812 he took up his residence on the farm, since

known as that of his son, George J. Lewis. In
1804 John Channel located temporarily near the
mouth of the Licking, subsequently removing to a

point further up the river. He was well known as

a hunter. William Kamp was an early settler and
in 1807 Frederick Geyer was living on the Lewis
Lane farm. Moses Dillon, the elder, from Penn-
sylvania, visited this part of the country about
1804. He came as the traveling companion of a

Quaker preacher, whose objective point was the
camping ground of the Wyandot Indians at the

head waters of the Coshocton branch of the Mus-
kingum. and who bad then attained the age of

three-score and ten. The great water power af-

forded by the falls of the Licking and his

discovery of iron ore in the vicinity determined
him to locate here, and he soon purchased about
3,000 acres of land, which included the falls, and
in 1805 settled there permanently, establishing

what was doubtless the first furnace and foundry
west of the Alleghanies and subsequently en-

gaged in other enterprises which are mentioned
elsewhere. Charles and John Roberts, who came
into this township prior to 1810, were the first

surveyors, if tradition is to be relied on. One
Woodword, who assisted Edward Tanner in the

erection of his hewed log house, is thought to

have been the first carpenter.

The old village of Dillon’s Falls has been re-

ferred to. Its beginning was the location there of

Moses Dillon, who, about 1805, put in operation a

foundry and furnace and began the manufacture of

hollow ware. After he opened his store this be-

came an important trading point, and though no
town was ever regularly laid out, a goodly number
of families settled round about on Mr. Dillon’s

land. Later enterprises of Mr. Dillon and his

sons have received attention elsewhere. John Mc-
Intire laid out the village of West Zanesville in

1809, platting squares which he subdivided into

lots. The plat was never recorded, however.
These lots extended from the north end of the
bridge north along River street, and were num-
bered one to twenty, inclusive. That part of New-
town or the Western Addition, lying west of Blue
avenue, was owned by John Lee. This addition

was laid out in 1852. Terrace No. 1 and terrace

No. 2. both on the John Mclntire land, were
laid out in 1855 and 1863, respectively. The vil-

lage of West Zanesville was incorporated in 1869.

Henry Peters was its first mayor and Imri Rich-
ards its first recorder. In 1870 this village was

annexed to the city of Zanesville, and it has since

formed a part of that municipality. A postoffice

was established there in 1811, with John S. Parke
as postmaster. A distillery was established near

here about eighty years ago, by James Thorp, and
another was put in operation later on the Snider

farm by James Fulton, which afterward passed to

the possession and management of Joseph Belknap.

The mail route from Zanesville to Newark was
opened through this township in 1806, and the

mails were for a time carried on horseback. Neile,

Moore & Co. put on a line of stages in 1825, and
perhaps a little later John S. Dugan operated an-

other line between the same terminal points by way
of Irville and Nashport. The construction of the

branch of the Baltimore & Ohio system, extending

from Columbus to Wheeling, and formerly known
as the Central Ohio railroad, marked the advent of

this modern improvement in this township. Dil-

lon’s Falls is a station on this line. The National

jfike or National road, extending from Washington,
D. C., to St. Louis, Mo., was constructed in 1830,

and the part of it traversing this township has

since afforded better facilities for road traffic than

any other highway within or partially within its

borders.

A Mr. Black is said to have been the pioneer

pedagogue, and is accredited with having taught

a school near the boundary line of Falls and Hope-
well townships as early as 1801. The first school-

house was erected on the William Search farm, in

the southwest corner of the township, about 1804.

Another early teacher was Mr. Ranney, who taught

on the Camp farm, north of the Licking. Moses
Dillon and his sons opened the first store at Dil-

lon’s Falls about 1806, bringing their miscellaneous

merchandise in by packhorse for some years.

Rev. James B. Findley, of the Methodist per-

suasion, preached about 1810 in the tavern house

of Henry Dick, at Dillon’s Falls, and organized a

class consisting of John Hooper, Jacob Hooper,

Mr. and Mrs. Cooper, J. Denlenhiffer and a col-

ored man named Sam Gassaway. Dick’s tavern

is thought not to have been opened until 1810.

John Corbis, of West Zanesville, opened a public

house in a log building with a porch, a year earlier.

John Lee opened a tavern at Dillon’s Falls about

1816. The first gristmill in the township was put

in operation at the falls early in the present cent-

ury by George Jackson. It was located just be-

low Dillon's furnace and was resorted to by settlers

for fifty miles round about, who were at times

obliged to wait several days for their grists to be

ground. William English put a tannery in opera-

tion near by about the same time. A salt well

was owned and operated on the James Miller farm,

in the northeast part of the township, by Gen.

Samuel Herrick, some time before 1825. Dr.
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Isaac Helmick, who hung out his sign (if sign he
had) at West Zanesville, is thought to have been
the primitive physician in Falls township.

The furnace and foundry established at Dillon’s

Falls, in 1805, by Moses Dillon Sr., has been men-
tioned. About ten years later he erected a flour-

ingmill and two sawmills near the Falls. These
enterprises were important for that time, consider-

ing the locality, and it is said that at times more
than a hundred men were employed in carrying
them on. With the store (opened about 1806)
they formed the nucleus of a settlement which at

one time included about half a hundred families.

Mr. Dillon died in 1828 at the advanced age of

ninety-four years. His sons, John, Isaac and
Moses Jr., were men of good judgment and much
business ability. The former operated the foundry
for some years after the death of the father. About
sixty-five or seventy years ago Isaac engaged in

the manufacture of linseed oil, cloths, including
cassimeres and satinets, and carpets, in West
Zanesville, at the mouth of the Licking, where he
had also a sawmill and a store, and for some years
his business was quite extensive. Both John and
Isaac Dillon were well known farmers and fruit

growers, and the latter introduced the breeding of

Merino sheep and raised much fine stock. They
were prominent in the organization, in 1836, of

the Muskingum County Agricultural society, of

which the former was the first president. John
Dillon died at the age of eighty-six years in 1862.

Thomas Wilkins, on the National pike, five

miles west of Zanesville, began the manufacture
of pottery in 1874, and about the same time a sec-

ond pottery was established in this township near
the falls of the Licking. Philip Mourin dis-

covered limestone in the Newtonville strata, and
above it iron ore of good quality, and in a deposit
about half a foot in thickness. Prior to 1880 a
good deal of this iron ore was hauled to Zanesville
and consumed in the furnace there. About 1874 Mr.
Mourin, in company with D. Hatton, began the
operation of a lime kiln not far below the Falls,

which they continued successfully until about
twelve years ago. About 100 bushels of lime
were produced daily by a continuous burner, and
found a ready market in Zanesville. Below the
limestone at Dillon’s Falls is a strata of magnesian
limestone from four to ten feet thick, which has
been used to advantage in architecture, it being
soft and readily shaped when first quarried, and
having the advantage of hardening under brief

atmospheric exposure. William Trago began to

burn brick in Falls township in 1808, near the A.

M. Hollingsworth place, about two miles from
Zanesville. About a year later the Muskingum
river was first dammed at Zanesville, a little above
the site of the present dam, and the grist, saw and

oilmills of George Jackson were put in operation

on the west side of the river, and not far distant,

on the same side a forwarding and commission

warehouse was erected by James Taylor. It was
about this time, too, that the gristmill of Richard

Fairlamb and Michael Dulty was erected on the

west side a little below the dam, which mill later

became the property of J. & R. Drone, and not

long afterward was erected Gillespie’s linseed oil-

mill, near the present site of the west abutment
of the railway bridge, which subsequently came
into the possession of R. N. & D. Dunlap, who
converted it into a broomhandle and clothespin

factory. The present dam was built in 1838 by
state appropriation. Glen Moore nursery, near

Zanesville, was established by S. Jacobs Moore
about 1856.

The Quaker burying-ground, a mile west of

Zanesville, near the mouth of Timber run, was
the first graveyard opened in this township. The
ground, an acre in area, was donated by John Dil-

lon Sr., more than fourteen years ago, and among
the first interments there were those of William

Tudor and members of his household. On the

north side of the National pike, about two miles

from Zanesville, is the Jewish burying-ground,

which was laid out twenty -one years ago, and has

been improved.

Mention has been made of the first preaching

in the township by Rev.James B. Findley (Method-

ist), in 1810, and the organization, by him, of the

first “class” of worshipers of that denomination.

Through Mr. Findley’s influence a hewed-log

church was erected, not long afterward, by a pop-

ular subscription, which was dedicated, before it

was finished, by Bishop McKendree, who preached

from these words: “And upon this rock I will

build my church. ” Many years later this primi-

tive structure was superseded by a frame building.

The influence of Rev. Mr. Findley seems to have

been exerted for the good of the people at Dil-

lon’s Falls in more ways than one, and it is re-

lated that some time in 1810 he called the

settlers together, and, standing on au inverted ket-

tle, delivered to them such a strong plea in behalf

of temperance that every one present signed and
long kept the pledge. Rev. George Ellis was an-

other early Methodist “itinerant” who preached in

this township. Rev. David Sherrard wasthe first reg-

ular class-leader and preacher at the Falls. In the

northwest part of this township a Methodist organ-

ization, known as “Hayne’s” or “Hooper’s” so-

ciety, was effected. A house of worship was erected

about 1810, which, on account of a burned log in

one of its walls, was popularly known as “Black
Log church,” though by some it was called “the
chapel.”

The Rich Yale Methodist Episcopal church was
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orgauized and its bouse of worship was erected soon
after 1840. The building is located on the Zanes-
ville and Dresden road, about five miles from
Zanesville. Among the original members of this

church were the families of F. N. Walker, S. M.
Bell, Nathan Kelly, E. Wilkinson and Simeon
Kelly, and their heads. Oakland church was or-

ganized in 1844, and among its constituent mem-
bers were J. Pake, John Vandenbark, D. Ed-
wards, William Camp and Mrs. J. Geyer, and their

families. Rev. W. H. Marshall was the first reg-

ular pastor. William Camp, John Vandenbark
and David Edwards were the first class-leaders.

The land on which the house of worship stands was
donated to the organization by C. C. Goddard, of

Zanesville, who deeded it to John Vandenbark and
William Camp, as trustees. The Methodist Prot-
estant church of Falls township was organized
about 1835, at John Tanner’s house, where Revs.
Joseph Thrapp and Cornelius Springer preached at

times. The house of worship, near the center of

the western border of the township, was erected in

1850. Rev. Mr. Thrapp also preached occasion-

ally in the schoolhouse on the Frazeysburg road,

which Avas erected more than fifty years ago on
land donated for the purpose by John Vandenbark.

MUSKINGUM TOWNSHIP.

T HIS, the second from west to east of the sec-

ond tier of townships of the county from the

northern limit, is bounded north by Jackson, Cass
and Madison, east by Madison and Washington,
south by Falls and west by Licking. The Mus-
kingum river flows along its eastern border.

Devore’s run, which has its source in Cass township
flows southeasterly through the western part of

Muskingum. There are in the township some
smaller streams, and some never- failing springs.

The general surface is undulating, but in the

eastern part, near the river, are prominent head-

lands, some of which rise quite abruptly. The
soil is chiefly a sandy loam, though in the head-

lands spoken of is found a predominant clayey sub-

soil. Coal is plentiful in the eastern portions, and
iron has been found. The principal timber trees

are the oaks, hickory, ash, elm, beech, chestnut

and walnut. There is an abundance of sandstone
and limestone. The stone is of good quality and
well adapted to building purposes. The township
is traversed by the Cleveland & Canton and Cincin-

nati & Muskingum Valley railroads. Ellis, eight

miles north of Zanesville, and seven miles south

of Dresden, in the eastern jrart of this township,

on the western bank of the Muskingum river, a

station on these lines was founded, and its post-

office was established a little more than twenty
years ago.

As it is now bounded, Muskingum township
was organized September 3, 1817, when West

Zanesville was divided between this and Falls

township. On the last Saturday in the same month
the first township election is said to have been
held at the house of Capt. James Taylor. Among
those who were elected to office was Henry Butler,

justice of the peace.

Among the early settlers in this township were
David Devore, James Black, James Beach, John
Bland, Elijah Stradley, Ebenezer Ryan, Timothy
Prior, Jesse Dowell, William Bland, Levi Cooper,

George Welsh, Samuel McCann and Joseph Spen-
cer. The first three named came about 1797, and
were the first white men to make a home in this

township. Devore at first located and erected a

cabin near the Muskingum, in the east part of the

present township but removed to a place on the south

half of section 0, township 2, range 8, near the

stream since known as Devore’s run. One of the

others located on the Stitt farm. The third was
of an unsettled disposition and did not choose a

permanent home. John Bland who located on a

part of section 13, is thought to have come the

next year, and Silas Bland, his son, was born

in camp before his parents had got settled in their

wilderness home. Stradley and Ryan came in the

year last mentioned and the former located on lot

36. William, brother of John Bland, came
in 1803, and Cooper, Welsh, McCann and Spencer

five years later. Rev. Joseph Thrapp, John Dor-

sey and Samuel Guest settled in the township in

1810, Dorsey on the west part of section 4.
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Thrapp who had come from Virginia to Licking

county, settled upon the J. E. Trapp farm in the

southwest corner of the township. Samuel Baxter

and Henry J. Butler came in 1812, the latter locat-

ing north of Thrapp. Three years later came J.

M. Lane, a blacksmith, who located on section

19. He came from Baltimore county, Md.,
and Norman Gorsuch, from the same locality ar-

rived soon afterward and located on the Joshua
Gorsuch farm. He brought with him his family

and his household effects, and it is said that they

covered a distance of 375 miles intervening between
their old home and their new one in twenty-two

days. Joshua Gorsuch, a son of the pioneer, mar-
ried a daughter of Rev. Mr. Thrapp, and lived to

an advanced age. Norman Gorsuch died aged
seventy-three years.

Timothy Prior, one of the pioneers, died in

1799, and his is believed to have been the first

burial in the township. Two other pioneers, Jesse

Dowell and James Devore, died the following year.

The Gardner farm was the scene of their burial,

and thus became the township’s first cemetery.

William Bland and Daniel Devore set out the first

orchards in the first year of the present century,

and not long afterward an apple and peach orchard

was started by George Welsh. The first hewed-log

house was erected by David Devore in 1798. It

is stated that the first barn built in Muskingum
township was one on the George Welsh farm,

erected by Richard Owens, carpenter, about 1810,

and it is believed that Owens was the first regular

carpenter here. John M. Lane combined black-

smithing with farming, and was known as a black-

smith in this township prior to 1815. In the year

last mentioned, or in 1816, Beal Owens set up his

forge, and soon afterward another blacksmith shop
was established by Otto Miller. David Devore
built the first gristmill on Devore’s run in 1812,

or thereabouts. This establishment was one
^
of

the most primitive description, it being necessary

to carry the ground wheat upstairs in sacks on
men's shoulders for bolting, and the bolting was
done by hand at that. About the same time Rev.

Joseph Thrapp put a sawmill in operation on his

improvement. Devore’s gristmill gave place to a

sawmill, which was standing there about 1825, then

the property of Elias Green. Dutton Lane estab-

lished a tannery on the Dresden road about 1812,

and Firman Spencer another in his part of the

township about five years later. Among early

school teachers were Sanford Raimy, John Elliott,

Archibald McCann, a man named Phelps, and an-

other named Shurtliffe or Shutliff, who is thought
to have taught the first school in the township in

the Pierson schoolhouse about 1815. David Pier-

son and James Welsh are accredited with having
been actively engaged in the management of a dis-

tillery prior to 1820. Another was established

near the river by Col. George Jackson about 1818
or 1819. Michael Hahn was operating a distill-

ery in the township in 1824, or about that time.

Col. Jackson, above mentioned, was making salt in

the eastern par-
t of the township, near the river,

as early as 1821. The first public house was
opened by David Devore, at his residence, as early

as 1812. The house of Dutton Lane was thrown
open to the public traveling over the Zanesville

and Coshocton road about 1820. The Devore log

house was primitive enough as a tavern, but Lane’s
was still more so, for it is said to have contained
only one room, and that a by no means large one.

Firman Spencer, above mentioned, erected the first

brick house in Muskingum in 1825, near where
Shannon was laid out five years later. Robert
Welsh opened the first store in that locality about
1845. It is stated that at that time, when wheat
was unsaleable at 20 cents a bushel in trade, its

producers had to pay three to four shillings per
yard for calico, 50 cents and more a pound for

coffee, and $2 a pound for tea. Silver coin and
scrip were employed in all transactions where bar-

ter was not resorted to of necessity, and there are

those who say that coins were cut in halves and
quarters when change could not be made conven-
iently without.

Early in the history of the township blooded
horses were brought from Maryland and Virginia

by some of the pioneers. Joshua Gorsuch intro-

duced imported hogs about 1828 to 1830. A lit-

tle later Isaac Dillon of Falls township introduced
an improved breed of sheep. Joshua Gorsuch,
John M. Lane, Col. Ellis, John McDonald, and
some of the Welshes and Blands were extensive and
successful sheep growers. Durham cattle were
introduced by James Still and James McCammon.

Rev. Joseph Thrapp, who was a Methodist
minister of much ability, well known throughout a

wide extent of country, organized the first church
in the township at his residence in 1810, with
himself and family and John Thrapp and Messrs.

Hickson and Hall and their families as members.
Rev. James Quinn was the first pastor. This or-

ganization has had a successful existence, and dur-

Tng recent years has met for worship at Sherrard
chapel. In 1815 a camp meeting was held by the

Methodists on Mr. Thrapp’ s farm, and among
those who preached were Bishops McKendree and
Asbury, as they have since been known. Con-
versions were numerous, a notable one having
been that of Samuel Hamilton, of Hopewell, who
subsequently became a preacher in the same de-

nomination, and as such labored successfully dur-

ing a long and useful life. The first Sunday-
school was started by Archibald McCaun, who
taught the Bible all day Sunday, as he taught
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ordinary school on other days. He is remembered
as having had the welfare of the young people

of his community at heart, and as being profoundly

devoted to their spiritual and educational interests.

An old newspaper contains an account of his acci-

dental death by drowning in the canal at Zanes-

ville some time in the latter part of March, 1839,

by walking off the abutment of the open draw-

bridge. In 1813 the Baptists organized a church

sometimes called the Baxter church, with the fol-

lowing among its constituent members: Samuel
Baxter, John Dorsey, and Samuel Guest and their

wives and Mrs. Henry Butler, Mrs. Lane,

and Mrs. Eastenbauer. Rev. Amos Nix was
the first pastor. The house of worship of this con-

gregation is located on the John Welsh farm.

The Presbyterian church in the western part of the

township was organized in 1814. Its first pastor

was Rev. James Culbertson, of Zanesville. Among
its original members were David Pierson and fam-

ily, in whose honor it has sometimes been referred

to as the Pierson church, Joseph McDonald and
family and members of the Welsh family. The
church and cemetery lot was given by David Pier-

son and George Welsh. A Sunday-school was or-

ganized about 1850. St Mary’s Catholic church
was organized at the residence of William Mat-
tingly in 1834, and was ministered to by the
Dominican fathers of Zanesville until 1855. In
1856 a commodious brick edifice was erected on
John Mattingly’s farm, on a church lot of an acre

which Mr. Mattingly had given. The building
was furnished by Francis Mattingly.

Early deaths in the township have been men-
tioned, and early burials on the Gardner farm have
been noted. There were other early interments on
the Joshua Butler farm. Many pioneers and their

descendants are buried in the Baptist and Presby-
terian cemeteries, the first mentioned of which
comprises three acres of ground. The first burial

in the Catholic cemetery was that of William Mat-
tingly who died in 1857, aged about seventy-five.

er XhblV.

WAYNE TOWNSHIP.

THE first actual settler here was probably

James Finley, a Pennsylvanian, who came to

the township about 1801 or 1802. His occupation

was that of a weaver, and he afterward supplied

many of his neighbors, the early settlers of

the township, with the homespun cloth of

which the clothing worn by them was always

made. Abraham Mercer soon followed Finley to

this township, coming from Virginia, and in the

fall of 1803 settled on section 6. Caleb Dunn
reached the same section in 1805, coming from
Scioto, to which place he had taken his family the

preceding year. Nicholas Border and Lewis
Cams came soon after, Border taking a piece of

land in the south half of section 1 in the latter

part of 1806, and Cams coming the following

year, took up land adjoining Dunn, in section 6.

Lemuel Joseph about the same time occupied a

portion of section 10.

The period of time prior to 1820 was marked
by a rapid and steady growth of settlement.

Among those who settled here during that period

were John Kepler, Rev. William Sedwick, Will-

iam Pringle, John, Jake, Andrew and George Mer-
cer, Gen. Samuel Herrick, Rev. Pringle, Thomas
Leach, Wells, Henry Harris, William Corbin,

John S. Parkerson, George W. Gibbons, Daniel
McLean, Josiah Fulkerson. The western part of

the township was settled largely by Germans,
among whom were Bowman, Glassman, Corbin,

Deffenbaugh, Swope, Lehman and others, whose
children and grandchildren reside in the vicinity

and exhibit the same industry and integrity that

characterized their fathers.

Several distilleries were operated in the town-
ship. John Kepler’s still, in the northern part,

was one of the first, and probably the principal

one in the neighborhood. William Corbin made
whisky in a small way about a mile from Kepler’s.

Whisky was worth from 18 to 20 cents per gallon,

and the quality so excellent that old residents

smack their lips when speaking of it, bemoan the

degeneracy of the manufacturers of the “poison”
of these days and sigh for the good old times, with

old-time pleasures and customs.

The civilizing influence of the church was early
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acknowledged. Many of the early settlers of this

township were members of church before leaving

their r^tive states, and on coming to Ohio brought

their religion with them. These realizing the

strength to be obtained by concerted action organ-

ized a Methodist Episcopal church at the house of

Lemuel Joseph, who was the first class-leader.

Services were held at the house of Mr. Joseph and

others for a time, after which a log church was built.

Some of the early members of the church were

Lemuel and Celia Joseph, Andrew, Mary, John
and Elizabeth Mercer, Margaret Watts. James
Watts was the pioneer preacher of this church.

The first meeting house, known as Joseph’s meet-

ing house, was built of logs. It stood and was
used as a place of worship until destroyed by fire.

The present structure, known as “Fairview Chap-
el,” marks the site of the old meeting house. A
goodly number of the pioneers were of the Bap-
tist church, among whom we note the families of

Caleb Dunn, Evan Crane, William Evans, Daniel

Comstock, Lewis Ayers, David Leright, Mrs.

Groves, Mrs. Moore, Galbreath and Johnson.

Revs. Pringle and Sedwick were the pioneer

preachers, who worked in the fields or forests

during the week and on Sundays would preach at

the house of some settler in the neighborhood,

preaching without pay.

Religion and education go hand in hand, and
the pioneers of Wayne township realizing this fact,

soon after the organization of the church set about

securing educational advantages for their children.

About 1815 a log schoolhouse was erected on what
is now the farm of W. Dunn, to whom we are in-

debted for nearly all our information concerning

this primitive structure. This “temple of learn-

ing” was built of round logs, the crevices
“ chinked ” and plastered with clay. In one end
was a fireplace which would burn large logs eight

feet or more in length. It was the duty of the

boys attending the school to cut the wood which
was burned. In this building a log was cut out

at the proper hight to afford light in the room,

and paper rendered translucent with grease was
placed in the opening so formed. The floor was
rough puncheons, the seats were of slabs or split

trees with peg legs. Holes were bored in the

walls of the building and wooden pins inserted on

these slabs or hewed puncheon were placed for

desks. In a house of this description some of the

most worthy men of the county laid the foundations

of successful lives. The schools were supported
entirely by subscription of the patrons, and seldom
continued longer than three months.

The first death in the settlement of which we
find any record is that of Asa Dunn, a son of Caleb
Dunn, who died the year after his parents removed

this township and was buried on his father's

farm, at a place, only a few hundred yards from
the family residence, which has since been used as

a family and neighborhood burial ground.
Probably the first blacksmith in the township

was Charles Lisk at Duncan’s Falls, another at

same place was a man named Munsey. For many
years the nearest smith was at Zanesville, where
all horses were taken to be shod and all repair-

work and plow making was done. Edward Trimble
for many years ran a shop at the Falls. Michael
Cams was probably the first wagonmaker in the

township, his shop was in the northeast part of

the township near the residence of Robert Griffin.

A man named Morrison made shoes at Duncan’s
Falls at an early day.

Prior to 1835 the only way known to the settlers

by which to separate wheat from the straw and
chaff was by use of the flail or by treading out the

grain with horses, a slow and imperfect process.

In the fall of that year Robert Griffin introduced a

threshing-machine operated by tread-mill horse
power. This, though it would now be considered

a very primitive affair, was then a wonderful ma-
chine, as by its use as much as a hundred bushels
could be threshed in a day if conditions were
favorable.

Wayne township was organized from parts of

Zanesville and Salt Creek townships, March 7,

1826. Pursuant to this order the election was held
at the house of Joseph Dixon, at which Samuel
Scott, Mathias Spangler and Jacob Mercer presided
as judges of election, and Edward Smith and
Thomas Leach officiated as clerks.

The offices to be filled at this election were,

three trustees, five supervisors, two overseers of

the poor, a treasurer, two fence- viewers, one clerk,

and two constables. The successful candidates
were: for trustees, John S. Parkinson, Jacob Mer-
cer, Mathias Spangler; for supervisors, Samuel
Scott, Edwin Smith, David McLean, Daniel Poland,
Mathias Spangler Jr.

;
for overseers of the poor,

Lemuel Joseph, Benjamin Carter; for treasurer,

Richard Brookover; for fence-viewers, Benjamin
Barton, Daniel McLean; for clerk, George W.
Gibbons; for constables, John Mason, Jacob
Spangler. A little later John S. Parkinson and
Mathias Spangler were elected justices of the

peace.

The town of Duucan’s Falls was originally laid

out in 1841, in accordance with an order of the
court of common pleas, by John W. Foster, mas-
ter commissioner, and James Taylor. Two addi-

tions to the town were made by Alvah Buckingham,
both in 1849. The town has a population (1890)
of 222. It has never been incorporated.

The town has three churches, Methodist Epis-

copal, Baptist, and Presbyterian; four stores, post

office, and the following secret and benevolent so-
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cieties: Masonic, G. A. R., Knights of Pythias,

Women’s Relief Corps, and P. O. S. A., all of

which are prosperous. The only factory of any
consequence in the town is the flouringmill of

John Miller, which is fully equipped with roller

process and has a capacity of seventy-five barrels.

The first store in the place was that of James Tay-

lor, prior to 1825. He carried a general stock of

merchandise and exchanged for the produce of the

settlers. Lyons & Wolff had a store near the

mouth of Salt creek, in which was opened the first

postoffice in the township. The mail was carried

by James Larrison, whose route was from Zanes-

ville to McConnelsville. Before this office was
opened the settlers were obliged to go to Zanesville

for their mail. Mr. Lyons was the first postmaster.

Probably the next store opened in that neighbor-

hood was kept by a man named Grader. The first

physician at Duncan’s Falls was Dr. Mason, who
died recently at an advanced age.

The inconveniences of the settlers were greatly

enhanced by the distance they had to travel to get

corn or wheat ground. Zanesville being the near-

est place, the trip was usually made up the river in

a dug-out canoe. Two to four days were required

to make the trip, and occasionally, when the corn

was not thoroughly dry before grinding, the meal

would be sour before reachingits destination. This

fact led to the erection, by Samuel Frazer, of a

gristmill on Flat river. A sawmill was erected

in 1834, by Martin Chandler, on Salt creek. There

being an abundance of material for the making of

brick, I. S. Parkinson engaged in their manufact-

ure as early as 1825, and was soon followed by

General Herrick and Andrew Cams.
In 1825 the government, realizing the enormous

water power to be had here, erected a dam on the

natural falls of the river. In 1836 Dugan and

Bowen began the erection of a four-story gristmill,

which was completed in 1838. It contained eight

run of stones and was the principal mill for many
miles along the Muskingum. This mill is still in

operation. It has changed hands several times,

and is now the property of John Miller. It has

been refitted and a great deal of new machinery

has been added. Among other improvements has

been the substitution of a full roller process for

the old buhrs. A large room in the building was

originally set apart and fitted up for a cardingmill,

and was the only cardingmill in the township.

The Duncans Falls Baptist church was organ-

ized in Taylorsville, Muskingum county, Ohio, Oc-

tober 17, 1840, by a council of brethren invited

from neighboring churches for that purpose, viz.

:

from Salt Creek, Parley Brown, Archibald Gal-

braith, and Abel Johnson; from Zanesville, Thomas
Neale and Charles Grant; from Zoar church, Will-

iam Hambrick, B. Y. Seigfried. Michael White

was also present. The council was organized by
appointing Parley Brown, moderator, and Abel
Johnson, clerk. The following seventeen persons
(sixteen of whom had letters of dismission from
Salt Creek church) presented themselves before

the council, viz. : George Crane, Henry Sapp,
James Crane, Samuel Harper, William Bolman,
George Gander, Susan Comstock, Mercy Crane,
Matilda Groves, Sarah Cuberly, Elizabeth Anu
Gander, Rebecca Morris, Hannah Armstrong,
Catherine Sapp, Elizabeth Bolman, Moses Masters,
and Elizabeth Masters, giving their reasons why
they believed a Baptist church should be organized
in the vicinity of Taylorsville. These reasons,

with their articles of faith being satisfactory to the

council, they were in the ordinary manner recog-

nized as a regular Baptist church. At a subse-

quent meeting the new church adopted the name
Duncan’s Falls Baptist church. At this time the

church had no meeting house, but held their meet-
ings a part of the time in a cooper shop and at

private houses, or wherever a convenient place

could lie found, but God was with them and added
to their number from time to time, many precious

souls. In the year 1841 the church resolved to

make an effort to build a meeting house on the

north side of the river, in the then opening village

of Duncan's Falls, on a lot afterward donated to

them by Alvah Buckingham and lady.

The church met in their new meeting house for

worship, the first time on March 9, 1844.

Abel Johnson was the first pastor, under whose
labors the church was gathered. The following

ministers served the church as pastors at different

times: . G. C. Sedwick, Kitchell, Sheppard, Em-
erson, Amerman, Harford, Erwin James, Davies,

Swinehart, Chambers, Neff, Morriss and N. W.
Dixon, the present pastor. During the intervals

of these pastorates the church was frequently sup-

plied with preaching by other ministers. Al-

though many of the members of Duncan’s Falls

Baptist church resided in the country, away from
the meeting house, surrounded by opposition to

Baptist sentiment, the little band has struggled

along its way, many times cast down, but never
desparing, manfully “holding forth the Word of

Life.’’ At various times since its organization this

church has had very fruitful revivals by which
many new members were added to their number.
Some noble men have been connected with this

church. Men whose piety, liberality, and conse-

crated lives, endeared them to the church while

living, and now that they have gone to their re-

ward, their memory is embalmed and cherished in

the hearts of those who survive them. Among
the names of these brethern we would mention the

names of Comstock, Gander, Cram, Male, and
many others, should space permit.
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Anchor lodge 283, A. F. & A. M., was organ-

ized in 1855, under a dispensation of the Grand
lodge of Ohio, by James D. Sturges, John J Kas-
sell, R. I. Peach, Fred Young, Thomas McLees,
Joseph Starrett and P. Denek.

In 1856 the lodge was chartered by the Grand
lodge of the state at Zanesville, and the following

were appointed the first officers of the lodge:

James D. Sturges, W. M.
;
John J. Kassell, Sr.

Ward.; Marquis Williams, Jr. Ward. The
lodge has about sixty members. The lodge

owns a good two-story frame building, the upper
story of which is finished for a lodge room, and is

well furnished with all pharaphernalia. The build-

ing was erected by the Masonic Building associa-

tion in 1884. The lodge completed payment for

the building in 1887. The lower story is occupied

as a general store and postoffice.

Dan Brown post No. 380, G. A. R., was or-

ganized and chartered September 29,1883, with a

membei'ship at its institution of thirty-eight as

follows: John T. Brown, Jacob Bash, F. M. Chris-

tie, O. B. Crumbaker, Joseph Daw, George W.
Dempster, H. H. Dickes, Silas W. Fickle, H. S.

Finley, A. M. Frazier. G. B. Howard, C. H. Host-

ler, D. Hoppstetter, John Kusmaul, A. L Kin-
kade, Mathew Lynn, James McNeal, George Mc-
Curdy, John Mercer, William McGill, C. C. Mil-

ler, G. A. Neff, James G. Osborn, Joseph Peach,

A. L. Petty, John Roberts, John Robison,

William Robinson, Henry Roinine, D. L. Stock-

dale, I. C. Swingle, H. H. Smith, John Smith,

John W. Tigner, C. Swinchall, John Waxier,
David Wells, Frederick Young. Since its or-

ganization the post has been increased until

it has now a membership of seventy-five. The
first officers of the post were Joseph Peach,

post commander; F. M. Christie, S. Y. C.; H.

Hosier, J. Y. C.
;

S. W. Frickle, Adjt.
;

J. W.
Tigner, Q. M.

;
Fred Young, O. D.

;
H. H. Smith,

O. G.
;
O. B. Crumbaker, Surg.

;
Rev. A. L.

Petty, chaplain; John Roberts, S. M.
;
G. B.

Howard, Q. M. S.

Olive Branch lodge No. 368, Knights of

Pythias, was organized and chartered in 1889.

It was instituted July 15, 1889, by Capt. Charles

Fulkerson, who was deputized by the Grand lodge

to perform this work. The degrees was conferred

by Mclntire lodge.

Olive Branch lodge was instituted with a char-

ter membership of fifty-six, whose names were as

follows: J. Hardtla, G. A. Fouch, J. W. Rice,

T. A. Dilly, W. S. Hvser, J. E. Webster, Wesley
Dutro, J. E. Green, J. A. Marshall, J. Morrison,

A. Miller, G. W. Stockdale, M. F. Fauber, L.

H. Garrett, C. D. Few, B. H. Wion, E. Dutro,

William Boetcher, E E. Neff, J. Waxier, J. W. El-

son, C. A. Waxier. J. F. Berkamer, W. H. Frazier,

G. B. Davis, F. F. Dozier, J. E. Johns, P. J. Gay,
C. G. Hardtla, L. I. Stockdale, J. E. Arnedt,

W. T. M. Elliot, J. C. Forsyth, A. M. Shedron,

W. P. Harrop, B. Mantz, A. C. Mitchell, B. F.

Elmore, F. J. W. Howe, J. Hardtman, W. F.

Price, R. J. Neff, G. H. Clapper, J. Staker, C. W.
Murphy, P. R. Maxwell, and D. Brittigau, P. C.

;

O. W. Ward, C. C.; W. E. Peach, V. C.
;
D. S.

Priest, Prel.
;

L. C. Burckholter, M. F.; J. J.

Kassell, M. E. ; B. Olive, K. R. S.; J. K. Wilson,
M. A.; S. S. Waxier, O. G. ; A. Reamer, J. G.

In February, 1891, a lodge of Patriotic Order
Sons of America was organized with a member-
ship of twenty. The officers are John Weinford-
ner, president; Herman Perry, vice-president; U.
S. Messick, past president; Stephen Cross, M. A.;

Andrew Armstrong, secretary; Robert Peach,
treasurer; Gee Davis, financial secretary.

<©}26ipt<3r XTsA?.

PERSONAL MEMOIRS.

David J. Abbott, Otsego, Muskingum county,

Ohio, is one of the old settlers and prominent farm-

ers of Monroe township. John S. Abbott, his father,

was one of the pioneers of Muskingum county and
fame from Tolland, Conn., of English descent and
co the old colonial family of Abbotts, who have pro-

duced many famous men and women, among whom
21

is the famous historian, John S. C. Abbott, and the

famous singer, Emma Abbott. John Abbott, the
father of John S. Abbott, was a citizen of Tolland,

Conn., and a soldier in the Revolutionary war.

He had six brothers and from them have descended
the numerous family of Abbotts in America. John
Abbott was the father of six children: John S.,
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Dr. Jeliiel (who was a prominent physician of

Westfield, Mass., and a member of the Massachu-
setts legislature), Elizabeth, Sarah, Susan J., and
Margaret. He was a farmer of Tolland, Conn.,

and a member of the Presbyterian church. He
died there. His wife lived to be ninety years of

age. John S. Abbott, his son, and the father of

our subject, was born April 22, 1786, on the old

homestead at Tolland, Conn., and received a com-
mon-school education. Here he was married,

March 22, 1810, to Eunice Richardson (born at

Tolland, Conn., April 8, 1786), daughter of David
Richardson, who was a soldier in the Revolutionary

war and held the office of captain. He was the

father of six children: Eunice, David, Marion,

Nathaniel, Martin and Alpheus. Captain Richard-

son came to Ohio with his family by wagons drawn
by oxen and settled in Monroe township in 1812.

Here he died in the brick house now owned by the

heirs of Caleb Buker, at the age of eighty years.

He was a pioneer and a man of excellent character

and a patriot. After his marriage, John S. Abbott

resided in Connecticut two years, and in 1812 in

company with Captain Richardson and several

others came to Ohio. Mr. Abbott had an ox team
with a horse as a leader and a huge covered Ox

wagon,and made the long journey quite comfortably,

sleeping in the wagons at night. They took the

Indian trail from Cambridge, and finally settled in

Monroe township, next to a spring on the old Cap-

tain Richardson farm. This land was all a wilder-

ness, and Mr. Abbott built a two-story hewed-log

house and worked at the blacksmith’s trade. He
also had a contract in the building of the National

pike, five miles between Byesville and Cambridge.

During the fulfillment of this contract he was
taken sick with the malarial fever and died after a

short illness. Mr. Abbott was one of the early

justices of the peace of Salem township. He was

a man of good character and a very strong and
powerful man, and once walked (on a wager) from

Salem township to the Holcomb farm and mowed with

an old-fashioned scythe, five acres of heavy grass

and walked home again, a distance of six miles in

one day, when two acres were considered a good

day’s work. He was the father of seven children:

Watson B., Austin L., Orren H.
,
Temperance, Me-

lissa, Sarah E.
,
John S., and David J. After Mr. Ab-

bott’s death, Mrs. Abbott, who had a good education

for those days, taught school for several years in

different parts of the county. She married again,

John Mulvane, of this county, and died at the age

of sixty-eight years, at the residence of her son

John. She was a member of the Methodist church,

and was a woman of great force of character mak-

ing friends wherever she went. She taught the

first school in Adamsville. David J. Abbott, son

of the above mentioned gentleman, was born

August 18, 1826, in Salem township, where, his

father lived for about two years when he first came
to this county. He received but little education
for those days, as he was but an infant of six months
when left an orphan and had but little opportunity.
From the time he was from ten to eleven years of

age, he worked out for farmers, and thus early took
care of himself. He worked in this and Scioto
counties, where he worked for his brother Orren.
He went to Westfield, Mass.

,
where his uncle, Dr.

Jeliiel Abbott lived, and attended two terms at the
Westfield academy. He worked at Agawam Falls
in the cotton mills for two years. While at West-
field he threw his first vote for Zachary Taylor.

When he was twenty-four years of age he returned
to Ohio and worked at farm labor. In 1852, Jan-
uary 1, he married Rachael C. Buker (born Febru-
ary 20, 1831) the daughter of Caleb Buker, who
was a prominent and wealthy citizen of Monroe
township. [See sketch of Decatur Buker.] To
Mr. and Mrs. Abbott were born eight children:

Francis M. (born May 16, 1853), Mary C. (born
September 27, 1855), Eunice C. (born November
27, 1857), Annie E. (born November 27, 1859),
Sarah M. (born November 23, 1863), Orren H.
(born April 3, 1867), John S. (born April 28, 1869),

William B. (born September 8, 1872). After his

marriage Mr. Abbott settled on the old Captain
Richardson farm, and here lived for two years. He
then lived in different places in this township,
finally purchasing ninety acres near the farm of

Decatur Buker, and in 1867 he moved to his

present farm, now owning 360 acres. In politics

he is a stanch republican, has the respect of the

people and has held the office of township trustee.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Abbott are members of the
Protestant Methodist church, and he has held the

offices of trustee and steward. His wife died May
14, 1889. She was a devout Christian and a woman
of fine character and an excellent mother. Of the

children Mary C. married William Dunlap of Can-
dor, Penn., May 16, 1872. They had one child,

Mary C., born December 31, 1872. Mrs. Dunlap
died January 10, 1873. Francis M., who is a farm-

er on the home farm, August 15, 1872, married
Mary J. Yinsel. They have one child, Olive C.,

born September 25, 1874. Annie E., in 1875,
married C. N. Bainter, deputy sheriff of Muskingum
county, and resides at No. 90 North Fifth street,

Zanesville. They have three children: Blanch,
Ernest and Emmitt. Eunice C. married Jeremiah
Bradford, a farmer of Monroe township, and has
one child, Ernest. Sarah M. married Eugene L.

King, a farmer of Monroe township. The three

younger sons are unmarried. Orren H. is a con-

ductor on an electric car at Zanesville; John S. and
William B. are at home.

George E. Adams, mayor, Frazeysburgh Ohio,
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is one of the old soldier citizens whose war record

is quite interesting, for he was incarcerated in

Libby prison in the dark days of the civil strug-

gle. He is now the chief municipal officer of the

town of Frazeysburgh. He was born in Mus-
kingum county, near Dresden, and was the son of

Zachariah Adams and the grandson of Littleton

Adams, who was one of the original settlers of

this county, coming here from Fauquier county,

Va., about 1797 or 1798. The grandfather was a

farmer in comfortable circumstances and came in

a six-horse wagon to this county and brought his

family; consisting of his wife and nine children:

George, Zachariah, John, Benjamin, Samuel, Lit-

tleton, Alfred, Maria and Julia. Maria was
next oldest to George and brought Zachariah, the

father of our subject, in her arms, riding a horse

across the Alleghany mountains. Mr. Adams
settled in Madison township, on government land,

which he cleared up and converted into a line

farm. There he lived many years and died at a

good old age. He was an old line whig and
took an active interest in politics. He was a

well-informed man. The sons were also interested

in politics, and it was said to be both interesting

and instructive to hear them discuss political ques-

tions, two of the sons being strong democrats.

Mr. Adams was a man interested in all improve-

ment and development in those early days.

Zachariah Adams grew to manhood in the wilder-

ness and in some way received a good education

for those early days and taught school when a

young man. He was one of the early justices of

the peace, and was sheriff of Muskingum county
in those early days when it required a brave and
resolute man to fill that position. He was a

prominent military man and a colonel in the old

militia. He was also active in political matters,

was well known throughout the county, and pos-

sessed a great deal of influence in politics. When
about forty years of age his health failed and he
took a six-months’ sea voyage to Cuba. He was
married late in life, at the age of forty, to Miss
Harriet Williams, daughter of Dr. William Will-

iams, of Clermont county, Ohio, who was one of

the leading physicians of early days. Dr. AVill-

iams was born in Pennsylvania about 1791, and
was one of the pioneer physicians of Ohio. He
was the father of Olive, Courtland, Selina, Har-
riet and Martha. His first wife dying, he married
again, and the result was one daughter, Elizabeth.

He died in Clermont county in the eighty-seventh

year of his age. During his career as a physician
he built up a fine practice and was well known as

an able and successful physician. He was well

off, financially, and was a member of the Method-
ist Episcopal church. Mr. and Mrs. Zachariah
Adams were the parents of nine children: Martha,

Anna, William, George E., Euphemia, Virginia,

Howard, Thomas B.
,
and one who died in infancy.

Mr. Adams died at the age of sixty-six. During
the latter part of his life he was greatly afflicted with

heart disease and rheumatism. He was a man of

great intelligence and accumulated an extensive

library. He was a lover of reading and kept him-

self well informed on all matters pertaining to

church and state. In later years his children

found his name a passport wherever lie was known.
In early political opinions he was a whig, later a

stanch republican and abolitionist and a firm sup-

porter of the government. He was one of the pil-

lars of the Methodist Episcopal church, held the

office of steward and trustee and was also class

leader. He contributed liberally of his means to

the support of the same. His wife is still living

and is now seventy-two years old. She is also a

devout member of that' church. Their son, George
E. Adams, was born June 19, 1846, received a

good common-school education, and when but sev-

enteen years of age, or on June 17, 1863, enlisted

in Company H, First Virginia Light artillery.

He was in two battles at New Creek, Va.
,
on No-

vember 28, 1864, the date of the last battle of

New Creek, he was captured together with about
700 men, being surprised by the confederates, who
were dressed as Union soldiers. Mr. Adams was
confined in Libby prison from November, 1 864,

until March 1, 1865. While in prison he was re-

duced in flesh from 165 to 90 pounds and came
out a walking skeleton. The prison then con-

tained about 1,000 prisoners and they were served

very scanty rations, a small piece of corn bread
about an inch and a half square, and a piece of

pork about the same size contributed the morning
meal and nothing more was served until night

when the same rations were repeated, except about
one-half pint of bean soup took the place of the

pork. They slept on the floor of the prison at

night with nothing to cover them but their own
clothing. Mr. Adams considered himself fortunate

in finding a brick which he used as a pillow.

They were also treated with great harsh uess and
many died from starvation and exposure. On be-

ing released Mr. Adams was a year in recovering
*—^ ®

from his prison exposure and has never since been
the same man. The government grants him a

small pension in acknowledgment of his faithful

services. When he was discharged from the
prison, the war was over and his military life was
closed. After regaining his strength in a measure,
he farmed for two years on his father’s old home-
stead and then embarked in the sawmill business.

He was subsequently in the mercantile business a

Simons Creek, Ohio, but soon sold out and bough
a gristmill which he ran for two years. In 1876 he
came to Frazeysburgh and engaged in the grocery
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business for a short time, after which he was in

the lumber business and this he still follows. He
is a man of sound sense and excellent judgment

and has a host of warm friends. He has held the

office of justice of the peace two years, was mayor
of the town for three terms, and other positions,

all of which he filled in a creditable and satis-

factory manner. He is a member of the G. A. R.

,

Griffe post No. 337, and has been senior vice- com-

mander oue year. Like his father before him, Mr.

Adams is a strong republican. He was married,

February 1, 1872, to Miss Minnie A. Thompson,
daughter of James and Sarah Thompson. Mr.

Thompson was a merchant of Noble county, Ohio,

but subsequently moved to the Lone Star state.

He died about 1886. He was of Pennsylvania

German stock. His family consisted of five chil-

dren: Eleanor, Mary, Minnie A., Ernest B. and
Edgar N. To Mr. and Mrs. Adams were born six

children: Nellie W. (died in infancy), Lora E.

(died at the age of five years), Blanch, Herbert,

Wheeler and Seth. Mr. Adams and wife are

members of the Methodist Episcopal church and

he is one of the trustees. He is a man universally

respected and is classed among the best citizens of

the county.

Among the old and prominent settlers of Ohio,

and of English descent, may be mentioned the

Adams family, of which Hon. Thomas Dick Adams,

Dresden, Ohio, is a worthy representative. His

grandfather, Samuel Adams, was a farmer of Fau-

quier county, Ya. ,
a large land owner, and owned

slaves, which he liberated when he moved to Wash-
ington township, Muskingum county, in 1826. He
was then a man of large family, having married a

Miss Smith. They had eight children, Harriett,

Anna, Louisa, Juleana, Josephine, Mary, James T.

and Joseph. Samuel Adams bought 400 acres of

land in the northwest part of the township, and

improved this property until it was the best farm

in the township, setting out a fine orchard, which

is still in a thrifty condition. He lived on this

farm the rest of his life. In religion he was an

Episcopalian, and in politics a democrat. Joseph

Adams, his son, was born in Fauquier county, Va.

,

July 16, 1804, and was about twenty two years of

age when he came to this county with his father.

He received a good education in Virginia, was a

school teacher and civil engineer, and was odo of

the early educators of this county. When young

he traveled for pleasure, visited the famous Mam-
moth Cave of Kentucky, and was present in Phil-

adelphia when La Fayette made his famous visit to

this country, and shook hands with -him. He did

surveying, and then engaged in the mercantile

business in Frazeysburgh, and later in Dresden.

In 1846 he settled on a farm in Perry township,

Licking county, where he resided until 1858, and

then moved on a farm ten miles north of Newark.
Leaving his family on this farm he returned to

Dresden, engaged in the mercantile business, and
was business manager for his uncle, George Adatns,
who owned 14,000 acres of land, and was also

engaged in the milling business. In 1859 he
moved his family to Dresden, and in 1864 engaged
in business for one year, when he sold out. In
1866 he settled on what is now Brice Frazey’s farm,
and later settled in Dresden, where he died March
5, 1885, nearly eighty years of age. He had first

married, at the age of thirty-one, Emma Reasoner,
and to them were born two children, Howard and
Jay. His wife died, and he married Mary E. Le-
mert, widow of Ferdinand Lemert, and formerly
Miss Cass. [See sketch of Dr. E. Cass. ] To this

marriage were born six children: Jonathan, Oscar,

Thomas Dick, Abner L. , Josephine A. and Rebecca
J. In politics Mr. Adams was an old line whig,
and later, a republican, and he and Mrs Adams
were members of the Christian church, of which
he was deacon and trustee for many years. He
was a man of good judgment, and was justice of

the peace for many years, also school director and
treasurer. Thomas Dick Adams, his son, was born
January 10, 1849, in Perry township, Licking
county, Ohio, on a farm. He received a common-
school education, and attended the Dresden high
school, and gained a knowledge of Latin. He
then took a special course preparatory to teaching

at New Concord, Ohio, and began teaching in 1874
in Muskingum township. This he continued for

some time, but his farming operation required his

time, so he relinquished teaching and devoted his

entire attention to this pursuit. In 1869 he super-

intended the construction of the first two sections

of the C. & M. B. R. R. When young he was a

clerk and book-keeper for his brother in Dresden.
On November 16, 1870, he married Susannah Van-
derbark. daughter of Eliphlet and Bethiah H.
(Cole) Yanderbark. Mr. Vanderbark was a de-

scendant of old pioneers of that name, and had
three children: Susannah, Owen D. and Gresham.
He was a substantial farmer, and owned 400 acres

of land in this county. Himself and wife were
members of the Old School Baptist church. He
lived to be sixty- two years of age, and died Jan-

uary 24, 1889. To Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Dick
Adams were born four children; Alta B.

,
Mary

E., Judson J. and Jessie G. Since his marriage
Mr. Adams has resided on his farm near Dresden,

which consists of 200 acres, pleasantly situated.

Socially, Mr. Adams is a Mason. He is a member
of the Christian church, and Mrs. Adams of the

Baptist, and in politics he is a stanch republican,

and has just been elected to the Ohio State legis-

lature by that party. He is vice-president of the

Muskingum Agricultural society, and has been
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connected with it for a period of four years.

When young, Mr. Adams read Jaw, and at one
time had a good practice. He has had an excel-

lent education, and his judgment has been strength-

ened by the study of common law. He is a man
of ability, and well fitted for the part of a legis-

lator, his life of a practical farmer bringing him
nearer the people. His daughter, Alta, is an artist

of ability, and has painted several fine pictures.

Mary E. graduated at the age of fifteen years at

the Dresden high school, and was the youngest
pupil ever graduated from that school, which ranks
as one of the best in the state. She has shown
great talent in music and in crayon drawing, and
is a young lady of fine talents.

William W. Adams, a retired farmer, residing
in Adamsville, Salem township, Muskingum county,
Ohio, was born in Monroe township of this county,

but when about six years of age his parents, George
and Christina (Werts) Adams, moved to Salem
township. The father was a native of Virginia,

born in Loudoun county in 1788, February 12, and
was a son of William Adams, who died in Virginia.

George Adams came to Muskingum county in 1 807,
and at the opening of the War of 1812 went to Vir-

ginia, where he enlisted in the army. After the
war he married and returned to Muskingum coun-
ty, passing the remainder of his days in Monroe
and Salem townships. His wife died in 1873, and
he followed her to the grave two years later. Both
were members of the Lutheran church. Their family
consisted of the following children: Helen, Susan,
William W., George, Elizabeth, Mary, John, Sarah,
and Margaret. The father followed agricultural

pursuits all his life, and became a prosperous man.
In politics he was a democrat. William W. Adams,
subject of this sketch, was born May 11, 1822, and
was reared and educated in Salem township. He
was married in March, 1852, to Miss Louisa Bain
ter, a native of Muskingum county, Ohio, born Oc-
tober 4, 1832, and the daughter of Frederick and
Mariah (Crumbaker) Bainter, both natives of the

Old Dominion. Mr. and Mrs. Bainter settled in

Muskingum county at an early day, and here the

latter received her final summons. The former is

Btill a resident of the county, and is now eighty-

eight years old. Mr. and Mrs. Adams became the
parents of eight children, five of whom are now
living: Allen, George F., Susan M.

,
Helen, and

Ida. Susan is the wife of Robert Scott, Helen is

now Mrs. George W. Williams, and Ida is the wife
of Mrs. Albert Scott. The sons are prosperous
farmers of Muskingum county. The children de-

ceased were Maria C., Homer, and Cora. Mr.
and Mrs. Adams were consistent members of the

Lutheran church, and were well respected in the

community. His first wife died September 7, 1867,
and in March, 1869, Mr. Adams married Mrs.

Sarah A. Carver, a native or Muskingum county,

born May 9, 1827, and the daughter of Millar D.

and Nancy A. Hannen, who were originally from
Bucks county, Penn., but who moved to this county.

The father died here in 1861 and the mother in

1863. They were the parents of one child besides

Mrs. Adams, Mary, now deceased. The father was
a farmer. Mr. Adams has held the office of town-

ship trustee and school director for a number of

years, and is deeply interested in educational and
religious matters. He has succeeded in accumu-
lating considerable property, and is the owner of

three as good farms as are in the township, 600
acres in all. He also owns a fine residence in Ad-
amsville. He takes an interest in political matters,

and votes with the democratic party. Mr. Adams’
children all reside in the county, and he has eleven

grandchildren.

George P. Adams, farmer, Adamsville, Ohio, has

been familiar with farm work from his earliest

youth, and is now ranked among the prosperous

farmers of Muskingum county. He was born in

Salem township, this county, July 4, 1824, and is

a son of George and Christina (Werts) Adams, both

natives of Ohio. (See sketch of W. W. Adams.)

George P. Adams was reared on a farm in Salem
township and received his scholastic advantages in

the schools of the same. When twenty-one years

of age he started out to make his own way in life,

and first settled on a farm in Monroe township,

where he remained for four years. He then sold

out and moved to Salem township, where he has

made his home since. Mr. Adams was married on
November 7, 1850, to Miss Margaret Green, a

native of Muskingum county, born September 16,

1832, and the daughter of Elias and Betty (Conn)

Green. She was the youngest of the following

children: Francis, who was born January 27, 1827,

and who died in Illinois, June 27, 1855; Willard

C., who was born February 8, 1829, and who died

in Illinois, December 25, 1867 ;
and George C.

,
who

was born February 27, 1831, and who died Decem-
ber 25, 1853. Mrs. Adams’ father was born Sep-

tember 9, 1789, and died June 24, 1862, and her

mother was born July 16, 1801, and died May 14,

1877. The parents were married in Muskingum
county in 1826. The father followed farming and
blaclismithing for a livelihood. With the excep-

tion of about four years, Mr. and Mrs. Adams have
lived on their present farm ever since their mar-

riage, and have reared four children: Salina A.,

who was born September 30, 1851, and who died

in Kansas, January 15, 1888 (she was the wife of

Mr. E. Stotts);* Henry A., was born February 22,

1853, married Miss
,
and is now a farmer in

Adams township; Elias E., was born March 4,

1858, and is now farming in Adams township (he

married Miss Anna Metcalf); and Carlton who
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was born September 16, 1861, and is now residing

at home (be married Miss Mary A. Gaumer). Mr.
Adams is enterprising and progressive, and is one
of the county’s best citizens. He takes a deep in-

terest in the progress of the county, and extends a

willing and liberal hand to all enterprises of a

laudable nature. He and Mrs. Adams are mem-
bers of the Lutheran church, and in politics he is

a stanch democrat. He has ten grandchildren

living in Muskingum county and three in the West.

James H. Aikin, the successful editor and
proprietor of the ‘‘Enterprise,” of New Concord,
Ohio, was born in Guernsey county, in 1854, Jan-
uary 20, the son of H. P. and Isabella Sankey
(Reed) Aikin. The father is now a resident of

Monroe township, Muskingum county, and a

farmer. He was born in Columbiana county,

Ohio, July 15, 1820, and was the second of a

family of nine children born to the union of George
and Martha (Patton) Aikin. George Aikin was
born in Pennsylvania of Scotch descent. He mar-
ried, and the family settled in Ohio. He was a

soldier in the War of 1812. To himself and wife

were born nine children: Jane, Hugh P.
,
George

W., John G., James P. , Martha H.
,
Margaret,

Mary A. and William (who died when quite young).

The others are living except Jane. The father set-

tled in Columbiana county, and about 1835 or 1840
moved to Tuscarakvas county. Here he followed

farming the rest of his life, dying about 1860, was
a member of the United Presbyterian church, and in

politics a republican. The mother was also a native

of Pennsylvania, and of Scotch descent. She died

a few years ago at the age of ninety -six years.

Their son, Hugh P. Aikin, and the father of James
H.

,
passed his youth in Columbiana and Tuscara-

was counties, and attended the schools of that

time. He settled in Muskingum county, in Sep-

tember, 1864, having previously settled in Guern
se.y county about 1845, where he had married and
reared a family. Himself and wife were the par-

ents of twelve children: George C.
,
resides in

Franklin county, Kas.
,
a real estate man, married,

and has seven childi’en; Susanna J.
,
now Mrs.

James A. Atchison, of Franklin county, Kas., has

six children; Martha, now Mrs. Samuel R. Guth-
rie, of Highland township, this county, has seven

children; Robert, married and living at Bloomfield,

is the postmaster, and has one child; James H. (our

subject); Mary, now Mrs. William McDonald of

Monroe township, has six children; Anna E.

;

Sarah, now Mrs. Calvin Taylor, of Franklin coun-

ty, Kas., has thi'ee children; Elizabeth M.
,
now

Mrs. John S. Franklin, of Monroe county, Iowa,

has one child; John A. is at home; Emma L. and
Esther R, at home. The first nine children were
born in Guernsey county, and the last three in Mon-
roe township, Muskingum county. These children

are living, and the parents are also the grand-
parents of thirty-four grandchildren. Mr. Aikin
is a member of the Associate church, and has been
an elder in the same. In politics he was formerly
a democrat, but since 1856 has been a republican.

He has always been interested in politics, and has
held offices in his township. Mrs. Aikin was for-

merly Isabella Reed, born in 1825, and the daughter
of Robert and Jane (Sankey) Reed. Robert Reed
was a resident of Jefferson county, Ohio, and later

of Guernsey county, and the Reed family is of

Scotch-Irish descent. To himself and wife were
born six children: James, Robert, Alexander,
Isabella, Jane and Esther. The father died in

1861, and the mother in 1882. The family were
all members of the Associate Presbyterian church.
Mr. Reed was a republican in later years, and in

the War of 1812. James H. Aikin was born in

Guernsey county, Ohio, the fifth of twelve children,

and came to Muskingum county when he was ten

years of age. He attended school in Monroe town-
ship, and later a college in Bloomfield. In 1881
he started in business for himself, and took charge
of the “Enterprise,” one of the leading local

papers of the county. He has since edited this

paper, and made it one of the brightest and most
interesting papers in the county. Mr. Aikin was
united in marriage to Miss Mary J. Dew in 1881.

She was born in Muskingum county, October 25,

1858, and was one of the three children of Thomas
and Jane (Wallace) Dew. Thomas Dew is a resi-

dent of New Concord, and an early settler of this

county, To Mr. and Mrs . Aikin have been born
four children: Wilford M.

,
Mary A., Metelwa B.,

and Alma L. (died at the age of eighteen months).

They are members of the United Presbyterian

church, of which Mr. Aikin is a trustee. Mr.
Aikin has been mayor of the town, held the office

of justice of the peace for two terms, and is now a

member of the city council and the board of edu-

cation. In politics his sympathies are with the

republican party. On all questions of public inter-

est he has decided convictions, and no one need
stand in doubt of his position. Possessed of an

intensity of nature in every position in which he
is placed he takes an active interest in carrying

out what he conceives to be the obligations im-

posed upon him, and while he aims to be hon-

est with his fellows and true to himself and his

convictions, he aims to manifest a kindly spirit

of charity to all.

Hugh P. Akin, Sago, P. O. Muskingum county,

Ohio, is one of the substantial farmers of Monroe
township. His father, George Akin, came from

Ireland, was a Protestant Irishman, and but a boy
when brought here by his father, who was a pio-

neer settler of Columbiana county, Ohio, coming
between 1807 and 1812, and first settling in Wash-
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ington county, Penn., where he resided some years.

He cleared up a farm in the wilderness of Ohio
and brought his wife and children—William, John,

George and Margaret. He died about 1825 or

1826. George Akin was reared on his father’s

farm in Pennsylvania, and was a young man when
he came to Columbiana couuty, Ohio. He was a

soldier in the War of 1812, and served with Com-
modore Perry on Lake Erie. He married Martha
Patton, daughter of Hugh Patton, a pioneer set

tier of Jefferson county, Ohio, from Pennsylvania,

and of Irish descent, his father coming from Ire-

land. To Mr. and Mrs. Akin were born ten chil-

dren: Jane, Hugh P.
,
John, William, George W.,

Eliza H.
,
Mary A., Martha, James and Margaret.

Mr. Akin settled in Jefferson couuty after mar
riage, and lived for about seven or eight years

there, when he moved to Columbiana county and
resided for eight years, then moving to Tuscara-

was county, where he remained the rest of his life.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Akin were members of the

Associate Presbyterian church. He lived to the

ripe old age of eighty-one years, and died on his

farm in Tuscarawas county, Ohio. Hugh P. Akin,

their son, was born on his father’s farm in Jeffer-

son county, Ohio, and received a common-
school education. November 4, 1845, at the age
of twenty-five, he married Isabel S. Reed, daugh-
ter of Robert and Jane (Sankey) Reed. Robert
Reed was from Lancaster cCmnty, Penn., and an
old pioneer of Jefferson county, Ohio, but moved
to Guernsey county, where he lived the remainder
of his life. Both Mr. and Mrs. Reed were mem-
bers of the Associate Presbyterian church, and Mr.
Reed was a ruling elder for many years, and also

associate judge of the court in Guernsey county
under the old constitution. He was married
twice. His first wife died, leaving one child, Mary
C. He then married Jane Sankey, and by her be-

came the father of seven children: Jeannette,

Susannah, Isabel, Hester, James, Robert, Alex-
ander. Robert Reed lived to the age of sixty- two
years, and died in Guernsey county, Ohio. After
his marriage Mr. Akin settled in Guernsey couuty,
Ohio, where he lived for eighteen years. In 1864
he came to Muskingum county and bought a farm
of 152 acres, where he has since lived. Both
Mr. and Mrs. Akin are members of the Associate
Presbyterian church, and Mr. Akin has been ruling
elder for many years. To them have been born
twelve children: George C., Susan J., Martha H.,

Robert M.
,
James H. , Mary I., Anna E., Sarah M.,

Lizzie N.
,
John A., Emma L. and Ruth E., all of

whom are living. Robert received a business edu
cation at the Commercial college at Zanesville.

James attended the college at Bloomfield, Ohio,
and is now editor of the New Concord “ Enter-
prise.” In politics Mr. Akin is a republican. He

enjoys the respect of his fellow-citizens, and has

held the office of township trustee. He has the

reputation of being one of the best citizens, is a

moral, upright man, and is now seventy-two years

of age and has all his life been an aid to the

moral and religious welfare of the community in

which he lives. Mr. and Mrs. Akin are the grand-

parents of thirty-five grandchildren, and two
great-grandchildren: Susan J. ,

married James
Atchison, a farmer of Franklin county, Kas., and

has six children; Martha H.
,
married Samuel

Guthrie, of Bloomfield, and has seven children;

George C.
,

married Detta Jenkins (he is a

farmer of Richmond, Franklin county, Kas.) and
has seven children; Mary I., married William Mc-
Donald, a farmer of Monroe township, and has

seven children; Robert M.
,
married Mary McMil-

len (he is a farmer and postmaster at Sago) and
has one child; James H.

,
married Mary Dew (he

is the editor of the “Enterprise,” of New Con-
cord, Ohio), and has three children; Sarah M.

,

married Calvin Taylor a farmer of Franklin

county, Kas., and has three children; Lizzie N.,

married John Franklin, a farmer of Monroe
county, Iowa, and has one child; the rest of the

children are at home. The Akin family descended
from good old pioneer stock. The eldest brother

of Mrs. Akin, James Reed, was in the Ninety
seventh regiment, Ohio Volunteer infantry, and
served in our great Civil war until killed at the

battle of Mission Ridge.

Among the well-established and well-known
exponents of the jewelry trade in New Concord,
Ohio, will be found William Alexander, who is

respected alike in social as in commercial circles.

Like many of the prominent citizens of the county
he hails from Pennsylvania, his birth occurred in

Washington county of that state in 1838, and was
the oldest of five children born to Matthew R. and
Martha (Sawhill) Alexander. His grandfather,

William Alexander, was a native of County
Downes, Ireland. Matthew R. Alexander was also

a native of Washington couuty, Penn., born in

1816, and was reared to agricultural pursuits which
occupation he followed for some time. However,
after coming to Muskingum county, he was engaged
in carpentering and the mill business. He was
married in his native county and after coming west,

in 1842, he settled ip New Concord where, with the

exception of live years spent in Cambridge, he
passed the remainder of his days. He was formerly

a Democrat, later a Whig, and during the latter

part of his life was a strong Republican. He died

on his farm about three miles from New Concord
in 1889. He was a successful business man and
left a fine farm in Guernsey county. In religion

he was formerly a seceder but subsequently became
a member of the U. P. church. His wife, the mother
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of our subject, died in New Concord in 1856, when
forty years of age. They were the parents of five

children: William, Neely, Joseph, David C. and
Matthew S. All of these sons served in the Civil

war—William in Company A, of the Fifteenth Ohio
Volunteer infantry, Neely and Joseph in Company
A, Forty-sixth Ohio infantry, and David and
Matthew 'in the Eighty-eighth Ohio infantry.

Neely saw much hard service, and was killed at the

battle of Shiloh on April 6, 1862. He was born in

Washington county, Penn. Joseph Alexander was
wounded in the same battle, but recovered and was
promoted to the position of first sergeant. He died
in front of Vicksburg in June, 1863, of typhoid-

pneumonia. Both were single men. David and
Matthew enlisted in 1863. Matthew first entered
the army and went into battle before enlisting but
after coming home, in 1863, he enlisted. He was
with the Sixty-second regiment for about eight

months in 1S62, and participated in the battle of

Antietam. After the death of his first wife, who
was a worthy member of the U. P. church, Mr.
Alexander married Miss Mary A. Scott, and they
reared a family of nine children: John H. (de-

ceased), James B. (see sketch), Samuel M.
,
Mattie

E., Andrew H. , Charles S., Margaret J., Mary B.

and Ida M. William Alexander passed his boy-

hood days in the village of New Concord, and when
twenty-two years of age enlisted in Company A,

Fifteenth Ohio Volunteer infantry as a private. He
participated in the battle of Shiloh, Stone River,

Liberty Gap, Chickamauga, Missionary Ridge and
on the Atlanta campaign, Rocky Face Ridge and
Resaca. He was wounded twice at Pine Knob,
Ga.

,
on June 14, 1864, once in the arm and again

in the side. He was confined to the Cumberland
hospital at Nashville, Tenn. He then came home
July 18, on a thirty days’ furlough, and at the end
of that time he joined his regiment at Lovejoy sta-

tion, south of Atlanta, about September 16. After

this lie was in the battles of Franklin, and Nashville

which were the last engagements in which he partic-

ipated. At the battle of Nashville, on December
4, 1864, he was mounted orderly and was knocked
senseless and his horse killed under him by an ex-

ploding shell. He was discharged at San Antonio,

Tex., ami remained in that state and in Louisiana

for about four years afterward. About August,

1869, he returned to New Concord and here has

made his home ever since. Owing to his wounds
and hard service he has not been a strong man
since the war. He has followed his trade, that of

jeweler and watchmaker, for many years, and has

excellent judgment concerning everything relating

to the trade in which he is engaged. Mr. Alexander
was married first in April 1873 to Miss Mary F.

Ambler, a native of Guernsey county, Ohio, and
the daughter of John Ambler. One child, Rolfe,

was born to this union, but he died in infancy.

Mrs. Alexander passed away in 1874. In May,
1875, Mr. Alexander married Miss N. M. Milone,

daughter of Barney and Malinda Milone, of Guern-
sey county, Ohio, of which the daughter was also a

native. To the second union has been born one
son, W. Ray. Mr. and Mrs. Alexander are mem-
bers of the M. E. church, in which he is one of the

official board, and they are classed among the rep-

resentative citizens of the county. He is deeply

interested in all enterprises of a laudable nature

and is a liberal supporter of educational and relig-

ious undertakings. In politics he supports the

principles of the republican party and held the

position of mayor of the town for some time. He
lias been a member of the school board. Socially

he is a Master Mason, a member of Cambridge
Lodge No. 66, and he is also a member of Harrison

post No. 468, of New Concordia.

Muskingum county boasts no resident more
worthy of mention than James B. Alexander, who
is a prominent blacksmith and a much esteemed

citizen of New Concord. He was born in that

town on July 21, 1859, and is a son of Matthew
R. and Mary A. (Scott) Alexander, being one of

nine children, all living but one, born to his father’s

second union. These, children were named as fol-

lows: John (died in 1861, when three years of age),

James (subject), Samuel M. ,
Andrew H.

,
Mattie

E., Charles S., Mary B., Ida M. and Margaret J.

The father, who was a devout member of the

United Presbyterian church, died in 1889, but the

mother, who also holds membership in that church,

is residing in Guernsey county at the present time.

[For further particulars of parents see sketch of

William Alexander.
]

Until ten years of age James
B. Alexander resided in the town of New Concord,

and after that, until he was seventeen years of age,

he was in the country. At that age he went to

Antrim, where he learned the trade he is now fol-

lowing, and in 1879 he came to New Concord, where
he has been engaged in business ever since. He is

wide awake and enterprising, and is one of the town’s

most thoroughgoing business men. He was married

in 1881 to Miss Ella M. Smith, a native of Muskin-

gum county, born on June 25, 1859, and the sec-

ond of nine children, all now living, born to John
and Susan (Zellers) Smith, the father a native of

Muskingum county, born about two and a half

miles from New Concord, and the mother a native

of Maryland. The grandfather, William Smith,

was one of the oldest pioneers of the county. The
above-mentioned children were named as follows:

Adrien J.
,
Ella M., William O.

,
Hiram H., James

M., John B., Spencer W., Maud M. and Warren.

Mr. Smith died in 1890. He was associated with

the United Presbyterian church. To Mr. and

Mrs. Alexander have been born two children, both
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sons—Matthew R.
,
whose birth occurred on June

15, 1882, and J. O., born December 31, 1889. Mr.
and Mrs. Alexander are members of the United
Presbyterian church, and he is a trustee in the

same. He is a member of the public school board,

and a young man who is interested in all worthy
public enterprises. He is active in politics and is

a strong supporter of republican principles. He
has been mayor of the town, and has been a mem-
ber of the city council two terms. As a business

man he takes the lead in his line in the neighbor-

hood.

Edgar \V. Allen needs no special introduction

to the people of Muskingum county, Ohio, for he
was bora in the city of Zanesville on June 9, 1841,

and siuce about 1860 he has been a member of the

bar of this county. His father, Leander Allen,

was born at Martha’s Vineyard in 1804, and died

in Zanesville in 1882. He was for some twelve

years an ocean sailor, and a portion of that time

was master of a vessel. The Allen family came to

Muskingum county, Ohio, in 1815, being among
its pioneer settlers, and here they at once identi-

fied themselves with its interests. The wife of Le-
ander Allen, Mary A. Barton, was born in Wayne
township, this county, in February, 1818, and
here still resides. Edgar W. Allen was educated
in the schools of Zanesville, and in 1862 entered

upon the study of law, soon after which he was
admitted to the bar, and at once began practicing

in his birthplace. This calling has occupied his

time and attention ever since, except from 1870 to

1874, during which time he was clerk of the courts

of Muskingum county. He is a republican, the

measures of which party he supports on all occa-

sions. December 18, 1873, Miss Jane W. Demp-
sey, of Lawrence county, Ohio, became his wife,

and by her he has two children: Stella E. and Ed-
gar D. He was made a mason of Lafayette lodge
in 1862, and is now a member of Cyrene Com-
mandery No. 10, of which he is prelate, and is a

member of Muskingum Lodge No. 28 of the I. O.

O. F. He and his worthy wife are members in

good standing of the Methodist Episcopal church.

George A. Allen, Zanesville, Ohio. In the

year 1815 James Allen Sr., with his wife Lois
Allen and their child, James Allen Jr., emigrated
from Cbilmark, Martha’s Vineyard, Mass., and
located in Zanesville, Ohio, where he kept tavern

until 1819. He then removed with his family to

Wayne township, located on a farm near Fairview,
and there carried on farming and blacksmithing.
This he followed until a short time prior to his

death, which occurred in 1848, in a peculiar man-
ner. He was engaged in husking corn, and when
apparently as well as ever, he was suddenly
stricken with blindness and wandered about in the

cold until discovered by neighbors during the

night. In the meantime he had become so chilled

that he never recovered but died soon after. He
was bom at Martha’s Vineyard, Mass., in 1762,

was a well-known man of his day, and one of the

early blacksmiths of Wayne township. His worthy
wife had died a number of years previous, at the

age of seventy-five years. They were among the

very early pioneers of Wayne township. Their

only child, James Allen Jr., was born at Martha’s

Vineyard, in 1782, grew to maturity there and
married Miss Cynthia Cottle, a native of the same
place. He went with his wife and four children

to Ohio in 1815 with James Allen Sr., and with the

latter settled in Wayne township, where he resided

on a farm until his death in 1847. His wife sur-

vived him until 1861, and died when seventy-eight

years of age. He developed the coal deposits on
his farm and in an early day supplied the Third
Street foundry of Zanesville with coal. Of the

children bora to James and Cynthia (Cottle) Allen,

four sons and one daughter grew to mature years:

Leander (deceased); Adolphus, served in the reg-

ular army of the United States, and died from
cholera at Wheeling, W. Va.

;
John C., for many

years a leading business man of South Toledo,

Ohio, still resides in that city and is now about

eighty-two years of age; Lois, married Jonathan
Smith, of Muskingum county, and died in Blue
Rock township, this county, about 1889, leaving

four sons and two daughters; James B., who
moved to Decatur, 111., in 1859, enlisted in the

service of the United States, Illinois Volunteer In-

fantry in 1861, was wounded in the battle of Pitts-

burg Lauding and bled to death; Leander, the

eldest of this family, was born at Martha’s Vine-

yard, Mass., August 4, 1804, and at the age of

eleven years came with his parents to Zanesville.

He had a great desire to become a sailor, and when
sixteen years of age ran away from his home and
walked the entire distance to Philadelphia. He
traveled to New Bedford, Conn., and there engaged
as a sailor on a whaling vessel and put to sea on a

thi’ee-year cruise in the Pacific ocean. The follow-

ing twelve years of his life were spent upon the high

seas, becoming during that time master of the

ship and visiting various portions of the world.

At one time he was severely wounded and left for

dead upon one of the New Zealand islands. He
was found by the savages, who, instead of practic-

ing their canibalistic rites common to the inhabit-

ants of those islands, employed crude science and
nursed him back to health. Some months later

his vessel again visited the island to obtain a sup-

ply of fresh water, and he supprised his old com-
panions by appearing before them fully recovered,

and again shipped with them. In 1832 he

abandoned the sea and returned to Zanesville,

where he became a painter and an early business
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advertisement of that city was “Allen the Painter.
”

He died in Zanesville, April 15, 1882. February 1,

1835, he married Miss Mary A. Barton, who bore
him six living children: Frances (now Mrs.
William M. Lewis, of Zanesville), John H., Susan
M.

,
Edgar W., and George A. Mary A. Barton

was born in Wayne township, Muskingum county,

Ohio, February 15, 1818, and now resides in

Zanesville. She is the daughter of Benjamin and
Sally Barton, both natives of Virginia, who came
to Muskingum about the beginning of the present
century, and settled in Wayne township. George
A. Allen, whose name heads this sketch is secretary

of the Zanesville Gas Light Company, and one of

the prominent business men of Zanesville. He was
born in Zanesville, July 12, 1851, and is a son of

Leancler and Mary (Barton) Allen. He received

his education in the high schools of the city, grad-
uating in 18G8. He attended Zanesville Com
mercial college, and after spending one year as

traveling salesman, was appointed deputy county
clerk of courts, which position he held for three

years. The next seven years were spent as clerk,

book-keeper and traveling salesman, respectively,

for a wholesale hat house. He also served four
years as deputy county treasurer, and after some
time spent in business in Cincinnati, accepted his

present position as secretary of the Zanesville Gas
Light company. In 1879 he married Miss Char-
lotte L. Hack, of Coshocton, Ohio, and to them has
been born one child, Charles M. Socially Mr. Allen
is a member of the I. O. O. F. and the Mystic Circle.

George W. Allen, farmer, Norwich, has been a

resident of Muskingum county, Ohio, all his life,

his birth having occurred in that county on March
4, 1821, and his example of industry and earnest

and sincere endeavor to succeed in life is well

worthy of imitation. He was the elder of two
children born to the marriage of Andrew and Mary
(Self) Allen, natives of the Old Dominion. The
father came to Muskingum county, Ohio, about
1816, settled on the farm now owned by Mr. Allen,

and there died in 1833. This farm was entered
by John Self, of Frederick county, Va. Mrs.
Allen, mother of subject, died in this county when
in her ninety-fourth year. Their other child,

William S., went to California, and while there

had considerable trouble with his lungs. He re-

turned to the East in 1855, and two years later

died in Union township. The father was a good
farmer and a prominent man in the county in his

day. George W. Allen remained in Union town-
ship until he became a young man and then en-

gaged in stage driving on the pike from Zanes-
ville to Wheeling, W. Va., following this business

for seven years. After leaving the pike he mar-
ried, and then, as his brother had gone to Cali-

fornia, he took charge of the farm. He selected

Miss Lucy E. Black, a native of Guernsey county,

and daughter of Ralph Black, as his companion
in life, and their nuptials were celebrated in

1851. This union resulted in the birth of ten

children: Mary, now Mrs. Galligher of Newark,
Ohio; John M.

,
who is a resident of Cambridge,

Ohio; Alonzo and Melissa (twins), the former re-

siding on a farm, and the latter, now Mrs. Edwin
Taylor, lives in Perry township; Elizabeth, now
Mrs. M. Winters, is a resident of Perry township
also; Emma, died when twenty-one years of age;

Ella, now Mrs. Arthur Taylor, is a resident of

Union township; William, died when twenty-four

years of age; George W., is a farmer of this

township, and Charles is at home, attending

school. Mr. Allen’s wife is a member of the

Baptist church. He is considerably interested in

political affairs and supports the principals of the

democratic party. In 1875 Mr. Allen was elected

county treasurer, and so well did he fill this re-

sponsible position, and so ably did he discharge

its duties, that he was re-elected in 1877, holding

the position until 1880. He has held all the

township offices, viz. : assessor, trustee, treasurer,

etc. , and filled them with distinction and to the

satisfaction of all concerned, leaving behind him a

record of faithfulness, ability and carefully per-

formed duty. He is public spirited and uses all

his interests to support the cause of religion and
education, as well as all other laudable enterprises.

He is a master Mason and was master of Malta lodge

No. 118, of Norwich, for fifteen consecutive years.

He has held membership in that order for forty-

two or forty-three years. Mr. Allen has followed

the occupation of a farmer and has been unusually

successful. He first began with eighty-four acres,

but by industry and good management he has in-

creased this to 215 acres, and now has a good
property.

Prominent among the well-known and represent-

ative citizens of Muskingum county, Ohio, there is

probably no one more deserving of mention than

James H. Alloways, mayor, Dresden, Ohio, for his

residence within its borders has extended through-

out his entire life, his birth having occurred in

Dresden on June 21. 1846. He is a son of John
W. and Lucy (McConnell) Alloways, the grandson

of Asariah Alloways, and the great-grandson of

Stephen Alloways, who was a native of Scotland.

Asariah Alloways was born in Pennsylvania, and
when fifty years of age, died of cholera in York
county, of that state. He was a gunsmith by trade,

and his grandson, James H. Alloway, has a rifle that

he made, which is now over one hundred years old.

John \V. Alloways was born in York county, Penn.,

May 8, 1820, and in 1833 he came to Muskingum
county where he has since resided. In 1852 he

began merchandising in Dresden, and has followed
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this occupation very successfully ever since. His
wife died in 1866. James H. Alloways re-

ceived his scholastic advantages in the schools of

Dresden, and at an early age began clerking for

his father. When twenty-one years of age he be-

came a partner. In the spring of 1890 he was
elected mayor of Dresden, and in the discharge of

his official duties he shows excellent judgment
and an unusual degree of interest in the welfare

of the town. He was married in Knox county,

Ohio, May 2, 1872, to Miss Joanna Allen,and their

union has been blessed by the birth of live inter-

esting children: John W., Nannie J., Hattie B.,

Mary L., and James R. Mr. Alloways is a mem-
ber of the Masonic Fraternity, Dresden Lodge No.
103. and his father is a charter member of Wata-
tomaka Lodge No. 186, I. O. O. F. Both are dem-
ocrats.

Albion J. Andrews, a prominent member of the

legal fraternity of Zanesville, was born in Musking-
um county, Ohio, August 12, 1842, to the union
of William A. and Patia J. (Littlefield) Andrews,
both natives of Maine, the father born in Kenne-
bec county, November 16, 1814, and the mother
in Bath, in 1816. The parents were married in

1837, and the same year moved to Knox county,
Ohio, where they remained for about three years.

From there they moved to Jackson township,
Muskingum county, and there the father’s death
occurred August 30, 1864. He followed agricult-

ural pursuits all his life, and was a man possessed
of more than ordinary intelligence. His neigh-
bors and friends found in him an able and judi-

cious counselor, a safe and true friend, and a man
whose honesty and integrity were unquestioned.
He gave freely of his means to churches, charit-

able institutions, etc., and was foremost in any
good work. He was an uncompromising democrat
in politics, and was able, when necessary, to de-

fend his side of the question with intelligent argu-
ment. He was one of four men in his county who
voted for John C. Breckinridge in 1860. He
served as justice of the peace for a number of

years and was always active in local politics. His
wife died July 26, 1884, at the home of our sub-

ject in Zanesville. The latter was the third in

order of birth of six children who are named as

follows: Augusta P., the wife of John Simpson,
resides near Newark, Ohio; Clara, died in infancy;
Ellen, the fourth child, is the wife of Matthew Ash-
more and resides in Springfield township, Mus
kiugum, county, Ohio; George, died in 1S64, and
Charles, the sixth child, died in infancy. Albion
J. Andrews divided his time in youth in assisting

on the farm during the summer months, and at-

tending school during the winter season. When
seventeen years of age he began attending the
high school at Zanesville, where he finished bis

schooling, and then returned to the farm, remain-

ing on the same until 1863.. He then entered the

law office of Hon. A. P. Blocksom, at Zanesville,

and remained with him until August 30, 1864,

when, on account of the death of his father, he
was compelled to leave his law studies and return

to the farm to take care of his mother and sisters.

He remained at home until 1867, teaching school

during the winter and farming during the sum-
mer, also reading law when the opportunity pre-

sented itself, until the spring of the last named
year, when he entered the office of his former
preceptor. In the fall of the same year he was
admitted to the bar and at once formed a part-

nership with his preceptor. They had a thriving

business which continued until 1872, when Mr.
Blocksom’s son was admitted to the bar and he
formed a partnership with his father. Mr.
Andrews then opened an office and devoted his

entire time to his profession, meeting with excel-

lent success. In April, 1868, he was elected city

solicitor and re-elected twice afterward, and in

October, 1873, he was elected prosecuting attorney

of the county for four years being re-elected in

1875. He represented the Eighth ward in the

city council for eight years, and represented the

Tenth ward on the board of education for two
years. He is at present a member of the city

board of school examiners. On July 6, 1871, he
was married to Miss Annie E. Slack, a native of

Muskingum county, Ohio, and the daughter of

Henry P. Slack, who is a respected and esteemed
citizen of Zanesville. Seven children have been
born to Mr. and Mrs. Andrews: Albion J. Jr.,

is now in his senior year in the Ohio Wesleyan
university (he expects to make law his pro-

fession and reads with his father during vacation),

Annie E.
,
Charles A., Helen L. and three who died

in infancy. Mr. Andrews is a member of the A.

F. & A. M.
,
Amity lodge No. 5, and is also a

member of the Royal Arcanum. Politically he
follows his father, and has a strong liking for the

democratic party. He has been an active and in-

fluential member of the Methodist Episcopal

church ever since 1864.

W illiam Armstrong, who is one of the oldest

pioneers of Salem township, has been a successful

farmer for many years, and in his case that oft

much-abused phrase, “self made man,” seems to

have a true illustration, for his rise in life has

been accomplished through his individual efforts

and by a constant and persistent industry. He
was born in Ireland in November, 1806, being one
of five children born to Alexander and Mary
(Foster) Armstrong, and in 1808 he was brought
by them to America, and when but two years old

settled with them in this county. Although the

father followed the occupation of farming he was
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also a contractor on the National pike through
the country, his sons also working on the same.
After this contract *vas completed they settled

down to farming and made for themselves homes in

Muskingum county. Alexander Armstrong and
his wife died in this county, of. which they had
become useful and influential citizens. Their
children were named as follows: Elizabeth (Mrs.

McCurdy), died November 20, 1891; John, who
has been dead a number of years; William, whose
name heads this sketch; James, who died in 1846,
and Alexander, who resides in Perry township
and has attained the advanced age of eighty -two
years. William Armstrong was reared in this

county, and as he grew up he became familiar
with farming in all its details and when starting
out in life for himself it was but natural that he
should choose agriculture as his future calling.

He was married in 1832 to Miss Isabel Moore, a

daughter of Thomas Moore, who was an early set-

tler of Perry township, this county. Mr. Arm-
strong was called upon to mourn the death of his

wife, March 11, 1872, she having borne him a

daughter, Catherine, who was born March 5, 1833.

For his second wife Mr. Armstrong took Rachel
Osier, of Highland township, but she was called

from him by death in 1891. After his marriage
he began tilling the farm of 160 acres, which
was given him by his father, and by his good
management he has become a large landholder
and a wealthy citizen. He is very practical in his

views and is well known throughout the county as

a man of sound good sense and one who is not

in the least niggardly in the use of his means.
He is a member of the Methodist Episcopal
church, and in his political views was formerly a

whig, but is now a republican and is deeply in-

terested in municipal affairs. He is a charter

member of the A. F. & A. M. lodge of Adams-
ville, in which order he has taken much interest.

In 1864 he enlisted in the Union army for the

100 days’ service, at which time he was fifty-six

years of age, and served his full time, being on
garrison duty the most of this time. In his

youth he learned the trade of a carpenter, and
it has been his chief pleasure of late years to

improve his place and to make many articles of

convenience for his home. He is an interesting

conversationalist, and it is a pleasure as well as a

profit to those who listen to his reminiscences of

early days.

Alexander Armstrong, an old settler of Perry
township, Muskingum county, Ohio, and a man
much respected for his many excellent qualities,

was born in Perry township, within two and a half

miles of where he now lives, November 10, 1810.

His father, Alexander Armstrong Sr.
,
was a native of

County Armock, Ireland, but his people were of

English descent. Alexander. Sr., was married in

his native country, and immigrated with his fam-
ily to America in 1808, locating near Pittsburg,

Penn.
,
where he remained about two years. He

then came to Muskingum ' county, Ohio, located on
160 acres of land, purchased from the government,
in Perry township, and paid $2. 50 per acre. This
same piece of land is yet in the family, and is one
of the finest tracts in Muskingum county. Mr.
Armstrong is a member of the Methodist Episco-
pal church, and was a very liberal supporter of

the early churches in Muskingum county. In poli-

tics he was a whig, but lived to vote a few times in

the infancy of the republican party. He was a

prominent man, and held many of the different

offices in his township. The father died when
eighty-six years of age, and the mother passed
away three months later, when eighty-four years of

age. They passed a long life of usefulness, and
died honored and respected by all. Their son,

Alexander Armstrong Jr., received his education
in the subscription schools of the day, and as

might be supposed his scholastic advantages were
not of the best. He worked hard in assisting in

clearing the farm in his youth, and always found
that he could do as much hard work as any man
he ever met. He was first married on May 6,

1852, to Miss Rebecca Hardesty, of Union town-
ship, but on July 4, 1881, this estimable lady

passed away. Mr. Armstrong is a member of the

Masonic order, Malta lodge 118, situated at Nor-
wich. He is a worthy supporter of all laudable

enterprises, and contributes liberally to churches,

schools, etc. After the death of his first wife he
married Mrs. Margaret A. Slack, of Washington
township. Although a republican in politics, Mr.
Armstrong has several times been called upon to

hold the office of trustee, showing the high regard
in which he is held by his neighbors, for the town-

ship is strongly democratic. He is the owner of

180 acres of land, all finely improved, and is one
of the substantial men of the county.

Michael Arnold, Adamsville, Ohio, represents

one of the old colonial families of German descent

in Muskingum county. His grandfather came from
Germany and took part in the Revolutionary war.

He married in America, and was the father of four

children: Adam, Michael, Jacob and Elizabeth.

Mr. Arnold settled in Loudoun county, Ya.
,
where

he owns a piece of land. He worked at the trade

of a weaver, and was a member of the Lutheran
church. He lived to the age of eighty years, dying

in Loudoun county. He was a lover of freedom,

and his descendants may well take an honest pride

in their original American ancestor who fought in

the war for independence. Adam Arnold, his son

and the father of Michael, was bcrn in Loudoun
county, Ya. He received a common- school educa-
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tion in the German language, could read English,

and learned when young the trade of a stonemason,

at which he worked until married. He married

Mary Bojar, daughter of Michael Bojar, a farmer

in Loudoun county, Ya.
,
and the father of the fol-

lowing children: Philip, Jacob, Samuel, John,

Michael, Mary, Madelina, and Elizabeth, who died

unmarried. Mr. Bojar came from Germany after

the Revolutionary war. He was a Lutheran, and
he and grandfather Arnold assisted in founding

and building the Lutheran church near Lovetts-

ville, Loudoun county, Va. After his marriage

Adam Arnold settled on a farm in Loudoun county,

and was the father of six children: Elizabeth,

Mary, Sarah, Rebecca, Michael and Adam, all born

in Loudoun county, Ya., on the farm. Both he

and his wife are members of the Lutheran church.

His wife died in 1820, and Mr. Arnold lived for

many years a widower. In 1854 he came to Ohio
with his son Michael and died here at the age of

eighty-two years. He was a hard-working and in-

dustrious man, a devout Christian and respected by

all. Michael Arnold, his son, was born 'April 29,

1818, on his father’s farm, and had the good fort-

une to be bred a farmer. He received a limited

common-school education in English, and from his

mother learned to speak German. He remained
in Loudoun county, working on the farm until he
was thirty-three years of age, when he married,

March 4, 1852, Elizabeth C. Souder, of Loudoun
county, Va.

,
born April 9, 1826, and the daughter

of Michael and Susan (Slater) Souder. Mrs. Sou-

der was an aunt of George W. Slater (see sketch).

Michael Souder was of German descent, born in

Loudoun county, Va.
;
was a substantial farmer and

the father of six children: Philip, Elizabeth, Em-
ma, Susan, Eliza and John. He and his wife are

members of the Lutheran church, and he died on
his farm at the age of forty years. After his mar-
riage Michael Arnold bought a small farm, where
he resided two years, and in the fall of 1854 came
to Ohio and settled in Madison township, near
Guilbert station, where he lived nine years. About
1863 he came to his present farm, consisting of

135 acres of good land. To himself and wife have
been born eight children: William M. (born March
2, 1853, and married Alice King (they have four

children, and he is a farmer of this township.
(See sketch of King family), Susan V. (deceased,

born January 19, 1855), Edwin F. (born Septem-
ber 11, 1857, deceased in his sixth year), Emma
(born July 8, 1859, died an infant), Annie (born

February 25, 1862, died an infant), Ella J. (born
January 17, 1864, and married Thomas Keys, a

blacksmith of Adamsville; they have three chil-

dren), Charles A. (born December 12, 1866, an able

school teacher of Madison township), John Philip

(born October 1, 1868). Mr. and Mrs. Arnold are

members of the Methodist Episcopal church of

Adamsville. and he has held the office of steward
and is now church trustee. In politics he was for-

merly an old line whig, and later a democrat and
now a prohibitionist. Mr. Arnold has always been
in favor of good schools and has been a member of

the board of education in his district. He has
given his children good common-school educations.

He is a public-spirited man and in favor of all

enterprises for the good of the county. His life

has been a natural result of an honest purpose and
high moral standard well lived up to, and of which
his descendants may well be proud.

Arnold & Bateman, embalmers and funeral di-

rectors, Zanesville, Ohio. The custom of embalm-
ing the dead, which dates back many thousand
years, has been practiced in all ages, and by all

nations, by a great variety of processes. In ancient

times it was regarded as a wonderful art, and its

secrets were jealously guarded by those who prac-

ticed it, and the expense attending the embalming
process was so great that only the wealthy were
able to avail themselves of it, for the preservation

of departed friends. Modern science has, however,
discovered systems which are in every respect su-

perior to those practiced by the ancients, and by
means of which the expense of embalming is brought
within the means of all. One of the most satis-

factory, if not the only true system, is that em-
ployed by Messrs. Arnold & Bateman, whose estab-

lishment is located at Nos. 13 and 15 South Fifth

street, in Zanesville. This firm was established in

November, 1881, and is composed of Messrs. Arnold
and Bateman, gentlemen who bring into requisi-

tion the highest accomplishments and a thorough
conception of the duties and responsibilities asso-

ciated with the business in which they are engaged;
the facilities which they enjoy for filling engage-
ments in all departments of the business, assures

the highest efficiency. They keep constantly on
hand wood and cloth-covered coffins and caskets,

burial cases, and everything in the way of under-

takers’ supplies. They have fine hearses and first-

class coaches for funeral occasions. They will at-

tend funerals in city or country on reasonable terms.

They will take the entire control of funeral obse-

quies, embalming and encasing bodies for shipment
to distant points, or for their preservation. John
K. Arnold, senior member of the firm, was born in

Bellefontaine, Logan county, Ohio, February 9,

1845. When a young man he learned the jewelry

and watchmaking trade and worked at it up to

1880, when, in company with W. M. Bateman, he
purchased E. N. Hatcher’s undertaking establish-

ment and since then has given his time and atten-

tion to this business. He came to Zanesville in

1866 and worked in the jewelry store of Janes &
Mershon up to 1S80. He was married November
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24. 1884, to Miss Emma Ebert, a native of Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, and daughter of Elisha

Ebert who resides in Zanesville and is seventy-nine

years of age. One child, Edwin, was born to Mr.
and Mrs. Arnold. Mr. Arnold is a member of the

Mechanic lodge No. 130, I. O. O. F. In politics

he is a republican. He and Mrs. Arnold hold mem-
bership in the Presbyterian church. An honorable
business man, he has secured a liberal and influen-’

tial patronage by honestly deserving it.

W. M. Bateman, junior member of the firm, is

a native of Washington township, Muskingum
county, Ohio, born February 22, 1856. He is a

son of Penrod Bateman, who was born in Clay
township, Muskingum county, Ohio, November 12,

1820. The elder Bateman was elected sheriff of

Muskingum county on the republican ticket in

1856, and served in that capacity up to 1860, at

which time he was appointed postmaster at Zanes-

ville, holding that office at the time of his death,

which occurred in St. Paul, Minu.
,
December 8,

1862, whither he had gone for his health. He
was chairman of the republican central committee
for several years, and always took an active part in

local politics. His father was John Bateman. Our
subject’s mother, whose maiden name was Eliza-

beth Mears, was born in county, England,
January 12, 1820 and now resides in Zanesville.

Her father, William Mears, came to the United
States in 1827 and settled in Muskingum county,

Ohio. W. M. Bateman was the fifth of six children

born to his parents; Frank M.
,
who resides in

Mercer county, 111.; Annie O. (deceased); Lizzie

H.
,
wife of Q. R. Kelley, resides in Perry town-

ship, Muskingum county; Mary A., wife of Jasper
Beard, residing in Mercer county, 111.

;
and Penrod

(deceased). W. M. Bateman was reared on his

father’s farm, attending the district school and
farming alternately, and at a suitable age

entered the Dennison university at Granville,

Ohio, where he finished his education. He fol-

lowed agricultural pursuits rap to 1880 and then

formed a partnership with John K. Arnold. They
purchased the undertaking establishment of E. N.

Hatcher, and since then Mr. Bateman has given

his entire attention to his bitsiness. He was mar-
ried on November 9, 1881, to Miss Ella E. Carter,

a native of Muskingum county and the daughter of

M. H. Carter. The fruits of this union have been
two children : Helen C. and Fred W. Mr. Bate-

man has shown his appreciation of secret organi-

zations by becoming a member of Mclntire lodge

No. 38, K. of P. and Muskingum lodge No. 28,

I. O. O. F. He and Mrs. Bateman are members of

the Baptist church, and in politics he is democratic.

Fenton Bagley, attorney, Zanesville, Ohio. As
a leading citizen of Muskingum county in its pro-

fessional, business and social life, lending eminent

strength to her bar, tone to her finance and grace
to her society, Mr. Bagley is second to none in the

county. He was bom in Newton township, Musk-
ingum county, Ohio, October 10, 1838. He en-

listed in the Seventy-eighth Ohio Volunteer infan-

try, in November, 1861, was discharged in August,
1862. In May, 1864, he was commissioned first

lieutenant, Company B, One hundred and Fifty-

ninth Ohio Volunteer infantry, and subsequently
participated in the siege of Fort Donelson and the
battle of Shiloh. In 1865 he was admitted to the

Muskingum county bar, and has ever since con-

tinued to successfully practice law. Mr. Bagley was
married to Miss Isabelle Tipton a teacher in the pub-
lic schools of Zanesville,Ohio, March 15,1877. Hav-
ing been elected to the office of prosecuting attor-

ney for Muskingum county in 1879, he served in

that capacity for two years with high honor to him-
self and his censtituents. Mr. Bagley was of de-

vout Methodist Episcopal parentage, and early in

life connected himself with that church. In 1879
he transferred his church relations to the Presby-
terian denomination, and has continued to work
earnestly in that branch of Christ’s church. The
county republican executive committee elected

Mr. Bagley its secretary in 1882, which office he
continuously filled for four years. For years Mr.
Bagley has stood as a leader in republican politics

in Zanesville and Muskingum counties. Always
firm in his convictions and earnest in his religion,

patriotism, political belief and all else that tends

to make model citizens, he has fearlessly stood for

enterprise for the advancement of public good.

Nowhere in Muskingum county, Ohio, is there

to be found a man of more energy, determined will

or force of character than Julius A. Bainter pos-

sesses, and no agriculturist is deserving of greater

success in the conduct and management of a farm
than he. He was born in Monroe township of

this county on July 24, 1834, the second of four

children born to Frederick and Mariah (Crum-
baker) Bainter, the former of whom was born in

Madison township of this county, August 19, 1804,

a son of Jacob and Elizabeth Bainter, who settled

here in 1802, and a grandson of Frederick Bainter,

who also came here in 1802, and died shortly after

reaching this county. Jacob Bainter moved to

Monroe township in 1808 in search of a healthier

climate, for malaria was prevalent in the low lands

along the river in Madison township, but in Mon-
roe township he afterward reared his family who
are named as follows: John. George, Frederick,

Daniel, Ely, Jacob, Mariah, Eliza and Elizabeth.

The father of these children died about 1865, his

wife, who was a Miss Rife, having died same year.

The Bainters came to this section from Bedford
county, Penn.

,
and became well known and honored

residents of Muskingum county, Ohio. Frederick
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Bainter, the father of Julius A., spent his early

life in Monroe township. At the age of twenty

-

seven years he was married to Miss Crumbaker,
and the following are their children: Louisa, who
was the first wife of W. W. Adams; Julius A.;

Theodore, Avho is living on the home place in Mon-
roe township; Jonas, who died at the age of thirty-

eight years. After his marriage Mr. Bainter

settled on a farm in Monroe township, and there

he has resided ever since. Farming has always

been his chief occupation, and the manner in which
he has conducted his affairs has had everything

to do in obtaining the competence which he now
enjoys. His farm was at first heavily covered with

timber, but with undeviating energy he wielded his

ax, and in due time his land was cleared and a

considerable portion under cultivation. He is a

democrat, and is interested in all important issues

of the day. He is a member of the Lutheran church
and is active in all church matters, having been
superintendent of the Sunday-school for a number
of years. His wife was born in Loudoun county,

Va., in 1815, and died in 1882, a daughter of John
and Catherine Crumbaker. She was also an earn-

est worker iu the Lutheran church. Her parents
came to this county in 1816, the journey being
overland, and as Mrs. Bainter was the youngest of

the family, she was carried the most of the way by
her mother, who walked the most of the distance.

The youthful days of Julius A. Bainter were spent
in Monroe township, and in 1857 he started out to

do for himself. He was married to Miss Margaret
Adams, since which time he has resided on the

Adams' farm. His wife was born February 7,

1840, a daughter of George and Christina Adams.
To Julius Baiuter and his wife the following
children were born: Henry H., who is married
and living near home; Homer, who died at the age
of three years; Hayman who died when one year
old; Harvey, who is married and living in Missouri;
Bruce, who is married and resides in Adamsville;
George F., who resides in Cleveland; Nina B.,

Nora D., John W., Harmon G., and Jennie. Mr.
Bainter and a number of his children belong to

the Lutheran church. He is a democrat politically

a public-spirited citizen and an earnest Christian.
He has a well-improved farm of 144 acres, and is

engaged in general farming, in which he has been
more than ordinarily successful.

James Baker, Dresden, Ohio, is a descendant
of one of the earliest settlers of Tuscarawas and
Coshocton counties, Ohio, and of Irish ancestry.
John Nelson Baker, his grandfather, came to

America from Ireland, and settled in West Virginia
after the Revolutionary war. He married Miss
Williams, of Virginia, and they were the parents of

seven children: William, Thomas, John, Sallie,

James, Joseph and Martha. He afterward came

to Ohio, and first settled in Tuscarawas county,

where he lived but a short time, when he died,

while his children were yet small. The Indians

were in possession of the country at that time, and
Mr. Baker had a great deal of trouble to keep them
off, his family being compelled to leave the house
for safety. John Baker, his son, and the father

of James, was born in West Virginia, and was
about six years of age when he moved with his

father to the wilderness of Ohio. As there were no
schools here at that time he received but little edu-

cation, and could read but not write. His father

died, and his mother married again a man by the

name of Beaver, who had two children, George and
Peggy. The family depended largely upon game
and the sale- of furs, and John and the elder

brother supported the family by means of hunting.

The elder brother, William, died, and Thomas shot

himself through the thigh, which necessitated the

amputation of the limb. He returned to Virginia,

thus leaving the family dependent for four or five

years upon the hunter's skill of John Baker, who
supported the family until his mother married.

He then went to Coshocton county, and married
Sally Burl. To them were born seven children:

Joseph, Benjamin, Nancy, Hester, James, George
and Martha. In 1824 Mr. Baker moved to Mus-
kingum county, and lived here until 1839, when he
moved to Illinois, and settled in Lawrence county,

were he spent the remainder of his days. When a

young man he was a soldier in the War of 1812.

He died at the age of sixty-two years in 1842.

James Baker, his son, was born November 18,

1818, in Coshocton county, Ohio, received but lit-

tle education, and learned farming and carpenter-

ing, and could turn his hand to almost any kind of

work. He started to work when he was very young,
and when twenty-two years of age began for him-
self, and married, May 3, 1853, Susannah Cullins.

daughter of George and Mary J. (Muchler) Cullins.

George Cullins was one of the early settlers of this

county, and was wounded by the Indians. [See

sketch of Henry Cullins.] To Mr. and Mrs. James
Baker have been born three children, Sarah J.,

Cornelius R. and Marietta. Mr. Baker settled on
the river in Muskingum county, where he lived

three years, and in 1860 settled on his present

farm, in a log hut with a stick chimney. The house
was very small, but the family lived there two
years, when Mr. Baker built a farm house. In the

fall of 1861 he enlisted in Company F, Sixty-second

Regiment, Ohio Volunteer infantry, and served

one year and seven days, and was present at the

battle of Winchester. He was taken sick, was
discharged on account of disability, and returned

home. On account of his disability he receives a

pension from the government. He was a man who
did not hesitate to offer his services to the govern-
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ment, and risk his life in defense of bis country.

By hard work and industry he has accumulated a

handsome property, and is well known as an hon-

orable and upright citizen.

W. R. Baker, a prominent business man and
assistant manager of the business of fetolzenbach

Branch United States Baking company, owes his na-

tivity to Deavertowu, Morgan county, Ohio, where
his birth occurred in 1852. His parents, Jacob and
Phoebe (Diehl) Baker, were natives of Bavaria,

Germany, and came to Ohio when twenty-eight

and twelve years of age respectively. They were
married in Zanesville, Ohio, and subsequently

moved to Morgan county of that state, where Mr.
Baker embarked in merchandising. In 1870 they

returned to Zanesville, where the father died in

September, 1888, when seventy-four years of age.

Mrs. Baker is still a resident of Zanesville, and al-

though sixty-eight years of age, is still quite strong

and active. Of the ten children born to this union,

W. R. Baker was third in order of birth. He at

tended the public schools of his native place, and

in 1870 came to Zanesville, where he entered the

employ of a wholesale grocery company. He
worked himself up to the position of traveling

salesman, and for about twelve years covered ter-

ritory in southeast Ohio. In January, 1885, he

engaged in his present business. In 1889 he was
elected on the democratic ticket to the position of

trustee of the waterworks, and ran ahead of his

ticket. In September, 1883, he married Miss
Louise Stolzenback, a native of Zanesville, and
daughter of C. Stolzenbach, and the result of this

union is two sons. Mr. Baker is a democrat, and a

hearty supporter of the principles of his party.

He is a member of the English Lutheran church.

Henry Ballou (deceased) was one of the early

settlers of Muskingum county, Ohio, his settlement

in this region dating from the year 1820. He
was born in Cheshire county, N. H.. Septem-
ber 6, 1796, a son of James and Mehitabel (In-

galls) Ballou, the latter of whom was left a

widow with a family of small children to care for.

In 1814, with her two sons and three daughters,

the mother immigrated to Ohio, and about 1820
she settled in Salt Creek township, Muskingum
county, where she was called from life the follow-

ing year. Her children were James, Henry, Hetty
(Mrs. Rufus), Eliza and Alpha. Henry Ballou

was married March 20, 1823, to Phoebe P. Tanner,

after which, for some time, they resided in Salt

Creek township and afterward in Harrison town-

ship, where they made a permanent home. Mr
Ballou filled several township offices with ability,

besides greatly improving his farm. After a life

of usefulness he died on the 23d of February,

1857, and is now sleeping his last sleep in Vh'ginia

Ridge cemetery. He and his wife became the

parents of the following children: Jacob T.
,
i>orn

March 4, 1824; James Ellis, born July 2, 1828;
and Orrin Ballou, born September 21, 1831. Mr.
Ballou was a man of fine natural attainments, and
these were strengthened and enriched by judicious

reading and by contact with the business affairs of

life. To know him was to respect and admire him
for his many worthy traits of character, and his

death was considered a loss, not only to his own
immediate family, but to the community in which
be resided. He was a brother of Mrs. Eliza (Ballou)

Garfield, the worthy and honored mother of Pres-
ident James A. Garfield. Orrin Ballou was the

second son of Henry Ballou, and like the majority

of pioneer boys, he assisted in the labors on the
home farm and attended the subscription schools

of his day, in which he obtained a fair English
education. He was engaged in farming until 1862,
when he began mining for coal on his farm, and
he was one of the leaders in developing the coal

interests of Muskingum county. In 1866 or 1867
he also began the manufacture of salt in consider-

able quantities, but owing to the expense of its

manufacture he gave it up. He held official posi-

tion in Muskingum county from 1876 to 1880 by
re-election, and was faithfulness itself in the dis-

charge of his duties. He was married to Matilda
J., daughter of William and Sarah (Johnson)

Price of this county but formerly of Maryland,
their union taking place ou the 20th of January,

1853. He and his wife became the parents of five

children: Henry, who is in Montana; William F.,

in California; Sarah A., Harriet E. and Anna.
Mr. Ballou is a member of the Royal Arcanum and
the A. O. U. W. Jacob Tanner, the father-in-law

of Henry Ballou, was born in New Jersey, April

21, 1774, and was married to Lydia Passmore,
who was born June 18, 1778, their union being
celebrated March 8, 1798, and resulting in the

birth of these children: Mary Ann, born June 25,

1799; John Passmore, born August 20, 1800;

George, born November 3, 1 801 ;
Phoebe, born

November 25, 1803. Jacob Tanner died in Chester

county, September 23, 1805, and in 1816 his

widow came to Zanesville with her children, where
she made her home, but her death occurred at the

home of her grandson, Jacob Ballou, September

22, 1866. Her son John settled in Kentucky,
where he died; George removed from Kentucky to

Nebraska, dying in the latter state; Phoebe (Mrs.

Ballou) is living with her son Jacob, and although

eighty-seven years of age is well preserved

mentally and physically.

Moses Barnhouse, farmer, of Muskingum coun-

ty, Ohio. A lifetime of hard, earnest endeavor in

pursuing the occupation to which he now gives his

attention, coupled with strict integrity, honesty of

purpose, and liberality in the right directions, have
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had the result to place Mr. Barnhouse among the

truly respected and honored agriculturists of the

county. He was born in Caldwell, Noble county,

Ohio, May 17, 1841, and is a son of Benjamin and
Mary (Gillespie) Barnhouse, natives of Virginia

and of Irish descent. Moses Barnhouse received

his initiatory education in the common schools of

his district, but when the war came up he, with

the enthusiasm of youth, enlisted as a private in

Company I, First Ohio Heavy Artillery, and was
in several active engagements, but the most of the

time Avas with a foraging party. He received an
honorable discharge August 2, 1865, and returned

to his home in Noble county, Ohio, where he re-

mained until the year 1871, when he came to

Muskingum county and purchased 159 acres of

land where he has carried on general farming ever

since. He has been thrifty, industrious and pains-

taking, and as a reward for his faithfulness to his

duties he is now in independent circumstances and
has the confidence and good will of all who know
him. He was married August 24, 1871, to Miss
Martha, daughter of William and Mary Jane Huff-

man, and by her is the father of two children,

Mary T. and Albert. Mr. Barnhouse is a member
of the G. A. R.

,
politically is a republican, and

he and his wife are worthy and consistent members
of the Presbyterian church.

John Baughman (deceased) was born near

Gettysburg, in Adams county, Penn., Septem-
ber 16, 1804. In 1811 he came with his parents

to Ohio. He was married on September 18,

1828, to Miss Sarah Stover. He was a farmer
by occupation. In 1837 he removed to Stover-

town and opened a general mercantile estab-

lishment, which he conducted with success until

1846. He also erected and conducted a sawmill
in addition to his other duties. In 1842 he was
elected justice of the peace of Brush Creek town-
ship, and during his term of service made an effi-

cient public officer. He was re-elected to this

office many times. He was an intelligent and well-

informed man, not only on the current topics of

the times, but also on deeper subjects. In 1859
he was elected one of the commissioners of the

county, in which capacity he served until 1862.

He was also at different times township land ap-

praiser. He was a republican in politics. As a

member of the Evangelical Lutheran church he
took a great interest in its affairs, both at home
and abroad. The old Lutheran church building

preceding the present structure was built by him
and he bore two- thirds of its cost. He and his

wife lived to celebrate their golden wedding, at

which time there were present eight children,

twenty-seven grandchildren and one great-grand-
child. Mrs. Baughman was born December 23,

1809. Her parents, Samuel and Mary Stover,

settled in this county in 1811. Mrs. Baugh-
man died November 14, 1888, and Mr. Baugh-
man on July 23, 1879. The children of Mr.
and Mrs. Baughman were as follows: Eliza-

beth, born February 20, 1830; David F., born
February 17, 1831, and died March 13, 1833;
William D., born June 1, 1834, and died Septem-
ber 1, 1841; Aurilla A., born November 26, 1835;
Henry C.

,
born December 4, 1837; Elzina J., born

December 7, 1840; Sarah M. , born August 10,

1843, and died February 18, 1889; Dr. John S.

,

born September 4, 1847; Jesse T., born February
27, 1850, and Dr. Samuel S. , born April 27, 1852.

Jesse T., son of John and Sarah Baughman, was
born on the farm on which he now makes his home.
He obtained a fair education in the English
branches in the common schools of the county.

He was early trained to the laborious duties of

farm life, and has made this his chief occupation.

He was married to Miss Mary J., daughter of Will-

iam Pletcher, September 22, 1875, and their union
has resulted in the birth of six children, the follow-

ing of whom are now living: Elzina M.
,
born

May 13, 1877; Roy B., born May 22, 1878; Perley

P., born February 18, 1882; Chauncey K., born
November 2, 1889. Almon R.

,
the fourth of the

family, was born July 2, 1887, and died February

25, 1889, and Samuel L. was born September 24,

1891. Jesse T. Baughman has served as township
clerk and township treasurer two years each. He
has always been a supporter of the principles of

the republican party. His farm comprises 170
acres, and under his able management yields good
crops. He and his wife are members of the Evan-
gelical Lutheran church. His brother, Henry,
served in the Ninth Missouri regiment during the

first year of the war, but he was afterward trans-

ferred to the Fifty-ninth Illinois Volunteer infan-

try, Company F. He enlisted as a private, but by
meritorious conduct rose gradually by promotion
through the various grades, and at the close of the

war held the rank of captain. He was taken pris-

oner twice, but escaped both times. On one of

these occasions he was recaptured by the Union
troops, and thus effected In’s escape. He was a

brave and courageous soldier and officer, and
always showed much spirit and determination on
the battlefield.

Joseph Baughman (deceased) was a son of

Christian Baughman and grandson of Christian

Baughman Sr.
,
the latter being a pioneer of this

section, mention of whom is made in this volume.
Joseph Baughman was born in Pennsylvania De-
cember 11, 1808, and when a child of three years
was brought by his parents to the wilds of Ohio,
where, on his father’s farm, he grew to manhood,
learning the details of an agricultural life. His
education was obtained in the old-time subscrip-
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tion schools. March 24, 1831, he was married to

Mary, daughter of James Hopkins, a sketch of

whom is given in this volume, and soon after his

marriage he purchased eighty-four acres of land

in Newton township, now known as the Baughman
homestead. This land was partly improved, for

on it was a small log cabin and a little of the

land had been cleared. He prospered in his under-

takings and became well-to-do, but through it all

he was modest and unostentatious, devoted to his

own affairs and his family, and held himself

entirely aloof from public affairs. Nine children

were born to him and his wife: George W., Lydia
A., Nancy E., Rebecca J., Sarah E., John W.

,

James F.
,
Mary M. and Susan L. He and his es-

timable wife were honored members of the Lutheran
church from childhood, and for many years he was
an official member and a liberal supporter of the

same, contributing freely to the erection of a church
and in the support of a minister. He met an un-

timely and sudden death from an accident while

riding one horse and leading another; he received

injuries which resulted in his death on September

20, 1862, without regaining consciousness. His
widow departed this life August 3, 1890, at the age
of seventy-nine years.

George Baughman, farmer, Roseville, Ohio,

one of the pioneer settlers of Muskingum county
and a man well and favorably known all over the

same, was born in Newton township, Muskingum
county, Ohio, February 14, 1813. His father,

Christian Baughman, came from Pennsylvania to

Muskingum county, Ohio, about 1811, and made
the journey in wagons. When this pioneer reached
Zanesville he had but 50 cents, and with a family

to support, the outlook was not very encouraging.

He at once began working, and in spite of hard-

ships and privations, became one of the substantial

and much respected citizens of the county. To
his marriage were born eleven sons and one
daughter who have since proven a credit to the

community in which they live. One of these chil-

dren, George Baughman (subject of sketch), passed
his early life on the farm with his parents and re-

ceived a limited education in the subscription

schools of that period. He remained under the

parental roof until twenty-two years of age and on
the 30th of October, 1834, he was united in mar-
riage to Miss Catherine Rees of Springfield town-
ship, Muskingum county. Shortly after his

marriage Mr. Baughman received some little help

from his father and bought eighty acres of land in

Clay township. This he has since resided on and
after the lapse of fifty-seven years, is the owner of

262 acres of as well-improved land as can be found
in the township. He is also the owner of town
property in Roseville. When twenty years of age
he joined the Lutheran church, and to this day he

has been a liberal and worthy supporter of the
same. Although he has never been active in pol-

itics, he was formerly an Andrew Jackson demo-
crat, but now affiliates with the republican party.

AVheu the war broke out he could not leave his

large family, but one of his sons was in the service.

His marriage resulted in the birth of thirteen chil-

dren: Solomon R., born November 5, 1835; Martha
A., born September 15, 1837; Sarah E. , born June
26, 1839; Lucy J., born May 21, 1841; Nancy C.,

born August 29, 1843; George W., born Septem-
ber 20, 1845; Hester E., born December 13, 1847;
Mary J., born May 21, 1850; John G., born Aug-
ust 7, 1852; Amanda J., born June ^ . 1854; Clara
E., born February 11, 1856; Catherine R., born
February 18, 1858; and Bruce J.. born April 18,

1860. Three children of this family have passed
away and also the mother who died September 15,

1886, when sixty-eight years of age.

Samuel Baughman has been identified with the
progress and development of Muskingum county
for many years, and by his own unaided efforts he
has accumulated a fair share of this world’s goods.

He was born in this county on the farm where
Jesse, his brother, now resides, on the 17th of

May, 1822, the eighth child born to Christian

Baughman, a pioneer, of whom mention is made
elsewhere in this volume. Samuel was brought up
to a knowledge of farm life, and in him were early

instilled principles of economy, frugality and hon-
esty which have remained with him to this day and
have been the stepping stones to his present suc-

cess. His early literary acquirements, which were
rather limited, were obtained in the subscription

schools which were in vogue in his day, but he has
since received a thorough education in the hard,

but useful and practical school of experience, and
and is now a well-informed man. He was married
to Ruth, daughter of James and Sarah Hopkins,
October 12, 1843, and after his marriage he settled

where his brother, S. S., is now living, on which
he built a hewed-log house, for doing which he re-

ceived thirteen and a half cents per day for his

labor. He rented and resided on his laud for two
or three years, and as he himself expressed it. he
“ did not get rich very fast.” In 1846 he pur-

chased eighty- two acres of land in Newton township,

all of which was woodland, with the exception of

ten acres, on which a small cabin had been erected.

It contained only two rooms, but it answered Mr.
and Mrs. Baughman the puiqjose of a home for ten

years. It then gave place to a commodious frame
structure w'hich now constitutes his present com-
fortable home. Mr. Baughman has been prospered
in his affairs and from time to time has added to

his original purchase until he is the owner of 127

acres of good land, which he has greatly improved
with buildings of all kinds and good fences. To
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the union of Mr. and Mrs. Baughman the following

children have been born: James H.., Jacob and
Sarah E. who are deceased, Jesse M., David F.,

George W., Louisa C.
,
Joseph L., Mary L. and

Annie L. Mr. and Mrs. Baughman are exemplary
members of the Lutheran church, and politically,

Mr. Baughman has always supported the repub-

lican party in its principles of government.

The Baughman family, of Muskingum county,

Ohio, was first represented in this country by
Christian Baughman, grandfather of Solomon S.

Baughman, who emigrated to America with his

family from Germany about the year 1791, and
lived and died in Pennsylvania. His son, Chris-

tian Baughman ( father of our subject), in 1812 came
to Muskingum county, Ohio, at which time he had
but 50 cents in money, but was the possessor of

three horses. He purchased 163 acres of land in

Bush Creek township, which he greatly improved
before his death, and on which he passed the re-

maining years of his life. He was born November
26, 1785, and died August 3, 1836. Elizabeth,

his wife, was born January 24, 1785, and died

November 8, 1866. Their children were as fol-

lows: John, born September 16, 1804, and died

July 23, 1879; Jacob, born October 3, 1805, and
was murdered August 29, 1863; Christian was
born April 27, 1807, and died April 30, 1886;

Joseph was born December 11, 1808, and died

September 20, 1862, from injuries received from
being thrown from a horse; Adam was born Feb-
uary 3, 1810, and died September 18, 1877

;
George

was born February 14, 1^13, and is a resident of

Clay township; Andrew was born June 1, 1815,

and died December 28, 1888; a daughter that died

in infancy comes next: David was born May 19,

1820, and lives in Clark county. 111. ; Samuel was
born May 17, 1822, and lives in Newton township;

Elizabeth was born February 27, 1824, and is a

resident of Ottumwa, Iowa; Solomon S. was born
June 14, 1827, and is a resident of Brush Creek
township, and Jesse M. who was born October 24,

1829. The father of these children was a demo-
crat politically and a man of unblemished reputa-

tion. He possessed the characteristics of the

German people—honesty, frugality and industry

—and was for many years a worthy member of the

Lutheran church. Solomon S. Baughman, the

twelfth child of Christian Baughman, was born on
the old Baughman homestead in Brush Creek
township, and his early life was spent, in a man-
ner common to the sons of pioneer families. His
education was limited to the imperfect system of

subscription schools in vogue at that time, but the
most of his time was spent in endeavoring to

subdue the wilderness. Ho was married on the

27th of March, 1851, to Miss Susannah, daughter
of William and Susannah Swingle, of whom men-

tion is made in this work. Following his marriage
he settled on the farm where he now lives, which
at that time was but little improved, and this farm
has been the scene of his labors. He and his

estimable wife have, by their united efforts, suc-

ceeded in clearing up and developing the resources

of their land, and it is now devoted to well culti-

vated fields of grain. To them a family of seven

children have been born: William W., born Sep-
tember 9, 1854, married to Mary Showers, daugh-
ter of Alvah Showers; Solomon L., born August
4, 1859, married Louisa Eicher, daughter of Adam
Eicher, by whom he has three children—Chester,

Herbert (deceased) and Esther Rosa (born Novem-
ber 15, 1891);- Roceilla Alice, born January 21,

1863, and died June 14, 1890; Florence A., born
October 25, 1868. The three eldest children of

the family died in infancy. Mr. Baughman gave
his children good educational advantages, and
William taught school for several terms. Mr.
Baughman has always been a patron of education,

and has acted as a director in his school district

for many consecutive years. He and his wife and
children are members of the Lutheran church and
manifest much interest in the advancement of the

cause of Christianity. He has been a Republican
in politics since the organization of that party, but
prior to that was an old line whig.

Jesse M. Baughman was born on the 24th of

October, 1829, and his youth was spent upon a

farm and in attending the subscription schools

that were started in the vicinity of his home.
Owing to the inferior character of the schools at

that peroid, and to the fact that his services were
required in clearing the home farm from timber
and underbrush, he only attended about thirty days
throughout the year and then did not advance as

rapidly in his studies as he should. He was mar-
ried October 19, 1854, to Elizabeth Ziegler and
soon after settled on the farm on which he now
resides and on which he was born. Their union
was blessed in the birth of the following children:

James H., who died at the age of five years;

Delilah E., wife of Clark I. Weaver; Lewis E., a

prominent and successful educator, and now prin-

cipal of the Dresden high school (began teaching

when he was eighteen years of age and followed

this occupation for five years at Chandlersville;

he is married to Anna Day); Cora A. is superin-

tendent of a department in the Mclntire Home, at

Zanesville; Lucy J.
;
Mary L. and Abbie M. Mr.

Baughman is comfortably fixed, financially, and he
and his wife are members of the Lutheran church,

with which they have been connected for many
years. His wife’s grandfather, Andrew Zeigler,

was the founder of the Zeigler family in this

county and was one of its earliest settlers, and it

is the impression of one of his grand-daughters
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that he was a school teacher, but this is not cer-

tain. Samuel Zeigler, his son, was probably born
in this country and was married to Rachel, daugh-
ter of Jacob Spangler, a pioneer of this section.

Samuel Zeigler resided for many years near and
was manager in charge of the salt works at, or

near, that place. About 1854 he removed to Yin-

ton county, Ohio, where he resided until his death,

which occurred February 23, 1886, at the age of

seventy-seven yeai's. His wife was born in 1812,

and to them a family of twelve children were
born: Nancy, Elizabeth, James, Alfred (deceased),

Martha (deceased), Margaret, Levi, Mary, Mason,
William, Samuel and David. Mrs. Zeigler now
resides in Hamden, Ohio.

William Beal, Dresden, Ohio, a pi-osperous agri-

culturist of this region, successfully manages his

farm of 389 acres, and inherits the thrift and
energy of his German ancestors. His grandfather,

George Beal, was a farmer of Beaver county,

Penn., and was married to Miss Nancy Sparks,

who was the daughter of Capt. Sparks, who served

in the Revolution. To them were born these chil-

dren: William, Sarah, Elizabeth, Rachel, Debo-
rah, Margaret, Elias, John, Isaac, George and
Nancy. William was in the War of 1812 and John
served as common pleas judge of Blackford county,

Ind. Mr. Beal was a deacon in the Baptist

church, and a man of moderate means. He came
to Guernsey county, Ohio, in 1814, and settled

near Birmingham, where he remained until his

death, when about eighty years of age. His son,

Isaac Beal, and the father of William Beal was
born in Beaver county, Penn., in 1807, and re-

ceived but a limited education. Some of his

brothers were quite well educated. Isaac was
seven years old when he came with his parents

to Guernsey county, and he grew up in the

rough school of pioneer days, working on the

farm and attending school when he could find

time from his duties. He was married in Guern-
sey county, Ohio, October 14, 1830, to Miss Jane
Neal, who was born June 12, 1812, and who was
the daughter of Willianx and Mary A. (Sheridan)

Neal. William Neal was born in Ireland, and
came to Maryland, where he married and settled.

He afterward emigrated to Ohio and settled in

Belmont county, then in Harrison, and finally in

Guernsey county, where he died in his sixty- sixth

year. His companion, Mary A. Sheridan, who
was the aunt of Gen. Phillip H. Sheridan and the

cousin of Gen. Robert E. Lee, died March 1,

1874, in her ninety-fourth year. Their family

consisted of thirteen children: Sarah S.
,
Rachel,

John, James, Mai-y A., William, Jane (wife of

Isaac Beal), Elizabeth, Thomas, Lee, Archibald,

Asbery S. and Alexander G. Mr. and Mrs. Isaac

Beal settled in Guernsey county after marriage,

and thei’e, their children, sixteen in number,
were born: Mary A., Nancy A., Perry, Sarah,

Archibald, Rachel J., William, Elizabeth, Margaret
L.

,
Martha S., Thomas, Elias, Bersheba, Isaac S.,

George and Lee. Mr. Beal was a man of com-
fortable circumstances; was the owner of 160
acres of land. He and Mrs. Beal held member-
ship in the Old School Baptist church, and Mr.
Beal was deacon for many years. In politics he
was a republican. He had one son, Archibald, in

the civil war. He enlisted in Company K, Eighty-
fourth Illinois regiment, and served as sergeant,

and was at the battle of Murfreesboro, Tenn.,
where he was captured by the confederates, but
was retaken by the Union troops the same day,

and died January 5, 1863, from exposure. Isaac

Beal lived to be eighty years of age, and died
on his farm in Guernsey county, December 26,

1887. He was one of the old pioneer settlers,

and cleared up a great deal of wild land. His
widow is still living, and is now in her eightieth

year. Their son, William Beal, owes his nativity

to Guernsey county, Ohio, where his birth occurred
November 3, 1841, and he was liberally educated
iu the common schools. His father, who had but
limited educational advantages himself, was de-

termined to send his children to school, and
young William attended school in the winter and
worked on the farm during the summer months
until twenty-two years of age. He selected as

his companion in life Miss Sarah A. Morgan,
who was born December 4, 1845, daughter of

Washington and Mary (Lake) Morgan, and their

nuptials were celebrated on December 24, 1863.

To them were born thi-ee children: Spenser L.,

Elroy and Jane E. After marriage Mr. and Mrs.
Beal settled on a farm in Cass township, this

county, and sadly afflicted was Mr. Beal while liv-

ing there. A disease that was epidemic in the

county entered the family, and Elroy died Aug-
ust 17, 1870; Mrs. Beal died on the 20th of the

same month, Spencer L. on the 22d, and Jane
E. on the 27th, all within ten days of each
other. On October 2, 1871, Mr. Beal married
Miss Charity E. Butler, who was born December
17, 1844, daughter of William and Elizabeth (Mc-

Gee) Butler. [See sketch of Joshua Butler.]

William Butler was born in Brook county, Va.,

July 20, 1810, and was a school teacher for some
time, although a carpenter by trade. For many
years he was a preacher in the Old School Baptist

church, and moderator of the association for

quite a number of years. He was married to

Miss Elizabeth McGee, January 4, 1838. She was
born August 3, 1815. To them were born thi-ee

children: Honor, Henry J. and Charity E. He
was a self-educated man, a substantial farmer, and
a man who was of great benefit to his community
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in its early days. He died June 16, 1885. After

marriage Mr. and Mrs. Beal settled on the farm
where they now live, and here all their children

were born: Isaac T., John W. and Perry L. In
politics Mr. Beal is a republican, and has held sev-

eral of the township offices. He and Mrs. Beal

are members of the Old School Baptist church, in

which he was clerk for several years and is now
deacon. He is deeply interested in school matters,

and is educating his sons at Dresden. Mr. Beal is

a well-informed man, and keeps thoroughly abreast

with the times. This family is widely known and
highly respected in Muskingum county.

George W. Bell, Adamsville, Ohio, is one of

the most prominent farmers of Adams township,

and the largest landholder. John Bell, his grand-

father, was from Westmoreland county, Penn., of

Pennsylvania Dutch ancestry. He was a farmer,

and married Rachel Stillwell, also from Pennsyl-
vania, and of Scotch ancestry. He came with his

family to Muskingum county and settled in Adams
township on a farm, now owned by John R. Bell.

He was the father o£ ten children: One daughter,

Elizabeth, Haley, John J., Mary A., William,
Nancy, Catherine, Sarah, James and Amy. Mr.
Bell bought his land of the original settler, and it

had a clearing on it. This tract contained eighty

acres, besides which he bought eighty acres of

Willis creek, Adams township, and eighty acres in

Hockiug county. He lived to be seventy-eight

years of age, was a member of the Fairview Method-
ist church, and his wife was a member of the Bap-
tist church at Adamsville. In politics he was an
old line whig, and was a quiet, civil man, of excel-

lent character, industrious and hardworking citi-

zen. His education was limited to reading and
writing. William Bell, his son, was born February
9, 1809, in Westmoreland county, Penn.

,
and came

with his father’s family to Adams township when
a young man. The trip was made in one of the
old-fashioned Pennsylvania wagons. He had a

common-school education. He married Rachel
Gaumer, daughter of Jacob and Elizabeth (Sturtz)

Gaumer. The father was the grand-uncle of Hon.
Daniel H. Gaumer, of Zanesville,

f
See sketch.

]
To

Mr. and Mrs. Bell were born seven children, two
of whom died in infancy: George W.

,
Jacob J.,

Elizabeth C., .John R. and Jared C. After his

marriage Mr. Bell settled on a farm now occupied
by his son, John R. Bell. He entered this land
which consisted originally of eighty acres, and was a
very act ive, energetic man of good business capacity,
careful and economical, attending strictly to his

own affairs, letting polit ics alone, and became very
successful. He bought land from time to time
until he owned 640 acres in one tract, besides 173
acres, making 813 acres, all in Adams township,
with the exception of fifty-three acr.es in Monroe

township. Both himself and wife are members of

the Lutheran church. He died January 26, 1876,

at the age of sixty-seven years. In politics he
was a republican, and a strong union man during
the war. George W. Bell, his son, and the sub-

ject of this sketch, was born May 19, 1832, on his

father’s farm, in Adams township. He received a

common-school education, learning farming in

early life, and married Elizabeth C. Yinsel, daugh
ter of John and Mary (Bogue) Yinsel. John
Vinsel was from Loudoun county, Va., and of

Dutch ancestry of old colonial stock. He was the
father of two children: William H. and Elizabeth
C., and came to Ohio in 1844, settling in Monroe
township, where he owned 648 acres of land, and
was a well-to-do farmer. Himself and wife were
members of the Lutheran church, and in politics

he was a republican. He lived to the age of sixty-

two years, and died August 26, 1856. After his

marriage, George W. Bell settled on a farm in

Adams township, belonging to his father, where
he lived one year and then moved to a farm which
Mrs. Bell had inherited from her father, and
resided there twelve years. He then came to his

present farm, which he bought of Jacob Gaumer'

s

heirs, and has been in the family for three genera-
tions. It was entered by Jacob Gaumer in 1819.

Mrs. William Bell, the mother of our subject, is

yet living at the advanced age of eighty years,

with her faculties well retained. Mr. Bell is one
of our practical farmers, owning 780 acres of land,

all in this township. He is an excellent business
man, and has accumulated a handsome property.

To Mr. and Mrs. Bell have been born six children:

Susan A., Mary A., Mariam E., Rachel J. (deceased
at the age of three years and nine months), Carrie
E. (deceased at the age of two years and nine
months), and Charles B. In politics Mr. Bell is a

democrat. He is a man whose judgment is

respected, and he is serving his fifth term in suc-

cession, some fourteen years, as justice of the
peace. He has also been treasurer, clerk and
trustee. Both he and Mrs. Bell are members of

the Lutheran church, and Mr. Bell has held the
office of warden and deacon for the past twenty
years. He has also been a liberal contributor to

the cause of religion, is public spirited, in favor of

good schools and roads, and served on the board
of education for years, and clerk for fifteen years.

Mr. Bell is a man of broad and liberal views, and
is a member of the Grange. He stands high as

one of the practical and substantial farmers of

this region.

John L. Bennett, Frazeysburg, Ohio. This
is one of the most remarkable families that Mus-
kingum county' has produced. They are remark-
able for many things, but most of all for those
sterling traits of character which enable a humble
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pioneer family to live through the vicissitudes of

pioneer life, to multiply, and become a power in

the land for good; training up their children to

be honorable and valuable citizens until to-day,

their descendants number hundreds of the best of

the land. The grandfather of John L. Bennett,

and the founder of the family in America, was
James Bennett, who emigrated when a young man
with his brother from England and settled among
the Quakers of Pennsylvania. He afterward went
to the Yalley of Virginia, married Jane McCormick
and late in life removed to the west part of Ohio,

paying a visit of a few days to his son Joshua on
the way. He afterward removed to Indiana, and
there died. Joshua Bennett, his son, and the

father of John L. Bennett, was born March 23,

1788, in Charleston, Jefferson county, Ya. His

mother died a few months after his birth. He re-

ceived about six weeks’ schooling, but being fond

of reading became well posted on the current topics

of the day. His youth was spent on his father’s

farm and in teaming between Winchester, Ya., and
Baltimore, Md. He drove a six-horse team and
hauled immense loads on the large wagons of those

days. He experienced religion when about seven-

teen years of age, and was a liberal friend and
supporter of the church all his life. The itinerant

preacher was always cordially welcome to his

house. His first marriage occurred in Jefferson

county, Va.
,
to Miss Jane Mendenhall, who was

born November 25, 1784, and who was the daugh-
ter of Samuel and Hannah Mendenhall. To them
were born six children: Hannah and Lydia (twins),

Uriah P.
,
Samuel, Maria Jane and Martha. Of

these three are now living, and were present at the

family reunion held near Frazeysburg, Ohio, at the

residence of Joshua Bennett, in 1888. Their

names are Uriah P.
,
Maria and Martha. Jane Men-

denhall was a Quaker, and her son, Uriah P., says

of her: “ My mother was a Quaker, and my recol-

lection of her is that she was of the plainspoken.

amiable kind, and I have often wished that I had
inherited a large measure of the sweetness of her

disposition. As I look backward now from my
standpoint of more than three score and ten, it

seems to me that she was always trying to show
the bright side of life as affording more rational

and enduring happiness than the dark side, and to

me the pleasant memories of her are favored with

an admiration for the plain dress and plain speech
which showed so constantly the presence of the

law of human kindness of heart. She never seemed
to lose her power of self control, the calm repose

taught her in childhood by her Quaker parents.”

Lydia died February 2, 1813; Hannah died here

on the old homestead May 7, 1882, in her seven-

tieth year. At birth she was very small and would
not have filled a quart cup. Samuel died of small

pox in Pittsburg and was buried in Alleghany,

Penn., December 24, 1871, in the fifty-sixth year

of his age. Neither of them ever married. Samuel
learned the printing business and followed it for a

number of year's, but at the time of his death was
employed in a bank. Early in the spring of 1816
three families emigrated from Jefferson and Fred-
erick counties, Va.

,
to Jackson township, Muskin-

gum county, Ohio, where they arrived on May 1 of

that year, nxaking the journey with four-horse

teams. These families were Robert Drake, wife

and four sons, Richard C. Mendenhall and wife

and three children, and Joshua Bennett and wife

and three children. They cut and blazed their

way fi'om Zanesville, taking two days to travel

sixteen miles. A vacant cabin on the hillside,

south of the homestead, served them as shelter

until a hewed-log house was built. Here two
children, Maria J. and Martha, were born.

In June, 1825, another installment of Vix'ginia

emigrants arrived in their neighborhood, composed
of Grandmother Mendenhall in her ‘‘caryall,” John
Wimmer and family, Henry Shepherd and family,

and Hugh Reed and family in their wagons.
Grandmother Mendenhall had a huge log house
built for herself adjoining that of uncle Chancy
Mendenhall, where she resided until her death in

1833, when in her seveDty-fourth year. Nearly
five and a half years after locating here, on October

12, 1821 ,
Jane Mendenhall, wife of Joshua Bennett,

died. On January 30, 1823, he married Amelia
Channell, widow of Joseph Channell, and by this

union became the father of six children, one
daughter and five sons, all now living, and all

present at the last Bennett x'eunion in 1888.

Their names are: Samantha, John Lee, George
W., Alpheus J., Joshua B. and Leonidas M. The
mother of these children lived to be eighty-three

years old, and died in 1873 on the old homestead.
She lived to see her youngest child nearly forty

years of age. She was a devout Christian. Joshua
Bennett was a man universally esteemed and re-

spected, held the office of township trustee, clerk

and treasurer, and was commissioner two terms
(six years) for said county. He died June 30,

1860, at the age of seventy-three. He was a life-

long member of the Methodist church, and held

the office of steward and trustee for years. He
contributed liberally of his means to build up the

church in Frazeysburg. In politics he was for-

merly a whig, but in later years he affiliated with

the republican party. He was industrious and
enterprising and accumulated qixite a fortune.

His son, and the subject of this sketch, John L.

Beixnett, was born August 28, 1825, and his mother
was Amelia Channell, whose parents, John and
Rebecca (Bagley) Channell, were natives of Vir-

ginia. Mr. Channell was born in 1767, and was of
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English descent. He was one of the earliest set-

tlers of Zanesville, on the west bank of Muskingum
river. He was a noted Indian trader and hunter.

At one time an Indian came to him and wanted to

trade him a bear. M'hen asked where it was the

Indina replied, “Only up here a little ways.”
Mr. Channell went with the Indian and frequently

asked where the bear was, but received about the

same answer. They finally reached the Bowling
Green country, near the present site of Newark,
about twenty-live miles from Mr. Channell’ s home,
and there found the bear, which weighed 600
pounds, and which he bought, paying for it a

cambric shirt. It was in this tramp that Mr.
Channell saw and admired the laud east of Newark
about two miles, and afterward bought 300 acres,

paying $2 per acre in furs. His grandson, our
subject, well remembers the old hunter and the

stories he told. He died October 29, 1835. in the

sixty- eighth year of his age. Johu L. Bennett
was born on the old homestead, in a log house, and
received a very meager education. He married
Thresa M. Baughman, November 16, 1848. She
was born April 11, 1825, and was the daughter of

Henry and Elizabeth (Porter) Baughman, the

father a native of America, but of German descent.

Mr. Baughman came to Muskingum county, Ohio,

in 1812, and settled on a farm in Jackson town-
ship. He was a soldier in the War of 1812, and
was at the battle of Bladensburg. He was the

father of thirteen children. To Mr. and Mrs.
Bennett were born six children: Louisa (born

September 18, 1849), Joshua Hugh (born January
12, 1851), Charles Homer (born March 19, 1855,
and died May 12 of that year), Alva Lee (born
March 26, 1858, and died Februarjr 22, 1875),
Elmer E. (born June 20, 1862), and May (bom
April 19, 1866. After marriage Mr. Bennett
settled near the old homestead, and resided there

until March 16, 1886, when he moved to his present
home, which is a part of the old estate. In 1871
his wife died, and Mr. Bennett has never remar-
ried. He is a member of the Methodist church,
and has been church trustee and class-leader. In
politics he is a stanch republican, and he has
held the office of township trustee for twenty years.

On May 2, 1864, Mr. Bennett enlisted in company
H, Ohio Volunteer infantry, and was in service at

Baltimore. Prior to this he was a member of the
United States guards for nine years, and was a

member of the company that pursued John Morgan
and their raiders in their memorable hostile incur-

sion through Ohio in 1864. He assisted in the

capture of some of the raiders. During this raid

Mr. Bennett rode night and day for nearly six

days, and endured great fatigue. He was in his

meadow mowing when he heard the news that John
Morgan was about to attack Zanesville. Leaving

his horses standing in the field, he mounted a

saddled horse, and hastily gathering a number of

men, rode rapidly to that city, and was one of the

first to volunteer to pursue the raiders. Mr. Ben-
nett was very patriotic and would gladly have

enlisted earlier in the war, but the demands of a

young and dependent family prevented him. He
is a man of high character and one of the county’s

best citizens.

John H. Best, ex-city clerk and hardware mer-

chant at 172 Underwood street, is well known in

the city and is as popular socially as he is success-

ful in business. He is a native of Zanesville, Ohio,

born April 19, 1847, and is a son of Valentine and
Miranda (Fox).Best, the father a native of Zanes-

ville, Ohio, and the mother of Maryland. The
grandfather, Valentine Best, was a native of the

Emerald Isle and immigrated to the United States

at an early date. He was one of the first settlers

of Zanesville and is well remembered by the old res-

idents of the city. He distilled the first whisky
ever made in Muskingum county, and located in

what is now the Third ward. There is now an ad-

dition known as ‘‘Best’s addition to the Third
ward.” The grandfather died in 1819. Valentine

Best Jr. wms but little over a year old when his

father died and he was educated in Zanesville, re-

ceiving such schooling as those early days afforded.

He learned the tinner’s trade and carried on house
furnishing and hardware business for forty years

or more. He was well known and respected all

over the county. He was councilman of the village

of Putnam in 1854. His death occurred in 1876.

He was the father of six sons and four daughters,

five of whom are now living: Solan M., John H..

Laura, Mary and Ida. John H. Best was reared

aud educated in Zanesville and at an early age
engaged in the tinnery business which lie has car-

ried on for twenty years. In 1863 he enlisted in

the United States navy and served one year, being

only fifteen years of age at the time of enlistment.

He was all through the Red River expedition. In
1867 he was united in marriage to Miss Lunetta
Arter, who bore him six children, three now
living: John V., Mamie and Reuben. In 1886
Mr. Best was elected city clerk, served four

years, and was assessor of the Fourth ward for five

years. The Best family is one of the oldest and
best respected of Zanesville. All Mr. Best’s broth-

ers were soldiers. Socially he is a member of the

Masonic fraternity, Odd Fellows, Knights of Pyth-
ias, G. A. R. Post No. 81 and the Mystic Circle.

Capt. Andrew Jackson Blizzard, Frazeysburg,
Ohio, is one of the oldest residents of Jackson
township, and a descendant of one of the oldest

pioneer settlers. His grandfather, Thomas Bliz-

zard, came from eastern Virginia in 1808, and
brought his family, consisting of his wife and
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eight children: Reuben, Wesley, John, Phebe,
Mary, Ann, Ellen and William, the last named
being but nine years of age at that time. Three
of the daughters were married women. Thomas
Blizzard was of mixed ancestry, the blood of the

Spaniard, Frenchman and Englishman flowing in

his veins. He came to Ohio with a company of

pioneers, ten families as nearly as can be learned,

and followed the Zane trace to Irville, arriving in

November, 1808. They cut their way through
the unbroken wilderness to Jackson township and
camped the first winter three and a half miles

from Irville, in the Ohio Canal bottoms, camping
near his son-in-law, Nathan Baker, making a bar-

ricade and passing the winter in wagons. In the

spring Mr. Blizzard settled temporarily about
where the town of Frazeysburg now stands,

Clark Hollenback, one of his sons-in-law, and him-
self living and farming together. It is believed

that Mr. Blizzard, Hollenback and Samuel Smith,

another son-in-law, lived together until April 1,

1817, when Mr. Blizzard bought a claim of John
Hardesty, the southwest quarter of section 12, and
here his son, Col. Blizzard, lived for years on what
is called the “Old Blizzard homestead.” Thomas
Blizzard also entered the southeast quarter of sec-

tion 12, in 1812, which land he afterward sold to

Samuel Smith in 1817, but it subsequently came
in Col. Blizzard’s possession. Nathan Baker lived

near them, and was the first justice of the peace of

Jackson townshq:>. He came here before the Bliz-

zards, and was a son-in-law of Thomas Blizzard.

In 1814 Mr. Blizzard sent his son, William, a boy of

about fifteen years, back through the woods to East
Virginia on horseback, a distance of several hun
dred miles, riding “the little gray mare” as she

was called. This long journey embraced crossing

the Alleghany mountains at a time when the entire

distance was an unbroken wilderness, and as it was
just at the close of the War of 1812-14, back settle-

ments were in an uneasy condition, fearing danger
from the Indians. But a few cabins had been
erected on the Zane trail, which was but little

better than a blazed trail. Mr. Blizzard gave the

boy careful directions as to the course to be fol-

lowed, and particularly enjoined him to give ‘‘the

little gray mare ” the run when in doubt as to

which path to take, and trust to her remembrance
of the road she had traveled before. ‘‘The little

gray mare” was very intelligent and a favorite

with Thomas Blizzard, who had confidence in her

recollecting the road and trusted her implicitv.

There are several stories of her intelligence still

told in the Blizzard family. In this case she
proved true to her record, and brought the boy
safely over the long and difficult road. This
journey was undertaken to collect money due Mr.
Blizzard on property in East Virginia, and which
he needed to pay for his land in Ohio. The

honesty of those pioneer times is well illustrated

by this story. That a boy of that tender age could
make such a journey at all is to be wondered at,

but that he could return safely through the woods
hundreds of miles, with a considerable sum of

money in his possession, very often camping at

night in the woods, or reaching, if possible, the

friendly shelter of some pioneer backwoods cabin

where the honest settler would give him shelter in

its one room and a chance to sleep on a shake-

down, or more likely on the floor, speaks well for

the good old times when the “ latch string was
always out” and thieves and robbers almost un-

known. The Spartans, one of the fiercest tribes

of history, trained their boys to feats of strength

and endurance. Our pioneer ancestors, of neces-

sity, were also trained to great feats of endurance
and strength. William Blizzard, the young boy
who made the perilous journey, was the father of

the subject of this sketch. Thomas Blizzard re-

ceived the deed to his land April 1, 1817, from
John Hardesty, who had entered it in 1812, and
here lived the remainder of his days, dying at the

age of eighty-five. He was an old pioneer of the

early American stamp, who preferred to face the

perils of a pioneer life to remaining in a more
settled portion. Mr. Blizzard was very friendly

to one of the Indians who visited him often, and
who at one time wanted some powder which Mr.

Blizzard had brought from Virginia in kegs, offer-

ing in exchange for some of it to point out the

locality of a lead mine, which he said if the

Indians were to find out he had betrayed, he would
not be allowed to live. Mr. Blizzard asked for

proof, for powder was more precious than lead.

The Indian went away, and returned with samples

of lead, but Mr. Blizzard would not take the

bargain as he thought he could not spare the

powder. Therefore, to this day the secret re-

mains unsolved, and there is a possibility that

within a short distance from the old Blizzard

homestead there is a valuable lead mine awaiting

a discoverer. In those early days the country

abounded in game, black bear, wolf, deer, panther

and wild turkey. Reuben and Wesley Blizzard

were famous hunters, and brought down a great

deal of game. The former was present at the

battle of Tippecanoe as a scout, and finally bought
the land where the Hattie was fought, passing the

remainder of his days. Game constituted the

principal meat of the families. When they first

came to Jackson township they pounded their corn

in mortars, and afterward went to mill to Dillon

falls, on the Licking river, a distance of thirteen

miles. Their clothing was made from the skins

of wild animals, but were afterward home-spun of

both wool and flax. Thus those old pioneers lived

and founded the township and county.

Clark Hollenback, who was the first owner of
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the land where Frazeysburg now stands married
Miss Ann Blizzard. He moved to Illinois just be-

fore the Black Hawk war. The Indians burned
his house. No lives were lost. Benjamin Rich-

ards, also a son-in-law of Thomas Blizzard, lived

in Jackson township up to 1834, when he moved
to Illinois. Col. William Blizzard, son of the old

pioneer, Thomas Blizzard, was born in East Vir-

ginia, January 1, 1799, and was but nine years of

age when he came with his parents to Ohio. He
grew to manhood among the scenes of pioneer life,

and this aided materially informing his sturdy, in-

dependent character. He married Miss Maria
Fairall, daughter of the old pioneer, William
Fairall. [See sketch of J. W. Fairall.] Colonel and
Mrs. Blizzard were the parents of twelve children:

Andrew J., Elizabeth E., Maria J., William T.,

James M.
,
John W., Levi R., Martha A., George

W., Martin V., and two who died in infancy.

After marriage Col. Blizzard remained on the old

Blizzard plantation and there passed the closing

scenes of his life, dying at the age of seventy-seven
years. He was a soldier in the militia, beginning
as ensign, or second lieutenant, and went through
all the grades to that of colonel. The entire fam-
ily was of military cast. Reuben, his oldest broth-

er, was a captain in the militia, and was a man
well known and respected. He first settled or en-

tered land in Jackson township and lived for seve-

ral years on it, when he sold out and moved to

Indiana. He lived to the good old age of eighty

years or more. Wesley Blizzard entered land in

Licking county near Newark, Ohio, and lived and
died there at a good old age. He had a great deal

of influence with his fellow-citizens in his county.

John Blizzard went into the distilling business

near Dayton, Ohio, and came to his death by the

bursting of a still, when he was quite young. The
Colonel was public spirited, served many years as

township trustee and principally through his ef-

forts the township was saved from paying $20,000
railroad bonds, which he jmoved unconstitution-

ally issued. The $20,000 railroad bonds were de-

feated by decision of a higher court in a case of

the same kind on the ground of the road not

being located at the time of the signing of the

bonds. He reared a large family and at one time
owned 1 ,000 acres of land. He assisted his chil-

dren to a start in life and at his death owned 160
acres. He was a man of excellent character, was
careful of his honor, and was prompt to pay his

debts. He built a brick house on the old home-
stead in 1832; it is still standing and is owned by
William Thomas Blizzard, a grandson of Thomas
Blizzard. Captain Andrew Jackson Blizzard, a

son of Colonel William Blizzard and the subject

of this sketch, was born in the old log house on
the old homestead January 24, 1821, and received

the limited education of pioneer days. He at-

tended the first subscription school which was
taught in Frazeysburg, Ohio, when he was a lad

of seven years. The teacher was Robert Penry,

who taught the young backwoodsman “ the three

R's” in a log cabin in Frazeysburg, which had
benches made of split logs and stick chimneys
daubed with mud which conveyed the smoke from
the ample fireplace. Mr. Blizzard attended

school two winters and well remembers a treat fur-

nished by Mr. Penry to his school on a holiday.

It consisted of two bushels of apples and one gal-

lon of whisky. This was in 1828. In those days
whisky was a common beverage used on the table

at meal times -and at all merrymakings to enter-

tain the visitors and speed the parting guest. Clark

Hollenback started the village of Frazeysburg un-

der the name of Knoxville, and he sold out to Samuel
Frazey, of Zanesville, and he changed the name to

Frazeysburg. Richard Grille was the first post-

master. At the age of twenty-two Mr. Blizzard

married Miss Mary A. Norris, daughter of Isaac

and Charity (Conley) Norris. [See sketch of B. Z.

Norris.] To Mr. and Mrs. Blizzard were born six

children: George W., William S., Marian A., Maria
J., Mary V. and Howard E. After marriage Mr.
Blizzard moved to his present farm, which was
part of his father’s estate and resided in the log

cabin. In 1844 he built his present residence. He
cleared off his land and it soon become an exceeding

fertile farm. He was a soldier in the old militia and
from the age of eighteen was captain until it was
disbanded. He has always had the respect of his

fellow-men, and has held the office of township

trustee several years. Like his father before him
he remained quietly on his farm, attending to his

duties as an American citizen. He is an old Jack-

sonian democrat, like his father and all others of

the family. Mr. Blizzard stands deservedly high

as a good citizen and is a man of excellent char-

acter. He is hale and hearty at seventy-one

years, and can look back almost the entire progress

of his state.

Robert Boyd (deceased). One of the men who
came to this section of the country when Zanesville

was but a village was Robert Boyd, who possessed

all the characteristics of the early pioneer — cour-

age, fortitude, perseverance and industry. He was
born on a vessel on the Atlantic ocean while his

parents were en route to America, and of the latter

it is only known that they were of Irish birth and
had two little sons who, when their parents died

while they were very young, became separated and
were never afterward reunited. After landing on

the shores of America Mrs. Boyd located in Hagers-

town, Md., and during the latter part of the Revo-
lutionary war Robert Boyd took part in that

struggle, serving in the capacity of a teamster for
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about six months. Following this he gave consid-

erable attention to teaming, driving six horses in

transporting freight and passengers from point to

point; subsequently he followed his calling of a

shoemaker, carrying with him his kit of tools and
doing work for the people at their homes. Later
in life he rented land and followed farming near
Zanesville, Ohio. By his first wife, whom he prob-

ably married in Maryland and whose name was
Mrs (Young) Silverthorn, it is believed that he
became the father of eight children: John, who pre-

ceded his father to Ohio, afterward returned to

Maryland, taking with him a horse to aid the

family in reaching Ohio; Ann, who married a man
by the name of McGahha; Jacob, who was killed by
the falling of the “Y” bridge at Zanesville in 1833,
on which he was at work as a carpeuter (he was
instructed by Buckingham to drive a key, but Jacob
informed him that if it was done the bridge would
fall, but Mr. Buckingham remarked “drive away,”
and Jacob did so, and as he had prophesied the

bridge swayed and went down carrying them with
it, down to their deaths)

;
Peter is next in order of

birth; Sophia became the wife of a Mr. Smith; Effie

married Thomas Longshore; Philip, and Sarah
who married a man by the name of Martin. For
his second wife Robert Boyd married Mrs. Sarah
(Cox) Longshore, by whom he had one child,

Joseph, who lives in Newton township, Muskingum
county, and is the only living representative of the

Boyd family. Robert Boyd was the first auctioneer

in the county and during the latter years of his life

he was a member of the United Brethren church.

He died in 1853 at the extremely advanced age of

ninety-six years. His widow departed this life in

September, 1866, at the age of eighty-five years.

Joseph Boyd, their son, was born December 14,

1825, in Brush Creek township, this county, on a

quarter section of land that adjoined his pres-

ent home. His early life was spent on the home
farm, and in the early subscription schools he ob-

tained a limited education. He remained at home
until twenty-five years of age, and on April 3, 1851,
he was married to Miss Susan L. Riley, after which
he rented theDeitrick farm, near Stovertown, where
he resided five years. He subsequently bought
eighty acres of land on Brush creek, where James
Pletcher now resides, purchasing, eight years later,

or in 1864, the Riley homestead of 162J acres, the
same on which he is now residing. In addition to

looking after the interests of his farm, he follows

auctioneering, and is considered one of the best in

the county. His maiden effort in that line was the

selling of the Riley estate in 1864, which he him-
self purchased immediately afterward. He has
served nine years as justice of the peace, six in

Brush Creek township and three in Newton. He
was commissioned notary public in 1884, and for

eight years was clerk of Brush Creek township'

Mr. Boyd possesses much executive ability, and this

attribute has been recognized by his election to

different public positions, and to the fact that he
has been the administrator of numerous estates.

Eight children were born to himself and wife:

Reuben N., Elizabeth E., Lydia J. (deceased),

Phsebe A., Robert W. (deceased), James E., John
S. and ISarah M. Reuben, Lydia, James and
Sarah have taught school, and the rest have a good
common education. Mr. Boyd and his wife are

members of the Methodist Episcopal church, hold-

ing membership at Bethel. Mr. Boyd is a repub-

lican in politics. His wife is a daughter of William
Freeman Riley, a pioneer settler of this county, to

which he came in 1818. He purchased the place

where his son-in-law, Joseph Boyd, now resides, at

which time but a few acres had been cleared, and
on this land he made a permanent home. He was
twice married, espousing his first wife in Virginia,

she bearing him the following children, who came
with him to this county: Anna (Mrs. McCoy) and
Rebecca (Mrs. Crossland). His second wife was
Mary Palmer-

,
of Maryland, but their marriage was

celebrated in Virginia. For many years Mr. Riley

was in the government employ at Harper’s Ferry.

After settling on his land here he began clearing

and improving it. He and his second wife early

associated themselves with the M. E. church, and
throughout life they were consistent Christians.

They became the parents of five children in Vir-

ginia: Martha A., John N. (deceased), Samuel P.

,

William F. and James O., and the following in

Ohio: Reuben (deceased), John Wesley, Zachariah,

Mary E., Elizabeth, Susan, George W. and Lorenza

H. Mr. Riley died in 1863 at the age of eighty-

one years and his widow on December 6, 1873 in

the eighty-sixth year of her age.

George W. Boyer is a substantial farmer of

Licking township, and has passed all his life in

Muskingum county. Basil Boyer, his father, was
born near Frederickstown, Md., March 14, 1812,

and was one of a family of nine children born to

his parents, the other members of the family being

David W., John, William, Thomas, Matilda,

Nancy, Eliza and Catharine. Basil Boyer inher-

ited German blood of his ancestors, and when a

young man of seventeen he came on foot to Musk-
ingum county and had only a $5 bill in his pocket

upon his arrival. He began working for William
Francis, a farmer on edge of Licking county near

the Muskingum county line. January 3, 1841, he

was married to Miss Mary A. Francis, who was
born February 18, 1816, daughter of William and
Mary (Romine) Francis. Mr. Boyer resided on
the home farm for about four years after his mar-

riage, then purchased land in this county, on

which he resided until his death, April 14, 1883, at
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the age of seventy-one years. He was a man of

great energy, and by his own exertions became pos-

sessed of a handsome property, owning at the time

of his death 500 acres of good farming land. He
made it the rule of his life to attend to his own
affairs, and although a democrat, politically, he let

office and politics alone. His widow survived him
until July 20, 1886, when she, too, passed away.
Their union resulted in the birth of three children

—George W. , Amos M. and Corbin M. The eld-

est child was born January 20, 1842, on the edge of

Licking county, on the farm belonging to his grand-

father Francis, and was a little over four years of

age when his father brought him to this county.

He obtained a common-school education and learned

the details of farming, and upon reaching man-
hood was married to Mary E. Perry, daughter of

Elijah and Eliza (Perry) Perry, the former of

whom came from Virginia to this section in the

fall of 1836, having married a short time previous

to this event. He became the father of four chil-

dren—William T., Mary E., Lewis W. and Sam-
uel E. Mr. Perry is yet living on his farm in

Licking township and is a member of the Disciple

church. His wife died in 1887. After his mar-
riage Mr. Boyer resided on a farm in Licking
township for sixteen years and then moved to his

present farm. He has been quite successful and is

the owner of 200 acres of good land, well fitted

up with excellent buildings of all kinds. He is a

democrat in politics, but, like his father before

him, he takes but little interest in politics, prefer-

ring to devote his time and attention to his farm.

He and his wife are members of the Baptist
church, and he is a man whose word is considered
as good as his bond. He and his wife have two
children: Livonna C. and AVilliam E., both of

whom are well educated. The latter attended
school at Hanover and Pataskala, and is now teach

ing in Licking county with good success. He ex-

pects to complete his education, and being a young
man of excellent ability, will undoubtedly succeed.
The following is a sketch of the Perry family:

Elijah Perry, one of the influential and much
esteemed citizens of Muskingum county, Ohio, is

the son of John and Susan Perry. John Perry
was born in Germany and came to the United
States when a small boy. He resided in Philadel-

phia and followed this trade, shoemaker, all his

life and accumulated considerable property, the
most of which he lost, however, by going security
for his friends. He was twice married, first, to

Miss Frances
, who bore him four chil-

dren: Samuel, George, Polly and Fanny. The
eldest son, Samuel, was a farmer by occupation,
and served a short time in the War of 1812. He
and his brother, George, emigrated to the terri-

tory of Indiana at an early date and there resided

for many years. George was engaged in business

in Indianapolis, and became quite popular in

political affairs, holding the office of county judge

for some time. The sisters, Polly and Fanny,
went with their brothers to Indiana. John Per-

ry’s second marriage was to Susan Utterback and
the fruits of this union were six children: AVilliam,

Harriet, Isabella, Caleb, Elijah and Susan. Will-

iam was twice married, his first wife being Lucy
Wals, who bore him no children. He moved to

Ohio in 1830 and the following year his wife died.

His second marriage was to Martha
,
and

they became the parents of six children. Mr.

Perry died at the age of eighty- one. Harriet

married Jacob Tipton, a farmer, and they became
the parents of several children. Isabella was
twice married, first to M. Andrews, who was a

shoemaker and a skilled workman. To them were
born eight children, all of whom died in infancy,

except one and she married a British officer. Her
second marriage was to a Mr. Proctor, a brick-

layer by trade. Caleb left Virginia in 1840 and
went to the northern part of Illinois, where he

worked at the carpenter’s trade. Susan married

Charles Sumption, a blacksmith by trade, and
several children were born to them. Elijah

Perry, subject of this sketch, was born in Fred-

erick county, Va., in 1810, and was but two years

old when his father died. His mother died in

1834. He learned the carpenter’s trade in his

youth, but after his marriage in 1836, he began
his career as an agriculturist and that has been
his principal occupation since. He married Miss
Eliza Perry, daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth

Perry, and six children were the result of this

union: William T., Thornton A., Mary E. , Lewis
W., Samuel E. and Eliza I. Thornton A. died in

1849 and Eliza I. the following year. Elijah

Perry emigrated to Ohio in October, 1836, with

his father-in-law, and made the journey in wagons.

W7hen he arrived he could have put all his house-

hold possessions in a Hour barrel, and $1.50 was
all the money he owned. He went to housekeep-

ing in Licking county, but subsequently moved to

Muskingum county, where, in 1847, he bought a

farm of sixty acres, three miles south of Nashport.

His wife died March 17, 1887, and he kept house
until 1892, when he moved to his daughters. He
united with the Disciple church, February 26,

1859, and was immersed by Abraham AA’alker.

Since that time he has been a devoted follower of

Christ and has read the New Testament through
seventy-one times.

Among the residents of Muskingum county,

Ohio, the name of John H. Boyer is a familiar

one. Ho was born in Guernsey county, this state,

March 24, 1844, and is the sou of Abraham and
Catherine (Fifer) Boyer. Abraham was a native
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of Pennsylvania and the son of William Boyer,
who came from Pennsylvania and died here. He
was born January 13, 1801, and moved to Ohio
about 1840, settling in Guernsey county, where
he purchased a farm. He remained there but a

short time, when he came to Salt Creek township,
this county, but moved back about 1855. He is

now residing iu Muskingum county with his chil-

dren. While in Pennsylvania he married Cath-
erine Fifer, a native of Pennsylvania, and they
were the parents of eight children : Julia A. (who
married Mr. Waller, of Guernsey county), Lavinia
(who married Kark Bird, of Guernsey county),

William (who is living in Kansas. He was a sol-

dier in the Ninth Illinois infantry and saw a good
deal of hard service. He is married and has one
child), Alexander (who is living in this township
and also served in the war), Catherine (who is

Mrs. Wilson, of Guernsey county), Rebecca (the

wife of Mr. Hiner, of Muskingum county), Levy
(who served in Company A, Fifteenth Ohio infan-

try and is a married man living in Guernsey
county) and John H. (our subject). Mrs. Boyer
died in 1846, in Guernsey county, Ohio, and Mr.
Boyer married for his second wife Mary Norman,
of Noble county. They have a family of six chil-

dren: James (who is living at Shawnee, Perry
county), Sarah (deceased), Samuel (farmer of Salt

Creek township, this county), David (living at

Shawnee, Perry county), Mary J. and Obediah
(both died while young). Mr. and Mrs. Boyer
were pioneers of the state and worthy members of

the Methodist Episcopal church. John H. was
reared in this and Guernsey counties, receiving a

district-school education. November 16, 1861, he
enlisted in Company A, Seventy-eighth Ohio Volun-
teer infantry, veteranized, and was four years in

the service and served in the battles of Henry,
Fort Donelson, Shiloh, Corinth, Iuka, Jackson,
Bolivar, Vicksburg and Raymond. At Champion’s
Hill he was shot in the neck and jawbone and
disabled for three or four months. He rejoined

his regiment at Vicksburg and took part in the
battles of Resaca, Ga., Big Shanty, and at Kene-
saw mountain was again wounded. Later he took
part in the battle of Atlanta and siege of Atlanta,

was also at Bentonville, S. C., against Gen. John-
ston and with Sherman on his raid. He was
paroled at Columbus, and at the time of his enlist-

ment was the youngest in the company. After the
war he settled on the farm he now occupies at Rix’s

Mills, Muskingum county, and married Margaret
Muble, daughter of John Muble, a native of Scot-

land, but an old pioneer of this county. She was
born in 1843 in England. Mr. Boyer is one of

the successful farmers of this neighborhood, and
takes a great interest in all matters for the ad-

vancement and improvement of the county. Him-

self and family are members of the Methodist
Episcopal church. Following are the names of

the children: Belle (who married Samuel Moore,
of Newark, Ohio), William (of Perry county), Mat-
tie, Leilie (at home), Elmer C., John and Flora

(at home). He lost three children: Louis, Perlie

and Flora. Mr. Boyer has also three grandchil-

dren: Edna, Bertha and John.

George L. Bradford, Otsego, Ohio, is one of the old

soldier citizens of this township. He comes of old

Virginian colonial family and a branch of the

famous New England family, who descend from
Gov. William Bradford, one of the Pilgrim

fathers. The great-grandfather of our subject

was a sea captain, a farmer of Loudoun county, Va.,

and a Revolutionary soldier. Three of his sons

are remembered by our subject—John, George, and
Casper. Both John and Casper settled in Mus-
kingum county, and George settled in Marion
county, Ind.

,
and reared a family of twenty-two

children. John Bradford was the grandfather ,of

our subject and married in Virginia, Mary Davis,

whose father was a soldier in the Revolutionary

war and carried the scar of a sabre cut on his

head. John Bradford was the father of eleven

children: Margaret, Hannah, William, John, Jas-

per, Benjamin, David, Isaac (died an infant), Isaac

(who was the seventh son), Sarah, and Mary A.

John Bradford was the original pioneer of the

Bradfords, and settled in a dense wilderness and
cleared up a farm of 330 acres. He lived to about

eighty years of age. He built the first frame

building in Highland township, which was an

addition to his hewed-log house. He owned the

first threshing machine ever used in Highland
township. Mrs. Bradford died an old lady and
Mr. Bradford married Cassie Wright, a widow.

Jasper Bradford, their son and the father of

our subject, was born in Highland township in

1818. He received but a limited education and
married Mary E. Lane, daughter of Abraham and
Mary (Baker) Lane, of Highland township. Mary
was but seventeen years of age when she married,

and died at the age of twenty. She was the

mother of two children—Achsah L. and George L.

Abraham Lane was of English descent and was
from Pennsylvania. He lived to be eighty years

of age. After the death of his wife, Jasper Brad-

ford married Elizabeth Davis, by whom he became
the father of four children—Harriet, Ellen, John
M. , and Amanda. He moved to Edgar county, 111.,

and this wife died. Mr. Bradford then returned

to Ohio and settled in Morrow county, and married

Mary Miller. This wife died and he married Lucy
Shaffer. He is now living on his farm in Morrow
county. George L. Bradford, his son, was born in

Highland township, November 27, 1843. His

mother died when he was but four weeks old, on
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Christmas day, 1843, and he thus never knew any-

thing about a parent’s care. He was reared by his

aunt, Achsah Bradford, wife of Benjamin Brad-
ford and mother of Dr. John I. Bradford. [See

sketch.] He was married January 10, 1867, to

Lucinda J. Cone, daughter of Barton Cone and
Julia A. (Walker) Cone. Barton Cone was the

son of Jared Cone and the father of Mrs. Bradford.

He was born in Monroe township and married Julia

Walker. They were the parents of ten children

—

Lucinda, Celia, Eliza, Newel, Ozias, William,

Hannah, James, Joseph and Edmund. He was
a soldier in the 100 days’ service and lived to the

age of sixty-five years, dying December, 1887.

After marriage, George L. Bradford first settled

on a farm belonging to Barton Cone, in Muskin-
gum township, where he lived about three years,

and in April, 1870, bought his present farm. To
Mr. and Mrs. Bradford have been born five chil-

dren, all sons: Barton I. (born October 1, 1867),

Wilmer L. (born October 10, 1869), Howard L.

(born September 11, 1871), O. Ephram (born July

27, 1873), Philander S. (born February 26, 1885).

Barton I. is a farmer of this township, and married
Ella Case, daughter of James Case. Wilmer L.

is an employe of the Pan Handle Railroad.

Howard L. is a school teacher and has taught in

this township. The remainder are at home. They
all have good common school educations. Howard
L. attended college at New Concord. Mr. Brad-
Bradford is a substantial farmer, good citizen, and
has held the office of township trustee for nine

years. He and his wife are members of the Bap-
tist church, and Mr. Bradford has been deacon
sixteen years. In politics he is a stanch repub-

lican. On October 6, 1862, Mr. Bradford enlisted

in Company F, Seventy-Eighth Ohio Volunteer
infantry, and served nine months. He was in the

battle of Raymond, Miss., Champion’s Hill, Jack-

son, Miss., and throughout the seige of Vicks-

burg. In February, 1863, he was on the night

watch at Nashville, Tenn., in the quartermaster’s

department, six months. At the battle of Cham-
pion’s Hill he was wounded by a gunshot in the

right hand and had his gun stock shot to pieces by
a minie-ball, and at Raymond received a spent

ball in his blanket which he had rolled around his

body. The ball struck him on the breast and
passed through about two inches of the rolled

blanket which saved his life. He was discharged

at Vicksburg, Miss, July 13, 1863, and re-enlisted

at Zanesville February 2, 1865, in Company E,

One Hundred and Ninety- fifth Ohio Volunteer
infantry, and detained as mounted orderly for

Gen. VV. H. Banning and discharged al Alexan-
dria, Va., December 18, 1865. Mr. Bradford is a

member of the G. A. R.
,
John Trimble Post 628,

Department of Ohio, of Otsego, Ohio, and is at

present commander. He has held the office of

chaplain for three years. He is still in the prime
of life and is a man of integrity and a practical

farmer. He descends from one of the most ancient

and honorable of the old colonial families who
number among them many of the most distinguished

men of the past and present.

Dr. John I. Bradford, Ostego, Ohio, is one of

the leading physicians of Muskingum county, and
the only one residing in Otsego. The family is one
of the old pioneer families descending from Vir-

ginia colonial stock, of English descent, who early

settled in Hardy county, Va., and came to Ohio
among the early pioneers, settling in Highland
township, Peter and John Bradford being the

first of the name to come. They married sisters;

Peter married Nancy Davis, and John, Sarah
Davis. John was the grandfather of our subject. His
father’s name was also John, who came to Ohio and
died here. John Bradford and his wife, Sarah,
were the parents of eleven children: Peggie, Han-
nah, William, John, Casper, Benjamin, David,
Isaac (deceased), Isaac, Sarah and Mary J. When
Mr. Bradford settled on his land it was an entire

wilderness. He owned at one time about 350 acres

of land and had money at interest. He lived to

the age of about seventy- eight years and was one
the sterling pioneer characters. He died in 1S66.

His first wife died and Mr. Bradford married Cas-
sie Wright, a widow with a family of children.

John W. Davis, father of Sarah (Davis) Bradford,
was also from Hardy county, Va.

,
and was orig-

inally from Wales. He was a soldier in the

Revolutionary war, and came with his family to

Ohio at the same time the Bradfords came. John
W. Davis married Margaret Cornell, and they were
the parents of Sarah, Nancy, David, William, Ben-
jamin, John and Mary. Mr. Davis settled in the
same section in Highland township as the Brad-
fords. Benjamin Bradford, son of John Bradford,

and the father of our subject, was born on the old

homestead in Highland township, April 11, 1821,

and was brought up in the rough schools of the

pioneer and backwoodsmen. He early learned to

work on the farm and married Achsah Lane, No-
vember 2, 1845. She was the daughter of Abraham
and Mary (Baker) Lane. The father was from
Pennsylvania and was one of the old settlers of

Highland township. After his marriage Benja-
min Bradford settled on the old homestead and
remained here a few years, then bought a farm in

Adams township and remained here until 1869,

when he bought a farm east of Otsego, where he
spent the remainder of his days, dying June 22,

1889, at the age of sixty-eight years. Both Mr.
and Mrs. Bradford were devout members of the

Baptist church and Mr. Bradford was a church
trustee for some years. To them were born eight
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children: Lane died at the age of four years and
ten months, Mary B. died when three years and
six months old, (these two children died within

twenty-four hours of each other of croup), John
I., Jeremiah M. , Sarah C., Obediah L., Epliram
H. and Edgar E. Like his father, Mr. Bradford

was a good moral citizen, peaceable and an excellent

neighbor. He was greatly beloved by his family.

His widow is yet living. She was born November
2, 1819, is now an old lady in good health, retain-

ing all her faculties. John I. Bradford, their son

and our subject, was born on his Grandfather

Lane’s farm in Monroe township, January 23, 1850.

He grew up in this county and when about seven-

teen years of age hired out to work at farm work
for about three j^ears. Then breaking his arm, he
attended school more continuously. He began
teaching school in the fall of 1870, and so continued

until 1876, when he took up the study of medicine

with his uncle, Dr. J. M. Lane, of Bloomfield,

Highland township, to which study he applied

himself for three years, meanwhile attending the

Columbus Medical college and graduating in the

spring of 1879. He then began practicing medi-

cine at Otsego, where he has been in continuous

practice for thirteen years and has built up a large

and lucrative practice. Dr. Bradford is a man
who keeps up with the times and is informed in all

new developments of medical sciences. He married

on May 1, 1879, Matilda Davis, ^nd they were the

parents of two children: Emma M. and James C.

R. Mrs. Bradford died April 23, 1884, and the

Doctor married again February 3, 1887, Florence

I. Boyce. They have had one child, Boyce E.,

born January 6, 1892. Both Dr. and Mrs. Brad-

ford are members of the Methodist Episcopal

church. Dr. Bradford is public spirited, contrib-

utes liberally of his means to assist his church and
has taken an active interest in the cause of educa-

tion. He was a member of the school board for

twelve years. The Bradford family descend from
good old colonial stock. Mrs. Dr. Bradford is en-

gaged in the mercantile business for herself in the

firm of Cowden & Boyce. Jennie Boyce, her sis-

ter, now Mrs. McCurdy and formerly Mrs. R. M.
Cowden, is her partner. The business was origi-

nated by R. M. Cowden and now run by the two
sisters. The firm stands high and have ample
capital. They carry the largest stock in Otsego.

The Muskingum valley is one of the most fertile

agricultural regions of the state of Ohio, and in

Salt Creek township, near this locality, Milton

Clay Brookover is the owner of a farm of 136 acres,

which he tills in a careful manner, and is also en-

gaged in buying and selling stock. He is of

German descent, and traces his ancestry back to

Jacob Brookover, who was born in Germany on

the 29th of February, 1738, near the Rhine river.

At quite an early age he left Germany, with the
rest of his father’s family to come to this country,

and after a long journey of seventeen weeks (all

of the family but himself having died on the
voyage), he landed on American shores.

The ship on which he sailed was manned by a

desperate crew, who attempted to starve the pas-

sengers to death, and were only prevented from
so doing by the threats of the passengers to throw
the captain of the vessel overboard unless he
reached land by a stated time. Jacob Brookover
learned the tailor trade in Maryland; afterward
married, and raised a family of eight children.

Three of his sons served in the Revolutionary war,
one being in the regular army. After the close

of the war he moved to Virginia, and afterward
came to Ohio, where he died at the age of eighty-

nine years. Richard Brookover, his son, and
grandfather of Milton Clay Brookover, was born
at Fredericksburg, Md., October 26, 1771,
was a carpenter and farmer by occupation, was
fairly successful in both callings, and was for

many years a resident of this county. His home
was in Wayne township, about four miles from
Zanesville. He was a man whom to know was to

honor. He died in 1846, and was buried in

cemetery near Fairview church. Lylle Brookover
was one of seven children born to Richard Brook-
over and wife, whose maiden name was Mary
Cochran, and first saw the light of day on Third
street, Zanesville, Ohio, on the 4th of October,

1808, at which time the place was a mere village,

and gave no promise of being the bustling city it

now is. He became a man of much discrimina-

tion and judgment, and was frequently called to

places of public trust. About middle life his

hearing began to fail, and in his later years be-

came entirely deaf. But for this sad affliction his

influence would have been more widely felt.

He was first a whig in politics, afterward be-

came a republican, and so continued throughout
the remainder of his days. He was a member of

the Methodist Episcopal church for over fifty years.

He was an omnivorous reader, and had a most
thorough knowledge of the affairs of his country.

He was married to Miss Sarah Mercer, in 1837,

who survives him and is seventy-eight years old,

by whom he had four sons. He died in 1886 in

his seventy -eighth year. Milton, the eldest of his

sons was born on the old homestead in Muskingum
county, Ohio. May 1 5, 1838, and acquired a fair

education in the common schools. After teaching

school for a short time he turned his attention to

farming and stock dealing, and this has been his

chief occupation ever since.

He was married April 10, 1864, to Miss

Kate A. Shane, daughter of Samuel and Sophia

(Bowers) Shane, and to their union one daughter
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was born, whom they named Eura B. Mrs. Brook-

over, a Christian woman, was called from life on

the 29th of January, 1876, and on the 8th of

January, 1878, he took for his second wife, Miss
Anna M. Adams, daughter of Zachariah and
Harriet (Williams) Adams. Mr. Brookover has

two sons by his second wife—Charlie A. and Will

Carleton, both promising lads. Mr. Brookover is

a republican in politics, and more than a year ago
joined the Farmer’s Alliance, in which he takes a

deep and abiding interest. He is a believer in the

faith of the Methodist Episcopal church, of which
he is quite a regular attendant and a liberal sup-

porter. He lives about one-fourth of a mile from
Carlwick station on B. Z. & C. R. R., and is the

postmaster at that point. He has entered heart

and soul in the movement for the benefit of the

agricultural classes, but is a patron of all worthy
institutions and movements Mrs. Brookover was
born in Madison township of this county, April

8, 1840, and is of English and German descent.

After she acquired an education, she followed the

occupation of teaching until about the time she was
married. Her father, Zachariah Adams, was born

in Norfolk, Va., the second of a family of ten

children, eight sons and two daughters, and in

mature years was elected sheriff of the county, but

owing to failing health was obliged to resign the

office, and made a trip to the island of Cuba, where
he remained six months. He died in 1864. His
father, Littleton Adams, was also a Virginian, aud
was a soldier in the War of 1812, and became pay-

master. When ten years of age he was brought
from his native state to Ohio, as his parents were
not believers in slavery, and spent the remainder
of his days in Muskingum county. Mrs. Brook-
over’s mother is still living at the age of seventy-

three years on the old home place in Madison
township, and is a most estimable Christian lady.

Mr. Brookover’ s three brothers, Newton H.
,
Charles

M. and John M., are still living, as is also his

mother in her seventy-eighth year. One sister of

his father, Mrs. Mary C. Patton, is still living, the

only surviving member of his father’s family.

Among the thousands of brave men who fought
desperately in defense of the old flag was D. J.

Brown, merchant, Dillon, Ohio, who enlisted in

the winter of 1863 in Company G, Thirty-first

Ohio Volunteer infantry. He was transferred to

the front immediately and assigned to Gen. Sher-

man’s army, then in front of Atlanta. He partici-

pated in the battles of Resaca, Ga., May 14, 1864;
Tunnel Hill, May 8, 1864; Dalton, May 12, 1864;
Dallas Gap, May 27, 1864; Pine Mountain, June
19, 1864; Kenesaw Mountain, June 24, 1864;
Chattahoochee River, July 5, 1864; Peach Tree
Creek, July 20, 1864; Atlanta, September, 2, and
Jonesboro, September 4, of that year. Ho was

at Nashville and Savannah in January, 1865; Ben-
tonville, N. C., March 19, 1865; Goldsboro, March
23, 1865, and Raleigh, April 13, 1865. Mr.
Brown served from the time of enlistment until

his discharge on the 20th of July, 1865. He
passed through the battles above mentioned un-

scathed, save a mere scratch from a bullet at At-

lanta. Returning to his home he filled the posi-

tion of salesman in a store for some time. In
1867 he was wedded to Miss Kate Marshall, and
afterward settled on a farm where he followed

agricultural pursuits for some time. In 1878 he
opened a store in Junction City, Ohio, which he
conducted for some time and then removed to

Stovertown, where he established a store and later

conducted a hotel. In 1888 he opened a general

store at Cannellville, where he is now doing a gen-

eral mercantile business, carrying a general stock

of goods and doing an annual business of from
$10,000 to $12,000. He is a gentleman of high
social and business standing, who has won success

by honestly deserving it. He was born in Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, July 18, 1846, his birth oc-

curring at Roseville. He is a member of Dan
Brown Post No. 380, Duncan’s Falls, Ohio, and he
is also a member of the K. of P., Cannell lodge

No. 437. Politically he is a republican.

Robert Burns Brown was born in New Concord,

Ohio, October 2, 1844. Hisancesters were Scotch

-

Irish and emigrated to America about the begin-

ning of this century. Robert Brown, his grand-

father, originally settled at Chambersburg, Penn.,

aud here Alexander, the father of Robert Burns
Brown, was born in 1812. In 1816 the grand-
father entered a quarter section of land in High-
land township, Muskingum county, Ohio, and this

farm remained in the possession of the family six-

ty years. Robert Burns Brown, who was named
after the great Scotch poet by his patriotic grand-
mother, who rejoiced in their Scotch origin, spent

his youth in the village schools of his native town
and was preparing to enter Muskingum college

when the war’s dread alarm thrilled the country in

the spring of 1861. He enlisted with two cous-

ins and several classmates, April 17, 1861. in Com-
pany A., Fifteenth Ohio Volunteers, but was
rejected on account of his youth. August 9, fol-

lowing, he was sworn into the service as a private

in Company A, Fifteenth Ohio infantry, then

being organized for “.three years or during the war.
’’

He re-enlisted as a veteran volunteer in February,

1864, and served throughout the war in the ranks,

being mustered out December 27, 1865, after a serv-

ice of fifty-three months. He participated in all

the battles and skirmishes in which his regiment
was engaged, except the battle of Nashville, when
he was suffering from a wound received in front of

Atlanta, G a., July 23, 1864. Mr. Brown entered
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Eastman’s National Business college at Poughkeep-
sie, N. Y.

,
in March, 1866, and after his gradua-

tion taught school in Minnesota four years. He
improved his spare hours in fitting himself for

the profession of law, but in 1873 accepted the

city editorship of the Zanesville “Courier,” and has

continued in the newspaper business ever since.

He is now secretary and treasurer of the Courier

company, and as business manager conducts the

affairs of that establishment under the direction

of the board of directors. In 1885 at the twen-

tieth annual session of the Department of Ohio,

Grand Army of the Republic, Mr. Brown was
elected department commander of Ohio, and main-
ly by his efforts the Ohio Soldiers and Sailors’

Home at Sandusky, Ohio, was established. He
was the first trustee appointed, and is now serving

his second term of five years. In politics Mr.
Brown is an earnest republican. He early im-

bibed from his father, who was an original abo-

litionist, an intense hatred of slavery and the radi-

cal protection doctrine as taught by Henry Clay.

In religion he is a Presbyterian with a more than
reverential love for the stalwart theology of his

sturdy ancestry, the Scotch Covenanters. Robert
Burns Brown has lived a quiet and uneventful

life, seeking as far within him lay, the right, and
is content to pursue the even tenor of his way with

no thought of fame, craving only the esteem and
good-will of his fellow citizens.

Dr. Edmund Cone Brush was born in Zanes-

ville, Ohio, October 22, 1852, to the union of Ed-
mund and Alice S. (Cone) Brush. When eight

years of age he was left fatherless, and the mother
subsequently moved with her family to Marietta,

Ohio, where the Doctor attended the public schools.

When ten years of age he entered the academic
department of Marietta college, graduated from
that institution in 1868, and afterward held a clerk-

ship until 1871. At that date he began reading

medicine under Dr. B. F. Hart, one of the most
prominent and leading physicians of that section,

and the following year attended the lectures at

Starling Medical college. On July 3, 1873, he was
appointed, under Gov. Noyes, on the medical staff

of the Ohio jmmtentiary, and was relieved from
his position in the summer of 1874 by a change in

political rule. He then completed his medical

studies at Starling Medical college, under Dr.

Davis Halderman, graduating in the spring of 1875.

He immediately located at Harmar, Ohio, and prac-

ticed his profession successfully until the spring of

1876. The republicans having come into power
and Rutherford B. Hayes having been elected gov-

ernor, Dr. Brush was elected to his old position on
the medical staff in the penitentiary, where he re-

mained until the election of Gov. Bishop, when he
again retired. In 1873, during his first term on the

medical staff of the penitentiary, cholera was prev-

alent in the penitentiary, and Dr. Brush battled

with this fell destroyer so bravely and successfully

as to receive honorable mention in the annual re-

port of the prison board to the governor. Imme-
diately upon leaving this position he was appointed
demonstrator of anatomy in the Columbus Medical
college, and the following year, 1879, he resigned

to accept a similar position in his alma mater
,
which

he occupied two years, one year of which, in addi-

tion to his duties there, he was assistant physician

to the insane asylum. In 1881, desiring to get into

general practice, he resigned his position and lo-

cated in the mining district, at Corning, Ohio,

where he was appointed surgeon of the Ohio Cen-
tral Mining company, also of the Ohio Central

Railroad company. There he remained until the

spring of 1884. On October 24, 1883, while there

he was united in marriage with Miss Fanny R.
Russell, of Zanesville, daughter of the Hon.
Charles C. and Lavica (Morehead) Russell. In
May, 1884, Dr. Brush removed with his wife to

Zanesville, where he at once began practicing. He
is surgeon for five of the lines of railroad here, a

member of the United States board of pension ex-

aminers of Muskingum county, president of the

Hildreth District Medical society, and from 1886
to 1891 he served as one of the physicians at the

county infirmary. For two years he was physician

to the Zanesville workhouse, and for five years,

from 1885 to 1890, he was assistant secretary to the

Ohio State Medical society, and has this year, 1892,

been elected second vice-president of that society.

He is at present surgeon to Zanesville hospital,

also trustee of The John Mclntire Children’s

home, at Zanesville, and president of the board of

trustees of Zanesville Athemeum. Dr. Brush is

descended from Revolutionary stock, and takes an
active interest in military affairs. He is at present

colonel of the First regiment artillery, O. N. G.

He has been a close student of the military history

of our country, and his articles on military subjects

have been published in the “Army and Navy Jour-

nal” and the “ Century Magazine. ” He has also

been a constant contributor to the medical litera-

ture of the day. The Doctor’s marriage has re-

sulted in the birth of four children—two sons and
two daughters: Edmund Russell, Alice Russell,

Russell, and Fanny Margaret. Mrs. Brush is a

much esteemed member of the Episcopal church.

Dr. Brush is a republican in politics, and advo-

cates the principles of that party.

Ebenezer Buckingham Jr., son of Ebenezer
Buckingham Sr., and Esther (Bi'adley) Bucking-
ham, was born February 9, 1778 at Greenfield,

Conn., and was married three times: First, Novem-
ber 27, 1805 in Marietta, Ohio, to Catharine Put-

nam, who was born October 17, 1780, daughter of
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Gen. Rufus Putnam, of Revolutionary fame. She
died March 14, 1808, and was interred at Zanes-

ville, Ohio. Second, March 31,1812, in Fairfield,

Ct.
,

to Sarah Sturges, who was born December 4,

1786, daughter of Dirnon and Sarah (Perry)

Sturges. She died April 9, 1815, in Zanesville,

Ohio, and is interred there. Third, August 5, 1816,

in Glastonbury, Conn.
,
to Eunice Hale, who was

born October 22, 1792, fifth child of Benjamin and
Martha (Wells) Hale. She died February 28,

1843, in Zanesville, Ohio, and is interred there.

Mr. Ebenezer Buckingham was killed August 21,

1832, and lies buried in Woodlawn cemetery,

Zanesville, Ohio. Mr. E. Buckingham Jr., was
one of the pioneers of Ohio. His ancestors, both

paternal and maternal, were of the old New
England Puritan stock. Thomas Buckingham,
the ancestor of the American Buckinghams, arrived

at Boston, June 26, 1637, and March 30, follow-

ing, sailed for Quinnipack, now New Haven, where
he arrived in about a fortnight. Of his children,

it is necessary to mention but one, the youngest,

and ancestor of the subject of this sketch, Rev.

Thomas Buckingham, who was born at Milford,

Conn., November 8, 1646. He was held in high

esteem by his people, and was one of the founders

and a fellow of Yale college, from 1700 till his

decease, and a strong supporter of its interests.

He died April 1, 1709, at Saybrook, Conn. His
monument is still standing in the old burying

ground of Saybrook, and also that of Mrs. Hester
Buckingham, his first wife. Daniel, the third

child of Rev. Thomas and Hester Buckingham,
was born October 3, 1672, and married Sarah Lee,

of Lyme, Conn. He was a prominent and useful

member of the church, and died March 25, 1725.

His son Stephen married Elizabeth Sherwood, of

Fairfield, Conn. (Their home was for some time

at Norwalk, Conm, where his uncle, Rev. Stephen
Buckingham, who had adopted him was pastor for

many years.) He was lost at sea in 1756. His
widow died at Cooperstown, N. Y., in 1792, aged
eighty-four years, in the home of her son, Ebenezer,

who married Esther Bradley, of Greenfield, Conn.,

and after removing to a place west of the Hudson
River, Nine Partners, thence to Ballston, N. Y.

,

came in 1794 to Cooperstown, N. Y., when Eben-
ezer Buckingham Jr., the subject of this sketch,

was about sixteen years old. The facilities for

getting an education were limited in those days;

but Ebenezer Jr., made the most of his oppor-
tunities, and spent many of his study hours in his

boat, floating on the clear waters of Lake Otsego.

His favorite books were those on mathematics and
surveying, having to walk several miles to his

recitations, where he fitted himself for the first

work that he was to undertake in the wilderness of

the West. The exodus of the Ohio company to
23

the Northwest Territory had aroused the pioneer

spirit over all the country. The thirst for ad-

venture and the hope of fortune, fostered by the In-

dian traditions among which he lived, took such

possession of this lad (for such he was), that when
he was eighteen years old, he bade farewell to his

family, and started on foot across the Allegheny
mountains to find the El Dorado. Early in the

spring of 1796, he crossed the Ohio river from
Williamstown to Marietta, with a small grip sack

and an ax and 12^ cents in his pocket, and
walking up into the town, going to the first house

he saw, which proved to be Gen. Rufus Putnam’s,

of Revolutionary fame, asked him “ if he could

give him some. work. ” The answer was “No, he
did not know that he needed any help.” He then
told him he would like to do some work to earn

his breakfast; the General told: “ I see you have
an ax on your shoulder, and there is a pile of

wood which you can chop up for fire wood until

breakfast time, and I will give you your break-

fast.” While he was busy chopping this wood,

the General’s daughter Kate, looking out of the

dining-room window, said to her father: “Who is

that good-looking young man out there chopping
wood? He has now chopped more wood than that

man you had yesterday all day.
’

’ Shortly after-

ward the General told his daughter Kate to call

the young man in to breakfast, which she did.

Afterward, the General finding how industrious

he was, asked him if he knew how to drive oxen,

he answered that he did. The General told him to

yoke up the oxen and hitch them to that cart and
go up to the base of the hill and haul some clay he
would find there, until noon, and after dinner they

would make it into mortar and chunk and daub the

cabin next adjoiuing the General’s. At noon-time,

having finished hauling the clay he sprinkled some
water over it, and from an adjoining corn crib he
procured a small measure of shelled corn, which
he scattered over the clay; just at that moment the

General appeared, with a desire to know what he
was throwing that corn there for; his answer was:
“ Do you see see those hogs up there ? While we
are eating dinner they will come down here, and
rooting for that corn they will make the clay

up into a nice pile of mortar,” all of which amused
the General very much. The next day the General
went on a surveying trip on the west side of the

river, taking him along as rodsman, and in find-

ing he was so adept and quick he told him if

he would stay with him, he would teach him sur-

veying; in a few weeks’ time he was even a more
expert surveyor than the General himself. At that

period General Putnam had charge of surveying
nearly all the southeast quarter of the state of

Ohio. Whether the General was prepossessed by
this circumstance or not, does not appear, but he
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was certainly kind and interested, and found a

place for young Buckingham in a surveying party
that started off in a day or two. In this trial

trip he displayed such energy and skill as to

quite win the heart of the General, who gave
him other work, and admitted him to his family
circle. During 1798 Mr. Buckingham surveyed
a large portion of Muskingum county, having
William Nye as one of his assistants, and the

meeting place of many of the surveyors, on Sun-
day was at a place called Laurel Point, five miles

southwest of Zanesville on the Maysville pike, and
now occupied by the “Rolling Plain church.”
The records at Columbus, Ohio, show that he was
surveying Coshocton county in the fall of 1796.

In the spring of 1799 his brother, Stephen, fol-

lowed him to Ohio and assisted him that summer,
and in September of 1799 the two brothers re-

turned to Cooperstown, N. Y., and by their glow-
ing accounts of the new country, its delightful cli-

mate and productiveness, they persuaded the

whole family, with the exception of the three chil-

dren already married, to move with them to Ohio.

The journey was a tedious one, and must have
been trying in many ways. They started in De-
cember, 1799, and traveled on sleds as far as

Pittsburg, where they had to wait six weeks for

the ice in the Ohio river to break up. The cattle

were sent through what was then a wilderness,

under the care of Stephen and Milton, to Middle
island, just above Marietta, and the family, with
their goods and chattels, descended the river on a

flatboat. Arriving in March, 1800, they shortly

after, with other families, ascended the Muskin-
gum river and located at the mouth of Killbuck

creek, near the confluence of the Tuscarawas and
Walhonding rivers, which there uniting, form the

Muskingum. This was some miles above the pres-

ent town of Coshocton and the nearest white set-

tlement was Zanesville, thirty miles down the

river. The family remained at this place only two
years, findiog the locality very unhealthy, and in

the fall of 1802 they removed to Carthage town-
ship in Athens county. In the meantime Mr.
Buckingham, who had no taste for farming, had
established a trading post at Coshocton, which
town he surveyed and laid out. The Indians

were quite friendly and familiar with the whites at

this time; but their morality was not proof against

the temptation to appropriate anything they

wanted, if they could get it. They once stole some
of Mr. Buckingham’s horses, and ran them off

toward Lake Erie. He immediately pursued
them alone through the unbroken wilderness to

Sandusky, where, by the aid of a friendly chief,

he succeeded in recovering his horses. He re-

turned home in triumph, riding on a bark saddle,

and without a hat, and was warmly welcomed by

his friends who had thought him lost. The early

years of his life were full of interest and incident,
“ mingling with the aborigines of the country and
to a considerable extent using their language or

penetrating the interminable forest of the west,

among men almost as wild as the beasts whose
skins and furs he sought, and in the course of

time returning again to civilized society, and
gracing its refined circles, the judicial bench and
the legislative hall.’’ In 1804 he was made, by
Jared Manstield (then surveyor-general of the

United States), his deputy, and was engaged in

surveying a part of the state of Indiana around
Vincennes. In 1805 he started a trading post at

what was then called Springfield, now Zanesville,

in a two-story log cabin, which stood on Mus-
kingum avenue just above the Sixth Street bridge,

and on November 27. 1805, he returned to Mari-
etta and married Miss Catherine Putnam, the same
young lady who had called him to breakfast nine

years before. Returning to Putnam, at the birth

of his only child by his first marriage, he had the

severe affliction of losing his wife, March 14, 1808.

In 1810 he built what was known as the “Buck-
ingham Store and Warehouse” on Muskingum
avenue, just south of the jmesent Sixth Street

bridge, which was torn down in 1880. On April

6, 1816, he took into partnership with him his

brother Alvah and his brother-in-law. Solomon
Sturges (brother of his second wife). That part-

nership was a prominent factor in the business of

southeastern Ohio, and continued until it dissolved

by Mr. Buckingham’s sudden death in 1832. He
was mai-ried to his third wife, Eunice Hale, August
5, 1816. As the best means of conveyance, the

wedding party, consisting of Mr. Buckingham, his

bride and her sister Anna, returned to Ohio over

the Alleghany mountains on horseback. Soon af-

ter settling in Springfield, now a part of Zanes-

ville, Mr. Buckingham began to exercise an impor-

tant influence in the community, and by his sound
judgment and excellent business habits did much
to promote public interests, both in his neighbor-

hood and the state. He represented his district

several times in the state senate, and' was one of

the first and most influential in promoting the en-

terprise of building the Ohio canal. As one of

the commissioners of the canal fund of Ohio, an
office he held at the time of his death, he evinced

a sagacity and fidelity which would have done
credit to the ablest financiers. As far as his duty
required, he attended in person along the line of

the canal. The favorable terms on which the, for

that time, extensive loans of the state of Ohio
were made, the facilities for the various financial

operations of the state which were secured by the

commissioners were practically the results of Mr.
Buckingham’s experience, talents and character
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combined. In 1825, in connection with the other

commissioners, Gov. Allen Trimble and Mr. Jo-

seph Perkins, they negotiated in New York city a

loan of the youthful state bearing five per cent, in-

terest at 97 and secured from the Manhattan
County bank, which they made fiscal agents of the

state of Ohio, interest on funds in its hands, a con-

cession which the bank had not made to the state

of New York, for which it was also the fiscal agent.

Among the results of his public spirit and sound

judgment were the building of the two bridges,

which, prior to his death, crossed the Muskingum
and Pataskala rivers at Zanesville. At the build-

ing of one of these he unfortunately lost his life,

August 21, 1832, by the giving way, during a

flood, of the temporary supports upon which it

rested during its construction. Mr. Buckingham
early embraced the religion of Jesus Christ, and

for more than twenty years was a consistent and
exemplary member of the Presbyterian church at

Zanesville. In this, as in other things, he was
thorough. Not content with being a Christian in

name, he practiced the duties which his religion

inculcated, and exerted a decided Christian influ-

ence on all occasions when such influence was re-

quired. His sound principles of business, stern

adherence to the right, honesty above suspicion,

gained for him the confidence of the public, while

his kind heart and generous hand won for him the

love of his personal and intimate acquaintance.

In person he was commanding, his head massive,

his dark eye clear and searching. Many of the

results of his efforts during the early years of the

state of Ohio will remain long after his name shall

have passed from the memory of its inhabitants.

Alvah Buckingham, born March 20, 1791, at

Ballston, N. Y., son of Ebenezer and Esther

(Bradley) Buckingham, was married October 3,

1819, at Glastonbury, Conn., to Anna Hale, who
was born March 9, 1795, the sixth child of Benja-

min and Martha (Welles) Hale. Mrs. Anna Buck-

ingham died on Monday, September 23, 1867, at

13 East Twelfth street, New York city. Mr. Alvah
Buckingham died October 4, 1867, in Putnam
(now the Ninth ward of Zanesville), Ohio, and both

are interred in Woodlawn cemetery, Zanesville,

Ohio. In 1794 his parents removed to Coopers-

town, N. Y. In 1796 his elder brother, Ebenezer,
left home to see the wilds west of the Alleghany
mountains and the Ohio river, followed in the

spring of 1799 by Stephen. In the fall of 1799 they

returned with such glowing accounts of this new
land that their parents, with their numerous chil-

dren, except three married daughters, left Coopers-

town for the western wilderness. They located at

first at the mouth of Killbuck creek. This was
almost the first settlement made in that region,

and was some miles above the present town of

Coshocton. The nearest white settlement was
Zanesville, some thirty miles south, on the Mus-
kingum river. While the elder members of the

family traded with the Indians for furs, robes, etc.

,

the younger ones joined in their sports and learned

their strange language. And this was never en-

tirely forgotten, as fifty years later counting in the

Indian tongue was a source of great entertain-

ment to a delighted circle of little auditors. Their
amusements were, “throwing the tomahawk,”
“shooting with bow and arrow,” “tossing up
wood chips for old Indians to fire at,” in which
they were very expert, and other athletic sports.

In the fall of 1802, finding this location unhealthy,

the family removed to Carthage township, in the

southeastern part of Athens county, Ohio, on the

Hockhocking river. Here the subject of this arti-

cle, Alvah Buckingham, had the inestimable priv-

ilege of attending school. Though it was four

miles distant from his home to the schoolhouse, he
walked thereto daily. Out of school he assisted

on the farm or indulged in hunting. This latter

was his favorite pastime, as at that early date

game was plenty. The woods were infested with

the bear, deer, panther, raccoon, opossum and
wild turkey. Near the farm was quite a celebrated

deerlick, where, on moonlight nights, he was ac-

customed to station his watch, and many a victim

rewarded his unerring rifle. It was in one of

these lonely watches that his quickness of thought
and rapidity of action saved his life and brought
down a huge panther poised just above him, and
ready for the spring. Thus at the age of seven-

teen he met with a severe accident. Hunting in

the wood one day, his horse became frightened,

reared and fell back on his rider. Stunned by
the fall, he yet recovered to find his right leg

broken both above and below the knee, himself

distant from the nearest house, which was his

own home, over three miles away, and no aid for

his rescue but his own mother wit. With a cour-

ageous spirit, and by dint of crawling on his two
hands and one knee, he reached the river, which
fortunately was low enough to enable him to cross,

holding his mouth just above water, and thus

reach home just as his sinking strength gave way.
The limb was splintered as best could be in a

country home, but a long weary year’s confinement
was the result, and ever after a slight, though not

perceptible lameness. In 1804 the older brother,

Ebenezer Buckingham, moved to Putnam (now a part

of Zanesville), Ohio, and to assist him in business.

Alvah followed in 1810, leaving his parents still at

the Hocking farm. In 1813 Stephen, an older

brother, died, and Alvah was called upon to take
charge of his business, which he did for two years.

In April, 1816, Solomon Stnrges and himself (they

afterward married sisters—the Misses Hale of
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Glastonbury, Conn.,) formed a mercantile part-

nership one-fourth each, with his elder brother,

Ebenezer Buckingham, under the firm name of E.
Buckingham <Si Co., a firm widely known in their

then pioneer life. Ebenezer married Eunice Hale
of Glastonbury, Conn., and returning to the West,
brought his sister-in-law, Anna, the whole party
crossing the Alleghany mountains on horseback,

as at that time there were no roads for carriages or

wagons. In 1818 Anna Hale returned to her east-

ern home, but as it proved for only a time. As
leader of the village choir she sat in her accus-

tomed place on the last Sunday of September,
1819, in the old church at Glastonbury. Glancing
below, her eye met the well-known figure of her
western friend. An interview—a hurried proposal—-and a hurried marriage on the following Sabbath
evening—left our young couple free to start on
their homeward western route, and on horseback
again, as in her previous trip, the wife of Alvah
Buckingham was escorted to her pioneer home.
Returning to Putnam, they purchased on the banks
of the Muskingum river a very modest homestead
of one room, and there in 1820 set up their house-
hold goods. In 1821 they built a two-story brick

house, to which they subsequently added, in 1834,

a more commodious addition. This was and is

the old homestead in which all their children

were born, and now (1892) occupied by their young-
est son, James Buckingham.

In October, 1824, Ebenezer Buckingham Sr.,

the father of Alvah, died at the old farmhouse in

Carthage township, Athens county, Ohio, and his

wife, Esther, then removed to the home of her son,

Ebenezer Jr., in Putnam, where she died June
25, 1827. In August, 1832, the firm of E. Buck-
ingham, Jr. & Co., was dissolved by the sudden
and painful death of Ebenezer Buckingham, but
the business was continued under the new name of

“A. Buckingham & Co.,” and the following year
another brother, Milton, was induced to give up
the old farm at Carthage and join the firm, taking

one-half of Alvah’ s share, while at the same time
Solomon Sturges, Alvah’s partner, persuaded his

brother Hezekiah to remove from Fairfield, Conn.,

and share in his share. At this time there was a

great need felt of good schools, and in 1835 a char-

ter for a seminary was secured, to be called the

“Putnam Classical institute” (now Putnam Fe-
male seminary), to be located at Putnam. Mrs.

Eunice Buckingham— wife of Ebenezer— Alvah
Buckingham, Solomon Sturges, Julius C. Guthrie
and Austin A. Guthrie furnished the funds, and the

seminary was established which, through all its

vicissitudes of time, still continues worthy of pat-

ronage. In 1843 Milton Buckingham removed to

Springfield, Ohio, and Alvah could thus admit his

eldest son, Benjamin, to a partnership. In 1845

the firm name of ‘‘A. Buckingham & Co.” was
dissolved, and a new firm name, “ Buckingham &
Sturges,” established, composed of Benjamin H.
Buckingham and William Sturges, the two eldest

sons of the two former partners. In 1850 R. P.

Burlingame, a friend, was sent up to Chicago, 111.,

to open up a lumber trade there, the funds being
furnished by Alvah Buckingham. The next year
the two built the first grain elevator in the city of

Chicago. It was built of wood, holding some 75-

OGO bushels of grain, at that time a great wonder.
It was called the Fulton elevator. In 1851 Alvah
Buckingham established branch houses in New
York city and Toledo, Ohio, for his two oldest

sons, Benjamin H. and Philo, buying the Pendle-
ton elevator, the first one built in Toledo. They
soon built a second elevator and here in the press

and excitement of a too extended business, Philo,

the second son, lost his health and died quite sud-

denly, April 6, 1853, in the homestead, at Putnam,
Ohio. In 1854 Alvah Buckingham sold a third

interest in his Chicago Fulton elevator to his old

partner, Solomon Sturges, and shortly after they

concluded a contract with the Illinois Central rail-

road to do all their grain warehousing business for

ten years. In 1856 they built and opened the two
large warehouses called “A” and “B” in the

city of Chicago, holding each some 700,000 bushels

of grain—the marvels of the day. After this date,

of 1855, Alvah Buckingham spent most of his

time at Chicago, and three years later removed his

family there. His oldest son, Benjamin, removed
to Chicago, but died in 1864, at Madison, N. J.,

while on a visit to his father-in-law, Mr. John S.

Potwin. Benjamin Buckingham was singularly

sincere and just in his dealings with man, of great

Christian purity and behavior; a man of unblem-
ished character, and fine financial knowledge and
ability. Philo, the second son, many will recall

with melancholy pleasure. He was a large hearted,

generous man; had a full faith, too great in human
nature, generous to a fault, fond of outdoor life,

agriculture and stock-raising being his especial

delight. The surviving brother, James, seems to

have combined the qualities of both his brothers

in his business and occupation. In April, 1865,

Mr. Alvah Buckingham removed to New York
city, where he purchased a home and with his

daughters, resided at No. 13 East Twelfth street

until his death. His daughter, Julia A., had married

the Hon. Samuel S. Cox, of Ohio, and the other

daughter, Elizabeth, had married John A. Harden-
berg, of New York. In the spring of 1866, having

occasion to locate some lands in the West, Alvah
Buckingham took his youngest son, James, as a

companion and traveled through Indiana, Illinois,

Missouri and Kansas, and though much of this

was accomplished in a spring wagon, over rough
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roads, and at the age of seventy-five, it was with-

out any apparent fatigue. In the spring of 1807
he made a second pilgrimage to the West, this

time traveling through Iowa and Nebraska, and
passing over the line of the Pacific railroad as far

as it was then finished. He was ambitious to be

on the first train through to the Pacific Ocean, but

this anticipation was not to be realized. The sum-
mer of 1807 was spent with his family and two
daughters, Mrs. Cox and Mrs. Hardenberg, at

Saratoga, ending in a most pleasurable trip to the

White Mountains. Returning to his New York
home his wife was taken sick with pneumonia and
died September 23, 1867, and her remains were
taken to their first home, Putnam, Ohio. In a week
Mr. Buckingham was stricken down, and eleven

days after his remains reposed by the side of his

wife in Woodlawn cemetery, Putnam (now a part

of Zanesville), Ohio. He died October 4, 1867.

Mr. Alvali Buckingham was especially distin-

guished by those who knew his habit and mind:
First, as a conscientious Christian man; second, as a

man of unfailing courtesy of demeanor; third, as a

just, business-like, economic, yet speculative mer-
chant; fourth, as possessing a rare genius for con-

struction of bridges, elevators, houses, etc.
;
fifth, as

a just citizen, who would prefer a sacrifice of his per-

sonal interest rather than the least injustice to any
one or to the government; sixth, as a most affection-

ate husband and indulgent father. For over half

a century in the region of Ohio where he lived, he
was universally regarded as an honest man, above
all reproach.

James Buckingham, born October 22, 1831 >

at Zanesville, Ohio, third sou of Alvali and Anna
(Hale) Buckingham, was married November 5, 1856,

at Chillicothe, Ohio, to Jane P. Wills, third child

of Dr. David and Eliza (Peebles) Wills, born Oc-

tober 8, 1832, in Chillicothe, Ohio. Mr. James
Buckingham was educated at Marietta, Ohio, and
Brown university, R. I., leaving the latter place

in February, 1852, on account of ill health. A
part of the winter of 1852-53, he was in his fa-

ther’s elevator in Chicago. In June, 1854, he in-

vented the cogs placed on the outside of the driv-

ing wheels, used on all mowing and reaping
machines, but did not patent it. In September,
1863, he removed from his farm at Duncan’s
Falls, Ohio (where he had lived since April, 1853),

to the house in Zanesville, where he was born and
where he still resides. The spring and summer
of 1864 he was a member of Company A, One
Hundred and Fifty-ninth O. V. I., stationed in

Virginia and Maryland. From January, 1865,

to January, 1873, he was director of the Ohio
State Agricultural society, four years of the time
its treasurer and one year, 1872, its president.

Also one of the trustees of the Central Lunatic

asylum, at Columbus, Ohio, to finish, furnish and
open it. Also president of the Zanesville & Ohio
River railroad, from its beginning to completion.

He has been interested in farms, ranches and wild

lands in Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, Kansas, Missouri

and Nebraska.

Decatur Buker, Otsego, Muskingum county,

Ohio. The great-grandfather of our subject was
born in England and came to America, bringing

his family. He settled in the town of Gray, Me.
His son, and the grandfather of Decatur Buker,

was born in England, came to America with his

parents when a boy, married and reared a family.

He died when his son, Israel H. Buker, the father

of our subject, was but eighteen months of age.

Therefore but little of his history is found in this

branch of the Buker family. Israel H. Buker was
born in Gray, Me., April 17, 1756. On account

of the early death of his father, he was bound out

when but two years of age to a farmer and tavern

keeper. He continued to work for this man until

he was nineteen years of age. When the battles

for freedom were fought at Lexington and Con-
cord, young Israel H. Buker, working on a farm
in far-off Maine, heard the stirring news and
joined the company there drilling in the neighbor-

hood. He was obliged to be secret about his en-

rollment, as his employer was a tory. When his

company was ready to march, Israel was with

them. His employer told the captain of the com-
pany that he should not go. The captain ordered

his men to halt and destroy the house of the tory,

but the wife of the tory interfered and told her

husband that the soldiers would surely destroy the

house. Seeing this he came out and said: “Well,

let him go, and give him some food.” The com-
pany joined Washington’s army, and Israel was at

the battles of Trenton and Princeton, and crossed

the Delaware with Washington through the ice.

He was with the army during the disastrous and
awful encampment during the winter at Valley

Forge. He was also present at the surrender of

Burgoyne. He was a member of the famous reg-

iment which the celebrated French general, La
Fayette, armed, equipped and clothed. Israel

Buker was made an orderly sergeant in this regi-

ment, and frequently saw Gen. La Fayette, who
upon one occasion personally addressed him. He
was wounded during a skirmish, the ball passing

through the back- of the neck, which he afterward

stated “ felt like the burning of a red hot iron.”

At one time a ball passed through his hat. As
an orderly sergeant he carried a sword which was
given him by Gen. La Fayette. After the war he

returned to Gray, Me., and married Sallie Carver,

and to them were born ten children: Israel (who
was a collegian and president of a college), La
Fayette, Eleazer, Carver, Livey, Cyrus, Caleb, Al-
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pha, Edson, and Sallie, are those remembered.

Mr. Buker taught school in Maine and was also

a farmer. In 1808 he came to Ohio and settled

in Coshocton county, near the present town of

Coshocton and here he owned a farm of 200 acres,

which he cleared up from the wilderness. He was
one of the first school teachers in Coshocton

county. His wife did not come to Ohio with him,

but died in Maine a few years after. The journey

from Maine to Ohio being great, and at that time

through a dense wilderness, was the reason the

family did not join Mr. Buker. After a few years

his son, Caleb, joined him in 1819, and his son,

Alpha, came about 1822. They were school

teachers and farmers. Nearly all of Mr. Bilker’s

sons were school teachers. Caleb Buker became
the wealthiest man in Monroe township. In 1816
Mr. Buker married again, Sallie Black, daughter
of John Black, of Washington county, Penn., who
was a farmer and came with some other farmers

to Coshocton county, Ohio. She was the mother
of eight children: John, Xerses, Mary, Sallie, Mar-
rion, Decatur, Maloney, Emeline, the youngest,

who was born when his father was nearly eighty

years of age. Mr. Buker was the father of eight-

een children. He taught school for forty years,

and was well educated and a tine mathematician.

Politically he was an old lino whig. He reached

the advanced age of ninety-two years and six

months, and was an active man to the last, walk-

ing from Coshocton to Otsego, a distance of

twelve miles, after he was ninety years old. He
was a man of character, honest, faithful and
punctual, and held the respect of the people. He
was a tine example of an old colonial patriot and
in his old age, delighted to relate his life as a

soldier in the cause of freedom in Washington’s
army. Decatur Buker, his youngest son, was
born September 11, 1825, on his father’s farm in

Coshocton county, Ohio. His early education

was limited to the common schools, but he began
teaching at the early age of seventeen and con-

tinued! eighteen years. He gained an excellent

education and became an accurate scholar. He
taught in Coshocton county and Monroe township,

Muskingum county, and gained an enviable rep-

utation. January 3, 1849, he married Lucy M.
Barnard, daughter of Jason Barnard and Jane
(Holcomb) Barnard. The father was from Con-
necticut, near Hartford, and came to Ohio about

1824, immediately after his marriage. All his

children were born in Monroe township and were
here married. There were eleven in all, named
as follows: Julia R.

,
Edwin P., Oliver, Lucy M.

,

Mary L., Jason A., Harriett A., Louisa M.,

Electa L., Celia A., and Fidelia J. Mr. Barnard
was a farmer and lived to the age of seventy-

eight years. He was a member of the Methodist

church and cl ass- leader, and was a man of good
character, descending from good English stock.

When twenty years of age Mr. Buker bought a

farm of fifty acres near Otsego, and resided there

seven years, then coming to his present farm of

500 acres. To Mr. and Mrs. Buker seven chil-

dren were born: Mary M. (deceased at twenty-five

years), Charles W., Emma L. (deceased), Sarah
J., Albert L., Scott H., now a physician and sur-

geon, and Rose. Mr. Buker is a stanch republican

in politics and formerly was an old line whig. He
has voted on the prohibition ticket and is a strict

temperance man. He served several years as

township trustee and was elected eleven successive

years treasurer of the township, and served six

years as justice of the peace, and was colonel of

the Third regiment of Muskingum County militia.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Buker are members of the

Methodist Protestant church, and Mr. Buker has
filled the office of Sunday-school superintendent,

chairman, trustee, class-leader and steward. He
has been school director many years, and is a man
of great general intelligence, has been a wide
reader and kept up well with the times. He has
not tasted a glass of liquor in fifty years and does

not know the taste of tobacco.

Mrs. Mary M. Buker, Otsego, Ohio, is the

widow of John Buker, who was a soldier in the

great civil war. He was the son of Caleb Buker
[See sketch of Decatur Buker], born on his father’s

farm in Monroe township, reared a farmer, received

a limited common-school education and married

Mary M. Riney, daughter of Thomas and Catherine

(Chaney) Riney. Thomas Riney was from Loudoun
county, Ya.

,
and a miller by trade. He married

in Virginia and became the father of ten children:

Sarah A., Louisa, Rachel, John, Samuel, Oscar,

Thomas, Ellen, Mary and Amanda, all of whom
are deceased except Thomas and Mary. His wife,

Catherine Chaney, was of Scotch descent. Mrs.

Mary Buker was born April 16, 1842, in Loudoun
county, Ya., received a limited common-school edu-

cation and was twelve years old when she came,

in 1854, with her parents to Ohio. They settled

on a farm three miles north of Otsego, where the

father lived the remainder of his life. He had
been a soldier in the War of 1812, during which
his constitution was shattered, and for thirty years

he was unable to work. John Buker and Mary
Riney were married September 20, 1861, and one

year later when his eldest child, Frank, was an
infant, Mr. Buker enlisted in the service of his

country as a private in Company F, Seventy eighth

regiment Ohio Infantry, and served eleven months,

when he was disabled by sickness. He was in sev-

eral battles. He owned a farm of 160 acres, given

him by his father, Caleb Buker, who was the

wealthiest man in this township, and here Mr.
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Buker lived until bis death, July 20, 1887. He
was a good citizen, kind husband and father. To
Mr. and Mrs. Buker were born ten children—all

living: Oscar, 'William A., Sarah O., George C.

,

Alice L., Amanda M.
,
Richard J., David J.

,
Rachel

M. and Annie R. Mrs. Buker is a woman of fine

business ability, has managed her farm well,

brought up her children creditably and given them
all good common-school educations. Oscar F.

married Ruth Lane. He is a carpenter at Otsego

and has three children. William A. married Dora
Cornelius and lives in Zanesville. They have five

children. Sarah C. married William Waters, a

farmer in this township, and has three children.

Alice L. married Logan Smith, a farmer of Co-
shocton county. Amanda M. married Thomas Nor-
man, a carpenter, and resides in Indianapolis, Ind.,

they have one child. The rest of the children are

at home.
John F. Burgess, commissioner of Muskingum

county, Ohio, was born in Hopewell township, this

county, August 26, 1852, to Thomas and Martha
(Bonifield) Burgess, the former of whom was also

born in this county, near Pleasant Valley, May 1,

1800, and died April 28, 1877. The Burgess
family came to the “Buckeye State” from Mary-
land. The father was a skillful cabinet-maker,

and was also an undertaker and farmer by occupa-

tion, and to know him was to honor him, for be-

sides being enterprising and of an energetic, tem-
perament, he was strictly honorable in all his busi-

ness transactions and was of a generous and kindly

disposition. The mother was also born in this

county, the year 1813 witnessing her advent into

life, her people being early pioneers of this section.

John F. Burgess was one of their eight living chil-

dren, was brought up to farm life and received

a common-school education. He followed agricult-

ural pursuits until 1878 with fair success, then
turned his attention to the manufacture of lumber,
a calling in which he is still interested. He does
quite a heavy contracting business and furnishes

large quantities of lumber and ties to different

railroads. In the fall of 1887 he purchased a one-

third interest in a planing-mill, the firm being
known as Patterson, Burgess & Co., for two years.

Mr. Burgess is a democrat and a strong supporter
of the principles of that party, and owing to the
efficient services he has rendered it at various times
and from the fact that he is a man of far more
than ordinary intelligence, he was elected a com-
missioner of Muskingum county in 1889. He was
nominated without solicitation on his part and re-

ceived a majority of 300 votes. His term of office

will expire in January, 1893. He has proven him-
self one of the most faithful and capable officials,

and in every instance has been true to her interests

and to his own principles of what is just and

proper. He removed to the city of Zanesville in

August, 1885, and now resides in the seventh
ward. As a business man he is shrewd and far-

seeing; as an official, trustworthy and capable, and
as a citizen, enterprising, law-abiding and upright.

Miss Delia Flesher, who was born in Falls town-
ship, this county, February 13, 1853, became his

wife in 1875, and January 8, 1883, bore him a

daughter, whom they named Bessie B.

William H. Bush is a member of the firm of

Prettyman & Bush, proprietors of the Caldwell
woolen mills and manufacturers of fine skirts,

skirting and blankets, at Dresden, Ohio. So much
advance has been made of late in the production
of domestic woolens, that the country is daily be-

coming more and more independent of the foreign

manufacturer, and style, quality, durability, even-

ness of texture, in fact all the qualities once sup-

posed to be monopolized by the foreign manufact-
urer, are here reproduced, and in very many cases

the foreign maker is very successfully competed
with in his own market. Such a concern as that

operated by Prettyman & Bush, keeps the public

alive on these essential facts and the trade which
they have established is very extensive. Mr. Bush
was born in Jefferson county, Ohio, October 19,

1848, a son of Joseph and Mary (Gordon) Bush,
the former of whom was born in Connecticut and
died in McConnelsville, Ohio, in 1872, the mother’s
birth occurring near Rockville, Muskingum county
and her death in Noble county, in 1876. In 1852
the father established a woolen factory in Noble
county, which he continued to operate for twenty-

one years, and here young William H. learned the

details of the business. In 1875 he began operat-

ing the old McConnell factory at McConnelsville,

Ohio, and in 1880 he purchased the Island mills

at Beverly, Ohio, and successfully conducted them
for five years. On account of the low water of

that year he went to Caldwell, Ohio, and built the

Caldwell woolen mills in partnership with T. M.
McVay, but these mills were burned in 1889, and
Mr. Bush then came to Dresden. He has spent
his life in the business in which he is now engaged
and is its thorough master. In 1873 he was mar-
ried to Miss Ella J. Carroll, of Perry county, by
whom he has two children: Media and Lester.

Mr. Bush has always given his support to the rei

publican party, and in 1873 showed his approval

of secret organizations by becoming a member of

the I. O. O. F. He is a consistent member of the

Methodist Episcopal church.

Joshua Butler is a grandson of Nicholas Butler,

who was born in Baltimore county, Md., about
twenty miles from the city of Baltimore. He was
of Irish descent, and was married in Maryland, be-

coming the father qf the following family: Henry,
Joshua (who was killed by an accident in Muskin-
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gum county, Ohio, in 1822), Nicholas, Jesse, Ach-
sah (who married Jacob Lane), Deborah (who died
single), and two other daughters, one of whom mar-
ried Caleb Butler, and the other James Van
Winkle. Nicholas Butler was a farmer, and first

moved from his native state to Brooke county, W.
Va., and finally to Muskingum county, Ohio, with his

son Henry in 1810, at which time he was quite

aged. After the death of his first wife he took for

his second wife a Virginia widow, and by her be
came the father of two children: Absolom and
James. He died in this township. Henry Butler,

his son, was born on July 18, 1781, in Baltimore
county, Md.

,
and received the limited educa-

tion usually given the youth of his day. He
learned the details of farming, and when a voung
man, in 1802, went to Brooke county, W. Va., where
he purchased a small farm and was married on
September 3, 1807, to Charity Baxter, who was
born January 25,1787, daughter of Samuel and
Sarah (Chinneth) Baxter, the former of whom was
born in Baltimore county, Md., and afterward setted

Brooke county, W. Va. He came to this county in

1810 with Henry Butler, and family and settled

in Muskingum township on 160 acres of land which
he entered. He was the father of the following
children: Greenberry, William, Samuel, Sarah,
Annie, Polly, Charity and Rachel. Samuel Bax-
ter was a man of limited education but industrious

and honest. He and his wife are members of the
Old School Bajitist. church, and he gave the land in

1816, for the first Baptist church and burying
ground in this township, both of which are still

kept in excellent condition. His son William, and
Charity Chinneth were the first two persons to be
buried in this cemetery. Samuel Baxter lived to

the age of eighty two, and throughout his long
life never violated his word. Henry Butler and
his wife became the parents of ten children:

Amon, born August 13, 1808; William, born July

20, 1810; Nicholas, born April 9, 1813; Sarah,

born August 16, 1815; Samuel B., born June 5,

1818; Greenberry, born November 25, 1820;
Joshua, born September 16, 1823; Jesse, born
April 13, 1826; Helen, born February 1, 1829;
and Rachel, born October 1, 1831. All these sons

were over six feet one inch in hight except Jesse,

who was five feet eleven inches. Joshua, the sub-

ject of this sketch, was the tallest, reaching the

towering hight of six feet four inches. Henry
Butler came to this state and county with his family

in the fall of 1810, making the trip by wagon, and
with the exception of Amon and William, all his

children were born in this township. He settled

on 160 acres five miles northwest of where Joshua
now lives, at which time there were only two
wagons and one road in the township, the latter

leading to Zanesville. In the fall of 1811 a report

was spread that the Indians were coming to mas-
sacre the settlers, at which time Mr. Butler was
away from home, having gone back to Virginia to

make some collections. Mrs. Butler becoming
alarmed, took her children and went on horseback
alone through the dense wood to her old home in

Virginia, a distance of about 115 miles. She
reached there safely, but missed her husband on
the road while he was on his way home. She
rested one day, then returned home, carrying one
child in her arms and the other on the horse be-

hind her. Mr. Butler was one of the early justices

of the peace, tried many cases and married many
of the early pioneers. His wife was a member of

the Old School Baptist church from her seventeenth

year, and this church Mr. Butler joined late in

life. He traded his original farm in 1816 to a

man by the name of Linton. The trade was
made offhand, Linton having come to him and
proposing to make the trade, which was promptly
accepted and the families moved the same day.

On this farm, on which the subject of this sketch

now lives, has resided some member of the family

for the past seventy-five years, and it is now a fine

place. He was a substantial pioneer farmer, and
was one of those hardy characters well fitted to en-

dure life in the wilderness. He was very upright

in all his business transactions, and was highly re-

spected by all. He was well versed in law matters,

and being very just he filled the position of justice

of the peace for thirty years. He was an old line

whig in politics, and lived to be about seventy-five

years old, dying December 10, 1855. Joshua But-

ler his son was born September 16, 1823, in a hewed-
log-house on the old homestead where he now
lives. He received a common school education

and attempted to gain a better education at Gran-
ville, Ohio, but his health would not permit. He
remained with his father until 1851, when he

married Alice J. Gist, a daughter of George and
Rachel (Jones) Gist, the former a farmer of Brooke
county,W. Va.,where he lived all his life except three

last years which were spent with his son-in-law,

Mr. Butler. He and his wife were members of

the Old School Baptist church, and he was a

prominent man, a substantial farmer and was
very liberal with his children, giving each of them
$2,000 on starting out in life for themselves. He
lived to be about seventy-four years old. He was
the father of the following children : Elizabeth,

who died in infancy; Annie, Elizabeth, Cecil, Alice

J., Thomas, Joseph, William and George. After

his marriage he remained on the old homestead,

and has resided here all his life, with the exceptoin

of three years which he spent in Perry township

on a farm which he bought of John Spry, and one

year when he was superintendent of the county in-

firmary, and five and one-half years spent on the old
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Boggs place, which is now within the corporation of

Zanesville. He is a practical farmer, and is univer-

sally known as an honorable business man. Besides

his farm he owns real estate in Zanesville. He is

a republican politically, and he and his wife are

liberal in the use of their means in the support of

worthy enterpises. She is a member of the Old
School Baptist church. Their union resulted in

the birth of two children: George G.
,
and Millard

F.
,
who died March 29, 1891, leaving a wife, Mary

E. (Snyder) Butler, and three children: Bessie,

Charlotte and Charles H. , to whom Mr. and Mrs.
Butler have given a home. George G., married
Nettie Lane, a daughter of John M. Lane, and by
her has two children: Pearl and Lane. Joshua
Butler is an excellent example of the substantial

Ohio farmer, and is a man of numerous worthy
traits of character.

An honorable and successful career of many
years has served to place Lewis Cartnal, Cot-

tage Hill, among the substantial farmers of Mus-
kingum county, Ohio. He was born in Maryland
on the 24th of March, 1827, and was about three

and a half years of age when he was brought by
his parents, Jacob and Eleanor (Brookover) Cart-

nal, to Ohio. Jacob Cartnal was also a native of

Maryland, born in 1775, and was of English de-

scent. He was of old colonial stock, and was a

soldier in the War of 1812. Mrs. Cartnal’ s father,

Thomas Brookover, was a farmer of Maryland.
The seven children born to Mr. and Mrs. Cartnal
were named in the order of their births as follows:

Raphael, Elizabeth, Mary A., Thomas, Catherine,

William and Lewis, all born on a farm in Mary-
land. In 1831 Jacob Cartnal and family came to

Muskingum county, Ohio, and settled on the farm
in Muskingum county, where his son Lewis now
resides. He cleared and improved this farm, and
there passed the remainder of his life, his death
occurring April 3, 1866, when ninety-one years of

age. His wife died February 6, 1874, when eighty-

eight years of age. In politics he was at one time
a whig, but later a democrat. He was a member
of the Methodist Episcopal, and his wife a mem-
ber of the Old School Baptist church. He was in-

dustrious and honorable, and was well thought of

by all acquainted with him. Lewis Cartnal re-

ceived but a limited education in the pioneer schools

of Muskingum county, and his youthful days were
passed in assisting his father to clear and cultivate

the farm. He selected as his companion in life

Miss Dorothy Redman, who was born in Muskin-
gum county, Ohio, January 28, 1828, and who was
the daughter of Jeremiah and Sarah (Hill) Red-
man. Her father came from Virginia to Ohio a

number of years before the Cartnals, and settled

on a farm in Hopewell township. He lived to be
seventy years old. He was the father of ten chil-

dren: Nelson, William, John, James, Elizabeth,

Margaret, Susan, Jesse, Dorothy and Sampson.
Mr. Redman was an honorable, straightforward

man. * Directly after marriage Mr. Cartnal settled

on land adjoining the old homestead, and resided

here seventeen years. After the death of his

father he moved to the old homestead, where he
has since resided. His marriage was blessed by
the birth of seven children: Almeda, born Septem-
ber 16, 1852; LucyE., born September 7, 1856;
William J., born June 2, 1859; Jacob H.

,
born

July 4, 1861, and died on the 4th of April, 1890,

when twenty-eight years of age; Susanna, born
September 16, 1863; Melissa C., born October 24,

1867, and Lewis M., born September 3, 1869. Mr.
Cartnal is a man highly esteemed by the people of

the township, and has held many local positions.

He has been school director, and is not only inter-

ested in educational matters, but takes a decided

iuterest in all enterprises for the good of the

county. He has given his children all good com-
mon-school educations, and two sons, W. J. and
Jacob H., are school teachers. In politics Mr.

Cartnal is a democrat. He has always been a

hard-working, industrious man, and assisted by
his cheerful wife, he has accumulated a good prop-

erty, consisting of 178 acres of land. His word is

as good as his bond, and every one has the utmost
confidence in him. He is an excellent representa-

tive of the sterling stock from which he sprang, and
his children rank well as honorable and upright

people. All are married, except Melissa C. and
Lewis M. Almeda married Carlton L. Butler, a

resident of this township, and has three children

living: Keturah E., Carrie R. and Lewis G.

Lucy E. married William H. Weakley, a farmer of

Licking county, and they have six children: Ber-

tram V., Milam M., Jennie B., Flossie D., Eliza-

beth M. and Iva G. Jesse married Rosa Siler, a

farmer’s daughter of Licking county, and they have
six children: Jefferson R., Eddie E., Grover C.,

Dollie C., Jacob F. and Leota V. Susanna mar-
ried Jacob M. Farmer, clerk and teacher of New-
ark, Ohio, and they have one child, Kenneth V.

Mr. Cartnal is a Baptist in his religious belief,

and his wife has been a member of that church

for twenty-five years. The daughters, Melissa C.

and Almeda. are members of the same church.

The humanizing influences of Christianity are

shown in thousands of directions, but in none to a

more marked degree than that of medical and sur-

gical science, and Edward Cass, M. D.,of Dresden,

Ohio, is recognized throughout the state as a friend

of and laborer in the cause and advancement of the

medical fraternity. He is the only living repre-

sentative of the Cass family of Ohio, the members
of which have held so conspicuous a place in the

historical annals of the country. The progenitor
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of this illustrious family in this country was Maj.
Jonathan Cass, a native of New Hampshire, who
became distinguished in the Revolutionary war,
having taken part in the battles of Bunker Hill,

Saratoga, Trenton, Princeton, Monmouth and Ger-
mantown, rising to the rank of major. After this

war he served in the regular army under Gen. An-
thony Wayne. In 1781 he married Mary Gillman,
daughter of Theophilus Gillman, a noted tory. In
1794, after the battle of Maumee, he was stationed

in command at Fort Washington, on the present
site of the city of Cincinnati, where he remained
until 1797. In 1799 he purchased land warrants
amounting to 4,000 acres, and being given his

choice of location, he chose Muskingum river land
in what is now the northern part of Muskingum
county, Ohio. Maj. Cass came to Marietta, Ohio,
in 1800, bringing with him his wife and five chil-

dren. The eldest son, Lewis Cass, remained in

the East to complete his studies in the Exeter
academy, and after graduating came to Ohio, and
later became a lawyer of Zanesville. He was the

first prosecuting attorney of the county, served in

the AVar of 1812, and at its close removed to Michi-

gan and was governor of that state for eighteen
years following 1815. He was secretary of war
under Jackson; was United States minister to

France in 1836; was United States senator from
Michigan for two terms following 1844; was demo-
cratic candidate for president in 1848; was secre-

tary of state under Buchanan in 1856, and died in

1865. Deborah, the second child, became the wife

of Judge Wyllis Silliman, of Zanesville; George
AV.

,
who remained on the farm, reared a family,

among whom was the subject of this sketch, the

present owner of the old Cass homestead, and died

August 6, 1873; Mary G. became the wife of Jo-

seph Munro, and Capt. Charles Lee, the youngest
of the family, served in some of the early Indian
wars, and died in 1842. George AY. Cass was
married to Miss Sophia Lord, daughter of Col.

Abner Lord, of Lyme, Conn. The children born to

this union were: George AV. Jr. (who died in 1888),

John Jay (who died at the age of twenty-seven

years), Augusta L. (who died in 1888 also), Abner
L. (died in August, 1887) and Dr. Edward (who
resides at Dresden). In early life he was a stu-

dent in Kenyon college for a time, and later began
the study of medicine, graduating in 1854 from
Jefferson Medical college at Philadelphia. He at

once located at Dresden, and here has since suc-

cessfully continued the practice of his chosen pro-

fession. He is a prominent republican in politics,

and is a man of extended experience and knowl-.

edge, both professionally and otherwise. He is a

speaker and writer of ability, and has contributed

many articles to the literature of his profession

which have been considered very able. In 1878 he

was president of the Zanesville Academy of Medi-
cine, and is now president of the Zanesville Med-
ical society, and president of the Muskingum Dis-

trict Medical society. Dr. Cass is of a robust con-

stitution, is very prepossessing in personal appear-
ance, and bears a strong resemblance to the elder

members of his family. He is one of the eminent
men of Ohio, and is especially well known to the

medical fraternity of the country. He was mar-
ried in 1885 to Miss Clara Shaw, of Columbus,
Ohio, by whom he is the father of two sons: Ed-
ward McDowell and George Abner.

Dr. Harvey C. Chappelear, Hopewell, Ohio,

one of the successful physicians of the county,

was born on the farm that he now owns, in Hope-
well township, Muskingum county, Ohio, October

15, 1841, and is of French-English descent. His
grandfather, William A. Chappelear, was a na-

tive Virginian, and his wife, who was a Miss Brad-
field, was also a native of the Old Dominion.
They were the parents of ten children: John,

Johnson, Henderson, Sarah, Jane, Rachel, James,
Charles, Jacksou and Nancy. Six of these are

still living: John, Johnson, Sarah and Rachel, in

Ohio, Henderson in Iowa, and Jane in Missouri.

The father of these children removed from Vir-

ginia to Morgan county Ohio, in 1825, and there

purchased a farm on which he resided for many
years. His son, J. B. Chappelear, was born in

Loudoun county, Va.
,
December 20, 1815, and is a

farmer by occupation. He is now a resident of

Hopewell township. He passed his youthful days
in working on his father’s farm and in attending

the common school until 1839 when he located on
the farm he now owns in Hopewell township. He
married Miss Mavilla E. Grant, daughter of

George and Sarah (Rakestraed) Grant, both of

whom were natives of Virginia, and the fruits of

this union were two children: Sarah Delia

(Rayme), born November 1, 1839 and died in 1866,

and Harvey C., the subject of this sketch. The
latter passed his boyhood days on the home farm
and received his education in the district school.

He then began studying medicine under Dr. Ramey
and subsequently attended Medical college at Cin-

cinnati, graduating in the class of 1862, when
twenty years of age. Returning to Hopewell
township he began practicing his profession and
has continued this in Hopewell township ever

since, with the exception of six months spent in

Zanesville. He has a very lucrative practice. Dr.

Chappelear owns the old homestead located and
settled by his grandfather Grant, and is paying
strict attention to stock-raising. His desire is to

better the grade of horses now in the county, and
his especial pride is fine double teams and saddle

horses. Many prizes have been carried away,

both at his own county fairs and adjoining ones,
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by his excellent teams. Although he formerly

owned some fast horses, and still owns a few, he
prefers to breed roadsters that are noted for their

size, style and action. Dr. Chappelear was mar-
ried July 2, 1868, to Miss Clam Richards, daugh-
ter of Louis and Phoebe Ann (Deems) Richards,

of Hopewell township. [See sketch.] He and
his estimable wife are members of the M. E.

church, and he has been trustee of the same for

some time. He was a member of the committee
of three appointed to looking after the construc-

tion of the church building. Dr. Chappelear
affiliates with the Republican party in politics,

and his first presidential vote was cast for

Abraham Lincoln. Dr. Chappelear is a member
of the Masonic fraternity, Brownsville Lodge
No. 85, and was master of the same for eight

consecutive years. He is also a member of the

Good Templar organization. The Doctor is a good
citizen, and is highly respected by all with whom
he comes in contact. He is interested in all

good movements and is the prime mover in all

enterprises for the advancement of education or

religion. Of him it may with truth be said:

“The, world is better for his having lived in it.”

Dr. Isaac W. Chisholm is a prominent physi-

cian of New Concord, Muskingum county, Ohio,

and a son of William Chisholm, who was a son of

Alexander Chisholm. The Chisholm family of this

country are descendants of Lord Chisholm of Scot-

land. The first known of the family was Alexan-
der Chisholm who was a native of Scotland and
emigrated to this country early in the nineteenth
century. He settled near Pittsburg. Allegheny
county, Penn. He and two brothers, Dr. Joshua
and James, established the family in the north.

Other members of the family went south but have
not been heard from. James married and had two
sons and two daughters and Dr. Joshua also reared
a family. Dr. Joshua settled in Washington coun-
ty, Penn., and practiced medicine. James settled

on a farm in Allegheny county, near Pittsburg.

Alexander settled in Allegheny county, Penn., near
Sharon, and followed farming. He was twice mar-
ried, the first time to Miss Ann McKee, and to them
was born one child, William—the father of Dr. Isaac
W. The second marriage was to Jane Atcheson,
and six children were the fruits of this union: Min-
erva, John, Aaron, Benjamin, Alexander and Har-
vey. Of these children John was the only one who
reared a family. Alexander died about 1846 and
was a member of the Presbyterian church. He
had accumulated quite a property. William Chis-
holm was born in 1815 in Allegheny county, Penn.,
and was reared on a farm. He learned the wagon,
carriage and buggy trade and carried this on large

ly for a number of years. He built wagons for the
Mexican war, but on account of his failing health

was compelled to give up the business. He then
moved to Pittsburg and entered the mercantile

business, which he followed for many years, dying in

1851. He married first in 1810, Catherine Willi-

sou, who was a native of Allegheny county, and the

daughter of Isaac and Catherine (Long) Willison.

They were natives of Washington county, and of

English descent. To William Chisholm and Cath-
erine, his first wife, were born two children: Isaac

W. and Alexander, the latter dying when only

eight months old. His wife Catherine died in 1843,

at the age of twenty-three years. Mr. Chisholm
was married the second time in 1845 to Mariah
L. Campbell, of Washington county, Penn.,
the only daughter of Dr. Campbell a prom-
inent physician of that county. They had
no children. Mr. Chisholm died, and his

widow married Mr. Joseph Thompson of Hickory,
Washington county, Penn. He was the father, by
his first wife, of three prominent ministers, of

the U. P. church—Revs. Joseph, Alexander and
James. William Chisholm was a democrat in

politics and a member of the Presbyterian church.

He had accumulated considerable property, was a

pleasant companion and beloved by all who knew
him. Dr. Isaac Chisholm the only surviving child,

was born July 8, 1841, in Allegheny county, near

Pittsburg. He was reared at Hickory until about
eight years of age when his father moved to Pitts-

burg, where he received his schooling. He
attended the public schools and high school at

Pittsburg— also at Philadelphia and college at

Washington, D. C. In 1862 he enlisted in Com-
pany K, One Hundred and Fortieth Pennsylvania
Volunteer infantry, commanded by Col. R. P. Rob-
erts and in the Second Army Corps. Hi s first

battles were Chandlersville and Gettysbur g. At
the last named he was severely wounded. After he
left the hospital he went to Washington city and
was detailed as a clerk, in the meantime attending

college in the city. He remained in Washington
until the close of the war when he took up the
study of medicine with Prof. Paucoast, of Phila-

delphia and attended Jefferson Medical college. He
graduated in 1868 with distinction, in a class

of 155. Dr. Chisholm commenced practice

in Hickory, Washington county, Penn., where he
remained until 1871, when he moved to Mt. Perry,

Perry county, Ohio. Here he remained until 1874,

and then moved to New Concord, where he has
since resided. He is a member of the Muskingum
County Medical society and also of the Ohio State

Medical society. He is a member of Hanson Post
No. 468, of New Concord, Department of Ohio; and
has held the office of ad jutant, Jr. vice-commander
and surgeon. In politics he is a republican, his

first vote was cast for Lincoln, and he was in Wash-
ington at the time President Lincoln was assassin-
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ated, having still at home a portion of the curtain

of the box in which the president sat when shot.

He has held nearly all the offices in the town of

New Concord, mayor, member of council, clerk of

board of education and member of said board for a

number of years. The Doctor was united in mar-
riage March 7, 1869, to Miss Belle Y. Miller, a

daughter of James A. and Ellen (Cresswell) Miller.

The father was born in Beaver county, Penn., and of

Scotch-Irish descent. He grew to maturity in

Beaver county, there married and was the father of

seven children: Rev. J. R. Miller, D. D. is a min-
ister of the Presbyterian church and editor of the

Presbyterian Board of Publication in Philadelphia,

and was for many years pastor of (Wanamaker)
Presbyterian church of Philadelphia; Mary is living

in New Concord, professor of modern languages
in Muskingum college, which position she has
held since 1876; Belle V., the wife of Dr. Chisholm;
Ella, died March, 1871, was the wife of R. C. Hen-
derson of this county; Anna is the wife of William
A. Moore, of New Concord

;
Elizabeth is the wife of

Nathaniel McDonald of this county; and Rev. R.

J. Miller, D. D.. editor U. P. Board of Publication,

Pittsburg. Penn. The father of this family moved
to this county in 1863, near New Concord. He
died in 1883 and his wife in 1834. They were
members of the United Presbyterian church, of

which he was an elder. Mrs. Chisholm was born
August 30, 1843, and received her education at

Muskingum college. She was elected teacher in a

college at Pittsburg. Penn., where she taught some
time and came to this county where she was one of

the acknowledged educators. She taught common
and select schools for a number of years. She is

also the author of a number of popular books:
“Howard Ashton, and the World He Lives in;”

“Who Wins?” “In Search of a Home,” Eunice
Erskine;” and others. She writes for many of the

popular papers and magazines and has a national

reputation as a writer and authoress. To Mr. and
Mrs. Chisholm were born five children: Florence
L., now Mrs. E. P. Douglas of Pittsburg, who is

a graduate of Muskingum college; J. W. Da Costa
is a graduate of Muskingum college, and a teacher

in New Concord public schools; Mary K. is at the

seminary at Washington, Penn.; Harry T. isattend-

ing Muskingum college; Grace J. is still attending

public school. The entire family are members of

the Presbyterian church. The Doctor is a frequent

contributor to several medical journals.

George Clapper, grandfather of W. T. Clapper,

Sonora, Ohio, was of Dutch descent, from Lancas-
ter county, Penn. He brought his wife, Elizabeth,

and family, who were mostly grown up, and settled

in Salt Creek township when it was a wilderness.

He lived to a good old age, and died somewhere in

the thirties. He was the father of ten children:

George, Joseph, Jacob, Philip, John, Peter, and

four daughters, whose names are forgotten. George
Clapper Jr., son of the above and father of our
subject, was born in 1781 in Pennsylvania, and was
the eldest son. He received but a limited educa-

tion, learning to write after he began business for

himself. He married Susan Baker, daughter of

Philip and Catherine Baker, of Pennsylvania, in

1805, and to them were born fourteen children:

Peter, Elizabeth, Susannah, George, Catherine,

Mary, Sarah, Hannah, Jacob, William, Martin,

Eliza, and two, the oldest, died as infants. The re-

maining twelve lived to grow to maturity, and
reared familes. George Clapper came to Ohio in

1808, and settled in Salt Creek township, seven miles

east of Zanesville, where he died. The land was
covered with very heavy timber, and Mr. Clapper
built a log cabin for shelter. He gave all his sons

farms, during his life accumulating 817 acres. He
kept one of the early taverns on the first road from
Marietta to Zanesville. Both Mr. and Mrs. Clap-

per were members of the Lutheran church, attend-

ing church at Zanesville. Mr. Clapper lived to the

great age of eighty-three years. Mr. Clapper was
widely known among the old pioneers. He was
an honorable and upright man, and an excellent

neighbor and citizen. William T. Clapper, son of

the above gentleman, and our subject, was born in

Salt Creek township, this county, in the old tavern

on the Zanesville and Marietta road, seven miles

from Zanesville, February 23, 1829. As a boy, he

remembers attending his father's guests and the

old stages and teams which conveyed the early

travelers. He received a common school education

and learned farming, remained at the old home-
stead and managed the farm until he was thirty-

nine years of age, when he married, in 1868, Mar-
garet A. McKelvey, of Pennsylvania, Westmoreland
county. To Mr. and Mrs. Clapper were born three

children, two of whom died as infants, and Charles

C. After his marriage Mr. Clapper remained on

the old homestead until 1881, when he moved to

his present home, near Sonora. In politics he is a

strict democrat, and takes an interest in having

good schools. Mrs. Clapper was a member of the

Baptist church. She died October 25, 1891. Mr.

Clapper has always been an industrious man, and
has accumulated a handsome property. He is a

temperate man, and in favor of temperance and
the suppression of the open saloon. He is de-

scended from good, sturdy Pennsylvania parent-

age, which has furnished many pioneers of the best

character to Ohio and the West. His son, Charles

C., married Gussie Moore, December 31, 1891, the

daughter of Hamilton Moore, of Newton township.

He wyas well educated at Fultouham Academy,
Dennison university, and Zanesville Business col-

lege. He is a young man of good business ability

and upright character.

A prominent farmer of Nashport, Ohio, is Nor-
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ton F. Claypool, a son of Levi Claypool, who was
born in Hardy county, Ya (now West Virginia),

May 9, 1801, and is of royal descent through
Sir John Claypoole who, on July 20, 1657,
“ was by his Highness ” (Oliver Cromwell,
Lord Protector) ‘

‘ created baronet, and after-

ward he received also the order of knighthood
from his Highness.” Sir John, knight of

Latham and clerk of the Hanaper, was a son of

Adam Claypoole, a knight (who was seated at the

Manor of Norborough, Norhhampton county,

England, in 1610 and also owned Waldram Parks
and Gray’s Inn estates in the same county), and
Lady Dorthy Winfield (a sister of William Cecil,

Lord Burleigh and prime minister of England,
in the reign of Queen Elizabeth), through whom the

royal descent is traced back through various kings,

princesses, etc., ol’ England, Scotland, France
and Germany, to Alfred the Great, king of

England (born A. I). 849, died A. D. 901), also to

Charlemagne, emperor of the west (born A. D.

742, died A. D. 814). The family coat-of-arms

granted to James Claypoole, of Waldram Parks,

Northamptonshire, England, by Robert Cook
Clarencieux, King-of Arms, June 17, 1583, con-

sists of three azure caps of maintenance and
azure bars forming an angle, on a gold field, sur-

mounted by a knight’s helmet and over all a crest

of fleur-de-lis. The motto is supposed to be “Nil
desperandum ” but of this we are not positive.

Sir John Claypoole married Marie Angell in

1622 and had fourteen children, of whom John,

the first son, married Elizabeth, the favorite

daughter of Oliver Cromwell; they had three or

four children, who are supposed to have died

without issue. James, the fifth son (born 1634)
married Helen Mercer and also had fourteen

children, of whom John (his first son) came to

Philadelphia in 1682, he following in 1683, with

the rest of his family, consisting of his wife and
seven children. They came over in the ship

Concord, and he mentions in a letter, “I have
purchased of William Penn 5,000 acres in his

country,” and several lots in the town of Phila-

delphia. He was very intimate with William
Penn, the Quaker, and was the first witness to

his signature on the charter of Pennsylvania.

He figured prominently in the early affairs of

Pennsylvania, was treasurer of the “Free Society

of Traders,” register general, member of pro-

vincial council, etc. His sons, John, James and
George were also prominent officers, merchants,

etc., in early Philadelphia. David C. Claypoole
first printer to congress, editor of the ‘‘Pennsyl-

vania Packet” in 1784 and who published the

valodictory address of President Washington,
was a great-grandson of James and Helen (Mercer)

Claypoole. Norton, the seventh son of Sir John

and Marie (Angell) Claypoole, settled at New Deal
in Delaware Bay in 1681 on a plantation with
“his wife and child.” In the latter part of 1683 he
received an appointment from the governor, and,

as his brother James says in a letter to “Brother
Edward” (who was the sixth son of Sir John
and lived on the island of Barbadoes, owning a

plantation, eighty six negroes, etc., also was a

merchant and shipped molases, rum, sugar,

ginger, etc., to Europe and America). ‘‘He is

in a thriving way. He does intend to sell his

land and houses whear he lives & come to dwell

at this towne. ” It is very evident that James Clay-

poole (born in 1701), who was the great- great-

grandfather of the subject of this sketch,

was a descendant of either James or Norton.

James Claypoole was born February 14, 1701,

and married about the year 1729, to Jane- —

,

who died October 9, 1789. He settled in Rock-
ingham county, Ya., but removed to Lost River,

now in Hardy county, Va.
,
long before the Revo-

lutionary war. He was the father of six (or

more) sons: James (born in 1730, who came to

Ohio and settled first at Coshocton, then removed
to Chillicothe, Ohio; He was the father of thirteen

children); John (remained at Lost River, where
he raised a large family, was the father of twenty-

two children and died at the age of ninety years);

Joseph (became the father of one son. It is be-

lieved that this is the Joseph who was born in

1734, and married Mary .and had one son

and eight daughters); William (who was killed on
Lost river by the Indians and left a wife, and
perhaps one child); George (born in 1747, spent

all his days on Lost river); Jesse (settled at or

near Bourbon county, Ivy). George (the grand-

father of our subject), was born March 31, 1747,

was married February 19, 1776, to Catherine

Miller and to them a son, Levi, was born. In

1801 he came to Ohio and bought 1,000 acres

in Licking township, Muskingum county. He
came thither on horseback with his brother-in-

law, Jacob Miller, and they blazed their way with
butcher knives from Zanesville up Licking river to

the west line of what is now Muskingum county
This was done to enable Judge James Jeffries,

from Lost river, who was to join them in a few
days, to find them. Mr. Claypool then returned

to his old home and never returned to reside on
his Ohio land. He died September 24, 1829, was
a member of the Church of England and a sub-

stantial farmer of quiet disposition and excellent

character. His son Levi was born May 9, 1801,

on Lost river, Va.
,
received a limited education in

his youth, and like his father before him, followed

the life of a farmer. He married Mary Fravel,

daughter of Joseph and Anna (Savannah) Fravel,

of Lost river, who were of German descent. To
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Mr. and Mrs. Claypool were born twelve children,

nine of whom lived to maturity: Norton F., El-

linda, Felix W., Catherine, Harrison H., Louisa,

Jacob M., Cecelia, and Rebecca B. Levi Claypool

inherited land from his father, and remained on the

home farm until the death of his mother in 1832,

but the next year, October, 1833, came to Ohio
and settled on the 1,000 acre tract which he in-

herited from his father. He ran the flouringmill,

known as the Claypool mill, was a practical and
thrifty farmer, and added to his possessions until

he owned a very handsome property. He in time

became the possessor of 3,600 acres of land and
was an extensive stock-man, widely known
throughout the country. He was a man of great

integrity of character and commanded the respect

and esteem of all who knew him. He lived to

the age of seventy -three, dying April 19, 1874.

Norton F. Claypool, his son, and the immediate
subject of this sketch, was born July 1, 1822, on

Lost river, now West Virginia. Although his ad-

vantages were poor in his youth, he possessed a

naturally active mind and being fond of reading

he added to his information by the perusal of

newspapers and valuable books, and is now a well-

informed man. He was married in this state

(Ohio) to Miss Julia F. Lynn, daughter of George
and Elizabeth (Spotz) Lynn, and their union re-

sulted in the birth of five children; Ella, Edward
A.. Levi, William O. and Charles N. F. In 1854
Mr. Claypool engaged in the mercantile business

at Nashport and continued to follow this calling

for about eighteen years. He was also in the dis-

tilling business from 1847 to 1862, for some years

owned and ran the Claypool mills, and was also in

the carriage business. In 1860 Mr. Claypool

planted the first peach orchard in his vicinity and
the first successful one in the county. He was
also the first man to run a steam thresher in this

part of the state. He is, in short, a most energetic

business man, and one who is bound to make a

success of all his undertakings. Socially he is a

member of the A. F. & A. M., in which he is a

Knight Templar, and he is one of the charter mem-
bers of Irville Lodge No. 184, at Nashport, Ohio.

He is a man who has had a wide and varied business

career, and he stands deservedly high as an
honorable man. He has taken pleasure in accumu-
lating a library of good books, and now has one

of the largest libraries in his part of the country.

He was interested in the management of the canals

of the state of Ohio for nearly eighteen years, as

one of the “ lessees of public works of Ohio.”

(Note: All descendants of the Claypoole, Claypool,

or Claypole family ai
-e requested to send copy of

family records to N. F. Claypool, Nashport, Mus-
kingum county, Ohio.]

Jacob M. Claypool, of Tobaso, Licking county.

Ohio, is a descendant of George Claypool, who
came to this section from Lost river, W. Va.

,

in 1801. [For an early history of the Claypool
family see sketch of Norton F. Claypool.]

Levi Claypool, father of Jacob M., built a log

house on the farm where the latter is now living,

but afterward erected a substantial brick house,

and finally the house which is now occupied by
Jacob, which is still in a good state of preserva-

tion. Jacob M. Claypool was born March 5,

1844, on his present farm, and after receiving a

common school education, he began following in

his father’s footsteps and became a farmer. His
first work was in riding over his father’s large

farm looking after the stock and other matters,

and two horses were kept constantly busy at this

work. On the 15th of May, 1865, he was married

to Miss Mary Anderson, daughter of Absolom and
Flora (Cisna) Anderson, the former of whom was
born in Maryland, September 13, 1809, of

Scotch Irish ancestry. He came with his father,

Joshua Anderson, to Ohio, when a boy of nine

years (in 1818), but after his marriage he removed
to Iowa, and settled in Lee county, of which he
was one of the pioneer settlers. He was first a

merchant in Nashport, Ohio, but upon removing
to Iowa, in 1839 or 1840, he turned his attention

to farming and now owns a large and valuable

farm. He has been married three times, first to

Flora Cisna, by whom he became the father of

seven children: Thomas, William, George, Robert,

Orien, Mary and Hugh. By his second wife,

Emeline Coleman, he became the father of two
children : Ira and Dorr. He is now living with his

third wife, who was formerly Mary Manhard.
Mr. Anderson is still well remembered in Nash-
port as a straightforward and upright business

man. Since his marriage Mr. Claypool has re-

sided on the old homestead, where he owns
446 acres of land, and occupies a comfortable and
pleasant residence, beautifully situated. He and
his wife are members of the Methodist Episcopal

Church at Tobaso, Ohio, and in this church Mr.
Claypool has held the office of steward. He is a

member of the A. F. & A. M. lodge at Nash-
port. and politically is a republican.

Tholemiah Cochran (deceased) was born Janu-
ary 11, 1810, and died March 9, 1877. He was
a son of James and Sarah Cochran, and was
brought up on the farm belonging to his parents,

in Loudoun county, Va.
,
and with whom he re-

mained several years after he attained to man-
hood. January 28, 1847, he married Hannah
James, daughter of Thomas and Mary James, of

Loudoun county, Va. She was one of their ten

children, only four of whom are now living, and
she the only one living in Muskingum county. In
April, 1849, Mr. and Mrs. Cochran started west,
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and after spending a few weeks in Muskingum
county went onward to Missouri, expecting to make
their home in that state, but after a sojourn of a

few weeks returned to Muskingum county, and in

August, 1850, located on the farm near Adamsville,

on which Mrs. Cochran still resides. Mr. Coch-
ran was a good business man, and in his efforts

prospered. He possessed very decided views on
all subjects, and was very candid in expressing his

opinions. In politics he was a democrat, and with

his means and influence furthered enterprises for the

good of his section. Mrs. Cochran has been an hon-

ored resident of this county for the past forty years,

during all this time living near Adamsville, where
she has a nicely improved place. She is a refined

and intelligent woman, and a generous and con-

siderate neighbor.

Vincent Cockins is the efficient clerk of Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, and notwithstanding the

superior capabilities of her public officials, he has

proven himself a beau ideal public officer, efficient,

punctual, industrious, honest, and uniformly cour-

teous to all with whom he comes in contact. He
was born in Guernsey county, Ohio, February 11,

1841, to Vincent and Hannah (Wright) Cockins,

natives of the “Keystone state.” The father was
born June 15, 1802, and about 1835 removed with

his family to Ohio and located on a farm in Guern-
sey county, where he spent the remainder of his

days, dying February 9, 1891. During the fifty-

six years that he resided on this farm, about
twenty were spent as trustee of his township. He
was a man of much force of character, upright in

every worthy particular, and one whose kind heart

won him many warm friends. The mother was born
about 1809 and is yet living. She bore her hus-

band eight sons and one daughter, seven members
of the family being now alive. Simeon H.

,
who

is in Wyoming territory; William H., in Columbus,
Ohio; Vincent; Alexander L., a resident of Rich
Hill township, Muskingum county; Robert A., who
has been in the mercantile business for a number
of years; Joseph, who resides on the old home-
stead at Rix’s Mill, where he is postmaster; and
Sarah M., wife of James Larrner, of Mercer county,

111. The immediate subject of this sketch, Vincent
Cockins, was reared on a farm in Guernsey county,

in the public schools of which he received his early

education. He remained on the home farm until

1802, when he enlisted in Company B, Ninety-
seventh Ohio Volunteer Infantry, with which he
served until the close of the war. He was a par-

ticipant in the battles of Perryville, Stone River
and a number of skirmishes, after which he was on
detached duty. He was mustered out of the serv-

ice in July, 1805, returned to his home and began
buying and shipping stock to the East. He con-

tinued this business until 1880, when he came to

Zanesville. He soon became so well and favorably
known that he was elected to the office of county
clerk and entered upon his duties in the spring of

1880, to which office he was re-elected in 1888 and
is still discharging its duties. He was married in

this county, in 1809, to Miss Selina M. Kelley, by
whom he has three children: Simeon, Blanche
and Hettie Mabel. He and his family are con-
nected with the Seventh Street Methodist Episcopal
church of Zanesville, and he is a member of the A.

F. & A. M.
,
the Elks, the K. of L. and Hazlett

Post No. 81 of the G. A. R. Upon his election

to his present position he received the largest vote
that was ever polled by his party at any election.

His first election was made by a majority of 480
and upon his re-election his majority was 530.

The total number of votes cast was 12,500, and of

these Mr. Cockins received 0,320. Four of Mr.
Cockins’ brothers served in the Union army during
the civil war. Simeon was in the Seventy-eighth
Ohio, had his left arm broken at Champion’s Hill,

was discharged and returned home; William H.
was also in the Seventy-eighth Ohio, was wounded
at Atlanta, Ga., but remained with his regiment
until he was mustered out of service at the close

of the war; Robert was in Company A, Seventy-
eighth Ohio, and during his service received a

slight wound. He was with Sherman until the
close of hostilities, and was with Sherman on his

march to the sea; Alexander also served in the
Union army. These four brothers, with Vincent,
served in all about thirteen years, and their service

was marked by a conscientious discharge of their

duties and by faithfulness to the interest of their

country. The following is from the pen of William
Culbertson, written December 4, 1890, relative to

the grandfather of Mrs. Cockins, who lived to be
one hundred years of age:

“Mr. Kelley was born in North Carolina in

1755. At the age of nineteen he joined the Ameri-
can army, under Washington, and served during
the war with credit to himself and good to his

country. On September 11, 1777, he was in the
bloody battle on the Brandywine, in which he was
dangerously wounded, and carried from the field,

where an American lady dressed his wounds and
was instrumental in saving his life. On July 15,

1779, he was with Gen. Wayne, in storming Stony
Point, and stood his ground during one of the
most heroic deeds that immortalize the Revolution.

At the end of the war he was honorably discharged.

He was one of the patriots engaged in the explora-

tion and surveying of the state of Kentucky,
where he had many conflicts with the Indians, but
always stood firm and unshaken amid the desola-

tion around him. He married in Virginia, and
some forty years ago emigrated and settled in

Muskingum county. He was the father of nine
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children, eight of whom survive him. Mr. Kelley
was a noble specimen of humanity; honest, pru-
dent and strictly pious. He had unshaken confi-

dence in the merits of the Redeemer of the world,

and died with the assurance of a blissful immor-
tality beyond the grave. His remains were fol-

lowed to the tomb by a large concourse of his” off-

spring and neighbors, where they rest in the glory

of a Revolutionary patriot, until the resurrection

of the just.”

Harvey L. Cogsil, farmer, Adamsville, Ohio.

Among the leading men of Salem township none are

more prominently identified with the farming and
stock-raising interests of the same than Mr. Cog-
sil, who by his industry, perseverance and integ-

rity, is considered one of its first-class farmers.

He was born in Loudoun county, Va.
,
November

17, 1832, and was next to the youngest in a family

of eight children born to Harry and Mary (Vincel)

Cogsil. He was the grandson of John Cogsil.

Harry Cogsil was born in Connecticut in 1806, and
lived to be about eighty-seven years old. He was
reared and educated in the vicinity of Danbury,
Conn., and moved to Loudoun county, Ya.

,
about

1818. There he met and married Miss Mary Yin-

cel, a native of that county, and the daughter of

John Vincel. In 1838 Mr. Cogsil moved to Car-

roll county, Ohio, where he bought an improved
farm and there resided until his death about 1885.

He was a prosperous farmer and a successful busi-

ness man and had accumulated about $80,000 at

the time of his death. He was a whig early in

life, but later affiliated with the democratic party.

He was quite a prominent man, was president of

the first railroad built in Carroll county; was presi-

dent of the first county fair, and held other local

positions. To his marriage were born the follow-

ing children: Antoinette, Oliver, George YV., John
P.

,
Harvey L. (subject), Mary, Anson B. (who died

young) and an infant. The mother of these chil-

dren was a member of the Lutheran church.

Harry Cogsil’ s mother was a Hanley and her peo-

ple took a prominent part in the Revolution. Har-

vey L. Cogsil was about six years of age when he

came with his parents to Ohio, and in Carroll

county he was reared and received his education.

When a young man he began the study of law

with E. R. Eckleyat Carrollton, and was admitted

to the Ohio bar in 1861. The following year he

enlistedin Company H, Ninety-eighth Ohio Vol-

unteer infantry and was first in the reserve corps.

Toward the close of the war he was in the Four-

teenth Army corps. He enlisted as a private, but

was promoted from grade to grade until he held the

rank of captain. He was in the battle of Perry-

ville, Chickamauga, Missionary Ridge, and was
with Gen. Sherman in his Georgia campaign. He
was taken prisoner at Newton Creek, but was re-

leased in about two hours. After the war Mr.
Cogsil came to this county, bought a farm, and
was married, in 1867, to Miss Rosetta Schnebley,
of a prominent family of Muskingum county.
This union resulted in the birth of two children:
Harvey H. (who is married and living in Carroll
county on a farm) and Anna (who died while
young. Mrs. Cogsil died about 1869. Mr. Cog-
sil’s second marriage was to Miss Alice L. Vincel,

a native of Loudoun county, Va., born in 1840,
and the daughter of .Philip and Eliza Vincel.

This last union resulted in the birth of five chil-

dren; Maud A., Frank, John T.
, Bruce and Mabel.

Mrs. Cogsil is a member of the Lutheran church.
Mr. Cogsil is interested in politics and votes with
the democratic party. He represented Muskingum
county in the legislature early in the eighties, and
he has held numerous local offices. He was
mayor of Carrollton while a resident of that city

and has been a member of the school board of

Adamsville. Mr. Cogsil owns about 108 acres of

well-improved land in Muskingum and about 180
acres in Carroll county. He is also engaged in

raising a good grade of stock.

Mrs. C. W. Comin, New Concord, Ohio, is the

widow of Rev. John Comin, who was born in

county Antrim, Ireland, October 13, 1815. He
was the son of Robert Comin, born in the same
county and of Scotch-Irish descent. Robert Com-
in was a blacksmith by trade, and married Mary
Sims. To them were born nine children: John
(the eldest), Mary J., Margaret, Robert, James,
Gibson, Ellen, Sarah and Martha A. The three

eldest were born in Ireland and about 1819 Robert
came to this country with his family and settled

in Burgettstown, Washington county, Penn.,
where he followed his trade. Here the rest of the

children were born, except Martha A. who was
born in Muskingum county, Ohio. About 1834 he
came to Muskingum county, Ohio, and settled on
a farm in Union township. Here he remained
until his death in 1840, a prosperous farmer. His
wife died the year they moved to this county.

They were members of the Seceder church, in

which Mr. Comin took a very active part, also be-

ing interested in school matters. Politically he
was a whig. Of his children six are still living;

two in Guernsey county, Ohio, Mrs. Walker (wife

of Samuel Walker) in this county, one in Illinois,

one in Iowa and one in Kansas City. John Comin,
their son, came to the United States with his par-

ents when only four years of age. He was educated
principally in Washington county, Penn., and at

the age of nineteen years came with his parents to

Muskingum county, Ohio, and attended Mus-
kingum college. He was one of the first graduates
of this college, and later taught there. He also

taught at the Acadamy of Richmond, Ohio, and
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later attended the Allegheny Theological seminary,

in Allegheny City, Penn. He was ordained a minis-

ter of the Associate Reformed church in 1850, and
changed to the United Presbyterian church when
they united. He was for thirty eight years minis-

ter of the gospel among the people with whom he
was reared, in the Salt Creek congregation at Rix’s

Mills. Rich Hill township. He was ever an earnest

preacher of the gospel, and loved by all who knew
him. He was very much opposed to slavery and
tried to make others see the right side of that

question. He died June 18, 1887, was interred at

Salt Creek cemetery, mourned by all who knew
him. May 24, 1853, he married Miss Kate W.
Clark, daughter of Matthew and Elizabeth (Wal-
ace) Clark. The father was born in Coleraine,

Ireland, where he married and afterward came to

this country, settling in Pennsylvania. His wife

died and he married Elizabeth Walace, the mother
of our subject, and they were the parents of five

children: Elizabeth, James, Matthew, Nancy A.,

and Kate W. Mrs. Comin was the youngest of

the family and only one year old at the time of her
father’s death. Of the children, besides Mrs.
Comin, only one brother, Matthew, is living. He
resides in Chicago, 111., and is a minister of the

United Presbyterian church. The mother died

about 1872, in Indiana. Mrs. Comin was born in

Allegheny county, Penn., in 1829, and here received

her education. After her marriage she came with
her husband to Muskingum county, and settled in

Rix’s Mills. She was the mother of ten children,

all living but the eldest daughter, Maggie W. (who
was the wife of Hugh McVey, a minister of the

United Presbyterian church of New Wilmington,
Penn. They have one child, Katherine J. ) ;

Mary L.

(who is the wife of Samuel Moore, a minister of the

United Presbyterian church of Beaver county, Penn.
They have three children; Mabel, Ross and Helen);

Anna Kate (who is the wife of James Moore, a

minister of the United Presbyterian church of New
Lisbon, Ohio. They had three children: John
(deceased), James R., and Samuel F. (deceased);

Sarah Ella (lives at Washington, Penn.); Clark W.
(who is a minister of the United Presbyterian
church at Pigeon Creek, Washington county, Penn.,

and married to Eula Anderson of Xenia, Ohio.

They have one child, Mary Iv. He has been a min-
ister three years and is a graduate of Muskingum
college, also having attended Theological semi-

nary at Xenia, Greenecounty, Ohio); Jennie N. (who
is a teacher in the New Concord public school, has
been teaching five years and is a graduate of the

Muskingum college. She is a very accomplished
young lady); John (who is teaching vocal music at

the public schools in Cambridge, Ohio, and is a

graduate of Muskingum college); Belle H. (who is

teaching in the public school at New Wilmington,
24

Penn., and is a graduate of theWestminster college

in the class of 1891. She is also a teacher of mu-
sic); and Robert (who is at home attending college.

He is taking a classical course). This is a family of

children to be proud of. After the death of her
husband, Mrs. Comin moved to New Concord, so as

to have a home for her children near the college.

They still own the farm in Rix’s Mills. She is a

refined and highly educated lady and has given
her children all the educational advantages possi-

ble.

T. C. Connar, county surveyor, is personally

one of the most popular officials of Muskingum
county, Ohio, and is faithful and capable in the
discharge of his duties. He was born in Guernsey
county, Ohio, December 3, 1845, a son of John
and Frances (Cowan) Connar, both natives of

Pennsylvania. The father came to the state of

Ohio in 1832, the mother the following year, and
they were married in Guernsey county, where Mr.
Connar followed the calling of a carpenter, and
also conducted a farm which he had purchased,
and on which he lived until his death in 1846.

After remaining a widow for some time the mother
married again, and removed to Johnson county,

Mo.
,
where she was called from life in 1889. T.

C. Connar is the only child born to her first mar-
riage, and he was principally reared in Muskingum
county, where he also received his education. He
graduated at Muskingum college in the classical

and scientific courses in 1867, and although reared
on a farm this life was not altogether agreeable to

his tastes, and he determined to embark in some
other calling. In 1868 he went to Johnson county,

Mo., to follow his profession of civil engineering,
and traveled through that state, Texas, Indian
territory and Mexico. He did some work on the
Texas & Pacific railroad, and was chief engineer
of the Warrensburg, Marshall & Fort Scott rail-

road, but the great financial crisis of 1873 coming
on, it was never completed. In the winter of 1875
Mr. Connar returned to Concord, Muskingum

t _
O

county, Ohio, where he followed his profession,

being connected with the railroads running into

Zanesville. He was assistant engineer of the Bell
& Southwestern and the Zanesville & Southeastern
railroads, and had charge of the construction
of the Muskingum County railway and of the
B. Z. & Co., after its consolidation, assistant

engineer of the Z. M. & C. railroad, and resi-

dent engineer of the C. A. & C. railroad. In
1888 he was elected to the position of county
surveyor, and moved his family to Zanesville.

He has charge of the construction of three large
bridges across the Muskingum river, their respect-

ive lengths being 2,000, 1,585 and 600 feet, all of

which are under way of construction at the present
time. He is county engineer, under appointment,
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but was not a candidate for this office, and did not

solicit it, but was elected by a majority of 109
votes on the republican ticket. He was first mar-
ried in 1867 to Miss Mary A. Patterson, by whom
he has live children: Homer L., John O., Harry
E., Albert E. and Edith J. His second marriage
took place in 1890 to Miss Aggie McCall, of Zanes-

ville, and they are members of the United Presby-

terian church, of which he has been trustee. His
two eldest sods, Homer and John, are civil engi-

neers, and give promise of rising to eminence in

their professions.

John W. Conrade, mayor of the city of Zanes-

ville, Ohio, belongs to one of the representative

families of Muskingum county that came to this

section in 1832. He was born in Rappahannock
county, Va.

,
January 9, 1830. His father, Henry

Conrade, was a native of Frederick county, Md.,
and of German origin. Henry Conrade was a sol-

dier in the War of 1812, and afterward followed

the calling of a merchant in Frederick county,

Md. He emigrated to Ohio by wagons and located

in Washington township, Muskingum county,

about live miles from the city of Zanesville, where
he purchased a farm and followed farming, in con-

nection with merchandising until his death in 1865.

The subject of this sketch was reared on a farm in

this county and as he grew up he learned lessons

of industry, frugal habits and economy, which he

has never forgotten. They have ever been char-

acteristic of his subsequent life and conduct. His

initiatory training was received in the old log

schoolhouse of early days and after remaining on
his home farm until about 1850, he was seized with

the “gold fever” and started by water to Califor-

nia. After remaining in California for about one

year, engaged in mining, he returned to Ohio and
embarked in farming once more, and this calling

followed with unabated zeal until 1860, when he

opened a boot and shoe store in Zanesville, which
business has occupied the greater part of his atten-

tion to the present time. He has occupied the

same place of business for thirty-one years and is

the oldest boot and shoe dealer in eastern Ohio. His
stock of goods is comprehensive and carefully se-

lected, and Mr. Conrade is known to handle only the

productions of the most reputable and responsible

makers, such as he can recommend and guarantee

to his customers for superiority of material, work-

manship, style and durability. He is noted for

his energy, enterprise and business push, and
richly deserves the large msasure of popularity

and prosperity he has for many years enjoyed. He
has been active in furthering the city’s interests

and from 1868 to 1870 was a member of the board
of education, and was one of the trustees of

Greenwood cemetery for six years. He was elected

mayor of Zanesville in 1888, to fill the unexpired

term of Dr. Holden, deceased, and was re-elected

in 1889 for a two-year term and is the nominee
for the third term.

Samuel Copland, who was born in Muskingum
county, Ohio, on the 20th of February, 1S23, is

one of the well known and much esteemed pioneers

of the same. His father, Charles R. Copland, was
born in Richmond, Va., in 1796, and was in turn a

son of Charles Copland, who was probably born in

the same city. The latter was an attorney and
practiced law in the city of Richmond where he
lived and died. He was intimately acquainted
with Henry Clay. Charles R. Copland spent his

youthful days in Richmond, and, there received his

education. He left that, city when about nineteen

years of age and came to Madison township, this

county, where he settled on a farm. Theie he
built a brick house, the first one in the township.
He came here about 1814, but his father had come
over the mountains in a carriage as early as 1812,

and had spent the summer here. Charles R.

Copland was married in Madison township to Miss
E valine Adams, a daughter of George Adams, who
was also a very early settler of Madison township.

Evaline was born in Virginia, and was a child

when the parents moved to Muskingum county.

To Mr. and Mrs. Copland were born twelve chil-

dren: Rebecca, who died at a mature age; George,
a farmer of Madison township; Howard (deceased);

Mary A., the wife of Mr. Robertson, of Granville,

Ohio; Samuel (subject); Charles (deceased); Ag-
nes and Anna were twins and both are deceased;

James, residing in Madison township, on a farm,

and is a successful agriculturist
;
the other children

died in infancy. The parents of these children

were members of the M. E. church. Mr. Copland
was a prominent man in his county and a success-

ful tiller of the soil. Samuel Copland, the sub-

ject of this sketch, passed his youthful days on a

farm in Madison township and supplemented a

common-school education by attending the col-

lege at New Concord. He started out to make
his own way in life in 1848 and first clerked in a

store in Dresden. About 1856 he moved on the

farm he now owns in the southern part of Madi-
son township, on Muskingum river, and has tilled

the soil successfully ever since. He was married
in 1866 to Miss Barbara Stine, a daughter of

Michael Stine, and a native of Madisou township,

Muskingum county, Ohio, born in 1845. To this

worthy couple were born five interesting children:

Flora, Agnes, Gabrielle and Mary. They lost one,

Fannie, at the age of four years. Mr. Copland
has given his children good educational advantages,

and they are well versed in music and art. The
two eldest are at Miss Philips’ English Classical

school at Columbus, Ohio. Mr. Copland is the

owner of 750 acres of land, and has it well im-
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proved. He now resides in Dresden, where he

has a fine new home. The family hold member-
ship with the Episcopal church.

Hon. George Wilson Adams (deceased) was for

many years one of the leading men, both socially

and in a business way, of the Ohio commonwealth,
and in the enterprises to which he devoted his

attention he was always abreast, and even in ad-

vance of the times. He was born in Fauquier
county, Va., October 26, 1799, and died at Prospect

place, Muskingum county, Ohio, in August, 1879.

In 1808 he came to Ohio and during the remainder

of his active and enterprising life he resided in this

county. From his early life down to within a short

time of his death he was actively engaged in busi-

ness; chiefly as a farmer, and being the proprietor

of several large flouring mills his time was fully

employed. At one time he was the largest land

holder in the county, or in central Ohio. He came
here with the Adams family who first settled in

Madison township. They secured possession of

10,000 acres of land, which was purchased from

the early pioneers, but Mr. Adams got his first start

in life by shipping flour by flatboat to New Or-

leans, La., from Dresden. In politics he was first

a whig but afterward became an unswerving re-

publican and as such was appointed a justice of

the peace of Madison township in 1829, by Gov.

Trimble. He also represented his county in the

general assembly of the state on two different

occasions, during which time his brilliant mental

powers were brought into play and he made an

able and incorruptible legislator. He was at all

times true to his convictions, and expressed himself

in well chosen and forcible language. July 2, 1845,

he was united in marriage to Miss Clarissa Hopkins
Shaft, who died April 17, 1853, having borne him
five children, the following of whom survive: Anna;
Elizabeth, wife of M. T. Endicott, and Marie. His

second marriage took place October 23, 1855, Miss

Mary J. Robinson, who was born at Rosedale farm

in Coshocton county, Ohio, becoming his wife. The
Robinson family came to Ohio in 1804. To the

last marriage three children were born. Mr.

Adams advanced the money and finished the sus-

pension bridge at Dresden, but later sold it to

Muskingum county for $10,000. This was the first

bridge of the kind erected west of the Alleghanies.

During his life he was a devoted Christian and a

member of the Protestant Episcopal church for

thirty years. W. E. Cox who married Anna Adams,
the eldest daughter of Hon. George W. Adams, was
born in Cass township of this county in 1850, a sou

of William Henry Cox, who had formerly been an

officer in the English army but sold out his com-
mission in order to secure enough money to bring

him to the United States. He lived and died in

this county. W. E. Cox became the possessor of

429 acres of land from his mother’s estate, a tract

of land purchased by William Evans, his grand-
father who was a man of remarkable genius and
ability. He was born in Clermont county, Ireland,

came to the United States in 1829, and purchased
a tract of 1,020 acres of Maj. Cass, which
was a part of the United States military tract.

This he cleared and brought under cultiva-

tion by himself leading his men with the ax in

leveling the forest, and in his hours of leisure

painted from life the birds of that early day,

whose variety and plumage are almost beyond
belief, and look from his album to-day with the
distinctness of life, while the master who repro-

duced them has, together with most of the feathery

beauties, passed from earth. This album, together

with Mr. Evans’ art treasures, among which is a

painting 3x4 feet of Phillip Waverman’s painted

in 1652, are still to be seen at Prospect place. In
1881 he purchased the home place of George W.
Adams, which is known as Prospect place. His
marriage occurred in 1881, and he and his wife

have one child, George W. He is a republican

in politics.

Abraham Crabtree (deceased), Zanesville, Ohio,

is a member of one of the reliable and substantial

families of Muskingum township. Samuel Crab-
tree, the founder of the family in America, was
born in Yorkshire, England, and was a farmer.

He married in England, Fannie Pickles, of York-
shire, and they were the pai’ents of Sarah, Mary,
Ann, John, Samuel and Abraham, all born in

England, and William and Annie born in Amer-
ica. Mr. Crabtree came to America in 1819, spent

a short time in Philadelphia, coming the same
year to Muskingum county, Ohio, he settled in

Falls township, on the land now owned by William
J. Crabtree. He was one of the first settlers of

this township, which was then almost a wilder-

ness, cleared up a farm, made a good home, and
here spent the rest of his days. This farm con-

sisted of 160 acres of land. He and his wife were
members of the Old School Baptist church. He
lived to the good old age of eighty years. Abra-
ham Crabtree, his son, and the father of our sub-

ject was born in Yorkshire, England, May 10,

1817, and was but two years of age when his par-

ents brought him to this country. He received a

common-school education and worked on the farm,

and remained at honie until he was thirty-three

years of age. On April 11, 1849, he married
Elizabeth Newman, daughter of George and Nancy
(Flanagan) Newman. The father was an early

settler of this county, born on a farm near Balti-

more, Md, and his father was a well-to-do slave

owner. George Newman married in Maryland,
his wife being an American born of Irish parentage.

Six of their twelve children were born in Mar
y-
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land: Sallie, John, William, Mariah, Elizabeth,

Mary A., Harriett, Margaret, Sydina (died at the

age of eighteen years), Thomas (died an infant)

and Thomas J. In 1825 or 1826 Mr. Newman came
to Falls township and bought 160 acres of land of

the government, paying $1.25 per acre. This land
is now occupied by Levi Miller and the Miller heirs.

Mr. Newman began life here in the wilderness and
cut his farm out of the .heavy timber. He first

built a hewed-log house and lived in this about
twenty years, then built a brick house, burning
the brick on his farm. He added to his farm until

he owned over 200 acres, but sold out and bought
160 acres in Springfield township near McHenry
chapel, here he spent the remainder of his life, dy-

ing at the age of ninety-six years. He retained

his strength and mental faculties to the last and
never lost his teeth, his front teeth being double.

His first wife died at the age of fifty-five years and
he then married Widow Polly Flanagan, with whom
he lived thirty years. He was a member of the

Cumberland Presbyterian church. After his mar-
riage Abraham Crabtree and his wife settled on
the farm where Mrs. Crabtree now resides. To
them were born eight children: Charles W.

,

James H. ,
Alice C.

,
Calvin A., Francis A., Sam-

uel P. (died at the age of thirty-one years), George
W. (died at the age of fifteen years) and Thomas
E. Mr. and Mrs. Crabtree were both members of

the Regular Baptist church. He was an honest
and hard-working man and owned at his death 200
acres of land, and in politics was a republican.

He gave all his children a good common-school
education and James H. received also a good busi-

ness education. Mrs. Crabtree is now living on
the old homestead, managed by her sons Charles

and Edward. She is sixty-eight years of age, a

woman of intelligence and has always been a kind
mother to her children. Thomas J. Newman, the

youngest son of George Newman, was a fine

scholar, having been liberally educated at Zanes-
ville and the Delaware university of Delaware,
Ohio. He worked his way through college by
teaching, and was for many years editor of the

Courier, a weekly and daily paper of Zanesville.

He was well known as a highly cultivated and edu-

cated gentleman, and died after accumulating a

fortune, at the age of fifty-nine years.

Col. John Crooks’ father, Andrew Crooks (de-

ceased), was the founder of the Crooks family in

Muskingum county, Ohio, and was a pioneer set-

tler of the same. He owed his nativity to Martins-

burg, W. Va., his birth occurring in 1773,

and was of German descent on the paternal side.

He was married to Miss Mary Martin who was
born in 1774, and in 1793 he and family emigrated
to Muskingum county, Ohio, making the journey
with pack horses. Mr. Crooks selected a location

on the present site of Zanesville, but subsequently

moved up Licking river a short distance, where he
rented a tract of land covered with heavy timber.

He erected a log cabin, moved in it, and immedi-
ately commenced preparing his land for a crop.

His financial condition was not of the best and he
endured many hardships and privations before his

efforts were rewarded and he prospered. Being
generous and kind-hearted he could not say no to

his friends and nearly all his savings were swept
away by security debts. He passed the remainder
of his days on his farm, receiving his final sum-
mons on April 22, 1839. Mrs. Crooks died Feb-
ruary 7, 1847. Both were exemplary members of

the Lutheran church and lived consistent Christian

lives. In the military organization of the county,

and at an early day, Mr. Crooks acquired the title

of major, which clung to him through life. To his

marriage were born ten children: Nancy (deceased),

George (deceased), Jacob (deceased). Henry (de-

ceased), Andrew, John, Elizabeth (deceased), Han-
nah (deceased), Joseph (deceased) and Sarah.

Mrs. Crooks had the following brothers and sisters

who came to this county: Mrs. Elizabeth Mowers,
Nancy Martin, Joseph, George and John. Col.

John Crooks was born in Uniontown, Ohio, March
31, 1806, and his educational advantages were
limited to the subscription schools of that period.

However he made good use of the advantages of-

fered, and possessing an ingenious mind and a re-

tentive memory, he easily kept abreast of the times,

and has always taken a prominent position in all

public enterprises of a laudable nature. He has

been twice married, first, June 10, 1827 to Miss
Elizabeth Stover, daughter of Samuel Stover, a

pioneer whose sketch appears elsewhere in this

work. After marriage the Colonel and wife con-

tinued to reside on the homestead for several years

after which he bought eighty acres of unimproved
land which comprises a part of his present place,

which now consists of nearly 200 acres of land,

highly improved and in a high state of cultivation.

He has never aspired to hold office, but his many
friends have forced him into leadership on several

occasions. During 1855 and 1856 he was a mem-
ber of the legislature, and was elected by a major-

ity of 300 ahead of his ticket. He was chairman

on the committee on agriculture. He served one

term as county commissioner, and has held other

local offices of trust, the duties of each and all

having been discharged in a creditable and very

efficient manner. Col. Crooks is widely known, is

pleasant and genial, and has a host of warm friends.

His first presidential vote was for “Old Hickory.”

He was originally a whig in his political views but

upon the organization of the republican party he

joined its ranks and has since supported its prin-

ciples. By his first wife he became the father of
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the following children: Amanda (deceased), Au-
gustus (deceased), Minerva (deceased), Clark (de-

ceased), Clara, Mary and John. Two sons, Clark

and John, served their country in the civil war and
their military careers appear elsewhere in this

volume. Mrs. Crooks died October 7, 1864. She
was a native of Muskingum county, Ohio, born

June 2, 1808. Mr. Crooks’ second marriage with

Mrs. E. J. Peairs, was celebrated October 4, 1866.

Mr. Crooks was a Lutheran in religious belief, but

his wife holds to the Presbyterian faith. His for-

mer wife was a member of the Lutheran church.

He died December 29, 1891.

John H. Crooks, liveryman and undertaker,

Zanesville, Ohio. The vocation of an undertaker

is essentially a very delicate one, and it involves

for its successful prosecution peculiarly important

qualifications which but comparatively few individ-

uals possess, and it is only by long experience, as

well as natural aptitude, that a man is able to dis-

charge his duty in that relation to the entire and
unqualified satisfaction of those most directly in-

terested. Prominent among the best known and
esteemed business men in this line in the city is

Mr. John H. Crooks, whose livery barn and under-

taking establishment is located at Nos. 36-38 North
Fifth street. The business has been in successful

operation since 1871, and as a convenience to the

public it is safe to asseverate that no other estab-

lishment is better eqnqrped. Undertaking is the

special and leading branch of the business, and in

this department Mr. Crooks has the best facilities

for satisfactorily meeting the demands of his pa-

trons. He carries in stock at all times a full and
complete assortment of novelties in caskets, coffins,

burial cases, robes, shrouds and funeral requisites

of every description. Mr. Crooks takes full charge
of funeral arrangements, furnishes everything de-

sired, including hearses, horses, carriages, etc.,

and in every way relieves relatives and friends of

deceased of many unpleasant duties in the hours
of their sorrow and grief. He discharges all his

duties without ostentation and in the most consid-

erate manner, and in all his business affairs is

punctual and reliable. As an undertaker Mr.
Crooks is amply efficient and experienced and is a

prominent and esteemed member of the Undertak-
ers’ association. He is a native of Muskingum
county, Newton township, Ohio, and the son of

Col. John and Elizabeth (Stover) Crooks, both na-

tives of this county, born in 1806 and 1808, re-

spectively. The mother died in 1864, and the

father December 29, 1891. He was one of the

honored and much esteemed residents of Muskingum
county. He has followed agricultural pursuits 'all

his life and was unusually successful in this occu-

pation, being classed among the substantial men of

the county. He was honest, industrious, and,

possessing a strong and vigorous mind, exerted a

great influence over those with whom he is associ-

ated. Col. Crooks represented Muskingum county
in the legislature one term, some time in the fifties,

and he was colonel of the militia before the war,

hence his title. He was the son of Andrew Crooks,

a native of the Old Dominion. The seven children

born to his marriage are named in the order of

their births as follows : Amanda, Minerva, Augus-
tus, Clark, Clara, Mary and John H. The last

named passed his boyhood and youth in assisting

on the farm and in getting an education in the dis-

trict schools. In July, 1862, although but a boy,

he enlisted in the army, Company E, Third Ohio
infantry, and served through Kentucky, Tennessee,

Georgia and Alabama. He was mustered out at

Baltimore, Md., in September, 1865, and returned
to his father’s farm, where he cultivated the soil

up to 1871. He then moved to Zanesville, pur-

chased a livery stable from Louis Krob, and has
operated it ever since. In 1873 he commenced the

undertaking business, and carries this on in con-

nection with the livery business. He married Miss
Mary Bonnet, a native of Muskingum county and
the daughter of John M. Bonnet, who was one of

the pioneers of this county. This union has re-

sulted in the birth of seven children, who are

named as follows: Lulu, Albert, Mary, Frank B.,

George, Emma and John. Mr. Crooks is a mem-
ber of the Elks, the G. A. R., and has been a mem-
ber of the city council.

Henry Cullins, farmer, Dresden, Ohio. Prom-
inent among the many pioneer families of Ohio,

the Cullins’ take a prominent place, for they came
here at a very early date. The grandfather of our
subject, John Cullins, was a native Virginian, and
of Irish descent. He followed agricultural pur-

suits in his native state, and was married in Mor-
gan county, of the same, to Miss Rebecca Beatty,

who bore him eight children: George, John, Henry,
Isaac, Sarah, Elsie, Susan and Elizabeth. In 1802
the family moved to Muskingum county, Ohio, and
made the journey in a four-horse wagon. They
settled in Jefferson township. John Cullins was
an old Revolutionary soldier, and a great Indian
fighter. He was wounded in a fight with the In-

dians near the Ohio river, and was crippled for life,

carrying a musket ball and two buckshots in his

thigh. He was out with a scoutiug-party when
they were suddenly attacked by the Indians, and
Mr. Cullins shot. He was carried on a run a

short distance by one of his companions and con-

cealed under the bank of a small stream, where he
could hear the Indians as they passed in rapid

pursuit of his comrades. He remained in that

place the remainder of that day, that night, the

next day and night, but by that time his comrades
had returned to see what had become of him, and
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he was carried to camp. He recovered, but was
always lame, one leg being shorter than the other.

When he settled in Jefferson township there were
still plenty of Indians, and the country was a wil-

derness. He cleared up a piece of land in that
township, but finally settled in Muskingum town-
ship, where he resided for some time. He subse-
quently bought land in Washington township,
Muskingum county, and there passed the remain-
der of his days. He lived to be nearly eighty
years old. He was a great hunter, and kept the
table well supplied with turkey, deer, etc. Both
bear and panther fell before the unerring aim of

his rifle, and one panther that he killed measured
nine feet five inches from tip to tip. This mon-
ster was killed six miles north of Dresden, and
was in Mr. Cullins’ hog-pen killing the hogs when
interrupted by that sturdy frontiersman. It was
night and the animal took to a tree, but was located

by means of a fire. He was wounded and the next

morning shot dead. Mr. Cullins’ son, John Cul-
lins, the father of our subject, was born in Vir-

ginia, eleven miles from Winchester, October 31,

1791, and had but little education, but could write

his name. He was but eleven years of age when
he came with his parents to Ohio, and he thus
became familiar with pioneer life at an early age.

He entered fifty acres of land in Muskingum town-
ship when old enough, but traded this for fifty

acres which is now part of the farm of our subject.

Before marriage he built the hewed-log house in

which Henry Cullins now lives, and in 1818 was
married to Miss Dorcas Meredith, daughter of

Obed and Rebecca (Draper) Meredith. Mr. Mer-
edith was also from Virginia, and an old settler of

Coshocton county. He was the father of nine

children: William, Jesse, John, Obed, Deborah,
Mary, Rachel, Dorcas and Sarah. Obed Meredith
was a substantial farmer, and died at an early

period in the settlement of Coshocton county. To
Mr. and Mrs. John Cullins were born fifteen chil-

dren: Obed, Mary, John, William, Neri, Henry,
Isaac, Joseph, Jesse, Hannah, James, George,
Lewis, Amos and Martha, all of whom lived to ma-
turity except Neri and Hannah, both of whom died

when mere children. These children were all born
in the old hewed-log house built about 1817, seven-

ty-four years ago. Mr. Cullins was a hardwork-
ing, industrious man, and cleared up a good farm
of 1 18 acres. He was a soldier in the war of 1 812,

served six months, after which he returned home,
but reenlisted again, and the war closed before he
saw any further service. His wife was a member
of the Old School Baptist church. In politics he
was a democrat. His son Amos was a soldier in

the Civil war, Thirty-eighth Iowa regiment, was
in the battle of Vicksburg and several others, and
died after a service of two years. He was but

eighteen years old when he enlisted. Another
son, John, was born September 12, 1823, and
received but a limited education. In 1847 he went
to Fayette county, Iowa, and entered eighty acres

of land, to which he added from time to time until

he owned 300 acres. He married Achsah Butler,

daughter of Nicholas Butler, of this county (see

sketch of Joshua Butler). To Mr. and Mrs. Cul-

lins were born eight living children: Amos J.

,

Mary J., Martha E., Ada A., Jesse B., Asa B.

,

Emma D. and Florinda G. On the 30th of Octo-

ber, 1881, Mrs. Cullins died, and in 1883 Mr.
Cullins returned to Ohio, where he now makes his

home. Henry Cullins, subject of this sketch, was
born July 12, 1830, on the old homestead which
has been the birthplace of two generations of the

Cullins family, and here he received a fair educa-

tion in the common schools. He is naturally in-

dustrious, and by economy and good management
he saved his money and bought out the other heirs

to his father’s farm, now owning the home place

of 105 acres, a small field having been sold by
him. On January 1, 1862, he married Miss Mar-
tha Squires, daughter of Squire Squires, an old set-

tler of Zanesville. She died April 4, 1881, without

issue. On August 20, 1882, Mr. Cullins married
Miss Clara C. Switzer, daughter of Henry and
Elisabeth (Huson) Switzer. Mr. Switzer came
from Germany, and was the father of six children:

Mary, George, William, Clara C., Joseph E., Lo-
retta Z., all of whom lived to be grown. Mr.

Switzer now resides in Zanesville, is a marble-cut-

ter by trade, and an honest, industrious citizen.

He is a member of the Catholic church. His wife

died in 1 874. Mr. Henry Cullins' marriage re-

sulted in the birth of two sons: Henry Edward,
born July 24, 1885, and Charles Lewis, born
March 11, .1888, on the old homestead. Mr. Cul-

lins has the respect and confidence of the people,

and has held the office of township trustee four

years, and supervisor for some time. He and his

wife are people of sterling worth, and are sur-

rounded by many warm friends.

Samuel Cummins, whose death occurred in

December, 1881, was one of the pioneer settlers of

Muskingum county, of which he was a resident

seventy-two years, and was a native of Jefferson

county, Ohio, his birth occurring in 1791. He was
the second in order of birth of seven children born

to James and Margaret (Armstrong) Cummins.
James Cummins left Jefferson for Muskingum
county, Ohio, in 1808, and settled in the woods,

where he erected a cabin, and brought his family

the spring following. At that time the country

was a dense wilderness, and settlers were few and

far between. He located near the old Wheeling
road, in Union township. There he passed the re-

mainder of his days, dying in 1835, his worthy wife
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having preceded him to the grave in 1829. Both
were members of the Union church, in which they
were active workers. Samuel Cummins was about
seventeen years of age when he came with his par-

ents to Muskingum county. He was one of seven
children, who are named as follows: John,
Samuel, Margaret, Jane, Mary, Susanah and
David, all now deceased. Samuel lived the long-

est, and was ninety years of age at the time of his

death. He received his education in the district

schools, and his first move when starting out for

himself was to enlist in the War of 1812, in which
he served six months, participating in some of the
battles of the same. In 1826 or 1827 he married
Miss Mary Caldwell, who was born about 1797,
and who died in 1849, when fifty-two years of age.

She was the daughter of James and Jane (Thomp-
son) Caldwell, the latter a native of Pennsylvania,
but an early resident of this township. Mr. and
Mrs. Caldwell became the parents of nine children:

John (who died when about thirty-five years of age),

James (deceased), Mary, David, Jane, Joseph, An-
drew, Margaret and Moses. Joseph is the only
one now living. Mr. and Mrs. Cummins’ union re-

sulted in the birth of six children—five daughters
and one son: James, who died in 1865. He was
captain of Company A, Fifteenth Ohio Volunteer
infantry, and was wounded by an exploding shell.

He was taken to a hospital, his arm amputated,
and was then removed to his home, where he died
a short time afterward. Margaret, now Mrs.
Armstrong, resides in Guernsey county, this state;

Jane, died in 1859; MaryC.; Susan, died in 1864;
and Martha, who died about 1872. The parents
were both members of the United Presbyterian
church. Mr. Cummins was at first a whig in poli-

tics, but in later years was associated with the re-

publican party, and took an active interest in all

political affairs. He was a prosperous farmer, ac-

cumulating a handsome property, and was public
spirited, being interested in all movements to pro-
mote the growth and prosperity of the county.
At his death he owned three good farms in this

county, and two farms in the West.
John B. Cusac (deceased), was one of the early

settlers of Newton township, Muskingum county,
Ohio, and a man universally esteemed and re-

spected. He was born in Pennsylvania, and when
still unmarried emigrated to Muskingum county,
locating first in Putnam, where he learned the trade
of fulling. Subsequently, about the date of his

marriage, he came to Newton township and worked
at his trade in a small mill, owned and operated by
Remington & Slack, for several years. He after-

ward purchased the mill from his employers and a

lew years later erected a new structure, carrying
on a successful and lucrative business for a good
many years. In connection with fulling he oper-

ated a grist and sawmill. The three departments
made his mill a busy place, and was in its day one

of the principal industries of the county. This

Mr. Cusac managed the greater part of his life.

The mill, buildings, etc., covered about sixteen

acres of land, and he owned other real estate in

the township. Altogether he served in the capacity

of justice of the peace about sixteen years, the

term being divided into two periods and separated

by an interval of three or four years. He also

held the office of township trustee many years, and
was identified with the township clerk’s office for a

number of years. Mr. Cusac was a gentleman of

excellent business acumen, and had among his

patrons citizens from a wide scope of country.

His services w6re in great demand by the young
seeking the marriage state, and many were the

couples Squire Cusac tied in the matrimonial web
and sent on their way rejoicing. He and wife

were members of the Presbyterian church, and
during the early day of Presbyterianism in the

county he was an official member, always taking

an active interest in all good work. Politically he
was at first a whig. At the birth of the republican

party he identified himself with it, and ever after

supported its principles in all elections. He was
married to Elizabeth Slack, daughter of John and
Sarah (Burley) Slack, and they became the parents

of the following children : Andrew, Sarah (drowned
at the age of eighteen years), John (died in child-

hood), William, James, Charles. Jacob (served in

the civil war, Seventy-eighth Ohio Volunteer in-

fantry, contracted sickness in the service and died

soon after coming home), Alva, Phoeba and Mary.
Air. Cusac died in 1872, when seventy-five years of

age, and his wife died in Kansas, when sixty-eight

or sixty-nine years of age. Their eldest child,

Andrew Cusac, was bom in Newton township, Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, March 13, 1825, and his

early life was passed in his father’s mill. He ob-

tained but little education in the subscription

schools, attending only a few weeks each year, and
on Alay 1, 1864, he enlisted in Company G, One
Hundred and Fifty- ninth Ohio Volunteer infantry.

He served until August of that year, being on duty
in Maryland most of the time, and was honorably

discharged at the expiration of kis term. Return-

ing from the war he began farming on the place

upon which he had settled previous to his enlistment,

and in connection with his agricultural pursuits

dealt largely in lumber. He is quite an extensive

stock dealer, and keeps some of the very best grade
of sheep. His farm comprises 165 acres of good
land, and is comfortably improved with a commo-
dious house, good barns and outbuildings. Mr. Cu-
sac was married on December 25, 1 848, to Miss
Elizabeth, daughter of James and Martha (Bell)

Shields. Three children have been the result of
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this union: Martha (wife of George Spring), Mary
E. (wife of F. B. Powell) and John B. Mr. and
Mrs. Cusac are connected with the Methodist
church (Bethel). In politics the former is a re-

publican. Mrs. Cusac’s father, James Shields,

was born in Ireland, and when a child came with

some relatives to America, his parents having died

when he was small. He was married in this coun-

try to Miss Martha Bell, and was one of the early

settlers of Muskingum county. He settled on land

in Newton township, and there passed the remain-
der of his days engaged in agricultural pursuits.

He was a much-esteemed citizen. He and wife

were Presbyterians in their belief. Their children,

nine in number, were named as follows: Jane,

John, Nancy (deceased), Elizabeth, Mary, Martha,
Margaret, James (deceased) and William (de-

ceased). Mr. Shields died in 1850, when about
eighty- six years of age, and his wife died in 1886,

also at an advanced age.

B. F. Davis, who comes of an old Virginia

family, was born in Muskingum county, Ohio,

September 17, 1841, and is of Welsh descent, his

grandparents, John and Hannah (Cornell) Davis,

being natives of that country. The grandparents
were married in Wales and emigrated to America
during the Revolutionary war. Mr. Davis was
taken into the army and served during the re-

mainder of the war. His son, Benjamin Davis,

was born in Hardy county, Va.
,
in 1797, October

20, and spent his early life on a farm in that

state. Iu 1814 he came to Muskingum county,

Ohio, with a brother, and after opening and clear-

ing a farm, sent for the remainder of the family in

Virginia. In Muskingum county Mr. Davis met
and married Miss Mary Cowden, who was born
July 20, 1798, in Old Philadelphia, Ireland, and
their union was blessed by the birth of nine chil-

dren: Margaret, now Mrs. J. C. Taylor, of Salem
township; Hannah, was the wife of Washington
Spicer, and died when forty years of age; Sarah
(deceased), was the first wife of Washington Spicer;

David, died in early manhood; John, died when a

boy; Robert, died young; Mary, wife of C. C.

Taylor, of Salem township, and Benjamin F. (the

subject). The father of these children was a

prominent man, and took an active part in politics,

affiliating with the whig party. Mr. Davis first

settled on the farm where C. C. Taylor now lives,

and at the time of his death was worth about 300
acres of good land, and other interests. He built

the first house in New Concord. He and wife

were members of the Methodist Episcopal church.

His death occurred on the 20th of September,

1868, and the mother died on the 19th of that

month, 1887. B. F. Davis, the subject of this

sketch, became familiar with the duties of the

farm at an early age and attended school in Salem

township, Muskingum county. When twenty-one
years of age he enlisted in Company E, One
Hundred and Sixtieth Ohio infantry, which served

as home guards at first, and was called out in

the United States service in May, 1864. This
company was attached to the eastern army, and
although Mr. Davis was in no battles, he saw
some hard service. After the war he tilled the

soil, and this he has continued up to the pres-

ent time. He is a member of the G. A. R. post

at Adamsville, also a member of the grange at

that place, and a member of Lodge, F. &
A. M. Mr. Davis was married in 1861 to Miss
Rosannah Winn, a native of Salem township, Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, born May 18, 1842, and the

daughter of James and Louisa (Shaw) Winn. She
died September 6, 1887, leaving five children:

Hiram H., Mary L., Etta J., Icy A. and Pearl E.

The eldest child is deceased. Mrs. Davis was a

consistent member of the Methodist Episcopal

church. Mr. Davis’ second marriage occurred in

1888 to Idella Barrett, a native of Muskingum
county, as were also her parents, Thomas and
Lucinda (Gabriel) Barrett. Mrs. Davis was born
in Adams township, August 15, 1867, and was one

of eight children.

Thomas H. Davis, Otsego, Ohio, is descended
from an old pioneer Muskingum county family,

whose ancestors were from Wales. His great-

grandfather and great-grandmother died on their

voyage to America and were buried at sea. They
left two children: A son, ten years old, whose
name was John W. Davis, and a daughter eight

years of age. These children, upon their arrival

in America were sold as servants to pay their

passage, and thus they were separated never to

meet again. John W. Davis, the son, first settled

in Loudoun county, W. Va. ,
where David Davis

the father of the subject of this sketch, was born.

From Virginia he moved to Ohio and settled near

Zanesville. At an early day John \V. Davis was
a Revolutionary soldier, and fought under Gen.

Wayne. Four brothers, with Peter and John Brad-

ford, also brothers-in-law, settled in Highland
township, where they all made good farms and
passed the remainder of their days. David Davis

married Sarah Gordon, and to them were born

eight children who lived to be grown: John,

Robert, Milton, James, Thomas H., Elizabeth,

Margaret and Sarah J. When Mr. Davis settled

in Highland township it was an entire wilderness,

and he cleared up his farm from the heavy timber.

He blazed a trail through the woods to Otsego

and thence to Marquand mills. The nearest mill

before had been at Zanesville. Mr. Davis bad a

good farm of 160 acres, and was in good circum-

stances. His brother, Benjamin, planted the seeds

of an apple tree, which he had brought with him,
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and raised over 1,000 apple trees, the apples being

all of different kinds. These trees were planted

in Highland and Salem townships. Mr. Davis died

on his farm in Highland township. He was one of

our honest, straightforward pioneer citizens.

Thomas H. Davis, his son, was born April, 1, 1850.

He grew up in the rough school of the pioneer,

learned the shoemaker’s trade, and has worked at

this trade more or less ever since. He ran a shoe-

maker and harness shop in Otsego, and was also in

the mercantile business there for over five years.

He owned a large shop, doing an extensive busi-

ness and employing five or six hands. In 1882
Mr. Davis bought a farm consisting of 113 acres,

one mile north of Otsego, upon which he resided

until April 1, 1892, when he purchased hotel

property in Otsego, of which he is now the

proprietor. Mr. Davis’ wife was born in this

hotel and lived there until she was thirteen years

old. Both Mr. and Mrs. Davis are members of

the Baptist church, and Mr. Davis has been Sun-
day-school teacher, secretary and treasurer. In
politics he is a stanch republican. Mr. Davis is

one of the honorable and industrious citizens who
believes in educating his family. He has two
children: Wilbert R. and Maud L. Wilbert R.

received a good education in the common and high
school of Otsego, and then at the college at Gran-
ville. He also received instructions in music at the

the Musical institute. He attended the high school

at Plainfield and the Muskingum college at New
Concord, has taught school two terms in this

county and is a young man of intelligent mind and
good character. Maud L. has attended the com-
mon and high schools of Otsego and the high
school at Plainfield, and is a young lady of educa-
tion and refinement. Socially Mr. Davis is a

member of the Masonic lodge at Adamsville and
Odd Fellows lodge at Coshocton. He married
Hannah A. Baker, daughter of Alpha Buker [See
sketch of Decatur Buker. ] Alpha Buker was born
February 28, 1800, at Gray Mains, and received a

good education. He learned the woolen carder’s

trade, and at the age of eighteen years, in 1818,

came to Otsego. His father, Israel Buker, and his

brother Caleb were settled in Monroe township.
He married Mary A. Bainter, and to this marriage
were born nine children: Israel, John, Charles,

Jacob, Adam, Elizabeth, two who died when small
and one died an infant. Mr. Buker taught school

in Muskingum and Coshocton counties many years.

He was one of the early teachers of the county
and one of the first teachers at Plainfield. He came
from a family of school teachers, and in Maine one
was the author of a spelling book, and another of

a grammar. Mr. Buker first settled in Monroe
township, where his widow now lives. His first

wife died of injuries received from falling from a

horse, and Mr. Buker married Elizabeth Straight,

daughter of Abraham Straight. By this wife he

became the father of nine children: The oldest

one died an infant, Mary A. (deceased), Sarah J.,

Caleb H., William R., Elijah F., Hannah A.,

Charity C., Louisa J. Thus Mr. Buker was the

father of eighteen children. Mrs. Buker was a

member of the Baptist church. Mr. Buker kept a

hotel in Otsego many years and in politics he was
a strong republican. He was a man of undoubted
integrity and a substantial farmer, and died at the

advanced age of eighty-four years.

James A. Deffenbaugh, farmer of Muskingum
county, Ohio, is a son of Sol. and Margaret
(Twadle) Deffenbaugh, natives of Pennsylvania,

who came to this state in 1808 and settled in

Zanesville. The father was a shoemaker by trade,

and followed this calling for a number of years

after coming to this state, being one of the first to

drive a peg in the town of Zanesville. After fol-

lowing his trade for some time he moved to Perry

county and rented land of his brother for one year,

then moved back to this county and traded his

Zanesville property for the farm on which the

subject of this sketch now lives, at that time con-

sisting of about 128 acres of land and worth about

$10 per acre. At the present time it is worth

about $100. On this farm Mr. Deffenbaugh
resided until his death, which occurred in 1869.

The property which he accumulated was the result

of honest toil, for upon his arrival here he was a

very poor man, and where many would have

fainted and fallen by the wayside, he pushed
vigorously on and gallantly surmounted the many
difficulties that strewed his pathway. He was a

soldier in the War of 1812 and held a number of

local offices. His wife died in 1873, she, as well as

Mr. Deffenbaugh, being members of the German
Lutheran church. She was a kind mother, a

devoted wife, and a warm and faithful friend,

beloved by all who knew her for her many Chris-

tian virtues. She bore her husband nine children,

as follows: Elizabeth, the deceased, wife of George
Harris; Christian R.

,
who is deceased, but his

family reside in this county; Anthony, who resides

in Texas; Sarah, the deceased wife of Robert

Black; George, deceased; Mary, deceased; Henry,

who resides in Zanesville; James A., the subject

of this sketch; and Martha, wife of James Williams.

James A. Deffenbaugh was educated in the country

schools of this section, and obtained a fair practi-

cal education. He was born in Perry county in

1827, and at the age of nineteen years he com-
menced to farm for himself on the old homestead.

At the age of twenty-seven, or in 1854, he was
married to Miss Nancy J. Moore, who was born in

Kentucky, and who came with her parents to this

county when she was quite small. Joseph Moore,
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her father, was quite an early settler of this sec-

tion, and by trade was a carpenter. He resided

for quite a number of years near by and in the

village of Beverly, following his trade. He was
married to a Miss Hedges. To James A. Deffen-

baugh and his wife the following children were
born: Sarah, Solomon, Isaac, Harriet, wife of

William Ray, of Rich Hill township, Ethie, and
James H. Jr. Mr. Deffenbaugh purchased two
shares of the old homestead, besides his own on
which the old family residence stood, and now has
a line little farm of forty-three acres on which is

one of the finest orchards to be found in this sec-

tion of the country. He also gives considerable

attention to the raising of raspberries and black-

berries. Politically he is a democrat and is a

member of Muskingum lodge No. 28 of the
I. O. O. F.

Chancey H. Delong (deceased) was one of the

most esteemed and respected citizens of Meigs
township, and, as the first tanner of that township,
was a complete success. He owes his nativity to

Washington county, Ohio, his birth occurring in

June, 1804, and about 1820 he came to Muskingum
county. He settled in Meigs township, and was
among the earliest settlers, experiencing all the

hardships of pioneer days. In that township he
established the first and only tannery, and that he
made a complete success of this enterprise can not

for a moment be doubted, for at the time of his

death, which occurred on December 4, 1887, he
was one of the wealthiest men of that township,
owning in the neighborhood of 800 acres of land.

He was a member of the Baptist church, was a

liberal contributor to the same, and was active in

all enterprises for the advancement and progress of

the county. In politics he advocated the princi-

ples of the democratic party. On October 22, 1878,
he married Mrs. Mercy White, daughter of John
and Charlotte Mclntire. She had been previously
married to Hiram White, by whom she had two
children: Elizabeth, and John, both deceased.

Robert Dickey, Nashport, Ohio. William
Dickey, grandfather of Robert Dickey, came from
Ireland to America, and first settled in Pennsylva-
nia, in which state he was married to a Miss Lysle,

who was also a native of the “Emerald isle.”

From Washington county, Penn., they removed to

Jeffersonville, Ohio, about 1800, and Mr. Dickey
afterward turned his attention to farming, making
a good home for himself and family in the wilder-

ness. He died at the age of sixty-six years, a

Presbyterian in religious belief. He was an old-

line whig in politics, and in disposition was quiet,

amiable and generous. His children were: Nancy,
Mary, Jane, Sarah, William, Robert, James and
Joseph. James Dickey, one of these children, was
born in Jefferson county, Ohio, in 1806, received

the education and rearing of the average youth of

his day, and upon reaching manhood was married
to Miss Mary George, daughter of John and Ann
(George) George, distant relatives, the former be-

ing a native of Ireland, who first settled in Penn-
sylvania and afterward moved to the falls of the
Licking river, where he followed his trade of car-

penter and lived to be about sixty-five years of age.

Mr. Dickey has in his possession a cane which Mr.
George brought to this country with him from Ire-

land, and which he called “ Thorny,” and which is

now over one hundred yearsold. Mr. George was the

father of six children: Mary, Betsy, Nancy, Will-

iam, James and Robert. James Dickey became
the father of eight children: Ann, Robert, William,
James, Elizabeth, John, Jane and Sarah. Mr.
Dickey followed the calling of a carpenter, at the
Falls, when a young man, residing there for about
eight years after his marriage. After residing on
several different places he purchased a farm near
Shannon, but later, sold it and purchased the farm
which is owned and occupied by his son Robert,

and here he passed from life in 1880, at the age of

eighty-four years and five months. He was a re-

publican, politically, and was a soldier of the War
of 1812, being stationed on Lake Erie at the mouth
of Black river. He was a young man of nineteen

when he enlisted and went in place of his brother,

Robert Dickey. Mr. Dickey was very industri-

ous, a man of his word, and was always trustworthy

and honorable. Robert Dickey, his son, was born
at the falls of the Licking river, in Muskingum
county, November 21, 1818, and in addition to ob-

taining a common school education, he learned the

details of farming. About 1822 he was brought
by his parents to Muskingum county, and here has
resided up to the present time. He was married
to Miss Mary A. Clark, a daughter of Richard and
Margaret (Stockdale) Clark, the former of whom
was, for a number of years, a farmer about two
miles from Baltimore. Upon selling his farm he
received for it a half-bushel measure even full of

silver money. He then came to Ohio and settled

in Wyandotte county, where, among the Indians

and wild beasts, he made a home for his family.

He was the father of the following children: Sarah
A., Margaret, Mary A., Isabel, Susan, John, Jesse,

and Cornelius. Mr. Clark was a soldier in the

War of 1812, and was called out when the British

invaded Maryland and burned Washington*. He
died when fifty-nine years of age. He was an old-

fashioned pioneer, and, like many of the first

settlers, killed himself with overwork in clearing

up land. Robert Dickey remembers well when
most of the old pioneers obtained their meat by

means of the rifle. His father was a great hunter

and an expert marksman, and kept his family well

supplied with wild game. Even when an old man
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of eighty years, could, without the aid of glasses,

shoot the head of a squirrel in the top of a tall

tree. Mr. Dickey can remember when the woods
were full of game, and has often seen eight or nine

deer at one time running along the high ridge east

of Irville. He has killed many wild turkeys, etc.,

himself, and thinks his father killed the last deer

of this section in the Bald hills. This was an old

buck that had been chased so much that he was
very wary. Mr. Dickey followed him on horse-

back, with a bell on the horse, to the big bend of

the Tomaka creek, near where Squire Evans now
lives, and back to within three miles of his home,
easily tracking him in the snow. He was very

large. Mr. Dickey remembers many interesting

incidents of pioneer days. He is the father of

nine children by his first wife: Richard, John,
Margaret and Mary are the ouly ones that lived to

maturity. After the death of his first wife he mar-
ried Hannah McFarland, daughter of Charles and
Sarah (Fairall) McFarland, the former of whom
came from Virginia at an early day and settled in

Licking county, and is now living at Granville. By
his second wife Mr. Dickey became the father of

one child, Nettie. He has resided on several farms
in Licking county, and from 1860 to 1869 he re-

sided in Bartholomew county, Ind. Since then he
has been a resident of Ohio, and has resided on a

farm he purchased from his father. He and his

wife are members of the Methodist Episcopal
church, and he is a stanch republican in politics

and was a strong Union man during1 the war. He
several times offered his services to his country, but
was refused on account of disability. He is now
in comfortable circumstances, free from debt, and
is highly respected by all who know him.

Gottlieb Dietz, the subject of this sketch was
born in 1812, in Spielberg, Baden, Germany, in that

old country where civilization and intelligence had
been foremost among the nations for centuries.

Born and reared in a home of warm religious at-

mosphere, where love to God and fellow- men was
the first principal taught and practiced. His
father was an architect by profession. Of the many
public and government buildings that his father

had charge of it was a wonted pleasure for him to

speak of frequently. At the age of twenty-one he
became inspired by the oft-told wonders of America,
to come to that far-famed country. Admiring his

own country’s institutions he thought another
might contain all his native land possessed, and in

his ideality he was not disappointed, and to the
day of his death he was a stanch supporter of his

adopted country, and withal never failing to give
due tribute to his fatherland. Arriving in New
York in the spring of 1833, he found employment
in the city at his own profession, that of a mill-

wright. But in tho winter milling business he

¥ ,

sought and found employment in the country with

a farmer, who gave him steady work, good wages,
and great kindness, savored with that Samaritan
hospitality which was never forgotten by him.

Several years thus employed he ventured farther

west. Ohio as a state had taken a front rank and
employment was then to be found in building mills,

and on the construction of the canal. Coming to

Taylorsville he was employed at that place for two
years, on the finishing of the locks, when a position

as head miller, in a flourmill at Duncan’s Fall was
offered him and acceptably filled for a number of

years. At Taylorsville he was united in marriage
to Miss Caroline Young, who also came to America
from Germany with her parents about the same
year young Dietz did. In 1853 he moved to

Lowell, Washington county. At this time his

family consisted of four children, Fred C., twin

daughters, who were remarkable for their ex-

treme likeness to each other, and Theobald; and
here he took the management of the Lowell flour-

mills, for several years. He finally bought a flour-

mill on Duck creek, at a place now known as

Whipple. Here he lived and prospered. He was
noted for the excellent flour sent from his mills. In
all his dealings with his fellow-men painstaking

was a characteristic. Living at this place until

1863, his oldest son Fred left home to enter the

service of his country, and his father finding busi-

ness more burdensome in advanced years, bought
some land near Zanesville and contented himself

in garden culture. His son returned after capitu-

lation at Appomattox, after participating in four-

teen battles. His sons married and settled near

him. Theobald carrying on garden culture in a

scientific manner. Both sons occupied many posi-

tions of honor and trust and like their father

acquitted themselves with credit. In tlieM. church
and I. O. O. F. he occupied a prominent place.

To such noble characters as Gottlieb Dietz, Ohio
owes much of her celebrity. Coming to this country

when the dense forests were cut away, the In-

dians were driven farther to the west, there was
much need of men who were inspired bygoodpur-
poses to lay their willing hands to building up of

our public institutions. With his high standard of

morality, his industry, his fidelity to exemplify the

golden rule, there can be no better representative

of the pioneer emigrant. To his adopted country

he gave a loyal heart, to his fellow-men kindness,

to his family and friends a memory hallowed by
the purity of his life. In 1878 lie passed away.

Tbus ended a quiet, peaceful life. To such as he,

our government gives a welcome hand, for sustain-

ing her national, social, and religious privileges.

Abraham C. Dorsey, farmer, Dresden, Ohio, is

a representative of two of the pioneer families of

Ohio, and perhaps inherits from them those ster-
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ling qualities of push and perseverance which have
made him so successful in life. His grandfather,

John Dorsey, was born in Virginia and was of

English descent. The tradition of this family is,

that three brothers emigrated from England to

America at a period long antedating the Revolu-
tionary war and from these ancestors sprang men
in great numbers who subsequently became prom-
inent in different localities. John Dorsey, the

grandfather of our subject, and a worthy descend-
ant of his illustrious ancestors, was a substantial

farmer and resided in his native state until 1808
when he came to the Buckeye state, settling on a

farm near Shannon, now owned by Stockton
Frazier. He was married in Virginia to Miss Jemi-
mah Gist, of the same neighborhood, and to them
were born these children: Joseph, Michael, Owen,
William, John, Honor, Betsey and Jemimah. Mr.
Dorsey’s laud was covered with heavy timber and
with the aid of his sons be cleared the half section

he had purchased, erected a good residence, and
gave all his sons land. He was a member of the

Old School Baptist church and was deacon for

many years. He was one of the hard-working
pioneer settlers, and lived to be sixty- four years of

age. His son, Joseph Dorsey, was born in Virginia in

1796 and when a boy of fourteen years came
with his parents to Ohio. He assisted his father

in clearing up the land and received his education
in the pioneer schools. He subsequently returned
to Virginia and was there married to Miss Johan-
nah Foster, who, when an old lady, would relate

how Mr. Dorsey returned five times to Virginia to

see her, before they were married. They had
been old schoolmates in Virginia. After marriage
they settled on a farm in Cass township, where
they resided for a short time, and then moved to

the farm now occupied by the widow of John
Dorsey. To. Mr. and Mrs. Dorsey were born ten

children: Benjamin, Jemimah, John, Elizabeth,

Abraham, Johannah, Naomi, Joseph, Amelia and
Cecil. Mr. and Mrs. Dorsey were devout mem-
bers of the Baptist church and Mr. Dorsey was
deacon of the same. They were married by the

famous Alexander Campbell, the founder of the

Campbellite church. In politics Mr. Dorsey was an
Old Line Whig. He died in 1845, at the age of

forty-eight years, eight months and a few days. He
was a man of upright character, a substantial and
enterprising farmer, and a citizen who had the

respect of all. His son, Dr. Joseph Dorsey, of Dres-

den, was a soldier in the Civil war and was in the

famous ninety-seventh regiment, serving until ces-

sation of hostilities. Another son, and the subject of

this sketch, Abraham C. Dorsey was born in Cass
township, Muskingum county, on April 30, 1830,
and was educated in the common schools of his day.

It was but natural, perhaps, that he should select

agricultural pursuits for his calling in life, for his

ancestors for several generations had been farmers.

He married Miss Isabella Lane, daughter of Jacob
and Achsah (Butler) Lane. Mr. Lane was born
on a farm in Huntington county, Penn., and was
a prosperous and respected man. He came to

Ohio with his father, Abraham Laue (whose wife

was Mary Morrison), and about 1808 the latter

brought his children, seven in number: Jacob,

Richard, Abraham, Samuel, Elizabeth, Presotia

and Mary. Abraham Lane (the father) settled in

Muskingum county, Muskingum township, re-

mained there for a short time and his next settle-

ment was in Monroe township, where he passed
the remainder of his days. His second wife, Mary
Baker, bore him eight children: George, Jeremiah,
Achsah, Sarah, Ellen and three who died in in-

fancy. He was a member of the New School
Baptist church. Jacob Lane received a very
limited education and worked on a farm for old

Capt. Taylor and here he married Miss Achsah
Butler, on the 14th of October, 1814. [See sketch

of Joshua Butler.] He was drafted in the War
of 1812 but as it was toward the close of the war,

he saw no active service. His marriage resulted

in the birth of nine children: Morris, Jesse, Amos
(died in infancy), Ebenezer, Jeremiah (died in

infancy), Hezekiah (died in infancy), Helen (died

when eight years of age), Elizabeth (died in

infancy) and Isabelle. Mr. Lane first settled on
the Taylor place, and there remained for a few

years. Both of these farms are now owned by
our subject. When Mr. Lane first settled on this

farm (about 1821) there was not a house south of

him within two miles. North of him the first

house was at Mile run, one mile south of Dresden
and three miles away. There was not a stick cut

on the place and he cleared the most of it with his

own hands. He was a careful business man, a

practical farmer, and a prominent citizen. He
owned 519 acres and besides assisted his sons in

buying land, giviDg three of them 100 acres apiece.

He had money out at interest and after the death

of the widow, when this was settled up, it amounted
to $19,000. In politics he was formerly an old

line whig and later a republican. At the time

of his death, which occurred February 19, 1872,

he was eighty-three years of age. He was entirely

a self-made man and all his property was the result

of his own hard work. He was of a cheerful, pleas-

ant disposition, thoroughly enjoyed a joke, and
was very popular with t he young people. Although

quick and passionate, he never bore malice and

soon forgave an injury. Abraham C. Dorsey set-

tled on the old Lane homestead after marriage,

resided there eight years, and then bought a farm

near by, the Munson farm, and resided on that

ten years. In March, 1872, he moved to the old
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homestead which had been willed to Mrs. Dorsey
and which contained 219 acres. Mr. and Mrs.

Dorsey’s marriage was blessed by the birth of six

children: Salathial, Florida J., James L., Achsah,
Johannah and George B. Mr. and Mrs. Dorsey
are members of the Old School Baptist church,

and he has been deacon for about fifteen years.

He is now the owner of 339 acres of land, and has
given his sons 176 acres. Salathial married Miss
Sarah B. McCann and became the father of three

children: Nellie I. J., Loulie A. and Charles T.

He is farming in Perry township. He is interested

in educational matters and held the office of school

director for some time. He was justice of the

peace in Perry township for three years, and
although a republican, he was elected to the office

by democrats. Mr. Dorsey is a good penman, and
possesses excellent business acumen James mar-
ried Miss Lora King and has three children : Alma,
B. F. and Brice. He is farming in Colorado and
doing well. Achsah married John W. Wirick, a

fai-mer of Knox county, Ohio, and they have one
child, an infant, unnamed. The remainder of the

family are at home. The Dorsey family is one of

the best in the county and Mr. Dorsey is well

kuown for his kind, genial disposition, and his

interest in all good work. He is now sixty-two

years old and his wife a few years younger. Her
mother, Mrs. Lane, was the seventh daughter of

the seventh daughter and was supposed to possess

great healing powers. Mrs. Dorsey was born,

reared, and has lived all her days on the same
farm—nearly sixty years on the old homestead
that has been in the family about seventy-one years.

When Mr. Dorsey was twenty-three years of age,

1852, he assisted in driving a herd of 110 cattle

from Dresden across the Alleghany mountains to

Philadelphia, and was from May 10 until July 1 in

making the trip. He attended the Centennial expo-

sition at Philadelphia and also visited Washington,
D. C. When a young man of twenty- one, he visited

Indiana and bought 160 acres of land. This land
he finally disposed of.

Caleb Bracken Downs was born June 20, 1830,

on a farm in Redstone township, Fayette county,

Penn. His father was Jonathan Downs, a sturdy
farmer and a leading architect of the community
and a “straight-out” member of the old whig party.

His mother’s maiden name was Mary Miller, a

daughter of Peter and Mary Miller, straight and
strict Quakers. Caleb remained on the home farm
until the age of sixteen, when he was apprenticed
to the carpenter’s trade, in which he served faith-

fully for three years and worked at the trade a

year afterward. During these years he took his

chances for a very common-school education pecul-

iar to the country and time, and came out with a

first-class physical constitution, untainted by dis-

ease of any kind, either hereditary or acquired, and
with an avoirdupois of 186 pounds. He then en-

tered the Dunlap’s Creek Presbyterian academy at

Merrittstown, Penn., where he remained for about

five years, being promoted from student to tutor,

then to first-assistant teacher, and finally to the

principalship of the institution. While here he

united with the Presbyterian church. Being
almost wholly dependent upon his own exertions,

he had by this time, by rigid diligence and economy,
acquired sufficient mental and moral and money
equipment to enter the sophomore class, two-thirds

advanced, in Jefferson college, at Cannonsburg,
Penn., and was graduated in 1857, not receiving

any class honors, but having a college grade that

secured him a place on the commencement pro-

gram as one of the “ elect ” in a class of fifty-nine

men, the faculty conferring on him the honor of

delivering the humorous oration. In the autumn
of 1857 he began the study of theology in the

Western Theological seminary, at Allegheny City,

Penn. At the end of the term, April, 1858, he
was called to take charge of an academy at Mar-
tinsburg, Ohio, where he continued two and a half

years in the double work of teaching successfully

a large number of young ladies and gentlemen and
studying theology under direction of Rev. Henry
Hervey, and was licensed to preach the gospel by
the presbytery of Richland, June 13, 1860.

March 28 of the same year he was united in mar-
riage with Miss Martha M. Dayton, of Martins-

burg, Ohio, an estimable Christian lady, who died

January 22, 1892. He was pastor of the Presby-

terian churches of Utica and Homer, Presbytery

of Zanesville, from 1860 to 1874; pastor of the

church at Lithopolis, Presbytery of Columbus,
from 1874 to 1881; represented his presbytery in

the sessions of the general assembly of the church
in New York city and Pittsburg, Penn., in 1869,

and again in the assembly in Pittsburg in 1878.

To secure the higher education of his children he
removed to Granville, Ohio, in 1882, where he re-

sided seven years, preaching to neighboring

churches. In 1883 he purchased the printing

office of “The Granville Times” and successfully

edited and published that paper for a year, when
W. H. Kussmaul became an equal partner with

him. While here he collected and compiled and
published a neatly-bound history of his college

class, together with a report of their twenty-fifth

reunion, at which he had the honor of reading the

class poem. Here, also, he acquired the reputation

of a spicy, crisp and vigorous editorial writer. Iu
1886 he was unanimously nominated for congress

by the republicans of the Sixteenth district, in

which the democratic majority was about 5,000.

He made a splendid race, preaching every Sabbath
during the campaign, and receiving the strong en-
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dorsement of his party and the press of the dis-

trict and state, and a large democratic vote in his

own county. His defeat, though inevitable, was
honorable, giving him the title of “Hon.”
Having preached for seven years in the Presbyte-
rian church at Frazeysburg, a thriving village of

this county, on the Pan Handle railway and the

Ohio canal, and having sold his interest in “ The
Granville Times,” at the urgent solicitation of

the enterprising citizens of Frazeysburg and
vicinity he took up his abode in this village, and,

with the co-operation of his two sons, established

a newspaper and job printing office, issuing, Aug-
ust 29, 1889, the first number of “ The Midland,’’

a bright, neat and newsy eight-page, five-column

quarto weekly paper, of which he was the editor.

April, 1891, he disposed of his interest to his eld-

est son, C. C. Downs, his youngest son, J. R.
Downs, being business manager, and he being still

the editor. At the present time (March 5, 1892,)

he ministers to the Presbyterian church and is an
active and influential factor in every important
movement in church and state.

A history of Muskingum county would not be
complete without mention of Robert Duff, New
Concord, Ohio, who is one of the old and honored
citizens of that county. He was originally from
Pennsylvania, his birth occurring in Beaver county
in 1811, and was the son of Alexander and Eliza-

beth (Dumm) Duff, and grandson of Oliver Duff,

who was a native of the Emerald isle. The latter

came to Muskingum county, Ohio, at a very early

date, settled in Beaver county, Penn., and there re-

ceived his final summons. Alexander Duff was
also a native of Ireland, and was but a boy when
he came with his parents to America. He was
reared in Beaver county, Penn., where he resided

until 1807, when he came to Muskingum county,

Ohio. He first settled in Zanesville, which then
consisted of only a few houses, and there resided

for some time. Previous to 1818, in 1810, Mr.
Duff made a visit to Muskingum county and settled

in an old roofless cabin. To remedy this he shot

deer and took their skins to cover the roof, resid-

ing in this all one winter. Later he brought his

family. He resided in Muskingum county for

some time, but finally moved to Guernsey county,

where his death occurred in 1855. His wife was
a native of the Keystone state, and was a daughter
of Andrew Dumm. She died in Guernsey county
in 1853. Both were members of the Seceder
church. Mr. Duff was a tiller of the soil aud fol-

lowed that pursuit for thirty or forty years. His
children, seven in number, were named as follows:

Sarah (Mrs. Thomas Law), Oliver (died in 1882),

Alexander (died in 1887), Hannah (is the wife of

Moses Brown), Robert (subject), Andrew (died in

1886), David (died in 1888) and Jane (who is now

Mrs. William Ramsey of this county). The father

of these children was a succesfful farmer, and was
a prominent man in the county in his time. He
was a democrat in politics, but never held office.

Robert Duff passed his youthful days in Highland
township, and in 1823 he started out to fight life’s

battles for himself. He was married in Mercer
county, Ohio, to Miss Rebecca Duff, a native of

Beaver county, Penn., born in 1814, and the daugh-
ter of Oliver Duff. She died in 1868. They were the

parents of nine children: Oliver, Alexander (who
died when in his fiftieth year), John (who was forty

when he died), William (a resident of this county),

Sarah J. (at home), Robert (a resident of New
Concord), Elizabeth aud Andrew. The last two
died ‘in infancy. Mr. and Mrs. Duff are members
of the United Presbyterian church, and he is a

republican in politics. Mr. Duff has followed

farming all his life, and has met with substantial

results. In connection with farming he also ran a

saw mill for seven years. He is well known- and
well respected in the county, of which he has been
a resident since 1842, and he is an active worker
for the advancement of educational and religious

enterprises.

Oliver Duff was born in Guernsey county, Ohio,

March 27, 1837, and was a son of Robert and
Rebecca (Duff) Duff. [See sketch of Robert Duff.]

He was reared until about fifteen years of age in

Knox township, and received a fair education in

its schools. He then moved with his father to

Highland township, this county, and when twenty-

one years of age started out for himself as an agri-

culturist. He was married, February 22, 1870, to

Miss Mary C. Cummins, daughter of Samuel Cum-
mins, and this union resulted in the birth of two
children: Samuel I. (who was born November 24,

1871), and John A. (born September 16, 1875).

Mr. and Mrs. Duff are worthy members of the

United Presbyterian church, and in politics he is a

strong republican. He is active in school and
church work as is also his wife. Mr. Duff owns
eighty acres where he lives, and sixty-four acres jn

another tract. He has a nice, convenient residence

and in connection with farming is also engaged in

stockraising. He is one of the prosperous plant-

ers and stockraisers of Muskingum county, and is

a social, genial gentleman.

Samuel Dunn, farmer, Frazeysburg, Ohio.

William Dunn, great-grandfather of Samuel Dunn,
was a Scotchman, and emigrated to America prior

to the Revolution, with a family of seven sons, three

of whom are remembered: Thomas, John and
William. They were all tall, stalwart men, and
measured about six feet three inches in hight.

Mr. Dunn settled in Fayette county, Penn., fol-

lowed farming, and lived to be quite old. His son

William, the grandfather of our subject, was born
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in Scotland in 1763 and came with his father to

America. He married Miss Nancy Dunn (no re-

lation), of Scotch-Irish descent, and they became
the parents of nine children: Robert, Thomas,
Samuel, William, Caldwell, Polly, Jane, Margaret
and Nancy. Mr. Dunn came with his wife to Ohio
soon after marriage, about 1789, as nearly as can
be ascertained, and was one of the very first set-

tlers. The country was a wilderness and for three

days and nights after coming here they camped on
the land. The wolves howled so around the wagon
that they could not sleep and Mr. Dunn went eight

miles to get assistance to build a log cabin and
clear a few acres. Thus they began their humble
home in the wilderness and here they passed the

closing scenes of their lives, respected and honored.

Mr. Dunn reared his large family and by hard work
and industry cleared a large farm of 300 acres, to

which he gradually added until he owned 1,000
acres. He was possessed of good business ability

and sagacity and by his management his property
accumulated by easy stages without fuss or worry
and without severe economy. In fact he exhibited

an old-fashioned hospitality and his house was
noted far and wide for the ample spread of the

table which in those good old days fairly groaned
under its burden of good things. He was also

noted for his honesty and integrity and held the

office of justice of the peace for twenty-one years,

his idea being to prevent as much as possible use-

less litigation. He was popular among the frontier

folk and united in holy matrimony many of the

young people, whose grandchildren are now useful

citizens of the old Buckeye state. He was a soldier

in the War of 1812, a general in the militia, and
was called out with his command. His grandson
well remembers his uniform, sword, silver mounted
pistols in their holsters and which are now pre-

served as relics in the family. Squire Dunn also

served in the state legislature. He believed in the

Christian religion, gave land on which to build a

church, and contributed liberally of his means to

all worthy movements. He lived to be ninety-one
years of age and left a large estate to his children,

including a great amount of personal property,

which required a three-day sale to dispose of. His
real estate amounted to about 1,500 acres of land,

600 acres being near Colundbus. In politics he was
an old line whig and kept himself well informed
upon the topics of the day. His son, Thomas
Dunn, father of subject, was born in Belmont
county, Ohio, on the old homestead January 9,

1803, and was well educated in the common
schools. He learned farming and when grown was
united in marriage to Miss Hannah McGinnis,
daughter of Daniel McGinnis. [See sketch.] Mr.
and Mrs. Dunn became the parents of five children:

Nancy, William, Samuel, Thomas and James D.

After his marriage Mr. Dunn settled on a farm
given him by his father, in Guernsey county, Ohio,

near Middletown, and remained there until 1861,

when he came to Muskingum county and settled in

Jackson township on the farm where his son Samuel
now resides. He now resides in Licking township,

this county, and although eighty- nine years of age

is still hearty and vigorous, and is a great walker.

He has been a hard worker but has been possessed

of great physical strength. He is an extensive

reader, is well versed in the Bible, and has decided

views on most matters. He is an honorable, upright

man. Samuel Dunn, subject, was born near Mid-
dletown, Guernsey county, Ohio. March 31, 1835,

and received but a meager education, being obliged

to work at an early age. At the age of twenty-one

he began working for himself on a farm, and re-

ceived $100 for eight months’ labor. He continued

farm work until twenty-seven years of age, and then,

on March 10, 1861, was married to Miss Margaret
Slaughter, daughter of Matthew and Hannah
(Riley) Slaughter. To Mr. and Mrs. Dunn were
born two children: Anna and Pauline H. Samuel
Slaughter, grandfather of Mrs. Dunn, was the son

of the original emigrant from Germany to America,

and was born near Georgetown, Ya. He married

Miss Margaret Jenkins, of the Old Dominion, and
the fruits of this union were Henry, Mathias,

Matthew, Sally, Stacy, Harriet, Rachel and Sarah
E. Samuel Slaughter came to Ohio and settled in

Coshocton county, where he was among the earliest

settlers. He spent the remainder of his days on a

farm. He shot the last wolf seen in Jackson town-

ship. Rachel, then a little girl, was passing

through the wood to visit a neighbor carrying a

piece of fresh pork, when the wolf smelling the

meat, pursued her. She dropped the meat and ran

home to her father, who siezed his old flint lock

musket and shot the wolf. He was a good hunter

and killed much game in which the country then

abounded. He at one time killed a she bear and
her two cubs on his own farm, and had a narrow
escape from the bear. He died at the age of

seventy-five and was a typical old pioneer, fron-

tiersman and hunter. He owned a good farm and
was a prosperous agriculturist. His wife was of

Scotch-Irish descent. His sou, Matthew Slaughter,

was born in Coshocton county, Ohio, and was mar-

ried at the age of twenty, or in 1836, to Miss
Hannah Riley, daughter of William and Hannah
(Long) Riley. William Riley wras born six weeks
after his parents arrived in this country from Ire-

land; his birth occurring in Philadelphia. His
father was John Riley, a weaver, and kept his son

William weaving at the loom, which w'as greatly to

his distaste. When fourteen years of age the latter

ran away and enlisted under George Washington
in the Revolutionary war, serving seven years aud
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participating in several engagements. His father

tried to get him back, but William was so anxious

to remain that Gen. Washington gave him the

desired permission. He was wounded by a shell,

had his jaw bone broken, and was partly buried

with dirt. He lived to be eighty-four years of age

and received a pension from the government. His

wife died at the age of sixty-six. He was a farmer,

was married in Pennsylvania and resided at West
Alexander, Ohio county, Ya. ,

for some time. He
came to Ohio and located in Muskingum county in

1815, but died in Cass township. He was a sub-

stantial farmer and a member of the Presbyterian

church. Matthew Slaughter and wife were the

parents of two children, Margaret and John, who
grew to maturity. Mr. Slaughter first settled in

Cass township, Muskingum county, and there resid-

ed for eleven years when he moved to Jackson
township. He there resided on the farm now
owned by his son-in-law, Samuel Dunn, until his

death at the age of forty-four, of typhoid-fever.

He was an excellent citizen and was much respected.

After marriage Mr. and Mrs. Dunn settled on the

old Slaughter homestead, and there they have since

resided. Mr. Dunn has ever taken a decided in-

terest in the schools and has held the office of

school director for several years. He has also been
supervisor. Mrs. Dunn and daughters are members
of the Disciple church, and Mr. Dunn holds to that

faith. He and wife have carefully educated their

children, both of whom hold first-class certificates

to teach. Anna has taught fifty-four months and
both are able educators. Pauline H. married Henry
P. Moore from near their home farm, and one child,

Samuel J. W., is the result. Mr. and Mrs. Dunn
are well respected in the neighborhood and are

first-class citizens.

William M. Dunn is a son of the old pioneer

farmer, William Dunn, who settled in Roseville,

Muskingum county, Ohio, in 1822, when the town
was but a vast wilderness. William Dunn was
born in the state of New York, and is the son of

James Dunn. He was a wagon-maker by trade,

was a young man when he settled in this county,

and here followed his trade for thirty years. He
brought his wife with him from New York city,

where he was married. The town of Roseville was
then called Millford, deriving its name from the

mill and ford. William Dunn died April 9, 1888,

at the age of ninety-four years. He was among
the most prominent business men of Roseville,

farmed early, and was for fifty years a devout

member of the Methodist Episcopal church, in

which he took a great interest. He was a whig in

politics, and later a republican, and was taken

prisoner while serving in the War of 1812. His
wife was Harriet Williams, daughter of Rev.

James Williams, a Methodist Episcopal minister of

New York. She was connected with the families

of Heath, Buchlins and Stanton, all prominent;
Edward M. Stanton, ex-secretary of war, being a
relative. She died in 1854, and was the mother of

eight children: Mary, Seymour, James, Charles,
William M. (subject), Harriet, Jane and John. Of
these children only John and William M. are liv-

ing. They reside in this county. Mrs. Dunn was
also a member of the Methodist Episcopal church.
William M. was born in Roseville, March 27, 1828,
and was educated in this town. He took up the
study of law in 1859-60, with John C. Hazlett
and Judge Stillwell, and engaged in the practice

of his profession in this town. In connection with
the law he took up the real-estate and collection

agency, and has been very successful. He is promi-
nent in the democratic party, and has held all the
offices of the town, being justice of the peace a

number of years. Mr. Dunn has taken a great in-

terest in educational matters, and given his children

good educations. At the age of eighteen years

Mr. Dunn married Amanda Rolph, born in this

town, and the daughter of John and Elizabeth
Rolph, early settlers of Roseville. She was the

mother of one child, Harriet, who is now the wife

of John Milton, of this neighborhood. His first

wife died in 1854, and Mr. Dunn married Grace
Crooks, daughter of Jacob Crooks, living near Ful-

tonham, this county. To Mr. and Mrs. Dunn
were born six children: Charles A., a prominent
physician and surgeon for the C. & M. O. R. R.;

Alice R., the wife of Prof. John A. Williams; James;
Katie, the wife of James Stoneburner, of this

town; Altona, the wife of Louis Culp, of Lancas-
ter, and William C., a railroad man living in Co-
lumbia. Mr. and Mrs. Dunn are members and
earnest workers in the Methodist Episcopal church,

and take a great interest in the Sabbath-school.

Mr. Dunn having been a resident of the town since

his birth, is well known and esteemed by all.

Frank A. Durban has, for the past eleven

years, been an active member and a strong addition

to the Muskingum county (Ohio) bar, and in the

practice of this most worthy profession he combines
activity, good sense and conscientiousness. He
attends to work entrusted to him with promptness,

accuracy and decision, and deserves the large

amount of public confidence he commands. He
was born in Zanesville, November 10, 1859, to

Thomas and Mary (Crooks) Durban, the former of

whom was born in Brentford, England, in 1818,

and died in Zanesville, Ohio, June 4, 1876. The
Durban family came to the United States in 1836,

and took up their residence in Muskingum county,

where Thomas Durban devoted his attention to

merchant tailoring. The paternal grandfather of

Frank A., James Durban, although born in Eng-
land, died in Zanesville, at about the age of fifty
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years, having been a school teacher by calling.

Mary Crooks, the mother of the subject of this

sketch, was born in Newton township, this county,

in 1823. Frank A. Durban is the youngest of

five children, and was educated in the schools of

Zanesville, graduating from the high school in

1877, after which he entered the University of

Michigan at Ann Arbor, and after spending two
years in the law department, graduated in the

class of 1879. He was then admitted to the bar

at Columbus, and entered upon his practice in

Zanesville in January, 1880, forming a law part-

nership the following April with A. W. Train,

which continued until the death of Mr. Train, May
13, 1891. Mr. Durban is a successful attorney,

and has been on nearly every case of importance
tried in the county in recent years, and is the gen-

eral counsel for the Zanesville & Ohio River rail-

road. He is a republican in politics. April 5,

1881, he was married at Findlay, Ohio, to Miss
Max'garet Dennis. He is a member of the B. and
P. Order of Elks.

Capt. George Egan, groceries and home and
table supply house, Dresden, Ohio. The ques-

tion of food supplies is one of the first with which
the human family have to grapple, and viewing

the competition from a commercial standpoint, it

will be admitted that the well-appointed grocery

establishment furnishes the largest share toward
the solution of the problem of feeding the masses.

In such connection we make due reference to the

popular concern conducted by Mr. George Egan.
He was born in Madison township, Muskingum
county, Ohio, February 26, 1829, and is a son of

John and Sarah (Hahn) Egan, the father a native

of Rising Sun, Maryland, born in 1779, and the

mother a native of Washington county, Penn.,

born in 1789. The former died December 13,

1843, and the latter September 8, 1873. He
was the son of Valentine Egan, who was a native

of Ireland, and who lived to be ninety- seven years

old, and she was the daughter of Paul Hahn, who
was a native of the Keystone state. The seven

children born to Mr. and Mrs. Egan are named in

the order of their births as follows: Jane, James
P. (deceased), Sarah A., widow of Edward Feath-
erston, John, George H. (deceased), Augustus (de-

ceased) and George. When a young man the

latter learned the molder’s trade, and he also

worked at the carpenter’s trade for a number of

years. In 1801, at the first call for troops, he
enlisted in Company E., Third Ohio Infantry, and
served for three months, the time of his enlist-

ment. In July, 1862, he went out as captain of

Company E, Ninety-seventh regiment Ohio in-

fantry, and was discharged on account of disability

(rheumatism of the hip), being mustered out at

Murfreesboro, Tenn., March 13, 1863. He worked
25

at carpentering from that time up to 1879, and
since then has been engaged in the grocery busi-

ness at Dresden. Patrons will always find in Capt.

Egan a careful and honorable gentleman to deal

with, as well as one whose courtesy and affability

render trading with him a pleasure. He is one of

the substantial business men of the county. The
Captain was married in September, 1861, to Miss

Charlotte S. Slaughter, who was born in Coshoc-

ton county, Ohio, August 9, 1841, and who is the

daughter of Aden and Sarah A. (Howell) Slaugh-

ter. To Mr. and Mrs. Egan have been born two
children: Ella, who died in September, 1866, and
George H., whose death occurred in March, 1867.

Mrs. Egan died in February, 1868.

Fredrick H. F. Egbert, of the Dresden Milling

company, Dresden, Ohio. Up to a comparatively

recent date no important change had been made
in milling machinery, invented and brought into

use about the time of the adoption of the federal

constitution, by Oliver Evans, of Pennsylvania.

But in this, as in other departments of industry,.

American inventive genius saw opportunities for

improvement, and as a result the roller system, or,

as it is known, the gradual reduction process, was
introduced. This has produced so great a change
that at the present this system is adopted by all

leading and influential mills in the country.

Among those milling companies which have secured

conspicuity on account of the uniform excellence

of their products, we notice especially the Dresden
Milling Company, which dates its organization to

December 27, 1887. The building was originally

erected in 1884, and equipped with newest im-

proved machinery, operated by one seventy- eight

horse-power turbine wheel and never failing supply
of water. Business was commenced November 1,

1884, under a slightly different organization, and
continued until coming into the control of the

present company, at the date before given. The
building is four stories and basement in bight, and
48x60 feet in dimensions, exclusive of office, and
has a capacity of 125 barrels of choicest bakers’

and family flour per day. The special brands for

which this mill is known are the “ White Mount-
ain,” “Peerless Lilly White” and “Silver Cloud,”
which hold the highest standard of value in all

markets in which they have been introduced, and
enjoy a marked popularity with the trade and
with consumers. The members of the present
company are William Snyder, J. AValters and F.

H. F. Egbert, gentlemen who combine (he fullest

financial, practical and business ability. Merchant
grinding, custom work and exchange are engaged
in, and as manufacturers of flour, meal and feed,

and dealers in grain, they contribute in a marked
degree to the importance of the place and to its

business interests. Fredrick H. F. Egbert was
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born in Hanover, Prussia, March 16, 1845, and is

a son of John H. and Mary E. (Egbert) Egbert.
In 1845 the parents moved to Dresden, Ohio, and
there the father’s death occurred December 31,

1882, when sixty-eight years of age. The mother is

still living and is now over eighty years of age.

The eight children born to their union are named
in the order of their births, as follows: Mary L.

,

Angeline (deceased), an infant died unnamed, F.

H. F. (subject), infant died unnamed, Henry (de-

ceased), infant (deceased), and John H. (deceased).

When thirteen years of age Fredrick H. F. Egbert
began learning the tailor’s trade under his father,

and worked at this until he was twenty-one years

of age. After this he followed agricultural pur-

suits up to 1882. when, on account of the death of

his father, he took charge of the latter’s store

which he carried on until 1886. He then pur-

chased a half interest in the Dresden mill and has
since given that his undivided attention. He is an
active and progressive business man, and enjoys a

well-deserved reputation, won by pluck, energy and
perseverance. Mr. Egbert was married in 1866
to Miss Mary E. Eschman, a native of Dresden,
and a daughter of Herman Eschman. They have
seven living children: M. Bertha, Mary J., John
F., Ellen A., Laura L., Frances E. and Charles
H. Mr. Egbert is a member of Wakatomaka lodgeO r">

No. 186, I. O. O. F., and passed all the chairs in

the same. He is a member of Howard Encamp-
ment No. 79. In politics he is a republican.

Both he and wife are members of the Methodist
Episcopal church.

George and Edward Ellis belong to one of the

original pioneer families of Muskingum township,

and from their ancestors inherit Welsh, Scotch and
Irish blood. William Ellis, the great-grandfather,

came to America from Wales when a young man,
before the war of Revolution, and settled on a farm
near Baltimore, where he married. He assisted

the colonists in their struggle for independence
and served nearly through the entire war. Soon
after peace was declared he removed to Washing-
ton county, Penn., where he settled on a farm
and reared a family of sons, Amos, William and
Elias being the only ones now remembered. The
father of these children died in Pennsylvania after

he had attained to the age of ninety years. Game
being very plentiful in those days he became a

noted hunter. Elias Ellis, his son, was born in

Washington county, Penn., and was married there

to Jane Caldwell in 1792. He farmed there until

about the beginning of the present century when
he removed to Limestone county, Ky., but not

liking the country on account of the drouth, which
was very severe that year, he returned to Pennsylva-
nia. His wife andtwo children, David and Thomas,
accompanied him, and the journey down the Ohio

river was made by means of a “pirogue,” which
was an open boat hewed out of an immense poplar
log, which they propelled by means of paddles
and poles. These boats would carry a great deal,

but were very easily upset and this trip was made
when the country was an entire wilderness and
Indians were plentiful and hostile. This hardy
pioneer had to depend upon his trusty rifle for

both protection and food. After a short time
spent in Washington county, Penn., he removed
with his family to St. Clairsville, Belmont county,

Ohio and settled on land near St. Clairsville, but

only remained there a few years. Like his father

before him, he was a noted hunter and depended
largely upon his skill as a marksman to support
his family, frequently making the journey to the

Muskingum river in this immediate vicinity, in

search of large game. While on one of these trips

he visited Muskingum township and liking the

looks of the land, he entex-ed 160 acres, this being

about the year 1805, and the following year he
settled on the land with his family. He built a bank
hut in which he lived for a few weeks, then a log

cabin within a few yards of the spring at Stockton

Frazier’s who now owns the property. Mr. Ellis

cleared up a part of this land, which was then an
unbroken wilderness, and in doing so eudured all

the hardships incident to pioneer life. He was
one of the early justices of the peace and was well

acquainted with the famous Lewis Cass who, when
a young man, had several law cases before squire

Ellis, who at one time assisted him in an important

matter as follows: When Cass was a pronxinent

candidate for colonel of a regiment raised in this

part of Ohio, and when the men were being xxxust-

ered in at the old town of Putnam, now the Ninth

ward of Zaxxesville, Squire Ellis swore in the officers

rapidly, who then immediately voted for Cass as

colonel, this being before the other candidates for

colonel were aware of the plan. Mr. Ellis was
intimately acquainted with Gen. Cass and many
acts of friendship passed between them. About
1810 Mr. Ellis moved to the farm now occupied by

John Collopy, which he rented for ten years. He
moved several times, making advantageous trades

and finally spent his last years in Licking township,

between Irville axxd Nashport where he died on

July 31, 1833, at the age of sixty-four veai’s. His

wife died August 2, 1833, at which time she was
fifty-eight years of age. They were members of

the Presbyterian church, which he assisted in found-

ing in Mxiskingum township, and he was one of the

first church trustees and assisted in clearing the

land where the church now stands. He was a man
of good character and although an old backwoods-

man, always observed the Sabbath and led an ex-

emplary life. He was a Jeffersonian democrat.

To such men as Mr. Ellis we owe the development
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of the township and county as well as the great

state of Ohio. The names of his children are as

follows: David, Thomas, Hannah, William, Elias,

Eliza and Jane. Elias Ellis Jr., his son, was
born in Baltimore county, Ohio, July 11, 1805, and
received the limited schooling of those days. The
year following his birth he was brought to this

county and here passed nearly all the remainder
of his life, being reared on a pioneer farm. Sep-

tember 24, 1833, he was married to Susan Nash,
daughter of Thomas and Mary Horton Nash, the

Horton family being of Revolutionary stock. Capt.

Thomas Horton, the maternal great-grandfather,

served throughout that war and was a participant

in the battle of White Plains. Helived near where
this battle was fought, and Gen. Washington
visited his house and obtained a glass of milk.

After the battle Capt. Horton was concealed under
the floor and his wife went to bed to conceal his

hiding place, which was directly under the bed.

The British soldiers came to the house and were
about to pull Mrs. Horton from the bed without

ceremony, when one of the officers said, “Damn it,

dont bother a sick woman.” Thomas Nash was
the founder of Nashport. He was of French de-

scent and came with his family from New York
city in 1818. He was a sea captain and the owner
of small vessels. He settled on a farm where Nash-
port now stands and for some time kept a hotel.

He was born February 25, 1770, and died at Nash-
port July 27, 1830. He was the father of fifteen

children, two of whom died in infancy and the

remainder lived to maturity: Gertrude, Orville J.,

Jonathan H., George W., Thomas M.
,
Susan, Mary

E., Abraham, Caroline, Job M., Lorenzo D., Mar-
garet A., and Thomas J. Mr. Nash was a gentle-

man of the old school and was a man of sterling

traits of character. Elias Ellis, after his marriage
settled on the Sidle farm, and here he lived for

some time. He was a farmer and land speculator

and followed this calling in various parts of the

county. He was at one time the proprietor of the

farm now owned by William Cox and afterward

lived on the “school lots,” now occupied by the

Widow Bell. In 1849 he bought the farm now oc-

cupied by his sons, but from 1854 to 1800 resided

on the farm occupied by H. J. Summers near

Zanesville. He was a democrat politically, and
during the Civil war was a strong Union man. He
offered his services to his country but was refused

on account of his ago. His son, Andrew J., served

in Company E, Sixteenth regiment Ohio Volunteer
infantry and served three months. He was in

the battle of Cheat Mountain, Garret’s Ford and
others. He lost his health from measles contracted

while in the service and returned home. Mr. Ellis

assisted with his means the soldier and soldier’s

widow, and without doubt did as much as any one

man in the county. He and his wife became the

parents of seven children: Orville N.
,
who became

a physician and died in Kankakee city, Ilk, October

14, 1891; Andrew J., a farmer living in Newton
county, Ind.

;
Eliza C., died in infancy; George,

residing on the home farm; Thomas died in in-

fancy; Mary J. resides near Glendale, Hamilton
county, Ohio, and Edward residing on the home
farm. Both Mr. and Mrs. Ellis were members of

the Presbyterian church and he was quite active

politically, and in 1854 was chosen by popular vote

to the position of county treasurer, but did not
fill the office on account of a complication which
was decided against him. In 1863 he was nomi-
nated for the Ohio state senate, but was defeated.

He served eight years in the Ohio legislature, 1869,
1873-74 in the house, and four years in the senate.

In the early days of the state militia he was a

colonel for some years. Socially he was a member
of the Old Dresden lodge of the I. O. O. F. He
became very wealthy, and was at one time the owner
of 3,000 acres of land in Ohio, Indiana and Illinois.

He was a man or excellent business ability, honor-
able in his dealings and had the good will of all

who knew him. He died on the home farm May
14, 1888, at the age of eighty-three years, his wife

having died March 3 of the same year. He was a

man of strong character, possessed a naturally

quick and intelligent mind and was of a disposition

to assist every good cause and was a fine example
of the best class of Ohio pioneers. The home
place is a magnificent farm of 700 acres, mostly
Muskingum river bottom land and very fertile.

George Ellis, his son, was born December 24,

1842, and received a common-school education.

Being a capable boy he learned the details of farm-
ing and when twenty-eight years of age took full

charge of the home farm. He has become a prac-

tical and successful farmer and stockraiser, and
probably understands the business as well as any
man in the state, for it has been his life work.
Like his father he is a democrat, and has always
been interested in the cause of education aud has
been a member of the board of education in his

township for eight years. He is well read, has
many fine “books in his library, aud is well versed

in history, especially the history of Ohio. His
brother Edward, joint owner of the home farm
with himself, was born February 15, 1854, and in

addition to receiving a common-school education,

attended business college. He learned the ma-
chinist’s trade in Zanesville and invented a steam
engine with new valve motion. He is now on the

farm, his health not permitting him to pursue his

trade. He married Matilda Eschman, daughter of

Henry and Margaret Eschman, of Dresden, and
they are the parents of two children: William N.
and Elias E. Mr. Ellis is a democrat politically,
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and is a young man of intelligence and ability.

The Ellis family is descended from the best Ameri-
can pioneer stock, and members of it have been
soldiers, hunters, pioneers, farmers for generations.

William D. Elsea was born on a farm in Union
township, Muskingum county, Ohio, September 26,

1813, and was the third in order of birth of a fami-

ly of nine children reared by John and Nancy
(Self) Elsea, both natives of Frederick county, Va.,

the father born July 4, 1787, and the mother
April 7, 1789. The paternal grandfather, William
Elsea, was also a native of the Old Dominion.
John Elsea and Nancy Self were married in their

native county, and after one child was born, or in

1809, they immigrated to Muskingum county,

Ohio, making the journey in a two-wheeled cart

drawn by two horses. They had to cut their way
through the wood, and on their arrival settled on a

farm bought by John Self, father of Mrs. Elsea, in

1804. He had purchased the farm, but never
lived on it. On this tract of land Mr. and Mrs.

Elsea passed the remainder of their days, the for-

mer dying on the 3d of December, 1846, and the lat-

ter in 1870. Both were members of the Methodist
Episcopal church. Mr. Elsea was a prosperous
farmer, and a man interested in all good move-
ments. He affiliated with the democratic party,

and was justice of the peace in Union township for

a number of years. Their children were named in

the order of their births as follows: Alcinda,

Sarah, William D., Mary, Louis, Harriet, John
and Nancy (twins) and Angeline. Mr. and Mrs.

Elsea experienced all the privations of new settlers,

but prospered in their new home, and became sub-

stantial and worthy citizens. William D. Elsea

has passed all his life, with the exception of the

past six years, on the farm in Muskingum county,

and was educated in the district school, which was
taught in a log cabin with puncheon benches and
desks. At the age of twenty-one he began learn-

ing the carpenter’s trade, but in 1850 he took the

home place, which he successfully cultivated until

within the last few years, since which time he has

retired from the active duties of life, and is now a

resident of Norwich. Mr. Elsea was married on
the 4tli of March, 1862, to Miss Jane Elliott, a

daughter of Thomas and Ann (Elliott) Elliott, and
granddaughter of John Elliott, on the father’s side.

The parents were natives of Washington county,

Penn. ,andthere their nuptials were celebrated. They
came to Perry township, Muskingum county, Ohio,

at an early date, settled on a farm, and there the

father died in 1857, and the mother one year later.

Both held membership in the Presbyterian church.

They were the parents of nine children, named as

follows: Andrew, John, Nancy, Charity, Hugh,
Simon, Belle, Thomas and Jane. The last named,
wife of subject, was born on a farm in Perry town-

ship, September 11, 1840, and remained there un-

til her marriage. Mr. and Mrs. Elsea’s marriage
has been blessed by the birth of two children:

Nevada O.
,
now Mrs. Hilick, resides on a farm in

Union township, and Lillie A., now Mrs. Moore, is

a resident of Perry township. Nevada has two
daughters, Stella and Letha, and Lillie has a son

and daughter, Denie and JamesD. Mr. and Mrs.
Elsea are associated with the Methodist Episcopal

church, and are prominent members of the same.
In politics he is a democrat. He owns the farm of

160 acres in this township, and a comfortable home
in Norwich. For forty years he has been a mem-
ber of the Masonic fraternity.

Among Muskingum county’s esteemed and en-

terprising citizens, none deserves more favorable

mention than the subject of this sketch, John
Elsea, farmer, Adamsville, Ohio, who was born in

Union township, Muskingum county, near Norwich,
on the 15th of October, 1824. His parents, John
and Nancy (Self) Elsea, were natives of Virginia,

the father born about 1787, and the mother in

1789. The latter was the daughter of John Self,

who lived and died in Warren county, Va. She
had two brothers and a sister settled in Union
township, this county. John Elsea Sr. was the

son of William Elsea, who was of Scotch descent.

The former left his native place, Frederick county,

Va., and settled in Union township, Muskingum
county, in 1809. He followed farming all his life,

and was quite successful. In politics he was a

whig, and later a Jackson man. He held mem-
bership in the Methodist Episcopal church, as did

also his wife. Mr. Elsea died in 1846, and his

wife in 1870. They were the parents of nine chil-

dren: Alcinda, Sarah, William D., Mary, Louis,

Harriet, Nancy and John (twins) and Angeline, the

youngest. John Elsea Jr. divided his time in

youth in assisting on a farm in Union township,

and in attending the common schools of the day.

In 1852 he started out for himself, and was mar-
ried to Miss Catherine Armstrong, daughter of

William Armstrong, and a native of Union town-
ship, Muskingum county, born March 4, 1833. To
them were born three children: John W., Louis
H. and Nevada C., only John' W. now living. The
mother of these children died in February, 1861.

She was a worthy member of the Methodist Epis-

copal church. On the 8th of October, 1862, Mr.

Elsea enlisted in Company E, Second Ohio Volun-

teer infantry, and was in the Fourteenth Army
corps. He participated in the following battles:

Stone River, Perrysville and Chickamauga. He
was taken sick in August, 1863, and was sent back

to the hospital in Nashville, and from there to the

hospital in New Albany, Ind. On account of ill

health he was discharged in September, 1 863, after

being in the service about a year. Returning to
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Muskingum county, Mr. Elsea engaged in agricult-

ural pursuits, which occupation he has followed
ever since. Mr. Elsea was married in 1865 to Miss
Sarah Lindle, a daughter of John and Martha
Lindle, the former now a resident of Licking coun-

ty, Ohio, but the mother deceased many years ago.

Mrs. Elsea was born in Washington township, Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, in 1843. To Mr. and Mrs.
Elsea were born two children, Olive J. and Clar-

ence C. The former is the wife of D. J. Davis, of

Highland township. Mr. Elsea has a farm of 100
acres of excellent land, and is one of the represent-

ative men of the county, being public spirited and
enterprising. He has traveled a great deal in his

day, and is well posted on all subjects. In 1849
he went overland to California, and was among
the first to visit the gold regions of that state. He
was 105 days in making the journey. After

reaching that state he was successful for a time,

but in 1851 he was taken sick, and returned to the
East by water.

Capt. John A. Evans, mill owner, Frazeys-

burg, is one of the representative citizens of Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, and inherits many admira-
ble qualities from his sturdy Welsh ancest-

ors. His grandfather, Daniel Evans, came from
South Wales to America in 1839, and brought his

wife, Margaret, and six children with him. The
latter were named as follows: Daniel, Nathaniel,

John, Thomas, Jane and Margaret. His son,

Daniel Jr., was a married man at that time and
his wife, Ann, accompanied him with their three

children: Jenkin, David and Richard. The
daughter, Jane, was also married, and her hus-
band, David Jones, came also with their three

sons: David, Evan and Daniel. Daniel Evans Sr.

was born in South Wales in the latter part of the
last century, and was reared to farm life and edu-
cated in the common schools. He was well read,

was thoroughly posted on all Biblical questions, and
was a strict Calvanistic minister, bringing up his

children to the same faith. After coming to

America he settled on a farm in Jackson township,
Muskingum county, Ohio, and cleared up his land
which was covered with heavy timber. There was
a large Welsh settlement there and Mr. Evans as-

sisted in establishing a church of his denomina-
tion. His strong constitution enabled him to per-

form the vast amount of hard labor incident to

pioneer life, and he lived to be over ninety years
of age. He was noted for his strength of purpose
and his steadfast adherence, all his life, to his re-

ligious principles. His wife lived to be ninety-six

years of age, thus showing the great vitality of the
sterling Welsh stock. After coming to America
Mr. Evans’ children settled in different parts of

the country. Jane, with her family settled in

Pittsburg; Nathaniel settled in Jackson county,

Madison township, Ohio; John settled in Cheshire,

Gallia county, Ohio; Thomas settled in Ironton,

Ohio, and Margaret, who married Thomas Davis,

also settled in Ironton, Ohio. Jane’s son, David,

settled in Topeka, Kas. ,
and is a prominent law

partner of ex-Gov. Martin; another son, Evan,
is a prominent contractor of Pittsburg; and Dan-
iel, her youngest son, is a resident of Jackson
county, Madison township, Ohio. Daniel Evans
Jr., father of the subject of this sketch, was the

eldest son of Daniel and Margaret Evans, and was
named for his father. He was born in South
Wales about 1807, and received the usual com-
mon-school education in that country. He was
reared to farm life and was married in Wales to

Miss Ann Evans, of the same name but no rela-

tive, and the result of this union was eight chil-

dren: Jenkin, David, Richard, Morris, John A.,

Margaret. Frederick and Mary A., all born in the

Buckeye state, except the three eldest. Daniel

Evans Jr. settled in Madison township, Jackson
county, Ohio, cleared a farm and there remained
until 1851, when he moved to a farm in Gallia

county, dying there in the fall of the same year

from an acute abscess. He was of the same re-

ligious belief as his father and was a deacon for

many years. He had many traits of character like

his father, and was an honorable, upright citizen.

His wife, who was a lady of a very religious char-

acter, died in 1877 at the age of seventy-five years.

Capt. John A. Evans, son of the above worthy
couple, was born in Jackson county, Ohio, Septem-
ber 8, 1843, and learned farming in his youthful

days. He was early instilled with religious views

and principles and these have ever remained with

him. After the death of his father, and when
only twelve years of age, he was thrown on his

own resources and he first began work about the

iron works at Gallia, remaining there five years.

On July 22, 1861, when but little over seventeen

years of age, he enlisted in Company E, Ohio Vol-

unteer infantry, as a private, and on the same
date four years later, in the evening of that day,

he returned home. His register is as follows:
“ Entered service as a private, August 1, 1861; ap-

pointed corporal and sergeant and transferred to

the quartermaster department on May 1, 1864;

promoted to first lieutenant and R. Q. M., Jan-

uary 28, 1865; captain, Company C, May 31,

1865; mustered out with regiment July 11, 1865.

History of service—participated in the battle of

Blackwater, Mo., December 18, 1865; New
Madrid, Mo., March 13, 1862; Island No. 10,

Tenn.; Corinth, Miss., October 3 and 4, 1862;

Iuka; Tuscumbia, Ala., April 4, 1863; Atlanta

campaign; llesaca, Ga., May 13 and 16 1864;

Dallas; Kenesaw Mountain; Ruffs Mills, Ga.
;
At-

lanta, Ga., siege of Savannah, Ga., December 10
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and 21, 1864; Carolina campaign, from February
to April, 1865.” His first enlistment having ex-

pired, he reenlisted at Prospect, Tenn., as a vet-

eran for three years, and was then allowed a fur-

lough for thirty days. Capt. Evans was the

youngest soldier of his company, being but seven-

teen years of age when he enlisted at Keystone
Furnace, Jackson county, Ohio, in answer to the

president’s call for 800,000 men to serve the coun-
try for three years. He was among entire

strangers at the time. Upon the organization of

the company he was appointed third corporal and
soon after sergeant, then commissary sergeant,

then quartermaster-sergeant. On January 28,

1865, he was promoted to first lieutenant and as-

signed to regimental quartermaster and then on
May 21, 1865, he was promoted to the rank of

captain, serving on Maj.-Gen. Fuller’s staff

Thus we find him, at the age of twenty-one years,

a captain in the army of the United States and en-

gaged in actual battles. Capt. Evans, being
neither sick nor wounded, lost no time from
service and was present at all the battles in which
his regiment was engaged, his record being that of

a brave soldier and a gallant officer. He was with
Sherman during the Atlanta campaign and was in

the famous march to the sea. From Savannah he
went through the Carolinas and was in Raleigh,

N. C., when Johnston surrendered. He then went
to Washington, D. C.

,
and was present at the

grand review. From there he went to Louisville,

Ky.
,
and was mustered out July 11, 1865, receiv-

ing an honorable discharge. Our young soldier

witnessed some of the most stirring scenes in his-

tory and letters from prominent men, high in office,

testify as to his brave and gallant conduct. He
was used to adversity, for he was obliged to face

the battles of life at an early age, and he pos-

sessed the natural qualities to make a good sol-

dier. After the war Capt. Evans attended the

Ohio university at Athens, Ohio, for six months,
and subsequently engaged as a clerk at Keystone,
that state, in the office of an iron furnace. He re-

mained in this office as clerk, book-keeper and man-
ager for eight years, and became interested in the

business as a partner his natural inclination to rise

showing itself in business as in military life. He was
married, at Keystone, Ohio, December 1, 1867, to

Miss Sarah L. Dickerson, of English descent. Her
grandfather, John Dickerson, was a native of the

“Old North state,” and came to Ohio and settled

on the line between Gallia and Jackson counties in

1808. He brought his family with him. His son,

Thomas Dickerson, the father of Mrs. Evans, was
but eighteen months old when he was brought to

Ohio by his parents. He grew to manhood on a

farm and passed all his life near where his father

first settled. He was the father of thirteen chil-

dren by two wives, the mother of Mrs. Evans being

the second wife and the mother of nine children;

Margaret, Armenia, America, Virginia, Melvina,

Mary I., Sarah L., Thomas E. and Harrison. Mr.
Dickerson died June 10, 1879, when seventy-five

years of age and his wife died April 6, of the same
year. Both were devout members of the Method-
ist church and Mr. Dickerson was much respected

as a straightforward, enterprising citizen. Seven
of his daughters married soldiers and two of Mrs.

Evans’ half sisters also married soldiers. All are

living to-day. Milton McMillan, the husband of

Margaret, died from the effects of wounds four

weeks after his discharge. In 1874 Mr. Evans
moved to Frazeysburg with his family and hero

he has since resided. He came in the interests of

the Ohio Iron company of Zanesville, was after-

ward engaged in merchandising, and in 1885 he
engaged in the manufacture of tile, with James
W. Frazier, he organizing a stock company, “ The
Frazeysburg Mill company.” Mr. Evans has

been generally prosperous in business and is the

owner of his mill property, a handsome residence

and other property. He is a member of the G.

A. R., Griffe post No. 331, and has held the office

of commander for three terms. He is a repub-

lican in politics and has been a member of the

council. He is interested in educational matters,

and has been a school director. In his religious

belief Capt. Evans is a member of the Methodist

church as is also his wife, and has been trustee,

steward and Sunday-school superintendent. He
has contributed liberally of his means to build the

Methodist Episcopal church in Frazeysburg, and
was chairman of the building committee. To
Captain and Mrs. Evans have been born six chil-

dren: Melville, Bert, Ernest (died at the age of

five years), Erfee, John B. and Ruth. Capt. Evans
has a remarkable record. Beginning life when a

poor boy of twelve years, with but little education,

he, by his indomitable will power and many other

estimable qualities, overcame every difficulty, and
has made a success of life. As a soldier he was
rewarded by promotion for his bravery and fear-

lessness, and as a citizen he won a host of warm
friends by his upright, honorable conduct. He
and Mrs. Evans have a very comfortable home and
a liberal library bespeaks the literary taste of the

family. Capt. Evans’ brother, David Evans, was a

man of fine physical development. He was mor-

tally wounded at the battle of Champion’s Hill, and
died July 16, 1863. Another brother, Richard
Evans, was also a soldier in the war.

Judge E. E. Evans, attorney at law. In this

comprehensive work it is fit and proper that the

profession of law should be duly represented, for

Zanesville has every reason to be proud both of her

law courts and the members of the bar who sup-
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port them. Among the leading firms of the city

is the well-known one of Evans & McHenry, the
junior member of which studied law with Judge
Evans. The latter is a native of Belmont county,
Ohio, born March 5, 1816, son of Eleazer and
Mary (Nichols) Evans, the former of whom was
born in 1775 and died in Belmont county, Ohio,

in July, 1848, the mother’s death occurring in

1856. Judge E. E. Evans was a resident of his

native county until eighteen years of age, during
which time he acquired a practical education in

subscription schools, and during his nineteenth

year resided in Henry county, Ind. Upon his re-

turn to Ohio he located in Guernsey county and
began the study of law under the able tutelage of

his brother, Nathan Evans, was admitted to the
bar April 17. 1837, and in May of the same year
went to Toledo and began practicing. In the fall

of 1838 he left that city on account of ill health.

In 1839 he opened an office in Cambridge, Ohio,
and from 1840 to 1858 he practiced in McConnels-
ville. In the month of December, 1858, he came
to Zanesville, where he has placed himself among
the leading members of the Muskingum county
bar. He was formerly a whig in politics, and is

now an uncompromising republican, having been
such since the organization of that party. In the
fall of 1861 he was elected judge of the common
pleas court, the district then composing Muskingum,
Morgan and Noble counties, and in that capacity
he served about five years, his official career being
marked by judicial fairness, by a conscientious dis-

charge of his duties and by a correct judgment of

men and motives. Since then he has been a prac-

titioner, and in 1887 the law firm of Evans &
McHenry was organized. Judge Evans is the old-

est lawyer at the Muskingum county bar, and took
part (for the defense) in three murder trials in

Morgan county and two murder trials in this

county. He was elected probate judge of Morgan
county, and after holding the office eighteen
months resigned because the law would not permit
him to act as judge and practice his profession at

the same time. In the month of October, 1843,

he was united in marriage to Mrs. Mary Lawrence,
who died in January, 1886, leaving three children

by her first marriage, who are living. The Judge
is a logical reasoner and prepares his cases in an
able and careful manner. His success at the bar
has been achieved by the improvement of oppor-
tunities, by untiring diligence and by careful and
painstaking study.

James W. Evans, farmer, Frazeysburg, Ohio.

Prominent among the pioneer families of Jackson
township, Muskingum county, Ohio, were the

Evanses, who were not only early settlers but hon-
ored and respected citizens. James \V. Evans’
grandfather, David Evans, was a Virginian of

Welsh descent, the family being old colonists.

David Evans came from Shenandoah county, Va.,

April 4, 1808, and brought his family, then con-

sisting of his wife (Nancy Smith) and two sons,

John and James. Leander, father of our subject,

was born three days after the family arrived, April

7, 1808. The family came in wagons over the

Zane trace, by way of Zanesville. The father was
single handed, his sons being but four and two
years, respectively, and settled on the south bank
of the Wakatomica creek in the unbroken wilder-

ness. His reasons for selecting this spot were its

facilities for hunting and fishing, and a deer lick

was but a quarter of a mile from the place he built

his log cabin. Mr. Evans was a great hunter, and
provided his family with game, this being at first

their only meat. The creek was filled with fine

fish. His location was in section 3, range 9, and
he entered 160 acres. He cleared off this land and
made a good farm with good log buildings. He
was about the average size, strong and hearty, and
well fitted to pioneer life. He was the father of

sis children: Mary, Rebecca, Caroline, John, James
and Leander. He was a strict member of the

Methodist church, and at those early days the

meetings were held at the different homes. He
was class-leader and took great interest in all

religious subjects. He was a man of correct prin-

ciples, and reared his children to become law abid-

ing citizens. Mr. Evans went to Zanesville for

salt, but the corn was ground to coarse meal in the

mortars at home Their habits were simple, their

wants few, and all were contented with their lot,

Leander Evans was born in the wilderness only

three days after his father settled on his claim, and
grew up surrounded by the scenes of nature. He
early developed traits of character which make up
the sturdy pioneer and fearless backwoodsman.
He received but little schooling, simply learning

to read and write, and the principal part of his

time, when not assisting his father in clearing land,

was spent hunting and fishing, thus gaining a good
constitution. On October 21, 1830, when but

twenty-two years of age, he married Miss Jane
Flemming, daughter of John and Mary Flemming.
John Flemming was a native of the Keystone state,

of Dutch descent, and came to Newark township
in 1812. He was one of the first blacksmiths of

Licking county. He was the father of five chil-

dren: Hugh, Thomas, Jane, Martha and Margaret.
Mr. Flemming died at the age of twenty-eight

years. To Mr. and Mrs. Evans were born nine

children: Levina, Harvey, James W.
,
Mary, Nancy,

Martha, Sarah, and two who died in infancy. Mr.
Evans remained on the old homestead all his life,

and was a substantial and careful farmer. He
held membership in the Methodist Episcopal

church, and died in 1845 at the early age of thirty-
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seven. He injured his health by working too hard
to clear his land. James W. Evans was born De-
cember 22, 1833, and secured a common-school
education, attending school about two months each
winter for three or four years. His father’s health

being poor, James had to begin work when quite

young, and thus his youthful days were passed.

On March 20, 1856, when twenty-two years of age,

he married Miss Margaret Weir, daughter of Jo-

seph and Polly (Smith) Weir. Joseph Weir came
from Washington county, Penn., to Ohio in 1837.

He was the father of four children: George, Mary,
Margaret and James. He settled on a farm in

Perry township, Licking county, and is now an old

man of eighty-nine, and possesses much of his

strength. He has always been a prosperous farmer,

and is a man of unusual ability and strength. He
has lived a true Christian life, and is now class-

leader in the Methodist Episcopal church. To
Mr. and Mrs. James W. Evans were born fourteen

children: Gilbert T., Ora, Ida, Rita (died at the

age of fourteen), Bascomb, Joseph, Frank, Harvey
aud James (twins), Mary, and four who died in in-

fancy. During the Civil war Mr. Evans served in

the One Hundred and Fifty-ninth regiment, Com-
pany H, Ohio Volunteer infantry, and was on
guard duty 100 days at Baltimore. He then settled

on the farm and there has since resided. He is a

man who has the respect of all with whom he
comes in contact, and is a prosperous and influ-

ential citizen. He was trustee and justice of the

peace for eleven years, and he has ever been inter-

ested in educational matters, haviug been school

director for thirteen years. He is now serving as

township trustee. Both Mr. and Mrs. Evans are

members of the Methodist church, and Mr. Evans
has been class leader for a number of years. In
politics he is a stanch republican. His mother died

January 16, 1892, and was eighty-three years of age.

Joseph W. Ewan, Frazeysburg, Ohio, one of

the representative citizens of Muskingum county,

Ohio, was born February 16, 1842, and was left an
orphan when a little over three years of age. He
was reared by his uncle, Joseph Ewan, who came
from Virginia to Muskingum county, Ohio, at an
early date. From there he moved to Hartford,

Ind., and there young Joseph resided until four-

teen years of age, receiving a fair education in the

common schools. He then returned to Ohio, Lick-

ing county, where his elder brother, Homer, lived

with an uncle, Jacob Martin. Joseph then began
working by the month and when nineteen years of

age, August 22, 1862, he enlisted in Company B,

Ninetieth Ohio Volunteer infantry, and served

twenty-nine months. He was in the great battle of

Chickamauga, in the hottest part of the fight,

when the rebels made a desperate charge to break

the center. His regiment charged three times over

the same ground. He was accidentally wounded,
being shot through the fingers of both hands while

on picket duty aud was crippled for life. He was
in the hospital for nearly a year, and then returned

to his regiment. He was transferred to the Second
Battalion Invalid Corps and was honorably dis-

charged November 15, 1864. He then returned to

Muskingum county, aud February 21, 1867, he
married Miss Minerva McCann, daughter of John
aud Julia (Barnes) McCann. (A full and complete
sketch of the McCann family is given in the sketch

of Orville A. and Robert Emmet McCann). To
Mr. and Mrs. Ewan were born seven children

,

four of whom are now living: Arthur, Edward,
Lyman and Nellie. Shortly after marriage Mr.
Ewan located in Frazeysburg, but only resided

there one year and then moved to his present farm,

which consists of 160 acres of good land. He is a

member of the Griffe post, G. A. R.
,
No. 331,

Frazeysburg, and has held different offices in the

same. Both Mr. and Mrs. Ewan hold membership
in the Methodist church. Mr. Ewan is a self-made

man and what he has accomplished in the way of

this world’s goods is the result of his own good
fighting qualities. He is a republican in politics.

His record as a soldier is one to be proud of, and
will be preserved and valued by his descendants.

He was sixth in order of birth of eight children

born to Israel and Hannah (Frederick) Ewan, the

father born near Fredericksburg, Va. Mrs. Israel

Ewan was the daughter of John Frederick, and
the town of Fredericksburg, Va., was named in

honor of this family. The eight children born to

the above-mentioned union were named, in the order

of their births, as follows: Elizabeth, Homer, John,

Israel, David, Joseph, Hannah and one who died

in infancy. Mr. Ewan came to Muskingum county,

Ohio, about 1830, and first settled in Licking

township, where he followed his trade, that of

painter. His wife died April 21, 1846, and he

followed her to the grave July 27, of the same
year. They were true Christians and excellent

citizens. He had two sons in the Civil war, our

subject and David S. The latter enlisted in the

famous Company F, Ninety-seventh regiment Ohio

Volunteer infantry, and was shot through the right

breast at Kenesaw Mountain, a minie-ball pass-

ing completely through his body and touching his

right lung. A silk handkerchief was drawn
through the ghastly wound to assist in cleansing

it, and a piece of his blouse was brought out as big

as a silver quarter of a dollar. He was placed in

the field hospital at Chattanooga, then transferred

to the general hospital at Nashville, where he re-

mained about five months before returning to his

regiment. He then served until the final surren-

der. Although few, if any, ever expected him to

recover, he is now a well and hearty man.
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Abner Fairall is a member of a family that for

ages has been noted for longevity, and is now
one of the oldest and most numerous in Jackson
township, Muskingum county, Ohio. He is a di-

rect descendant of William Fairall and Elizabeth

(Hyatt) Fairall, who were born in Maryland in

1762 and 1764, of English and Scotch Irish de-

scent respectively. They were mairied in their

native state about 107 years ago, or in 1785, and to

their union three sons and live daughters were born

:

Sarah, Elizabeth, Henrietta, Martha, Maria, Levi,

Horace and William. William Fairall Sr. and his

wife Elizabeth came to Ohio in 1816 with their

five children and settled in Jackson township of

this county on what afterward became known as

Fairall Ridge. Here they made themselves a

home in the woods, having just enough money to

pay an entrance-fee on some land, and from this

time dates the prosperity of this remarkable family.

William Fairall died in 1830, at the age of sixty-

eight years, and his wife died in 1843, at the age

of seventy-nine. The history of this family of

eight children is as follows: Sarah, the eldest, was
born in Maryland in 1786, and was married to

Joshua Anderson, of Anne, Arundel county, Md.

,

in 1806, and they emigrated to Ohio in 1810,

and about 1814 settled on 160 acres of land in

Coshocton county, where they lived, died and were
buried. The issue of this marriage up to August
31, 1889, was as follows: Ten children, 70 grand-
children, 116 great-grandchildren, 56 great-great

grandchildren, and 11 great-great-great-graud-

children, making a total of 263, of which number
42 are dead. Joshua Anderson died in 1859, at

the age of eighty-four years, and Sarah, his wife,

died in 1879, aged ninety- four years. Elizabeth

Fairall was born in Maryland in 1788, and was
married to Isaac Dove, of the same place, in 1805.

They emigrated to Ohio in 1811, and spent the

rest of their days in this county, leaving 9 chil-

dren, 65 grandchildren, 91 great-grandchildren,

and 43 great-great-grandchildren, a total of 208,

42 of whom are dead. Isaac Dove died in 1846,
at the age of seventy years, and his wife in 1852,

aged sixty-six years. Levi Fairall was born in

Maryland, in 1790, and in 1809 married Comfort
Chaney, of the same state, and the following year

emigrated to Muskingum county, Ohio. They
arrived at their destination on foot, leading an
aged and decrepit horse, loaded with all their

earthly possessions. This couple also settled on
Fairall Ridge, where they died, Levi in 1846, aged
fifty years, and his wife in 1836, aged sixty-seven

years. The issue of this marriage was 6 children,

17 grandchildren, 42 great-grandchildren, 13 great

great-grandchildren, total 78, 16 of whom are

dead. Henrietta Fairall was born in Maryland in

1892, and came to this county in 1816, with her

father. She was married the same year to Gilbert

McKee, of Donegal county, Ireland, with whom
she moved to Coshocton county. Gilbert died in

1836, aged forty-nine years, and Henrietta in 1878,
at the age of eighty- sixi To them were born 6
children, 23 grandchildren, 10 great-grandchildren,

a total of 39, 7 of whom are dead. Horace Fair-

all was born in Maryland in 1794, and in 1816 be-

came a resident of Ohio. The following year he
was married to Nancy Williams, and soon settled

on Fairall’ s Ridge. His death occurred in 1881,
when he was seventy-eight years old, his wife’s

death occurring in 1878, at the age of seventy-

eight years. To them were born 13 children, 60
grandchildren, 50 great-grandchildren, 19 great-

great-grandchildren, a total of 142, 28 of whom
are deceased. Martha Fairall was born in Mary-
land in 1796, came with her father to Ohio in 1816,
and was married a year later to Jacob Ashcroft,

of Fayette, county, Penn., and settled in Pike
township, Coshocton county, where they spent the

remainder of their days. Jacob died in 1862,
aged sixty-seven years, but his widow survived him
until 1878, when she, also, passed away, aged
seventy-two years. This union yielded 11 chil-

dren, 66 grandchildren, 90 great-grandchildren, 14
great-great grandchildren, and 2 great- great-great-

grandchildren, a total of 183, of whom 30 are dead.

William Hyatt Fairall, who was also born in Mary-
land, came to this county in 1816, and in 1820 was
married to Nancy Clark. He settled on a farm
among his numerous relatives, and his death oc-

curred in 1873, when he was seventy-six years of

age. His wife passed from life in 1 859, at the age
of fifty-nine years. Their marriage was blessed

in the birth of 12 children, 59 grandchildren, 37
great-grandchildren and 20 great-great-grandchil-

dren, a total of 128, 21 being now deceased. Will-

iam Fairall was married after the death of his wife

Nancy, to Mrs. Dorothy Magruder, who is still

living. To them were born 5 children, who are in-

cluded in the above number. Maria Fairall was
born in 1800, in Maryland, and came to Ohio with
her parents, where she met William Blizzard, who
was born in Virginia, and to whom she was mar-
ried two years later. They settled on a farm near

Frazeysburg, where they completed their life

work, Mr. Blizzard dying in 1876, at the age of

seventy-seven years, and his wife in 1873, aged
seventy-three years. To them were born 12 chil-

dren, 37 grandchildren, 46 great-grandchildren, a

total of 95, 28 of whom are dead. This makes the

total number of direct descendants from the old

pioneers, William and Elizabeth (Hyatt) Fairall,

1,144, 920 of whom are still living. William and
Elizabeth Fairall, their sons, sons in-law, daugh-

ters and daughters-in law— 18 in number—lived to

the average age of seventy three years. This fam-
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ily, exclusive of any but blood relatives, in 1889,

when the account was written controlled over

20,000 acres of land divided into 159 farms with

an average of fourteen persons to the farm. They
are natural farmers and stockraisers, there never

having been a professional man or speculator

among them. As a rule, they are upright Chris-

tian people and good citizens, none ever having
been sent to prison, and very few embroiled in

lawsuits. On election day this family turns out

184 voters, politically about evenly divided. The
rapid increase of this family since the marriage of

William Fairall and Elizabeth Hyatt, is remark-

able in the extreme. The above facts were printed

in “The Midland,” Frazeysburg, Ohio, September

5, 1889. When the family came to this county it

was a dense wilderness, and for a long time their

principal meat was wild game, which abounded.

They first built cabins, then double log houses
with small windows, but now occupy substantial

and beautiful frame and brick houses. They had
many thrilling experiences with wild animals in

early times. Owing to scarcity of glass they used
greased paper for window lights. Old William
Fairall purchased 320 acres of land at $1.25 per

acre, and at his death gave his land to his three

sons, Horace, Levi and William H., and the money
he had on hand to his five daughters. He and his

wife entertained many travelers, #nd thus obtained

enough silver money to cover a breakfast table of

good size. William Hyatt Fairall, son of the pio-

neer William, was the father of the subject of this

sketch. His wife, Nancy, was the daughter of

Payne Clark, who was the father of Sanford, Ellis,

James, Manly, Emily and Matilda Clark, the latter

dying young. Mr. Clark was a pioneer settler of

Coshocton county, a successful farmer, one of the

early justices of the peace, a good business man, a

noted local surveyor, and a Virginian by birth.

He emigrated to Green county, Ind.
,
and there

died. VT
illiam H. and Nancy Fairall became

the parents of 12 children: Clark, Matilda, John,

Jane, Elias, Levi and William (twins), Abner,

Nancy, Hester A. (who died in infancy); Polly

died in early womanhood. The mother of these

children died in January, 1859, and in 1861 Mr.

Fairall married Mrs. Dorothy Magruder, by whom
he had five children: Turner, Maria B., Emmet,
Alva and a child that died in infancy. Mr. and
Mrs. Fairall were Methodists, and he was a class-

leader for many years. Although he received a

limited education, he was naturally intelligent, and
wTas a hardworking, practical farmer, and an honest

man. He was a very strong man, physically, and
when an old man of sixty- seven, shouldered four

bushels and a peck of wheat. He was sixty-five

years of age when he last married. Abner Fair-

all, his son, and the subject of this sketch, was

born April 24, 1839, and spent the early life of a
pioneer farmer’s boy, obtaining his education in an
old log schoolhouse in the neighborhood of his

home. He learned to read and write, but gained
no knowledge of mathematics. He, however, pos-

sessed a clear and comprehensive mind, and
learned to calculate mentally with accuracy and
rapidity. On January 24, 1862, he married Susan
Noland, daughter of William and Catherine (Mc-
Farland) Noland, the former of whom was the son
of Pierce Noland, an old pioneer of Coshocton
county. William Noland died at the age of seven-

ty-three years, owning at the time of his death 600
acres of land. Mr. and Mrs. Noland became the

parents of eight children; Pierce, Susan, John,

James, Rachel, Henry, Samjrson, and one that

died in infancy. To Mr. and Mrs. Abner Fairall

were born two children: Ida and Etta. After his

marriage Mr. Fairall settled on Fairall’ s Ridge
where he lived eight years. He then moved to

another farm in Jackson township, and in 1884,

came to his present farm, which is pleasantly sit-

uated near Frazeysburg, and comprises 360 acres

of fine land. Mr. Fairall was one of the early

members of the Frazeysburg lodge of Masons,
No. 490. He is a stanch democrat, and has been
twice township trustee. He is a practical business

man, and bears the unsullied reputation for which
his family has been noted. His daughter Ida mar-
ried Forman Spencer, a farmer of Jackson town-

ship, and they have two children: Daisa and Dora.

Etta married James W. Nethers, of this township,

and has three children: Pearl, Emmet and Abner B.

John Wesley Fairall, Frazeysburg, Ohio. This

is another of the old pioneer families of Jackson
township and its members are among the most
honored and esteemed citizens. The Fairalls have
ever been a sturdy race, and the Biblical injunc-

tion to multiply and replenish the earth has been
literally fulfilled by them, as the descendants from
the original pioneer numbers many hundreds.

At a reunion of the Fairall family October, 1887,

over 1,100 descendants of the old pioneer were
present. William Fairall, the original pioneer,

was of English descent, and came to Muskingum
from Prince George’s county, Md.

,
eighteen miles

west of Baltimore, in 1816. He brought his fam-

ily, consisting of his wife and five children, who
were then grown men and women. Three of the

children had come to Ohio previously. The eldest

son, Levi, had settled in Jackson township in 1810,

two and a half miles northwest from Frazeysburg,

and two daughters, married women—Mrs. Dove
and Mrs. Anderson, the former settling first in

Belmont county, and finally in Jackson township,

this county; the latter settled in Pike township,

Coshocton county. The names of the children of

this sturdy old settler were: Sallie, Levi, Eliza-
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betb, Horace, Henrietta, Patsey, William and
Maria. William Fairall settled three and a half

miles west of Frazeysburg, in Jackson township,
on the old Coshocton and Newark road, and lived

about ten years after coming to this county. He
was a man in good circumstances and gave his

sons each 100 acres of land. He was a hard
worker, and lived to be sixty years of age. His
wife’s maiden name was Elizabeth Hyatt, a native

of Maryland. She survived Mr. Fairall many
years, living to be seventy-eight years of age. Mr.
Fairall was a man of excellent character and was
well and favorably known among old settlers. His
children all married m a few years after coming to

Ohio. Sallie married Joshua Anderson, Levi mar-
ried Comfort Chaney, Henrietta married Gilbert

McKey, Horace married Nancy Williams, Patsey
married Jacob Ashcraft, William married Mary
Clark, and Maria married Col. William Blizzard.

[See sketch of Capt. Blizzard.] All these people
reared large families, and now a wide relationship

exists throughout Muskingum and surrounding
counties. Horace Fairall, son of William and
father of the subject of this sketch, was born in

1793, and was reared to the arduous duties of the
farm. He was a soldier in the War of 1812.

When he came with his parents to Ohio he was a

young man twenty-three years of age, and about
two years afterward he married Miss Nancy Will-
iams, daughter of an old settler of Coshocton
county from Maryland. To Mr. and Mrs. Fairall

were born thirteen children: Wesley, Ruey, Ellen,

Rachel (died young), Grafton, Benjamin F., Cur-
tis, Sarah, Mary J., Nancy, Horace, Lucinda and
William H. After marriage Mr. Fairall settled on
a farm in Jackson township, and soon afterward
removed to his homestead three miles northwest of

Frazeysburg, where he passed the remainder of

his days. In politics he was first an old line whig
and then a republican. Both he and wife were
members of the Methodist church, and he was
church trustee. Mr. Fairall accumulated a hand-
some property by hard work and economy, and
brought up his large family in a proper manner.
He had an exceedingly strong constitution and
lived to be over eighty-seven years of age. He had
a high moral character and exerted a strong influ-

ence for good. Like many of the old pioneers he
took an honest pride in a good reputation and en-

deavored to instill into the hearts of his children a

love of truth and integrity. John Wesley Fairall,

his son and the subject of this sketch, was born
August 9, 1818, in Jackson township, and received

but a limited education in the log schoolliouse of

pioneer days. He spent his youthful days in as-

sisting his father clear land, and being strong and
able rather enjoyed cutting down the monarchs of

the forest. At the ago of twenty-eight he married

Miss Lucy E. Yickers, daughter of Tallifero and
Henrietta (Romine) Yickers. Mr. Vickers was
from Fauquier county, Ya.

,
and an old settler of

Washington township, Coshocton county, and
settled there in 1828. Both himself and wife

were of English descent. They were the parents

of seven children: Sidney Ann, Laban, George,

Emily, Lucy, Maria and James A. Mr. Vickers

lived to be seventy-one years of age, and his wife

to the age of eighty- two. He built the first saw-

mill in that part of Coshocton county. Both he
and wife were members of the New School Baptist

church, and he was a deacon for many years. In
politics he was first an old line whig and afterward

a republican. He was a soldier in the War of 1812.

He was an honorable, upright man, and was a

liberal contributor of his means to all worthy enter-

prises. He fell dead in church after having taken

part in the services. [See sketch of George Yickers.]

To Mr. and Mrs. Fairall have been born seven

children: James T. (died at the age of eighteen

years), Henry H.
,
Maria, Millard, Oscar (died at

the age of four years), Ella, and Elma (died in

infancy). After marriage Mr. Fairall settled on a

farm in Jackson township and here resided until

1888, and all his children were born on this farm.

By his own hard labor and with the assistance of

his devoted wife, Mr. Fairall became a substantial

farmer, and is the owner of 240 acres of land.

He was deeply interested in educational matters

and was school director for many years. In poli-

tics he was first an old line whig and is now a

stanch republican. He enjoys the respect and
confidence of all his neighbors, and for some time

held the office of township trustee, for thirteen

years. Mrs. Fairall is a devout member of the

Baptist church. Mr. Fairall has always been a

temperate and moral man, even in those early days
when whisky was used as a common beverage, he
used very little of it. He remembers carrying it

to the field as a harvest drink for the men. Mr.

and Mrs. Fairall gave their children the best edu-

cation their means could afford, and reared them
in a proper manner. They were married as fol-

lows: Henry H. (married Martha Evans, and had
five children: Lulu, Laura, Beverly, Charles D.

and Minnie. The wife died in 1889, and the chil-

dren make their home with their grandparents),

Maria (married J. P. Evans, of Zanesville), Millard

F. (married Millie Patterson, and has eight chil-

dren: I. D., Della M.
,
Allen E., Oscar V., Ernest,

Herbert, Vera G. and Ada G.), Lucy E. (married

William Phillips, and has two children: Orville

M. and Delbert W.). In October, 1888, Mr. and
Mrs. Fairall moved to Frazeysburg, where they

reside at the present time, surrounded by then-

children and grandchildren. They are proprietors

of the “Hotel Union,” and are noted for their hos
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pitality and the attention given their gnests. Mr.
and Mrs. Fairall had the misfortune to lose their

home by tire in 1884. It was a beautiful resi-

dence, erected at a cost of about $2,000 ten years

previous, and there was but small insurance.

When a young man Mr. Fairall taught school in

Jackson township several terms, and taught one
term after marriage. He has been extensively en-

gaged in buying and shipping cattle to Pittsburg,

Philadelphia, Baltimore and New York city, and
during the war was one of the most extensive ship-

pers in this part of the county. The maternal
grandfather of Mrs. Fairall was Reuben Romine, of

Fauquier county, Ya. He was a wealthy man and
a large slave owner. He died in Virginia. His
wife was Lydia A. Smallwood. She rode horse-

back from Virginia to Coshocton county on two
different occasions, and the last time she was over
seventy years of age, and came in company with
her son, Reuben Romine, to visit her daughter,
Mrs. Tallifero Vickers. She was a great weaver,
and, although wealthy, she taught all her children
to work. Mrs. Tallifero Vickers was presented
with two slaves at the time of her marriage, but
her conscience would not let her rest, and she re-

turned them to Mr. Romine. The male slave,

Henry, was afterward sold for $1,400. Mrs. J. W.
Fairall was born in Fauquier county, Va., on the
old Vickers homestead July 7, 1825, and was but
three years of age when she came with her parents
to Ohio. All her brothers and sisters were bom in

Virginia except James A., the youngest, who was
born in Washington township, Coshocton county,
Ohio.

E. E. Fillmore, of Zanesville, and one of the
oldest living pioneers of Muskingum county, is a
native of Clinton county, N. Y.

,
his birth occurring

in the year 1812. He is a son of Septa and
Eunice (Edgerton) Fillmore, natives of Connecti-
cut, and who immigrated to the state of New York
about the year 1794, when that country was a vast

wilderness. There they resided in the backwoods
cabin of pioneer days, undergoing all the vicissi-

tudes incident to pioneer life. There the father
died in 1823 at the age of forty-nine years, fol-

lowed by his widow in 1861, at the ripe age of

eighty-three years. The father was captain of a

company in the War of 1812, and was a partici-

pant in the battle of Plattsburg. At the time of

his death he was a colonel in the state militia. Of
his family of eleven children one died in infancy,

but the others reached maturity. E. E. Fillmore
was the sixth of the family, was brought up on a

farm, and acquired his knowledge of books in the
subscription schools which were in vogue during
his youth, but only attended a few weeks during
the winter months. When fifteen years of age he
left home and went to Buffalo (at which time his

mother was a widow) and secured employment in a

mercantile establishment, his compensation being

his board and clothes. In 1835 he came to Ohio,

by steamboat to Cleveland, and finally reached

Zanesville, where, on October 6 of that year he as-

sumed charge of the hardware business under the

firm name of Fillmore, Patterson & Co., the Messrs.

Patterson being his former employers. Mr. Fill-

more has continued this business, and is now one
of the oldest merchants of the city and the oldest

hardware dealer in the state. The firm above

mentioned continued for three years, but in 1838 it

became Fillmore & Co.
,
and existed as such for five

years, after which Mr. Fillmore was alone until 1862,

when he became associated with his son, William

A. and William A. Cassel. In 1878 he disposed of

his interest in this concern, and in February, 1880,

he established his present business, which is a

prosperous and popular one. No man engaged in

business in Zanesville has been more fortunate in

establishing and maintaining a high reputation

than has Mr. Fillmore and his stock embraces a

large and comprehensive stock of general hard-

ware. In 1875 he erected the Fillmore block on

Main street, which is one of the best and most
substantial in the city, in 1858 he erected a resi-

dence on the outskirts of the city, in the Third

ward. He also erected the fine double residence

of A. P. Pinkerton, in Putnam, in which suburb

he is also the owner of the old Buckingham home-
stead. He resides on Putnam avenue. He is a

stockholder and director in the Ohio Iron com-
pany, of which he was one of the organizers in

1857. He assisted in establishing the Brown
Manufacturing company, and took an active part

in securing the extension of the Pan Handle rail-

road from Dresden Junction to Zanesville. He is

a member of the Episcopal church and subscribed

liberally toward the erection of the St. James
church, and also assisted in establishing the Cen-

tral Ohio, and the Cincinnati, Wilmington &
Zanesville railroads, having been a stockholder iu

each. In 1836 he married Miss Margaret Arthur,

a native of Lancaster county, Penn., and daughter

of Rev. William Arthur, a Presbyterian minister.

She died in 1877 aged sixty-live years, having

borne her husband three sons and two daughters,

one dying in infancy and only two living at the

present time: William A. and Graham E. Al-

fred died from a disease contracted while in the

Union army. William A. and Alfred were both

in the Morgan raid. Although originally a whig
in politics, Mr. Fillmore is now a republican, his

first vote was cast for AVilliam H. Seward for gov-

ernor of New York in 1833. When starting out

in life for himself he had only $300, which he had
saved while clerking. In the early history of the

public schools be served three terms as a member
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of the board of education, and was thrice elected

county commissioner on the republican ticket. One
of his early ancestors, John Fillmore, was born near

Boston in 1702, his father having come to this coun-

try from Wales. From this man sprang all the

Fillmores of this country, including President Fill-

more, also Rev. Gleason Fillmore, whose widow
still lives near Buffalo at the age of one hun-
dred and three years. The father of E. E.

Fillmore was born in 1774. While dis-

charging his duties as commissioner Mr. Fill-

more introduced a new departure in bridge

building, and did much good work in that capacity.

He introduced the system of putting abutments
back into the banks to allow for freshets, and
aprons to protect the bridges, and a number of the

structures which he erected are in good preserva-

tion to-day, the most noteworthy being one at the

mouth of Flat run in Wayne township, where
nineteen bridges had previously been washed out,

thus saving the county many heavy expenditures.

When Mr. Fillmore first went to Buffalo in 1827 it

consisted of between 3,000 and 4,000 inhabitants,

and there were but three steamers on Lake Erie

running from Buffalo to Detroit: “The Enter-

prise,” “Henry Clay ” and “Niagara.” The first

steamer on Lake Erie was called the “ Walk-In-
The-Water.” She was lost.

John Findley was a native of Muskingum
county, Ohio, and the son of David and Jennie

(Mitchell) Findley. The father was born in Alle-

gheny county, Penn., and was related to Gov.
Findley and Dr. Findley, of Pennsylvania. David
Findley married in Pennsylvania, and located in

Union township, Ohio, on a large tract of land,

where the town of New Concord now stands. He
assisted in laying out the town, was a public-

spirited man, and gave liberally of his means for

public buildings and colleges. He reared a family

of eight children: Matthew, Able, William, John,

David, Samuel, Martha and James, all married,

and all deceased, except the wife of John, who is

now ninety years of age, and unable to be about.

David Findley lived to be over ninety years of

age, and died in this county. He was at one time

judge of the county, in politics a whig, and a mem-
ber of the Associate Reformed church, later known
as the United Presbyterian church. His son, John
Findley, married in Elizabethtown, Penn., and
shortly after came to New Concord to live on a por-

tion of his father’s farm. His wife (formally Jane
Westbay, daughter of Henry and Hannah West-
bay, of Elizabethtown, Penn.), was born in 1802.

They were the parents of nine children, William

A., our subject, being the youngest of the family.

John Findley was a prominent man' in the county,

and took a groat interest in church and school

matters. He was a member of the Associate Re-

formed church, and in politics a whig, and died in

1839, the year that William A. was born. His wife
is yet living at the age of ninety years. William
A. Findley was born in New Concord, Ohio, Octo-
ber 10, 1839, was here educated and graduated
from Muskingum college in 1862. He then entered
the theological seminary at Allegheny City, Penn.,
and was licensed to preach in 1865. His first

charge was the East Eleventh Street church, of

New York city, where he remained some time, and
later went to Kansas, where he assisted in estab-

lishing several churches, and in building one at

Chetopa, Kas., in 1870, of which he was pastor.

He then went to Independence, Mo., in 1873, where
he has since that time been engaged in evangelical

work. While in Allegheny City he married Mag-
gie Gordon, a daughter of Samuel Gordon, a

prominent merchant of that city, who was born in

1843. Their union has been blessed with eight
children: William G., Frank D.

,
Eddie, Harry

P.
,
Ralph, Howard, Emery and Florence, all liv-

ing. He and his familv reside at Independence,
Mo.

George Fisher, one of the leading farmers of

Highland township, Muskingum county, Ohio,
was a son of George and Ester (Piper) Fisher.

The father was also a son of George Fisher, a

native of Germany. When quite young
t

about
the time of the Revolutionary war, the gran dfather
was kidnapped and brought to the United States,

where he was sold. He grew to maturity in Balti-

more, Md., and here he married a German lady.

They were the parents of a family of twelve or

thirteen children, among which were three boys:

Thomas, Jacob and George (the father of our sub-

ject). The father of this family died in Mary-
land. George Fisher, the father of our subject,

was born in Maryland, here reared and married
Miss Piper, the daughter of George Piper. After
marriage Mr. Fisher moved to Washington county,
Penn., and then to Harrison county, Ohio, where
he settled on a farm. He was a gunsmith by
trade. He died in 1816, and was a soldier in the

War of 1812. Plis wife died in 1856. To them
were born seven children: Eli, George, Jacob,

Eliza, Caroline, Ester and Mariah. Of this fam-
ily our subject and Ester are the only ones living.

George Fisher was born in Harrison county, near
New Concord, Ohio, in 1808; he attended the dis-

trict schools of that county, and in 1 833 married
Mary Welch. They had a family of four children,

all deceased; Samuel, Walker, Elizabeth and
Jacob. His wife died in 1844, and our subject

married a second time, Mary Spray, daughter of

John and Elizabeth (Fowler) Spray. Her par-

ents were natives of Harrison county, Penn., and
of German descent. They lived in Maryland and
from there came to Ohio where tliev died. Mr.
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and Mrs. Fisher are the parents of six children:

Milton, now living in Missouri; Eli, living at

home; Addison, is married and lives near the home
place; William, is married and lives near home;
Caroline, now Mrs. Poulson, lives in Indiana,

and Seneth, living at home. They have two
grandchildren, Mary and George. Mr. Fisher

came to Muskingum county, Ohio, about 1864,

and bought a farm. He has added to this until

now he owns one of the best in the county of 300
acres well improved, and he is one of the richest

men in this township. Himself and wife worship

at the Associate church of Bloomfield, in which he
has been an elder for some years. He is a public-

spirited man, was justice of the peace of his town-

ship for fourteen years, and takes a great interest

in politics, sympathizing with the republican

party. Although a man of eighty-four years he

is still managing his farm, but has retired from
active work. His son, Eli, is a practicing phy-

sician in this county.

Henry Fisher, farmer and stockraiser of

Muskingum county, Ohio, was born in Erie county,

N. Y., October 27, 1836, and has been a resident

of Muskingum county since 1850. His parents,

Clark and Martha (Knowlton) Fisher, were worthy
and upright people, and his father was a native of

Vermont, born April 23, 1798. He was of En-
glish origin and for two years was a resident of

Canada, after which he settled in New York, and
two years later came to Coshocton county, where
he remained for about seven years, following the

calling of a school teacher. After one year’s resi-

dence in Mercer county he returned to Coshocton
county, and two years later came to Muskingum
county, where he died in July, 1874, at the age of

seventy-seven years. His wife was born in Ver-

mont in 1082, was married in 1820 and died in

1847. Three years after her death Mr. Fisher

took for his second wife Miss Mary Myers, but
five years later he was again left a widower. His
third union was consummated in 1856, Miss Mar-
garet Dean becoming his wife. She was born in

this county and is now a resident of Newton town-
ship. There were eight children born to the first

marriage, one to the second and one to the third.

Of the eight children only three are now living,

but the children by the other two marriages sur-

vive. The subject of this sketch commenced life

as a farmer’s boy, and in 1866 commenced follow-

ing the same calling for himself. In 1872 he pur-

chased a farm of forty acres which he sold after

owning two years, and then bought the farm
which he now occupies, a fine and well-improved
tract of 1 60 acres, well watered and well improved
with good buildings, fences, etc. On August 20,

1862, he enlisted in the Union army and was
made a member of Company F, One Hundred

and Twenty-second Ohio Volunteers, and took
part in the following engagements: Winchester
in June, 1863, where he was taken prisoner
and sent to Richmond and from there to Bell

Islaud, where he was almost starved to death and
then paroled. He was afterward at Locust Grove,
Wilderness, Spottsylvania. Cold Harbor, and was
then transferred to the Shenandoah Valley and
took part in the engagement at Opequan, Fisher’s
Hill, Cedar Creek and others. He was next trans-

ferred to the Army of Potomac, and was at Peters-

burg, Sailor's Creek and the surrender of Gen.
Lee. Besides these battles he took part in about
100 skirmishes but was never even slightly wound-
ed. He was mustered out of the service on June
26, 1865, and received his discharge July 1, 1865.
On March 8, 1865, he was married to Miss Eliza-

beth Mangold, a native of Muskingum county,

Ohio, and of German descent. She departed
this life on January 27, 1885, at which time she
was forty-one years of age. Mr. Fisher’s next
union was to Mrs. Jennie (Darner) Border, a na-

tive of Muskingum county, born March 19, 1842.

She is the eldest of five children born to Samuel
and Margaret (McClurdy) Border, the former of

whom was born and reared in Muskingum county,

where he still resides, and the latter born in

Zanesville. They were married on June 4, 1841,
and four of the children born to them are still

living. Mr. and Mrs. Fisher are the parents of

one child: Ralph A., who was born July 21, 1887.

To Mr. Fisher’s first union the following children

were born: Elmer E., born April 30, 1866, is em-
ployed in a steel mill in Pennsylvania; Mary
Ellen, born December 12, 1868, became the wife

of F. Elsworth Voorliies and is residing in this

county; Alice E., born September 18, 1876, re-

sides at home, and Mabel E., who was born July

22, 1882. By her first marriage Mrs. Fisher be-

came the mother of two children: Eva I, who
became the wife of Charles F. Briles, resides in

Fountain county, Ind.
;

and Maurice E., who
makes his home with his mother. Mr. Fisher has

accumulated all he has of this world’s goods by his

own exertions and has succeeded where many
others would have failed. He conducts his affairs

with good judgment and is wide awake to the in-

terests of his section. He and his wife hold

membership in the Methodist Episcopal church,

and he is a member of the G. A. R.
,
Hazlett post

No. 81. Politically he is a republican and has al-

ways taken much interest in the political affairs of

his county. He has added to the natural attract-

iveness of his farm by the erection of a commodi-
ous and handsome dwelling-house at a cost of $1,-

200, and everything about the place indicates that

a man of thrift and perseverance has the manage-
ment of affairs. Although he only received a
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common-school education in his youth he is an ex-

ceptionally well-informed man, and keeps in con-

stant touch with the current topics of the day.

Mrs. Beth Ann C. (Beall) Fleming, Nashport,

Ohio. The Fleming family is one of the repre-

sentative ones of Ohio, and among its members are

many people of distinction and renown. Daniel
Fleming, husband of our subject, and the son of

Col. Nathan Fleming, was born on the old home-
stead, now occupied by his widow, July 26, 1818,

and received but a common-school education. At
an early age he began tilling the soil, his father

leaving much of the management of the farm to

him, and on September 17, 1837, when about

twenty years of age, he married Miss Amelia
Wood, who was born November 4, 1817. She
was the daughter of Benjamin Wood, an old pio-

neer settler of Licking township, Muskingum
county, Ohio. Mr. and Mrs. Fleming’s union was
blessed by the birth of four children: Benjamin
W., Thomas C., Albert G. and Amelia A. His
wife died March 8, 1848, and on February 8, 1849,

he married Mrs. Beth Ann Carter Beall, a native

of Ohio county, W. Va., born at Roney’s Point

February 3, 1827. She was the daughter of Nin-

nian and Harriet (Smith) Beall, and the grand-
daughter of Bazil Beall, who was a very wealthy

man, and a great slave owner. Bazil Beall moved
to Ohio county, Ya. , at an early day, and in that

state received his final summons when sixty-five

years of age. He left an extensive ju'operty to his

sixteen children, who are named as follows, as far

as remembered: Ell Ann (died), Ell Ann, Beth
Ann, Lee Ann, Syll Ann, Mary Ann, Nancy, Jo-

seph, Benjamin, Citizen, Samuel and Ninnian.

The father was of Scotch descent. Ninnian Beall,

the father of our subject, was the father of

thirteen children, all of whom, but one, lived to

be grown: Mary, Bazil and Henry (twins), Nin-

nian, Nancy (died in infancy), James, Lee
Ann (died at the age of twenty-three), Louisa,

Alfred, William, Beth Ann, Harriet and Caroline.

Mr. Beall moved to near Wheeling, West Ya., and
in 1835 brought his family to Ohio, settling in

Bowling Green township, Licking county, where
he bought land. This he increased from time to

time until he owned 2,000 acres. He became very

wealthy, and was a large dealer in horses and cat-

tle. In Virginia he had been a slave owner, but
not as extensively as his father. He was a Method-
ist in his religious views, but his wife belonged to

the Presbyterian church. He died in Licking
county at the age of sixty-two, leaving a large

property to his descendants. He was an old-time

Virginia pioneer, and an excellent business man.
Daniel Fleming always lived on the old home-
stead. He was born in the old log house with

double doors, and afterward lived in a house built

by Col. Nathan Fleming. In 1867 he built a fine,

substantial brick residence, beautifully situated,

and this is now one of the pleasantest homes in

Licking township. Mr. Fleming was a man uni-

versally respected, and held the usual township

offices. He was a kind-hearted and liberal man,
and always gave a helping hand to the j)oor and
needy. He was a stanch republican in politics, as

was his father before him, and always advocated

the principles of that party. Mr. Fleming passed a

quiet, unpretentious life, and accumulated a hand-

some property, which he left to his children at his

death, which occurred June 29, 1868, when about

fifty years of age. He had given his children

every advantage for an education, sending them to

Zanesville, Mount’ Vernon and Granville. He was
a prominent citizen, was universally respected, and
came of one of the best and most noted families of

the United States. His second wife, Mrs. Beth
Ann (Beall) Fleming, reared with all the tender-

ness of a true parent, Mr. Fleming’s motherless

children, and the bond of attachment is as great

between them as though she were their own mother.

His second marriage resulted in the birth of the

following children: Harriet L., Henry B., Helen
M., Edward (died in Irville at the age of thirty-

four years), Fremont (died in infancy) Laura L.,

William M., Frank M., Ulysses G., Joseph D. and
Annie B. Harriet L. Fleming married H. R.

Ward, of Newark, and became the mother of two
children, Mabel L., and Annie F. Henry B. mar-
ried Fannie Tanner, and followed farming in Pleas-

ant Valley. They have one child: Daniel C.

Henry B. was killed by the cars while crossing the

Baltimore & Ohio railroad on the evening of July

31, 1891. Helen married Charles C. Colney, and
became the mother of two children: Frank C.,

(drowned at the age of eight years), and Bessie E.

Edward married Alice B. Hueston, and was the

father of two children: Earl S. and Lenora, who
was burned to death at the age of ten years.

Laura L. married John W. Woodruff, and the}7

became the parents of two children: George W.
and Joseph D. Mrs. Woodruff died October 29,

1890. William married Miss Ida Woodward, who
bore him three children: Bertha, Edith and For-

rest. Frank M. married Ella M. Francis, Ulysses

G. married Nora G. Francis, and became the father

of one child: Mary E. Annie B. married Albert

I. Woodward, conductor on the Baltimore & Ohio
railroad, and they have two children: Ethel F. and
Edith L. Mrs. Fleming has thus reared a large

family of children, and has seen most of them set-

tled in life and the parents of children. She is a

kind-hearted and very pleasant lady, and remem-
bers very well the incidents of long ago. The fol-

lowing are the marriages of the children by the

first wife: Benjamin W. was a soldier in the Civil
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war. He married and had one daughter, Marilla.

He draws a pension from the government, and pre
fers to live in the pleasant quarters of the soldier’s

home at Dayton. Thomas C. is in the grocery
business at Columbus. He married Miss Annie
Smith of Mount Vernon, and has one daughter,

Maud. Amelia married John W. Blizzard Jr.
,
of

Frazeysburg. Albert G. was a soldier and died

of typhoid fever at Baltimore, during the war.

Mrs. Fleming is now sixty-five years of age. Her
eyesight is remarkable, and she can see to read and
sew in the evening without glasses. She retains

all her faculties and bids fair to live to a good old

age. Mrs. Fleming resides on the old homestead,
which is a line tract of land of 150 acres, and this

is managed by her son, Joseph D. Fleming, who
is a capable young man. He graduated at the

Commercial college at Zanesville, and is the owner
of fifty acres of land in his own right. The Flem-
ing homestead is a substantial brick residence of

modern architecture, and is very comfortable and
convenient, its spacious interior being well arranged
and filled with evidences of culture and refine-

ment. It is situated in a beautiful valley sur-

rounded by picturesque hills and an abundance of

trees and shrubs.

John M. Fleming, farmer, Frazeysburg, Ohio,

one of the prominent planters of Jackson town-
ship and a descendant of one of the old and much
respected families of Muskingum county, Ohio,

was born October 30, 1857. His grandfather, Col.

Nathan Fleming, was one of the original pioneers

of Muskingum county, and located here in 1804.

He was commissioned in the militia of the slate

April 3, 1812, by Jonathan Meigs, was promoted
to major October 29 of that year, and held that

position until October 5, 1818, when he was pro-

moted to lieutenant- colonel. His son, Albert Flem-
ing, was born on the old homestead at Irville, Feb-
ruary 13, 1813, and this property is still in the

hands of the Fleming family. Albert started out

for himself as a farmer, equipped with a common-
school education, and married a Miss Mary Mires,

daughter of John Mires, a saddler by trade and
one of the early settlers of Irville. Mr. Mires was
the father of these children: Charles, Amelia,

John, Delilah, Mary, Samuel, Jane, Lizzie,William
and Stephen. Mr. Mires moved to Danville,

Vermillion county, 111., and there received his

final summons when about seventy years of age.

To Mr. and Mrs. Fleming were born eleven chil-

dren, two of whom died in infancy. The others

were: Margaret, Daniel, Delilah, Malvine (died

at the age of eleven), Mary (died at the age of

seyen), Clara, George W., Eva and John M.
After marriage, or in 1835, Mr. Fleming settled

on the farm now occupied by his son, John M.

,

which was then covered by a dense forest, and he

cleared a few acres and built a house. He was
several years in clearing his estate, and frequently

added to the original tract until he owned 500
acres of fine farming land, situated in a beautiful

valley. He prospered and in 1845 built a large

dwelling. He was well known to the early settlers,

and held a number of local positions, being town-

ship trustee for some time. His death occurred

on February 3, 1889, at the age of seventy- five

years, and his wife died at the age of seventy-four.

She was a member of the Methodist church and
Mr. Fleming was a believer in that doctrine. He
retired from business in 1884 and resided in New-
ark the latter part of his life. He was a member
of the Masonic fraternity at Newark and Irville.

He gave his children all excellent educational ad-

vantages. John M. Fleming, like his father before

him, chose farming as his occupation through life.

He inherited the old home place from his father,

and on December 14, 1882, he married Miss Lou
A. Stump, daughter of Leonard and Catherine

(Claypool) Stump. Mr. Stump descended from an
old pioneer family of Muskingum county, and his

father, James Stump, was a farmer of Licking
township, Muskingum county. The latter was
born in Virginia, and came to Ohio with his

father at a very early day, settling near Irville.

James Stump was a prominent farmer, as was also

his son, Leonard. The latter is the father of

seven children: Sue S., Mary C.
,
Sarah M. (died

at the age of fifteen), Lou A., Fannie E.
,
Emma J.

and Leuora. John M. Fleming is one of the

prosperous citizens of Jackson township and a de-

scendant of sturdy pioneer ancestry. Many mem-
bers of this well-known family have become emi-

nent in different walks of life, and all are well

respected and honored. Mr. and Mrs. Fleming
have a pleasant home, and an air of culture and
refinement pervades their pleasant rooms. Mr.

Fleming is a practical farmer, and stands deserv-

edly high in the opinion of all, being a young
man of character and ability.

• Mrs. Mary Fleming, Frazeysburg, Ohio. Among
the pioneer settlers of Muskingum county, Ohio,

are the Flemings, who descended from one of the

most prominent and numerous American families.

The name of Fleming is traceable as far back as

the eleventh century. It is said that William The
Conquerer, king of Normandy, invaded England
with a powerful army composed principally of

Flemings, inhabitants of Flanders, and that his

wife was a Flemish princess. It is also said that

a strange family settled in Scotland at a place

known as the Fleming-way, and were called by
common consent The Flemings, so they finally

adopted the name. There is little doubt that Scot-

land is the home of the ancestors of this branch of

the Fleming family. The founders of the family







HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 453

in America were William Fleming, of Delaware,

and three brothers, and from them all the Flem-
ings in the United States have descended. Will-

iam Fleming was driven from Scotland to the

North of Ireland by religions persecution, tradi-

tion says, and with three brothers emigrated to

America late in the seventeenth century, settling

in Delaware. They arrived in America in 1680,

211 years ago, and took up land under William
Penn in what is now known as Kent county, Del.

The private records of the family are few and
limited, as no one at that time took any account
of passing events for the benefit of generations

yet to come. The only source left from which can
be gained anything like a reliable history of these

ancestors of the Flemings, who have become so

numerous in Delaware, Pennsylvania, Virginia,

Indiana and other western and southern states,

is from the public records of surveys, deeds and
wills found on record in the respective offices at

Dover, and from Kent county, Del. It there ap-

pears that the first emigrants by the name of

Fleming were in 1680, as above mentioned. The
land upon which they settled is what is now known
as Mispillion Hundred, Kent county, and em-
braced a tract of country three miles square.

The four families settled near together, and were
all, as far as is known, of the Presbyterian faith,

among those dissenters from the Church of Eng-
land who sought freedom from persecution in the
New World. Though tradition tells of the fact

that the four brothers grew wealthy, having cul-

tivated large estates, it was not until 1754, many
years after their landing, that the first authentic
record appears on the court books. This record
is the will of Robert Fleming, who died that year
and left to survive him a widow, Alice F. Flem-
ing, and several children. Among other things

he gave Robert Fleming, a son of Alexander
Fleming, 180 acres of land. He also left David,
a son of John Fleming, another brother, a farm
of 180 acres. The next record is the will of one
of the four original brothers, George Fleming, who
died May 25, 1759. He left his widow Elizabeth,
and four children, a large landed estate. Two of

the children were daughters; one, Martha, married
Alexander King, and from them descended some
of the numerous branches of King families in

Delaware and Pennsylvania. These daughters
and their descendants lived and died on the old

Fleming homestead, which is still standing, occu-

pied by lineal descendants of the original Flem-
ings. Of this landed estate the Delaware railroad

runs through a portion, and upon it built the
town of Farmington, which waB named after Farm-
ington, W. Va. A quarter of a mile from there
is situated the Fleming burying ground, where the
remains of the early Flemings are resting. The

20

next will is that of William Fleming, who died

July 1, 1766, and the next is the record of Alex-

ander Fleming, who died August 30, 1773. Will-

iam Fleming Jr. died June 7, 1784. He left a

widow, Ann, and five sons, to survive him. The
sons were named as follows: Nathan, Boaz,

Benaiah and Benoni (sons by his first wife), Jane
Frame and Thomas (a son by his second wife, Ann
Hudson). Benaiah remained on the old homestead,

but the others emigrated to West Virginia, in the

vicinity of Fairmount. They liked the country,

and in December, 1808, returned to Delaware and
sold out their interests in the homestead to

Benaiah. The latter died in 1845 and left the

homestead to his sons, and when they died it

passed into the hands of Benjamin H. Thorp, the

husband of Mary E.
,
daughter of Nathan Flem-

ing. The Thorps were among the oldest and
most distinguished families of Delaware, and Gov.
Thorpe is connected to the Flemings through
this branch of the family. In 1816 James and
Jacob Fleming, two of the original four brothers,

sold their land in Delaware and moved westward.
They were the sons of Robert Fleming, men-
tioned above, who died in 1784, and settled near
Chillicothe, Ohio, and their descendants are now
scattered throughout Ohio and the West. Other
members of the family moved to Maryland, and
their descendants are numerous there, the original

settlement being near Vienna. From the four

brothers who settled in Fairmount, W. Va., there

are a great many descendants, and the estates of

the brothers are in some cases still in the hands of

their descendants. Upon the farm of Boaz Flem-
ing, one of the four brothers from Delaware, was
built the town of Fairmount, one of the most
prosperous places in West Virginia. Until a few
years ago the log house of Boaz stood almost in

the center of the town. The descendants are

among the leading citizens of Marion county.

From one comes the present governor of West
Virginia; from another the mayor of the town,

Hon. Thomas W. Fleming; from another branch
comes Gen. R. E. Fleming, whose distinguished

services won him honor; also Capfe. T. A. Fleming,
another veteran, who is well known in the G. A. R.

circles, and is at present justice of the peace.

Most of the Flemings of AVest Virginia are re-

publicans, the Governor being one of the few
democrats of that name. Gov. Fleming, of Florida,

is a representative of the family, who went south
many years ago. The family held a national

reunion in August, 1891, at Fairmount, W. Va.

,

and members were present from twenty -five states

to the number of more than 1,000. The lawyer,

merchant, preacher, journalist and laborer, the

man of affluence and the one of modest circum-
stances, all of one family and one blood, gathered
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from all sections of the country to exchange greet-

ings, trace kinship, and to form ties of friendship

that should exist among those whose blood and
name are the same. It was one of the most re-

markable reunions ever held in the United States.

Col. Nathan Fleming, the founder of one branch
of this family in Muskingum county, was born
in Marion county, W. Va., January, 1783, and mar-
ried Mary Wood, daughterof John Wood, a farmer

of West Virginia. To Colonel and Mrs. Flem-
ing were born five children, whom they reared:

Margaret, James, Albert, John and Daniel. In
the fall of 1804, soon after his marriage, Col. Flem-
ing came to Muskingum county, Ohio, and settled

at Irville. He cleared a farm, settled there a few
years, sold his land and settled one-half mile east

of the town, remaining there many years. He en-

gaged in the mercantile business with Beverly

Lemert, under the firm name of Fleming & Lemert,
Mr. Lemert retired a few years later and Col.

Fleming continued the business several years alone.

He was a prosperous business man and one of the

early shippers of produce from Zanesville to New
Orleans, going frequently on the boats himself.

He was commissioned in the militia of the state of

Ohio, April 3, 1812, by Gov. Return Jonathan
Meigs, and promoted to major, October 29, 1812.

He held this office until October, 5, 1818, when he
was promoted to lieutenant- colonel. Mary Flem-
ing is the mother of Finley M. Fleming. This

is one of the prominent branches of the Fleming
family of the county and lineal descendants of

the four original brothers who settled in West
Virginia. Mathew Fleming was the great-grand-

father, and was a farmer of West Virginia,

born September 2, 1741. He married Jane Frame,
and they were the parents of twelve children,

John and Mathew only remembered. Mathew
Fleming died inWest Virginia, and his son

Mathew was born in Virginia, September 6, 1781.

He married in West Virginia, Lydia Fleming, the

daugher of Nathan Fleming, the father of Col.

Nathan Fleming, one of the original four brothers.

To Mathew Fleming and wife were born fifteen

children, twelve of whom lived to maturity: Daniel

Phoebe, Elias, Beniah, Franklin, Susan, Elihu,

Rosena, Archibald, Jane, Mary and Martha, all

born in West Virginia, except Mary and Martha
Mathew Fleming moved his family to Licking

township, Ohio, making the journey with horses

and wagons, and settled on a farm, now occupied

by our subject, Mary Fleming, October, 1820. He
cleared up a good farm, consisting of 140 acres.

Himself and wife are members of the Methodist
church, and he died at the age of fifty-four years.

He was a man of excellent character and had many
friends. Daniel Fleming, the father of our sub-

ject, was born May 15, 1803, in West Virginia, and

received a good common-school education. His
father was a school teacher and wrote a clear old-

fashioned hand, specimens of which are still pre-

served in the family. Daniel Fleming was about
seventeen years of age when he came with his

father to this county. He married Mary Bonham,
daughter of Rev. Zachariah and Susan (Hooper)
Bonham. The father was of Scotch descent, born
in New Jersey, and his father was Rev. Hesikiah
Bonham, an old pioneer Methodist minister and a

well-known preacher of those early times. Among
his children are Robert, Jeremiah, Zachariah
Zedekiali, Mary and Rachel. Rev. Zachariah Bon-
ham married Sophia Johnson in Virginia, and they
were the parents of seven children: Amos, Robert,
Johnson, Hesikiah, Isaac, Elizabeth and Jacob.
In 1814 Mr. Bonham settled in Jackson township
and had a good farm of 200 acres which he cleared

up from the wilderness. He gave up riding the
circuit and preached in Irville. His first wife died
and he married Susannah Hooper, daughter of

John and Sarah Hooper, and to them were born
three children: Mary, Rebecca and Sarah A. Mr.
Bonham lived to the age of sixty-eight years and
died on his farm. After his marriage, Daniel
Fleming settled on the old home farm and here
spent his life. Mr. and Mrs. Fleming are mem-
bers of the Methodist Episcopal church, and he
was class-leader and trustee for many years. He
was a stanch republican in politics and .a strong
union man during the war. He died July 23,

1867, at the age of sixty-four years, and left a wife

and three children: Elizabeth, Finley M. and
Jacob D. Dr. Jacob D Fleming had a good educa-
tion, was an excellent scholar and taught school

several years. He graduated at Hamilton Medical
college, Columbus, Ohio, and is now practicing

medicine at Frazeysburg. Finley M. Fleming at-

tended school at Utica, Ohio. Mrs. Fleming the

widow of Daniel, lives on the old homestead. In
1879 she built a fine residence and managed the

farm until her sons were old enough to assist her.

Finley M. was born April 13, 1855, and reared on
the farm. He married, at the age of thirty-two

years, Nellie K. Frazey, daughter of Guy and
Kate (Mathews) Frazey. She is the great-grand-

daughter of the founder of Frazeysburg—Samuel
Frazey. Mr. and Mrs. Fleming have two chil-

dren: Paul D. and Kate. The mother of Mrs.

Fleming was the daughter of Alfred Mathews,
son of Dr. Increase Mathews, a prominent physi-

cian of Zanesville.

One of the most notable mercantile establish-

ments of Nashport, Ohio, is that conducted by
William H. H. Francis, who is widely known as a

capable, enterprising, and reliable business man.
He was born September 3, 1841, in Licking county,

Ohio, and is a descendant of one of the ju'ominent
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families of Virginia. His grandfather, William

Francis, was born in Loudoun county, Va., was of

an old colonial family, and was a soldier in the

Revolution, being present at the surrender of Corn-

wallis. He was married in his native state to Miss
Mary Romine and they became the parents of

twenty-four children, eighteen of whom lived to be

grown. In 1816 William Francis came to Licking

county, Ohio, settled near the west line of Mus-
kingum county, in Hanover township, and became
one of the substantial farmers, owning vast tracts

of land and giving his children all farms. He
died in 1847, when ninety years of age. He was a

member of the Old School Baptist church, in which
he served as deacon, and he was widely known
among the old settlers as a man of sterling char-

acter. His was the first log house that was plas-

tered in that part of Licking county. The children,

so far as remembered, were: William, Isaiah,

Everett, Lenen, James, Samuel, Stephen, Joseph,

Maria, Mary A., Rebecca, and Fannie. The son,

William, was the father of eighteen children.

Samuel Francis, another son and the father of our

subject, was born in Loudoun county, Va., January
26, 1798 and received a meager education in the

common-schools of that day. He could read aud
write well, and had some knowledge of arithmetic.

In 1816 he came to the Buckeye state with his

parents. He was married to Miss Amy Shadley,

daughter of Daniel Shadley, who was one of the

original settlers of Licking county. To Mr. and
Mrs. Samuel Francis were bom twelve children:

Mahlon (died in infancy), Sarah, Mary, Stephen,
Hannah (died at the age of twenty-two, a married
woman), Basil B., Melissa, David, Rebecca, Will-

iam H. H.
,
Daniel T., and Elizabeth. Nine of

their children are still living, all married and have
families. Samuel Francis received fifty acres of

land from his father and to this he added from
time to time until lie owned 220 acres, on which he
passed the closing years of his life. He was in-

dustrious, hardworking and prosperous. He was a

member of the Old School Baptist church for more
than sixtv-nine years and a deacon over fifty years

of that time. In politics he was an old line whig
and voted for every president from 1820 up to the

present, except for James G. Blaine, having missed
that on account of a hard rain and his advanced
age, eighty-six years. He voted for William Henry
Harrison and lived to vote for the grandson, Ben-
jamin Harrison. On July 14, 1890, when ninety-

two years of age, this good man received his final

summons. He had a wonderful constitution, was
temperate in his habits, although he used tobacco
all his life, and retained his mental faculties to the

end. He was a well-known man, and a represent-

ative Ohio pioneer. In religious matters ho was
particularly active aud assisted liberally with his

means to build his church at a time when it needed
all the assistance it could get. His son, William
H. H. Francis, was born on the old homestead
which is still held in the family, and received a

good common-school education. At the age of

twenty he began learning the mercantile business

at Black Hand, Licking county, and continued
clerking for two and one-half years, when he re-

turned home where he worked on the farm for one
year, two of his brothers being in the army and
his father needing help. In 1864 he clerked in a

store at Cottage Hill, Muskingum county, but two
years later he came to Nashport, where he clerked

for N. F. Claypool for six years, after which he
embarked in business for himself at that jfiace. In
1884 he bought the building he now occupies, a

commodious brick, and has been doing a flourish-

ing business ever since. August 26, 1862, he mar-
ried Miss Margery E. Drumm, daughter of John
and Cynthia (Arter) Drumm, and of Irish descent.

John Drumm was of an old pioneer family and was
the father of seven children, four of whom are now
living: Amanda, Margery E., Sylvanus and Minerva.

He died in the sixties. To Mr. and Mrs. William
H. H. Francis have been born three interesting

children: Orlo D., Ella M. and Charles E. Mr.

and Mrs. Francis are members of the Old School

Baptist church, and he is clerk in the same. He
has the confidence of the people of his township,

and has been treasurer of the same for many years.

He now holds the office of township trustee. So-

cially he is a member of the I. O. O. F., and has
held the office of secretary, recording secretary,

treasurer, vice-grand, noble grand and has been
trustee for fifteen years. In politics he is a stanch

republican. Mr. Francis takes an active interest

in having good schools and has been a member of

the board of education for years. He has been
postmaster since May, 1887. He stands deservedly

high as a citizen and as a reliable business man,
and has been notary public for eight years.

Lewis Frazee is the owner of a fertile farm of

355 acres of land in Salt Creek township, aud is

otherwise well supplied with worldly goods, the re-

sult of many hours of honest toil, and much good
management. He was born in Greenbush town-

ship, Rensselaer county, N. Y., April 1, 1816, to

Nathan and Nellie (Barmeger) Frazee, the former

of whom was born in England, and in 1820 came
to America, settling after a time in this county,

where his death occurred in the year 1865. Lewis
Frazee was married on the 19th of March, 1840,

to Miss Mary J. Neff, a native of Brooke county,

Va.
,
and daughter of Christian Neff, and to their

marriage an interesting family of nine children

were born, four of whom are living: Nathan E.,

Catherine B.
,
wife of J. J. Moore; Mary E. and

Lewis C. Mr. Frazee has always been methodical



456 HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY.

in his business affairs, also thrifty and persevering,
and his diligence and unremitting toil has been
rewarded in the accumulation of an abundant
share of this world’s goods. He has always sup-
ported the men and measures of the democratic
party, and in appreciation of his services his party
elected him a member of the state legislature from
Muskingum county in 1858-59, during which time
he proved himself an able and incorruptible legis-

lator. During his busy career he has found time
to devote to social pleasures, and he is an honored
member of the A. F. & A. M.

,
and the I. O. O.

F. He and his family worship in the Presbyte-
rian church. His original farm, or old homestead,
is now the property of his daughter, Mrs. Moore,
and in addition to his tine farm of 355 acres, above
referred to, he is the owner of large farming inter-

ests in Missouri, and is a wealthy and influential

citizen.

Among the men gifted alike with energy and
enterprise stands Jesse Frazier, the prominent
merchant and popular postmaster of Coal Hill,

Muskingum county, Ohio. He was born April 1,

1836, and is the son of John and Elizabeth (Atkin)

Frazier, his father a native of Virginia, and his

mother of Pennsylvania. Jesse Frazier was reared
on a farm, attended the district schools until the
age of twenty- one, when he began for himself,

working by the month for his father. This he con-

tinued two years, tilling the soil in the summer,
and teaching school during the winter months.
On the 27th of October, 1859, he married Miss
Eliza James, daughter of John and Huldah James,
of Meigs township. Soon after marriage he com-
menced farming, and continued this occupation
with fair success until the year 1873, when he
started a general store at Coal Hill, where he has
been in business ever since. He is a pleasant,

enterprising and honorable business man, practi-

cal and reliable, and highly respected by all with
whom he has dealings. In 1874 he was appointed
postmaster of Coal Hill, and he has filled this po-
sition in a satisfactory manner ever since. He has
also held the office of township treasurer since

1885, and was elected county treasurer in Novem-
ber, 1891. Mr. Frazier is a member of the Masonic
fraternity, and in politics is a stanch republican.

He holds membership in the Baptist church.

Among the old settlers whose names and history

adorn the pages of the “Memoirs of Muskingum
County ” none are more favorably known than
William Frazier, who was born in Ohio county,

W. Va.
,
near Wheeling, March 7, 1806, a son of

Samuel and Eleanor (Robinson) Frazier. On the

23d of September, 1830, Mr. Frazier was married
to Nancy Armstrong, a daughter of Rev. Armstrong,
and the year following the celebration of their

nuptials, they settled on the farm in this county

on which Mr. Frazier is now living. He first pur-
chased 120 acres of partially cleared land from
Jonathan Carlisle, and to the improvement and
cultivation of this and adjoining land since pur-
chased he has devoted the best energies of his life.

His union with Miss Armstrong resulted in the

birth of the following children: Eleanor, born
February 23, 1832, the deceased wife of George
Dutton, her death occurring November 5, 1881;
Elizabeth, born January 9, 1834, wife of Dr. Rob-
ert George, of Elgin, 111.; Samuel A., born Sep-
tember 9, 1837, and died April 2, 1842; Rosanna,
born April 30, 1839,wife of Capt. Henry C. Baugh-
man, of Mona, Kas.

;
Margaret Ann, born January

16, 1842, wife of Robert Morrison, of Thomasboro,
111.; William H., born January 23, 1845, and re-

sides in Taylorville, Ohio, and Robert A., born
September 22, 1847, is a resident of Nevada, Iowa.
Mrs. Frazier died on the 25th of August, 1848.

Mr. Frazier’s second marriage was celebrated

November 6, 1851, Miss Sarah AVhitaker, the

daughter of Lemuel AVhitaker, a pioneer settler of

Brush Creek township, becoming his wife. She
was born March 21, 1818, and died February 13,

1862. Mr. Frazier’s third marriage was consum-
mated on the 5th of March, 1863, Miss Kate Weaver
becoming his third wife. She was born in Ger-
many, February 2, 1839, and has borne her hus-

band two children: Hattie, wife of Charles U.
Shryock, born January 17, 1864, and Samuel, born
December 30, 1867, and died September 19, 1878.

The mother of these children died on the 10th of

June, 1878. Mr. Frazier has been a member of

the Presbyterian church a great number of years,

and has always been a consistent Christian gentle-

man, having the confidence of all with whom he
has had acquaintance or business dealings. When
he first came to this county he was engaged in saw-
milling quite extensively, and manufactured con-

siderable quantities of lumber. The carding and
woolen factory formerly located at Taylorville he
operated for a number of years, and he yet has an
interest in the gristmill at that place, in which he
is jointly interested with his son William. Mr.
Frazier has, during his long and not uneventful

life, been a republican in politics, voting with that

party on all questions of national and local impor-

tance. In his father’s family there were eleven chil-

dren, all of whom, with the exception of two, are

dead: Robert, who resides in Missouri, and the

subject of this sketch, who was the youngest of the

family. Those deceased are James Robinson,

Samuel, Elizabeth(wife of Samuel McCoy), Andrew,
Rosanna (wife of Jesse Davis), James, Margaret
(wifeof John Bell), David, Hamilton and Robinson.

Grandfather Frazier was born August 28, 1776,

and died March 31, 1850. His wife was born Feb-
ruary 5, 1778, and died July 25, 1850.



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 457

Among the prominent farmers and large land-

holders of Muskingum county must be mentioned

Stockton Frazier, Frazeysburg, Ohio. His father

was Samuel Frazier. [See sketch of James Fraz-

ier.] Stockton Frazier was born January 17, 1829,

in Belmont county, Ohio, on his father’s farm, and
was but seven years of age when his father re-

moved to Muskingum county and settled in Lick-

ing township. He received a common-school edu-

cation and was brought up as a farmer. He
married, October 19, 1859, Elizabeth A. McCann,
daughter of Maxwell and Margaret (McDonald)
McCann. The father was a son of James McCann
[see sketch of Orville McCann], and was born in

1800, in Westmoreland county, Penn.
,
shortly after

his father came from Ireland. He received a com-
mon-school education, was brought up a farmer,

and came to Muskingum county with his father at

the age of sixteen years. He married Margaret
McDonald, daughter of Joseph McDonald, a native

of Virginia, who came to Muskingum county at an

early day. Maxwell McCann was the father of

seven children: John, Joseph, Martha, James,
Elizabeth A., Sarah and Carolina. Mr. McCann
was a prosperous farmer, owning a good farm of

300 acres. He was a member of the Presbyterian

church, and has held the office of township trus-

tee. He was a strict democrat, and lived to the

age of seventy-five years, dying in 1875. C. E.

Frazier now lives on the old McCann homestead,

in Cass township, which Stockton Frazier bought
some eight years since. After his marriage Stock-

ton Frazier settled on the farm where he now lives

and then bought 160 acres of his father, paying
for it $3,000. By industry and hard labor, com-
bined with good management, he has increased his

property until he now owns 1,300 acres of land.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Frazier are members of the

Presbyterian church, and Mr. Frazier has been
elder for many years, and assisted to build the

Muskingum Presbyterian church. In politics he
is a stanch republican, and lias held the office of

township trustee, but takes little interest in poli-

tics besides keeping up with the times. To Mr.
and Mrs. Frazier have been born eight children

who lived: Alfred A. (a lawyer of Zanesville, edu-

cated at Granville and Wooster, Ohio, and at the

law school at Cincinnati. He married Emma Clark,

and lias two children. He is a successful lawyer
and well-known politician of Zanesville); Samuel
L. (who also received a good education at Gran-
ville and Wooster. He deals in stock and wool,

and married Rosa Welch. They have four child-

ren, and live at Frazeysburg); Maxwell (is a

farmer, of Muskingum township; was educated at

Wooster, and married Angie Lemert. They have
one child); James H (educated at Wooster, Ohio;
is a farmor, of Jackson township, and married Kate

Bennett. They have one child); Charles E. (is a

farmer, of Cass township; was educated at Woos-
ter, and married Enna Blizzard. They have one
child); Margaret R., Rose E., and Luella J. are

young ladies at home, and are receiving good edu-

cations. Mr. Frazier is a man well informed on
all important subjects of the day, and has a good
library. He is interested in educational matters

and all subjects for the advancement and good of

the county. He has a beautiful home, of brick,

two stories high, with everything about it to make
it comfortable and pleasant.

J. W. Frazier, Frazeysburg, Ohio. Mr. Fra-
zier’s great-great grandfather, David Frazier, who
was the founder .of the Frazier family in America,

was born in Scotland, and was there married to

his first wife, who died, leaving him with one

child, a son, Samuel. Mr. Frazier’s second mar-
riage resulted in the birth of four children—two
sons and two daughters. The two sons, James
and Alexander, went to Kentucky at an early date,

and the daughters married, one becoming Mrs.

Craig and the other Mrs. McCoy. The former
lived in Middle Wheeling Creek, W. Va., and the

latter made her home near Xenia, Ohio, and reared

a large family, the descendants of which still re-

side there. Samuel Frazier, son of David, and
the great-grandfather of our subject, was born in

York county, Va., but left home when quite young
and* went to Shippensburg, Penn., where he
learned the tanning business. He married Miss
Rosannah , a native of Buck county, Penn.,

and to them were born four children: Margaret,
William, Samuel and David. Samuel Frazier re-

sided for some time in Burkeley county, Va., and
here his son Samuel was born. He then moved to

Washington county, Penn., thence to Ohio county,

W. Va.
,
and, in company with others, built a fort

to protect themselves from the Indians, at what
was then called Williamson’s Place, near Roney’s
Point. Samuel Frazier Jr., son of the above, and
the grandfather of our subject, was born August
28, 1776, in Berkeley county, Va., and was a farmer
by occupation. He was married March 29, 1798,

to Miss Eleanor Robinson, who was born February

5, 1778, and who was a daughter of Andrew and
Elizabeth (Harrison) Robinson. Andrew Robin-
son was born in County Down, Ireland, and emi-
grated to America at a period antedating the Revo-
lution. He was a driver of packhorses at the

battle of Brandywine. His wife, Elizabeth Harri-

son, was born in County Armagh, Ireland, and
they were married in Maryland at a place called

Head Elk or Elk Foi'ge, in Westmoreland county,

Penn. Mr. and Mrs. Robinson were the parents
of two children, James and Eleanor. James was
born before the family moved to West Virginia,

and accidentally shot himself when sixteen years of
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age, dying with lockjaw. Andrew Robinson and
wife died in Ohio county, W. Va., when quite aged.

Samuel Frazier and wife, Eleanor Robinson, be-

came the parents of twelve children: James (died

in infancy), Samuel, Elizabeth, Andrew, William,

R -, James, Margaret, David, Hamilton, Robin-
son and Robert. Eleven of these children lived to

be over sixty-five years of age, no deaths occurring

among them for nearly seventy-nine years. Sam-
uel Frazier died March 81, 1850, and his wife died

July 25 of the same year. Mr. Frazier was an
extensive farmer, owned vast tracts of land, and
was a slave owner, although he liberated all his

slaves before his' death. He built a flouring mill

at Roney’s Point and was the owner of a hotel and
most of the property of the village. The Fraziers

were, for generations, Presbyterian covenanters,

and finally United Presbyterians. Samuel Fra-
zier was a good business man, and left at his death

a handsome estate. The Robinsons were also

wealthy people, and Mrs. Frazier inherited con-

siderable property. Samuel Frazier, the third son
of the above, and father of our subject, was born
in Ohio county, W. Ya.

,
June 13, 1800, and re-

ceived a good practical education. He married,

February 11, 1823, Miss Rebecca Brice, daughter
of Rev. John and Jane (Stockton) Brice, the former
a Presbyterian clergyman, who preached at the
Forks of the Wheeling creek, West Alexander, at

an early day. He died in 1810. He was tfyice

married, first to Rebecca Kerr, who bore him two
children, James and Jane, and the second time to

Jane Stockton, which union resulted in the birth

of these children: John, Mary, Rebecca, Margaret,
Sarah and Elizabeth (twins), Alice, Eliza, Francis
and Jane A., all now deceased, but leaving many
descendants. The Stockton family is scattered all

over the FTnited States, and among its members
are several Presbyterian ministers. Rev. John
Stockton was a noted minister, and preached at

Cross Creek, Penn., for fifty years. Samuel Fra-
zier, like his father, was the father of these

children: John Brice (died at the age of thirteen),

Samuel R. (deceased), Eleanor, Stockton, William
H.

,
James M., Jane A., Elizabeth, James W.

,

Mary A., Brice, Virginia and Samuel. After mar-
riage Mr. Frazier lived two years in Ohio county,

W. Ya., but moved from there to Belmont county,

Ohio, about 1824 or 1825, settling on wild land
five miles from the county seat, where he cleared a

farm and resided twelve years. In 1836-37 he
came to Muskingum county, settled on a farm in

Licking township, and by his industry and thor-

oughness accumulated a fine estate of about 1,000

acres in this county. He was a practical and suc-

cessful farmer and a good business man. He and
wife were members of the United Presbyterian

church, but afterward the Old School Presbyte-

rian church. In politics he was an old line whig,
and afterward a sti'ong abolitionist, although
brought up in a slave-holding family. He was
subsequently a strict republican and strong Union
man during the war. He was one of the early

temperance men. and prohibited the use of liquors

in the field on his farm. At one time the men re-

fused to work on that account. He was a man
possessed of great firmness of character and always
took a high stand for the cause of right and jus-

tice. He was an elder in the church for about
forty years, and in his death, which occurred April

3, 1889, when nearly eighty-nine years of age, the
people lost one of their most esteemed and re-

spected citizens. He assisted in building three

churches, two in Muskingum township and the

Frazeysburg Presbyterian church. He was a

true Christian in all that the words imply, and
from a long line of distinguished ancestors he in-

herited his many excellent traits of character. To
such men as these, and to such families, we owe
the balance of good which makes the Buckeye
state so powerful and prosperous. His wife died
June 8, 1872, when over seventy-three years of

age. James W. Frazier, our subject, was born in

Belmont county, Ohio, December 13, 1835, and re-

ceived a fair education in the common schools.

He inherited from his father a love of learning,

and added to his stock of useful information by
reading good books, newspapers and periodicals,

and is a self-educated and exceedingly well-in-

formed man. He is conversant with the leading

movements of the time, and has marked opinions

of his own upon all important subjects. Coming
of a race of agriculturists, farming has constituted

his principal business through life, and as a farmer
he has always been successful and enterprising.

In October, 1862, Mr. Frazier was drafted into

the service of the United States as a soldier, and
was in camp at Zanesville for two months, after

which he hired a substitute for three years, paying
therefor $300. One year later he enlisted in the

Ohio Home Guards, Company H, One Hundred and
Fifty-ninth regiment O. V. I., and in May, 1864,

was mustered into the service of the United States,

his regiment being assigned to the eastern division

of the Army of the Potomac,then operating in Mary-
land, with which he served 100 days. The climate

was unhealthy, and many in his regiment had
typhoid fever and died. Mr. Frazier was danger-

ously ill of this dread disease and did not recover

for two months, he and Cornelius Collins, one of

his comrades, being the only ones in the compauy
whose lives were spared after taking the disease.

As it was. Mr. Frazier returned to his home shat-

tered in health, and has never since fully recovered.

October 10, 1864, he married Miss Alma Vanden-
bark, a daughter of Gershom and Mary (Baird)
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Yandenbark, who bore him two children: Charles

and Bessie M. Soon after his marriage he bought
a farm located two and one-half miles north of

Frazeysburg, and to the 240 acres in the original

tract he has added by subsequent purchases until

he owned 640 acres, and upon which he lived until

1890. In religious belief Mr. Frazier is a Presby-

terian, as was his father before him, and he was
one of the constituent members of the Frazeys-

burg Presbyterian church. He has been active

in all its affairs since its organization to the pres-

ent time, having served continuously as an elder

and as the superintendent of its Sunday school,

and the fact that he was one of the building com-
mittee who had charge of the erection of its house
of worship, will not be without historical interest.

Mr. Frazier’s first great sorrow was caused by the

death of his wife in 1871. This devoted wife and
mother, and devout and zealous Christian woman,
was an active member of the Methodist church.

Her father. Gershom Yandenbark, was a native of

New Jersey, of Holland-Dutch descent, who came
to Muskingum county with his father, David
Vandenbark, who was one of the very earliest set-

tlers in Licking township. In 1873 Mr. Frazier

took for his second wife Miss Eliza Gorsuch, a

daughter of Joshua Gorsuch. [See sketch.] This
lady was one of the original members of the Pres-

byterian church at Frazeysburg, and was a

woman of refined character and exceedingly gentle

disposition. She was a true mother to the orphan
children of Mr. Frazier, and devoted to them all

the tenderness she could have lavished upon her
own fieshand blood. Of singularly even tempera-
ment, gifted with spontaneous kindliness, it may
be said of her that she never became impatient,

and was a truly beneficent power in this little

household, every member of which remembers her
with tender love and affection. Her death, which
occurred July 17, 1890, brought to Mr. Frazier his

second great affliction. In the spring of 1890 Mr.
Frazier removed from his old farm to Frazeys-
burg and there located on a small place of fifty

acres, which he had purchased for a home during
his declining years, leaving his son Charles in

charge of the homestead. He owns here consider-

able real estate, and has an interest in the Frazeys-
burg flourmill and in the tile factory. He takes
an active interest in the prosperity of the village,

and is a member of the board of health, in that
capacity and in other ways exerting a strong in-

fluence for good. All his life long he has been
deeply concerned in the cause of education, and
for many years he held the office of school director
in his district. Honesty, industry, prudence and
caution have been the leading characteristics of the
Frazier family in all generations, and these traits

have been manifested always and in a marked de-

gree by Mr. Frazier. As a practical business man
his record is excellent, and he is at this time one

of the largest land owners in the county. Socially

he is popular with all -who know him, and in all

respects he is a creditable representative of the

sterling stock from which he has descended. His

son, Charles W. Frazier, now twenty-three years

of age, received a thorough education at the Ada
Normal university, at Ada, Ohio, and is now a

practical and successful farmer. He was married

in 1889 to Miss Nellie Hamilton, and has one
daughter named Gracie. Mr. Frazier’s daughter,

Bessie M., married James Stitt, part owner aud
superintendent of the Frazeysburg flouring mill.

She has one son.named James F.

Among those prominently identified with the

business interests of Muskingum county, Ohio,

is John W. Fogle, who occupies the Odd Fellow
building at Chandlersville, Ohio, and carries a stock

of hardware, stoves, farm implements, etc. His
birth occurred at McConnelsville, Morgan county,

Ohio, November 15, 1850, and he was the only

child born to the marriage of John aud Rebecca
(Hamilton) Fogle. The father was a native of

Wayne county, Ohio, and of German descent.

The mother was of English origin. Both are now
deceased, the father dying in 1860, and the mother
three years later. In the spring of 1863 John W.
Fogle began learning the stonemason trade with an
uncle, continued at this four years, but only fol-

lowed it one year after learning. In the spring of

1872 he married Miss Jennie Allen, daughter of

Sam Allen, and their union has been blessed by
the birth of two children : Charles and Alice. Mr.
Fogle has been in the hardware business for the

past two years, and is held in the most favorable

repute, owing to his enterprise and to his upright,

honorable business methods. Previous to engag-
ing in business for himself, or in 1878, he began
traveling for a pump manufacturing establishment,

and sold from two to three hundred pumps annual-

ly. He remained on the road until January, 1891,
when he was obliged to stop to attend his rapidly
increasing business. He was at one time a con-

tractor for building work also. He is a member of

the I. O. O. F. lodge, and in politics is a demo-
crat. He is a member of the Presbyterian church,
a liberal supporter of the same, and is a public-

spirited citizen.

George L. Foley, probate judge, Zanesville, is

one of the representative men of Muskingum
county, Ohio, and as he was born and reared in the

county the people have had every opportunity to

judge of his character and qualifications. His par-

ents, James and Catherine (Shipman) Foley, were
natives of Ohio and Pennsylvania, respectively.

The family located in Muskingum county, Union
township, village of Norwich, in about 1832, and
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the father followed the trade of a shoemaker. The
latter still resides in Norwich. He is the father of

hve sons and four daughters, seven of which are

living, and of whom George L. is the eldest son.

George L. Foley was reared in his native county,

and received his education in the public schools of

Norwich. He learned his father’s trade and worked
at the bench until 1881, being engaged a part of

the time in farming, continuing this until elected

to his present office in 1881. Previous to this he
had held the office of township clerk and justice of

the peace of Union township, holding the former
position from 1875 until 1882, and the latter from
1875 to 1882, when he resigned both of said posi-

tions to accept that of probate judge. He has
been elected to his present office four terms suc-

cessively, which speaks in the highest term of his

efficiency and ability in that position. He was
married on November 19, 1885, to Miss Flora Bu-
chanan. Socially Mr. Foley is a member of the

I. O. O. F., Knights of Pythias, and the Benevo-
lent Order of Elks. In politics has always been a

republican.

James Foley Sr. was born in Monroe county,

Ohio, on May 8, 1826, and was the youngest but
one of six children born to William R. and Bar-
bara (Kinney) Foley. William Foley was a native

of the Emerald Isle, and came to this country

during the War of 1812, participating in the same.

He was married in Chester county, Penn., and
afterward removed to Pittsburg, where he assisted

in building the first bridges of that city. His wife,

who was also a native of Chester county, Penn.,

was the daughter of Frederick Kinney. SJie re-

mained in her native county until her marriage,

and then, in 1824 or 1825, accompanied her hus-

band to Monroe county, Ohio. The fruits of this

union were six children: Bartholomew, Eliza,

George (who now resides in Chandlersville, this

county), Thomas (residing in Smith county, Kas.),

James (subject) and John C. (died at the age of

about six years). The father of these children

died about 1832 or 1833, and the mother received

her final summons on August 8, 1880, when eighty-

three years of age, her birth having occurred on
February 10, 1797. She first moved to this county
in 1829, and made her home here until her death.

She was a member of the Methodist Episcopal
church all her life, and was very active in all

church matters. Only three of her children are

now living, two in this county. Her father, Fred-

erick Kinney, was of German-English descent,

and was a soldier in the Revolutionary war. His
wife was of German descent. James Foley’s early

recollections were of Guernsey and Muskingum
counties, and he received a limited education in

the former county. Thrown upon his own re-

sources at an early age he began cutting cordwood

at 25 cents a cord, and in this and other ways
made a living. When twenty-two years of age he
married Miss Catherine Shipman, a native of Saint

Clairsville, Belmont county, Ohio, born July 4,

1827, and one of a family of eight children born to

Walter and Ann (Wilson) Shipman, natives of

Pennsylvania, and both of German descent. The
father was a Revolutionary soldier. Their chil-

dren were named as follows: George, Charity, Re-
becca, Catherine, John, Stephen, Josephine and
Zenith, six of whom are living. Mr. and Mrs.
Shipman died in Belmont county, Ohio. They
had one son in the Civil war. To Mr. and Mrs.

Foley were born nine children, seven of whom are

living: George (probate judge of Muskingum
county), Stephen (married and is a shoemaker in

West Virginia), Josephine (was the wife of Davis
Haddeu, of this township, and died when twenty-

one years of age), Mary K. (resides in New Lex-
ington, Perry county, Ohio, and is the wife of B.

D. Yow), Jason (died when five years of age),

Elizabeth (is the wife of John W. Hadley, of Mar-
ion, Ohio), Laura (at home). James F. (traveling

salesman for a Columbus drug house) and Henry
S. (who is in the iron mills at Martin’s Ferry).

Mt. and Mrs. Foley are worthy members of the

Presbyterian church. He was formerly a whig in

politics, but since the war he has affiliated with the

republican party. Socially he has been a member
of the Norwich Masonic order for forty years, and
is a Mason. Mr. Foley is engaged in farming and
owns seventy acres of excellent land in the edge of

Norwich. He is a public-spirited citizen, and
takes an active interest in educational and relig-

ious matters, as well as all other enterprises of a

laudable nature.

J. P. Ford, painter, glazier and dealer in plate

glass of all kinds, was born in Zanesville, Ohio, in

July, 1829. His parents, Henry and Lucinda
(Piatt) Ford, were natives of England and Ohio

respectively. The . father came to the United

States when about eight years of age, or in 1815,

and located with his parents in Zanesville, where
he received his education. He learned the shoe-

maker’s trade and followed this until his death in

1860. The mother had died a number of years

previous. This family consisted of five children

—

two now living: J. P. and Lucinda, the latter re-

siding in Logan, Ohio. J. P. Ford learned the

painter’s trade in his youth and worked as a jour-

neyman for a few years. He subsequently

opened a shop in partnership with G. W. Stark

(1854), continued this for two years, and then dis-

solved partnership, since which time he has been

engaged in business alone. He is the second

oldest painter in Zanesville, has ever retained the

confidence of leading mercantile and financial cir-

cles, and is a merchant of the highest standing
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and soundest judgment, whose success has been
developed upon the sure basis of efficiency and in-

tegrity. He deals in French plate glass, plate,

stained, cathedral and crystal sheet glass, and
also does paper hanging and decorating. Mr.
Ford is a director of the Home Building and Sav-
ings bank. He is a member of the Masonic fra-

ternity, has been treasurer of Blue lodge for over

thirty years and also treasurer of commandery,
chapter and council. He is a stockholder in the
Citizen’s National bank. He was married in 1852
to Miss Lucinda Brookover, a native of Muskingum
county, who bore him three children: Ella, Car-
rie, and Frank, who is deputy probate judge. Mr.
Ford took for his second wife Miss Mattie Lee,
and they have three children: Hattie, Lee and
John. The family are members of the First Bap-
tist church of which he has been deacon, treas-

urer and trustee.

Charles H. Fox, a farmer and stock dealer of

Wayne township, Muskingum county, Ohio, was
born in this county, July 11, 1836, and was edu-
cated in the common schools and the schools of

Zanesville. He commenced the battle of life at

the age of sixteen years as a stock driver and
butcher, and successfully followed both or these

callings until 1857, when he entered the employ of

his uncle, William Fox, as clerk in his grocery,

where he remained until April 17, 1861, when lie

enlisted in Company A, Fifteenth Ohio Volunteer
infantry, three months’ service, and was dis-

charged in August. In April, 1862, he went to

Washington, D. C.
,
in the employ of his uncle, and

remained until July. In September he went with
the Squirrel Hunters to Cincinnati in the Kirby
Smith raid. He was married, in 1863, to Miss
Celia A. Sloan, of this county, daughter of R. H.
and Lois Sloan. In November of the same year he
entered into partnership with Mr. Jacob Slack in

the grocery business, and in May, 1864, was com-
missioned cajitain of Company E, One Hundred
and Fifty-ninth Ohio Volunteer infantry and
mustered in the regular service for 100 days. He
was at Maryland Heights, Baltimore and Monocr-

acy Junction; returned to Zanesville and was
mustered out of the service August 24. He and
Mr. Jacob Slack then bought a two-thirds interest

in the grocery of his uncle, William Fox, where
he remained until 1870, when he sold his interest

in the store and purchased a farm in Wayne town-
ship and went to farming and dealing in live stock.

To himself arid wife four children have been born:

Kate E.
,

Harry, Mary (deceased), and Mag-
gie. His parents were Asa and Ann Ross Fox.
Asa Fox was born in Loudoun county, Va.

,
and

raised in Washington, D. C., coming to Zanesville

in 1827. Mr. Fox was a butcher by trade, and was
one of the first butchers of Zanesville. He reared

a family of six children, five of whom are still liv-

ing, the subject of this sketch being the eldest:

William T., Miranda (deceased), Mary E., George
R. and Asa L. William T. at the beginning of

the war enlisted in Company A, Fifteenth Ohio
Volunteer infantry. After this regiment was dis-

charged, he reenlisted in Company D, Seventy-

eighth Ohio Volunteer infantry, and was with

Sherman in his memorable march from Atlanta to

the sea. Their father died in 1869, aged sixty-

five years, loved and respected by all. Ann Ross
Fox, mother of Charles H. , was born in 1815, be-

came a member of the First Baptist church when
fourteen years of age, and was . married in 1833.

She died, January 29, 1884. Elijah Ross, grand-

father of the subject of this sketch, came to Zanes-

ville in 1802, where he followed his trade of gun-
smith. In the War of 1812 he entered the service

and was detailed to repair the boys’ flintlocks.

After the war he carried on his trade until his

death in 1865. Mrs. Charles Fox is the eldest in

a family of eight children: William H. (who died

in August 1884), Margaret J., Harriet, Charles

W., Mi-s. W. H. Allen, Robert (who was killed in

the battle of the Wilderness) and Martha.

Charles H. Galigher, farmer and gardener,

Zanesville, Ohio, was born in Muskingum county

in 1844, and his parents, James and Adaline (Lee)

Galigher, were natives also of this county, and of

Irish and German parentage respectively. Grand-
father and Grandmother Galigher were natives of

Baltimore, Md., and came to Muskingum county,

Ohio, about 1800, settling near Zanesville, when
that city was hardly known. The grandfather

followed flatboating from that point to New Orleans,

and continued this occupation all his life. He died

in Cincinnati of cholera at an early date. He was
one of the first settlers, and w’here now are stately

residences and cultivated farms, then Indians and
wild animals roamed through the wilderness.

Many were the hairbreadth escapes and thrilling

adventures of those sturdy pioneers who made pos-

sible the pleasant homes of to-day. James Gal-
igher, father of our subject, was educated at

Zanesville, in a little log cabin with slab seats, and
his schooling was fair for that early day. He was
always considered a well-educated man. He was
married about 1838. After the death of his father

he and his brother quit the river, and began
learning the hatter’s trade, following this for some
time after his marriage. He became quite success-

ful in this business, had several pien working for

him, and for many years supplied the trade of the

county. There are one or more men yet living who
worked for him, Jacob Off being one of them. In

1852 Mr. Galigher purchased the farm on which
our subject now resides, which then consisted of

219 acres at $32 per acre, and it is now worth $150
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per acre. At that time there were about 150 acres

improved, and he immediately moved upon it, and
there received his final summonsin 1881. To Mr.
and Mrs. Galigher were born eight children: Mar-
garet, wife of L. D. Dillon, resides in Knoxville,

Tenn.
;
Richard, resides on a portion of the old

homestead; one died in childhood; Charles H.
(subject) ;

Bettie Deitz resides on a portion of the

old homestead; Ella, wife of David Tipton, re-

sides in Omaha, Neb.
;
Annie, wife of Charles Bell,

resides in Columbus, Ohio, and Mrs. Ida Burgess
is a resident of Columbus. Airs. Galigher was a

worthy and exemplary member of the Baptist

church at Zanesville, and died in 1873. Mr. Gal-
igher was a member of the A. F. & A. Al., Amity
lodge No. 5, Zanesville. The maternal grand-
father of our subject, Richard Lee, came to Ohio
in 1800, and upon arriving here entered what is

now West Zanesville, his family residence standing
where the round house of the B. A O. R. R. com-
pany now stands. This land was then purchased at

$2.25 per acre, and Zanesville was then only a

boat landing. Air. Lee became quite wealthy, al-

though he had started a poor man. He reared a

large family, and many of his descendants are re-

siding in and around Zanesville. He was with W.
H. Harrison against the Indians, and participated

in many desperate battles. He died in 1850 at

quite an old age. Grandmother Lee died some
years afterward at the age of ninety years. Charles
H. Galigher was born in Zanesville, and received

his education in the common schools, this being
about the first of the free school system in Ohio.

He has always shown a marked preference for

agricultural pursuits, and this has been his prin-

cipal occupation through life. In 1864 he joined

Company E, One Hundred and Fifty-ninth Ohio
infantry, and went immediately to the front, par-

ticipating in the battle of Fredericksburg, Md.
He was discharged in Zanesville in 1865, after

coming home. He then resumed agricultural pur-

suits with his father on the home place, and in

1866 was married to Aliss Clara Brenhots, daugh-
ter of Louis and Sidney (Patterson) Brenhots, both
natives of the Keystone state. Air. and Mrs.
Brenhots were the parents of five children: George
AV., Charles, Rebecca, Louis (was accidentally

killed) and Clara. Mr. Brenhots was one of the

first undertakers and cabinet makers of Zanesville,

was quite successful, and accumulated considerable

property. He died in 1886 at the age of eighty -

two. His wife still survives, and is past the age of

eighty. Both were reared Quakers. Mr. Galigher’

s

union was blessed by the birth of two children:

Louis F. , at home, and Adelia, attending school.

Air. Galigher has filled a number of local positions

in a creditable and satisfactory manner, having
been township clerk and school director. He and

wife hold membership in the Baptist church of

Zanesville. Socially Air. Galigher is a member
of the I. O. O. F., Aluskingum lodge No. 128, and
he is also a member of the G. A. R., Hazel post at

Zanesville. Politically he is a republican. His
first vote for president was in 1866 for Gen. U. S.

Grant, and his last for AY. H. Harrison. Air.

Galigher’s son, Louis F., is a member of Battery

C, First Regiment of Light artillery, National

guards, and is gunner and corporal.

N. T. Gant is a wholesale gardener, farmer

and dairyman, and is the owner of over 300 acres

of land near the city of Zanesville. One hundred
and fifty acres, which are located about two and a

half miles from the city, are devoted to stockrais-

ing as well as to coal mining, the yield being am-
ple to help supply the citizens of Zanesville, as

well as the surrounding country with coal. Air.

Gant was born in Loudoun county, Va., Alay 10,

1822, his mother, Edith Tolbert, being a slave

and the property of John Nixson. Her second

husband was a Air. Gant, and in 1844, having been
freed by the will of her master, she came with Air.

Gant and her son, the subject of this sketch, who
also had been freed, to Aluskingum county, Ohio.

In Air. Nixon’s will it was also stipulated that they

should have their expenses paid to some free state.

N. T. Gant’s mother ooly enjoyed her freedom
a short time, for in 1846 she departed this life.

Her son was first married in Virginia, Alay 11,

1844, to Aliss Maria Hughes, who was born in

Virginia and was a slave of Aliss Jane Russell,

from whom Mr. Gant purchased her freedom.

She died in this county, October 1, 1877; after

having borne her husband twelve children. Eliza-

beth (wife of Robert Manly), Sarah (wife of Dr.

Norton), Alaggie (wife of George AV. Potts), Nel-

sen T. (at home), being the only ones now living.

On January 10, 1879, Mr. Gant was united in

marriage to his second wife, she being Aliss La-
venia Neal, a native of the state of ATirginia. To
their union one daughter has been born: Lulu.

AVhen Air. Gant first came to this county he en-

gaged in gardening for Theodore Converse and for

five years remained in his employ, at the end of

which time Air. Converse died and Air. Gant began
business for himself. AVhen he first came to this

county he had only 50 cents in money, but by per-

sistent endeavor and by the exercise of sound busi-

ness judgment and principles, he is now wealthy.

He recently sold twenty acres of land to F. Al.

Townsend for $20,000 for a park, which is now one

of the finest in the state and is called Gant park

in honor of its former owner and one of the coun-

ty’s most worthy citizens. Mr. Gant has always

been mindful of his financial interests and has

driven many a shrewd and profitable bargain. No
man living is more devoted to his family and
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friends and he has given all his children good col-

legiate educations and they repaid him by indus-

trious application, his son, Nelson T., being ex-

ceptionally bright and promising. His daughters

are intelligent women and are well versed in music.

He has always been deeply interested in the wel-

fare of Zanesville and has done as much as any
citizen in the county to develop her resources and
to further her interests. His career points its

own moral and has few parallels in the history of

“men of mark” among the colored people. He
and his wifo and a number of his children are

members of the Methodist Episcopal church on
South street, Zanesville, and of this church his

first wife was also a worthy member.
Fred S. Gates has steadily and surely made

his way to the front in the profession of law dur-

ing the fifteen years of his practice in Muskingum
county, and his reputation and record are first

class for integrity and trustworthiness in all mat-

ters intrusted to him. He is careful and pains-

taking in all pleadings and court proceedings and
for clearness and accuracy the legal instruments

drawn up by him can not be excelled. He was
born in Zanesville, December 25, 1854, his parents,

M. Y. and Mary (Fell) Gates, being also natives

of this county, born in the year 1826. The father

was a contractor and builder by occupation until

five years since and many of the handsomest and
best buildings in Zanesville and the surrounding
country are monuments to his skill He is now
devoting his attention to farming and as a tiller of

the soil is no less successful than as a contractor

and builder. In the public schools of Zanesville

Fred S. obtained a practical education and in 1872
graduated from the high school, after which, for

two years, he followed the calling of a pedagogue.
He began his legal studies in 1873 in the office of

F. A. Seborn and in 1876 was admitted to the

bar, and has ever since been a practicing lawyer of

this city. The interests of his clients are regarded
by him as of the first importance, aDd he is re-

garded as a conservative and prudent counsellor,

whose advice can readily be relied upon. He has
a large civil practice and he is regarded as one of

the most capable members of his profession in the

county. He has always supported the principles

of the republican party and in 1887 was the at-

torney for the city of Zanesville. He has shown
his approval of secret societies by becoming a mem-
ber of Moxahala lodge No. 144, of the I. O. O. F.
and Phoenix lodgeNo. 388, of the K. of P., of which
he is a charter member. On April 28, 1878, his

marriage with Miss Anna Taylor was consummated,
the latter being a native of this county. They have
two children: Fred S. Jr. and Harold T. Mr.
and Mrs. Gates are members of the Trinity

Methodist Episcopal church.

Theo. F. Gault, druggist of New Concord, Ohio,

and one of that town’s successful, enterprising

business men, was born in Washington county,

Penn., on April 6, 1850. His parents, William

and Louisa (Lyle) Gault, were natives of Wash-
ington county, Penn., the former born about 1805

or 1806 and the latter about 1811, and they were

married in their native county. William Gault

was one of six children, who were named as fol-

lows: John, Mary, Jane, William, Samuel and

David. Mrs. Gault was the daughter of Moses
and Sarah (Kerr) Lyle, natives of Northampton
county, Penn., and was the eldest of eleven chil-

dren born to this worthy couple. They are named
as follows: Louisa, Mariah, Ezra, Rucina, Sar-

issa, Eliza, Harriet, Sarah, Aaron, Ellen and Will-

iam. Mr. Lyle removed with his parents to

Washington county, Penn., when two years of age

and there attained his growth and was married.

William Gault remained in his native county until

grown, was there married and there reared most of

his children. In 1859 he emigrated to Muskingum
county, Ohio, settled on a farm within a half mile

of New Concord, in Union township, and there

engaged in merchandising, which he continued un-

til 1862. At that time his son, who was in the

business with him, enlisted in the army, and Mr.

Gault sold out, subsequently purchasing a large

farm near Otsego, this county. He was the owner
of this at the time of his death, which occurred in

June, 1865, in New Concord. He died very sud-

denly the night after Abraham Lincoln was assas-

sinated. He was a strong Union man, and was an

active supporter of the republican party. In re-

ligious and educational matters he was also very

active, and was prominently identified with the

Presbyterian church. He was prosperous in a

business way, and what he accumulated in the way
of this world’s goods was the result of his own in-

dustry and enterprise. He was a well informed

man, and was well posted on all the current topics

of the day. Mrs. Gault died in September, 1878,

in full communion with the Presbyterian church.

They were the parents of nine children, who are

named in the order of their births as follows: Mil-

ton (died in 1874, when about thirty-five years of

age), Margaretta (died in 1882), Albert G. (now
residing in Columbus, Ohio, and is chief box clerk

in the postoffice department), Ada S. (died in 1890),

William P. (who is engaged in the drug business

in Columbus), Mary (died in 1878), James L. (re-

sides in Zanesville and is a member of the firm of

Wilhelm, Speer & Co.), T. F. (subject), Ellen (who
died at the age of four years). Two of the sons,

A. G. and W. P., were in the Civil war, in the Sev-

enty-eighth regiment Ohio Volunteer infantry, and
were in a number of engagements. The former

served as lieutenant, and the latter as a private.
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Tkefatlier of these children was prominently identi-

fied with the affairs of the county, and was well

and favorably known all over it. Theo. F. Gault
continued in Washington county, Penn.

,
until about

nine years of age when he came with his father to

Muskingum county, Ohio, and he supplemented a

common-school education by attending the high
schools of New Concord. After the death of the

father the children took the means that were left

and embarked in the drug business, our subject

gradually purchasing the business. He was with
his brother, W. P. ,

until December, 1882, when
he bought his share, the latter going to Columbus.
Early in life Mr. Gault was interested in bands,
and was leader of the New Concord Silver Cornet
band for some time. He is a wide-awake, thor-

oughgoing business man, and for the past ten

years has been in business for himself. He is not

married. Mr. Gault is an active republican in his

political views, and has held the office of city

councilman. He was a delegate to the Chicago
republican convention in 1884, and is at present a

member of the county executive committee. He
is prominent in the political affairs of both county
and state, and is interested in schools and churches,

being in sympathy with the Presbyterian church.

Mr. Gault’s sister, Ada S. Gault, is a lady whose
memory will remain green in the minds of the

brave “boys in blue” who enlisted from Muskingum
county, long after her body has moldered to dust,

for she was an indefatigable worker for their inter-

ests during the war. Since then she had taken a

leading part in all soldier reunions and all public

affairs of that kind, and was loved and honored by
all. The soldiers of this county will ever remem-
Ada Gault. She was born at Cross Creek village,

Washington county, Penn., and died on January
25, 1890. She had a class in the Presbyterian
Sunday school and was a member of the church,
having united with same when quite young. She
was a noble Christian woman.

Jonathan Gaumer. In the space allotted in this

volume it would be impossible to give a detailed

account of the career of this gentleman, but it is

only just to say that in his walk through life his

course has been marked by honesty, industry and
a manly, independent spirit. He is a native of

Washington township, Muskingum county, Ohio,

born June 24, 1822, and was the eleventh child

born to Daniel and Hannah (Boughman) Gaumer,
the father a native of Yirginia, born April 10,1781,
and the mother of Pennsylvania, born in 1785.

The paternal grandfather, Jacob Gaumer, was a

native of Germany and came to this country at an
early day. He served under Washington in the

Revolutionary war and was drum-major in the army.
Daniel Gaumer, father of subject, was a soldier in

the War of 181 2. He had passed his youthful days

in Somerset county, Penn., but in 1809 he moved
to Washington township, Muskingum county, and
settled seven miles above Zanesville on a farm ou
the Muskingum river. In 1824 he moved to

Salem township and here died in September, 1859,

The mother, who was of German descent also, died

in Salem township in 1874. They were the parents

of the following children: Lydia (deceased), was
the wife of David Shirer; Catherine (deceased),

was the wife of V. Shirer; William (deceased);

Esther, the widow of Y. Shirer, resides in Adams
township, this county; Jacob (deceased); Gideon
(deceased); Rebecca (deceased), was the wife of

John Wimer; Daniel Jr. (deceased); Lebanon, who
is residing in Guernsey county, this state; George
is now living in Mercer county, Penn., and is a

Lutheran minister at Greenville, that county; Jona-

than (subject); Charles, residing in Douglas
county, Ivas., Jesse residing in Illinois and
Anthony, who died in the army. The parents of

these children were worthy members of the Luther-

an church. The father was a democrat at an early

day but later became a whig. He was an honest,

upright citizen, and a man universally respected.

He was in comfortable circumstances and at his

death left a good farm. Jonathan Gaumer was
educated in the district schools of Salem township

and in 1840 he started out to make his own way in

life. He taught school for about five years but

afterward worked at the carpenter’s trade and ran a

carding mill for some time. After this he began
farming and continued to till the soil until

1888, when he sold out and settled in Adams-
ville, where he now resides, retired from
the active duties of life. Mr. Gaumer was mar-

ried in 1846 to Miss Mahala Barrett, daughter

of John and Rachel (Heskett) Barrett, and a

native of Adams township, Muskingum county,

Ohio, born July 6, 1824. She was the third

in order of birth of six children: Amelia A.,

Hannah J.
,
Thomas, Nancy J. and John. Mr.

Barrett was a native of Loudoun county, Ya., but

settled in Adams township, Muskingum county, in

1821. His wife, who was also a native of Loudoun
county, Va., died November 26, 1853, and Mr.

Barrett followed her to the grave in 1862. They
were members of the Baptist church. During the

War of 1812 Mr. Barrett served as captain of a

company. Mr. and Mrs. Gaumer are the parents

of eight children—three sons and five daughters:

Thomas M. is married and has three children, all

sons, (he is now editor and proprietor of the

“Champain Democrat,” Urbana, Ohio); Charles N.

is married and resides at Mansfield. Ohio, (he is

editor and proprietor of the Richland county
“ Shield and Banner,” Mansfield, Ohio, and is serv-

ing a second term as representative from Richland

county Ohio); Hannah J., now Mrs. Buker, resides



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 465

in Monroe township; Rachel V., now Mrs. D. R.

Palmer of Zanesville; Daniel H., a well-known

resident of Zanesville and the editor and proprietor

of the semi-weekly and daily “Signal” (he served

one term as representative in the Ohio legislature

from Muskingum county, and one term as senator

from the Muskingum and Licking counties sena-

torial district)
;
Martha and Mary (twins), the former

the wife of J. M. Dean, of Xenia, Ohio, and the

latter a teacher in the Orphan’s Home at that place;

and Cidda A., who is now Mrs. S. H. Barr, of

Zanesville. Mr. Gaumer has given his children

every advantage for a good education and all of

them have taught school except one. Mr. Gaumer
had three brothers in the Civil war: Lebanon, Jesse

and Anthony. Jesse was wounded twice. Mr.

Gaumer was formerly a whig in politics but he is

now a democrat. During Cleveland’s administra-

tion he held the office of postmaster at Adamsville,

and he has held other positions in his township.

He and Mrs. Gaumer are members of the Lutheran
church and are esteemed and respected citizens.

They have a fine residence in the town of Adams-
ville.

Hon. Daniel H. Gaumer was born on a farm
near Adamsville, Muskingum county, Ohio, No-
vember 11, 1857. His forefathers were among the

pioneer settlers in that part of the county, where
both his father and mother are yet living. His

grandfather, Daniel Gaumer, came to Zanesville

from Somerset county, Penn., in 1809, and chopped
his road through the woods from Zanesville to

Washington township, where he entered from the

government a farm, on which Mr. Gaumer’s father,

Jonathan Gaumer, was born, June 24, 1822. He
afterward moved to Salem township with his

parents, and now resides in the village of Adams-
ville. Educated in the district and village schools

near and at Adamsville, and living his earlier

years on the farm, in early manhood Mr. Gaumer
took up the occupation of school teacher. He rap-

idly rose to good rank as an educator, his last

years as such having been put in as superintendent

of schools at Marseilles, Wyandot county. Having
accumulated a little capital, the savings from his

salary as teacher, and having a desire to enter

journalism, in February, 1882, purchased a half-

interest in the Xenia “Democratic News,” at the

same time naturally turning his attention to poli-

tics. During his comparatively short residence in

Xenia, his services as a political manager were
recognized and highly appreciated by the leading

democrats of Greene county. In 1883 he sold the

“Democratic News,” and acquired an interest in

the Zanesville daily and weekly “ Signal.” Jan-
uary 16, 1889, by purchase of the interest in that

newspaper concern of James T. Irvine, he became
sole proprietor and editor of the “Signal.” Oi

several occasions he served on the democratic exec-

utive committee of Greene and Muskingum coun-
ties, and was a presidential elector on the Cleve-

land ticket in 1884. In 1888 he was an alternate

delegate to the St. Louis convention. In 1887 he
was elected representative from Muskingum county
to the sixty-eighth general assembly. He was a

working member of the house, and represented the

democracy of Muskingum county so creditably that

in 1889 he was nominated for state senator from
the joint fifteenth and sixteenth districts composed
of Delaware, Licking, Muskingum and Perry coun-
ties, and elected by a good majority, of which the

respective counties gave the following: Licking,

1,438; Muskingum, 240; Percy, 308; total 1,986,

reduced only by Marshall’s majority of 353 in

Delaware county to 1,633, the largest majority

given any candidate from this district since the

war. He was renominated for state senator in the

same district in the campaign of 1891, and through
a loss of democratic votes to the people’s party

and democratic stay-at-home votes the result

showed him but one plurality on the face of the

returns. The two members of the election board
of Licking refuse to certify to the returns for sen-

ator from that county, and as a result no certificate

of election was issued to either candidate, and his

competitor, Hon. George Iden, from Licking
county, was sworn in as the representative from
the district, his party having the majority in the

state senate. Mr. Gaumer’s record both as repre-

sentative and senator is one which has made him
known throughout this and adjoining states, and
is a subject of pride to his friends and constitu-

ents. Mr. Gaumer is a democrat from the crown
of his head to the soles of his feet, and personally

and through his journal one of the ablest expo-
nents of democracy in Ohio. He is honest, aggres-

sive and reliable, popular both as a friend and foe,

for as a fighter he is open and outspoken, and it is

this very frankness that makes everybody like him.
He is one of the most successful men who ever

entered the political arena in this county, and that

he is deservedly popular at home is attested by his

rapid official and business advancement. Decem-
ber 24, 1882, he married Miss Emma Kennedy, of

Marseilles, Wyandot county, Ohio.

Daniel G. Geyer is counted as one of the promi-
nent farmers of Union township, Muskingum
county, Ohio, residing about two miles from New
Concord. He was born in Highland township,

the son of Daniel and Charity (Bond) Geyer, and
the seventh of a family of ten children named as

follows: Peter (who died in the fall of 1891. His
family live in Highland township); Ruth (de-

ceased); Martha (deceased); Joseph (deceased);

Steven (deceased); James (who is living in High-
land township); Daniel G. (subject); Elizabeth
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(deceased); Sophia S. (the widow of William
Grumrnon, see sketch); aud Samuel J. (living in

Highland township). The father settled in Union
township, this county, when only twelve years of

age, but was a native of Pennsylvania. The family

records can be found at the home of Samuel J., in

Highland township. He lived in Union and High-
land townships and held a membership in the

Methodist Episcopal church, dying in 18— . Dan-
iel G. Geyer, his son, was born November 2, 1833,

and attended the Bloomfield schools. At the age

of twenty-five he started out for himself, and
shortly after married Mary Hatfield, the daughter
of William and Jenneat Hatfield. Mary was
reared by her uncle, Andrew McDonald, of Con-
cord, and died eleven months after her marriage at

the age of twenty-three years. Our subject’s sec-

ond marriage occurred in 1863, and was to Mary
C. Hines, they are the parents of a large family.

In 1864 he enlisted in Company D, One Hundred
and Sixtieth Ohio Volunteer infantry, and was
attached to the Army of the Potomac with Sickles

as commander. Some of his principal engage-
ments were at and near Parkersburg. He
suffered much from exposure, and was discharged
September, 1864, at Zanesville. The same year

he settled near New Concord with his wife, on a

farm of 128 acres, and upon which he yet resides.

He is the seventh owner of the place, it having
been opened by a man named Reasoner, at an early

day. He is busily engaged in farming and stock-

raising, and has built a comfortable house and
barn on his farm. Mr. Geyer is a republican in

politics; socially he is a member of the G. A. R.
Hanson post No. 168, Ohio, division of New Con-
cord, and holds a membership in the Methodist
Episcopal church. He takes a very active part in

all church and school work and has been school

director of Fox Creek. Mrs. Geyer was a daughter
of Nathan and Delia (Brelsford) Hines. The father

was a native of Virginia, born in 1803, and lost

his parents at the age of twelve years. He grew
to maturity and married in his native state, then
moved to Ohio and settled at Marquand Mills,

where he reared his family. About l850 he moved
to Rich Hill township, went from there to Illinois,

three miles from Peoria, but remained there only

six months when he returned to Muskingum county,

Ohio, and settled on the farm that was known as

the St. Clair farm. There he resided until his

death, April 1, 1886. He was a worthy member
of the Methodist Episcopal church and held the

office of deacon. He was greatly interested in

politics and voted the republican ticket. Mrs.
Geyer’ s mother, formerly Delia Brelsford was
born in 1799, and died October 9, 1871. She was
a member of the Methodist Episcopal church and
a hard worker in the same, and was the mother of

seven children, five now living: Samuel L. (is a

farmer of Rich Hill township, and married Nancy
Cabean); William B. (who died in 1889, was a

man of family and left a wife and three children.

His first marriage was to Sevilla Childs and his

second to Mariah Gregg. Two of the children are

from the first wife); Margaret (who is the wife of

I. Bell, of Norwich); John N. (who died at the

age of twenty-one years); Mary C.; Emma (who
is the wife of Jacob Galliglier, of Union township.
They have one child. Her first marriage was to

J. H. Bell, and she had three children: Clara V.,

Walker L., and Nathan T. Her first husband
died in 1870, and she married the second time in

1873); and Nathaniel W. (who lives in Sandusky).
Mr. and Mrs. Daniel Geyer were the parents of

seven children: Charles, Anson W. (who married
Jenetta White, daughter of Alexander White, of

Highland township, now deceased, his widow is

living in Barnville. They have one daughter,

Grace May); Logan, Eugene (who married Lena
Blair, of Cambridge, Ohio. He is a school teacher

and attended Muskingum college: They have one
son Harold F.); Maggie D., (at home); Carry A.

and Harry H. Mrs. Geyer is a member of the

Methodist Episcopal church, is very charitable and
interested in all church work.

John Milton Given, a popular druggist of

Chandlersville, Ohio, well known for his honesty,

energy and intelligence, was born in Muskingum
county, Rich Hill township, Ohio, October 15,

1847. He was the third in order of birth of five

children born to Andrew and Jane (Dixon) Given,

the father a native of Washington county, Penn.
The latter came with his parents to Muskingum
county, in 1814, when but four years of age, and
with them settled in Rich Hill township. After

growing up he became a farmer and followed that

occupation all his life. He was of Scotch-Irish

descent. His death occurred in 1872, and his

worthy companion followed him to the grave in

1880. John M. Given grew to manhood on the

farm, secured a fair education in the common
schools, and began business for himself as a drug-

gist in 1872. This he has followed ever since aud
with unusual success. His stock is valued at

$1,500, and embraces everything in the line of

pure drugs, chemicals, medicines, cigars, etc.

Special attention is paid to the prescription depart-

ment, and all orders in this line are filled with the

utmost care and accuracy. In March, 1879, he
was married to Miss Alice Crumbaker, daughter of

O. H. P. Crumbaker, and the fruits of this union

are two children: Kenneth James Cary, Florence

Mary. Although a democrat, Mr. Given is not a

strong partisan, and votes for the man regardless

of party. He has a pleasant home and is sur-

rounded by the comforts of life. He is a member
of the I. 6. O. F. lodge.

Charles Convers Goddard, attorney at law,
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Zanesville, Ohio, was born March 26, 1836. He
was admitted to the bar April 15, 1857, at the age

of twenty-one years, and graduated from the Har-

vard law school, Cambridge, Mass., in July, 1861.

September 20, following, he was appointed captain

in the Seventeenth United States infantry. He re-

signed his commission May 26, 1864. In January,

1871, he was appointed aid-de-camp on the staff of

Gov. Thomas L. Young. He is also United States

commissioner. He is the possessor of the finest

law library in the city, left him by his father, Hon.
Charles B. Goddard, who for forty-seven years

(1817-64) was a member of the Muskingum county

bar. Charles Backus Goddard was a native of

Plainfield, Conn. His father, Calvin Goddard,
lived the greater part of his life at Norwich, Conn.,

and was a judge of the supreme court of that

state. Charles B. Goddard came to Ohio in 1817.

He traveled from Pittsburg to Marietta in a

small, open rowboat; stayed a few weeks in Mari-

etta, and then, by the advice of Mr. David Putnam,
selected Zanesville as his home. He went to Gal-

lipolis, in company with Thomas Ewing, and was
there admitted to the Ohio bar. Settling in Zanes-

ville, he married Harriet Munro Convers, daughter
of Daniel Convers, June 6, 1820. He soon ac-

quired a large practice in the Muskingum valley,

and continued in active professional labor to near

the day of his death, which was February 1, 1864.

In 1838-39 he represented Muskingum county in

the house of representatives of Ohio, and from
December, 1845, until the spring of 1849, in the

Ohio senate, of which last named body he was
speaker during the session of 1847-48. He was a

major-general of Ohio militia for a number of

years. He was well read, both in general litera-

ture and in law; indefatigable in work; dignified

and forcible as an advocate; he relied more on
reasoning from principle than precedents. A
competitor of Ewing, Stanbery, Hunter, and
others of like repute, he was “a foeman worthy of

their steel.” He possessed a high sense of honor
and ever sought to elevate the ethical standard and
esprit du corps of the profession. He was gener-

ous and hospitable. He outlived all his early as-

sociates and rivals in the Muskingum bar; was in

continuous practice much longer than any other,

and for years he was a leader worthy of the regard
and respect of the whole community. An accu-

rate portrait of him hangs in the library of the

Zanesville athenaeum.

Thomas Goff of the Globe Hotel of Frazeys-
burg, Ohio, belongs to one of the old families

that carne to Muskingum county, Ohio, in 1806.

Thomas Goff, the father of the subject of this

sketch, was of English descent, born near the bor-

der of Wales. He was a bricklayer and mason and
came to America before the War of 1812. His

family consisted of his wife, nee Martha Thum-
wood, and six children: Sarah, Betsy, Mary J.

William, Thomas and Samuet-^Mr. Goff lived a

few years in Philadelphia, where be followed his

trade, but in 1806 came to Zanesville and continued

to follow his trade for twenty years. He died in

that city when about seventy-five years of age. He
was a substantial man and accumulated a goodly
property, becoming well known as a respectable,

honest, industrious man. The only one of his

family now living is Samuel, now eighty- four years

of age, living with a son in Indiana. In a letter

to one of the children of the subject of this sketch

he says: “When I was a boy, I learned to chew
tobacco and smoke and when I got to be a man I

quit it at the age of thirty-two and signed the old

Washingtonian pledge. I am now in my eighty-

third year and never spent one cent in a saloon in

my live and have’nt had three days’ sickness since

1828, and I attribute my health to my manner of

living. I am a prohibitionist, but never voted for

the third party.” Thomas Goff, son of Samuel
Goff, was the father of the subject of this sketch.

He was born in the city of Ludlow, Schropshire,

England, February 18, 1794, and died August 19,

1868. This record is from the old Goff family Bible.

He received a limited common-school education,

learned the bricklayer and mason’s trade and
came with his father's family to America in 1797
and here worked at his trade and became a con-

tractor. He was married in Zanesville to Miss
Mary A. Mart, who was also of English descent,

her people being residents of Zanesville before the

Goff family. Her brothers and sisters were as fol-

lows: Lydia, Eliza, Alice, Thomas, George and
John. Mr. Mart was from a very wealthy family

and engaged in no business in this country, receiv-

ing remittances from England. It is said, that

money belonging to the Mart heirs is yet in exist-

ence. The Mart children received legacies from
England after their father’s death which occurred

at Zanesville at the advanced age of eighty-three.

They were members of the Church of England, and
in this country were Episcopalians. Thomas Goff

Sr. and his wife became the parents of seven
children: William L. B., Mary A., Martha B.,

James T., Thomas, Rosetta and Marietta. After

his marriage, the father of these children purchased
a farm near Zanesville on which he resided until

1838, when he traded the farm for one, consisting

of 320 acres, in Jackson township, on which he
moved with his family. He cleared this land from
timber, built a double log house, afterward erected

a good frame house in which he lived until his

death, which occurred in his seventy-fourth year,

August 19, 1868. Both Mr. and Mrs. Goff, were
members of the Episcopal church at Dresden, and
in politics he was first an old line whig and
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afterward a republican. He served this country as

a soldier in the second conflict with Great Britain

—the War of 1812—and had a great antipathy for

the English although himself an Englishman.
Owing to the fact that he was born on English soil

he was considered a citizen of England, and had
he been captured while bearing arms against the

English would without doubt have been hung. He
was in several important battles, among them
Lundy’s Lane and did not forget the famous war
cry, “Remember the river Thames.” He was
captured by the British and condemned to be hung
but being confined in a log cabin he managed to

make his escape during the night by tunnelling

through a huge snow drift. He served in this war
for one year and received for his services a land

warrant for 160 acres in Iowa near Cedar Rapids,

which he afterward sold for $2,200. He was the

only mason in his section of Muskingum county

and the most of the buildings put up in those early

days were erected by him. He was a straight-

forward and honorable man, whose word was as

good as his bond. He had the respect of all who
knew him, was genial, kind hearted and affectionate

in his family. Thomas Goff, his son and the subject

of this sketch, was born in Jackson township, May
19, 1838, and was named for his father. He re-

ceived a common-school education, and in early

boyhood was made familiar with the duties of

farming. July 19, 1860, he married Miss Mary A.

Clements, daughter of Andrew Clements and Mar-
garet Clements, the former of whom was born in

the north of Ireland about 1797, and was there

married, becoming the father of one child, William,

who was born in that country. Mr. Clements came
to America about 1819 or 1820, leaving his wife and
child in Ireland and being an expert weaver of fine

goods secured employment in Pittsburg. After a

few years he sent for his wife and child, meeting
them at New York, and returned to Pittsburg where
they remained some time. They then came to Jack-

son township, Muskingum county, Ohio, and entered

some heavily timbered land. By diligent effort he
cleared it and made a good home for his family,

becoming the owner of about 400 acres of land.

He was physically very strong and possessed great

endurance and throughout his entire life was sick

but very little. He and his wife were members of

the Episcopal church and politically he was a re-

publican. He lived to be eighty-nine years of age

and up to the last retained his strength to a won-
derful degree. He was a man who possessed much
determination, and having no educational advant-

ages in his youth, he learned to read and write

after he was married, attending school after he

came to Jackson township, and often carrying one
of his children on his back to and from school. He
would frequently in his young days, walk to Zanes-

ville, a distance of twenty miles, to pay his taxes,

returning the same day. He was well known
among the old settlers as a man of strict integrity

and liberal in his dealings. His wife lived to the
advanced age of eighty-eight years. They were
the parents of seven children: William, Margaret
(who died young), Jane, Margaret, George (died

young), Elizabeth and Mary. Mr. and Mrs. Thomas
Goff, directly after their marriage, came to Fra-
zeysburg where they still reside. Mr. Goff owned
a farm near the town, and for thirteen years
followed the occupation of farming, but in 1875
traded his farm for the “Globe Hotel” in Frazeys-
burg, but this was burned to the ground in 1879
and was a total loss. He immediately rebuilt and
since that time has conducted the hotel as before.

In 1864 he enlisted in the Civil war, Company H,
One Hundred and Fifty-ninth regiment, Ohio
Volunteer infantry, and served 110 days, prin-

cipally in Maryland. Mr. Goff is a member of

the Presbyterian church, the G. A. R., Griffe post,

No. 321, and the I. O. O. F., Olive Branch
lodge, of Newark, Ohio. Mr. Goff is widely
known throughout this county as he has been
in the hotel business for many years. He has
always kept a good and reliable house and the
traveling public is well pleased with their enter-

tainment, for the food is well prepared and abundant,
and the rooms are comfortably and tastefully fur-

nished. Mr. Goff makes an admirable host and in

his efforts to conduct a first-class hotel is ably
seconded by his wife. They are the parents of five

children: Ida M., Mary A., Thomas, Carrie A. and
Bessie J. Politically Mr. Goff is a republican.

Charles Gorsuch, farmer, Zanesville, Ohio. The
Gorsuch family in America originated from three

brothers, Thomas Talbot, Charles and Lovelace,

who left England to come to the United States four

generations back. The first named returned to

England and there died. Norman Gorsuch, grand-
father of Charles Gorsuch, and a descendant of

one of these brothers, was born on a farm in Bal-

timore county, Md., May 10, 1756, and was the

founder of the family in Ohio. He was married
in Maryland to Miss Katura Gorsuch, who was
born October 10, 1765, and who was of the same
name but no relation. To them were born nine
children: Charles, Eleanor, Nicholas. Margaret,
Joshua, Achsah, Rachel, Abarilla and Mary, all

born in Maryland. Norman Gorsuch settled on a

farm in Baltimore county, Md., and there remained
until fifty-nine years of age. He was a large land
and slave owner. In 1815 he emigrated to Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, and settled in Muskingum
township, on land now occupied by his grandson,
Charles Gorsuch. He brought his family with
him in a covered wagon, relics of which are seen

on the old homestead at the present time. He en-
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tered a quarter section of land, which was densely-
covered with heavy timber, and on which he soon
made a clearing and erected a log cabin. He resided
there for about thirteen years, after which he moved
to another part of the township, and there died, on
September 3, 1828. His wife survived him until

January 25, 1841. Mr. Gorsuch brought from
Maryland one slave girl, Hagar Dorsey, who grew
up and is still living in Zanesville, having been
reared by the family. The remainder of the slaves
were set free after a certain time. Mr. Gorsuch
had about 360 acres of land, all of which he gave
to his children. His son, Joshua Gorsuch, and the
father of Charles Gorsuch, was born April 4, 1798,
in Baltimore county, and was fairly educated in the
common schools. When seventeen years of age,
he came with his parents to Muskingum county
Ohio, and early in life became inured to the hard-
ships of pioneer life. The woods teemed with game
of all kinds—deer, bears, wolves and wild turkeys

—

and young Gorsuch became a noted hunter. He
was married, on January 22, 1829, by Rev. James
Fleming, to Miss Philander Thrap, daughter of

Joseph and Jemimah (Van Camp) Thrap. Mr.
Thrap was a native also of Baltimore county, Md.,
and his father, Robert Thrap, who was of the
same county, married Elizabeth Hilton, and was
the father of ten children: Robert, James, John,
Joseph, William, Sallie, Betsey, Nancy, Ellen and
Polly. All of these children came to Muskingum
county at an early day, and each reared a family.

RobertThrap settled on a farm in Muskingum coun-
ty, andthere passed his last days. Joseph Thrap, his

son, was married in Virginia, where the family
lived for some time, and became the father of

twelve children: Adaline (died in infancy), Phi-
lander, Israel, Lucinda, Julia A., Harriet, John,
Joel, Marcus, James, Ellen and Martha A. In
the spring of 1804 Mr. Thrap settled near Han-
over, Licking county. He put in his crops, and
the same fall moved his family from Virginia. His
father, Robert Thrap, came with his family about
the same time. Joseph Thrap settled in the south-
west corner of Muskingum township in 1809, and
here passed the remainder of his days. The coun-
ty was a wilderness when he first settled here, and
he was one of the pioneers. He was a member of

the Methodist church, a devout man, and meetings
were held regularly at his house before there were
any churches. He became a local preacher and
followed his ministerial duties for many years in

the wilderness. He united in marriage many of

the early settlers. He was ninety-one at the time
of his death, and his wife lived to be eighty-seven.
He made many converts and was a great factor
in establishing the Methodist church in the back-
woods country. He would work six days in the
week on his farm and then preach Sundays. He

was a stanch Union man during the war, and six-

teen of his grandsons served as soldiers, three as cap-

tains. After the marriage of Mr. and Mrs. Joshua
Gorsuch they settled on the old home farm, and
here Mr. Gorsuch passed the closing scenes of his

life. His venerable wife still resides in the old

home. Their family consisted of nine children:

Charles, Cynthia, Joseph T., Emeline, Jane, Nor-

man W., Eliza E., Mary A. and Margaret E., all of

whom lived to be grown except Emeline, who died

in infancy. Eliza died July 17, 1890, aged forty-

seven years. Seven of the children are still living.

Mr. Gorsuch was an excellent citizen, a successful

farmer, and was liberal in his methods of dealing.

He died December 5, 1883, and was nearly eighty-

six years of age. He gave each of his children a

good education, and spent his means liberally to

further all worthy movements. He was loyal to

the Union, during the war, and one of his sons,

Joseph T., was in the famous Ninety-seventh regi-

ment, Ohio Volunteer infantry, Company G. He
enlisted as a private and was promoted through the

different grades until he held the rank of captain,

in which capacity he was serving when he was shot

through the hand, at Kenesaw mountain. He was
at home but one week, when he rejoined his regi-

ment. He served four years, and was in all the

battles of his regiment. Capt. Gorsuch is now a

resident of Zanesville, and one of the proprietors

of the glass works. He is a prosperous business

man. The old Gorsuch homestead was built in

1849. The mother is now eighty-five years of age,

and still retains her memory and mental faculties

to a wonderful degree. She has lived through the

settlement and progress of this part of the Buck-
eye state, and well remembers the old pioneer days.

She reared a large family of children, to whom
she was indeed a counselor and guide. Her son,

Charles Gorsuch, was born October 10, 1829, on
the anniversary of his Grandmother Gorsuch’s

birth, and on the farm where he now resides and
where he has passed over sixty-two years. This
old farm has been in the Gorsuch family for sev-

enty-six years. Charles Gorsuch received a good,

practical education, and became one of the promi-

nent and successful agriculturists of the county.

He has held the offices of township clerk, treas-

urer, and supervisor, and has been interested in

school matters, holding the office of school director

for some time. He now. controls 420 acres of fine

farming land, and is a raiser of fine stock, horses,

cattle, hogs, etc. In politics he affiliates with the

republican party. He is a man of intelligence, and
is a great reader of books and papers, of which he
keeps on hand a goodly supply. His brother,

Norman W., is engaged in the cattle business in

Texas, and is successful at this. Mr. Gorsuch is a

representative Ohio farmer, industrious, honorable
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ami straightforward
;
he takes a decided interest in

all laudable enterprises. His sister, Margaret, mar-
ried James R. Gilkey, of Adrian, Mich., and be-

came the mother of two children: Jennie and Al-

berta. Cynthia married John Welsh, a farmer, of

Licking county, and has four children; Edmond,
Laura, Joseph and Rose. Mary A. married George
B. Vandenbark, a farmer, of Muskingum county,

and they have three children: Harry, Fred and
Weldon. Eliza married J. W. Frazier, of Frazeys-

burg, Ohio. She is now deceased. Jane, an-

other sister, is at home.
William A. Graham, banker, of Zanesville,

Ohio. Zanesville, Ohio, is constantly enlarging

the scope of her influence and the volume of her

commerce and industries, and has need for addi-

tional capital and financial facilities. This fact

was apparent for some time and resulted in the

establishing of the First National bank, of which
William A. Graham was one of the organizers, and
of which he has been a director since 1864. In
July, 1878, he was elected president of the bank,

succeeding Peter Black, whose death occurred the

same month and year, and he is recognized as an
authority in banking and finance, is a vigorous ex-

ponent of the soundest principles governing the

same, and under his guidance the bank has an
ever-widening career of usefulness and prosperity.

Mr. Graham was born in New York state January

9, 1821, and received his education in the Mount
Pleasant academy. At the age of eighteen years

he entered a drug store in New York city, con-

ducted by his father and brother, in which he was
actively employed for a number of years. In the

spring of 1845 he came to Zanesville and pur-

chased a half interest in a drug establishment

owned by the late David Maginnis, for, owing to

the failing health of the latter in 1850, he was
compelled to retire from tbe business, and Mr.
Graham immediately purchased his interest and
conducted affairs on his own account for many
years. He at different times admitted as partners

in the concern several of his clerks, and the same
store is at present owned and conducted by his son,

Clarence Y. Graham, and Kennedy M. Baush,
under the firm name of Graham & Co. For a

number of years past Mr. Graham has devoted his

attention to the banking business, and his success

is as substantial as it is well merited. Mr. Gra-
ham has never been identified with politics more
than to vote for the men of his party, but has de-

voted his attention entirely to his business affairs,

and his efforts have been crowned with success.

He has taken a deep interest in almost every pub-
lic enterprise that has arisen in the interest of

Muskingum county, and has been connected with
nearly every railroad entering the county in some
way or other, and is now a director of the C. & M.

Y. R. R., and also of the Zanesville & Ohio
railroad, is a stockholder in the Blandy Machinery
company and the Ohio Iron company, besides a

number of other important enterprises. He is an
honorable and careful business man, and is very

popular and respected in financial circles. He
was married in May, 1847, to Miss Sarah Van
Hamm, a daughter of the late Dr. John Van
Hamm, who was a very prominent man in political

circles, and was at one time United States minister

to Chili. Mrs. Graham was called from life in

1888, after a happy married life of forty-one years.

Of four sons born to them the eldest two died in

early childhood. Willis Hamm Graham is a resi-

dent of Kansas City, and Clarence Y. resides in

Zanesville.

Hon. Moses Moorhead Granger is personally

one of the most popular of men, and as a lawyer

his career has been a succession of conquests. To
become distinguished at the bar requires not only

capacity, but also sound judgment and persever-

ing industry, and these qualifications are combined
in no gentleman of the Muskingum county bar to

a greater extent than in Moses M. Granger. He
was born in Zanesville October 22, 1831, and in

Lancaster, Ohio, was united in marriage to Miss
Mary Hoyt Reese, daughter of William J. Reese,

her mother being the elder sister of Gen. William

T. Sherman and Senator and Secretary Sherman.
Mr. Granger graduated from Kenyon College,

Ohio, August 7, 1850, and in January, 1853, was
admitted to the bar at Columbus, Ohio. During
the Rebellion he served in the Union army from
January, 1861, to the last of December, 1864, and
rose in rank from captain to major, from that to

lieutenant-colonel and finally to colonel by brevet.

He was in the following battles: Winchester,

June 14, 15, 1863; Locust Grove, November 27,

1863; Wilderness, May 5, 6, 1864; Spottsylvania

Court House, May 9, 10, 12, 18, 19, 21, 1864;
Cold Harbor, June 1, 3, 1864; Petersburg, June
23, 1864; near Charlestown, W. Ya.

,
August 21,

1864; Winchester, September 19, 1864; Fisher’s

Hill, September 22, 1864; Cedar Creek, October

19, 1864, besides a number of skirmishes. The
first year he served in Gen. R. L. McCook’s bri-

gade, George H. Thomas’ division in Kentucky,
Tennessee and Mississippi, but his regiment, the

Eighteenth United States infantry, was not in any
regular engagement during that time. He left

that regiment in June, 1862. He has filled the

position of city solicitor of Zanesville, prosecuting

attorney of Muskingum county, judge of common
pleas of the Eighth Judicial district of Ohio, his

election taking place December 10, 1866, and re-

porter to the supreme court of Ohio. Judge
Granger is the father of five children: Henry
James, born November 1, 1859, and died August



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 471

2, 1860; Alfred Hoyt, born May 31, 1867; Sher-

man Moorhead, born June 16, 1870; Helen Louise,

born June 14, 1872, and died September 21, 1872;
Ethel, born March 28, 1876. Judge Granger is a

man whose services have been of great value to the

city in which he resides, and he has successfully

handled some of the most noted law cases that

have come up before the Muskingum county bar.

He was judge and chief judge of the Ohio supreme
court commission from April, 1883, to April, 1885.

His army commissions are dated as follows: Cap-
tain of the Eighteenth United States infantry,

May 14, 1861; major of the One Hundred and
Twenty-second Ohio Volunteer iufantry, Septem-
ber 10, 1862; lieutenant-colonel of the One Hun-
dred and Twenty-second Ohio Volunteer infantry,

May 1, 1863; colonel by brevet United States

Volunteers, October 19, 1864 The Granger
family was first represented in this county by the

Judge’s uncle, Ebenezer Granger, who became a

resident of Zanesville about 1810, and was a suc-

cessful lawyer. The Judge’s maternal grand-
father, Moses Moorhead, represented Belmont
county in the Ohio legislature at Zanesville in

1810. He located in this section permanently in

1817, as did also James Granger, the father of the

subject of this sketch, and they were among the

county’s pioneer settlers, and witnessed the ups
and downs of pioneer life and experienced all its

hardships.

Prof. J. A. Gray, A. M. Ph. D., New Concord
Ohio. It has long since been acknowledged that

no matter what a man’s occupation in life may be,

a very necessary element to his success is a good
education, and doubtless this is one cause of Prof.

Gray’s prosperous career. He was originally from
Belmont county, this state, born June 6, 1848, and
his early life was spent in a small village there.

His parents, James W. and Alison (Thorburn)
Gray, were natives of Ohio and Scotland respect-

ively, the former born in Belmont county in 1820,

and the latter in 1823. The elder Gray was a resi-

dent of Belmont county all his life, and during the

Civil war he resided on the Ohio river at Martin’s

Ferry. He was reared to agricultural pursuits, and
that continued to be his chosen calling for many
years. In 1862 he engaged in the iron business and
operated a foundry at Martin’s Ferry. His death
occurred in 1887. He was interested in the polit-

ical issues of the day, and advocated the principles

of the republican party. He was a good, sound
business man, accumulated a comfortable compe-
tence, but being strictly honest in his dealings ho
never made a large fortune. He was a member of

the United Presbyterian church, as was also his

wife. She died in 1858. Mr. Gray was the son
of John and Ellen (Hannah) Gray. Mrs. Gray
was the daughter of Alexander Thorburn, and was

but an infant when her parents came to America
and located in Belmont county. Prof. J. A. Gray
was the eldest of four children who were named as

follows: J. Calvin, married, is an able attorney at

Martin’s Ferry, Belmont county, Ohio (was counsel

in the year 1883, and succeeded in the exceptional

appeal before the national board of supervising

inspectors at Washington, D. C., in reinstating the

pilot of the “John Lomas” after the famous
steamboat disaster on the Ohio river in which
many lives were lost); Ellen H., a resident of

Martin’s Ferry; and Sarah, an artist, also a resi-

dent of that town. The Professor’s early life was
spent in Martin’s Ferry; where he attended the

public schools, and after a four years’ course in

Franklin college, was graduated in 1873. From
1874 to 1875 he taught in the Ohio Central college-

at Iberia, but in the last mentioned year he came
to Muskingum county and has since been professor

of Muskingum college. In the enthusiastic pur-

suit of his chosen calling Prof. Gray has awakened
public sentiment to a higher appreciation of the

benefits to be derived from a good education, and
as an earnest, conscientious, progressive educator
he occupies a leading place. He is also deeply
interested in church work, and is an ordained min-
ister to the United Presbyterian church. In poli-

tics he is a republican. In 1873, after graduating,,

he married Miss Mariah Wishart, who was born at

New Athens, Harrison county, Ohio, and who is

the eldest of ten children born to the marriage of

Rev. William Wishart, D. D., of New Athens, who
is now a resident of Monmouth, 111. The other

children are named as follows: Martha, Elizabeth,

Jeanette, Matilda, Agnes, William (who is a minis-

ter of Allegheny city), John (a student of Allegheny-

Theological seminary), Margaret M. and Charles-

Rev. Dr. William Wishart was born in Guernsey-
county, Ohio, and his wife in Wooster, of that

state. Both are now living. Prof, and Mrs Gray
are the parents of five interesting children : Louise
E., William W., John Calvin, Charles I. and Julian
T.

,
all now, except the youngest, attending the

public schools. Prof. Gray owns a handsome res-

idence in New Concord, and is a most esteemed
citizen of that town.

Frederick A. Grebner has been interested in

farming and stock raising in Muskingum county,

Ohio, since 1852, but was born in Saxony, Ger-
many, August 3, 1826, the fourth of seven sons

born to Adam and Barbara (Nan) Grebner, both of
whom passed from life in the old country, the
father’s death occurring about 1835. In his native

land young Frederick was educated, and in 1852
he followed his two brothers, Gabriel and Law-
rence, to America, they having come to this country
in 1848, and settled in Crawford county, Ohio.

Frederick A. located in Dresden, and for some
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time followed his trade of shoemaking. In 1865
he purchased the farm on which he now lives, but

after residing on the place a few years he returned

to Dresden, resuming his former business of shoe-

making. For the past nine years he has resided

on his farm, which contains 340 acres of good land,

and has 300 acres under cultivation, the odd forty

acres being woodland. He keeps a general line of

stock in sufficient numbers for the successful con-

duct of his land, and with the usual thrift and
forethought of the German, every detail is care-

fully looked after. He was in his early manhood
on coming to this country, and his present prop-

erty has been earned by his own efforts, his success

and prosperity being fully deserved, for in the

accumulation of his means he has wronged no one.

In 1855 Miss Mary L. Tiemann became his wife,

her birth having occurred in Hanover, Germany,
in 1838. She came to this country with her

parents in 1845, and in the state of Ohio met and
married her husband. She has borne him four

daughters and two sons: Elizabeth, Sarah, Amelia,

Ella, John, and one son who died in infancy. The
two eldest daughters are married, Elizabeth being

now Mrs. Cooper, and Sarah, Mx-s. Harsh. Mr.
and Mrs. Grebner and eldest daughter worship in

the German Methodist church, while the other

members of the family worship in the different

English churches. Politically, Mr. Grebner is a

republican.

Thomas Green, farmer of Muskingum county,

Ohio. A lifetime devoted with perseverance and en-

ergy to the pursuits of agriculture have contributed

materially to the success which has attended Mr.

Green’s efforts. He has given to Muskingum the

best energies of his life, and in the community
and among those whom he lived, his has been the

example of a life well spent. He was born in Perry

county, Ohio, March 24, 1845, a son of Benjamin
and Sarah (Shaw) Green, and from his worthy
parents he inherited Irish blood. He was brought

up to the monotonous yet useful duties of a farm
life, and besides receiving the advantages of the

comfnon schools he was fortunately for some time

a member of the Ohio State normal school, where
he diligently applied himself to his studies and
became a well-informed young man. At the age

of twenty-one yeai's he began the battle of life for

himself, but continued to work for his father by

the month for four years, during which time he

obtained a keen insight into the more advanced

and useful methods of agriculture. At the end of

this time he dropped his farming implements to

become a votax-y of Mars, and in 1863 he enlisted in

Company B, One Hundred and Sixtieth regiment,

Ohio State Guards, and was in the service until he

received his discharge on September 9, 1864, after

which he returned home and resumed faianing.

On December 30, 1886, he was united in marriage
to Miss Amelia Miller, and by her is the father of

two children: Benjamin and James E. Mr. Green
has held a number of offices in his township, such
as supervisor and clerk, and in every instance has
discharged his duties with faithfulness and ability.

He and his family worship in the Presbyterian
church, and in his political views he is a prohibi-

tionist,

A leading and nourishing general mercantile
house is that of A. A. Grenier, at Trinway, Ohio,
and it is needless to add that Mr. Grenier thor-

oughly understands every branch of the business,

and is able to give his patrons the benefit of the
very best experience. He was born in this county
July 29, 1866, to Frederick and Mary (Uffen-

berger) Grenier, who were born in Germany in

1838 and 1839 respectively, and came to the
United States in childhood, locating with their

parents in Muskingum county, Ohio, the father
being now a farmer of Madison township. In this

township A. A. Grenier was reared, and while
assisting his father in tilling the home farm he
imbibed those principles of probity and honor
which have since been among his chief characteris-

tics. He obtained a common-school education and
remained with and assisted his father until 1887,
when he engaged in his present business, and now
carries a stock of goods valued at $4,000, and in

1890 did a business of $13,000. He has made his

own way in life, is a cautious yet enterprising

business man, and his experience thus far in life

has been of the most thoroughgoing character.

June 11, 1888, he was appointed postmaster of

Trinway, and this office acceptably fills. He was
reappointed February 1, 1892; now is doing a

money-order and postal-note business.

William Grummon (deceased) was born in

Union township, Muskingum county, Ohio, April

1, 1830. He was the eldest of a family of four
children born to the union of Isaac and Matilda
(Carter) Grummon. The father was a native of

Washington county, Penn., and a son of Isaac
Grummon Sr., who was one of the early pioneers
of this county, coming here when the children were
very young. Isaac Jr. died in 1866, after a resi-

dence here of over thirty-eight years. Isaac Jr.

was a cabinetmaker and undertaker in the town of

New Concord, where he settled about 1831. He
was the father of four children—three boys and
one girl: William (is the eldest); Charles (died in

1883 iu Columbus. He was married, and resided

in Columbus since 1850); Davis J. (is living in

Columbus, and is a railroad conductor on the

Pullman car from Columbus to Chicago); and Eliza

B. (married A. G. Gault, of Columbus). Mr. Grum-
mon died, and Mrs. Grummon is now residing with

her daughter, Mrs. Gault, at Columbus. She is
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eighty-nine years of age, and came to this county

at an early day from Washington county, W. Va.,

with her parents. William Grummon, the eldest

child, spent his early life in New Concord, Ohio,

attended the village schools, and later succeeded

his father in the undertaking and furniture busi-

ness, which he followed all bis life. His first mar-
riage took place in 1853, and was to Miss Sarah A.

Frazier, a native of this county, and a daughter of

one of the old and prominent families of the

county. To this marriage two children were born:

Clara A. and Ella O. (deceased). Mrs. Grummon
died January 14, 1860, and in 1861 Mr. Gammon
took for his second wife Sophia S. Geyer, daugh-
ter of Daniel and Charity (Bond) Geyer. Daniel
Geyer was born in Westmoreland county, Penn.,

in 1794, the son of Joseph Geyer, who moved to

Ohio and settled near Norwich, when his son Dan-
iel was about twelve years of age, or about 1800.

Here he bought a farm of about 160 acres. Him-
self and wife reared a family of three sons and two
daughters: Daniel, father of Mrs. Grummon;
John, died some years ago; Andrew, married,

moved out West, and died there; Nancy, deceased,

married Thomas Morehead; and Barbara, married
Joseph Decker, of Norwich. Mr. and Mrs. Geyer
were members of the Methodist Episcopal church,

and both died on the farm near Norwich. Daniel
was reared on the home farm, attended the sub-

scription schools of that time, and on reaching
man’s estate followed farming. He married Charity
Bond, and settled on a new farm near Bloomfield,

Highland township, given to Mrs. Geyer by her
father, and upon which their son Samuel and his fam-
ily now reside. He died in 1865, about seventy-one
years of age, and had been a very successful farmer
and business man. He was an active member of

the Methodist Episcopal church, a public-spirited

man, and always willing to assist any enterprise

for the good of the community. In politics he
was a whig, and later a republican. His wife,

Charity Bond, was born in Baltimore, Md., was the

daughter of Peter Bond, and one of four daugh-
ters: Charity, Mary, Ruth and Rebecca. The
mother of these children died when they were
young, and the father married for his second wife
Mary Boring. He was a soldier in the Revolution-
ary war, a member of the Baptist church, a whig
in politics, and died some time in the fifties.

Charity, wife of Daniel Geyer, was born in 1812,
and died in May, 1860. She was the mother of

ten children: Peter, who died on the old Bond
farm in 1891; he married Elizabeth Coalt rap, reared
a family of ten children, all living, and scattered

over three different states; Peter, living in Highland
township; Joseph, Stephen, Ruth, Elizabeth and
Martha, all deceased; James, who is living in High-
land township, married Mary Hanks, daughter of

Cephas Hanks, and they have four children; Dan-

iel G., born in November, 1833, in Highland

township, and is now living in Union township.

In 1860 he married Mary Hatfield, born in New
Concord in 1836, and the daughter of William Hat-

field, an early settler of Jackson county, Ohio,

where he died. Daniel’s first wife died in 1861,

and in May, 1864, he enlisted in Company D, Ohio
Volunteer infantry, serving four months. He was
married in 1864 to Mary Hinds, a native of

Guernsey county, born in 1837, and they became
the parents of seven children: Charles E.

, Anson
W., Logan H.

,
Frances E., Harry H., Della and

Cary A. Anson and Frances are married. Mr.

Geyer owns 129 acres of fine farm land, and him-

self and family worship at the Methodist Episcopal

church. In politics he is a republican, and a mem-
ber of the G. A. R. of Ohio. Sophia S., who is the

widow of William Grummon, and Samuel J.
,
who

is living in Highland township, married and has a

family of four boys and four girls. Mr. and Mrs.

Grummon were married in 1861, and had one

child, Harry, a son. Mrs. Grummon reared another

daughter of her husband’s,Clara A. Mr. Grum-
mon was a competent business man, and highly re-

spected in the county. He was a member of the

Methodist Episcopal church, and took a great in-

terest in all church and school matters, giving lib-

erally of his means for their support. He was a

public-spirited man, and held the office of trustee

of Union township. He died March 23, 1886, leav-

ing a good property to his wife and family. Mrs.

Grummon was born in Highland township Septem-
ber 16, 1840, and educated in the district school.

She is a highly cultured lady, and a member of the

Methodist Episcopal church, in which she takes a

very active part. She is also a member of the

Women’s Foreign Missionary society in which she

is always willing to assist. She is now living in

the old Grummon residence, built by the family in

1831.

One of the most prominent farmers of Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, is Samuel M. Hadden, born
in Jefferson county, this state, in 1806. He was
the elder of the two children born to John and
Elizabeth (McCouhan) Hadden. The father was
a native of Allegheny county, Penn.

,
and was the

son of William Hadden, who was an early settler

in Ohio, settling in Muskingum county about 1820.

William Hadden, was a soldier in the Revolution-

ary war, and served five years. His wife, Sarah,

died in Allegheny county. They were members
of the Covenanter church, and in politics he was
a whig. John Hadden married in Jefferson

county, Ohio, where he lived one year, then going
to Muskingum county settled in Union township.

He was a hardworking man, succeeded in accumu-
lating a good property, and at the time of his
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death owned several hundred acres of land well

improved. Of their children Samuel was the eld-

est, and Elizabeth married David Johns of Zanes-
ville. She died in 1891. He died in 1881, was
a member of the Presbyterian church and in pol-

itics a democrat. He was a soldier in the War of

1812. His wife, Elizabeth McCouhan was the

daughter of Samuel McCouhan, born in eastern

Pennsylvania. Her father came to this state at

an early day, first settling in Jefferson county
and later in this county, where he died. Mrs.
Hadden was a member of the Presbyterian church
and died at the old home place in 1839. Samuel
M. Hadden came with his parents to this county
when he was but five months old, and reared on
the home farm where the family had lived since

1806 or 1807. He attended the district school

and later took charge of his father’s farm, man-
aging it until his father’s death. After that he
bought his sister’s part and now owns 326 acres

of good land. He married Ann Lorimer, born in

1811, and the daughter of Andrew and Jane
(Walker) Lorimer. Her parents settled in this

township as early as 1808 and here died on their

farm. Mr. and Mrs. Hadden were the parents of

these children: one died in infancy; John was a

United Presbyterian minister, married, had two
children and died at Akron, Ohio; Andrew L.

served in the Fifteenth Ohio, , of Company
A, and was killed June 14, 1864; James was also

a member of Company A, Fifteenth Ohio regiment,

and died at Nashville in 1862; Samuel was a

soldier and in service 100 days (he is married
and the father of eight children); William lives in

Grove City, Kas.
,
is married and has three chil-

dren; Elizabeth is the wife of C. F. Glesner, of

Arbaugh, Ohio, and has two children; Anna M.
is the wife of Franklin Denny of this township;
Davis T. is married and lives in

,
Iowa

(he has two children); Robert died in infancy;

Mariah is now the wife of W. J. Marsh and lives

in Perry township near Norwich (they have three

children); Joseph H. is living at , Iowa,

married and has one child; and Louis M.,a lawyer
of Cincinnati. Mr. and Mrs. Hadden are mem-
bers of the United Presbyterian church. The lat-

ter died in 1888, and Mr. Hadden is yet living

on the farm in this township between New Con-
cord and Norwich, an elder in the church and a

very active member.
Dr. J. S. Haldeman, physician and surgeon at

30 Orchard street, Zanesville, Ohio, owes his na-

tivity to Lancaster county, Penn., his birth occur-

ring June 24, 1819. His parents, Christian and
Susannah (Spohn) Haldeman, were both natives

of Pennsylvania, but of German origin. The pa-

ternal grandfather was also American born. The
Haldemans were among the pioneer families of

Lancaster county, Penn., and were well known
throughout that county. The father of Dr. Halde-
man was a farmer and miller in his latter days.

In politics he was at one time an old line whig,
but later a republican and a warm advocate of the

principles of that party. He came West with his

family in 1828, coming through in wagons, but he
walked the entire distance. He first located

in Butler county, Ohio, but did not remain there

long, removing to Preble county where he pur-
chased a farm. There his death occurred in 1863.

His wife survived him several years. They had
but one child, besides the Doctor, who grew to ma-
turity, Caroline, wife of Robert Steele, now resid-

ing near Richmond, Ind. Dr. Haldeman was but
nine years of age on coming to Ohio, and received

his literary training in the common schools and
Miami university at Oxford, Ohio, where he se-

cured his classical education. He began the study
of medicine with Drs. Williams and Dunham of

Preble county, Ohio. Subsequently he was with

Davis & Loop, Thorntown, Boone county, Ind.,

with whom he remained about one year and then

returned to his former firm. He graduated at

Starling Medical college, Columbus, Ohio, in the

session of 1853-54, and afterward located, first at

Adamsville, Muskingum county, for a short time,

then to Sonora for a few months, and thence to

Coshocton, Ohio, where he formed a partnership

with Dr. E. Sapp. While a member of this firm and
being a member of the Methodist Episcopal church,

he was called upon by the trustees to take the presi-

dency of the Spring Mountain seminary, con-

ducted under the auspices of the North Ohio con-

ference of the Methodist Episcopal church, which
position he accepted. In consequence of having
this position he became a member of the North
Ohio confei-ence in 1857-58. The confinement of

the schoolroom did not agree with him, his health

failed, and he was compelled to resign. He then

took work in the conference in 1859, and his first

appointment was at Clyde, Sandusky county, Ohio.

He was afterward at Perkins, Erie county of that

state, Port Clinton, Ottawa county, Townsend,
Huron county, North Amherst, and Penfield.

Failing health and loss of voice caused him to take

a supernumerary relation and he moved back to

his home in Sonora. Recovering his health to

some extent, he took up work again in the con-

ference but did not remove his family. He was
appointed to Gambier, Knox county, the seat of

Kenyon college, next to Keene circuit, located in

Coshocton county. During his ministry his voice

broke down again and he was compelled to resume
his supernumerary relation. He then began to

practice medicine at his old home in 1871, but in

a short time sold out and purchased his present

property in Zanesville, where he has practiced
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successfully ever since. He is still a superannuated

member of the North Ohio conference, and is con-

nected with the Seventh Street Methodist Epis-

copal church of Zanesville. The Doctor has been

a member of the board of education for ten years,

of which he has been president for four years.

He has always taken a decided interest in religious

and educational affairs. He is a member of the

State Medical association of Ohio and the Hildreth

District Medical association. He was married in

1843 to Miss Abigail S. Williams, and they have

four living children, two having died in infancy.

Those living are: Mary S., wife of James P. Rea-
soner (deceased); Edward W. and Samuel W.
(twins); and Esther A., wife of Frank Gigax. All

the children are married and have homes of their

own. The wife of Dr. Haldeman is a daughter of

Samuel Williams (deceased), of Warwick, Frank-
lin county, Mass. Her grandfather was Col. Sam-
uel Williams, of Revolutionary fame. Mrs. Halde-

man was educated in Massachusetts, and came to

Ohio as a teacher in 1840, and continued in that

employment up to the time of her marriage to

the Doctor.

John D. Hanks, farmer and miller of Salem
township, Muskingum county, Ohio, and who is

also successfully and extensively engaged in the

breeding of fine draft horses, has a handsome and
comfortable home in the town of Adamsville. He
was born in a little log cabin in Highland town-

ship, this county over sixty-three years ago, on
July 6, 1828, a son of Cephas and Phoebe (Mock)
Hanks, who were born in Loudoun county, Va.

The paternal grandfather, John Hanks, was a

brother of Abraham Lincoln’s mother, whose
maiden name was Nancy Hanks. Cephas Hanks
and his wife were reared and married in their

native state and county and during their residence

there three daughters were born to them: Eliza,

Elizabeth and Duanna, and in 1827 they located

in Muskingum county, Ohio, where eight more
children were born to them: John D., Abigail,

Jacob, Isaac, Mary, Christina, George H., who
was killed in the battle of Stone River, and Susan.

When Cephas Hanks settled in this county he pur-

chased a partially improved farm, which continued
to be his home until his death in March, 1880, at

the age of eighty years. He took a deep interest in

the affairs of his adopted county, and in the town-
ship in which he lived, he held a number of the

most important offices. Politically he was a demo-
crat, and for many years was a worthy member of

the Methodist Episcopal church. He was only

twelve years of age when the War of 1812 came up,

and although he himself did not serve, two of his

brothers were participants in that struggle. His
mother was a cousin of Andrew Jackson and his

wife was a daughter of Jacob Mock. He became

a wealthy farmer, and as a citizen and friend was
much esteemed by his acquaintances. His wife

was born in 1807 and died in 1871. John D.
Hanks was an attendant of the public schools of

his day and at the age of twenty-one years he be-

gan making his own way in the world. He followed

farming exclusively until 1873 when he purchased
the mill at Adamsville, which he has since also

conducted. He has given much attention to the

breeding of tine horses for the past three years and
all his enterprises have prospered abundantly.

His farm near Adamsville comprises 153 acres, is

exceptionally well conducted and is in good farm-

ing condition. He became the owner of this prop-

erty in 1857, but since February, 1873, he and his

family have resided in the town of Adamsville.

In l850 he married Mary Adams, a daughter of

George and Christina (Werts) Adams, her birth

having occurred in Salem township, November 20,

1829, and to their union six children were born,

five of whom are living: George W., who died in

1873 at the age of twenty-one years from suffoca-

tion while in a well, at which time he had only been
married two weeks to Miss Selina Johnson; Addison
B.

, a resident of Kansas, is married to Miss Allie

Wagner, of Erie county, Penn.; Carson H. is mar-
ried to Carrie Ross and resides in Adamsville;

Laura A. is the widow of L. M. King; Homer L.

is married to Missie Hurdle and lives in Adams-
ville; and Wilber C., who is at home. Mr. and Mrs.

Hanks are members of the M. E. church and
politically he is a democrat. He is public spirited

and enterprising, and is one of the useful citizens

of the county.

Among the older residents of Muskingum
county, Ohio, of those who came to Zanesville

when in its comparative infancy, say in 1818, none
has a clearer recollection of most matters and
things pertaining to those days than the aged and
well-known citizen of that city, Robert J. J. Har-
kins, now nearly eighty years of age, having been
born in Butler county, Penn., in 1813. In 1817
his uncle, John S. Dugan bought the tavern prop-

erty on the corner of Main and Fifth streets,

Zanesville, Ohio, then known as the “Green Tree”
tavern and continued the business in it. As a

large increase of travel soon set in, he found the

female help in the house inadequate, and as it was
quite impossible to get such help at that time here,

he proposed to bring his sister, a widow, with a

family of six daughters and three sons from But-
ler county, Penn., where she was living on a small

farm, her husband having died on his way home
from the service in the War of 1812. The subject

of this sketch was the youngest of this family and
with it left Butler county, February, 1818, at

which time an unusual fall of snow offered an ex-

cellent opportunity to move without mild, and as
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snow remained longer in those days than since the

country has been settled, it was deemed safe to

use sleds in preference to any other means at that

period of the year. The start was made and be-

fore February had closed that year, all arrived

safely at their destination in Zanesville. Here
this now aged citizen, then about the age of six

years, began his school education in the only kind of

schools taught at that time—subscription schools

—

at about $3 per quarter, with the free use of the

rod and ferule. Arriving at the age of fifteen

years, in 1828, he began life’s battle in the em-
ployment of a well known merchant in that day,

William M. Wallace, who occupied a one-story

frame store room standing on the lot now covered

with the stately building occupied by the Bailey

Drug company. While with Mr. Wallace, the lat-

ter bought the lot and erected a two-story brick

store room and dwelling, now occupied by E. P.

Bloomer, confectioner. He remained with Mr.
Wallace until July, 1830, when, finding his edu-

cation so very deficient, determined to obtain some
additional knowledge, left Mr. Wallace and at

once began to study in earnest under the excellent

teacher, Mr. Cadwalleder in the old academy build-

ing on Market street. As Mr. Wallace did an ex-

tensive business, the opportunity for forming
acquaintances of a large portion of the citizens of

the town was good, and of these our subject retains a

remarkable l'ecollection. He was diligently devot-

ing his time to his studies, until October of that

year, when a call was made for him to go to

Somerset, Perry county, Ohio, in the store owned
by Henry Dittoe, who had married one of his

cousins. The call was so imperative that he was
obliged to obey it with much less education than
he desired. In Somerset he received a good busi-

ness education and learned the necessity of dili-

gence and close attention to his duties. He re-

mained in the employ of Mr. Dittoe until disaster

in business overtook him, as well as many others

and he was compelled to find other employment.
At this time, 1841, the landlord of the National
House, Col. Henry Orndorff, corner of Main and
Fifth streets, Zanesville, wanted a clerk, so to this

position he came from measuring tar and calico.

Here, after a lapse of twenty-three years, the sub-

ject of this sketch finds himself again in the same
spot he had first called his home, being the lo-

cality known formerly as the “Green Tree ” tavern.

But oh, how changed. Then, a modern two story

frame building of very limited dimensions to

which John S. Dugan had, in about 1823, added a

large three-story brick building, and a few years

after his death, his widow erected on the corner a

handsome three-story brick buildine connecting it

with the one erected by her husband, making it at

that time the very best hotel property in the city.

That part of the building erected by the widow is

yet standing, and an additional story added by
Dr. Gettings when he became the owner. Re-
maining here until the change of proprietors Mr.
Harkins in 1843 began the dry goods business
again with James Taylor Jr., with whom he re-

mained until July, 1844, when he removed to

Duncan’s Falls, nine miles south of Zanesville on
the Muskingum river, and entered into the dry goods
business with his cousin, Lewis H. Dugan, and
here he remained fourteen years. At this point
Dugan & Bowen had built a very elegant four-

story frame flouring mill, making it a first-class

wheat mai'ket and a place of very extensive busi-

ness. The store was opened at a point known by
all of the people of the southern part of Mus-
kingum county as “ The Ferry.” Here the sub-
ject of this sketch labored zealously, late and early
and battled with the ague, which prevailed at this

point for several years. In the change of places
made by him he was always within touch of Zanes-
ville, thus keeping up his acquaintances with its

citizens and knowledge of the rapid improvements
going on in the city and its additions. He suc-

ceeded L. H. Dugan in the store at Duncan’s
Falls, and remained there until 1858, when he
abandoned it; the wheat market there having
been destroyed by the completion of the Balti-

more & Ohio railroad from Zanesville east, creat-

ing markets on its line in the territory which
formerly sent large quantities of wheat to Dun-
can’s Falls. In March, 1858, he moved with his

family on the farm owned by his wife’s father, who
died about that time near Somerset, Perry county,

Ohio, the same town in which Mr. Harkins made
his second start in the dry goods business. It was
in the early part of June, 1859, that the frost

destroyed all crops in the state. A replant of

corn took place and a poor crop of that important
grain was secured, as the first frost in the fall

was unusually early. While busily engaged in

husking corn in the field in November of that

year, Mr. Harkins was sent for to take charge of

a store at the place then called “ Wolf’s Station,”

composed of four houses, and now known as Junc-
tion City, on the Cincinnati & Muskingum Valley

railroad. The gentleman would not take “ no ”

for an answer and had sent a horse along for Mr.
Harkins. So he left the “ nubbins ” and again

seized the “yardstick.” As this station was only

six miles from Somerset and in a territory in

which the inhabitants in early days depended on
that town for their supplies, he found many old

friends and acquaintances there. Among these

old-time acquaintances our subject remained but a

few months, when his employer, Mr Wolf, sold

out his business and he once more returned to the

farm, and in a few days received a proposition from
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Mr. E. E. Fillmore, a wholesale and retail hard-

ware merchant of Zanesville, to take a position in

his store. In April, 1860, he began his career in

the hardware business, remaining in it until 1867,

when the heavy labor, being too much for him he
was compelled to give it up.

We here relate an incident connected with the

original “ start off ” of the oil business in western
Virginia, that may be interesting to many and
which is not generally known. Mr. Harkins
claims the honor of selling the first pieces of iron

and steel to make a drill to bore for oil, in the oil

territory of the southern part of West Virginia.

In the fall of 1860 they had a call for a piece of

iron twenty inches long, four inches wide and one
inch thick. As this was an unusual size it could
not be supplied, but when the man explained that

he wished it for an oil-well drill and that there

would soon be a demand for it, they took him to

the store of the Ohio Iron company. This com-
pany occupied the building now occupied by the

Baily drug store, and did a retail business, and
there they found what the man desired. The
manager, Mr. A. F. Cassell (now deceased), was
called upon and the wants of the customer ex-

plained, but the piece he desired had been express-

ly made for the railroad company and was too long.

This Mr. Cassell did not' wish to cut, but after

much persuasion, being convinced that it would
prove a good advertisement for him, and the mill

being able to duplicate it, finally decided to give

the man what he desired. This sale proved a very
profitable advertisement and an entering wedge to

the business in connection with the oil-well drill-

ing that followed soon after, and the Ohio Iron
company and Mr. Fillmore’s hardware business

were greatly profited thereby. The Christmas
week of 1863 Mr. Harkins was compelled to retire

from the business on account of the loss of hear-

ing, and not until February, 1864, did he recover

sufficiently to return to it. In May, 1864, he with
one of Mr. Fillmore’s sons enlisted in Company
A, One Hundred and Fifty-ninth Ohio Volunteer
infantry, and served in and about Baltimore, Md.
During his service he, with about half his company,
was stricken down with a malignant type of ma-
laria, contracted on the borders of the Chesapeake
bay, and from which young Mr. Fillmore died
soon after he was mustered out. Being mustered
out with his own company in August, 1864, Mr.
Harkins was not able to take his place among the

iron and nails until February, 1865. Returning
to his business he was hardly able to discharge his

duties and finally was compelled to give it up al-

together. He at once took a position in a dry
goods house just opened here, and his large ac-

quaintance with the people of the city and country
came into good play, in securing customers for the

new firm. In two years a dissolution of partner-

ship occurred and the remaining partner finally

decided to sell the stock at auction, which he did,

employing the two Sells, of Columbus, Ohio (who
later became famous circus managers and owners),

as auctioneers. A trip to Kansas after the store

closed, gave relief to the worn-out and exhausted

powers of Mr. Harkins, after so many years of

close confinement to business and hard labor.

While in Kansas he received a letter from a new
firm of Zanesville, who had opened a hardware
store, and once more was induced to handle iron

and steel. Being now past fifty-eight years of age,

and not fully recovered from the effects of his ill-

ness while in service, he was unable to carry an

anvil, but attempting it, fell, doing great injury to

his back, which he had twice before injured in

like manner. From this injury he never fully

recovered, and was compelled to keep to his bed
from November to the following May. His

deficient hearing now proved very annoying, as the

possibility of selling goods was again very uncer-

tain. Upon recovering sufficiently to do business,

he was elected by the trustees of the Zanesville

Water Works, secretary of the board, a place of

great clerical labor as well as responsibility, in

which position he remained for six years, being

then obliged to resign as his hearing had become
so impaired that he could scarcely transact the

business with those coming into the office. This

was the last regular business he attempted to

transact, as a disabled body and great deficiency

of hearing made him unfit to discharge his duties

as when much younger, so he stepped aside to

make room for younger men. During his long

residence in Muskingum and the adjoining county

of Perry, one thing has always been before him, to

learn the names of those with whom he has had
dealings, to remember them and their faces, and in

every township in both counties he has a very ex-

tensive acquaintance. In Muskingum county
especially his recollection of people of early days
as well as events of pioneer times has enabled the

publishers of this history of Muskingum county,

who have placed their manuscripts before him, to

present them in a most authentic form. This can

be said of Mr. Harkins with perfect truth, as there

is not one township in Muskingum county but he

can recall the names of the pioneers and relate

some incident connected with them or some
peculiarity of a vast number of them. He is now
in his eightieth year, in very good health, unim-

paired memory, and still finds the world full of

enjoyment, in the midst, of a lovable and interest-

ing family, consisting of a most kind and affec-

tionate wife (now like himself, well advanced in

years), and children who do all in their power for

his comfort. If, in his efforts to have this history
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one that can be depended upon, as far as he was
instrumental in doing so, proves satisfactory to

those who may read it, he will feel well satisfied

that he has expended his time in revising the

manuscripts submitted to him for that purpose.

Much valuable information has been received from
Mr. Harkins in regard to the great changes that

have taken place in Zanesville since he first entered

it in 1818.

Charles O. Harris, brick manufacturer, Zanes-
ville, Ohio. One of the most noted and successful

concerns in the state, extensively engaged in the

manufacture of brick of all kinds, is that known
as W. B. Harris & Bros., the firm having three

yards in and near Zanesville, with a capacity of

60,000 bricks per day. Charles O. Harris was
born in Zanesville in 1833, and his father, William
H. Harris, who was a native of London, England,
came to America when a young man. The elder

Harris located in Zanesville in 1821, followed mer-
chandising for some time, but in later years be-

came a farmer. His death occurred in Zanesville

in 1880. Charles O. Harris was reared in Zanes-
ville and received his education in the public

schools of that city. After some time spent as a

clerk he became a member of the firm of W. B.

Harris & Bros, in merchandising business, and
continued with this firm until 1889, since which
time the firm has been extensively engaged in the

manufacture of brick. Mr. Harris selected, as

his companion in life, Miss Lucy Meredith, a

native of the Old Dominion, and their nuptials

were celebrated at Winchester, Ohio, in 1865. This
union has been blessed by the birth of four chil-

dren, one son and three daughters. The family
worship at the Presbyterian church. In politics

Mr. Harris advocates the principles of the repub-

lican party. He is a member of the Royal Arca-
num and Legion of Honor.

The grandfather of Aquilla Harrop, farmer,

Brush Creek, Ohio, was an Englishman by birth,

and a soldier in the English army. He was a

weaver by trade. James Harrop, father of sub-

ject, was born in eastern Virginia, where he was
married to Miss Mary Cohogan, and resided there

until 1826, when he came to Muskingum county,

Ohio, settling in Brush Creek township. He made
the journey in a wagon, and after arriving here
purchased 160 acres of land, which was unimproved
and covered with heavy timber. His family con-

sisted of the following children: Margaret (de-

ceased), Catherine (deceased), Susan (deceased),

Aquilla, Elizabeth (deceased), James, Ann,
Stephen (deceased) and William. Aquilla, James,
and Ann, wife of Jacob Neff, are the only ones re-

siding in this county. In the fall of the year after

locating here Mr. Harrop met with his death, burst-

ing a blood vessel by exertion. He was of large

frame, possessed enormous strength, and was thor-

oughgoing and enterprising. Previous to his death
he had cleared about three acres of land and built

a small cabin. Mrs. Harrop and children remained
on the farm, cleared it up and began making im-

provements. Her death occurred in . Her
son, Aquilla Harrop, was born in Virginia in 1814,
and Avas twelve years of age when his parents
settled in the woods of Muskingum county. He
was married to Miss Sarah French, a daughter of

James B. and Nancy (Tripplett) French, and to this

union were born the following children, viz.:

James (deceased), Susau, Jacob (deceased), Graf-

ton (deceased), Stephen, Thomas, Charles, Ann,
John, Ellis and Margaret. Grafton and Jacob
enlisted in the Sixty- second Ohio regiment, Com-
pany A, in 1861, and both were good soldiers, fight-

ing valiantly for the flag and country. Grafton
gave his life in the famous right charge on Fort
Wagner, he being instantly killed, while advancing
with his regiment on the enemy’s guns, on July 18,

1863. Jacob received a severe wound in the thigh

at the same battle, and lay on the field till the fol-

lowing day, when he fell into the hands of the

rebels. He was sent back to the union lines and
entered the hospital near New York city, where he
subsequently died, August 1, 1863. Grafton’s

body was buried on the field on Avhich he fought

and died. On August 23, 1864, Stephen enlisted in

Company F, One Hundred and Seventy-eighth Ohio
Volunteer infantry, and served in Schofield’s army
corps. John, another son, was a prominent and
successful teacher in the schools of Muskingum
county. Mr. Harrop has been a member of the

Methodist church for many years, and his wife

holds membership in the Baptist. Mrs. Harrop’

s

parents, James and Nancy French, were Virgin-

ians, and removed to this county soon after 1820,

locating, soon after, on the land where their son,

Thomas, now lives. They were the parents of

twelve children: Sarah (deceased), William (de-

ceased), Ann M., Grafton, Margaret, Delila, Mary,
Thomas, Mason, Reuben (deceased), Lewis and
Hugh (deceased). Mr. Harrop. married for his

second wife Ann French, a sister of his former

wife. During his long life Mr. Harrop has affil-

iated with the republican party. Besides the three

sons in the army Mr. Harrop had two brothers fight-

ing for the union: William, in an Illinois regiment,

and Stephen, in an Ohio regiment.

The father of Rev. Samuel P. Hildreth, Adams
Mills, Ohio, Dr. Samuel P. Hildreth, was a native

of Methuen, Essex county, Mass., and when still

single came to Marietta, Ohio, and commenced
practicing medicine at that place in 1806. He
married Miss Rhoda Cook, of Belpre, Ohio, on

August 18, 1807, and the fruits of this union were

six children: Mary A., Charles C., George O.,
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Samuel P., Rkoda M. and Harriet E. Dr. Hil-

dreth was a prominent physician at Marietta for

many years, and became a well-known and wealthy
man. He was well educated, a graduate of one of

the eastern colleges, and was very popular, both

socially and professionally. He was connected

with the geological survey of the state, and was a

member of the State Historical society. He was a

well-known and able writer on the pioneer days of

Ohio, and published, under the auspices of the Cin-

cinnati Historical society, “ A Pioneer History of

Ohio,” which was a very interesting history of

early days, and was chiefly from original manu-
script. In 1852 he wrote ‘‘The Biographical and
Historical Memoirs of the Early Pioneer Settlers

of Ohio,” and in 1864 he wrote “Sketches of

Pioneer History.” He practiced medicine at Mari-

etta, Ohio, for tifty-flve years, and was a pioneer

physician as well as an historian of pioneers. In

1861, as he said: “ I laid it entirely aside and am
now waiting the time of my departure with resig-

nation and hope.” He died at his home in Mari-

etta, July 28, 1863, aged eighty years. He was a

man of wide learning, an able and interesting his-

torian, and preserved to future ages the record of

pioneer days. The long years spent within the

borders of the Buckeye state enabled him to wit-

ness its development from a wilderness to a wealthy
and powerful state. His son, Samuel P. Hildreth,

was born at Marietta, Ohio, December 19, 1819,

and received a liberal education at Marietta col-

lege, and a theological education at the “Lane
Theological seminary ” at Cincinnati, when the

famous Dr. Lyman Beecher was president. He
was the only student who understood shorthand,

and he reported Dr. Beecher’s lectures and ser-

mons for him. Rev. Hildreth began preaching at

Jackson, Ohio, near Cincinnati, where he labored

for one year, and then, in 1847, he came to Dres-

den, where he followed his ministerial duties for

twenty-three years. He was successful in his

labors, was an able and zealous man, and had a

flourishing church. He took an interest in the

welfare of the entire town, and it may well be said

that his efforts were earnestly performed and well

repaid. On August 6, 1852, he married Mrs.
Sophia C. Adams (nee Munro), widow of James T.

Adams, who died at the early age of twenty-one,

leaving one son, James T. Jr.
[
See sketch of Hon.

T. D. Adams.] Mrs. Hildreth was the daughter
of Joseph F. Munro, who was the son of Josiah

Munro, of Scotch descent. Josiah Munro’s grand-
father, William Munro, came from the north of

Scotland in 1650. Josiah Munro was born Febru-
ary 12, 1745, at Lexington, Mass., and joined the

Revolutionary army at the battle of Bunker Hill,

serving during the remainder of the war, and
holding the rank of captain. He came to Marietta

with the original pioneer colony which was organ-

ized by Gen. Rufus Putnam, and was the first

justice of the peace and postmaster of the infant

colony. His death occurred at Marietta. He was
a man of great breadth of character, and was one

of the pioneer patriots. He was the father of

four children: Susan, Sarah, Joseph and Mary.

His son, Joseph Munro, was born May 6, 1874,

at Peterboro, N. H.
,
and came to Marietta a

number of years after his father. He settled at

Zanesville, where he was one of the early mer-
chants, and was in company with Daniel Convers.

They built the first brick store in that city. After

residing there until 1810 Mr. Munro moved to Cass

township, this county, and settled on 500 acres of

land—given his wife by her father, Jonathan
Cass—and there built a substantial and roomy resi-

dence of brick, the same still standing and in ex-

cellent condition. The rooms are large and high,

and for that early day it is a good example of

architecture. Mr. Munro brought his workmen
from Chillicothe to build the house, and the bricks

were burned on the place. At that time there

was no road to Zanesville, and this was not only

the first brick house in Cass township, but the only

one for miles around. Mr. Munro was a wealthy
man, and extensively and favorably known. He
was a member of the Presbyterian church and an
elder in the same. He died on July 26, 1847,

when seventy-four years of age. He was a man of

excellent judgment, good business ability, and one

of the prominent pioneers of the county. He
married Mary G. Cass, daughter of Maj. Jonathan
Cass [see sketch of Dr. Edward Cass], and to them
were born ten children, six of whom lived to be

grown: Susan E., Charles C., Caroline, Francis,

Sophia C. and Henry. Rev. Samuel P. Hildreth

resided in Dresden eleven years, and then spent

the remainder of his days on the Munro homestead.

When fifty-live years old, and on March 7, 1875,

this pioneer passed away. He devoted his life to

his ministerial duties and was very successful.

The two children born to his marriage were Mary
C. and Rhoda M. Mrs. Hildreth resides with her

two daughters on the old homestead, which is one
of the pleasantest homes in Ohio, and one which
is a constant reminder of pioneer days and of the

loved ones who have occupied it. She is now in

her sixties, but her faculties are unimpaired, and
her cheerfulness is well known. The daughters
are well educated and refined young ladies, having
been carefully instructed by their father, and the

family is among the pi’ominent ones of the county.

John Hoge. To whom are the people indebted

for the mighty works which distinguish the “new”
from the “old” Zanesville? If we look for names
of citizens who have been potent in the awakening,
one of the first to come to the lips of all men is
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that of John Hoge. Mr. Hoge was born in the

house in which he now resides on North Sixth street,

and has made Zanesville his home all his life. He is

in the best and broadest sense a Zanesvillan.

Fortune alone favored him in a sound body and in

superior brain power. He was not “cradled in

luxury” and left school at an early age to begin
the stern battle of life. While still a boy he began
business with a relative by marriage, the late Will-

iam Schultz, and from the age of fifteen years he
has been a producer of wealth. Mr. Hoge was
first a partner of the elder Schultz, who retired

in 1866, but the firm name Schultz & Co. has been
continued ever since, R. D. Schultz, the present

senior member of the firm, taking the place of his

father. The history of the rise and progress of

this sterling firm is familiar to most of our readers

— it is a rich part of local annals. Their soap is

known throughout the country, and without dispar-

agement to the other members of the firm, it is not

saying too much to affirm that the efforts of John
Hoge contributed largely to the establishment of

its enduring reputation and unmatched success.

In the earlier days of the firm he was a tremendous
worker, day and night. He originated, many
brands of soap, but his genius had a broader play

in peculiar and more comprehensive methods of

advertising their products. In these days of gi-

gantic enterprises for reaching popular favor

through the art of the printer, John Hoge occupies

an unique and original place. His contact with

the purchasing public began as a boy, in the capac-

ity of a traveling salesman, representing the firm,

and he personally “sampled” many cities from
door to door, until “star soap” became a familiar

household term. In this laborious work the hus-

tling activity of the advertiser was born. But this

many-sided man of business is not only a producer
and advertiser, but in the comparatively brief span
of his career he has become identified with scores

of other enterprises. The writer can not perhaps
recall all as his information comes from various

sources, but there is enough to satisfy the ambition

of an ordinary mortal—an active member of the firm

of Schultz & Co.
;
president of Zanesville Electric

Light company; president the Courier company;
ex-president the Muskingum club and one of its

founders; director of the Brown Manufacturing
company, all of Zanesville; president of The Frey
Printing company, of Cincinnati (part of the U. S.

Printing company); vice-president of the Hinds-
Ketchum company, Brooklyn, N. Y. (part of the

U. S. Printing company); vice-president of the

Brown-Manly Plow company, Malta, Ohio; director

of the Samuel Crump Label company, Mont Clair,

N. J. (part of U. S. Printing company); director

United States Printing company, Cincinnati. Ohio;
director Central Ohio (B. & O.) railway; director

Zanesville & Ohio River Railway company; direct-

or Bellaire, Zanesville & Cincinnati railway; vice-

president the Griffith & Wedge company; director

the Blandy Machine company; trustee the Odessa
Land Syndicate; director the Homestead Building
company; director the people’s Savings Bank;
member of the Brighton Syndicate; director the

Union National Bank; director American Encaustic
Tiling company, and director Muskingum Coffin

company. An intimate friend recently said that

he would wager something of value that Mr. Hoge
could not write or state off hand, a list of the con-

cerns of which he is an officer.

Messrs. Schultz & Hoge are owners of stocks

in other banking houses, and are the heaviest in-

vestors in manufacturing establishments in this

city, and are said to be the largest individual tax-

payers in this county. About the year 1875,

through the management of Mr. Hoge, the firm

purchased the Zane house property, and, at his oft-

repeated and urgent suggestion, the opera house
and opera house block were erected in 1879, which
then, as now, are the pride of our citizens. Mr.
Hoge’s enthusiasm was impressed upon his partner,

and, unaided, these two dauntless young men
erected a row of metropolitan business rooms and
a theater, at that time unequaled in the United
States. That this was a most expensive undertak-

ing goes without saying. We do not violate the

confidence of a close friend when we say that by
this advanced enterprise this firm, although strong,

was subjected to a most severe financial strain—

a

stress more burdensome than the public ever

dreamed. They were compelled to part with securi-

ties, and were large borrowers at sacrifices which
they heroically kept to themselves. Such was
their credit that not the semblance of a mortgage
encumbered their property, yet it was freely pre-

dicted by the croakers that Schultz & Co. would be
ruined. The people of Zanesville ought not to

forget the service rendered by these gentlemen.

The business sagacity of Mr. Hoge soon manifested

itself in the management of the opera house. The
rules laid down by him were unique, and a marked
innovation on the established methods of the “ pro-

fession.” The result was a widespread notoriety

and a national reputation for the Zanesville opera

house. Theatrical people stormed and swore like

the army in Flanders, but they eventually yielded,

and gracefully, to the iron-clad regulations. Their

ravings have turned to exultant praise. The
“rules ” have been widely copied throughout the

country—the best tribute to their fairness. “ The
Appeal to the Profession,” written by Mr. Hoge,
and placarded in all the dressing rooms of the

theater, won the warmest commendation from the
“ show people. ” When the American Encaustic

Tiling Company decided to erect a new plant.



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 481

Zanesville unconsciously stood face to face with

the greatest problem in her history. Mr. George
A. Stanbery, general superintendent, is authority

for the statement that to John Hoge is due, more
than to any other citizen, the decision of the com-
pany to locate its new plant in Zanesville rather

than in New Jersey, nearer the home of the prin-

cipal stockholders. As the resident director, Mr.

Hoge and Mr. Stanbery, constituting the local

building committee, gave the creation of these

mammoth works much personal attention. In the

infancy of electric lighting, Mr. Hoge saw the

city’s opportunity, and one of the best plants in

Ohio was established at Zanesville under his direc-

tion. But we must hurry along. With his old

friend, Gen. D. W. Caldwell, he purchased the

Clarendon hotel, the model hostelry of the country.

In a word, this still comparatively young man of

affairs is thoroughly entwined and interwoven into

the commercial, manufacturing and industrial in-

terests of Zanesville. With his partner (they are

cousins, but are often affectionately styled broth-

ers, for they have always been investors together)

he has accomplished mighty things for their native

city. Of all places of honor and trust which
have come to John Hoge he never solicited one of

them, but he has declined many of more impor-
tance than these he now so worthily tills. In some
instances the positions are nominal in character,

but he is an active worker in nearly all of the com-
panies with which he is connected. His advice is

sought for and highly prized by his associates.

On all public questions, John Hoge is a frank,

candid and decided. Sometimes his convictions

have appeared in print, always over his own signa-

ture, stated in concise, vigorous, courteous terms,

in an unique style peculiarly his own. If his con-

victions are not in touch with the popular will, he
cheerfully accepts the situation, knowing well that

“all things come to him who waits.” While
business ventures have drawn heavily upon his

time and means his purse is always accessible to

the tender pleadings of charity and public interest,

as has been said facetiously “from baseball to the

spread of the gospel.” Socially John Hoge is the

“ prince of good fellows,” easily approached he
is yet of a retiring, modest disposition. He is a

bachelor, in the prime of life, and while a busy
man does not permit business cares to cloud his

existence. One of his associates remarked; “ Mr.
Hoge is a graceful winner and a cheerful loser.

When things are going wrong I am always glad
to see Hoge; he looks on the bright side and gives

us all faith and courage.” Always content to

confine himself strictly to the channels of trade,

Mr. Hoge has never sought political honors. But
the suggestion has come unsought and the repub-
licans of Muskingum county have earnestly sought

his consent to stand for the nomination for con-

gress in the Muskingum Valley district. Zanes-

ville delights to honor her sons, and we have put it

modestly when we say that she has none greater

than John Hoge.
Mrs. Margaret J. Howard, Adamsville, Ohio,

belongs to one of the old pioneer families of

Muskingum county. John Bell, her grandfather,

was the first one of the family to come here. He
was born in the state of Delaware but ran away
from home when young and went to Pennsylvania.

His parents were from Wales. He went to Wash-
ington county, near Stillwater, Penn.

;
emigrated to

Ohio in 1811 with his family, consisting of his

wife, who was Rachel Stillwell, and three children,

Haley, Elizabeth and John. Mr. Bell settled on
land in Perry township near the Livingoods, who
were early settlers. After a few years he moved
to Adams township and settled on the land now
owned by his grandson, John R. Bell. He cleared

up this land from the dense timber with which it

was covered. He lived to.the age of seventy-eight

years, both himself and wife being members of

the Baptist church. He was the father of ten

children: Haley, Elizabeth, John, William, Mary,
Sarah, Nancy, Catherine, Stillwell and Amy. He
was a soldier in the War of 1812, and his grave is

annually decorated by the G. A. R. John J. Bell,

his son and the father of our subject, was born
January 22, 1807, in Washington county, Penn., on
a farm and was but four years of age when he
came with his parents to Ohio. He received a

limited common- school education of those days,

was brought up in Perry township until he was
about sixteen years of age, and in his young days
worked for the Livingoods. About this age he
went to Zanesville and worked in a flourmill.

Here he remained several years and married Sep-
tember 28, 1828, Elizabeth Caldwell, daughter of

William and Margaret (Porter) Caldwell. William
Caldwell was an old settler in Adams township,

originally from Ireland and settling in Pennsylvania
where be married. His wife also came from Ireland.

In 1826 they moved to Adams township, this county.

They were the parents of six children, who lived to

maturity: Samuel, Elizabeth, Jane, Anise, Andrew
and James. William Caldwell lived to a good old

age and died in Guernsey county, having sold his

farm and moved there. After his marriage John
J. Bell remained in Zanesville one year and then,

about 1830, entered part of a farm where our
subject now lives. This land was an entire wilder-

ness and Mr. Bell cleared it of the heavy timber
with which it was covered and by hard work and
industry added to it from time to time until he
owned about 450 acres, all the result of patient toil

and industry. When lie married he had but 50 cents

in his pocket, and his wife, aside from wearing
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apparel, a teakettle which she had received in pay-

ment for some weaving. She was an excellent

hand at the loom and wheel. This young couple,

who started out with nothing but their stout hearts

and strong hands, began life in the woods and
made a success of it, accumulating property and
rearing a large family of children. Mr. Bell lived

on this land all his life. He was justice of the

peace and township trustee, interested in having
good schools and was for years a member of the

school board. He, with the assistance of his neigh-

bors, built a schoolhouse on his farm, and this was
the first one in the neighborhood. Both Mr. and
Mrs. Bell were members of the Fairview church,

and Mr. Bell assisted liberally of his means to build

this church and to support the gospel. In politics

he is a strong republican. He was a member of

the old militia and had three sons in the Civil war:

Andrew was in the Ninety-seventh regiment, Com-
pany E, Ohio Volunteer infantry, and served

three years (he was during the service in sixteen

different battles and endured many hardships. He
was in the battles of Perryville, Ky.

;
Stone River,

Lawrence, Mission Ridge, Dolton, Charleston,

Resaca, Rocky Face, Kenesaw Mountain, Peach
Tree Creek, siege of Atlanta, Jonesboro, Love-

joy, Spring Hill, Franklin, Nashville, and was
detailed as nurse in different hospitals after battles

of Stone River, Nashville, Peach Tree Creek, etc.);

W. P. was in Company F, Sixty- second regiment,

Ohio Volunteer infantry. He died after a few

months’ service at Whitehall hospital near New
Bristol, Bucks county, Penn.; Wilson S. was
in Company E, One Hundred and Sixty-second

regiment, 100 days’ service. John Bell lived

to his eighty- second year and died on his farm
in 1888. His wife, who was born in Washing-
ton county, Penn., in 1800, died in 1878. They
were the parents of ten children: Margaret (died

an infant), Haley (died at the age of twenty-two
years, was a school teacher and had studied for the

ministry), W. P., Rachel A., AnnisC., Margaret J.,

Wilson S., Hulda E.
,
Andrew W. and John I.

(who was a teacher, was a member of the 100-day
service, and is now the editor of the “McArthur
Republican,” Vinton county, Ohio). All with the

exception of the two eldest lived to be married
men and women. Mrs. Margaret J. Howard, their

daughter and our subject, was born June 24, 1837,

on her father’s farm and now owns the place. She
received a common-school education, and from her
mother learned to do all the work about the house
and to weave and spin, and has now some excellent

specimens of her handiwork. The occupation of

her younger days was to spin and weave the cloth

for the family and make the clothes, as idle hands
were few among the girls of those days. Her
parents advancing in years, she, with the dutiful

heart of a good daughter, remained at home, cared
for her aged parents and lived a life of self sacrifice.

She married, October 3, 1883, Joseph Howard, of

Illinois. She is a good business woman and man-
ages her farm well. She inherited forty acres of

land from her father and by thrift and economy
has increased her property and bought from the

heirs eighty acres more. She stands high as a

woman of good character and is well respected by
her neighbors. She is a devout member of the

Fairview Methodist church. Mrs. Howard is liberal

and public spirited and interested in her church
and all good causes, and is charitable to the poor
and friendless. She gaye the money to purchase
the bell for the new Fairview Methodist church, and
her name is inscribed on the bell, being cast into

the metal. It was hung October, 1891, and for

many generations will ring out in praise of the

worthy act and in memory of the generous donor.

She joined the Methodist church in her twelfth

year and continued in the same.

Charles H. Hull, wagon maker, Frazeysburg,
Ohio, is one of the old soldiers who was in the

hottest battles of the great Civil war, and who
served his country faithfully and well, not as a

carpet soldier, but by facing all the privations of

the camp and dangers of the battle field. He is of

an old American family, of German and English

descent, and is a son of William Hull, a native

Virginian. The elder Hull married Miss Sarah
Martin, and they became the parents of ten chil-

dren: James M., John W., Thomas J., Francis,

Sarah C., Mary J., Elizabeth A., Joseph H., Caro-

line V. and Charles W. Mr. Hull moved to Ohio
about 1835, and settled on a farm in Licking

county, where he soon had a good farm under cul-

tivation. In the fall of 1868 he moved to south-

west Missouri, and settled in Barton county on
wildland. His sons, Thomas J., John, James and
Charles W., went with him and settled on farms
in the vicinity. Mr. Hull cleared his land and
there passed the closing scenes of his life, dying at

the age of seventy-five. His wife died in 1862 on
the old home place in Licking county, Ohio. Mr.
Hull was a Methodist preacher, and continued his

ministerial duties many years. In politics he was
a republican, and believed in the “know-nothing”
doctrines promulgated by Martin Van Buren. He
was a man of high principles and was an excellent

citizen. Charles W. Hull was born in Licking
county, Ohio, May 22, 1843, was educated in the

common schools, and early in life became familiar

with the duties of the farm. On February 22,

1864, he enlisted in Company A, Seventy- sixth

Ohio Volunteer infantry, for three years, as a pri-

vate, and was in the following battles: Resaca,

Dallas, Dalton, Buzzard’s Roost, Snake Creek Gap
and Kenesaw Mountain, where three distinct battles
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were fought. Also on July 22 and 28 at Atlanta,

and then was with Gen. Sherman in that greatest

march in history—to the sea. He was present at

the capture of Columbia and the last battle of the

war, Bentonville, N. C. He was in numerous
minor engagements and eighteen different hard

fought battles. At Dallas, Ga.
,
he was knocked

senseless by the concussion of a shell which ex-

ploded within eight feet of him, and threw him
about a rod. The pieces of shell, fortunately,

missed him, but the concussion burst the drum of

his right ear, rendering him entirely deaf in that

ear, and slightly affected the hearing in his left

ear. Sand was blown through his right cheek, and
his spine was badly injured. Previous to this, on

the first day of the fight, Mr. Hull was fighting on
the brow of the hill with his company, when a

shell struck directly under him and passed into

the hillside; the fuse being put out by the earth

the shell did not explode. He was again knocked
senseless. After his last injury he did not go to

the hospital, but remained on the battle field with

his company, receiving permission from his cap-

tain and regimental physician and serving his time

out. A grateful country remembers his services

and injuries and grants him a pension. Mr. Hull
went with his regiment from Raleigh, N. C., on
the homeward march to Washington, and was
present at that greatest scene in military history

—

the grand review— after which he returned to

Licking county, Ohio. There he worked at his

trade, carpentering, and later married Miss Almar-
ena Green, daughter of Hesekiah S. and Elsie

(Shacklett) Green. Mr. Green was from Virginia,

born August 15, 1805, and was a cabinet maker by
trade. He was an old settler of Licking county, a

man in good circumstances, and an honest citizen.

He was postmaster of Elizabethtown for many
years, and in politics was a strong republican. He
and wife were both members of the church. Their
family consisted of these children: Mary E., Al-

bert G.
,
Nimrod A., Benjamin L., Alice A., Isaac

S., James W.
,
Joseph A., Estelle R. and Almarena.

There were five sons, and all served their country
in the Civil war. Albert died in the hospital in

Memphis, Term., June 29, 1863. Benjamin died

in 1863 at St. Louis hospital, from sickness con-

tracted in the South. James W. was captured
July 3, 1864, and imprisoned at Andersonville

until January, 1865, when he was transferred to

Florence, S. C., Military prison, and there died
January 24, 1865. Joseph A. died from sickness

contracted in the war, at Rome, Ga., September 9,

1864, in hospital. Hesekiah S. Green had four of

his sons destroyed by the Civil war, and in his old

age, feeling that he could endure no further loss,

wrote to President. Abraham Lincoln and stated to

him that lie had five sons, had sent all of them to

the army, that four had died, and as he was an old

man he would like to have him discharge the re-

maining son and send him home. At that time,

1864, Mr. Lincoln had an immense burden on his

shoulders, but his great heart ever listened to the

cry of distress, and he immediately ordered the

discharge of Nimrod A. Green, who returned to

his grief-stricken parents. Nimrod A. died from
the effects of army life April 7, 1887. Thus five

of Mrs. Hull’s brothers were sacrificed to the Civil

war. Mr. Green died May 30, 1874, at the age of

sixty-nine years. He lived a correct life and was
a good man. After marriage Mr. Hull settled in

Fallsbury township, Licking county, Ohio, and
worked at the carpenter’s trade for two years, after

which he went t'o wagon making. In 1868 he went
to Missouri, and resided there nine years, engaged
in carpenter work principally. He returned to

Ohio and settled at Martinsburg, where he resided

six years, and moved to Frazeysburg, Ohio, where
he now resides. To Mr. and Mrs. Hull have been

born five children: Elsie B., Lulu M. (died at

the age of six years), Ada F., Clara B. and Lillie

E. Both Mr. and Mrs. Hull were members of the

Methodist Episcopal church at Martinsburg, and
Mr. Hull was trustee. He was postmaster and
township clerk in Fallsbury township, Licking

county, for some time. He is a member of the

G. A. R., Griff'e post 331, and has held the office

of past commander of Updyke post, of Bladens-

burg, Ohio. Mr. Hull’s record shows him to have
been a faithful soldier, and one who remained at

his post, although wounded, and who was some-
times obliged to get the ambulance to haul his

knapsack and rifle, owing to his weak condition.

He could easily have procured a discharge, but
chose to remain with his company. Mr. Hull’s

brother, John W., was a prisoner in Andersonville

from July 3, 1864, until May, 1865, and weighed
when entering 233| pounds. When he came out
he weighed but 160 pounds.

J. J. Huston, a prominent young farmer of

Union township, Muskingum county, Ohio, was
born in the neighborhood in which he now lives

May 24, 1856, and is the son of John K. and Nancy
(Dain) Huston. The father was born on the farm
in Union township, which was settled by his father

at a very early day. His parents were William
and Sarah (Kelly) Huston. William Huston came
from Kentucky to Union township about 1820, and
bought 160 acres of school land. He reared a

family of two sons and four daughters: Elizabeth.

Mary J., John K., William, Caroline and Seman-
tha (deceased), and died at an early age, about

1841. John K. spent his youth on this farm, and
attended the district school. When quite young
ho worked on the farm for his father, aud later

bought the entire home farm settled by his father.
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consisting of 240 acres of well-improved land. He
married Nancy Dain, daughter of Robert Dain, a

native of Pennsylvania, and a farmer near Oil City,

that state. They were the parents of ten children:

Sarah E. (died at the age of six years), Joseph J.

(subject), John Me. (who is living on the home
place), Mary C. (who is now Mrs. Bartles, living in

Mason, Mich.), Harriet L. (now Mrs. Deny, Cum-
berland, Ohio), Hettie (who is Mrs. St. Clair, of

Guernsey county, Ohio), Etta J. (at Columbus,
Ohio), Nancy P. (at home), Maud (at home) and
Blandy (at home). The father died in 1885, a

democrat in politics, and socially a Mason. He
was among the respected citizens of this county,

and a good business man. He and his wife were
members of the Methodist Episcopal church. A
few of his brothers and sifters are also living in

this state. After the death of her husband, or in

1889, Mrs Huston moved to Columbus, Ohio,

where she now resides. She is highly thought of,

and takes a great interest in church matters.

Joseph J. was reared on the farm upon which
he now resides, and attended the district school.

He worked for his father until he was twenty-

five years of age, when, April 7, 1881, he mar-
ried Mary R. Cline, daughter of Isaac Cline, of

this township. She was born in 1860. They
are the parents of four children: Carrie, John
K.

,
Emma F. and Robert Harl, and are members of

the Presbyterian church of Norwich. Mr. Huston
is now cultivating a farm of about 130 acres. In

politics he is a democrat, and one of the public

spirited men of the county.

J. Me. Huston was born on the farm formerly

owned by his father and grandfather in Union
township, Muskingum county, Ohio, May 2, 1860.

He was the fourth of a family of ten children born

to his parents, John K. and Nancy (Dain) Huston.

[See sketch of J. J. Huston.] He spent his youth

on the farm, attending the neighboring schools,

and getting a good business education. At his

father’s death in 1885, he, being one of the two
eldest sons, had the management of the business

affairs of the estate. In October, 1887, he was
married to Jennie Taylor, a daughter of Alfred

and Jane (Wycoff) Taylor, residents of this town-

ship. She was born October 27, 1860, was reared

in this county, and one of six children. Mr. and
Mrs. Huston became the parents of two children:

Ethel May and John A. They are members of the

Presbyterian church, and in politics he is a demo-
crat. He is very much interested in politics and
all things for the benefit and improvement of the

county. He takes a great interest in educational

matters, is one of the directors of the school board,

and is a liberal supporter of all church and school

work. Mr. Huston is engaged in general farming

and stockraising, making a specialty of Cotswold

sheep. He has charge of one-half of the family
estate, together with his brother, Joseph J., and
is one of the successful, enterprising and repre-
sentative young farmers of the county.

Johnson Imlay, farmer of Muskingum county,
Ohio. The career of this gentleman presents an
example of industry, perseverance and good man-
agement, and he is now in comfortable circum-
stances, the owner of a fertile farm of 183 acres,

which was the home and the scene of his father’s

labors throughout life. Johnson Imlay was born
in Allegheny county, Penn., February 20, 1825,
to Daniel and Rebecca J. (Johnson) Imlay, who
were also natives of that state. They removed
to the state of Ohio about the year 1827, and set-

tled in Meigs township, Muskingum county,

where he entered the land on which his son, John-
son, is now residing. Here he was called from
life about 1853, after a useful and well-spent life,

devoted to the interests of his family and friends.

After his death his son, Johnson, became the

proprietor of the home place, and under his able

management it has been made to yield abundant
crops and is a pretty and well-kept place. John-
son Imlay was married on March 6, 1862, to

Miss Mary, daughter of John and Lydia Trainer,

worthy citizens of this section, and their union
has resulted in the birth of two children: Aman-
da and Lydia. Mr. Imlay and family are reg-

ular attendants and worthy members of the Pres-

byterian church, and being intelligent, public

spirited and of kindly and generous dispositions,

they move in the best circles of society. Mr. Im-
lay is a stanch democrat politically.

William Imlay, farmer, Coal Hill, has long
been associated with the agricultural interests of

Muskingum county, Ohio, the residents of which
have had every opportunity to judge of his char-

acter, for he was born here, in Meigs township,

on August 12, 1828, and is the son of Daniel and
Rebecca Imlay. He attended the district school

until twenty-two years of age, attending during
the winter months and assisting his father on
the farm in the summer season. He thus became
familiar with duties of farm life from early boy-

hood. He remained under the parental roof un-

til twenty-eight years of age, or until 1857, when
he purchased 165 acres of land, eighty-five acres of

it being in section 24 and the remainder in Brooks-

field township, Noble county, where he has carried

on general farming ever since. He selected as

his companion in life Miss Julia Ann, daughter
of James and Isabella Stewart, natives of Alle-

ghany county, Penn., and their nuptials were
celebrated October 28, 1854. In politics Mr. Im-
lay is a stanch democrat, and has held a num-
ber of local offices, among them being road super-

visor, trustee and justice of the peace. He is a
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member of the Masonic lodge and is a member
of the Presbyterian church to which he is a liberal

contributor.

Samuel Jamison (deceased) was one of the early

settler of Union township, Muskingum county,

Ohio. At a very early day he came here with his

father, who was a prominent pioneer farmer, and
the history of the Jamison family dates back to

about 1808 in this county. Samuel Jamison as a

citizen was surpassed by none in the neighborhood.

He was interested in all public matters for the

good of the county, in all educational and relig-

ious work and helped to establish the present Re-

formed Presbyterian church of New Concord, of

which he was a member. He was formerly a

member of the Reformed church. He was a good
farmer and accumulated considerable property.

He was married, in Muskingum county, to Mar-
garet Speer, a daughter of one of the oldest set-

tlers of the county and a sister of Robert W.
Speer. [See sketch. ] They were the parents of

ten children; the following six are yet living: Mar-
garet, Rebecca J. McGee, John M.

,
Etta S., Al-

bert C. and Samuel R. Mrs. Jamison is also a

member of the Reformed Presbyterian church, and
since the death of her husband has resided with

her children on the old home farm. The old home
place is divided into two good farms and occu-

pied by her two sons. Two daughters are resid-

ing in New Concord, which is only a short dis-

tance. John M. Jamison, the third child of the

above mentioned worthy couple, was born in 1849
in Guernsey county and was here reared after the

fashion of the farmer boys of that time. He re-

ceived his education at the district school of Fox
Creek. November 3, 1887, he married Alice Pat-

terson, daughter of James and Jane Patterson, old

settlers of Guernsey county. She was born in

that county in 1862. Their union was blessed

with one child, a bright little girl, Minnie B.

John M. Jamison is one of the successful farmers
of this county, a member of the United Presby-

terian church, and interested in all school and
church work. In politics he is a republican. Al-

bert C. Jamison, the fifth child living of Samuel and
Margaret Jamison, was born in 1860. He was
also educated in the Fox Creek schools and re-

ceived a good business education, working on the

farm part of the time, and grew to maturity in

Union township, Muskingum county, Ohio. In
1890 he was married to Miss Violet, Stitt, a daugh-
ter of John and Nancy Stitt, natives of this

county. She was born in Muskingum township in

1866 and was one of four children. Mr. and Mrs.
Albert C. Jamison are members of the New Con-
cord United Presbyterian church and in his

political views the former is a republican. He
has always been very much interested in school

and church work and gives liberally of his time

and means for their support. His farm is a part

of the old home place, just north of the National

pike, where he is actively engaged in farming and
has been very successful.

Richard Johnson, the father of James S. John-

son, Sonora, Ohio, was born in Maryland, Fred-

rick county. His grandfather, Joshua Johnson,

came from England. Richard Johnson received a

common-school education and learned the cooper’s

trade. He married Eliza Metzegar, and to them
were born nine children: James S., Ezra, Louisa,

Henriette, Mariah, Mary A., Sarah, Johanah and
Frances. Directly after marriage, about 1816, Mr.

Johnson came to Ohio, settled in Muskingum
county below Zanesville, and the next year in Salem
township on a farm. He owned about 100 acres,

and lived on this farm the rest of his life. He
was a member of the Methodist church and was
for many years class-leader and exhorter. He died

at the age of seventy-five years, an honorable citi-

zen, respected by the people. James S. Johnson,

his son, was born four miles south of Zanesville,

in 1817. He received no education, but began to

work, when but a boy. He learned farming, and
married Lucinda Galloway, daughter of William
and Mary A. (Holt) Galloway. William Galloway
was one of our old pioneer settlers, of Irish de-

scent, the family living on the farm now occupied
by our subject, and upon which he settled after

marriage. He began life with nothing, and by
industry and economy he has made his property.

He now owns 900 acres of land in this county.

Not having any education, he was obliged to rely

on industry and economy to make and save prop-

erty. He is the father of ten children: Howard O.

(died at the age of thirty-three years), Nancy J.,

Mary A., Mitchell M.
,
Ebbert J., Batie S., Salina

and Anjalina (twins deceased), S. Harvy and Mar-
tha A. Both Mr. and Mrs. Johnson were mem-
bers of the Methodist church. Mr. Johnson has
been a member about forty years, and class-leader

many years. In politics he is a republican, and
was a good Union man during the war. His son
Howard served in the war two years. Mr. John-
son is a man who has always attended to his own
affairs, and took no interest in holding office. He
has always been a man of high character and pur-

pose, and owes his success in life to his persever-

ance and good habits. His first wife died and he
married in 1872 Annie Bell, daughter of John and
Mary (Caldwell) Bell. They have no children.

Mrs. Johnson is a devout member of the Method-
ist church. Mr. Johnson has had his share of

trouble, and endured all with much patience. It

may well be said that he has lived a good, true,

manly life, and been controlled by honest purposes.

John Kelley, Zanesville, Ohio, is well known
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throughout the township as one of the wide-awake,
enterprising agriculturists, and his fine farm of

238 acres is kept in the very best condition. He
was born in Muskingum county, Ohio, March 17,

1820, and was one of nine children, two now liv-

ing, born to Isaac and Mary (Gad) Kelley, both

natives of the Old Dominion. The parents were
married in their native state and subsequently

moved to Muskingum county, Ohio, where all their

children, except the eldest, were born. Hamilton,

the eldest child, was a native of Virginia. The
others were named as follows: Wesley, Ignatius,

Simeon, Elizabeth, John, Nathan and Benjamin.

Mr. Isaac Kelley settled in this county, on the

land now occupied by our subject, in 1810, and
began immediately to clear it of the oak timber

with which it was covered. By hard work and in-

dustry he soon had a good home, and being a man
of good judgment and considerable ability, he held

a number of local offices, among them that of

justice of the peace. In their religious views he
and Mrs. Kelley were members in the Methodist

church and active members of the same. He died

on the old homestead, in this county, on March 1,

I860, when seventy-five years of age. His son,

John, the subject of this sketch, received his scho-

lastic training in the common schools of pioneer

days, and at an early age manifested a taste for

farm life. On June 22, 1865, he wedded Miss Jane
Drake, who was bom August 8, 1842, and who was
the daughter of George and Catherine (Tatham)
Drake, natives of England. George Drake came
from his native country in 1820, first settled in

Pennsylvania, and moved from there to Zanesville,

Ohio, and thence to Muskingum township, where
he became a successful tiller of the soil. He died

in this township when nearly eighty-three years of

age. His wife, Catherine, was the daughter of

John and Kestibal Tatham, who came from Eng-
land about 1820. Mr. Tatham brought his entire

family. George, Drake and Catherine were mar-
ried in Pennsylvania. After marriage Mr. Kelley
located on his present farm, and has ever been a

practical and successful farmer. He has a fine

residence, good outbuildings, and everything about

the place denotes the owner to be a man of thrift

and energy. He has held a number of township
offices and is one of the best citizens. The six

children bom to his marriage are named as follows:

Samuel E., born June 12, 1867; George M., born
March 7, 1869; John H., born August 8, 1871;

Allen P.
,
born October 20, 1873; Harold C., born

October 4, 1875; and Florence M., born August 2,

1886. Mrs. Kelley had one brother, George, in

the Civil war, and he served three years in a Kan-
sas regiment. Samuel E. Kelley married Miss
Fannie Wilkinson, and is now farming in Falls

township. The Kelleys are descended from old

pioneer stock and have reason to be proud of their

ancestors.

Dr. John F. Kennedy, Zanesville, Ohio. The
profession of the physician is perhaps one of the

most trying on brain and body of any in the field

of science, for it absorbs the attention of him who
practices it conscientiously, both day and night,

and brings into play the most versatile powers of

his being. At the early age of fifteen years he
began to lay the foundation of a medical career

—

his kindly nature instinctively turning to that

broad field of human suffering for his life-work

—

a profession whose noiseless, yet oft times marvel-

ous triumphs are unknown to the multitude. He
was born in Fultonham, Muskingum county, Ohio,

August 31, 1844, and after receiving the advan-

tages of the common schools he began the study

of the noble science of medicine, and in 1867
graduated from the Ohio Medical college of Cin-

cinnati, after which he practiced for one year in

the old Marion hospital of that city. In 1869 he
came to Zanesville, where he has since been one of

the leading practitioners, and is now a member of

the county and district medical association and
also of the State Medical society. In June, 1889,

he was appointed pension examiner, and the duties

of this position he still faithfully discharges. He
was married, in June, 1869, to Miss Jennie Man-
ning, of Morgan county, Ohio, and to them a

family of two children has been born: Edwin R.

and Wade M. The family worship in the En-
glish Lutheran church, in which Dr. Kennedy is

a deacon. He is a member of the I. O. O. F., the

K. of H. and Royal Arcanum. In 1861 he en-

listed in Company E, Seventy- eighth Ohio infan-

try, with which he served until the close of the

war, being mustered out of the service as a lieu-

tenant. He was in Gen. Sherman’s army, or the

Army of the Tennessee, was a participant in all

the engagements in which his command took part,

and was in the famous march to the sea. His parents,

Philip and Elizabeth (Fulton) Kennedy, were born

in Ireland and Loudoun county, Va., respectively,

the former emigrating to America in his youth and
locating in Somerset, Perry county, Ohio. His

father-in-law, Lyle Fulton, was the founder of

Fultonham, a small village, and here he kept an

old-fashioned tavern, which was the stopping

place for all the stages and travelers going that

way for years. He was justice of the peace for

many years, held other offices of like importance

and became well known throughout the county.

He died at his tavern in 1854. The father of the

subject of this sketch, after reaching maturity,

was a cabinet maker and school teacher by occupa-

tion, but subsequently studied medicine with Dr.

Jonathan Atkin, of Fultonham, and graduated

from the Ohio Medical college of Cincinnati. He
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first began practicing with his preceptor, but sub-

sequently removed to Dovertown, Morgan county,

Ohio, where he made his home until his death in

1881. He was a representative of Morgan county
in the state legislature and held a number of im-

portant local offices. He had the reputation of

being a skillful physician, and aside from his pro-

fession was well liked socially. He and his wife

became the parents of ten children, nine of whom
grew to maturity, and eight are now living: Will-

iam H. (a resident of Florida), Dr. John F., E.

M.
,
(the present mayor of McConnelsville, Ohio),

Dr. G. L. (who succeeded his father in his practice

at Dovertown), Mrs. Gray (of Dovertown), Charles
W. (a druggist), Tilla, and Howard (now in Cali-

fornia). The Kennedys have always been valued
members of society, for, besides being enterpris-

ing and public spirited, they have been lovers of

law and order and have been generous in the use
of their means in the interests of worthy enter-

prises.

Of the many residents of foreign birth in

Adams township, none are more honest, indus-

trious, or more deserving of success than the Irish

element of which William H. Keyes, farmer and
stock raiser, Adamsville, Ohio, is a representative.

He was born in county Fermanagh, Ireland, May
81, 1831, and his parents, Thomas and Mabel
(Johnston) Keyes, were natives also of that coun-
try. When seventeen years of age William H.
Keyes crossed the ocean to America, and began
working on a farm in Madison township, receiv-

ing $5 per month. At the end of nine years he
had accumulated sufficient means to enable him to

embark in agricultural pursuits for himself. He
then went West and entered land in Iowa, but soon
returned aDd continued working on a farm. In
1858 he went to Illinois, and while there he ex-

changed his Iowa farm for an improved farm in

Clark county, 111. The latter he exchanged for a

farm in Washington township, Muskingum county,
Ohio, and he has been residing on his present
property since 1870. He was married in 1858 to

Miss Mary E. Day, who was born in Troy, N. Y.

,

but who was reared in Muskingum county. Her
birth occurred March 20, 1839, and she was a

daughter of Alfred and Elizabeth (Frazier) Day.
To Mr. and Mrs. Keyes were born the following
children: Charles (who died in 1863), Thomas D.
(married Miss Ella J. Arnold, and now resides in

Adamsville. He is the father of three children,

two now living: Judah F., Alfred A. (deceased)

and Mabel), Margaret A., George L. (at home),
Robert H., William J. and Edward P. Mr. Keyes
is a republican in politics, a public-spirited citi-

zen, and is interested in all that relates to the wel-

fare of the county. He has a fine farm of 336
acres in Adams township, and he is well known all

over the county as one of the foremost stockmen.

He has four imported horses, and he was the

owner of the first imported horse brought to Mus-
kingum county, also owner of the first registered

Durham bull brought to this portion of the coun-

try. He has risen to more than ordinary degree of

success in his calling as a stockman, and deserves

great credit for the interest he has taken in im-

proving the stock of the country.

Leslie Keyes, farmer and stockraiser, Adams-
ville, Ohio, has been a resident of Madison town-
ship Muskingum county, since August 15, 1857,

and is prominently identified with the interests of

the same. He was born in county Fermanagh,
Ireland, June 22, 1842, and was one of six sons

born to Thomas and Mabel (Johnston) Keyes. The
father was a native of the north of Ireland, born
about 1786, and of Scotch -Irish parentage.

He was married in his native county to Miss John-
ston, and the fruits of this union were the following

children: William, Samuel, John (died in 1871);
James (died in infancy), Charles, (enlisted in the

Civil war, Company E, Ninety-seventh Ohio Volun-
teer infantry, and was killed at the battle of Ken-
saw Mountain), and Leslie. The father of these

children died in the old country in 1850,

and in June of the following year the mother and
children emigrated to the United States. They
settled on a farm in Madison township, Muskingum
county, Ohio, and the boys began working out on
farms. The mother was married to Mr. William
Humphreys, of Coshocton county, Ohio, and died

in that county on June 20, 1857. At the age of

nine years Leslie Keyes started out to do what he
could on a farm, and continued tilling the soil for

others until his marriage in 1866, to Miss Marga-
ret Armstrong, a native of Madison township,

Muskingum county, and the daughter of Thomas
and Elizabeth (Humphreys) Armstrong, natives of

Ireland. Her father died August, 1870, and the

mother followed him to the grave nine years later.

To Mr. and Mrs. Keyes have been born six chil-

dren, five now living: Bessie J., Mina S., Charles
A., Leslie A., and M. Agnes. Mr. Keyes has re-

sided on his present property for thirty-four years

and is well known and respected throughout the
county. He is a republican in politics, and has
held the office of treasurer and trustee of Madison
township. He and family are members of the

Episcopal church. Mr. Keyes is the owner of 520
acres of land and he is principally engaged in the

raising of fine stock. He is one of the county’s
best citizens.

Among the early pioneers of Muskingum
county, Ohio, whose memory will long be remem-
bered, may be mentioned Patrick King (deceased),

who was the first of that now large family, to settle

in this region. As is well known, Ohio received a
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large immigration to its territory iu the early part

of the present century and many of the settlers

made honorable names for themselves and identi-

fied themselves with every interest of the section

in which they located, and no man more so than
Mr. King. He was born in Huntingdon county,

Penn., in 1790, and spent his early life in that

county on a farm. He was a son of George and
Mary (Wayne) King, natives of England, who
came to America and settled in Pennsylvania, in a

very early day. The father died in Hunting-
don county of that state, between 1888 and
1837. His wife, the daughter of John Wayne,
bore him ten children, as follows: William, John,

George, Patrick, Elizabeth, James, Hugh, Sallie,

Charles and Hannah. Six of these children, Will-

iam, Patrick, Charles, Hannah, Elizabeth and
,

came to Muskingum county, Ohio, and all died in

this county except William, who passed from life

in Licking county. The mother of these children

was called to her long home in Muskingum county
in 1850. Patrick King was married in 1813 to

Miss Mary McLerry, who was born in Pennsylvania
in 1795, and their union was, in time, blessed in

the birth of nine children in Pennsylvania, and
after settling in Muskingum county two more
children were added: George, Thomas, Hugh,
James, Sarah A., William, Samuel, John, Mary,
Hannah and Elizabeth. In 1832 Patrick King
settled with his family on a farm in Perry town-
ship, but one year later located in Madison town-

ship, where he followed the calling of a blacksmith,

in connection with farming, for the rest of his life.

He was a man of advanced views and believed that

what was worth doing at all, was worth doing well,

and his attributes of industry, perseverance and
intelligence were put to a practical use, and
achieved the desired result. All measures of

morality, education, temperance and others of a

like nature found in him a strong advocate, and a

warm love of his country was not among the least

of his worthy traits. He was for some time a

soldier in the War of 1812, and in an early day
held a number of offices in Muskingum county.

After the death of his first wife he was united in

marriage to Miss Mariah Wiatt, who survives him
and makes her home with her step-son, William
King, in Madison township.

George King (deceased), the eldest son of Pat-

rick King, was born in Huntingdon county, Penn.,

September 4, 1815, but came to Muskingum county,

Ohio, with his parents in his youth, and his early

life, and in fact all his life was spent on a farm.

When he attained the age of about twenty years

he started to do for himself, and for some time

thereafter lived in Washington township, but later

moved to Madison township, where he accumulated
a good property and improved a fine farm of about

600 acres, although the first sixteen years that he
worked independently, he tilled rented land. The
farm to which so many years of his life were de-

voted is now owned by his family, and is one of the
most valuable tracts of land in the Muskingum
valley. In 1841 Miss Elizabeth Drummond, the
daughter of an old and prominent settler of this

section, became his wife and together they reared
a family of nine children: Cordelia (Mrs. Shire of

Kansas) returned home to attend the funeral of her
brother Nebraska, and died October 16, 1891;
Louise E., now Mrs. Eckelberry, resides in Madi-
son township; Mary, who died iu 1853: Lafayette,

who died in 1853; Serena C. (Mrs. Morman of

Zanesville); Thomas O., who is a fanner of Madison
township; Australia, who died in 1885; Nebraska,
who died in 1891, and Utah, who died in 1860. Of
this family there are only three surviving members.
Mr. King was called from life on September 8,

1891, but is still survived by his widow who resides

on the old homestead. Mr. King and his family
worshiped in the Methodist Protestant church, and
during the many years of residence in this section

he was public spirited and was interested in the
successful issue of all worthy enterprises. At his

home there has been a reunion of the King family

for a number of years, which all those in the county
who bore the name attended, to the number of

several hundred.
Thomas O. King is a progressive farmer, who

has steadily pursued the “even tenor of his way”
and is now in the enjoyment of a comfortable com-
petency. He is the second son of George King
(deceased), and is the only one now living. He
first saw the light of day on February 24, 1853, and
was brought up on a farm in Madison township
and there also obtained his education. At the age
of twenty-one years he entered upon life’s duties

for himself and soon after was united in marriage
to Miss Henrietta Collins, a daughter of James
Collins and wife, who are old settlers of Muskingum
county. Mrs. King was born in Madison township
of this county in 1852, and was educated in the

common schools of the same, she being one of

eight children to be reared there. Mr. and Mrs.

King have had five children born to them: Ada E.,

Clarence A., Harry B., Hampton L. and Glenn C.

Mr. King and his family reside near the old home-
stead on which his mother resides, his place having
been a part of this fine property. He has charge

of over 600 acres of land, which was part of his

father’s estate, and in his management of the same
has shown much discernment and good judgment.
His fine place shows him to be a thorough and prac-

tical farmer, and he has a ve7-y nice and comfortable

residence, and buildings of good descriptions for his

stock and grain. Like his father he is decidedly

public spirited and is thoroughly posted on all
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subjects and up with the times. He is a republican

in politics, and has shown his approval of secret

organizations by becoming a member of Dresden
lodge No. 186 of the I. O. O. F.

Thomas King, the second son of Patrick and
Mary King, was born in Huntingdon county, Penn.,

May 13, 1817, but for many years past has been a

valued citizen of Muskingum county, Ohio, espe-

cially in the direction of agricultural interests. He
was brought up to a farm life, and his long residence

here and his well-known industrious habits and
perseverance, as well as enterprise and progress,

have contributed to place around him a host of

friends and acquaintances. His opportunities for

acquiring an education were those of the average
farmer’s boy, and the practical education which he
acquired in the common schools was of great use

to him when he started out to make his own way
in the world. At the age of fifteen years he settled

with his parents in this county, and was here mar-
ried, in 1847, to Miss Martha J. Brooks, daughter
of James and Harriet Brooks, who were pioneers

of this county, also, from Maryland. Mrs. King
was born in Washington township of this county, in

1826, the fifth of eight children, whose parents

spent many years of their lives and died in this

county. To Thomas King and his wife ten chil-

dren were born: Susan C. (Mrs. Border); Jerome
W.; Lowell M. (who died in 1891); Howard C.;

Alice H. (Mrs. Arnold); Ellenora (Mrs. Gaumer),
of Colorado; Martha A. (Mrs. Minner); James P.

;

Charles W. and George T. At the age of twenty-

one years Mr. King started out to fight the battle

of life for himself, and after working on a farm by
the month until about thirty-two years of age, he
purchased 200 acres of well -improved land, upon
which he has since been principally engaged in

stockraising. His farm is well adapted for this

purpose, and in their comfortable residence—

a

very homelike place—he and his wife are living

worthy lives, surrounded by their children. He was
an old line whig, but is now a republican in poli-

tics. He is one of the unassuming, intelligent men
of the county, reliable beyond suspicion in all his

operations, and to a great extent enjoys the esteem
and confidence of those who know him.

Hugh King is an example of the hard-working
and pushing farmer, and although he is now in

good circumstances, he has seen the time when his

means were limited and when he was compelled to

toil incessantly to provide himself and family with

the ordinary comforts of life. He was born May
16, 1819, in Huntingdon county, Penn., to Patrick
King, and was brought by the latter and his wife

to Muskingum county, Ohio, in the fall of 1832,

and with them settled in Madison township, where
he was reared to a farm life and also learned the
blacksmith’s trade under his father. In 1839 he

was married to Miss Anna M. Stoner, who was born
in Madison township of this county, a daughter of

John and Mary (Shurtz) Stoner, and one of their

eight children. The father died in 1875 and the

mother in 1860, the former having been blind for

forty-eight years before his death. They were very

worthy people, and the mother was a member of

the Lutheran church, of which the father also be-

came a member. Mr. and Mrs. King have five

living children: Patrick, who is a farmer and min-
ister, living in Madison township; George P.

,
also

of that township; Mary C. (Mrs. Stotts), also re-

siding near her father; Mahala (Mrs. Skinner), re-

sides in this township, and Susan M. (Mrs. Spen-
cer). residing in Pike county. Those deceased are:

Matilda J. ,
Harmon and Neala A. The mother of

these children died in 1856, and in 1858 Mr. King
married her cousin, Angeline Stoner, by whom he
has become the father of two children: Harvey,
who is a farmer, of Madison township, and Eras-

tus, who is deceased. Mr. King has always been
interested in all movements for the improvement
and building up of the county, and has always been
liberal in the use of his means in founding churches
and schools. When he came to this section with

his parents there was not a religious or educational

institution in the township, and the most of the

country was covered with a heavy growth of tim-

ber. In 1877, after an active and well-spent busi-

ness career, he retired from the active duties of

life, and is now living in retirement in Adamsville.

He has the satisfaction of knowing that the com-
petency that he now enjoys is the result of his

own endeavors and that it was obtained in a strictly

honorable way. He has been trustee of Salem
and Madison townships, but aside from this, has,

through his own desire, held but few offices. He
and his family are members of the Methodist Prot-

estant church. Two of his sons served in the union
army during the Civil war, and Harmon died

shortly after his return home from the service.

George served his country for about three years.

Mr. King has given his children a good start in

life, and still has enough to comfortably provide
for himself and wife during the remainder of their

days.

Like many of the representative citizens of

Muskingum county, Ohio, James King is a Penn-
sylvanian, for in Huntindgon county of that state

he first saw the light of day on March 19, 1821.

He passed his youth in assisting his father on the

home farm, but his education was not neglected
and for some time he attended school kept by his

grandfather, George King. He was a small lad

when his parents, Patrick and Mary King, came
to Muskingum county, and here his youth and
early manhood were spent. His marriage to Miss
Eliza A. Kinney was celebrated in 1847. She was
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bom in Madison township in 1826, her present

home being about one mile from where she was
born. Her father was an early settler of this

county and died here in 1865. A family of ten

children have been bom to James and Eliza A.

King, and were named as follows: Mary A., wife

of Charles Minner; Hamilton J.; Emma H. (Mrs.

Collins); Thomas D.
;
Nancy E. (Mrs. Swope);

Albert H. ; Flora, the deceased wife of Ira Shurtz;

Effie J.,wife ofThomas O’ Hem; WillisE.
,
andJohn

E. Mr. King and his family attend the Methodist
Protestant church, and nearly all his children are

residents of this county, a number of them resid-

ing in Madison township. In politics Mr. King
is a republic, and for the past twenty years he
has been treasurer of Madison township. He has

a well-improved farm of 266 acres and all kinds

of grain indigenous to this climate are grown in

abundance on the cultivated portions of his farm,

and everything about his place pronounce him an

agriculturist of enterprise and progress, and such
he is acknowledged to be. Like his worthy father

before him he is interested in worthy enterprises

and gives them his hearty support.

William King was the fourth son and fifth

child born to Patrick and Mary King, a sketch of

whom appears above, and in Huntingdon county,

Penn., his birth occurred November 1, 1825. He
was about seven years of age when he was brought
to Muskingum county, Ohio, and this section has
been his abiding place ever since. He attended

school for a short time in the county of his birth,

but the most of his knowledge of the ‘
‘ world of

books” was obtained in this county. He was
married about 1847, to Miss Hannah D. Wiatt, who
was a daughter of Jacob A. Wiatt and Anna
(Payne) Wiatt, native Virginians, who settled in

Muskingum county in the twenties. Mrs. King was
the youngest of nine daughters, all of whom are

deceased except one, Mariah, who was the wife of

Patrick King, father of William. She was born
in Fauquier county, Va., October 18, 1812, and
died June 27, 1877, at which time she was an
earnest member of the Methodist Protestant

church. She bore her husband the following

children: Minerva is the wife of Charles Quig-
ley, by whom she has two daughters and a son,

and resides in Cass township; Mariah, who died

in 1862, and Jennie who is at home. In 1880
Mr. King married his present wife, Susan Hurdle,
a daughter of Leonard and Mary Hurdle, who
came to this section from Virginia, while in child-

hood, and were here married in 1829. Mrs. King
was born in this county, the sixth of their children

whose names are here given: Sarah A., Minerva
J., Alva J., Selma, Celia J.

,
Susan, Mary I, John

I. and Piercey, the most of whom are residing

in this county. Mr. Hurdle was called from life

in this township (Madison), September 17, 1874,
and the mother March 9, 1887. Mr. King has re-

sided on his present farm for the past thirty-

nine years, and although it only comprises ninety-

seven acres it is very carefully conducted and
yields a far larger income than many more pre-

tentious estates. Although he has ever been a

stanch republican he is not an office seeker.

Like all worthy citizens he is very public spirited

and has the good of his section warmly at heart.

He and his family attend the Methodist Protest-

ant church.

John King has, from his earliest youth been
familiar with the details of farming, and he is con-

ceded by all to thoroughly understand his business.

Like his brothers, whose sketches appear in this

volume, he was born in Huntingdon county, Penn.,
his advent into this world dating November 22,

1829. As he was but three years of age when he
was brought to this section, his education was
acquired in this county, and was such as the com-
mon schools of his day afforded. In 1851 he
started on an independent career, and the knowl-
edge of farming and the education which he had
previously gained, then stood him in good stead.

He was soon after married to Miss Sarah Hurdle,
a daughter of Leonard and Mary (Joseph) Hurdle,

a short notice of whom is given in the sketch of

William King. Mrs. King was born November 2,

1829, and has borne her husband eight children,

but only three survive: Addraanna, who died when
a babe, Zara C., who died in 1877; Harlan R., who
died in childhood, and twins who died in infancy;

Fleetwood H., who is deputy recorder of this

county, is residing at Zanesville, is married and is

the father of three children: Mary B. (Mrs. Thomas)
is living in Harrison county, Ohio, and Martha E.,

is at home with her parents. The farm on which
Mr. King is now residing is the old homestead
which was cleared and improved by his father,

Patrick King. Here he has resided since 1863
but before that time had lived on a farm belonging

to his brother George in this township. Formerly
a whig, Mr. King is now a republican politically,

and he and his family are attendants of the

Methodist Protestant church. Mrs. King’s grand-

father was John Hurdle who early became a resi-

dent of Belmont county, Ohio, but in 1822 settled

in Muskingum county. Her maternal grandfather,

Lemuel Joseph, settled in this county about 1806
and died in 1830, and her mother died in 1887.

William Kirk, proprietor of the Kirk House,
Zanesville, Ohio, is of a family of hotel keepers,

his grandfather and his parents having been in

the business before him. He is a native of Mus-
kingum county, having been born in Union town-

ship December 27, 1844, a son of Robert and Susan
Kirk. The Kirk house was established in 1863
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and soon gained and lias since held a firm hold on
the traveling patronage. It is one of the oldest

and best known hotels in this part of the country

and one of the most popular with commercial men.
From the start it has been under Mr. Kirk’s con-

duct and he has given his personal attention to all

the details of its management. There are few
Zanesville men more widely or more favorably known
than he, and none who do more than he does in his

way, to impress upon strangers an idea of Zanes-
ville’s progress and promise, and appearances in-

dicate that the Kirk house will long be one of

Zanesville’s best known institutions.

John J. Klein belongs to one of the old and re-

spected German families of Muskingum county.

His father was Christian Klein, a vineyard keeper
and winemaker of Germany. He married Chris-

tina Ott, and they were the parents of four chil-

dren: Christian, William, Christina and John J.

Christian Klein Sr. was a comfortable farmer, and
owned some land. He lived to be eighty-seven

years of age, and died in Germany. John J.

Klein, his son, was born in the province of Wur-
temberg, Kearchhim, village of Urderteck, Dit-

tingan, Germany, November 1, 1814, and attended
school in Germany eight years. He learned the

shoemaker’s trade, and at the age of twenty-one
years came to America in a sailing vessel bound
from Bremen to Baltimore, arriving on the 4th of

J uly. He at once came to Ohio, where his grand-
father, Jacob Klein, was a farmer of Morgan
county, having come from Germany in 1817.

Young John J. immediately began to work at his

trade, at which he worked fourteen years, and Oc-
tober 29, 1 839, married Catherine Moser, daughter
of Daniel and Catherine Moser. The father came
from Germany in 1834, with his wifeand four chil-

dren: Philip, Adam, Catherine and Louisa. He
was a potter by trade, and upon his arrival in

Ohio settled on a farm in Adams township, where
he passed the remainder of his days, dying at the

age of sixty-two years. He was a member of the
Lutheran church. After his marriage, John J.

Klein worked at his trade in Zanesville. In 1849
he came to his present farm of sixty acres. He is

the father of nine children: Louisa, Christina,

Jacob, William, George, Matilda, Albert, Alice

and Christian. Mr. Klein is a member of the
Lutheran church, and a respected and industrious
citizen. His son Christian and daughter Louisa
are at home, and William died September 25,

1884. Christina married John Sandel [see sketch],

and Jacob married Emma Brown. He is a farmer
of Monroe township, and has five children: Ella

C., George E., Sylvia A., Susan A. and Ida L.
Matilda married John Roolirig, a farmer of Linton
township, Coshocton county, and has eight chil-

dren: William H., Albert C., Syana A., Carson,

Katie, Ramond K., Lester and Alice O. William

married Sarah Lockard, and is a farmer of Green-

wood county. He has three children: John J.,

Charles and Frank. Christian married Mary Bar-

rett, November 30, 1882, and they have three

children: Alvin H., Bruce C. and Clarence A.

Albert married Ella McClery, and has one child,

Alva F., and George married Doar Dougherty,

and they have one child, Quincy. Thus Mr. Klein

is the grandfather of twenty-one grandchildren,

and the name of this sturdy emigrant will live long

in his adopted country. Mr. Klein’s maternal

grandfather was Ulrick Ott, was a shoemaker and
was married twice. He had three daughters and
one son, and died at the age of eighty-eight years.

Mr. Klein well remembers the vineyard and wine

press of his father’s, and can describe in an inter-

esting manner the process of cultivating the grape.

When he arrived at Zanesville a stranger he

could speak no English, and Peter Grieves, a

shoemaker, employed him at $8 per month until

he learned the language, when he got along very

well, and has since been prosperous.

Isaac Knicely, the father of David Knicely, of

Adamsville, Ohio, was born February 18, 1801, on
a farm near Waynesburg, Penn., and came to Ohio
when a young man. He settled in Salem town-

ship and October 19, 1826, married Elizabeth

Spragg, of this county, born December 10, 1806,

and daughter of Benjamin Spragg. They were

the parents of three children: Nancy (born May
29, 1828, was married in Illinois and there died),

Benjamin (born May 24, 1830, now residing on a

good farm in Washington township), and Hannah
(born May 6, 1832, now a widow living in Illi-

nois). Mrs. Knicely died April 15, 1833, and Mr.

Knicely married Hannah Spragg, a sister of his

first wife and by her was the father of six chil-

dren: David, Elizabeth, Delilah, Martha, Isaac

and Ezra. He lived to be seventy-nine years of

age, was a member of the Methodist church and
in politics a democrat and a strong Union man
during the war. His son Isaac was in the 100
days’ service during the war. He settled in an
almost unbroken wilderness and so improved his

farm and worked so industriously that prior to his

death he owned 460 acres in this county and 80
acres in the West. His second wife died Decem-
ber 28, 1880. David Knicely, their son, was born
in Salem township, on his father’s farm, July 14,

1836. He received a common-school education in

the old log school of that day, learned farming
and January 22, 1863, married Catherine Wag-
oner, born January 5, 1837, and a daughter of

John and Barbara (Shurtz) Wagoner. To Mr.
and Mrs. Knicely were born eight children: Adah
A. (born May 8, 1864). Laura I. (July 4, 1S65),

John H. (December 2, 1866), Isaac H. (July 11



492 HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY.

1868), Harrison H. (April 26, 1872), Jennie I.

(May 29, 1874), Hannah O. (October 3, 1876),

and Wilbert R. (December 19, 1880, and died in

infancy). After marriage Mr. Knicely settled on
his present farm of 138 acres and has added to it

until it now comprises 243 acres. Both himself

and wife are members of the Lutheran church in

Salem township, of which he is now church trus-

tee. In politics he is a strong democrat, but has
taken little interest in public matters of any kind,

preferring to attend to his own affairs. He is in-

terested in educational matters and in favor of

good schools, has been on the school board, and
given all his children good common-school educa-
tions. He was road supervisor for many years.

His daughter, Laura I., married Elmer Wertz, a

baker in Coshocton; they have one child. John
Wagoner, the father of Mrs. Knicely, was born in

Butler county, Penn.
,
and came to Ohio when a

young man. He received a common-school edu-
cation, was a farmer and married Barbara Shurtz.

The family is of German descent and they reared

a family of twelve children: Harrison, Elizabeth,

George, Elijah, Belilla, Margaret, Jacob, Mary
A., John, Sarah C., Barbara (deceased) and Sam-
uel. Mr. Wagoner settled in Adams township in

1827, and himself and wife were members of the
Lutheran church. He lived to be nearly eighty

years of age and Avas a soldier in the War of 1812.

The land they first owned is now owned by Solo-

mon Gaumer and upon it is a cherry tree planted
by Elijah, son of John Wagoner some forty or

fifty years ago, and measures eleven feet and two
inches in circumference.

The social, political and business history of this

session is filled with the deeds and doings of self-

made men, and no man in Muskingum county is

more deserving the appellation than J. A. Knight,
auditor of Muskingum county, Ohio, for he marked
out his own career in youth, and has steadily fol-

lowed it up to the present, his prosperity being at-

tributable to his earnest and persistent endeavor
and to the fact that he has always consistently

tried to follow the teachings of the “ Golden Rule.”

He is one of the representative, thoroughgoing
and efficient officials of the county, and although
born in Washington county, Md. , he has resided

within its borders many years of his life. His
birth occurred on April 19, 1832, to Benjamin and
Nancy (Cunningham) Knight, both natives of

Maryland, the former’s birth occurring in Balti-

more. He was of English-Irish origin, and his, as

well as his wife’s ancestors, were early emigrants
to Maryland. Benjamin Knight was a mechanic
by trade, and this calling he followed in his native

state until 1849, when he started west to seek his

fortune, coming to this state in wagons, the jour-

ney occupying about two weeks, owing to the fact

that there was snow on the mountains. He located

in Falls township, Muskingum county, Ohio, and
there resided until his death, in 1862, following

the calling of a farmer, as well as his trade, for

some time after coming hither. During the latter

part of his life his time was entirely given to

farming. His widow survived him until 1890, dy-

ing in her eighty-seventh year. She was the

mother of eleven children, seven of whom are now
living: Mrs. Matilda Golding, in her seventy-first

year, resides in Burlington, Iowa; Mrs. Amanda
K. Parsons, is editing a temperance paper in La-
fayette, Ind.

;
Oscar, resides in Watseka, 111.

;
Ed-

ward, is a resident of Burlington, Iowa; Julius

A., the subject of this sketch; Llewellyn and
Frank, of Burlington, Iowa. J. A. Knight was
about seventeen years of age when he came to this

county, and he was educated at home, never at-

tending the public schools but nineteen months dur-

ing his life. He took a severe cold in his youth,

which settled in his limbs, and for over six years

he was confined to his room, which was just at the

time when he should have been attending school.

After recovering, he was again very unfortunate,

and while stepping from a train of cars sprained

his ankle, and his leg had to be amputated, after

about a year of intense suffering, in trying to save

the leg. This occurred in 1855 and unfitted him
for any manual labor. In 1856 he began clerking

in an insurance office, following which he kept a

news stand for two years. In 1859-60 he was a

clerk in the auditor’s office, and for thirteen years

following was in the revenue service, stationed at

Zanesville. He was deputy recorder for eleven

years, and in 1886 was elected to his present

office, and re-elected in 1889. He was married in

1872 to Miss Belle M. Anderson, of Muskingum
county, a native of Zanesville, by whom he has

five children: Ralph A., Willie A., Yera M.

,

Llewellyn S. and Isabel M. Mr. Knight and his

family are members of the Second Street Methodist

Episcopal church, of which he has been steward

for a number of years. Mr. Knight deserves great

credit for the energy he has displayed and the

many difficulties he has overcome in the battle of

life, and he has the confidence and respect of all who
know him. He is a charter member of the Mus-
kingum Brick Company, and is otherwise inter-

ested in the business affairs of this section.

Among those of foreign birth who have be-

come prominent in their different callings is John
Krebs, farmer, Adams Mills, Ohio, whose thrift

and enterprise as an agriculturist is well known.
He was born on a farm in Bavaria on October

18, 1826, and his parents, William and Mary
(Stark) Krebs, were natives also of that country.

John Krebs was the only child born to this

union, but his parents had both been married
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previously and were the parents of other children.

Mr. William Krebs was a substantial farmer, and
followed this occupation the principal part of his

life. He was a member of the Presbyterian

church, and was an elder in the same. As an hon-

orable, upright citizen he was well known and
respected. He was a soldier under the great

Napoleon, was in many battles, and was in the

famous battle of Waterloo. He received a wound
in the leg, and this troubled him all his life, for it

would not heal. His son, John Krebs, received a

thorough education in the German language, and
being a great reader of good books and papers, he
is thoroughly posted on all subjects. He is a

great reader of the Bible, and is well versed on all

Biblical questions. He became familiar with the

duties of the farm at an early age, and was but a

little over ten years of age when his father died.

He then remained on the farm with his mother,
and in the same house in which he was born, until

twenty-nine years of age. This house was built of

stone in the substantial manner of that country.

In December, 1850, when twenty-four years of

age, he married Miss Madelina Beauregard, and
the fruits of this union were nine children, seven
of whom lived to be grown: John, William, George,
Samuel, Casper. Charles and Edward. In 1854
Mr. Krebs emigrated to America and came directly

to Ohio, settling in Coshocton county, where he
made his home for about twenty years. From
there he moved to this county and settled on his

present farm in 1874. He now owns 150 acres of

land, and is a prosperous and successful farmer.

In his religious belief he is a Presbyterian, and is an
elder in that church. Politically a republican, he
advocates the principles of that party. A self-made
man, he has made all his property by the honest
sweat of his brow, and is classed among the wide-
awake, thoroughgoing men of the county. Mrs.
Krebs’ great uncle, Berkhart Moser, settled in

Pennsylvania at an early date, and is one of the
wealthiest men in his part of the country.

Squire John M. Lane, farmer, Zanesville,

Ohio. The Lane family, one of the oldest and
most respected in Muskingum county, Ohio, num-
bers among its members many prominent citizens.

Two brothers of this name came from England and
settled in Baltimore, Md., about 1620 or 1625,
and from them sprang the Lanes in America.
Dalton Lane, grandfather of Squire John M. Lane,
was a prosperous farmer of Baltimore county, Md.

,

He married a Miss Hooker, and to them were
born the following children: Elisha, Richard,
John, Micajah, Urith, Diana, Polly and Sallie.

Mr. Lane was a slave owner and a man of good
standing. He died when about sixty-five years of

age. His son, John Lane, the father of Squire
Lane, was born in Baltimore county, Md.,on Feb-

uary 27, 1770, on his father’s farm. The latter

received but a meager education, learned the

blacksmith's trade, and married Miss Mary Mil-

leron, daughter of Jacob Milleron, who was a

German, and a successful farmer of Baltimore

county, Md. Mrs. Lane was also born in Ger-

many. The fruits of this union were eleven chil-

dren: George, Jacob, John M.
,
Samuel M., Susan,

Margaret, Elizabeth, Catherine, Mary A., Harriet

and Barbara, all born in Baltimore county except

Samuel M., Harriet and Barbara, who owe their

nativity to Muskingum county, Ohio. Mr. Lane
moved to Muskingum county, in October, 1815,

and settled about one mile northeast of where the

residence of our subject now stands, in Muskingum
township. He was four weeks on the road travel-

ing in a large Conestoga wagon drawn by four

horses, and brought a large amount of household

goods with him. He bought land of John T.

Lane (an old pioneer but no connection), and upon
this was a comfortable hewed-log cabin. John
Lane paid him $400 for 150 acres, and immediately

went to work clearing. To this he added seventy

acres more and resided here for many years. When
an old man he gave his land to his three surviving

sons: George, seventy acres; John M. and Sam-
uel M., seventy-five acres each; and to his daugh-

ters, his present personal property. Mrs. Lane
died November 14, 1837, when fifty-five years of

age, and Mr. Lane lived during the last fifteen

years of his life with his son John M. His death

occurred on December 14, 1854, when eighty-five

years of age. He had a wonderful constitution,

and was never sick until he became old, when he

had fever and chills, but took very little medicine.

He would doubtless have lived to a still greater

age bad he not met with an accident in his old age

which disabled one of his limbs. He was an

honorable, industrious man and was noted far and
wide for those traits. It was his custom to work
on the farm in pleasant weather and in the black-

smith shop when bad, and he would often labor

far into the night. This did not interfere with his

early rising however. His son John M.
,
the sub-

ject of this sketch, was born in Baltimore county,

Md., May 12, 1811, and the house in which his

birth occurred is still standing in a state of good
preservation. It was visited by him in 1876. He
was but little over four years of age when he was
brought by his parents to Muskingum county,

Ohio, and here he received the usual education of

the pioneer children, in the old log schoolhouse

with the old fashioned fireplace that would take

in logs twelve feet long. His teachers were James
Lane, James Welsh, John Gibson, Cornelius Sted-

ham and Wilson Cooper. Of these pioneer teach-

ers he gained sufficient education to get a certifi-

cate to teach in the common schools of the county,
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and followed this profession in the district where
he now lives, and in this township, for three win-

ters. He also followed farming, and on October

27, 1835, he married Miss Martha Bland, daughter
of John and Nancy (Cunningham) Bland. Mr.
Bland was one of the original pioneers of Muskin-
gum county, coming from Virginia and settling on
Muskingum river just above Zanesville, in the fall

of 1798. The property is now in the corporation

of that city. Silas Bland, one of the first white

children born in this county, and the first one on
the site of what is now Zanesville, was born in a

sugar camp with an open front on the banks of

the Muskingum river. In the spring of 1799 Mr.
John Bland settled in Muskingum township, and
was one of the first, if not the first settler in that

township. He lived to be seventy-five years of

age, dying in February, 1839. He was the father

of a large family: Thomas, William, Henry, Silas,

Joel, Ebenezer, John, Annie, Polly, Sidney, Marga-
ret, Ellen and Martha. Descendants of this family

now reside in this county. Following his marriage
John M. Lane settled on a tract of seventy-five

acres, which his father gave him, and there he re-

sided for four years, after which he bought the land

of his brother Samuel M.
,
and resided on the old

homestead. On April 1, 1858, he moved to his

present residence, which he bought of William
Welsh, and he has added to this from time to

time until he now owns 700 acres. He has given

his sons 165 acres. Like his father, Mr. Lane has
always had a strong constitution, and when a young
man possessed great powers of endurance. He has
ever been industrious, has done a vast amount of

hard work, and can now enjoy the fruits of his

labor, for he has a comfortable and happy home.
He has ever been a man of steady habits, excellent

moral character, and has a host of warm friends.

For four years he was treasurer of Muskingum
county, from 1868 to 1872, and filled that position

in an able and satisfactory manner. He has also

held the office of township clerk, treasurer, assess-

or, trustee, and was justice of the peace for fifteen

years. He always took a deep interest in educa-

tional matters, and served as school director for

many years. In politics he was a stanch demo-
crat, and cast his first presidential vote for Gen.
Andrew Jackson, in 1832. He has voted the straight

democratic ticket since that time. Mrs. Lane died

June 7, 1884. She was an Old School Baptist in

religion, and Squire Lane is of the same religious

belief. Socially he is an Odd Fellow. During
the war he was a strong union man and gave liber-

ally of his means to secure recruits when the

country needed their services. He used his in-

fluence to aid the cause and gave freely to the

soldier’s families. He is now a well-preserved

man of eighty-one, and his mental faculties are

unimpaired. His form is erect and his bearing
vigorous and manly. He is a fine example of the
Ohio pioneer farmer. He has one of finest farms
in the county and is nearly all level except a tract

of ninety acres, on which his commodious residence

and farm buildings are situated. His residence,

which in size and appearance is aTnansion, is on a

high eminence and commands a fine view of the

surrounding country. It is one of the few resi-

dences still standing that was built of the famous
yellow poplar that once abounded in the county.

Besides his handsome property in real estate he
is possessed of a goodly amount of ready money
which is invested at interest in the county. He
is the father of nine children who lived to maturity
Mary F., Margaret, Almira, Nancy E., Lunetta Y.

,

John B. (died at the age of twenty-five years),

Lewis H., William and Franklin P.

Oscar H. Lane, farmer, Dresden, Ohio. Among
the pioneer families of Cass township, this branch
of the Lane family is the most prominent, and de-

serves special mention. Oscar H. Lane was born
on the old homestead in Muskingum county, Ohio,

May 23, 1856, was the son of Samuel L. and Jane
(McDonald) Lane, and the grandson, on the pater-

nal side, of Jacob and Achsah (Butler) Lane.

Jacob Lane was born in Pennsylvania about 1790,

and when a young man he came to Muskingum
county, where he first found work near Zanesville,

on the dam. He subsequently found employment
with Capt. Taylor, who lived where Squire J. M.
Lane now resides, and for odd jobs performed
during the winter he received but 25 cents a day
and his board. As he could find no other employ-
ment, he cheerfully performed his duties in order

to save the earnings he had accumulated during

the summer months. He married Miss Achsah
Butler (see sketch of Joshua Butler) and to them
were born nine children, four of whom lived to be

grown: Samuel M., Jesse, Ebenezer and Isabel.

After marriage Jacob Lane engaged in farming on

the Capt. Taylor farm, resided there five years,

and then bought land where Abraham Dorsey now
lives. There he passed the remainder of his life.

He was industrious and economical, but always

liberal to the poor. He was a soldier in the War of

1812, and received a pension for his services. In

politics he affiliated with the republican party.

He was active in all enterprises for the advance-

ment of his county, and was one of its most suc-

cessful and substantial citizens. Our subject’s

maternal grandparents, John and Margery (Boggs)

McDonald, were natives of West Virginia, and the

former was the son of Archibald McDonald, who
came from Scotland and settled in Ohio county, W.
Ya. at an early day. The latter was a substantial

farmer and lived to be an old man, dying at his

home in West Virginia. He was the father of
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eight children: Christiana, Rosanna, Margaret,
Catherine, Jane, James, John and Elizabeth.

John, the father of Mrs. Lane, was the only one
to settle in Muskingum county, the remainder scat-

tering throughout the West. John McDonald set-

tled in Muskingum township in 1830, and there

made his permanent home. To his marriage were
born ten children: William, Elizabeth, Jane, Mar-
gery, Christiana, Boggs, Archibald, John (who
died in infancy), James and Margaret. John Me
Donald was one of the prominent farmers of the

county. He was a soldier in the War of 1812.

He and wife were members of the Presbyterian
church, and Mr. McDonald was one of the founders
of that church in Muskingum township, and was
an elder in it for many years. He was greatly in-

terested in sheep raising, owned large flocks, and
was the first to introduce Merino sheep in this

county. The father of our subject, Samuel M.
Lane, was born in Muskingum county, Muskingum
township, Ohio, March 13, 1816, and being unusu-
ally bright and intelligent, mastered the funda-
mental branches taught in the pioneer schools,

reading, writing and arithmetic, and was well

versed in history. When twenty-six years of age
on February 16, 1843, he married Miss Jane Mc-
Donald, and soon afterward settled on the farm
where the family now reside, which then consisted

of 110 acres all covered with heavy oak timber,

many of the giant trees being hundreds of years
old. With his own hands Mr. Lane cleared a

small portion on which he erected a log cabin,

and after many years of toil and privations this

vast forest was leveled, and in its place sprang up
well cultivated farms. Mr. and Mrs. Lane’s
union was blessed by the birth of twelve children:

Helen (died in infancy), Elizabeth, Christina,

James H. (died in infancy), Jacob (died in infancy),

John (died after marriage at the age of twenty-
five), Cyrus B. (died at the age of eighteen years),

Oscar H. (subject), Olive J.
,
Samuel M., Eva

(died in infancy) and Addie M. In politics Mr.
Lane advocated the principles of the republican
party. He was a Baptist in his religious belief,

was a man of good general information, and was a

representative citizen. At the time of his death
he was the owner of 210 acres of excellent land.

Oscar H. Lane received a common school educa-
tion in Muskingum county, and when but a lad
became familiar with the duties of the farm. On
December 30, 1884, he was married to Miss Tirzah
McGinnis, daughter of Squire Daniel and Maria
(Morgan) McGinnis, and shortly afterward went
to housekeeping on the old homestead. To his

union were born two children: Homer B. and
Gladys. Like his father, Oscar is a strong repub-
lican, and for a young man, he has won the confi-

dence and esteem of the people in an unusual de-

gree. He has held the office of assessor three

terms, was the last census enumerator, and also

held the position of township clerk two terms. He
takes a decided interest in educational matters,

and was a member of the board of education. His
mother, who is a devout member of the Presbyte-

rian church, is still living, and her reminiscences

of pioneer days are very interesting. She is a

lady of more than ordinary intelligence.

Peter B. Lane, Otsego, Ohio, is oue of Mus-
kingum county’s old soldier citizens and from an
old pioneer family. His grandfather, Abraham
Lane, was from Pennsylvania, where he was mar-
ried and became the father, by this wife, of Sam-
uel, Abraham and Jacob. This wife died in Penn-
sylvania and Mr. Lane married Mary Baker.

They had five children: Mary E. , George, Sallie,

Achsah, and Dr. Jeremiah (one of the old physi-

cians of this part of the country, who practiced

medicine at Bloomfield for many years). For a

full sketch of the Lane family see sketch of John
M. Lane. Jacob Lane, of Muskingum county,

was a half brother of Jacob Lane, who was the

grandfather of our subject, and who first settled

near Dresden. He then entered land in Highland
township, where he cleared a farm from the wil-

derness and made a home. He lived to a good
old age. George Lane, the father of Peter B.,

was a son of Jacob Lane by his second wife. He
was either born in Highland township or brought
there when a child and educated in the rugged
schools of that time. He married Rebecca Bond,
daughter of Peter Bond. After his marriage he
settled on the old home farm which his father had
entered, where he lived nearly all his life. To
Mr. and Mrs. Lane were born seven children

:

James, George W., Abraham, Peter B., Jeremiah,

Jacob and Martha. At the time of his death Mr.

Lane owned 367 acres of laud and was a self-made

man, having made all his property by his own un-

divided efforts. In later life he bought land in

Monroe township and made a new farm. Mr.

Lane died on this farm at the age of sixty years.

Both himself and wife were members of the Bap-
tist church, of which he was trustee for several

years. In politics he was a democrat, a regular

true blue. Peter B. Lane, his son, was born on
the old homestead in Highland township January

20, 1843, reared as a farmer, receiving no educa-

tion and through life has depended upon his in-

telligence and has done as well as many better

educated men. In September, 1862, he enlisted

Company F, Seventy-eighth regiment Ohio Volun-
teer infantry, served seven months, was disabled by
sickness caused by exposure and was in the hos-

pital at Holly Springs and Memphis, Tenn., about
two months. He has never regained his health

and has been unfit for active work ever since. Ho
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married Mary E. Abbott, July 30, 1863. She was
born May 17, 1846, and was the daughter of

Moses and C. (Foster) Abbott. The father was
born in the state of Indiana and was the son of

Moses Abbott and was the father of four children:

Margaret J. ,
Rebecca A., Mary E. and Eppa.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Abbott were members of the

Baptist church. He lived to the age of fifty-nine

years, respected by all. The Abbott family de-

scended from the Puritan family of Maine, who
were among the best settlers of that state and de-

scended from them are the famous John S. C. Ab-
bott, the great historian, and Jacob Abbott, the

popular author and teacher. Moses Abbott was a

soldier in the Civil war, Company F, Seventy-
eighth tegiment, Ohio Volunteer infantry, and
served six months. He was injured in a railroad

accident and died in Monroe township. After
marriage, Peter B. Lane settled on the home
place and in 1869 came to his present farm, which
was then but a wilderness and which he has con-

verted into a good stock farm by industry. To
Mr. and Mrs. Lane were born eleven children:

Alonzo H. (born April 28, 1865), Laura L. (born
January 4, 1867; married John Conway, a farmer
of Monroe township, and has three children),

George M. (born July 16, 1868, and married Lulu
Ford. He is a farmer of Monroe township and
has two children), Jeremiah B. born July 29,

1876), Susannah B. (born January 13, 1873),
Charles F. (born August 17, 1876), Catherine R.
born May 19, 1878), William O. (born October 28,

1880), John E. (born March 2, 1883), Ira E.
(born August 22, 1885), Peter W. (born April 19,

1888). All are living. Mr. Lane is respected by
his fellow citizens, and has held the office of town-
ship trustee for three years. He takes great in-

terest in educational matters. He is a public-

spirited man, an industrious and practical farmer,
who stands deservedly high as a straightforward
citizen. He is giving his children all good com-
mon-school educations. He was twenty-one years
of age when he married and is now forty-nine years
of age. Mrs. Lane was but seventeen years old
when married, and they have eleven children and
five grandchildren living.

James A. Leasure, farmer, Brush Creek, Ohio.

In former years the life of the farmer was consid-

ered a laborious one, but in this progressive age,

with such improvements in machinery, he can do
his work with half the dispatch or labor as in the
time of his father, and in fact work but little if any
harder than the average man who strives to make
a living. Mr. Leasure is one of the successful

farmers who have kept thoroughly apace with the
times, and has reached the condition of life men-
tioned above. His father, Henry Leasure (deceased),

was a native of the Keystone state, born in Bedford

county, and was the son of William Leasure, a

native of the same county and of German descent,

probably. He was married in his native state to

Miss Sophia Shane and in 1832 he and his wife

and three children, Isaac, Elizabeth (deceased) and
Amos (deceased), started in the latter part of No-
vember, in a covered wagon drawn by a team of

horses, and slowly journeyed toward Ohio. Winter
had set in, and they suffered much from cold and
exposure, but being possessed of the heroic spirit

for which the early settlers were so famous, they

struggled on and finally reached Muskingum
county. The year following Mr. Leasure pur-

chased 204 acres of land, a small portion of which
had been cleared and on which a log cabin had
been erected, and he and family at once began
clearing and improving. Here the father passed

the closing scenes of his life. Although he came
here with limited means and was obliged to work
by the month the first year, he succeeded beyond
his expectations and accumulated considerable

property. The children born in this county were:

Sarah Ann, widow of John Addison; James A.,

and William H., who resides in Lewis county, Mo.,

Mr. and Mrs. Leasure were acceptable members of

the M. E. church with which they had been con-

nected many years, and took a great interest in all

good work. He took an active part in the erection

of the Methodist church that was erected about

1840. Politically he was a democrat, supporting

in all elections the principles of democracy. He
died May 6, 1890, in the eighty-ninth year of his

age. His wife had died May 28, 1868, when sixty-

four years of age. She was born close to Hagers-

town in Maryland. James A. Leasure was born on

the old homestead in Muskingum county, Septem-

ber 10, 1836, and his youthful days were passed in

assisting on the farm, and in attending the common
schools a few short weeks each year. In April,’

1861, he responded to the first three months’ call

for troops, by enlisting in the tenth Indiana Volun-

teer infantry, Company F, and was in the com-

mand of Gen. Rosecranz. He participated with

his regiment in the battle of Rich Mountain and
was discharged at the expiration of his term of

enlistment. He returned to his home, and in the

same year (1861) he was married to Miss Rachel

Buchanan, daughter of Jefferson and Jane (Con-

way) Buchanan. One year later he settled in

Newton township where he now resides and rented

land for three years. He then bought 169 acres of

the same land, then 123 acres, and now has a fine

place. He is a prosperous and enterprising citizen

of the county. Mr. and Mrs. Leasure’s marriage

has been blessed by the birth of five children:

Rosetta M. (deceased), Carrie A., Amos A., Jennie

and Birdie E. Carrie, who was a teacher, married

John Morrison, who also followed that profession.
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Mrs. Leasure’s father, Jefferson Buchanan, who
was the son of Archibald Buchanan, was born in

Ohio county, W. Ya. He married Miss Jane Con-

way and afterward settled in Newton township, this

county, where he followed tanning, becoming cele-

brated in this business. To his marriage were born

two children, Mary and Rachel. Mr. Buchanan
died July 12, 1845, when but thirty-five years of

age. Mrs. Buchanan afterward married Adam
Elson by whom she had one child, Martha, who is

the wridow of James Palmer. Mr. Elson died in

1856. She was born in Ireland, May 10, 1816,

and was but eight days old when her parents (Will-

iam and Margaret Conway), started with her to

America. Mr. and Mrs. Leasure are members of

the Presbyterian church in which they have held

membership for a number of years.

Prominent among the early pioneer families of

Ohio we mention the Leech family, formerly of

Guernsey county. Mrs. Mary A. Leech is living

with her sons, William and James T., on a nicely

improved farm about two miles north of New Con-

cord, Highland township, this state. She was the

wife of Thompson Leech, who was born and
reared in Guernsey county, Adams township, and
the son of Matthew and Nancy (Thompson) Leech.

The father was among the early settlers of that

county, a prominent citizen in his day, and reared

a large family, some still living on the old home
place in Guernsey county. Thompson married

Mary A. Moorehead about 1846, and lived one year

in Guernsey county, after which he moved to Yan
Buren county, Iowa, and settled on a farm. After

a residence here of six months he died, leaving a

wife and two small children. The mother and
two boys came back to Ohio and went to live with

Mrs. Leech’s father, James Moorehead, and are

still residing on the farm, which is one of the old-

est in the township of Highland. James Moore-
head was among the earliest settlers here. He
took up a home about 1813, improved it, made a

good farm of it, and here lived until his death, in

1874. He was a prominent man in the county,

and one of the richest. He took for his wife Ann
McCornb, and they reared a family of five chil-

dren, four still living. The eldest child, John L.,

is living in Zanesville (he is married, had a

large family, two children only now living); Samuel,

is living in Bloomfield; Mary A.; Mrs. Leech;
Elizabeth, Mrs. Pliley, of Zanesville; Joseph, died

at an early day and was the first person buried in

the U. P. graveyard at Bloomfield; Joseph, who
moved to Arkansas and there died. The mother
of this family died in 1865. Both the Leech and
Moorehead families came from good old pioneer

stock, and of Revolutionary fame. Mrs. Mary
Leech is one of the oldest ladies in this county.

She was born March 5, 1816, in Washington

county, Penn. The old home is now owned by
Mrs. Leech and her younger son, James T. He
is a good farmer and business man, has ably man-
aged the farm and built a handsome new house
upon it. It is without doubt one of the best im-
proved places in the township. James T. is an
enterprising, progressive young man, takes a great
interest in public matters, and in politics is a re-

publican. His mother is a member of the United
Presbyterian church, in which she has always in-

terested herself.

Prominent among the well-known and highly
respected citizens of Muskingum county, is Dr.
Leroy S. Lenhart, Chandlersville, who owes his

nativity to this county, his birth occurring on June
17, 1832. He was the third in order of birth of

five children born to Joseph and Nancy (Vickers)

Lenhart, the father of German and the mother of

English descent. Her father built the first frame
house in Zanesville, and was sheriff in that county
for many years. Joseph Lenhart was a native of

the Buckeye state. Dr. Leroy S. Lenhart received

a liberal education in the schools of Morgan county,

Ohio, and commenced the practice of medicine in

1856. He located in Salt Creek township, Mus-
kingum county in 1860, where he has had a large

practice for years. He is a self-made man, and
what he has accomplished in the way of this

world’s goods is the result of his good managment
and skill in his profession. He owns 200 acres of

the best laud in the county, and has an orchard
ninety years old that still bears fruit. In politics

he is a republican. Dr. Lenhart was married in

1858 to Miss Sophia Robertson, daughter of John
and Hannah (Boggs) Robertson. To them have
been born four children: Alice May (now Mrs. Jor-

dan), Charles Milton, Elmer Leroy and Lillie.

All living except Lillie. Mr. and Mrs. Lenhart
are classed among the best citizens of the county,
and have many warm friends.

James J. Lewis is a native-born citizen of Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, and first saw the light of day
in the year 1830. His childhood was spent in his

native township of Salt creek, but at a later period
he became a resident of Wayne township, where
he made his home for twenty years. At the end of

this time he removed to Morgan county, Ohio,
where he became interested in the milling business

on Wolf creek, doing both a grist and sawmilling
business. In 1867 he sold out his milling interests

and purchased at one time seventy acres, and at

another ninety acres of land, which constitutes a

portion of the farm on which he is now residing.

Everything about his farm shows that he thor-

oughly understands his business, and as he has
never entered the arena of political life, nil his time
has been devoted to the successful tilling of his

land. Although repeatedly solicited to accept pub-
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lie office he has invariably refused, the strife and tur-

moil of political life having no charms for him. In

1864 he enlisted in Company G, One Hundred and
Sixty-first Ohio Volunteer infantry, and became
first lieutenant of his company. His regiment was
immediately ordered to the front and became a

part of a Virginia command. At Martinsburg he
was wounded by a bullet in one of his eyes, which
eventually caused the loss of that member. He
served over his time of enlistment (100 days), was
honorably discharged and returned to his Ohio
home. He was married in 1860 to Prudence D.

Holcomb, and to them three children have been
born: Carrie M., Cora A. and Addie E. Mr. Lewis,

his wife and children are members of the Method-
ist Protestant church, and are active in all good
works. Politically he is a republican, and sup-

ports the men and measures of that party on all

important issues.

Jacob Lhane is a pioneer farmer of Muskingum
county, Ohio, and although his life has been a

rather uneventful one, it has been neither useless

nor aimless. He has faithfully discharged his du-

ties as they presented themselves; has ever dis-

charged his obligations in the most upright man-
ner, and his many worthy traits of heart and head
have won him not only the respect but also the

affection of all who know him. He was born in

Franklin county, Penn., October 18, 1815, the eld-

est son and fourth child of ten children born to

Jacob and Mary (Longdorf) Lhane,-1 who were
native Germans and came to America in their

youthful days. They were married in Franklin

county, Penn.
,
and there reared their children. The

father was a carpenter and farmer, and was a man
whose record was honorable in every worthy partic-

ular. Jacob Lhane was left an orphan when about

twelve years of age, and, for a number of years

thereafter, experienced many hardships in endeav-

oring to provide himself with the necessaries of.

life. His youthful days were spent in the county

of his birth in learning the details of farming, and
there he was married, on September 13, 1829, to

Miss Cass Rockwell, who was born in Pennsylvania
in 1812, a daughter of William Rockwell, of

Franklin county, Penn. In 1840 Mr. Lhane came
with bis family to Perry township, Muskingum
county, Ohio, and here at once purchased a farm,

which, after conducting a number of years, he dis-

posed of, and for the past thirty-two years he has

lived on his present fertile and admirably conducted
farm of 115 acres, in the east part of Salem township.

In time a family of ten children gathered about his

board, but two are deceased: Samuel is a farmer,

of this county; John is a farmer, of Missouri;

William was killed by a falling tree in Perry town-

ship, in 1857; Jacob is at home; George is at home;
Elliot, in Missouri, and Michael, at home, are

twins; Mary is at home; Susan died in early

childhood, and Sarah is the wife of Harry F. Fin-
ley, of this township. Mr. Lhane was left a wid-
ower in 1876, since which time his daughter, Mary,
has kept house for him. He and his family wor-
ship in the Methodist Episcopal church, and he and
his sons vote the democratic ticket, the principles

of which party they warmly support. Mr. Lhane
is a general farmer, and his place is indicative of

thrift and energy, which attributes have been among
his chief characteristics from boyhood up. He has
lived a most blameless life, and his worst enemy,
had he one, could say nothing derogatory to his

character. He stands well in the esteem of all

who are so fortunate as to number him among their

acquaintances, and is honored and respected in a

high degree by his own immediate family. His
sons, Samuel and John, were soldiers in the late

Civil war and saw some hard service.

Capt. E. Little is a native of Muskingum
county, Ohio, and resides on a farm in Madison
township, although his birth occurred in Wash-
ington township, two miles from the county court

house in 1829, he being the youngest son and
next to the youngest child born to Thomas and
Alice (Barcroft) Little, who became the parents of

the following children: Fannie, Mary, Edna,
Sarah, Susan, Martha, Elizabeth, John, Ambrose,
James, Elizabeth and the subject of this sketch.

Thomas Little, the father, was born in New
Jersey in 1780, and his death occurred in 1842,

in this county, whither he moved in 1818, settling

near the town of Dresden on a farm. He was mar-
ried in the state of his birth, but reared his family

principally in Muskingum county, and being in

moderate circumstances, gave them all such advan-
tages as the country at that day afforded. His wife

was born the same year as himself but survived him
six years, dying in this county. In his youth,

Capt. E. Little attended school in district No. 5,

also Denison university, and in 1859 was here

united in marriage to Miss Ann Randall, daughter
of Abel and Mary (Van Voorhies) Randall, her

birth occurring in this county in 1837. She was
one of five children, all of whom are living else-

where except her brother, D. V. Randall, who lives

at Frazeysburg. Two other brothers reside in

Kansas and one in California. Mrs. Little’s

parents died in this county after a residence of

many years, the father’s death occurring in 1864
and the mother’s in 1884, their advent in the

county dating from 1812. Captain and Mrs. Little

in time became the parents of the following chil-

dren: M. Kate, Alexander R.
,
Anna L., Alice B.,

and E. Grant. These children have been attend-

ants of some of the best educational institutions

in this section of the state. Capt. Little is a

prosperous farmer, and is the owner of several
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farms of as good land as the county affords.

Large crops are annually raised on the cultivated

portion, and most of the remainder is devoted to

stockraising, in which branch of agriculture the

Captain has been quite successful. In 1863 he
entered the Ohio National guards and was elected

captain of Company H, Eleventh regiment, Ohio
National guards, which in May, 1864, entered the

regular service for 100 days and was made the

One Hundred and Fifty-ninth Ohio regiment.

Capt. Little and his company were detached at

Baltimore, and were detailed to guard the hospital

and supplies at that point. He left the service in

August, 1864. He is a member of the Cass post

No. 415, of the G. A. R., at Dresden. Although
Capt. Little was reared a democrat and his first

vote was for Franklin Pierce, he changed his poli-

tics at the opening of the war and has since been
a republican, on which ticket he was elected to

the state legislature in the fall of 1863, and again

in the fall of 1884. He introduced the Bohemian
oats bill which eventually drove the dealer in that

product out of the state of Ohio, and in various

other ways he showed himself to be thoroughly
alive to the interests of his state, and especially

his section. His home is situated about two and
one-half miles from Dresden.

William Littler, councilman, Frazeysburg,
Ohio, is one of the quiet citizens of Muskingum
county, and a man universally respected. He is of

German-Scotch descent, his great-grandfather,

John Littler, a German, having married a Scotch

lady. The great-grandfather and mother came
to America at a period antedating the Revolution,

and the former would have enlisted had he not

been prevented by sickness. His son, John Littler

Jr., grandfather of our subject, was born in Penn-
sylvania, and married a Miss Newman, of German
extraction. To them were born these children:

Nathan, Thomas, John, Martha, Catherine, Leah
and Rachel. John Littler moved to Virginia, and
settled on a farm in Hardee county, where he re-

sided until eighty-three years of age. He was a

very wealthy man for those days. His wife died at

the age of seventy-four. He was a man of more
than ordinary education, and was circuit judge for

many years, also justice of the peace. He was col-

onel in the militia, and was known as Squire Lit-

tler all through that country. He was a member
of the Methodist church, as were his ancestors for

generations, being among the followers of John
and Charles Wesley. He intended serving in the

Mexican war, but his great weight, and sickness

prevented him. His son, John Littler third, father

of subject, was born on the old homestead in Vir-

ginia in 1813, received a common-school education,

and became familiar with the duties of the farm at

an early age. He was married in Virginia to Miss

Harriet Fry, daughter of Samuel Fry, of Winches-
ter, Va.

,
and afterward followed his trade, that of

saddle maker, becoming very wealthy at this. To
Mr. and Mrs. Littler were born eight children:

John (died at the age of two years), William, Mi-

randa, Ann, John, Harriet, Thomas and Virginia,

all born in Hardee county, Va.
,
on the old home-

stead. Mr. Littler moved to Newark, Ohio, in

1848, and followed farming near the city until 1855,

when he moved to Licking county, where he con-

tinued his former pursuit. He was a member of

the Methodist Episcopal, and his wife a member
of the Presbyterian church. He held the position

of steward, trustee, chorister and class leader, and
was prominent in all good work. He was a fine

singer, and took a great interest in church matters.

In politics he was democratic until his son re-

turned from the war, when he became a republican.

William Littler, subject of this sketch, was born
August 14, 1837, and received a very limited edu-

cation, merely learning to read and write at a writ-

ing school, which he attended several terms. He
was about nine years of age when he came with

his parents to Ohio. The family came by wagon,
and young William walked most of the way. He
followed farming until August 7, 1862, when he
enlisted in Company E, Ninety-fourth Illinois

Volunteer infantry, at Gridley, McLean county,

111.
,
for three years. He had left home the year

before to make his own way in life, but on account

of his father’s failing health all his wages were
sent home to help support the family. He served

three years and nine days, was honorably dis-

charged in 1865. He was in the battle of Prairie

Grove, Ark., December 7, 1862; raid on Van
Buren, December 26, 1862; siege of Vicksburg,

June and July, 1863; Morganza Bend, September

5, 1863; Yazoo City, July 12, 1863; siege of Fort

Morgan, Ala.
, December 22, 1864; siege of Spanish

Fort in March and April, and capture of Fort

Blakely April 9, 1865. This remarkable list of

battles Mr. Littler participated in from first to

last, and was under fire sixty-one days. He es-

caped without wounds, although his head was
grazed by bullets, and his foot by a piece of shell.

He was not in hospital, but was sunstruck at Mor-
ganza Bend, and remained upon the field of bat-

tle, unconscious, for forty-eight hours. This dis-

abled him for about nine months, but he was sent

home on recruiting service. He has never fully

recovered from the effects of his sunstroke. He re-

turned to Illinois, and was married in Muskingum
county, Ohio, to Miss Margaret A. Spencer,

daughter of Simeon and Mary Spencer. Mr.

Spencer was born in America, but was of German
descent. His grandfather was born in New
Jersey, but the great-grandfather came from Ger-

many. Edward Spencer, father of Simeon, was
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one of the early settlers of Muskingum county, and
the latter was born on the farm in Licking town-

ship, this county. Mr. and Mrs. Spencer were
the parents of fourchildren, who lived to maturity:

Margaret A., Sylvester M., William and Susan A.

Mr. Spencer was a farmer, and passed all his days

on the farm. He died in 1889, at the age of seventy-

live. Both were members of the Methodist church.

Mr. Spencer was class-leader, and a very religious

man. He was well known among the pioneers as

an industrious and honorable citizen. In politics

he was an old line whig, and afterward a repub-

lican. His son, Sylvester M., served four years in

the Civil war, Company A, Seventy-sixth Ohio Vol-

unteer infantry, and was in all the battles of his

regiment. He was orderly sergeant, and escaped

unhurt. After marriage Mr. Littler settled on his

farm in Gridley township, 111., and remained there

until 1889, when he came to Frazeysburg. He
and Mrs. Littler are members of the Methodist

church. He has held the offices of trustee and
steward, and contributes liberally of his means to

its support. In politics he affiliates with the re-

publican party. While a resident of Illinois he
was tax collector and school director. Since com-
ing to Frazeysburg he has been elected to the

town council, and is commander of Griffe post

No. 331, G. A. R. He has accumulated a goodly

property, and is one of the substantial men of the

county. He is self-made, beginning with nothing,

and has accumulated all his property by his own
exertions. When his country needed his services

he did not hesitate to risk his life in its defense,

and his colonel, John McNulty, wrote of him that

he was a brave and true soldier.

Z. D. Lovejoy, agent for the B. & O. R. R. at

New Concord, and a popular druggist of that town,

owes his nativity to Barnsville, Belmont county,

Ohio, born on February 24, 1859. He comes of a

prominent family of Maryland, and is third in

order of birth of six children born to Perry G. and
Eliza E. (Mount) Lovejoy, both natives of New
Market, Md.

,
and both born in the year 1832.

The father was a prominent railroad man, and
after his marriage moved to Belmont county. This

was in about 1857 or 1858, and he resided there

until the breaking out of Civil war, when he
entered the army. He participated in a number
of prominent engagements, in one of which he re-

ceived a gunshot wound, which resulted in his

death in 1865. To his marriage were born the

following children, four sons and two daughters:

Robert B. . married, is engaged in the coal business

in Steel, Belmont county, Ohio; John W. ,
mar-

ried, is engaged in the same business with his

brother Robert, but in connection is also engaged
in merchandising; Z. D. (subject); David M.,

married, is United States express agent at Chicago

Junction, Ohio. The two daughters, one the eld-

est and the other the youngest of the family, are

both deceased. Sarah E. married a Mr. Lovejoy,
and at her death left six children, and Ellen G.
died when sixteen years of age. The father and
mother of these children were members of the
Methodist Episcopal church, and none were more
highly esteemed and respected than they. Z. D.
Lovejoy was left fatherless when but six years of

age, and two years later he started out to tight his

own way in life, first living out for board and
clothes. After this he clerked for a time, then
tilled the soil on a farm, mined a little, and when
twenty-one years of age learned the railroad busi-

ness, securing a position on the B. & O. R. R. the

following December. Since that time he has been
with that railroad company. He came to New
Concord in March, 1883, and here he has made
his home ever since. He embarked in the drug
and book business in April, 1891, still continues

this, and also holds his position as agent at the

railroad depot. Mr. Lovejoy selected his life com-
panion in the person of Miss Edith E. Austin, a

native of Edgerton, Ohio, born on March 17, 1858,

and their nuptials were celebrated at Edgerton,
Williams county, Ohio, April 30, 1882. Her
father, A. D. Austin, is a prominent attorney of

that town. Mr. and Mrs. Lovejoy’ s union has
been blessed by the birth of four children: Claude
A., born May 10, 1883; E. Pearl, born February
16, 1885; David Warren, born November 16, 1887,

who died at the age of two years, and Bishop O.,

born August 26, 1889. Both parents are members
of the Methodist Episcopal church. Mr. Lovejoy
is a member of the I. O. O. F.

,
and succeeded in

establishing a lodge in New Concord in 1888.

This now has forty-eight members. He has been
officially connected with the lodge, was the first

noble grand, and since that time he has held the

prominent position of permanent secretary. He
first connected himself with the lodge at Fort De-
fiance, in Defiance county, this state, in 1882, and
has been an active member of the lodge ever since.

He is also a member of other organizations. In
politics he affiliates with the democratic party.

Mr. Lovejoy is active in school and church work,

and is a public spirited young man, assisting in

every way in all enterprises of a worthy nature.

He has been unusually successful as a business

man, and has done much to advance the interests

of the town in the last few years. He embarked
in the hay business with S. H. Vandivort, under
the firm name of Lovejoy & Yandivort, and they

are now engaged in buying and baling hay for the

eastern market. They do a rushing business, and
are pushing, enterprising men. Mr. Lovejoy owns a

good home in New Concord, and they also own the

building in which their hay business is carried on.
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William B. Lowry is a member of one of the

oldest families in Muskingum county, Ohio, and
of Irish descent. He was born on a farm near
Roseville in 1839, and was one of the eleven

children born to the union of Jaremiah and Su-
sanna (Richardson) Lowry. The father was also

born in the county, and was a son of Camdy
Lowry and wife. Camdy Lowry came from Ire-

land to the United States at an early day. He
reared a family of twelve children, Jaremiah be-

ing one of them, all deceased except Camdy, now
living in Iowa. Jaremiah was born and reared

in this county. Here he received his education
and learned the carpenter’s trade, which he fol-

lowed most of his life, but the latter part he en-

tered the mercantile and stoneware business. He
commenced the manufacture of stoneware about

1852, and was very successful in it. He was
much interested in politics, and always voted the
democratic ticket. In early life he married Su-
sanna Richardson, and they had a family of

eleven children, all living. The father died in

1877. The mother of this remarkable family was
born near Roseville, a daughter of one of the

pioneers of this county, who was a farmer and
school-teacher. She was a member of the Chris-

tian church, and died in 1877 at the age of sev-

enty years. The children were: Albert, Austin,

Lyman, Milton, Ellen, William (subject), Cather-
ine, Sarah, Walter, Adolph and Harriet. Of these,

only five live in this county, the rest having
moved West, three as far as California. The
pottery business was started by the father about
1852, and he educated his boys to the business.

William B. Lowry, in 1861, enlisted in Company
A, Sixty-second Ohio Volunteer infantry, under
Capt. Edwards and Col. F. B. Pond. He enlisted

as a private, and later became captain. Some of

the battles in which he took part were Winches-
ter, Port Republic, Black Water, Petersburg, Fort
Wagner, and a number of skirmishes. He was
captured, after being wounded, at Deep Bottom,
Va., August 16, 1864, and first confined to Libby
prison, and later at Saulsborough and Danville;

he was a prisoner about six months, and was
discharged February 22, 1865. Upon returning
to Richmond, after it was held by the Union sol-

diers, he was given charge of a company to guard
Libby prison, and held as prisoner the officer who
had held him prisoner only a short time before,

probably the only circumstance of the kind on
record. He recovered from his wound, and was
discharged at Point, Va., when he returned
home. He settled at Roseville, and has since re-

sided here. He had four brothers in the war;
all served through the entire struggle and came
home. They were Walter, Lyman, Milton and
Adolph. William B. started in the stoneware

29

business with his brother Walter, which they car-

ried on for about six or eight years, when they

dissolved, and since that time our subject has

been in business alone, manufacturing stoneware

since the past fifteen years, and making drain

tile and flower pots, making and selling annually

about 110,000 worth of goods. Mr. Lowry was
married in 1867 to Mildred Caton, a native of this

county, born in 1841, and the daughter of George
W. and Mildred (Buckley) Caton, natives of Vir-

ginia. Mr. and Mrs. Lowry are members of the

Methodist Episcopal church, and have a family of

four children: Silas F., is a man of family, liv-

ing at Putnam; Annetta, is now Mrs. Samuel
Moore (her husband is a teacher in the public

school of Roseville; Edna is at home and Harry
is still at school. The children are all members of

the Methodist Episcopal church. Mr. Lowry is

much interested in politics, and is a democrat.

He is mayor of the town of Roseville. Socially, he
is a member of the Odd Fellows and of the G. A.

R. post No. 290, of Roseville, which he helped

to organize, and is among the leading citizens of

the community.
In endeavoring to trace the genealogy of Ben-

son Loyd, Dresden, Ohio, we find that his paternal

grandfather, Joseph Loyd, was a native of Penn-
sylvania and of Welsh descent; that he served in the

Revolutionary war, lived to the great age of ninety-

eight years, and died in Jefferson county, Ohio.

The latter’s son, and the father of our subject, Eli

Loyd, was born in Lancaster county, Penn.,

and served under Gen. William Henry Harrison

in the War of 1812. He was married in his native

state to Miss Elizabeth Campbell, daughter of

John Campbell, of Ohio county, W. Va.
,
and nine

children were the fruits of this union: Joseph,

John C., Margaret, Sarah (died young), William
W., Benson, Eli, Anna and Jesse, all of whom
were born in Ohio county, W. Va. In December,
1828, Mr. Loyd came to Muskingum county, Ohio,

settled in what is now Cass township, and there

passed the remainder of his days. He owned 160
acres of land and was a substantial farmer, follow-

ing that occupation until his death in June, 1857,

when eighty-one years of age. He was of a quiet,

retiring disposition and made no attempt to hold
office. In politics he was a democrat. His sou,

Benson Loyd, was born in Ohio county, W. Va.,

on January 19, 1818, and was but a little over

ten years of age when he came with his parents to

the Ohio wilderness. He grew up in the rough
school of pioneer days, and, although he had but
limited educational advantages, he made the best

of his opportunities, and became well posted on
all subjects. In 1848 he married Miss Jemimah
Cole, daughter of Samuel and Rachel (Welsh)
Cole, the father a native of Pennsylvania and one
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of the first settlers of Muskingum township. Mr.
Cole was the father of nineteen children, seventeen

of whom lived to marry, and Mrs. Loyd was the

youngest of this large family. Mr. Cole was a

well-to-do farmer and was the owner of 400 acres

of land. He was one of the first members of the

Presbyterian church in this county, and died in

full communion with the same when seventy-eight

years of age. After marriage Benson Loyd settled

with his wife in Cass township, and three years

later moved to the home place in that township
where they resided until 1873, having bought the

place in 1857. In 1868 Mr. Loyd was elected

sheriff and served in that capacity for four years,

filling the position in such a capable and efficient

manner that he was reelected. He has also been
township trustee for eleven years and township
commissioner for two years. In politics he is a

stanch democrat. Mr. Loyd has ever been inter-

ested in educational matters and was school di-

rector for nine years. Mrs. Loyd died March 19,

1872. She was a devout Presbyterian in her
religious views, and Mr. Loyd is of the same
belief. He assisted with his means in building

the Presbyterian church in Dresden and has also

been liberally disposed toward other churches,

assisting in building the Presbyterian church in

Muskingum township, the Baptist church in

Dresden, and the Old School Baptist church in

Shannon. To Mr. and Airs. Loyd were born nine

children: Hannah, Elmos J., Martha AL, James C.,

Wilson, Willis H.
,
Alphis, Phoebe A., and Lemert

B. In August, 1873, Mr. Loyd settled on his

present farm, consisting of 160 acres pleasantly

situated near Dresden, and here he expects to pass

the remainder of his days in ease and comfort.

He is a representative citizen, has the confidence

and respect of all, and has ever discharged the

duties of the different official positions he has

held, in a creditable and satisfactory manner.
His daughter, Hannah, married Charles Gurrin,

a farmer of Perry county, Ohio. Elmos J., is con-

nected with the First National bank of St. Paul,

Alinn. James C., married Miss Ada Lewis, and
is in the cattle business in Boise county, Idaho.

Willis H. married Miss Anna Franks, and is train

inspector at Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio. Wilson is a

resident and farmer of Illinois. The remainder of

the family are at home.
John Wesley Ludmanis the proprietor of a gen-

eral mercantile establishment at Chandlersville, and
keeps a select stock of goods valued at about $6,000.

He keeps dry goods, notions, boots and shoes,

gents’ and ladies’ furnishing goods, queensware,

wall paper, groceries, etc., and it is a pleasure to

know that in dealing at this store there is no prob-

ability of getting anything except as it is repre-

sented, and this is undoubtedly due to Air. Lud-

man’s good intention, for he prides himself on his

honesty, and his good name is above reproach.

He was born in Perry township, Aluskingum
county, Ohio, September 16, 1855, to Henry and
Caroline Hyatt, being the eldest of their eight

children, two died when infants. The father is a

native of England, and in 1841 came to America,
settling on a farm in Union township, of this

county, but for the past thirty years has been a

resident of Rich Hill township. The initiatory

training of John Wesley Ludman was obtained in

the common schools, and from 1874 to 1879, he
followed the occupation of farming as a hired hand,
thus following in the footsteps of his father. In
1880 he turned his attention to his present busi-

ness at Aloscow Mills, Alorgan county, Ohio, where
he remained one year, after which he came to his

present location. In 1880 he was married to Aliss

Sybil Ann Phillis, daughter of Thomas W. Phillis,

of Ohio, and to them a family of three children

has been born: Pearl Henry, Alenza Blanche and
Cora Alaud. Air. Ludman and his family are

members of the Methodist Episcopal church, to

which he is a liberal contributor. He is charitable

and influential, and is in every respect a self made
man. He has been the postmaster at Chandler-
ville since 1889, and is regarded as a capable man
for the office.

John H. Lynn, of Nashport, Ohio, belongs to

an old Virginia family, his father, George Lynn,
having been born August 14, 1792, near Winches-
ter, of that state. The paternal grandfather was
a native Scotchman, and had three sons: George,
Daniel and Henry. Daniel was an innkeeper of

Winchester in early times. George was married
at Reading, Penn., to Catherine Elizabeth Spotz,

and after his marriage lived in Winchester, where
he followed the calling of a baker. He afterward
went to Wardensville, W. Va., and kept a tavern for

many years. Here his wife died, and in 1845 he
came to Nashport, Ohio, and began working for

his son William, who had been engaged in the

mercantile business with Levi Claypool for a num-
ber of years. Upon flrst coming to Ohio, William
Lynn clerked for I. W. Baker, of Newark, but
after becoming associated with Mr. Claypool he
remaiued with him until he was elected treasurer

of Aluskingum county, when he removed to Zanes-
ville about the opening of the Civil war. George
Lynn was the father of eight children: William,

Edward, Maria A., Daniel, John H., Julia, Susan
and Isaac. The father of these children was
elected constable of Hardy county, W. Va., when the

duties of a constable were of far more importance
than they are now, and his collections extended
over the entire county. He was a man of integ-

rity, and lived to the age of fifty-four years. John
H. Lynn, his son, and whose name heads this
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sketch, was born in Hardy comity, now West Vir-

ginia, April 20, 1827, but his early educational

advantages were very meager. He managed, how-
ever, to learn to read and write during the three

months’ attendance at a district school. He early

learned to rely upon his own resources, and when a

young man of nineteen, in 1846, came to Licking

county, Ohio, and worked on a farm for his broth-

er-in-law, Jesse O. Switzer, who had married his

oldest sister, Ann. In 1848 he returned to Vir-

ginia, where he worked as a farm laborer for three

years, and in February, 1851, he returned to Ohio,

walking the entire distance of 300 miles in com-
pany with another man, carrying his effects in a

handkerchief over his shoulder. He remained in

Licking county until 1855, and on March 25, 1856,

he took up his abode at Nashport, where he ran

the still at Claypool’s distillery for three years.

Following this he farmed for one season, and in

1860, in company with Norton F. Claypool, he
planted the first successful peach orchard in the

county, and first established the fact, which is now
so successfully carried out, that the southwest hill-

side is the best place for a peach orchard, as the

buds do not so easily winter-kill. These ideas he
obtained from an old West Virginian by the name
of Wilson, who had a famous peach orchard on
Sugar Knob, in Hardy county. Mr. Lynn and
Mr. Claypool made a contract to plant the Clay-

pool peach orchard, and in this enterprise they

continued joint, partners until 1880. The orchard
contained 7,000 trees and was famous all the coun-

try round. Many thousand bushels were shipped
from it, and was the means of establishing the

present flourishing peach business in this section

of the country. Mr. Lynn is the owner of 116
acres of land, on which is a fine peach orchard,

and is making rapid progress in this business. He
was married November 23, 1870, to Miss Malinda
Victor, daughter of Philip and Rachel (Claypool)

Victor, the former of whom was a son of Philip

Victor, an old pioneer of the county and a soldier

of the War of 1812. Philip Victor, the father of

Mrs. Lynn, became the father of thirteen children:

James, Marchal (or Marsh), Sarah, Melinda, Mari-
etta, Zara, William H. , John, Fred, Jane, Emma,
Harriet and Julia. Of this large family all are

living with the exception of Marietta. Mr. Victor
died at the age of fifty- six years. He was a cooper
and farmer and a hard-working and honest man.
To Mr. and Mrs. Lynn the following children have
been born: John H. November 26, 1871; Levi W.,
May 19, 1873; George, January 5, 1875; Annie
R.,' March 18, 1877; Jesse V., January 4, 1880;
Eddie E. and Ettie (twins), July 7, 1884. Ettie
died at the age of three months. Mrs. Lynn is a

member of the Now School Baptist church, and
although not a member, Mr. Lynn is a bolievor in

the same doctrine. Politically, he is a republican.

He is a practical farmer, a successful fruit grower,

and an upright man. He is giving his children

all the advantages his means will afford, and is a

believer in educational progress. Although he has

met with some business misfortunes, he now bids

fair to become a wealthy citizen.

Andrew Lyons, farmer, High Hill, Ohio, is a na-

tive of the Buckeye state, born on December 24. 1824,

and the reputation which heenjoys is not only that of

a substantial and progressive farmer, but of an intel-

ligent and thoroughly posted man on all public af-

fairs. His parents, Thomas and Esther Lyons,

were natives of the Emerald isle, but emigrated to

the United States at an early period. The father

came to Meigs township, Muskingum county, Ohio,

in 1822; was among the early settlers, and there

his death occurred thirteen years later. Andrew
Lyons received a very limited education in the com-
mon schools, never attending school more than eight

months altogether, but being a close observer and
a great reader, is thus better posted than a great

many who have had much better opportunities. He
began for himself, at the age of twenty-two, as an
agriculturist, and this has continued to be his chosen

occupation through life. In 1848 he bought 158

acres of land in section 8, Meigs township, and
to this he added, from time to time, until he owned
282 acres of excellent land. He was married, on
May 30, 1849, to Miss Margaret, daughter of

Henry and Mary White, of Irish descent. Mrs.

White died in 1870, and two years later, Mr. Lyons
wedded Miss Mary McKonkey. He has held the

office of trustee, and socially is a member of the

Odd Fellows fraternity. In politics he is strictly

democratic. He holds a membership in the Pres-

byterian church at High Hill.

John Hunt McCann, is one of the old settlers

of Muskingum county, Ohio, and belongs to the

oldest branch of the McCann family. [For early

history of this family see sketch of Orville Mc-
Cann.] Samuel McCann, the father of the sub-

ject of this sketch, was born April 2, 1780, on a

farm within twelve miles of Belfast, Ireland, and
was one of a family of five children. Archibald,

Samuel, George, James and Sallie. He was the first

of the family to come to America, but his three

brothers afterward came at different times. His
sister, Sallie, married in Ireland and there spent

her days. George never married. He came to

Ohio and died in Erie county at the age of seventy.

Archibald settled on a farm in Muskingum county

and was married to Mary Matthews, of Ireland by
whom he became the father of nine children:

David, Samuel, James, Jane, Sarah, Robert,

George, Thomas and Archibald. Archibald Mc-
Cann was well educated for that day and was one
of the early and successful school teachers of the
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county. He was a weaver by trade and lived to

be seventy-five years of age, at which time he was
drowned in the Muskingum river at Zanesville.

His children were well educated and all became
school teachers. David and Archibald became
physicians in later years and the latter is the only

one of the family now known to be living and is a

medical practitioner of Antwerp, Ohio. Robert
graduated at Kenyon college, Ohio, then left home
and has never been heard from since. James, the

brother of Samuel, and uncle of John Hunt Mc-
Cann, came to America and settled near his brother,

Samuel. He had married, in Ireland, Eliza Ham-
ilton and by her became the father of seven chil-

dren: James, Jane, Eleanor, Robert, John, Sam-
uel, and Mary. James McCann Sr. finally moved
to Illinois and settled on a farm in Macon county,

where he died at the age of seventy-six years.

His family were also well educated, and nearly all

of them became school teachers. His sons, John
and Robert, are business men of Zanesville. Sam-
uel McCann Sr., father of our subject, was a

weaver by trade and at the age of twenty years, in

1800, he came to America and directly to Ohio,

entering a tract of 110 acres of land in Mus-
kingum county. At this time Zanesville consisted

of two or three log cabins and there was not a

cabin or stick cut, so far as he knew, 100 miles

north. His land was one mile southeast of where
Shannon now stands and on it is now an old burying
ground where about thirty of the old settler's

sleep. John H. McCann is the only person now
living who can locate and name their graves, which
are kept up by the family. Samuel McCann was
the first man to settle in Muskingum township, but
in 1805 Levi Cooper came with his wife and five

children, and in 1802 or 1803 Samuel Cole settled

here and became the father of nineteen children.

Settlers poured in rapidly after this and dense
forests soon gave place to well-cultivated fields of

grain. Samuel McCann, at the age of twenty,

was alone in a dense wilderness of heavy timber in

which black bear, wolves and panthers abounded,
and game of all kinds native to the country roamed
at will. Deer and wild turkey, were plentiful and’

a few buffaloes were to be found. After entering

his land and locating his claim Mr. McCann went
to Hagerstown, Md.

,
and remained about two

years, after which he returned to his land. He
married Rebecca Cooper, daughter of Levi Coop-
er, the pioneer, and four children were born of

this union: Archibald, Rebecca, James and
Sarah. The mother of these children died May 6,

1824, after which Mr. McCann married Mary
Hunt, daughter of Rev. Stephen Hunt, a pioneer

Presbyterian minister, who lived many years at Ir-

ville. To his second union eight children were
born, two dying in infancy and Elizabeth at the

age of twelve years. The others were: John H.,

Mary A., Eleanor, Sophia, and Samuel A. Mr.
McCann gradually cleared up a farm and built a

log cabin in which he lived for many years. He
then erected a hewed-log house (over seventyfive

years ago), which is still standing and is the

residence of his grandson, Samuel McCann,
who married Ada Lane and has one son named
Glen. In this house John Hunt McCann was
born. The family reunion of 1892 will be
held there. Samuel McCann was a good hunter,

and kept his family well supplied with wild

meat. He was a noted marksman and killed

as many as twenty-four squirrel without missing

a shot, and often carried off the palm at the old-

time shooting matches. The Indians were plenti-

ful, but were peaceful and friendly. Mr. McCann
wove the clothing for his family from flax and
wool, and his wife and children made them into

garments. He depended upon himself for every-

thing and the meal which they used at first was
pounded in mortars. Later they went to Zanes-

ville to mill and was often compelled to wait all

night for his turn. By hard work and economy
he became possessed of a competency and gave
his two eldest sons 160 acres of land a piece, John
H. 110 acres and Samuel 150 acres—the home
place. To his daughters he gave money. He
lived to the age of seventy-five years, dying Sep-

tember 12, 1855. Although not a member he sup-

ported the Presbyterian church of which his wife

was a member. He was a democrat, politically,

and was one of the county commissioners when
the land was purchased where the county infirm-

ary now stands. He held the position of justice

of the peace and other township offices in early

times. John Hunt McCann, his son, was born on

the old homestead, February 6, 1825, and in the

pioneer subscription schools he obtained his edu-

cation. His teachers were Archibald McCann, his

uncle, Robert McCormick (who was a fine penman
and from whom John H. learned to write a clear

and beautiful hand) and others. He also learned

the details of farming and the use of tools in his

youth and until he was twenty-seven years of age

he remained at home. He then received 110

acres of land from his father, and April 10, 1851,

married Elizabeth McGlade, who was born Feb-

ruary 14, 1828, a daughter of William and Jane

(McCann) McGlade, the former of whom was born

in Virginia, September 14, 1800. His father was
a Scotch-Irishman who came to this country from

Ireland and settled in Virginia, where he married

and remained until he was the father of four chil-

dren, then came to Ohio and located at the salt

works near Zanesville. He was a substantial

farmer and his six youngest children were born

here. He settled on land inherited from his
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father, who had seven sons and gave them each

eighty acres of land. William McGlade moved to

Iowa in 1858 and settled on a farm in Delaware
county, where he died in his eighty-sixth year and
his wife in 1869 at the age of sixty-seven years.

They were Covenanters in religious belief and dur-

ing the war a strong abolitionist. For several

years prior to his death he was blind. His chil-

eren who grew to maturity were Elizabeth, Anna,
Sarah, Jane, Mary, Maxwell, Martha, John H.,

and Eleanor. To John H. McCann and wife were
born four children : Mary J., Emma E., Clara M.
and John Arthur. Mr. McCann lived on his farm
near the Muskingum river dam for four years, but
in the fall of 1855 he came to Cass towhship. The
winter of 1855-56 was the hardest ever known
in the county. The weather was open and the

ground unfrozen until New Year’s day when it be-

came suddenly cold and the thermometer regis-

tered twenty degrees below zero for about six

weeks during which time the snow fell almost
every day. The sleighing was excellent and lasted

until the first week in April. During this winter

Mr. McCann was engaged in getting out timber

for his barn and other outbuildings. By hard
work and good management he has added to his

property until he now owns 400 acres of good land.

He has held a number of minor offices in his town-
ship and proven himself a useful and progressive

citizen. He and his wife are members of the

Presbyterian church, their children being mem-
bers of that church also. Their daughter Emma
E. married Sylvester Mears, a farmer of the

county residing near Zanesville, by whom she has
one child: John Lester. J. Arthur married
Blanche McDonald and by her has two children:

Floyd L. and one unnamed. Clara M. married
Frank Prior, a farmer of Muskingum township,

and Mary J. is still at home. Archibald McCann,
half-brother of John H.

,
was a Mason of high

rank. The strong democratic proclivities of the

family are indicated by the preservation, for many
years, of a hickory cane cut by Archibald McCann
at the grave of Andrew Jackson.

Orville A. and Robert Emmet McCann belong
to one of the pioneer families of Muskingum county,

that now numbers among the thousands, the mem-
bers of which are noted for their thrift and for

their honorable and upright conduct in every walk
in life. Tradition says that John McCann, about
the year 1600 emigrated from Scotland and settled

in the north of Ireland, in County Down, which
makes the family of Scotch-Irisb origin. During
the tribal period in Scotland the family was united
with the tribe of O’Neils for mutual protection.

Thomas McCann, the great-grandfather of the

subjects of this sketch, was a citizen of Belfast,

and the other members of the family who are known

were Alexander, Robert, George, and a sister who
married Gilbert Hamilton, an ancestor of the

Hamiltons, of Frazeysburg. There was also a

half brother of this old Belfast family from whom
the McCann’s of Dresden descended. Thomas
McCann was the father of six children: John, who
remained in Ireland; George settled near New
York city; Alexander settled at Newberg, N. Y.

;

James, the grandfather of Orville A. and Robert
E.

;
Nancy Greenfield, of Pennsylvania, and Mrs.

Alexander who remained in Ireland. She had one
son who came to America. James McCann, son of

Thomas, was born in Ireland in 1763, and was
there married in 1789 to Miss Elizabeth Sibbet, a

daughter of Robert' Sibbet, of Scotland. Mr. and
Mrs. McCann emigrated to America in 1794, bring-

ing with them two sons, Thomas and Robert. Mr.
McCann was a weaver by trade but first settled in

Westmoreland county, Penn., on a farm. In 1815
the two sons, Thomas and Robert, then young
men, came on foot through the wilderness to Ohio
and with their axes began clearing a claim. They
built a cabin and entered the land where Orville

and Emmet McCann now live. They found a man
by the name of John McCann settled on what is

now the farm of Jacob N ethers, and although he
was not related to them in any way, he gave up his

farm to Thomas McCann and went away. The
brothers returned to their home in Pennsylvania in

the fall, reaching home on Christmas. The next

spring James McCann and his entire family came
to Ohio, by the Ohio river to Marietta, and settled

on the land where the boys had built the cabin.

James was the father of ten children: Thomas,
Robert, Alexander, Nancy, Maxwell, Jane, George
(who was drowned in Pennsylvania), George, another

son, died young, Samuel and Sarah. Nearly all

these children lived to be old people and their de-

scendants now form a numerous and substantial

people. James McCann gave the most of his at-

tention to his trade, leaving the farm work to be
done by his sons. He remained on the farm until

the death of his wife, then went to live with his

eldest son Thomas, in 1844, and died March 30,

1848, at the advanced age of eighty-six years. He
and his wife were members of the Presbyterian

church and he usually attended the Muskingum
Presbyterian church, always walking the distance

even when an old man. He was naturalized by
the supreme court of the state of Ohio, at Zanes-
ville, October 28, 1828. Samuel McCann, his son,

and father of the gentlemen whose names head
this sketch, was born in Westmoreland county,

Penn., March 10, 1807, and received a limited com-
mon-school education, the most of his education
being obtained by self application. He was a man
of fine mind, a great reader, and became well in-

formed on all ordinary topics. He was brought
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up in the wilderness, and his early days were spent

in clearing land, and although this school was
somewhat rough, it developed sterling traits of

character which stood him in good stead through-

out his long career. In January, 1833, he was
married to Miss Caroline Irvine, the town of Irville

being named in honor of her father, who was one
of the pioneers of the county. The following

children were born to Mr. and Mrs. McCann: James
E., John Harvey, Isaac, William Allen, Margaret,
Maxwell, Warren, Martin L., Mary (died in in-

fancy), Orville A., Arthur and Robert Emmet.
John Harvey and Maxwell McCann settled in

Henry county, Mo.
;
William Allen and Martin

Luther removed to the new state of Washington
and settled near the Columbia river, and Warren
located near the old homestead. After his mar-
riage Mr. McCann remained on the old home farm
and here all his children were born. The family

first lived in the old log house built by James and
his sons, but in 1844 a residence was erected, which
in those days was considered very fine. Samuel
McCann was always a democrat in politics, was
universally respected and his judgment held in

high esteem. He was one of the earliest justices

of the peace, an office which he held to the satis-

faction of the people for the long period of twenty-

eight years. He dispensed justice in his township
with an impartial hand, tried a great many cases

and married many of the early settlers (at least

150 couples) for he was very popular among the

young people in those days. He also filled the

position of township clerk and township trustee

and was a member of the fifty-first general
assembly of the state. He possessed much natural

ability, and was a thrifty farmer and was a gentle-

man of the old school. He lived to the age of

eighty four years and died July 30, 1890, his

wife’s death occurring October 17, 1874. He had
inherited a remarkably strong constitution and
during his long life was sick but little. He left

seven living children, twenty-three grandchildren
and one great-grandchild. His son, Orville A.,

was born June 7, 1853, received a common-school
education and in his youth learned the details of

farming. He married Miss Josephine Elder Sep-
tember 13, 1881, daughter of William and Sarah
(McKee) Elder, and to them have been born four

children: Carrie, Florence, John H. and William
I. He resides on the old homestead and is well

known as a man of integrity and intelligence, and
is a good representative of the McCann family, the

members of which have been a practical and sturdy

race of people, noted for their longevity.

Dr. Henry McCreary, New Concord, Ohio, is

one of the very foremost among the professional

men of the county, and has won an enviable repu-

tation as a practitioner of the “healing art.” He

possesses advanced ideas and progressive principles

regarding his profession, and is gifted with a full

share of the sterling characteristics of those of

Ohio nativity. Born in Guernsey county, Ohio,

on May 8, 1836, he was the youngest of seven chil-

dren born to George and Sarah (Mills) McCreary,
the former a native of County Downs, Ireland, and
the mother of Wheeling, W. Ya. George Mc-
Creary left his native country for this in 1812,
settled in the East, and was married near Wheel-
ing, W. Ya. In 1822 he came to Guernsey county,

Ohio, and located on a farm about four miles from
.New Concord. There he reared his family, con-

sisting of five children, two having died when
quite small. The others were named as follows:

John, George, Jane, Elizabeth and Henry. The
mother of these children died in 1847, and the

father received his final summons in Guernsey
county in 1872. Both were connected with the

Associate Reformed church, and were classed among
the best citizens of the community. He was quite

a prominent man in the county in which he lived.

In politics he was for many years a whig, but later

he affiliated with the republican party. He was a

very successful farmer. Dr. Henry McCreary’s
early life was passed on his father’s farm, and he
supplemented a common-school education, received

in Guernsey county, Ohio, by a course in Muskin-
gum college. Still later he graduated from the

Starling Medical college, and then entered Jeffer-

son Medical college, from which he also received a

diploma. He first began practicing at Norwich,
Muskingum county, and there remained for three

years, or until 1869, when he established business

in New Concord. He is numbered among the

most prominent members of the medical fraternity

in Muskingum county, and the success which has
attended his efforts in healing the sick is shown by
the extended territory over which he practices.

In 1861 he enlisted in the Union army, and served

three years in Company A, Seventy-eighth Ohio
Volunteer infantry, commanded by Capt. H. D.

Munson, of Zanesville. He enlisted as private

and was promoted to corporal, serving one year in

the field, after which, on account of ill health, he
was promoted to hospital service, in which he con-

tinued the remainder of the time. Dr. McCreary
selected as his companion in life Miss Samantha
A. Stevenson, a native of Franklin county, Ohio,

born in 1846, and their nuptials were celebrated in

that county in 1875. She was the daughter of

John and Mary Stevenson. She died January

22, 1877, and left one child, a son, George Boone,

who is now attending college. The Doctor’s sec-

ond marriage was to Miss Martha M. Paden, a

native of the Keystone state, born in 1857, and
the daughter of William and Mary A. Paden.

The fruits of this union were four children: Ralph
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M., Mary, Grace G. and Helen H. Dr. McCreary
and family bold membership in the United Pres-

byterian church, and take an active interest in all

good work. The Doctor was trustee of Muskin-
gum college for twenty- four years, treasurer twelve

years, and secretary eleven years. He has ever

been interested in educational matters, and served

as professor of natural science in the college for a

number of years. He is interested in all enter-

prises for the improvement and development of the

county.

John McCloud, Norwich, Ohio. This old and
much esteemed citizen of Muskingum county was
originally from Virginia, his birth occurring in

Frederick county on January 12, 1806, and he was
the sixth of ten children born to Martin and Elsie

(Self) McCloud, both natives of the Old Dominion,
the father born in Frederick county in 1769, and
the mother in 1772. The paternal grandfather

was Mordikin McCloud, and the maternal William
Self. Martin McCloud was married in his native

county, and there six of his children were born:

Samuel, Elizabeth, William, Duffy, Sarah and
John. In 1809 he and family emigrated to Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, and settled on what is now
the Self farm, owned by William Self. He pur-

chased 160 acres. He came overland with a

wagon and five horses, and was several weeks on
the road. After locating he took a ten-year lease,

erected a log cabin, and resided there for some
time. There four more children were born:
James, Eliza, Mitchell and Presley. The father

subsequently sold the first farm and bought a

larger one, on which he lived until his death in

1857. He was associated with the Methodist
Episcopal church, and he it was who established

that church in the neighborhood. Although not
an educated man, he was possessed of an unusual
amount of good, sound sense, and was a prominent
man in his day. At an early day, and before the
war, when there was no physician in the county,

he acted in that capacity, setting broken bones and
prescribing for the sick. He held many offices of

trust in the township and comity, and was univer-

sally respected. He was at first a whig in his

political views, but at the time of his death affili-

ated with the republican party. He was a pros-

perous farmer and owned 184 acres of well -im-

proved land. Mrs. McCloud, who came with her
parents to Muskingum county, Ohio, in 1809, died
on the same farm as her husband in Muskingum
county, Union township, in 1852. She tvas a mem-
ber of the Methodist Episcopal church, and was
deeply interested in church affairs. Their son,

Samuel, was a soldier in the War of 1812, and
served twelve months. The children of this family
are all deceased except Presley and John (subject),

both of whom reside in Union township of this

county. The latter was but three years of age

when he was brought by his parents to this county,

and here he attained his growth. At the age of

twenty-two he started out for himself, and worked
one year for $100, after which he went to Zanes-

ville, where he worked in a mill for five years.

Returning to the home place he worked that for

some time, but subsequently clerked, and then be-

came a partner with Mr. Jennings in a general

store. He then again returned to the home place,

which he cultivated for about five years. On
March 11, 1845, he married Miss Harriet E. Lloyd,

a native of Portsmouth, Va., born in 1818, and to

them were born four children: Alfred M.
,
at

home; Mary E., widow of Milton Geyer; Louisa,

at home, and Charles M. Mr. and Mrs. McCloud
are residing on the farm, which they have made by
honest industry, and which is located in the west-

ern part of Union township, near the line. It

consists of 156 acres, and is managed by his two
sons, who are engaged in stockraising, in connec-

tion with farming. Mr. McCloud and family are

members of the Methodist Episcopal church, and
he has been trustee in the same. His sons are

with the republican party. He has held a number
of local offices, and has filled them in a creditable

manner.
Presley McCloud was born in Muskingum

county, Perry township, Ohio, November 15, 1817,
in a house and on a farm now owned by Judge
Mason, the house still standing. He was the

youngest of ten children born to Martin and Elsie

(Self) McCloud. He was but nine years of age
when he came with his parents to Union township,

and since that time he has lived in this township
and in the same house a period of about sixty four

years. He attended the district schools of the

county until about twenty years of age, and five years

later, or in 1842, he married Miss Eliza A. Hunter,
and settled on this farm. She was born in Union
township, Muskingum county, July 7, 1824, and was
one of a family of nine children born to the marriage
of William Hunter, who came to this county in 1800.

The latter was a native of Ireland, and was a young
man when he made his advent into this county.

He was married here to Miss Isabella Henderson,
who was a native of Union township, but of Irish

descent. Mr. and Mrs. McCloud passed thirty-nine

years together, sharing each other’s burdens and
trials, and in June, 1881, Mrs. McCloud was called

hence. She was a member of the Presbyterian
church nearly all her life. They were the parents

of five children : William H. , a physician at Ver-

milion, Edgar county, 111.; David, a farmer of

Union township; Caroline, wife of Joseph Small-

wood, resides in Newark, Ohio; Robert W.
,
a farmer

at home, and Anna B., married Howard IV. Jones. of

Columbus, Ohio. After the marriages of his two
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daughters, who had kept house for him, Mr. Mc-
Cloud took for his second wife Miss Lizzie Robert-

son, a native of Washington township, Mus-
kingum county, born in 1827, and the daughter of

M. B. Robertson. Mrs. McCloud died three years

after her marriage, in 1889, and was an active

member of the Presbyterian church. Mr. Mc-
Cloud also holds membership in that church, and
is one of the well-known and respected citizens

of the county. He has been a member of the

Masonic fraternity for forty years, and is a third

degree mason of Malta lodge 118, at Norwich.
He has held office in the township for a number
of years, and has been a deacon and treasurer in

his church for thirty-five years. In politics he
has affiliated with the democratic party all his life.

Mr. McCloud’s farm, consisting of 100 acres of

good land, is situated one-fourth of a mile from
Norwich, and is on the Baltimore & Ohio railroad.

James McClure is a native of Muskingum
county, Ohio, born in Union township, on the very

farm where he now resides, April 17, 1817. He was
the youngest, but one, of a family of eight children

born to the union of John and Mary (Fergeson) Mc-
Clure. John McClure came to Ohio at a very

early date, and settled in Belmont county, where he
married, and in 1816 came to Union township and
settled on the farm now owned by James. This

farm then consisted of 160 acres, and here he lived

until his death, in 1820. He was a very prosper-

ous farmer, and in politics a whig. Mrs. McClure
was born in Pennsylvania, and died in this county
in 1864. Both Mr. and Mrs. McClure were mem
bers of the Union church, but before her death
Mrs. McClure joined the United Presbyterian

church. They were the parents of the following

eight children: William (died some years ago);

John (now living in Indiana); Nancy (now Mrs.

Moore, of New Concord); Thomas (deceased);

Margaret (deceased, was the wife of James Mc-
Loud, of Indiana)

;
Mary (deceased, married George

Sterall, of Rich Hill, or Blue Rock township);

James (our subject), and Sarah (who married Rob-
ert Marshall, and is living in Guernsey county,

Ohio. The early life of James McClure was spent

on the farm where he now lives, and he was educated
in the schools of this district. He started out for

himself, at the age of twenty-one years, as a farm-

er, and has never lived anywhere except on the

home farm. He was married, December 28, 1853,

to Elizabeth McLand, daughter of Samuel and
Margaret (Burley) McLand. She was born June
14, 1824, and died May 1, 1886. She was the

mother of seven children, five lived to matur-
ity and four are yet living: Mary (died at

at eleven years of age, Lizzie (who is at home),
John S. (is in New Mexico), Thomas M (is work-
ing on the home place), Anna (is at home), and

two died in infancy. The family are members of

the United Presbyterian church, of New Concord,
Ohio. Mr. McClure owns a 100-acre farm where
he now resides, and an eighty-acre farm in High-
land township. He has been unusually successful

as a farmer, and is interested in educational and
church matters, and, in fact all things for the im-
provement and advancement of the county. He
can remember when the National road was built,

and when New Concord was not thought of.

William McClure was born in Belmont county,
Ohio, and was the eldest child of John and Mary
(Fergeson) McClure. He moved to Muskingum
county, with his parents when he was about six

years of age, and here attended school. He was
married in 1836, to Margaret Wileg, the daughter
of John and Mary (Clark) Wileg. She was born in

Pennsylvania and came to this county with her
parents when very young. Both her parents died
in Union township, this county, the father having
followed farming for a number of years. Mr. and
Mrs. McClure were the parents of eight children:
Mary, John (died at the age of twenty-two years),

Robert, Nancy (died at the age of twenty-six years),

Eliza (died at the age of twenty-four years), Maggie,
Sarah and Martha, all married except Maggie, and
all farming in Kansas. The entire family were
members of the United Presbyterian church. He
lived in Union township also in Highland, where
he died in 1869, his wife dying in 1872. He was a

republican in politics, took a great interest in all

educational matters and was one of the very success-

ful farmers of this county. His children have all

been very prosperous.

Boggs McDonald, Zanesville, Ohio, is a descend-
ant of one of the prominent families of Muskingum
township, Muskingum county, Ohio, and is of Scotch
descent, his grandfather, Archibald McDonald,
having emigrated from Scotland to America at a

period antedating the Revolutionary war in which
he served as body guard for Gen. Washington.
Archibald McDonald settled in Washington county,

Penn., and was married to Miss Elizabeth Brownlee,
of that county, becoming the father of seven chil-

dren by this union: Elizabeth, Catherine, Peggy,
Hammie, Christian, James and John. Mr. Mc-
Donald subsequently moved to Ohio county, W.
Va., settled on a farm, and there died at the

advanced age of eighty-four years. He made a

visit to Ohio to see his son prior to his death. His
son, John McDonald, and the father of the imme-
diate subject of this sketch, was born in Washing-
ton county, Penn., in 1795, received but a limited

education, and became familiar with the duties of

the farm in early boyhood. By his marriage, which
occurred in Ohio county, AY. Ya.

,
to Miss Margery

Boggs, there were born these children: William,

Elizabeth (died when a young woman), Jane,
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Margery, Christian, Boggs, Archibald, James and
Margaret. On October 12, 1832, Mr. McDonald
came to Muskingum county, Ohio, making the

journey in an old-fashioned Virginia wagon drawn
by four horses. He settled on the land now occu-

pied by his son James, and bought 200 acres of

Elias Ellis, paying $12 per acre for it. To this he
added as years passed by until he finally owned
800 acres of excellent land. He also owned 800
acres in Dakota. He was industrious and frugal

and thus accumulated a goodly estate. He served

one month as a fifer in a light horse regiment dur-

ing the War of 1812. Both himself and wife,

were members of the Presbyterian church, and he
was one of the founders of the Muskingum Presby-

terian church in this township, also assisting

liberally with his means to build three churches.

He was one of the charter members of the church
and served as elder many years. In politics he
was at one time an old line whig, but in later years

was a stanch republican and a strict union man
during the war. One of his sons, James, served

three years in a Pennsylvania Cavalry regiment,

Company C, entering August, 1862, while attend-

ing college at Washington, Penn. He participated

in the battles: Antietam; Stone River; Bristol,

Tenn.
;
Holston River and many skirmishes. John

McDonald was a well-known man in his township,

and was one of the prominent and most worthy
citizens of the same. His death occurred on Janu-
ary 21, 1879, when eighty-four years of age. His
son, Boggs McDonald, the subject of this sketch,

owes his nativity to Ohio county, W. Va., where
his birth occurred on June 6, 1830, and was reared

on his father’s farm in that county, being but two
years old when the latter located in Muskingum
county, Ohio. He received but the common-school
education of those days, and like his father and
grandfather before him, chose agricultural pursuits

as his occupation in life. He selected as his com-
panion in life Miss Elizabeth Stevenson, daughter
of James and Elizabeth (Wallace) Stevenson, the

former bom in County Armaugh, Ireland, in March,
1800, and of Scotch-Irish descent. Mr. Stevenson
came with his parents to America in 1820. He
was one of seven children: William, Mary, James,
Archie, Eliza, Jane and Samuel, born to the mar-
riage of Thomas Stevenson who was a farmer and
who settled in Pennsylvania at an early date.

About 1820 or 1825 the latter came to Muskingum
county and settled in Union township. He and
wife were members of the Reformed Presbyterian

church. James Stevenson came with his parents

to Union township when twenty -five years of age,

and in 1824 married Miss Elizabeth Wallace,
becoming the father of ten children: Thomas,
Margaret, Mary Jane, Robert, William, Agnes,
Elizabeth, Lora. John and Sarah. Mr. Stevenson

resided in Union township until 1857, when he

moved to Iowa and settled on a fine farm in Dela-

ware county, about thirty-six miles from Dubuque.
There he died in 1871, when seventy-one years of

age. He and wife held membership in the Reformed
Presbyterian church and he was deacon for many
years. In politics he was a republican. His son,

Rev. Thomas M. Stevenson, was a soldier in the

Civil war, enlisting in Company E, Seventy-eighth

Ohio Volunteer infantry, and raising a company
of which he was made captain, being chaplain of

the regiment at the same time. He was a man of

excellent character and was noted for his sterling

worth. Another son, Robert W. Stevenson, is a

noted educator, having worked himself up from the

common schools. He became superintendent of the

public schools of Columbus, Ohio, which position

he held for eighteen consecutive years. He is now
superintendent of the public schools of Wichita,

Kas., and is also secretary of the National

Teachers’ association. After marriage Mr. Mc-
Donald settled in Muskingum township and resided

for two years near the old homestead, after which
he moved to his present farm in the same town-
ship. To his marriage were born six children:

James H., Flora B. (who died after marriage, when
twenty-six years of age), Thomas E., Robert H.,

John H. and Harry S. Mr. and Mrs. McDonald
are connected with the Presbyterian church and
Mr. McDonald has been elder for many years. In
politics he is a stanch republican. He enjoys the

confidence and respect of his fellowmen and has

been township treasurer for four and a half years

and trustee of the township for some time. He is

well informed on all the current topics of the day
and is a gentleman whose pleasant, genial man-
ners, and honorable, upright conduct have won him
many warm friends. His son, Thomas E., is a

banker at Danbury, Neb., and is doing well. He
married Miss Maud Patmore, and they have one
child, Elizabeth J. Another son, Robert H.

,
is in

a hotel at Lincoln, Neb.; James H. is principal of

the public schools of Negaunee, Mich. He is a

graduate of the University of Wooster, Ohio, and
is liberally educated. John H. has attended school

at Dresden and wielded the ferule for several terms

in Muskingum county. Harry S. is at home and
attending school.’ He is a young man of excellent

character.

E. McDonald, merchant, and postmaster of

McDonald, Ohio, one of the successful and popu-
lar business men of Muskingum county, and a

much esteemed and. respected citizen, was born in

Salt Creek township, Muskingum county. Ohio,

July 26, 1846. His parents, John and Sarah
(Mershon) McDonald, were natives respectively of

Pennsylvania and Virginia, and he was third in

order of birth of four children. His paternal
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grandfather was a native of Ireland but of Scotch
descent. The latter crossed the ocean to America
in 1806, settled in Pennsylvania, and there made
his home until 1816, when he moved to Muskin-
gum county, Ohio. There he followed agricultural

pursuits and there his death occurred in 1872.

E. McDonald, the subject of this sketch, received

his education in the common schools, and early

became familiar with the duties of the farm, his

father having been a successful tiller of the soil.

When twenty-one years of age he started out for

himself as a school teacher, and followed this pro-

fession for seven years, when he embarked in the

mercantile business. This he has continued up
to the present time, and has one of the best

country stores in the county. He is an energetic

and honorable business man, who has gained the

entire confidence of his numerous customers in all

parts of the country. He was married in 1871 to

Miss Martha A. Cline, daughter of Thomas and
Mary (Ewing) Cline, and four interesting children

are the fruits of this union. Allie, Rosa, Howard,
and Harley E. Mr. McDonald has held the office

of justice of the peace for twelve years, and was
elected again for a term of three years. He has
discharged the duties incumbent upon that office

in a creditable and very satisfactory manner. In
politics he affiliates with the republican party.

He is a member of the I. O. O. F. He is a mem-
ber of the Presbyterian church.

Sylvester McDonald is a member of one of the

pioneer families of Jackson township, Muskingum
county, Ohio, and is a son of George McDonald,
who was born in Frederick county, Ya.

,
in 1799,

his father, Greenberry McDonald, having been
born in Scotland. The latter came with his father

to America and Greenberry and his brother Ed-
ward fought in the American Revolution under
Gen. Marion, and were called the “ young Scotch-

men.” Edward is mentioned in the life of Gen.
Marion as a brave and gallant soldier. He had a

famous horse which he called “Selim” and which
he captured from a tory. Greenberry married a

Miss Drum of Virginia, and by her became the

father of seven children; the following of whom
reached mature years: Elizabeth Elsie, Mrs.

Twadel, Mr. Spenser, Berry (who went to New
Orleans at an early day and there died) and George,

the father of the subject of this sketch. In 1811
Greenberry McDonald came to Ohio, bringing his

family with him and settled on Licking river near

the falls in Muskingum county, where he lived to

the advanced age of ninety -five years. He was a

shoemaker by trade, and in early manhood was
very powerful and became noted for his feats of

strength. George McDonald came with his par-

ents to Ohio, and after the death of his mother,

which occurred shortlv after their arrival in this

state, he began working for the farmers of Mus-
kingum county. He received no education, but
learned to read and write, and having a naturally

good mind he could make mental calculations

more quickly than most men could figure. He
grew up in the rough school of pioneer life and
gained character among the sturdy pioneers of

his day. He married Nancy Lovett, born May 6,

1796, and the daughter of Daniel and Mary
(James) Lovett, who came from Maryland in 1810
and settled in Jackson township of this county.

The mother was of Welsh descent. Mr. Lovett
and his wife became the parents of twelve chil-

dren: John, Evan, Jonas, William, Daniel,

Thomas, Nancy, Susan, Mary, Lydia, Hannah and
Sarah. Daniel Lovett died a few years after he
came to Ohio, and left a large family of children

to be cared for by his widow. He died Septem-
ber 27, 1821, at the age of fifty- three years. His
wife was born June 10, 1776, and died May 10,

1841. The father was a minister of the Baptist

church and preached the gospel in both Mary-
land and Ohio. After his marriage George Mc-
Donald settled in Jefferson township, worked for

some time on the Ohio canal, but in 1830 entered

the farm on which Sylvester now lives, where he

spent the rest of his days, dying when seventy-

nine years old. His wife died January 16, 1884,

in her eighty-eighth year. He was always hard

working and industrious and became a substantial

farmer. He was an active member of the Christian

church, in which he was for many years treasurer

and clerk, and he contributed liberally of his

means to aid in its support. He built almost un-

aided Mount Zion church, and for many years

assisted in sustaining its preachers. He was a

democrat politically until the election of James
Buchanan to the presidency, when he split on the

slavery question. He died in 1878, having been

a man of high character, and it may be said of

him that his word was as good as his bond. He
gave his children good educational advantages,

and was a believer in the nobility of labor, and

taught his children not to fear work. He and his

wife were the parents of eight children, seven

boys and one girl: Labon, Evan, William, Miles,

John, Sylvester. Scott and Minerva. All lived

to be grown. Sylvester McDonald was born in

Cass township, this county, November 16, 1830,

and when an infant of six weeks was brought by
his parents to the homestead in Jackson town-

ship, where he still resides. He, like his father

before him, early learned to work, and assisted in

clearing off the timber from the old homestead.

He received a common-school education, and on

February 27, 1851, he married Emma Gist, daugh-

ter of David and Sarah (Collins) Gist, and their

union resulted in the birth of thirteen children,



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 511

ten of whom lived to maturity: Minerva (died

February 10, 1879); Martha (died April 2, 1877);
Helen; Adolphus (died October 1, 1891); Lucy
(died April 30, 1884); Labon; Elsie; Scott (died

May 31, 1888); Alma, and Flora. Mrs. Mc-
Donald died May 4, 1881, and Mr. McDonald
afterward married Miss Rebecca J. Drake, daugh-
ter of Thomas and Jerushie (Baughman) Drake.
Mr. McDonald has always been interested in the
cause of education, and for twenty-one years
filled the office of school director. He is a mem-
ber of Mount Zion Christian church, and has been
treasurer of the same since the death of his father.

From an early day the old McDonald homestead
has been a home for the preachers, and its doors
are always open to them. The law of hospitality

has always been observed, and the stranger ask-

ing food or shelter has never been turned from
the door. Mr. McDonald inherited from his par-

ents a love of justice and good conduct, and has
always lived a good and correct life. He has
been one of the leaders cf his township in the
furtherance of all good causes, and stands de
servedly high as an honorable citizen. He is a

republican politically. His daughter, Helen, mar-
ried Jacob Ashcroft of this township, by whom she
has five children: Wheeler, Mansfield, Robert,
Tony and Belle. Labon married Amanda Moran,
is a teacher in the graded schools and is the

father of two children: Roy and George G.
Alma married Leonard Romine and has one child,

Nina. Elsie married James Baird, a blacksmith,
who works in the shops at Newark. Flora is at

home unmarried.

Samuel McGinness is a successful farmer and
stockraiser of Muskingum county, Ohio, but was
born in Chester county, Penn., in 1821, to Johnson
and Jane (McMullin) McGinness, natives of this

country, but of Scotch-Irish descent. The father

was an early settler of Pennsylvania, belonging to

one of the pioneer families of the state, and was
born in 1772. In 1798, in company with a brother,

he passed through this section on liis way to Ken-
tucky, following the Zane trail from Pennsylvania.
After remaining in Kentucky for a short time he
returned to Pennsylvania, and was there married,
in 1808. In 1828 he came to Muskingum county
and settled on the farm on which the sub ject of this

sketch is now residing, where he died, in October,
1840. His second marriage was consummated in

1825, Miss Deborah Curie becoming his wife,

and both his marriages were celebrated in Penn-
sylvania. By his first wife he became the father

of seven children, only two of whom are now liv-

ing: The subject of this sketch, and his sister,

Mrs. James Fountain, of Henry, 111. His second
marriage was blessed in the birth of two children:

Elizabeth Holcomb, of Perry county, Ohio, and a

son, who was killed at Missionary Ridge, Tenn.,

in 1863, after having served from the commence-
ment of the war. Major Fountain, of Illinois, his

nephew, was present when he received his death

wound. Samuel McGinness came with his father

to this state in 1828, building a cabin in the woods,

and was educated in the old log schoolhouses of

pioneer days. The settlers were compelled to go
many miles to mill, and sawmills were very scarce

indeed. Samuel McGinness was married, in 1848,

to Miss Sophia Morris, who was born in Pennsyl-

vania in December, 1823, and came to this county

in 1832. Her father settled one mile north of

where Mr. McGinness now resides. His name was
Thomas Morris, and his wife was Mary Everall.

Of a family of -five children born to them four are

now living: Thomas (who resides in Iowa); Sophia
(wife of Mr. McGinness); Richard (died in Illi-

nois); Elizabeth (wife of Levi Price, resides at

Bradford, Ohio), and Charles (in the employ of the

I. M. Ry., in Texas. In 1865 Mr. Morris and his

family removed to Illinois and settled in Tazewell

county, where the father died, in 1867, and his

widow, in 1885, at the ripe old age of ninety years.

Mr. and Mrs. McGinness are the parents of the

following children: Charles J. (deceased); Mary
E. (wife of J. L. Dozer); Lizzie A. (at home);
William T. (married, and a resident of Kansas);

Louis H. (of this county); Alfred (married, and a

resident of a farm), and Edwin at home. In 1863
Mr. McGinness was drafted into the army, but was
furloughed, and afterward joined a military com-
pany known as the one hundred days’ men, but

was again furloughed, and received his discharge at

the close of the war. Mr. McGinness was an act-

ive republican up to 1885, since which time he has

been a member of the prohibition party. His first

presidential vote was cast for Henry Clay, in 1844;

his last, as a republican, for James G. Blaine, in

1884, and for Fisk, in 1888. During this time he

has never been an office seeker, and has only served

as land appraiser. He is one of the leading farm-

ers of his section, and is the owner of a fine farm
within three miles of Zanesville, on which he raises

corn, wheat, hay, etc., and also some fine stock.

He and his wife are members of the Methodist

Episcopal church of Zanesville, and he has always

been a patron of education. In 1888 he became
a member of the present Pioneer and Historical

society, and has been its treasurer since its organ-

ization. He was a charter member of the first

Sabbath school in District No. 1, Wayne township,

which was organized in a brick house in 1834, and
which was also used as a schoolhouse. This school,

both literary and Sabbath, has been continued ever

since, and Mr. McGinness has been in constant at-

tendance in the Sabbath-school department. He
is also a member of the county alliance, and is

president of the township alliance.

This is one of the pioneer families of Mus-
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kingum county, and among the most highly re-

spected. Squire Daniel McGinnis, Frazeysburg,
Ohio, was born here October 20, 1830, and was
the son of Samuel McGinnis and grandson of

Daniel McGiunis and the great-grandson of Heinus
McGinnis, who came from Ireland to America at

a period antedating the Revolutionary war. He
served as a soldier in that war, and was also in

the French and Indian wars. He settled on a farm
east of Blue Ridge, Penn., reared a large family

and lived to be an old man. Daniel McGinnis,
grandfather of subject, lived in Fayette county,

Penn., married Miss Anna Lynch, who came from
Scotland with her parents when thirteen years of

age. The Lynch family was one of great promi-
nence and wealth, and were noted manufacturers
of edged tools. Her father, Robert Lynch, lived

to be ninety years of age, and her mother, whose
maiden name was Harriet McLeon, and who was
also born in Scotland, lived to be quite old. To
Mr. and Mrs. Daniel McGinnis were born seven

children: George W., Hannah, Samuel, Robert,

Elizabeth, Mary and Annie. Mr. McGinnis was a

comfortable farmer, and took great pains to edu-
cate his children. He was born December 25,

1753, and lived to the unusual age of ninety-

three. He was in the War of 1812. His wife would
have rounded out one hundred full years had she

lived a few months longer. Thus it can be seen

that the McGinnis family is noted for its lon-

gevity. Daniel McGinnis believed that an educa-
tion combined with a good trade was better for

his children than money, and he encouraged them
to improve their minds, and bent all his energies

in that direction. He was successful, and reared

a very intelligent family. He had one son, Rob-
ert, who was constable or sheriff of Franklin
township for twenty-four years. His son, Samuel
McGinnis, father of subject, was reared to farm
labor, and, like his brothers, had good educa-
tional advantages and learned a trade, that of a

tanner. He worked at this for seven years when
a young man, and traveled all over the United
States. During this time he taught school in

Muskingum county, Ohio. In 1827 he settled

down, bought land in Jackson township, Mus-
kingum county, and was engineer, leveling the

banks of the canal until 1829. On December 29
of that year he married Miss Mary Lemert,
daughter of Joshua Lemert, of Coshocton county,

and Mary (Wright) Lemert, both of English de-

scent. Joshua Lemert’ s father, William Lemert,
lived in Fauquier county, Va., and was a large

slave owner. The Wright family was among the

original settlers of Virginia. Joshua Lemert was
the father of eight children: Elizabeth, Louis,

Susan, William, Sarah, Lloyd, Mary and Nancy.
In 1832 Mr. Lemert moved to Jackson township

and settled on a farm. He lived to be nearly

eighty-four years old, dying May 2, 1859. He
was a prominent man and an extensive farmer
and manufacturer. He was public spirited, and
assisted in laying out many of the roads in

Coshocton and Muskingum counties. He held

the office of justice of the peace for some time.

Samuel McGinnis became owner of about 400
acres of land, and resided on his farm, two miles

north of Frazeysburg, until his death. He was
one of the first school teachers in the county, and
taught a subscription school in Jackson township
in 1832. The schoolhouse was of logs, puncheon
floor, and immense fireplace eight feet wide, and
a stick chimney daubed with mud. There were
thirty-five scholars, twenty of whom were grown
men and women, some of them having families,

but trying with honest effort to learn to read. It

was the custom in those early days to bar the

teacher out until he treated, and so one morning
Mr. McGinnis found himself shut out and could

not get in. Returning the next day, he flogged

one of the big boys, who had been saucy, with a

thorn bush. This severe treatment of one of their

number brought on a compromise, and Mr. Mc-
Ginnis agreed to treat. He brought apples from
his own home, three gallons of cider and a gallon

of whisky. This, mixed, was a powerful stimulant,

but the school drank the most of it, some of them,

it is said, showing all the signs of having had
enough. The old pioneers of that day would not

work without their whisky, but they seldom drank
enough to intoxicate. Building cabin houses,

rolling logs, railmaking, etc., was the business of

the day. Samuel McGinnis died August 27, 1874,

in his seventy-sixth year. Both he and wife were
members of the Christian church. He filled both

the offices of township clerk and treasurer, and was
a very intelligent and capable business man. He
could write deeds and legal business papers with-

out forms, as he retained the forms in his mind.

He was noted for his hospitality, and his house was
seldom without guests. He was an excellent citi-

zen, and is yet well remembered throughout this

county. ' In politics he was a lifelong Jacksonian

democrat. Daniel McGinnis, subject of this

sketch, received a common education, and was
taught the duties of the farm at an early age. On
September 12, 1850, he married Miss Hannah
Miller, daughter of David and Hannali (Scott) Mil-

ler, from Boyd’s Mills, Fayette county, Penn. Mr.
Miller’s father came from Germany, and died four

years after landing. The Scotts were among the

original settlers of Virginia. Mr. Miller was the

father of fourteen children, and was noted as an
excellent farmer. After marriage Mr. McGinnis
settled on a farm in Jackson township, and re-

sided on this for fifteen years, after which he
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moved to Delaware county, Iowa. Three years

later he returned and settled in Jackson town-

ship, where he followed clerking and farming for

twelve years, after which he came to Frazeys-

burg, and he has remained here since. He has

been justice of the peace three terms, and is en-

gaged in general business; in time of the war
acting as clerk for E. L. Lemert. Mr. and Mrs.

McGinnis became the parents of thirteen children:

Olivia P.
,
Harmon K., Clarissa H., Bolton A.,

Van R.
,
Beth A., Chance J., Samuel L.

,
Etha R.

,

Don O.
,
Dio S. and Zales S. Mrs. McGinnis died

in 1881. She was a devout Christian, a member
of the Christian church, and was a woman of

noble character. August 17, 1883, Mr. McGinnis
married Miss Nancy L. Marshall, and by her be-

came the father of three children: Rill D., Paul

Y. and one who died in infancy. In politics he
is democratic. Mr. McGinnis has held a num-
ber of local offices—justice of the peace, town-

ship trustee, clerk, assessor and school director.

He was for many years a clerk in Frazeysburg.

Both he and wife hold membership in the Disci-

ple church. He is a man of unusual intelligence,

and stands high in the estimation of the people.

Squire Daniel D. McGinnis, Dresden, Ohio, is

numbered among the prominent farmers of Cass
township, and is one of the old and respected citi-

zens. He was born March 16, 1822, in Fayette

county, Penn., and was of Scotch-Irish descent.

His great-grandfather, John McGinnis, came from
Ireland to the United States when quite advanced
in years. He had been connected with the Irish

rebellion and was obliged to leave his country. Of
the thirteen children born to his marriage nine

were sons, and the only ones now remembered are:

John, Hymns, Samuel, Daniel, Hannah, Elizabeth

and Mary. A number of the children not named
settled in Baltimore, Md. Mr. McGinnis lived to

be eighty-four years of age, and died near Lan-
caster, where he was a large land owner. He was
a Scotch Presbyterian in his religious belief. His
son, Daniel McGinnis, grandfather of our subject,

was born in Scotland, but went to County Tyrone,

Ireland, when a boy, with his brothers, John, Hy-
mus and Samuel, and his sisters, Hannah and
Elizabeth, all of whom came to America before the

father and settled in Philadelphia. There they
remained but a few years, and then settled on land

near Lancaster, Penn. There Daniel received a

good common-school education, and learning to

read and talk both German and English. At an
early date he settled in Fayette county, Penn.,

when that country was an unbroken wilderness,

and the Indians were plentiful and very trouble-

some. Daniel was an Indian lighter and had many
desperate encounters with them. While working
he always had his rifle near him, and often left his

work to chase them when they were more trouble-

some than usual. The settlers, when attacked, or

threatened with an attack, would seek shelter in a

block house (called the Three Cabins Block House),

and at one time they remained there all winter.

They were attacked several times by the savages,

but succeeded in repulsing them, and the Indians

revenged themselves by driving off the stock and
burning the cabins. In the spring the troops,

under Col. Dunbar or Col. Mountz, came to their

relief, and the Indians were driven from the coun-

try. Daniel McGinnis’ sister, Hannah, was in the

Block House, and being an unusually strong

woman, could handle a rifle as well as a man, and
took a prominent part in driving off the Indians

in the attack on the Block House, rendering valu-

able assistance in that way. She was a fearless

horseback rider, and could mount a horse bareback
without assistance, springing from the ground.
She was a noted frontier character and married
Samuel Crozier. She could do a man’s work, and
her husband became a successful and prosperous
farmer. After his death she carried on the farm
with great vigor. Daniel McGinnis married Annie
Lynch, daughter of Robert Lynch, and to them
were born George, Samuel, Robert, Mary, Hannah
and Elizabeth. Mr. McGinnis served in the War
of 1812, as did also his brothers, Hymns and John.

He was large and strong, and was an artilleryman.

He was pushing the gun to get it in position to

load, when a cannon from the enemy struck the

gun carriage, demolished it and threw it upon Mr.
McGinnis, who remained senseless until the next

morning, when he was brought to consciousness

by the rain in his face. He was in the hospital for

some time, and for nearly a year he was disabled.

He was crippled for life, did not again enter the

service, and received a pension from the govern-

ment. He became a farmer, was hardworking and
industrious, and was the owner of 300 acres of

land. He was a member of the Presbyterian
church, was respected and esteemed by all, and
lived to be ninety-four years of age, retaining his

mental faculties to the last. His son, George Mc-
Ginnis, father of subject, was a native of Fayette
county, Penn., born on the old homestead on Jan-
uary 28, 1797. This property is still held by the

McGinnises. George McGinnis’ educational advan-

tages were very good, for he had an excellent

teacher, a Mr. Paxton, who was educated in Glas-

gow, Scotland, and who taught a subscription

school near Daniel McGinnis’ for twenty-one years

in the same building. George McGinnis learned

readily, and thus became a well educated man.
He was married on January 5, 1821, in Fayette
county, to Miss Mary Wood, who was born May 3,

1805, who was the daughter of Abinah and Susan
nah (Humphrey) Wood, the former an American
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of English Irish descent. Mr. Wood was an only

child, and served through the Revolutionary war,

being in several of the prominent battles. He be-

came a soldier at the early age of fourteen, and
was away from his parents seven years. His father

had been to Camden, and there learned that Wash-
ington was in need of men. Returning home
during the night he and his wife talked the

matter over, and decided that their boy would
better go. How to provide clothing for him was
the question, for he had but one suit of home-
made linen. With the help of neighbor women
they wove enough for a new suit, and made it the

next day. Abinah, although but fourteen years of

age, was a large, strong, bony youth, almost as

strong as a man, and provided with his new suit and
a linen knapsack, he started out the next day. On
the way to the camp he met a neighbor boy of

about the same age (Sam Bunton), and he was
joined by the latter, who had nothing with him
but the homespun suit he had on. Abinah gave
him his new suit and they proceeded to camp.
They served together seven years and became fast

friends. Sam Bunton never married, but made
his home with Mr. Wood until his death. When
Abinah reached home, after seven years’ service, he
was not recognized by his mother, who had not

heard from him during the entire time. He was a

shipbuilder and carpenter by trade, and followed

the same in Pittsburg, during the latter part

of his life. He was comfortably well off, and
lived to be ninety- six years of age, attending his

business up to the last day of his life. He died

suddenly after dinner, having worked during that

forenoon. He had never lost a week from work.

Mr. Wood was a member of the Methodist church,

and was a class-leader in the same. Of the thir-

teen children born to this marriage several are

settled in Pittsburg. After his marriage George
McGinnis settled in Tyrone township, Fayette
county, Penn., followed farming and boatbuilding,

and here passed the closing scenes of his life,

dying when seventy years of age. He was a mem-
ber of the Masonic fraternity, and he and wife held

membership in the Presbyterian and Methodist
churches, respectively. His children were: Daniel

D., Abinah W.
,
Susannah, Samuel H., Jonathan,

Hannah, Burris, Elizabeth, Robert, Ellen, Mary
J. and John. Mr. McGinnis was a man of mod-
erate means, and his integrity and uprightness of

character were never questioned. His son, and
the subject of this sketch, Daniel D. McGinnis,
secured a good common-school education in his

native county, and learned the cooper’s trade and
boatbuilding. In 1844 he came to Ohio, resided at

Frazeysburg one year, and was then married to

Miss Maria Morgan, daughter of James and Susan-

nah (Lovett) Morgan. Her father was one of the

first settlers of Jackson township, locating there
in 1805, and became one of the substantial farmers.
He owned 600 acres of land in this county and
240 acres in Indiana, and gave his children all

good farms, His death occurred when he was
seventy-six years of age. He held a number of

local offices, and was a prominent man. Of the
eleven children born to his marriage the following
lived to be grown: Eva L., Washington, Maria,
Martha J., Mary E. and La Fayette. Mr. Morgan
was a member of the Old School Baptist church,
and a man of high moral character. He was a

soldier, under Col. Cass, in the War of 1812, but
as there were more men than were needed he re-

ceived his discharge. After marriage Mr. McGin-
nis settled on the farm where he now lives, and
now has 160 acres of excellent land. His marriage
was blessed by the birth of five living children:

James M., George W., Mary E., John S. and Tir-

zah. Mr. and Mrs. McGinnis are active members
of the Disciple church, and he has been elder for

many years. In politics he is a strong democrat.
Mr. McGinnis has held the office of justice of the

peace for eighteen years, has been assessor of chat-

tels two terms, township trustee three terms, town-
ship clerk sixteen years, and real estate assessor

two terms. He is also interested in educational

matters and served on the school board many
years. When single he taught school for seven

years in his native state and in Cass township, and
was an able and successful educator. Squire Mc-
Ginnis stands deservedly high as an honorable and
respected man. —

»

Thomas A. McGlade, farmer, Dresden, Ohio,

comes of old Virginia stock, and inherited from
his ancestors those sterling traits of character

which have made him so successful. His grand-
father, John McGlade, was a native of the Old
Dominion, and early in the nineteenth century he
moved to Ohio. He first settled near Dillon’s

Falls, resided there for a few years, and then
moved to Muskingum township, settling on a farm
now occupied by James McGlade, his youngest
son. He owned 200 acres, all in the woods when
he first settled on it, and this, with the help of his

sons, he cleared and got under cultivation. By
his marriage Mr. McGlade became the father of

the following children: William, David, John,

George, Thomas, James, Betsey, Jane and Eliza-

beth. Mr. McGlade was a useful and much es-

teemed pioneer settler, and lived to a good old age.

He and wife were members of the Covenanter
church. His son, John McGlade, and the father

of Thomas A. McGlade, was also a native of Vir-
ginia, and was but a boy when he came with his

father to Muskingum county. He learned the trade

of a wheelwright, and worked at this in Zanes-

ville for some time, assisting in building Drones’
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mill at that place and another at Dillon’s Falls.

He married Miss Margaret Welsh, daughter of

James Welsh, whose ancestors were pioneers of

Muskingum county. Shortly after marriage Mr.
McGlade located oil the farm now occupied by his

son, Thomas A., and there he passed the remainder
of his days. He owned 167 acres of land, was a

good, substantial farmer, and an honorable, up-

right citizen. His death occurred December 31,

1880, when seventy-three years of age. He was a

democrat in politics, and held the office of town-

ship trustee for some time. His wife, who was a

member of the Covenanter church, died in 1889,

when seventy-three years of age. Thomas A. Mc-
Glade, son of this worthy couple, was born on the

farm where he now lives, in Muskingum county,

on December 15, 1841, and received his scholastic

training in the common schools. He selected as

his companion in life Miss Martha A. McCammon,
daughter of James and Martha (Wylie) McCam-
mon, and their nuptials were celebrated on August

7, 1868. Both families, the McCammons and the

Wylies, were of Irish descent and early settlers of

this county. Mr. and Mrs. McGlade’s union was
blessed by the birth of six children: Adella O.

,

Wilbert J., M. Estella, Addison, Thomas E. (died

in infancy), and Mattie H. Mrs. McGlade and
her two daughters, Ora A. and Margaret E., are

members of the Covenanter church. In politics

Mr. McGlade is a strict democrat. He is a sub-

stantial farmer, an honest man and a good citizen.

James M. McHenry, attorney at law, whose
name heads this sketch has that ease of manner
and force of character which make the sons of the

“Buckeye state” influential wherever they go. He
is well read in his profession, has conducted many
important cases to a successful issue in all the

courts, and his continued rise is assured and well

deserved. He was born in Meigs township, this

county, November 27, 1861, to John and Lydia
(Trainer) McHenry; the father’s birth occurring in

the same county, in 1837. He is now a resident

of Harrison township, this county, and is success-

fully engaged in tilling the soil and in dealing in

stock. His father, who also bore the name of John,

was a Pennsylvanian by birth and first saw the

light of day on January 19, 1800. In 1834 he
came to Muskingum county, Ohio, and until his

death in 1884 he was a resident of Meigs town-
ship. The mother of the subject of this sketch was
born September 13, 1842, in Meigs township, this

county, being a daughter of John and Lydia
Trainer, who came to this county early in the

thirties. James M. McHenry is the eldest of four

children and was brought up to till the soil. His
initiatory training was received in the common
schools; when he was seventeen years of age he
began teaching. At the end of one year he dis-

continued this occupation to enter Muskingum
college, in which institution he remained until

1884, his vacations being spent in teaching in

order to defray, in a measure, his expenses while

obtaining an education. In 1885 he entered the

law office of judge E. E. Evans as a student, and
in October, 1887, was admitted to the bar, after

which he at once formed a partnership with his

preceptor under the him name of Evans & Mc-
Henry. He is a general practitioner, and has saved

many the expense of goirg into open court by
adjusting their differences in a fair and wise man-
ner. Although still young in years he has al-

ready a widespread reputation and gives every

promise of becoming eminent in his profession. He
is interested in local politics, is a democrat, and
has been chairman of the democratic central com-
mittee of the county. Miss Louise S. Carter, who
was born in this county, became his wife in January,

1889. He and his wife are members of the First

Presbyterian church. He is a member of Anchor
lodge No. 283, of the F. & A. M. and Phoenix

lodge No, 288, of the K. of P.

For many years, or since his location in this

county, the reputation which William Mclntire,

High Hill, Ohio, has enjoyed, has been not only

that of a substantial and progressive farmer, but
of an intelligent and well posted man on all pub-
lic affairs. He was born in Brooke county, W.
Ya.

,
in September, 1819, and is a son of John and

Charlotte (Leisure) Mclntire, both of Scotch origin.

William Mclntire came to Ohio in the year 1 822 with

his parents. He remained at home until 1839,

when he purchased eighty acres of land in Meigs
township, Muskingum county, where he has since

resided. To the original tract he added from time

to time, as his means allowed, 240 acres, and is

now the owner of 160 acres, all well cultivated and
well improved. The other 160 acres of this land

he deeded to his sons, Isaac and George H. He
is wide awake and enterprising and by his able man-
agement has accumulated a comfortable compe-
tency. On January 13, 1839, he was united in

marriage to Miss Elizabeth Herron, daughter of

John and Jane Herron, and the fruits of this union
were seven children, all living but two: John (de-

ceased), Isaac, Mercy J. , William (deceased), Char-
lotte A., George H. and Albert P. Mr. Mclntire
has held many local positions and has filled all in a

very satisfactory and capable manner. He was
trustee for a number of years and discharged the

duties incumbent upon the office of justice of the

peace for eighteen years. In politics he advocates
the principles of the democratic party.

Prof. John D. H. McKinley, Dresden, Ohio, a

distant relative of the distinguished and greatest

protectionist of this or any other age, was born in

Washington county, Md.
,
in 1850, and is a son of
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Nelson and Mary A. (Hart) McKinley. He came
to the Buckeye state in 1867, and attended Kenyon
college at Gambier from which institution he was
graduated in 1872. From that date until 1873 he
was principal of Harcourt Place school, Gambier, and
from 1873 to 1875 he read law at Franklin, Penn.
From 1875 until 1882 he was again principal of

Harcourt Place school. Prof. McKinley came to

Muskingum county in 1882 and here he has since

made his home. In 1883 he embarked in the real

estate business in Columbus, Ohio, and this he
continues at the present time. Since 1884 he has

been professor of Latin and mathematics in Miss
Phelps’ English and Classical school for young
ladies of Columbus. In 1880 he married Miss
Fannie E. Cox, of near Dresden, Ohio, and their

union has been blessed by the birth of two inter-

esting children: Mary A. and Emma E. Prof.

McKinley is a prominent educator, a man of ex-

cellent business acumen, and one of the county’s

foremost citizens in all enterprises of a laudable

nature. In politics he advocates the principles of

the republican party.

A very prominent representative of the busi-

ness men of New Concord is to be found in Will-

iam W. McKinney, who by his honorable and up-

right conduct has won many firm friends in both
commercial and social circles. Mr. McKinney has

been engaged in business since 1865, and deals ex-

clusively in hardware and groceries, carrying a

large stock and doing an extensive business. He
was born in New Concord, Ohio, in 1849, and was
the eldest of six children born to Joseph and Mar-
garet (Dennis) McKinney. Joseph McKinney was
also a native of this township and county, and was
born within a mile of New Concord, June 10, 1827.

He grew to manhood in that town, and followed

merchandising and blacksmithing up to 1861, when
he enlisted in Company A, Fifteenth Ohio Volun-
teer infantry, and ranked as sergeant of that com-
pany. He was in service about two years and
three months, and was in the battles of Shiloh,

Stone River, and numerous skirmishes. He was cap-

tured at Stone River and confined in Libby prison

for a month, when he was exchanged. He then

joined his regiment, and took part in the battle of

Liberty Gap, Tenn., where he lost his right leg on
June 24, 1863. This ended his military career.

Returning to New Concord he resumed mercandis-

ing and was appointed postmaster, holding that

position for eighteen years prior to his death,

which occurred in 1883. He was a prominent
member of the Methodist Episcopal church, and
was class-leader in the same for many years. He
was active in politics, and advocated the principles

of the republican party. In all educational mat-
ters he was deeply interested, and he was a mem-
ber of the board of trustees of the Muskingum

college, being an active member of the same when
the college was building. About 1847 he was mar-
ried in his native town to Miss Margaret Dennis,
a native of Trenton, N. J., bom in the year 1829.
To this union were born five children, who are

named in the order of their births, as follows:

William W. (subject), Zimenia (wife of John W.
Hedges, of North Vernon, Ind.), Frank (a resident

of Zanesville), Joseph H. (a resident of Cam-
bridge), and Maggie (wife of James Hedges, and
now resides in Muskingum county, Ohio). The
mother of these children died in January, 1874.

She was a worthy and exemplary member of the
Methodist Episcopal church. After her death, or

in 1876, Mr. McKinney married Mrs. Sarah A.

Bailey, and to them was born one child, Louis,

who is now in New Concord. Joseph McKinney
was one of eight children born to Joseph Sr. and
Elizabeth (Storer) McKinney, the former one of

the early settlers of New Concord, and the first

postmaster of that town. He was originally from
the Keystone state. William W. McKinney is a

native of New Concord, Ohio, where he was born
in 1849. After completing his school days, and
when but twelve and a half years of age, he
entered the Union army as a drummer boy in 1861,
serving with credit and distinction in Company A,

Fifteenth regiment, O. V. V. I., and acted in

that capacity for two years. He was then pro-

moted to orderly for Maj.-Gen. T. J. Wood, com-
manding Third division, Fourth Army Corps, serv-

ing until the winter of 1864, when he received his

honorable discharge, and returning to civil life

after an experience of over three years; which was
full of incidents, and if drawn by the pencil of the

painter would present thrilling features of war and
carnage, of march and camp life. Mr. McKinney
was the youngest soldier from Ohio. Some of the

prominent engagements in which he participated

were: Shiloh, Stone River,' Missionary Ridge,

Kenesaw Mountain, and the Atlanta campaign.
Although young in years Mr. McKinney served his

country faithfully and creditably, and was ever

ready for duty. He received his discharge at

Chattanooga, Tenn. Returning to New Concord
he embarked in merchandising with his father, and
remained with him until the latter’s death in 1883,

In 1873 he was united in marriage to Miss M. M.
Spear, a native of New Concord, born in 1849, and
the daughter of Alexander and Mary Spear, who
were among the oldest settlers of this part of the

county. Mrs. McKinney died in June, 1882, leav-

ing a daughter, Rose M.
,
who is attending school.

In 1884 Mr. McKinney took for his second wife

Miss Anna M. Lindsey, a native of Cumberland,
Guernsey county, Ohio, born in 1855, and the

daughter of James Lindsey. The result of this

union was the birth of one child, a son, Otho L.
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Mr. and Mrs. McKinney are members of the

United Presbyterian church, and he has been
treasurer of the same for the last ten years. He
has also been treasurer of the town for the same
length of time, and treasurer of the school district.

Mr. McKinney is one of the county’s most esteemed
and honored citizens, and has held a number of

local offices of trust. In politics he casts his vote

with the republican party.

Thomas McLees was born, November 12, 1823,

in a log cabin on what is now known as Blossom
farm, Blue Rock township, Muskingum county,

Ohio. His father, Joseph McLees, was born, Oc-
tober 24, 1778, in County Antrim, Ireland. Thomas
McLees, the father of Joseph McLees, died about
1799 in Ireland, and his wife, Sarah Hunter Mc-
Lees, came to the United States, in 1801, with four

children—two sons and two daughters: Thomas,
Joseph, Agnes and Mary, and landed at Newcas-
tle, Del. One son, William, had preceded them,
and Samuel and Rachel died in Ireland. Thomas
and William never married; Agnes married Gabriel

Blair, and Mary married Thomas Snyder. The
parents were natives of the Highlands of Scotland,

but married in Ireland and there reared their en-

tire family, the youngest, Agnes and Mary, being
twenty-one and nineteen years of age, respectively,

when they came to this country. Joseph McLees
was twenty-three years of age when he came to

this country with his mother. He lived in Dela-
ware two years, and then removed to Westmoreland
county, Penn., where he remained fifteen years, then
coming to Muskingum county,Ohio, he settled in Blue
Rock township, on what is now known as Blossom
farm. Government land was then selling at $2 per
acre, payable in four annual payments, without in-

terest, but before the last payment was due the
price had dropped to $1 .25 per acre. At that time,

March 15, 1818, there was not a stick amiss, and
the brush had to be cut to allow the wagon to pass.

He cut a trail almost to the top of the hill, there

halted, and commenced to clear the ground and
build a cabin, 16x18 feet, of round logs. A great
hole was cut out for a fire place and another in the
side, for a door, a quilt answering the purpose of

the door. A large poplar puncheon served as a

table. A split rail and holes bored in the walls

served as bed posts, forming a bed, 4x6 feet, in the
corner of the house, and another in another corner,

made in the same style. The mother kept house
for her two sons, Joseph and William. Later,
William bought a quarter section of land in Blue
Rock township, where he built a cabin and lived

there seven or eight years all alone, dying in 1827.

The mother died in 1826, at the advanced age of

eighty-nine years, and they both were buried on
Blossom farm. Thomas had died in Delaware,
soon after coming to this country. The McLees

30

and Hunters were Presbyterians as far back as is

known, and the grandfather of Thomas McLees, of

Scotland, used to wear his sword to church to de-

fend himself. They were known as Mountain men,
and on Grandmother Hunter’s side of the family

were large, broad-shouldered, muscular men who
never gave nor took an insult. The following will

illustrate the same: Uncle John Hunter, as he was
called, was at a fair given on Lamas day, when he
saw a prize fighter abusing an old man. He im-

mediately stepped up to the bully and said: “You
ought to be ashamed of yourself, to abuse an old

man.” At this the man became very angry and
struck at him; but Uncle John was too quick for

him, and felled him to the ground. This settled

the fight. The same trait of character follows in

the entire family. They love fair play and always
sympathize with the abused one. When Joseph
McLees moved to this township, in 1 818, neighbors

were very few: Benjamin Lee was one mile east;

John Gibbons Sr., two miles north; Andrew Dix-

on, three miles west; and David Mitchell and Arch-

ibald Bowls four miles southeast, and Hyatts and
Carlins, in Morgan county, five or six miles away.

It was quite common in those days for neighbors

to go six miles to assist in building a cabin, and as

they generally came at sunrise, it was without their

breakfast. Half their time was taken up assisting

their neighbors. March 15, 1821, Joseph McLees,
the father of Thomas, married Miss Hannah Mor-
rison, youngest daughter of Capt. Samuel Morri-

son, of Washington county, Penn. Capt. Morrison

was in the volunteer service of his native state,

Pennsylvania, in the War of 1812-14. He reared

a family of nine children—five sons and four daugh-
ters, and their ancestors were also natives of the

Highlands of Scotland. Mr. and Mrs. McLees
reared a family of two sons and six daugh-
ters: Thomas (our subject), John Morrison, Sarah
Hunter, Mary L.

,
Margaret M.

,
Agnes, Hannah

and Rachel, all living except Margaret M., who
died in October, 1863. The father died December
26, 1848, and the mother in September, 1863. The
early settlers of this county had many privations,

and often the mother has spoken of the time when
she picked and burned brush at night, which they

used for light. Still they were light hearted,

worked with a will, and were very successful.

Thomas McLees received a common-school edu-

cation in the subscription schools of that day.

The salary of the school teachers at that time was
about $10 per mouth; $1.50 a scholar, and twenty
to twenty-four scholars was considered a good
school. The branches taught in these schools were
reading, writing and arithmetic as far as the rule

of three, and a school term three months. The
first schoolhouse was built on the land owned by
Frederick Wion. Thomas McLees first attended
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school at the Blue Rock Baptist church iu 1832,

six weeks being the length of a term, and his

teacher was Jeremiah Argo. Later he attended
the school on Starrett’s farm. John Darr was the

teacher; he received $100 per year for his services

aud boarded around among the scholars, remaining
a week at each place. This was in 1833 and 1834.

A new schoolhouse was built on lands owned by
John Grandstaff, about one-half mile from the old

one. Thomas McLees stopped school at the age
of seventeen years, and in his studies was always
at the head of his class, mathematics being his

favorite study. When twenty-three years of age,

in 1846, he removed to Perry county, Ohio, and
lived there four years, taught three terms of

school, and in 1850, after the death of his father,

returned to his native home and bought Blossom
farm. Here he lived and owned the same until

1891, when he sold it to his son, James R. S. This
farm has been owned by McLees for over seventy-

four years. August 27, 1844, Thomas McLees
married Miss Elizabeth Starrett, and nine children

blessed this union—five sons and four daughters

—

seven living at the present time, June 1, 1892. In
June, 1855, Mr. McLees was a delegate to the
American convention which met at Cleveland and
nominated S. P. Chase for governor and Thomas
H. Ford, lieutenant governor. In February, 1856,

he was duly elected delegate to the national council

and nominating convention which met in the city

of Philadelphia and nominated Fillmore and Don-
elson. He, with fifty-seven others— anti-slavery

Americans—left the convention and on May 31,

1856, helped lay the foundation of the present re-

publican party. Mr. McLees shaved his face smooth
and made a promise that he would not shave again
until Fremont was elected. Fremont was never
elected, neither has he shaved. Mr. McLees has
been known as an outspoken anti-slavery man, and
served in the Morgan raid five days under Capt. N.

F. Claypool. He was mustered out, received his

pay, and entered the O. N. G., Ninety-first battal-

ion. On May 2, 1864, he and his two sons reported

at Zanesville, Ohio. He and the eldest son, Josiah,

were mustered into the service of the United States

army, in Company I, One Hundred and Sixtieth

regiment, Capt. Henry S. Finley, under Gen. Franz
Seigel. This regiment was placed in the First

brigade First division of Gen. Hunter’s army of

West Virginia. On the night of July 3, 1864,

they retreated from Martinsburg, W. Va., marched
through the Potomac river and lay on the banks
of the canal in wet clothes. On July 5 they went
on to Maryland Heights at 11 o’clock p. m., Gen.
Early in his raid following, and the fight began July
6. On July 7, 1864, Josiah McLees was in line

of battle between Sharpsburg road and the Poto-
mac river, and at 10 a. m. was mortally wounded,

dying July 20. On September 7, 1864, Thomas
McLees was mustered out of service. April, 1866,
he was elected assessor, and assessed the property
in Blue Rock, made his returns in twenty-six days,

and was reelected for the office in 1867 and 1868.

In 1886 he was elected school treasurer, took the
books out of chaos, held the office six years in suc-

cession, settled annually, and returned the books
in good shape to his successor. In 1866 he was
the first commander of the G. A. R. organized in

Blue Rock township; was a charter member in

Hazlett post No. 81, Zanesville, Ohio. In 1887
Mr. McLees withdrew and joined Dan Brown post

No. 380, Duncan’s Falls, Ohio, has held the office of

commander, was twice delegate to department, also

elected surgeon, and is at this time chaplain. He
is also a member of P. O. S. of A., and has
been admitted in Sons of Veteran camp, and the

Ancient Order of United Workmen. Mr. McLees
was raised a Henry Clay whig, first voted for

Zachary Taylor for president in 1848, and has
never missed a spring or fall election. Mr. Mc-
Lees has been twice married. With his first wife

he lived over twenty-four years, and with the sec-

ond twenty- one years. He has been a member of

the Presbyterian church forty-eight years, and by
the grace of God, expects to live and die in that

church. Mr. McLees bought a house in the

Eighth ward, Zanesville, Ohio, and expects to

make this his permanent residence. He is one of

the prominent citizens of the county, progressive,

enterprising and energetic.

Divver McMillen was once one of the promi-
nent tillers of the soil in Perry township, Mus-
kingum county, for many years, but he has been a

resident of the town of Norwich for the past ten

years. He was born in Highland township, two
miles north of Norwich, on July 22, 1825, and was
the eldest son and fifth child born to James and
Elizabeth (Pringle) McMillen, and the grandson
of James and Jane (Bell) McMillen, natives of

Washington county, Penu. The McMillen family

is of Scotch descent, the great-grandfather being a

native of that country. The latter emigrated to

the United States in the early part of the eighteenth

century, settled in Washington county, Penn., and
reared a large family of children. He died in the

Keystone state. His son, James Sr., grandfather

of subject, was born in that county in 1758, and
was married to Miss Jane Bell, who bore him
nine children: Andrew, George, James, Isaac,

Divver, William (who died young), William, Theo-

dosia and Mary. The father of these children died

in Wayne township, Muskingum county, in 1821,

and his wife received her final summons in that

township in 1847. They settled in that township

about 1810, and Mr. McMillen cultivated the soil

and there reared his family. Of the children
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Isaac, Divver, William and James settled in this

county. The latter was born in Washington
county, Penn., in 1794, but when six years of age
came to Ohio with his parents. He was married
in 1817 to Miss Elizabeth Pringle and to them
fourteen children were born: Theodosia, who died

at the age of fifty-four years and left ten children;

Margaret died at the age of sixty- nine years and
left five children; Jane died when forty-six years

of age; Elizabeth resides in Iowa and is the mother
of one child; Divver (subject); Penina, who died

at the age of six years; Job married and reared

five children. He was a farmer and died in Jack-

son county, Ohio, in 1878; William is a farmer in

Union township and the father of four children;

Martha resides in Hardin county, this state, and is

the mother of five children; Susan resides in

Hardin county and has two children; George W.
is also a resident of Hardin county and the father

of six children. He served three years in the late

unpleasantness between the North and the South;
Jefferson was a soldier in Company I, One Hun-
dred and Twenty-second regiment, Ohio Volunteer
infantry and was killed at -— in 1863. He
entered as a private and on the day he was shot

mustered his command as first lieutenant; Mary
died at the age of ten years, and John, who is now
residing in Perry township, this county, and is the

father of six children. He was in the 100 days’

service. George W., who was mentioned before,

was an inmate of Andersonville and Libby prisons

for nine months and suffered much during that

time. The father of these children, James McMil-
len, was married in Wayne township, and the farm
he first cultivated is the site of the thriving town
of Norwich. He moved to Highland township in

1825 and settled on a farm owned by his wife.

There he remained for fifty-one years. He died in

March, 1876. He was a prosperous farmer and
accumulated a handsome property. He was a

member of the M. E. church and although at

first a whig in politics, he at last affiliated with the
republican party. His wife, Elizabeth (Pringle)

McMillen, was born in Loudoun county, Va.
,
in

1798, and was the daughter of Henry and Mary
(Trumbo) Pringle. Her parents came to this

county in 1810 and settled in Wayne township,
near Zanesville, where they made their home for

many years. The father died in 1823 at the age
of fifty-two years. He was a wheelwright by trade
but also carried on farming. In his religious views
he was an Old School Baptist and for many years
was a minister of the Salt Creek Baptist church of

the county. His wife died in Wayne township
when eighty-seven years of age. She was the
mother of ten children, viz.: Margaret, Elizabeth,
Mary, Belinda, William, Penina, Ada Ida, Jede-
<liah, George W. and John. None are now liviug.

Mrs. McMillen, who was the second of these chil-

dren, died May 1, 1875. Sheheldmembershipinthe
M. E. church and was deeply interested in religious

matters. James McMillen and wife both died in

Highland township after a companionship of fifty-

eight years. Divver McMillen received his edu-

cation in the subscription schools of his day and
from 1847 to 1863 wielded the ferule in the schools

of that township. He was first married in 1851 to

Miss Sarah J. Hogan, a native of Perry township,

Muskingum county, Ohio, born December 2, 1829,

and the daughter of Richard H. and Frances
(Decker) Hogan. The Hogan family came origi-

nally from Loudoun county, Va. , and were early

settlers of Muskingum county, Ohio. To Mr. and
Mrs. McMillen seven children were born five now
living: Clotilda, Frances, Alice, George O. and
Job W. The three eldest married. Clotilda mar-
ried John Wilson and became the mother of two
children: Etta J. and Elmer D. She and family

now reside in Highland township. Frances mar
ried J. M. Goodhart, of Zanesville, and they have
one child, Homer. Alice, married James Radcliff

and is now residing in Perry township. They have
three children: Flora, George and Walter. George
and Job are at home. Mr. McMillen’s first wife

died at the age of thirty-eight years in 1868. She
was a kind wife and mother and a worthy member
of the M. E. church. June 19, 1869, Mr. McMil-
len wedded Miss Elizabeth Stevenson, a native of

Washington county, Penn., born March 15, 1838,

and the daughter of William and Eliza (Boyd)
Stevenson, both natives of the same county. The
father died in Pennsylvania over thirty years ago
but the mother is still living and is eighty-eight

years of age. Mrs. McMillen was one of seven

children, three daughters and four sons: Boyd,
Margaret. William, Elizabeth, Samuel, Agnes and
Alfred. Mr. McMillen’s second marriage resulted

in the birth of two children: Bell and Hattie C.,

both at home. Mr. McMillen lost his second wife

in September, 1890. She was also interested in

religious work and was an affectionate mother and
wife. After his first marriage Mr. McMillen re-

sided in Jackson, Ohio, for thirteen years and then
moved to Perry township, this county, where he
bought a farm of 160 acres which is still owned by
him. He is a democrat, is interested in politics

and has held the office of trustee of the township,

Mr. McMillen is a self-made man and has, in ad-

dition to his farm in the country, a fine residence

in Norwich. He spent about sixteen years of his

life as an educator and has taken much pains with

the schooling of his children.

Among the many agriculturists of prominence
in Muskingum county, Ohio, William McNaught,
Frazeysburg, takes a leading place. He is of Scotch -

Irish descent, his great grandfather having end-
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grated from Scotland to Ireland when he married.

William McNaught’s father, Johnson McNaught,
was born in County Donegal, Ireland, and followed

the life of a farmer. He married in his native

country Miss Mary A. Stevenson, and their chil-

dren, ten in number, were born on the Emerald
Isle. They were named as follows: Sallie (died in

Ireland in infancy), Eliza J., Isabel, Alexander
(died in Ireland then three years of age), William,

Johnson, Samuel, Daniel, Thomas (died in America
at the age of twelve), and one who died in infancy

in Ireland. In 1846 Mr. Johnson McNaught came
to America, and the next year sent for his family.

He settled in Coshocton county, Ohio, resided

there fifteen years, and then moved to the farm now
occupied by Samuel McNaught, his son. There
he passed the remainder of his days, dying at the

age of seventy-two. He held membership in the

Presbyterian church, and was a liberal contributor

to the same. In politics a stanch republican; he
was a strong union man during the Civil war, and
sent three of his sons to fight in defense of their

country: William (subject), Johnson and Samuel.
Johnson was in the famous Ninety-seventh regi-

ment, Ohio Volunteer infantry, Company F, and
was in all the battles of that regiment until he was
killed at the battle of Missionary Ridge. Samuel
enlisted May 19, 1864, in Company F, One Hun-
dred and Fifty-ninth Ohio Volunteer infantry, and
served three months. Johnson McNaught (father

of our subject) was an industrious, law-abiding

citizen, and brought up his children to be honor-

able, upright citizens. William McNaught was
born in County Donegal, Ireland, September 30,

1836, was educated in his native country until

eleven years of age, and then came with his mother
to America. He at once began assisting his father

on the farm, and on September 3, 1863, was united

in marriage to Miss Mary N. Baker, who was bom
April 5, 1845, and who was the daughter of Will-

iam H. and Sarah A. (Walker) Baker. William
Baker was a native of New Jersey, and came to

Muskingum county, Ohio, when twenty -one years

of age, settling in Dresden. He was a blacksmith

by trade. He was married in Dresden, and be-

came the father of five children: Helen, Mary M.

,

Anna A., Albert A. and Jerome W. Mr. Baker
was for some time engaged in merchandising in

Dresden, and served as constable. He died at the

age of sixty years. He was a member of the Ma-
sonic fraternity, and a man of high character. He
was well educated, but was naturally intelligent.

His father was killed in the Revolutionary war.

Mr. Baker’s wife, Sarah A. (Walker) Baker, was
a descendant of John Barron, on the maternal side.

Mr. Barron was an old pioneer from Ireland, and
settled in Jackson township, Muskingum county,

Ohio, on the farm now occupied by Sylvester Mc-

Donald, at a very early day. When a young man
he taught school in a log house on this farm, and
this house has since served as a residence and a
sheep house, and now stands on the farm of Will-

iam McNaught. John Barron moved to Dresden
and there died at the age of ninety-seven. He
was an elder in the Presbyterian church many
years. To Mr. and Mrs. McNaught were born
thirteen children: Anna M. (died at ten years),

William J., Carrie B., Fannie, Maggie (died at

the age of three years), Helen E. (died at the age
of one year), Elmer, Lizzie D., Blanche, Samuel
P. , Jerome E., Myrtle and Otto (died in infancy).

After marriage Mr. McNaught settled in Coshocton
county, and on September 30, 1864, enlisted in

Company F, Seventy-eighth regiment, Volunteer
infantry, and was in the battles of Atlanta, Buford
and

,
S. C. He was severely injured by fall-

ing off a bridge January, 1864, and was in the

hospital at Buford, S. C., for a short time. After

this he was at Fort Schuyler eight weeks and then
joined his regiment at Goldsboro, N. C., fighting

until the close of the war. He was honorably dis-

charged at Washington, D. C.
,
May 30, 1865, and

was present and marched in the grand review.

Upon returning home he bought the farm where
he now lives. He and Mrs. McNaught are worthy
and exemplary members of the Presbyterian

church, and Mr. McNaught has been an elder for

fifteen years. In politics he affiliates with the

republican party. His daughter Carrie married

Rev. James A. Leggett, a Presbyterian minister

now filling the pulpit at Kingston, Ind. Mr. Mc-
Naught has ever been a hard-working man, but
has been disabled for years from injuries received

during the war. He is strictly temperate, and is

honorable and upright. He erected a fine resi-

dence, but this was destroyed by fire, and he has
since built another, a comfortable two-story resi-

dence. He has been ably assisted by his capable

and faithful wife in rearing the large family, and
they have given their children the best educational

advantages.

William McVey, dealer in furniture and house-

hold decorations, New Concord, Ohio. Mr. McVey
was born in Rich Hill township, Muskingum
county, Ohio, August 1, 1837, and was the eldest

living child born to George and Jane (Given) Mc-
Vey, both natives of Washington county, Penn.,

born in 1805 and 1807, respectively. Our subject’s

paternal grandparents, Enoch and Elizabeth

(Lyons) McVey, were also natives of the Keystone
state, born in Mifflin county. George McVey’s
early life was spent on a farm in Pennsylvania, and
when eleven years of age he came with his parents

to Muskingum county and settled with them in

Rich Hill township. In 1826 he built a flatboat

and made a trip to New Orleans, taking a load of
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flour for general trading. In 1834 he married
Miss Given, and reared eight children, only flve

reaching mature years: William, Jane E. (resid-

ing in Kansas), Rachel M. (now Mrs. McCutcheon),
Rev. Hugh G. (a minister of the United Presby-

terian church at New Wilmington, Penn.,) and
David E. (married, is a farmer and dealer in wind-

mills at Sterling, Kas.). George McVey was a

wide-awake and enterprising farmer, and accumu-
lated a good property. He was a self-made man
and a public spirited citizen. His death occurred

on the farm where he had resided for fifty years,

April 19, 1885, when eighty-one years of age. He
held membership in the United Presbyterian church
for over fifty years, and was an active worker in

educational and religious enterprises. In early

life he was a democrat, but later he became a re-

publican, and was one of the ardent supporters of

that party. He held a number of offices of trust

in his county, and was well and favorably known
all over the same. Mrs. McVey was also a mem-
ber of the United Presbyterian church the greater

part of her life, and died in Rich Hill township,

this county, about 1874. She was the daughter of

David and Jane (Langan) Given, who settled in

Muskingum county about 1815. About 1825 two
of her brothers were struck by lightning and
killed while flaying wheat in a barn. Her parents

died in this township, the mother when about
ninety-eight or ninety-nine years of age. William
McVey’s boyhood days were passed on the farm
where he first saw the light of day, and he re-

mained under the parental roof until twenty-five

years of age. In September, 1862, he enlisted in

Company H., One Hundred and Twenty-sixth Ohio
Volunteer infantry, Second brigade, Third division,

Sixth Army Corps, under Gen. Grant, and partici-

pated in a great many engagements, the following

being the most important: Wilderness, Cold Har-
bor, Winchester, Cedar Creek and Petersburg. He
was in twenty- six battles and served three years,

and during that time was only absent on a twenty-

days’ furlough. He was neither wounded nor taken
prisoner. At the close of the war he was honora-

bly discharged at Washington City, and then re-

turned to Rich Hill township, where, on May 17,

1866, he was married to Miss Rachel J. Pollock,

daughter of Samuel and Louisa (Miller) Pollock,

and a native of Muskingum county, born Novem-
ber 21, 1843. Her parents are still living, and
have been married over fifty years, having cele-

brated their golden wedding not long ago. Mrs.
McVey was now the eldestof eleven children, eight

of whom are now living, and named in the order of

their births as follows: Abraham M. (who was killed

at the battle of Spottsylvania), Mary E., Allie, Mag-
gie, Henry, Wilson S., Chalmers, Addie, and two
who died while young. Mr. and Mrs. McVey’s

union was blessed by the birth of five children

,

three of whom are now living: Myrta J., bom
May 21, 1872, is attending college; Frank G.,

born July, 1875, is attending high school, and
Mary L., born November 21, 1879, is also in

school. Mr. McVey and family are members of the

United Presbyterian church, in which he is an
elder and an earnest worker. He is a republican

in politics, and of late his sympathies have been
with the prohibition party. Mr. McVey followed

farming after the war until 1869, when he moved
to Chandlerville and engaged in the drug business

for about three years. From there he went to

Washington, Guernsey county, Ohio, and was in

the general merchandising business until 1884,
when he came to New Concord, where he has since

been engaged in the furniture and undertaking
business. Mr. McVey has held a number of offi-

cial positions in the towns in which he has resided,

and was treasurer of Guernsey county fair for a

number of years.

The Dresden Seamless Hosiery Company, C. H.
Magness & Co.

,
proprietors. Works corner Main

and Chestnut streets. This is one of the largest,

ablest and most equitably conducted industrial in-

stitutions of this county and promises to give con-

spicuity to this place as a manufacturing and
business center. It dates its establishment here
to February of the present year (1892), and the

members of the firm are Joseph B. Mercer, C. H.
Magness, and Harry J. Mercer, all live, energetic,

business men. All have heretofore been associated

with the business interests of Zanesville, and bring
into requisition the amplest financial and executive

ability for the most advantageous prosecution of

this important industry. They have secured an
excellent plant with ample buildings, and have
introduced the newest improved machinery, pro-

pelled by one fifteen horse power engine and boiler,

and furnish employment to an average of forty

to fifty hands in the various departments of the
business. These works are devoted to the manufac-
ture of the best grades of men’s woolen half hose,

and women’s misses’ and children’s hose, made from
the best of yarns, and which, in reliability of con-

struction and stability of color, will bear favorable
comparison with any contemporaneous establish-

ment in the Union. This institution is one which
reflects credit upon the place, both in its products
and the efficiency of its management, and is pre-

pared to supply the trade upon as favorable terms
as any similar house in the United States, when
true equality is taken into consideration. Travel-
ing salesmen represent this house in various sec-

tions of the Union. Joseph B. Mercer was born in

Zanesville, Ohio, January 11, 1857, and is a son
of Hiram and Alice (Ailes) Mercer. He received

a good high-school education in Zanesville, and
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subsequently was engaged in office work for the

Zanesville Woolen Mills for eight years. In 1881
he became a partner in the Zanesville Hose Manu-
facturing Company, which employed about 250
hands all the time, and he remained connected with

this until 1887. In 1890 Mr. Mercer accepted his

present position as manager of the Dresden Hosiery
company. He was married in 1886 to Miss Anna
Starr, a native of Muskingum county, and the

daughter of Moses Starr, who resides in Cambridge,
Ohio. In politics he is a republican and socially

he affiliates with the K. of P. He is a member of

the Methodist Episcopal church. Charles H. Mag-
ness was born in Coshocton county, Ohio, July 1,

1863, and is a son of Fielding and Caroline (Wells)

Magness,both now residing with their son Charles.

The later received a good practical education in

the common schools and when twenty years of age
began clerking in a store for Sturtevant & Martin,

with whom he continued for six years. After this

he clerked for Thomas Coulton for one year. In

1886 he married Miss Stella Parsons, of Zanesville,

and the daughter of Henry Parsons. He is a mem-
ber of the K. of P., and in politics is a stanch re-

publican. He holds membership in the Methodist
Episcopal church. Harry J. Mercer was born in

Zanesville, Ohio, March 28, 1864, and is a son of

Hiram and Alice (Ailes) Mercer. He was well

educated in the common schools, and when sixteen

years of age commenced working in the Zanesville

Woolen Mills, where he continued for about nine

months He then worked for the Hose Manufact-
uring company, and subsequently in the carpet

store of W. H. Rutledge. After this he became
shipping clerk in the hose factory at Zanesville,

and remained thus engaged until 1890, when the

present firm was organized with Mr. Mercer as a

partner. He is also a member of the K. of P., and
in politics is a republican.

John H. Mangold, superintendent of the Mus-
kingum County Infirmary, is a native of this

county, born in Zanesville, April 17, 1842, and is

a son of Adam and Susan (Long) Mangold, both

natives of Germany. The parents left their

native country for this in 1841, and Mr. Mangold
worked at his trade as cooper in Zanesville for a

few years, subsequently purchasing a farm near

that city, where his death occurred on August 7,

1881, aged sixty-eight years. He was a good citi-

zen and was honored and respected by all. His

wife died in May, 1855, in Muskingum county.

In 1857 he married for his second wife Miss

Elizabeth Thomas, who died in September, 1872.

One child was born to them, Caroline, the wife of

Samuel Hall. John H. Mangold, the eldest child

and only son of a family of four children, is, with

one sister, the only one now living. He began for

himself at the age of fifteen years and was partly

reared by a Mr. Alexander Armstrong, a prominent
and influential farmer of this county. On August
22, 1862, he enlisted in Company F, One Hundred
and Twenty-second regiment, Ohio Volunteer in-

fantry as a private and was promoted to corporal,

October 6, 1862, and sergeant, February 1, 1865.

He participated in the following engagements:
Wilderness, Spottsylvania Courthouse, Bloody
Angle, Cold Harbor, and siege of Petersburg.

He was shot in the right shoulder and sent back
to One Hundred and Twenty-second regiment, being
off duty until December of the same year. At
Winchester, June 15, 1863, he was taken prisoner,

sent to Libby prison, from there two days later to

Belle Island, and about twenty-eight days later

still, to Castle Thunder. He was there two days
and a night when he was paroled. After being
discharged he returned to Muskingum county,

where he followed the butchering business, which
he had learned prior to entering the army. He
followed that until 1874, when he purchased a

farm near Sonora, this county, where he resided

until March, 1889, when he was appointed to fill

the position he now occupies. He was married,

in 1866, to Miss Elizabeth Border, the daughter of

Samuel and Margaret Border, who was born near

Sonora, this county, and they are the parents of

the following children: Lula G. (wife of Charles

E. Reed), Martha A. (wife of W. S. Dunn), Blanche
A., Charles C., William B., Harry A., Eli F., Nor-
wood F. and Mary E. Mr. Mangold was elected

one of the three county infirmary directors in 1882
and served three years. He is an influential citi-

zen and was a member of the school board for a

number of years in Washington township. He
cast his first presidential vote for Abraham Lin-

coln, and has always affiliated with the republican

party. He superintends the entire business of the

County infirmary, which is no small task, requir-

ing a man of judgment and experience to conduct
it properly, and he is well qualified to fill that po-

sition. He and Mrs. Mangold are members of the

German Lutheran church, which Mr. Mangold
joined when fifteen years of age. He owns 128

acres in Washington and 51 acres in Perry town-

ships, all in one tract located six miles of Zanes-

ville. In 1866 Mr. Mangold joined the Masonic
fraternity at Zanesville, and is junior deacon of

Amity lodge No. 5. About 187(1 he was initiated

in Moxahala lodge No. 144, I. O. O. F., is also

a member of the G. A. R. post No. 412, and on
November 25, 1889, he became a member of Phoe

nix lodge No. 388, K. of P.

J. S. Marcellus, horticulturist and mine oper-

ator, was born in Tompkins county, N. Y.
,
August

19, 1831, and settled in Muskingum county, Ohio,

in 1836. He was the seventh of eight children

born to John and Sarah (McNeal) Marcellus, the
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former of whom descended from a family of French
Huguenots, who were driven from France on ac-

count of their religious belief. The father was
born in Trenton, N. J., December 4, 1795, but in

1825 he removed to the state of New York and,

although a carpenter and farmer by occupation, he
there engaged in getting out timber forship build-

ing purposes. He died at the age of forty-five

years, his death occurring on October 2, 1841.

His wife, who was of Irish descent, was born in

Berks county, Penn., September 7, 1789, and was
married on December 18,, 1818. This lady had
four brothers and four sisters, but the brothers all

died before reaching the age of twenty-eight years,

but the sisters all lived to be over eighty years of

age. The mother came to Ohio in 1836, and after

being left a widow with a large family to support,

she was married, in 1845, to Jonathan Stockdale,

who was called from life in 1858. He was de-

scended from a Quaker family and was himself a
member of the Friends church. His death oc-

curred at the age of forty-five years. The
mother’ s last days were spent at the home of her
son near Zanesville, and there she peacefully

breathed her last on August 20, 1889, at the age
of eighty-nine years. Of her children, Levi, at an
early age took charge of the home affairs, the
duties of which he discharged with credit to him-
self. He was born in Berks county, Penn., in

1820, and came to Ohio with the family in 1836.

He was married, in this state, to Miss Elizabeth
Culk by whom he became the father of six sons
and five daughters, seven of whom are still living.

In 1855 he emigrated to McLean county, 111., and
settled near Le Roy, but soon after moved to

Downs, where his wife died. In 1859 he was
united in marriage to Miss Mary J. Blue, who
bore him two daughters. He made his home in

Illinois until 1867, when he removed to Kansas,
his wife dying in that state in 1874. Two years
later he took for his third wife, Elizabeth A. Hand.
During the last year of the Civil war he served in

Company B., One Hundred and Fiftieth Illinois in

fantry. He lived until September 5, 1884, when he
died at the age of sixty-four years. The brothers
and sisters of Levi Marcellus were as follows: Jo-
seph was born May 5, 1828, and died January 22,

1829; Mary was born September 7, 1826, and
died September 4, 1845; Julia was born June 17,

1834; and died September 5, 1845; Theodore was
born December 3, 1829, and died July 30, 1850,
in Cleveland, Ohio, of cholera (he owned and
operated a line of packet boats on White Water
canal and carried the United States mail and pas-

sengers); Helen died in infancy; and the mother’s
second union resulted in the birth of one child,

Sarah J.. who was born in 1847 and died in in-

fancy. J. S. Marcellus, another brother and the

subject of this sketch, commenced life for himself

as a farm hand by working for $3 per month. At
the age of fourteen years he became an employe of

J. Simons, a merchant and crockery dealer, as

errand boy, and afterward became his clerk. He
remained with this gentleman until he wastwenty-

three years of age, during which time he became
very much attached to his employer, who took the

place of a father to him. After leaving Mr. Si-

mons’ employ he engaged in the photographic and
advertising business, which he followed for seven

years. He then returned home and has since

lived on the home farm. He has taken several ex-

tensive trips through the East and West, but is

very well pleased with the state of Ohio and be-

sides the home farm, which comprises seventy

acres, he owns a like amount near Emporia, Lyon
county, Kas. On May 15, 1859, he was married to

Miss Louisa Wilkins, a native of Morgantown, W.
Va., where she was born in 1833, the elder of two
children born to John and Rebecca (Berkshire)

Wilkins, the former of whom was an Irishman by
descent and a native of Pennsylvania. His

father was the founder of the family in America.

The mother was a native of West Virginia, her an-

cestors settling in the state at an early day. The
other daughter is Mattie C., the wife of H. S.

Goshen, now residing at Salem, Ohio, by whom
she has a family of five children. Politically Mr.

Marcellus has always been a republican and has

always been interested in politics. He is a mem-
ber of the A. F. & A. M., the I. O. O. F. and
the K. of H. His wife is a member of the Meth-

odist Episcopal church and he is a member of the

Horticultural society of Zanesville. He has been

a member of the republican executive committee
for the past twelve years, he served as assessor for

a number of years and has also been township
enumerator.

Charles Marquand, Marquand, Muskingum
county, Ohio, belongs to one of the oldest families

in Monroe township, and the first settlers on Wills

creek. Charles Marquand, the founder of the

family in America and the original pioneer on Wills

creek, was born about 1763 on the Isle of Guern-
sey. He was of French descent and could speak

that language. He married there Rachel Lovett

and they were the parents of six children, all of

whom lived to be grown, and all born on the Isle

of Guernsey. They were: Rachel, Sophia,

Charles, Peter, John and Solomon. Charles

Marquand was a carpenter by trade. He came to

America, settled in Georgetown, D. C., and here

worked at his trade and owned property, Some
of his building he owned and rented until his

death. After a residence here of some years, he
moved to the wilderness of Ohio settled where the

town of Cambridge now stands, but soon after
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moved to Wills creek when there was not a stick

cut in the wilds of that stream. He built a log

house on the land upon which his grandson,

Charles, now lives, in a field near the road. The
spot is now marked by an ancient apple tree

planted by the hand of the old pioneer. He cleared

a farm by perseverance and energy, accumulated
property, and at his death owned 625 acres in the

county. He ran salt works at an early day on
Wills creek, built a gristmill and sawmill and ran

a carding mill and fulling mill. These were the

first mills in this part of the county. Mr. Mar-
quand also owned a store and did a large mercan-
tile business. He built a large two-story brick

house in 1836-37, which was the only brick house
in this part of the county. He was a lover of lib-

erty and freedom and opposed to all secret socie-

ties. He was a mau of honor and integrity of

character and lived to the great age of ninety-

three years, dying March, 1856. Solomon Mar-
quand, son of the above mentioned gentleman and
the father of the subject of this sketch, was bo. n

on the Isle of Guernsey. His principal business

was working in his father’s mill and store. De-
cember, 1833, he married Eliza Hanks, daughter
of Jeremiah and Catherine (Shively) Hanks. Jere-

miah Hanks was of Virginian ancestry and a

farmer of Irish and Dutch descent. The Shive-

lys were of Swiss and Welsh descent. The Hanks
moved to Ohio in 1817 and settled in Highland
township, this county. Mr. Hanks was a com-
fortable pioneer farmer, reared a family of twelve

children and was in the War of 1812. He lived

to the age of seventy-seven years and was a mem-
ber of the Methodist church and an honest and
respected citizen. To Solomon Marquand and
wife were born two children: Charles and John W.
Mr. Marquand was a member of the Methodist

church and died April 2, 1841, only six years

after his marriage, cut down in the prime of life

by that dread disease, consumption. Charles

Marquand, his son and the subject of this sketch,

was born May 26, 1837, and received a common-
school education. Like his father before him, he
learned to work on the farm. He married at the

age of twenty-three years, in December, 1851,

Elizabeth Sutton, daughter of Samuel and Eliza-

beth (Slack) Sutton. Samuel Sutton was from
New Jersey, coming to Ohio when a young man.
He was a prosperous farmer and old pioneer set-

tler of Adams township, and was deacon for many
years in the Baptist church and a man honored by
all. He was the father of ten children, all lived

to be grown: Joseph, Philip, John, George,
Thomas, Elizabeth, Ann, William, Samuel and
Margaret. He lived to be nearly eighty-seven

years of age. To Mr. and Mrs. Charles Marquand
were born six children: Henry C., Walter E.,

Minor S., George E., Ella M. and Annie B. Mr.
Marquand lived on the old homestead nearly all

his life and is well known for his sterling traits of

character. In politics he is a republican. Both
Mr. and Mrs. Marquand are members of the Meth-
odist church and Mr. Marquand is steward and
trustee. He and his brother, John, own all the

land that the pioneer Charles Marquand possessed,

and it is a goodly heritage. Mr. Marquand stands

in his community as a man of high character. Of
the children Henry C. married Margaret Sturtz,

and they have one child. He is a miller at the

old Marquand mill. Walter E. married Louise
Trottman, and they have one child. He is a

farmer on the home farm. The rest of the chil-

dren are at home, with the exception of George,

who is attending school at Cambridge, Ohio. Mr.
Marquand is giving all his children good educa-

tional advantages.

J. W. and O. L. Martin are men who have
steadily and surely made their way to the front in

the profession of law, and possess, in a more than

ordinary degree, the natural attributes essential to

a successful career at the bar and in public. They
were both born in Perry township, Muskingum
county, Ohio; were reared to the dirties of farm
life, and were educated in the public schools near

their home. Being desirous of supplementing this

education in some higher institution of learning,

J. W. Martin entered the university of Rochester,

N. Y., from which he graduated in 1870, after

which he studied law with G. L. Phillips, and was
admitted to the bar in 1877. He at once entered

upon the practice of his profession, and continued

alone until 1886, when his brother, O. L. Martin,

became his partner. The latter has thoroughly

fitted himself for a professional life by completing
a course of study in Chautauqua college, at Chau-
tauqua, N. Y.

,
having previously taken a normal-

school course. Following this he was admitted as

an attorney in all the government departments, but

was not admitted to general practice. Since then

he has turned his attention entirely to pension and
notary work, and he and his brother enjoy a large

and lucrative practice and are reckoned among the

leading and most prominent members of the

Zanesville bar. They are logical reasoners, safe

counselors, are careful in the preparation of their

cases, and have the ability to present them in a

concise, but logical and forcible manner. They
are earnest and conscientious advocates, and their

success has been achieved by the improvement of

opportunities, by untiring diligence, and by close

study and correct judgment of men and motives.

O. L. Martin was born in 1860, is a member and
clerk of the First Baptist church and the Y. M. C.

A., and is director and recording secretary in the

the latter. He was married, in 1888, to Miss Hes-
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ter L. Perry, daughter of William T. Perry, of the

Seventh ward, of Zanesville. J. W. Martin was
born in 1842, and until the Civil war broke out

worked on his father’s farm and attended school.

In May, 1864, he enlisted in the One Hundred and
Sixtieth Ohio Volunteer infantry in the 100 days’

service, at the expiration of which time he enlisted

in the Sixty-sixth regiment and served until the war
closed. He was married to Miss Emeline J. Mc-
Cashland, by whom he has two children, a son and
daughter. He is a member of the G. A. R. post.

George Martin, the father of these gentlemen, was
born in Jefferson county, Va., came to this county,

about 1839, as an agent for a threshing-machine
company, and brought the first thresher to Mus-
kingum county. He followed farming all his

life, until 1884, when he ceased its active pursuits,

and is now quite aged. His wife has attained to

the age of seventy years, and has not a grey hair

in her head. She is the mother of eight children,

seven of whom are living: J. W.
;
Mrs. Lizzie

Brown, of Bay Shore, Long Island; Evan H.
,
an

Episcopal minister of Buffalo, N. Y.
;
Arney C., a

Lutheran minister; Mattie J. Hawn; Charles S.

and O. L. The sons in this family are all profes-

sional men, except Charles S., who remained on
the farm until the spring of 1891, since which he
has beeu following the occupation of a carpenter.

Judge William Thomson Mason, Norwich, Ohio,

is one of our old settlers. He is of old colonial stock

of English descent. His grandfather was Peter
Mason, who was long a resident of Hanover county,

Va.
,
and passed his later days in Orange county,

Va. His son, James Mason, was the father of the

subject of this sketch. He was born in Orange
county, Va.

,
and married Eliza Mason, a second

cousin, of Hanover county, Va. Mr. Mason first

settled in Orange county and lived there ten years,

then settled in Spottsylvania county where he
passed the remainder of his life, dying at the age
of thirty-five years.. He was a soldier in the War
of 1812. He was the father of three children; one
died an infant, the others were, W. T. and James.
His widow married Jefferson Almond, a farmer of

Spottsylvania county, Va., and by this union be-

came the mother of three children;—Oscar, George
and Susan J. Mrs. Mason lived to the age of

eighty one years. W. T. Mason, our subject, was
born October 17, 1816, in Orange county, Va.

,
on

his grandfather, Peter Mason’s farm. He re-

ceived a common-school education, attending
school about four years in Virginia, and three years
in this county. His father died when lie was but
ten years of age, and he after this time took care
of himself. When sixteen years of age, November
1, 1832, he came to Muskingum county, Ohio, with
some relatives, who came by wagon. He worked
by the day at farm work, receiving 3 L cents and

37J cents per day. He taught school and finally

bought eighty acres in Meigs township, paying $10
per acre. He remained single until twenty- seven

years of age, his home being kept by some maiden
aunts, sisters of his father. He was elected and
held all the offices of his township—treasurer,

clerk, township trustee, justice of the peace and
constable. He held the office of justice of the peace

for nine years in Meigs township and was then, in

1857, elected probate judge in Muskingum county.

In 1843 Mr. Mason married Mary Thornburgh,
daughter of Thomas and Nancy (Cunningham)
Thornburgh. Mr. Thornburgh was from Pennsyl-

vania and was a soldier in the War of 1812, and
was in several battles and taken prisoner. He
was by profession a land surveyor and a school

teacher. He was the father of four children: Mary,
Ann, and two died young. Mr. Thornburgh was
a respected pioneer citizen. After marriage, Mr.
Mason lived on his farm in Meigs township. To
Mr. and Mrs. Mason were born six children : Susan
E., Eliza E., Thomas E. (died an infant), Maria
L. (deceased), Mary S. (died an infant), and Will-

iam J. In 1857 Mr. Mason, being elected probate

judge, moved to Zanesville and resided there six

years and then bought the farm on which he now
resides consisting of 320 acres. Judge Mason is a

man of character and honor and was a very pop-
ular man in his active days, standing high in the

estimation of the people in his community. The
farm now occupied by Judge Mason was originally

entered by a man by the name of Brown and after-

ward sold to Mr. McCloud and then to Moses More-
head, who built a large old fashioned tavern ten

miles east of Zanesville on the National road. W.
J. Mason, son of Judge Mason, was born December
12, 1850, in Meigs township, on his father’s farm.

He received a common-school education, attended
public school at Zanesville and later Muskingum
college, New Concord, Ohio. He graduated from
the Commercial college, at Zanesville, Ohio, and
taught school four years in Salem, Perry and Union
townships. He married in 1874, Maria Hadden,
daughter of Samuel M. Hadden [see sketch.] They
have three children: Ethel L., AnnaL., and Will-

iam H. After marriage Mr. Mason settled on the

home farm in 1876, engaged in mercantile busi-

ness in Sonora, continuing until 1878, when he was
burned out. He then returned to the home farm
where he now resides. He, like his father, is a

popular man politically. He is a democrat and has
held the office of clerk, treasurer and school direct-

or in his township. Socially he is a Mason and a

member of the Malta lodge No. 118, and has held

all the offices in the gift of the lodge. He is also a

member of the Zanesville lodge of Elks No. 114.

In 1890 Mr. Mason was a member of the State

Decennial Board of Equalization, represent ing the
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Fifteenth and Sixteenth districts, and served with

credit to himself and benefit to his district. He
received the nomination three times in succession

by his party for clerk of the county court. He is

an active and public spirited young man and takes

an interest in all matters pertaining to the good of

the county. He has been president (except two
years), since 1884, of the Eastern Muskingum
Agricultural association of Norwich. The Mason
family descend from the prominent Virginia colon-

ial family of that time, the first who came from
England being Colonel George Mason, coming about
the year 1051. [See “Mason” in American Cyclo-

pedia, Vol. XI.] Judge Mason’s mother was the

granddaughter of Thomson Mason of the old

Virginia family. Thomson Mason was the younger
brother of George Mason, who was a prominent
member of the convention to form the constitution

of the United States. Thomson Mason was a direct

descendant of Colonel George Mason, a member of

the English parliament in the reign of Charles I,

and after his defeat in Worcester in 1651, escaped
to Virginia, losing all his possessions in England.

William J. Massey, a popular attorney at Zanes-

ville, Ohio, is among those who contribute strength

to the Ohio bar. He is a native of Morgan county,

Ohio, born May 18, 1850, and a son of John and
Mary (Crawford) Massey. His boyhood days were
spent upon his father’s farm working in the sum-
mer and attending country school in the winter.

At the age of eighteen, he began teaching school,

and continued to teach in the winter season, and
farm in the summer, until 1874, when, having
met with an accident, which partially disabled him,

he concluded to prepare himself for a professional

life. In the fall of 1874, he entered Muskingum
college, graduating therefrom in 1877. Immedi-
ately after graduating, he accepted the position of

principal of the Roseville schools in Muskingum
county, which position he held until the summer
of 1880, when he resigned to accept the position of

superintendent of the public schools in New Con-
cord, Ohio. He remained at the head of the New
Concord schools four years, winning for himself an
enviable reputation as a teacher, being considered

one of the most progressive and successful in the

county. While living in New Concord, he served
three terms as mayor of the town. While en-

gaged in school work, what time he could spare
from other duties, was devoted to the study of law,

and in the fall of 1884 he was admitted to the Ohio
bar, and at once opened an office in Zanesville

where he has since continued in the practice of his

chosen profession, meeting with the best success.

He is well versed in law, a forcible and fluent

speaker, an able practitioner and a safe counselor.

Mr. Massey has been twice married, first on
March, 6, 1872 in his native county to Miss Mary

E. McKittrick, also a native of Morgan county,
and a lady he had known from childhood. Two
interesting children blessed this union, Bertie
Belle and Bayard Burns. His wife died August,
27, 1886. On March 5, 1889, he married Miss
Ardelia Clark, a native of Zanesville, youngest
daughter of Samuel Clark, a pioneer lumber
merchant of that city. The second marriage has
resulted in the birth of two children, Myra Clark
and Anna Ardelia. Mr. and Mrs. Massey are mem-
bers of the First Presbyterian church of Zanesville.

In politics he is a republican.

If the old country had not contributed to the
population of the new, Ohio would not have
reached its present high state of development.
Germany has furnished her full quota of excellent

men, and among them is Matthias Mast, a resident
of Nashport, Licking township, Ohio, honored and
respected by all his acquaintances. He was- born
in Wurtemberg, Germany, December 22, 1820, and
his parents, George and Mary (Mayers) Mast, were
also natives of that country. The father was a
wagon maker by trade, and was a man much
esteemed in his country. He was quite well-to-do

for his station in life in Germany, and was a mem-
ber of the council of the village in which he lived

—Thumlingen—for fifteen years. He was a

Lutheran in his religious belief, and died in 1865,
when sixty-five years of age. He was the father

of the following children: Matthias, Catherine,

Adam, Hester, George and Mary. The eldest

child, Matthias Mast, was educated in the common
schools of his native land, and when fourteen years
of age began working on the farm. On March 22,

1842, when twenty-two years of age, he was mar-
ried to Miss Elizabeth Eberhart, daughter of Jacob
Eberhart, a farmer of his native province. The
fruits of this union were two sons: George and
John, now prominent farmers of Missouri. Mrs.
Mast died in Wurtemberg about 1846, and two
years later Mr. Mast married Christina Mayers,
daughter of John Mayers, of that country. To
this union were born four children: Christina,

who died in 1886; Matthias, Catherine and Mary.
Mr. Mast remained on the home farm which he
had purchased of his father, until 1855, when he
came to America, and settled in Nashport, where
he had a brother and sister, George and Hester,

living. On arriving at Nashport Mr. Mast im-

mediately began working for N. F. Claypool, in

his distillery and remained thus engaged for eight

years. He is a man of excellent business acumen
and his services are ever in demand. In 1858 Mr.
Mast bought the land where he now lives. All

this property was accumulated by hard work, in-

dustry and economy, and now consists of 140 acres

of good land. In 1887 Mrs. Mast died. When
Mr. Mast first came to Nashport, he established a



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 527

Lutheran church and assisted in employing a

preacher. When they could get no preacher Mr.

Mast conducted the services himself, in the Ger-

man language. He is still a devout Lutheran.

In politics he is a democrat. All his children have

been well educated in the common schools, and
Mr. Mast has ever been interested in educational

matters, having held the office of director many
times. His son George married Melinda Eichorn,

and is the father of ten children. He is a prosper-

ous farmer of Livingston county, Mo., and the

owner of 480 acres; John married Mary Grouse and
has three children. He is also in Livingston

county, Mo., and is the owner of 300 acres of land;

Christina married William Yanwey, a farmer, and
both are now deceased. They left one child Calvin;

Catherine married John Dickey, a farmer, and the

owner of 180 acres, and they have four children.

Matthias married Julia Bonnifield, a farmer on
the home place and they have six children; Mary
received a good education at Zanesville and in

normal schools, and has been teaching since 1879.

She has taught both district and village schools,

and is an experienced and able instructor. Mr.
Mast is a substantial, honored citizen, and his

word has never been questioned. He is a self-

made man and what he has accumulated is the re-

sult of his own honest labor.

Dr. Samuel C. Mendenhall, of Frazeysburg,

Muskingum county, Ohio, is a representative of one
of the oldest and most honored families of Jackson
township, the members of which in successive gen-

erations have been respected and honored by all

who have known them. His father, Richard
Chancy Mendenhall, was born in Jefferson county,

Va.
,
December 8, 1792, and was a son of Samuel

Mendenhall, who was of English descent, and a

native of Pennsylvania. One of the latter’s ancest-

ors, accompanied by two of his brothers, came
from England to America in the early settlement

of Pennsylvania by the Quakers under William
Penn, 1682, or soon after. The Mendenhall family

were Quakers, and Samuel Mendenhall lost his

membership in the Friends church on account of

the services he performed when about nineteen

years of age, in assisting Gen. Washington’s army
to haul cannon to the battle field of Germantown.
He became a farmer and located in Jefferson

county, Ya.
,
where he accumulated property worth

$80,000. He married a widow, Mrs. Hannah
Park (nee Griswold), who was also of Quaker
stock, and they became the parents of eight chil-

dren: Hannah, Lydia, Esther, Jane, Martha, Sam-
uel, Richard C. and Thomas. In 1814 Mr. Men-
denhall came to Muskingum county, Ohio, and
bought 1,300 acres in the south-central part of

Jackson township, and his sons, Richard and
Thomas, settled on this purchase. The father

returned to the old homstead afterward; but in 1819
he came back to Jackson township again and built

a gristmill on the Wakatomaka creek, which was
the first in the north part of old Muskingum
county. Thomas Mendenhall, then a young man,
operated this mill. Having made this improve-
ment Mr. Mendenhall again turned his face toward
his old homestead. These trips he made back and
forth on horseback, for a distance of about 500
miles, through an almost unbroken wilderness, the

northern portion of it over the Zane trace. He
died July 5, 1822. He was by trade a cooper,

and he began life with no capital save energy
and a determination to make his way to success.

Naturally industrious and energetic and possessed
of good practical business ability, he made, by
dint of hard work and the exercise of frugality,

quite a fortune for those days. Upright and hon-
orable in all his dealings, he was well fitted by
nature to endure the vicissitudes of pioneer life,

and to found a family in a new state. His son,

Richard C. Mendenhall, the father of the immedi-
ate subject of this sketch, was born on the old

homestead in Virginia, and received but a limited

common-school education. He was reared to the

life of a farmer and was married in Jefferson

county, Ya., to Miss Sarah Allemong, of German
descent, who bore him six children: Ruth A., Sam-
uel C., Hannah, Jane E., Richard P. and John H.
On May 1, 1816, Mr. Mendenhall arrived in Jack-

son township, Muskingum county, Ohio, bringing
with him his wife and two old acquaintances with
their families. One of his companions was Joshua
Bennett, who brought his wife (a sister to Mr.
Mendenhall) and three children. This little party
was six weeks coming through the wilderness from
Virginia to Muskingum county; they had two cov-

ered wagons, each provided with a four-horse team,
besides several riding horses. Mrs. Mendenhall
rode horseback most of the way. They slept in

their wagons at night, when they were not kept
awake by the howling and snarling of wild beasts

in the forests which surrounded their camping
places. This journey was made between the mid-
dle of March and the date of their arrival above
mentioned. They were obliged to cut their way
through the unbroken woods, a distance of five

miles from Irville to their new home, where they
found a deserted cabin in which they lived until

they found time to build a comfortable house of

hewed logs. They cleared land, put in a small

crop of corn, and this was the beginning of their

pioneer life in this county. Mr. Mendenhall and
liia family lived in their log house until 1844.

There all his children were born, and there his

daughter, Ruth, was married to Jefferson Arnold,

in 1839. In 1844 he built a brick house and
resided in that until his death. In politics he was
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a whig until the organization of the republican

party, after which he affiliated with that. He was
a leading member of the Methodist church, and in

this he performed the duties of class-leader, stew-

ard and trustee. He was the pioneer temperance
man of this county, was among the first to take his

stand against whisky in the harvest held, at rais-

ings and log rollings, and was active in all good
work. His death, which occurred on March 9,

1871, when seventy-eight years of age, was univer-

sally regretted. He was a man of sterling worth, a

friend of the poor and oppressed and a stern lover

of justice, being a leading spirit in his com-
munity. It will be seen that the Mendenhalls
were among the founders of Jackson township,

concerned alike in the progress of its early settle-

ment and in the development of its later interests

and industries, which entitles them to the honor
due the pioneers, who bravely made their way into

the wilderness and, amid its hardships and priva-

tions, laid a sure foundation for the comforts and
prosperity of to-day. It is from such sterling

stock that Dr. Samuel C. Mendenhall descends.

He was one of the leading physicians of the town
of Frazeysburg for many years, and a surgeon in

the United States army during the war. He was
born on the old Mendenhall homestead in Jackson
township, Muskingum county, Ohio, September 1 1,

1824, and was self educated. At the early age of

fifteen years he began teaching in the country
schools, continued this three years and then, when
eighteen years of age, began teaching in the

schools in the vicinity of Zanesville, where he re-

mained for ten years, four years of the time being
principal of the high schools of that city. Subse-
quently he attended the Starling Medical college

of Columbus, Ohio, from which institution he
graduated, in 1850, at the head of a class of fifty-

four. He began practicing his chosen profession

near Bloomfield, Morrow county, Ohio, in that year,

and eight years later he settled in Frazeysburg,
Ohio, where he became a successful medical prac-

titioner. When the Rebellion broke out he cheer-

fully gave up his home and medical practice and
was appointed assistant surgeon of the Seventy-
eighth regiment Ohio Volunteer infantry, in De-
cember, 1861. While engaged in active duty he
had a severe attack of fever, partial paralysis re-

sulted, and in May, 1862, he resigned his commis-
sion and returned home. Recovering his health

to some extent he was appointed assistant surgeon
of the Seventy- sixth regiment, Ohio Volunteer
infantry, and left home February 23, 1863, serv-

ing until the close of the war, being mustered out
with his regiment in July, 1865. Being assistant

surgeon he was directly in the battles to immedi-
ately attend to the wounded, and was frequently
under fire. He was present at the capture of Fort

Donelson, battle of Shiloh, siege of Vicksburg, was
with Gen. Grant when he commanded the western
army, battle of Jackson, Miss., Missionary Ridge;
with Sherman at the siege of Atlanta, Resaca and
Ringgold, at which place one-third of his regiment
was shot down. Seven gallant color-bearers fell,

one after the other, bearing the same flag. After

this Dr. Mendenhall was with Sherman on his

famous march to the sea, and was also present at

the grand review at Washington, his regiment
leading the column. His rank in the service was
that of captain. After the war Dr. Mendenhall
returned to his practice in Frazeysburg, and this

he continued until his death, which occurred on
September 20, 1887, when sixty-three years of

age. He was a skillful and careful surgeon and
physician, and a man of excellent moral character.

He ranked high in his profession, and as a citizen

was honored and revered. Dr. Mendenhall was
twice married, first to Miss Martha Reed, daughter
of Arthur and Martha (Irvin) Reed, their nuptials

being celebrated on December 3, 1851. Mr. Reed
was a native of Virginia, of Scotch-Irish descent,

and was one of the pioneer settlers of Zanesville,

settling with his wife in that city in 1809. He
was a saddler by trade and resided in Zanesville

the remainder of his days. He served as a soldier

in the War of 1812, and was one of the early jus-

tices of the peace in Zanesville. He was an old

line whig in politics and a man of excellent char-

acter. He died in 1851, when sixty- five years of

age. - He was the father of eight children, who
lived to be grown: Irvin, Hugh, John A., Sallie

A., Jane, Margaret, Mary and Martha. Dr. Men-
denhall became the father of four children: Arthur,

Annie M., Charles G. and Sallie F., all residents

of this county. His first wife died March 12,

1873, and June 24, 1874, Dr. Mendenhall mar-

ried the widow of David Edwards, formerly of

Nashport, nee Catherine E. Drone, who was born

January 11, 1827, and who was the daughter of

John W. and Elizabeth (White) Drone. Mr.

Drone was a descendant of an old colonial family

of Virginia, many members of which served in the

Revolution. He settled near Zanesville in 1829,

followed farming, and after a number of years

moved to a farm near Nashport. There his death

occurred when fifty-one years of age. He was
well known and highly respected by all. He was
the father of ten children: Susan A., George W.

,

Catherine E., Henry J., Lycurgus, Mary, John W.,

Jane. Alice and Oliver P. The different members
of this family are scattered throughout the West
and are people of character and reliability. So-

cially Dr. Mendenhall was a member of the

Masonic order and was secretary of the lodge at

Frazeysburg. He was a life long member of the

Methodist church and has filled the offices of class-
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leader, steward and trustee. He was a stanch

republican in politics, and was a member of the G.
A. R. post in Frazeysburg. He was extensively

known, for his practice extended far and wide and
was attended with unusual success. Dr. Menden-
hall went down to the grave loved and lamented,

leaving to his children the peerless legacy of an
unspotted name. Large of heart and free of hand,
comforting the afflicted, laying not up treasures

for himself, but giving freely to all those he knew
in sickness and in want, and he knew many. He
was one of the foremost men in building up Frazeys-

burg, and erected at least nine residences. He
was permanently disabled in the war, and in his

latter days a grateful country gave him a pension

for his services. His widow now resides in Frazeys-

burg, where she has a pleasant residence, whose
hospitable walls also afford a pleasant home to a

son and daughter of Dr. Mendenhall’s. Mrs.
Mendenhall is held in high esteem for her many
excellent qualities of mind and heart, and is a

most worthy and estimable lady. She is a member
of the Methodist church.

Myrtilla J. Middleton is the daughter of Sam-
uel and Mary (Ansley) Middleton, born in Calcutta,

Columbiana county, Ohio, in 1844. Her father was
a native of England, and emigrated to the United
States about 1840. Here he was married, in 1842,

to Mary Ansley [see sketch of William H. Thomp-
son], of Columbiana county. The mother died

there in 1855, at the age of hfty-two years. She
was a member of the Seceder church. Myrtilla

J. was reared and educated at the seminary in

Beaver county, Penn., and also at Brownsville,

Penn., giving most of her attention to music. She
taught music, for a time, at the seminary at Clarks-

burg, Va.
,
and later returned to Brownsville.

From there she went to Hopkinsville, Ky., and
taught music in Fulton county, Ky.

,
at the Rose-

well institute, also in Licking and in Muskingum
counties, Ohio. She has devoted her life to the

education of others, giving them the benefit of her
superior intelligence and talent. Miss Middleton
is a member of the Protestant Episcopal church,

and is very much interested in religious matters,

giving much of her time to that work. She has
resided in Muskingum county about ten years,

having spent some of her time in the South.

Charles C. Minner, farmer and stockraiser,

Dresden, Ohio. Mr. Minner’s parents, Fredrick
and Rosanna Minner, were natives of Germany and
were married in that country. About 1830 they
came to the United States, settled in Pennsylvania,
and there resided for three or four years. From
there they moved to Muskingum county, Ohio,

settled in Zanesville, where they remained for a

short time and then moved to a farm two and a

half miles from that city. There they resided for

fifteen years. About 1855 the father moved to

Madison township and settled on the place where
Charles Collins now resides. At the time of his

death, which occurred in 1870, he was the owner
of 210 acres of land, which is now divided among
his elder sons. He was a Lutheran minister, preach-

ing in Zanesville, Dresden and other charges in the

county, and continued his ministerial duties up to

within a few years of his death. He was a great

reader, a deep reasoner, and devoted much of his

time to his church. His wife died in 1850. The
fruits of this union were eight children, who are

named in the order of their births as follows:

Amanda, Louisa, Fredrick, Matilda, Charles C.

,

William, Edward and Jacob. After the death of

his first wife Mr. Minner was married to Miss
Teckley Boling, a native of Germany, who came
to this country and settled in Philadelphia- To
this union were born three living children: Agean,
Louis and Oscar. Mr. Minner was a democrat in

politics, and a man universally respected. Charles

C. Minner was born in Falls township, Muskingum
county, Ohio, April 12, 1842, and received his ed-

ucation in this county. When nineteen years of

age he enlisted in Company I, One Hundred and
Twenty-second Ohio Volunteer infantry, under
command of William Ball, and served three years,

participating in some of the principal engagements
during that time, among them: Wilderness, Win-
chester, Mine Run, Brandy Station, Petersburg,

and, in fact, all the battles of the eastern army.
He enlisted as a private, but in 1864 he was pro-

moted to sergeant. He received his discharge May
22, 1865. Mr. Minner was wounded in the left

thigh by a minie-ball, and is still troubled by the

wound. He remained on the field a day, after re-

ceiving the wound, and was then taken prisoner

and one month later was taken to Lynchburg,
where he was held three weeks. From there he
was conveyed to Danville, where he remained two
and a half months, and was then released. Re-
turning to his command, he served until the close

of the war. After the war he tilled the soil as a

farmhand, and on January 10, 1867, he was married
to Miss Anna King, who was born in 1847, and who
was the daughter of James King. Mr. and Mrs.
Minner’s union has been blessed by the birth of

seven children: Edward, Emma (now Mrs. Charles

E. Batey, residing in Indiana), Fredrick, Altona,

Chalmer, Eura and Mary. Mr. and Mrs. M inner

are members of the Primitive Methodist church.

In politics Mr. Minner is a republican, and he has
held a number of township offices. He is inter

ested in educational and religious enterprises, and
takes an active part in all attempts to improve the

county. He is a member of the G. A. R. post at

Dresden. Mr. Minner has a good farm of 120
acres, five miles from Dresden, and is engaged
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principally in raising stock. He has a tine resi-

residence, and everything about the place indicates

a progressive and substantial owner.

Henry A. Montgomery, farmer, Perryton, Ohio.

Among the prominent pioneer families of Ohio, the

Montgomery family takes a prominent place, and
the members of the same have ever been people of

substantial worth and uprightness. The remote
ancestors of this family were members of the

famous Highland clan of Montgomery. William
Montgomery, the grandfather of Henry A., emi-

grated from Scotland and settled in the north of

Ireland, County Tyrone, when a young man. He
was married here and became the father of one
son, John. The mother of this child died and he
subsequently married a Miss Lynn, who bore him
four children: Samuel, Henry, Margaret and
William, all of whom were born in the Emerald
Isle. In 1803 William Montgomery emigrated to

America and settled, first, near Stanton, Va. In
1810 he came to Ohio and made his home with his

son, William, until his death which occurred when
seventy-two years of age, and a short time after he
came to Ohio. His son, William, father of the

subject of this gketch was born about 1794, and
was a soldier in the War of 1812. He married
Miss Margaret Grimes, of Pocahontas county, W.
Ya. , and their union was blessed by the birth of

eight children: Samuel, Charles, William C.,

Henry A., John F., Nancy, Emily C. and Amanda,
all born in Licking county, Ohio. Mr. Mont-
gomery became quite wealthy as a farmer, owned
400 acres of good land, and was universally liked.

He died at the age of fifty-six years in Madison
township, Licking county. His brother, Samuel,
was a clergyman in the Methodist church and was
stationed at Baltimore, Md.

,
when a young man

twenty-three years of age. He then went as a

missionary to Quebec, but later returned to Vir-

ginia, and finally, in 1820, came to Licking county,

Ohio. His death occurred in Madison township,

that county, at the age of eighty years. He was
a prominent Methodist minister in his day. Henry
Montgomery, the remaining brother, was born in

Ireland and was fourteen years of age when he
came to America with his parents. He came to

the Buckeye state in 1810, settled in Perry town-
ship, Licking county, and there resided until he
reached the goodly age of eighty-two. He was a

substantial farmer and was an active member of

the Methodist Episcopal church, holding the office

of steward, class-leader and clerk. He was a well-

known pioneer citizen, and held the office of mag-
istrate for some time. He reared a family of ten

children. The sister, Margaret, married in Vir-

ginia, Joseph Irvin, and about 1815 they moved to

Madison county, Ohio, settled on a farm and reared

a family of six children. Three brothers of the

original family, Henry, William and John, came
to Licking county, Ohio, together, became sub-

stantial farmers, and there passed the remainder
of their days. Henry A. Montgomery, son of

William Montgomery, the second, and the subject

of this sketch, was born April 24, 1824, and was
fairly educated in the old log sclioolhouse of pio-

neer days. At an early age he began assisting to

clear the land of the heavy timber, and when a

young man of twenty-one he embarked in mer-
chandising at Elizabethtown, Licking county, and
followed this for five years. After this he followed

farming, and January 12, 1847, he married Miss
Mary E. Lemert, daughter of Beverly and Mar-
garet (Fleming) Lemert. The Lemerts were an
old pioneer family and one well respected. Bev-
erly Lemert was born in Fauquier county, Va.

,

December 13, 1798, but came to Muskingum
county, Ohio, and settled in Dresden, where he was
one of the first merchants. His father, Lewis
Lemert, was a merchant of Fauquier county, Va.

,

and there resided all his life. After his death the

widow came with five children, two of her children,

Laban, and Thaddeus, having located in Ohio two
years previous and followed merchandising in

Dresden. The children that came with the mother
were: Beverly, Leroy, Ferdinand, Minerva
Abner. Beverly Lemert remained in Dresde
many years, and in 1827 bought the farm now
occupied by Henry A. Montgomery and which was
in part entered by Laban Lemert. Mr. Lemert
remained here a few months and then went to

Irville, where he engaged in merchandising and
where he remained about five years. He then re-

turned to his farm and there passed the remainder

of his days. He accumulated a handsome com-
petence and enjoyed the respect of the people.

He was county commissioner and township trus-

tee for some time, also an elder in the Disciple

church. He was the father of eight children:

Mary, Elizabeth, John, Thomas, Nathan, Julia,

Edward, and Harriet. Mrs. Lemert is still living

and is in her eighty-third year. Their son, John,

was first lieutenant in Company A, Ohio Volun-

teer infantry, and enlisted for three years. He
was serving his second year when he was shot

through the thigh at the battle of Ringgold, Ga.
He was acting as major of his regiment at the time

he received his wound. He was taken across the

mountains in an ambulance to Chickamauga, a

distance of twenty miles, and there died of his

wound. He first enlisted as a private, was pro-

moted to sergeant, then first lieutenant. He was
in the battles of Fort Donelson, Shiloh, siege of

Vicksburg, etc. Nathan enlisted while attending

school at Granville, Ohio, in Company B, Seven-

teenth regiment, Ohio Volunteer infantry, and
served three months. He then reenlisted in Fre-
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mont’s guards, which were classed in a Missiouri

regiment. He died of typhoid fever in a hospital

at St. Louis, Mo., November 11, 1861, at the age
of nineteen years and two months, and was buried
with military honors at Perrytown. His remains
were subsequently brought home by his mother.
Thomas enlisted in Company F, One Hundred
and Thirty-fifth regiment, Ohio Volunteer infantry,

May 2, 1864, in the 100 days’ service, and was on
guard duty on Baltimore and Ohio railroad at

North Mount, near Martinsburg, Va., and was capt-

ured by the confederates. He was taken to An-
dersonville July 4, 1864, and died from starvation

and exposure September 14, 1864. Edward, the

remaining son, was also in the war, enlisting at the

age of sixteen, while attending Hiram college. He
served three years, was in many battles, and was
wounded and taken prisoner at Champion’s Hill.

Later he was exchanged and sent to Columbus,
Ohio, where he was returned to his regiment and
served out his time. He is now living on his farm
in Iowa. Thus it may be seen that all the Lemert
brothers were patriots and gallant soldiers. Their
mother, now a venerable lady, was loyal to her
country and instilled into the hearts of her sons

fidelity to the government. At one time every
male member of her family was fighting in de-

fense of the Union. The Lemert family descended
from good old colonial stock and have been pa-

triots, pioneers and soldiers for many generations.

Lewis Lemert, grandfather of Mrs. Montgomery,
was a contemporary of Gen. Washington, was per-

sonally acquainted with him, and was his trusted

agent, having his power as attorney to attend to

his estate in Fauquier county, Va. Lewis Lemert
possessed a goodly property and was an honest
citizen of that county.- The following is a copy of

a curious document in the handwriting of Gen.
Washington, now in the possession of the Lemert
family and handed down as a precious heirloom.
It is a power of attorney from Gen. Washington to

Lewis Lemert to collect rents in Fauquier county,
Va., and reads as follows: “I hereby empower
Mr. Lewis Lemert to receive such rents as are

due to me on the tract on which he himself lives,

and which lies partly in the county of Fauquier
and partly in Loudoun. I give him the same power
with respect to my other tract on Goose creek
near Mr. Robert Ashby’s, and I authorize him to

make distress for the annual or transfer rents

which are reserved to me by the leases, and this he
is in a more especial manner to do from such per-
sons as are about to move from off the laud. He
will see by the leases (for I have it not in my
power at this moment to make out the accounts,
for each man individually) for many years they
have been subject to the payment of rent, and he
will make no allowances save such as appear by

receipt from myself, Mr. Lewis Lemert, or any
public officer, by way of deduction without any
further authority from me. He is not to detain

any money which he receives under this power, in

his hands longer than can well be avoided, but

shall transmit the same to me with an account of

the same from whom and when received, as soon

as possible. For his trouble in all these acts and
doings, and in full compensation for all his ex-

penses, I hereby agree to allow him five per cent

for all moneys which he shall actually pay into

my hands or any other person by my order.

This power to remain in force until revoked

by me. Given under my hand at Mount
Vernon, this 10th day of April, 1784.

—

Go. Washington.”
Margaret (Fleming) Lemert, mother of Mrs.

Henry A. Montgomery, was born August 31, 1809,

in Muskingum county, Licking township, and was
the daughter of Col. Nathan Fleming, an old pio-

neer of that county who was born in Marion coun-

ty, W. Va.
,
in 1783, and married there Miss Mary,

daughter of John Wood, a farmer. Col. and
Mrs. Fleming were the parents of five children:

Margaret, James, Albert, John and Daniel. Soon
after marriage Col. Fleming came to Muskingum
county, Ohio, and settled at Irville in the fall of

1804. He cleared land, resided here for a short

time and then selling out located one-half mile east

of the town, where he resided for many years. He
engaged in mercantile pursuits with Beverly Lem-
ert, under the firm of Fleming & Lemert, but
Mr. Lemert retired in a few years and Col. Flem-
ing continued the business. He was colonel in

the old militia, and was at one time trustee of his

township. He was a stirring business man and
accumulated a large property. At one time he
was engaged in shipping produce to New Orleans

and went himself on the boats. He was one of the

very earliest settlers and was a highly respected

citizen. December, 20, 1827, Margaret Fleming
married Beverly Lemert. The Fleming family is

one of the largest and most remarkable iu the

United States. The name Fleming is traced back
as far as the eleventh century. It is said that

“William the Conqueror,” king of Normandy,
invaded England with a powerful army composed
principally of Flemings inhabitants of Flanders,

and that his wife was a Flemish princess. Tradi-

tion also says that in Scotland there is a place

called the “Fleming Way” and that a strange

family settled near the place and were called by
common consent, “The Flemings,” and they finally

adopted the name. The American branch is dis-

tinctly related to the ancient Scotch Irish family

bearing that name, and William Fleming was the

founder of this branch. He was driven from Scot-

land to the north of Ireland by religious persecu-
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tion, and with three brothers, emigrated to America
early in the eighteenth century, settling in Dela-

ware. It is believed that these four brothers emi-

grated from Ireland in 1680, 212 years ago, and
took up land under William Penn, in what is now
called Delaware. It appears from the records

that the land on which they settled was in what is

now Mispillion Hundred, Kent county, and em-
braced a tract of country three miles square. The
four families settled near together, probably for

self protection, and all were, as far as known, of

Presbyterian faith. These brothers founded the

American branch of the family, cultivated large es-

tates, and grew wealthy. It was not until 1754
that the tirst authentic record appears on the court

books in the shape of the will of Robert Fleming,
who died that year. The next record is that of a

son of one of the original four brothers. George
Fleming's daughters and their descendants lived

and died in the old Fleming homestead, which is

still standing in Delaware and occupied by lineal

descendants of the original Flemings. Upon the

estate is built the town of Farmington, which is

named after Farmington, W. Va., a village which
was founded by the Fleming family, who emigrat-

ed to Deleware, as hereafter shown. The next

will is that of William Fleming, who died July 1,

1766. William Fleming Jr., died June 7, 1784,

and left a widow and live sons to survive him, from
some of whom have descended the Flemings of

West Virginia, and other western localities, and
whose name is legion. The names of four of these

sons were: Nathan, Boaz, Benaiah, and Benoni,

and their mother’s maiden name, Jane Frame.
William Fleming Jr., was married the second
time, his wife being Ann Hudson, and to them was
born one son, Thomas Fleming. Benaiah Flem-
ing remained on the old homestead, but the others

emigrated to West Virginia, and settled in the vi-

cinity of Fairmount. From the four sons who
settled about Fairmount, W. Va., have descended

a host of people in that section of the state, Col.

Nathan Fleming, grandfather of Mrs. Montgom-
ery, being a descendant. The entire Fleming
family of the United States held, a reunion August,

19, 1891, at Fairmount, W. Va. It brought togeth-

er hundreds of representatives from all parts of

the Union. Delegates were present from twenty-

five states to the number of more than 1,000, the

largest delegation being from Indiana and arrived

on a special train of five cars, there being 300 peo-

ple. The lawyer, the merchant, the teacher, the

journalist, the laborer, the man of affluence and
the man of moderate circumstances, were all repre-

sented. The family numbered among them gov-

ernors, mayors, legislators, and all professions and
occupations, and was one of the most remarkable
reunions ever recorded. One of the most interest-

ing features of the day was the display of the rec-

ord of the Fleming family, which represented an
immense amount of work, by Mrs. Annie (Swee-
ney) Fleming, wife of Mayor Fleming, of Wheel-
ing, W. Va. Thus the Montgomery family have
commingled their blood with some of the best fam-
ilies in our country and their descendants may
well be proud of the sterling ancestry from which
they sprang. To Mr. and Mrs. Henry A. Mont-
gomery have been born seven children: Edward
E., Alice E., Henry C., Ida M., John A., Thaddeus
L. and Nellie L. In 1858 Mr. Montgomery
moved to the Lemert homestead, where he has
since resided. He and wife are members of the

Methodist church. During the Civil war he
served as first lieutenant in Company H. One
Hundred and Fifty-ninth Ohio Volunteer infantry,

served one hundred days and was stationed at

Baltimore. Socially he is a Mason, a member of

Frazeysburg lodge. He is a practical farmer,

owns 600 acres of land, and has a tasteful resi-

dence before which slopes one of the finest lawns
in the county. On this lawn are trees plant-

ed by his own hand. Their daughter, Alice E.,

married James E. Bradfield, October 9, 1876, a

farmer of Lyon county, Kas.
,

and they have
three children: Harvey, Lewis and Harriet. Mr.
Bradfield served three years in the Civil war, One
Hundred and Twenty-second Ohio Volunteer infan-

try, and was in several battles, among them the Wil-

derness, where he barely escaped with his life.

Mr. Montgomery’s son, Edward E.,is a prominent
physician and surgeon of Philadelphia and married
Helen Buckley. They have two children: Susan
and Mary, the latter dying in infancy. Henry C.

married Lillian Zollers, November 9, 1880, and
they have one child, Henry Z. John married Ad-
die Lewis. He is a farmer of Macon, 111., and the

father of one child, Edward L. Ida married Dr.

A. F. Chase, of Philadelphia, who is a successful

physician. Thaddeus is a resident of Newark,
Ohio, and connected with the Franklin Bank.
Nellie L. is a young lady at home. The Mont-
gomery family has been uniformlly successful,

andean justly attribute much of their success to the

good Scotch-Irish ancestry from which they sprang.

Their ancestors were men of excellent morals,

strong constitutions and intelligent minds, and
such traits of character descend in families from
generation to generation and much that we are,

we owe to our ancestors, and our training in child-

hood.

Rev. Joseph G. Moore (deceased). On the 17th

of August 1864, there died one of those great and
noble characters whose life’s work was to minister

to the spiritual wants of his fellow-man. Joseph
G. Moore was of sturdy Virginia stock and his

father, Jonathan Moore, who was originally from
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Loudoun county, Va., was one of the pioneer set-

tlers of Muskingum county, Ohio, settling there as

early as 1820 or 1825. The latter, with his wife

and two children, first located in Coshocton county,

Pike township, but a few years later moved to Jack-

son township, Muskingum county, where he passed

the remainder of his days. He was a stanch re-

publican in his political views, and was a strong

Union man during the war. He lived to be seven-

ty-five years of age and died in full communion
with the Baptist church. Mr. Moore was a man of

excellent character, thoroughly upright and honor-

able, and his career in life was above reproach. He
was married in Loudoun county, Ya.

,
to Miss Nancy

Keys, who bore him four children: Francis M.

,

James T., John M. and Joseph G. The Keys fam-

ily was originally from Virginia, and Mrs. Moore
had an uncle in the Revolutionary war. Joseph G.

Moore, the youngest child of the above mentioned
family, and the subject of this sketch, was born in

Coshocton county, Pike township, November 11,

1831, and moved to Jackson township when a small

boy, where he spent the remainder of his life, and
supplemented the usual common-school education

by attending the academy at Martinsburg. He
was an excellent scholar, studious and persevering,

and he made the best of his opportunities. He be-

gan teaching at the age of nineteen and continued

this work until he entered the army. He was one
of the foremost educators in Muskingum and Co-

shocton counties, and although an excellent discipli-

narian, he was greatly beloved by his pupils. On
the 6th of December, 1855, he- married Miss Eliz-

abeth McKee, daughter of Patrick and Eliza-

beth (Ashcraft) McKee. Mr. McKee was born in

County Donegal, Ireland and of Scotch-Irish de-

scent. He was fairly educated and taught school

for some time. When seventeen years of age he
came to America, and was here married to Miss
Elizabeth Ashcraft, daughter of Daniel Ashcraft,

and they became the parents of twelve children:

Daniel, Sarah A., John, James, Rachel, Egbert,

Elizabeth, Jane, John R.
,
William, and two who

died in infancy. Mr. McKee had three brothers

and two sisters: Thomas, Gilbert, James, Jane
and Isabelle. He owned a good farm in Pike town-
ship, Coshocton county, 640 acres, and on this he re-

ceived his final summons, his death occurring when
nearly ninety years of age. He was hardwork-
ing and industrious, and became one of the wealthy
citizens. In politics he was a democrat. Mrs. Mc-
Kee died at the age of sixty years. After marriage
Rev. Joseph G. Moore settled in Muskingum county,

Jackson township, and in May, 1864, he volunteered

in the service of his country. He was elected chap-
lain of Company H, One Hundred and Fifty-ninth

regiment, Ohio Volunteer infantry, and was on
guard duty. After serving about two months he
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was attacked with typhoid fever and died five weeks
later, his death occurring on the day that his en-

listment expired, August 17, 1864. His faithful

and devoted wife, learning of his severe illness,

hastened to his bedside and carefully nursed him
to the end. She bore this cross with the patience

and resignation of a true Christian. Mr. Moore
was a man of great natural talent and ability

which he exhibited in his chosen calling, and as an
orator he was gifted and eloquent. In his death

the church lost one of its most earnest advocates

and Mrs. Moore a loving and devoted husband. To
Rev. and Mrs. Moore were born four children:

Sarah J.
,
Flora, Mary E. and Pactrick H. Sarah

J. married a farmer of Jackson township, and they
have four children: Flora, married Josiah Oden,
also a farmer of Jackson township, and died when
twenty-nine years of age leaving one child. Mary
E., married B. A. McGinnis, a traveling salesman,

and they have one child, Patrick H., married to

Miss Pauline Dunn, and is engaged in farming in

Jackson township. They have one child. Mrs.

Moore is pleasantly situated with her son-in-law,

B. A. McGinnis, and is a lady of more than ordi-

nary ability. She is president of the W. C. T. U.
of Frazeysburg.

Mrs. Nancy Moore was the wife of Robert
Moore (deceased). He was born in this county in

1813, and was a son of James and Margaret (Mc-
Neal) Moore, the parents of seven children : Thomas
Mary, James, Nancy, John, Margaret and Robert.

James Moore and wife were both natives of County
Antrim, Ireland, and of Scotch descent. Coming
to this country they first settled in Pennsylvania,

aud at an early day they came to Muskingum
county, Ohio, settling on a farm where they both
died. They were among the prosperous pioneer
farmers of the county. Their children are all de-

ceased, Robert being the last of the family.

Robert was reared in this county, and here at-

tended the subscription schools. He married
Nancy McClure in 1843, and settled near Clays-

ville, Guernsey county, Ohio, on a farm which he
continued to cultivate up to within three years ol

his death, the last three years of his life living in

New Concord. He was a very prosperous farmer
and owned good property. He was a lifelong

church member, and entered the United Presby-
terian church when that was former here. In poli-

tics he was a democrat, was a man interested in

the affairs of the county, and held many offices of

trust in neighborhood. When he died in 1876
Muskingum county, Ohio, lost one of its most rep-

resentative and intelligent men. Mrs. Moore, his

wife, was a daughter of John and Mary (Fergu-
son) McClure. The father was a native of Penn-
sylvania, and a son of John and Nancy (Hutchison)
McClure. The McClures are of Scotch-Irish de-
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scent, and probably came to this country at an
early date. John Jr. was one of three children:

John Jr., Sarah (who married a Mr. Moore) and
James. He grew to maturity and married in his

native state, when he emigrated to Ohio, entered a

farm here and became very well -to do. His wife

was the daughter of William Ferguson, and died

in this county in 1864, he having died in 1820, at

the age of fifty years. Mrs. Moore was the third

of eight children : William, John (deceased), Nancy,
Thomas, Margaret, Mary, James and Sarah. Mr.
and Mrs. Moore were married in 1834, and lived

on a farm in Guernsey county for thirty-six years.

Mrs. Moore attends the United Presbyterian church,

of which she has been a member for the past forty

or fifty years. She is a cultured and refined lady,

and an active worker for the church.

S. R. Moore is a native of Champaign county

Ohio, born January 8, 1840, and the son of David
W. and Hannah (Heckman) Moore, natives of the

Keystone state. The Moore and Heckman families

were of Scotch and German origin respectively and
were early emigrants to America. The paternal

grandfather, Elijah Moore, was a native of Penn-
sylvania also, and one of the defenders of Balti-

more. He was a successful farmer and followed

that occupation in his native state until his death.

His marriage resulted in the birth of a large family

of children of whom there were seven sons, David
W. (father of subject) being the eldest. The lat-

ter attained his growth in Pennsylvania, assisted

on the farm and came to Ohio in the spring of

1839, locating in Champaign county. He made
the journey in a one-horse wagon and brought his

wife and her mother. There he resided until his

death which occurred in the summer of 1851. He
was the father of five children—four sons and a

daughter, three sons and a daughter yet surviving:

Samuel R., E. Hunter, James H.
,
William J. (de-

ceased) and Mrs. John Duncan. S. R. Moore was
reared and educated in the common schools of his

native county and early became familiar with the

routine of farm life. On April 18, 1861, he enlisted

in Company K, Thirteenth regiment, Ohio Volun-

teer infantry and served four months. On August

8, 1862 he re-enlisted in Company G, Ninety-fifth

regiment, Ohio Volunteer infantry, andserved faith-

fully for three years. He was in the battle of

Richmond, Ky., and was captured August 30, 1862,

but was paroled shortly afterward; at the siege

of Vicksburg, Jackson, Spanish Fort, battle of

Nashville and a number of smart skirmishes. He
returned to his old home at the close of the war,

but in October, 1865, came to Zanesville, where he

commenced gardening and growing small fruit,

subsequently branching out into a large nursery.

He deals principally in fruit and shade trees, and

has had the experience of many years in this busi-

ness, being classed as a practical and successful
nurseryman. He has been secretary of the Mus-
kingum County Horticultural society for a number
of years, is a member of the Masonic fraternity,

Lafayette lodge No. 79, and has been secretary of

the same for five years. He is also a member of

the Hazlet post No. 81, G. A. R. and past officer.

He was junior and senior vice-commander of the
post and served one term in each. Mr. Moore was
married on June 8, 1871. to Miss Clara McCarty,
a native of Zanesville, by whom he has two children

:

Lida E. and Daniel D. The family belong to the
church.

William H. Moore, a prominent business man
of Norwich, Ohio, and an esteemed resident of the
same, was born September 19, 1851. He is a son
of Robert M. and Anna (Cherry) Moore, and the

grandson of John and Hannah (Paxton) Moore.
The grandfather was twice married, first to Sarah
Minteer, who died in Virginia aud who bore him
one child, William Moore (deceased), and then to

our subject’s grandmother, the latter union result-

ing in the birth of these children: Mary Ann,
Paxton, Sarah, Elizabeth, John, Cynthia and Robert
M. In 1816 Mr. and Mrs. Moore emigrated to Mus-
kingum county and settled in Union township, near
Norwich, on a farm now owned by Vincent Flegal.

There they passed the closing scenes of their lives.

John Moore was a prominent man in the whig
party aud took a deep interest in all political mat-
ters. He and family were members of the United
Presbyterian church. His son, Robert M. Moore,
was born in Augusta county, Va.

,
April 2,

1808, and when but eight years of age, came with
his parents to Muskingum county. His early life

was spent on the farm opened up in Union town-
ship, by his father, and he attended the district

schools of the neighborhood. After reaching ma-
ture years he began farming for himself (for he and
his brother had conducted his father’s farm, the

latter following his trade, that of stone mason),
and subsequently bought the estate from the other

heirs. On February 1 1, 1835, he married Miss Anna
Cherry, a native of Cherry Valley, Mount Pleas-

ant township, Washington county, Penn., and the

daughter of Moses and Jane (Atchinson) Cherry,

the former a native of Virginia and the latter of

Phildelphia, Penn. Mrs. Cherry was the daughter
of Matthew and Jane (Reed) Atchinson. To Mr.
and Mrs. Moore were born seven children : John,
residing in Bloomfield, Muskingum county, is a

traveling salesman; Moses (deceased); Mary Jane
(deceased); Adaline (died when about thirty years

of age); Martha J.
,
at home; Anna E., at home and

William H. Robert M. Moore is now a resident

of Norwich and has retired from the active duties

of life, having reached his eighty-fourth year. He
has ever been prominently identified with the prog-
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ress and development of the county, and is oue

of its honest, whole-souled citizens. In politics

he has advocated the principles of the republican

party for many years, although formerly a whig,

and he takes much interest still in the political is-

sues of the day. He has been engaged in a num-
ber of business enterprises, but has made farming
his life’s occupation. A worthy member of the

United Presbyterian church, he gives liberally of

his means to further all laudable enterprises, and
is particularly interested in church affairs. Mrs.

Moore is also an active member of the United
Presbyterian church. Of the seven children born
to this worthy couple only four are now living.

Their son, William H. Moore, remained on the

home farm until thirteen years of age; he then
moved to the village of Norwich, there attending

school until he was twenty years of age, when he
went, on the railroad and continued on the same
for about fifteen years. He started as brakeman
and reached the position of conductor on the B. &
O. and on the P. & L. E. He left the road about
1886 and settled in Norwich, since which time he
has been salesman in the store of Caldwell & Wil-

son of that town. Socially he is a member of the

Iv. of P. lodge and a member of the B. of L. F.

Like his father, Mr. Moore is a stanch republican

and takes an active interest in politics. He is

treasurer of the Eastern Muskingum Fair associa-

tion, and is clerk of the Norwich Union School
board. At present he is clerk of the city council,

and clerk of Union township. He is a public

spirited young man and is interested in all move-
ments of a worthy nature.

William Morgan, of Frazeysburg, Ohio, is

one of the pioneer settlers of Muskingum county.

His grandfather, Morgan Morgan, was born in

Maryland and was married to Amanda Cailer, by
whom he became the father of six children:

Thomas, James, Levi, Richard, Amanda and Sallie.

Mr. Morgan came with his family to Ohio and set-

tled near Shannon, spending the remainder of his

days on a farm, although he was a weaver by trade.

He lived to be an old man, and for many years was
an earnest member of the Baptist church. Thomas
J. Morgan, his son, was born in Maryland in 1801,
received the advantages of the common schools,

and when a boy came with his parents to Ohio,
where he was brought up to farm life. Upon
reaching manhood he was married to Miss Keziali

Wilson, daughter of Samuel Wilson, an old settler

of Muskingum county, who came from England
and lived near Shannon. To Thomas J. Morgan
and his wife the following children were born:
William, Isaac, Sarah, Harriet and Laviua. Af-

ter his marriage Mr. Morgan settled in the woods
near Frazeysburg where he bought and entered
about 160 acres of laud in 1828, which land ho

succeeded in clearing of heavy timber after many
years of hard labor. Here he resided until his

death in February, 1883, at the age of seventy-

three years, at which time he was an earnest mem-
ber of the Baptist church. He was very hard-

working, industrious and conscientious, and all who
knew him spoke a good word in his praise. Will-

iam Morgan, his son, whose name heads this sketch,

was born August 28, 1828, and in early life re-

ceived a common- school education. His early life

was spent in attending the common schools near

his home and in assisting his father on the home
place, and after reaching manhood he married
Miss Ann Lloyd, a daughter of Eli Lloyd an old

resident of Wheeling, W. Va., who settled near

Dresden in an early day. He was the father of

these children: Joseph, John, Margaret, William,

Benson, Eli, Ann and Jesse. After his marriage
Mr. Morgan remained on the home place for five

years and then moved to near Dresden, where he
purchased eighty acres of land and remained
eleven years. In 1868 he came to his present

farm, which is an admirably kept and valuable one.

He is well known for industry and integrity and
stands high as a citizen. He is a Baptist in his

religious views but his wife is a member of the
Christian church. He has always been interested

in the public schools of his section and in the wel-

fare of his county, and for seven years ably tilled

the position of county supervisor. Mr. and Mrs.
Morgan are the parents of three children : Thomas
(who is married to Clara Kidd of this county),

Wilson (who married Lizzie Paxton and is now
farming in Illinois), and Rezin L. Morgan is still

home on the place with his father.

Col. H. D. Munson was born in Litchfield

county, Conn., January 8, 1816, a son of Horace
and Harriet (Gilbert) Munson, also natives of the

Nutmeg state, aud of English descent. The grand-
parents on both sides, Medad Munson and Asa
Gilbert, were Revolutionary soldiers, and by occu-

pation were farmers. They died in Connecticut
when quite advanced in years. The father of the

subject of this sketch was also a farmer by occupa-
tion, and lived and died in Connecticut. He was
the father of one son and three daughters, only two
of which family are now living— Col. H. D.

,
and

Mrs. Nancy Mariams, a resident of New Haven
county, Coun. Col. H. D. Munson was reared in

Litchfield county, Conn., and was educated princi-

pally in that county. In 1836 he came West and
located at Alton. At an early age he manifested a

decided taste for music, and while at Alton he was
a teacher of music, and also taught in Monticello

Female seminary. He remained in that vicinity

for several years, and in Jacksonville and Spring-
field, 111., and in 1846 came to Zanesville, Ohio, as

a teacher in the Putnam Female seminary, where
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he remained for four years. Succeeding this he
taught music in the neighboring cities for one sea-

son, and in 1851 opened a music store on a small

scale, which he conducted in connection with his

teaching, and business increased so rapidly that in

a short time he was enabled to largely increase his

stock, and conducted it successfully until the open-

ing of the Civil war, when he enlisted in Com-
pany A, Seventy-eighth Ohio Volunteer infantry, •

which company he assisted in raising. He left

home on February 11, 1862, as captain of his com-
pany, and served in this capacity until his resigna-

tion, February 22, 1863, on account of sickness.

He participated in the battles of Fort Donelson
and Shiloh, and after convalescing was made
lieutenant-colonel of the One Hundred and Fifty-

ninth regiment, and served on detached service in

Baltimore, Md. By virtue of rank he was made
president of military commission, and remained at

Baltimore until the expiration of the 100 days’

service, and was mustered out at Zanesville in

1864. During his absence his business was con-

ducted by a man with whom he had made arrange-

ments before leaving for the front, and after being

mustered out he again took charge of his store and
gradually increased his business to its present ad-

mirable proportions. He carries the largest stock

of musical instruments in the city, and the hrm is

now known as H. D. Munson & Sons, his sons

—

Charles E. and H. D. Jr., being admitted as mem-
bers of the firm in 1875. They are now doing an
immense business, and give constant employment
to several men. Too much can not be said in Mr.
Munson’ s praise, for he came to the city a perfect

stranger and without capital, save an abundant
amount of pluck and perseverance, and although
the people ridiculed the idea of his making money
out of such an enterprise, he knew no such word
as fail, and time has proven the wisdom of his

judgment. He had no credit, and was forced to

begin on a very small capital, but by judicious man-
agement has now one of the finest establishments

in his line in the state. He has been a member of

the board of education for six years, and has been
for four years a member of the city council. He
is president of the Muskingum County Historical

society, and is a trustee of the same. He is a mem-
ber of the Masonic fraternity and the G. A. R.,

Hazlett post No. 81, in both of which he has been
an active member. He was married in 1836 to

Miss Mary Griggs, a native of Brimfield, Mass.
,
by

whom he became the father of eight children, seven

of whom are living: Julia, Col. Gilbert D.
,
Will-

iam O. (who was in the Third Ohio regiment during

v the war), Arthur F. (also in the army, in the Sev-

enty-eighth Ohio), George (deceased), H. D. Jr.,

Charles E. and Mary (wife of N. H. Moore, of this

city). Col. Munson and his wife are members of

the Baptist church, in which he is a deacon, and
he is in every respect a worthy citizen and an up-
right man.

Washington Neff. Among the countless indus-

tries and enterprises of the United States there is

none more important than the milling business,

the occupation to which Mr. Neff gives his atten-

tion with such desirable results. He was born in

Muskingum county, Ohio, October 1, 1845, near
Duncan’s Falls, to Samuel B. and Eunice (Reese)
Neff, the father a native of Virginia, and a Ger-
man by descent, and the mother a native of Put-
man, Ohio. Samuel B. Neff followed the occupa-
tion of farming throughout life, and is now a resi-

dent of Salt Creek township. Of four children

born to himself and wife, Washington was next to

the oldest, and during his attendance in the com-
mon schools he made the most of his opportunities

and was better fitted than the ordinary to take

upon himself the duties of life. At the age of

twenty-five years he left his home to engage in the

milling business, and this occupation has received

his attention ever since. In 1889 he began work-
ing in the milling business at Chandlerville, and
owing to the superior article which he manufact-
ures his connection has become wide and is con-

tinually increasing. In addition to this business

he also operates a sawmill, which is proving a

profitable source of revenue. In 1878 he was
married to Miss Maria Miller, daughter of John
Miller, a native of Ohio, and from this union
sprang four children, three of whom are living:

Carrie M., Elvin Roland and Henry Millard.

Mabel Swift died in early childhood. Mr. and
Mrs. Neff worship in the Baptist church, and in

politics Mr. Neff is a republican. He is a man
whose career has been a most honorable and useful

one, and in the esteem of all he holds a prominent
place.

Dr. O. M. Norman, a prominent practicing

physician of Roseville, Muskingum county, Ohio,

was born in Rappahannock county, Va., a short

distance from the battlefield of Bull Run, in 1831.

He was the eldest child of Joseph and Mary A.

(Hackley) Norman. The father was a native of

the same county where he was raised, and followed

farming until 1836, when he settled on a farm in

Newton township, Muskingum county, Ohio. The
Norman family was very prominent in Virginia,

and were of English and German descent. Joseph
married a few years before he came to Ohio. He
followed farming in Newton township for some
time, sold out and moved to Perry township, where
his wife died. He married again and moved to

Park county, Indiana, in 1850, and here his death

occurred in 1860. By his second wife he had four

children. He had been a lifelong member of the

Baptist church. His wife, Mary A. Hackley, was
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the daughter of Joseph Hackley, a prominent
planter of Rappahannock county, Ya.

,
and a large

slave owner. He owned at one time seventy-five

slaves and was a very wealthy man. The family

are of English descent, and direct descendants of

Lord Baltimore, the first governor of Virginia,

whose name was Calvert, and Joseph Hackley’

s

grandmother was a Calvert. Mary A., the mother
of the Doctor, was a native of Rappahannock
county, Ya., born in 1811 or 1812, her death occur-

ring in Perry county, this state, in 1845. She
was the mother of six children: Dr. Oswald M.

,

Joseph a farmer of Indiana, Oscar H. in the furni-

ture business in Augusta, Ga., Amanda, now Mrs.

Achre, living at Fultonham, Perry county, Rufus
(deceased), and one died when young. The Doc-
tor was but five years of age when his parents

moved to this county. He attended the district

school and later the Columbia college, and gradu-
ated from Cincinnati Medical college in 1858. He
commenced his practice at Fultonham and about
fifteen years ago located at Roseville, and since

that time has been the most prominent medical
man in this part of the county. He has always
been a democrat in politics, and was a candidate

for representative of the county. He takes a great

interest in public matters, and was mayor of Rose-
ville, and has held several other offices. He is a

member of the County Medical association, and
also of the State Medical society. Socially, he is

a member of the Masonic order and Odd Fellows,

and has been for at least thirty years. In 1851
the Doctor married Jane M. Wilson, of Fultonham,
a daughter of John and Harriet Wilson. They
had two children: Dewitt C. who is the proprietor

of a drug store in Roseville, and Anna, the widow
of James Taylor. She is living at home. The
Doctor lost his wife in 1890, and he married again,

Anna L. Baughman, a native of this county, and
the daughter of Samuel and Ruth Baughman.
The father is a prominent farmer of the county.

Dr. Norman is a member of the Methodist Episco-
pal church, and his wife of the Lutheran church.
The Doctor takes a great interest in educational

matters, and is president of the school board of

Roseville. He has accumulated a good property,

and is one of the public-spirited men of the county.

Benjamin Zane Norris, of Frazeysburg, Jack-

son township, Muskingum county, Ohio, is one of

the oldest settlers and most reliable citizens in this

part of the county. He was born about two miles

north of Zanesville, Ohio, in this county, April 17,

1817, at a point then called Joe’s run, but now
known as Bailey’s mill. His father, Isaac Norris,

was a well known representative of an old Amer-
ican family of English descent. He emigrated
with his household from Maryland, and was a pio-

neer farmer in this county. Before this, however,

he had married Charity Conley, of Maryland, who
bore him eight children: James D.

,
John, Thomas,

Elias, Mary A., Benjamin Z.
,
Isaac and Charity,

all of whom are natives of Ohio, Mr. Norris hav-

ing come to the wilderness here directly after his

marriage. He first settled two miles north of

Zanesville, on Joe’s run, and after some years

removed to the Gen. Yan Horn farm below the

Putnam hill. There his youngest daughter died,

and not long afterward his wife died also. She
was a Christian woman of the most noble charac-

ter, and was a strict member of the Presbyterian

church. Mr. Norris lived to the advanced age of

eighty-three years, and died a member of the

Methodist Episcopal church. In his early days he
was a school teacher, and in that capacity he be-

came one of the pioneer educators of Muskingum
county. For his time he was liberally educated,

and possessed an exceedingly wide range of gen-

eral and practical information. In his political

opinions he was democratic, and at that compara-
tively early day, when to be constable meant more
than it does at this time, he filled the office of con-

stable for his township, in the performance of the

duties of which he was brought in almost daily

contact with the leading men of the county. A
good and upright citizen, of great liberality and
generosity, he always espoused the cause of right,

as he understood it, and lent a helping hand to his

neighbor in trouble, and he was one of that historic

few who as pioneers cleared away the wilderness

and battled against the dangers of life on the fron-

tier, and, enduring all of its privations and dis-

comforts, brought about the development of the

present day by paving the way for those who should
come after them. Benjamin Z. Norris was reared

in his father’s forest home, and well remembers
the Indians who came and went in that neighbor-

hood during his early life. The cabin in which
the family lived was built of rough logs, with a

puncheon floor, split clapboards constituting its

door, and a stick chimney, daubed with clay, serv-

ing as the means of escape for the smoke from its

primitive fireplace. In this humble dwelling most
of his brothers and sisters were born, and here in

a dense and almost limitless forest he passed his

boyhood days. He attended school in a small log

building, and, at the wish of his mother, attached

himself to a Sunday school, whose sessions were
held in Squire Boyd’s barn. Later he attended a

country school for about a year altogether, and
thus his educational advantages may be summed
up. He grew to manhood amid all of the rough
experiences of a life on the frontier, but these were
useful in forming a rugged, upright character.

In 1840, when he was twenty-four years of age, he
married Miss Martha J. Wimrner, a daughter of

John and Lydia (Mendenhall) Wimrner, and they
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are the parents of four children: Anna J.
,
Lucy C.,

George W. and William J., all of them now liv-

ing. After his marriage Mr. Norris settled on his

brother John’s farm, about one mile from his pres-

ent residence in Jackson township, but remained
there only a few weeks, when he moved into a

small house on his present farm, which was then

the property of his wife’s father. About five

years afterward, Mr. and Mrs. Wirnmer having
died, Mr. and Mrs. Norris removed to their old

home on the same farm, where they have since

lived. In his religious views Mr. Norris is a

Methodist, of which church his wife is a devout
member. In politics he is a democrat, and his in-

fluence in local affairs has been by no means slight.

Among the few official positions which he has been
prevailed upon to accept may be mentioned that of

township trustee and that of a member of the board
of supervisors of Muskingum county. He has
taken an active interest in the cause of education,

and has done as much as any other one man in his

part of the county to build up and maintain
schools. For eighteen years he has served as

school director, and officially and otherwise he has
done everything in his power toward the better-

ment of the educational facilities of his township.

All his life long he has been industrious in the ex-

treme, and he has always been known as a hard-

working, persevering man. His life has been hon-

orable and full of self sacrifice, and has resulted

in the good of the community in which he has so

long lived. For a large portion of such success as

he has attained he renders thanks to his good
wife, who by her advice and encouragement, has

done much to assist him in all things. He sees no
reason to complain of the lack of that prosperity

which is the legitimate reward of a life of honest
endeavor, as he has accumulated about $50,000,
and, being of the wise opinion that it is better for

a man to dispose of his own property while he
lives than to leave it to be divided among the law-

yers at his death, he has apportioned much of it

among his children. Possessing a naturally strong
constitution, which he has never impaired by over

indulgence of any kind, he is hale and vigorous at

the age of seventy-five, retaining the practical com-
mon sense, and the bright and intelligent mind of

a man of one-half his years. His life of probity

and honest purpose should be emulated by the
youth of the present generation. John Wirnmer,
the father of Mrs. Norris, was of German descent.

His father came from Germany and settled in

Charlestown, W. Ya. , and there married Cather-
ine Diffenbough, a young lady of property and
high social standing, who bore him six children:

Adam, William, John, Mary, Margaret and Eliza-

beth. Both Mr. and Mrs. Wirnmer died in Charles-

town, W. Ya. John Wirnmer was born in 1788,

and married Lydia Mendenhall, of Charlestown,
W. Va., who was of English descent. They be-

came the parents of eight children: Richard C.

,

Samuel, Thomas G., Lydia, Esther, Martha, Jane
and Hannah. Mr. Wirnmer came to Muskingum
county in 1825, and settled on Wakatomaka creek,

at the point known as Mendenhall’s Mill, and after

six years removed to the farm now occupied by
Mr. Norris, upon which, in 1841, fifty years ago,

he built the old house in which Mr. and Mrs. Nor-
ris now live. He was a member of the Methodist
Episcopal church, in which he was both class-leader

and steward, and it may well be said of him that

he was a man of industry, and a man of noble char-

acter, whose word was literally as good as his bond.
Samuel Mendenhall, the grandfather of Mrs. Nor-
ris, came from Virginia, and bought 1,300 acres of

land in this county. He built Mendenhall’s mill,

and at his death left 160 acres of land to each of

his children. Both Mr. and Mrs. Norris are de-

scended from good stock, and their offspring may
well be honestly proud of the sterling ancestry

from which they sprang. Their daughter, Lucy
C. Norris, married Isaac Franks, of Columbus,
Ohio, and they have five children: Annie M., Ed-
ward C., Clara B.

,
Myrtie A. and Clark F. Han-

nah J. Norris married Clark Bell, a merchant of

Frazeysburg; John W. Norris married Louisa J.

Bennett, and has four children: Adelbert B.
,
Zane

C. ,
Laura T. and Mattie B. William J. Norris

married Matilda Moore, and has one child, a son,

Benjamin F. Norris.

M. J. O’Niel, councilman, Frazeysburg, Ohio,

is a descendant of good Irish stock, his father,

John O’Niel, having been born in Killmare, Ire-

land, in 1821. The elder O' Niel came to America
in 1847, and in 1851 settled in Hanover township,

Licking county, Ohio. He married Miss Margaret
Shea, and to them were born nine children: Michael
J,, Mary, Hannah, Kate, Lizzie (died in infancy),

Nelly, Etta, Josephine and John. Mr. O’Niel was
a steady, hard-working man, and for over forty

years was engaged with the Pan Handle railroad,

his labors only ending with his death. He was
honest, upright, and faithfully discharged all his

duties. He came to this country to make a home
for his family and accomplished his object, leav-

ing his family in comfortable circumstances at his

death. In politics he was a stanch democrat and
always appreciated his privilege as an American
citizen. He was a member of the Catholic church
and was a kind husband and an affectionate father.

His death occurred in 1890 at the age of sixty-

nine years. His son Michael J. O’Niel, subject of

this sketch, was born in Hanover township, Lick-

ing county, Ohio, July 25, 1853, and at an early

age learned the trade of telegraph operator, work-
ing on the Pan Handle railroad for twenty-two
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years. He received a common-school education

and on June 14, 1868, he began work at Hanover
Station, Licking county, being at that time but
fifteen years of age. He soon gained and main-
tained a record for reliability, expertness and at-

tention. He was station agent and operator at

Adams Mills, Muskingum county, for ten years,

and at Frazeysburg for four years and a half. In
1875 he married Miss Emily M. Davidson, daugh-
ter of Hiram and Mary (Boyd) Davidson. The
Davidsons were early settlers at Zanesville. To
Mr. and Mrs. O’Niel have been born two children:

Charles B., and Blanche, who died when but a babe.

Mr. O’Niel has been a resident of Frazeysburg
for nine years and is one of the substantial men
of the county, possessing considerable property,

mostly real estate. In politics he is a republican.

Socially he is an Odd Fellow and has been secre-

tary and warden of his lodge. He holds member-
ship in the Catholic church. Mr. O’Niel is a self-

made man, having started with nothing, and has

accumulated all his property by the sweat of his

brow. As a citizen and neighbor he is well liked,

and for the last six years he has held the position

of councilman of Frazeysburg. It may be said

of Mr. O’Niel that his promises are always ful-

filled and his word is as good as his bond. He
comes of a sterling race of people and to-day the

Irish-Americans fillmany important offices and are

among the most prominent citizens.

Eli Osier, farmer and stockraiser, New Concord,

Ohio, was the eldest son born to Edward and
Lydia (McGee) Osier, and the grandson of William
Osier, who was a native of Baltimore county, Md.

,

in which county he died when over one hundred
years of age. He was a farmer by occupation.

Edward Osier was also a native of Baltimore county,

Md., born 1781, and in 1814 he came to Highland
township, this county. He was married in Maryland,
and his first wife, who was a Miss Bond, died there.

After coming to Highland township he settled on
a farm of 160 acres taken from the government
and although a soldier in the War of ,1812, he re-

ceived no pension, drawing only his land warrant.

He made his home in that township until his

death in 1862. His second marriage occurred in

Baltimore county, Md.
,
in 1815, to Miss Lydia Mc-

Gee, a native of that county. The fruits of this

union were nine children: Charity, married Will-

iam Starrett, of Highland township; Ann, married
George McCaughey, who died in Zanesville in 1889;
Eli (subject) Providence, who died in childhood,

Providence, who is living in Adamsville; Zachariah,
a resident of Highland township; Dorcus, died in

1880; James, who is living on the homestead of his

father, and Rachel was the wife of William Arm-
strong, of Salem township [see sketch], and died in

1890. The parents of these children were lifelong

members of the Baptist church and were deeply

interested and took a prominent part in all church
work as well as all other enterprises for the advance-

ment of the county. The father followed agricult-

ural pursuits for a livelihood and was fairly suc-

cessful. He was at one time a whig in politics but

later he became a republican. He and wife ex-

perienced many hardships when they first settled in

this county, but they had the true pioneer spirit and
became useful and well-respected citizens. Eli Osier

was born on a farm in Highland township, Muskin-
gum county, August 22, 1819, and except a few
years when he worked at the carpenter’s trade, he
has followed agricultural pursuits all his life. He
was married in 1849 to Miss Nancy Caughey, a

native of Washington county, Penn., born June

15, 1827, and the daughter of William and
Jane (Stewart) Caughey. Her parents came to

Ohio in 1828, settled in Highland township, and
there Mrs. Osier was reared. She was one of the

following children: Jane, who died in 1840; Re-
becca, who is Mrs. Martin of Highland township;

Mary A., who died in 1840; Nancy; Nathaniel, died

in 1840; William, a farmer of Kansas; Sarah, wife

of James Osier of Highland township, and Eliza,

who died in 1840. The four children who died in

1840 had scarlet fever, and passed away in a few
days of each other. The father died in 1868 and
the mother in 1876, aged respectively, eighty and
ninety-one years. Both held membership in the

United Presbyterian church, and he was a repub-
lican in politics. The father was a public-spirited

citizen and one of the thrifty, industrious farmers.

Mr. and Mrs. Osier are members of the United Pres-

byterian church, and he has held official positions

in the same for the past twenty-five years. In 1841
he began working for himself and in 1850 he bought
a farm of eighty acres in Highland township. Later
he sold this and then bought 160 acres near New
Concord, and this farm is one of the best improved
and most valuable in this part of the county. He
has been successful as a tiller of the soil and in con-

nection with farming he annually raises sheep and
cattle in large numbers. The family have nearly

500 acres in this county. To his marriage were
born five children: Martin L. was born in 1851
and is now residing in the West where he was mar-
ried; S. C. was born in 1855, and married Miss Anna
Cornel] of Columbus, (they have one child, Charles;)

William E., born in 1857, married. Miss Anna
Scott of Bloomfield, and has three children; Har-
rold S., Jessie A., and Hester; Frank, was born in

1861 and is now an attorney of Cincinnati where
he has resided for the past two years; he attended
law school in that city, and is now a successful ex-

ponent of the law; and Lydia J., who was born in

1865 and is now at home. Mr. and Mrs. Osier have
taken a great deal of pains to educate their children

,
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and their daughter has made a speciality of music,
studying with some of the best instructors of music,
Mr. Osier and his four sons are members of the re-

publican party.

James Osier is one of the leading pioneer farm-
ers of Highland township, Muskingum county,
Ohio, and was bom on the farm upon which he now
resides, in 1827. He was the youngest but one
of the nine children born to the union of Edward
and Lydia (McGee) Osier, old settlers of Carroll

county, Md. Edward was one of a large family,

and remained home until he was thirty-two years of

age. He was a soldier in the War of 1812. He
received a limited education, and emigrated to this

county about 1814, settling on a farm south of New
Concord. He entered the farm upon which our
subject now lives, about 1815 or 1816, and took up
160 acres. Before coming to Ohio he married
Lydia McGee, of his native state, and they were
the parents of nine children. They were members
of the Baptist church, and in politics he was a

whig. He was devoted to his home and endeav-
ored to give all his children good educations. He
died in 1862. His wife was born in Carroll county,

Md. Their children are named as follows: Char-
ity (now Mrs. Starrett, living on the Bloomfield
road, north of New Concord); Ann (married George
McCaughey, of Zanesville. She died, Christmas,

1890, leaving a family. The children are all grown
and married: Ely [see sketch], Zachariah (lives

in Highland township, a man of family), Provi-

dence (died in childhood), Providence (living at

Adamsville, Salem township), Doricus (died at the

age of thirty years), James (our subject), and
Rachel (was the wife of William Armstrong, de-

ceased, and died New Year’s day, 1890). The
mother of this family was a member of the Bap-

.

tist church, one of the noblest of women, loved

and respected by all, and an earnest worker in all

church matters. She died in February, 1877.

James Osier’s early life was spent on a farm, at-

tending school in winter and working on the farm
in summer. At the age of thirty years he became
the owner of the farm that he had up to that time
managed. He was married, in June, 1857, to

Sarah Caughey, who was born in Highland town-
ship in 1832, and was the daughter of William and
Jane (Stewart) Caughey. William Caughey was of

Irish descent, born in Washington county, Penn.,

and came to this county about 1830, settling in this

part of the township. Mrs. Osier was one of eight

children: Jane, Rebecca, Mary A., Nancy, Nathan,
William, Sarah and Eliza. Mary A., Jane, Eliza

and Nathan all died in one week, of scarlet fever,

in 1840. The parents were members of the United
Presbyterian church. In politics the father was a

whig, a good farmer, and died in 1867, his wife

dying in 1878. James Osier attended Muskingum

college and taught there live or six years, and was
classed among the educators of that county. In
1854 he took charge of the farm, and since that

time has been farming and devoted his entire time

and attention to that pursuit. To himself and
wife were born four children: John (a railroadman,

of Kansas); Edward (at home, attending his fath-

er’s farm); Andrew B. (resides at home, is a school

teacher, and considered one of the finest educators

in the county. He has been teaching five years);

Margaret A. (at home, and attending school). Mrs.

Osier is a member of the United Presbyterian

church, and is a lady active in church work. Mr.
Osier is a republican in politics, is a man of cool

judgment, and has held many offices of trust in the

county. He was on the school board, and gives

much of his time and means to the support of the

schools. He is a successful farmer and good busi-

ness man, and owns a nicely improved farm of 115

acres. His postoffice is Sago, his residence being

one and one half miles from the town. He was a

soldier in the late war, having enlisted in May,
1864, and served 100 days. He was in the battle

of Harper’s Ferry.

S. C. Osier is a prominent and successful young
farmer of Highland township, Muskingum county,

Ohio, and the owner of 280 acres of well improved
land. He is the second child of Eli Osier, and was
born March 2, 1855. Since his second year he has

lived on the old home farm and attended school in

the Jamieson school district. At the age of twen-

ty-five years he started for himself and took charge

of the farm upon which he now resides. In 1884
he went to Kansas and located at Valley Center,

Sedgwick county, where he remained one year

when he returned home and turned his attention

to farming and stockraising. In 1889 he married

Anna Cornell, a daughter of John W. and Margery
(McBride) Cornell. The father was a son of Will-

iam and Permelia (Inks) Cornell, who came from
Washington county, Penn., and settled in Franklin

county near Columbiana, when the country was
new, and when Columbiana had only one log cabin.

This farm is still owned by some of the family.

William Cornell died some years ago and his wife

died in 1882, at the age of nearly ninety years.

They reared a family of nine children: Sarah, Lu-
cinda, Mary, Jacob, William, Jane, Levi, John and
Anna. Levi and Jane are deceased, and all resided

in Ohio except Mary, who lived in Iowa. JohnW.
Cornell, their son, was born in 1827 and is still

living in Franklin county, near the home place, a

farmer, and in politics a republican. Mrs. Cornell

was born in County Down, Ireland, in 1837, the

daughter of William and Margery McBride. She
was eleven years of age when her parents came to

this county and settled in Highland township

about 1849. The parents spent the remainder of
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their lives in this county. The father was killed

in 1862 and his wife died in 1886. They were the

parents of eight children: Jane, Sarah, Mary,
Eliza, Alexander, Margery, Rachel and Nancy.
Of these two are deceased, Sarah and Nancy. Mr.
and Mrs. Cornell were married in this township and
went to live in Franklin county. They were the

parents of these children: Ola (the wife of Charles

Evans, and living in Franklin county), Jennie,

Anna (the wife of S. C. Osier), William, Frank
and Charles. Mrs. Cornell is a member of the

Presbyterian church. Mrs. Osier was born in

Franklin county, in July 8, 1865, attended the dis-

trict schools and was married in 1889, as before

stated, to the subject of this sketch. Mr. and Mrs.
Osier are members of the United Presbyterian
church and attend at Bloomfield. They have only

one child, Charles C., born January 7, 1890. Mr.
Osier is a republican in politics and interested in

all church and school work, giving his time and
attention to the same.

Among the prominent young farmers of High-
land township, Muskingum county, Ohio, must be
mentioned William E. Osier, who was born on the

farm on which he now resides, December 20, 1857,
and was the third child of Ely and Nancy (Caughey)
Osier. He attended the Jamison district schools

of this neighborhood and later worked on the farm.

In 1884 he married Anna A. Scott, daughter of

Joseph and Elizabeth Scott, of this township. Mr.
Osier is a republican in politics and holds a mem-
mership in the U. P. church, of Bloomfield. In
1889 he engaged in the management of a 160-acre
farm of which he is the owner, he has made it one
of the best in the county, does general farming and
stock-raising, raising sheep principally. Mrs.
Osier was born in this township October 10, 1864,
and was here reared and educated. Her parents
moved from Washington county, Penn., and lived

here nine years, when they moved to Highland
township. They are the parents of four children:

Anna, Hester, Maggie and Mary, all living. Hester
married Mr. Farrar and is living in Pennsylvania,
and Maggie married Dr. Lamm, of Bloomfield. Mr.
and Mrs. Osier are the parents of four bright chil-

dren: Herald, Jessie, Hester, and Bertha the baby.
They are members of the U. P. church.

Anderson Judkins Parker, M. D., No. 44
Fourth street, Zanesville, Ohio, is one of the rising

physicians of this part of the state. He was born
at Chesterfield, Ohio, in 1856, a son of Dr. Isaac
Parker, who located there in 1845. After a thor-

ough academic course he began the study of medi-
cine under the preceptorship of Dr. N. Wright of

his native place. He graduated from Miami Med-
ical college, of Cincinnati, in 1881, and immediately
entered upon the active practice of his profession
at Chesterfield, there he was successful and promi-

nent until, desiring a wider field, he came to

Zanesville. January 1888. Here he found favor

in a marked degree, his practice now being three

times as extensive as it was two years ago. Hav-
ing need of assistance, in April, 1890, he took as a

partner Dr. C. M. Rambo, a graduate of Starling

Medical college, Columbus. For some years Dr.

Parker was a leading and active member of the

Muskingum Valley District Medical society, and is

now a member of the Morgan County Medical so-

ciety, of the Zanesville Medical society, the Cin-

cinnati Medical society and also the Hildreth Med-
ical society. He is surgeon for the Zanesville Street

Railway company, for the B. Z. & C. R. R., also

on the medical staff of the Zanesville City hospital

and has served as physician to the county jail, sur-

geon to the county infirmary and the Z. & O. R.

R. R. That his reputation has extended far

beyond the borders of the county is attested by the

fact that he was recently elected a member of the

Cincinnati City Medical society. Dr. Parker is

of the third generation of physicians in his family,

his grandfather and father having been physicians

of good standing. He has a young son through
whom he expects to hand down the mantle of his

fathers to generations yet to come. Dr. Parker is

an accomplished physician as his rapidly growing
practice testifies. He takes great interest in edu-

cational matters and for a number of years was
president of the school board of Chesterfield. That
he has a bright future before him, professionally

and otherwise, those who know him best are most
eager to assert. He was married in 1876, to Miss
Mintie Patterson, of Chesterfield. Dr. Rambo his

partner is a native of Hopewell township, this-

county, and was educated at the State Normal
school, Valparaiso, Ind., and at Ohio university,

Athens, Ohio.

Samuel Parks, farmer, Frazeysburg, a descend-

ant of one of the old and very prominent families

of Muskingum county, Ohio, is now one of the

wealthy and esteemed citizens of that county. His
father, William Parks, was of Scotch-Irish descent,

and was born in County Donegal, Ireland, August
25, 1795. He was one of three sons—James,
David and William, born to Samuel Parks, and
was early initiated into the duties of farm life.

He was educated in the common schools, and when
grown married Miss Jane Stevenson, daughter of

Allen and Elizabeth Stevenson. Mr. Stevenson

was also of Scotch-Irish descent, and he and wife

passed their entire days in Ireland. After his mar-
riage Mr. Parks came to America (1821) and
landed at St. Johns, New Brunswick. From there

they went to Baltimore, and after a year there

went to New York, settling at Harlem, where he
managed a farm for Harmon Le Roy for seven

years. Mr. Le Roy was a wealthy French trader.
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In 1829 Mr. Parks came to Ohio and settled in

Jackson township, on the farm now owned by his

son, Samuel, and here reared his family of ten
children; William, John, Samuel (who died in

infancy), Eliza J.
,
Isabella, James, Samuel, Mar-

garet, Mary, and one who died in infancy. Will-

iam and John died at the ages of nine and five re-

spectively. Eliza J. married James Still, of Mus-
kingum township, this county. James was a sol-

dier in the One Hundred and Fifty-ninth Ohio
Volunteer infantry, and died in the hospital at

Baltimore, leaving a wife and six children. Dr.
Parks, of Frazeysburg, is his son. Margaret
died at the age of twenty-two. Mary married E.
H. Kilpatrick, a farmer, and they live in Licking
county, Ohio. When William Parks settled on
his farm it was almost a wilderness, but by hard
work he cleared it up and built a comfortable
log house, the immense stone chimney of which
is still standing, wTith its vast fireplace, built over
fifty years ago. Mr. and Mrs. Parks were devout
covenanters, held strictly to this faith and brought
up their family in this belief. Mr. Parks was a
man of strong mind and excellent judgment, and
was respected and esteemed by all acquainted
with him. The substantial buildings erected on
his farm are still standing. He lived to be
eightv-seven years of age, and died February 10,

1883. He was one of those pioneers who were
among the foremost in building up the county,
in fact one of the real founders of the state of

Ohio and the man who made possible the pleasant
homes of to-day. Samuel Parks (our subject) was
born October 2, 1835, and supplemented a com-
mon-school education by attending school at

West Bedford, Ohio, and Oberlin college, thus re-

ceiving a good education, although he did not
complete his collegiate studies. At the age of

seventeen he began teaching school in his own
school district, afterward taught one year in Illi-

nois, and then followed his profession in Texas
for two years. He subsequently traveled exten-
sively in the Lone Star state, and in 1858 began
teaching near San Antonio. Eeturning to Ohio
he taught school during the winter months and
worked on the farm in the summer. He was one
of the early educators of Muskingum county,
teaching most of the time for twenty years, and
wielded a wide influence for good in educational
matters. He is a member of the Presbyterian
church, and Miss Isabella Parks, his sister, who
lives with him, is a strict Covenanter. He has
been township trustee, served his district as school
director for many terms, and has held other local

positions. He now owns a valuable farm and has
excellent buildings, etc. He is a man of liberal

views, owns a large library of choice books, and
is an extensive reader. He is progressive in his

views, and is classed among the well-informed men
of the parish. In politics he affiliates with the
republican party. His sister, Miss Isabella, who
keeps house for him, is an accomplished and very
pleasant lady.

Nowhere within the limits of Muskingum
county, Ohio, can be found a man more highly

respected, or for conscientious discharge of duty in

every relation of life, more worthy of respect and
esteem, than Kev. David Paul who has been pastor

of the United Presbyterian church at New Concord
since 1876. He was born in Belmont county, Ohio,

five miles north of St. Clairsville, April 22, 1827,

and was the third in a family of six children born
to Andrew and Nancy (Walace) Paul. Andrew
Paul remained in his native country, Ireland, until

eighteen years of age, after which he came to this

country and settled in Belmont county, where he
engaged in work with David Walace, afterward

marrying his eldest daughter. He followed farming
as his occupation in life and was a good citizen.

He was a member of the Associate Eeformed
church. Of his children only three are now living,

and David is the only one in this state. Mr. Paul
moved his family from Belmont to Guernsey
county, Ohio, in 1839, and there his estimable wife

died the same year. He subsequently moved to

Iowa, where he passed the closing scenes of his life,

his death occurring in 1860. His children were
named in the order of their births as follows:

Margaret (who died at the age of sixteen years),

Julia A. (who is residing in Pawnee City, Neb.),

David Paul (subject), Mary (who died when twelve

years of age), Eliza J. (who died in this county
after reaching womanhood), and William W. (who
resides at Clarence, Iowa). Mr. Andrew Paul was
a whig in early days, but his last votes were cast

with the republican party. His wife was a native

of Belmont county, Ohio, and was the daughter of

David and (Carson) Walace. The early life

of David Paul was spent in Belmont county, and
when about twelve years of age he came with his

parents to Guernsey county. He was trained to

the arduous duties of the farm and remained on
the same until 1846, when he entered the fresh-

man class of Muskingum college, having kept up
his studies under the instruction of Kev. Hugh
Forsythe of Fairview, Guernsey county, Ohio,

while working on his father’s farm. Mr. Paul has

plowed many and many a day with his book fast-

ened on the handles of his plow. He remained
four years in Muskingum college and was grad-

uated in 1850. The following year he started to

study theology at Oxford, Ohio, and was professor

of languages in Geneva Hall for one year. After

this he spent one winter at Allegheny city and on
June 9, 1852, was licensed to preach, and ordained

December 13, of the following year, being installed
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pastor of the S. R. church at Cannonsburg, Penn.,

when he remained until 1855. He then received

a call and acted as pastor at Mansfield, Ohio, from
April, 1857, until 1865. He was president of Mus-
kingum college from the last date until June, 1879.

During that time he was pastor of Norwich church
from August 19, 1869, until January, 1872, and at

East Union from 1872 until 1876. On September
19, 1876, he was installed pastor of the church at

New Concord, and since his resignation of the
presidency of Muskingum college has given his

entire attention to church work. He is greatly

interested in religious and educational matters, and
has probably done more to further the interests of

the same in Muskingum county than any other
man. He is a man of superior natural mental
endowments, is eminently capable of tilling any
position, and is an intelligent and devoted Christian.

In politics he is a republican. Mr. Paul was mar-
ried October 11, 1853, to Miss Sarah J. Russell, a

native of Washington county, Penn. She was the
daughter of Reuben and Mary (Harper) Russell,

born in 1834. She was the eldest of eight children
—seven daughters and a son. Mr. and Mrs. Paul’s
union was blessed by the birth of seven children

:

Mary A. (died at the age of sixteen years), Ella
(the wife of W. R. Harper of the Chicago univer-
sity), Lizzie J. (died when but one year old),

William W. (a traveling man), Anna L. (died at

the age of one year), Blanche R. (also died when
about a year old), and Jessie L. (at home, attending
school). Mr. Paul lost his devoted wife April 30,

1891.

Among the highly respected and much es-

teemed citizens of the community in which he lives

is Andrew Pletcher, farmer, Deavertown, Ohio,
a native of Morgan county, born November
3, 1820. He is the son of Samuel Pletcher
and the grandson of Henry Pletcher. The former
was born in Loudoun county, Va., and when
when about twenty-one years of age he came with
his father to Ohio, driving a six horse team all the
way from his native state. They settled in York
township, Morgan county, where the father tilled

the soil for many years. Samuel P. was educated in

the German language in Virginia, and when twenty-
two years of age he married Miss Anna M. Smith,
who was a native of the Keystone state, but who
came to Morgan Ohio, with her parents a number
of years previous to her marriage. Mr. Pletcher’

s

father gave him 160 acres of land in Morgan county
after his marriage, and on this he resided until his
death, on the 26th of February, 1882, when eighty-
seven years of age^ His wife died June 29, 1877,
at the age of seventy-seven years. Both were
members of the Lutheran church and able sup-
porters of the same. Andrew Pletcher, sub
ject of this sketch, was born in Morgan county,

Ohio, November 3, 1820, and, like many of

the old pioneers, received his education in the

log schoolhouse, with split logs for seats, and

greased paper for window glass. He being

the eldest child at home, much of the hard work
and responsibility of taking care of a large family

fell upon his shoulders. He remained at home
until twenty-two years of age, and on the 17th of

November, 1842, he was united in marriage to Miss

Rachel Thomas, a native of Loudoun county,

Va.
,
born December 6, 1819. Mrs. Pletcher came

to Morgan county, Ohio, with her parents, who lo-

cated on the farm now owned by Mr. Pletcher.

After marriage Mr. and Mrs. Pletcher rented land

in different part’s of Morgan county, but later they

bought sixty acres in Brush Creek township, on
which he resided for nine years. Then selling out

he bought his present property, consisting of 144

acres, and is now classed among the thrifty and
industrious men of the county. He has, at differ-

ent times, held a number of the township offices

and filled them in a very satisfactory manner. Po-

litically he was formerly an old line whig, and to this

day he supports its principles by voting the repub-

lican ticket. He was at one time a member of the

Lutheran, but of late years he has held membership
in the United Brethren church of Morgan county.

During the war he did not serve but was held as a

reserve by the government. His eldest son, Will-

iam, was out in the 100 days’ service. His children,

eight in number, were named in the order of their

births as follows: William W.
,
Mary E., Hiram A.

Susanna C., Levia L., John A., Phcebe A. and
Sarah J. Mary and Sarah are deceased. Mrs.

Pletcher died on the 15th of Feburary, 1884.

Henry Pletcher Sr., was the founder of the

Pletcher family in the state of Ohio. He was prob-

ably bom, reared and married in Loudoun county,

Va.
,
from which place he came to this state,

settling in York township, Morgan county, at which
time his family consisted of the following children:

John, Samuel, Henry, Solomon, Jacob, Susannah
(wife of William Swingle and in her ninetieth year,)

Mary (wife of Andrew Spring), Catherine, (wife of

John Weller), Elizabeth, (wife of Michael Stone-

burner), Sarah (wife of John Good). Mr. Pletcher

was in affluent circumstances when he came to

Ohio, having brought with him in cash $15,000,

which was considered a fine fortune in those days.

After selling his land in Virginia for $100 per acre,

he, upon his arrival in Ohio, purchased 160 acres

of land for each of his ten children, every one of

whom settled on the tract given them and lived on
the same during their lives. They reared families

and were honored and respected wherever known.
Mr. Pletcher died in the state of his adoption, af-

ter a life filled with kind and charitable deeds.

Henry Jr., his son, was born in Loudoun county,
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Ya, in 1804 and at the time of his arrival in

Ohio, was fourteen years of age. In his native

state he learned to read and write the German
language and after coming to Ohio he attended

school and acquired a practical education in the

English language. He was married to Jane, daugh-
ter of Nicholas Deitrick, and to their union the fol-

lowing children were born: Sarah, wife of Isaac

Cohagan (deceased), Susannah (deceased), Will-

iam, Henry, Nicholas, Noah, Mary J. (widow of

Harrison Turner), Hiram and George. On their

farm in Morgan county, Ohio, Mr. and Mrs.

Pletcher lived and died, the former departing his

life February 4, 1884 and the latter August 17,

1870, at the age of seventy-six years. Both were
members of the Lutheran church and lived in strict

Christian conformity to the requirements of their

religious faith. Mrs. Pletcher was noted far and
wide for her kindness in sickness and affliction and
always gladly responded to the calls of those in

distress. Through exposure from such labors she

injured her health, which was the indirect cause of

her death. Mr. Pletcher was always an earnest

worker in the church and was one of its prominent
official members, never shirking a duty when work
was imposed, but cheerfully performing every task

assigned. William Pletcher, his son, was born in

York township, Morgan county, Ohio, October 13,

1831, was reared on the home farm and obtained a

fair education in the old time subscription schools.

He remained with his father until he attained his

majority and on December 25, 1851. he was mar-
ried to Miss Sarah Ann Stambrook, after which for

one year, he lived on his father’s homestead. He
then rented the Stambrook farm for three years,

after which he purchased a part of his present

farm, which at the present time consists of 200
acres. This land was quite heavily covered with
timber, but he cleared it and erected thereon a

commodious residence, 40x40 feet, which was un-
fortunately destroyed by fire on June 17, 1888.

On its site Mr. Pletcher has erected his present

well-appointed residence. He and his wife have
six children born to them: James H., Winfield

S., Mary J. (wife of Jesse T. Baughman), Alice

(wife of Albert Dozer), Elzina, Clara Elwilda. He
and his wife have long been connected with the

Lutheran church, in which he has held official po-

sition. Henry Stambrook, his father-in-law, was
born in Pennsylvania, in which state his grand-
father settled on landing on the shores of this

country, being afterward killed by the Indians.

Henry Stambrook was married twice; his first wife

bore him eight children, their names being: Abra-
ham, Polly, wife of Philip Leffler, and the follow-

ing who are deceased : Jacob, Peter, Henry, Susan,
who became the wife of Archie Mann, Katie, who
married Samuel Leffler, and Elizabeth, who became

the wife of Peter Bailey. All these children ac-

companied their father to Muskingum county,

Ohio. He married his second wife in Pennsylvania
also, her name being Eva Catherine Leffler, a

daughter of Adam Leffler. Three children were
born to this union prior to their coming to this

state: Adam, Frederick and John. Mr. Stam-
brook settled on 160 acres of wild land, heavily

covered with timber, the same farm on which Fran-
cis Swingle now lives, and while a cabin was being
constructed, the family lived in wagons, in which
they had come to this region, and their sleep was
often disturbed by prowling animals which infested

the forest, or by the scream of a panther or the

howl of a wolf. After reaching this state six

children were born to Mr. Stambrook and his sec-

ond wife: Mattie, who became the wife of Mat-
thias Smith (deceased); Margaret is the widow of

Peter Leffler; Solomon is deceased; Philip resides

in Morgan county; Sarah Ann is the wife of Will-

iam Pletcher of Brush creek, and James, who re-

sides in Kansas. On the land on which they first

settled, Mr. and Mrs. Stambrook lived out their

natural lives, having enjoyed much prosperity.

Mr. Stambrook held some minor offices and he and
his wife were members of the Lutheran church and
took an active interest in all religious and moral
works. He was an exemplary man in every respect

and was a true type of the useful pioneer settler.

Politically he was a democrat.

Samuel R. Porter, farmer, Hopewell, Ohio,

whose success in life is mainly due to his industry

and perseverance, coupled with a pleasant, genial

disposition, is a native of Hopewell township,

Muskingum county, Ohio, born May 31, 1820. His
paternal grandfather, William Porter, was a native

of the Emerald Isle, born October 20, 1753;
landed in America August 24, 1773; was married

January 31, 1775, and died April 17, 1821, in Erie

county, Penn. His maternal grandfather, John
Richey, was born in York county, Penn., July 8,

1755. MaryW elcli, John Richey’s wife was born in

the same state and county, May 23, 1760, and died

January 6, 1835, both dying in Muskingum county,

Ohio. Their family consisted of ten sons and four

daughters, one of the daughters, Mrs. Jennett

Null is still living in Muskingum county at the

age of ninety-five years. They had 120 grandchil-

dren. William Porter Jr., came to Muskingum
county, Ohio, February, 1814, and located on what
is now the Porter homestead, which still remains

in the family, being owned by Joseph Porter. He
was married to Miss Mary in 1806, eight years

prior to their removal to Ohio. He followed agri-

cultural pursuits until his deatlq which occurred on
June 17, 1833, his wife having died on the 14th of

same month, preceding him to the spirit land by
three days and nine hours. Their family consisted
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of thirteen children, twelve of whom reached ma-
ture years, and eight of whom are now living.

Samuel R., Joseph, and Mrs. Esther Starkey, of

• Hopewell, Muskingum county, Ohio, Mrs. Mary
Colvin of Indianapolis, Mrs. Margaret Landes of

Streator, 111., Mrs. DeWoolf of Franklin county,

Mrs. Dr. Spencer of Newark, Ohio, and Solomon
S., of Bloomington, 111. Samuel R. Porter, the

subject of this sketch, spent his early life on his

father’s farm in Hopewell township and attended
school at very irregular intervals, most of his study-

ing was done while at work, and he thus received

a very good practical education. When nineteen

years of age he began teaching school and con-

tinued to teach for about fifteen years, both in

Muskingum and Licking counties. On October 2,

1858, he was examined as a candidate, both for

deacon’s and elder’s orders, was ordamed on the

following day, was then admitted into the annual
conference of the Methodist church, and stationed

in Portsmouth, Ohio. He has filled a number of

appointments and still loves to preach, which he
often does when his health will permit. In 1844 he
purchased his first piece of land, being a lot of

fifty acres, but instead of moving to it he sold it

and bought and removed to a farm in Licking
county. He bought and sold not less than ten
separate pieces of land before purchasing the home
on which he now resides, a part of which was
bought in 1868, and the remainder in 1872. The
farm consists of about 220 acres, with 175 acres

under cultivation, about 100 acres of which is

underlaid with a fine vein of coal which in places
is six feet in thickness. Mr. Porter’s son operates

the mine. The coal is mostly used in the vicinity,

there being no railroad near. Mr. Porter has been
three times married, first to Miss Sarah Griffith,

June 6, 1844, a daughter of Daniel and Sarah
Griffith, natives of Maryland; Mrs. Porter died in

1848, leaving one daughter, now Mrs. Edith Bell,

living in Licking county. In 1852 Mr. Porter mar-
ried Miss Emily M. Griffith, a sister of his former
wife, who died in 1857, leaving two children, Ella
and Charles Fremont, both living in Hopewell
township. On December 29, 1875, Mr. Porter
married Miss Rachel Henry, daughter of William
and Eunice (Carpenter) Henry, a distant relative

of Patrick Henry. To this union were born three
children, Jennie Florence, Emma Delia and one
who died in infancy. He is always interested in

educational matters. In politics he was an old
line whig, but is now a republican. He has great
veneration for the Scriptures, which he reads and
studies by day and by night and talks of first and
last, in public and’ private circles they are always
uppermost with him.

J. S. Prettyman is the senior member of the
firm of Prettyman & Bush, of Dresden, Ohio, who

are engaged in the manufacture of woolen goods
and are doing an exceedingly prosperous business.

He was born in the present county of Noble (then

Monroe), Ohio, April 7, 1846, being a son of L.

A. and Mary (Shankland) Prettyman; the former
of whom was born in Delaware in 1817 and died

in Noble county, Ohio, in 1883. He was an honest
“son of the soil

’
’ and was one of the substantial and

progressive residents of the section in which he re-

sided. His widow was born in Ohio in 1826, and at

the present time makes her home in Dresden. J. S.

Prettyman is their only child and on his father’s

farm in Noble county he was brought up to a knowl-
edge of agriculture. He was an attendant of the com-
mon schools near his home in boyhood, and in 1867
began life for himself as a clerk in a store, contin-

uing until 1870. He then went to WT

est Virginia,

and in connection with a Mr. Penn opened a mer-
cantile establishment in that state, under the firm

name of Penn & Prettyman. He remained at

Cameron, W. Va.
,

for two years, at the end of

which time he returned to Noble county, Ohio,

and still continued the mercantile business, pur-

chasing his partner’s interest in 1876, after which
he conducted affairs on his own responsibility un-
til 1883. In November, 1887, he moved to Cald-
well, Ohio, and in January, 1888, began the man-
ufacture of woolen goods, but the destruction of

the mill by fire, January 12, 1889, put an end to

the business for some time. On February 2 he
went East to purchase new machinery for the mill

at Dresden, after having contracted to locate here
on the first of that month. The mill was put in

operation, April 15, 1889, and has been in active

operation ever since. It is well managed and the
product which is turned out has become well

known for its excellence. Politically Mr. Pretty-

man is a stanch republican and socially is a mem-
ber of the I. O. O. F. He belongs to the G. A.

R., having served in Company C, One Hundred
and Sixty-first Volunteer infantry in the 100
days’ service. He is a member of the Methodist
Episcopal church. He has been married twice,

first, November 14, 1872, to Miss M. A. Penn,
who died April 29, 1881, leaving two children:

Frank L. and W. P. (who has since died). His
second marriage was celebrated in 1885, Miss E.

E. Philpot, of Cedar Falls, Iowa, becoming his

wife.

Mrs. Jane Pringle, relict of Dr. G. W. Pringle,

was born in Rich Hill township, this county, and is

a lady of more than ordinary culture and intelli-

gence. Dr. Pringle was also a native of Muskin-
gum county, and was a prominent physician in the

same until his death. His Grandfather Pringle,

was born in London, England, but when a young
man went to Ireland and was married there to

Miss Elizabeth Whitside. After the first child
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was born they crossed the ocean to America, and
here the remainder of their children were born:

John, William, Henry, Nancy, Sally and Betsy.

Henry Pringle was the Doctor’s father, and his

birth occurred on tne 13th of June, 1770. He died

of consumption on the 1st of November, 1823,

aged fifty-three years. A strict member of the

Baptist church, he was the first to establish the

same in Muskingum county. He married Miss
Mary Trumbo, who was born June 4, 1770, and
who died January 10, 1856, when eighty-six years

of age. Her grandfather came with a French colony

and settled in Hudson bay when George Trumbo,
her father, was quite small. From there he moved
to Richmond, Ya., and there George grew to man-
hood, married a German girl, Miss Margaret Oatts,

and became the father of thirteen children—ten

sons and three daughters, Mary, wife of Henry
Pringle, being the eldest of this family. To Henry
Pringle and wife were born ten children: Peggy,
Elizabeth, Mary, William, Melenda, Penina, Jede-

dah and Adaiah (twins), George W. and John, all

deceased. Dr. George W. Pringle’s first wife was
Miss Margaret Wilson, and their nuptials were
celebrated September 7, 1843. She was born July

13, 1823, and was the daughter of Samuel and
Margaret (Espy) Wilson. Samuel Wilson was the

son of William Wilson and was one of nine chil-

dren. To his marriage were born ten children:

William, Thomas, Mary, John, James, Samuel,
Robert, Benjamin, Ann and Margaret. Samuel
Wilson’s second marriage was to Miss Hettie Higby
and nine children were born to them: Margaret,

Elizabeth, Hettie, Mary A., Louisa, Samuel, Jo-

seph, Obediah and Narcissa. To Dr. Pringle’s first

union were born six children: Henry C., Mary T.

,

Hettie H., Samuel W.
,
William W. and Margaret

L. Margaret, Henry and William are deceased.

Henry was a minister in the Presbyterian church,

and in 1872 he married Miss Ella Clark, who bore

him two children. He died in 1885. Mary mar-
ried George L. Holliday, September 7, 1870, and
now resides in Pittsburg. Hettie was married on
the 22d of January, 1870, to Rev. McConkey, of

Grove City. Samuel is a minister of the Presby-

terian church at Mount Pleasant, Jefferson county,

Ohio. William, a prominent M.D., died in 1881,

and Margaret married W. R. Hutchinson, on the

22d of January, 1887, and died in Broken Bow,
Neb., in 1891. Dr. Pringle’s first wife died in

1870, and the Doctor received his final summons
six years later. On the 15th of January, 1872, he
married Miss Jane Cooper, a native of Rich Hill

township, born in 1823, and the daughter of Will-

iam and Priscilla (Drennan) Cooper, natives of Al-

legheny county, Penn. William Cooper was the son
of John Cooper, and he was married in his native

county to Miss Drennan, a daughter of Thomas

and Isabel (Moore) Drennan. Mrs. Pringle’s father

and mother were born in the year 1793, and they
were married in 1817. In 1818 they moved to

Ohio, settled on a farm in Rich Hill township, where
they reared the following children: John, died

when twenty-six years of age; James, died when
thirty-six years of age. The remainder are living:

Thomas D., Jane F., Violet P., James, Martha D.,

Clarissa and Sarah D. Violet is Mrs. Thompson
Patterson, of Guernsey county. Martha is Mrs.
John Morehead. Clarissa is Mrs. George Miller.

Sarah D. married Moses L. Cherry, of Georgia.

Mrs. Pringle received her education in the district

schools and later became one of the prominent
teachers of the county, teaching for six years in

Dresden. She has ever taken an interest in the

educational affairs of the county as well as all

other enterprises of a worthy nature, and has been
a church member since nineteen years of age, hold-

ing membership in the Presbyterian church at the

present time. Her husband was also a member of

that church.

Thomas D. Cooper, retired farmer, residing at

New Concord, Ohio, was born in Rich Hill town-

ship, Muskingum county, Ohio, on May 27,

1821, and is one of the esteemed citizens of that

county. He is a son of Judge William and
Priscilla (Drennan) Cooper, the former a native of

Westmoreland county, Penn., born in 1792, and
the son of John Cooper who was of German
descent. Judge William Cooper was reared in his

native county and received a liberal education for

that early day. He was married in his native

state and came to this county, where he located

and resided fifty years, on the same f-arm. His
death occurred in January, 1867. He represented

Muskingum county in the legislature in 1832-33

and for twenty -one years was justice of the peace

for Rich Hall township. For six years he was also

probate judge of Muskingum county. He was a

prominent man in politics, and cast his vote with

the democratic party. His marriage resulted in

the birth of eight children: John L., who died in

1845; Thomas D., (subject); Jane, wife of the late

Dr. G. W. Pringle; Violet P., wife of Thompson
Patterson of Guernsey county; Martha married

John Morehead; Clarissa, is Mrs. George Miller,

and Sarah D., married Moses L. Cherry of Rome,
Ga. The mother of these children died about

1855. Thomas D. Cooper spent his early life on
a farm in Rich Hill township and made his home
with his father until after the Civil war. He suj>

plemented a district school education by a term at

Muskingum college. In the fall of 1863 he

enlisted in Company A, One Hundred and Twenty-
Second Ohio Volunteer infantry, under Col. Ball of

Zanesville, and saw thirty-two months’ service.

One of the principal battles in which he engaged
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was the Wilderness, where he received a gun shot

wound in the leg below the knee, and was on

detached duty the rest of the time. He. saw much
hard service, and since the war has been obliged to

abandon farming on account of his wound which

troubles him a great deal. He receives a pension.

Returning home after the war he married Mi-s.

Mary E. Yan Pelt of Washington city, born about

1829, and the daughter of James Moore, who
resided near Zanesville. He followed farming up
to 1873, and since then he has been a resident of

the different towns of the county. He is a demo-
crat and is interested in politics. He and Mrs.

Cooper are members of the Presbyterian church of

Zanesville, and are classed among the best citizens

of the county.

Alexander Prior, Nashport, Ohio. Among the

very early settlers of Muskingum county, Ohio,

came Timothy Prior, who was a native of Green
county, Penn., born January 8, 1761, and of Welsh
descent. He was married November 5, 1782, to

Miss Barbara Harter, who was born March 17,

1759, and who was of German descent, and the

fruits of this union were seven children: John,

George, Frederick, Joseph, Catharine, Barbara and
Mary. Mr. Prior was one of the pioneer settlers

and experienced all the privations incident to

early settlers. The family brought their goods on
horseback and some members of the family walked,

driving hogs, horses and cattle through the snow
in the winter of 1799. They settled on the Mus-
kingum river, Muskingum county, near Ellis sta-

tion on the C. & M. Y. R. R.
,
on land now owned

by heirs of Elias Ellis, and at a time when there

were very few settlers, the Blounts, Bainters and
Spurgeons being their neighbors. The entire

county was a wilderness, and wild animals of all

kinds abounded. Mr. Prior built a log cabin

with a pole roof, covered with clapboards split

split from logs, and the floor was of split logs

called “puncheon.” The windows were sometimes
covered with a kind of greased paper when the

frontiersman was fortunate enough to have paper.

Mr. Prior, assisted by his sons, cleared a piece of

land and went to farming. Here he passed the

remainder of his days. He died about 1802. He was
a member of the Baptist church, and in politics

was strictly democratic. He received a letter of

dismission from the Church of Christ of that

county, which states that “Inasmuch as our es-

teemed brother, Timothy Pryor, is in Providence
about removing to some distant parts, desires a

letter of dismission from us. This is to certify

that he is a member in full communion with us,”

etc. This letter is dated May 24, 1800, and signed
“Thomas Wright, elk.” Letters of administra-

tion on the estate of Timothy Pryor were granted
to Isaac Prior, of Newtown, Washington county,

Ohio, by the court of common pleas and probate, on
December 23, 1803. Some time after his death

the family moved to the farm now occupied by
Charles Riley, in Muskingum townskfp. The land

was entered by Barbara Prior in 1813. George
Prior, son of Timothy and the father of our subject,

was born December 23, 1785. The other children

were born as follows: John, October 21, 1783;
Frederick, born October 19, 1787; Catharine, born
May 15, 1794; Joseph, October 17, 1796; Mary,
born September 4, 1799, and Barbara, born Febru-
ary 8, 1803. George Prior had little education,

could read and write, but he was a natural mathe-
matician and could solve the most intricate prob-

lems mentally. He was a noted hunter, killed

many a deer, and had many encounters with black

bear, with which the country abounded. He was
an excellent marksman. He married Miss Rachel
Wood of a Yirginia family, and a native of Pendle-

ton county. She was of English descent. Mr.
and Mrs. George Prior’s marriage resulted in the

birth of five children: Isaac W., William H.

,

George W., Alexander and Louisa. Shortly after

his marriage Mr. Prior settled on the farm now
occupied by his grandson, Lewis C.

,
and there he

resided the remainder of his days, his death occur-

ring at the age of seventy-eight years. In politics

he was a stanch democrat. He was trustee of the

Baptist church, in which he and wife both held

membership. He accumulated considerable prop-

erty and left at his death 300 acres. His son,

Alexander Prior, subject of this memoir, was born
January 3, 1821, and on account of being obliged

to assist on the farm as soon as large enough,
received but a limited education. On November
22, 1842, he married Miss Elizabeth Cole, daugh-
ter of Samuel and Rachel (Welsh) Cole. Mr. Cole
was originally from Pennsylvania, was an old

pioneer, and the father of nineteen children, all of

whom lived, and seventeen of whom grew to ma-
turity and married: James, Moses, Aaron, Mar-
garet, George, Nancy, Jane, Rachel, Andrew,
Sarah, Elizabeth, Mary A., Harmon, Benjamin,
John, Hannah and Jemima. Samuel Cole lived to

be seventy-five years of age and died on his farm
in Muskingum county. He left a fine estate. He
was a member of the Presbyterian church. Mr.
and Mrs. Alexander Prior settled on part of the

home place and there resided until 1887. He in-

herited 120 acres, to which he added from time to

time until he owned 368 acres, and he now resides

on a part of this. His marriage was blessed by
the birth of five children: Rachel, George W.,
Lewis C.

,
Allen and Howard. Mr. Prior lost his

wife on May 16, 1854, and September 14, 1881,

he married Miss Ruth M. Simpson, daughter of

George aud Ruth (Wood) Simpson. Mr. Simpson
came from Bucks county, Penn., in 1817, and set-
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tied on a farm south of Gratiot, this county. He
died in Illinois, in 1869, at the age of seventy-

three. He was a comfortable farmer, and a mem-
bqj1 of the Baptist church. Mr. Prior was trustee

in that church for many years, and was also town-
ship trustee for one year. He has passed a quiet,

uneventful life, and has ever attended strictly to

his own business. He is now seventy-one years of

age, and is an excellent example of the successful

and enterprising farmer.

James F. Pryor, Frazeysburg, Ohio, is a

native of the Buckeye state, born in Muskingum
county, December 6, 1816, and is one of the

county’s most respected and esteemed citizens. He
received but a limited education in the pioneer

schools, but by his own efforts gained some knowl-
edge of the arithmetic while teaming and hauling
saw logs. On March 16, 1843, he wedded Miss
Mary E. Dove, daughter of Isaac and Nancy Dove,
the father being a native of Maryland and a pio-

neer settler of Jackson township. The latter was
in comfortable circumstances, was a man of good
character, and lived to be quite aged. His chil-

dren were named as follows: Caroline, William,
Richard, Isaiah, Benjamin, Isaac, Anna and
Martha. To Mr. and Mrs. James F. Pryor were
born the following children: Frederick, Isaac,

John, Mary, Tobitha, Sarah, Samuel and Archi-

bald. Mrs. Pryor died March 8, 1863, and Mr.
Pryor afterward married Miss Catherine Haselop,
February 25, 1864, and the fruits of this union
were these children: Andrew J.

,
George W.

,
Alice

B.
,
Frank, and Thomas N. After his first mar-

rige Mr. Pryor settled on a small farm, continued
teaming, and subsequently bought a half interest

in a saw and gristmill near where the bridge crosses

the Wakatomaka, and he conducted this mill until

1889, when he was taken sick. Since that time he
has been an invalid. In politics he affiliates with
the democratic party. He has held a number of

local offices, township trustee for twelve years and
township treasurer two years, and is one of the

county’s honorable, upright citizens. Trustworthy
and reliable in his dealings he won the confidence

of the people, and for many years had a flourishing

business. Mfs. Pryor’s grandfather, Elijah Hase-
lop was a Virginian but came to Ohio at an early

day and settled on what was known as ‘
‘ School

lots,” in Muskingum county. He became a pros-

perous and substantial farmer. His wife, whose
maiden name was Ella E. Lash, was also a native

of the Old Dominion. Their union resulted in the

birth of twelve children: Thomas M., Washing-
ton, William, Mary, Ellen, John, Ann, Turner,

Emily, Marshal], Bush, and one who died when a

young man. Mr. Haselop died in Muskingum
county when quite aged. His eldest son, Thomas
M.

,
was also a native of Virginia, and was a good-

sized boy when he came with his parents to Mus-
kingum county. He was a farmer by occupation

and married Miss Mary Lash, daughter of Peter

Lash, who was a native of Germany. To them were
born the following children: Sarah, Jane, Cath-
erine (wife of subject), Elizabeth, Hilda, Eliza G.,

Ruth, John W., Thomas, Martha and Alice.

Thomas M. Haselop resided for some time in this

county and then moved to Indiana whither his

father had gone. Both he and Mrs. Haselop were
members of the Missionary Baptist church and he
was a deacon in the same. He was one of the

county’s best citizens and was universally respect-

ed. James F. Pryor’s grandfather, Timothy Pryor,

was originally from Pennsylvania, but came to

Ohio and settled on the Muskingum river, near

Simms’ creek, in what is now Muskingum town-
ship, about 1798-99. [See sketch of Alexander

Prior.] He was married and brought his family

with him. The children now remembered by our
subject are: Joseph, John, George, Frederick,

Barbara, Mary and Catherine. When Mr. Pryor
settled in this township it was a wilderness and
swarmed with wild animals and Indians. He had
little trouble to provide food for his family, game
being so abundant, and by hard work and industry

he soon had a comfortable little home in the forest.

He died before any of his children were married,

and his widow married again. She was of Ger-

man descent. Frederick Pryor, son of Timothy,

and father of our subject, was also born in the

Keystone state and was eleven years of age when
he came to the Ohio wilderness. Although he
received but little education, he succeeded in learn-

ing to read newspapers and books by his own ef-

forts and was a well-posted man on all the current

topics of the day. He was a hunter and pioneer

and wore his hunting shirt until he was an old

man. . It was formerly made of buckskin but later

of woolen goods, fringed around the bottom and
fitted to the waist with a belt. He killed a great

deal of game and was well known as a splendid

marksman. He married Miss Tobitha Wilkins,

daughter of Thomas Wilkins, and to them were
born thirteen children: Thomas, Timothy, Levi,

James, Samuel, William, David, Daniel (died when
a young man), Margaret and Mary, are those who
lived to be grown. Mr. Pryor settled on a farm in

Muskingum township, but later moved to Jefferson

township (now Cass), and there resided until his

death, in 1862, when seventy-four years of age.

He was a successful farmer and owned 360 acres

of land. In politics he was a democrat. He was
well and favorably known among the old settlers

and was an industrious, practical farmer.

Hon. L. Rambo is engaged in the manufacture

of woolen goods under the firm name of L. Rambo
& Co., in the details of which oalling he is well
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versed, owing to long experience in the business.

He is a native of Knox county, Ohio, where he
first saw the light of day on August 6, 1821, but
his parents, William and Grace (Levering) Rambo,
were Pennsylvanians who removed to Knox
county in 1812, the death of the former occurring

in 1854 and that of the latter in 1853. Hon. L.

Rambo assisted his father on the home farm until

he attained his fifteenth year, then engaged in

wool carding and in 1845 in the manufacture of

woolen goods at Rocky fork on Licking river. In
1848 his establishment was unfortunately burned,
but he afterward located near Newark and started

a woolen mill, but since 1852 has conducted a like

establishment at Dresden, the product of which is

all that could be desired. In addition to success-

fully managing his mill much of his attention is

also given to agriculture, in which he is equally
prosperous. He owns 526 acres of land in the

Muskingum valley, the entire tract being exceed-
ingly fertile and valuable. He is a shrewd and
practical man of business, is wide awake to his

own interests, but has never been known to wrong
others. He was first a whig in politics, then be-

came a republican and still affiliates with that

party, by which he was elected in 1875 to the gen-
eral assembly, by a majority of fifty- one votes

while the county went democratic 400 votes. He
served one term with distinguished ability, during
which time he was true to his convictions and to

the interests of the section which he represented.

He is one of the foremost men of the county and
has carved out his own career, his success being
due to his own persistence and native tact and
business ability. For six years he was a member
of the Dresden school board. In 1843 Sarah A.

Walker became his wife, she being a daughter of

John Walker who settled in Knox county in 1808.

To their union three children have been born: E.

J., of Findlay, Ohio; A. E. , of Dresden, and El-

mira.

Solomon Rees (deceased) Zanesville, Ohio, whose
death occurred on October 8, 1887, was one of the

prominent citizens of the county and a man uni-

versally respected. He was a native-born resident

of Muskingum county, his birth occurring August
6, 1825, and was the youngest of ten children born
to the marriage of Jacob and Elizabeth (Baumgard-
ner) Rees, both of whom were of German descent.

The father was a native of Maryland and emigrated
to Perry county, Ohio, in 1800. There he resided

fora few years and then moved to Muskingum
county, near Zanesville, where lie purchased 600 or

700 acres of land. There his death occurred on
September 22, 1863, when eighty-six years of age.

His wife had died on October 16, 1853, at the age
of Beventy-four. Their sou, Solomon, began assist-

ing on the farm at an early age and although he
32

received but an ordinary education in the public

schools, he was ever a great reader, a close student

and was thoroughly posted on all subjects. At the

age of twenty-one he began farming for himself,

taking a share of the crops in compensation for the

use of the land, and being economical, soon accu-

mulated considerable means. On November 23,

1842 he was united in marriage to Miss Anna M.
Wahl, who was fourth in a family of six children

born to Christian and Magdalene (Wentz) Wahl,
the parents natives of Germany. The father was
born in 1788 and the mother in 1791, both in Wur-
temberg. About 1820 Mr. Wahl with his family

emigrated to America and experienced great trouble

and danger in inaking the voyage. There was a

conspiracy on the part of the captain and crew to

murder the passengers for their money, poison

being mixed with their food. This was discovered

by Mr. Wahl and the lives of hundreds of passen-

gers saved. The vessel was wrecked and deserted

by the captain. The passengers were picked up
by a passing vessel and landed in America. Mr.
and Mrs. Wahl, made their way to Zanesville,

thence to Somerset, and finally settled in Rich-

ville where the father died April 3, 1833, at the

age of forty-four. He was a soldier in the French
army for ten years and served as captain. Mrs.

Wahl died in her eighty-second year. Mrs. Rees
was born October 6, 1828, and is still living and
enjoying comparatively good health. At the age
of nineteen Mr. Rees was united with the Evan-
gelical church and remained with that until its dis-

solution, when, with his wife, he transferred his

connection to the First Presbyterian church on
October 6, 1860. The following year he was
elected to the position of ruling elder and contin-

ued in the faithful performance of the duties of

that office up to the time of his death. He
was a man of excellent judgment and good sound
sense and his advice was sought by all who knew
him. In his death the children lost a loving

father and the mother a kind and devoted husband.
His death left a void that can not be filled, fore-

most in all good enterprises and was ever ready to

assist the poor and needy. Mrs. Rees still resides

on the old homestead which consists of 200 acres

of well improved farming land. On this farm
there has been found several good veins of bitu-

minous coal. To Mr. and Mrs. Rees were born the
following children, six now living: Amanda (de-

ceased), L. A., Henry C. ,
W. T., Ellen R.

,
A. M.

,

Edwin A. (died in infancy), Charles C. (died in in-

fancy), Fred. W. and Fannie. Mr. Rees was a

republican in every sense of the term. He was a
member of the S. of T. and was judge of election.

A. C. Richards, freight agent for the B. <fc. O.

R. R. at Zanesville, Ohio, is a native of New Jer-

sey, born in Waterford, January 27, 1861. His

*
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parents, T. J. and N. J. (Gould) Richards, were
natives of New Jersey and Pennsylvania respect

ively. The father was a graduate of Duff’s col-

lege of book-keeping and for several years after-

ward he acted as book-keeper and school teacher.

He was by trade, however, a window-glass blower,

and as that was much more remunerative than book-
keeping or teaching school, he followed it the prin-

cipal part of his life. He died on the 20th of Jan-
uary, 1880, in Zanesville, Ohio. His widow who
now resides in Zanesville and is sixty years of age,

was the daughter of John B. Gould, a native of

New Hampshire. The paternal grandfather of our
subject, William Richards, died in Van Wert coun-
ty, Ohio, when seventy-seven years of age. A. C.

Richards was the eldest of three living children,

the others being, Frank, who resides in Washing-
ton county, Penn., and William, who resides

in Quincy, Mass. A. C. Richards graduated
from the high shocol of Zanesville in the
class of 1880. having come to that city with his

parents when five years of age, and after graduat-
ing went to Washington county, Penn., where
he taught school two years. Returning to Zanes-
ville with the intention of entering the medi-
cal profession, he began reading medicine with
Dr. T. J. Barton, with whom he remained about
six months. Then, on account of sickness in his

family, Mr. Richards was compelled to discontinue

reading medicine. Shortly afterward he com-
menced working for the B. & O. R. R. at Zanes-
ville. He commenced as a common laborer on the

platform, handling freight, in 1884, and he was
subsequently promoted to the position of bill clerk,

assistant cashier, chief clerk of the office and then
to his present position. He began at the bottom
round of the ladder and has worked his way up to

his present lucrative position. On July 3, 1890,

he was united in marriage to Miss Kate Wilkins,

a native of Zanesville, and a daughter of C. A.

AVilkins. Mrs. Richards is a cultured, refined lady,

and is a graduate of the same class with her hus-

band. After finishing her education she taught
school for two years at Fultonham, Muskingum
county, and five years in Zanesville. Mr. Rich-
ards is an enthusiastic Mason, a member of Amity
lodge No. 5, and has taken all the degrees in the

Ancient York rite up to and including that of

Knight Templar, Zanesville chapter No. 9, R. A.

M.
,
and Cyren commandery No. 10, K. T. He

is also a member of Phoenix lodge No. 388, K. of

P. Politically he is a republican.

Rev. Franklin Richards was born in the little

village of New Middleton, then in Columbiana
county, Ohio, but now in Mahoning county, on
April 21, 1840. He was the eighth child aud sixth

son of Edward and Mary Richards. Edward
Richards, the father, was a native of Baltimore

county, Md. He belonged to one of the oldest

families of that commonwealth and was fifteen

years of age when the War of 18.12 broke out. He
enlisted as a private in the company of Captain
Metzgar, and was one of the defenders of the city

of Baltimore when the British forces attempted its

capture. He was married to Miss Mary Morning-
star, or Morgenstern, on November 2, 1820. She
belonged to a family of the early settlers of York
county, Penn., who had come from the Palatinate.

After marriage they resided in the southern part

of York county, not far from the line dividing the

state of Pennsylvania and Maryland. About the

year 1835, with a family of six children they re-

moved to what was then the wilderness of the AVest.

They determined to settle in Ohio and their desti-

nation was Starke county. They journeyed in

wagons, and it took from six weeks to two months,
camping by the way at times. When they reached
New Middleton they were induced to stop and
settle there by numerous friends who had preceded
them to the AVest. Shortly after the birth of Frank-
lin Richards, the family removed to the town of

New Lisbon, the county seat. At that time this

town was the most important one in eastern Ohio,

the facilities for travel according to the customs of

the day were good and New Lisbon was quite a

center of influence. From this place went forth

many who have added luster to their native town
and state, and here the childhood and early youth
of the subject of this sketch was spent. The
schools were unusually good, and when the com-
mon-school law went into effect the graded system
of New Lisbon took a high rank. Here the foun-

dations of his education were laid. He applied

himself to study and before he was fifteen years of

age had passed through all the grades then taught,

and in addition to this he took up privately the

study of Latin and Greek. On July 6, 1849, the

father died of Asiatic cholera. The disease had
been epidemic that year and accompanied with

great mortality. Mr. Richards had paid a visit to

Pittsburg for the pufpose of purchasing goods,

being engaged in the saddlery and harness business.

Either in going or coming he contracted the disease

which ran its course in three days, with fatal effect.

His death caused the most intense excitement in the

town, but with the exception of the wife and one

other member of the family, the disease did not

spread. At the tender age of nine years Franklin

was left fatherless. The other members of the

family with the exception of two sisters scattered

to different points of the country and the little

circle of the former large family was broken and
Franklin was the only son left at the old home-
stead. The affection of the widowed mother was
so centered upon her children that he owes every-

thing he has attained in this life to her pious,
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godly counsel and kind maternal care. At the age

of fifteen Franklin left his childhood’s home and
went to Pittsburg, Penn., for the purpose of learn-

ing the printing business. He entered the office

of a weekly paper called the ‘‘Missionary” as an
apprentice and began his new life with zeal and
earnestness and became a reasonably rapid com-
positor. Later he worked for the “Daily Post”
and “Daily Gazette.” It was while engaged in

this employment that he was catechised and con-

firmed as a member of the First English Evan-
gelical Lutheran church of that city under the

pastoral care of Rev. C. P. Krauth. In the fall of

1858 the eager desire to obtain a higher education

was gratified, and he was enabled to enter the

Connoquenessing academy, located in the little

village of Zelienople, Butler county, Penn., about
twenty-eight miles from Pittsburg. In two years

he completed the prescribed course of study and
was prepared to enter the freshman class at college.

In the fall of 1860 he entered Pennsylvania college

at Gettysburg,. Adams county, Penn., then an

obscure town but little known, but now celebrated

as one of the most noted battle fields in the late

Civil war, and as the turning point of that

great struggle. Here while engaged in study the

war broke out and April 19, 1861, Adams county,

Penn.
,
was the scene of the most intense excite-

ment. The rumor was that a lieutenant from the

United States barracks, at Carlisle, had deserted

and that he had been captured a short distance

from Gettysburg and that a body of men from
Baltimore was coming to his rescue. The people
expected an assault upon the town. Guards were
hastily armed and all the roads leading to the town
were picketed. Here at that time the first ex-

perience of standing guard was realized, as upon
that night Franklin Richards and a small number
of students stood sentry on the Fairfield road.

All through his college course Gettysburg and
the vicinity was subject to alarms of the warring
elements. It was not however until the spring of

1863 that the college was materially affected, and
when the invasion of Pennsylvania was threatened

the students enlisted and were mustered into the

United States service for the emergency, Frank-
lin Richards enlisted as a member of Company A,

Twenty-sixth Pennsylvania regiment which was
mustered into service in the latter part of May,
1863, and was returned to Gettysburg with orders

to march to Cashtown and hold the mountain pass
on the pike between Chambersburg and Gettys-

burg. This regiment, on June 26. 1863, marched
out to obey orders and had not gone more than
four miles when the advance guard of Gen. Early’s

corps was met. This regiment was the first to

meet and contend with the rebels upon northern
soil. After Gen. Lee had crossed the Potomac and

the dangers of further invasion had passed, the

regiment was discharged and in the fall of that

year Franklin Richards resumed his college duties.

In March, 1864, he entered the service of the

United States Christian commission and was sent

to Nashville, Tenn. From there he was sent to

Knoxville, where the first diet kitchens were
opened. He was also at Chattanooga, and Hunts-
ville, Ala. In May he returned to college to com-
plete his course and as soon as the final examina-

tions were passed he was again commissioned by
the United States Christian commission and sent

to the Army of the Potomac then in front of Peters-

burg, Ya. For six weeks he was in the general

hospital near the headquarters of Gen. Grant, and
returned to Gettysburg in time to take part in

the commencement exercises and receive his

diploma. Chambersburg, Penn., had been burned
and fears were entertained that Gettysburg would
again be raided. This interfered somewhat with

the commencement though it was regularly held.

He received the degree of A. B., and in 1867 the

degree of A. M. was confirmed. After completing
his college course he entered the first class of the

new theological seminary of the Evangelical

Lutheran church just opened at Philadelphia,

Penn., and in the second year of his theological

course he was called to take charge of the business

management of the “Lutheran and Missionary”
the chief and only English paper of the general

council. He at the same time continued his theo-

logical studies and graduated with the first class in

June, 1867. In the same month of that year he
was ordained to the Gospel ministry by the rninis-

teriumof Pennsylvania of the Evangelical Lutheran
church at Lebanon, Penn. He resigned his position

on the paper desiring to give his whole time and
attention to the profession for which he had quali-

fied himself.

In July, 1867, as he was on his way to visit Wis-
consin, an appointment was made to preach to a

little handful of Lutherans in the city of Chicago.

It resulted in his being called as pastor. This
was the first and only English Lutheran organiza-

tion in that city. The work of ingathering was
commenced. Without a settled membership, with-

out a church building, with no means at hand for

the great undertaking, the active ministry of the

young pastor was begun. By the kindness of

Rev. W. A. Passavant, of Pittsburg, Penn., the

parlors of the little hospital near the corner of

Dearborn avenue anti Ontario street, were opened for

services. Permission was granted to put up a

building for church purposes, on the corner of

Dearborn avenue and Ontario street, as it was
of primary importance to have a church building,

and it was begun in the fall of 1867. By slow de-

grees, as the money could be raised, the work pro-
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grossed and at the beginning of 1871, the church,

neat and tidy, well finished and furnished was com-
pleted and almost entirely paid for, with a mem-
bership which has increased from 10 to about 150.

On October 9, 1871, occurred the great Chicago fire,

the church edifice and all the members, with the

exception of two families were entirely burned out,

the pastor sharing the same fate, losing all his li-

brary, manuscripts and household furniture. De-
spair rested upon every heart. It seemed almost im-

possible to make a second attempt to build an En-
glish Lutheran church. Undaunted by the great

calamity the pastor appealed for aid for his suffer-

ing people, and then sought the means to build up
the congregation. He visited the different por-

tions of the Lutheran church, spent the winter of

1871 and 1872, and the summer of the latter year in

soliciting subscriptions and collected between $10,-

000 and $12,000. The lot on the southwest corner

of Dearborn avenue and Erie street was purchased,

a temporary frame building bought and moved on
the lot. This building was neatly fitted up for

worship and the congregation, so scattered, began
to be drawn together. The work of ingathering

was far more difficult now than it had been in the

beginning. Conditions were all changed. Mr.
Richards continued as pastor until September 1,

1873, when he resigned to the great regret of his

many friends. The congregation is now known as

the Trinity Lutheran church, and has since been
removed to the corner of La Salle avenue and Elm
street, where a beautiful Gothic stone structure

is now owned by the congregation. On
February 10, 1869, Rev. F. Richards mar-
ried Miss Carrie L. Super, of Mansfield, Ohio.

The ceremony was performed in the First Presby-

terian church of that city, by Rev. H. W. Roth, D.

D., of Pittsburg, Penn., an intimate college friend.

This union was blessed with six children five sons

and one daughter. The first dying in Chicago,

March, 12, 1873, was buried in Mansfield, Ohio.

After resigning the congregation in Chicago, Rev.

Richards, accepted the position of assistant editor

and business manager of the “ Lutheran and Mis-

sionary/’ published in Philadelphia, Penn. He en-

tered upon those duties in October, 1873, and then

removed to that city, continuing in this position

until November, 1876. In 1872, while yet pastor

at Chicago, 111., he received a call to become pastor

of the Zanesville charge, but being engaged in the

work of collecting the scattered people together and
in soliciting funds for a church building, he could

not leave, and declined the call. ' In May, 1876,

Rev. W. P. Ruthrauff, pastor of the Zanesville

charge, died, and in September of that year anoth-

er call without a visit, was extended to the Rev.
F. Richards which he accepted. In November of

that year he moved to Zanesville, Ohio, and on the

26th day of that month entered upon the duties of

pastor. After the long vacancy on account of

the death of their former pastor, and the uncer-
tainties of the future, the field was anything but
encouraging and inspiring. The church edifice

was dilapidated and unsightly; however the work
of upbuilding was commenced. In the spring of

1878, after appropriate services, the old building
was dismantled and torn away and a new building
at once begun. The new gothic brick structure

was commenced and on the first Sunday in Advent
was solemnly dedicated. The sermon was preached
by Rev. S. Laird, of Pittsburg, Penn. The same
season in the congregation in Bush Creek town-
ship, a part of the Zanesville charge, and which
Rev. Richards also served, a new building was
erected and consecrated. Both of these church
buildings were finished without incurring any in-

debtedness, the one in Zanesville costing about
$8,000, and the one in Brush Creek, about $5, 000.

In 1881 Rev. Richards was appointed on the
board of county visitors, by Judge W. H. Ball, of

the common pleas court. He was elected presi-

dent of the board, and such efficient service was
done that a workhouse for the city and county
was determined upon by the city council and coun-
ty commissioners. When the board of directors

was appointed for the organization and erection of

a workhouse, Rev. Richards was appointed a

member by the mayor of the city, held the office of

president of the board of directors, and entered
with zeal upon these duties. At his own expense
he visited the work houses of Cleveland and Pitts-

burg and other reformatory institutions and gath-
ered the ideas which are wrought out in the build-

ing and equipments of the Zanesville workhouse.
He served for six years upon that board, and was
for three years its president and for three years its

secretary. He was also one of the founders of the
Zanesville Ministerial association, and served as

its president for several terms. He has been very

active in the organization of the Pioneer and His-

torical society of Muskingum county, Ohio, and
was appointed as one of the committee to revise

this history as prepared by the Goodspeed Pub-
lishing Company. He has also been an active

member of the Muskingum County Horticultural

society and has delivered a number of addresses,

some of which have been published in pamphlet
form. He has also been president of the Muskin-
gum County Bible society for a number of years.

He has taken an active interest in the establish-

ment of the Zanesville City hospital, delivering

the address upon the dedication and formal open-
ing of the institution. He is a member of the ad-

visory committee of the board of managers. He
was also appointed by the board of elections, a

registrar of election for the Third ward of the city,
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and for two years served in that capacity. Rev.

F. Richards enjoys the distinction at present of

being the pastor longest continued over any con-

gregation in the city of Zanesville, as every congre-

gation, English and German, Roman Catholic and
Protestant, have changed their pastors one or more
times. He has been pastor of St. John’s English
Evangelical Lutheran church longer than all his

predecessors combined. In June he celebrated

the quarto-centennial of his entrance upon the

ministry and has only had the pastorial care of

two charges during the time he has been in the

ministry, Chicago, 111., and Zanesville, Ohio. At
the present, Rev. Richards is in the prime of life

and the future promises him still more usefulness

than in the years gone by. Without seeking any
position either in the denomination of which he is

a minister, or the community of which he is a cit-

izen, yet he has fulfilled every duty that has been
imposed upon him, with conscientious fidelity.

Even by those with whom he differs in religion and
politics he has won their respect by his candor and
his being true to his own convictions. For sixteen

years he has been a resident of Zanesville and for

that length of time pastor of St.John’s English
Evangelical Lutheran church, located at the corner
of Sixth and South streets.

Among the citizens of Muskingum county,

Ohio, long and favorably identified with its prog-
ress and development, is John Richards, farmer,

Zanesville, whose biography will no doubt be read
by old and young, for there is always an instinctive

curiosity to know the truth and inner history of a

man who has had such a close association with the
affairs of this county from primitive date. He
was born in Belmont county, Ohio, May 1, 1826,
and is the son of John and Mary C. (Dunlapp)
Richards, natives respectively of Ohio and Penn-
sylvania. The father was a successful farmer, and
died in Belmont county about 1828. The mother
remained a widow and reared a family of seven
children, giving each good educational advantages.
Her death occurred in 1865. Her children were
named in the order of their births as follows:

Henry (deceased), Mary (died when young), Joseph
D. (deceased), James, William, John and Robert.
John Richards received his literary training in the
common schools of the state, principally in the log
school house of pioneer days, and at the tender age
of eleven years he commenced to fight the battle of
life for himself, as cook on a Muskingum river

steamboat. This occupation he followed for four
years after which he peddled patent medicines and
notions for a year and then engaged as a laborer
in the paper mill at Zanesville. Six or seven years
later he had worked himself up from a common or
day laborer to second manager and received a good
salary. He remained in this business about six

years longer and then embarked in the grocery

business in Zanesville, continuing the same from
1856 until 1864. In the last named year he went
to Pennsylvania and he was engaged in speculating

in oil until 1866, when he returned to Muskingum
county. He again embarked in the grocery busi-

ness but one year later sold out his interest and
moved to his present residence. He purchased a

farm of 155 acres, and here he has one of the finest

country homes to be found in this section of the

county. The house is a two-story brick, is conven-

iently arranged, and, standing on an eminence,

commands a tine view of the surrounding country.

Mr. Richards was married in 1848 to Miss Jane
Gourley of Pennsylvania, and daughter of Thomas
and Catherine Gourley, natives of the Keystone
state. Mr. and Mrs. Gourley moved to Iowa and
there died, leaving five sons and four daughters.

Mr. Richards’ union was blessed by the birth of

three children: Mary C., wife of John H. Allin,

resides in Zanesville, Frances A., was born in 1852
and died in 1884, and John H., is married and is

a farmer of Wayne township. Mr. Richards is a

member of the I. O. O. F., Muskingum lodge No.
128 and Mrs. Richards is a member of the Baptist

church of Zanesville. The family is well respected

in the county.

Lewis Richards. There are in every commu-
nity some persons who, on account of their industry

and practical management of the affairs which fall

to their lot, deserve special credit; and such is

Mr. Richards, whose successful operations as a

farmer are proverbial. He was born June 30,

1816, on Sunday creek, Athens county, Ohio, to

Jacob and Catherine (Burley) Richards, the former

of whom was a native of Maryland, a farmer by
occupation, and a participant in the War of 1812.

He inherited Dutch blood of his ancestors and
many of the worthy traits of character of that

people, among which may be mentioned thrift,

industry and honesty. There was born to Jacob
and Catherine Richards ten children : Lewis,

Edward, Burley, Lyman, Harriet, Surzeleise, Alva,

John, Clark and Eliza. He came to Muskingum
county, Ohio, in 1810, but soon after moved to

Athens county and from Athens county to the

Miami valley; after five years removed to Perry
county where he died at the age of seventy-five

years. His wife was of Irish and French lineage and
was born in Pennsylvania. She removed to Zanes-
ville, Ohio, with her parents at an early day andwas
called from life in this state at the age of eighty

years. Lewis Richards spent his early life on his

father’s farm and attended school for a few months
each year, by which means he obtained a practical

education. He came to Muskingum county in

1823, but after a very short time returned to Perry
county, where he remained until he had attained
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his majority, when he once more turned his foot-

steps toward Muskingum county. After working
by the month on the farm for one year, he con-

ducted a pottery for about the same length of time
and the three succeeding years he tilled the soil.

At the end of this time he was compelled to give up
farm life, owing to the delicate health of his wife

and resumed the pottery business, which calling

occupied his time and attention for thirteen years.

In 1N56 he purchased the farm on which he now
resides and although it has been under cultivation

for over 100 years, it is still exceedingly fertile

land. He was married February 17, 1839, to Miss
Phcebe Ann Beems who was born in Muskingum
county near the village of Mount Sterling, May 15,

1823, her parents, Frederick and Elizabeth (Par-

rott) Beems, both natives of New Jersey and of

Dutch descent. They came to Ohio in 1817 and
here the father died in the sixty-eighth year of his

age and the mother at the age of eighty-six. They
were the parents of nine children: John born
April 13, 1811, was married to Lucy Sullivan

April 26, 1830: Mary born October 26, 1813, was
married to James Turley December 12, 1831;
Eliza born March 22. 1817, died February 25,

1827; Silas born February 22, 1819, married Jane
Todd May 1, 1845; Frederick born March 20,

1829, died July 19, 1832; David born July 23,

1825, married Martha Martiu July 16, 1846;
Harriet born March 26, 1830, died December 20,

1841; William born April 3, 1833, married Mary
Ann Rutledge July 14, 1855. To Lewis and Phoebe
Ann (Beems) Richards, six children have been
born: Alva born March 16, 1841, who was surgeon of

the One Hundred and Twenty-second regiment, Ohio
Volunteers; Arthur born February 14, 1843, in 1861
enlisted in Thirty-second regiment, Ohio Volunteers
and served to the close of the war; Dexter born
April 21, 1859; Edward born April 6, 1851; Clara
born May 15, 1845; and Augustine born Septem-
ber 16, 1847 and died August 23, 1849. Mr. and
Mrs. Richards are members of the Methodist
Episcopal church of over forty years’ standing and
he has been class-leader and one of the trustees for

thirty years. He has been a member of the

republican party every since it has been iu exist-

tence.

Notwithstanding the rapid growth of the agri-

cultural affairs of the county in the last few years,

and the progressive ideas advanced, Richard Rider,

Roseville, Ohio, has kept thoroughly apace with
the times, and is considered one of the leading

farmers of his section. His father, Adam Rider,

was a native of Maryland and a descendant of Ger-
man ancestors, his mother coming from that coun-
try to this when but a child. In 1802 Adam
Rider married Miss Sarah Bond, also of Maryland,
and in 1806 they went by wagons to Muskingum

county, Ohio, the mother carrying the youngest
child, Adam Jr., in her arms while riding a horse
most of the distance. Mr. Rider located on a farm
in what was then Brush Creek, but now Clay
township, and there resided until his death, April

15, 1855, when seventy-five years of age. His
estimable wife had passed away December 7, 1849.

He served in the War of 1812. The children
born to this union are named as follows: John,
Edward, Adam, Mathias, Richard, Charles and
Ellen. Richard Rider, the subject of this memoir,
was born June 2, 1816, on the old homestead,
near Roseville, Ohio, which was then in a thick

wilderness. He remained with his father until

twenty-three years of age, and received his educa-

tion in the subscription schools of that day. On
November 15, 1835, he was married to Miss Eliza-

beth Wonu, who was born December 1, 1819, and
shortly afterward, by the kindness of his father,

received 160 acres, upon which he still resides.

But this was not then the beautifully cultivated

farm of to-day; instead, the hills were covered
with woods, on which has been expended much
hard labor. Like his father, Mr. Rider holds
membership in the Methodist Episcopal church,

with which he united in 1842, and is one of the

most worthy and able supporters of this church.

He was formerly an old line whig in his political

views, and it is hardly worth mentioning that he is

a republican and a warm supporter of his party.

Although Mr. Rider was not a soldier in the Civil

war, the family was represented by his two sons,

Adam and Frank, the latter coming out at the

close without' a scratch. Mr. and Mrs. Rider’s

union was blessed by the birth of ten children,

one dying in infancy. The others were named as

follows: Francis M. , born October 6, 1840; John
E., born March 5, 1843; Horatio A., born August
10, 1844; William E., born March 24, 1847; Ellen
E., born May 8, 1849; Sarah C.

,
born December

31, 1851; Richard H. and Robert F. , born De-
cember 22, 1855, and Margaret J. , born August
28, 1859. John, William and Sarah have passed
away. Mrs. Rider’s parents,William and Elizabeth

Wonn, came to Muskingum county, Ohio, in a

very early day (about 1800), and here she received

her education in the subscription schools. She
united with the Methodist Episcopal church when
but seventeen years of age, and has ever been
happy in her belief. She is of German and Irish

descent.

Francis M. Rider, commissioner of Muskingum
county, Ohio, and a representative citizen of this

section of the country, is a member of one of the

pioneer families of the county, and was born on
October 6, 1840. He is a son of Richard and
Elizabeth (Wonn) Rider, who were born in this

county in 1816 and 1818, respectively. The pa-
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ternal grandfather of the subject of this sketch was
Adam Rider, a native of Maryland, who came
directly from that state to Ohio in the early days

of the present century. Francis M. Rider ob-

tained a thorough knowledge of farming in his

youthful days, but also succeeded in obtaining a

common-school education, which he has since put
to a practical use. When the war of the Rebellion

opened, personal considerations were cast aside and
he at once enlisted in defense of the ‘

‘ stars and
stripes,” becoming a member of Company G,
Thirty-second Ohio Volunteer infantry, and for

four long years he fought in defense of his coun-

try and for the downfall of the “stars and bars.”

He was honorably discharged in 1865, and upon
his return home he engaged in farming, which has

been his life occupation, and for which he seems
admirably adapted. He is the owner of a fine

tract of land, containing 321 acres, situated in

Clay and Newton townships, which farm is well

managed and yields a paying annual income. Mr.
Rider is a republican of many years’ standing, and
has held the positions of trustee and assessor in

the township of his nativity, and since 1888 has
held the office of county commissioner, being hon-
ored with a renomination August 22, 1891, and
elected at the following election by a substantial

majority. He is an ideal public official, and is,

without doubt, one of the ablest commissioners the

county has ever had. He is faithful to every

trust, is very energetic, and his efforts in improving
the county have been thoroughly appreciated. He
is a member of Axline post No. 290, of the G. A. R.

;

Zanesville lodge No. 114 of the I. and P. Order of

Elks; and Cannel lodge No. 437, of the K. of P.

Miss Melia Maddox, of this county, became his

wife in 1870.

Joseph Riley, farmer, Frazeysburg, Ohio. Among
the prominent pioneer families of Muskingum
county, Ohio, the Rileys take a foremost place.

Joseph Riley’s grandfather, William Riley, came
from the north of Ireland and was of Scotch-Irish

descent. He emigrated to America at a period
antedating the Revolutionary war, served as a

soldier in the struggle for independence, and was
under Mad Anthony Wayne, against the Indians.

He was married in the Old Dominion and became
the father of seven children: John, William,
Mariah, Robert, Hannah, Polly and Samuel.
When an old man he came to Muskingum county,
Jackson township, Ohio, and settled north of

Frazeysburg. He brought all his family with
him except Samuel, and lived to be quite aged.
He had been wounded when a soldier and always
felt the effect of this. He lived the life of a true
Christian and was honored and respected . His
son Samuel, father of our subject, was born
in Washington county, Penn., October 30,

1796, received but little education, and came to

Muskingum county, Ohio, in 1813. He married
Miss Anna K. McDonald, daughter of Joseph Mc-
Donald, who was originally from Ireland. After

coming to the United States the latter settled in

Muskingum county, Ohio, and was among the early

pioneers. The Catholic church now stands on
the land which was part of his farm. He was a

Presbyterian and an elder in the same for many
years. He was the prime mover in building the

old log Presbyterian church, the first in the town-

ship, and Mrs. Riley, when a girl, cooked for the

men who built the church. Mr. McDonald’s
children were Margaret, Anna K., Rev. John
(Presbyterian minister), and James. Mr. Mc-
Donald lived to be an old man and was well

respected. To Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Riley were
born nine children—George, Mariah, John, Joseph,
xYaron, Alexander, Charles, Emily and Eliza are

those who lived to grow to maturity. Mr. Riley

settled on the farm now occupied by his son Charles,

and as there was but little of the land cleared at

that time he went actively to work to make improve-

ments. He soon accumulated a handsome property

and owned at the time of his death, which occurred

on the 17th of September 1879, over 400 acres of

excellent land. He began with nothing, and all

that he accumulated was the result of his own in-

dustry and good management. In politics he was
a republican and a strong Union man during the

war, sending three of his sons to fight for their

country. Aaron enlisted in the Ninety-eighth Ohio
Volunteer infantry, served three years and was in

many battles. Charles was in an Ohio regiment.

Alexander also served three years. Mr. Riley was
a man well known and respected among the old

pioneers. His son, Joseph Riley, was born June
25, 1833, on the farm in Muskingum township, and
received an ordinary education in the district

schools. On the 8th of September, 1864, he mar-
ried Miss Frances Spencer, who was born on the

15th of July, 1842, and who was the daughter of

Wilson and Sarah (Cole) Spencer. Wilson Spencer
was the son of Foreman Spencer, who was of the

early settlers of Muskingum township [See sketch

of Joseph Spencer.] To Mr. and Mrs. Joseph
Riley were born eight children: Wilson, Sarah K.,

Odessa, Joseph E., Orie F., Rose F., Laura S. and
John T. After his union Mr. Riley settled on land

purchased from his father, and gave his entire

attention to tilling the soil. He is a prominent
man of the county and is enterprising and in-

dustrious. He has educated his children and Orie

F., after graduating from the high school in

Frazeysburg, is attending school at Ada, Ohio.

Mr. and Mrs. Riley are descendants of pioneer

stock, and are held in high esteem by all.

Henry Roberts settled in Muskingum county.
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Ohio, in 1814, but was born in Loudoun county,

Va., his father, John Roberts, being a native of

New Jersey. While a resident of his native state

Henry Roberts was married to Phcebe Johnson, and
in the year above mentioned he and his family

came to the “Buckeye state” iu wagons, driven

across the mountains. After farming on rented

land the first season, he purchased some land of a

settler, and as he was the owner of seven horses,

one of which was an exceptionally good one, he
traded it for forty bushels of corn. The land on
which he settled was his home throughout his

life, and there he and his wife reared the fol-

lowing family of children: John (deceased), who
served in the War of 1812; Elizabeth (deceased);

Lucinda (deceased); Linda (deceased); Charles

(deceased); William, Manley, Harrison and Mary
Ann, the last three named being also dead.

Mr. and Mrs. Roberts were members of the

Methodist Episcopal church, and were con-

sistent Christians, taking an active interest in

the cause and upbuilding of religion, and reared

their children in this faith, all of whom became,
as men and women, devout Christians. Mr.
Roberts died at the age of seventy-seven years, his

wife departing this life when eighty years of age.

William Roberts was born in Loudoun county, Va.,

in 1809, on the 7th of March, and was five years

of age when his parents came to Ohio, and is the

only one of their children now living. He grew
up in a manner common to the sons of pioneer

parents, and during the three or four weeks that

he was permitted to attend school throughout the

year, he acquired a rudimentary education. He
was married to Miss Nancy Potts, daughter of

Isaiah and Elizabeth Potts of Virginia, and by her

became the father of the following children : Henry
H.

,
Phoebe E ,

Mary C., Naomi I., Leroy A. , Nancy
J., William B., Amos A., Lyman C., Cordelia F.

and Cyrus M. Leroy was a member of Company
B, Seventy- eighth Ohio Volunteer infantry, and
entered the federal army during the early part of

the war. He took part in the bloody battle of

Shiloh, but was afterward taken ill from exposure,

which resulted in his death. He was also in the

battle of Fort Donelson. Mr. Roberts has been a

resident of this county ever since his first location,

with the exception of a few years spent in Morgan
county, and is now enjoying the fruits of a well

spent life. He was converted to Christianity in

his early life and has steadily pursued his way
onward and upward, and has held membership in

the Methodist Episcopal church for the past sixty -

three years. During all this time he has been
active in church work, and has taken a leading

part in worthy enterprises. In all his transactions

with his fellowmen he has been actuated by the

highest principles of manhood, and the high

esteem in which he is held by his neighbors and
friends testifies in an eloquent manner as to the
nobility of his mind and heart. In early life he
was a whig, but since the death of that party he
has supported the principles of the republican
party at all important elections.

William Robison, the father of John Robison,
Dresden, Ohio, was a Scotch-Irishman. He
was born in County Antrim, Ballyknock, Ireland,

where he learned the weaver’s trade, and when a

young man of about twenty-four, in 1814, came to

America, first settling in New Brunswick. He was
born prior to 1790, the exact date is not known.
He remained in New Brunswick seven years when
he married Miss Holden and to them was born one
child. Both mother and child died in New Bruns-
wick. While there, Mr. Robison worked in a

lumber mill and he came to the United States in

1822, settling in Philadelphia. Here he lived three

years and ran an establishment for weaving linen

and employed several hands. The old receipts for

money paid out and contracts of apprentices are

still preserved in the family. Mr. Robison mar-
ried in Philadelphia, Isabel Johnson, also of Scotch-

Irish descent, and they had three children: John,
James (died when three years of age) and Thomas
(died when ten years of age). About 1825 Mr.
Robison went to Pittsburg, where he followed

weaving and in 1828 came to Muskingum county
with Thomas Morrison. They bought together 160
acres of land of Robert George, which they divided

equally between them. A small clearing was on
the land which fell to Morrison and a hewed-log
house on Mr. Robison’s share. This land con-

stituted a part of the farm now belonging to the

subject of this sketch. Mr. Robison brought his

family and household goods in wagons and lived in

the log cabin for about twelve years and then built

a hewed-log cabin, which was afterward covered

with siding and in which his son John now lives.

There was not a stick cut on the ground when Mr.
Robison settled on it and he cut his farm out of

the heavy timber and made a good home. The
deed for his land is dated March 28, 1829, and is

from Robert George, for 77. 5 acres, the sum paid

for it being $150. The original deed is the United

States government dated October 2, 1826, to Robert

George. Mr. and Mrs. Robison were members of

the Reformed Presbyterian church, which he had
joined at Pittsburg in 1828. He was ruling elder

for nearly twenty-eight years, and assisted with his

means to build the church. He possessed a re-

markable constitution and was sick but little in his

life and attained the good old age of over one hun-

dred years. John Robison, his son, was born in

Philadelphia, October 2, 1828, and was one year old

when his father brought him to this county. He re-

ceived a common-school education, married at the
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age of twenty eight years, Catherine J. McKee,
daughter of James and Isabel (Crawford) McKee.
The father was born in County Donegal, Ireland,

and came with his father,James McKee Sr. ,to Amer-
ica. They were among the first settlers of Coshocton
county. James McKee Sr., was the father of

Thomas, George, Daniel, Catherine, Nellie, Sarah,

Patrick, Gilbert, James, Isabel and Jane. He died

at a good old age in Coshocton county. James Mc-
Kee Jr., lived to the age of seventy-one years and
was the father of nine children: Catherine J.,

James, Thomas, George, Gilbert, Sarah A., John
Robert and Isabel! Mr. McKee was a member of

the Old School Presbyterian church and an elder

for many years. John Robison, after his marriage
remained on the home farm, and by industry and
good business management has accumulated 300
acres of land. Mr. and Mrs. Robison are the

parents of six children: Sarah A. (died an in-

fant); Isabel E. was a graduate of Geneva col-

lege, Northwood, Ohio, and married Rev. H. W.
Reed of Westmoreland county, Penn., a minister of

the Reformed Presbyterian church (she died after

five years of married life, March 29, 1886, aged
twenty-nine years. She was a lady of culture and
refinement and possessed many virtues); Mary J.

died when four years of age
;
Eliza C. died an infant

;

Sarah M. (a young lady at home), and William M.
(who married Sarah R. Spencer, daughter of John
Spencer of Muskingum township). [See sketch.] In
politics Mr. Robison takes no active part, owing, as

he declares, to the State’s immoral constitition,

but he takes an active part in having good schools

and has held the office of school director for several

terms. Mr. and Mrs. Robison are members of

the Reformed Presbyterian church and he has been
an elder for twenty years. He is a practical farmer
and substantial citizen, owning besides his farm
real estate at Trinway. The son, William M.

, re-

sides on the new and commodious farm residence

on part of the home ground. Mr. Robison is

one of the representative men of this county.

Thomas Rose, Frazeysburg, Ohio. Thomas
Rose’s great grandfather, William Rose, was born
in County Tyrone, Ireland, and came to America
at a period antedating the Revolution, serving in

that war under George Washington. His wife

had died in the old country and he brought his

two children, a son and daughter, with him to

America. He landed in Baltimore and traveled

on horseback, carrying his children in the saddle
bags, to Bedford county, near Bedford springs,

and there passed the remainder of his days. He
was a Protestant in religion. His son, Thomas,,
was the grandfather of our subject and was small
enough to ride in one of the saddle bags when he
went with his father to Bedford county, Penn. He
was a tanner by trade and also followed farm-

ing to some extent. He served in the War of

1812, and was badly wounded at the battle of

Lundy’s Lane, shot in the leg and crippled for life.

He married Miss Mary Kenton, a relative of the

famous lieutenant, Simon Kenton. Mr. and Mrs.

Thomas Rose were the parents of six children

:

Henry, Allen, James, Alexander, Mary and Jane.

Mr. Rose owned two farms and was a substantial

man. He was upright and honorable and well re-

spected. His son and our subject’s father, Allen

Rose, was born in Bedford county, Penn., received

a common-school education and learned the shoe-

maker’s trade. He visited Steubensville, Ohio, en-

tered a home, and soon after married Miss Ann
Blackburn, daughter of Thomas Blackburn. The
fruits of this union were three children: Thomas,
William and Allen. In 1828 Mr. Rose came with

his family to Ohio and settled in Knox county,

where he resided one year, after which he moved
to Richland county. There he resided until killed

at the raising of a log barn in 1831, when endeav-

oring to save the lives of other men by stopping a

falling log. He worked very hard and during the

short time he had lived in Richland county he had
cleared up a good portion of sixty acres. In his

religious views he was a Presbyterian. His wife was
a Quakeress and lived to be seventy-four years of

age. Thomas Rose, his son, was born in Bedford
county, Penn., August 28, 1824; received a com-
mon-school education, and learned the blacksmith

trade. He was but four years old when he was
brought to Ohio by his parents, and he was there-

fore reared in the wilderness. During his early

days he was accustomed to all the privations and
vicissitudes of pioneer life and grew up strong and
hardy. At the age of eighteen he left home and
worked at his trade at Mount Vernon, Ohio, for

three years. After this he worked at different

places, and in 1849 was married to Miss Rebecca
A. Ledner, daughter of Christian and Margaret
Ledner, of Licking county, Ohio. Mr. Ledner
was a farmer and a native of Germany. He first

settled in Maryland and then in Licking county,

Ohio, in 1848. He was noted far and wide as one
of the first class agriculturists. In 1857 he was
elected justice of the peace and served three terms.

To Mr. and Mrs. Rose were born seven children:

Charles, Almira (died at the age of fifteen years),

Alvina (died at the age of four months), George
W., Mary E. (died at the age of ten years), John
W. and Leonard (died in infancy). After mar
riage Mr. Rose settled down at Boston, Licking

county, and in 1866 he went to Illinois, settling in

Gillespie, Macoupin county, where he resided un-

til 1878. In the spring of the following year he

came to Muskingum county, Ohio, and has since

been a resident of Frazeysburg. He is well re-

spected and liked there, and has held the position
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of mayor of Frazeysburg eight years. Iii politics

he is a stanch democrat. He is one of the charter

members of New Home lodge No. 338, Hanover,
Ohio, and is now a member of Frazeysburg lodge No.
•190, having been secretary of this lodge since

1886. Mr. Rose is a substantial business man and
owns considerable real estate in Frazeysburg. He
is now sixty-eight years of age, is still hale and
hearty, and can do a hard day’s work at black-

smithing. He does as much work now as he did

twenty years ago, has never had a severe spell of

sickness, and has a wonderfully strong constitu-

tion. Unaided, and by his own exertions, he has

made all his property, and stands high in the esti-

mation of all as an honest, upright citizen. When
young Mr. Rose was a very powerful man, even
among the hardy pioneers, and was considered the

strongest man in his locality. He has always been
a total abstainer from spirituous liquors, and when
young was pointed out as almost the only excep-

tion among the young men. He attributes his

good health to his early pioneer training, princi-

pally. His son, Charles, married Miss Henrietta

English and is settled on a farm in Illinois. John
W. married Miss Ann Settles, has one child, Mary,
and resides at Granville, Ohio. Simon Kenton,
spoken of above, was one of America’s most noted
Indian fighters and hunters, and was a man of

great physical strength and endurance.
The grandparents of Samuel L. Rutledge,

postmaster, Hopewell, Ohio, James and Mary
Rutledge were natives of Fermanagh county, Ire-

land, but at an early date came to America, first

locating at New York, but subsequently in Guernsey
county, Ohio, where both received their final sum-
mons. Their son, George, was born in the year

1815, on the ocean, while his parents were on the

voyage to America. Early in life he was appren-
ticed to the tanner’s trade, and when eighteen

years of age he was married to Miss Susannah
Shutt. In 1831 he and hiB family moved to

Mount Sterling, Hopewell township, Muskingum
county, and there Mr. Rutledge purchased a tan-

nery plant which he carried on until his death in

1865. To his marriage were born the following

children: Mary A., Margaret J., John W., Samuel
L. (subject), George W., Sarah E. and Thomas C.

Samuel L. Rutledge remained at home, assisting in

the tannery and attending the district school until

1869, when he entered the academy at Pleasant-

ville, Fairfield county,' Ohio, graduating from the

same in 1872. He took a post academic course,

which gave him the privilege of graduating in any
college in the state in one year. Returning home,
he went from there to Jacksonburg, Ind.

,
where

he taught school for ten years. Returning to

Mount Sterling, he has since been engaged in teach-

ing school. January, 1890, he was appointed

postmaster at that place and holds that position at

the present time. He was elected justice of the

peace April, 1891, and was appointed notary pub-
lic under Gov. Campbell. He was school exam-
iner for the county from 1884 to 1887, and dis-

charged the duties of that position in a creditable

and satisfactory manner. For the last ten years

he has been a member of the Methodist Episcopal
church. In politics he is a stanch republican, and
socially he is a member of the A. F. & A. M.
He was married in 1876 to Miss Bessie, daughter
of Dr. Hood, and two children were born to

this union: Jennie M., born December 25, 1878,

and Georgiana. born February 24, 1882. Mrs.

Rutledge died May 29, 1886, and Mr. Rutledge’s

second marriage was on January 25, 1889, to Miss
Dosie Morgan, who was born June 2, 1868, and
whose parents, Thomas W. and Virginia (Ander-

son) Morgan, were early settlers of Muskingum
county. Mr. Morgan was born in 1823.

John Sandel, the deceased husband of Mrs.

Christina Sandel, Otsego, Ohio, was born in Adams
township, Muskingum county, and was the son of

Valentine Sandel, who came from Germany at an
early date. He was the father of nine children:

Jacob, Mary, John, Elizabeth, Casper, Christian

(who died a soldier in the Civil war), Martin, Val-

entine and George. Valentine Sandel was a mem-
ber of the Lutheran church, and lived to be over

seventy years of age, a respected and honored cit-

izen and farmer. John Sandel, his son, and the

husband of our subject, was born March 13, 1832,

received a common-school education and learned

the carpenter’s trade as well as farming. He mar-

ried October 26, 1865, at the age of twenty-eight

years, Christina Klein, daughter of Jacob and
Catherine (Moser) Klein. Jacob Klein was born
in Wurtemberg, Germany, and was the son of

Christian Klein, a farmer and the father of four

children: Christian, William, Jacob and Chris-

tina. Christian Klein was a man of property in

“the Fatherland.” Jacob Klein came to America

about 1826, at the age of twenty-one, and to Zanes

ville, where he worked at his trade of a shoemaker,

which he had learned in Germany. He had a

common-school education in Germany, and in

Zanesville married Catherine Moser, daughter of

Daniel Moser. To them were born ten children,

nine of whom lived to maturity: Louise, Christina,

Jacob, William, Matilda, George, Christian, Al-

bert and Alice. In 1852 Mr. Klein moved to

Adams township and settled on a farm where he

still resides at the age of seventy- eight years. The
farm where he settled belonged to his wife’ s father,

Daniel Moser, who also came from Germany about

1835, and owned a farm of 120 acres. Daniel

Moser was the father of four children: Philip,

Catherine, Adam and Louisa, and lived to be
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seventy years of age. He was an industrious

farmer, a member of the Lutheran church, and
was a potter by trade in the old country. Jacob
Klein was also a member of the Lutheran church,

had always been a good citizen and an honorable

and industrious man. After his marriage Mr.
John Sandel settled on the farm now occupied by
his widow. He worked at his trade of a carpenter

for about fifteen years, renting his farm. Before
his marriage he was a soldier in the Civil war, in

Company A, One Hundred and Second regiment,

Ohio Volunteer infantry, and was enrolled August
12, 1862, for three years. He was honorably dis-

charged May 28, 1865, at Louisville, Ky., by rea-

son of injury received while in the line of duty in

the United States service, having been wounded in

the foot at the battle of Athens. Mr. Sandel be-

came a prosperous farmer and respected citizen.

His farm consisted of 160 acres. Both he and his

wife were prominent members of the Lutheran
church, and Mr. Sandel held the office of elder

and church trustee. He was always connected
with the church in some office. In politics he was
a democrat, and died at the age of fifty-one years,

November 16, 1887. When the war broke out he
did not hesitate to offer his services and life to his

country, and was true to his duty. His name
always stood on the roll of honor. His widow has
ably managed the farm since his death, having
kept it free from debt, and besides has made some
money, which success speaks well for her business

ability and management. She is a sincere Chris-

tian and a woman of high character, well regarded
by her neighbors. Mr. and Mrs. Sandel kindly

took to rear a little three-year-old girl, Floretta

M. Stiner, whose mother had died, and have cared
for her as though she were their own. Since Mr.
Sandle’s death she has grown still more into the
affections of Mrs. Sandel, who gives her all a

mother’s love and care, and is giving her a good
education and bringing her up to be a capable and
Christian woman. She is a very bright and
attractive child.

Robert M. Saup, the superintendent of the
Zanesville city water works, has proven himself
the right man on the right place, and has the con-
fidence and respect of all right-minded citizens.

He was born in Zanesville in 1847 to Anthony Saup,
a native of France, who came to America when a

young man, first locating in New York and about
1830 in Zanesville. He was a cabinet maker by
trade, and at once began following this business,

which he continued until his death in 1856. He
was married in the city of New York to Miss Eliza-

beth Smith, a native of that state, whose parents
lived to a very advanced age, dying at the ages of

one hundred and four and one hundred and
three years, father and mother respectively. To

Anthony and Elizabeth Saup five sons and three

daughters were born: Robert M. , the subject of

this sketch, being the seventh in order of birth.

He grew to maturity and received a thorough edu-

cation in parochial schools, but about the age of

fourteen years he went to Cairo, 111., where he had
a brother engaged in the mercantile business, and
remained with him for some time. He afterward

started out for himself, accepting a position as

cabin boy on a Mississippi river steamer, plying

between St. Louis and New Orleans, in which capac-

ity he served for about three years. He then re-

turned to Zanesville and for a short time there-

after worked in the rolling mills, but in 1864
enlisted in the Union army as a member of

Company D, One Hundred and Fifty-ninth regi-

ment, Ohio Volunteer infantry, at which time he
was only seventeen years of age, and had a hard
time to pass muster, owing to his youthful appear-

ance. He was sent with his regiment to Maryland
Heights and from there to Baltimore, thence to

Bush river and was there placed on garrison duty.

At the close of the war he was mustered out of the

service and returned to Zanesville, where he

engaged in cabinet making, to which business he

gave his time and attention until 1885, when he

was appointed superintendent of the city water
works, which position he has since filled. Some
important improvements have been made in the

system under his supervision, and he is a gentle-

man of the highest standing in social and business

circles. In 1868 he married Miss Alevia Carlow,

a native of Zanesville, and by her he is the father

of three sons and three daughters. The family

are members of the Catholic church, and he be-

longs to the G. A. R. and is a democrat, politi-

cally.

R. D. Schultz, one of the popular and most
successful business men of Zanesville, was born in

that city, January 7, 1839. He is a son of William
and Evaline (Darlinton) Schultz, natives of Win-
chester, Va. In 1853 the father established the

soap factory at Zanesville and operated it success-

fully until 1866, when his son, R. D., and John
Hoge purchased and have since operated it. The
father died, in 1870, at the age of seventy, but the

mother is still living, is seventy-three years of age,

and makes her home in Zanesville with our subject.

The latter received rather limited educational ad-

vantages, never having attended school a day after

he was fifteen years of age, and on October 5, 1864,

he was married to Miss Sarah Van Horne, a native

of Zanesville, and daughter of Bernard Van Horne.
Mr. and Mrs. Schultz’ union resulted in the birth

of two children: Bernard V. H. and William D.

Mr. Schultz died in 1869. The opera house in

Zanesville, one of the finest buildings in the city,

was built by Mr. Schultz, and was opened January
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22," 1880. Mr. Schultz is an enthusiastic Mason,
and has taken all the degrees in the Ancient York
rite, also all the Consistory degrees up to and in-

cluding the 32d. He also has taken the Shrine de-

gree. He is treasurer of his commandery, and
holds the same position in the Masonic Hall asso-

ciation. He is a director in the First National bank,
and president of the Economy Building associa-

tion. He owns 400 acres of land in Wayne town-
ship, Muskingum county, and is one of the repre-

sentative citizens of this county. In politics he
advocates the principles of the democrats.

Ernest Scott, county recorder, Zanesville, Ohio.
Among Muskingum county’s self-made, enterpris-

ing and successful citizens, none deserves more fa-

vorable mention than the subject of this sketch,

Ernest Scott, who was born in Perry county, Ohio,
December 11, 1846. He is a son of Bernard and
Josephine A. (Guille) Scott, the mother a daughter
of Dr. Augusta Guille, and a native of France.
The father was born in Baltimore, Md., and is of

Irish origin. He was a mechanic by trade, and
died on board a steamboat on the Ohio river,

in 1850, of cholera. The mother survived until

1886. They were the parents of one child besides

our subject—Caroline E., wife of John C. Dixon.
Ernest Scott came to Muskingum county in 1854,
and attended the public schools, but subsequently
entered the university at Ann Arbor, Mich., and
Lebanon (Ohio) university. He then followed
teaching school for several years, but this was
after he returned from the army. In Febru-
ary, 1863, when but seventeen years of age, he en-
listed in Company C, Thirteenth Ohio cavalry, and
was in a number of engagements. He was at

White House Landing, battle of the Wilderness,
siege of Petersburg and the explosion of the mine
at the last-named place. He was wounded, thir-

teen days after this battle, while on picket duty, by
a gunshot through the breast and right arm, and
was in the hospital for five months. He was then
put on hospital duty on board the steamer “ J. K.
Barnes,” which plied on the Atlantic between
northern and southern ports, carrying sick and
wounded soldiers. He remained in this position

for six months, and then, on July 20, 1865, was
discharged. He returned to Zanesville, as stated

before, attended the schools, and taught the young
idea how to shoot. After leaving the schoolroom
he traveled for three or four years, going as far

west as the Rocky mountains, and visiting many
points in the South. After returning he engaged
in agricultural pursuits for a short time, then re-

moving to Zanesville, soon after which he received

an appointment in the postoffice as letter carrier, in

which capacity he served about five years, being
under two presidential administrations. Then was
in the employ of T. F. Spangler & Co., in the real

estate business, in which business he was engaged
when elected to his present office, in 1888, and re-

elected in 1891. He is an able and efficient officer,

and discharges the duties of his present position

in a very efficient manner. He has been twice

married, the second time, in 1879, to Miss Louisa
Sandle, daughter of Jacob Sandle, of Perry town-
ship. The fruits of this union are two interesting

children: Viola G. and Nellie B. Mr. Scott is a

member of the Hazlett post No. 81, G. A. R., and
is senior vice-commander. He is also a member of

Muskingum lodge, of I. O. O. F. and the society of

B. P. O. E„ No. 114.

William Senior (deceased) was engaged in the

manufacture of woolen, and was a member of the

firm of L. Rambo & Co., of Dresden, Ohio. He
was born at Poughkeepsie, N. Y., February 17,

1831, a son of George and Mary (Wadsworth)
Senior, natives of England, the former dying in

1866 and the latter in 1854 at Mount Vernon, Ohio.

The maternal grandfather, Jonathan Wadsworth,
was born in England and came to the United States,

becoming one of the early woolen manufacturers of

the “Empire state.” He died in Richmond, Va.,

when over eighty years of age. In the state of

New York, William Senior spent his earliest days,

but later became a resident of Pennsylvania and in

1853 first located in the town of Dresden, which
has been his permanent place of abode since 1858.

He became a member of the firm of L. Rambo &
Co. in 1871, and their large and growing business

testifies to their standing in the community and to

the excellence of their product. The reliability of

their goods and the exceedingly reasonable price

at which they sell them has made their establish-

ment well known and popular. Mr. Senior was
married in 1855 to Miss Bell Nye, who died Sep-

tember 27, 1888, and August 1 of the following

year he took for his second wife Miss Amelia
Cresap, who died December 8, 1891. Mr. Senior

was a republican politically, was a member of the

Presbyterian church, in which he was an elder, and
belonged to the I. O. O. F. His only son by his

first marriage was born in Circleville, Ohio, Octo-

ber 17, 1856, and died in Dresden, January 16,

1880. He graduated in June, 1878, from Wooster
university and in September, 1878, entered Prince-

ton Theological seminary at Princeton, N. J. He
was one of the brightest students in the institution,

and his death was a sad blow to all who knew him
as well as to his parents. Mr. Senior has a daugh-

ter, now Mrs. J. L. Adams of Sheffield, Ala. Mr.

Senior was a model man of business for besides

being enterprising, shrewd and practical, he was
strictly honorable. He died December 31, 1891.

John D. Shaw, Frazeysburg, Ohio, is one of the

large farmers and land owners of Cass township,

Muskingum county. The family in America first
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settled in Maryland in old colonial times. William

Shaw, the grandfather, came from Maryland, was

one of the pioneer hunters and made his head-

quarters near Dresden on the Muskingum river,

making a business of hunting and trapping game
and fur-bearing animals, with which this county

then abounded. His children remembered were

Elias, John, Lydia and Sarah and one whose name
is forgotten married into the Burch family. Elias

Shaw, one of the sons and the father of our subject,

was born in Maryland and came to Muskingum
county when a young man. He was a soldier in

the War of 1812 and served under Gen. Cass. He
married Harriet Deakin of Maryland, and to them
were born four children: Letitia, John D.

,
Philenia

and William Francis. Mr. Shaw settled in Cass

township above Dresden where Trinwav now stands.

He was a member of the Baptist church and in

politics an old line whig, later a republican and a

union man during the war. He lived to be seventy

-

two years of age. One son, Frank, was in the First

Illinois Cavalry regiment and served five years

during the war, taking part in many battles. John
D. Shaw another son was born November 28, 1828,

where the town of Trinway now stands. He can

remember a great many things pertaining to the old

pioneer life. He received a common-school educa-

tion in the old log schoolhouse, of those days and
early learned to work on the farm. When but

seven years of age he went to live with Squire James
Morgan, a prominent farmer of the township, and
remained with him until he was eighteen years of

age. He continued to do farm work until twenty-

four years of age, when he married Mary E. Morgan,
December 2, 1852, a widow of Washington Morgan,
and the daughter of Spencer Lake of Coshocton

county. By this marriage Mr. Shaw became the

father of three children: George (died when twenty -

three years of age) and Perry L. (died when sixteen

years of age). This wife died, and November 27,

1888, Mr. Shaw married Cecil Dorsey, daughter of

Joseph Dorsey. [See sketch of A. C. Dorsey and
Benjamin Dorsey for early history of Dorsey fam-
ily.] Both Mr. and Mrs. Shaw are members of the

Old School Baptist church, and in politics he is a

stanch republican. Mr. Shaw and son by industry

and hard labor have succeeded in accumulating con-

siderable property and now own 800 acres and have
excellent buildings. His son, Joseph Francis, has
an elegant and substantial farm residence near his

father.

Capt. Joseph Shaw, president of the board of

trade of Zanesville, and secretary and manager of

the Muskingum Coffin company, is a keen, intel-

ligent business man, thoroughly conversant with
all the requirements of the trade. The Muskingum
Coffin company was established in Zanesville in

1881, and incorporated August 24 of that year with

Mr. Shaw as secretary and manager. The com-
pany annually manufactures over $100,000 worth
of burial goods and gives employment to about
sixty hands. Mr. Shaw was born in Newburg, N.
Y.

,
May 27, 1840, and the same year his parents,

Joseph and Mary (Williams) Shaw, came to Mus-
kingum county and settled upon a farm in Harri-

son township. This farm was unimproved and
they immediately set to work to clear and make a

home. Joseph Shaw, Sr., was an Englishman by
birth and after emigrating to America located in

New York where he followed his trade, that of a

weaver. There he married Miss Mary Williams,
a native of the Empire state, and they afterward
came to Ohio, where the father followed his trade

in connection with farming, often weaving flax and
wool for the early pioneers’ home-made clothing.

He died in Harrison township in 1851, when fifty -

one years of age. His widow afterward removed
to Zanesville and died there in 1884 in her seventy-

ninth year. Two children were the fruits of this

union: Joseph (our subject), and George W. Shaw,
a hardware merchant of Zanesville, Ohio. Joseph
Shaw, Jr., spent his early boyhood upon the farm
attending the district schools, and had for one of

his teachers the late President James A. Garfield.

The schoolhouse was a primitive log building

with slab seats, and a single desk, extending
around the room and resting on pegs driven into

the logs, furnished a writing desk for the pupils.

At the age of twelve years young Shaw removed
with his mother to Zanesville and began attending

the public schools of that city. Later he entered
the old Putnam academy, graduated, and then ap-

prenticed himself to Dr. Ezra Dillon, an early

physician and druggist of Zanesville, and began
fitting himself for an apothecary. About two years

later he accepted a clerkship at Dresden, Ohio,

where he remained until the outbreak of the Civil

war. Immediately after the fall of Fort Sumter,
when the whole North began to realize the peril of

our country, Mr. Shaw, on April 24, 1861, enlisted

in Company E, Third Ohio Volunteer infantry, and
served until he was discharged at Columbus, Ohio,

July 24 of the same year, by reason of expiration

of term of enlistment. On October 16, 1861, he
re-enlisted in Company F, Sixty-second Ohio Vol-

unteer infantry; was promoted to sergeant in No-
vember of that year, to first or orderly sergeant in

January, .1862, quartermaster-sergeant in June,

1863; re-enlisted as a veteran in January, 1864;
was commissioned first lieutenant and regimental

quartermaster in November of the same year, and
as such was attached to the First brigade, First

division of the Twenty-fourth Army corps. In
December of the year 1864 Mr. Shaw was further

honored by a captain’s commission. During his

military career, Capt. Shaw was in active service.



562 HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY.

participating in the numerous battles and marches
of his regiment, and was honorably discharged,

August 23, 1865. Returning to Zanesville he em-
barked in mercantile pursuits, having purchased a

drug store in which he had previously served as

an apprentice, continuing the same until 1881. In
1861 Capt. Shaw wedded Miss Amanda A. Mar-
shall, by whom he is the father of seven children.

In politics he is a republican, a member of the Odd
Fellows and G. A. R. fraternities, and he and
family are attendants of the Putnam Presbyterian

church, of Zanesville.

The bar of Muskingum county, Ohio, has no
more worthy or prominent member than Arthur J.

Sheppard, for besides possessing a brilliant mind,

great powers of observation and discriminating

judgment, he has devoted many hours to the study
of his profession and is, without doubt, one of the

best-read lawers of the county. He was born at

Irville, this county, to Hon. John B. and Rebecca
(Bonham) Sheppard, the former of whom was
born at Irville April 7, 1828, and the latter in

Jackson township, of this county, in December,
1824. Hon. John B. Sheppard began the prac-

tice of law in Zanesville in 1868, continuing with
distinguished ability until 1873, when he was
elected to the general assembly of the state as a

democrat, during which time he proved himself

an able and incorruptible legislator. Since the

close of his term of office he has resided upon a

farm in Licking township, this county. His
father, Rev. Lenox Sheppard, was born in West-
moreland county, Penn., in 1784, and was called

from life in Muskingum county, Ohio, in 1849.

He was a “circuit rider’’ of the Methodist church
and was one of the powerful preachers of his day.

The Sheppard family first became known in this

county in 1815, coming thither from Westmore-
land county, Penn. The maternal grandfather,

Rev. Zachariah Bonham, was bom in Virginia, but
in 1812 became a resident of Muskingum county,

Ohio, and, like Lenox Sheppard, was one of the

pioneer Methodist preachers of this region. He
died in this county at a ripe old age. Arthur J.

Sheppard was given the advantages of the com-
mon schools and the schools of Zanesville in his

youth, after which he taught school for some time.

After having thoroughly fitted himself for the

practice of law, by much desultory study, he was
admitted to the bar in 1878 and has since been an
active practitioner. He devotes the energies of

his heart and mind to the successful conduct of

his cases, and never allows the interests of his

clients to suffer if careful attention to every detail

can prevent it. He is a member of Cvrene com-
mandery of the A. F. & A. M., and also belongs

to the I. O. O. F. and the B. & P. order of Elks.

Peter C. Shroyer was born in the township in

which he is now living, on the 30th of July, 1839,
a son of Christian and Catharine (Werts) Shroyer,

who were born in Pennsylvania in 1801 and Lou-
doun county, Va., respectively. The father was
one of eleven children born to Philip and Mariah
(Stotts) Shroyer. He was about the seventh child,

and after reaching manhood he settled on the
farm where his son, the subject of this sketch,

now resides, in 1808. Christian Shroyer and his

wife were both earnest members of the Lutheran
church. Philip Shroyer was the first to settle on
a farm in Salem township, coming to this region
from Pennsylvania with an ox team and a team of

horses, often having to cut a wagon way through
the woods. The grandfather died on his farm, the
father in 1839 and the grandmother a short time
before. To Philip Shroyer and wife the following

children were born : Adam, Philip, Abram, Jacob,

Elizabeth, Mary, John, Christian, William, An-
drew, and Catherine. Christian Shroyer was
about six years of age when he came to this county,

was brought up on a farm and obtained a fair edu-
cation in the neighboring schools. At the age of

twenty-four years he was married, and his union was
blessed in the birth of the following named children

:

Solomon and Jacob, who died when young; Susan
M., (Mrs. S. H. Hardy); Helen (Mrs. Hamilton);
Matilda (Mrs. Shrigley); Elizabeth, who died in

early childhood; Peter C. ;
Malinda C. (Mrs. Ed-

wards); Mary A. (Mrs. Stewart); John O., who
is a farmer residing in Adamsville, and Eliza J.

(Mrs. C. H. Bucker), living on the home place, are

twins. The father of these children died in this

county in 1867. He was a well-to-do farmer, and
at his death was the owner of 600 acres of land,

all of which was the result of his own endeavors.

He was upright and honorable in every particular

and was highly respected by the citizens of Mus-
kingum county. Politically he was a Democrat.
His wife was a daughter of Peter Werts and was
an earnest member of the Lutheran church. She
died on the 19th of April, 1888, at which time she

was eighty-three years of age. The paternal grand-

father of the subject of this sketch and his eldest

sons were soldiers in the War of 1812. Peter C.

Shroyer spent his youth on his father’s farm
and in attending the common schools near his

home, and at the age of twenty-two years he began
farming on his own account in Adams township.

In 1859 he was married to Miss Sarah E. Winn, a

daughter of James and Eliza Winn, her birth

having occurred in this township January 31,

1844. She was about the eighth of fourteen

children, only six of whom are living, and in her

youth she was an attendant of the common schools.

She has borne her husband two children: Flora

O., who was born November 2, 1862, and is the

wife of H. N. Slater, of Adams township, by whom
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she has a son, Charles William, and Charles T.

,

who was born July 27, 1876, and is still at school.

Mr. Shroyer has been a resident of his present

place since 1864, but only became the owner of

the place in 1872. His land comprises 210 acres,

well improved, on which he raises a considerable

amount of stock. Mr. Shroyer is a democrat, is

active in advancing all interests for the benefit of

the county, being especially interested in the build-

ing up of churches and schools. He and his wife

are members of the Methodist Episcopal church.

He is an excellent business man and strictly honor-

able in every respect.

David Sidle is one of the most venerable citi-

zens of Muskingum county, Ohio, having reached

the eighty-fourth milestone of his life. John
Sidle, his father, was born in New Jersey, Sussex

county, near New Brunswick, but his father,

Andrew Sidle, was a native of Germany and upon
coming to this country settled in New Jersey. He
was married to Miss Sarah Brass, and by her be-

came the father of four children: John, Sarah,

Annie and Sophia. He was called from life in the

state of his adoption. John Sidle, his son, was by
trade a cooper, but also followed the calling of a

farmer. He married Mary Reed, of New Jersey,

daughter of Cornelius and Elizabeth (Swackhamer)
Reed, who were of English and German descent

respectively. Mr. Reed came to Ohio in an early

day and settled in Muskingum county, near Zanes-

ville. John Sidle and wife reared nine children:

Philip, Sophia, Cornelius, Anna, Sarah, David,
Jacob, Caroline and Mary. From New Jersey Mr.
Sidle first removed to Wilkesbarre, Penn., and be-

came a teamster from that point to Philadelphia,

hauling merchandise in one of the immense Cones-

toga wagous drawn by from four to six horses. He
hauled the first load of goods from Philadelphia

to Zanesville. He lived many years in Wilkes-

barre and there two of his children were born. He
came by wagon to Ohio, having a four- horse Con-

estoga wagon filled with his effects and a two-horse

wagon in which his wife and children rode. In
November, 1811, they arrived at the farm now
owned by David Sidle, and the first winter of their

sojourn here they lived in a small log house about
fourteen feet square and in the spring moved into

a double log house which was standing on his land.

In 1812 he built a still house, which he ran for

many years. The following year he built a grist

and sawmill on Licking river, which was one of

the first mills to be erected in the county. Later
these mills were razed, and in 1827 he built a large

mill with three run of stone and made flour for

shipment. This mill was in operation for about
twenty years. When he first came to the state a

number of mills were running, two being in opera-

tion at the falls of the Licking river and a large

tannery was also there, owned and operated by
Stephen White. The little village there continued

to exist until along in the thirties and for some
time was a rival of Zanesville, and now there is

not a vestige to mark the place where many of the

old settlers obtained their supplies. John Sidle

was a good business man and besides his mills

owned a large farm, to which he continued to add
until he became the owner of 800 acres of land.

He and his wife were Presbyterians in their relig-

ious views but he afterward became a Methodist.

Politically he was an old line whig and for many
years he filled the position of township trustee. He
lived to be seventy- four years of age, dying De-
cember 11, 1847. His wife died February 3, 1845
at the age of sixty- eight. He was very energetic

and enterprising and became well known to all the

old pioneers. The millstones for his first mill were
hauled from Cheat river, Ya.

,
in 1812 and he

was much pleased when he got them. His son,

David, was about four years of age when the mill-

stones arrived in the night, and he well remembers
the teamster shouting to awaken his father. One
of these stones does duty as a step at David Sidle’s

gateway. John Sidle was one of those old pioneers

who bad a hardy spirit and could face with
undaunted courage the trials and privations of

pioneer life. He succeeded in whatever he under-

took and his son David says of him that “ he made
things go or broke something. ” He left a hand-
some property to his children. David Sidle was
born at Wilkesbarre, Penn., November 3, 1807,
and was but four years of age on coming to Ohio.

Even at that early age he was impressed with the

scenes and incidents of that long journey. They
remained at Zanesville six weeks, crossing the ferry

and stopping on the Putnam side. Schools were few
and far between and Mr. Sidle gained but little edu-

cation in the old pioneer subscription schools. He
early began to work on the farm,and well remembers
when he planted his first hill of corn. When large

enough he began to work in the grist and sawmill
and for seventeen years continued at this work and
in this way he became acquainted with many of the

old pioneers and knew all the settlers within a dis-

tance of fifteen miles. He worked both by night
and by day, taking turns with the men to sleep,

and although the school in which he was trained

was a rather rough one, it taught him to think and
act for himself. At the age of twenty-three he was
married to Harriet Thrapp, their union taking

place May 6, 1830. She was a daughter of Rev.
Joseph and Jemima (Van Camp) Thrapp, the for-

mer of whom was born within eleven miles of Bal-

timore, Md., on what was known as Gallows Hill.

In 1805 he came to Licking county, Ohio, and the

following year moved to Muskingum county and
settled on a farm within sight of the house .where
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David Sidle now lives. He was a minister of the

M. P. church and was the first preacher of the

county and his services were in requisition far and
near when funeral sermons or wedding ceremonies

were to be performed. He was the father of twelve

children all of whom lived to maturity with one ex-

ception, Adaline dying young. The others were:

Philander, Israel, Lucinda, Julia A., Harriet, Mar-
cus L., Ellen, John, Joel S., James E. and Martha
A. Rev. Thrapp lived to be nearly ninety years of

age, dying May 12, 1863. He was well known
among the old settlers as an earnest Christian who
endeavored at all times to live in the fear of the

Lord. His sons Joel and Israel became Methodist

Protestant ministers, and aided largely in increas-

ing the membership of the church which their

father had helped to found in this county. To Mr.

and Mrs. David Sidle a family of nine children

were born: Angeline who died at the age of nine

years, Eliza A. (wife of James E. Tanner), Emma
J. (wife of Salem Barrack, deceased), John W., Cor-

nelius F., Josephine T. (wife of Wilbur F. Arm-
strong), David M. (resides in Winfield, Kas.), Julia

E. (widow of Thomas B. Bland), and Laura S.

(wife of A. H. Jennings). After his marriage Mr.

Sidle worked in the mill for four years, then re-

moved to a farm in Licking township and after-

ward to Delaware county, where he resided two
years. Owing to the death of his father he then

returned to the old homestead, where he has since

lived. He and his wife are members of the Meth-
odist Protestant church and he has for many years

been one of the trustees of the church. He is well

known as an honorable man and has served as

township trustee two terms and county infirmary

director three years. He was for many years a

member of the state militia and served as first lieu-

tenant, then captain and finally as lieutenant-col-

onel of a cavalry regiment, which position he held

three years. He has been uniformly successful as

a farmer, and is now the owner of 646 acres of

land. He inherited 83,000 from his father’s estate

of which he and his brother Jacob were executors.

The residence in which he lived was built fifty-

seven years since and is still a comfortable home,
pleasantly situated in a picturesque locality. At
eighty-four years of age Mr. Sidle is a remarkable

man, his erect form and elastic step showing that

he is still possessed of much youthful vigor. He
is active in his movements, his eyes are bright and
clear, his countenance is ruddy and indicative of

good health, his hearing is good, and his wonderful

memory and clear intellect are unimpaired. He
has always been a man of kindly heart and gener-

ous in the use of his means in the interests of

worthy movements. His wife, Mrs. Harriet (Thrapp)

Sidle, was a gentle and venerable lady, and died

February 9, 1892, at the advanced age of seventy-

nine years three months and twenty-one days.

The family are all well settled in life and are resi-

dents of Muskingum county, with the exception of

two members. Mr. Sidle is a credit to the old
pioneer stock from which he sprang. His brother
Philip was a great horse racer and was an exten-

sive shipper of horses to New York and Philadel-

phia. He once went on horseback to New York
city to attend a horse race and fair and attracted

much attention as the noted Western horseman.
Cornelius, another brother, was also extensively en-

gaged in horse trading. Many of the Sidles have
been noted for the excellence of their horsemanship.
David Sidle was a strong Union man during the

war and is a stanch republican in politics. He
sent all his sons to the war and all returned with-

out wounds. John W. was in Company G, Nine-
ty-seventh regiment, Ohio Volunteer infantry,

which was famous for its many battles, and partici-

pated in them all. [See sketch of George Vickers,

a comrade, for regimental register.
]

Cornelius was
in the 100 days’ service and re-enlisted in the One
Hundred and Ninety- fourth regiment, Ohio Volun-
teer infantry. David M. was in the Ninth Ohio cav-

alry, but was taken sick with typhoid fever and
was discharged, but afterward re-enlisted in the

service in the One Hundred and Ninety-fourth regi-

ment. The war record of all these boys was excel-

lent.

Robert Silvev, president of the board of work-
house directors, was born in Blue Rock township,

Muskingum county, Ohio, June 30, 1826, to Robert
and Pamela (Auderson) Silvey, natives of County
Down, Ireland, and New Jersey, respectively.

The father came to this county in 1818, and be-

came one of the pioneer farmers of Blue Rock
township. In 1831 he was appointed by Gen.
Jackson as postmaster of Blue Rock postoffice,

which was prior to the time that stages were used,

and the mail was carried on horseback from Zanes-

ville to Marietta, Blue Rock being the only post-

office between Zanesville and McConnelsville.

James Larrison was the mail carrier, and he was
the grandfather of Robert Silvey Jr’s. wife. The
elder Robert Silvey was postmaster at Blue Rock
until 1840, but upon Harrison’s election to the

presidency he resigned. He was a shoemaker by
trade, and in addition to this occupation carried

on farming. He was born in 1790, and died in

1868, his wife’s death occurring in 1887, at the

advanced age of eighty- seven years. Her father,

Augustine Anderson, was a lieutenant in the Revo-
lutionary war. She bore her husband eight chil-

dren, five of whom are living: Joseph (in Missouri),

John (in Utah), Robert (of Zanesville), Mrs. Met-
calfe (of Sidney, Ohio), and Mrs. Deaveo (of Osage
City, Kas.). The subject of this sketch was reared

in his native township on a farm, and received
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such education as the schools of his day afforded.

In 1847-48-49 he taught school. In 1850 he took

a trip to California, going via the isthmus of

Panama. He remained in that state two years

engaged in mining, but in the fall of 1852 re-

turned home and embarked in merchandising at

Gaysport, subsequently selling out and starting

again at Eagleport, Ohio. At the end of about

fourteen years he returned to this county, and in

1869 was elected one of the commissioners of Mus-
kingum county, in which capacity he served effi-

ciently for three years. In 1872 he was elected

county treasurer, was re-elected in 1874, and at the

expiration of his last term he acted as deputy for

two years under Treasurer George W. Allen. In

1880 Gary Bros. & Silvey established themselves

in the manufacture of furniture, and conducted a

wholesale and retail business until January, 1891,

when the firm dissolved. Robert Silvey and Rolla

E. Silvey now carry on business under the firm

name of Robert Silvey & Son. Mr. Silvey is presi-

dent of the board of directors of the county work-
house, is president of the Home Building & Sav-

ings company, and is also a director of the Home
Insurance company. He was married in 1853 to

Miss Emeline Lucas, a native of the county, by
whom he is the father of six children: Harry K.

,

Hattie M., Rolla E., Robert L., Leona and Leota
(twins). He and his family are regular attendants

of the Market Street Baptist church, and he is a

member of the Masonic fraternity,, the K. of H.,

the A. O. U. W. and the American Legion of

Honor.
Harrison Skinner was born in Madison town-

ship. Muskingum county, Ohio, March 8, 1841.

and was the youngest of eleven children born to

John C. and Nancy (Garrett) Skinner, early set-

tlers of Muskingum county. Their children now
living are named as follows: Mary, now Mrs.
Post, resides in Morrow county, Ohio; John G.
resides in Columbus City, Iowa; Joseph Y.

resides in Coshocton county,'Ohio, near Adams Mills;

Margaret, now Mrs. Comin, resides at College
Springs, Iowa; Sarah, now Mrs. Paisley, resides

in College Springs, Iowa; William, in Louisa
county, Iowa, and Harrison, the subject of this

sketch. Those deceased were named: William,
Thomas, Elizabeth and Eliza. The mother of

these children died in 1844, and the father

received his final summons at his son John’s
home in Iowa. Harrison Skinner is the only one
living in Muskingum county, Ohio. He was
reared on what is now known as the Samuel King
farm, near the center of Madison township;
when thirteen years of age he left home and
began working on a farm. In 1863 he en-

listed in Company B, First Ohio cavalry, and
his principle battles were Moulton, Ala., Colum-

bus, Ga.
,
and Selma, Ala. His company was

detailed body guard for Gen. McPherson, sub-

sequently he was detailed at the same place to

carry mail and dispatches from Marietta to At-

lanta and other commanding posts, and per-

formed his duties without mishap and with great

credit. After the siege of Atlanta he went with

Sherman to the sea. While on this raid he was
two days and nights without food. He was a

good soldier and served his country faithfully and
well. He received his discharge at Columbus,
Ohio, on September 13, 1865, and then returned

to farm life in his native country, following the

same until 1867. He then embarked in the saw-

mill business near Adams Mills, in company with

his brother Joseph, and continued at this for

about two years. Later he embarked in farm-

ing. On December 29, 1870, he was married to

Hannah M. King, who was born in Muskingum
county on April 27, 1850, and who received her

education in that county. She was the daughter

of Hugh King. [See sketch], Mr. and Mrs.

Skinner have reared seven children: Ira U.
,

at

home, was born August 29, 1871; Adra A.
,
born

September 13, 1873; Cora L., born July 23,

1875; William H.
,
born August 10, 1877; Ar-

thur C.
,
born June 19, 1879; Herbert E., born

June 24, 1882, and Carrie G., born May 4, 1887.

Mr. Skinner has followed agricultural pursuits

for the most part since his marriage and has

tilled the soil of the farm on which he now lives

for some time. He own sabout 160 acres of well-

improved land in the southern part of Madison
township, and will move to this farm in April,

1892. He is actively engaged in stockraising

annually raises cattle, sheep, hogs and horses.

In politics Mr. Skinner is a stanch republican, and
he is a public spirited citizen, taking an active in-

terest in all public enterprises of a worthy nature.

He and family hold membership in the Methodist
Protestant church and attend the Prospect church.

George W. Slater, of Adamsville, Ohio, is the

son of Anthony and Susannah (Yinsel) Slater, being
one of their six sons; Sampson, John, George,
William, Harrison, and Solomon, four of whom
were born in Ohio. [For complete sketch of the

family see sketch of Harrison Y. Slater.] George
W. Slater was born in what is now Adams town-
ship, Muskingum county, February 2, 1820, and
received a common-school education in the old log

schoolhouse of those days, known as the Bainters

schoolhouse. Among his teachers were Alph.

Buker. John Palmer and Samuel Hamilton. He
well remembers many of the old pioneer characters

whose names and records are now matters of

history. He early learned to work on the farm
and married December 14, 1848, at the age of

twenty-eight years, Mary C. Wenmer, born April,
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1829, in Ohio, a daughter of Solomon and Malinda
(Wurtz) Wenmer. Her father was from Loudoun
county, Ya.

,
and of German descent, coming when

a young man to Ohio, about the year 1825. He
was a carpenter by trade and married in Salem
township. He worked for some years at his trade

and finally settled in Adams township on a farm.

He died in the year 1852, about fifty-two years of

age, and was the father of two children who lived

to maturity: Mary C., and Elizabeth R., who
married George H. Yinsel. He was a member of

the Lutheran church, and held offices of trust.

After his marriage Mr. Slater settled in Highland
township, on a farm of 160 acres of land, which
he bought about this time. Here he lived six

years, and in the spring of 1855 moved to his

present farm, which then consisted of 225 acres,

and which joined his father’s farm. Later he
bought out his father’s interest and still resides on
this farm having lived here oontinously for thirty-

seven years. Mr. Slater now owns about 518 acres

in this county and about four acres in Adams-
ville. He is the father of seven children: Cidua
J.

,
Solomon O., Frances M., W. H.

,
Susan M.

,

Howard B. aud Carson E. Mrs. Slater died

September 6, 1869, aged about forty years. She
was a devout member of the Lutheran church, a

sincere Christian, and affectionate wife and mother.

In politics Mr. Slater is a stanch republican, he
was county commissioner for six terms from 1 86 1

—

67, and during the war was a Union man. He has

also been township trustee and treasurer, and a

member of the board of education. He is public

spirited and in favor of all improvements for the

good of the county, and was road supervisor. As
a member of the Lutheran church he has held the

office of warden, chairman, and trustee. He has

all his life assisted with his means and influence to

maintain the church. He is a practical farmer
and during his life accumulated quite a library.

Of the children, Cidua J. married Jonas Bainter

(he is deceased and Mrs. Bainter aud the two
children live with her father); Solomon O.

married Ruth Hanks (he is a farmer of Lucas
county, Iowa, and they have four children); Francis

M. married Belle Keys (he is a farmer of Monroe
township, they have three children); William H.

married Hannah Cone (he is a farmer of Monroe
township); Susan M. married Joseph C. Souder,

a farmer of Loudoun county, Ya.
;
Howard B.

married Anna Vinsel (he is a farmer of Lucas
county, Iowa); Carson E. is a school teacher of

Lucas county, Iowa. Mr. Slater gave all his

children good educations, some of them attending

New Concord college. All the boys were school

teachers except Howard B.

Harrison V. Slater, Adamsville, Ohio, was the

son of Anthony Slater, who was born in Loudoun

county, Va.
,
October 2, 1789, eight miles from

Harper’s Ferry. He received a common school

education in both German and English, and was a

soldier in the War of 1812. He married in Lou-
doun county, Ya., Susannah Vinsel, and to them
were born six children: Sampson, John, George,
William, Harrison V., and Solomon. In 1816 Mr.
Slater came to Ohio, bringing his family, which
then consisted of his wife and two sons, Sampson
and John. He first settled in this couuty five

miles north of Zanesville, on the Adamsville road,

living here about one year. He bought land in

Adams township, which is now owned by Eliza
Cowden. This land was covered with heavy tim-

ber, and Mr. Slater cut a road from the farm
occupied by Peter Wurtz, to get his house-belong-
ings to his farm. He first built a log cabin and
later a hewed-log house, and here he lived the
remainder of his life, reaching the advanced age
of ninety-five years. He was a man of powerful
constitution, and possessing a wonderful hold on
life. He owned a good farm of 160 acres, most of

which he cleared with his own hands. He became
a prosperous citizen, was an early justice of the

peace, and held the office for twenty-one years.

Besides his farm in Adams township he owned 100
acres in Monroe township, and 160 acres in Iowa.
He was well thought of by the old settlers, well

known as Squire Slater, and respected as an honest
and Christian man. Both himself and wife were
members of the Lutheran church. Harrison V.
Slater, his son, was born January 2, 1828, on his

father’s farm, in Adams township, in the original

log cabin, and well remembers the building of the

hewed-log house in which his father passed so

many years. Young Harrison received the com-
mon-school education of that day, in one of the old

log schoolhouses of the pioneers. He became a

farmer and married at the age of twenty-four

years, October 16. 1851, Jane Walker (born De-
cember 8, 1882), daughter of Joseph and Margaret
Alice (Hammond) Walker. Col. Joseph Walker
was from Washington county, Va.

,
born June 10,

1799. His father. Robert Walker, was a mill-

wright of Irish descent. His great-grandfather

was a native of Ireland, a soldier in the Revolu-

tionary war. By this wife, Joseph Walker became
the father of five children: Julia A., John, Agnes,
Jane and Eliza. All lived to maturity. August
12, the same year as his marriage, he moved to

Ohio, settled in Monroe township, this county, en-

gaged in the tanning business, and this in connec-

tion with farming was his work through life. He
possessed an unusual degree of intelligence, taking

a great interest in political affairs, general and
local, and held a number of offices of trust. Polit-

ically he was a lifelong democrat. Col. Walker-

received his military title as an officer of the Ohio



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 567

militia, August 9, 1838, and was commissioned by

Gen. Joseph Vance as adjutant of the Fifth regi-

ment, Second brigade and Fifteenth division of

the Ohio militia. His commission and sword he

possessed during life, and was always pleased to

show them. His daughter, Julia A., married

Barton Cone of Otsego; Agnes married Jacob

Wheeler, of Monroe township (she is deceased);

Jane married H. V. Slater (our subject), and John
is a farmer of Caldwell county, Mo. Col. Walker’s

first wife died August 6, 1843, at the age of forty

years. He married again July 6, 1844, Margaret
Emler of Monroe township, and they were the

parents of six children, all of whom are living:

Charles and Robert in Monroe township; Dr. A. E.

Walker, of East Plainfield, Ohio, William of High-
land township; Mrs. Eleanor , of Cumber-
land, Ohio, and Mrs. Andrew Jackson, of Wapello,

Iowa. The Colonel’s second wife died September

7, 1881, aged seventy years. On September 23,

1882, a family reunion was held at his residence, at

which were gathered seventy of his descendants,

including children, grandchildren and great-

grandchildren. His descendants aggregate up to

100 persons. He died March 22, 1885, at the age

of eighty-five years, nine months and twelve days,

and was interred at the Otsego cemetery, March
24. Harrison V. Slater, our subject, after marriage
settled on a farm in Monroe township belonging to

his father, and after four years bought land com-
prising 160 acres, in Adams township, which he
still owns. By industry and thrift he has added
to his land until he owned 341 acres, but has given

eighty acres to his son Barton. Mr. Slater started

with nothing but by his own efforts and the assist-

ance of his faithful wife, after years of hard work
and patient self-denial, succeeded in accumulating
a handsome property. They are members of the

Lutheran church. Mr. Slater has been township
trustee, has held the office of justice of the peace
for six years, and will always use his influence in

the support of the schools and for public improve-
ments. Mr. and Mrs. Slater are the parents of

seven children: Susannah (born June 24, 1853,
married Charles Gaumer, editor and proprietor of

the “Shield and Banner” of Mansfield, Ohio); Mar-
garet C. (born August 17, 1855, married Clark
Ramsey, a farmer of Highland township, and they
have two children); Salena A. (born January 9,

1858, married Elijah Cowden, a farmer of Adams
township, they have one child); Albert B., a farmer
of Adams township (born April 22, I860, married
Eliza J. Cowden, they have one child); Henrietta
(born November 2, 1862, married Allen O. Adams, a

farmer of Salem township, they have three chil-

dren); W. O. (born July 10, 1865 and died February
4, 1880); and Rose (born January 10, 1870, is at

home). Politically, Mr. Slater is a democrat.

Anthony Slater was a soldier in the War of 1812,
entering service the same day the British burned
the capitol at Washington. He was in Baltimore
during the attack and siege of that place, and at

Fort Henry was one of the advance guards of the

American army when the British landed there. In
1816 Mr. Slater moved with his wife to Ohio and
first settled on what is now known as Culbertson
farm in Washington township, where they lived

for about one year, and then moved to the farm in

Adams township where the remainder of their

lives was spent. They had no neighbors nearer

than three or four miles, and the nearest mill or

postofiice was at Zanesville, eighteen miles away.
They were the first permanent settlers in the terri-

tory now included in Adams township, which was
then a part of Monroe township. In 1824 Adams
township was formed of parts of Monroe and
Madison and named in honor of John Q. Adams,
who was then a candidate for the presidency. Mr.
Slater was the first justice of the peace of Adams
township and held the office for twenty-one years

in succession. He was also a candidate for county
commissioner on the democratic ticket, but was
defeated, as the whigs carried the county that

year. He had six sons, two of whom are yet living

—

George W. and Harrison. On July 3, 1878, Mrs.

Slater died at the age of eighty-five years. They
had been married sixty-six years, and resided to-

gether in one place for sixty-one years. They
were both members of the New Hope Lutheran
church. Mr. Slater was a man of intelligent mind
and remarkable memory, retaining his vigor un-
impaired up to within two years before his death.

John Smith is one of the leading agriculturists

of Muskingum county, Ohio, and was born here in

1844, to Thomas and Malinda (Pringle) Smith, the

former of whom was born in Virginia in 1805 and
was brought by his father, Edward Smith, to this

state in 1808, when, before the encroachment of

civilization, wild game was plentiful. In 1809
Edward Smith purchased the farm on which his

grandson, John Smith, is now living, which place

had been entered by another man a short time

before. In payment for this land Mr. Smith gave
his horse, saddle and bridle and finished by pay-

ing the government a small balance due on the

land. At the time of his settlement there was but
one house between his place and Zanesville, a dis-

tance of six miles, and it was owned and occupied
by a Mr. Ecelberry. These two families had many
interesting experiences and on several occasions

united their forces for protection. The Smith
family came from Virginia to Ohio with a wagon
and a cart, and Mr. Smith always used horses in-

stead of oxen. He had four head of horses and
but very little money and as corn had to be bought,

for which he had, to pay $1 per bushel aud the
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journey to procure it occupied ten days at least, he
had at first a hard time to make both ends meet.

Three or four days were required to go to mill and,

like many other pioneers, they were compelled to

undergo many other inconveniences and hardships.

Mr. and Mrs. Smith reared a family of ten children

—five sons and five daughters—of whom Thomas
was the second. Nathan is the only son now living

and is a resident of Hardin county. Mrs. Elizabeth

Comstock is the only member of this family now
residing in this county. The father of these chil-

dren died in 1859 at the age of eighty-five years,

his wife’s death occurring on the 30th of October,

1861, at the age of eighty-one. Thomas Smith,

the father of the subject of this sketch, was reared

on the farm on which the latter now lives, and was
educated in the common schools of this county. At
the age of twenty years he married and moved
immediately to Blue Rock township, where his

father had purchased a farm of eighty acres and
presented to him, and to this land he afterward

added 160 acres, making it one of the finest farms
in the township. He took an active interest in the

affairs of his section and filled the offices of town-
ship trustee and land appraiser. He had the con-

fidence of all who knew him, and was a decided
acquisition to the section in which he located, for

besides being industrious and thrifty, he was en-

terprising and always up with the times. He was
a strict member of the Blue Rock Baptist church
for more than twenty years, and in his death his

family lost a kind and affectionate husband and
father and a faithful friend, and the community a

man true as a die to her interests and a lover of

peace and good order. He was an old time whig,

but during the latter part of his life voted the dem-
ocratic ticket. He resided on the farm in Blue
Rock township for fifty-five years and died on the

9th of April, 1881, at the age of seventy-six years.

His wife survived him until September, 1889, and
was buried on her eighty-fourth birthday. She
was a kind, gentle and considerate mother, a true

friend and an accommodating neighbor. She and
her husband reared a family of eight children:

Edward, who resides in Blue Rock township; Mary,
the deceased wife of Emmer Greenfield

;
Elizabeth,

the deceased wife of Austin Brothers; George, who
was accidentally killed at a house raising, by a log

falling on him; W. P., who resides in Blue Rock
township; Eliza J.

,
widow of George Roberts, re-

sides in Blue Rock township; John, the subject of

this sketch, and Jedidah, wife of J. E. Shaver, of

Blue Rock township. John Smith, whose name
heads this sketch, attended the common schools of

his precinct, but owing to the fact that his father

got crippled, a brother killed and another brother

married, the burden of conducting the farm fell

on his youthful shoulders and thus deprived him of

many a day’s schooling. He has always been quite

a reader and kept thoroughly posted on all the

general topics of the day and may be said to be a
well-informed man. At the age of twenty-one he
was married to Miss Calista Shaver, their union
taking place January 23, 1866, she being a daughter
of Levi and Anna (Hale) Shaver, the latter being
born on the ocean August 14, 1818. They were
shipwrecked on the way to this country from Ger-
many and were landed on one of the Portuguese
islands where they remained for one year, or until

the ship could be repaired. She had one brother and
one sister who died on the voyage and were buried

at sea. They finally landed in New York city and
Mr. Hale at once made his way to this state and
county and engaged in stock dealing and butcher-

ing at Chandlersville, but died soon after settling

in this section. They reared a family of four sons

and one daughter, the last the mother of the sub-

ject of this sketch. John resides in Springfield,

111., Alexander resides at Athens, 111., Oscar in

Peoria, of the same state, and Joseph in California.

The mother of these children lived to be sixty-five

years of age, dying in 1861. Mr. and Mrs. Shaver
became the parents of eight children. A pair of

twin boys died when small; a little girl also died;

and those living are: Calista (Mrs. Smith); Jonas
E., of Blue Rock township; Nancy and Louisa
(twins), the former being the wife of A. F. Cohagin;
Louisa, wife of George Davis, and Amanda, wife

Samuel Gillogly. Mrs. Shaver died June 5, 1854,

but Mr. Shaver is a resident of Blue Rock town-

ship, and although seventy-seven years of age is

yet stout and active. Mr. and Mrs. Smith are the

parents of four children: Levi S., Anna M., Wil-

lard T., and one that died in infancy. Mr. and
Mrs. Smith are members of the Methodist Epis-

copal church, and he is at present one of the school

directors of his district.

Frank H. Southard is one of the leading law-

yers of Muskingum county, Ohio, for he makes it

a principle of his to perfect his work and calling

more and more, to keep thoroughly posted in his

profession and to have a thorough knowledge of

the current topics of the day. He was born in

Licking county, Ohio, October 31, 1840, to Isaiah

and Elizabeth (Parnell) Southard, the former hav-

ing been born in Pennsylvania in 1801 and died in

Licking county, Ohio, in 1885. The mother was
born in Baltimore, Md., in 1807, and is now a res-

ident of Licking county. The Southard family

settled in that county in 1804, and there the early

boyhood of Frank H. Southard was spent. He
prepared himself for college in the common
schools and went through the junior year at Den-
nison university at Granville, Ohio, being after-

ward admitted to the senior year in the Wesleyan
university of Delaware, Ohio, graduating in the
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classical course in 1864. The following year he

entered the law department of the Michigan uni-

versity, and in 1866 was admitted to the bar at

Mount Vernon, Ohio, entering upon the practice

of his profession in Zanesville in the fall of the fol-

lowing year. He has been connected with many
important trials. He was married in 1872 to Miss
Laura Laughry, and by her has one son—Carl M.
Mr. Southard supports the men and measures of

the democrat party.

Col. T. F. Spangler, president of the People’s

Savings bank and a member of the firm of T. F.

Spangler & Co.
,
dealers in real estate, is the son

of Benjamin and Elizabeth (Torrance) Spangler,

natives of Ohio. The Spangler family is of Ger-

man origin, and its members were among the pio-

neer settlers of Maryland. The paternal grand-

father, Jacob Spangler, was quite young at the

breaking out of the War of 1812, but served as a

drummer boy. After growing up he followed

agricultural pursuits. He came to Ohio from Mary-
land and settled in Muskingum county in pioneer

days, locating in Wayne township. He subse-

quently moved to Zanesville, and died there when
quite aged. Benjamin Spangler was a farmer in his

early days, but is now retired and resides in Zanes-

ville. He was a member of the city council for

several years. He had one son and one daughter
—Col. T. F. and Mrs. Mary J. Orr, of Columbus,
Ohio. Col. Spangler was born in Zanesville on the

28th of March, 1849, and graduated from the high

school of Zanesville in 1867. After this, like

many of the other prominent men of the county,

he began for himself as a school teacher, following

this profession for two winters in the country
schools. He then entered the law office of A. W.
Train and was admitted to the bar in 1873. While
studying law he was clerk for the firm of Ball &
Train, being the student of the latter, and after

his admission to the bar began practicing immedi-
ately. He became connected with the build-

ing association of the city, and organized the

Union Building company, the Mclntire Building
Company association, and is now managing the

Homestead Building and Savings company, of

which he is general manager, secretary and attor-

ney. This company has 1,100 members, and has
a capital of over $1,000,000, with $700,000 active

stock. He was the senior member of Spangler &
Finley, attorneys and real estate dealers, from
1881 to 1887, and this proved very paying. The
firm became well known and did an immense
business. The People’s Saving bank was organ-
ized in the fall of 1889, Mr. Spangler being
elected a director and its president. The firm of

T. F. Spangler & Co. represents the Pennsylvania
Railroad company in various ways, and is com-
posed of T. F. Spangler and W. J. Atwell. It

represented the land interest and was largely inter-

ested in the Cleveland & Canton railroad on its

terminus in Zanesville; also the Zanesville Ter-

minal railway, for which this firm has purchased

$150,000 worth of land in the Second ward, for

which they held the title. Mr. Spangler was ap-

pointed on the military staff of Gov. Hoadley in

January, 1884, with the rank of colonel, and served

in that capacity for two years, during which time

the Cincinnati riot occurred. He was in active

service for ten days, and afterward received a let-

ter of thanks from the governor for his good
service during that time. Upon the election of

Gov. James E. Campbell he was appointed to the

same position. ' Col. Spangler has been a very

active member of the board of trade, and has
been a director since its organization. He was
also the chairman of a special committee of five

men that retained the American Encaustic Tile

works. Mr. Spangler has ever been active in pro-

moting the welfare and progress of Zanesville and
is one of its representative citizens. He is a mem-
ber of the I. O. O. F. and a Thirty-second degree
Mason. He was married in 1875 to Miss Mary S.

Cox, sister of Sunset Cox, so well known. He is

the father of four children: Leo! a, Dora, Helen,

and Arthur C. He and wife are members of the

Market Street Baptist church, leading and popular
members of society, and possess social qualities of

a high order.

Robert W. Speer, a prominent agriculturist

of Muskingum county, Ohio, was born on the farm
where he now resides on March 4, 1807, and was
the eldest child born to William aud Rebecca
(Boggs) Speer. William Speer was born in Adams
county, Penn., near the Gettysburg battle ground,

on January 19, 1778, and was a son of Robert
Speer, who was a native of the north of Ireland.

The latter emigrated to the United States about

1760, settled on a farm in Adams county, Penn.,
and there passed his last days. His wife’s maiden
name was Agnes Stewart, and they were engaged
to be married before he came to this country.

After settling in Adams county and getting a pretty

good start, he returned to the land of his birth

and his sweetheart whom he married and brought
back with him. They died in that county in 1813,
within three days of each other. William Speer
was reared on a farm, and when a young man
came to Muskingum county, settling on the farm
now owned and occupied by our subject. He took
up land about 1804. He had one sister aud six

brothers, four of whom came to Ohio and settled

in Guernsey and Muskingum counties. William
was married in Washington county, Penn., in 1806,
and after coming to this country followed black-

smithing until about 1814, after which time he
cultivated the soil spending the principal part of
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bis days engaged in the latter occupation. He
reared a family of ten children—two sons and eight

daughters: Robert, Sarah, Jane, Mary, Rebecca,
William, Margaret, Eliza, Martha and Nancy.
The father died about 1832. His wife, who was a

native of Washington county, Penn., was a

daughter of James Boggs, who was a soldier in

the Revolutionary war, and a friend of Gen. Wash-
ington, being appointed to some official position

by the latter. He was land agent for George
Washington, who gave him a farm in Washington
county, Penn., after the war. Mr. and Mrs. Boggs
were members of the Presbyterian church and
both received their final summons in Washington
county,Penn. RobertW. Speer’s boyhood days were
spent on his father’s farm, about one-half mile

from New Concord, and from 1814 until 1832 he
was in Guernsey county. From the latter date

until the present he has been a resident of Mus-
kingum county and one of its most esteemed and
worthy citizens. He was married in 1837 to Miss
Sarah Jamison, a native of Muskingum county,

born in 1817, and one of a large family of children

born to the marriage of Elder John Jamison of

this township and county. Her parents came
originally from Erie county, Penn., and settled in

Muskingum county, as early as 1809. The father

followed farming. Mr. and Mrs. Speer became
the parents of twelve children: Margaret, now
Mrs. Stevenson, resides in St. Louis, Mo. ;

Rebecca,
now Mrs. Robb, resides in this county and town-
ship; Sarah, who married Rev. W. Stevenson,

died in Illinois; Rev. James, resides in Wapinitia,

Ore.; John a farmer and lumberman, resides at

Elk, Mich.
;

Lizzie, now Mrs. George, resides at

McDonald, Penn.; Cammeron, is a farmer near
Elk, Mich.; Flora, Mrs. Thompson, of Washington
county, 111.; H. W.

,
at home, engaged in farming;

Hester, at home; Joana, at home; and Lena, also

at home. Mrs. Speer passed away at her home in

Union township in 1882. She was a member of

the Reformed Presbyterian church. Mr. Speer
also holds membership in that church. He was
formerly a whig in his political views, and although
in sympathy with the republican party at the

present time, he does not vote. He has a good
farm of 100 acres and is one of the foremost
planters of the county. He is interested in church
and school matters and was a member of the

board of trustees of Muskingum college for many
years.

William Speer, who is one of the oldest pioneers

of the county with which he has been identified

since 1832, was born in Guernsey county, Ohio,

July 15, 1817, to the union of William and Rebecca
(Boggs) Speer, both natives of the Keystone state,

the father born January 19, 1778, and the mother
in 1784. William Speer Sr., followed blacksmith-

ing during the early part of his life, but later en-

gaged in tilling the soil. At an early day he
moved to Ohio, and there his family, consisting of

ten children, was reared. They were named as

follows: Robert, Sarah, Jane, Mary, Rebecca,

William, Margaret, Eliza, Martha and Nancy A.

The father died in Muskingum county, on June 12,

1832. He and wife were members of the Associate

Reformed church, and he was a whig in politics.

William Speer Jr., remained in his native county

until 1831 or 1832, and then moved to this

county and settled on his present farm which con-

sists of eightv-four acres. Agricultural pursuits

have been his life’s calling and lie has met with sub-

stantial results in this occupation. In his thirtieth

year he married Miss Margaret Pollock, a native of

Muskingum county, Ohio, born March 17, 1827,

and the daughter of Abraham and Jane (Bigger)

Pollock, natives of Pennsylvania. Her parents

came to Guernsey county, Ohio, prior to the War
of 1812, in which her father served as a soldier,

but later moved to Muskingum county, where the

father died shortly afterward. The mother died

in this county about twenty-three years ago. Mr.

Pollock was a member of the Presbyterian church

and his wife of the Associate Reformed church.

Mr. Pollock was a whig in politics and represented

Muskingum county two terms in the legislature.

He was a prominent politician at that time. Their

children, four in number, were named as follows:

Samuel (residing on a farm in this county), Mary
J. (died in 1835), Margaret (subject’s wife), and
Rachel M. (now Mrs. Watson, resides in Guernsey
county). Mr. and Mrs. Speer became the parents

of seven children: Rebecca J. died at the age of

ten years; John B., a farmer of Highland township,

this county; William P. died at the age of three

years; Sarah M.
,
residing at home; Mary M., also

at home; Anna E., who is now Mrs. Watson
and resides in this county, and Robert S. , who re-

sides at home. Mr. Speer and wife are members
of the R. P. church, in which he is an elder, and
in the past he took a deep interest in church work.

The children are nearly all members of the same
church.

During his entire life Jason Spencer, farmer,

Zanesville, has been a resident of Muskingum
county, Ohio, and he enjoys the reputation of be-

ing an honest, upright man in every respect, fully

deserving the good opinion with which he is re-

garded by every one. He was born in this county,

February 28, 1814, and is the son of Ichabod and
Mary (Smith) Spencer, both natives of New Jer-

sey. The parents were married in their native

state and as early as 1805 emigrated to Muskingum
county, Ohio, settling on the farm now owned by
their son, Jason. It was all in the woods then

and Mr. Spencer immediately erected a log house



HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY. 571

and began improving his place. He had traded

fifty acres of very stony land for 375 acres in

Muskingum county and after arriving here he had
but $75 to keep his family until he could clear land

and raise a crop. He continued improving his

farm until his death, which occurred February 16,

1856. He was a hard-working man and an influ-

ential citizen. In clearing his land he would be so

late in the season in getting in his crops that he

would not take time to plow his ground, but would
mark it out and his wife and children would plant.

The mother died October 2, 1858. Our subject’s

paternal grandfather, William Spencer, was of

English descent. Jason Spencer was the seventh

in order of birth of eight children and is the only

one now living. He has always resided on his

present property, the old homestead, and has car-

ried on what his father began. He was married

in 1840 to Miss Rachel Savidge, a native also of

Muskingum county, residing about two miles from
the home of Mr. Spencer and her parents were
early settlers also, coming here a few years after

Mr. Spencer. Mrs. Spencer died on February 26,

1890.

Joseph Spencer, farmer, Frazeysburg, Ohio.

Among the well-known pioneer settlers of Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, the Spencers deserve honor-

able mention, for not only are they classed among
the first settlers, but they have ever been respected

and esteemed citizens. Mr. Spencer’s grandfather,

Joseph Spencer, was a native of Maryland, of

English descent, and was a shoemaker by trade.

He was the father of five children: Foreman,
Edward, William, Sarah and Gracie (who died in

Maryland). Grandfather Spencer came to Ohio in

fearly life, after the death of his first wife, and af-

ter her son, Foreman, had made a start, built a

home and married. He lived with his son until

his death, when seventy-five years of age. He
was a member of the Baptist church and was well

thqught of by the old settlers. His son, Foreman
Spencer, was born in Maryland, September 1, 1784,
secured but a limited education, and there learned
the trade of a tanner and shoemaker. He was one
of the first settlers of Muskingum county, Ohio,
emigrating there, it is believed, about 1800 or 1801,
with a family by the name of Tanner, the descend-
ants of whom are now residing in Zanesville.

Mr. Spencer entered land which is now the farm
of his grandson, John Spencer. Muskingum town-
ship was then an unbroken wilderness, and to the
best knowledge of our subject there was not a
single settler in it. Mr. Spencer first built a log
cabin and here resided for a number of years. He
had entered his land, but had no money to pay for

it. He had a horse, and having some time in

which to pay for his land, he mounted that animal
and with some provisions and a sack of oats, he

visited Virginia to borrow $100 of an uncle. He
received the money and returned in time to save

the land, consisting of 160 acres. He again re-

turned to Virginia and married Miss Dorothy
Wiseman of West Virginia, on the Little Kenesaw
river. The fruits of this union were eight chil-

dren, all of whom lived to maturity: Wilson,

Foreman, Owen, Wiseman, Harriet, Joseph, Eliza-

beth and Minerva. Mr. Spencer was a great

worker and cleared his land of the heavy timber

with which it was covered. For many years his

nearest neighbor was ten and fifteen miles away,
except one family that lived where the covered

bridge now is, near Frazeysburg, and he used to

go ten miles to a log rolling. He used to goto the

falls of Licking river for his grist of meal, horse-

back, and hitch his horse to the branches of the

beech trees, waiting sometimes all night to

get his grist ground, and sleeping under the trees.

On his way home, he would frequently miss his

cabin, although near it, on account of the thick

foliage of the trees. Here he labored hard, en-

dured all the privation of pioneer days, and grad-

ually made a fine farm. He cared very little for

hunting and did not waste his time that way, well

knowing that the farm was the road to success.

He used to wrap up his children and lay them un-

der the beech trees while his wife would gather
brush to keep up a fire so that he could see to grub
up the bushes with his mattock. In this way he
worked and delved until he finally owned 600 acres.

His sons, as they grew up, greatly assisted him,

which he repaid by giving them land. Mr. Spen-
cer built a brick house before 1817, and this was
the first brick building in that county. There
were none at Nashport, Irville or Frazeysburg at

that early day. He got out the timber on his own
land, burned the brick on his own farm and they

are in excellent condition to this day. He built

the house by piece meal and the walls are still

standing in good condition. Mr. Spencer gave an
acre of land to build the Old School Baptist church
on, and this still stands and is occupied by them.
The land where Shannon now stands belonged to

Mr. Spencer, who founded the town and which at

one time had a general store; a physician, and all

the different trades were represented. He was the

first tanner in this township, or in this part of the

county, beginning the business soon after coming
here and continuing it for many years. The
money he made in that way assisted him in paying
for his land. He was very careful and economical,
and the household clothing was all raised, spun,

woven and made upon the farm. He used to go
to Taylor’s salt works for salt, paying several dol-

lars per barrel. His faithful wife died at the early

age of thirty-seven. She was an Old School Bap-
tist in her religious belief and a devout woman.
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About fifteen years afterward Mr. Spencer mar-
ried the widow of Jesse Crannell, formerly a Miss
Margaret Evans, and to them was born one child.

Mr. Spencer was one of the foremost men of the
township and took an active interest in its advance-
ment. After rearing his children and giving land
to each, he sold his property in Ohio, and went to

New York city, where he took passage on a sail-

ing vessel for San Francisco. From there he went
to Portland, Ore., and settled thirty miles from
that city in the Willamette valley on new land which
was then a wilderness, and here Mr. Spencer again
made a new home in a new country. During the

period of the great Civil war about 1861 and 1862,

his daughter, Harriet Baxter, with her husband
(John Baxter) and seven children, went to Oregon
and settled in the home of Mr. Spencer, who was
now an old man, and who lived about eight years

afterward, dying at the age of eighty-six years.

He left a handsome property of over 300 acres in

the Willamette valley. Mr. Spencer was very ener-

getic and a good business man, depending more on
his business management and not so much on hard
work the latter part of his life. He was honorable
and upright and his word was as good as his bond.
His son, Joseph Spencer, was born in Muskingum
county, Ohio, July 8, 1823, and received but a lim-

ited education. At an early age he began assisting

his father to clear the home place, and worked
with untiriug industry on the same for years. At
the age of twenty-four he married the daughter
of Chaney and Sarah Mendenhall, one of the pio-

neer settlers of Jackson township, coming from
Virginia at an early day. To Mr. and Mrs. Spen-
cer was born one child, Jesse J.

,
who is now a

married man with two children and is living in

Kansas on a farm. After his marriage Joseph
Spencer lived with his father until he was thirty-

one years of age. His wife died three years after

marriage, and six years later, at the age of thirty-

one, he married Miss Martha Bail who bore him
four children, all of whom lived to grow to ma-
turity: Foreman, William H., Thomas C. and
Flora A. After his marriage, and in 1855, he
moved to his present farm which his father had
given him and which consisted of 128 acres. To
this he has added from time to time until he now
owns 328 acres, besides having given his sons 120
acres in Jackson township. Mr. Spencer has been
successful in farming, and is one of the substantial

men of the county. He holds membership in the

Presbyterian church and has been trustee of the

same for some time. He takes a decided interest

in educational matters and has been school direct-

or. In politics he is a republican. He has lived

all his life in this township, is well known, and is a

temperate, moral man. He made a trip to Oregon
and Washington territory in 1888 and was much
pleased with the Willamette valley.

Wiseman Spencer, farmer, Dresden, Ohio, is

an old soldier, and when the country needed his

services he did not hesitate to risk his life in its

defense. His grandfather, Foreman Spencer, was
one of the pioneer settlers of Muskingum county
[see sketch of Joseph Spencer] and Wilson Spen-
cer, son of Foreman, was born on the old Spencer
homestead near Shannon. In youth his time was
divided in attending the common school and assist-

ing his father on the farm, and when grown he was
united in marriage to Miss Sarah Cole, daughter
of Samuel Cole. The fruits of this union were
eight children, four of whom died when small:

Samuel, Martha, John, Wiseman, Francis, Louisa,

Sarah, and Marshall. Mr. Spencer advocated the
principles of the republican party, and during the

war he was a stanch Union man. Socially he
was a Mason, a member of the lodge at Frazeys-

burg. He became a substantial farmer, and at the

time of his death, which occurred in 1864, when
fifty-five years of age, he was the owner of 300
acres of good land. He had two sons in the Civil

war, Wiseman and Marshall. The latter enlisted

in the Seventy-ninth regiment, Ohio Volunteer in-

fantry, and served in all about four years. He
re- enlisted as a veteran and was in many battles.

He is now a resident in Frazeysburg. Wilson
Spencer was a hard-working, industrious citizen,

and was well respected in the vicinity in which he
lived. His son, Wiseman Spencer, subject of this

sketch, received his scholastic advantages in the

common schools, and learned all the details of farm
life in early youth. When twenty-one years of

age, or on the of 15th September, 1861, he enlisted

in the Fifteenth regiment, Ohio Volunteer infan-

try, Company B, and this was the first regiment to

respond to the call for men in Muskingum county.

Young Spencer was mustered into service at

Mansfield, Ohio, and his first service was in a

skirmish at Green river, Ky. Later he partici-

pated in a severe skirmish at Liberty Gap, in

which his command lost eight men. Shortly

afterward Mr. Spencer was taken prisoner, but
was only held a few days, when he was exchanged.

He was in the great battle of Chickamauga, Tenn.

,

and was shot through the chest, a minie-ball pass-

ing through the lower part of the right lung and
lodging in the fleshy part of the back where the

ball could be felt. He fell to the ground insensi-

ble, but in a very short time became conscious,

arose to his feet, and walked about fifty yards

toward the field hospital. His comrades then

came to his assistance and placing him on a

stretcher carried him to the hospital, in which
500 wounded men were lying. The hospital was
a log house, and as it was in the line of fire a flag

of truce waved from the top. The hospital was
full and Mr. Spencer was placed on the outside

of the house. That night the confederates capt-
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ured the hospital. There Mr. Spencer lay for

eight days without shelter, with scanty food

—

principally corn gruel—and as the surgeons were

too busy to extract the ball from his back it re-

mained there eight days. He nearly died during

that time. At the end of the eight days he was
removed to the creek with the other prisoners, the

United States furnishing the confederates with

tents and surgeons for the wounded. The prison-

ers were then examined, and those able to walk
were taken to Liberty prison, while those remaining
were exchanged. Mr. Spencer, being badly wounded,
was exchanged about ten days after he was
wounded. He was then taken, with others, to the

hospital at Chattanooga, remained there one week,

and was then taken in an ambulance to Stevenson,

Ala. There he remained one month. The ball

was cut out at the field hospital, after inflammation

set in, and Mr. Spencer still has in his possession

the ball that so nearly caused his death. He was in

Nashville, Tenn., about a month and was there dis-

charged as permanently disabled; his father com-
ing for him. After reaching home he was sick for

a year, but he has never fully recovered, and can
not do a full day’s work, although a strong and
hearty man when he entered the service. He was
in active service two years and three months, and
receives now a pension from his country. He was
a good and faithful soldier and was ever ready for

duty. On the 28th of December, 1864, he married
Miss Emily Riley, daughter of Samuel Riley [see

sketch of Joseph Riley], and afterward settled on
a farm where Howard Spencer now lives. There
he made his home for eight years and then bought
his present farm, which consists of 190 acres of

land with good buildings, etc., on which this old

soldier expects to pass the remainder of his days.

To Mr. and Mrs. Spencer were born nine children:

Effie, Minett W., Charles, Annie, Edna, Eliza,

Ollie, Mary and Leah. Mr. and Mrs. Spencer are

members of the Presbyterian church and he is

trustee in the same. He takes an interest in all

laudable enterprises and is now holding the office

of township trustee. He is active in school matters
and is a director. He is a member of the Cass post,

G. A. R., of Dresden, and in politics is a repub-
lican. He is one of the county’s best citizens and
is universally respected.

Pliineas P. Sprague, Otsego, Ohio. James
Sprague Sr., was from Massachusetts and a sol-

dier in the Revolutionary war. At the age of sev-

enteen years he ran away and joined the continen-

tal army and served through the seven years’ war.
He then returned home and married. His chil-

dren were Lydia, Anson and Ralph. This wife
died in Massachusetts, and he, with several broth-

ers, Jonathan and Nehemiah, joined a company
who were the first settlers of Marietta, Ohio, under

Gen. Rufus Putnam. Mr. Sprague was in the

fort during the famous defense against the Indians
and remembered seeing the celebrated Indian
fighter and scout, Lewis Wetzel. Nehemiah and
Jonathan Sprague were famous hunters, and
while the Indian troubles were still ripe, ascended
the Muskingum river in a canoe, and entering the

mouth of Wills creek, ascended about five miles and
discovered a lake which is now called James Will-

iams pond. Here they hid their canoe carefully

from the Indians and hunted. They could hear
the Indians .about them and proceeded carefully.

One night Jonathan Sprague was bitten by a

snake on the head, and he cut out a piece of his

scalp as large as- a quarter. They were probably
the first white men who saw Wills creek. After a

residence of some years at Marietta, Mr. James
Sprague married again a Miss Susan Rife from
Pennsylvania and of German descent, and by her
became the father of eleven children: Samuel,
Elizabeth, Jonathan, Eliza, Levina, Elisa, Lucinda,
Rosena, William, James and Ralph. Mr. Sprague
took his family and moved to what isnow Dresden,
and what was then known as Old Town. Here he
ran a mill for a man named Elbridge. In 1812
Mr. Sprague came to what is now Otsego, and was
the first white man to settle in the wilds of what is

now Monroe township. He erected a rude hut
where Joseph Walker lived. There were only two
hours between him and Zanesville. Mr. Sprague
was a great hunter, had visited Otsego on some of

his hunting excursions and was attracted to settle

there on account of the game which abounded.
He entered land and lived there from 1812 to 1835.

He was a lover of freedom and once sheltered an
old Negro female slave who had run away from her
master in Virginia. James Sprague and his wife

were members of the Methodist church. About
1835 Mr. Sprague and his family went to southern

Indiana and settled on the neck where the White
river empties into the Wabash. He resided there

until 1845, when he returned and lived with his

sons. He lived to the great age of ninety-six or

ninety-seven years and received a pension from the

government for his services in the Revolutionary
war. Elijah Sprague, his son and the father of

our subject, was born at Dresden in 1801 . He at-

tended school only about two weeks and learned to

read and write at home. He became a famous
hunter. At the age of thirteen years he shot with

his father’s rifle a panther ten feet long from tip

to tip. One evening when his father and older

brothers were away, himself and William, a

younger brother, went after the cows, both boys

riding a pony without bridle or saddle, and accom-
panied by two large dogs. They discovered a

panther crouched in a tree. They returned imme-
diately to the house, secured a rifle and tomahawk



574 HISTORY OF MUSKINGUM COUNTY.

and returned to the scene of action. Dismounting
and going to the tree he shot the panther through
the neck and down it came struggling to the

ground. The large wolf dogs of the family sprang
upon it, and young Elijah, seizing the tomahawk
from his brother, struck him repeatedly. The
tomahawk is still preserved in the family. The
boys loaded the panther on the pony’s back and in

triumph carried him home. Maj. Jonathan Cass,

a large landholder of Dresden wanted to present

the brave boys with a suit of clothes, but Mr.
Sprague would not allow it. He married Eliza-

beth Palmer, daughter of Phineas Palmer, the
father of nine children: Mary, James, Julia, Rachel,
Cornelius, Joseph, John, Phoebe and Ann. After
marriage Elijah Sprague settled at Otsego. He
was the father of five children: Phineas, Emily,
James, Margaret A. and Emeline. Mr. Sprague
lived all his life in Union township, except one
year which he passed in southern Indiana. Both
himself and wife were members of the Methodist
Protestant church. He lived to the good old age
of eighty-six, dying in 1887. Phineas P. Sprague,
his son and our subject, was born August 31, 1825,
in Washington county, Ohio, where his father re-

sided one year after his marriage. He received

the usual limited common-school education, but has
always been a great reader. He accompanied his

father on many deer hunts, driving the deer to

their farm for his father to shoot. He married
Margaret J. Elson, daughter of Henry and Han-
nah (Laughlin) Elson. Henry Elson was from
Crawford county, Penn., near Meadville, of Ger-
man descent and a son of Tunis Elson who came
to Ohio in a pirogue with his family consisting of

wife and four children: Sarah, Henry, Tunis and
James. There were two daughters who remained
at Paden’s Island, Ya. Tunis Elson proceeded to

what is now Marquand Mills where the ripple

stopped him. Samuel Sprague moved the Elsons
through the woods horseback and they settled there

in a log hut, with neither door nor floor, which had
been built by James Sprague. Here Mr. Elson
made a good farm and built the first gristmill in

this vicinity. Henry Elson, his son, was the father

of Mrs. Sprague and was a boy when his father

came to this country. He married Hannah Laugh-
lin, and died at the age of eighty-two years in this

township. He and his wife were the parents of

three children: Margaret J.
,

Charity G., and
James G. ,

who died when young. Mrs. Elson is

an old lady of seventy-nine years and still lives on
the old homestead where she moved when first

married some sixty years ago. Mr. and Mrs. El-

son were members of the Methodist church and he
has been a member of fifty years’ standing. Phineas
P. Sprague, after his marriage, settled on the old

Elson farm where he has since lived. To Mr. and

Mrs. Sprague have been born eight children: Ran-
som (died at twenty-three years of age), Elijah

(died at eight years of age), Angeline (died at four

years of age), Charlotte (died at eight years of

age), Melina J. (wife of Charles W. Buker), Viola

(died at twenty-three years of age), Elijah (at

home on the farm), and Ela D. (a young lady at

home). Mr. and Mrs. Sprague are members of

the Methodist Protestant church, and in politics he
is a strict democrat and is in favor of the alliance

movement. He is a practical farmer and has one
of the largest apiaries in this county. He is a stu-

dent of bee-keeping, has made a success of it and
now owns more than 100 good swarms. He has

been interested in bees ever since he was a boy
and now has all the modern improvements and can
make his own comb foundations.

Homer L. Stamets, furniture dealer of Frazeys-

burg, Ohio, is from a family distinguished in both

Prussia, the country from which the family origi-

nally sprung, and America, where the great-grand-

father of Homer, Philip Steinmetz, settled at the

beginning of the Revolutionary war. The name
has assumed a number of different forms among
the Pennsylvanians. Philip Steinmetz was born

in the province of Schwabruken, near the city of

Schwabruken, Rhein Baiern, Prussia, southeast of

Antwerp, Belgium. He was professionally a

soldier, and was lieutenant of hussars in the army
of the Empire, belonging to the illustrious family

of whom we have the genealogy of six generations

of military men, the late Gen. Steinmetz of the

Prussian army being one of the number. Philip

was of a negative disposition, but his descendants

show bold, resolute and defiant qualities when once

thoroughly espousing an opinion or cause. He
was finely educated, and an ardent republican, he

was hated by the sycophants and tools of monarchy,

and among other petty offenses to the same he, with

some companions, was guilty, while hunting, of start-

ing and killing some game belonging to the king.

The penalty was several months’ imprisonment and
forfeiture of pay. Steinmetz defied the officers and
escaped, leaving his companions in custody. He
made his way to the French frontier and securing

protection, took passage for America, arriving at

Philadelphia on the eve of the great Revolution.

He fought with distinction in the continental

army and at Germantown, which was one of the

many battles in which he participated, he was
wounded. He served under Washington, to whom
tradition shows he was warmly attached, as cap-

tain of a Pennsylvania company of light-horse.

He was promoted for some gallant service to higher

rank, which at the close of the war he was still

holding. He was at one time reluctantly induced

to fight a duel with a British officer, who had the

reputation of killing every Prussian that ever en-
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countered him. He met his foe on horseback,

vanquished him, severing his head from his body.

He was of medium hight, but of powerful phy-
sical stature. He was of a mechanical turn of mind,
and was sober and temperate save in the habit of

smoking. He was a devoted member of the Lu-
theran church, and politically was a follower of

Thomas Jefferson. He penetrated the wilderness

from Lancaster county, Penn.
,
where some of his

older children were born, and settled three miles

east of the present city of Greensburg, Westmore-
land county. After some years he removed from
Greensburg and purchased 500 acres of land, the

site of which ancestral seat is one of the most
beautiful and picturesque in Pennsylvania. Philip

Steinmetz was a great lover of horses, and even in

his advanced years trained his horse to leap, with
him on his back, over fences and gates, and hold-

ing his hat in his hand he would exclaim: “ So
geht du alte hussar.” The helmet that he wore is

still preserved. He had a soldier’s land grant, and
selected land on which a part of East Liberty, four

miles in the rear of Pittsburg, now stands. After

his death, which occurred in 1807, on the 4th of

February, his heirs were notified that an immense
fortune of $7,000,000 was due them. They were
tardy in investigating proceedings, and it was not

until the year 1840 that claim was made to the

property. In that year the venerable John
Schneider, of Wilkinsburg, grandson of Philip

Steinmetz, employed counsel to prosecute the mat-
ter. They ascertained the certainty of the inherit-

ance but were unable to prove to the satisfaction

of the German government the identity of Philip

Steinmetz. and the fortune is lost to his descend-
ants. Philip Steinmetz lies buried at Harold
Church, Penn., and the G. A. R., each memorial
day, places floral tributes on his grave. He had
three sons that bore commissions in the War of

1812; Philip, Jacob and John. The two former
were distinguished as Indian fighters during that

war. Philip Steinmetz, Sr., was the father of

twelve children: Philip. Jacob. Susannah, George,
Peter, Leonard, Catherine, Mollie, Hannah, John,
Anna and Christopher. Their descendants are now
numerous. George Stamets (or Steinmetz) was
the grandfather of the subject of this sketch, and
was born in Westmoreland county, Penn., after-

ward moving to Muskingum county, Ohio. He
was among the early pioneers here and for a num-
ber of years ran the Mendenhall mill, which was
one of the first in the county. About 1822 he set-

tled on land one mile north of Frazeysburg, which
at that time was covered with heavy timber, and
like so many of the pioneers of that day

“ He cut, he logged, he cleared Iuh lot,

And into many a dismal spot,

He let the light of day.”

He resided on this farm until his death, which
occurred at the age of eighty two years. He was
married in Pennsylvania and was the father of

twelve children: John, George, Evan, Harrison,

Leah, Malinda and Harriet, being the only ones

known. Mr. Stamets was a devout member of the

Church of Christ, and throughout life was a man
of strict integrity of character and is still well

remembered by the old pioneers of the county.

His son, John, lives near Marysville, Ohio; George
resides at Brownsville, Penn., and a son of the

latter, who also bears the name of George, is at

the head of an immense co operative store at Brad-

dock, Penn., and is a prominent business manager
and friend of the great capitalist, Andrew Carnegie.

George Jr.’s brothers are John, Evan and Harri-

son. The sisters are Ruth, Mary, Amy, Sarah and
Amelia. Evan P. Stamets, son of George, and the

father of the subject of this sketch, was born in

Muskingum county, Ohio, in 1818, received a com-

mon-school education and was brought up to the

life of a farmer. He was married to Miss Sarah

E. Slaughter, daughter of Samuel and Margaret
Slaughter [see sketch of Samuel Dunn], and to

their union were born seven children: Harriet,

John, Homer L., George E., Sarah E., Lydia A.

and Amelia C. Mr. Stamets resided on the old

homestead and added to it until he became the

owner of 145 acres, and lived on this farm all his

life. He and his wife were members of the Church
of Christ for about twenty-two years. He made
horse-raising his chief business, and was a substan-

tial farmer and a man of great integrity of char-

acter. He was a democrat in politics, and during

the Civil war was a stanch Union man. Homer L.

Stalnets, his son, was born Murch 22, 1845, re-

ceived a good common-school education in his

youth and learned the carpenter’s trade, at which

he worked from the time he was twenty-one years

of age until 1889, eight years of which time were
spent as a contractor. A part of this time he was
with David McNaught and John Kipp. As a con-

tractor Mr. Stamets built the flouring mill at

Frazeysburg and the Methodist Episcopal church

at Frazeysburg, also many residences. In 1889
he began dealing in furniture in Frazeysburg, and
has built up a good trade. He was married on

December 20, 1866, to Miss Nancy E. Wilson,

daughter of William C. and Mary G. (Prior) Wil-

son, the former of whom is a farmer of Irish

descent. His father, Matthew Wilson, came from

Ireland and settled in Muskingum county on Irish

Ridge. Mr. and Mrs. Stamets are the parents of

three children: Emmet L.
,
William E. and Oscar

B. Mr. Stamets has been a lifelong member of

the Church of Christ, and since 1884 has been an

elder. He is a man who has the respect of all who
know him, and is an active member of the town
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council and the school board and one of the direct-

ors of the Building and Loan association. He
has been successful in business and stands high as

an honorable business man. Politically he is a

democrat with prohibition principles. The Stamets
family has furnished officers and privates for every

war, save the Mexican, from the time of the Revo-
lution until the present, and in the 120 years of

the family’s residence in America it has not fur-

nished a solitary criminal, but on the other hand
honest and useful citizens.

Austin J. Starrett, a native of Muskingum
county, Ohio, was born in Newton township in 1835,

the son of George and Mary A. (Pierce) Starrett.

The father was the son of Joseph and Ann (Morri-

son) Starrett. Joseph Starrett was born in Ire-

land, and was one of three brothers who came to

Muskingum county in 1816, and settled in Rich
Hill township. These three brothers were John,
James and Joseph, all married and had families.

Of John’s family none are left, of James a few are

living in this county. Joseph married in Wash-
ington county, Penn., and had six children when he
emigrated to this county and settled on a farm in

Rich Hill township, about three miles from Chand-
lersville, here he died in 1864, at the age of seven-

ty-eight years, from an injury received by a train on
the B. & O. R. R., at the S. M. Hadden crossing.

He was the father of fifteen children, all who lived to

maturity except one. He was one of the success-

ful and honest farmers of the county and a member
of the Associate Reformed church, and in politics his

sympathies were with the whig party. His wife,

Ann Morrison, was a native of Washington county,
Penn., and their children are named as follows:

Charles, Mary, George, Anna, James, Jennie,

Samuel, Elizabeth, John, Hannah, Margaret, El-

len, Sarah, Nancy, and Joseph who died at six

years of age. Of this family all but Hannah and
Ellen reared families, and John. Sarah (Mrs.

Knight), and Nancy (Mrs. Stitt) are still living.

George, the father of our subject was one of the
six born in Pennsylvania, and was a young boy
when his parents settled in Rich Hill township.
He attended the subscription schools of the county,
and when he was eighteen years of age learned
the carpenter’s trade, and followed that all his life.

He located in Taylorsville, and in 1834 married
Mary A. Pierce. He was a member of the Asso-
ciate Reformed church and died in January, 1840,
when only twenty- eight years of age. He was a

whig in politics. His wife, Mary A. Pierce, was
born in Pennsylvania, and was a daughter of Nich-
olas Pierce and Margaret (Moody) Pierce. The
father was born in New Jersey and was a son of

James Pierce, a native of that state. Nicholas
married in Pennsylvania, and two children were
born there. He moved to Newton township, this

county, in 1807, and entered a farm upon which
he lived until his death, in 1838. In politics he
was a whig; a man well posted on all public mat-
ters, honest and hard working, and reared a family

of eight children. His wife died in Newton town-
ship about 1853. Their children were Mary A.

(subject’s mother), Samuel, Andrew, Robert, Eliz-

abeth, James, Alexander, Steven, all deceased.

Mary A. was born in Pennsylvania, in 1805, and
was but two years of age upon coming to Ohio.

She attended the schools here, was here married
and was the mother of three children: Austin J.,

Homer T. and George P., all living. Austin and
Homer were both in the late war. At the death
of George Starrett, his widow, in 1844, married
Samuel Woodard, a native of Newton township,

Muskingum county, Ohio, and the son of Amos
Woodard. This union was blessed with five

children: David, Hester A., Emma, Martha and
Olive, all living except David who died in 1869;

the rest are living in Iowa. Our subject’s mother,

in 1865, aged sixty-four years, settled in Cedar
Rapids, Iowa, where she died in 1873. She was a

member of the Presbyterian church. Homer T.

Starrett, a brother of Austin J., is living in Zanes-

ville in the coal business. He was a soldier in the

late war and served six months; is married and
the father of three children: Minnie, George and
Irwin.

Austin J. Starrett is the eldest grandson on
both his father’s and mother’s side. He was edu-

cated in the schools of Union township and was
there married, in 1856, to Martha C. Elliott, a

daughter of Simon Elliott, born in 1837. After

their marriage Mr. and Mrs. Starrett settled on a

farm in Union township, later in Highland town-

ship and in 1881 moved to the farm upon which
they now reside. It consists of sixty-two acres,

upon which Mr. Starrett is engaged in general

farming and sheep-raising. In 1864 he enlisted in

Company D.
,
One Hundred and Sixtieth Ohio

Volunteer infantry, and was a soldier in the

Shenandoah valley. June 15 he was in a bat-

tle at Newdon, Va., and July 7 and 8 at Har-
per’s Perry. After that he was on post duty
and in a number of skirmishes. Himself and
wife are the parents of six living children: George
L., married Mary L. Smith, of Cambridge, and
they are living at Newark; Mary S., died at the

age of ten years; Nancy M., at home; Phillip S.,

a store-keeper at Wills Creek, Coshocton county;

Simon E., in business at Newark; Wilber W.

;

Charley I. (on the farm); and Riley (died in in-

fancy). Mr. and Mrs. Starrett are members of the

United Presbyterian church of Norwich, Ohio. In

politics Mr. Starrett is a republican and interested

in political matters. He has held some offices in

the township and is very active in school and church
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work. He owns a well-improved farm, and is one
of the enterprising men of the township.

George H. Stewart, cashier and director of the

First National bank, Zanesville, and one of the

organizers and long a director of the Zanesville

board of trade, was born at Londonville, Ashland
county, Ohio, in 1849, a son of George H. Stew-
art, Sr. His father a native of Pennsylvania, came
to this state at an early day and, locating in

Richland county, there engaged in business. He
was for several years one of the most prominent
of the earlier merchants of Mansfield. In Ash-
land county he became prominent and well known
among the leading and most influential citizens,

and was entrusted with several important public

offices, among them that of associate judge of

the court of common pleas and deputy provost-

marshal, filling the latter important position

during most of the period of the late war of the

states. Politically he was a stanch republican.

He died full of honors in 1883, deeply regretted

by all who had known him. George H. Stew-
art Jr., is a self-made man, and a successful

one at that, for though he has never achieved

nor sought any conspicuous political preferment,

as an every-day man of affairs, in his own
chosen walk of life he has attained such a meas-
ure of success as marks his as one of the lead-

ing business spirits in this growing city. He
grew to manhood and received his education in

public schools of his native town, and in 1869 at

the age of twenty years, came to Zanesville to

accept the responsible position of teller in the

financial institution with which he has since been
more and more prominently identified. In 1873
he was made assistant cashier, and in the absence
of a cashier ably and satisfactorily performed the

duties of this position. Immediately after the

panic of 1873, he was elected cashier in fact, and
has ably administered the important affairs coming
within his jurisdiction since. At that time he was
but twenty-four years of age and was one of the

youngest bank cashiers in the state. Since that

time he has even more and more closely identified

himself with Zanesville’s most vital commercial
and financial interests, and at this time takes rank
with the most useful and prominent business men
of the city. In 1877 Mr. Stewart married the
youngest daughter of the late W. C. Cassel, long
a leading and most enterprising manufacturer of

Zanesville, mention of whom will be found else-

where in these pages.

For a period of nearly twenty years Wilson
Stewart has been engaged in the grocery and
general merchandise business in New Concord,
conducting his business from the first on the cash

system, and during the entire time intervening to

the present, has been stoadily increasing his hold

on public favor and patronage. He owes his

nativity to Washington county, Penn., where his

birth occurred in 1842, and he is the eldest of

three children born to John and Nancy (Stormont)

Stewart, both natives of County Antrim, Ireland.

John Stewart was born in the year 1811, and was
one of nine children (seven of whom came to this

country), born to Allison and Elizabeth (Wilson)

Stewart, both of whom died on the Emerald Isle.

John Stewart came to America in 1832, and landed

at Quebec at the time of the great cholera scare in

this country. He was quarantined there for some
time. From there he went to New York city, and,

having learned the shoemaker’s trade in bis native

country, followed that for five years. In 1837 he

moved from there to Washington county, Penn.,

became the owner of a shoe store, and followed his

trade for many years. He was married in that

county in 1841 to Miss Stormont, and reared three

children: Wilson (subject); David Boyd, who is

engaged in the oil business in Allegheny city, Penn.

;

and Nancy J., who is now in Union township, this

county. She married Mr. Thomas Stewart, a

prominent farmer in that township, of which he is

a native, and the son of George Stewart who was
one of the first settlers in Union township. In the

year 1864 John Stewart emigrated to Muskingum
county, Ohio, settled on a farm two miles from New
Concord, and there tilled the soil for nine years.

From there he moved to the town of New Concord
and made his home there until 1887, when he
went with his son to Kansas, where he received

his final summons the same year. Mrs. Nancy
(Stormont) Stewart, mother of subject, was one of

twelve children (five of whom came to this country)

born to David and Nancy (Boyd) Stormont, natives

of County Antrim, Ireland. She died in New
Concord in 1879. Mr. and Mrs. Stewart were
both members of the Reformed Presbyterian

church. David Stormont came to the United

States in 1825, and located in Washington county,

Penn. Wilson Stewart passed the early scenes of

his life in Washington county, Penn., but in the

fall of 1864 he came to Muskingum county, Ohio,

Highland township, and there followed agricult-

ural pursuits for seven years. After that he went
to Mansfield, Allegheny county, Penn.

,
and clerked

in a store in which his brother was a partner for

nearly two years, and then returned to New Con-
cord, where, with the -exception of a short period

in 1887 and 1888, he has been engaged in mer-
chandising ever since. In the spring of the former
year he went to Wabaunsee county, Kas.

,
but

only remained there a short time, and then

returned to New Concord, where he resumed
business. Mr. Stewart was married in 1879 to

Miss Mary A. Wallace, daughter of David and
Flora (Jamison) Wallace, who were early settlers
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of Union township, and the fruits of this union

have been live children—three daughters and two
sons: Anna F., Jennie R., Ella M., David W. and
John W. Mrs. Stewart was born in Union town-
ship, Muskingum county, Ohio, in 1848, and was
one of ten children. Her paternal grandfather,

Rev. Robert Wallace, was a pioneer preacher of

this part of Ohio. Mr. and Mrs. Stewart are

members of the Reformed Presbyterian church,

and he is a deacon in the same. They are classed

cmong the county’s most respected and esteemed
aitizens and are active in all good work.

Rev. Robert Wallace, the grandfather of Mrs.

Stewart, was born in Ireland, married there, and
several of his children were born there. In 1812
he came to the United States and settled in New
York city, later coming to Utica, Knox county,

Ohio. He was one of the tirst Reformed Pres-

byterian ministers in this part of Ohio and west

of Pennsylvania. He preached in tents and barns

or wherever he could, and was very prominent in

church work. He died in 1845, and by his first

marriage reared a family of three sons and three

daughters: Eliza; John, who is a minister of the

Reformed Presbyterian church; David, Margaret,
Nancy, and James; all deceased except Margaret,

who is the wife of Samuel Stevenson, of Iowa;
and Nancy, now Mrs. Campbell of Monmouth,
111. After the death of his wife Rev. Wallace
married Mrs. McCartney, the widow of Henry
McCartney. They had no children. David Wal-
lace, his son and the father of Mrs. Stewart, was
born in Ireland in 1806, and at the age of six

years came to this country with his father. He
was reared principally in Knox county, and was a

young man when his parents moved on a farm in

Union township, this county. Here he engaged in

farming, was a poineer of the abolition party, in

this part of Ohio, and his home was a depot for

the underground railroad. He made a number
of speeches on the anti- slavery question, and came
near losing his life a number of times. He was
an active member and elder in the Reformed Pres-

byterian church and a great temperance man.
After settling in Muskingum county he married
Flora Jamison, a daughter of John Jamison [see

sketch of Robert W. Speer], To this union were
born six sons and four daughters: Margaret, was
the wife of David Stormont, and died in 1856;

James B., died in 1853, having just left college;

Robert, who is living in Delaware county, Iowa, a

farmer and man of family; John C., died when
young; Rebecca J.

,
died in 1865; Sarah E.,

married Mr. Ardrey, of Rich Hill township, and
died in 1871; John C., is a farmer on the home
place in Union township, was a soldier in the late

war in which he served three years; David, died

in 1859; Mary A., the wife of Wilson Stewart;

Rev. Samuel R., a Reformed Presbyterian minister

of Syracuse, N. Y., where he has been preach-
ing some years. David Wallace, the father of this

family, died August, 1888, and his wife, Septem-
ber 9, 1872. The latter was born in 1807, and
was a small child when brought to Muskingum
county, here reared on a farm northwest of New
Concord. She was a lifelong member of the Re-
formed Presbyterian church, and an active worker
in the same, and held it as her special duty to

care for the sick and assist all in trouble.

David Stokely (deceased) was the founder of

the Stokely family in Muskingum county, Ohio,

but he was born in Delaware and in his youth was
apprenticed to the shoemaking business, at which
trade he served his full time. About 1795 he im-

migrated west and first settled at Marietta, which
was then nothing but a fort, and there he was
married July 3, 1799, to Abigail Hurlbut, a

daughter of Benoni Hurlbut, who was killed and
scalped by the Indians September 29, 1791. He
had built a cabin before he was married but had
not laid the floor yet. Immediately following the

event of their marriage they packed their effects

on a horse and started for Muskingum county,

both walking the entire distance. Upon arriving

at Putnam they set to work to erect a habitation,

his young wife using the grubbing hoe in leveling

the ground, while he with a stronger but not more
willing arm, felled the trees for their cabin home.
They soon had a small tract of land cleared, upon
which they began raising vegetables, and boarded
the hands of a sawmill that stood on the banks of

the Muskingum where the present C. & M. Y. R.

R. crosses the river. In 1804 Mr. Stokely entered

a quarter section of laud on the south fork of

Jonathan creek in Newton township, upon which
he settled in 1805. This land he cleared, im
proved and lived upon the rest of his natural life,

and in connection with tilling the soil he followed

his trade for quite a number of years. After a

short service in the War of 1812 he was discharged

on account of over age. He was a member of the

Christian church and his wife was a Methodist.

Seven children were born to their union, three of

whom grew to mature years: Benoni P., Elizabeth

and David, the latter being the only surviving

member of the family. Benoni Hurlbut was a Rev-

olutionary soldier of note and the Stokelys have in

their possession official documents dated April 10,

1770, which guarantee to the loyalty of Mr. Hurl-

but and to the fact that he was in every way
worthy of confidence. Thejr also have the deed of

aland grant of 100 acres dated October 27, 1769,

and another dated June 19, 1771. During the

Revolutionary war Mr. Hurlbut commanded a

small detachment of troops on the lakes and was a

brave and fearless soldier, devoted to the interests
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of the struggling colonists. He was located at

Marietta, and during this time, as above stated,

was killed by the Indians. The paternal grand-

father, Prettyman Stokely, was the commander of

a vessel during the Revolutionary war and did his

country good service in preying upon the English

merchantmen. David Stokely. whose name heads

this sketch, died on August 31, 1847, at the age

of seventy-nine years, and his wife, who was born

August 4, 1777, died March 31, 1847. David
Stokely, the son of David and Abigail (Hurlbut)

Stokely, was born on the farm on which he is now
residing, October 29, 1810, and his youth was
passed in a manner common to all pioneer boys.

He was married January 18, 1835, to Miss Lydia,

daughter of Samuel and Eunice (Emerson) White,

after which he settled on the farm where he now
lives where his six children were born, only three

of whom are living at the present time: Rufus
Putnam, David Edwin and Benoni P. Those de-

ceased are Abigail Hurlbut, Eunice Emerson and
Arminta Sybilla. Rufus P. enlisted in Company
A, Sixty second Ohio Volunteer infantry, as a

private in 1861, and passed through the various

grades of promotion to first lieutenant and at the

close of the war was brevetted captain. He was
wounded in the right arm at Fort Wagner and in

the mouth by a spent ball at Chapin’s farm, and
at the close of the war was honorably discharged.

David Edwin enlisted in Company G, Thirty-sec-

ond Ohio Volunteer infantry, as a private, and
during his term of service was in many hard-fought

battles, but escaped without being wounded. He
was taken prisoner at Maryland Heights, was
paroled, exchanged and afterward re-enlisted in

the service, in which he remained until the war
terminated. Benoni served as a private in Com-
pany A, Sixty- second Ohio Volunteer infantry, and
was taken prisoner the day of Lee’s surrender,

but was immediately paroled and a few days later

was discharged and returned home. David Stokely

and his wife are members of the Presbyterian

church, of which he has been a ruling elder since

joining, forty- three years ago. He was formerly

a whig in politics, but since the birth of the rejiub-

lican party has supported its measures. His un-

dertakings have been prospered throughout life,

he has always enjoyed good health, and he is now
well preserved for one of his years. He has in his

possession a small wooden box in which his father

carried his shoemaker’s kit, and it is now consider-

ably over one hundrod years old. It is of cypress

wood, the nails are of smith make and it is still in a

state of good preservation. His father, after his set-

tlement in Putnam, returned to Marietta in a canoe
for a barrel of pork he had pickled in salt for

which he paid $10 a bushel. This brine he pre-

served and used during his entire life and it de-

scended to his son, the subject of this sketch, who
still has it in use. Samuel White, the father of

Mrs. Stokely, was born in Barnard, Vt., in the year

1791, a son of Thomas Wells and (Wright)
White, who were also born in the Green Mountain
state. Thomas White was a son of Rev. David
White, a Presbyterian minister of Massachusetts,

a native American. Elder John White came to

America twelve years after the landing of the Pil-

grim Fathers and founded the family in this

country. Samuel White removed to Ohio in 1800
and settled in Washington county, where he spent

the rest of his days. His wife was a daughter of

Asa and Eunice (Foster) Emerson, which family

also came from Vermont, taking up their abode in

Ohio about 1805, their home being at Windsor in

Morgan county. Asa Emerson was a ruling elder

of the Presbyterian church. He was of Scotch
origin. To Samuel White and wife the following

children were born: Mary, Susannah and Roxana
(deceased), and Lydia, Abigail and Asa living. Mr.
White died October 23, 1823, and his wife, who
was also a Presbyterian, in 1839. Mrs. Lydia
Stokely was born in Morgan county, Ohio, March
2, 1816.

Samuel T. Storer, A. M., M. D.
,
New Concord,

is one among the foremost of the professional men
of Muskingum county, Ohio, and as a practitioner

of the healing art he has won for himself golden
opinions. His cheerful countenance, encouraging
words and advice, and his thorough knowledge of

his profession, which only long and continued
practice can give, has placed him upon the highest

pinnacle of success, and his services are sought
over a large scope of territory. He was born on
the old homestead (which he now owns), one-half

mile south of the village of New Concord, Decem-
ber 18, 1832, where he spent his early life in rural

pursuits, receiving his education in the common
schools of the village, and later entered Muskin-
gum college, from which institution he graduated
with honors in 1853. He was the eldest of seven
children born to Isaac and Mary (Snodgrass)
Storer, all now deceased except our subject, and
Mary A. who is the wife of Rev. W. S. Harper, a

minister of the United Presbyterian church and a
resident of Beaver, Penn. Those deceased were
Richard A., Martha (who was the wife of Rev.
Robert W. Hill who is also deceased), David (who
died when young), John- (died on his return from
the army at the age of twenty-one) and James
(whose death occurred from a kick of a favorite

colt when fourteen years of age). Isaac and
Mary Storer, the father and mother of these

children were both natives of Allegheny county,

Penn. The father was born on December 1,

1807, and the mother on March 5, 1811. The
mother died on December 4, 1872, and the father
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followed her to the grave on January 22, 1875.
Both were members of the Presbyterian church,
and he was a ruling elder in the same. He was a

great church worker, and for many years was super-
intendent of the Sunday school. Politically he
was a lifelong democrat. Agriculture was his

chosen occupation, and by industry, economy and
perseverance he succeeded in educating his family,
contributing freely of his means to all benevolent
and praiseworthy objects, leaving an ample in-

heritance to his children. He was much interested
in educational matters, and served as a member of

the board of trustees of Muskingum college for

twenty-five years. He was an excellent neighbor,
a respected and public-spirited citizen, and not
only taught but practiced the “ golden rule.”

Dr. Storer’s paternal great-grandfather, Thomas
Storer, was the father of ten children: John,
Samuel, Stacy, William, Thomas, Ezekiel and
Richard (twins), Rebecca, Margaret and Elizabeth.
The Doctor’s paternal grandparents were Richard
and Hannah (Frazier) Storer. Eight children
were born to them in the following order : Thomas,
John, Ezekiel, Richard, Elizabeth, Frazier, Isaac
and Hannah, all of whom are now deceased except
the latter, who is eighty-three years of age, and is

a resident of the state of Missouri and is the mother
of fourteen sons and two daughters.

Richard Storer, the Doctor’s grandfather is a

native of New Jersey, after marriage settled near
Warren, Trumbull county, Ohio, where he got into

trouble with the Indians, killing one with his rifle,

for theft and for abusing and threatening his

family; on this account he was obliged to leave the

state, and located in Allegheny county, Penn.,
near Elizabeth, where he principally reared his

family.

Dr. Storer’s maternal grandparents Col. Samuel
and Mary (McKinney) Snodgrass were natives of

Allegheny county Penn.
,
near Pittsburg, both were

of prominent families, and unto them were born
seven children James McK., Mary, Elizabeth, Mat-
thew, Nancy, Rachel and Ann, all of whom are

deceased except Elizabeth (S.
)
Mills of Braddock,

Penn., and Nancy (S.) King of New Lisbon, Ohio.

Dr. S. T. Storer, after taking his degree of A. B.

in Muskingum college, spent one year traveling and
sightseeing; then located in Chicago 111., in 1855,

and remained three years clerking in a wholesale

mercantile house. Chicago was then a small city

not exceeding 50,000 inhabitants, and was located

in a marsh; no sewerage and not a street paved
save part of one; which was Lake street; it was
covered with plank from Dearborn street to Lake
street bridge. It was no uncommon thing to see

in the spring of the year stakes on the principal

streets with boards attached, labeled “ no bottom.”

Old Fort Dearborn stood on the south bank of the

river near the lake; it was constructed of hewed
logs with port holes for rifles, also near it stood the
old stone stuccoed lighthouse, to guide vessels
into the mouth of the river. Chicago sprung up
like a mushroom, and it was generally believed
that it would be short lived and a poor place to
make investments; hence he concluded to pack his
trunk and return to the place of his nativity, think-
ing he was lucky to make his escape from that
wicked city. After time and due deliberation the
Doctor decided that medicine was his calling, and
in the year 1858, went to Cleveland, Ohio, and
commenced reading medicine with Dr. Thayer,
professor of surgery in Cleveland Medical college,

graduating from the same in i860; shortly after-

ward he commenced the practice of medicine and
surgery in Leavenworth, then Kansas Ter., re-

mained there until the spring of 1861, when he
returned to his home and shortly afterward enlisted

in Company A, Fifteenth Ohio Volunteer infantry,

for three years; was chosen second lieutenant and
served in that capacity for nine months, resigned
his commission, and was appointed and commis-
sioned assistant surgeon of the Ninety- ninth Ohio
Volunteer infantry, Army of the Cumberland, and
joined his regiment then stationed at Murfreesboro,
Tenn.

,
remaining with the same until April,

1864, when it was consolidated with another regi-

ment, and all supernumerary officers were mustered
out, giving him the opportunity of returning to

private life, and to “marry the girl he had left

behind him.’’ During the Doctor’s army life he
participated in the battles of Shiloh, Chickamauga,
Lookout Mountain and Mission Ridge, besides
several smaller engagements; received an injury in

the battle of Lookout Mountain, from which he
has never fully recovered.

Dr. Storer was mai’ried November 16, 1864, to

Miss Naomi H. Finley, of Newark, Del., where
she was born January 5, 1889. She was the third

daughter of Samuel C. Finley in order of birth of

five children; Priscilla, Mary E., Rachel E., and
Edgar A. After his marriage he returned to New
Concord, opened an office, and there remained
several years; moved to Cleveland, Ohio, in the
fall of 1869, took a post-graduate course in the

Cleveland Medical college, and from there removed
to Darwin, Clark county 111., practicing his pro-

fession for five years with unprecedented success.

After his father’s death he was obliged to return

to New Concord, and has been a resident of the

same ever since, meeting with unusual success in

his profession. He is a man interested in the

public welfare, and while he pays strict attention

to his private affairs, he shrinks from no duties as a

loyal citizen. Dr. and Mrs. Storer are comfort-

ably situated in a beautiful home of their own
planning, in the quiet and picturesque village of
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New Concord, with but one child, a daughter (Ida

M.), to enjoy it with them. She is a graduate of the

New Concord High School, also a graduate of music
in Muskingum college and leads the choir in the

church. Dr. Storer and family are associated with
the Presbyterian church, and he is a ruling elder

in the same. He is active in politics and in war
or peace has always been loyal to the democracy.
At present he is a member of the town council.

Socially he is a devoted and enthusiastic Free
Mason, has filled with acceptance all the offices in

the Blue lodge, is now and has been filling the

office of secretary for nine consecutive years in

Malta lodge No. 118, Norwich, Ohio; has been
identified with the order thirty-four years. He is

a member of Cambridge chapter No. 53, R. A. M.

,

and was a charter member of Cambridge com-
mandery No. 47, K. T., Cambridge, Guernsey
county, Ohio.

Samuel Stover (deceased) was another of the

early settlers of Muskingum county, Ohio, and a

man universally respected. He was a native of

the Keystone state, born December 29, 1785, and
was the first one of the family to settle in Mus-
kingum county. He was married September 3,

1807, to Miss Mary Deitrick, and in 1809 he emi-

grated to Ohio, settling in Newton township, near
the present site of Stovertown, where he built the

first sawmill in 1813. In 1828 or 1829 he built a

gristmill and operated these mills in connection
with farmiug. becoming very successful. To his

marriage were born the following children: Eliza-

beth (born June 2, 1808), Sarah (born December
23, 1809), Baltser (born May 15, 1811). David
(born March 9, 1813), Mary Ann (born January
22, 1816), Mary M. (born March 31, 1820), Susan
(born May 23, 1822), Ann M. (born March 9,

1824), William (born February 26, 1826), Lucinda
(born January 19, 1828,) and Samuel (born No-
vember 26, 1829). The mother of these chil-

dren, who was born December 20, 1786 died Feb-
ruary 12, 1839. The father met a violent death
on the “ Y ” bridge at Zanesville in 1837. His
body was found on the rocks below the bridge,

cold and stiff, and the supposition was that rob-

bery was the incentive, as he usually carried con-
siderable money on his person. Suspicion pointed
to no one, and his death remains a mystery.

Jacob Studor, Adamsville, Ohio, is a member
of one of the prosperous families of Adams town-
ship, Muskingum county. Jacob Studor Sr., the
father, was born in Alsace, France (now Germany),
received a common-school education and could
read both French and German. He was brought
up as a farmer, and at the age of of twenty-one
years drafted into the French army and served
five years. While in this service his father emi-
grated to Canada and settled on a farm. He was

34

a stonemason by trade. He had married three

times, his first wife being the mother of Jacob and
Elizabeth, now residing in New York. After his

service in the French army expired Jacob married,

in Alsace, Barbara Earhart. They soon came to

America and settled in Coshocton county, Ohio,

on a farm in Franklin township, in 1837. To this

worthy couple were born seven children: Made-
lina, Jacob, Elizabeth (deceased), Catherine, Caro-

lina, John and Mary. On this farm Mr. Studor

spent the remainder of his days and died at the

age of eighty-five years, a member of the Lutheran
church and a respected and honorable farmer.

Jacob Studor, his son, was born in 1837, and was
six weeks old when brought by his parents to the

farm in Coshocton county. He received but little

schooling and was brought up to work on the

farm. March 25, 1861, he married Louisa Lapp,
born March 20, 1840, and the daughter of Henry
and Madelena (Zimmer) Lapp. Henry Lapp was
born in Wiirtemberg, Germany, in 1804, here he

received a common-school education, was a car-

penter by trade, and came to America in 1832,

settling in Adams township, Coshocton county,

Ohio. Here he married, spent the remainder of

his life and became the father of twelve children,

nine of whom lived to maturity: Michael, Eliza-

beth, Margaret, Catherine (deceased), Solomon,
Abner, Henry (died at nineteen years of age), Mary
and . Mr. Lapp was a member of the Lu-
theran church, was a hard-working man, accumu-
lated 420 acres of land and brought up a large

family. He died in 1882 at the age of seventy-

eight years. After his marriage Mr. Studor set-

tled on a farm in Adams township, where he re-

mained about ten years. He then moved to a

farm in Coshocton county, lived there three years,

when he returned to Adams township and settled

on the farm which he now occupies, consisting

of 318 acres of good land, with excellent buildings

and a fine residence. Mr. and Mrs. Studor are

the parents of six children: Ada A. (born March
8, 1862), Arabella C. (October 17, 1864), Flora E.

(June 22, 1867), Lilly D. (September 17, 1868),

Henry A. (October 12, 1873), Estella M. (August,

12, 1875). All these children are members of the

Bethesda Methodist church, and Mr. and Mrs.
Studor are members of the Lutheran church, of

which he has been a deacon. Mr. Studor is a

man who holds the respect of the people, has been
a township trustee, takes a great interest in edu-

cation and has been school director. His daugh-
ter, Belle, married John Lettick, a school teacher

of Kansas, and they have two children. Lettie

married Albert Long, a farmer of Madison town-
ship, and has three children.

Noah Stull, farmer, Dresden, Ohio. Mr. Stull,

who is one of the practical farmers of Muskingum
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county, was born in Pennsylvania, January 14,

1822, and is of German descent. He was but four

years of age when he was left fatherless, and he
was brought up by his grandfather, Peter Ault.

His mother’s maiden name was Elizabeth Ault.

About 1826 Mr. Ault came to Coshocton county,

Ohio, settled on land two miles west of West Car-

lisle, and was one of the pioneer farmers. Here
the mother of our subject was married to Alpheus
Taylor and became the mother of these children:

George, William, Freelove, Julia, Mary, Amanda,
Lucinda and Peggy. Noah was the only child by
the first marriage. Alpheus Taylor resided on a

farm near West Carlisle, Coshocton county, Ohio,

and there our subject made his home until fourteen

years of age, when he began learning the carpenter’s

trade in East Union, Ohio. He was bound out to

Andy Ault, an uncle, for four and one-half years

and served his time out. After this he went to

work for another uncle, Frederick Ault; remained
on his farm two years, and then came to Dresden
where he worked in a cabinet shop for one year.

A few months were then spent in Missouri, after

which he returned to Dresden, and worked at his

trade for thirty years. In April, 1865, he came to

his present farm, which he bought, and is now the

owner of 250 acres and is a substantial farmer.

He is an example of what energy, perseverance

and economy can accomplish, and the property he
now owns is the result of his own honest toil. He
first worked for Mr. Jones in the cabinet shop, and
received 50 cents a day. Later he worked in

Dresden for $1 a day, and in this manner saved
sufficient means to buy 160 acres, for which he
paid $4,600 in ready cash. In December, 1848,
he married Miss Frances S. A. Eveland, daughter
of Jacob and Jane Eveland. Mr. Eveland came
from Virginia to Ohio at an early date and lived

to be an old man, dying in Muskingum county.

He was the father of nine children: William,

Rachel, Betsey, Peggy, Polly, Frances S. A., James,
Mildred and Catherine. After marriage Mr. Stull

settled in Dresden and there followed his trade un-

til he moved with his family to his farm. His
union was blessed by the birth of two living chil-

dren: Charles L. and Emma F. Mrs. Stull died

June 28, 1876, and Mr. Stull has never remarried.

His wife was a member of the Presbyterian church,

and he holds membership in the same. In poli-

tics he is a democrat. Mr. Stull’s half brother,

William Taylor, was in an Ohio regiment during
the Civil war and died at Bowling Green, Ky. At
one time Mr. Stull owned about 300 acres of land,

but he has given considerable of it to his children.

He is entirely selfmade, and now in his old age he
can enjoy the fruits of his labor, being in very

comfortable circumstances. For five years Mr.
Stull worked at carpentering and millwright work,

and during that time did not lose a half day.

John P. Sturtz, Adamsville, Muskingum county
Ohio. Among the prosperous pioneer families,

substantial farmers and valuable citizens of this

part of the state we find the Sturtz family. Chris-

tian Sturtz, the great-grandfather of our subject,

was born in Pennsylvania, and a farmer of Somer-
set county. His father came from Germany with
his parents when but four years of age. A tradi-

tion in the family relates that his parents both died
at sea, on the passage to America, and their son,

the father of Christian, was sold to pay his passage
to Philadelphia, as was the custom in those days.

He finally settled in Somerset county, Penn., and for

many years the family were residents of that coun-

ty. Christian Sturtz, his son, married a Miss
Shoemaker, was a successful farmer of Somerset
county, owned about 300 acres of land, and here
passed the remainder of his days. Jacob Sturtz, his

eldest son, and the grandfather of John P., was born
in Somerset county, Penn., in 1787, and of Penn-
sylvania Dutch stock. He received a common-
school education in German, was reared a farmer,

and married Susan Gaumer, the daughter of Jacob
Gaumer, a Revolutionary soldier from Reading,
Penn., who settled in Washington township, this

county, in 1808, the families coming together.

Jacob Sturtz settled, the same year, on land now
owned by Mr. Lovett. To himself and wife were
born ten children: Daniel (born in Pennsylvania,

and died soon after coming to this county), Charles

(born in Washington township, this county), Lu-
cinda, Catherine, Adam, Andrew, Lydia, Martin,

Solomon and Margaret. All lived to maturity, ex-

cept the first. Jacob Sturtz was a soldier in the

Revolutionary war, served as a rifleman, under
Capt. Robert McConnell, and lived in Washington
township eight years. In 1818 he settled in Ad-
ams township, on land now owned by George W.
Bell, and here died, December 24, 1834. He was
very handy at almost any work. He was a black-

smith, gunsmith and carpenter, and very often built

houses. Among other things he prepared gun-

powder and charcoal, and was considered one of

the best hunters of the time in his county. He
was a member of the Lutheran church in Salem
township, held the office of church trustee, and as-

sisted in the building of this church. When he
died he was but forty-seven years of age.

Charles Sturtz, his son, and the father of John
P.

,
was born, February 19, 1813, on his father’s

farm in Washington township, and received but

little education in the old log schools of that time,

He attended school, in all, about three months,

learning to read and write, and learned the usual

woi-k of a farmer boy, becoming very handy with

a rifle. He shot his first deer when but seven years

of age. In 1833, at the age of twenty-one years,

he married Rachel Bainter, daughter of Adam and
Elizabeth (Shroyer) Bainter, and was one of six chil-
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dren: Mary, Jacob and John (twins), Catherine

and Rachel (twins), and Adam C. Philip Shroyer,

grandfather of Mrs. Sturtz, was the first of the

family to come here, and cleared the land now
owned by his grandson, P. C. Schroyer. To Mr.

and Mrs. Charles Sturtz were born ten children:

Elizabeth L. (married and deceased); Margaret
(died at the age of twenty-two years); Adam C.,

Susan C., Jacob L.
,
John P., Mary M. (died at

the age of twenty-two years)
;
Charles N. (drowned

ir. the Muskingum river in 1873, at the age of

twenty-one years); Rachel A. (died at the age of

eight years); Josiah (died an infant). After his

marriage Mr. Sturtz bought the land upon which
he now resides, and where he has lived many
years. He was very successful in farming, and
bought a sawmill on Symms creek. This mill he

operated until 1850, when he built a new one, and
also had a store for three years, from 1847 to

1850, in Coshocton county. He was a very pros-

perous farmer, and now owns 320 acres of well-

improved land. He is a prominent member of the

Lutheran church, of Adamsville, and has been a

church trustee. In politics he is a democrat and
a charter member of Hubbard lodge No. 220, of

A. F. & A. M. He was a strong Union man
during the war, and had two sons in that war.

Mr. Sturtz owns land in Salem township, the

original deed for which was signed by Gen. An-
drew Jackson. His two sous who served in the war
were Adam C. and Jacob, both in the One Hundred
and Sixty-second regiment, Ohio Volunteer in-

fantry. Air. Sturtz is now eighty years of age,

hale and hearty, and respected by all. John P.

Sturtz, his son, was born April 11, 1845, received

a common-school education, and took up farming.

June 10, 1869, he married Louisa C. Aloser, the

daughter of George A. and Anna (Hahn) Aloser.

After their marriage they settled in Adamsville,

followed farming and teaming for a time, when
Mr. Sturtz sold out and moved on a farm in Adams
township, lived there one year when he moved to

Hayworth farm, where he lived fourteen years. On
this farm he erected a good house and barn in

1877 and 1878. In 1890 he moved to Adamsville,

where he had opened a hardware store in 1889 in

company with J. A. Snoots. This was the first

hardware store in Adamsville, and they built up a

good trade. In 1892 Mr. Sturtz retired and the

business is now conducted by Ferrell Bros. In

1890, in connection with his other business, Mr.
Sturtz opened a hotel in Adamsville, which has
been very successful. Himself and wife are mem-
bers of the Lutheran church, of which he has been
elder, deacon and Sunday school superintendent
for many years. Like his father he is a stanch

democrat, but not an office seeker. He has held

the office of township trustee. To Air. and Airs.

Sturtz have been born three children: Annie E.

(born March 12, 1870), Clark N. (born July 31,

1876), and Roland J. H. (born September 8,

1883). Annie E. married September 30, 1890,

Elbert S. Ferrell, a hardware merchant of Adams-
ville, and they have one child. Daniel Aloser,

grandfather of Mrs. Sturtz, was born in Zwey-
breaker, Bavaria, and received a good education in

German, later learning the pottery business. He
was a well-to do potter in Bavaria, and gave all

his children good educations, his sons, as was the

custom in Germany, following the trade of their

father. He married, in Bavaria, Catherine Wen-
derling, and to them were born four children, who
lived to maturity: Philip, Catherine, Louise and
George A., all born in Bavaria. In 1843 Daniel
Moser came to America with his family, and set-

tled on a farm in Adams township, now owned by
John J. Klein. Himself and family were unac-

customed to farm work, and were compelled to

pay to have the work done until they gradually
became farmers. They were members of the
Lutheran church, and Daniel lived to be sixty-

three years of age, dying in 1843. His son, Philip

Moser, worked at the pottery business in Zanes-
ville for years. George A. Aloser, another son, and
the father of Mrs. Sturtz, was born in 1816, in

Bavaria, and received a good education, being able

to speak French and German, and when he came
to this country he also learned the English lan-

guage. He was eighteen years of age when he
came to America with his father, became a farmer
and married Anna Hahn, daughter of John and
Elizabeth (Boltenberrick) Hahn. Her father came
from Hesse Cassel, Germany, in 1834, and settled

first in Pennsylvania, where he lived about a year

and a half, and in 1835 came to this county and
settled in Adams township near Wills creek.

Here he became a prosperous farmer and lived to

be about seventy-one years of age. He was one of

the founders of the Lutheran church, and with his

means helped to build the church, and held the
principal offices. His widow is yet living at the
age of eighty- seven years. After his marriage
George A. Moser remained on the home farm.

Later he removed to Boone, Iowa, and remained
there one summer, but not liking the climate he
returned to his old home. He then opened a

grocery store in Zanesville and remained there two
years, when he removed to Adamsville and en-

gaged in the same business, was also postmaster,
and held the office of township trustee. Himself
and wife are members of the Lutheran church, and
he has held all the offices in the same, and having
a good voice he was accustomed to lead the sing-

ing. He is a strong democrat in politics. Air.

and Airs. Aloser are the parents of nine children:

Louise C., Alary E. (deceased at thirty-one years
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of age, a widow at the time), John D.
,
Emma M.,

Ella C., Annie S., William G. (died an infant),

Lourena A. and Charles A. (died at the age of

twenty-three years). Mr. Moser gav6 all his

children good educations, and Emma M. and
Lourena A. are successful teachers, the latter hav-

ing taught ten years in Adamsville. Mr. Moser
died in 1874, at the age of fifty-eight years, his

widow is yet living.

Mrs. Catherine Fleming Stump represents two
of the oldest families in Muskingum county, Ohio

—

the Flemings and the Stumps. Leonard Stump,
her husband’s grandfather, came from Virginia to

this section of the country about 1807. A more
complete account of this sturdy old pioneer and
his descendants is given in the sketch of Miss Mary
E. Stump. His son, James, was but seven years

of age when be came with his parents from West
Virginia, in which state he was born in 1800 in

Hardy county. He attended the common schools

of Licking and Irville, and as he diligently applied

himself to his books he obtained a practical educa-

tion. Indians were very numerous when he was
young, and there was plenty of wild game on all

sides. He was first married to Miss Susan Ran-
dall of this county and their union resulted in the

birth of one child that lived to grow to maturity—
Leonard Stump. After the death of his first wife he
was married to Miss Cynthia Rennick, of Pickaway
county, which union resulted in the birth of four

children: Lucinda, Rennick, William M., and
Cynthia. Mr. Stump settled in Licking township
on the Newark road, one and one- half miles from
Nashport, where he had erected him a home prior

to his marriage, in 1823. This fine house, in which
he spent all his days, is still standing. Surround-
ing it were 540 fertile acres of land which, during
his lifetime were exceptionally well tilled and
looked after. He was a Presbyterian in religious

belief and lived to be eighty-seven years of age, his

later years being spent in ease aud comfort. His
character was truly Christian like and in his family

he was the soul of kindness and generosity. He
was a patron of education and gave all his children

fair educational advantages and assisted them to

a start when they took up the burden of life for

themselves. William M. Stump, his, son and hus-

band of the subject of this sketch, was born on the

22d of December, 1838, and was given a common-
school education. On the 4th of March, 1862, he
was married to Miss Catherine Fleming, who
was born March 24, 1842, daughter of John and
Hannah (Carter) Fleming. [See sketch of Fleming
family.] The father was the third son of Col.

Nathan Fleming and was born at Irville, July 16,

1815, and after reaching manhood followed farm-
ing on the highlands of Licking township. He
married the daughter of Salathiel Carter, of West

Virginia, and their union resulted in the birth of

the following children : Nathan C., Alva, Mary,
Catherine, James M., Charles W. and Alice V. Mr.
Fleming lived to be seventy-one years of age and
was a man of property, owning about 900 acres of

land in Muskingum and Licking counties. He was
a Methodist and had an honorable purpose in life.

His wife died before him at the age of forty-eight.

The Fleming family is one of the most noted and
numerous in the United States and all its members
have been honest, law-abiding citizens. To Mr. and
Mi's. William M. Stump three children were born:

Cora, Walter W. and Bertha. Walter married Eva
George, is a farmer and has one child; Bertha is

the wife of Thomas G. Fleming, son of Nathan Q.
Fleming, and Cora is still at home. William M.
Stump died on the 7th of May, 1868, at the age of

twenty-nine years, leaving a young widow with three

little children to care for. He was a successful

business man and possessed in a marked degree
those qualities which surmount all difficulties. He
was a kind husband and father, and his loss has al-

ways been greatly deplored. He first settled on the

farm whichis now occupied by his widow, then pur-

chased a farm of his father-in-law on whicli he
lived two years. He then resided on the Newark
road opposite his father and managed the farm be-

longing to his father, until he wascalled from life.

Since that time Mrs. Stump has always resided on
the old Stump homestead and has a pleasant and
comfortable home, which she built with her own
means, having inherited property from her father.

She has brought up her children wisely and well

and all have received practical educations. She
and her daughter Cora reside together and their

home is the abode of culture, refinement and hospi-

tality.

Miss Mary E. Stump, Nashport, Ohio. The
Stumps are of German descent and are among the

pioneers of Lincoln township, Muskingum county.

Leonard Stump, the grandfather, was a Virginian,

and was related to the family from which the noted
rebel general, Stonewall Jackson, sprung. He was
married in his uative state to Miss Phoebe Stump,
and to their union were born eight children: John,

born January 29, 1798; James, born April 1, 1800;

Jackson, born February 11, 1802; Mary M., born
February 16, 1804; Ruth, born February 17,

1806; William, bom October 16, 1808; Elizabeth,

born January 9, 1811, and Phoebe, born Septem-
ber 11, 1814. Leonard Stump came to Ohio in

1808 and settled on some wild land one-half mile

west of Nashport, where he resided for some time,

after which he removed to Irville, where he spent

the remainder of his days. He built him a sub-

stantial log house, and the huge stone chimneys
with their capacious fireplaces are still standing.

The house has just been torn down, and although
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built before 1808, the logs were still sound and
were used in the erection of another building, to

serve, perhaps, another three-quarters of a cent-

ury. Mr. Stump was a wealthy man for those

days, for he brought property with him from Vir-

ginia and became the owner of 8,000 acres of

land in Muskingum county. He died on the 8th

of October, 1847, having been born on the 12th of

January, 1772. He came of good Virginia stock

and possessed excellent business qualifications.

William Stump, his son, and father of the subject

of this sketch, was born in the old log house near

Irville, and was brought up to a farm life, with
limited opportunity for acquiring an education.

He inherited 270 acres of land from his father

and was married to Miss Asenath Pierson, daugh-
ter of Daniel Pierson and Johannah (Stiles) Pier-

son, both of whom were from New Jersey and were
descended from English ancestors. Daniel Pier-

son came to Ohio in 1819 and settled on the Fra-
zeysburg and Zanesville road in Muskingum
county, where he became possessed of a fair

amount of worldly goods. To Mr. and Mrs. Stump
were born three children that grew to maturity:
Mary E., William and James S. Mr. Stump was
a careful and thrifty farmer, and at his death was
the owner of 311 acres of land. He was not a be-

liever of secret organizations, but was of a very

peaceable turn of mind and attended strictly to his

own affairs. He was an honorable man in every
sense of the term, and his word was considered
as good as his bond. He was a strong democrat
politically, but was not an active politician. He
lived to the advanced age of eighty-two years,

dying on the 1st of February, 1891 . His daugh-
ter, Miss Mary Stump, is now living on the old

homestead and is successfully managing a farm of

140 acres. She is a capable and energetic woman,
and has rapidly acquired a knowledge of business

and the most successful way of managing her own
affairs. The stone house in which she resides is

now fifty-one years old and is a solid and substan-
tial structure.

J. G. Stump is the owner of a fertile and well-

kept farm of 581 acres in Muskingum county,
Ohio, all of which is one tract comprising one of

the most magnificent bodies of land in this section

of the country. Besides this valuable property he
owns landed interests in other counties and states

and is the owner of a farm in Kansas, also one in

Missouri. His residence in Madison township is

a very handsome one, and he has the unbounded
satisfaction of knowing that he owes his prosperity
to his industry and economy. He was born in

Licking township, Muskingum county, June 30,

1834, the third of four children reared by John R.
and Rachel (Gorsuch) Stump, the former of whom
was born in Hardy county, Va., January 12,

1798, to Leonard and Phoebe (Davis) Stump, who
were also Virginians of German descent. The
father of Leonard was John Stump, who married

a Miss Brake; he died in early life and his widow
married John Rager. They moved to Muskingum
county in 1806, when the county was almost a

wilderness, and here spent their declining years.

Leonard Stump came to this county in 1804 and
took up his residence on a farm in Licking town-

ship, about eleven miles from Zanesville, where
he was called from life in 1846. He reared a

family of eight children: John R. , James D.,

Mary, Jackson, Ruth, William, Elizabeth and
Phoebe. Elizabeth is the only surviving member,
her home being’ in Putnam county, this state.

The mother of these children died about 1832.

John R. Stump came with his parents to this

county and was here educated and afterward mar-
ried; his union with Miss Gorsuch taking place in

1826, and eventually resulted in the birth of four-

children : Margaret, who died in 1863; John, who
died in 1861; J. G., the subject of this sketch,

and Leonard N.
,
who has been living in Colorado

for the past three years. He was county com-
missioner of this county from 1875 to 1878, also

serving part of another term. He is married to

Annie Lynn, by whom he has four children. J. G.
Stump was educated in the schools near his home
and was married in Licking township in 1 868 to

Miss Sarah Van Voorhis, a daughter of Daniel

and Jane (Roberts) Van Voorhis, she being one of

their seven children: John R., Victoria, Samuel
F., Sarah A., Mary J., Fulton Z

,
and Henry C.

Mrs. Stump was born in Licking township, this

county, in 1843, and in her youth was given good
educational advantages. She has borne her hus-

band five children: Nellie, who was born in Lick-

ing township in 1869; Charles, who was born in

Madison township in 1870, and died January 12,

1892; Daniel, who was born in Madison township
in 1873; Mary, who was born in Madison town-
ship in 1876; and Jay, who was born in Dresden
in 1877. All these children have been given

excellent advantages and have attended high insti-

tutions of learning. They all still reside at home
and are favorites in the social circles in which they
move. Mr. Stump’s eldest daughter is a member
of the Presbyterian church, and politically he is a

democrat, and is ever ready to fill all calls of

public trust. He is a public spirited man and is

interested in all movements which tend to build

up the county. His Grandfather Stump was a

first cousin of Andrew Jackson, and when boys
they were reared together. His father was a

second cousin of Stonewall Jackson. About 1740
or 1750 George Brake, the brother of Mr. Stump’s
great-grandmother, was stolen by the Indians in

Hardy county, Va., when only four years of age,
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and was brought to this part of Ohio, where he
was reared by them until he became a young man,
when he managed to escape and return to his

people.

Conrad J. Sunkel, an influential citizen and a

substantial farmer, was born in Bavaria, Germany,
in 1842, and his parents, William and Margaret
(Hines) Sunkel, were natives, also, of Germany,
both born in 1816. They emigrated to the United
States in 1847, located in Zanesville, Ohio, and
there they have resided ever since. The father is

a retired farmer. They reared live sons, Conrad J.

being second in order of birth, and three are now
living. Conrad J. Sunkel was reared in Muskingum
county, and there resided until 1879, when he
moved to Morgan county, Ohio, where he made his

home until 1884. He then returned to the former
county, where he has since resided. He was mar-
ried in 1804 to Miss Elizabeth Seybert, a native,

also, of Germany, whose parents emigrated to this

county at au early day, and are yet residents of the

same. Mr. Seybert has always followed farming,
and has been unusually successful. Mr. Sunkel
and wife are the parents of an interesting family
of six sons and one daughter. Mr. Sunkel has
held the office of township trustee several terms,

also various other offices of the township, and is

now one of the directors of the county infirmary.

He is the owner of 152 acres of land five miles

west of Zanesville, and resides on a farm one and a

half miles from that city. He has always affiliated

with the democratic party, and cast his first presi-

dential vote for George B. McClellan. He and
Mrs. Sunkel are members of the German Evan-
gelical church, and he has held membership in the

same as far back as he can remember. He has
been successful, is one of the substantial men of

the township and is well respected.

Rev. S. H. Swingle, Brush Creek, Ohio. George
Swingle Sr., probably the founder of his name in

this country, and a respected and honored pio-

neer, was born at Saarbruch, Oberlinksweiler, dis-

trict of Otweiler, province of Nassau, Germany,
on July 25, 1755. Of his ancestors there is no
record extant. On July 2, 1776, he enlisted in the

army of Louis XYI.
,
of France. His discharge

from that king’s service is preserved, and is an in-

teresting document to his descendants, a liberal

translation of which, from the French, is as fol-

lows: “We, the undersigned, certify to all whom
it will concern, to have granted unconditional dis-

charge to one George Schwingel, soldier of Com-
pany La Gace, Regiment Nassau. Said Schwingel
is twenty-six years old, size five feet ten and a half

inches, hair and whiskers brown, eyes grey, face

long, Lutheran by religion, shoemaker by trade.

Said Schwingel has very faithfully served in the

said regiment from July 2, 1776, to this date.

Given in Metz, 10th day of September, 1784. ” This

was signed by the officers of the regiment. On the

back of this document appears a memorandum
stating that he had beeu paid in linen and shoes,

in all to a sum the equivalent of a little more than

15 livres. Subsequent to his discharge he emi-

grated to America, settled in what is now Adams
county, Penn., where is supposed to have oc-

curred his marriage with Miss Mary Magdalene
Deitrick. Ten children were born to them as fol-

lows: Phceba, born March 4, 1788; Nicholas,

born February 15, 1789; George Jr. , born Septem-
ber 11, 1790; Jacob, born September 10, 1792;

William, born September 6, 1793; Margaret, born

August 8, 1795; Elizabeth, born October 7, 1796;

John, born August 16, 1798; Polly, born Novem-
ber 8, 1802, and Samuel, born January 14, 1804.

In 1811 the family immigrated to Muskingum
county, Ohio, in wagons, in which were stored

their worldly effects. Two years previous to this,

however, Nicholas and George (sons) came on a

prospecting tour to this county and selected the

southeast quarter of section 27 of what is now
Brush Creek township. When the family made
the journey Mrs. Swingle rode a horse most of

the way from Pennsylvania and carried her young-

est son, Samuel, who was then seven years of age,

most of the distance. Upon arriving they erected

a log cabin, and soon set to work to clear their

land, which was heavily timbered. Mr. Swingle

and his sons erected a sawmill on Brush creek, one

of the first mills built in this vicinity, and to him
belongs the honor of naming the township at its

organization. George Swingle Sr., was a keen ob-

server and a well-informed man, his range of read-

ing covering many topics with which he was con-

versant. He was a good citizen, became prosper-

ous, and was respected by all who knew him. At
the age of eighty years he was so well preserved

that he could, without the aid of glasses, make the

finest shoes. The whole family were members of

the Liitheran church, and of his ten children all

became prominent citizens of their adopted county

save two, viz. : Nicholas, who settled in Morgan
county, Ohio, and Elizabeth, who moved to Clark

county, 111. All the children led lives of useful-

ness and reared families that reflect honor and
credit on their worthy and esteemed progenit-

ors. George Swingle Sr. died in 1844, and his

wife departed this life in 1848, at the age of eighty-

six years. George Swingle Jr. was married to Miss

Mary M. Martin, the ceremony taking place about

1824. He located in the township, and in addition

to farming operated a salt well for a number of

years, which, in the end, proved disastrous to him
financially. He was an enterprising and intelli-

gent man, and was held in high esteem for his

many excellent qualities of character. To his mar-
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riage were born eight children: Solomon H.

;

Mary, wife of Solomon Dozer, this county; Eliza-

beth, wife of Jacob Mason, this county, Clarissa,

wife of Jacob Elsou, this county; Franklin, Hicks-

ville, Ohio; George W., this county; David, a mem-
ber of the Sixty-second Ohio Volunteer infantry,

and died in hospital, and Fanny, married Jacob
Stainbrook, Seneca county, Ohio. George Swingle
Jr. died on February 16, 1865, at the age of sev-

enty-four. Mrs. Swingle was born November 24,

1803, and died May 17, 1877. Mr. Swingle was
a whig, but subsequently a republican in politics,

and was well informed on the affairs of the day.

His eldest son, Rev. Solomon H. Swingle, was
born on the old home of the Swingle family,

Brush Creek township, August 28, 1825. His
boyhood was passed on the farm and in the pub-
lic schools he obtained the rudiments of his educa-

tion, fitting himself to teach, which profession he
followed two terms. In 1849 he went to Colum-
bus, entered the Capital university, and taking

the full course, graduated in 1854. The following

winter he taught a select school in Roseville, Ohio,

for a term of six months. On April 29, 1855,

he was married to Miss Elizabeth, daughter of

John Baughman, an old settler, of whom mention
is made in this volume. Mr. Swingle was or-

dained a minister in the English Evangelical Lu-
theran church, in Zion church, near New Cumber-
land, Ohio. He had been licensed to preach pre-

viously, and installed in a charge. In this charge
he served a number of congregations until 1865,

when he received a call to Brandenville, W. Va.

,

then a mission field, which was accepted, serving

four regular congregations until 1869. He was
then called to New Lebanon, Penn., where he
ministered to three regular congregations until

1874, during two years of which time he conducted
the academy of that place. In 1874 he received

a call from Prospect, Penn., which he accepted,

and ministered to four regular congregations until

1879, at which time he returned to his old home
to recuperate and visit friends and relatives.

Here he has since resided. In the spring of 1882
he embarked in general merchandising at Stover-

town, and was commissioned postmaster at the
same time. He conducted his business for eight

years, and then sold out. A throat affliction com-
pelled Mr. Swingle to give up ministerial work as a

regular preacher, but he performs in an irregular

fashion such duties as come in his way. To Mr. and
Mrs. Swingle have been born eight children : Emma
H.

,
wife of Rev. H. K. Geblnirt, of the Lutheran

church,who has two children—Corinne and Helen;
Sarah M.

;
William M.

,
Ph. D., principal of the

Greensburg, Penn., seminary; Henry R.
; Charles

M.
;
James W.

;
Lucy V. and Ida M. During the

late war Mr. Swingle took decided ground on the

question that so agitated the public mind, and his

voice and influence were fearlessly raised in the

defense of his country and his flag.

G. W. Swingle, who is one of the well-known
and much respected citizens of Newton township,

Muskingum county, Ohio, was born in Brush Creek
township, on the farm where Christopher Swingle
now resides, August 28, 1833. He is a son of

George Swingle and the grandson of George Swin-
gle Sr. [See sketch.] G. W. Swingle was reared

to the arduous duties of the farm and supplemented
a good practical education received in the common
schools by a course in the academy at Cumberland,
W. Va., and at Fultonham, Ohio. After this he
taught school forten years, a part of the time in

Illinois, and the balance of the time in the schools

of Muskingum county, winning an enviable reputa-

tion as an educator. In 1863 he enlisted in the

Ohio National guards, but was not called into

service. He was married in 1860 to Miss Martha
A., daughter of George Baughman [see sketch],

and subsequently located in Brush Creek township,

where he made his home until 1864. From there

he moved to Newton, but shortly afterward returned

to Brush Creek township and there resided until

1888, when he purchased his present farm, consist-

ing of ninety acres of land. This farm is one of

the best in the township, and Mr. Swingle is a man
of advanced ideas and progressive principles, who
thoroughly understands every thing pertaining to

agriculture. Mr. and Mrs. Swingle are the parents

of the following children: Luther W. (died at the

age of ten years), Edward Sherman, (a high-school
graduate and a teacher), Rosy C., Mary E., Augus-
tus B. and Minnie. Mr. and Mrs. Swingle are

members of the Lutheran church, with which they
have been connected since childhood. They take a

decided interest in all good work, and are well

respected in the neighborhood. Politically Mr.
Swingle affiliates with the republican party.

William Swingle was the fifth child and fourth

son of George Swingle, and was eighteen years of

age when the family settled in the wilds of Mus-
kingum county. He was married March 28, 1820,
to Susanna, daughter of Henry and Dorothea
(Houpt) Pletcher, soon after which he settled in

Morgan county and a short time later purchased
160 acres of land, which now comprises the home-
stead farm of his son, B. F. Swingle. This line

farm he made a permanent home, and after put-

ting it in a high state of cultivation and otherwise
greatly improving it, he resided on it until his

death. He was a successful farmer and accumu-
lated a handsome property which he bequeathed to

his children at his death. His union resulted in

the birth of six sons and three daughters: Helena,
born May 3, 1822, and died September 6, 1842;
was the wife of Isaac Cohagau; Diana, born Sep-
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tember 23, 1823, and died October 17, 1865; was
the wife of William Deitrick; Solomon T. was born

July 15, 1825; Susannah A. was born December 8,

1829, and is the wife of Solomon S. Baughman;
Henry G. was born October 8, 1831; William W.
was born October 19, 1833; David F. was born

July 24, 1836, and died in infancy; Benjamin F.

was born December 2, 1838, and Isaac was born
December 3, 1841. Mr. and Mrs. Swingle were
members of the Lutheran church, and were active

in religious movements. Mr. Swingle was at first

a whig in politics, but afterward became a repub-

lican. He was called from life March 14, 1876,

but his widow yet survives him and has reached

the advanced age of ninety years.

B. F. Swingle, their son, was their seventh

child in order of birth, and was born on the

farm where he now resides. He fitted himself

for a teacher in the public schools of his native

county, his first term being taught at the age of

seventeen years. He continued to follow this

calling for about fifteen years, and acquired the

reputation of a successful educator and a fine dis-

ciplinarian. He was married to Elizabeth, daugh-
ter of Adam and Catherine (Stover) Baughman
January 6, 1860, and settled on the old homestead
of which he is now the owner. He and his wife

are the parents of the following children; Rosetta,

wife of R. R. Weaver; Ida C., wife of Stephen
Gibson; Warren F., married Lizzie France; Rox-
ana C., Edwin M.

,
Alta E., Nellie N. and Albert

E. The mother of these children was born in

this county June 17, 1841. Their home farm com-
prises 225 acres of fine land, which is well im-

proved, and in a fine state of cultivation. Since

1874 he has been interested in the Grange move-
ment, and has taken considerable interest in the

work, and for two years was state lecturer Ohio
State grange. During these years he visited

nearly fifty counties, organized many lodges, and
lectured on topics pertaining to the work of the

order. At present he is district deputy. He is a

well-preserved man, is well read upon the general

topics of the day, and takes an active and leading

part upon all questions pertaining to the public

good. He was nominated for congress in his dis-

trict in 1890, but declined to accept the honor,

owing to his lecture work in the Ohio State grange
at the time. In 1862 he was commissioned second
lieutenant by Gov. David Tod, of a company of

Ohio Home guards, the commission constituting

him a recruiting officer.

Solomon L. Swingle is the third child and eld-

est son of William Swingle, a sketch of whom ap-

pears in this work. Solomon’s early life was
passed in assisting on the farm and in attending

the common schools, where he fitted himself for

a teacher. He taught very successfully for eighteen

consecutive years and acquired a good reputation
as an educator. His first school of three mouths
he taught for $45 and boarded himself. On
August 28, 1856, he married Miss Lucy R.,

daughter of Jesse and Sarah (Deitrick) Gibson.
After his marriage Mr. Swingle settled upon the
old homestead of his grandfather and there he has
resided until the present time. He has prospered
in business affairs and is one of the well to-do citi-

zens of Muskingum county. To him and his esti-

mable wife have been born eight children, the
two eldest dying in infancy, unnamed. Rosa
Florence, born July 23, 1860, wife of Charles A.

Fye of Zanesville; Emma J.
,
born October 4, 1863;

Willie Sherman, born November 20, 1864, and
died February 26, 1865; Francis E., born January
16, 1866, is a graduate of Zanesville High school
and has been a student at Theil college, Green-
ville, Penn., where he is taking a scientific course;

Lewis H., born September 19, 1868, who fitted

himself to teach in the common schools and is now
following that profession; and Norah' Ellen, born
October 19, 1870. All the children are well edu-
cated and his daughters have good musical edu-

cations, being quite proficient in the art. Politic-

ally Mr. Swingle has not been a seeker after the

honors of office, preferring rather to attend to his

own business affairs, but he affiliates with the re-

publican party. He and wife and children are

acceptable and useful members of the Lutheran
church, and all take a decided interest in good
work.

Henry G. Swingle, one of the substantial farm-
ers of Roseville, Muskingum couuty, Ohio, is the

second son of William Swingle and the grandson
of George Swingle. He was born on the home-
stead of his father, which is now the property of

B. F. Swingle, October 8, 1831, and became famil-

iar with the duties of the farm at an early age.

He received a fair education in the common schools,

fitted himself for teaching, and for ten years fol-

lowed that profession in the schools of Muskingum
county, five years of which time in one district.

He was a successful educator, and there are docu-
ments yet extant that attest his success as an in-

structor. He remained with his father until

twenty-four years of age, at which time heselected

a wife in the person of Miss Lydia A. Baughman,
daughter of Joseph Baughman, their nuptials

being celebrated March 25, 1855. A short time
afterward Mr. Swingle bought 196 acres of land

in Clay township, then partly improved, and on
this place he has since resided. Mrs. Swingle
was born on January 23, 1833, and died on March
6, 1873. Nine children were born to this union:

Cecelia A., Laura I., Lyman C., Charles S., El-

dora N., Caroline A., Mary S., Jennie E. and
Lizzie H. Lyman C. and Eldora N. became teach-
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ers in the county and all the children are well edu-

cated. Charles S. holds a certificate though he

has not taught. Mr. Swingle’s second wife was
formerly Miss Martha E. Deitrick, daughter of

Jacob Deitrick [see sketch], and the ceremony was

performed October 14, 1874. Mr. Swingle has

held the office of trustee repeatedly, and is a man
of good executive ability. He is the owner of

300 acres of land and has it all well improved. He
has been liberal in providing for his children and
started them out in life when they began making
homes for themselves. He has been eminently

successful and is one of Muskingum county’s

wealthy and progressive citizens. He has been a

member of the Lutheran church from his boy-

hood and is one of its liberal supporters. In poli-

tics he is a stanch advocate of the principles of

the republican party. He has a large, roomy
house, and his barns and outbuildings are good
and substantial. Mr. Swingle is a well-informed

man, and keeps well posted on the current events

of the day. His wife and children are also mem-
bers of the Lutheran church.

I. C. Swingle is the youngest son of William
Swingle and grandson of George Swingle, the

latter being the founder of the family in

Muskingum county. I. C. Swingle was born on
the William Swingle homestead, now owned by B.

F. Swingle, December 3, 1841, and his boyhood
was devoted to tilling the soil and to attending

the district schools, where he obtained a sufficient

knowledge of the “world of books” to fit him to

teach. He entered the schoolroom as instructor

at the age of twenty, and with the exception of

three terms, he has since wielded the ferule—

a

period of twenty-seven years. He has always been
employed in his native county, and nine terms
were taught in one district, which fact speaks

eloquently as to his efficiency. His services are

often sought by school officers, and it may with

truth be said that he has never disappointed them.
In August, 1803, he enlisted in the One Hundred
and Fifty-ninth Ohio Volunteer infantry, Com-
pany K, and the following May, he with his

regiment, was assigned to duty at the front in the

Army of the Potomac, in General Pickett’s brigade.

At the expiration of his term of service he was
honorably discharged and returned home. June
18, 1803, he was married to Miss Mary E. Will-

iamson, who was born October 9, 1840, daughter
of Marcus and Elizabeth (Waxier) Williamson, and
after his return from the war Mr. Swingle settled

on the place where he now resides. He success-

fully conducts a farm of 135 acres, in addition to

teaching, and utterly refutes the old idea that one
can not do two things well at once. He is a mem-
ber of the Dan Brown post No. 380, of the G. A.

R., of which he has been quartermaster since its

organization. He and his wife are the parents of

eight children: Marion S., William A., MertieL,
Jennie I., Edna G.

,
John H.

,
Frederick E. and

Lillian. Politically Mr. Swingle is a republican,

and is a member of the board of the Soldiers’

Relief Commission, an organization that provides

for the relief of indigent soldiers. He and his

wife and eldest children are members of the

Lutheran church. The last school which Mr.
Swingle taught was in the same district in which
Gen. James A. Garfield taught his first term of

school. His son, William A., is a successful

teacher. Marcus Williamson, the father of Mrs.
Swingle, was born in Virginia, and was a son of

John Williamson, who settled in Franklin county
and afterward at Duncan’s Falls, this county.

He was a carpenter by trade. Marcus was married
to the daughter of Michael and Martha (Ayers)

Waxier, the latter being the daughter of Martha
Ayers and a granddaughter of Jacob Ayers, of

Welsh origin. Jacob Ayers came to Muskingum
county, Ohio, before the Indians had been removed
from the country, and one of his children was
captured by the red men and held in bondage for

several days. The child’s name was Moses, and
at the time of his capture, an adopted daughter by
the name of Carpenter was also captured. The
latter had been picking beans, and Moses Ayers,

with his gun in hand had been sent along to guard,

but boy-like he removed his gun lock, and while in

this defenseless position, an Indian stole up behind
him and made him a prisoner. Later both children

made their escape. Michael Waxier died in 1867,
aged about seventy years, his wife’s death having
occurred in 1855.

William C. Tanner is one of the most substantial

and thoroughgoing farmers of Muskingum county,

Ohio, and was born on the farm where he now
resides August 29, 1816, son of Edward and Sarah
(Brown) Tanner, the former of whom was born in

Virginia of English parents, and when about
fifteen years of age was captured by the Indians
and taken to Upper Sandusky, Ohio, where he was
kept for three and a half years. At the end of this

time he was purchased by the government and re-

turned to his home in Virginia. He learned the

Indian language while in captivity, and became
thoroughly familiar with Indian customs and
traditions. He was married in Virginia, and emi-

grated from that state to Ohio in an early day,

coming down the river on a keelboat. After

residing for one year near Coshocton, they settled

on the farm on which William C. Tanner is now
residing, but at that time the land was heavily

covered with timber, and the country around was
a wilderness. Before leaving Virginia he had
purchased land warrants sufficient to buy 500 acres

of land, and at the time of his death in 1831, he
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had a magnificent farm, well improved. He lies

buried on his farm. Indians and wild game were
very plentiful at the time of his settlement, but
there were only two or three houses between his

home and Zanesville, and it was five miles to the
nearest neighbors. He was compelled to go to

Coshocton to mill and to do his trading, and, in

fact, had to undergo all the hardships incident to

the life of the early pioneer. His wife was born
in Virginia, and proved a true help-mate to him in

his struggles to obtain a home. She died in 1855,
after having borne a family of five sons and five

daughters. She was of Irish descent. William
C. Tanner is their youngest child, and the only one
now living, so far as known. He has always re-

sided in this county, on the farm which he now
owns and which was settled by his father. He
was educated in the old-time subscription schools
of his day, and in the wintertime was compelled to

walk three miles to a log school house. March
19, 1840, he was married to Miss Eliza Cooke, of

this county, and their married life has extended
over fifty-one years of their lives, and has resulted

in the birth of two sons and six daughters: John
W. (deceased), Sarah, Harriet, wife of George
Kreiger; Fannie, wife of Henry Fleming; Clarissa,

wife of Dr. Frederick Vigor; and Charles, who
died in Colorado in 1881, and two daughters, Ida
F. and Theba A., who died when young. Mr.
Tanner inherited the warlike spirit of his paternal
grandfather, who was a soldier in the Revolution-
ary war, and when the Rebellion came up he
espoused the Union cause, and in 1862 enlisted in

Company G, Ninety-seventh Ohio Volunteer in-

fantry', of which company he was chosen captain.

After remaining in the service for about six months,
he was compelled to resign his commission on ac-

count of disease contracted while in the service,

and returned to his home. He was a participant

in the engagements at Perrysville, Stone River,

La Grange, and Crab Orchard, in all of which he
acquitted himself creditably. He has a splendid
stock and grain farm of 167 acres, about six miles
from the county seat, located on Licking river, and
through this farm the Baltimore & Ohio railroad

runs. He and his wife are members of the M.
E. church, politically he is a republican, his first

presidential vote being cast for William H. Harri-
son, at which time he was a whig. He is a man
of liberal views, is well posted on general topics of

interest, and has always taken a deep interest in

educational matters, and was one of the first men
in the county to give his children collegiate educa-
tions. Nearly all his children have taught school
and his daughters are well versed in music.

William T. Tanner, a substantial farmer resid-

ing near Zanesville, Ohio, was born in Coshocton
county, of this state, in 1812. He is the son of

James and Nancy (Taylor) Tanner, the former of

whom was a Virginian and emigrated to Ohio in

an early day, dying in this state when the subject

of this sketch was an infant. William T. Tanner
was left motherless at the age of eight years, but

continued to make his home in Coshocton county

until he was twenty-three years of age. After the

death of his mother he lived with his uncle, Will-

iam Taylor, who had quite a large family, and
whose house was a one-roomed cabin with loft over-

head, which was reached by a ladder set up in one

corner of the room. Here the boys slept on beds

made on the floor. Sometimes when very cold,

they slept under the beds next the floor. When
fourteen years old, being tired of the hard life at

his uncle’s he ran away to other friends, wading
the Muskingum river through slush ice in Novem-
ber. He has been doin^ for himself since he was

about fourteen years of age and throughout life has

devoted his attention to farming. In 1835 he came
to Muskingum county and was here married the

following year to Miss Phoebe Stump, who was
born in this county, but he was called upon to

mourn her death in 1881, she having borne him
three sons and five daughters, two sons and four

daughters now living: James E., Mary L. (wife of

Mr. A. C. Springer), Oscar W., Rachel A. (wife of

John W. Marshall), Margaret E. (wife of William

T. Mapel) andMalinda (wife of W. S. Drake, M. D.).

In 1848 Mr. Tanner had purchased the farm of

300 acres which he now owns, which is situated

about five miles west of Zanesville. Here he began

raising and dealing in stock on quite an extensive

scale, but of late years has not given so much
attention to this business as formerly. Mr. Tanner

is one of those men to whom the term “self-made”

is decidedly applicable, for he started for himself

single handed, but by industry and economy he

has succeeded in securing for himself and family

a comfortable and pleasant home. He has always

been a law-abiding and progressive citizen, and has

been one of the leaders in improving the section in

which he resides. He has made his farm, which

was very little improved when he purchased it, one

of the most fertile and finest places in the county.

He has held various offices of trust and for seven

years he was one of the county commissioners, was
director of the county infirmary six years and has

held minor offices in his township. His first presi-

dential vote was cast for Martin Van Buren in 1836

and he has always been a democrat in politics

When he was about twenty-two years of age he and
another young man raised a crop of corn for which

he received about the first money he ever owned,

and as he kept his corn until the following spring

he received a good price for it which gave him a

little start in life. Although he always had to

work hard for what he had he has been liberal in
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the use of his means in worthy causes, and is a

useful and valued citizen. He has lost over $3, 000
in going other people’s security and by trusting to

their honesty and his generosity and honesty have
manifested themselves in various other ways.

Alfred Taylor, farmer, Norwich, Ohio, was born
in Hampshire county, England, January 2, 1814,
and was the second child born to George and
Elizabeth (Tragust) Taylor, natives also of that

county. The grandparents were Thomas and Lidia
(Mainard) Taylor, and they were also of English
nativity. George Taylor emigrated to this country
in 1835, and ten weeks after starting, landed in

Zanesville. He purchased a farm in Union town-
ship and the following year located on it. There
he and wife received their final summons on the
same day. His children were all born in England
and were principally reared there. They were
named as follows: Henry (who came to this county
about two years before the rest of the family, and
is now residing in Washington township, this

county), Alfred (subject), Elizabeth (sixty years
old, died within five days of her father, ninety-two
years old, and mother, ninety years old, and all

are buried at the Norwich graveyard), Ann (de-

ceased) and Thomas (residing in Norwich.) The
members of this family all belonged to the Church
of England. The father was at one time a whig
but later became a democrat. He was a carpenter
by trade, but after coming to this country he
engaged in agricultural pursuits which he carried
on the remainder of his days. Alfred Taylor re-

mained under the parental roof until nineteen
years of age and was married to Miss Eliza Ray,
a native of Hampshire county, England, born in

April, 1812, and the daughter of Henry Ray. The
latter emigrated with his family to this county
after Alfred Taylor and wife had settled in Union
township, and there they both died. He was a

farmer. Mrs. Taylor was one of three children,

George and William, and all are now deceased.
Our subject was married before leaving England
and one child, Alfred H.

,
was born in that country.

He is living in Union township at the present time
and is engaged in farming. Four children were
born in Muskingum county, Ohio: George (residing
in Perry township), Thomas (also in Perry town-
ship), Isabel (the wife of Mr. G. Richie, resides in

the West) and Courtney H. (who is living on the
home place in Union township). Mr. Taylor lost

his first wife in 1871. His second wife, Miss
Elizabeth Herron, was born in Rich Hill township,
Muskingum county, in 1819, and died December
31, 1891. She was one of eight children reared by
William and Elizabeth (Crow) Herron. Her father
was a native of Ireland, where lie first married and
reared a family, and later he came to the United
States and settled in Rich Hill township, where his

wife died. He then married the mother of Mrs.

Taylor and eight children were the fruits of this

union: Elizabeth, Mary, Andrew, James, Martha,

Christopher, Samuel and Sarah. Only two are

now living, Martha and Sarah, the former a resi-

dent of Indiana. Mrs. Taylor’s father followed

farming in Rich Hill township and carried this on

successfully until his death when ninety- one years

of age, about 1857. His wife died the following

year. Mrs. Taylor was a worthy member of the

M. E. church. Mr. Taylor’s sons are all living in

this county, and are public-spirited citizens. Mr.

Taylor was apprenticed to a butcher in Sussex

county, for a term of three years and at seventeen

years of age received his diploma. He then en-

gaged in business for himself, until coming to

America. He sailed from Portsmouth to New
York, with his wife and child, in the ship “Louesa,”

under Captain Wood and had a very rough voyage.

His brother, Henry, met them at New York, to pilot

them through to Zanesville. From New York to

Troy they were on a towboat; from Troy to Buffalo

on a canal boat; from Buffalo to Cleveland on the

“Daniel Webster,” and on their way they met a boat

in distress and towed her to Detroit, which delayed

them two days and two nights. After a very rough

lake voyage they finally landed Saturday, near mid-

night, strangers in a strange land. No friendly

police came to their assistance and rats and frogs

were their companions until morning. Sunday
morning they took a canal boat from Cleveland to

Dresden, and from Dresden to Zanesville were on

Captain Rene’s steamer. Coming to Union town-

ship, they lived in a cabin with a puncheon floor,

and as he saved money he put it in a pewter can

under this floor. Later Mr. Taylor bought a farm,

paying for it with the money he saved in this can,

which contained all nations of specie. He attrib-

utes his success to honesty. A great many drovers

passed through his place generally stoping on their

way and at one time he accommodated ten drovers

and a boy with 1,500 head of hogs from Saturday

until Monday. He always found these people

honorable and peaceable while at his home. When
Mr. Taylor landed in Zanesville, Ohio, with his

wife and child, he had but $30 in money.
He is a butcher by trade and worked at Belknap
stillhouse through the summer season and in the

winter season at his trade, for which he received

$1 per day. He also -worked on a farm until he

got a start and in 183(5 began assisting on the

homo place. About 1842 he rented a farm from
his father and in connection with tilling the soil,

worked at butchering. He served a number of

years as a volunteer in the Concord Blues and
attended camp muster at Zanesville and Taylor

-

ville. Mr. Taylor lias accumulated a good property

by his industry and good management and is one
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of the county’s most esteemed citizens. He first

bought sixty acres, then eighty, afterward sixty

acres more, then eighty again, and then 160 acres.

He owned in this county about 500 acres of laud
and gave his children all a good start in the world.

He contributes liberally to churches, schools, etc.

and “honesty” has been his watchword through
life.

Among the pioneers of Muskingum county,

Ohio, appears the name of Henry Taylor who locat-

ed in this county at an early day. He was born in

Hampshire, England, in 1811, and came to America
in 1832, settling in Muskingum county, where he
has since lived. He resided in Zanesville two
years, in Union township eight years, in Falls

township two years, again in Union township,
seven years, in Perry township twenty-one
years, in Salt Creek and Wayne townships
fourteen years, and for the last six years has
lived in Wayne township near Zanesville. When
he first came to this state it was a compara-
tive wilderness and entirely destitute of the luxu-

ries of modern times. Buggies were almost un-

heard of and the settler made his trips either on
foot or in ox or horse wagons. Mr. Taylor’s par-

ents, George and Elizabeth (Triges) Taylor, were
natives of England, and the father was a carpenter,

son of Thomas Taylor. Two years after Mr. Tay-
lor came his father and mother came and lived in

Union township until their death in January, 1878.
They were the parents of five children, all of whom
came to America: Henry, Alfred, Thomas, Ann
and Elizabeth. Ann married H. Curll and died a

number of years ago. Elizabeth is also deceased.

Henry Taylor was married in 1840 to Miss Jane H.
Caw, who bore him nine children, one of whom died
in infancy. James was killed at Champion’s Hill,

Miss. He was a member of the Seventy-eighth
Ohio infantry, and was not yet seventeen years of

age; Eliza is the wife of R. J. Hogan; Mary mar-
ried W. A. Yernon and resides in Iowa; Charles
C.

,
married and living in Washington; Annie,

wife of T. H. Allan; Cornelia, wife of Albert Huff

;

A. A. married Barbara Sutter, and lives in Salt

Creek; Jennie, single, resides at home. In 1836
Mr. Taylor joined a company of cavalry composed
of citizens of the county. At this time he was not

a citizen of the United States. He was elected

first lieutenant of his company after two years, and
filled that position for five years, when his term
of enlistment expired. The company had to fur-

nish their own horses, clothing and provisions, the

government furnishing a saber and a brace of pis-

tols. Mr. Taylor’s first presidential vote was cast

in 1840 for W. H. Harrison. In 1886 he joined
the historical society of this county and is at pres-

ent one of its trustees. He is an honorable, up-
right citizen and is respected and esteemed by all.

Allan A. Taylor, a progressive citizen of Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, was born here October 5,

1858, to Henry and Jane Taylor, the former of

whom was born in Hampshire, England, where he
was reared and educated, coming to America at

the age of twenty-one years. The subject of this

sketch was twenty- one years of age when he start-

ed out in life for himself, but prior to this had
taught three terms of school, having had excellent

advantages which he improved to the utmost, be-

ing for some time an attendant of Muskingum col-

lege at Concord. He was next to the youngest of

his parents’ family of nine children. After attain-

ing his majority he embarked in the mercantile

business, which he continued for two years in part-

nership with his brother. He was married in

1879 to Miss Barbara A. Sutter, daughter of Bart-

ley and Louise (Sandal) Sutter, the former of

whom was born in Germany and came to America

at the early age of twelve years, locating, in time,

in Perry township of this county where he is now
residing. Jacob Frederick Sutter, his father,

crossed the ocean to Germany five times to attend

to his property interests in that country. Of the

four children born to Allan Taylor and his wife,

the following are living: Norah E., Clarence L.

and Lily E. Louis E. is deceased. Mr. Taylor

is the owner of a valuable farm of 204 acres, all of

which is improved and one of the best farms in

Salt Creek township. Besides keeping his land in

excellent agricultural condition he gives consider-

able attention to the raising of stock of all kinds,

in which business he is successful and prosperous.

He inherits his father’s sterling principles of hon-

esty and integrity, and although he has an ex-

tended acquaintance he is respected wherever he

is known. He is a republican politically, and in

his religious belief his views are in accordance with

the Lutheran church. His brother, James Tay-

lor, enlisted in the Union army in 1861, at the

age of fifteen years, and was killed at Champion’s

Hill in 1863. He enlisted from Perry township

in Company F, Seventy-eighth Ohio infantry.

One of the finest and best equipped drug stores

in this section is that conducted by Thomas G.

Trembley, Frazeysburg, Ohio, who is a thoroughly

practical and expert chemist and a gentleman well

respected in business and social circles. He comes

of one of the old pioneer families of Muskingum
county, and is of French descent, his grandfather,

Isaac S. Trembley’s ancestors having been French

Huguenots. When this family first came to the

United States they settled in New Jersey at Trem-

ble Point, of that state was named after this family.

Isaac Trembley added the “ y
” to the name. His

father, John Trembley, was one of three brothers

who fought the British at the battle of Lexington.

He was there taken prisoner, carried to England
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and made to work in the English shipyard where he

remained until the close of the Revolutionary war,

a period of about seven years. He was then brought

back by the British and received from them $1 per

day for the entire seven years. He married and
settled in Newark, N. J., where his death occurred

shortly afterward. He had but one son, Isaac S.,

grandfather of our subject. Isaac was born at

Newark, N. J., December 18, 1788, served in the

War of 1812, and was one of the famous minute

men stationed on Governor’ s Island, N. J. He came
to Muskingum county, Ohio, in the fall 1814 and
settled on a farm. He had married in Newark, N.

J., and his wife died died there leaving him three

children, one of whom remained in that city until

1839, when she came to Ohio. She was named for

her mother, Ariann A. Yosaler. Mr. Trembley
lived with his mother and two children, George and
John, until his marriage to Lucy C. Shaffer, daugh-
ter of Jacob Shaffer, of Muskingum county. The
Shaffer family was of Pennsylvania Dutch descent.

To Mr. and Mrs. Trembley were born Joseph,

Nancy, Jacob, Isaac, Cynthia, Elizabeth, Downer,
and one who died in infancy. Mr. Trembley set-

tled in Muskingum county, cleared a tract of 200
acres, and resided on that, and near it, until his

death in April, 1869. He was a member of the

Presbyterian church, and in politics was an old line

whig. He was hard-working and industrious,

strictly temperate and a strong abolitionist. He
preached temperance when it was decidedly unpop-
ular to do so, but he was firm in his convictions

and pushed to a conclusion anything he undertook.

It is said that he was connected with the “ under-

ground railroad.” He voted the abolition ticket

and was a warm friend of James G. Burney, the

noted abolition leader, who ran for president on

the abolition ticket. The Guthries, of Zanesville,

noted abolitionists, were also his friends. Mr.
Trembley took great interest in abolitionism when
it was not only unpopular, but unsafe to do so.

Dr. Joseph S. Trembley, his son, and father of our
subject, was born April 29, 1819, on his father’s

farm in Muskingum county, and received a com-
mon school education. In connection with farm-
ing he also learned the carpenter’s trade, which he
carried on for some time. Later he studied medi-
cine with Drs. Black and Pierce, of Frazeysburg
and Dresden, and then attended medical college at

Cleveland, Ohio, where he received his diploma in

the winter of 1846. He began practicing in Fra-
zeysburg that year. On the 29th of April, 1847,
he wedded in this county, Miss Mary A. Goff,

daughter of Thomas and Mary A. (Mart) Goff, the

former of English descent. To Dr. and Mrs.
Trombley were born five children : Mary (deceased),

Thomas G., Isaac, Lucy C.
,
Rosa H. After mar-

riage the Doctor settled at Adams Mills, Muskingum

county, practiced medicine there for eleven years,

and then went to Roscoe, Coshocton county, where
he remained one year. From there he went to

Keene of the same county, but eight years later he

returned to Muskingum county and resumed prac-

tice in Frazeysburg where, in connection, he also

carried on a drug store. He met with unusual

success in his profession and during the fearful

epidemic of diphtheria that ravaged the country

during the Civil war, the Doctor kept two horses

aud went night and day, thus saving many lives.

Dr. Trembly was the only physician who could

handle the disease in this part of the country, and
he visited the poor as well as the rich, and thou-

sands of dollars .due him were never collected. It

was said of him that during his career as a physi-

cian that he never lost a patient in child-birth.

Like his father, he was a strong temperance man,
and from his childhood, never tasted alcoholic

liquors, although it was an almost universal custom
to use whisky in those days. He prescribed it as

little as possible in his practice and would have
disposed of it altogether if lie could have persuaded
his patients to look upon it as he did. Dr. Trem-
bley has been a church member for forty years and
although brought up a Presbyterian lie joined

the Methodist Episcopal church, there being no
church of his faith near. He is now a member of

the Presbyterian church, was class-leader for

many years, and has been a trustee in the Presby-
terian church since it was built in Frazeysburg.
He contributed liberally of his means to build this

church and is one of its most active workers. His
wife is also a member of this church. In politics

he was formerly an old line whig, but he now affil-

iates with the republican party. He has been jus-

tice of the peace four terms, and was postmaster at

Frazeysburg for many years. He is a member of

the Masonic fraternity. He is a man universally

respected and had the confidence and esteem of

all. His son, Thomas G. Trembley, and the sub-

ject of this sketch, was born at Adams Mills, Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, January 19, 1850, and re-

ceived a good practical education in the common
schools. He started out for himself as clerk for

his father in the drug store in Frazeysburg and
has continued this business ever since. He is highly

esteemed by all his patrons for his courteous man-
ners and strict integrity, and has been highly suc-

cessful. He married Miss Elizabeth Holcomb,
daughter of Edward and Elizabeth (Mitchell) Hol-

comb. Mr. Holcomb was a descendant of one of

the pioneer families of Gallia county, an attorney

of considerable prominence and a successful mer-
chant. Mr. Trembley has been postmaster at Fra-
zeysburg for four years, aud has greatly improved
this office, using the modern system and putting in

new and improved fixtures that would be consid-
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ered quite good for a much larger place. As post-

master he is very popular for his duties are dis-

charged iu a very efficient and capable manner,
and he stands deservedly high in the estimation of

the people as a man of character and integrity.

His official record is second to none. Mrs. Trern-

bley’s grandfather, Samuel R. Holcomb, is a de-

scendant of an old colonial family of English de-

scent. He was a brigadier-general in the War of

1812. He was born on the Hudson river, N. Y.

,

and his scholastic advantages were good. When
a young man he went to Virginia, settled in the

Mercer bottoms, and was married in that state to

Miss Sarah Ewing, daughter of John and Ann
(Smith) Ewing, the former of an old Virginia fam-
ily and an old Revolutionary soldier. When a

youth Mr. Ewing was captured by the Indians and
remained a captive in the old town of Chillicothe,

Ohio, for two years. A young woman by the name
of Kate Sea, was also captured. The Indians had
stolen a Bible and at their request John Ewing
read to them, the Indians objecting to Adam, say-

ing that an Indian was the first man. John Ewing
finally escaped with the young woman, and arrived

home, where he subsequently became a prominent
man and an extensive land owner. Samuel R. Hol-

comb and wife became the parents of ten children

:

Anselm T., John E., Stephen, Edward T.
,
Ann S.,

Taphena, Lura, Caliphurnia, Olive and Jeanette.

Soon after marriage Mr. Holcomb moved to Ohio
and settled where the town of Vinton now stands.

He came with his wife and two eldest children, all

on horseback and their effects on a pack horse.

Mr. Holcomb was one of the first settlers of Gallia

county, Ohio, and became one of the substantial

farmers, owning over 400 acres of land and a fine

brick house. He was sheriff for several years and
served in the legislature two terms. In politics he
was formerly an old line whig but afterward a re-

publican. He was a strong abolitionist and was
connected with the “underground railroad,” his

house being a station on the road. He was a prom-
inent man in his day, was noted for his integrity

of character, and is yet well remembered.
His son, Edward T. Holcomb, the father of

Mrs. Trembley, was born in Vinton Ohio, January

4, 1822. He received an academic education, read
law, and in connection with his law practice taught
school for a number of years. He was married
February 23, 1847, to Mrs. Elizabeth (Mitchell)

Morlan, widow of Jesse Morlan, daughter of John
5. and Mary (Lord) Mitchell. Jesse Morlan and
Miss Elizabeth Mitchell were married in Colum-
biana county, Ohio, November 14, 1833. To this

union were born two children: Mary M. and John
M. Mary married E. Jordan, and lives at Mara-
thon, Ohio; John married Ann Garrison, and lives

at Dahlgren, 111. Jesse Morlan, the father of the

above named children, died at Vinton, Ohio, Juue,
1844. John S. Mitchell was born in Yorkshire.
England, March 7, 1792, received a good, practical

education, and was there married, one daughter,
Elizabeth, being the fruit of this union, her birth

occurring on November 14, 1814. In 1817 Mr.
Mr. Mitchell came to America with his family, and
for several years resided in Philadelphia. He
finally moved to Columbiana county, Ohio, settled

on a farm, and there remained until 1839, when
he moved to Gallia county, of that state. He re-

mained there seven years, engaged in the mercan-
tile business at Vinton, and then removed to Cin-
cinnati, where he retired from active life, investing

his money in securities, which brought him in big
returns. He finally moved to Newport, Ky.

,

where he passed the remainder of his days. He
and wife are members of the Methodist Episcopal
church, and in politics he was an old line whig.
He died at the residence of his daughter, Mrs.
Holcomb, June 6, 1874, when eighty-tbree years
of age. His wife had died tbe year previous at

tbe age of eigbty-two. Mr. Mitchell was a man
of honorable business methods, and one highly
esteemed. After marriage Edward T. Holcomb
and wife settled at Vinton, Ohio, where he was a

prosperous merchant. In 1863 he retired to his

farm, where he still resides. In politics he is a

republican, and has held tbe office of postmaster
for twenty years. He bas also been township
trustee. When the confederate general. John Mor-
gan, made his famous raid, he passed through Vin-
ton and sacked the town and burned the bridges.

They robbed the stores of Mr. Holcomb and his

brother, John E. Holcomb, and took what they
wanted. They captured all the horses they could

find, and one was a horse belonging to the vener-

able Samuel R. Holcomb. Socially Mr. Holcomb
is a Mason, and both he and wife are members of

the Universalist church. They were the parents

of the following children: Victoria, Chauncey M.

,

Elizabeth and Walter. Chauncey M. is an attorney

at Gallipolis and Walter is a farmer at Vinton.

The Holcomb family is descended from old Revo-
lutionary stock, which for generations have held

liberal views. When Morgan made his raid,

Chauncey M. Holcomb, then a lad of fourteen

years, took a musket, and going to a hill near Vin-

ton, shot at the first raiders who made their ap-

pearance, narrowly missing the head of one of

them. He was immediately searched for but could

not be found, for he had hidden himself in the

attic of a house, the woman of the house denying
any knowledge of him. Thomas Goff Sr., the

father of Mrs. Dr. Trembley, and our subject’s

maternal grandfather was born at Ludlow, Eng-
land, near the borders of Wales, February 18,

1794, and at the time of his death was seventy-
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four years of age. He removed with his parents

to the United States wheD about three years of age,

and resided for some time in eastern Pennsylvania,

principally at Columbia, but was finally persuaded

to leave and come to Ohio. In 1806 he came with

his father’s family to Zanesville and assisted in

grubbing out the hazel brush on the spot where

the courthouse now stands, and his father raised

two crops there before the ground was secured by

the authorities for the state house. Mr. Goff en-

listed in the War of 1812, from Zanesville, just

after Gen.' Hull surrendered, and served thirteen

months. He was in the regiment with the famous

Col. Croghan, and saw Tecumseh fall in the de-

cisive battle of the Thames. He was married

January 28, 1822, to Miss Mary (Martin) Putnam,

who bore him seven children. He moved to Fra-

zeysburg in April, 1838, when there were but three

or four houses in the place, and there resided, re-

spected and honored, until his death August 19,

1868. He was baptized in the Church of England,

and confirmed a communicant of the Protestant

Episcopal church in the spring of 1860 at Dres-

den. He was a substantial farmer, and owned 320

acres of fiue farming land, on which was a com-

modious residence, an excellent barn, and substan-

tial outbuildings, etc. He was a man who kept

out of debt and left his property unencumbered.

His widow was instantly killed in October, 1874,

being struck by an engine while crossing the Pan
Handle railroad at Frazeysburg. He was one of

the oldest as well as one of the most respected

citizens of the county; a soldier of the cross, a

soldier of the War of 1812, and a warm supporter

of the Union during the Civil war.

C. H. Trimble, farmer, Rural Dale, Ohio. C.

H. Trimble’s father, John Trimble, was a native

of Chester county, Penn., born May, 8, 1785, and
in his younger days followed the trade of a

stone mason, although in later years he devoted

his entire attention to agricultural pursuits. He
was married on November 24, 1814 to Miss Lydia
Harlan, also a native of Chester county, Penn.,

born October 29, 1789, and their union was blessed

by the birth of nine children, who are named in

the order of their births as follows: Elisha I.,

James, Caleb Harlan (subject) Mary, Edward,
Isaac, Willis D. J., John D., and Phoebe H. Of
these James, C. H., Mary and Phoebe are living

in Muskingum county, Ohio, Edward resides in

Morgan county, and the others are deceased. In
1818 John Trimble removed to Muskingum county,

Ohio, and settled on a farm now owned by his son

C. H., near Rural Dale. This tract, consisting of

160 acres, together with another tract of 160 acres

he purchased from the government, was in the

very heart of the wilderness and not a foot had
been cleared. His first work was to clear a small

place and erect a log cabin 16x20 feet, with a roof

of clapboards fastened down with poles. The fire-

place at one end was built without jambs in order

to take firelogs of great length, and the one room
of the cabin served as kitchen, bedroom and parlor.

In that house the family lived until our subject

was about six or seven years of age when a house
of hewed logs was built. About five or six years

later a brick house was built and this, which is

still standing, was the second brick house in the

township. As might be supposed, at the time of

John Trimble’s settlement here there were very

few settlers and only one house on the present site

of the town of Rural Dale. About 1822 a log

schoolhouse was built on the farm of Jesse Johns,
who was the first teacher, and this was probably
the second schoolhouse in the township. The
first church in the neighborhood was built by the

Society of Friends in 1821 or 1822. Mr. Trimble
and wife were members of the Society of Friends
and though for many years there was no church,
he and his wife remained steadfast in their faith

all their lives. He received his final summons on
January 21, 1854, and she followed him to the
grave on June 16, 1872. Mr. Trimble advocated
the principles of the Whig party and represented
his county in the legislature two terms, 1846 and
1848. He was prominent in the affairs of the
township and was almost continually in some of

the various township offices. His son, C. H.
,
the

immediate subject of this sketch, was born in Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, within a mile of Rural Dale,
in 1819, and was educated in the schools of his

neighborhood, attending irregularly until the age
of nineteen years. He then began tilling the soil

and this has been his chosen occupation since.

On Christmas day, 1842, he led to the altar Miss
Emma Taylor, a native of Harrison county, Ohio,
born March 3, 1823, and the daughter of William
and Sarah Taylor, pioneers of Ohio, they having
removed to that state about 1833. Mrs. Trimble
was one of a family of twelve children and is the
only one now residing in Blue Rock township.
To Mr. and Mrs. Trimble were born eight children,

three of whom are now living: Washington,
Sarah, and Ada. Washington resides in Michi-
gan; Sarah became the wife of Everett Pierpont
and resides in Harrisburg, Penn.

;
and Ada is the

wife of Edward Morrison and resides on our sub-
ject’s farm near Rural Dale. Although not a poli-

tician Mr. Trimble is a stanch republican and
firmly adheres to the principles of his party. Al-

though repeatedly solicited and eminently quali-

fied to hold office, he has refused all public posi-

tions and attends strictly to his chosen occupation.

He is an Odd Fellow of many years’ standing,
having been initiated in Zanesville in 1846, and in

1850 he was instrumental in organizing a lodge at
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Rural Dale! He was its first treasurer and served

in that capacity for over forty years. In 1874 and
1875 Mr. Trimble represented the district of

which his lodge is a part, in the Grand lodge,

and he has ever been alive to the interests of his

order and whatever pertains to Odd Fellowship.

He was an active member of the Sons of Temper-
ance, and at various times .held all the offices of

the lodge. He and Mrs. Trimble are members of

the Baptist church and he has been clerk in the

same for about twenty years. He takes a deep in-

terest in Sunday-school work and is a regular at-

tendant. His brother, Elisha Trimble (deceased)

was married in 1839 to Miss Eliza Barr, a native

of Ohio, and nine children were born to this union,

eight now living: Mrs. Anna Finley, a resident

of Muskingum county; Hayes, in Oklahoma; Mrs.
Carrie Hall, of Blue Rock township; B. F., in

Colorado; John C., in Muskingum county; Mrs.
Allie Smith, of Muskingum county; Mrs. Isadore

B. Van Meter, of Columbus, Ohio, and Lena also

of Columbus, Ohio. Mr. Trimble was an old line

whig, afterward became a republican and served
his county in the legislature from 1858 to 1862.

He also held a number of township offices, the

most important being trustee and land appraiser.

In 1872 he went to North Carolina and there en-

gaged in farming and the real estate business.

He died in 1874. His widow is still living and
makes her home in Rural Dale. Another brother

of our subject’s, John Trimble, Jr., was married
in 1859 to Miss Sophia White, and became the fa-

ther of two children—James and John S. He en-

listed in 1864 in Company — , One Hundred and
Sixtieth regiment, Volunteer infantry, and served

until the war closed. He met his death from a

fall from a tree in 1866. His widow and sons are

now living in Iowa. Our subject’s other brother,

James Trimble, was born in West Chester, Ches-
ter county, Penn., on February 20, 1817, and
when but little over a year old was brought by
his parents to Muskingum county, Ohio. There
his boyhood and youth were passed among such
hardships and vicissitudes as are unknown to the

present generation. Zanesville was the nearest

market. Wild game abounded—deer, turkeys and
squirrels were plentiful and wild cats and pan-
thers were too numerous to be pleasant. An occa-

sional bear was seen. Mr. Trimble relates that

once, when a considerable distance from home, he
and his brother Elisha were chased by a large

gray timber wolf that whipped the two fierce dogs
accompanying the boys, and followed them nearly
home. Educational facilities were limited. Four
or five months’ subscription school during the win-
ter, that Mr. Trimble could only attend irregu-

larly, was all the time afforded, and he attended
the first school taught in Blue Rock township, the

teacher being Jesse Johns. When about twenty
years of age he entered school at McConnelsville,

and there remained about three months. He was
married in 1840 to Miss Sarah A. Haworth, a

native of Chester county, Penn., born in 1820,

and the daughter of John and Susanna (Long-
shore) Haworth. In 1841 he went to Section 12,

and settled on a farm that he had purchased
from his father, and there resided for forty-nine

years, removing to his present residence in 1890.

His marriage resulted in the birth of seven chil-

dren, five of whom are living: Mary *F., wife of

Benjamin Harlan, of McConnelsville; Angeline
K.

,
wife of George Menefee; Eliza J. (deceased);

Annie H.
,

wife of J. H. Harlan; William H.
(deceased); Esther H.

,
wife of Vincent Reed, and

Elmer E. All the children reside in Blue Rock
township. Mr. Trimble advocates the principles

of the republican party, and has held various town-
ship offices, having been supervisor three or four

years, trustee from 1846 to 1856, and for seven or

eight years was school director. Mr. Trimble is a

member of Rural Dale lodge No. 157,1. O. O. F.,

being initiated about 1852, and was treasurer for

ten or twelve years, besides holding various other

offices. He was a prominent member of the Sons
of Temperance during the time that order was in

existence. Mr. and Mrs. Trimble and their chil-

dren are members of the Baptist church and he is

deacon in the same.

Rev. William W. Trout, minister of the Meth-
odist Episcopal church at Hopewell, Ohio, was born
in Lancaster, Ohio to Horatio Gates and Ruth
Card Trout, natives respectively of the states of

Pennsylvania and New York. The paternal grand-

parents were John W. and Hattie (Purcell) Trout,

and the former was born in 1776 and died in

1861 at the age of eighty- four years, while the

latter was a daughter of Peter Purcell of Sunbury,
Penn. Both the Trouts and Purcells came
to America during the early history of this country.

Horatio and Ruth Trout became the parents of

eight children, six of whom are living at the

present time: Randolph (deceased); Sarah Amelia
(Davis) in Lancaster; Ella, a teacher in Jackson-

ville (Illinois) college; Julia Frances, a student in

the Philadelphia Medical college; W. W. the

subject of this sketch; Mary and Abbie, who are at

home. Rev. W. W. Trout was born July 2, 1858,

and spent his early life in Lancaster, where he
attended the public schools until he was seventeen

years of age, at which time he entered the Ohio
Western university, from which he graduated in

1881. The three following years he was in busi-

ness with his father in Lancaster and on the 6th

of August, 1884, he was married to Miss Jesse

Reece, of Hillsboro, Ohio, a daughter of James
and Eliza (McKenney) Reece, the former of whom
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was born in Highland county in July, 1815, and
upon reaching manhood held the position of

county auditor and county treasurer three terms.

His father David was born in Virginia and moved
to Highland county in 1802, while his father, who
also bore the name of David, was born on the

Brandywine near Philadelphia. Eliza Reece was
born March 15, 1839 to Jesse G. and Mary Ann
McKenney who were of Welsh decent. The latter

was born in Virginia and in 1830 came to Ohio.

Her father William was born in Cork, Ireland, but
became a resident of America in 1806. Mr. and
Mrs. Trout are the parents of two children; Marion,
born April 10, 1886, and Horatio Gates, born
January 29, 1888. Mr. Trout was ordained a

minister of the Methodist Episcopal church in

1884, after which he preached for two years, then
entered the Boston Theological university, in

which institution he remained three years grad-

uating in 1889 and receiving degree of S. T. B.

In 1889 he was appointed the pastor of Ashbury
circuit, which appointment he is still very satis-

factorily tilling. He is not only faithful in the

discharge of his pastoral duties, but he is inde-

fatigable in his labors and during his short minis-

terial career has done much to further the calling

he represents. He also received the degree of A.

M. from Ohio Wesleyan university in June, 1888.

The subject of this memoir, William H.
Thompson has been a resident of Muskingum
county, Ohio, in Union township, buying a farm of

160 acres two miles northwest of New Concord.
He was born in Guernsey county, this state, June
24, 1841, the youngest of eight children born to

William and Sarah (Ansley) Thompson. The father

was a son of Matthew and Mary (McKeiver) Thomp-
son. Matthew Thompson was born in Tyrone,
Ireland, there married and some of his children
were born there. In 1793 they came to the United
States, settled in New York state, remained there

but a short time when they came to Fayette county,
Penn., and here Matthew Thompson followed his

trade of a wheelright. By his first marriage he
became the father of five children, all lived to ma-
turity: James, David, Joseph, Catharine and Eliz-

abeth. His first wife died and he married the
mother of William and reared a family of six chil-

dren: William (the father of William H., our
subject), Jane, Matthew, Mary, Sarah, Andrew
(all deceased). The father of this family died in

Pennsylvania about 1810, and his wife died in

Guernsey county, Ohio, about 1848, having moved
here about 1825 and settled on a farm in Monroe
township. They were members of the Associate Re-
formed church and of Scotch-Irish descent. Will-
iam Thompson was born in February, 1791, in Ire-

land, and only two years of age when he was
brought to this country by his father. His early

35

life was spent on a farm in Fayette county, Penn.,

and at the age of twenty years he enlisted in the

War of 1812 as a private. He received a common-
school education and emigrated to Guernsey
county, Ohio, in 1825, where he settled on a farm.

He resided on this farm and cultivated it until his

death in 1880, at the age of ninety years. After

coming to Guernsey county he married Sarah

Ansley, and this union was blessed with eight

children: James (who died in 1862 in Guernsey
county. He was a soldier in the late war and died

of the effects of a sickness contracted in the army.

He was a man of family), Mary J. (who married

John Cherry, of Highland township, Muskingum
county, Ohio, and died in 1891, leaving four chil-

dren), Nancy (who married Hamilton Pollack,

formerly of Guernsey county and later of Kansas.

She died in 1888 leaving two children), Margaret
(who died in 1855, unmarried), Elizabeth (who
died in 1857, unmarried), John A. (who is living

on the old home farm in Guernsey county and was
married first to Mary Agnes Neal. They had
seven children. After her death he married Agnes
Boyd. He is a republican in politics, and a mem-
ber of the United Presbyteriau church. He does

farming and general stockraising and owns a

farm of 300 acres. He is a prominent man and
has been county commissioner. He and our sub-

ject are the only surviving members of the family),

William H. (our subject and the youngest of the

family), and one son died in infancy. The father

was a whig in politics, and later a republican. He
was a member of the United Presbyterian church
and took an interest in all church and school work,

was a very successful farmer and at the time of

his death had a good farm of 200 acres. His wife,

Sarah (Ansley) Thompson was born in Beaver
county, Penn., in 1799, and was the daughter of

John and Jane (Beaver) Ansley. Her parents

came from Ireland and were of Scotch descent.

The father was born in Ireland in 1775 and died

in 1831 and the mother was born in Scotland in

1776 and died in 1826. They were the parents of

ten children: Sarah (born 1799), Jane (1800),

Mary (1803), Thomas (1805), Nancy (1808), John
(1810), Amos (1812), Sampson (1815), Myrtilla

(1818) and Elizabeth (1820), only one now living,

Myrtilla, in Kempton, 111. Mrs. Thompson, the

mother of William H. , died in Guernsey county,

Ohio, in 1878. She had lived here since her mar-
riage and was a lifelong member of the United
Presbyterian church. William H. Thompson re-

ceived his education in the district schools of this

county and was reared to farm life. At the age
of twenty years he enlisted in the late war in Com-
pany H, Sixty-fifth Ohio Volunteer infantry, as a

private and was promoted to sergeant. Some of

the principle battles in which he took part were:
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Chickamauga, Mission Ridge, Kenesaw Mountain,
Peach Tree Creek, Ga., Spring Hill, Tenn., Frank-
lin, Teun., and Nashville. He was wounded at his

first battle at Stone River and was taken prisoner
and confined in Libby prison a part of five months.
He was in a number of hard battles and was dis-

charged December, 1865. After the war Mr.
Thompson settled in Guernsey county, and here
married, in 1866, Mary J. Lee. They were the
parents of six children: Frank L., Samuel H.,

William O., Albert R., Andrew A. and Robert H.
Mrs. Thompson was born in Guernsey county in

1888 and was the daughter of Samuel Lee. She
was a member of the United Presbyterian church
and died in 1878. In 1879 Mr. Thompson mar-
ried Maggie L. Moore, a native of Perry county,
this state, born in 1844, and the daughter of Will-
iam C. and Jane (Boles) Moore. Her father was
a native of Washington county, Penn., but at an
early day settled in Jefferson county, Ohio, later

in Perry county, and about 1861 moved to Guern-
sey county, near New Concord, where he died in

April, 1881 ,
at the age of seventy-four years. His

wife died, December, 1891, in her eighty second
year. They were the parents of nine children,

five living: James, Samuel E., John, Mary (de-

ceased), Robert (deceased), Margaret, Robert (de-

ceased), William A., and Jane (deceased). By
this marriage Mr. Thompson became the father of

three children: Myrtis B., Maggie M. (deceased)
and John S. (deceased). Himself and wife are

members of the United Presbyterian church of

Norwich of which he has been ruling elder for

some time. He has held the office of school di-

rector of Fox Creek district and is always ready to

assist in any work for the benefit of the church
and school. He has been a republican in politics,

but is now with the prohibition party, in which
he is very much interested. He owns a well-im-
proved farm of 160 acres and is engaged in farm-
ing and stockraising. His children are all at

home, except Frank, who is out West. William C.

Moore, the father of Mrs. Thompson, was a son of

James Moore, who came from Ireland and settled

in Washington county, Penn., about 1800. He
married in Ireland and was the father of the fol-

lowing children: Esther, John S.. William C.

(father of Mrs. Thompson), Mary, Robert Nancy,
and McConkey Moore (who died soon after the
late war from effects of campaign life while in the
service of his country).

F. M. Townsend, proprietor and owner of Gant
Park, is a native of Morgan county, Ohio, born
September 21, 1854, and the son of William and
Harriet (Burgess) Townsend, both of whom were
originally from England. They emigrated from
their native country at an early day, and after

reaching the United States located first at Pitts-

burg, Penn., where they were married. From
there they subsequently moved to Morgan county,

Ohio, and there the mother received her final

summons. F. M. Townsend was left motherless

when about five years of age, and an elder sister

then took charge of the family and reared the

younger children. He received his primary edu-

cation in Morgan county, but completed it in

Beverly, Washington county, wherehe remained un-

til sixteen years of age. In 1871 he came to Zanes-
ville and finished his trade, that of a tinner and
sheet-iron worker, in 1873, but never followed it.

He went with his brother, T. B. , and took charge,

as superintendent and general manager, of public

contract work through Ohio and Virginia for five

years. In the winter of 1878 he began contract-

ing for himself and followed the same until 1886.

The last work that he accomplished in this line

was ten miles of the Zanesville & Ohio River rail-

road. He also worked extensively for the P. &
W. R. R., the Connotton Valley railroad, now the

C., C. & S. R. R., and on railroad and county
bridges. In June, 1886, he bought the interest

of J. Burgess (his uncle) in the street railway, and
took charge of the road in August as its president

and superintendent. When he bought the road it

was run down, and had scarcely any business. He
went to work and fixed it up and soon had it on a

paying basis. In 1877 he built two and a half

miles of road from Greenwood cemetery to Gant
Park and leased the park. He erected a great

many buildings and soon was doing a good busi-

ness. He managed the street railway until Octo-

ber, 1890, made some money out of it, and turned
it over in good shape to his successor. In June,

1890, he purchased Gant park, consisting of

twenty-two acres, and in September of the same
year fifteen acres of the Street Railway company
at an enormous outlay, and has since devoted his

time in beautifying these grounds. He has put at

least $10,000 improvements on the park and is

still improving. He also contemplates making a

zoological garden out of part of it. He has a

base-ball diamond, a race track, and show ground,

which is the only available place in the city. Gant
Park is the finest natural park in the state of

Ohio, and with Mr. Townsend’s improvements it

is bound to become the most beautiful. It is cer-

tainly one of the finest pleasure resorts in the

state, and the people of Zanesville appreciate the

enterprise of Mr. Townsend. He certainly de-

serves great credit for his perseverance. He be-

gan life for himself at the age fourteen of without a

dollar, and since then was compelled to earn his

own living. He can now enjoy the fruits of his

industry and perseverance. He is a director in

the T. B. Townsend Brick company. Mr. Town-
send was married in 1888 to Miss Birdie F. Lee,
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of Kent, Portage county, Ohio, and is the father

of one son, William L.

Charles F. Urban, retired shoemaker, was born

at Clotra, Germany, in November, 1821, the

youngest of seven children born to Gotleib and
Wilhelmina (Phenn) Urban, the former of whom
was an officer in the German army, and died in his

seventieth year, his wife dying in 1827 at the age of

forty years. Charles F. Urban commenced learning

the shoemaker’s trade at the age of fifteen years,

working for three years as an apprentice, after

which he commenced business on his own account

and in 1846 opened a shop in the town of his

birth. In 1854 he came to America to seek his

fortune, and landed at Baltimore on the 20th of

May of that year with only $5 as a cash capital

to go to work upon. He went to Wheeling by
rail, which was the terminus of the road, and then

by wagon to Cambridge, Ohio, and in Perry town-
ship, Muskingum county, he opened a shoe shop.

After two years of hard work, and by practicing

the economy which is so characteristic of the Ger-

man people, he had saved enough money to pur-

chase a house and lot, and to this property he
continued to add for sixteen years and then came
to Springfield township, Muskingum county,

where he purchased an excellent little farm of

forty-eight acres near Zanesville, Ohio, which he
cleared and otherwise improved to the value of

$1,500. When the war opened he joined Com-
pany G, One Hundred and Fifty-ninth regiment,

Ohio Volunteers, and was mustered into the service

on the 6th of May, 1864, at Zanesville. After

participating in a number of battles and numerous
skirmishes, he was taken sick and sent to his home
from the hospital. He soon regained his health,

but was not ordered out again, being discharged
the following November. In 1846 he was united
in marriage to Miss Hannah S. Dittmar, by whom
he became the father of nine children: Ernestine,

wife of John Young, a carpenter of Columbus,
Ohio; August was accidentally killed at Cam-
bridge while assisting in the construction of the tun-

nel of that city, at which time he was twenty-one
yearsof age; Henrietta is the wife of Charles Griffin

of Zanesville; Charles married Miss Birdie Swagert
and resides in Zanesville; Benjamin F. married
Miss Mary Tanner and was accidentally killed in

Griffith & Wedges’ foundry in August, 1890;
Henry married Miss Eva Vankirk and is a pros-

perous farmer of Indiana; Louis is single and
follows the trade of a molder in Zanesville; John
resides at home and is unmarried, and Rosa also

resides at home. Mr. Urban has held the office of

superintendent of highways a number of years
and has been school director and township trustee.

He and his wife are members of the German
Protestant church of Zanesville and are upright

and useful citizens and are considered acquisitions

to the community in which they reside.

George Varner, one of the wide awake,

thoroughgoing farmers of Muskingum county,

Ohio, was born in 1854, and comes of old pioneer

stock. His grandfather, Martin Varner, was of

German descent and came to Ohio from Mononga-
liela county, Va., in 1812. He brought his wife

and twelve children: John, Isaac, Alexander,

Joseph, Jacob, Samuel, Polly, Susan, Lydia, Mar-
garet, Betsy and Sally. Martin Varner settled on
land in Muskingum county and here passed the

remainder of his days, dying when about seventy

years of age. He was one of the old-time pioneers

and a man possessed of many sterling traits of

character. He was an Old School Baptist in relig-

ious belief, and assisted in building the old

Baptist church at Cottage Hill. His son, Alexan-

der Varner, and the father of our subject, was born
in Monongaliela county, Va.

,
June 15, 1810, and

was but two years of age when brought to Mus-
kingum county. He grew to manhood in the

wilderness, received but a limited education, and
on the 19tli of May, 1842, he married Miss Cather-

ine Clapper, daughter of George and Susan (Baker)

Clapper, of German descent. George Clapper
was born in Fayette county, Penn. In 1807 he
came to Muskingum county, Ohio, and settled in

Salt creek township, where he followed agricultural

pursuits, becoming the owner of a large tract of

land and giving his sons all good farms. He is

the father of fourteen children, two of whom died

in Pennsylvania. The others were Peter, Betsy,

Susan, George, Katie, Mary, Sarah, Anna, Jacob,

William, Martin and Eliza, all born in Muskingum
county, Ohio. Mr. and Mrs. Clapper were mem-
bers of the Lutheran church, and were highly

respected in the community in which they lived.

He died in Salt Creek township in 1864, when
eighty-two years of age. His father was in the

Revolutionary war. Mrs. Varner was born June
26, 1812. Mr. and Mrs. Varner’s marriage re-

sulted in the birth of seven children: David W.
(who enlisted in the Union army in August, 1862,

and was in Company C, the famous Ninety- seventh

regiment, Ohio Volunteer infantry. He was shot

through the hand, and died at Cumberland hospi-

tal, Nashville, Tenn., on the 3d of September, 1864,

at the age of twenty-one years four months aud
thirteen days); the remaining children are: Mary
A., Felix, Jacob M., George H.

,
John L. and

Susan L. After marriage Mr. Varner settled on

the farm now carried on by his children, 207 acres

of excellent land, and there his death occurred at

the age of eighty years. He was an industrious,

hard-working man, and accumulated all his prop-

erty by the sweat of his brow. His son, Felix,

married Miss Ella Skinner and resides in Licking
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county, Ohio. The remainder of the family are at

home. George Varner, our subject, received a fair

common-school education, and early in life became
familiar with agricultural pursuits, which occu-

pation he expects to make his life’s calling. In
politics he is a republican.

George Vickers is an old soldier citizen who,
after fighting for his country three years in the

great Civil war, returned home to follow the peace-

ful pursuits of agriculture. His grandfather was a

farmer in Loudoun county, Va.
,
and there passed

from life. Six of his children came to Muskingum
county, Ohio at the time of the building of the

Ohio canal and all of them settled in this county
with the exception of Tolivar, who located in the

southwestern part of Coshocton county. He was
a soldier in the War of 1812. The remaining
children of the family were Charles, William,

Samuel, Betsey and Malinda. Samuel Vickers
was the father of the subject of this sketch. He
was born in Loudoun county, Va.

,
in 1815, but

received limited educational advantages in his

youth and was a young man of twenty-two or

twenty-three years of age when he came to Ohio.

He first resided on the Ohio canal and was married
to Caroline Romine, daughter of Elijah and Loran
(Riley) Romine, the former of whom came from
Loudoun county, Va., at the same time as the

Vickers and settled on a farm in the southwest part

of Coshocton county, his family at that time being
nearly all grown. His children were Edward,
Stephen, Moses, Caroline and Susan. Mr. Romine
died at the age of seventy in Bartholomew county,

Ind., to which place he removed in 1845, becom-
ing a farmer in good circumstances. Mr. and
Mrs. Samuel Vickers became the parents of ten

children: Mary A., Louisa, George, Stephen,
Elizabeth, Samuel, Huldah, Malinda, Emma and
Maria. After settling in Muskingum county, Mr.
Vickers worked for the Ohio Canal company as

lock-tender, and until his death, which occurred at

the age of fifty years, he was a hard-working,
industrious and useful citizen. George Vickers,

his son, was born February 8, 1839, at Adams
Mills this county and obtained a limited education
in the common schools. He early learned the

duties of farm life and his youth was passed in

the monotonous duties of life on a farm. When
twenty- three years of age he responded to the call

of President Lincoln for 300,000 men and enlisted

in Company F, Ninety-seventh regiment, Ohio
Volunteer infantry as a private and took part in

the battles of Perryville, Ky., October 8, 1862;
Stone River, Tenn., December 31, 1862; Chatta-
nooga, November 23-5, 1863; Missionary Ridge
on November 25, 1863; Rocky Face Ridge, Ga.,

May 5-9, 1864; Dalton, August 14-16, 1864;
Resaca, May 13-16, 1864; Adairville, May 17-18,

1864; Dallas, May 25 to June 4, 1864; Ivenesaw
Mountain June 27, 1864; special assault of Ivene-

saw Mountain, June 22, 1864; Peach Tree Creek,

July 20, 1864; siege of Atlanta, Ga., from July 28,

to September 2, 1864; Jonesboro, August 31, to

September 1, 1864; Lovejoy Station, September,

2-6, 1864; Spring Hill, Tenn., November 29, 1864;
Nashville, December 15-16, 1864, besides others

of less importance. The Ninety-seventh regiment
was organized at Zanesville, Ohio, September 2,

1862, and was mustered out of service at Nashville,

Tenn., June 10, 1865. The companies composing
the regiment were A and B, from Guernsey
county; C and D, from Morgan county; E, F, Gl-

and Iv, from Muskingum county, and I and H,
from Coshocton county. The regiment left Zanes-
ville September 7, 1862, for the front and was
disbanded at Columbus, June 15, 1865. The
entire loss in killed, wounded and missing was
577. June 22, 1864, eight companies numbering
192 men, lost between 3:30 and 4 o’clock, 103
men, the greatest loss of any regiment in the army
in so short a space of time. This is the record of

the famous Ninety-seventh regiment which, in

addition to the above, took part in skirmishes too

numerous to mention. Mr. Vickers was in all

these battles with the exception of Stone River, at

that time being sick with fever in Hospital No. 2,

at Nashville, where he was kept only two months.
The brigadier-general was George D. Wagner, the

colonel John Q. Lane, then of Zanesville, now a

lawyer of Philadelphia. The regiment has held

seven reunions, all of which were well attended,

160 being present at the last, which was held at

Coshocton July 3, 1891. The regimental flag was
captured by the confederates at Franklin, Tenn.,

and was returned to the regiment by them in 1884,

a delegation of the regiment that captured it,

delivering it. Mr. Vickers was a good soldier and
endured the hardships and privations and dangers

of the soldier’s life with courage and fortitude.

His children may well feel proud of his gallant

record, which is untarnished. January 15, 1868,

he was married to Miss Sarah A. McKee, daughter

of William and Maria (Vickers) McKee, the former

of whom was of Irish descent. His father, Patrick

McKee, came from Ireland and settled in Coshoc-

ton county, Ohio. To Mr. and Mrs. McKee one

child was born, Sarah, who became the wife of

Mr. Vickers. Her mother died when she was an
infant of eighteen months and her father took for

his second wife Margaret Gault, which union

resulted in the birth of seven children: Maria,

Elsie, Milton, Kate, William, Belle and Amy.
Mr. McKee was a farmer of Coshocton county, but

sold out and moved to Missouri, where he died in

1872 at the age of forty-five years. He was a

member of the Baptist church and was honorable
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and upright. Eight children have been born to

Mr. and Mrs. Vickers: Elmer G.
;
Alva W.

,
who

died at the age of ten years; Lena M.
;
Melvin Z.

;

Huldah B.
;
Eura M., died in infancy; Mabel F.

;

George B., and H. Virgil. After his marriage
Mr. Vickers resided for one year in Washington
township, Coshocton county, but in 1870 came to

Jackson township of this county and since 1874
has been a resident of his present farm, which
consists of 151 acres. Mr. Vickers is a republican

politically and is a charter member of Griffe post,

of the G. A. R. of Frazeysburg. He is a mem-
ber of the Regular Baptist church and his wife is

a Methodist. He has always been a patron of

education, and for twelve years has been a school

director of Frazeysburg. By industry and hard
work he has made a good home for his family and
has given his children good advantages. He stands

high as a citizen, being honest and conscientious

in all his acts. As a soldier he was not afraid to

face rebel bullets on many a hard-fought battle-

field, and by his name should be written the words,
“ well done.”

Among the successful farmers of Adams town-
ship, Ohio, whose merits are such as to entitle him
to representation in the present work, is George H.
Vinsel, Adamsville, Muskingum county. John
Vinsel, his grandfather, was a prosperous farmer
of Loudoun county, Va., and of German descent.

He married Miss Huff, also of German descent,

and the following children were born to them:
John, Adam, Philip, George, Solomon, Kate, Polly,

Eva and Susan. He lived to the age of sixty-five

years, was a soldier in the War of 1812 and amem-
ber of the Lutheran church. John Vinsel Jr., his

son and the father of George H., was born in Lou-
doun county, Va., and was a blacksmith by trade.

He married Mary Foley, and this union was blessed

with six children: Harriett, Eliza, Matilda, John H.,

Thomas W. and George H. The father died at

the age of fifty years both himself and wife being
members of the Lutheran church. George H.
Vinsel was born in Loudoun county, Va.

,
August

24, 1824, was reared as a farmer and received a

common-school education. He came to Ohio at

the age of twenty-five years and married in Adams
township, August 22, 1850, Elizabeth R. Wenner,
born March 9, 1832, and the daughter of Solomon
and Malinda (Wertz) Wenner. Her father was
born in Loudoun county, Va., came to Muskingum
county and married in Salem township, settling at

Fultonham, ten miles from Zanesville. Here he
worked at his trade of carpenter and cabinetmaker,
and came to Adams township in 1836, bought the
farm now occupied by our subject and here passed
the remainder of his days. Himself and wife were
members of the Lutheran church, in which he was
Sunday school superintendent for many years. He

was an old line whig in politics. They were the

parents of three children: Peter F. (died in in-

fancy), Mary C and Elizabeth R. Mr. Wenner
lived to be fifty years of age and died in 1851.

After his marriage George H. Vinsel settled on the

farm upon which he now resides. He was always

very industrious, and when he came to this township
had saved up $500. He continued to save until

he bought the old Wenner homestead and has

added to it until he now owns 240 acres of as good
land as there is in the county. Mr. and Mrs. Vin-

sel are members of the Lutheran church. Mr.

Vinsel is a democrat politically, has held the of-

fices of township trustee, and treasurer, and has

been a member of the school board. He is in favor

of good roads and has been road supervisor for

some time. To himself and wife were born eleven

children: Solomon F. was born July 23, 1851,

married Mary M. Bainter (they have five children;

he is a farmer in Adams township); John W. was
born August '28, 1853, married Maggie Stewart
(he is a carpenter of Adams township and they

have two children); Mary M. was born October 22,

1855, and is the wife of Samuel Hanks, a farmer
of Adams township; William Kirk was born May
17, 1858, and died February 10, 1868; Martha A.

was born April 17, 1860, is the wife of Henry
Buker of Monroe township and has three children;

Albert R. was born August 24, 1862, married Etta
Davis (he is a carpenter and they have one child)

;

Curtis O. was born June 14, 1865, married Lillie

M. Jackson, daughter of Dr. Jackson, of Zanes-
ville (he is a carpenter of Zanesville); Valley

A. was born October 18, 1867, and married
Spencer Jordan, a farmer of Adams township
(they have one child); George T. was born De-
cember 4, 1870; Alvy A. was born August 23,

1873; and Bertha V. was born July 26, 1876. Mr.
Vinsel gave all his children good educations, and
George is now attending school at Lebanon. He
has taught four terms of school and is a young man
of ability. Mr. Vinsel can justly be termed one of

the leading citizens of tbis county, as he has done
all in his power for the advancement and good of

of the community.
Thomas Waddle, a prosperous farmer residing

on eighty-five acres of excellent land in section 11,

Union township, Muskingum county, Ohio, is a

native of the Emerald Isle, born in County Ar-
maugh, Ireland, on May 29, 1836. His parents,

John and Mary (Best) Waddle, were natives also

of that country and there their nuptials were cele-

brated. Their children, eight in number, were
born there and named as follows: Robert, Sarah,

John, Thomas and Martha (twins), Mary A., Mar-
garet and William. John Waddle, father of these

children, came to the United States in 1850, settled

on a farm in Union township, and the following
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year sent to the land of his birth for his family.

He made his home in Muskingum county for about

eleven years and then moved to Illinois, where he
followed farming until his death in 1864. He was
a good farmer and accumulated considerable

property. Mrs. Waddle died in the same state in

the same year. Of their children only one besides

our subject is now living, Mary A., who is now
Mrs. Malone, of New Concord. Thomas Waddle
attended school in Ireland until coming to the

United States and was then in the district schools

of Union township for some time. When about

sixteen years of age he began his life’s work as a

tiller of the soil and has followed that occupation

up to the present time. He was married in 1857,

to Miss Mary E. Stewart, a native of Union town-
ship, Muskingum county, born May 12, 1838, and
the daughter of John and Jane (Chambers) Stew-

art, being one of six children who are named in the

order of their births as follows: Robert, Thomas,
Margaret J.

,
William, James C. and Mary E. Mr.

Stewart was born in Baltimore, Md., and moved to

Muskingum county at an early day, about 1830.

The mother died about 1841, when Mrs. Waddle
was about three years old, and the latter was reared

by James Wilson, with whom she remained until

her marriage. To Mr. and Mrs. AVaddle were born
ten children : Robert S.

,
who died at the age of

fourteen days; Maggie J., died at the age of twen-

ty three years; Martha A., died at the age of

twenty-one years; John, Samuel C., James W.,
Joseph E., Lemuel A., the last live all at home;
Mary L., died at the age of three years and Emily
B. died at the age of six months. After marriage
Mr. Waddle settled in Union township, and in 1864
he enlisted in Company D, One Hundred and Fif-

ty-ninth regiment, in the 100 days’ service. In
1865 he and family settled on the farm where they

now live and here they have made their home
since. Mr. Waddle engaged in general farming.

All are members of the U. P. church and are inter-

ested in all good work. Mr. Waddle is a repub-
lican in politics and his sons also advocate the

princij3les of that party. He has held a number
of local offices and is held in high esteem in the

county. Mrs. Waddle’s brothers and sisters are

scattered. The father died in Muskingum county.

Her mother, who was a native of Washington
county, Penn., was of German descent. Of the

children Robert resides in Perry township, this

county; James resides in Union township; Mar-
garet J. , now Mrs. Stewart, resides in Benton
county, Iowa; Thomas died in New York state and
William is mining in Idaho.

Samuel Wade, freight and passenger agent for

the Columbus, Shawnee & Hocking railroad, at

Zanesville, Ohio, is a native of England, born in

Halifax, Yorkshire county, November 10, 1843.

He was educated in the common schools of his

native county. On the 5th day of May, 1872, he
landed in New York city, but went from there to

the Pine Tree state where he spent the summer.
In September of that year he came to Zanesville,

Ohio, where he has since resided. He worked as a

common laborer for a short time and in February
1874 he commenced working for the Cincinnati &
Muskingum Valley railroad, handling freight on the

platform. He was subsequently promoted to check
clerk and bill clerk and was with that company up
to September, 1888. He then went to work for

Thomas Drake & Company, lumber merchants, as

their collector, and after remaining with them for

one year, accepted a position as traveling salesman
for the Dillon Soap company, at Zanesville, being on
the road for this company about a year. Going
back to Thomas Drake & Co., he remained with
them until January 27, 1890, at which time he
accepted a position as contracting freight and
passenger ageut for the C. S. & H. R. R. and June
1 he was promoted to his present position,

which he fills in a very satisfactory manner. Mr.
Wade was married on the 30th of November,
1870, to Miss Martha Ann Drake, and their union
has been blessed by the birth of four living

children: Emma J., John H.
,

Sarah E. and
Samuel J. Mr. Wade is a member of Amity
lodge No. 5, A. F. & A. M., and in politics he is

a stanch republican.

Among those of German birth now residing in

Muskingum county stands the name of Philip

Wahl, Adamsville, Ohio, who is prominently
identified with the farming and stockraising

interests of the county. He was born in Alsace

county, Germany, June 20, 1829, and was left

fatherless when but four years of age. His mother,

with her family, came to America and settled in

Madison township, Muskingum county, Ohio, in

1840. She had three sons: Fredrick, now in

Iowa; Laurance also in Iowa, and Philip who is

the only one now in this county. She bought
eighty acres of land, for which she paid $700, and
there resided for some time. She subsequently

went to live with one of her sons, near Boone,
Iowa, and there her death occurred in 1868.

Philip Wahl received his primary education in his

native country and finished his education in this

county. He started out when eighteen years of

age to learn the harness maker’s trade and this he

followed for about ten years. In 1851 he married

Miss Margaret Lapp, daughter of Henry and
Magdaline (Zimmer) Lapp. Mr. and Mrs. Lapp
were natives of Germany and after coming to this

country they bought land in Adams township,

Muskingum county, Ohio, where the father suc-

cessfully tilled the soil. They were the parents of

the following children: Michael, Elizabeth, Mar-
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garet, Catherine, Louisa, Soloman, Henry, Abner
and Mary. Three died when young. Mr. Lapp
died in 1882, but his wife previous to this, in 1876.

To Mr. and Mrs. Wahl have been born ten chil-

dren: Louisa A., now Mrs. Strohecker; Martha L.

;

Dorothy J. (Mrs. Hanks) died July, 1880; Mary E.,

now Mrs. T. J. Keyes; Martin L.
;
Emma S., now

Mrs. Samuel Keys; Carrie M.
;
Harvey N.

;
Charles;

and Alice, now Mrs. Trittipo. Mr. Wahl and
family hold membership in the Lutheran church,

and in politics Mr. Wahl is a democrat. He has
held a number of township offices, takes a deep
interest in all public enterprises, and is a public-

spirited citizen. He has been unusually successful

in tilling the soil, owns 300 acres of good land,

and is one of the substantial men of the county.

He resides about four and a half miles from
Adamsville, and is the only one of the Wahl family

residing in the county.

Dr. G. W. W. Walker is an eminent medical

practitioner, who has practiced his profession in

the town of Roseville, Muskingum county, Ohio,

for the past fourteen years. He was reared and
educated in this neighborhood and was the only

son of a family of seven children born to the union
of G. W. Walker and wife. G. W. Walker was
born in Maryland in 1808, a son of Elisha Walker.
The Walkers are an old family of New York.
Elisha came to this county at an early day and
settled near Zanesville on a good farm about 1822.

He resided in the county until his death. He was
born about 1763, and lived to be about eighty-five

or ninety years of age. He reared a large family
and G. W. was one of the younger children.

Elisha had married twice and G. W. was one of the
second marriage. Of his twelve children only one
is now living., Mrs. Eliza Thrush, of Missouri. G.
W. Walker, the father of our subject, came with his

parents to Muskingum county, where he grew to

maturity, married and settled on a farm. Here he
lived until his death in January, 1892. In 1832
he married Mahala Brown, a daughter of Benjamin
Brown, born in 1814 in Virginia. Her father

settled near Zanesville many years ago, later moved
to Morgan county, and lived there until his death
in 1864, his wife, Nancy Davis, dying in 1870.

Mrs. Walker was the mother of seven children, and
died in 1885. The children were: George
(subject); Martha, now Mrs. White of Roseville;

Jennie, now Mrs. Sagle of Roseville; Mary, Mrs.
Poe of Roseville; Lizzie, the widow of Dixon
Tharp of Zanesville; Etta, now Mrs. Hoover, living

near Roseville; Frances, now Mrs. Myers of Rose-
ville. The parents of this family were members of

the Methodist Episcopal church. The father was
prominent in politics and held many offices of

trust. Dr. George W. W. Walker was born on the
old home of his father in this township in 1847.

Here he attended the district schools and later the

Cincinnati Medical college, from which he gradu-

ated in 1875. He located at Fairfield county for

one year and in 1878 established his practice in

Roseville and has won for himself an enviable

reputation as a physician. In 1876 he married

Zillah Stoneham, a native of Beavertown, Morgan
county, Ohio, and the daughter of Michell and
Magdaliue (Wilson) Stoneham. Mrs. Walker was
born in 1855 and is the mother of one child,

Dwight M. The Doctor is a member of the

National Medical association and the County
Medical association, and an Odd Fellow of long

standing, since 1868. He is also a member of the

Royal Arcanum and F. & A. M. Himself and wife

are members of the Christian church.

The father of Robert Waters, Otsego, Ohio,

William Waters, was born in Wales, coming to this

country when a lad. He was a farmer and married
Nancy Ashwell, of Virginia. He settled in the

Shenandoah valley, four miles above Harper’s
ferry, on what is now known as the Shieler farm,

where he lived until his death at the age of fifty-

two years. He was the father of ten children:

Richard A., William, James, Polly and Robert are

those who lived to be grown and all reared families

except James, who died in Virginia. Mr. Waters
was a substantial farmer and a member of the

Methodist church and was respected by all who
knew him. Robert Waters, his youngest child,

was born February 12, 1813, received a limited

common-school education and was left an orphan
by the death of his father at the age of eleven

years. He lived in Virginia with his eldest brother,

Richard A.
,
until he was fourteen years of age and

then came to Ohio with this brother in 1827.

Richard A. was a married man with three children,

studied medicine and became a physician and
settled in Monroe township on a farm in 1828.

Young Robert worked at farm work until he be-

came a man, and April 28, 1834, married So-

phronia Richardson, daughter of Jesse Richardson
and his wife Lydia. Jesse Richardson was an old

Revolutionary soldier from the state of Connecti-

cut, who settled in Monroe township on the farm
now occupied by our subject. To Robert Waters
and wife were born four children: Jerome H.
(born April 13, 1835), William C. (born Septem-
ber 20, 1842), Philancy (born February 4, 1838),

and Robert Marshall (born June 23, 1845). After

his marriage, Mr. Waters settled on the old Rich-
ardson homestead, where he has since lived. Both
himself and wife are members of the Methodist
Protestant church and he has been class leader and
trustee. In politics he is a republican and was a

strong Union man during the war. He sent three

sons to the Civil war—Jerome H. was in the

100 days’ service in the Shenandoah valley.
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William C. was in Company F., Seventy-eighth

Regular Ohio Volunteer infantry, and served all

through the war, was in many battles and was with

Sherman on his famous march to the sea. He is

now a physician at Adamsville, Ohio. Robert M.
was in Company —

,
Sixty-fourth Ohio Volunteer

infantry, served nine months and was in many
battles, the last being Nashville. Mr. Waters is

much respected by the people and has been road
Supervisor. He has taken an active interest in

having good schools and was a member of the

school board for many years. He gave his chil-

dren all good common school educations. His iirst

wife died, and May 28, 1848, he married Julia R.
Barnard, daughter of Jason and Jane (Holcomb)
Barnard. To them have been born six children,

all lived to be grown: Sarah (born March 29, 1849,

was married and died at the age of forty years),

Wesley A. (born August 16, 1855), Charles L.,

(born June 8, 1859), Louisa J. (born April 8, 1857),

Emma E. (born January 15, 1862), and Decatur
A. (born July 20, 1863). Jason Barnard was of

English parents, born in Connecticut, .where he
married Jane Holcomb and lived near Hartford.

They were the parents of seven children who lived

to be grown: Julia R., Jason A., Louisa M.
,
Lucy

M.
,
Electa L., Celia A. and Fidelia J. Jason

Barnard came to Monroe township about 1824 and
settled on a farm. He lived to the advanced age
of seventy-eight years and died in this township.

Mr. Waters is a man who has always lived a cor-

rect moral life, has been a good citizen, and is re-

spected by all who know him. He has been the

father of eleven children. The Waters’ family

descend from Ohio’s old pioneer stock of sturdy

and brave frontiermen, without whom no country

could become civilized and the fatherland of a

prosperous and peaceful race of people such as

Ohio can boast of to-day. Jerome H. Waters
married Louisa Barnard, daughter of Jason Barn-
ard. He is a farmer in Monroe township.

John W. Watson, hotel proprietor, Trinway,

Ohio. There is nothing adds so much to the pres-

tige of a town in the estimation of a stranger as

first-class hotel accommodations. First in Trin-

way is the well-known house kept by Mr. Watson.
This gentleman is a native of the Buckeye State,

his birth occurring in Coshocton county, Perry
township, on the 14th of January, 1844, and his

parents, John W. and Elizabeth (Bingard) Wat-
son, were natives of the Old Dominion. The father

was drowned in Wakatomaka creek in 1854, and
the mother received her final summons in 1872.

John W. Watson became familiar with the tedious

routine of farm life at an early age, and when six-

teen years of age he began learning the shoemak-
er’s trade at West Carlisle, Ohio, following this for

seven years. In 1862 he enlisted in Company D,

One Hundred and Twenty-Second Ohio Volunteer
infantry, and served for three years, or during
the war. He was wounded at the battle of the
Wilderness and was discharged in 1864. He began
working at his trade at Frazeysburg, and also ran
a hotel at that place. In 1886 he came to Trin-

way and opened the Union hotel, which he has
conducted in a successful and creditable manner
ever since. He was married in 1876 to Miss Mag-
gie McCann, a native of Frazeysburg, and to them
have been born two interesting children—Harry
and Frank. Mr. Watson is a pleasant, agreeable
man, and is naturally suited and adapted to his

present business. In politics he is a democrat, and
is a member of the G. A. R., Cass post. He is

also a member of the A. F. & A. M., Dresden
lodge No. 103. He holds membership in the
Presbyterian church.

Richard Wells, one of the representative citi-

zens of Muskingum county, Ohio, was born in

Loudoun county, Va., on the 30th of August,

1823, and was but little over two years of age
when his parents settled in Ohio; consequently his

recollections are all of the Buckeye state. He re-

ceived the rudiments of an education in the sub-

scription schools of that day. His father, who
was a first-rate cabinet maker and carpenter, died

when our subject was but fourteen years of age,

and the latter began to familiarize himself with the

use of tools, soon becoming a competent and pro-

ficient workman. Many of the best residences in

his locality and the Bethel church were built by
him. He followed his trade in connection with
farming, and has been successful. During the

time he devoted himself exclusively to his trade

he rented his land, but of late years he has

paid more attention to his farm, which at present

comprises 190 acres, all well improved. He does

not aspire to office, but he has held the office of

postmaster at Brush Creek for a number of years,

and has held other local positions. Mr. Wells was
married on the 27th of November, 1845, to Miss
Aphelia M., daughter of John W. Bear, who was
familiarly known as the “Buckeye Blacksmith.”
After his marriage Mr. Wells settled on the old

Wells homestead, purchased the interests of the

other heirs, and here he has since resided. To his

marriage were born ten children: JohnR.; James;
Louisa, wife of James Pletcher; Hampton (de-

ceased), Clayton; Clara, widow of Willis McCoid;
David F.; Emma C.; William E., and Cora A.

Hampton and Clayton became teachers, and the

former afterward attended the Muskingum college at

New Concord, Ohio. Mr. Wells and wife are mem-
bers of the Baptist church, with which they have
been connected for many years, and they are active

workers in the same. In politics he has been a

stanch republican. Mr. Wells’ father, Troy
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Wells (deceased), was one of the old settlers of

Muskingum county, settling in Brush Creek town-
ship on the farm where his son Richard now lives

in 1826. He was a native of Fairfax county, Va.,

born July 29, 1796, and was married in his native

state in 1822 to Miss Lucinda, daughterof Jeremiah
and Minnie (Weeks) Hampton. She was born on the

29th of March, 1806. Following his marriage Mr.
Wells, with his young wife, started for the Ohio
country in wagons, and as they could only make
slow progress through the rough and unsettled

country, they were three weeks in making the

journey. He first purchased thirty acres of land,

all in the woods, built a little log cabin, and thus

began life. He cleared his small place, added to

it from time to time until he owned 275 acres, and
was very successful and prosperous. There his

death occurred on the 12th of June, 1837, at the

age of forty- one years. He was a carpenter by
trade, a skilled workman, and constructed many
articles of furniture for the neighbors and others.

His marriage was blessed by the birth of six

children: Richard
;
Isaac (deceased); Maria (de-

ceased); inn; Stephen, and David. Mrs. Wells

was married again on the 23d of January, 1844,

to James Crane, who was born July 12, 1803, and
who probably settled in the county at an early

period. After marriage Mr. Crane settled on the

Wells homestead and subsequently located on
Duncan run, where he died on the 8th of July,

1862, at the age of fifty-nine years. Three chil-

dren were born to this union: Henry, born No-
vember 22, 1844; enlisted in Company A, Sixty-

second Ohio Volunteer infantry, in 1861, and died

in a hospital near New York in 1862. Susan C.,

wife of James Woodruff and Aphelia Ann, wife of

William Smith. Mr. Wells was a member of the

Baptist church and Mr. Crane was an accepted

member of the same. Mrs. Crane is also a mem-
ber of the same denomination, with which she has
been connected many years. Although eighty- five

years of age, she is well preserved, and sprightly, her

mind is clear and active, and she recounts the events

of the past in an intelligent, interesting manner.
Richard Wells’ father-in-law, John W. Bear, was
the founder of that name in Ohio. He was born in

Maryland, was married in Belmont county, Ohio,

to Miss Mary C. Turner, and subsequently re-

moved to Muskingum county. He was a black-

smith by trade. He was an intelligent ahd brainy
man, and took an active interest in political affairs,

serving by appointment Indian agent at Upper
Sandusky to the Wyandott Indians. Subse-
quently he was a custom officer in the revenue de-

partment at Philadelphia. He was a speaker of

much force, eloquent and persuasive, and was a

great temperance worker. He was the father of

but one child, now Mrs. Wells. In politics he was

a democrat until 1839, when he became a whig.

He died on the 12th of February, 1880. Mrs.

Bear is living at the age of eighty-one, and is a

member of the Methodist Episcopal church, in

which her husband also held membership.
James E. Wharton was born in the township in

which he is now residing, February 26, 1857, his

parents, John B. W. and Margaret (Prior) Whar-
ton, having been born in this county also, the

father’s birth occurring in 1819. In his early

youth he was apprenticed to a Mr. Bryant to learn

blacksmithing, which occupied his time and atten-

tion until he was twenty years of age. He then

worked for a short time for a Mr. Crover, but

later opened a shop at Elizabethtown, in which
place he met and married Miss Prior. He after-

ward moved to Cooperstown, where he conducted
a blacksmith and wagon shop, but still later moved
to Hopewell, and in 1882 to Zanesville. Five
children were born to their union, three of whom
are living, but they were left motherless when the

subject of this sketch was quite a small boy. He
attended the common schools near his home, and
remained with and assisted his father in his

business until he was twenty years of age. He
then concluded to learn the trade of a blacksmith

himself, and in connection with W. W. Sloop, he
purchased and conducted a shop for about four

years. Succeeding this he worked for a Mr.

Elmore for one year, then became an employe in

the Zanesville Steel works, where he remained for

about four years. In 1887 he came to Mr. Ster-

ling, and after conducting a shop of his own for

one year he became associated -with Mr. Ehman,
and so has continued to the present time. On the

27th of April, 1887, he was married to Miss Ella

Shipplett, who was born in Hopewell township,

Muskingum county, July 4, 1858, a daughter of

Nelson and Ann (Hughes) Shipplett. Mr. and Mrs.

Wharton are Methodists, and he was formerly a

democrat politically but is now a prohibitionist.

Joseph Wigton, deceased, father of Samuel
Wigton, was numbered among the many citizens

of foreign birth who emigrated to this country,

and who by their industry and good management
became wealthy and influential members of society.

He was born in Ireland, from which country he
emigrated when a young man. He first came to

Perry county, Ohio, and there followed his trade,

that of tailor, which he had learned in his native

country, for some time. From there he went to

Fultouham, Muskingum county, Ohio (then called

Uniontown), and there carried on his trade for

some time. He entered a quarter section of land

adjoining Roseville, located on it, and immediately
began making improvements. The farm was
principally in the woods, but in a short time vast

improvements had been made, and here Mr.
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Wigtou made his permanent home. His death
occurred in 1859 when eighty years of age. He
came to this country alone, and what he made in

the way of this world’s goods was the result of his

indomitable energy and superior management.
He was married near Rushville, Ohio, to Miss
Sarah Porter, who bore him eight children:

William (deceased), John (deceased), Mary
(deceased), Jane (still living), James (deceased),

Nancy (deceased), Samuel and Carson P. The
mother of these children died in 1831, when about
forty years of age. She held membership in the

Presbyterian church. Mr. Wigton’s second mar-
riage was to Miss Margaret Rose, who bore him
one child, Martha, who resides in this county.

Mr. Wigton was also a member of the Presby-
terian church, having joined the same a number of

years preceding his death. A sister of his,

Catherine, came to the United States, married
James Downey, and settled in Perry county.

Another sister, Hannah, married a Perkins, and
still another, Martha, settled in Pennsylvania. A
brother, William, located in Franklin county,

Ohio. Samuel Wigton, subject of this sketch, and
son of Joseph and Sarah (Porter) Wigton, was born
near Roseville, Ohio, in 1822, and obtained but a

limited education in the subscription schools. He
remained under the parental roof until twenty-
six or twenty-seven years of age, and in 1849 he
was married to Miss Amanda J. Crooks. He and
wife then settled on a farm adjoining the home
place, and there remained for three years when
they located on the farm where they now reside.

In this vicinity they have made their home, and
Mr. Wigton has been actively engaged in agricult-

ural pursuits. Their union was blessed by the
birth of two children, only one now living: John
William; the one deceased was Joseph Wallace.
Mrs. Wigton died in 1889, when sixty-one years
of age. She was an exemplary Christian, and a

worthy member of the Lutheran church of Rose-
ville, in which Mr. Wigton was a deacon for many
years, and in which he is elder at the present

time. Politically he is a democrat.

Among the most respected citizens of Mus-
kingum county, is Ira Wilcox, Dresden, Ohio. His
grandfather, James Wilcox, was of English de-

scent and among the early settlers of Maine. His
father was a sea captain and opposed his son’s

coming West with the colony. James left without
the consent of his parents and never communicated
with them. Some years later he was attending a

trial in Philadelphia, when he met a lawyer, who
noticing the name Wilcox, inquired about his fam-
ily and found that Mr. Wilcox was his uncle. Af-

ter this letters passed between the families but
Mr. Wilcox never returned. James Wilcox, had
but little education, but the family were all well

educated. He was but a boy of seventeen years

when he joined the colony of adventurers and set-

tlers bound for the great West and the then back-

woods of Ohio. This was in the year 1796-97.

Young Wilcox came with the party to Marietta,

Ohio, and after a short residence there came to

Muskingum county and leased land on Wakatomaka
creek near Dresden. He married Rebecca Camp-
bell from Virginia, and to them were born eleven

children: George (died young), Charles, William,

John, Jesse, Mary, James and Rebecca (twins),

Emily, Zebida and Sarah. James Wilcox lived

but a few years on the Wakatomaka creek and then

moved to the Wells creek in Adams township. He
was the first settler in this part of the township.

He was a devout member of the German Baptist

church and his house was the home of the worthy
pioneer preachers of the gospel when sojourning

in the wilderness. He was for a short time a sol-

dier in the War of 1812 and died in his eighty-

eighth year. John Wilcox, his son and the father

of our subject, was born in 1812, on Wills creek

in Adams township. He was educated in the

rough schools of the pioneer and learned to work
on the farm and in the timber. He remained at

home until he married when about forty- four years

of age in September, 1852, Sarah A. Crumbaker,
daughter of John and Catherine (Kalor) Crum-
baker. John Crumbaker was from Loudoun
county, Va. ,

of German descent and a farmer and
wagon maker by trade. He had ten childreu : Jonas

K., Maria D., John, Johannah, Sarah A., William
A., Elizabeth E., Amanda C., Andrew Jackson and
Oliver J. He came to Ohio, settling on a farm in

Adams township in 1829. Here he spent the rest

of his days and was a soldier in the War of 1812.

Jacob Kalor, the maternal grandfather of Mrs.

John Wilcox, was a German school teacher and
came to this country as a soldier with the Hessian

soldiers at the time of the Revolution. He was
one of the early school teachers of Loudoun county,

Va. After his marriage John Wilcox settled on
the old homestead, where he lived all his life.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Wilcox were members of the

Methodist church, and they were the parents of

four children: Ira, Alice (died at the age of twen-

ty-four years), James M. (died an infant), and John
W. (died when six years of age). John Wilcox

died, but his widow, Sarah A. Wilcox is yet living.

She was born March 21, 1820, is a devout Chris-

tian and a member of the Methodist church. Ira

Wilcox, their son, was born April 21, 1853, in the

old homestead on Wills creek, received a common
school education and learned the blacksmith’s trade

closing an apprenticeship of two and a half years

with William Rollers, of Coshocton county, when
but twenty-two years of age. He then married,

September 13, 1874, Josephine Smith, daughter of
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Finley and Elizabeth (Hawk) Smith. To them
was born one child, Nora E. Mrs. Wilcox died

after a marriage of four years and Mr. Wilcox mar-
ried April 17, 1883, Charity E. Knoff, daughter of

John and Mary J. Knoff. Mr. Wilcox followed

his trade of blacksmith mostly in Wills Creek
until 1888, but the last few years managed his

business, as he could do little work on account of

ill health. He went into the hotel business in

1889, ran the Grand Hotel at Dresden one year
and since that time the White House, which is a

large hotel, well managed, containing thirty rooms
and a spacious dining room, good beds and a lib-

eral table at very reasonable prices. Socially Mr.
Wilcox is a member of the I. O. O. F., Wakatom-
aka lodge No. 186, and a republican in politics.

By his second marriage Mr. Wilcox has two chil-

dren: Bernice A. and Alice.

Daniel G. Willey, treasurer of Muskingum
county, Ohio, is fitted by nature as well as by
training for the responsible position he fills, for he
is methodical in all his habits, is extremely pains-

taking, and is without doubt energetic. He was
born in Hopewell township of this county May 22,

1845, of which section his people have been resi-

dents since 1801, at which time Curtis Willey
immigrated with his wife and one child from Penn-
sylvania, at which time Hopewell township was a
complete and unbroken wilderness. Curtis Willey
was a native of Delaware but at an early age he
was taken to Pennsylvania where he was reared
and married to Margaret Colvin, and with her
moved to Muskingum county, Ohio, of which region
they were among the very foremost settlers.

Zanesville did not then exist, and the land where-
on it is now located was a swamp. Mr. Willey
was offered the land upon which the courthouse
and jail now stands for his gun, but considering it

a very poor bargain refused to accept. He and
his wife resided in Hopewell township until their

deaths at the ages of ninety-five and eighty-eight
years respectively, after a happy married life of

seventy years. Three sons and three daughters
were born to them, the third child being Jesse G.,

who was born upon the old homestead in this

county in 1811. They endured the privations of

pioneer life and had to ride twelve miles to mill

on horseback through the thicket. Their nearest
neighbors were Indians and the wild animals—the
primitive owners and inhabitants of the wilderness.
About 1836 Jessie G. Willey was united in mar-
riage with Catherine Griffith, a native of Licking
county, Ohio, whose birth occurred near the town
of Brownsville, in 1818. She was the daughter of

early settlers, Daniel and Sarah Griffith. The
young couple at once took up their residence in

Hopewell township on an unimproved farm, upon
which they erected a little log cabin and set to

work to make a home for themselves. There they

enjoyed the primitive advantages of early times

and resided until 1877, when they removed to a

farm on the National road, about three miles west

of Zanesville, where Mr. Willey died in February,

1883. He had always taken an active interest in

the advancement of the county and was a man
whom all respected. His widow still survives him
and makes her home with her children. Although

she has attained the age of seventy-three years she

is well and active. She bore her husband four

sons and three daughters, of whom only three are

now living, as follows: Sarah H., wife of John
Shaefer, residing on the old home farm in Hope-
well township; Daniel G., the subject of this

sketch, and Edward M. Daniel G. was the fourth

child and eldest son in his parents’ family, was
born in the double log house on the old home
place and there grew to maturity. During his

boyhood he attended the little log schoolhouse

with its slab benches and single slab desk around

the side of the room, which was heated by a large

fireplace which was supplied with wood cut by the

scholars from the surrounding forest. At the age

of eighteen years he entered Muskingum college

at New Concord where he remained two and one-

lialf years. He then returned home and remained

with his parents until his father’s death, having

assumed during the last few years of his life the

general supervision of the place. He continued to

make his home with his mother for a number of

years and looked after her interests in a manner
eminently worthy of commendation. In 1883 he
was elected on the democratic ticket to the position

of county treasurer and at the end of two years

was renominated for the position by his party, but

was defeated by the opposing candidate. In 1887

he was again made the candidate for the position

and was elected, the duties of which position he is

still discharging. He has made a beau ideal

public officer, and his services are highly appre-

ciated by all. January 25, 1888, he was married

to Miss Dola Butler, a native of the county and a

daughter of Samuel C. and Sarah C. Butler, by
whom he has one daughter, Kittie Florence. Mr.

Willey is a member of the Phoenix lodge of the

Knights of Pythias at Zanesville, and was one of

295 charter members. Mr. Willey’s grandmother
was a devotee of relics, and the family have in

their possession many curiosities, among which is

a pair of silken slippers, at least 150 years old,

which were worn by her grandmother on her

wedding day; also her own wedding shoes.

James F. Williams, farmer, Dresden, Ohio.

Farming has been Mr. Williams’ principal occupa-

tion, and the energetic and wideawake manner in

which he has taken advantage of all methods and
ideas tending to the enhanced value of his prop-
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erty, has had a great deal to do with obtaining the

competence he now enjoys. Mr. Williams was
born in Falls township, Muskingum county, Janu-

ary 28, 1837 ;
was fairly educated in the common

schools, and early in life became thoroughly posted

on all agricultural subjects. He comes of one of

the old pioneer families of this county, his grand-

father, Jesse Williams, who was a native of the

Old Dominion, having settled here when there was
but one cabin in Zanesville. This must have been

about 1798, when the country was a vast wilder-

ness. He was a young and single man when he

came to this state and he was married to Miss

Sarah Cullins. [See sketch of Henry Cullins.] To
this union were born eight children: Annie, Re-
becca, Lucinda, Noah, Isaac, Thomas, Finley and
Elijah. Mr. Williams died at the age of eighty

years, a Methodist in his religious belief. He was
an honorable, upright citizen, and an excellent ex-

ample of the old pioneer settlers. Elijah Williams,

son of the above and father of our subject, was
born in Muskingum county, Ohio, and received his

education in the pioneer schools. He married Miss
Phoebe Martin and to them were born three chil-

dren: Ann, Susan, Minena, Jesse, John and James
F. The father settled in Falls township, and was
an industrious, hard-working farmer. His son,

James F., selected as his companion in life Miss
Phoebe A. Blunt, daughter of James and Hannah
(Cordray) Blunt. Mr. Blunt was also one of the

pioneer settlers of Muskingum county. Ohio, com-
ing here but a short time after Jesse Williams, and
from the same state. He married in this county
Elizabeth Cullins, sister of John Cullins, who was
the father of Henry. To this marriage were born
ten children: George, James, Thomas, Edith,

Susan, Mary, Jane, Eliza, Martha, and Sarah. His
first wife died and Mr. Blunt took for his second
wife Miss Hannah Cordray, daughter of Isaac and
Sarah (De Witte) Cordray, the parents pioneer set-

tlers of Muskingum township. By this marriage
Mr. Blunt became the father of three children

:

Joannah, Isabel and Phoebe. Mr. Blunt resided

all his life in Muskingum township, and was a sub-

stantial farmer, owning 400 acres of land, besides

considerable real estate in Iowa and Kansas. He
served faithfully in the War of 1812 and was
present at Hull’s surrender. After marriage James
F. Williams settled on his present farm, and is

prominently identified with the agricultural inter-

ests of the county. To his marriage have been born
nine living children: James E., John D.. Noah,
Sylvester, Charles, Senior, Laura B., Iva M. and
Georgie. Mr. Williams has sent his children to

good schools, and has ever taken an interest in ed-

ucational matters, having been a member of the

board of education for a number of years. In poli-

tics he is a republican. His brother, Jesse, was a

soldier in the Civil war in an Ohio regiment, was
captured in a skirmish, and starved to death in

Andersonville prison. John D., the second son,

married Ella Brandon, and is on the home farm.
The Williams family descended in all its lines from
the original pioneers of Muskingum county, the

Williams, Cullins, Blunts and Cordrays.

Prof. John A. Williams, a prominent educator
of Muskingum county, Ohio, is principal of the

Roseville graded schools. He was born at Briston,

Perry county, in 1852, and is the son of Dr. Terry
K. Williams, an old settler of the state, coming
here from Virginia when he was about eighteen

years of age. He settled in Zanesville, and mar-
ried Rachel Jennings, a native of Frederick county,

Va. The Jennings family came to Muskingum
county many years ago. The Doctor taught school

in this neighborhood, later studied medicine in the

Columbia Medical college, commenced to practice

at B
,
and later came to Roseville, where he

died in I860. He was among the prominent prac-

ticing physicians of this and Perry counties. His
wife is still living, and was a daughter of Daniel

Jennings. They were the parents of three chil-

dren: William C., a noted physician of Newtou-
ville, this county (he died at the age of thirty-

seven years, and his family now reside near Ful-

tonham); Columbus L., living in Roseville, en-

listed in Company G, Seventeenth Ohio Volunteer

infantry for three months, and later reenlisted in

Company G, Thirty-first Ohio Volunteer infantry,

and was elected captain (he was in Sherman’s
campaign, and served during the rest of the war)

;

and John A. (our subject). The parents were
members of the Presbyterian church, and before

the war the father was a democrat, but later be-

came a republican. John A. Williams was reared

in this county, and attended school at New Lex-

ington and at New London National college. He
took charge of the Vernon county schools at

Thornville, Perry county, and has been in the

schools of Roseville for ten years. He was city

editor for a paper in 1883-85, and ably dis-

charged his duties. He is very well known as one

of the most thorough and popular educators of the

county, and took charge of the graded schools of

Roseville in 1890. Prof. Williams married the

daughter of William Dunn [see sketch,] and they

have a family of five children: H. O
,
Arthur

O.
,
John W., Merle and Nellie. The family are

members of the Presbyterian church. The Pro-

fessor has always taken a great interest in public

matters, and has held many offices of trust, both in

the town and county, among which may be men-
tioned: township clerk, village clerk, justice of the

peace, and was a member of the county board of

education, which all shows that his superior educa-

tion and intellect are appreciated.
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Thomas Williams has been a resident of Mus-
kingum county, Ohio, all his life, and has spent a

life time in pursuing the noble vocation of agri-

culture, having learned this occupation during his

youth. His life has not been without adventure or

self-denying experiences, yet success has attended
him both in material affairs and in the esteem
which has been accorded him by those among
whom he has so long made his home. He was
born in the city of Zanesville, Ohio, near where
the courthouse now stands, in 1811, and after

starting out to fight life’s battles for himself he
was married to Miss Wisecaver. After her death,

about 1860, he was married to Mrs. Jane Handle,
widow of Nicholas Handle, and the daughter of

Amos Vernon, who settled in the southeast part of

the county at an early day and followed farming.
To Thomas Williams and wife were born six chil-

dren: George, Ruth, Ephraim, Mary, Grant and
Flora. Four of the children—three sons and a

daughter—are married and reside in Muskingum
county, Ohio. Mr. Williams is still living and re-

sides on a farm in the southeast part of the county.

His children are all married and reside in Muskin-
gum county. Ephraim, who is residing on a farm
in Madison township, is well known throughout
the county as one of the honest, enterprising young
agriculturists of the same. He was married in

1885 to Miss Anna King, daughter of Rev. J. P.

King, a Methodist Protestant minister. She was
born in Guernsey county, Ohio. Four interesting

children have been the fruits of this union : Ray
C., Ralph K., Myrl and Roland. Ephraim Will-

iams resides on a farm owned by George Copland,
and has been with that gentleman for the past five

years. In politics he advocates the principles of

the republican party. He and wife are members
of the Prospect Methodist Protestant church of

Madison township.

William S. Williams, farmer, Adamsville, Ohio.

This old settler and much-respected citizen was
born in Muskingum county, Ohio, May 31, 1817,
to the union of Jesse and Lucy (Denison) Williams,
who were among the first settlers of the county.

Jesse Williams was born in Connecticut, but came
to Muskingum county in 1806 and settled on the
farm in Salem township. He married Miss Deni-
son at Zanesville, and to them a family of ten chil-

dren were born, only two now living. Mr. Will-

iams was one of the pioneers of the county, and
one of its most prominent and substantial farmers,

having accumulated a large amount of property at

the time of his death, which occurred in the town
of Adamsville, Salem township, in 1862. He and
wife were active members of the Baptist church,
and took a prominent part in educational and
religious enterprises, as well as in all enterprises

for the good of the county. He was an honest,

hard-working man, and by his industry became one

of the most successful farmers of his day. In

politics he voted with the republican party. Mrs.

Williams died on the farm owned by our subject in

1839. She was the daughter of William and Anna
(Stock) Denison, who were among the early settlers

of Salem township, and who were among the larg-

est land owners in the township, or probably in the

county, owning about 1,500 acres in one tract.

This land is still owned by the Denison family.

William S. Williams was reared to the arduous
duties of the farm on the property he now owns,

which has on it some of the improvements made
by his father in 1806. The schools of that day
were few and far between, and as a consequence

Mr. Williams received but a limited education.

He was married in 1837 to Miss Mary Williams,

who was born June 7, 1811, and who is now the

oldest lady in Salem township. She was the

daughter of Steven and Sarah (Bond) Williams,

who were of Highland township, Muskingum
county. She was about two years of age when
her parents moved to this county, and here they

followed agricultural pursuits until receiving their

final summons, the mother dying in 1863, at the

age of seventy- five, and the father in 1867, at the age
of eighty- five years. Both were members of the

Baptist church, and he was a republican in politics.

They were the parents of seven children, nearly all

of whom are now deceased. Mary, subject’s wife,

was reared on a farm in Highland township, and
after her marriage came to live in Salem township,

where she has remained ever since. She has

borne her husband these children: Henry H. (who
was born in 1841, and died in 1869), John (in

1849), Jared C. (in 1852), and George W. (in

1855). . Mr. Williams and family hold membership
in the Baptist church. Like his father, Mr. Will-

iams is an ardent supporter of the principles of

the republican party. He has been successful as

an agriculturist, and is now the owner of one of

the best farms in Muskingum county. Honest
and upright, he is well respected by all.

Zachariah Wilson, the grandfather of Fredrick

Wilson, Otsego, Ohio, was of Irish descent and
born in Pennsylvania. He married Lorena Chaneth
and they were the parents of nine children: Jere-

miah, Isaac, Edward, Joseph, James, Hannah, Sal-

lie, Batsy and Lorena. Mr. Wilson moved to Ohio
and settled among the pioneers of Guernsey county
about 1813-15, when that county was a wilderness.

He lived in Wills township, was a weaver by trade

and died suddenly when about fifty years of age.

Mrs. Wilson was a member of the Methodist church.

Jeremiah Wilson, their son, and the father of the

subject of this sketch, was born in Fayette county,

Penn.
,
and was a boy when his parents brought him

to the Ohio wilderness. He learned farming and
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married Elizabeth Slaughter, daughter of Fred
Slaughter, from Virginia, of Dutch descent and
early settlers of Guernsey county, Ohio. To Mr.

and Mrs. Wilson were bom twelve children. The
following lived to maturity: Fredrick, Zachariah,

John, Mary, Joseph, Jesse, Robert, James and
Margaret. After marriage Mr. Wilson settled in

Wills township, Guernsey county, where he lived

until 1846, when he moved to Knox towship of the

same county, and settled on a farm of 160 acres.

He was a substantial farmer and a hard-working,

industrious man in his day. Both himself and wife

were members of the Baptist chui’ch. Fredrick

Wilson, his son, was born March 19, 1822, reared

on his father’s farm, and received a common-school
education. He married Adelina Jones, daughter

of Ashbell and Sarah (Williams) Jones. Mr. Jones

was from Bucks county, Penn., descending from
Welsh stock. His father, Ashbell Sr., was from
Wales, a soldier in the Revolutionary war and had
one son, Abner, in the War of 1812. Ashbell Jones

Jr., came to Ohio in 1842 and settled in Mus-
kingum county, near Adamsville. He was the

father of seven children who lived to maturity:

Eleanor, John, Adelina, Rachel, Enos, Sarah M.
and Cyrenius. Mr. Jones lived to the great age of

eighty-three years, and died on his farm in Knox
township, Guernsey county, Ohio. He was a dea-

con in the Baptist church, a man whose judgment
was respected and held the office of justice of the

peace and was constable for many years. In pol-

itics he is a democrat. His wife lived to be eighty-

five years of age. Fredrick Wilson, after marriage,

settled in Guernsey county and lived one and one-

half years on the old Wilson home place. In 1852

he bought his present farm and by industry added
to it until he now owns 135 acres. He cleared the

most of this from the woods by hard work and
made a home. To Mr. and Mrs. Wilson were
born five children: Dr. Thomas R. (married

Charity C. Buker, daughter of Alpha Buker. [See

sketch of Decatur Buker.] He resides in Bloom-
field, Coshocton county, where he has practiced

medicine for fifteen years. He has two children),

Sarah E. (died of scarlet fever at six years of age)

;

Ashbell (died of scarlet fever at four years of age);

James A., married Emma J. Hutchinson (he is

a farmer of Guernsey county, Ohio, on the old

Jones farm. They have one child); and Martha
A. (who resides at home). Both Mr. and Mrs.

Wilson are devout members of the Baptist church.

Mr. Wilson has been township assessor and treas-

urer, takes a great interest in educational matters

and has served his township on the school board

for many years. He is a public-spirited man, in

favor of good roads and has also served as super-

visor. In fact Mr. Wilson takes an interest in all

good enterprises and has contributed largely of his

means to support his church.

One of the oldest and most highly respected
citizens of Muskingum county, who has been
prominently connected with its history for many
years, is James C. Wilson, farmer of New Concord,
Ohio. He was born in Union township, this

county, on the 23d of January, 1815, and was the
fourth in order of birth of twelve children born to

James Wilson who was bornjn Allegheny county,
Penn., on the Youghoigheny river, March 15,

1783. The latter was the fourth child resulting

from the marriage of Robert and Catherine (Con-
ner) Wilson. Robert Wilson was a native of Berks
county, Penn., born about 1750, and was one
of the pioneers of western Pennsylvania, partic-

ipating in several fights with the Indians. He
died in that state at a good old age. He was a

well-to-do farmer and at the time of his death
owned 350 acres of land. His family consisted of

seven children: Elizabeth, who married John
Reasoner, of Guernsey county; Polly, wife of John
McKinney, also of Guernsey county; Jane, who
married William Findley, of Pennsylvania, Alle-

gheny county; Margaret, who married William
McClure, of Allegheny county, Penn.

;
one

died young; Joseph (deceased) was one of the

early settlers of Guernsey county, but later moved
to Indiana, where he passed away; and James, the

father of our subject. James Wilson was about

twenty-three years of age when he moved to

Muskingum county, and up to that time he had
been reared on a farm in Allegheny county,

Penn. He came here in 1806, on horse-

back, and was four days in making the journey.

He bought land at $1.25 per acre, in the woods, in

section 11, erected a cabin and resided there,

alone, for two years. He was married in the

summer of 1808 and went back home in winter. His
first wife was Mary Findley, a native of Pennsyl-
vania, and the daughter of Judge David Findley.

The fruits of this union were two children, Robert
and David. The former was born in October, 1809,

and is now a farmer of Rich Hill township, while

the latter married Miss Margaret McMurray and
moved to Iowa, where his death occurred in 1860.

Mrs. Wilson died in 1811 and the following year

Mr. Wilson took for his second wife Miss Mary
Cumings, a native of Greene county, Penn.,

born in 1792, and one of seven children, four

daughters and three sons born to James and
Margaret Cumings, who were originally from

Greene county, Penn., but who settled in

Union township, Muskingum county, in 1808.

The children were named as follows : Mary,

Susan, Jane, Margaret, John, Samuel and David,

all now deceased. The mother of these children

died in 1829 and the father in 1835. There were

no physicians in this part of the county at that

early period and Grandma Cumings attended the

birth of over a thousand children. To Mr. and
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Mrs. Wilson were born ten children who are

named as follows : John C., died in this township

in 1889; James C. (subject); Catherine, died when
thirty four years of age; Margaret A., died in

1887; Joseph, died when six years of age, and the

remainder died in infancy. The mother of these

children was born in Greene county, Penn,

in 1792, and came to this county when about

sixteen years of age. She and her husband lived

happily together for fifty years, he dying in 1862
and she in 1875. Both were worthy members of

the U. P. church, and he was a whig and repub-

lican in politics. His son, James C. Wilson,

subject of this sketch, was born on the farm that

his father had purchased from the government and
received his early education in the subscription

schools of the day, and attended the Pleasant Hill

school. When twenty-one years of age he began
working for himself and one year later he was
married to Miss Susan McCormack, a native of

Rockbridge county, Va., born in 1818, and
the daughter of Robert McCormack. She died in

this county in 1851. Two years later Mr. Wilson
married Samantha Huston, a native of Union
township, born in 1832, and the daughter of

William and Sarah Huston. She died in 1857,

leaving two sons, William and Cumings, the former
dying at the age of five years and the latter living

on the old place. He is married and has four

children. In 1858 Mr. Wilson took for his third

wife Miss Angeline Elsea whose birth occurred in

this county in 1825. Five children were the result

of this union: Louis D.
,
a merchant of Norwich;

Mary, at home; Samuel Elmer, a farmer, is married
and has three children; Charles, a clerk in New
York city, is in the employ of the American
Insurance company at a salary of $1,500 per year,

and Frank is at home farming. Mr. and Mrs.

Wilson are connected with the M. E. church,

although the Wilson family were formerly all

United Presbyterians. Formerly a whig in

politics he later affiliated with the democratic
party and is now for the best man. He has held
office in this county for the past fifty years, and
has been one of the leading members of his church.
He and his children own 418 acres of land in this

township and 480 in Clay county, Neb., and
he is prominently identified with the agricultural

and stockraising affairs of the county. He has
one of the finest, and best improved farms in the
county, and everything about the place indicates

the owner to be a man of thrift and energy. He
also has over 100 stands of bees, and is interested

in this pursuit. His eldest son by his second
marriage, John Cumings Wilson, was born on the
old homestead June 26, 1856, and his life was
divided in youth in attending the district school
and in assisting on the farm. In 1878 he married

Miss Alice C. Richey, a native of Muskingum
county, Ohio, born July 11, 1859, and one of a

large family of children born to William and
Elizabeth (Henderson) Richey. Mr. and Mrs.

Wilson became the parents of four daughters,

Angie, Jennie, Lillie and Mary. Mrs. Wilson is

a member of the U. P. church. Mr. Wilson is

interested in politics and votes with the democratic

party. He has a farm of 138 acres, which he owns
in partnership with his half brother, Elmer, and in

connection with his farming interests he is engaged
quite extensively in stockraising, making a specialty^

of short horncattle. He is a public spirited young
man, and is interested in all movements for the

upholding of the county. Samuel E. Wilson, the

third child born to James C. Wilson’s third

marriage, was born in this county on the 8th of

June, 1863, and here reached manhood and
received bis education. When twenty-two years of

age he started to farm on the Lorimer farm and
there continued two years, when he moved to his

present property. He was married to Miss Jennie
Watson, a native of Westland township, Guernsey
county, Ohio, born on the 6th of March, 1869, and
the daughter of John C. and Mary E. (Dilley)

Watson, the father a native of Washington county,

Penn., and the mother of Cumberland,
Guernsey county. Mr. and Mrs. Watson were the

parents of these children: Mary A., William,

Jennie (wife of Mr. Wison), John, Frank and
Essie. The father of these children was a farmer
and moved to Muskingum county shortly after the

birth of Jennie. His death occurred May 11,

1881. He and family held membership in the U.
P. church and he was a republican in politics.

Samuel E. Wilson’s marriage resulted in the birth

of three children: James C., John C. and
Florence. Like his father Mr. Wilson is a

democrat and a public-spirited man. He carried

on the farm for his father.

James R. Wilson is a resident of Union town-
ship, Muskingum county, Ohio, living within two
miles of New Concord. He was born in Salt Creek
township, this county, in 1843, January 7, the fifth

child of Robert and Elizabeth (Jamison) Wilson.
The father was a son of James Wilson, who will

be represented in the sketch of James C. Wilson.

Robert Wilson was born in 1809, on the farm set-

tled by his father in Union township, one mile

south of New Concord, and was reared to farm life.

He attended the school of Fox Creek district and
was a school teacher in this county in his early life.

He married Miss Elizabeth Jamison and this union
was blessed with six children: Mary, Margaret
W., Joseph F.

,
John J., James R. and Jesse W.

Mary died in early childhood. Margaret W.
,
now

Mrs. Samuel Caldwell, lives at Morning Sun, Iowa.

Joseph F. was a soldier in Company F, Seventy-
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eighth Ohio Volunteer infantry. He enlisted in

December, 1861 as a private in Company B, and
was transferred to Company F, promoted to ser-

geant and took a part in the battles of Fort Don-
elson and Shiloh. During the two days’ march
from Shiloh to Corinth he was taken sick and only

lived a fewT days. He was a very bright young
soldier and loved by all his company. He was
educated at Muskingum college and would have
graduated soon had the war not broken out. He
taught school several winters, and was known as

one of the best young teachers of the county.

John J. died after the war. He was a soldier in

the Seventy-eighth Ohio, Company A., having en-

listed in 1861 as a private and served to the end of

the war, working hard for his country. After the

close of the war he went to Iowa and married Mag-
gie Wilson. His health failing, they went to

Colorado, but returned to Iowa where he died,

leaving a wife and two sons: Miller and Lincoln.

James R. (our subject) and Jesse W., now living

in New Concord. He was a soldier in Company
A, Seventy-eighth Ohio regiment, having joined

the army at Vicksburg in 1863 and serving to the

close of the war. He married Miss Emery. They
have eight children. Our subject’s mother died

when he was but four years of age, and his father

married Sarah McNaughten, daughter of Neal and
(Robeson) McNaughten. Three children were born

of this union: William N. , living in Rich Hill

township and married. Eunice E., married Joseph
Hallenbeck of Hillsdale, Michigan, and Robert,

living at home. The father is still living in Rich
Hill township, a member of the Presbyterian

church, in which he is an elder, taking great inter-

est in all church work. James R. Wilson was
educated in this county, and attended school in

this and Rich Hill townships. When the war
broke out he enlisted in Company A, Seventy-

eighth Ohio Volunteer infantry, in November, 1861,

and took part in the battles at Shiloh, Corinth,

Iuka, Holly Springs, Vicksburg and Champion’s
Hill. He was taken prisoner at Vicksburg and
sent to Columbus, Ohio, where he was exchanged
and rejoined his regiment at Vicksburg. After

that he was in the raid from Vicksburg to Meridian
and return; after which he returned home on vet-

eran furlough. On returning with the regiment

he engaged in the Georgia campaign from Chat-

tanooga to Atlanta. In the battle of Atlanta he
was wounded in the shoulder, the ball never hav-

ing been removed. His last battle was at Kings-
ton, N. C.

,
under General Cox and during the time

of Sherman’s march to the sea he was with Thomas
at Nashville, not being able on account of wounds
to accompany his regiment under General Sherman
on his march to the sea. Toward the close of

the war he was promoted to sergeant. After the

war he came home, engaged in farming and on
November 18, 1866, married Jennie E. Thompson
of Peters Creek. She was the daughter of Gor-
don and Eliza (Walker) Thompson, of Irish descent,

and born in Guernsey county, Ohio, one of a fam-
ily of live children: Jennie E. , David G., (now a

minister of the Reformed Presbyterian church of

southern Illinois), John W. of (Guernsey county),

Sarah A., (now Mrs. J. C. Palmer of Cambridge),
and James C., (living in Illinois). The mother of

this family is now living in Cambridge with Mr.
and Mrs. J. C. Palmer, her husband having died

some years ago. Mrs. Wilson was educated at

the college of New Concord and later was a teacher

in Guernsey county. Mr. and Mrs. Wilson are

the parents of seven children: Clarence M., now
teaching in Kansas; Joseph F. ,

now of Olantha,

Kas., farming; Bessie G., at home; Finley M., at-

tending college at New Concord; John W., helping

on the home farm; Robert, at home; Eva, at Cam-
bridge. May 31, 1882, Mrs. Wilson died, a de-

vout member of the Reformed Presbyterian church.

In 1885 Mr. Wilson took for his second wife

Nanie A. Dew, a native of Monroe township, and
the daughter of Thomas and Jane (Wallace) Dew.
The Dew family were originally from Pennsylvania,

but the parents are now living in New Concord.

To this union was born one child, Edna M. Her
mother died when she ' was but two years of age.

She was also a teacher and a member of the Re-
formed Presbyterian church, to which she devoted
much of her time. Mr. Wilson holds a member-
ship in the same church and gives liberally of his

means and time to its work. He has a well-im-

proved farm of ninety-three acres, which he bought
about twelve years ago and devotes his time to

farming and stockraising.

Simeon M. Winn, the prosecuting attorney for

Muskingum county, Ohio, is well fitted for the

position, he is now filling, for besides possessing a

thorough knowledge of all legal technicalities, he
has the ability to express himself in easy style and
forcible language, which has the effect of convinc-

ing judge, jury and audience. He was born in

Salem township, in the county in which he is now
residing near Adamsville, January 27, 1862. His
father, Dolphin Winn, was born in Loudoun
county, Va.

,
in 1810, and when thirteen years of

age came to Ohio and settled on what is now
known as the “old field farm ” in Perry township,

this county, which was called such from the fact that

it was the first land to be cleared in the township.

William Winn, the paterDal grandfather was one
of the pioneers of this section and the hardships

which he and his family were compelled to endure,

were of a most discouraging description, but they

conquered the many difficulties that strewed their

pathway and eventually became well-to-do. Dolphin
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"Winn received the limited advantages that fell to

the lot of the pioneer boy, but made the most of his

opportunities and became a well-informed man. In

March, 1837, he married Catherine Jordan, a

daughter of Caleb Jordan and a native of Balti-

more, Md.
,

where she was born March 16,

1817. She came to this section of the country

when eleven years of age and immediately after

her marriage she and her husband located on a

farm in Perry township where they resided until

the spring of 1855, when they moved to Salem
township where Dolphin Winn died September 19,

1885. His widow continues to reside on the home
place and for one of her advanced years is very

active and capable. Of a family of eight sons and
six daughters born to them, five sons and three

daughters are still living, of whom Simeon M. is the

youngest. His youthful days were devoted to the

monotonous duties of the farm and in attending

the district schools and the graded school atAdams-
ville, and in October, 1882, he began teaching
school, to which honorable calling he devoted

about three years. In the meantime he had begun
the study of law and in July, 1884, he came to

Zanesville and began to thoroughly fit himself for

the practice of the noble science of law under the

able tutelage of Frank H. Southard, after which,

in 1885, he entered Zanesville college, took a com-
plete course and once more resumed his studies.

On October 5, 1886, he was admitted to the bar of

Ohio, and in November of the same year he opened
an office in Zanesville, and sprung at once into

prominence as one of the leading attorneys of the

county. His ability was recognized in November,
1887, by his election on the democrat ticket to the

position of prosecuting attorney for Muskingum
county and in 1890 he was the unanimous choice

of his party, being nominated by acclamation, and
waB eventually re-elected to the office. He is a

past officer of Zanesville lodge No. 114, of the B. P.

O. E., is a member of Mechanic's lodge No. 235, of

the I. O. O. F.
,
and is a charter member of Phoenix

lodge No. 388, of the K. of P. September 19, 1888,
he was married to Miss Julia Menefee, a native of

Muskingum county, daughter of Thomas and Lizzie

(Duvall) Menefee. Mr. and Mrs. Winn reside in

Zanesville, to the social circles of which city they
are prominent acquisitions. Mrs. Winn is quite

skillful with the brush and many beautiful oil and
crayon works adorn her home. She has given
lessons in both. Mr. Winn has acquired a prom-
inence in his profession quite flattering for one so

young in years, and in the murder trial of Ohio vs.

Elizabeth Hanuold, charged with infanticide, he
managed the case with skill, discretion and ability.

The trial occupied a week and after a deliberation

of twenty-one hours the jury returned with a

verdict of acquittal.
36

Dr. O. M. Wiseman, physician and surgeon,

Zanesville, Ohio. In Morgan county, Ohio, on the

30th of August, 1860, there was born to the union
of Overton B. and Eliza (Osborn) Wiseman, a son,

to whom they gave the initials of O. M. The
parents were natives of Muskingum county, Ohio,

but the paternal grandfather, Michael Wise-
man, was born on the Cheat river, Penn. He
was a soldier in the War of 1812 and held an
honorable discharge. He came to the Buckeye
state about 1815, located in Muskingum county,

and there followed agricultural pursuits, until his

death. The father of our subject was born in

1817 and also followed the occupation of a farmer.

He removed to Morgan county, Ohio, many years

ago, and now lives retired. To his marriage were
born eight children, six of whom are living:

George, Lorena, Charlotte, wife of Frank Ralston,

near Cincinnati; Mayna, Dr. O. M. and Charles.

The Doctor was reared in his native county, re-

ceived his education in the public schools, and the

first money that he ever earned for himself was
obtained by hoeing corn when nine years of age,

for which he received 50 cents per day. Forty
cents of this money he spent for a Bible, and this

he has since kept and treasured. When he was ten

years of age he worked in Cochran’s cigar factory

in summer and attended school in winter, earning

money enough to buy all his own clothing and
school books. In June, 1880, he came to Zanesville

and canvassed the town for religious pictures, but

later engaged with the Brown Manufacturing com-
pany. In 1886 he began the study of medicine,

and in the fall of that year went to Columbus,
where he took his first course at Starling Medical
college, from which he graduated in the spring of

1890. Dr. J. S. Haldeman was his preceptor. Dr.

Wiseman certainly deserves great credit for his

push and energy. He is in every sense of the

term aself-made man. He has ever been economical

but not miserly, and is ever ready to assist all in

distress, not only professionally, but with money.
He is building up a paying practice and has many
warm friends. He is a member of the P. O. S. of

A. and Eights of Macabees. He was twice elected

president of the first named order. He was mar-
ried in the fall of 1881 to Miss Carrie M. Carter, a

native of Coshocton county, Ohio, and the fruits

of this union have been two children: Audrey Lee
and Paul Clarence C. Mrs. Wiseman is a mem-
ber of the Presbyterian church.

One of the prominent residents of Union town-
ship, Muskingum county, Ohio, is Charles S.

Wylie, residing on a farm about two miles from
New Concord, born November 14, 1843, in Rich
Hill township. He was the son of Thomas and
Ann R. (Starrett) Wylie. The father was born in

Union township in 1821 on the farm now owned
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by Wilson White. He was the son of Moses
Wylie and wife (formerly a Miss Young, whose
father was a Revolutionary soldier), and one of

ten children—five sons and five daughters: Samuel,

Moses, Oliver, Thomas, John, Mary, Flora, Eliza-

beth, Margaret and Sarah Jane. Moses Wylie
settled in Ohio about 1803. His father was a

man of some wealth and sent his son John, with

money to take up land in this county, which is now
occupied by the White, Jamison and McCloud
families. The tract of land settled by Moses was
255 acres just northwest of New Concord. He
was a very successful farmer, a member of the

Reformed Presbyterian church, and died in 1852.

His son Thomas, and the father of Charles S.

,

was reared in this neighborhood and attended Fox
creek district school. Here he married and
moved to a rented farm in Rich Hill township,

where he farmed five years, then bought seventy

acres of land and upon it built a log house and
barn. It was unimproved at the time and he set

to work and soon had a good farm well cultivated.

In 1880 he left this neighborhood and moved to

Fair Grove, Tuscola county, Mich. He has

retired from business and is living with his son.

He is a member of the Reformed Presbyterian

church and in politics a prohibitionist. He has

ever been an active church worker and has held

many offices in the same. His wife, formerly Ann
R. Starrett, was the daughter of Joseph and Ann
Starrett of South Carolina. Joseph moved to

Pennsylvania and there married and moved to

Rich Hill township. He was the father of fifteen

children; Charles, an infant, Samuel, James, John,

George, Ann R., Hannah, Elizabeth, Jennie,

Mary, Margaret, Sarah, Nancy and Elleanor. Our
subject’s mother was reared and educated in Rich

Hill township and died in Union township in 1878.

She was the mother of seven living children:

Charles, the eldest; Hannah J., who died at the

age of fourteen; Sarah, who died in Michigan about

1886; James R., is living at Coultersville, 111., a min-

ister of the Reformed Presbyterian church and was
educated at the Muskingum college and Theo-

logical seminary at Allegheny city, Penn. He is

a man of family; Anna M., now Mrs. Mills, living

ing in Ohio; Margaret E., died in 1882 in Michi-

gan; and Joseph S., a miller of Fairgrove, Mich.,

and married. She had been for years a member
of the Reformed Presbyterian church and greatly

devoted to church work. Charles S., her son and
our subject, was reared on the farm where he now
lives since he was four years of age. He attended

Fox creek district school and when he was twenty

years of age enlisted in Company A, Seventy-eighth

Ohio Volunteer infantry, taking part in the follow-

ing battles: Vicksburg, Brush Mountain, seige of

Atlanta and many others. In the last named

battle he was taken sick and sent home. Later he
rejoined his regiment and took part in the battle
of Bennettsville, when he was again taken sick
and received his discharge at Fort Schuyler, N. Y.
He was injured in the foot, for which he received
a pension. After the war he went to work in a
sawmill, and in 1870 married Caroline W. Haynes,
daughter of Abraham and Casander (Wartenbee)
Haynes, born in Union township, July 31, 1850.
The Haynes family are early settlers of this

county. Mrs. "Wylie was one of a family of eight
children: Harriet. John, Elizabeth, Agnes, Abra-
ham D., Caroline W. and Selina A. (twins), and
Mary Catharine. All but Elizabeth and Mary
Catharine are living. Mr. and Mrs. Wylie are the
parents of eight children: Frank F. (an infant),

Alva A., Roxana R., Harry H., Minnie M., Dora I.

and Mary O. The children are all at home, and
Mr. Wylie is doing all in his power to give them
good educations. He and his family are members
of the Reformed Presbyterian church, in which he
is interested as well as in school matters. Polit-

ically his sympathies are with the prohibition party.

He has a farm of seventy acres on which he is

raising stock, but gives most of his attention to

fruit growing, in which he has been very successful.

William M. Wylie, a farmer residing near
Frazeysburg, Ohio, is descended from Welsh an-

cestors. At a remote period his lineal progenitor
emigrated to Scotland and finally to Ireland, living

for some time in each country. Three brothers of

this family came to America a short time after the
close of the Revolutionary war —William, Joseph
and John, the former of whom was the grand-
father of the subject of our sketch. He came to

this country about 1790 and was a pioneer settler

of Muskingum county. He married Rebecca Mc-
Clung, daughter of a soldier who was killed in the

War of 181 2, and to them the following children

were born: William, John, Joseph, Rebecca, Isa-

bella, Sarah, Eliza and Martha. Mr. Wylie located

in Hopewell township, cleared a fine tract of land
and made a good home for his family, and although
of small stature he was hard-working, resolute and
persevering. He built one of the first brick houses
in that part of the country and became a substan-

tial farmer. He endured all the vicissitudes and
privations of pioneer life, but he always attended
strictly to his own affiirs, and this, no doubt, was
the secret of his success. He died in 1853 at the

age of eighty years, a devout member of the Re-
formed Presbyterian church at the time of his

death. His son Joseph was born on the original

homestead in March, 1810, and although reared in

the early life of a frontiersman, took much interest

in obtaining an education and was first an attend-

ant at the old log schoolhouse near his home,
afterward entering college at Granville, and, as
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was the custom in those days, worked his way on

a farm. In this way he was enabled to attend

college several terms and thus gained a good edu-

cation, becoming an especially accomplished Latin
scholar and a good mathematician. He taught at

an early day in Zanesville and then in Muskingum
township, and many of his early days were spent

in this manner. In 1836 he married Nancy Brown,
a daughter of David and Margaret (Motier) Brown,
near Lancaster, Fairfield county, Ohio, the former
of whom came from Pennsylvania to Ohio about

1800, being one of the early teamsters across the

Allegheny. His children are as follows: William,
Elizabeth, Jane, Margaret, Martha, Sarah, Nancy,
Annie, Euphemia, Mary, and three that died in

childhood, in all twelve daughters aod one son.

Mr. Brown was a leading man of his day, was a

strong Jacksonian democrat, and was a personal

friend of old Gen. Ewing and the Shermans. He
held the office of county commissioner, was a sol-

dier in the War of 1812, was a substantial farmer,

and lived to the ripe old age of ninety-one years.

Joseph Wylie, the father of William M. Wylie,
whose name heads this sketch, became the father

of six children: William M., Annie M., Martha J.

,

David B., Rebecca E. and Joseph H., all of whom
were born in Muskingum township on a farm.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Wylie were members of the

Reformed Presbyterian church. Mr. Wylie was
cut off in his prime by pneumunia, having been a

successful farmer and one of the most capable ed-

ucators of the county. William M. Wylie was born
January 11, 1837, and received a practical educa-

tion in the common district school, later attending
Dresden High school. He followed teaching for

about ten years, one year in Frazeysburg and
three in his own district, and it may be said that

in this respect he was his father’s equal. Febru-
ary 28, 1866, he was married to Ella Dunlap,
daughter of William and Eleanor (Rennison) Dun-
lap, the former of whom came from Ireland in

1818 and settled on the farm now occupied by Mr.
Wylie, in 1828. He first, however, worked as a

weaver in Philadelphia. He married in his native

land and became the father of ten children: Rob-
ert, John, James, William, Mary A., Jane, Margaret,

Ella, and two that died in childhood. Mr. Dunlap
cleared his farm from the heavy timber and by
hard work succeeded in making a comfortable home
for his family. He was a stone mason also, and
helped to build the lochs on the Ohio canal. He
was a member of the Reformed Presbyterian

church, and died at the age of seventy-five years.

He was a straightforward man, well known for his

kindness of heart and generosity. William M.
Wylie and his wife are the parents of four children

:

Maggie E., Zonetta, Idella and Elmer J. After

his marriage Mr. Wylie purchased his present farm

from the heirs of his father-in-law and here has

since made his home. He has always taken much

interest in educational affairs and for twelve years

has been a school director. When the country

needed his services he enlisted as a private in Com-

pany I, Thirty-third Ohio Volunteer infantry, and

served one year. He was in the Atlanta campaign

and in that most famous raid in history— Sher-

man’s march to the sea. He was in the siege of

Savannah, Bentonville, and was at the grand re-

view at Washington, D. C. He was then honorably

discharged and returned home. Mr. and Mrs.

Wylie are members of the Reformed Presbyterian

church and he has held the office of deacon and

has been ruling elder in the same for many years.

He is a prosperous and entirely self-made man.

Although he began life with nothing he educated

himself and accumulated a handsome property.

He has a fine fruit farm and one year shipped

2,500 bushels of peaches and this year 1,200

bushels, all of which was fine budded fruit. He
also has excellent apples and pears. His home is

a beautiful and comfortable one, and here taste,

refinement and hospitality reign supreme. Mr.

Wylie ranks as a man of undoubted integrity and

good business ability. His children are receiving

the advantages that only wealth can procure, and

are making the most of their opportunities, prom-

ising to become a comfort and solace to their

parents in the waning years of their lives.

Frederick Wolford, grandfather of Michael

Wolford, farmer, Frazeysburg, Ohio, was a

Pennsylvania German. He married Miss Eliza-

beth Caskner, and they moved to Ohio, settling

in Coshocton county, Washington township, some-

time prior to the War of 1812. He was the father

of four sons: Godfrey, John, Jeremiah, and

Daniel. Mr. Wolford died in AVashington town-

ship. He was a good hunter, and depended

largely upon his skill as a marksman to supply

his family with meat. At that early period there

were plenty of deer, bears, wild turkeys, and other

game. He trained his sons to be good marksmen,

and kejit the family supplied with buck-skins, from

which the hardy pioneers made much of their

clothing. His wife lived to be ninety years of

age. Daniel Wolford his son, was born March 4,

1811, and received a common-school education.

He became familiar with the duties of the farm

at an early age, and when grown, married Miss

Stacy Slaughter, daughter of Samuel and Mar-

garet Slaughter. [See sketch of Samuel Dunn. ] To
Mr. and Mrs. Wolford were born eleven children:

Jeremiah, Samuel, Sarah E., Nathaniel, Elizabeth,

Margaret, Michael, William H., Frederick, Mary
C.

,
and one who died when a,babe. After marriage

Mr. Wolford settled in Washington township, re-

sided there a short time and then moved to the
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Auglaize river, in western Ohio. After a residence

there of a few years he returned to Jackson town-
ship, Ohio, and settled on Samuel Slaughter’s

farm, where he remained a few years. Although
he resided on several different farms he spent the

principal part of his time in Jackson township.

He died at Eaton, Ohio, at the age of fifty-seven

years, while on his way to Indiana. He was a

member of the Christian church, and in politics

was a stanch republican. He was an honorable
upright citizen, sober, and industrious, and was a

loving father and husband. He was a trustee of

Jackson township for several years. He left eight

children and all are yet living. Michael Wolford
was born September 20, 1845, in Jackson township,

and received but a limited education in the common
schools. He assisted his father on the farm, and
on the 12th of March, 1868, when twenty-three

years of age, he married Miss Mary A. Chaney,
daughter of Emanuel and Margaret (Ashcraft)

Chaney. Mr. Chaney was of a Maryland family

that was among the early settlers of Coshocton
county. He reared a family of six children:

Martin, Martha, Mary A., Elizabeth, Jonathan,
and Lodema. Mr. Chaney was a successful farmer,

and died at the age of seventy-five years. His
father, Joseph Chaney, brought the family from
Maryland to Ohio, at an early day. Michael Wol-
ford settled on a farm in Jackson township and
resided there until 1884, when he bought his

present farm consisting of 217 acres, in Jackson
township. When but nineteen years of age, or in

1864, young Wolford enlisted in Company F,

Ninety-seventh Ohio Volunteer infantry, aud served

until November, 1865. While at Columbus, Ohio,

he was taken very sick and for three months was
unfit for duty. At that time there came an order
for all recruits to be sent to the front, and Mr.
Wolford was sent to Cincinnati, there he remained
only one day when he took the boat for Louis-
ville, Ky. From there he went to Nashville,

Tenn., where he was captured by a guard and
kept one week, when he was sent to Cleveland,
Tenn. There he remained two weeks, was sent

to Knoxville, Tenn., and as they were building
a fort he was put to work, working eight hours
a day. This did not suit him very well as

he would much rather have been in the thickest

of the fight, so he made up his mind to try and
find Gen. Shermau and his troops. He received

a pass from the commanding officer, took the first

traiu and went South, got along very nicely until

he reached the headquarters at Rocky Face,
Ga. When he left the train he could hear
the musket sound. He started for the regiment
on foot, which he forqid ready for battle, and the
first person he met was his brother. His brother
told him he could not march with so heavy a knap-

sack, so relieved him of almost all of his things.

They started for Resaca, Ga., and after two
days’ fight they went to Adairsville. After a hard-
fought battle they marched two or three days and
then were allowed to rest a few days. Mr. Wol-
ford was then put on guard duty; that is to guard
the regiment’s baggage that was sent back to

Bridgeport, Ala. and remained there until the

fall of Atlanta, Ga. Later he was with Gen.
Thomas, and was in some very sharp engagements
with Gen. Hood at Spring Hill, Franklin and
Nashville. From the Ninety-seventh Ohio regi-

ment Mr. Wolford was transferred to the Twenty-
sixth Ohio regiment, and with them started for

Texas. It was a very hard trip for him as he was
sick at the time the regiment started. They first

went to Cairo, 111. ,
and from there down the Mis-

sissippi river to New Orleans. He was sick for one
month and unable to be on duty. They then took

the steamer for Iudianola, Tex., and were on the

Gulf of Mexico for six days and nights, and after

landing had twelve miles to go to camp. Mr.
Wolford was again taken very sick and the physi-

cian said there was no hope, he could not live

until morning. After two months’ severe illness he
had improved enough to start for home, but

through his illness was reduced in weight from

200 pounds to eighty pounds. He was honorably

discharged in November, 1865, and was one of the

soldiers of Jackson township who saw actual battle

and faced the enemy in many hard-fought battles.

Mr. Wolford is a self-made man and began with

nothing. He assisted his father financially, and
was in the service of his country, and has been very

prosperous. To his marriage were born three living

children: Howard A., Lyndon J., and George E.

Mr. Wolford is an industrious, upright citizen, a

man of excellent judgment, and is surrounded by

a host of warm friends. In politics he is a strong

republican.

David Woodruff (deceased) was a native of

Cumberland county, N. J., born November 12,

1773, and was one of the pioneer settlers of

Muskingum county, coming here as early as 1813.

He was the son of David and Hannah Woodruff,

and the grandson of David Woodruff who was a

native of England and who passed his entire life

there. David Woodruff Jr. (father of subject),

was also born in England and was the founder of

the Woodruff family in America. The subject of

this sketch, David Woodruff third, was married in

his native state to Miss Deborah Mulford, on
March 9, 1800. She was a native of New Jersey,

born January 27, 1776. They resided in their

native state until 1813 and then with their chil-

dren, three in number, emigrated to Ohio, making
the journey in wagons. After arriving Mr. Wood-
ruff leased land near Stovertown and there resided
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until about 1819, when he entered eighty acres of

school land, the same on which his son, David
fourth, now.resides. He built a cabin, began clear-

ing and improving his farm, and here he and wife

passed the remainder of their days, he dying on
March 23, 1844, and she on December 13, 1858.

He had previously been married twice, first to La-

vina Dare, who died without issue. To his second

marriage was born one child, N. F., whose birth

occurred on October 16, 1798. To his third union,

to Miss Deborah Mulford, were born nine children;

Stephen, born August 12, 1801 was drowned in

Brush creek in 1822; Hannah, widow of Ichabod
Randolph, was born September 21, 1803, resides

in Illinois; Gemala, born March 13, 1805, died in

childhood; Noah (deceased), was born January 13,

1807; Rachel (deceased), was born February 2,

1809; Phceba (deceased), born January 23, 1811;

David, born February 1, 1813; Julius (deceased),

was born June 18, 1816; and Lavina (deceased),

born March 11, 1819. In making their journey
from New Jersey to Ohio, and after they had
reached Zanesville on the way to Brush creek, a

commotion appeared in the brush and a number of

the men, including Mr. Woodruff, loosened their

dogs, which immediately pounced upon and killed

a bear on the spot where the Market house now
stands. Mr. Woodruff and his dogs subsequently
killed a bear where the Lutheran church of this

township now stands. David Woodruff, third,

whose name heads this sketch, was a man of some
educational attainments, taught the first school in

the township, and was its clerk for many years.

His son, David Woodruff fourth, was born in

Pennsylvania, and was a babe in his mother’s arms
when the family settled in the wilds of Muskingum
county. He has seen the entire development of

the country from its primitive state to its present

prosperous condition. In the subscription schools

then in vogue he learned to read and write and
cipher in the few parts of terms he attended. He
remained with his father until the age of twenty-

one, when on June 12, 1834, he was wedded to

Miss Mary Barker, a native of Perry county, Ohio,

born February 22, 1814, and the daughter of John
and Mary (Chamberlain) Barker. Mr. Barker and
family came from New York to Perry county, Ohio,
in 1809, bringing their household goods in wagons.
After his marriage Mr. Woodruff settled in Brush
Creek township, and after the death of his father

removed to the old homestead, where he has since

made his home. For thirty-one years he served in

the capacity of school director, which evinces the
interest he has .always taken in educational
matters. To Mr. and Mrs. Woodruff have been
born eleven children: Stephen (deceased), Calvin,

Philena, Tamson (deceased), James, Mary, Nancy
E., Charles, Eliza (deceased), Sarah L., and an

infant unnamed. Three of these children, Stephen,

Mary and Charles, were school teachers and all

have good English educations. Mr. and Mrs.

Woodruff are acceptable members of the Baptist

church with which they have been connected since

July 4, 1853. The Woodruff family have not been
wanting in patriotism, as three of the sons re-

sponded to the call of their country in its hour of

need and fought with great bravery until the

country was wrested from the clutch of traitors and
the flag again waved over an undivided people.

Stephen and Calvin enlisted in October, 1861, in

Company A, Sixty-second Ohio Volunteer infantry,

but were soon after transferred to the front, in

the army of the Potomac, and later served under
Gen. Gilmore. They were in the battle of Winches-
ter, March 23, 1862, and then in numerous small en-

gagements until the battle of Fort Waggener
where Calvin was wounded by a piece of shell.

Stephen died in the hospital at Washington, May
30, 1862. Calvin veteranized at Hilton Head, S. C.,

returned with the army to Alexandria in 1864,
thence to Yorktown, from there to Bermuda
Hundred, served under Butler in his siege of

Petersburg, and then with the army crossed the

James river and participated in the numerous en-

gagements before Richmond in the fall of 1864. He
took part in the pursuit of Gen. Lee’s army which
was forced to capitulate on April 9, 1865. Calvin

was taken prisoner at Farmville and was robbed
of his clothes, watch and valuables by the confed-

erates. A few days later he was retaken. He en-

listed as a private, passed the successive grades
and was commissioned first lieutenant in 1864.

He was discharged May 15, 1865. James Wood-
ruff enlisted February 23, 1864 in Company A,

Sixty-second Ohio Volunteer infantry, and joined

the regiment at the front soon after enlistment.

He participated in all the battles in which the
regiment engaged and was made corporal in 1864.

In August, 1865, the Sixty-second regiment was
consolidated with the Sixty-seventh Ohio Volunteer
infantry. On December 12, 1865, James was dis-

charged. Calvin settled in Oskaloosa, Iowa,
where he served two terms as sheriff of Mahaska
county. James resides in Columbus, Ohio. He
was married on December 16, 1866, to Miss Susan
C. Crane, daughter of James Crane, of whom
mention is made in this volume. To them have
been born six children: Charles Edwin (deceased),

Willard Warner, Willis Warren, Stephen Ray-
mond, Mary Lucinda, and an infant deceased. In
1888 Mr. Woodruff removed to Columbus, Ohio.
He is a member of the Moxahala lodge No. 144,

I. O. O. F. , Patriotic Order Sons of America. No.
43, Knights of Pythias 129, of Birmingham, Iowa,
and the National Union at Columbus, Ohio.

Benoni Yaw, farmer and stockraiser, New
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Concord, Ohio. In tracing the genealogy of the

Yaw family we find that the first emigrant to this

country was Lawrence Yaw, who was born in Ger-
many, and who came to America in the early part
of the eighteenth century, making a settlement in

New Jersey, where he probably reared a large

family. Among the children was John Yaw, Sr.,

who married Miss Elizabeth Teeple, and reared a

large family, his children being named as follows:

Sallie, married a Mr. Bradberry, and lived to be
one hundred and three years of age, (she was
known in the neighborhood as Aunt Sally Brad-
berry); Susan, married a Mr. Hineline; John Jr.,

who died about 1882, when eighty-five years of

age, and who was the father of Oliver Yaw [see

sketch]; William, father of subject; Polly, who
died in New Concord, was twice married, her first

husband being Mr. Smoch (later she married a

Mr. Chambers); Elizabeth, married a Mr. Smith
and moved to Illinois; and Peter, who died in Ken-
tucky or Tennessee. The father of this family
reared his children in New Jersey, and about 1813
he settled on a farm where BlufordYaw now lives,

in this county. He took up and also bought land
and became one of the prominent men of his lo-

cality. He served through the Revolutionary war,

and died in this township in 1836, when over
ninety years of age. He was a member of the

Presbyterian church, and his wife, who was also a

member of that church, died in 1840. Of their

children only John Jr., William and Mary made
permanent homes in this county. The balance
died in other states and we now find the Yaw
family in almost every state in the Union. William
Yaw, father of Benoni Yaw, whs born in New Jer

sey, and there grew to manhood. He came with
his father to this county, but ventured from there

to Indiana, and later still to Kentucky. He was
married in the former state to Miss Margaret
Johnson, and a family of seven children was the

result; only five of whom reached mature years:

Benoni (subject), Laney, married John Smock, a

resident of this township, and died in 1887, leav

ing two children, Bluford, a farmer of this town
ship; Milton, a farmer of this township, married
and reared a large family, nearly all <h« children

now living in the couoty. He died in 1870, and
Naoma, died about 1863. William Yaw and wife

located in Muskingum county in 1834 on a farm
settled by the family in 1815, and there remained
until the former’s death in 1885, when ninety-four

years of age. He was a member of the Presby-
terian church. In politics he was at one time a

whig, but later he cast bis vote with the demo-
cratic party. Industrious and thoroughgoing, he
became a prosperous farmer and was universally

respected for his many excellent qualities. His
wife was a native of Tennessee, and was a cousin

of Dick Johnson who killed Tecumseh, the Indian
chief. She died about 1869, and was a member of

the Presbyterian church for about thirty years of

her life. Benoni Yaw, subject of this sketch, was
born in Washington county, Ind.

,
April 22, 1823,

and when a child came to this county with his

parents. His early scholastic advantages were
in the common schools of the neighborhood, and
when twenty-four years of age he branched out for

himself. He married Miss Anna Dixon, a daughter
of John and Elizabeth Dixon, of Guernsey county,

Ohio, and a native of that county, born in 1822.

To this union were born four children : Maggie,
who died when ten years of age; Anna, is the wife

of Jamas Bayier, of Shawnee, Perry county, Ohio,

who is a railroad man; B. D. Yaw married and
engaged in business in New Lexington, Perry
county, this state; and Merron S., resides a home,
and for the past twelve years has been permanently
engaged in the breeding of fine road horses, being

the owner of some good registered stock. Mrs.

Yaw died in 1862, in full communion with the

Presbyterian church, in which she was one of the

active members. She was a good, Christian woman.
Mr. Yaw was married to his second wife, Mrs. Kate
Ewitt, in 1864. Her maiden name was Cherry,

and she was the daughter of James T. and Mel-

vina (Mitchell) Cherry. Mr. Cherry was a native

of Muskingum county, Ohio, born in 1813, and he

was the son of Nathaniel and Elizabeth (Thomp-
son) Cherry. His grandfather, Rufus Cherry, was
of Irish descent, and was probably the first of his

name to establish the Cherry family in that county.

Of his children Nathaniel is the only one of whom
any record is kept. The latter was born in West-

moreland county, Penn., and by his marriage to

Miss Thompson became the father of nine sons

and three daughters: James, Thomas, William,

John, Harvey, Nathaniel, Smith, Elias, Mary,
Eliza, Emma, and a son who died in infancy. He
was married the second time and three children

were born to this union: Joseph, Ella and Anna.

Nathaniel Cherry moved to Muskingum county at

an early date, and settled in Columbus, Ohio,

where he reared his family. He died while on a

visit West, when eighty years of age. His second

wife was Miss Kate Ewing, who is now living.

Mr. Cherry was a prominent man in the county,

and was a great hunter in his day, being one of

the best shots of the community. James Cherry,

the eldest of his children, and the father of Mrs.

Yaw, was born in this county, as before mentioned,

and he attended the early schools of the township.

On the 27th of February, 1834, when twenty years

of age, he married Miss Melvina Mitchell, who
bore him three children: Kate E., now Mrs. Yaw;
Robert M. was a resident of Florida, where he

died about six months ago, and he has one child,
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Edward; and James N. , married, resides in Keo-

kuk, Iowa. Mr. Cherry was a member of the

Presbyterian church, and died May 30, 1856. He
was a democrat in politics and cast his first presi-

dential vote for Jackson. Early in life he was a

cabinet maker, but later he engaged in the nursery

business near Zanesville, and carried this on for

some time. He was postmaster for two years at

Putnam and later moved to the farm where he

spent the remainder of his days as a farmer and
nurseryman. He was an active politician in county

affairs. H's wife, who is still living, was born in

Zanesville, in 1812, when the town was first started,

and she was the daughter of Dr. Robert Mitchell,

and grand-daughter of George Mitchell, who came
from Scotland and settled in Westmoreland county,

Penn. Dr. Robert Mitchell studied medicine and
after marriage he came at once to Zanesville

where he was one of the first physicians. In 1834

he was elected to congress. He served as briga-

dier-general in the War of 1812. His death oc-

curred in 1848. He was the father of thirteen

, children. His wife died in 1864. They were mem-
bers of the Presbyterian church, and Dr. Mitchell

was a democrat in politics. Mr. and Mrs. Yaw are

the parents of four children: James H.
,
who is at

home; William E.
,
married, and at home; Edward

L., who is in the livery business at New Concord;

and Fred C., who died when four years of age.

Mr. and Mrs. Yaw hold membership in the M. E.

church, and he and his sons affiliate with the

democratic party. Mr. Yaw is a member of the

Masonic fraternity, Norwich Malta lodge No.

108, and is a Chapter Royal Arch Mason He has

held office in the lodge and has been a member
since 1850. He is at present engaged in farming

and s ockraising, owns some fine thoroughbred

Jersey cattle, all registered stock. He is also rais-

ing some fine standard horses. Mrs. Yaw was
born in 1840, and by her first union became the

mother of these children: Henry, Enna L.,

Charles H., L. U. and Pollock.

Bluford Yaw, farmer and stockraiser, New
Concord, Ohio, was the third son born to the union

v>f William and Margaret (Johnson) Yaw [see

sketch of Benoni Yaw], his birth occnrring in

Indiana on the 11th of July, 1833, and when but a

baby his parents took him to Muskingum county,

Ohio, where he has resided all his days on the farm
taken up by his grandfather, John Yaw. He
attended the district schools of the neighborhood,

and when twenty-one years of age he engaged in

farming on the place where he now lives. He
owns the farm of sixty acres owned by his father

and grandfather before him, and is one of the

successful and prosperous tillers of the soil in the

community. He was married in 1874 to Miss
Hester A. Galager, a native of this township, born

near Norwich on the 6th of February, 1842, and
the daughter of John and Sarah (Williamson)

Galager, natives of Pennsylvania and Germany
respectively. John Galager was born in 1812 and
when only six weeks old was brought by his

parents, Peter and Mary (Ghirt) Galager, to this

county. They settled on a farm owned by John,
and there the parents passed the remainder of

their days. They had been members of the Pres-

byterian church for sixty years.. Their children,

eight in number, were named as follows: Eliza-

beth, James, Rachel, Jane, Hettie, Hannah, Mary
and John. All are now deceased. The father

was a weaver by trade but owned land and carried

on farming. John. Galager was a life long mem-
ber of the Presbyterian church, and in his political

views was for many years a democrat, but later

advocated the principles of the republican party.

He was a wealthy farmer and followed that occu-

pation until his death in 1885. He married Miss
Williamson when about twenty-two years old. She
was the daughter of Abraham and Barbara Will-

iamson, of German and Irish birth respectively.

After coming to this country her parents first

settled in Virginia and the father served in the War
of 1812. To them were born eleven children:

Ralph, Catherine, Abraham, Jacob, James, New-
ton, Henry, William, Mary, Sarah and John. Of
these only one is now living, William, who is a

resident of Taylorville, this county. Mr. Yaw’s
mother-in-law was the eighth in order of birth of

the above mentioned children. Abraham William-
son and wife were with the Methodist Episcopal
church and are both deceased. To Mr. and Mrs.
Galager were born six children: Martha J.. who
is a resident of this county and township; Mary E.,

died when only three months old; Barbara, is the

wife of William Self, of this county; Hester, wife

of subject; James W.
,
a resident of Norwich; aud

John, who is living in this state. The mother of

these children was born in 1813 and died in 1852.

she was a member of the Methodist Episcopal and
the father a member of the Presbyterian church.

Mr. and Mrs. Yaw are the parents of four chil-

dren: Barbara A., born on the 22d of March,
1875, married C. Hammond, and is now residing

at home; John L., born November 10, 1876, and
is at home; James W., born April 3, 1878, at home;
and Hettie I., born September 8, 1880, at home.
Mr. Yaw is a member of the Methodist Episcopal
and his wife a member of the Baptist church, both
being great church workers. Mr. Yaw is a demo-
crat in his political views. He is a man of public

spirit, and has liberally sustained all public enter-

prises.

Oliver P. Yaw, a prominent farmer of Union
township, Must ingum county, Ohio, was born on
the farm where he now lives on the 19th of Septeiu-
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ber, 1843, and was the youngest in order of birth

of ten children born to John and Joanna (Brown)
Yaw, the father a native of New Jersey, born in

1796, and the latter of New York state, born in

1802. [For sketch of the paternal grandfather,

William Yaw, see biography of Benoni Yaw.]
John Yaw came with his father to Muskingum
county at an early date, and the latter took up the

farm on which Oliver is now living. He was mar-
ried in 1823 to Miss Brown, and resided on his

farm until his death on the 8th of October, 1884.

He was a quiet, unassuming man, and was well

respected by all. In his religious views he was
with the Presbyterian church of New Concord, and
in politics he voted with the republican party. All

worthy enterprises received his hearty support,

especially when relating to education or religion,

and he was universally liked. Mrs. Yaw resided

in Perry county with her parents until nearly

grown. She died on the 1st of January, 1877.

Their family, consisting of ten children, seven of

whom are living, are named as follows: Lawrence,
a resident of Terre Haute, Ind.

;
William, resides

in New Plymouth, Yinton county, Ohio (he was an
ensign of the Thiry-first Ohio Volunteer infantry,

and served over three years. He was twice

wounded, first struck by a minie-ball and later a

portion of one ear was shot off. He was a brave

and faithful soldier and saw some hard service);

Margaret, died at the age of twelve years; Joseph
died when two years of age; Hannah J.

,
is now

the widow of William Pierce of Westmoreland
county, Penn.

;
Elizabeth, wife of George Bailey, of

Lovington, Moultrie county, 111.
;
David R., is now

a resident of Pittsburg, Penn.
;
(he was a soldier in

the Seventy-eighth Ohio infantry and served

eighteen months, participating in some of the

prominent engagements, viz. : Resaca, Kenesaw
Mountain, Atlanta, and was with Sherman to the

sea); Rebecca C., the wife of Robert Daine,
resides in Emporia, Kas.

;
Mary was the wife of

Alexander Smith, died in 1889 when fifty years of

age. and Oliver P.
,

the subject of this sketch.

The latter’ 8 early life was passed in assisting on
the farm, and he received his education in the

schools of the neighborhood. When eighteen

years of age he enlisted in Company G, Seventy-
eighth Ohio infantry, and was attached to the

Seventeenth Army corps, serving three years and
eleven days as a private. Some of his principal

engagements were Fort Donelson, Shiloh, Corinth,

Jackson (Tenn. ), Raymond, Champion’s Hill,

siege of Vicksburg, Meridian, Big Shanty, Peach
Tree Creek, Kenesaw Mountain, siege of Atlanta,

and was with Sherman to the sea. He was
honorably discharged at Beaufort, S. C., returned

to Muskingum county, and is now a pensioner to

a small amount. After returning to that county
he settled with his father, who was getting along
in years, and assisted him in farming the place.

Mr. Yaw was married in October, 1869, to Miss
Elizabeth J. Harrison, who was born in Putnam
county, W. Va.

,
on the 12th of August, 1851, and

is a daughter of John W. and Elizabeth S. (Kirk-

patrick) Harrison. Mrs. Yaw was one of ten

children, seven now living, born to the above
worthy couple, who emigrated from West Virginia

to Indiana, and settled in Carroll county, where
they received their final summons, the father dying
in 1870 and the mother in 1877. Of their children,

John L. ran away from home and enlisted in the

army when but fourteen years of age; Margaret,
Elizabeth, Mary C., Edith J. M. ,

Virginia A. and
James Me. Mrs. Yaw was educated in Indiana,

and was there married to Mr. Yaw. Since that

time they have lived on their present farm. To
their marriage were born four children : Nora M.,

wife of Frank McCormac, resides in Putnam,
this county; Elizabeth J., at home; John H.

,

at home, and Frederick L. ,
also at home. The

family are associated with the M. E. church. Mr.
Yaw is a democrat in politics, and has held a

number of the local offices. He is a careful and
progressive farmer, and has acquired his posses-

sions by honest work and good management. It is

a satisfaction to say that such a man stands high
socially and in a business way. He owns 100
acres of land and is engaged in general farming.

Ekratum.-—On page 272. Chapter XXV should*

be Chapter XX.










